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VIII. JOINT CRIMINAL ENTERPRISE 

A. Introduction 

580. The Trial Chamber found that the Appellants were members of a JCE,1958 the common 

criminal purpose of which was "domination by the HR H-B Croats through ethnic cleansing of the 

Muslim population", 1959 and entailed the commission of a wide range of crimes to that effect.1960 

The Trial Chamber further found that the JCE members, including the Appellants, used the political 

'and military apparatus of the HZ(R) H-B to achieve this goa1.1961 It found that, as JCE members, the 

Appellants shared the intent to expel the Muslim popUlation. from the HZ(R) H-B through the 

commission of various crimes and made a significant contribution to that end. 1962 It accordingly 

convicted them, pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute, of the crimes charged in Counts 1-3, 6-13, 

15-16, 18-19, 21, and 24-25 of the Indictment. 1963 

581. The Trial Chamber also found that certain established cnmes did not form part of ,the 

CCP.1964 It nevertheless concluded that Prlie, Stojie, Praljak, Petkovie, and Corie were responsible 

1958 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66-67,1231-1232, 
1959 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
1960 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65-66, 68. The crimes which the Trial Chamber found formed part of the CCP were: 
persecution as a cri]11e against humanity (Count 1); murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a 
grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful 
deportation of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a 
crime against humanity (Count 8); unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 
9); imprisonment as a crime against humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the 
Geneva Conventions (Count 11); inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); 
inhuman treatment (conditions of confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); cruel 
treatment (conditions of confinement) as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); inhumane acts as a crime 
against humanity (Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); cruel 
treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 17); unlawful labour as a violation of the laws or customs 
of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully and 
wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or 
devastation not justified by military necessity as a violation of the laws or custoins of war (Count 20); destruction or 
wilful damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war 
(Count 21); unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction 
of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 68. 
1961 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232, 
1962 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 276,428-429, 627-628, 817-818, 1004, 1208-1209. 
1963 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, pp. 430-431. See also supra, fn. 1960, The Trial Chamber found that the 
following violations of the laws or customs of war also fell within the framework of the CCP, but did not enter 
convictions for them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or 
customs of war (Count 17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military 
necessity (Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 68, Disposition, pp. 430-431. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
~aras 1260-1266. 

964 These crimes are those committed during eviction operations and in detention which were found to constitute: 
murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 3); 
rape as a crime against humanity (Count 4); inhuman treatment (sexual assault) as a grave breach of the Geneva 
Convention (Count 5); extensive appropriation of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully 
and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 22); and plunder of public or private property as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 23). Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 70, 72. The Trial Chamber also 
found that instances of destruction or wilful damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation 
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for a number of these crimes pursuant to JCE ill and entered convictions against them on that 

basis. 1965 

582. The Appellants raise challenges in relation to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning their 

individual criminal responsibility under JCE I and JCE III. 1966 In addition, the Prosecution submits 

that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to convict the Appellants of certain JCE III crimes.1967 The 

Appeals' Chamber will address these submissions in tum. 

of the laws or customs of war (Count 21) which took place prior to June 1993 were not part of the CCP. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 433,1213-1214,1216. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 71, 73. 
1965 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 288 (finding Prlic guilty of Counts 2-5, 21-23),450 (finding Stojic guilty of Counts 
2-5, 22-23), 644 (finding Praljak guilty of Counts 22-23), 853 (finding Petkovic guilty of Counts 4-5,21-23), 1021 
(findingCoric responsible for Counts 2-5, 22-23), Disposition, pp. 430-431. The Trial Chamber did not find Pusic 
responsible for any crimes under JCE III. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1213-1216. 
196 PrliC's grounds of appeal 8-18; StojiC's grounds of appeal 1-4, 6-8, 1O-l2, 14-15,20-21,23-25,27-31,33-37,39-41, 
47; Praljak's grounds of appeal 5-7, 10, 15,21.4 (in part), 28, 32, 34-47,49; PetkoviC's grounds of appeal I-V; CoriC's 
grounds of appeal 1-2, 6-8, 10-11 (in part), 13-14; PusiC's grounds of appeal 1-6. 
1967 . Prosecution's ground of appeal 1. 
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B. JCE and JCE III as Firmly Established Under Customary International Law 

583. The Trial Chamber held that, in accordance with the jurisprudence of the Appeals Chamber, 

"JCE was a mode of responsibility firmly established under customary international law" at the 

time of the commission of the crimes at issue and that the "settled case-law of the Tribunal" 

recognises the three forms of JCE liability.1968 On appeal, Prlic, Praljak, Corie, and Pusic contend 

that the Trial Chamber erred in so holding. 1969 

1. Arguments of the Parties 

584. Prlic, Praljak, Coric, and Pusie argue that there are cogent reasons for the Appeals Chamber 

to depart from its prior jurisprudence that JCE, in all of its forms, was a mode of liability firmly 

established under customary international law at the time of the commission of the crimes falling 

under the Tribunal's jurisdiction.197o Relying upon the Judge Antonetti Dissent on this issue, 

case-law from the ICC and the Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia ("ECCC"), as 

well as the personal opinions of former Judges Shahabuddeen and Schomburg, Prlic, Praljak, Coric, 

and Pusic challenge the correctness of the Tadic Appeal Judgement. 1971 They argue that, contrary to 

the Tadic Appeal Judgement, JCE, and in particular JCE ill, were not part of customaty 

international law at the time of the commission of the crimes at issue and, therefore, the application 

of JCE as a mode of liability violates the principle of nullum crimen sine lege. 1972 Coric refutes JCE 

as a mode of liability completely and relies upon the Judge Antonetti Dissent and ICC case-law for 

support. He argues that there is no basis for JCE liability in the Tribunal's Statute and no uniform 

state practice on this mode of liability during the relevant time period. 1973 Specifically with respect 

1968 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 202-205,210. . 
1969 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 218-231; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 339-345; CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 6-17; 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 65-70. The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic had raised the same issue in his Notice of 
Appeal, but explicitly withdrew the relevant ground in his appeal brief. See StojiC's Notice of Appeal, para. 45; Stojic's 
Afcpeal Brief, p. 127. 
190 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 218, 220, 227; Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 344; CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 12, 14; 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 67. 
1971 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 218, 223-224, 226-230; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 340-343; Cork's Appeal Brief, 
paras 9-11, 13-15; PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 66-70. In particular, Coric notes that the Judge Antonetti Dissent cites 
numerous Special Court for Siena Leone ("SCSL") cases that call the JCE doctrine into question. See CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 10. Pdic and Praljak, in tum, challenge the Tadic Appeal Judgement's reliance on the International 
Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 222; Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
para. 340. Concerning ECCC case-law, Prlic further argues that the Bordevic Appeal Judgement misstated the relevant 
ECCC findings and thus erred in rejecting JCE-related arguments based on the jurisprudence of the ECCe. See Pdic's 
Appeal Brief, paras 226-229. Pdic, finally, also points to the position expressed in an article by Judge Shahabuddeen, 
who presided over the Tadic appeal, that the Tadic Appeal Judgement erred in upholding the customary status of the 
JCE doctrine. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 218, 227. 
1972 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 218, 220, 222, 224-225, 230; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 339-340, 342-345; CoriC's 
A~peal Brief, paras 6, 9-10, 13-15; Pusk's Appeal Brief, paras 67-68. 
193 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 9-10, 13, 16. Prlic and Pusic agree with the Judge Antonetti Dissent that JCE and JCE 
III in particular, should be abandoned as a form of liability. PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 230-231; Pusk's Appeal Brief, 
paras 69-70. Pusic further proposes that the Tribunal adopt co-perpetration in place of JCE. PusiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 70. 
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to JCE III, Prlie and Corie argue that this extended fonn of JCE liability finds no basis in the 

Statute, state practice, or opinio juris, and amounts to collective responsibility.1974 Finally, Corie 

challenges the Trial Chamber's summary dismissal of arguments on this issue which, according to 

him, amounts to a lack of reasoning and an error of law under Article 23(2) of the Statute. 1975 

585. The Prosecution responds that Prlie, Praljak, Corie, and Pusie have failed to provide cogent 

reasons for the Appeals Chamber to depart from its settled jUlisprudence.1976 The Prosecution 

observes that the Appeals Chamber has consistently affirmed the status of JCE, and JCE III in 

particular, as a mode of liability grounded in customary intemational law at the time of the 

commission of the crimes and argues that their application in this case did not violate the principle 

of nullum crimen sine lege. 1977 The Prosecution defends the analysis in the Tadic Appeal Judgement 

as sound and notes that the Appeals Chamber has previously rejected similar challenges.1978 The 

Prosecution finally contends that the Trial Judgement was adequately reasoned in this respect. 1979 

2. Analysis 

586. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber rejects Corie's contention that the Trial Chamber failed 

to issue a reasoned opinion. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber methodically laid. 

out the law on JCE as established by the Appeals Chamber and dismissed arguments to the contrary 

as "fail[ing] to justify calling into question the settled case-law of the Tribunal with regard to 

JCE".1980 It considers that this was sufficient reasoning; the well-established case-law of the 

Tribunal amply justified the dismissal of these arguments. 1981 

1974 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 219, 221-225; CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 14. In this respect, Pdic, inter alia, cites a 
study by the Max Planck Institute purporting to show a lack of uniform state practice with respect to JCE III. PdiC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 221. Coric, in turn, refers to Judge Liu's dissent in the Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement concerning 
the application of JCE III to specific intent crimes. CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 11. The Appeals Chamber, however, 
rejects the latter argument as irrelevant, as no Appellant in this case was convicted of a specific intent crime through the 
third form of the JCE mode of liability. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 288, 450, 644, 853, 1021, 1214-1216. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 175 (20 Mar 2017), AT. 252-253 (21 Mar 2017), AT. 583-584 (24 Mar 2017). 
1975 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 7-11. Coric additionally argues that the application of JCE to leadership cases 
inappropriately dilutes the standard for superior responsibility. Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 17. The Appeals Chamber 
dismisses this argument as vague and undeveloped, as Coric fails to elaborate further upon the alleged correlation 
between these two modes of liability. 
1976 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 130; Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 291, 294; 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), paras 8-9, 11, 15, 18; Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 58, 61. 
1977 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 130, 132; Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 291-292; 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), paras 8-9, 14; Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 56-57. 
1978 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 133-135, 137; Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 293; 
Prosecution's Response Brief (COlic), paras 11-13, 15-16; Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 59-60. 
1979 Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), para. 10. 
1980 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 210. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1,202-205,211-221. 
1981 Sc:e Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 113 (holding that "the ratio decidendi of [the Appeals Chamber's] 
decisions is binding on Trial Chambers"). Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "it is in the discretion of the 
Trial Chamber as to which legal arguments to address". See Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23 (explaining that 
"the right to a reasoned opinion under Article 23 of the Statute and Rule 98ter(C) of the Rules [ ... ] relates to 

257 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23638



587. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is the settled jurisprudence of the Tribunal that the 

three forms of JCE, as forms of commission of a crime, have been established in customary 

international law since at least 1992.1982 The Appeals Chamber has repeatedly affirmed the relevant 

analysis in Tadic, which examined post-World War II war crimes cases extensively in concluding 

that joint criminal enterprise as a mode of criminal responsibility is firmly established in customary 

international law, and has recognised three forms of this mode of liablity - JCE I, JCE II, and 

JCE III. 1983 The Appeals Chamber has also held that "the long and consistent stream of judicial 

decisions, international instruments, and domestic legislation in force at the time" provided 

"reasonable notice that committing an international crime on the basis of participating in a JCE 

incurs individual criminal liability". 1984 

588. The Appeals Chamber also recalls that it may exceptionally depart from its previous 

decisions if there are cogent reasons to do SO.1985 The notion of "cogent reasons" encompasses 

considerations that are clear and compelling.1986 As such, cogent reasons requiring a departure from 

previous decisions in the interests of justice include situations where a previous decision was made 

"on the basis of a wrong legal principle" or given per incuriam, that is, "wrongly decided, usually 

because the judge or judges were ill informed about the applicable law".1987 It is for the party 

advocating a departure to demonstrate that there are cogent reasons in the interests of justice that 

justify such departure. 1988 

589. The Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic, Praljak, Coric, and Pusic have failed to make a 

showing that there are cogent reasons in the interests of justice that justify such departure. It notes 

that it has squarely addressed and rejected arguments similar to those raised in the present instance 

challenging the Tadic Appeal Judgement's reliance upon international instruments. In Popovic et al. 

Trial Chamber's Judgement; the Trial Chamber is not under the obligation to justify its findings in relation to every 
submission made during the trial"). 
1982 Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 195-226; Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, paras 79-80; Bl'danin Appeal 
Judgement, paras 363, 405, 410; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 662. 
1983 See Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 195-226; Kvockaet ai. Appeal Judgement, paras 79-80, 82-83; Bl'danin 
Appeal Judgement, paras 363-364; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 659; DOl'devic Appeal Judgement, paras 35, 
40-41,58; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1673. 
1984 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1672 (internal quotation marks omitted). The Appeals Chamber has also 
addressed and rejected in the past the argument that JCE III amounts to collective responsibility, holding that an 
accused has "done far more than merely associate with criminal persons" when all of the requirements for liability 
under JCE III have been met. Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 431. 
1985 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 23; Kl'ajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 655; GaUc Appeal Judgement, para. 117; 
Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 107. See also Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 596. 
1986 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 24. 
1987 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Aieksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 108. See also Stanisic and Zupijanin 
AEpeal Judgement, para. 596. 
19 8 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 655; Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 117. 
See also Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 596. Contrary to the Appellants' suggestions, the extrajudicial 
opinions expressed by former Judges of the Tribunal in scholarly articles do not constitute a cogent reason for departing 
from the Appeals Chamber's well-established jurisprudence. Cf Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 974; 
Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 83. 
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the Appeals Chamber observed that its consideration in the Tadic Appeal Judgement of the 

International Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings and the ICC Statute was 

"limited to demonstrating the consistent legal view of a large number of States on the existence of a 

notion of a 'common criminal purpose' as SUCh".1989 In Dordevic, the Appeals Chamber also 

rejected the argument that it had erroneously relied, in Tadic, upon Article 25(3) of the ICC Statute 

in support of its JCE analysis. 1990 The Appeals Chamber noted that in Tadic, it had "relied on the 

ICC Statute only as evidence revealing the existence of a mode of liability based on 'a group of 

persons acting with a common purpose' distinct from aiding and abetting", and reasoned that ICC 

jurisprudence elaborating on that form of liability was "based on the [ ... ] ICC Statute" and did not 

exclude or even address the existence of JCE in customary international law. 1991 Prlic, Praljak, 

Coric, and Pusic offer no new arguments to compel the Appeals Chamber to revisit and depart from 

these holdings. 

590. PrliC's, Praljak's, and Corie's reliance on ECCC jurisprudence is also misplaced. In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it is not bound by the findings of other courts - domestic, 

international, or hybrid - and that, even though it might take them into consideration, it may, after 

careful consideration, come to a different conclusion on a matter than that reached by another 

judicial body.1992 Moreover, they have not shown that ECCC case-law demonstrates a clear mistake 

in the Appeals Chamber's JCE precedent. Indeed, in Dordevic, the Appeals Chamber recognised 

that the ECCC "identified flaws in the reasoning of the Tadic Appeals -Chamber", but remained 

"satisfied that the sources of law examined by the Tadic Appeals Chamber are reliable" and that 

JCE III is "well-established in both customary international law and the jurisprudence of this 

Tribunal" .1993 The Appeals Chamber sees no reason to depart from these holdings. 

591. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Prlic, Praljak, Coric, and 

Pusic have failed to establish that the Trial Chamber erred in holding that JCE, including JCE III, 

was firmly established under customary international law at the time of the 'relevant events. 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's ground of appealS, Praljak's ground of 

appeal 34, Coric's ground of appeal LA, and Pusic's ground of appeal 2 in their entirety. 

1989 Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1673. 
1990 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 35-39. 
1991 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 38. 
1992 Stanific and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, para. 598; Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1674. See also 
Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 50 (holding that ECCC jurisprudence is not binding on the Appeals Chamber and, 
"as such, does not constitute a cogent reason to depart from its well-established case law"). 
1993 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 51-52. 
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C. The Ultimate Purpose of the JCE 

1. Introduction 

592. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) at all times relevant under the Indictment, the ultimate 

purpose of the HZ(R) H-B leaders and Franjo Tudman was to set up a Croatian entity that 

reconstituted, at least in part, the borders of the Banovina, thereby facilitating the reunification of 

the Croatian people; and (2) such entity was either supposed to be annexed to Croatia directly or to 

become an independent State within BiH with close ties to Croatia ("Ultimate Purpose of the 

JCE,,).1994 In reaching its conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Trial Chamber found 

that: (1) between 1991 and 1994, Tudman sought to expand the borders of Croatia by incorporating 

the HZ(R) H-B either directly or indirectly;1995 (2) between 1992 and 1993, the HZ(R) H-B leaders, 

including Prlic, Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic were involved in meetings and discussions on the 

partition of BiH;1996 (3) although the HZ H-B was created in the context of the "Serb aggression", it 

was not merely a temporary defence initiative;1997 (4) the representatives of the "delegation of BiH 

Croats" accepted the principles of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, although they were not genuinely in 

agreement with such principles;1998 and (5) with the proclamation of the HR H-B, the HZ H-B 

leaders established a "mini-State" within BiH. 1999 

2. Alleged errors in the Trial Chamber's finding that Tudman intended to expand the Croatian 

borders 

593. The Trial Chamber found that Tudman: (1) sought to expand the Croatian borders into BiH 

directly or indirectly; (2) participated in several meetings from '1990 to 1992, including one at 

Karadordevo on 25 March 1991 to discuss the plans concerning the division of BiH 

("25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting"); (3) adopted a double policy, advocating in public respect 

for the existing BiH borders, while privately supporting the partition of BiH and sharing his desire 

for the reunification of the Croatian people; (4) supported the creation of the HZ H-B on 

18 November 1991; (5) "continued to be pre-occupied" with the Croatian Banovinabetween 

January 1993 and March 1994; and (6) abandoned his plan to expand the Croatian borders, under 

the force of international pressure, only around 21 February 1994?OOO 

1994 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 24. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
1995 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-15,17-18,22-23. 
1996 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 13, 18-19. 
1997 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 15-16. 
1998 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
1999 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 21. 
2000 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-12; 14-15, 17-18,20,22-23. 
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594. Prlic, Stojic, and Praljak submit that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing evidence with 

respect to specific findings underlying its conclusion on Tudman's intentions.z°01 Additionally, 

Prlic, Stojic, and Pusic argue that the Trial Chamber committed errors vis-a.-vis its overall 

conclusion on Tudman's intentions.z°02 The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings 

were reasonable and the Appellants' arguments should be dismissed.2oo3 The Appeals Chamber will 

address the arguments in turn. 

(a) Challenges to underlying findings concerning Tudman's intentions 

(i) Tudman's plan to expand the Croatian borders 

595. The Trial Chamber noted the evidence of Witnesses AR and Peter Galbraith that according 

to Tudmall" BiH was not supposed to exist as a sovereign State and that a substantial part of it was 

supposed to be annexed to the territory of Croatia.2oo4 It also highlighted the evidence of Witness 

Josip Manolic that Tudman wanted to annex Western Herzegovina as it was "ethnically pure" and 

adjacent to Croatia.2oos Lastly, it noted that Witness Herbert Okun testified that Tudman's plan to 

expand the Croatian borders was supposed to be implemented either directly or by incorporating the 

HR H-B "in some way or other,,.2006 The Trial Chamber found that in connection with this plan 

"Tudman advocated dividing BiH between Croatia and Serbia, incorporating part of BiH into 

Croatia, or at least, the existence of an autonomous Croatian tenitory within BiH that would enjoy 

close ties with Croatia.,,2oo7 

a. PdiC's appeal (Sub-ground 9.2 in pmt) 

596. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised and ignored ManoliC's evidence in 

relation to "Tudman's attitudes and actions towards BiH,,.2008 Specifically, he points to Manolie's 

evidence that Tudman: (1) promoted the referendum for the independence of BiH; (2) supported the 

sovereignty of BiH and was against changing borders; (3) accepted all peace plans and proposed the 

2001 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 237-261; StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 8-9, 19; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 70-83, 
85-88, 114. 
2002 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236; Stojic's Appeal Brief, paras 8-16; PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 84-98. 
2003 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 139-141; Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 9, 19; 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 31-32,103; Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 62-64. 
2004 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9. 
2005 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9. 
2006 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9. 
2007 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 10. 
2008 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 237, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9. 
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deployment of UN forces on the borders; (4) was against the borders of the Banovina and supported 

the internationally-recognised borders; and (5) never stated that he was for the partition of BiH.2009 

597. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's reliance 

on ManoliC's corroborated evidence, while declining to rely on potentially conflicting testimony.2010 

598. With respect to the Trial Chamber's finding that Tudman advocated the division of BiH and 

either its partial annexation to Croatia or the creation of an autonomous entity with close ties to 

Croatia, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered ManoliC's evidence that 

Tudman wished to annex Western Herzegovina because it was ethnically pure and adjacent to 

Croatia. 20 11 The Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to show how the Trial Chamber 

misrepresented ManoliC's evidence and dismisses his contention. Further, in claiming that the 

Trial Chamber disregarded ManoliC's evidence concerning Tudman's attitudes and actions towards 

BiH, Pdic fails to appreciate that the Trial Chamber's reliance on ManoliC's testimony was 

confined to only assessing Tudman's aspiration to annex Western Herzegovina.2012 As such, Pdic 

does not show that ManoliC's evidence on Tudman' s support for the referendum and the 

international arbitration, his proposal to deploy a peacekeeping force, and his acceptance of the 

peace plans can affect the Trial Chamber's reliance on another portion of ManoliC's testimony that 

Tudman desired to annex Western Herzegovina to Croatia. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that ManoliC's testimony concerning Tudman's desire to annex Western Herzegovina was 

largely corroborated by the evidence provided by Witness AR, Galbraith, and Okun.2013 Based on 

these considerations and recalling that it is within the discretion of a trial chamber to evaluate 

inconsistencies in the evidence and to consider whether the evidence taken as a whole is reliable 

and credible,2014 the Appeals Chamber dismisses these arguments. 

2009 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 237, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4276-4277, 4282-4283, 4290-4291, 4296, 4281-4282 
(3 July 2006), 4494-4495, 4585-4586, 4601-4602 (5 July 2006),4631-4632,4685-4686,4707-4708 (6 July 2006). See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 147-148 (20 Mar 2017). 
2010 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlie), para. 146. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlie), paras 142-143. 
2011 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9, referring to Josip Manolie, T(F). 4323, 4325 (4 July 2006). 
2012 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9. See Josip Manolie, T. 4323 (4 July 2006) ("President Tudjman wanted to annex 
Western Herzegovina to Croatia. This was a wish. It was the request of those seven or eight municipalities, the names 
of which we read out yesterday. The people who lived in those areas felt that their future and their security could be 
found within the borders of the RepUblic of Croatia. However, wishes are one thing and realistic possibilities of 
realising your desire are something else, and there were no realistic preconditions for realising that wish. Therefore, this 
was in dispute between me and President Tudjman, and we never agreed on it until the very last day, until the 
Washington agreements were signed which put an end to this dilemma and created the federation of Croats and 
Muslims in that area"). 
2013 See Trial Judgement Vol. 4, para. 9. 
2014 Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1661; Karel11era and Ngirul11patse Appeal Judgement, para. 467; 
Hategekil11ana Appeal Judgement, para. 82; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 31; Rukundo Appeal Judgement, 
para. 207. 
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599. Turning to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored ManoliC's testimony that 

Tudman was against the borders of Banovina and supported the internationally-recognised borders, 

a review of this portion of the transcripts does not show with clarity Tudman's position in this 

regard. 2015 By contrast, the Appeals Chamber observes that Manolic testified that Tudman did not 

agree with such borders2016 and that his main goal was the realisation of the Banovina borders.2017 

Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

600. Further, the Appeals Chamber observes that in claiming that Manolic testified that Tudman 

never stated that he was for the partition of BiH, Pdic refers to a portion of the trial record which 

does not support his arg~ment. 2018 

601. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Tudman advocated the division of BiH, and dismisses the 

relevant part of his sub-ground of appeal 9.2. 

b. Praliak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 in part) 

602. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning Tudman's support for the 

division of BiH is "contradictory per se" since the Trial Chamber could not find that "Tudman 

supported the incorporation of a part of BiH in Croatia and left a possibility of [the] establishment 

of an autonomous Croatian entity within BiH", which, in Praljak's view, does not imply its 

division?019 Praljak further argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider Tudman's position that 

he was always in favour of the independence and integrity of BiH as a union of three constituent 

peoples. 202o Specifically, Praljak avers that Tudman: (1) was against the division of BiH as it ran 

2015 See Josip Manolie, T. 4281-4282, 4290-4291, 4296 (3 July 2006). Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that 
from the transcript it is not clear whether Manolie is testifying about Tudman's position concerning the Banovina 
borders. See Josip Manolie, T. 4283 (3 July 2006). . . 
2016 See Josip Manolie, T. 4275-4276 (3 July 2006) ("A. Well, essentially it was the position that Mesic and I advocated 
and that is that one should [ ... ] accept the AVNOJ borders which existed between the republics in the former 
Yugoslavia, and that it wouldn't be realistic or wise to tamper with those borders, the A VNOJ borders. Q. And did 
Mr. Tudjman hold a different view as to what borders should exist? A. Well, the very fact that he talked to Milosevic 
about the division of that particular territory, that fact alone speaks that the position was different at that point in time"). 
See also Josip Manolie, T. 4280-4281 (3 July 2006). 
2017 See Josip Manolie, T. 4281 (3 July 2006). 
2018 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 237, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4602 (5 July 2006),4631-4632 (6 July 2006). 
2019 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 71, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 10, 16; Appeal Hearing, AT. 385 
(22 Mar 2017). See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 70. 
2020 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 73, referring to Exs. P00366, P00498, P01544, P00167, Josip Manolie, T. 4315, 4318 
(3 July 2006). See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 75, referring to Ex. P00167. According to Praljak, the failure to 
consider the evidence regarding Tudman's position favouring the BiH as an independent State led the Trial Chamber to 
distort and erroneously assess his acts and statements, as well as conclude that Tudman: (1) attended several meetings 
with Milosevic in 1991 and 1992 to discuss the division of BiH, although it only identified such a meeting at 
Karadordevo; and (2) supported the creation of the HZ(R) H-B in connection with his plan to expand the Croatian 
borders. Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 76, 78. Praljak also submits that Tudman's approach was entirely consistent with 
BiH's position and its constitution. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 73, referring to Exs. 1D02994, 1D01236. 
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counter to Croatia's interest;2021 and (2) maintained his position during the conflict between Croats 

and Muslims of BiH?022 Praljak further argues that, had Tudman had the intention to annex part of 

BiH territory, he would not have recognised BiH's independence.2023 

603. The Prosecution responds that there is no contradiction in the Trial Chamber's reasonable 

finding that the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE could be accomplished by the HZ(R) H-B either 

joining Croatia or through an alliance with Croatia.2024 The Prosecution also submits that Tudman 

concealed his real intentions concerning the division of BiH while publicly supporting its 

independence and territorial integrity.2025 It further argues that Praljak repeats arguments already 

made at trial and raises challenges without showing any error or impact. 2026 

604. The Appeals Chamber observes that when concluding that Tudman advocated the division 

of BiH between Croatia and the Republic of Serbia ("Serbia"), incorporating part of BiH into 

Croatia or, at least, the existence of an autonomous Croatian territory within BiH that would enjoy 

close ties with Croatia, the Trial Chamber took into account Okun' s evidence that for Tudman, the 

plan to expand the Croatian borders was "supposed to occur either directly or by incorporating the 

HR H-B into Croatia in some way or other".2027 Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber's finding is 

contradictory per se as the creation of an autonomous Croatian entity in BiH "does not imply" its 

division. The Appeals Chamber considers that, contrary to Praljak's argument that the 

Trial Chamber made contradictory findings, it simply concluded that Tudman envisaged two 

different ways to realise his plan. Thus, as long as the incorporation of part of BiH into Croatia and 

the creation of an autonomous Croatian entity in BiH are compatible with Tudman's plan to expand 

the Croatian borders - as the Trial Chamber found - there is no contradiction in its conclusion. 

Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

605. The Appeals Chamber turns to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider 

evidence that Tudman was always in favour of the independence and integrity of BiH as a union of 

three constituent peoples. The Appeals Chamber notes that some evidence referred to by Praljak 

was explicitly considered by the Trial Chamber in its analysis of Tudman's position towards BiH, 

2021 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 72, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06454; Appeal Hearing, AT. 385 (22 Mar 2017). 
Praljak also argues that the division of BiH was a solution considered by the international community and that in any 
case Tudman was aware that BIH depended on its decision. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 72, referring to Judge 
Antonetti Dissent, pp. 9-10, Ex. P00108; Appeal Hearing, AT. 385 (22 Mar 2017). 
2022 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 74, referring to Exs. P02302, P03112, P00336, P06454, P00134; Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 386 (22 Mar 2017). 
2023 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 75, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 375. 
2024 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 10, 24. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 40; Appeal Hearing, AT. 420 (22 Mar 2017). 
2025 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 37, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 12, 17. 
2026 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 42. 
2027 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 9, referring to Herbert Okun, T(F). 16996 (5 Apr 2007). 
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in particular, when finding that he publicly supported the territorial integrity of BiH while 

continuing to affirm his desire for reunification of the Croatian peop1e.2028 With respect to the 

remaining evidence which Pra1jak claims the Trial Chamber disregarded,2029 the Appeals Chamber 

observes that while not expressly stated, the Trial Chamber discussed at length evidence similar in 

nature that shows Tudman's support for the independence of BiH and concluded that it reflected his 

double policy?030 In light of its repetitive character, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the 

Trial Chamber disregarded the evidence concerned, but rather that the Trial Chamber found that the 

evidence did not prevent it from reaching its conclusion.203
! Therefore, the Appeals Chamber rejects 

this contention. 

606. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber rejects Pra1jak's argument that had Tudman had expansionist 

intentions with regard to BiH, he would not have recognised its independence, as it falls short of 

showing an error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion. 

607. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Pra1jak has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Tudman advocated the division of BiH between Croatia and 

Serbia, illcorporating part of BiH into Croatia or, at least, the existence of an autonomous Croatian 

territory within BiH that would enjoy close ties with Croatia. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses Pra1jak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2 in relevant part. 

(ii) 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting 

608. Relying on the evidence of, inter alios, Witness AR, Mano1ic, Galbraith, Okun, and Ciri1 

Ribicic, the Trial Chamber found that between 1990 and 1992, Tudman participated in several 

meetings, including the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting with Slobodan Milosevic, concerning 

the finalisation of "plans [ ... ] to divide BiH between Croatia and Serbia,,.2032 

2028 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 17, referring to Exs. P00336, POl 544, POOl08, P02302, P00167. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15, referring, inter alia, to Josip Manolie, T(F). 4313-4315, 4344, 4345 (3 July 2006), 
Exs.P00498,P02302,P06454,POOI67. 
2029 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 72, referring to Exs. P03112, P00134, 1001236, Josip Manolie, T. 4318 
(3 July 2006). 
2030 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 12, 17. 
2031 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that Praljak points to Exhibits P03112, P00134, and 1001236, without 
~roviding the precise references to information allegedly disregarded by the Trial Chamber. 

032 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11. 
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a. PrliC's appeal (Sub-ground 9.3) 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

609. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that during the 25 March 1991 

Karadordevo Meeting, Tudman and Milosevic planned to finalise the division of BiH,z°33 Prlic 

argues that: (1) Manolic denied having knowledge of the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting or 

of any agreement between Milosevic and Tudman as he noted that the referendum held a year later 

confirmed BiH's independence and that "in 1991 Yugoslavia was still in existence and BiH was not 

on the agenda for discussion,,;2034 (2) Witness AR's evidence indicates that Tudman was prepared 

to accept an independent BiH;2035 (3) Okun could not have known Tudman's intentions in 1991 

since he became involved in peace negotiations in September 1992;2036 (4) Galbraith arrived in 

Croatia in June 1993 and did not testify about meetings between Milosevic and Tudman;2037 and 

(5YRibiCiC's evidence concerning Tudman and MiloseviC's plan is based on a portion of the 

Presidential Transcripts which is "an unreliable and inappropriate source for basing 

lega1/constitutional expertise". 2038 

610. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Tudman met 

Milosevic during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting to negotiate a partition of BiH, relying 

on evidence reflecting "Tudman's own admissions".2039 It argues that the evidence of Manolic, 

Witness AR, and Okun in fact confinns the Trial Chamber's conclusion in this regard. 2040 

ii. Analysis 

611. The Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic misrepresents ManoliC's testimony with respect 

to the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting. A review of ManoliC's evidence reflects that Tudl11an 

told Manolic that he met with Milosevic during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting and that 

they discussed the division of BiH.2041 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to 

2033 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 244-246. 
2034 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 245. . 
2035 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 246, referring to Witness AR, Ex. PlO027(confidential), T.4703-4706, 4712-4714, 
4726-4730,4739,4744-4746 (closed session) (8 Dec 1997). 
2036 Prlie's Appeal Brief, para. 247, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16653 (9 May 2006). 
2037 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 248, referring to Peter Galbraith, T. 6422-6423 (12 Sept 2006). 
2038 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 249, referring to Ex. lD02036, Cml Ribicie, T. 25549-25555 (11 Dec 2007), 
Milan Cvikl, T. 35384-35386 (14 Jan 2009), PrliC's ground of appeal 4.3. 
2039 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlie), para. 152. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlie), para. 151. 
2040 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlie), para. 152. 
2041 Josip Manolie, T. 4274, 4277-4278 (3 July 2006). See also Josip Manolie, T. 4672-4673 (6 July 2006). The Appeals 
Chamber observes that PrliC's claim that Manolie acknowledged not knowing about the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo 
Meeting is unsupported by the evidence he relies on. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 245, referring to Josip Manolie, 
T. 4726 (3 July 2006). With respect to his argument that Manolie denied knowing any agreement between Milosevie 
and Tudman, Prlie refers to a portion of ManoliC's evidence that during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, 
Tudman and Milosevie, rather than agreeing on the partition of BiH, discussed its division. PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
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show that ManoliC's testimony on the referendum on the independence of BiH or the fact that 

Yugoslavia was still a State in 1991 affects the Trial Chamber's finding on the meeting.2042 

612. Further, Pdic refers to aspects of Witness AR's testimony which do not contradict or 

undermine this witness's evidence that Tudman told him that he met with Milosevic in 

Karadordevo in March 1991 to discuss the partition of BiH as referred to by the Trial Chamber.2043 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

unreasonably assessed Witness AR's evidence and dismisses PdiC's arguments in this regard. 

613. With respect to PdiC's contention that Okun "could not have known Tudman's intention in 

1991", the AppealsChamber observes that the Trial Chamber referred to Okun's testimony that 

Tudman and Gojko Susak discussed the division ofBiH in Okun's presence in 1992,z°44 It finds that 

the Trial Chamber relied on Okun's testimony in relation to its overall conclusion that Tudman 

participated in several meetings with Milosevic to discuss the partition of BiH "from 1990 until at 

least 1992", rather than to support the more specific finding concerning the 25 March 1991 

Karadordevo Meeting.2045 Against this background, the Appeals Chamber fails to see how the fact 

that Okun did not know Tudman's intentions in 1991 disturbs the Trial Chamber's impugned 

finding. PdiC's argument is therefore dismissed. 

614. Turning to PdiC's argument that Galbraith did not testify about meetings between Tudman 

and Milosevic, the Appeals Chamber observes that a review of the relevant ttial record shows that 

Galbraith's evidence concerns Tudman's aspiration to annex Bosnian territories to Croatia, rather 

than meetings between Tudman and Milosevic.2
0

46 As such, the Appeals Chamber considers that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this aspect of Galbraith's testimony when concluding 

that Tudman and Milosevic met several times in order to discuss the division of BiH. However, 

Pdic fails to explain how this error would impact the Trial Chamber's conclusion as well as its 

reliance on various others pieces of evidence, including the testimonies of Manolic, Witness AR, 

para. 245, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4494 (5 July 2006). However, the Appeals Chamber finds that this reference 
does not show any error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of ManoliC's evidence. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber 
is of the view that the other portions of ManoliC's evidence referred to by Pdie do not support his contention in this 
regard. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 245, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4473-4475 (5 July 2006), 4636, 4671-4476, 
4682 (6 July 2006). 
2042 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 245, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4274-4278 (3 July 2006), T. 4633-4635 
(6 July 2006). 
2043 Witness AR, Ex. PlO027 (confidential), T. 4715 (closed session) (8 Dec 1997). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
ftara. 11. 

044 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11, referring to, inter alia, Herbert Okun, T(F). 16711-16713 (2 Apr 2007), 
Ex. P00829, p. 5. 
2045 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11. 
2046 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11, referring to, inter alia, Peter Galbraith, T(F). 6429, 6436 (12 Sept 2006), 
6580 (13 Sept 2006). 
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and Okun.2047 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that this error has no impact on the relevant 

finding. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber sees no merit in PrliC's undeveloped contention that 

Rib~ciC' s evidence on Tudman and MiloseviC's plan was based on a portion of the Presidential 

Transcripts.2048 PrliC's argument therefore fails. 

615. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously found that during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, Tudman and Milosevic 

planned to finalise the division of BiH, and dismisses PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 9.3. 

b. Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 in part) 

616. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that between 1990 and 1992, 

Tudman and Milosevic discussed the division of· BiH.2049 He specifically claims that the 

Trial Chamber ignored that the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting took place "before the 

conception of the alleged JCE" , which the Trial Chamber found was established in January 

1993,z°50 He further contends that: (1) at the time of the meeting, the Socialist Federal RepUblic of 

Yugoslavia ("SFRY") still existed and thus BiH was neither an independent State nor at war;2051 

and (2) the Trial Chamber concluded that the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting addressed the 

plans concerning the partition of BiH, while acknowledging that it did not receive any conclusive 

'd hi 1 2052 eVl ence on t span. 

617. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly assessed the evidence 

conceming the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, and that Praljak repeats arguments raised at 

trial without demonstrating any error by the Trial Chamber.2053 

618. The Appeals Chamber observes that Praljak's contentions do not articulate a specific error 

in the Trial Chamber's finding conceming the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting. He merely 

argues that the Trial Chamber did not consider the fact that the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo 

Meeting occurred before the conception of the JCE, but fails to explain how this factor undermines 

the Trial Chamber's conclusion. Likewise, Praljak does not show how the fact that SFRY s'till 

existed and thus BiH was neither an independent State nor at war at the time of the meeting renders 

unreasonable the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the plans conceming the partition of BiH were 

2047 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11. 
2048 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that in this context, Pdic refers to submissions in his ground of appeal 4, 
which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, paras 206-211. 
2049 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 76, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11. 
2050 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 76. 
2051 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 76; Appeal Hearing, AT. 386-387 (22 Mar 2017). 
2052 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 77. 
2053 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 39, 41. 
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addressed at this meeting. With respect to Pra]jak's contention that the Trial Chamber did not 

receive details of the plans concerning the division of BiH discussed by Tudman and Milosevie, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber relied on corroborating evidence reflecting that 

during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, Tudman and Milosevic discussed the partition of 

BiH.2054 Against this background, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to explain how the 

absence of the details of these plans renders the relevant finding erroneous. 

619. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show an error in relation 

to the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting and 

dismisses the relevant parts of his sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2. 

c. StojiC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

620. Stojie submits that the Trial Chamber erred in reaching its conclusion about the 

25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, as it disregarded the testimony of Manolii~ that the 

agreements reached were only "stories and rumours", as well as evidence from Witness Stjepan 

Kljujie.2055 Stojie concludes that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this meeting as 

evidence of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE?056 

621. The Prosecution responds that Stojie ignores ManoliC's evidence which supports the 

existence of an agreement between Tudman an9 Milosevie concerning the partition of BiH.2057 It 

also responds that Kljujie only testified that while he heard rumours of a "secret agreement" on 

partition, Tudman did not discuss it with Kljujie.2058 

622. With respect to StojiC's argument regarding Manolie's evidence, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Stojie mischaracterjses his testimony, taking the evidence out of context. A careful 

review of the relevant evidence shows that Manolie did not testify that the agreements between 

Tudman and Milosevie were only "stories and rumours". In fact, Manolie stated that Tudman's 

decision that the Croats should take part in the referendum for the independence of BiH was "in 

contradiction with all the stories and rumours [ ... J and the agreements that he had with Milosevie 

about the division of [BiH],,.2059 The Appeals Chamber further observes that Manolie gave evidence 

about Tudman and MiloseviC's negotiation concerning the division of BiH during the 

2054 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 11, fns 20-21. 
2055 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19, referring to Josip Manolie, T. 4277 (3 July 2006), Stjepan KIjujie, T. 3845-3846 
(26 June 2006). 
2056 Stoji6' s Appeal Brief, paras 19, 22. 
2057 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 17, referring to, inter alia, J osip Manolie, T. 4275-4276 (3 July 2006). 
2058 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 17, referring to Stjepan Kljujie, T. 3845-3846 (26 June 2006). 
2059 See Josip Manolie, T. 4277 (3 July 2006) (emphasis added). 
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25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting.206o StojiC's argument on this point is dismissed.2061 Finally, 

the Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider Kljujic's 

testimony since he fails to demonstrate how the evidence affects the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

regarding the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting. 

623. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously found that during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting, Tudman and Milosevic 

planned to finalise the division of BiH. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the relevant 

part of StojiC' s ground of appeal 1. 

(iii) Tudman's double policy 

624. Relying on the evidence of Manolic and Witness AR, as well as on portions of the 

Presidential Transcripts concerning the presidential meetings of 27 December 1991 and 

17 July 1993, the Trial Chamber found that Tudman "spoke equivC?cally, advocating, on the one 

hand, respect for the existing borders of BiH, knowing that the international community was 

opposed to dividing BiH, and, on the other, the partition of BiH between the Croats and Serbs,,.2062 

Similarly, the Trial Chamber concluded that, in 1992, while Tudman publicly supported BiH's 

independence advocating the constitutional or confederative model, he continued, with other 

Croatian governmental representatives, to assert his desire to reunify the Croatian people.2063 The 

Trial Chamber observed that Tudman repeatedly spoke of unifying the Croatian people and dividing 

BiH during presidential meetings held on 11 and 17 September 1992 ("11 September 1992 

Presidential Meeting" and "17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting", respectively), as well as 

during a meeting at Brioni on 28 November 1992 ("28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting,,).2064 

a. PrliC's appeal (Sub-grounds 9.2 and 9.3 in part) 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

625. Pdic submits that in concluding that Tudman adopted a double policy, the Trial Chamber 

ignored Tudman's assistance to BiH in accepting refugees and ABiH soldiers in Croatia and 

providing logistics to the ABiH and financial support.2065 He also argues that the Trial Chamber 

misrepresented the relevant portions of the Presidential Transcripts, which, in his view, demonstrate 

2060 See Josip Manolie, T. 4274-4276 (3 July 2006). 
2061 In relation to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber found no evidence on the trial record concerning the details 
of the plans discussed during the 25 March 1991 Karadordevo Meeting (StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19), the 
A~peals Chamber recalls that it has dismissed similar arguments made by Praljak. See supra, para. 618. 
202 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12. 
2063 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 17. 
2064 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
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that Tudman: (1) stated on 27 December 1991 that discussions with Alija Izetbegovic and Radovan 

Karadzic must be held to find a peaceful solution, stressing that he was for a sovereign BiH; and 

(2) denied any agreement with Milosevic on 17 July 1993.2066 Prlic contends that "Tudman was 

transparent during his meetings, never advocated carving up BiH between Croatia and Serbia and 

opposed BiH's division".2067 

626. Moreover, Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Tudman's remark during 

the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, since the Presidential Transcripts do not reflect a 

statement by Tudman that the HR H-B had to be incorporated into Croatia.2068 With respect to the 

28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting, Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber ignored contradictions in 

Okun's evidence, arguing that Okun's contemporaneous notes do not reflect any discussions about 

the partition of BiH between Croats and Serbs.2069 

627. The Prosecution responds that Prlie's contention regarding Muslims and 

Croats' co-operation is immaterial and, in any event, the Trial Chamber noted the co-operation in 

certain circumstances.207o With respect to PrliC's argument that Tudman publicly denied any 

agreement with Milosevic, the Prosecution contends that such evidence reflects his "two track 

policy".2071 Concerning the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, the Prosecution contends that 

Prlic provides an implausible interpretation of the evidence and fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

acted unreasonably.20n Lastly, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on 

Okun's description of the 28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting.2073 

ii. Analysis 

628. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly refer to the 

evidence concerning Tudman' s co-operation with BiH which Prlic references.2074 Yet, when 

discussing Tudman's double policy, the Trial Chamber relied on Manolie's evidence that Croatia's 

2065 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 250, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D03720, 3D02633; Appeal Hearing, AT. 128-129 
(20 Mar 2017). 
2066 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 250, refening to, inter alia, Exs. P00089, P03517,' Miomir Zuzul, T. 27631 
(6 May 2008). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 127-128 (20 Mar 2017). 
2067 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 250 (internal references omitted). See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 251, referring to 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 19. 
2068 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 239, refening to Ex. P00498; Appeal Hearing, AT. 237-240 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic also 
submits that the HR H-B was established 11 months after that meeting, referring to sub-ground of appeal 1.3. 
See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 239. 
2069 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 238, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16711-16714 (2 Apr 2007), Ex. P00829, p. 2. 
2070 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 149. 
2071 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 152. 
2072 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 145; Appeal Hearing, AT. 200-201 (20 Mar 2017). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 142. 
2073 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 148. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 142. 
2074 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12. 
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efforts to offer military and humanitarian ~ssistance to BiH reflected Tudman's "dual policy,,.2075 

Recalling that a trial chamber need not refer to every witness testimony or every piece of evidence 

on the record and that there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all the evidence 

presented to it as long as there is no indication that the trial chamber completely disregarded 

evidence which is cleady relevant,2076 the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to show that 

the Trial Chamber disregarded the evidence he references concerning Tudman's co-operation with 

BiH. 

629. The Appeals Chamber is similarly not persuaded that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised 

the Presidential Transcripts. A careful review of the relevant portions of the Presidential Transcripts 

shows that Tudman stated that while he previously supported the sovereignty of BiH "because the 

greater Serbian policy raised the issue of Serbian areas in Croatia", he was in favour of the 

demarcation of the BiH borders even if he did not want to raise this position openly for "tactical 

reasons".2077 With respect to PdiC's submission that on 17 July 1993 Tudman denied any agreement 

with Milosevic, the Appeals Chamber observes that Tudman's statement merely reflects his public 

position and, consequently, does not affect the finding concerning his double policy.2078 

630. Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that in contending that "Tudman was transparent 

during his meetings, never advocated carving up BiH between Croatia and Serbia and opposed 

BiH's division", Prlic merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence 

without identifying any error.2079 The Appeals Chamber dismisses this challenge. 

631. The Appeals Chamber turns to ·PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber misrepresented 

evidence by finding that during the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, Tudman envisioned 

incorporating the HR H-B into Croatia while the HR H-B was only established 11 months later. A 

review of the relevant portion of the Presidential Transcripts shows that while Tudman does not 

specifically refer to the HR H-B, he argues that part of BiH should be annexyd into Croatia if the 

interests of the Croatian people were not taken care of.2080 As such, the Appeals Chamber does not 

2075 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12, referring to Josip Manolic, T(F). 4490-4493 (5 July 2006). Moreover, the 
Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered evidence reflecting efforts of co-operation 
between Croatia and BiH. See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 440-441. 
2076 See Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53, 161,299; Popovic 
et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
2077 E x. P00089, pp. 29-30. 
2078 See Ex. P03517, p. 5. 
2079 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic broadly refers to submissions in his ground of appeal 19, which the 
APcpeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, paras 249, 275, 289, 382. 
200 Ex. P00498, pp. 80-81 ("[t]herefore, I said, either a Bosnia that would also provide for the interests of the Croatian 
people, or separation, on the provision, I said, that one part went to Serbia, one part to Croatia, with perhaps a small 
Muslim statelet remaining in the middle [ ... J"). 
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find that such a minor discrepancy - the Trial Chamber's reference to the HR H-B - could impact 

on the Trial Chamber's conclusion?081 PrliC's contention is dismissed. 

632. Prlie asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to consider contradictions between Okun's 

testimony and his contemporaneous notes as the latter do not provide any reference to discussions 

about the partition of BiH at the 28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting.2082 By contrast, a review of the 

portion of Okun's notes referred to by the Trial Chamber reflects Tudman and Susak's discussion 

conceming the partition of BiH.2083 Accordingly, Prlie has failed to demonstrate any inconsistency 

between Okun's notes and his testimony on this matter. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds no 

error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of Okun's evidence in this respect and dismisses PrliC's 

argument. 

633. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlie has failed to show an elTor in the 

Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence invalidating its conclusion on Tudman's double policy. 

The Appeals Chamb~r therefore dismisses the relevant part ofPrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 9.2 and 

9.3. 

b. Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1, 5.2, and 6.2 in part) 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

634. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that "Tudman spoke equivocally", 

arguing that it: (1) failed to provide any example of "Tudman['s] double language preferring to 

refer [to] Manolie['s] testimony,,;2084 and (2) erred in assessing the testimony of Manolie since he 

did not testify about "double language but about [a] double pOlicY".2085 Praljak also avers that 

Tudman consistently supported BiH's sovereignty and independence 'when he was in the "Croat 

circle".2086 

635. Further, Praljak contends that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding concerning the 

11 and 17 September 1992 Presidential Meetings, BiH's independence and sovereignty was never 

called into question during those meetings.2087 He avers that "the political aim of the HVO was 

2081 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 17. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to submissions in his 
sub-ground of appeal 1.3, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, paras 168-176. 
2082 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 238. 
2083 See Ex. P00829, p. 5 (.oFf says he supports this idea for more than a decade, even wrote about it [.] GS: [The] 
problem is we can't do it. Looks like [a] collusion of future partition of BiH"). See also Herbert Okun, T. 16711-16712 
(2 Apr 2007); Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2084 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 86. . 
2085 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 86. 
2086 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 86, referring to, inter alia, Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 392-393, Ex. P00822. See also 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 87. 
2087 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 114. 
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formulated as the forming and ordering of BiH in accordance with the EC principles, but Croats 

[ ... J were also permanently pursuing the goal to end the war".2088 With respect to' the 

17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, Praljak argues that the question of the division of BiH 

was only mentioned as a solution the international community . once considered,2089 and that 

Tudman recalled that Croatia's position was in favour of organising BiH into three constituent 

peoples and that the Croatian people's interests could be assured in BiH.2090 

636. Additionally, Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that during the 

28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting, Tudman repeatedly made reference to the division of BiH.2091 

He argues that Okun's testimony on which the Trial Chamber relied is contradicted by his 

contemporaneous notes2092 and that the other evidence on the record shows that Tudman had no 

intention to divide BiH in November 1992.2093 

637. The Prosecution responds that there is no merit in Praljak's argumentthat the Trial Chamber 

erred when concluding that Tudman spoke equivocally since ManoliC's and Okun's evidence 

supports the Trial Chamber's conclusion?094 Moreover, the Prosecution contends, Praljak repeats 

arguments already made at trial and raises challenges without demonstrating any error or impact. 2095 

ii. Analysis 

638. The Appeals Chamber sees no merit in Praljak's contention that the Trial Chamber did not 

provide any example of Tudman's "double language" and preferred to refer to Manolie's testimony. 

When concluding that Tudman "spoke equivocally", the Trial Chamber relied, in addition to 

ManoliC's testimony, on various pieces of evidence which Praljak does not challenge.2096 With 

respect to Praljak's claim that Manolie testified about Tudman's "double policy" rather than 

"double language", the Appeals Chamber finds that the difference between the two notions is a 

mere question of semantics. Accordingly, his argument is dismissed. 

639. The Appeals Chamber further rejects Praljak's contention that Tudman consistently 

supported BiH's sovereignty and independence when he was in the "Croat circle". Rather than 

2088 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 114, referring to Ex. P00498, pp. 28, 72. 
2089 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 80, referring to Ex. P00498, pp. 80-81. 
2090 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 80. Praljak also argues that Croatia recognised BiH independence and Tudman made 
all possible efforts to cooperate with Muslims. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 81, referring to Ex. ID00896, p.3; 
A~peal Hearing, AT. 386 (22 Mar 2017). . 
20 1 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 82, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2092 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 82. 
2093 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 82, refening to, inter alia, Exs. P00080, p. 46, P00498, pp. 80, 82, P00822, p. 52. 
See also Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 83. . 
2094 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 38; Appeal Hearing, AT. 421 (22 Mar 2017). 
2095 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41. . 
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identifying an error in the Trial Chamber's analysis, Praljak merely seeks to substitute his own 

interpretation of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber.2097 His argument is dismissed. 

640. Turning to Praljak's challenges to the Trial Chamber's findings on the 11 and 17 September 

1992 Presidential Meetings, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that: 

(1) at the 11 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, Tudman recalled his territorial ambitions for a 

Croatian Banovina; and (2) at the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, Tudman still envisioned 

incorporating the HR H -B into Croatia.2098 The Appeals Chamber considers that when arguing that 

the BiH's independence and sovereignty was undisputed at the meetings and that the HVO's 

political aim was "fommlated as the forming and ordering of BiH in accordance with the EC 

principles, but Croats, concerned by victims, were also permanently pursuing the goal to end the 

war",2099 Praljak merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's conclusion on Tudman's positions 

expressed at these meetings and fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the 

same conclusion as the Trial Chamber did. Praljak's assertion is therefore dismissed. 

641. Praljak claims that during the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, the division of BiH 

was mentioned as a solution the intemational community previously considered. In this respect, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that from the portion of the Presidential Transcripts Praljak refers to, it is 

unclear whether Tudman made reference to the division of BiH in the context suggested by 

Praljak.2100 However, in reaching its conclusion that Tudman affirmed his desire for the 

reunification of the Croatian people in 1992, the Trial Chamber relied, in addition, upon the 

evidence that Tudman spoke of the division of BiH during the 11 September 1992 Presidential 

Meeting and the 28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting.2101 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that, by 

only pointing to the respective portion of the Presidential Transcripts, Praljak fails to show that the 

Trial Chamber was unreasonable in reaching the impugned finding based on the remaining evidence 

and, accordingly, dismisses his argument. 

642. Finally, the Appeals Chamber rejects Praljak's challenge to the Trial Chamber's assessment 

of Okun's evidence regarding the 28 November 1992 Brioni Meeting. The Appeals Chamber 

2096 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12 & fn. 22, referring to Witness AR, Ex. PlO027 (confidential), T(F).4744, 
4778 (closed session) (8 Dec 1997); Ex. P00089, pp. 29-30, Ex. P03517, p. 5. 
2097 The Appeals Chamber further observes that in support of his contention, Praljak also relies upon the 
Judge Antonetti Dissent. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 86, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 392-393. In this 
regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the mere existence of a dissent does not render the majority's conclusion 
unreasonable. See, e.g., Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 226. 
2098 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2099 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 114. 
2100 E 4 See x. POO 98, p. 81. 
2101 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 17-18. 
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reiterates that Okun's notes confirm, rather than contradict, his evidence in court.2102 Similarly, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that in arguing that "the other· evidence" shows that in November 1992, 

Tudman had no intention to divide BiH, Praljak simply attempts to substitute his assessment of the 

evidence for that of the Trial Chamber without showing an error. Accordingly, these arguments are 

dismissed. 

643. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously found that Tudman adopted a double policy. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses the relevant parts of Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1, 5.2, and 6.2. 

(iv) Tudman's support for the creation of the HZ H-B on 18 November 1991 

644. The Trial Chamber found that, in connection with the plan to expand Croatian borders, 

Tudman supported the creation of the HZ H-B on 18 November 1991, which was defined as a 

Croatian entity protecting the rights of the Croats and defending the "ethnically and historically 

Croatian" territories, inspired by the tenitorial borders of the Banovina.2103 The Trial Chamber also 

found that Tudman, Praljak, and the founders of the HZ H-B., including Mate Boban, repeatedly 

mentioned the Banovina.2104 

a. PrliC's appeal (Sub-ground 9.5) 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

645. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Tudman supported the 

creation of the HZ H-B as part of the plan to expand Croatian borders since it contradicted its own 

previous finding in paragraph 423 of Volume 1 of the Trial Judgement.2105 He further argues that 

the Trial Chamber failed to properly assess all relevant evidence.2106 Specifically, he submits that 

the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing that "HDZ[-]BiH's policy was always for BiH".2107 

Moreover, according to Prlic, "the actions of HDZ-BiH cannot [be] fully appreciated in the absence 

2102 See supra, para. 632. 
2103 T . nal Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 14. 
2104 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 14. 
2105 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 255. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 255 & fn. 723, refelTing to Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 1, paras 423, 428, Vol. 4, paras 14, 17. 
2106 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 256, 258-261. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 257, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
sub-grounds of appeal 1.1-1.2; Appeal Hearing, AT. 136 (20 Mar 2017). 
2107 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 258. Specifically, Pdic points at evidence on the record allegedly showing that 
HDZ-BiH's policy was "for BiH" since HDZ-BiH: (1) reacted to the war in Croatia which was conducted in part from 
BiH; (2) acted because the BiH government was unable to protect BiH and Croats in BiH; (3) organised a defence with 
different measures, "including establishing a number of Croatian communities inside HDZ"; and (4) offered a defence 
to Muslims. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 258. . 
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of context: the Muslim policy of pursuing a unitary/Muslim dominated state, and how the [BiH] 

government became a Muslim government". 2108 

646. PrliC also avers that the Trial Chamber failed to consider: (1) the testimony of "Tudman's 

close associates" about Tudman's reference to the Banovina;2109 (2) evidence concerning Tudman's 

opposition to the change of the internationally recognised borders;2110 (3) Praljak's testimony on the 

17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting that "Banovina was not the goal" and the HZ H-B would 

cease to exist "upon solving BiH's internal org~nization";2111 and (4) PrliC's remarks at the 

17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting, which confirnl "his understanding of an inviolable BiH of 

three constituent peoples".2112 

647. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in finding 

that the HZ H-B was created for future annexation or alliance to Croatia.2113 The Prosecution argues 

that the Trial Chamber considered Defence arguments that the HZ(R) H-B served defence or 

administrative purposes, concluding that while it may have also served these aims, it was designed 

to be annexed or allied to Croatia.2114 The Prosecution further responds that Prlic ignores the 

Trial Chamber's adverse credibility findings with respect to Praljak's testimony.2115 

ii. Analysis 

648. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber's finding that Tudman 

supported the creation of the HZ H-B conflicts with its finding made elsewhere that dUl1ng the 

39th session of the Supreme Council of Croatia on 18 November 1991, he announced that the 

establishment of the HZ H-B did not constitute a decision to separate from BiH.2116 On the contrary, 

a reading of the Trial Judgement as a whole suggests that the fact that Tudman publicly advocated 

, the respect of BiH borders while privately supporting the separation of BiH is consistent with the 

Trial Chamber's finding on Tudman's double policy?117 This argument is thus dismissed. 

649. The Appeals Chamber now moves to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

properly assess all relevant evidence. Insofar as he inserts by reference arguments raised in his 

2108 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 259 (internal references omitted). 
2109 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 260. 
2110 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 260. 
2111 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 261. 
2112 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 261. 
2113 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 155-156. 
2114 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 159, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 15-16. 
2115 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 147. 
2116 See PrliC's Appeal brief, para. 255, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 423. 
2117 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12. 
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sub-grounds of appeal 1.1 and 1.2, the Appeals Chamber notes that it dismisses these arguments 

elsewhere. 2118 

650. With respect to PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the evidence 

concerning the "HDZ-BiH's policy", Prlic fails to show how the evidence he cites is relevant to the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion on Tudman's intentions and his support for the creation of the HZ H-B. 

Similarly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as unsubstantiated PrliC's blanket argument that the 

actions of HDZ-BiH cannot be fully appreciated in the absence of context. PrliC's arguments thus 

fail. 

651. Turning to PrliC's challenge that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the evidence of 

Tudman's close associates regarding Tudman's reference to the Banovina, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that Prlic misrepresents the testimony of Ribicic and Witness Miomir Zuzul.2119 They did 

not testify about the meaning of Tudman's references to the Banovina during his speeches and 

utterances, but rather about the reference to the Banovina and its meaning in the preambie of the 

Croatian Constitution.2120 PrliC's argument is dismissed. 

652. The Appeals Chamber also rejects PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider evidence that Tudman was against the change of the borders recognised by the 

international community as he merely claims that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the evidence 

without properly articulating an error. Moreover, he does not attempt to show how, based on this 

evidence, no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same conclusion?l21 Accordingly, 

PrliC's arguments are dismissed. 

653. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber rejects PrliC's claims that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider Praljak's testimony concerning the 17 September 1992 Presidential Meeting and PrliC's 

remarks at this meeting.2122 The Trial Chamber explained that while it found Praljak's testimony 

credible on certain points, it found his evidence "hardly credible" when he attempted to limit his 

responsibility, and consequently did not accept it in those instances.2123 Therefore, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not disregard Praljak's testimony, but rather 

considers that the Trial Chamber weighed his testimony and concluded that this evidence did not 

prevent it from arriving at its findings. Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. " 

2118 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 256-257, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of appeal 1.1-1.2. See supra, 
~aras 168-176. 

119 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 260, referring to, inter alios, Ciril RibiCic, T. 25466-25468, 25570 (10 Dec 2008), 
Miomir Zuzul, T. 27648-27651 (7 May 2008). 
2120 Ciril RibiCic, T. 25466-25468,25570 (10 Dec 2008), Miomir Zuzul, T. 27648-27651 (7 May 2008). 
2121 See supra, para. 25. 
2122 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 260. 
2123 T . 1 J na udgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
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654. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously found that Tudman supported the creation of the BZ H-B on 18 November 1991 as part 

of the plan to expand Croatian borders, and dismisses Prlie's sub-ground of appeal 9.5. 

b. Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 in part) 

655. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Tudman supported the creation of 

the HZ(R) H-B in connection with the plan to expand Croatian borders.2124 Praljak asserts that: 

(1) Croatia was only concerned about its defence;2125 and (2) Tudman stated that the proclamation 

of the HZ(R) H-B was not a decision to establish the Community of Herceg-Bosna, but a 

declaration that the BiH Croats were working to establish a community without separating from 

BiH, which contradicts the Trial Chamber's finding on Tudman's intentions to divide BiH.2126 

656. Praljak also argues that after the signing of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, Tudman expressed 

his reservations about the position of some Croats who wanted to proclaim Herceg-Bosna as part of 

Croatia, constantly made reference to the need for co-operation with Muslims, and supported BiH's 

independence.2127 

657. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable.2128 It also argues 

that Praljak fails to show the impact of the alleged errors on the Trial Chamber's finding.and makes 

unsubstantiated claims showing no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence.2129 

658. The Appeals Chamber notes that in support of his submission that Croatia was only 

concerned about its defence, Praljak refers to the evidence that a week before the creation of the 

HZ H-B, Tudman told Boban that Croatia would support and co-ordinate military organs of seven 

municipalities, which were situated close to Croatian areas involved in the conflict.2130 However, 

Praljak makes no attempt to explain how this evidence undermines the Trial Chamber's conclusion. 

Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

659. With respect to Praljak's argument that Tudman stated that the proclamation of the 

HZ(R) H-B did not constitute a decision to separate from BiH,2131 the Appeals Chamber observes 

that the Trial Chamber explicitly relied upon the evidence referred to by Praljak in its analysis of 

2124 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 78, refelTing to Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 14. 
2125 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 78, refelTing to Ex. P00068. 
2126 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 78, referring to Ex. P00080. 
2127 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 85. According to Praljak, "whatever the position of HZ(R) H-B Leaders and/or 
Croats living in Bill might have been, Tudman['s] and Croatia['s] position was to preserve BiH as a sovereign and 
independent State in its internationally recognized borders". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 85. 
2128 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 40. 
2129 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41. 
2130 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 78, refelTing to Ex. P00068. 
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the proclamation of the HZ H_B.2132 Praljak does not show how this evidence contradicts the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that Tudman supported the creation of the HZ H-B in connection with 

the plan to expand Croatian borders.z133 The Appeals Chamber also rejects Praljak's contention 

regarding Tudman's reservations about the position of some Croats who wanted to proclaim 

Herceg-Bosna as part of Croatia, as well as his contention concerning Tudman's support for both 

co-operation with Muslims and BiH's independence, as he merely points to the evidence without 

articulating any error vis-a-vis the Trial Chamber's conclusion. In any event, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that in support of his contention, Praljak refers to evidence reflecting a speech of Tudman 

during a meeting with Cyrus Vance, David Owen, Ambassador Martti Ahtisaari, Boban, and 

Izetbegovic.2134 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber does not find that this evidence could show an 

error in the impugned finding as it is consistent with the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning 

Tudman's double policy, namely that while Tudman publicly supported the independence and the 

territorial integrity of BiH, he continued to affirm his desire to reunify the Croatian people in 

private with other Croatian governmental representatives.2135 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 
" 

dismisses this claim. 

660. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously found that in connection with the plan to expand the Croatian borders, Tudman 

supported the creation of the HZ H-B on 18 November 1991. The Appeals Chamber dismisses the 

relevant parts of Praljak' s sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2. 

(v) Tudman's references to the Croatian Banovina between January 1993 and 

March 1994 

661. The Trial Chamber concluded that between January 1993 and March 1994, Tudman was 

still "pre-occupied with the borders of Croatia and by the Croatian Banovina".2136 Specifically, the 

Trial Chamber found that Tudman: (1) asserted on 20 May 1993 that "Croats surely cannot agree to 

lose some areas that used to be a part of the Banovina"; (2) stated on 6 July 1993 that the BiH 

Croats would not conquer the territories of others, but rather the lands that belonged to the Croats 

for centuries; (3) stated on 21 September 1993 that Stolac and the entire region of Jablanica-Konjic 

had formed p'art of the Banovina; and (4) reiterated at a presidency meeting on 6 January 1994 that 

his military support for Croats in BiH was to ensure that certain BiH territories did not fall into 

2131 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 78, referring to Ex. P00080. 
2132 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 423, referring to Ex. P00080. 
2133 See supra, para. 648. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 12, 14. 
2134 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 85, referring to Ex. P01558, p. 45. 
2135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 17. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12. 
2136 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 22. 
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Muslim hands, to preserve the territories considered Croatian, and to determine the future borders 

of the Croatian State "perhaps for centuries".2137 

. a. Prlic's appeal (Sub-ground 9.2 in part) 

662. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that Tudman remained preoccupied 

with the Banovina borders by: (1) relying on selective portions of the Presidential Transcripts; 

(2) failing to consider evidence from witnesses who attended relevant meetings; and (3) ignoring 

"contextually relevant" events during the meetings?138 Specifically, he argues that "Tudman cannot 

be understood without considering the [Owen-Stoltenberg Peace Plan] and the signing of a secret 

agreement between Tudman and Izetbegovic connecting the Muslim and Croat Republics in BiH, 

and a confederation with Croatia".2139 

663. Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised other portions of the Presidential 

Transcripts which show that Tudman: (1) supported an independent BiH and asked UNPROFOR to 

protect the border between BiH and Croatia;2140 and (2) mentioned the Banovina as an argument 

against demographic changes in BiH or changes of the borders of Croatia.2141 Pdic further asserts 

that Tudman: (1) did not refer to the Banovina in the context of dividing or annexing BiH and the 

term was "merely a reference point during negotiations about the internal organization of BiH"; 

(2) supported the independence of BiH regardless of the audience; and (3) was consistently for a 

peaceful solution?142 

664. The Prosecution responds that the evidence to which Prlic refers demonstrates the 

continuing preoccupation that members of the JCE had with the Banovina, including Tudman.2143 

665. The Appeals Chamber observes that in arguing that the Trial Chamber relied selectively on 

the ~residential Transcripts, Prlic merely refers to certain evidence without explaining how the 

Trial Chamber umeasonably assessed it. Similarly, his submission that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider evidence and contextually relevant events fails to show how, based on this evidence and 

events, no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber did. 

2137 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 22. 
2138 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. Prlic points to a portion of the Presidential Transcripts dated 5 November 1993 that 
the Trial Chamber cited. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 240 & fn. 687, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06454, pp. 1-2, 
Slobodan Praljak, T.41763-41765 (22 June 2009), Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 22. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 235-236 (20 Mar 2017). 
2139 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 241, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
sub-ground of appeal 1.3. . 
2140 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 242, referring to Exs. P04740, P03324, P02452. 
2141 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 242, refening to Exs. P02466, P03279. 
2142 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 243. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 242. 
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The Appeals Chamber further considers that PdiC's assertion that "Tudman cannot be understood 

without considering the [Owen-Stoltenberg Peace Plan] and the signing of a secret agreement with 

Izetbegovic connecting the Muslim and Croat Republics in BiR, and a confederation with 

Croatia,,2144 reflects a different interpretation of the evidence without demonstrating an error 

warranting appellate intervention.2145 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's 

arguments. 

666. The Appeals Chamber also finds that when claiming that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised parts of the Presidential Transcripts, Pdic merely disagrees with the 

Trial Chamber's assessment of evidence but fails to show how the Trial Chamber erred in such 

assessment. In relation to his claims that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing Tudman's reference 

to the Banovina, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic supports this assertion by referring to 

evidence on the record without showing that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same 

conclusion as the Trial Chamber.2146 Recalling that mere assertions that the Trial Chamber failed to 

give sufficient weight to evidence or failed to interpret evidence in a particular manner warrant a 

dismissal, the Appeals Chamber declines to consider PdiC's unsubstantiated argument. 

667. The Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that between January 1993 and March 1994, Tudman continued to be preoccupied by the 

Banovina and with the borders of Croatia. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's 

sub-ground of appeal 9.2 in relevant part. 

b. Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 in part) 

668. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber misconstrued Tudman's references to the Banovina, 

because they were historical rather than political in character?147 fIe mentions in particular the 

presidential meeting of 20 May 1993 ("20 May 1993 Presidential Meeting") where Tudman refers 

to the Banovina in the frame of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, which reaffirmed BiR's independence 

and sovereignty within its internationally recognised borders.2148 Praljak contends that two weeks 

2143 Prosecution's Response Brief (PrliC) , para. 144. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 142. The 
Prosecution also submits that Pdic fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion as he relies on Praljak's 
evidence, which the Trial Chamber deemed unreliable. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 147. 
2144 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. 
2145 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 1.3, which the 
Apf.eals Chamber dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
21 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 243. 
2147 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 79 & fn. 146, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 391; Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 386-387 (22 Mar 2017). 
2148 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 79, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02466. 
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later, Tudman reaffirmed his intention to persuade BiH Croats to remain in a "confederal BiH" and 

informed Izetbegovic that the Croats supported BiH.2I49 

669. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's argument that Tudman's references to the Banovina 

were merely historical is contradicted by Praljak's own admission that achieving the separation 

from BiH with borders matching the Banovina was "Croatia's policy, and Tudman's, and 

Jadranko PrliC's and all of US,,?150 The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber agreed 

with Praljak when it found that in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the JCE 

members forcibly seized the territories linked to the Banovina to demarcate borders based on their 

control over these provinces?15I 

670. The AppealsChamber notes that in support of his contention that Tudman's references to 

the Banovina were histOlical in character, Praljak relies upon the Judge Antonetti Dissent.2152 The 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the mere existence of a dissent does not render the majority's 

conclusion unreasonable.2153 In relation to Praljak's claim that dUling the 20 May 1993 Presidential 

Meeting, Tudman made reference to the Banovina in the frame of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that in reaching its conclusion that Tudman was still concerned with the 

Banovina, the Trial Chamber took into account Tudman's remarks during four different meetings, 

including the 20 May 1993 Presidential Meeting.2154 The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak 

challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on the 20 May 1993 Presidential Meeting without 

explaining how the impugned finding could not stand on the basis of the remaining evidence. With 

regard to Praljak's argument that Tudman reaffirmed his intention to persuade BiH Croats to remain 

in a "confederal BiH", and that Tudman informed Izetbegovic of the Croat's support for BiH, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak only points to excerpts of the Presidential Transcripts 

without showing how such evidence would disturb the impugned finding. The Appeals Chamber 

finds that Praljak fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned 

conclusion. 

671. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously concluded that between 1993 and 1994, Tudman was still "pre-occupied with the 

borders of Croatia and by the Croatian Banovina". Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the 

relevant part ofPraljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2. 

2149 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 79, referring to Exs. P02613, P02719. 
2150 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 36, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 43370-43371 (17 Aug 2009). 
2151 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 36, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 18, 22. 
2152 See supra, fn. 2147. , 
2153 See, e.g., Galic Appeal Judgement, paras 226-227. 
2154 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 22. 
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(b) Challenges to the overall finding that Tudman claimed that BiH was not supposed to exist as 

an independent State and that part of BiH was to be annexed to Croatia 

(i) PrliC's appeal (Ground 9.2 in part) 

672. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that Tudman claimed that BiH 

was not supposed to exist as an independent State and that part of BiH was to be annexed to 

Croatia.2155 Specifically, he argues that the Trial Chamber relied on "selective snippets" of the 

evidence, including the Presidential Transcripts, and the evidence of Witness AR, Galbraith, 

Manolic, and Okun,2156 and failed to consider relevant evidence from the Presidential Transcript 

that shows Tudman's co-operation with the BiH government.2157 

673. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the ICE members 

sought to reclaim the Banovina borders and unify the Croatian people by establishing an 

autonomous Croat entity in BiH in preparation for future integration or alliance with Croatia.2158 

The Prosecution also contends that PrliC's argument regarding Croat-Muslim co-operation is 

irrelevant. 2159 

674. The Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic provides no support for his assertion that the 

Trial Chamber relied on "selective snippets" of the Presidential Transcripts. Furthernlore, in 

challenging the testimony of Witness AR, Prlic refers to Zuzul's and Robert Donia's evidence 

without explaining how their testimony would render umeasonable the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

Witness AR,z160 With respect to the testimonies of Galbraith and Manolic, Pdic simply 

cross-references other grounds of appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.2161 

Lastly, as to Okun's evidence, Pdic points to portions of his testimony without providing any 

explanation.2162 The Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence of Witness AR, Galbraith, Manolic, or Okun and, 

therefore, dismisses these arguments. 

2155 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 428, Vol. 4, paras 9, 18, 22-24; 
Apfeal Hearing, AT. 127-128 (20 Mar 2017). See also AppealvHearing, AT. 237 (20 Mar 2017). 
21 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, referring to Miomir Zuzul, T. 31155-31163 (22 July 2008), Robert Donia, 
T. 1931-1933 (11 May 2006), PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 6.2. 
2157 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, refelTing to, inter alia, Exs. P00312, P00414, P00466. 
2158 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 142; Appeal Hearing, AT. 188-190 (20 Mar 2017). 
2159 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 149. 
2160 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, referring to Miomir Zuzul, T. 31155-31163 (22 July 2008), Robert Donia, 
T. 1931-1933 (11 May 2006). 
2161 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, refelTing to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 6.2. See also supra, 
~aras 213, 216-218. 

162 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, refelTing to Herbert Okun, T. 16653 (2 Apr 2007). 

284 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23611



675. Turning to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence reflecting 

Tudman's co-operation with the BiH government, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the 

Trial Chamber considered Tudman's efforts to co-operate with BiH and concluded that they 

reflected his double policy.2163 Against this background, Prlic merely asserts that the Trial Chamber 

failed to consider certain evidence without showing that, based on this evidence, no reasonable trier 

of fact could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber. Accordingly this argument is 

dismissed. 

676. The Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

reaching its conclusion about Tudman's intentions. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

the relevant part of PrliC' s ground of appeal 9.2. 

(ii) StojiC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

677. Stojic submits that when concluding that Tudman had intentions to reconstitute the 

Banovina, the Trial Chamber failed to consider relevant evidence.2164 Specifically, he argues that 

the Trial Chamber's analysis of presidential meetings is wholly inadequate as the Trial Chamber 

only relied on a limited part of the Presidential Transcripts, "while disregarding other relevant 

documents entirely", in contrast to the detailed analysis provided by Judge Antonetti in his 

dissent.2165 Stojic contends that the relevant evidence from the Presidential Transcripts which the 

Trial Chamber disregarded is inconsistent with its conclusion on Tudman's intentions,2166 and 

shows that Tudman: (1) advocated the independence of BiH as a confederation of three constituent 

peoples;2167 and (2) placed importance on co-operation with Muslims and on "international 

opinion" .2168 

2163 See supra, para. 624. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 440-441, 463-464, 467, 471-472, 477, Vol. 2, 
garas 696-697. 

164 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 10-16. 
2165 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 10, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 7-50; Appeal Hearing, AT. 258-262, 
266-267 (21 Mar 2017). See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 16. 
2166 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 11, 15, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9, 14. 
2167 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 11; Appeal Hearing, AT. 260-261 (21 Mar 2017), referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00080, 
P00167,P00336,P04740,P07198,P00822,P00498,P00882,P00866,P01544,P01883,P02302,P03704,P03517. 
2168 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 12; Appeal Hearing, AT. 262-263, 301 (21 Mar 2017). In particular, Stojic refers to 
portions from the Presidential Transcripts reflecting that Tudman: (1) insisted on co-operation with Bosman Muslims; 
(2) criticised HVO leaders for fighting with Muslims; (3) reproached Boban for his remark that he did not believe in 
joint politics with Muslims; (4) "was concerned about what outcome would be acceptable to Europe and the world"; 
and (5) supported solutions "within the international order", fearing international sanctions. StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 12, referring to Exs. P01297, P01883, P07198, P07480, P07485, P03112, P06930, POOl 08, P02122, P02466, 
Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 51. According to 'Stojic, these statements were also consistent with Croatia's actions, 
including its invitation of international observers to its borders. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 12, referring to 
Exs.P00324,P03467,P02613. 
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678. Moreover, Stojie contends that the Trial Chamber also disregarded: (1) evidence showing 

that Croatia agreed to a succession of peace plans;2169 (2) evidence from Witness 4D-AB that there 

was no Croatian policy in the area;2170 and (3) evidence from Manolie that Tudman was not 

enthusiastic about the reconstitution of the Banovina,z171 Finally, Stojie argues that the 

Trial Chamber made contradictory findings when it concluded that Tudman supported the creation 

of the HZ H-B in order to expand and also to protect the borders of Croatia.2172 

679. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not disregard the evidence referred to 

by Stojic and reasonably relied on the evidence showing the "two-track policy" of the ICE 

members,z173 The Prosecution submits that: (1) the Trial Chamber reasonably gave more weight to 

the "overwhelming evidence from the ICE members' contemporaneous statements" supporting the 

Ultimate Purpose of the ICE than to the testimony of Witness 4D_AB;2I74 and (2) contrary to 

StojiC's submission, Manolie testified that Tudman's main goal was the reconstitution of "the 

Banovina Croatia borders".2175 Finally, the Prosecution contends that there is no inconsistency in 

the Dial Chamber's finding regarding Tudman's intentions to protect and expand the Croatian 

borders as Tudman stated that "the question above all others is how to preserve the Republic of 

Croatia, how to gain as much as possible" in BiH.2I76 

680. Stojie replies that the Prosecution's argument concerning the double policy is contradicted 

by evidence which reflects that in his private statements in 1992 and 1993, Tudman supported the 

independence of BiH as a "union of the three constituent peoples", 2177 and he was willing to help 

'Bosnian Muslims,z178 

b. Analysis 

681. With respect to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the evidence 

from the Presidential Transcripts indicating that Tudman advocated for the independence of BiH 

and placed emphasis on co-operation with Bosnian Muslims and on international opinion, the 

2169 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 13, referring to Exs. 3D03720, P09276, P01391, POI038, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
paras 438, 444, 451, 462, 482 (concerning the Cutileiro Plan, the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, and the Owen-Stoltenberg 
Peace Plan). 
2170 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para, 14, referring to Witness 4D-AB, T. 47098 (23 Nov 2009). 
2171 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para, 14, referring to Josip Manolic, T. 4282-4283 (3 July 2006). 
2172 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 15, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 14-15, 
2173 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 10-13; Appeal Hearing, AT. 348-349 (21 Mar 2017). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 9. 
2174 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 15. 
2175 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 14. 
2176 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 15, referring to Ex. P05237. 
2177 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 5, referring to Ex. P01544. 
2178 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 5, referring to Exs. P00822, P00866. Stojic also points to evidence showing that Tudman 
encouraged co-operation and criticised the crimes committed by the HVO. StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 6, referring to 
Exs. P06581, P01798. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 263-264 (21 Mar 2017). 
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Appeals Chamber notes that a review of the relevant findings shows that the Trial Chamber 

expressly considered most of the evidence Stojic references in its analysis concerning the Ultimate 

Purpose of the JCE, including in its conclusion concerning Tudman's double policy, according to 

which Tudman publicly supported BiH's existing borders, while privately advocating for its 

division?179 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic does not show that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded the evidence. As regards the remaining evidence Stojic relies on,2180 the 

Appeals Chamber observes that it is similar to the evidence expressly relied on by the 

Trial Chamber in finding that Tudman adopted a double policy.2181 Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber disregarded this evidence, but rather that 

the Trial Chamber assessed it and concluded that it did not prevent it from reaching its conclusion. 

Stojic's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

682. With respect to StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing 

that Croatia agreed to a succession of peace plans, the Appeals Chamber notes that he supports his 

contention by pointing to evidence which was expressly considered in relation to the international 

peace plans and negotiations,2182 or by referring to the Trial Chamber's findings without explaining 

how these findings support his argument that it disregarded relevant evidence.2183 Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show an elTor in the Trial Chamber's conclusion. 

683. With respect to the statements of Tudman reflected in Exhibits P01544, P00866, and 

P00822, refelTed to by Stojic in his reply, the Appeals Chamber notes that the respective portions of 

Exhibits P01544 and P00866 were expressly considered by the Trial Chamber in its conclusions 

that Tudman spoke equivocally when advocating for the existence and the legitimacy of the 

BiH.2184 A careful review of Exhibits P01544 and P00866 suggests that, rather than advocating for 

the independence of BiH during these Presidential Meetings, Tudman was simply describing his 

public position in this regard,2185 or showing his doubts about the possibility of BiH remaining 

2179 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 12 (referring to Exs. P03517, POO108), 15 (referring to Exs. POOI67, P00036, 
P00498, P00866), 17 (referring to Exs. P00336, P01544, P02302, P00167), 22 (referring to Exs. P04740, P07485, 
P02466). 
2180 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 11 (referring to Exs. P00080, P07198, P00882, P01883, P03704), 12 (referring to 
Exs. P01297, P01883, P07198, P07480, P03112, P06930, P02122). 
2181 See Exs. P00080, P07198, P00822, P01883, P03704, P01297, P07480, P03112, P06930, P02122. Specifically, the 
Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber noted evidence concerning Tudman's efforts to co-operate with BiH 
in concluding that it reflected his double policy. See supra, para. 624. 
2182 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445-446, 451, 455 (referring to Ex. P01038), 461-462 (referring to Ex. P01391); 
Vol. 4, paras 14 (referring to Ex. P09276), 681 (referring to Ex. 3D03720). 
2183 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 13, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 438, 444,451,462,482. 
2184 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 15 (referring to Ex. P00866), 17 (referring to Ex. POI544). 
2185 See Ex. POi544, pp. 23-24 ("Gentlemen, due to both our interest in a definitive solution and international relations, 
because in this Croatia is in a very delicate position in relation to Europe, America and the Islamic world, because they 
were actually looking for a possibility to put pressure on Croatia as it apparently has no correct attitude, it apparently 
made [an] agreement to divide Bosnia etc. So, we must persevere in our stand that Bosnia and Herzegovina is to remain 
independent, but only as a union of the three constituent peoples [ ... ]. There is something, the Bosnian Muslims are 
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united,2186 Against this background, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic merely attempts to give 

a different interpretation of the evidence without articulating an error warranting appellate 

intervention. As to StojiC's reference to Exhibit P00822, the relevant portion of the evidence does 

not clearly indicate the extent to which Tudman advocated for the independence of BiH.2187 In any 

event, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show how this piece of evidence could impair 

the Trial Chamber's assessment of various pieces of evidence in support of its conclusion that 

Tudman adopted a double policy with respect to the integrity and independence of BiH. 2188 

Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

684. Further, considering that the Trial Chamber took into account the overwhelming evidence 

reflecting Tudman's concerns for the Banovina, the Appeals Chamber sees no error in the 

Trial Chamber's decision not to address Witness 4D-AB's testimony that there was no Croatian 

policy in the area.2189 Turning to StojiC's claim that the Trial Chamber disregarded the evidence 

from Manolic that Tudman was "not enthusiastic" about reconstituting the Banovina, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic mischaracterises ManoliC's testimony. A review of the 

portion of the evidence referred to by Stojic shows that Manolic testified that Tudman was "not 

enthusiastic" about the situation of the borders of Istria and Baranja, rather than about the 

reconstitution of the Banovina?190 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show 

any error in the Trial Chamber's impugned conclusion vis-a-vis Tudman's intentions. 

striving and partly succeeding in convincing the world that they are not fundamentalists. Fundamentalists in the Shia 
sense, as West looks on Iranian fundamentalists. But, gentlemen, OZAL was greeted outside the mosque Bosnia, Allah. 
So they are not fundamentalists in the Shia sense, but in practice they want to dominate anyway and this is manifested 
in reality in all areas and it is in this context that we must explain to the world what this is about"). 
2186 See Ex. P00866, pp. 9-10 ('.'But, looking at the whole, we can say that even in this - in this sense of state, politics 
and strategy -we won the battle to prevent Bosnia and Herzegovina be included in a greater Serbia. And today it can be 
discussed that Bosnia and Herzegovina survives as/sic/, if it survives as a confederate community of three nations. So, 
that Croat people in Bosnia and Herzegovina have full independence in the area - to say it in this way, the 
Herzeg-Bosnia community, and even the international recognition, that we have the right to that part of Bosanska 
Posavina that was predominately inhabited by Croat population. And, between us - but please do not say it in the street 
-whether this is the thing that Bosnia and Herzegovina can really survive only as such confederate community. /sic/ 
But, to you people of responsibility in the Croatian Anny, I have to make it known to you that many international signs 
indicate that those most responsible European and American factors alike are asking themselves about the possibility 
and expedience of the survival of Bosnia and Herzegovina"). 
2187 Ex. P00822, p. 52. . 
2188 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 12, 15, 17. 
2189 See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-12, 14-15, 17-18,22-23. 
2190 Josip Manolie, T. 4282-4283 (3 July 2006) ("Q. Sir, can you tell us when President Tudjman came back from 
[Karadordevo], did he have a view that by his agreement with Milosevic the Banovina borders could be recreated in 
Bosnia? A. No, because President Tudjman was not very enthusiastic about those borders since a new situation had 
arisen. Within the Croatian Banovina, there was no Istria or Baranja at the time, and those were areas that the Croatian 
state wanted preserved. They didn't want these borders changed in that area. So President Tudjman did not insist on the 
Banovina borders of Croatia. [ ... J This new situation was that the borders of the Banovina of Croatia were unrealistic in 
the newly arisen situation where Croatia had acquired Istria after World War II and Baranja also became part of the 
Socialist RepUblic of Yugoslavia. This was too important. The histOlical Banovina could not be justified because of 
this"). 
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685. Finally, the Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber made 

contradictory findings in assessing Tudman's intentions vis-a.-vis his support for the creation of 

HZ H-B. Specifically, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the intention to protect the 

Croatian border would negate the aim to expand it. The Appeals Chamber further observes that the 

Trial Chamber's conclusions in this regard are consistent with its earlier findings that "Tudman 

advocated dividing BiH between Croatia and Serbia, incorporating part of BiH into Croatia, or at 

least, the existence of an autonomous Croatian territory within the BiH that would enjoy close ties 

with Croatia". 2191 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

686. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its relevant findings concerning Tudman's intentions. Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses the relevant part of StojiC's ground of appeall. 

(iii) PusiC's appeal (Ground 3 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

687. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in reaching its conclusion concerning Tudman's 

intentions, by failing to apply the beyond reasonable doubt standard of proof and ignoring other 

reasonable inferences available from the evidence.2192 In particular, relying extensively on the 

Judge Antonetti Dissent, Pusic contends that the evidence on the trial record does not support: 

(1) the Trial Chamber's findings concerning Tudman's intentions to divide BiH or to intervene in 

BiH with the aim to create a Greater Croatia;2193 (2) the Trial Chamber's "assumption" that Tudman 

controlled , the HZ(R) H-B's military activities due to "a joint command structure,,;2194 and (3) the 

Trial Chamber's finding of Tudman's "two-track policy".2195 According to Pusk, another 

2191 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 10. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 16,24. 
2192pusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 84-97. See also PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 23; Appeal Hearing, AT. 675, 678, 680 
(27 Mar 2017). 
2193 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 86-91, 97(a)-(b), 98; Appeal Hearing, AT. 678 (27 Mar 2017). Specifically, Pusic 
argues that the Presidential Transcripts as' well as other evidence on the record show that Tudman: (1) frequently 
changed his position making it difficult to ascertain "his true motives"; (2) often emphasised his preference to cooperate 
with the international community and Muslims to find a solution to the conflict imd to reach an agreeable settlement; 
(3) supported the idea of the Banovina only as a measure of last resort in response to Serb aggression; and (4) supported 
the independence of BiH and the inviolability of the Bill borders. PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 88, 90,91, 97(a)-(b). 
2194 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 92-94; Appeal Hearing, AT. 676-679 (27 Mar 2017). Pusic·argues that the Presidential 
Transcripts show that Tudman: (1) only authorised the deployment of volunteers and "certain individual officers" to the 
HZ(R) H-B with some logistical support; and (2) denied that the HVO forces were present in BiH and did not have full 
knowledge of the extent of military operations. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 92, referring to, inter alia, Judge Antonetti 
Dissent, pp. 38-39. Pusic also highlights that there were "significant divisions of opinion" between Tudman and the 
HZ(R) H-B leaders. PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 93-94, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 45,49, 376, 381, 385, 
393. 
2195 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98. Pusic argues that: (1) the Prosecution's theory on Tudman's double policy 
"presupposes that Tudman was playing a highly dangerous and risky double game [ ... J in his communications with 
international negotiators" at a time when Croatia's position, as an emerging nation state, was not secured; and 
(2) Tudman repeated the statements made to international representatives. and relied upon by the Trial Chamber in its 

289 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23606



reasonable inference based on the evidence is that Tudman "harboured a desire for a Greater 

Croatia which he did not want to see implemented through criminal means" as this would have put 

Croatia's relationship with the international community at risk. 2196 

688. Additionally, Pusic submits that in no other case concerning Croats in BiH has the Tribunal 

ever made findings "confirming the existence" of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, and that the 

Gotovina et al. Trial Judgement did not infer the existence of a JCE from Tudman's speeches.2197 

689. The Prosecution responds that Pusic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

reached the conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2198 The Prosecution specifically 

submits that the mere existence of a dissent does not render the majority's conclusion unreasonable 

and that a trial chamber is not obliged to discuss other inferences it considered as long as it was 

satisfied that the one it retained was the only one reasonable.2199 The Prosecution also contends that 

ample evidence from the record supports the Trial Chamber's reasoning as, to Tudman's 

preoccupation with the Banovina and his desire to ensure that this territory be dominated by 

Croats.2200 

b. Analysis 

690. With respect to PusiC's contentions that the evidence does not prove Tudman's intentions to 

divide BiH, the Appeals Chamber observes that Pusic bases his arguments almost entirely on the 

Judge Antonetti Dissent,2201 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the mere existence 

of a dissent does not render the majority's conclusion unreasonable.2202 Accordingly, Pusic fails to 

conclusion of his double policy, to his closest allies as well. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98, referring to Judge Antonetti 
Dissent, pp. 374-375, 384, 392. 
2196 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 97(c), referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp.32, 385, 391. In support of his 
contention, Pusic argues that Tudman could not take action to implement his aspirations for a Greater Croatia at the 
time because: (1) Tudman was not elected on a "Greater Croatia platform"; (2) as Croatia was newly constituted and 
facing Serb aggression, Tudman did not have the internal or international support to realise his vision; (3) the idea of "a 
Greater Croatian Republic project" was in contradiction to Tudman's effort to assert Croatia's identity and security; 
(4) by promoting the "Greater Croatia idea" Tudman "would ipso facto have to accept the Serbs['] vision of a Greater 
Serbia"; and (5) Croatia was not able to bear the economic burden of absorbing the population from a Croat dominated 
territory in BiR. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 97( d)(i)-(v), referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 385, 393, 417-418. 
2197 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 95-96, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 146,369,373,377. 
2198 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 72, 74-76. 
2199 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusk), para. 73. 
2200 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 74-76. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), 
~aras 62-64, 66-67; Appeal Hearing, AT. 709 (27 Mar 2017). 

201 The Appeals Chamber observes that a close reading of PusiC's arguments shows that they are predicated on, and 
closely mirror, the Judge Antonetti Dissent which elaborates on and interprets evidence concerning Tudman's 
intentions. Compare PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 86-91, 97(a)-(b), 98 & fns 142-147, 162-164 with Judge Antonetti 
Dissent, inter alia, pp. 9-10, 21-25, 32-33, 50, 375-376, 383-389, 417-418. The Appeals Chamber further observes that 
in support of his allegations, Pusic also relies upon the Presidential Transcripts and Witness AR's evidence. PusiC's 
Appeal Brief, paras 90-91. The Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic simply refers to the evidence without showing that 
the Trial Chamber was unreasonable in reaching its conclusion. 
2202 See supra, para. 670. 
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show any error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence. The Appeals Chamber dismisses 

these contentions. 

691. Turning to PusiC's contention that the evidence does not support the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE as it is based on the assumption that the existence of 

a joint command structure allowed Tudman to control the HZ(R) H-B's military activities, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that in no part of the analysis concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the 

JCE djd the Trial Chamber make such a finding. 2203 The Appeals Chamber also observes that in 

support of his contention, Pusic refers to the Trial Chamber's analysis concerning the international 

character of the conflict without explaining how the findings therein are relevant to the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2204 Accordingly, PusiC's argument 

is dismissed. 

692. The Appeals Chamber further rejects PusiC's challenge concerning Tudman's double policy. 

The Appeals Chamber observes that in support of his submission, Pusic advances unsupported and 

speculative assertions,2205 and relies entirely on the Judge Antonetti Dissent without showing that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have reached this conclusion.2206 Finally, the Appeals Chamber 

sees no merit in PusiC's comparison between this case and a trial judgement assessing the evidence 

in another case. The Appeals Chamber recalls in this regard that an error cannot be established by . 

merely pointing to the fact that another trial chamber has reached a different conclusion.2207 Pusic's 

argument is dismissed. 

693. The Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in its 

relevant findings concerning Tudman's intentions and therefore dismisses the relevant part of 

PusiC's ground of appeal 3. 

3. Alleged errors in finding that the HZ(R) H-B leaders were involved in meetings and discussions 

concerning the partition of BiB 

694. The Trial Chamber found that on 6 May 1992, representatives of the Croatian community of 

BiH, including Boban, met with representatives of the Serbian community of BiB, including 

Karadzic, to discuss the division of BiH in accordance with the demarcation of the Croatian 

2203 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-24. 
2204 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 526-528. 
2205 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98 (claiming that the Prosecution's theory on Tudman's double policy "presupposes that 
Tudman was playing a highly dangerous and risky double game (considering the public and the media scrutiny he was 
under) in his communications with international negotiators"). 
2206 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 374-375, 384, 392. 
2207 See Stani§ic alld Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 652; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 257; Krnojelac 
Appeal Judgement, para. 12. 
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Banovina at Graz in Austria ("6 May 1992 Graz Meeting,;).2208 It further concluded that on 5 and 

26 October 1992, Pdic, Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic, as part of a delegation from Croatia and the 

HZ H-B, met with Ratko Mladic to discuss the partition of BiH ("5 October 1992 Meeting", 

"26 October 1992 Meeting", and collectively, "5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings,,).2209 According to 

the Trial Chamber, Praljak stated during these meetings that "[t]he goal is Banovina or nothing" and 

that "it is in our interest that the Muslims get their own canton so they have somewhere to move 

to". 221 
0 The Trial Chamber also noted the testimony of Raymond Lane that during an interview with 

Pdic, Pdic drew a circle dividing BiH in two parts with the Serbs on one side and the Croats on the 

other, without any mention of the Muslims.2211 

(a) PrliC's appeal (Sub-grounds 9.4, 9.7, and 9.8) 

695. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting 

was connected to the plan to divide BiH so as to expand Croatia along the borders of the Banovina, 

by: (1) ignoring Witness Franjo Boras's testimony about internal administrative arrangements, 

rather than the division of BiH;2212 and (2) mischaracterising the testimony of Witness Zdravko 

Sancevic as he did not testify about the meeting. 2213 He also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that he met with Mladic to discuss the partition of BiH during the 5 and 26 October 1992 

Meetings.2214 Pdic further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact when it concluded 

that dUling an interview with Lane, Pdic drew a circle dividing BiH between Serbs and Croats, 

without any evidence corroborating Lane's testimony.2215 

696. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on Boras's evidence 

with respect to its findings on the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting.2216 It also contends that Prli6 fails to 

articulate any error in the Trial Chamber's finding that Pdic and other BiH Croat leaders met with 

Mladic to discuss the partition during the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings.2217 Similarly, the 

Prosecution argues that PdiC's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the 

uncorroborated evidence of Lane is uns~bstantiated and should be dismissed.2218 

2208 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 13. 
2209 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2210 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2211 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 19. 
2212 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 252-254. 
2213 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 252-254, referring to Zdranko Sancevic, T. 28744-28746 (28 May 2008). The 
Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic also refers to his sub-ground of appeal1.l. Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 253. 
2214 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 269-270, referring to PrliC's ground of appeal 5. 
2215 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 271-272, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 202-203 (sub-ground of appeal 6.2). 
2216 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 153. 
2217 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 154; Appeal Hearing, AT. 201-203 (20 Mar 2017). 
2218 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 150. 
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697. The Appeals Chamber notes that while Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored Boras's 

evidence that the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting was to address internal administrative arrangements, 

the portion of Boras's evidence Pdic refers to does not support this assertion?219 The 

Appeals Chamber further considers that Pdic has failed to substantiate his claim that the 

Trial Chamber mischaracterised SanceviC's evidence as it is clear from the Trial Judgement that the 

Trial Chamber only referenced Sancevic's evidence when explaining the historical and geographic 

background of the "Croatian Banovina". 2220 Pdic's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

698. With regard to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he met with 

Mladic to discuss the partition of BiH during the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic bases his argument entirely on a cross-reference to his ground of 

appeal 5, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.2221 As regards PdiC's contention in 

relation to the Trial Chamber's reliance on Lane's uncorroborated evidence, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that during the examination by the Prosecution, Lane stated that Pdic drew a circle 

representing BiH divided between Croats and Serbs without any reference to Muslims?222 Recalling 

that nothing prohibits a Trial Chamber from relying on uncorroborated but otherwise credible 

evidence,2223 the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

reaching the challenged finding.2224 His arguments are thus dismissed. 

699. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its findings on the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting as well as the 5 and 

26 October 1992 Meetings. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 9.4, 9.7, 

and 9.8. 

(b) StojiC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

700. Relying on Boras's evidence, Stoji¢ submits that the Trial Chamber erred by misinterpreting 

the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting and failing to take into account evidence that this meeting was part 

2219 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 252-254, referring to Franjo Boras, T. 29248 (9 June 2008). The Appeals Chamber 
observes that the transcript page number he cites reflects discussions on procedural matters. 
2220 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 13 & fn. 26, referring to, inter alia, Zdravko Sancevic, T(F). 28745 (28 May 2008). 
2221 See supra, paras 136, 138. 
2222 Raymond Lane, T. 23711-23712 (15 Oct 2007), T. 23749-23750 (16 Oct 2007). See also Raymond Lane, 
T. 23757-23760 (16 Oct 2007), T. 23955-23956 (17 Oct 2007); Ex. P10319, para. 47. 
2223 See, e.g., Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. See also 
Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
2224 The Appeals Chamber further notes that when challenging the Trial Chamber's finding based on Lane's evidence, 
Pdic cross-references another ground of appeal, in which he challenges the Trial Chamber's failure to consider the 
reliability of Lane's evidence. The Appeals Chamber dismisses this specific challenge elsewhere. See supra, paras 217-
218. 
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of the framework of the Cutileiro Plan and that there were similar negotiations underway between 

Bosnian Croats and Muslims.2225 Stojic also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider its 

previous finding that the meeting ended without any agreement.2226 He further contends that no 

evidence on the record supports the Trial Chamber's finding that the purpose of the 5 and 

26 October 1992 Meetings was to discuss the division of BiH.2227 Stojic argues that the meetings 

were "hardly cooperative", no agreement was reached, and the only outcome they reached was a 

release of prisoners.2228 Stojic concludes that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on these 

meetings as evidence of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2229 

701. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that the JCE members' 

efforts to negotiate the division of BiH with the Serbs proved the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and 

that this finding is supported by ample evidence.223o With respect to the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting, 

the Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber did not misconstrue this meeting and that it is 

immaterial whether the meeting was part of the framework of the Cutileiro Plan or was 

unsuccessfu1.2231 As to StojiC's argument that similar negotiations were also underway between the 

Bosnian Croats and Bosnian Muslims, the Prosecution argues that they were not "equivalent" to the 

meetings between Croats and Serbs and that in any event, this contention is immaterial with respect 

to the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2232 As to the 5 and 

26 October 1992 Meetings, the Prosecution avers that, contrary to StojiC's submission, evidence 

confirms that these meetings took place to discuss the partition of BiH.2233 

(ii) Analysis 

702. With respect to StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber disregarded Boras's evidence that 

the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting occurred. in the framework of the Cutileiro Plan, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to show why this evidence is relevant to the 

Trial Chamber's finding that during the meeting, representatives of the Croatian community of BiH 

discussed the division of BiH with representatives of the Serbian community of BiH. Further, the 

facts that similar negotiations were 'underway between Bosnian Croats and Muslims and that the 

2225 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 20, referring to Franjo Boras, T. 28952-28953 (2 June 2008). 
2226 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 20, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 22. . 

227 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 21, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18, Exs. P11380, P11376. 
Stojic also refers to paragraph 130 of his appeal brief, which is related to his ground of appeal 16. 
2228 S .. ,' AlB' f 21 . tOJIc s ppea ne, para. . 
2229 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19. See also Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 22; Stojic's Reply Brief, para. 7. 
2230 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 17. 
2231 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 17. The Prosecution also refers to evidence on the record showing that 
between 1991 and 1992, discussions about the prutition of BiB were ongoing between Bosnian Serbs and Bosnian 
Croats. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 17, referring to Exs. P00089, POOl08, POOI85. 
2232 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 17. 

294 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23601



6 May 1992 Graz Meeting ended without signing any agreement do not call into question the 

Trial Chamber's finding.2234 StojiC's arguments are thus dismissed. 

703. With respect to StojiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the objectives of the 

5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber based its 

finding on portions of the Mladic Diaries - Exhibits Pl1376 and Pl1380.2235 The Trial Chamber 

found that Praljak stated at 'the 5 October 1992 Meeting that "[t]he goal is Banovina or nothing,,2236 

and at the 26 Octob~r 1992 Meeting that "it is in our interest that the Muslims get their own canton 

so they have somewhere to move to".2237 As such, the Appeal& Chamber finds no merit in StojiC's 

assertion that there is no evidence supporting the Trial Chamber's conclusion. The 

Appeals Chamber further considers that it is immaterial to the Tt:ial Chamber's Ultimate Purpose 

finding that the meetings were hostile and that no agreement was reached. StojiC's arguments 

therefore fail. 

704. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in its findings concerning the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting, as well as the 

5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings, and its assessment of the Mladic Diaries in relation to the latter 

meetings. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's ground of appeal 1 in relevant part. 

(c) Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 6.1 in part and 6.4) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

705. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that during the 6 May 1992 Graz 

Meeting, representatives of the Croatian community of BiH and their Serbian counterparts 

discussed the division of BiH. He argues that the Trial Chamber: (1) accorded improper w~ight to 

"hear-say evidence and media reports"; and (2) misconstrued and discarded direct evidence.2238 

Specifically regarding the first aspect of his challenge, Praljak contends that the joint statement 

issued by Boban and Karadzic following the meeting ("Joint Statement") does not support the 

Trial Chamber's findings?239 He also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on: (1) Witness 

Robert Donia's testimony and his expert report, arguing that they are merely based on public 

2233 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 17, referring to Exs. PI1376, P11380. 
2234 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. 
2235 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18, referring to Exs. P11376, p. 1, P11380, pp. 1-2. With regard to StojiC'sspecific 
challenge to these exhibits, see supra, paras 112, 114. 
2236 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18, referring to Ex. PI1376, p. 1. The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak's 
statement appears on page 2 of Exhibit P11376, not on page 1. 
2237 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18, referring to Ex. PI1380, p. 3. 
2238 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 101-106, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439, Vol. 4, para. 13. 
2239 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 102-103, referring to Exs. POOI87, ID00428. See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
para. 101. 
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infonnation;224o and (2) Okun's testimony, as it is based on media reports and, as acknowledged by 

him, he does not have direct knowledge of the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting.2241 As to the second 

aspect of his challenge, Praljak submits that, inter alia, the Trial Chamber failed to consider that: 

(1) Izetbegovic suspended international negotiations after the Serbs had accepted the principles of 

further organisation of BiH and that the BC then suggested bilateral meetings;2242 (2) bilateral 

meetings with Muslims were held at the same time;2243 (3) there were frequent bilateral negotiations 

and agreements throughout the war with the international community's active involvement;2244 and 

(4) the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting was held as part of a series of meetings encouraged by the 

international community.2245 

706. Praljak contends that the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings were not about dividing BiH, but 

about finding a solution to end the war or at least minimise "its disastrous consequences". 2246 

Praljak further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring the existence of the JCE based on 

events that occurred before the creation of the JCE, arguing that the Trial Chamber refers to the 

political meetings and negotiations in 1991 and 1992, where some of the Appellants and Croatian 

officials met "in [a] political environment drastically different [from] the situation in which the JCE 

would becreated".2247 He claims that the Trial Chamber: (1) relied on meetings and negotiations 

when BiH was not an independent State to demonstrate the Croatian position and intention; and 

(2) "presented only one side of these negotiations leaving completely aside Muslim positions and 

neglecting the international proposals in the frame of which Croatian officials and BiH Croats 

d h . . . " 2248 expresse t elr pOSItIOns . 

707. The Prosecution contends that the evidence shows that Praljak and other JCE members met 

with Mladic during the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings to discuss the division of BiH.2249 It also 

2240 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 104, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09536, pp. 39-40, 52, 71, POOI92, p. 3, 
Robert Donia, T. 1832 (10 May 2006). 
2241 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 105, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16662-16663 (2 Apr 2007), T. 16831 (3 Apr 2007). 
2242 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101, referring to Ex. P09526. 
2243 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101, referring to Exs. P09526, ID02739, Franjo Boras, T. 29149-29152 (4 June 2008). 
2244 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101,referring to Exs. ID00475, P00339, 2D00798, lD01543, P00717 , 1802853, 
P01988, P02259, P02344, P02564 (confidential), lD02404, P02726, 4D01234. Praljak also argues that the 
Trial Chamber's conclusion that during the period of tri-partite negotiations, the HVO negotiated with the Serbs over 
the partition of BiH suggests that "the HVO negotiations with Serbs were conducted secretly in parallel with tri-partite 
negotiations." Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101 referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. 
224 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101, referring to, inter alia, Franjo Boras, T. 28954 (2 June 2008). 
2246 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 114, referring to Ex. P00498, pp. 73, 76. Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber 
drew an enoneous conclusion from documents which should not have been admitted and are unreliable, 
cross-referencing his ground of appeal 50. 
2247 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 125, refening to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 11, 13-15, 17-18, 43. See also 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
2248 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 126, referring to Ex. ID00896, p. 3. 
2249 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 39. 
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responds that the Trial Chamber correctly exercised its discretion in relying on "pre-JCE events" to 

infer the existence of the JCE, including the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting.2250 

(ii) Analysis 

708. The Appeals Chamber observes that when examining evidence related to events following 

the creation of Herceg-Bosna, the Trial Chamber detailed the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting.2251 The 

Trial Chamber found that the meeting was held in the absence of Muslim representatives to discuss 

BiH's future. Following the meeting, Boban and Karadzic issued the Joint Statement which they 

described "as a 'peace agreement', which provided for the territorial division of BiH based on the 

1939 borders of Croatian Banovina and called for a,general cease-fire".2252 The Trial Chamber also 

concluded that: (1) the proposed division did not include certain regions over which the parties 

wanted the ED to arbitrate their respective claims; and (2) ultimately the parties did not sign an 

agreement.2253 In so finding, the Trial Chamber took into account, inter alia, the Joint Statement, 

Donia's expert report and testimony, and Okun's testimony.2254 Although Praljak points to other 

parts of the Joint Statement, he fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied 

on this evidence to reach the Trial Chamber's conclusion. The Appeals Chamber also finds no error 

in the Trial Chamber's reliance on Donia's report and his testimony, as well as Okun's testimony. 

In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is best placed to assess the 

credibility of a witness and reliability of the evidence adduced,2255 and therefore has broad 

discretion in assessing the appropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the testimony of a 

witness?256 Praljak's arguments are thu~ dismissed. 

709. TheAppeals Chamber notes that Praljak also alleges that the Trial Chamber disregarded the 

surrounding contextual circumstances, including IzetbegoviC's suspension of international 

negotiations, ongoing bilateral meetings with Muslims, as well as frequent bilateral agreements and 

negotiations, including the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting as being one of a series of meetings 

encouraged by the international community.2257 However, Praljak fails to show how these factors 

and the evidence he cites demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the relevant 

2250 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 39. 
2251 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. 
2252 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. 
2253 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439. 
2254 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 439, fns 1030-1035, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00187, P00192, P09536, pp. 44-45 
(French translation), Robert Donia, T(F). 1833-1835 (10 May 2006), Herbert Okun, T(F). 16663-16664 (2 Apr 2007). 
2255 See, e.g., Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 437,464, 1296; Stanisic alld 
Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 99; Toli111ir Appeal Judgement, para. 469. 
2256 See, e.g., Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1291; StaniSic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 99; 
Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 76. 
2257 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 101. 

297 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23598



representatives held the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting to discuss the division of BiH along the 

Banovina borders. His arguments are dismissed. 

710. Turning to Praljak's contention that the purpose of the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings was 

not to discuss BiH's partition, but to find a solution to end the war or minimise its results, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak points to a portion of the Presidential Transcripts which has no 

plain and direct bearing on these meetings.2258 The Appeals Chamber also rejects Praljak's 

contention that the Trial Chamber drew an erroneous conclusion from unreliable documents which 

should not have been admitted, as his submission is based entirely on a cross-reference to another 

ground of appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.2259 His arguments are thus 

dismissed. 

711. Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in Praljak's contention that the Trial Chamber 

erred in inferring the existence of the JCE from events before its creation and considering them out 

of context.2260 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber relied on events 

which occurred before the JCE in order to infer the circumstances surrounding the formation of the 

JCE in January 1993 as well as its CCP.2261 Insofar as the Trial Chamber's reliance on this evidence 

was not used to convict the Appellants for conduct predating his contribution to the JCE, the 

Appeals Chamber finds no error in such an approach. In any event, the Appeals Chamber has 

already considered specific arguments relating to "meetings and negotiations" that took place prior 

to the formation of the JCE and dismissed them elsewhere.2262 Praljak's argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

712. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in its findings on the meetings held in 1991-1992 generally, and 

specifically, the 6 May 1992 Graz Meeting, as well as the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings. The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Praljak's grounds of appeal 6.1 in relevant part and 6.4. 

(d) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-grounds 2.2 and 2.3 in part) 

713. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he and other HZ H-B leaders 

met with Mladic at the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings to discuss the division of BiH.2263 

Specifically, Petkovic contends that: (1) he was not present during the 5 October 1992 Meeting; and 

2258 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 114, referring to Ex. P00498, pp. 73,76. 
2259 See supra, paras 120-121, 129-132, 134-135, 138. 
2260 The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak refers to Exhibit ID00896 without articulating how this document supports 
his contention. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
2261 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-24, 41, 43-44. 
2262 See supra, paras 608-643. 
2263 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 11. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 14. 
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(2) the 26 October 1992 Meeting, which he attended, did not address the partition of BiB but the 

"realization of the previous agreement to calm the front line near Mostar and to re-connect [the] 

electric power in Jajce".2264 

714. The Prosecution responds that the fact that Petkovic did not attend the meeting on 

5 October 1992 is immaterial to the Trial Chamber's finding. 2265 With respect to the meeting of 

26 October 1992, the Prosecution avers that Petkovic's argument focuses on other topics discussed 

during this meeting, ignoring Praljak' s statement of the division of BiH.2266 

715. Petkovic replies that the Prosecution: (1) implicitly acknowledges that he did not participate 

in the 5 October 1992 Meeting; and (2) misinterprets Praljak's statement about the "Muslim 

canton" at the meeting of 26 October 1992 as referring to the division of BiB, while "the word 

'canton' necessarily implies an internal organizational unit" within BiH.2267 

716. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's finding implies that Petko vic, among 

others, attended both meetings in October 1992,2268 although one of the Mladic Diaries does not 

explicitly indicate that Petkovic was part of the Croatian delegation at the 5 October 1992 

Meeting.2269 Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic has failed to demonstrate 

that the issue of his absence at this meeting has any impact on the Trial Chamber's finding that a 

delegation from Croatia and the HZ H-B met with Ratko Mladic to discuss the division of BiH. 

Regarding PetkoviC's challenge to the 26 October 1992 Meeting, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that the Trial Chamber arrived at the conclusion that the division of BiB was addressed at this 

meeting by taking into account Praljak's statement that "it is in our interest that the Muslims get 

their own canton so they have somewhere to move to",z270 The Appeals Chamber considers that, 

while one of the Mladic Diaries, which Petkovic relies on, shows that Praljak also addressed the 

adherence to the agreement on the front line near Mostar and the electric power near Jajce at this 

meeting,2271 this does not affect the Trial Chamber's finding on the purpose of the meeting itself. 

717. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings on the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings which occasioned a 

miscarriage of justice. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses the relevant part of PetkoviC's 

sub-grounds of appeal 2.2 and 2.3 in relevant part. 

22M PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 11, referring to Exs. P11376, P11380, pp. 1-2. 
2265 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 14. 
2266 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 14. 
2267 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 3 (emphasis in original). 
2268 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2269 Ex. PI1376, p. 1. 
2270 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18, referring to Ex. PI1380, p. 3. 
2271 Ex. P11380, p. 1. 
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4. Alleged errors in finding that the creation of the HZ H-B 

was not merely a temporary defence initiative 

718. The Trial Chamber found that, although the HZ H-B was created in response to the "Serb 

aggression", its establishment "was not merely a temporary defence initiative".2272 The 

Trial Chamber noted: (1) RibiciC's evidence that the reference to the right to self-determination in 

the decision establishing the HZ H-B proved that its establishment was not just an interim defensive 

measure but was aimed at creating a "mini-State,,;2273 and (2) Okun's testimony that the creation of 

the HZ H-B was designed to facilitate the annexation of the Croat-majority BiH territories to 

Croatia and not merely to provide self-defence?274 Based on the evidence of, inter alios, Witnesses 

Ole Brix-Andersen, Ribicic, Lane, and Suad Cupina, the Trial Chamber concluded that the 

"autonomous territorial entity desired by the HZ H-B was to exist either within BiH by forming an 

alliance with Croatia, or directly as a[n] integral part of Croatia".2275 

(a) Prli6's appeal (Sub-grounds 9.1 and 9.6) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

719. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to consider whether there was a 

legitimate purpose for establishing the HZ(R) H_B,2276 specifically, that it was needed to "take care 

of all Croats in BiH,,2277 because they received inadequate protection and governmental services?278 

Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to properly assess all relevant evidence.2279 He 

contends that the evidence shows that the HZ H-B was always part of BiH as an interim structure, 

and was established "to fill a vacuum left by the defunct BiH state government". 2280 He asserts that 

the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing that any BiHmunicipality could join the HZ H-B 

"debunking the notion that the HZ H-B had defined borders [as] more than 50 municipalities 

joined" the HZ H_B.2281 He argues that: (1) as the HZ H-B areas had no boundaries and covered a 

2272 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 420-425, Vol. 4, para. 14. 
2273 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15 & fn. 39, referring to Ciril Ribicic, T(F). 25451 (10 Dec 2007), Exs. P08973, 
fli' 48-49, P00302, P00078, p. 1. 

4 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
2275 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 16 (internal references omitted). 
2276 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 233, 235. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 232. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 125-126, 
130-131, 154-157 (20 Mar 2017). 
2277 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 235 & fn. 666, referring to, inter alia, Zdravko Sancevic, T. 28605-28609,28688-28695 
(27 May 2008), 28744-28746 (28 May 2008), Radmilo Jasak, T. 48881-48882 (25 Jan 2010). 
2278 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 235, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 30, 51 (sub-grounds of appeal 1.1-1.2). See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 129-130, 132 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider 
evidence necessary to understanding the chronology of events. Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 234, referring to PrliC's 
Af,peal Brief, paras 27-28,36-41 (sub-ground of appeall.1). 
22 9 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 262. 
2280 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 267, referring to, inter alia, Mile Akmandzic, T.' 29445-29448, 29625-29631 
(17 June 2008). 
2281 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 268. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 134 (20 Mar 2017). 
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large part of BiH, the view that the HZ H-B was an attempt to reconstitute the Banovina borders 

was absurd;2282 and (2) the HVO was devoted to defending BiH sovereignty.2283 

720. Moreover, Prlic submits that, in finding that the HZ H-B was established to create a 

"mini-State" aligned with Croatia, the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on the evidence of RibiCic, 

Brix-Andersen, Lane, and Okun?284 According to Prlic, Ribicic testified that the HZ H-B was not a 

"mini-State",2285 and his evidence that the goal of the HZ H-B was to be connected with Croatia is 

speculative.2286 Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored that, in his book, RibiCic explained that 

he changed his analysis of the HZ H-B after reading the Presidential Transcript of 27 December 

1991.2287 Prlic further contends that: (1) Brix-Andersen's evidence is speculative as he had no 

personal knowledge about BiH and never met with Boban, Prlic, Stojic, or Kresimir Zubak;2288 

(2) Lane was unreliable and "demonstrated a profound ignorance of the HZ H-B's structure, its 

leadership, BiH, and the ongoing peace plans while he was in situ,,;2289 and (3) Cupina gave 

contradictory testimony and lacked credibility.229o 

721. The Prosecution responds that Prlic "identifies no authority suppOlting his novel 'legitimate 

purpose' rule",2291 and that the Trial Chamber found that while the HZ(R) H-B may also have 

served defence-related purposes, it was designed to be annexed or closely allied to Croatia.2292 The 

Prosecution submits that while Prlic claims that the HZ H-B never had defined borders, in 

June 1993 he asserted otherwise.2293 It also contends that PrliC's assertions on RibiciC's testimony 

2282 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 268; Appeal Hearing, AT. 136 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic also argues that the HZ H-B never 
sought independence. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 268; Appeal Hearing, AT. 136 (20 Mar 2017). 
2283 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 268. 
2284 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 262, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, grounds of appeal 4 and 6. Prlic also adopts his 
submissions made in his sub-grounds of appeal 1.1 and 1.3, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. PrliC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 263, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 36, 82 (sub-grounds of appeal 1.1 and 1.3). See supra, 

g~a~;1~:'-sI71~peal Brief, para. 264, referring to Ciril RibiCic, T. 25462-25463 (10 Dec 2007), T. 25586-25588 
(11 Dec 2007). 
2286 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 264, referring to Ex. P08973, p. 52, Milan Cvikl, T. 35384-35386 (14 Jan 2009). 
2287 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 264, referring to Ex. 1D02036, pp. 6-7, Ciril Ribicic, T. 25554-25555, 25582-25583 
(11 Dec 2007). 
2288 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 265, referring to Ex. P10356, pp. 10742, 10752, 10792. Prlic argues that 
Brix-Andersen's evidence was that "there was never a clear agenda". PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 265, referring to 
Ex.PI0356,p.l0831. . 
2289 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 266, referring to Raymond Lane, T. 23703-23704, 23721-23733, 23739-23740, 
23770-23771, 23775-23776, 23779-23781, 23789-23794 (15 Oct 2007), PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 202-203 
(sub-ground of appeal 6.2). 
2290 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 266, referring to Safet Idrizovic, T. 9898 (9 Nov 2006), Slobodan Praljak, 
T. 40391-40393 (19 May 2009), Exs. 2D00073, 2D00072, 2D00076. 
2291 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 159. The Prosecution argues that Prlic fails to explain the relevance of 
the chronology of the events leading to the establishment of the HZ H-B and how it renders the Trial Chamber's 
conclusions umeasonable. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 160. 
2292 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 159. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 155. The 
Prosecution argues that Prlic ignores his own admission that Tudman, Boban, and Susak created another plan to 
integrate a part of BiH into Croatia. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 159, referring to Ex. P09078, pp. 64-66. 
2293 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 160, referring to Exs. P07856, pp. 46-47, P09712 (confidential), p. 14. 
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are contradicted by his own evidence,2294 and that he fails to show how the Trial Chamber 

unreasonably relied on the evidence of Brix-Andersen, Lane, Okun, and Cupina.2295 

(ii) Analysis 

722. PdiC's first argument is essentially that the conclusion that the HZ H-B was intended to 

facilitate the establishment of a Croatian entity, that was either to join Croatia or be an autonomous 

entity within BiH forming an alliance with Croatia, is not the only reasonable inference that can be 

drawn from the evidence.2296 Notably, Pdic argues that the HZ H-B was necessary to "take care of 

all Croats in BiH", but the evidence he relies on does not call into question the Trial Chamber's 

assessment and findings. 2297 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 

did consider the "Serb aggression", 2298 assertions that the Bosnian Croats were subject to direct 

occupation by Serbia, and the need for protection due to the lack of action by the government,2299 as 

well as evidence that the HZ H-B "was defined as being a Croatian entity that guaranteed the rights 

of Croats,,?300 Thus, PdiC's argument concerning the purpose for establishing the HZ H-B is 

dismissed. 230 1 

723. Regarding PdiC's arguments that the HZ H-B was always part of BiH and functioned as an 

interim structure within BiH, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic neither explains how these 

assertions would impact the Trial Chamber's findings nor shows how the evidence he refers to 

supports his claims. Specifically, Pdic's assertion that the HZ H-B was always part of BiH does not 

stand in contradiction with the Trial Chamber's particular finding that "the said autonomous 

territorial entity desired by the HZ[ ]H-B was to exist either within BiH by forming an alliance with 

Croatia, or directly as a[n] integral part of Croatia" .2302 

724. In relation to PdiC's argument that the HZ H-B had no boundaries, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that the Trial Chamber considered various pieces of evidence in concluding that the 

2294 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 157. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 156, referring 
to Ex. P00498. 
2295 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 158. 
2296 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 232-233, 235. 
2297 See Zdravko Sancevic, T. 28688-28695 (27 May 2008) (testimony that he, as an ambassador, was concerned with 
the protection of the Croatian people who were in BiH); Radmilo Jasak, T. 48881 (25 Jan 2010) (testimony that the HZ 
H-B was organised to help all Croats in villages where they were in the majority). 
2298 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
2299 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 413 & fn. 951. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 415. See also Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 7 (summary of similar arguments presented at trial by the Appellants). 
2300 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 14. 
2301 With regard to PrliC's argument on the chronology of the events, the Appeals Chamber notes that it is entirely based 
on a cross-reference to his sub-ground of appeal 1.1, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, 

. paras 168-176. 
2302 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 16 (internal references omitted). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 10. The 
Appeals Chamber also dismisses PdiC's argument that the HZ H-B never sought independence as the evidence he cites 
in support thereof is not relevant. See Miomir Zuzul, T. 27696-27698 (7 May 2008). 
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intention was to set up a Croatian entity that reconstituted, at least in part, the borders of the 

B anovina. 2303 Against this background, PrliC's reference to evidence indicating that 

50 municipalities joined the HZ H_B2304 falls short of showing any error in the Trial Chamber's 

assessment of the relevant evidence as well as in its conclusion. The Appeals Chamber also 

considers PdiC's contention that the HVO defended BiH sovereignty to be unpersuasive, especially 

as he fails to address the Trial Chamber's consideration of evidence showing that the HVO was 

established "as the supreme body for the defence of the Croatian people in the HZ H_B".2305 Thus, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have arrived 

at the Trial Chamber's conclusions.2306 PdiC's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

725. As regards PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of RibiCic changing 

his analysis on the HZ H-B after having read the Presidential Transcript of 27 December 1991, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber need not refer to every witness testimony or every 

piece of evidence on the record and that there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all 

the evidence presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the trial chamber completely 

disregarded evidence which is cleady relevant. 2307 The Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the 

Presidential Transcript of 27 December 1991, to which Pdic refers, is clearly relevant to the reasons 

for establishing the HZ H-B. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber finds that neither RibiCiC's 

testimony nor his book which Pdic cites show that RibiCic "changed his legal analysis and 

opinion".2308 Further, PdiC's assertion that RibiCic testified that the HZ H-B was not a "mini-State" 

is not supported by the section of the evidence which he cites.2309 

2303 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 13-16, 22, 24, and references cited therein. Notably, the Trial Chamber concluded 
that the HZ H-B consisted of 30 municipalities. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 425, Vol. 4, para. 14. 
2304 The Appeals Chamber notes that, under his sub-ground of appeal 9.1, Pdi6 cites testimony concerning the HZ H-B 
having no borders. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 235. See, e.g., Zdravko Sancevi6, T. 28745 (28 May 2008); Zoran Bunti6, 
T. 30796-30797 (16 July 2008); Filip Filipovi6, T. 47762 (7 Dec 2009) (testifying that the territory of Herceg-Bosna 
was never defined to his knowledge). The Appeals Chamber considers that by doing so, Prli6 in effect challenges the 
weight given by the Trial Chamber to these pieces of evidence. Recalling the broad discretion afforded to the Trial 
Chamber in assessing the appropriate weight to be accorded to the evidence, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdi6 fails 
to show an error by the Trial Chamber in this regard. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. 
2305 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 436. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
2306 See supra, para. 719. 
2307 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; Popovic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925,1017. 
2308 See Ex. ID02036, pp. 6-7 (a foreword in a book authored by RibiCi6 stating that the Presidential Transcript of 
27 December 1991 "considerably influenced [his] final opinion on Herceg-Bosna and its mistakes"); Ciril RibiCi6, 
T.25554-25555 (in which RibiCi6 confirmed that he placed a high premium on the Presidential Transcript of 
27 December 1991), 25582-25583 (in which the parties discussed procedure issues about RibiCiC's testimony 
concerning the Presidential Transcript of 27 December 1991) (11 Dec 2007). See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 264 & 
fns 739-740. 
2309 Chil RibiCi6, T. 25462-25463 (10 Dec 2007), T. 25586-25588 (11 Dec 2007). 
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726. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by PrliC's argument that Ribicic and 

Brix-Andersen speculated about the goal of the HZ H_B.231O In this respect, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber clearly accepted RibiCiC's and Brix-Andersen's statements after 

considering various pieces of evidence.2311 Notably, Brix-Andersen expressed his evaluation of the 

situation, while expressly stating his position and sources of information.2312 PrliC merely offers his 

own assessment of the evidence without showing that the Trial Chamber erred in giving weight to 

this contested evidence. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's contention that Lane was 

an unreliable witness, as he only seeks to replace the Trial Chamber's assessment of Lane's 

evidence with his own without showing an error?313 Finally, with regard to Cupina, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered that certain discrepancies weakened 

the credibility of his testimony in part,2314 but in relation to the issue at hand, it relied on his 

testimony along with other evidence.2315 Thus, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that the 

Trial Chamber erred in relying on the evidence of RibiCic, Brix-Andersen, Lane, or Okun,2316 and 

dismisses Prlic's arguments accordingly. 

727. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 9.1 and 

9.6 challenging the Trial Chamber's findings that the creation of the HZ H-B was not merely a 

temporary defence initiative. 

(b) StojiC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

728. Stojic submits that, in reaching its conclusion about the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE, the 

Trial Chamber "disregarded the context of Serbian aggression".2317 Stojic argues that the 

Trial Chamber focused only on the creation of the HZ H-B in November 1991 and disregarded its 

own findings or clearly relevant evidence on the HVO formation, namely, that the HVO was 

created as a defensive response to the Serbian offensive against BiH,2318 and to protect the 

2310 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 264, referring to Ex. P08973, p. 52 (RibiciC's legal analysis in which he says that it 
did not proceed directly from certain enactments that the intention was to integrate with Croatia, "although it could have 
been the well concealed, ultimate goal in establishing the HZ H-B"), Milan Cvikl, T. 35384-35386 (14 Jan 2009) 
(expressing surprise at RibiCiC's report). 
2311 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15 & fns 36, 39,41-42. 
2312 See Ex. P10356, pp. 10724-10725. 
2313 The Appeals Chamber notes that it considers and dismisses PdiC's arguments concerning Lane's elsewhere. See 
sugra, paras 215-218. ' 
234 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 285 (considering Cupina's evidence on whether there were ABiH prisoners in 
Mostar). 
2315 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15, fn. 42. 
2316 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic does not present any specific arguments on the Trial Chamber's reliance on 
Okun's evidence. 
2317 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 17. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 9, 18. 
2318 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 17-18, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 408, 415, 434, 436, Vol. 4, 
paras 14-15; Appeal Hearing, AT. 264-265, 290-291 (21 Mar 2017). 
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"Croatian people as well as other peoples".2319 In reply, Stojic argues that the inferences drawn 

from the evidence were not the only reasonable ones available. 2320 

729. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber: (1) "did not disregard the context of Serb 

aggression" and that its conclusions were reasonable;2321 and (2) considered the evidence Stojic 

cites, which states that the HVO was not established only for defence purposes.2322 

730. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber considered the context of the "Serb 

aggression" in arriving at its conclusions2323 as well as the evidence Stojic cites.2324 In this respect, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that StojiC's arguments regarding HVO policies show no error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings. Further, insofar as Stojic argues that there is another reasonable inference 

that can be drawn from the evidence, the Appeals Chamber finds that he merely disagrees with the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion without showing an error. Therefore, the relevant parts of StojiC's 

ground of appeal 1 are dismissed. 

(c) Praliak's appeal (Ground 6.2 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

731. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HZ H-B officials 

established a Croatian "mini-State" within BiH by failing to consider various factors. 2325 Praljak 

contends that, at the time of the first meetings between the Croat leaders, BiH was not an 

independent State and there was a legitimate fear concerning Serb aggression.2326 He also contends 

that the only conclusion that can be drawn from the HZ H-B's establishment - which was 

consistent with the SRBiH Constitution - is that the Croat people wished to exercise their right of 

self-deterrnination?327 Praljak also submits that the HZ H-B's establishment was in line with 

international plans and agreements to strengthen the RBiH as a State of three constituent nations, 

2319 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 18, referring to Exs. P08973, p. 44, POOl51, Arts 1-2; Appeal Hearing, AT. 265-266 
(21 Mar 2017). 
2320 S .. " RIB' f 7 tOJIc s ep y ne, para. . 
2321 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 16, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. The Prosecution also 
repeats its argument that Tudman, Boban, and Susak created another plan to integrate a part of BiH into Croatia. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 16, referring to Ex. P09078, pp. 64-66. See supra, fn. 2292. 
2322 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 16, referring to Ex. P08973, pp. 44, 48-49,51. The Prosecution asserts 
that one of the HVO's objectives was to defend "the sovereignty" of the HZ H-B. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 16, referring to Ex. P00151, Art. 2. 
2323 See supra, paras 718, 722. 
2324 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 436 & fn. 1015 (referring to Ex. P00151 concerning the HVO's establishment), 
Vol. 4, para. 15, fn. 33 (referring to Ex. P08973, p. 44). 
2325 Praljak's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 107. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 118. 
2326 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 107, 109, 111. Praljak argues that the Sej'bs had de facto control over a great portion 
of the territory when the future ofBiH was uncertain. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 111. 
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and that it was never intended to establish a separate State.2328 According to Praljak, the HVO was 

established to protect all people in the HZ(R) H-B and was necessary in light of the Serb offensive 

actions in BiH.2329 Praljak further contends that the Trial Chamber should have more carefully 

assessed the evidence of, inter alios, Okun and Galbraith, "who pursued [ ... J the policy of their 

States" .2330 

732. The Prosecution responds that Praljak ignores the Trial Chamber's findings and evidence 

relied on, raises irrelevant issues, and repeats his trial arguments without showing an error.2331 

(ii) Analysis 

733. The Appeals Chamber first recalls that the Trial Chamber considered that the HZ H-B was 

created against a backdrop of "Serb aggression,,2332 and finds that Praljak fails to show how the fact 

that BiH was not an independent State at the relevant time impacts on the Trial Chamber's findings. 

Praljak also fails to demonstrate that the alleged desire of the BiH Croats to exercise their right of 

self-determination is in contradiction to the Trial Chamber's conclusions?333 Further, by arguing 

that this is the only conclusion that can be drawn, Praljak merely offers his own interpretation of the 

evidence without showing that the Trial Chamber's conclusions were unreasonable. In this regard, 

the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber specifically referred to RibiCic's evidence 

that the reference to the right to self-determination in the decision establishing the HZ H-B proved 

that its establishment was not just an interim defensive measure but was aimed at creating a 

"mini-State".2334 For the same reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds Praljak's argument that the HZ 

H-B was never intended to be a separate State to be unconvincing and also finds that the evidence 

he cites does not call into question the Trial Chamber's findings. 2335 Notably, the Trial Chamber 

evaluated issues similar to those Praljak raises in support of his argument.2336 Regarding Praljak's 

2327 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 108, 117. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 111; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 24. 
Praljak also contends that the only objective of the Croatian BiH leaders was to ensure equality of rights for the BiH 
Croats with the two other constituent people. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 116. 
2328 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 115-117. Praljak argues that the "BiH Croats never ceased to participate in BiH 
central organs and continuously made efforts [for] coordinated/joint actions". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 116. 
2329 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 113, referring to Ex. P00152. Praljak asserts that the HVO had no objective contrary to 
the overall BiH interests and became an integral part of the united forces of the RBiH. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 113. 
2330 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 117. 
2331 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 41-42. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 40. The 
Prosecution submits that "Praljak points to no evidence showing HVO support to the ABiH [ ... ] detrimental to the 
HVO's campaigns in the HZ(R) H-B". Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 37. 
2332 See supra, paras 718,722,730. 
2333 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
2334 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. . 
2335 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 108, 112-113, 115, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1D00896, 1D00892, lD01312. 
2336 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 423 (noting Tudman's announcement that the HZ H-B's establishment did 
not constitute a decision to separate from BiH), 438 (noting that the principles of the Cutileiro Plan envisaged the 
continuity of BiH while nevertheless dividing the State into three, non-contiguous territorial entities), 446 (noting that 
the Vance-Owen Peace Plan was based on multi-ethnicity, decentralisation and democracy). 
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argument that the HVO was created to protect all people in BiH, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber, relying on various pieces of evidence, including Exhibit P00152 (an 8 April 

1992 decision signed by Boban on the creation of the HVO) cited by Praljak,2337 found that the 

HVO was established to defend the Croatian people in the HZ H_B.2338 Moreover, Praljak fails to 

show an error in the Trial Chamber's finding that the establishment of the HZ-H-B was aimed at 

creating a mini-State. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber considers Praljak's final argument 

regarding the Trial Chamber's assessment of certain witnesses' testimonies to be speculative and 

notes that he fails to provide any support for this contention. Thus, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

the relevant parts of Praljak' s sub-ground of appeal 6.2. 

5. Alleged errors concerning the BiH Croat delegation's agreement with the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan principles and Tudman's involvement in negotiations 

734. The Trial Chamber found that, during the international peace negotiations in January 1993, 

the constitutional principles of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan were proposed.2339 The Trial Chamber 

noted Okun's testimony that the "delegation of BiH Croats", which consisted of Tudman, Boban, 

Petkovic, and Mile Akmadzic was not genuinely in agreement with these principles, but accepted 

them "in order to get the Serbs to sign", while being fully aware that they would be amended 

later.234o The Trial Chamber also observed, in relying on Okun's testimony, that, while not 

officially the head of the BiH Croat delegation, Tudman "was so in fact", as Boban needed his 

approval before taking decisions.2341 

(a) PrliC's appeal (Sub-ground 9.9) 

735. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber, relying exclusively on Okun's uncorroborated 

testimony, erred in finding that Tudman was the de facto head of the BiH Croatian delegation at the 

ICFy.2342 Pdic argues that Tudman was asked by the international community to participate in 

peace negotiations and that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of this role.2343 He also contends 

2337 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 113, referring to Ex. P00152. 
2338 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 436. See supra, para. 724. 
2339 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 445, Vol. 4, para. 20, referring to, inter alia, Herbert Okun, T(F). 16731-16732 
(2 Apr 2007). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 442-444, 446-451. 
2340 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20, referring to Herbert Okun, T(F). 16673-16674, 16735-16736 (2 Apr 2007). See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443. 
2341 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443, Vol. 4, para. 20, referring to Herbert Okun, T(F). 16675 (2 Apr 2007). 
2342 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 273. 
2343 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 273-274, referring to, inter alia, Miomir Zuzul, T. 27820-27821 (8 May 2008), 
T. 31137-31138 (22 July 2008). 
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that the diaries authored by Okun did not mention Tudman as the de facto head of the 

delegation.2344 

736. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show how the impugned finding affects the 

verdict but that, in any event, the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on Okun's first-hand account of 

events.2345 

737. The Appeals Chamber observes that by solely relying on Okun's testimony, the 

Trial Chamber stated that while Tudman was not officially the head of the BiH Croat delegation, he 

"was so in Jact". 2346 To the extent that Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber's impugned finding was 

supported only by Okun's uncorroborated testimony, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a 

trial chamber has the discretion to decide in the circumstances of each case whether corroboration is 

necessary or whether to rely on uncorroborated, but otherwise credible, witness testimony?347 It 

also notes that Pdic does not contest Okun's credibility in this context. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds PdiC's argument to be unpersuasive. Regarding Tudman's role in the peace 

negotiations, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic fails to explain how this role is inconsistent 

with the Trial Chamber's finding that Tudman was in fact the head of the BiH Croatian 

delegation?348 Further, whether Tudman was asked to participate in peace negotiations is irrelevant 

to the issue of his authority, and the evidence that Pdic contends was ignored by the Trial Chamber 

does not call into question the impugned finding.2349 His arguments are therefore dismissed. 

738. In relation to the contention that Okun's diaries did not mention Tudman as the de facto 

head of the BiH Croatian delegation, the Appeals Chamber notes that the only evidence cited by 

Prlic refers to the cross-examination of Okun during which he specifically clarified that his diaries 

indicated that Tudman was in fact the representative of the Croat people.235o The Appeals Chamber 

observes that the Trial Chamber noted that Boban sought Tudman's approval before taking 

decisions.2351 Further, the Trial Chamber considered Okun's testimony and concluded that "Tudman 

2344 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 273, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16656-16658 (2 Apr 2007), T. 16821-16823 
(3 Apr 2007), T. 16888-16889 (4 Apr 2007). 
2345 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 162. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 182 (20 Mar 2017). 
2346 See supra, para. 734. 
2347 Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. See also Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
2348 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
2349 See Miomir Zuzul, T. 27820-27821 (8 May 2008) (testifying that the international community wanted Tudman to 
participate in peace negotiations as it would be more efficient), T.31137-31138 (22 July 2008) (stating that the 
international community asked Tudman to use his influence in the peace negotiations and that Tudman "had quite an 
influence over the Croat representatives"). 
2350 Herbert Okun, T. 16821-16823 (3 Apr 2007). 
2351 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443, referring to Herbert Okun, T(F). 16675 (2 Apr 2007). 
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also took part in the negotiations, and had influence over the BiH Croatian representatives".2352 On 

this issue, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber has broad discretion in assessing the 

appropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the evidence.2353 Thus, even if PrliC's 

contention is accurate, the Appeals Chamber finds that he has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in giving little or no weight to the alleged absence of any mention in Okun's diaries that 

Tudman was in fact the head of the delegation. PrliC's argument is thus dismissed. 

739. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that Tudman, although not officially the head of the 

BiH Croatian delegation at the ICFY, was so in fact. PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 9.9 is dismissed. 

(b) Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 in part, 5.2 in part, and 5.3) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

740. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered Okun's speculative 

testimony that the BiH Croats accepted the Vance-Owen Peace Plan principles despite not being 

genuinely in agreement with them.2354 Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber went "even beyond 

[Okun's] statement" as he was not able to ascertain that the Croats were fully aware that the 

principles would be amended.2355 Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider 

Exhibit P00866, which indicates that shortly before the plan's acceptance, "Tudman stated that it 

was now possible to discuss the internal organisation of BiH as a federal community of three 

nati ons" . 2356 

741. Praljak further submits that the Trial Chamber improperly assessed Okun's testimony in 

finding that Tudman was the "real chief' of the BiH Croatian delegation at the ICFY and that 

Boban needed to obtain his approva1.2357 Specifically, he argues that Okun's testimony did not show 

or support a finding that: (1) Tudman took part in the negotiations;2358 (2) Boban stated that he 

needed Tudman's approval;2359 and (3) a conversation which Okun had with Tudman confirmed 

2352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443. In a passage cited by Pdic, Okun also testified that Tudman "was the boss" and 
was "the very important person". Herbert Okun, T. 16888 (4 Apr 2007). See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. -273. 
2353 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. 
2354 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 84. 
2355 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 84, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16735-16736 (2 Apr 2007). 
2356 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 84, referring to Ex. P00866, p. 9. 
2357 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 89, 92. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 90-91. 
2358 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 90-92, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16673, 16675 (2 Apr 2007); Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 387 (22 Mar 2017). 
2359 Pr31jak's Appeal Brief, paras 90, 92. According to Praljak, Okun's testimony concerning consultations between 
Boban and Tudman is based on what Boban might have said to Okun in informal conversations, and is not a reflection 
of Boban's remarks during negotiations. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 90, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16675 
(2 Apr 2007). 
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that the latter was in fact the head of the delegation?360 Praljak also argues that had Tudman 

participated in negotiations, he would not have needed to ask Okun to keep him informed or to 

express his readiness to deal with the issues raised.2361 

742. The Prosecution responds that Praljak repeats his trial arguments without showing an error 

or an impact,2362 and seeks to substitute his assessment of evidence for that of the Trial 

Chamber.2363 

(ii) Analysis 

743. Regarding the acceptance of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan principles by the BiH Croatian 

delegation, the Appeals Chamber has reviewed the portion of Okun's evidence relied on by the 

Trial Chamber.2364 Okun testified that "[the BiH Croatian delegation] did not like the principles but 

went along with them because they knew, again, that there would have to be, or they thought there 

would have to be, some adjustment in the principles if the co-chairmen were to gain Serb 

acceptance".2365 Based on these considerations, Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

unreasonably relied upon this evidence in concluding that the BiH Croatian delegation was "fully 

aware that [the principles] would later be amended,,?366 Thus, Praljak's arguments on this issue are 

unconvincing, particularly as Okun's testimony was based on his first-hand knowledge of the 

events. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

improperly assessed or erroneously exercised its broad discretion in considering this evidence.2367 

744. Concerning Tudman's statement reflected in Exhibit P00866 regarding his readiness to 

discuss the internal organisation of BiH,2368 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was 

aware of and considered this evidence in noting that Tudman advocated the existence and 

legitimacy of the BiH Croatian people to protect the Croatian borders.2369 Moreover, Praljak does 

not show any error by the Trial Chamber, particularly as Tudman's statement is in line with the 

impugned finding. Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

2360 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 91-92. 
2361 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 91, referring to Herbert Okun, T. 16675 (2 Apr 2007). 
2362 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00866, p. 9. 
2363 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 34. 
2364 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
2365 Herbert Okun, T. 16735-16736 (2 Apr 2007). Okun also testified that the Croatian delegation "could accept the 
Vance-Owen Plan in the secure knowledge that it would not go anywhere because of Bosnian Serb rejection". Herbert 
Okun, T. 16735 (2 Apr 2007). 
2366 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
2367 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. 
2368 See supra, para. 740. . 
2369 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15 & fn. 35. 
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745. Turning to Praljak's arguments on Tudman's role in the negotiations, insofar as he argues 

that the Trial Chamber relied only on Okun's testimony, the Appeals Chamber has considered and 

dismissed a similar argument,2370 and Praljak fails to present any new submissions on this point. 

The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber considered that Tudman took part in the 

negotiations, had influence over the BiH Croatian representatives,2371 and while not officially the 

head of the BiH Croatian delegation, was so in fact because Boban needed his approval before 

taking decisions.2372 Praljak disputes these findings by citing the same evidence considered by the 

Tria~ Chamber and therefore merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence without showing 

an error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the same.2373 

746. The Appeals Chamber also considers Praljak's remaining argument - that had Tudman 

participated in negotiations, he would not have needed to ask Okun to keep him informed or to 

express his readiness to deal with the issues raised - to be unmeritorious.2374 Regardless, Praljak 

fails to show how the argument, particularly on Tudman's request to be informed and his 

Willingness to deal with issues, calls the Trial Chamber's findings into question. His arguments are 

thus dismissed. 

747. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljakhas failed to demonstrate 

an error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of Okun's testimony regarding the Croatian delegation's 

acceptance of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan principles at the ICFY and Tudman's role in the 

negotiations. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 

5.2, both in part, as well as his sub-ground of appeal 5.3. 

6. Alleged errors in finding that the HZ H-B leaders established a "mini-State" within BiH 

748. The Trial Chamber found that in the months following the signing of the Vance-Owen 

Peace Plan by the BiH Croats and until August 1993, the HZ H-B leaders gradually established a 

Croatian "mini-State" within BiH, with the primary objective of preserving the so-called Croatian 

2370 See supra, para. 738. 
2371 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443. See supra, para. 738. 
2372 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 443, Vol. 4, para. 20, referring to Herbert Okun, T(F). 16675 (2 Apr.2007). 
2373 See Herbert Okun, T. 16673-16675 (2 Apr 2007). Okun testified that: (1) the principal representatives or 
participants of the BiH Croat party included Tudman and Bohan (see Herbert Okun, T. 16673 (2 Apr 2007)); and 
(2) Tudman was not formally the head of the delegation, but that he was the de facto head (see Herbert Okun, T. 16675 
(2 Apr 2007)). Okun also testified that ("Well, I should state at the outset that most of our dealings were with Mate 
Boban, but President Tudjman took a very active interest in the affairs of the conference and the conflict in Bosnia and. 
Herzegovina, and made it plain to Mr. Vance and me that he, A, was in charge; B, wished to be kept informed, and; C, 
would be happy to deal with us on these issues. And also in conversation, everyday conversation, Mate Boban might 
say to me, 'Yes, Mr. Ambassador, I think that's possible, but I'd have to check with President Tudjman"'). See Herbert 
Okun, T. 16675 (2 Apr 2007). 
2374 See supra, para. 741. 
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territories claimed under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan.2375 The Trial Chamber concluded that: 

(1) the proclamation of the HR H-B on 28 August 1993 formalised the creation of the "mini-State" 

within BiH; (2) the HR H-B was defined as a "community-state" and an integral and indivisible 

democratic state of the Croatian people in BiH; (3) in a statement of the HR H-B Chamber of 

Deputies on 8 February 1994, the HR H-B proclaimed itself the sole legitimate "government" of the 

BiH Croats, expressing the need to consolidate its statehood ("HR H-B Chamber of Deputies' 

Proclamation of 8 February 1994"); and (4) at the meeting on 13 February 1994 ("13 February 1994 

Meeting"), Prlic said to several leaders, including Tudman, that the HR H-B displayed every single 

attribute of a state and that it needed to obtain the widest possible borders which could be attained 

by military means?376 

(a) PrliC's appeal (Sub-ground 9.10) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

749. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the leaders of the HZ H-B 

created a "mini-State" by relying on and misrepresenting RibiCiC's evidence, as well as disregarding 

other relevant evidence.2377 Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber relied on two documents which 

do not support its conclusion that the primary objective of the HZ H-B leaders was to preserve the 

Croatian territories claimed under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan. 2378 In this regard, Prlic submits that: 

(1) Zrinko Tokic testified that Exhibit P02486, an Ante Starcevic Brigade military report, expresses 

his own opinion;2379 and (2) Exhibit P05391, a document from the lSI Knez Domagoj Brigade, was 

admitted from the bar tab1e.238o He also contends that the Trial Chamber misrepresented the HR 

H-B Ch~mber of Deputies' Proclamation of 8 February 1994, which was a mere depiction of HR 

H-B's support for the Owen-Stoltenberg Peace Plan.2381 Prlic further submits that the 

Trial Chamber mischaracterised the 13 February 1994 Meeting, arguing that he stated at the 

meeting that "we have created a state in Herceg Bosna with all systems [ ... ], in accordance with the 

competencies of the Republic envisaged by the Union of Republics [of BiH]" .2382 

2375 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 21. 
2376 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 21. 
2377 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 275, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 1, paras 409-490, VoL 4, para. 21. Prlic also 
refers to his sub-ground of appeal 1.3 in support of his challenge in this regard, and his sub-ground of appeal 4.3 in 
respect of challenges related to RibiCic. Prlic's Appeal Brief, paras 275-276. 
237 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 277, referring to Exs. P02486, P05391. 
2379 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 277, referring to Ex. P02486, Zrinko Tokic, T. 45533-45537 (1 Oct 2009). 
2380 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 277, referring to Ex. P05391. 
2381 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 278, referring to Ex. P07825. 
2382 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 278, referring to Exs. P07856, lD02911, p. 47, P03990, p. 14, Art. 3. 
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750. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that a Croatian 

"mini-State" within BiH was formalised with the proclamation of the HR H-B and that Prlic fails to 

show any error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on the evidence in support of its findings. 2383 

(ii) Analysis 

751. The Appeals Chamber notes that PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the 

creation of a "mini-State" within BiH is entirely based on cross-references to other grounds of 

appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.2384 With respect to PrliC's contention that 

the Trial Chamber erred when concluding that the HZ H-B leaders' main objective was to preserve 

the Croatian territories claimed under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that in support of the impugned finding, the Trial Chamber relied on Petkovic's testimony that the 

purpose of the HVO was to "preserve as much territory inhabited by Croats as possible".2385 The 

Appeals Chamber further notes that Prlic does not challenge the Trial Chamber's reliance on this 

evidence, which thus remains undisturbed. In addition, with regard to Exhibit P05391, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that by challenging the Trial Chamber's reliance on it, Prlic merely submits 

that the document was admitted from the bar table,2386 confiating the issue of admissibility of the 

evidence with its weight. Prlic has also failed to show how his remaining challenge with regard to 

the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P02486 would have an impact on the impugned finding. 

PrliC's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

752. As regards PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber misrepresented the HR H-B Chamber 

of Deputies' Proclamation of 8 February 1994 as it merely shows the HR H-B's support for the 

Owen-Stoltenberg Peace Plan, the Appeals Chamber observes the Trial Chamber's finding that this 

evidence indicated that: (1) the HR H-B proclaimed itself the sole legitimate "government" of the 

BiH Croats and needed to work to consolidate its statehood; and (2) within the "Union of the 

Republics of Bosnia and Herzegovina", the HR H-B was to ensure the right of the Croatian people 

to self-determination and to attain a state, with respect for the rights of the other two constituent 

2383 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 161. 
2384 See supra, paras 176, 211. 
2385 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 21, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 49482 (16 Feb 2010). See also 
Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49483 (16 Feb 2010). 
2386 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277. The Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit P05391 was admitted into evidence on 
11 December 2007. See Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlie, Bruno Stojie, Slobodan Praljak, Milivoj Petkovie, Valentin 
Corie, and Berislav Pusie, Case No. IT-04-74-T, Decision portant sur la demande d'admission d'elements de preuve 
documentaire presentee par l'Accusation (Deux requetes HVOlHerceg-Bosna), 11 December 2007, Annex 2. 
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nations.2387 The Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic merely proposes an alternative interpretation 

of this proclamation, without showing an error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion.2388 

753. Concerning PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the 13 February 1994 

Meeting, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber specifically considered the 

transcript of the meeting. It concluded that at this meeting, Pdic said to several leaders from 

Croatia, including Tudman, that the HR H-B displayed every single attribute of a state, and that this 

state needed to attain the widest possible borders, comprising all of Central Bosnia, which could be 

achieved by military means?389 Other than pointing to a different part of the statement that he made 

at the same meeting, Pdic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the 

13 February 1994 Meeting and committed any error in its finding. His arguments are therefore 

dismissed. 

754. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed t6 show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the HZ H-B leaders gradually established a 

Croatian "mini-State" within BiH, the objective of which was the preservation of so-called Croatian 

territories claimed under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan. Pdic has also failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings on the HR H-B's proclamation and the 13 February 1994 Meeting. PrliC's 

sub-ground of appeal 9.10 is therefore dismissed. 

(b) Praljak's appeal (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 in part) 

755. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HZ H-B was gradually 

established as a "mini-State", and argues that the Trial Chamber misunderstood political 

developments in BiH after the Vance-Owen Peace Plan since the HZ H -B leaders. only tried to 

implement the plan?390 

756. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's contention in this regard is unsubstantiated and 

shows no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence.2391 

757. The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to provide any support for his contention 

that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted political developments in BiH after the signing of the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan because the HZ H-B leaders only attempted to carry out this plan. The 

2387 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, para. 21 & fns 71-72, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P07825, pp. 1-2. 
2388 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber "ignored contextual evidence" as 
undeveloped and unsubstantiated. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 278. 
2389 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 21 & fns 73-74, referring to Ex. P07856, pp. 46-47. The Appeals Chamber considers 
that Ex. ID02911 is identical to Ex. P07856 with regard to the parts to which Prlic refers and on which the 
Trial Chamber relied in its findings. 
2390 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 85. 
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Trial Chamber clearly determined that, in the months that followed the signing of the Vance-Owen 

Peace Plan, the HZ H-B leaders gradually created a Croatian "mini-State" with a view to preserving 

so-called Croatian territories claimed under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan.2392 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses his argument as unsubstantiated and failing to articulate any error. 

758. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show an error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings in this regard. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses the relevant 

parts ofPr~ljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2. 

7. Alleged errors concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE 

759. The Trial Chamber found that: 

the ultimate purpose of the HZ(R) H-B leaders and of Franjo Tudman at all times relevant under 
the Indictment was to set up a Croatian entity that reconstituted, at least in part, the borders of the 
Banovina of 1939, and facilitated the reunification of the Croatian people. This Croatian entity in 
BiH was either supposed to be joined to Croatia directly subsequent to a possible dissolution of 
BiH, or otherwise, to be an independent state within BiH with close ties to Croatia.2393 

(a) StojiC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

'760. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE was 

ambiguous, arguing that when referring to the "HZ(R) H-B leaders", the Trial Chamber failed to 

determine: (1) the identity of the "leaders"; and (2) whether all of the Appellants fall in this 

category "at all times".2394 Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was based primadly 

on Tudman's intentions, not his, and that given the scarcity of findings on the HZ(R) H-B 

leadership, the Trial Chamber failed to appropdately consider individual criminal responsibility.2395 

761. The Prosecution responds that the Tdal Chamber identified individuals, including the 

Appellants, who shared the intent to achieve the ultimate purpose by cdminal means, while the 

identity of other HZ(R) H-B leaders sharing the ultimate purpose is immateda1.2396 

762. The Appeals Chamber observes that an overall reading of the Tdal Judgement shows that 

the Tdal Chamber identified Stojic as among the "HZ(R) H-B leaders" sharing the Ultimate 

Purpose of the JCE. In the relevant analysis, the Trial Judgement specifies that as one of the 

participants of the 5 and 26 October 1992 Meetings, Stojic met with Mladic to discuss the division 

2391 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 42. 
2392 See supra, para. 748. 
2393 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 24. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2394 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 9, 23; Appeal Hearing, AT. 257-258, 295 (21 Mar 2017). 
2395 Appeal Hearing, AT. 258, 284 (21 Mar 2017). 
2396 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 18, refelTing to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. See also 
Appeal Hearing, AT. 350-351 (21 Mar 2017). 
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of BiH?397 Similarly, in the sections concerning the existence of the CCP, the Trial Chamber found 

that no later th~n October 1992, Stojic knew that the implementation of the Ultimate Purpose of the 

JCE would 'involve the Muslim population moving outside the territory of the HZ H_B.2398 

Accordingly, StojiC's argument is dismissed. 

763. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and rejects the relevant 

part of his ground of appeal 1. 

(b) Praljak's appeal (Sub-ground 6.5) 

764. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its conclusion vis-a.-vis the Ultimate Purpose 

of the JCE by taking "events and evidence" out of context.2399 He contends that the "Croatian 

political views, particularly those expressed before BiH became an independent State, are irrelevant 

for detennining the criminal responsibility of the individuals".2400 Moreover, Praljak contends that 

as the Trial Chamber "could not establish the CCP", it engaged in political considerations outside of 

its mandate.2401 

765. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's arguments ignore the Trial Chamber's "detailed 

JCE analysis".2402 

766. The Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

"events and evidence" and "political views" without providing any argument in support of his 

contention. The Appeals Chamber declines to address Praljak's unsubstantiated allegations of error, 

and dismisses them.2403 With regard to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber engaged in 

political considerations outside of its mandate since it "could not establish the CCP", the 

Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak refers to his submissions in his ground of appeal 7, which the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.2404 

767. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak has failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and rejects his sub-ground 

of appeal 6.5. 

2397 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 18. 
2398 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 426-490, Vol. 4, 
garas 9-24, 326-431. 

399 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 128, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 125-126 (sub-ground of appeal 6.4). 
2400 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 127; Appeal Hearing, AT. 385-386 (22 Mar 2017). 
2401 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 127, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 130-134 (sub-ground of appeal 7.1). 
2402 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 34. 
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(c) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-grounds 2.1, 2.2 in part, and 2.3 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

768. Petkovic submits that to the extent that the Trial Chamber found that he was among the 

HZ(R) H-B leaders sharing the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, no evidence on the record allows for 

such a conclusion.2405 Petkovic contends that: (1) during his testimony, he denied having discussed 

or shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE;2406 (2) the Trial Chamber failed to provide any reasoned 

opinion when rejecting PetkoviC's evidence that he did not share the Ultimate Purpose of the 

JCE;2407 (3) there is no evidence on the record that shows that he supported this purpose;2408 (4) no 

reasonable inference vis-a-vis his views could be drawn from his presence during meetings or views 

expressed by others in those meetings;2409 and (5) there is no evidence that he knew the content of 

other meetings or the views expressed therein.2410 

769. The Prosecution responds that: (1) Petkovic reiterates arguments rejected at trial; (2) the 

Trial Judgement is sufficiently clear that Petkovic was among the HZ(R) H-B leaders who shared 

the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE; and (3) the Trial Chamber rejected his "self-serving" evidence 

dd d d . h' . 2411 a uce unng IS testImony. 

770. Petkovic replies that the Prosecution fails to point to "any [Trial] Chamber's reasoning" or 

any evidence supporting that he shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2412 

2403 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Praljak refers to his submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 6.4, which the 
A£peals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, paras 705-712. 
24 See infra, paras 793-814. 
2405 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 8, 10, 14. Furthermore, Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that 
Tudman and the HZ H-B leaders sought to create a Croatian entity in BiH through the division of BiH between Croatia 
and Serbia. Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, para. 8. According to Petkovic, the evidence on the record proves that: (1) Herceg­
Bosna was established before BiH became independent; (2) BiH became independent after the referendum; (3) "all 
documents of the international community [ ... ] established the firm rule that the borders of Yugoslav republics [could 
not] be changed by force"; (4) the international community planned on offering a "composite" internal organisation of 
BiH based on the premise that BiH should be composed of three constituent people; (5) the HZ H-B leaders stated that 
BiH was to be organised as a composite federation; and (6) the HVO was established as an ad hoc wartime army and as 
a component of the ABiH. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 8. 
2406 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13. Petkovic also argues that the Prosecution did not question him or any other 
witness about whether Petkovic shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13. 
2407 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 6-7, 13.Petkovic also submits that the Trial Chamber failed to identify which of the 
Accused shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 5. 
2408 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13. 
2409 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13, referring to Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, paras 88, 92. 
2410 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13. 
2411 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 9, 12-13. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber found that 
all the Accused shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 12. In addition, 
the Prosecution contends that it cross-examined Petkovic on his awareness of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 13. The Prosecution further responds that PetkoviC's claim that the Trial 
Chamber erred in finding that Tudman and the HZ H-B leaders sought to create a Croatian entity in BiH has no merit. 
See Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 10-11. 
2412 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 2, 4 (emphasis in original). See also Petkovic's Reply Brief, para. 3. 
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(ii) Analysis 

771. The Appeals Chamber recalls its previous finding that no error has been shown in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that during the 26 October 1992 Meeting, Prlic, Stojic, Praljak, and 

Petkovic, as part of a delegation from Croatia and the HZ H-B, met with Mladic to discuss the 

partition of BiH.2413 Concerning PetkoviC's contention that the Trial Chamber did not provide a 

reasoned opinion when rejecting his evidence that he did not share the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE, 

the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Judgement reflects PetkoviC's closing arguments that 

he never mentioned "'Greater Croatia', the Banovina, the purported intent to redraw the ethnic map 

of BiH or any other political questions of this nature with Franjo Tudman [ ... J or any other 

person".2414 The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is not required to articulate every 

step of its reasoning2415 as long as it indicates clearly the legal and factual findings on the basis of 

which it reached the decision either to convict or acquit an individua1.2416 Moreover, Petkovic fails 

to appreciate that the Trial Chamber specifically concluded that while it accepted Petkovic's 

testimony to be credible "on certain points", it found him not credible when he attempted to limit 

his responsibility and consequently did not accept those portions of his evidence. 2417 Recalling that 

a trial judgement should be read as a whole,2418 the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic does not 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion vis-a-vis its analysis of his 

evidence concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2419 Accordingly, this argument is 

dismissed.242o 

772. The Appeals Chamber further rejects PetkoviC's unsubstantiated argument that no evidence 

shows that he expressed support for the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE. Specifically, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the mere absence of evidence showing PetkoviC's clear utterance in 

this regard does not prevent a reasonable trier of fact, on the basis of the totality of the evidence 

2413 See supra, paras 695-717. 
2414 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 7, referring to Petko viC' s Final Brief, para. 41. 
2415 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 378, 1063; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 972, 1906; 
Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 325, 378, 392, 461, 490; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 398. See also 
Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
2416 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 137; Stanisic and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, para. 78; 
POfovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1906; HadZ,ihasanovic and Kubura Appeal Judgement, para. 13. 
241 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
2418 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 202; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 306, 321; Boskoski 
and Tarculovski Appeal Judgement, para. 67. 
2419 The Appeals Chamber also recalls that when faced with competing versions of the same event, it is the prerogative 
of the trier of fact to decide which version it considers more credible. See, e.g., Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal 
Judgement,1 para. 645 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber also fails to see the relevance of PetkoviC's 
argument that the Prosecution did not question him or any other witness on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. In any 
event, a review of the trial transcripts shows that the Prosecution did in fact cross-examine him in this regard. See 
Milivoj Petkovic, T. 50466 (4 Mar 2010) . 

. 2420 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's argument concerning the Trial Chamber's failure to identify 
which of the Accused shared the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE as he fails to show how this alleged error is material 
vis-a-vis his responsibility. 
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accepted by the Trial Chamber, from finding that he nonetheless shared the Ultimate Purpose of the 

JCE. In any event, Petkovic merely repeats the arguments unsuccessfully made at trial without 

showing an error.2421 

773. As for PetkoviC's claim that no reasonable inference regarding his intention could be drawn 

from his presence during meetings, the Appeals Chamber observes that in support of this contention 

Petkovic merely refers to the Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement.2422 The mere reference 

to a conclusion in a different appeal judgement concerning an error of fact vis-a.-vis the mens rea of 

the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide does not show that no reasonable trier of fact could 

have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber did in the present case based on the 

evidence adduced at trial. In addition, the issue at hand is not pertinent to the mens rea of 

conspiracy to commit genocide. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this contention. 

Additionally, and contrary to PetkoviC's argument, the Trial Chamber did not depend only on 

PetkoviC's mere presence at meetings in support of its conclusion. Specifically, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber also expressly referred to Okun's evidence that 

during the international peace negotiations in January 1993 the "delegation of BiH Croats", which 

included Petkovic, was not genuinely in agreement with the constitutional principles of the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan.2423 

774. Lastly, with respect to PetkoviC's contention that there is no evidence that he knew about 

the views expressed in meetings in which he did not participate, the Appeals Chamber recalls that, 

in its analysis concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Trial Chamber specifically found 

that Petkovic: (1) participated as part of the delegation from Croatia and the HZ H-B in the 

26 October 1992 Meeting to discuss the partition of BiH with Mladic;2424 and (2) was part of the 

"delegation of BiH Croats" at international peace negotiations in January 1993 which was not 

genuinely in agreement with the constitutional principles of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan?425 

Against this background, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to show that his convictions 

rely on the Trial Chamber's findings concerning other meetings he did not attend. Accordingly, this 

contention is dismissed.2426 

2421 See PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 41, 537(iv), 537(ix). 
2422 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 13, referring to Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, paras 88, 92. 
2423 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
2424 See supra, paras 694, 713-717. 
2425.Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 20. 
2426 With respect to PetkoviC's arguments that the evidence on the record disproves the Trial Chamber's conclusion on 
the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Appeals Chamber considers that his arguments reflect mere disagreement with the 
Trial Chamber's assessment and he simply points to the evidence on the record without showing how the 
Trial Chamber's conclusion is unreasonable. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 
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775. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Petkovic has failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and rejects his 

sub-grounds of appeal 2.1, 2.2 in relevant part, and 2.3 in relevant part. 

(d) Pusic's appeal (Ground 3 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

776. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber's definition of the "stated aims (statements of intent, 

written in broad terms) contradict the objectives (specific statements Which define measurable 

outcomes) of the JCE ultimate purpose".2427 Pusic argues that the creation of an independent 

Croatian State within BiH - one of the objectives - is inconsistent with the alleged aims to 

reconstitute the Banovina and facilitate the reunification of the Croatian people.2428 Pusic also 

argues that the Trial Chamber used vague terminology when defining the nature· of the Ultimate 

Purpose of the JCE, arguing that the terms used "have multiple possible interpretations".2429 

777. Moreover, Pusic contends that the evidence on the record demonstrates that there was "no 

shared ultimate purpose between the Accused" but instead "a multitude of such purposes". 2430 He 

further argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law, as the ultimate purpose "theory" does not reflect 

the complexity of the historical reality?431 

778. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the Ultimate Purpose of 

the JCE was not contradictory and was supported by the evidence on the record that the JCE 

members considered the creation of the HZ(R) H-B as the first step towards the reunification of the 

Croatian people.2432 It also argues that the Trial Chamber was not vague in terms of the 

2427 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 77. Pusic specifically argues that the aims the Trial Chamber found consisted of 
multi-faceted non-criminal ingredients, namely a desire to set up a Croatian entity, reconstructing, at least in part, the 
borders of the Banovina to facilitate the reunification of the Croatian people. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 78, referring to 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 24. According to Pusic, the objectives of the JCE included a Croatian entity which was 
either to: (1) be incorporated by Croatia after the dissolution of BiH; or (2) remain an independent state within BiH with 
close ties to Croatia. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 79, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 24. 
2428 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 80. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 81. 
2429 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 82 (submitting that "[ w ]hat is meant by the terms 'Croatian entity' and the import of the 
phrases with 'the aim of reconstituting, at least in part, the borders of the 1939 Banovina' in order to 'facilitate the 
reunification' of the 'Croatian people' is unclear"). 
2430 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 102, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 408. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 678-689 
(27 Mar 2017). Pusic also argues that there was no CCP.See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 102. See also PusiC's 
AEpeal Brief, para. 103. 
241 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 103. Pusic submits, inter alia, that the Trial Chamber: (1) erred in trying "to take on the 
mantle of an 'arbiter[] of historical truth"'; (2) failed to strike the correct balance between "history and law or between 
context and act"; and (3) erred "in trying such issues 'in the context of criminal proceedings'" without input from 
Croatia or in the absence of Tudman or other senior leaders. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 104-105; Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 680-681 (27 Mar 2017). 
2432 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 68. According to the Prosecution, PusiC's liability is not affected by 
what the JCE members were planning to do after they achieved their political aim of Croatian control. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 69. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 709 (27 Mar 2017). 
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geographical scope or the target group of the Ultimate Purpose of the JeE, and that Pusic fails to 

appreciate the Trial Chamber's distinction between the JCE members' political goals - the ultimate 

purpose - and the criminal means.2433 Responding to PusiC's argument that the evidence does not 

support a shared ultimate purpose, the Prosecution submits that Pusic fails to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's analysis.2434 It also argues that Pusic fails to show any impact on his conviction 

when arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in attempting to arbitrate the historical truth?435 

(ii) Analysis 

779. Regarding PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber made contradictory findings on the 

objectives of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Appeals Chamber observes that it has already 

considered similar allegations of error concerning Tudman's intention and found no contradiction in 

this regard.2436 This argument is therefore dismissed. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds no 

merit in PusiC's contention concerning the ambiguity of the impugned finding. Pusic merely argues 

that some tenns are "unclear" and "have multiple possible interpretations",2437 failing to show how 

this alleged ambiguity affects the Trial Chamber's finding on the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and, 

ultimately, his conviction. 

780. The Appeals Chamber further observes that, in contending that the evidence on the record 

demonstrates that there was no shared ultimate purpose but a multitude of purposes, Pusic entirely 

relies on the Judge Antonetti Dissent without further substantiating his submission.2438 Recalling 

that the mere existence of a dissenting opinion does not render the maj0l1ty's conclusion 

unreasonable,2439 the Appeals Chamber rejects this submission.244o Finally, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's ultimate purpose "theory" does not reflect the 

complexity of the historical reality fails to identify an error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. His arguments are therefore dismissed. 

781. The Appeals Chamber, therefore, finds that Pusic 'has failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE and rejects the relevant 

part of his ground of appeal 3. 

2433 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 70-71. 
2434 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 89. 
2435 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 77. 
2436 See supra, para. 604. 
2437 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 82. 
2438 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 102, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 408. 
2439 See supra, para. 670. 
2440 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as unsubstantiated PusiC's argument that there was no CCP. 
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8. Conclusion 

782. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses all challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's findings related to the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. 

322 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23573



D. Existence of the Common Criminal Plan of the JCE 

1. Introduction 

783. The Trial Chamber concluded that as of December 1991, the leaders of the HZ(R) H-B, 

including Boban, and leaders of Croatia, including Tudman, believed that in order to achieve the 

Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, it was necessary to change the ethnic make-up of the territories 

claimed to form part of the HZ H_B?441 The Tri~l Chamber also found that from no later than 

October 1992, Prlic, Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic knew that the implementation of the Ultimate 

Purpose of the JCE ran counter to the peace negotiations being conducted in Geneva and would 

involve the Muslim population moving outside the territory of the HZ H_B.2442 The Trial Chamber 

then concluded that the evidence demonstrated that from mid-January 1993, the leaders of the HVO 

and certain Croatian leaders aimed to consolidate HVO control over Provinces 3, 8, and 10, and to 

eliminate all Muslim resistance within these provinces and to "ethnically cleanse" the Muslims so 

that the provinces would become in "majority or nearly exclusively Croatian".2443 It thus found that 

a JCE was established to implement the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE from at least as early as 

mid-January 1993, the common criminal plan of which was "domination by the HR H-B Croats 

through ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population" (the "Common Criminal Plan" or "CCp,,)?444 

784. The Trial Chamber found that the JCE was then implemented in "stages",2445 by way of 

crimes that "tended to follow a clear pattern of conduct". 2446 In this regard, the Trial Chamber took 

account of: (1) crimes committed pursuant to military campaigns in the municipalities of 

Gornji Vakuf, Prozor, Jablanica, and Mostar between January and June 1993;2447 (2) the expansion 

of the CCP with the siege of East Mostar from June 1993 to April 1994;2448 (3) the organised 

system of deportation of Muslims introduced following the ABiH attack on 30 June 1993;2449 (4) 

the relocation of Croats fr~m June 1993 to April 1994;2450 and (5) the events in and around Vares in 

October 1993.2451 

2441 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2442 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2443 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2444 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41,43-44. 
2445 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2446 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
2447 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-54,56-58. 
2448 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2449 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57,64. 
2450 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 54-55, 60, 62-63. 
2451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-63. 
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785. The Appellants allege errors regarding: (1) the definition of the CCP;2452 (2) the 

Trial Chamber's approach to its scope and expansion;2453 (3) the Trial Chamber's findings on the 

stages of implementation of the CCP;2454 and (4) a number of other findings made as part of the 

CCP analysis.2455 

2. Alleged errors regarding the definition of the CCP (StojiC's Ground 8 and 

PetkoviC's Sub-grounds 3.2.l.1 and 3.2.l.2 in part) 

786. The Trial Chamber concluded that there was "only one, single [CCP] - domination by the 

HR H-B Croats through ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population".2456 

(a) Arguments of the Parties 

787. StojiC submits that although the Trial Chamber indicated that there was "one, single" CCP, 

it failed to consistently identify such a single purpose.2457 In his view, the Trial Chamber vacillated 

between "five different common purposes", namely: (1) "domination"by the HR H-B Croats; 

(2) "reconstituting the Banovina"; (3) "modifying the ethnic composition of the territory"; 

(4) "expelling the Muslim population"; and (5) "ethnic c1eansing".2458 In the course of his 

submissions that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in holding that "the only reasonable 

inference was that the crimes were the result of the implementation of a common criminal plan",2459 

Petko vic asserts that the Trial Chamber referred to the CCP variously as "domination", "ethnic 

cleansing", and "political purpose".2460 Stojic argues that these inconsistencies violate his right to a 

"reasoned decision" and invalidate the Trial Judgement.2461 Similarly, Petkovic argues that the 

Trial Chamber failed to explain what "ethnic cleansing" meant, thus breaching his right to a 

2452 Stojic seeks acquittal on all counts as a result of this alleged error. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 7, 86. 
See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 27. 
2453 Stojic and Praljak seek acquittals on all counts as a result of this alleged error. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 7, 
58, 101, 108; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 129, 134, 138,544; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 31. 
2454 The Appellants seek acquittals on some or all counts as a result of the alleged errors. See Prlic's Appeal Brief, paras 
311-312; StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 7, 94, 398, 402; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 100, 162, 232, 324; Petkovie's 
Af~eal Brief, paras 33, 53, 58, 67, 70, 76, 80, 85. 
24 The Appellants seek acquittals on some or all counts as a result of the alleged errors. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 
311-312; Stojic's Appeal Brief, paras 7,37,47,58; PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 85; Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 5; 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 108-109. 
2456 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
2457 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 81, paras 83, 85, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See also 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 81-82. 
2458 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 83, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43, 65, 429, 1232. See also Stojic's 
Appeal Brief, para. 81. Stojic also submits that the Trial Chamber oscillated between defining ethnic cleansing as the 
common purpose of the JCE to be achieved through the perpetration of other crimes, or as the criminal means to realise 
the common purpose. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 84, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43, 65, 429, 1232. 
See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 82. 
2459 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, heading 3.2.1 before para. 25. 
246°PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 26 .. 
2461 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 81, paras 81,85-86, referring to, inter alia, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, 
para. 724, Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 81. 
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reasoned opinion. 2462 Further, both Stojic and Petkovic argue in this context that the 

Trial Chamber's classification of the CCP as "ethnic cleansing" did not amount to, or involve, the 

commission of crimes within the Statute.2463 Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in 

equating "the crime of deportation/forcible transfer" with ethnic cleansing since a small number of 

deportations and/or forcible transfers in an: area cannot amount to ethnic cleansing and yet the 

Trial Chamber concluded that the CCP was implemented even in those locations where only a small 

number of civilians were deported or forcibly transferred.2464 

788. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly identified a single CCP, namely 

to establish, by criminal means, a Croatian entity reconstituting the Banovina borders.2465 It asserts 

that the Trial Chamber consistently distinguished between the political purpose and its criminal 

implementation,2466 and was also consistent in describing the CCP as domination by the HR H-B 

Croats through "ethnic cleansing".2467 The Prosecution also responds that the Trial Chamber 

enumerated the specific crimes which made up the CCP, and thus did not err in using the term 

"ethnic cleansing".2468 It finally argues that PetkoviC's allegation of lack of reasoned opinion should 

be summarily dismissed, particularly given his subsequent acknowledgment that the Trial Chamber 

explained what it meant by "ethnic cleansing". 2469 

(b) Analysis 

789. Regarding the allegations of ambiguity in the Trial Chamber's approach to identifying the 

CCP, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber consistently identified the CCP as the 

ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population in pursuit of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE?470 In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber clearly distinguished between the 

2462 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 28. Petkovic also argues that "it could be inferred that the Trial Chamber used the 
term 'ethnic cleansing' as the synonym for [the] creation of [an] ethnically homogenous geographic area supposed to be 
[a] Croatian entity (provinces, federal or confederal unit) through [the] removal of Muslim population[s]." PetkoviC's 
Agpeal Brief, para. 29. 
243 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 81, para. 86; PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 26-27, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 44. Stojic raises this challenge with regard to the classification of the CCP as ethnic 
cleansing, in the alternative to his submission that the Trial Chamber failed to clearly identify what the CCP was. See 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 81, paras 83, 85. Stojic submits that domination by the HR H-B Croats or 
ethnic cleansing is not a crime proscribed by the Statute, and Petkovic argues that "domination", "ethnic cleansing", and 
"political purpose" do not amount to a crime under the Statute. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 86; PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 26. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 82; PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 25; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, 
~aras 7-8; Appeal Hearing, AT. 287, 292-295, 299 (21 Mar 2017); AT. 483, 490-493 (23 Mar 2017). 

464 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 27; Appeal Hearing, AT. 485-486, 491 (23 Mar 2017). 
2465 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 59. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16,23. 
2466 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 59-61, 63, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 24, 43-44, 65, 
1232. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 62. 
2467 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 63, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65-66, 68, 1232. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 62; Appeal Hearing, AT. 345-346 (21 Mar 2017). 
2468 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 64; Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 24, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43-44,65-66,68. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 65. 
2469 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 27. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 28-29. 
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Ultimate Purpose of the JCE - the territorial political aspirations of the JCE members - and the 

criminal means by which it was implemented.2471 In particular, no ambiguity is presented by the 

fact that in some cases, the Trial Chamber referred to the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE as context 

when discussing the CCP,2472 while in others, it did not.2473 The Appeals Chamber also finds that 

the Trial Chamber's use of different, but substantively identical, phrasing to describe the "ethnic 

cleansing" process does not reflect any ambiguity.2474 StojiC's and PetkoviC's submissions are thus 

dismissed in relevant part. 

790. As for the allegations that the Trial Chamber erred in defining the CCP as "ethnic cleansing" 

which did not necessarily involve the commission of crimes, the Appeals Chamber recalls that for 

JCE liability to be established, the Prosecution must prove "the existence of a common plan, design 

or purpose which amounts to or involves the commission of a crime provided for in the Statute".2475 

In the present case, the Trial Chamber found that in pursuit of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the 

JCE members devised a CCP to ethnically cleanse Muslims from Provinces 3, 8, and 10,2476 and it 

outlined the precise crimes which were committed to implement the JCE in stages.2477 The Appeals 

Chamber finds no error or inconsistency in this approach, and StojiC's and Petkovic's arguments on 

these points are rejected. Considering that the CCP was carefully particularised by the Trial 

Chamber so as to include various crimes through which "ethnic cleansing" was achieved, including 

but not limited to forcible transfer and deportation, the Appeals Chamber also finds that the Trial 

Chamber provided adequate reasons for its conclusion that "ethnic cleansing" occurred, and 

dismisses PetkoviC's submission in this respect. As a result, the Appeals Chamber dismisses, as 

unsubstantiated and unsupported, Petko viC' s arguments that the Trial Chamber equated ethnic 

cleansing with forcible transfer/deportation and failed to make adequate findings regarding the 

occurrence of "ethnic cleansing" in practice.2478 Further, given that "ethnic cleansing" can be 

achieved through a number of different crimes,2479 as indeed was found by the Trial Chamber in 

2470 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, ,paras 44, 65, 1232. 
2471 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 2-24, 41-73. 
2472 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-44,65. 
2473 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 429, 1232. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 276. 
2474 The Appeals Chamber notes that in the paragraphs referred to by Stojic the Trial Chamber refers to a plan "seeking 
to modify the ethnic composition of the so-called Croatian provinces" and "to ethnically cleanse the Muslim population 
from the territory claimed as Croatian". See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65, 1232. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 41 ("there was only one, single common criminal purpose - domination by the HR H-B Croats through ethnic 
cleansing of the Muslim population"), 428 ("Bruno Stojic intended to expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H­
B"). 
2475 Tadi6 Appeal Judgement, para. 227(ii). See also Sainovi6 et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 610-611; Staki6 Appeal 
Judgement, para. 64; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 364, 418. 
2476 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 44, 65, 1232. 
2477 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-68. 
2478 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 27. 
2479 See Staki6 Appeal Judgement, Partly Dissenting Opinion of Judge Shahabuddeen, para. 50 (stating that ethnic 
cleansing "is not a crime in its own right under customary international law" but rather a "policy" the general purpose 
of which can be used "to draw infereitces as to the existence of elements of crimes referred to in the Statute"). See also 
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relation to the CCP, the Appeals Chamber considers PetkoviC's argument that a few instances of 

deportation and forcible transfer cannot amount to ethnic cleansing to be premised on a 

misunderstanding of the relevant judsprudence and accordingly rejects his argument in that 

respect. 2480 

791. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic and Petkovic have failed to 

demonstrate an error in the Tdal Chamber's findings on the definition of the CCP. StojiC's ground 

of appeal 8 and PetkoviC's sub-grounds of appeal 3.2.1.1 and 3.2.1.2 in relevant part are therefore 

dismissed. 

3. Alleged errors of law regarding the scope and expansion of the CCP 

792. As noted earlier, the Tdal Chamber found that the evidence demonstrated that there was one 

single CCP, namely, the "domination by the HR H-B Croats through ethnic cleansing of the 

Muslim population".2481 The Trial Chamber also found that the JCE came into being in mid-January 

1993 and was carned out "in stages".2482 It found that between January and Jun~ 1993, the stages 

included military campaigns in the municipalities of Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, Prozor, and Mostar, 

and relocations of Croatian civilial1s.2483 The Tdal Chamber also, found that the CCP expanded from 

June 1993, with the siege of East Mostar.2484 The Trial Chamber also held that the CCP became 

more efficient with the implementation of an organised system of deportation from July 1993?485 

Finally, in its discussion of the applicable law, the Tdal Chamber referred to the Appeals Chamber 

judsprudence that the "criminal activities implementing the JCE may evolve over time", that a joint 

cdminal enterpdse may expand to encompass cdmes other than those originally contemplated, and 

that in these circumstances proof of an agreement concerning its expansions is subject to the same 

requirements applicable to the odginal agreement.2486 Further, relying on the Krajisnik Appeal 

Judgement, the Trial Chamber noted that it was "required to make findings that the members of the 

JCE were informed of the expansion of criminal activities, that they did nothing to prevent this and 

United Nations, Security Council, Final Report of the Commission of Experts established pursuant to Security Council 
Resolution 780 (1992),27 May 1994, UN Doc. S/1994/674 (1994), Part III: General Studies, B. Ethnic Cleansing, para. 
129, p. 33 referring to para. 55 of the Interim Report S/25274 (noting that ethnic cleansing in the region was carried out 
not only by means of forcible displacement and deportation but also by means of, inter alia, deliberate attacks on 
civilians, arbitrary arrest and detention, arid wanton destruction of property). 
2480 See also infra, paras 872, 894. 
2481 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
2482 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45. 
2483 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-63. 
2484 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2485 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57, 64. 
2486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212 (2). 
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persisted in implementing the expansion of the common design and determine at which precise 

point in time the additional crimes were integrated into the common design".2487 

(a) StojiC's appeal (Grounds 11 and 12) and Praljak's appeal (Ground 7) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

793. Stojic and Praljak submit that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to define which 

crimes were part of the original JCE and which were part of the expanded JCE.2488 Specifically, 

Stojic argues that it is unclear whether the expanded JCE from June 1993 was limited to 

Counts 24-26 only, or "perhaps extend[ed] to all crimes committed after June 1993".2489 As an 

example, he submits that it is unclear whether the deportations which began in June 1993 formed 

part of the original or the expanded JCE.2490 Both Appellants submit that the Trial Chamber erred in 

law in failing to make findings showing that leading JCE members were informed of the expanded 

crimes or failed to prevent their recurrence.2491 

794. Stojic argues in addition that the Trial Chamber failed to make findings on: (1) whether the 

"local component" of the JCE or the Croatian leaders of the JCE had knowledge of the expanded 

crimes;2492, and (2) when "leading JCE members went from being merely aware of the crime[s] to 

intending [them]".2493 Stojic argues that the absence of such findings in the Trial Chamber's CCP 

analysis cannot be cured by reference to other sections of the Trial Judgement,2494 or by reference to 

the Prosecution's trial pleadings regarding the expanded Climes, which were rejected by the 

Trial Chamber?495 Praljak also submits that the Trial Chamber particularly erred as regards him, as 

it had found that no evidence supported his role in criminal events in Mostar before 24 July 1993, 

2487 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212 (2). 
2488 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 97, 102-103, 108; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 132, 134, 137. See also StojiC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 95-96. Praljak also raises arguments regarding the non-criminal nature of the plan and the means of 
identifying the CCP. Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 130-131; Appeal Hearing, AT. 382-383 (22 Mar 2017) (arguing 
further that the term "ethnic cleansing" is not a legal term and is too vague to specify the alleged crimes). These 

. arguments have been considered and dismissed above. See supra, paras 789-790. 
2489 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98. 
2490 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98. 
2491 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 102, paras 104-105; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 132, 136; StojiC's 
Reply Brief, paras 27, 31; Appeal Hearing, AT. 383 (22 Mar 2017). See also StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 28-30. Stojic 
also alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and failed to provide a "reasoned decision". StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
heading before para. 102. 
2492 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 106. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 28-29,31. 
2493 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 107, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 173. See StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 
28-31. 
2494 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 98, 106. 
2495 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 99. Stojic points to the fact that the Prosecution pled that the original JCE crimes were 
Counts 1, 6-9, and 19-20, and that the JCE was later expanded to include Counts 10-11, 12-18, and 22-26. 
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so that it is unclear when and how Praljak would have acquired knowledge about the expansion of 

the CCP.2496 

795. Stojic and Praljak both argue, pointing to the alleged ambiguities, that the Appeals Chamber 

cannot be required to speculate on the meaning of the Trial Chamber's findings on the scope of the 

CCP, which is a central element of criminal responsibility.2497 Furthermore, according to Stojic, the 

alleged ambiguities compromise his right to a fair trial and make it impossible for him to challenge 

the Trial Chamber's findings. 2498 Stojic and Praljak both submit that the alleged legal errors 

invalidate the Trial Chamber's findings on JCE, and request that the Trial Judgement be set aside 

and their convictions overturned on all counts.2499 

796. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Judgement identified Counts 21, 24, and 25 as the 

crimes that were part of the expanded JCE, and that all other counts for which the Appellants were 

convicted under JCE I were the crimes that were part of the CCP from the beginning.250o It submits 

that the Trial Chamber made sufficient findings that all the Appellants, including Stojic and Praljak, 

knew about, and shared the intent for, the expanded crimes.2501 Whether the Trial Chamber made 

findings that non-accused JCE members also accepted the expanded crimes, the Prosecution claims, 

is irrelevant.2502 Finally, the Prosecution argues that Praljak was correctly held liable for the 

expanded crimes committed by other JCE members regardless of the fact that his own direct 

contribution to these crimes was limited to the time period from 24 July 1993 to 

9 November 1993.2503 

(ii) Analysis 

797. The Appeals Chamber will first address the argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

identify the crimes that formed part of the expanded CCP and will then proceed to consider whether 

the Trial Chamber adopted the correct legal approach in this regard. 

2496 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 137; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 28; Appeal Hearing, AT. 384-385 (22 Mar 2017). See 
also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 30. Praljak also argues that there was another reasonable inference for the events in 
Mostar. These submissions are addressed below. See infra, paras 927, 941-946. 
2497 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 98; Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 133, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 
176. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 26. Praljak argues that if the CCP is "unspecified, as it is in the present case, it is 
impossible to impute the responsibility for crimes to anyone except the direct perpetrator". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 
133. 
2498 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 100. 
2499 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 101, 108; Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 129, 134, 138. 
2500 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 72-76; Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 44-45. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 49. 
2501 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 79,81-83; Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 44, 46-48. 
2502 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 84. 
2503 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 47-48. 

329 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23566



798. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial judgement should be read as a whole.2504 In the 

present case, the Trial Chamber found that, "[f1rom June 1993, the [CCP] was expanded with the 

siege of East Mostar and encompassed new crimes".2505 The Trial Chamber then proceeded to 

describe the crimes that took place in East Mostar, including shelling and firing at the Muslim 

popUlation of East Mostar, with the consequence of killing and injuring many inhabitants, forcing 

them to live in very harsh conditions, impeding or blocking the passage of humanitarian aid, and 

deliberately targeting the members of international organisations, killing and wounding some of 

them.2506 The Trial Chamber also referred to: (1) the destruction of the Old Bridge by the HVO, 

which caused harm to the Muslim population of East Mostar out of proportion to the legitimate 

military objective sought; and (2) the severe damage and/or destruction of ten East Mostar 

mosques,zS07 With respect to (1), the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the 

Trial Chamber's findings that the destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime 

against humanity (Count 1) and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or 

customs of war (Count 25) and has therefore acquitted the Appellants of these charges insofar as 

they concern the Old Bridge.2508 Accordingly, as the destruction of the Old Bridge is no longer part 

of any remaining counts in this case, the Appeals Chamber will not rely in its subsequent analysis 

on the Trial Chamber's findings concerning that destruction. 

799. In view of the above and contrary to StojiC's submission, the Tllal Chamber did not 

consider that all the crimes committed after June 1993 were new and thus encompassed by the 

expanded JCE. Instead, it considered that the new crimes were the whole of Count 24 (unlawful 

attack on civilians - Mostar) and the whole of Count 25 (unlawful infliction of terror on civilians -

Mostar),2509 which were therefore not part of the CCP before June 1993. In addition, the destruction 

of or severe damage to the ten mosques in East Mostar2510 also forms a part of Count 21 

(destruction or wilful damage to institutions dedicated to religion or education).2511 As for the other 

incidents forming part of that count, the Trial Chamber explained elsewhere in the Trial Judgement 

2504 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para.' 138; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Gric Appeal 
Judgement, para. 38; Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, para. 435; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 344. 
2505 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2506 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2507 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2508 See supra, para. 426. The Appeals Chamber also reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages or devastation not justified by military necessity 
as a violation of the laws or customs of war. See supra, para. 416. 
2509 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1684-1692. 
2510 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2Sll See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1609-1610. The remaining part of Count 21 in relation to Mostar, as found by 
the Trial Chamber, concerns a crime committed prior to June 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1608. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1611. 
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that Count 21 was not part of the CCP before June 1993,2512 thus making it clear that it fell within 

the scope of the CCP only when it expanded to include events in East Mostar, that is, from June 

1993 onwards. 

800. As regards Stojic's assertion that it is unclear whether the Trial Chamber considered 

deportation to be an expanded crime or part of the original CCP, the Appeals Chamber recalls that 

the Trial Chamber was explicit in its finding that only the new crimes that took place with the siege 

of East Mostar in June 1993 constituted the expanded CCP.2513 However, the Trial Chamber found 

no instances of deportation by the HVO of Muslims living in East Mostar. Further, the 

Trial Chamber found that, from mid-May 1993, the HVO forced the Muslim population from 

West Mostar across a de facto border and thus committed the crime of deportation.2514 The 

Trial Chamber also found that, following the deportations in Mostar, subsequent instances of 

deportation occurred in other municipalities, particularly from detention centres located therein. 2515 

Later, in its analysis of the existence of the CCP, the Trial Chamber recounted the events in Mostar 

in May 1993.2516 It also held that subsequent to an ABiH attack on 30 June 1993 the 

implementation of the JCE became more efficient, with the HVO arresting and detaining Muslims 

and sending them to, among others, third countries,2517 and that "at least as of 30 June 1993", the 

HZ(R) H-B authorities introduced "a system of deportation utilising the release of Muslim detainees 

from the HVO detention centres contingent upon their departure from Croatia,,?518 Thus, the Trial 

Chamber's findings regarding deportation show that instances of deportation began occurring in 

mid-May 1993 and that the JCE became "more efficient" from 30 June 1993 because a system of 

deportation was devised by the HZ(R) H-B authorities. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that, reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, deportation was found by the Trial Chamber 

to be part of the CCP before the JCE expanded in June 1993 and thus it was not deemed by the Trial 

Chamber as one of the expanded crimes that became part of the CCP in June 1993. The Appea~s 

Chamber is further reinforced in this view by the fact that, in contrast to its conclusion as regards 

Count 21,2519 the Trial Chamber made no findings indicating that deportation became part of the 

CCP only in June 1993. Accordingly, StojiC's argument regarding deportation is dismissed. 

801. As to whether the Trial Chamber made the necessary legal findings to support its conclusion 

that Counts 21, 24, and 25 formed the expanded crimes, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the 

2512 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 433, 1213. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 71, 148, 718, 822; infra, 
Earas 2447-2455. See also infra, paras 2443-2446. 

513 See supra, para. 798. 
2514 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 783-784,813-814. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 56-57. 
2515 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 786-809,810-839. 
2516 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 56-57. 
2517 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
2518 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
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Trial Chamber held, relying on the Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, that it was required to determine at 

which point the additional crimes became integrated into the common plan and make findings that 

"the members of the JCE" were informed of the expansion of criminal activities but did nothing to 

prevent it and continued to implement the expansion.252o 

802. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Krajisnik Appeals Chamber found that, as is the 

case with a common criminal plan in its inception, it is not necessary for the JCE members to 

explicitly agree to the expansion of criminal means; instead, as with the original criminal plan, that 

agreement may materialise extemporaneously and be inferred from circumstantial evidence?521 

Noting that the Krajisnik Trial Chamber found that expanded crimes were added to the JCE after 

"leading members" of that JCE were informed of them, the Appeals Chamber in Krajisnik stated: 

The Appeals Chamber notes that in order to impute responsibility to leading JCE members, 
including Krajisnik, for the expanded crimes, the Trial Chamber was therefore required to make 
findings as to (1) whether leading members of the JCE were informed of the crimes, (2) whether 
they did nothing to prevent their recurrence and persisted in the implementation of this expansion 
of the common objective, and (3) when the expanded crimes became incorporated into the. 
common objective.2 

22 

It then concluded that the Krajisnik Trial Chamber failed to find: (1) who the leading JCE members 

were, including whether Momcilo Krajisnik was one of them; (2) at which specific point in time the 

expanded crimes became part of the common plan; and (3) whether JCE members had any intent 

for those crimes.2523 It also found that the Krajisnik Trial Chamber did not find when the members 

of the "local component" of the JCE became aware of the expanded crimes and thus when those 

. b' d' h b' . 2524 cnmes ecame Incorporate In t e conmlon 0 ~ect1ve. 

803. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber notes that in Krajisnik it focused on the 

knowledge of "leading JCE members" primarily because the Krajisnik Trial Chamber did the 

same.2525 However, contrary to StojiC's argument, this does not necessarily lead to the conclusion 

that the elements elucidated by the Appeals Chamber in Krajisnik require that in every case where 

the expansion of a JCE is an issue, all JCE members, including both accused and non-accused lCE 

members, must be found to have been informed of the expanded crimes in order to show that they 

had agreed to expand the JCE. Accordingly, while the knowledge of the expanded crimes on the 

2519 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 71. See also supra, para. 798. 
2520 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212(2), referring to, inter alia, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 171, 175-176, 193-
194. See also supra, para. 792. 
2521 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 163. 
2522 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 170-171 (emphasis in original). 
2523 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 172-173 & fn. 432. 
2524 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 174. 
2525 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 162, 170-173. Indeed, the Krajisnik Trial Chamber's own analysis of how an 
expansion of a JCE is to be established refers to the knowledge of leading JCE members about the expanded crimes and 
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part of the "local component" of the JCE was important in the Krajisnik case in order to ascertain 

when those crimes became part of the common plan,2526 the Appeals Chamber considers that it was 

not necessary in this case as the Trial Chamber inferred that the agreement to expand the ICE 

materialised between the Appellants in relation to the crimes in East Mostar in June 1993. As noted 

above,2527 as is the case with an original common criminal plan, an expansion of criminal means 

may be inferred from circumstantial evidence. Determining when additional crimes became 

integrated into a common criminal plan will therefore be different from case to case. Accordingly, 

the Trial Chamber in the present case was under no obligation to conduct its expansion analysis in 

relation to the local component. 

804. Concerning StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to make findings on the 

knowledge of Croatian leaders, the Appeals Chamber notes that it was necessary to consider the 

knowledge of "leading JCE members" in the Krajisnik case b~cause it was a single-accused case in 

which the Trial Chamber had to establish a plurality of persons, both for the original and for the 

expanded JCE. However, the present case is a multi-accused case and thus, once it made findings 

regarding the Appellants and their membership in the original JCE, the Trial Chamber was not 

required to concern itself with tl;1e knowledge of the Croatian leaders, namely Tudman, Bobetko, 

and Susak. Indeed, when outlining what requirements it had to satisfy before it could attribute the 

new crimes to the Appellants, the Trial Chamber noted that it was required to make findings that 

"the members of the JCE" were informed of the expansion of criminal activities, did nothing to 

prevent them, and persisted in implementing the expansion of the CCP.2528 The Trial Chamber then 

proceeded to do so in relation to the Appellants who were all deemed to be JCE members. 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber made findings that Pdic, Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic were among the 

most important members of the JCE, and thus considered them to be "leading ICE members",z529 

As a result, and in light of the Trial Chamber's analysis outlined below regarding the Appellants' 

knowledge and intent in relation to East Mostar which indicates that an agreement to expand the 

relevant crimes materialised between them,253o the Appeals Chamber considers that it was not 

necessary for the Trial Chamber to assess whether other members of the JCE, including Tudman, 

Bobetko, and Susak, agreed to that expansion. In any event, the Trial Chamber made findings that 

their failure to take measures to prevent them as well as their persistence in implementing the common objective. See 
Krajisllik Appeal Judgement, para. 162, referring to Krajisllik Trial Judgement, para. 1098. 
2526 Krajisllik Appeal Judgement, para. 174. 
2527 See supra, para. 802. 
2528 See supra, para. 801. 
2529 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 276, 429, 628, 818. 
2530 See infra, paras 806-812. 
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indicate that these Croatian leaders did so agree.2531 StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred 

in law in not addressing the knowledge of the Croatian leaders or the local component is therefore 

rejected. 

805. In addressing whether the Trial Chamber made the necessary findings to impute criminal 

responsibility for the expanded crimes, the Appeals Chamber will examine the Trial Chamber's 

analysis concerning each of the Appellants' involvement in the events in East Mostar, as well as 

whether the Trial Chamber made findings it said it would, namely findings concerning the precise 

point at which the CCP expanded and, in that connection, found that the Appellants were informed 

of the expansion of the criminal activities, did nothing to prevent their occurrence, and went on to 

. .. I . h . f h d' 2532 perSIst m Imp ementmg t e expansIOn 0 t e common eSIgn. 

806. Starting with Pdic, the Trial Chamber found that he "knew about the HVO carnes 

committed during the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar - that is, the murders 

and destruction of property" - and that by minimising them or attempting to deny them he 

accepted, encouraged, and supported these crimes and the campaign of shelling and sniping.2533 It 

further found that he knew about the difficulties international humanitarian organisations had to 

access East Mostar and that he contributed to this by blocking the delivery of humanitarian aid there 

from June to at least December 1993, therefore intending to cause "great suffering" to the Mostar 

population.2534 The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber made the necessary findings 

relating to PdiC's knowledge about the expanded crimes, the fact that he did nothing to prevent their 

recurrence, and that he persisted in implementing the expanded JCE.2535 

807. As for Stojic, the Trial Chamber found that he knew of the "HVO's plan of action" with 

regard to East Mostar, entailing "the murders and the destruction of property, including mosques, 

related to the shelling and the harsh living conditions of the popUlation of [East Mostar] caused by 

the lack of food and water".2536 This conclusion is supported by findings that Stojic acquired 

knowledge of HVO crimes in Mostar as early as May 1993,2537 and by other findings that Stojic 

2531 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219, 1222-1223 (finding, inter alia, that there was a "continuous link" between 
Praljak on one side and Tudman, Bobetko, and Susak on the other). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522-523, 
529-530, 540. 
2532 See supra, paras 792, 802. 
2533 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 174-175, 272 (finding that Pdic was well 
aware of the shelling and sniping of East Mostar, particularly against civilians and international organisations, and that 
he attempted to conceal the HVO's responsibility for the destruction of the Old Bridge). 
2534 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 185. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 179-184,272 (finding that Pdic deliberately 
impeded the attempts to repair the water supply system in East Mostar, did nothing to improve the living conditions in 
East Mostar, and on a number of occasions refused to grant authorisation for humanitarian convoys to enter East 
Mostar). 
2535 See infra, paras 1276-1285. 
2536 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 359-362. 
2537 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 359.' 
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participated in the evictions of Muslims from West Mostar as of June 19932538 that led to an 

increased concentration of the Muslim population in East Mostar.2539 The Trial Chamber also found 

that Stojic knew that HVO forces destroyed Muslim property in January 19932540 and mosques in 

particular in April 1993,2541 which Stojic also knew occurred during the HVO's campaign in 

East Mostar.2542 Further, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic controlled all HVO snipers in West 

Mostar and knew about and accepted that they sniped civilians and members of international 

organisations in East Mostar.2543 It also found that he facilitated the hindering of access of 

humanitarian aid to East Mostar at times between June and December 1993.2544 The Trial Chamber 

found that Stojic had knowledge of the HVO crimes in East Mostar but nevertheless continued to 

exercise his functions in the HVO, which it took as him accepting those crimes.2545 The 

Appeals Chamber finds therefore that the Trial Chamber made the necessary findings relating to 

StojiC's knowledge about the expanded crimes, the fact that he did nothing to prevent their 

recurrence, and that he persisted in implementing the expanded JCE. 

808. With regard to Praljak, the Trial Chamber found that it had no evidence to "support a 

finding on Slobodan Praljak's role in the criminal events in the Municipality of Mostar between 

9 May and 24 July 1993,,?546 At the same time, the Trial Chamber found that he anived in Mostar 

on 11 May 19932547 and "participated in directing and planning the HVO operations in the 

Municipality of Mostar between July and early November 1993".2548 It then recalled, inter alia, the 

events in East Mostar, including that from early June 1993 it was subjected to intense sniping and 

shelling by the HVO, which resulted in many deaths and woundings and in the destruction of East 

Mostar mosques?549 The Trial Chamber then concluded that, insofar as Praljak was directing the 

HVO military operations which it found were "orchestrated by the HZ(R) H-B leadership" and 

were not random acts, he knew that "these crimes would be committed during the operations in 

2538 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. 
2539 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1198-1200. 
2540 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 336-337. 
2541 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 342. See Trial Judgement, 'yolo 4, para. 34l. 
2542 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 359. 
2543 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 368-370. 
2544 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. 
2545 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 363,370. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. See also infra, paras 1800-1804. 
2546 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 577 (emphasis added). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 576. 
2547 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 576, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 41519 (16 June 2009). Other findings made 
by the Trial Chamber confirm that Praljak WaS in and around Mostar during the relevant time-period, as he was found to 
have been present in the municipalities of Gomji Vakuf, Ljubuski, Prozor, Jablanica, and Mostar for long periods 
before 24 July 1993 and was found to have participated in a meeting in the village of Medugorje near Mostar on 18 
May 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 470, 526. 
2548 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58l. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579 ("Generally speaking, Slobodan Praljak 
played an important role in planning and directing the military operations in the Municipality of Mostar between 24 
July 1993 and 9 November 1993."). See also Trial Judgem,ent, Vol. 4, para. 580. 
2549 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 582-583. 
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Rastani and Mostar",z550 As a consequence, it inferred that Praljak "intended to have buildings in 

East Mostar destroyed, including mosques" as well as that he intended "to deliberately target 

civilians, to have murders, wounding, physical and psychological abuse and attacks on members of 

international organisations committed and, lastly, to have women and children removed".2551 In 

doing so, the Trial Chamber did not restrict its conclusion on Praljak's intent to post-24 July 1993. 

Instead, it held Praljak responsible under Counts 21, 24, and 25 for crimes committed in Mostar 

Municipality.2552 Further, it held that "[i]nsofar as Slobodan Praljak committed these crimes with 

the aim of furthering the [CCP]" he was responsible not only for the crimes explicitly set out by the 

Trial Chamber2553 but also for all other crimes forming part of the CCP. 2554 

809. On the basis of the above, the Trial Chamber considered that Praljak was responsible for the 

expanded crimes even before 24 July 1993, as made clear in its finding that all the Appellants 

intended to further the CCP, includints the expanded crimes,z555 The Appeals Chamber considers 

that a reasonable trier of fact could have made this inference despite not having evidence to 

"support a finding" on Praljak's role "in the criminal events" in Mostar between 9 May and 24 July 

1993,2556 particularly as: (1) the jurisprudence is clear that a member of a JCE need not contribute 

to an actus reus of each specific crime;2557 (2) the Trial Chamber found that in the period between 

autumn 1992 to 24 July 1993 Praljak had de facto command authority over the HVO and the 

Military Police, and was present in various municipalities, including in Mostar, between January 

and June 1993;2558 and (3) the Trial Chamber held that Praljak planned and directed HVO military 

operations in Mostar between July and November 1993.2559 The Appeals Chamber finds therefore 

that the Trial Chamber made the necessary findings relating to Praljak's knowledge about the 

expanded crimes, the fact that he did nothing to prevent their recurrence, and that he persisted in 

implementing the expanded JCE. Indeed, in its final analysis of Praljak's responsibility, having 

recalled its findings that Praljak was informed of HVO crimes through internal HVO channels, the 

Trial Chamber found "that the only reasonable inference it can draw from the fact that Slobodan 

Praljak participated in the planning of the HVO military operations" in, inter alia, Mostar "during 

2550 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586 (emphasis added). It is clear from the Trial Chamber's findings that "these 
crimes" included the shelling and the sniping of East Mostar starting already from early June 1993. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59, 582-584, 586 (referring to "the crimes described above", namely described in paragraphs 
582-584). 
2551 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
2552 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630. 
2553 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630. 
2554 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 631. . 
2555 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2556 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 577. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 576. 
2557 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 695-696 (holding that a contribution to the JCE need not be criminal per se and 
that the accused need not physically commit or participate in the actus reus of a perpetrated crime, but that it is 
sufficient that he perform acts that are in some way directed to the furthering of the JCE). 
2558 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 470,472-482. 
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the summer of 1993" and that "he continued to exercise control over the armed forces while 

knowing that its members were committing crimes in other municipalities in BiH, is that he 

intended to have these crimes committed".2560 As the Trial Chamber made findings on Praljak's 

knowledge and activities in the relevant period, its statement that it had no evidence to support a 

finding about his exact role in the "criminal events" in Mostar between 9 May and 24 July 1993 

does not undermine its conclusion. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's 

argument regarding the Trial Chamber's consideration of his role in Mostar prior to 24 July 

1993.2561 

810. As for Petkovie, the Trial Chamber found that he planned the shelling of East Mostar and 

knew that HVO forces were shelling and firing on the population of East Mostar "causing deaths, 

injuries and the destruction of property, including mosques".2562 The Trial Chamber found that he 

knew that members of international organisations were affected by the HVO shelling, and that the 

Muslim population of East Mostar lived in a state of terror.2563 It found, insofar as he ordered and 

contributed to planning this shelling, that Petkovie intended to have these crimes committed,z564 

Further, the Trial Chamber made findings that Petkovie was aware that HVO military operations 

before June 1993 involved the destruction of mosques.2565 The Trial Chamber also found that 

Petkovie had "the power to allow humanitarian convoys to pass through and reach East Mostar" and 

occasionally let them through, but that, when he failed to do so, he intended to hinder the 

humanitarian convoys.2566 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber made the 

necessary findings relating to PetkoviC's knowledge about the expanded crimes, the fact that he did 

nothing to prevent their recurrence, and that he persisted in implementing the expanded JCE,z567 

811. With regard to Corie, the Trial Chamber found that he had knowledge of the HVO 

campaign of fire, shelling, and sniping against the population of East Mostar and the crimes 

committed during that campaign,z568 It further found that, inasmuch as he lent support to the 

campaigns, Corie intended to facilitate the crimes directly linked to the HVO military operations 

against East Mostar, namely, "the murders and destruction of property, including mosques, 

resulting from the shelling".2569 Moreover, it found that, around January 1993, Corie knew that the 

2559 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 581. 
2560 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 

·2561 See also infra, paras 1982, 2003. 
2562 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 747, 750. 
2563 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
2564 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
2565 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 695,699,729-730. 
2566 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 755. 
2567 See also infra, paras 2226-2258, 2397-2402, 2406. 
2568 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 945. 
2569 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 945. 
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destruction of mosques formed part of the HVO military operations.257o The Trial Chamber also 

found that on 1 June 1993, in light of checkpoints he directed, Corie knew of the difficult 

humanitarian conditions that prevailed in East Mostar and nevertheless impeded the delivery of 

humanitarian aid, thereby contributing to the creation of unbearable living conditions for the 

Muslim population of East Mostar.2571 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 

Trial Chamber made the necessary findings relating to CoriC's awareness of the expanded crimes, 

the fact that he did nothing to prevent their recurrence, and that he persisted in implementing the 

expansion of the common design.2572 

812. Lastly, with regard to Pusie, the Trial Chamber found that he knew that the HVO was 

"intensively. and continuously shelling East Mostar",2573 and that it was being sUbjected to 

,"continuous shooting and shelling as part of a siege between June 1993 and April 1994".2574 It 

further found that he knew that this was causing destruction to buildings dedi'cated to religion and 

deaths . among the population, and knew about the difficulties international organisations were 

having in gaining access to East Mostar, as well as the extremely harsh conditions the population 

was living in.2575 The Trial Chamber found that Pusie worsened the living conditions in East Mostar 

by obstructing humanitarian evacuations.2576 As a result, the Trial Chamber found that Pusie 

accepted the expanded crimes in East Mostar.2577 Referring later to his knowledge of the living 

conditions in East Mostar caused by the HVO siege, the Trial Chamber concluded that the only 

reasonable inference was that Pusie intended the siege-related crimes.2578 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds that the Trial Chamber made the necessary findings relating to PusiC's knowledge of 

the expanded crimes, the fact that he did nothing to prevent their recurrence, and that he persisted in 

implementing the expanded JCE.2579 

813. In light of the findings above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's and Praljak's 

arguments that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to make findings on when leading 

members of the JCE were informed of the expanded crimes or whether they did anything to prevent 

their recurrence.2580 With regard to StojiC's argument that it failed to find when leading JCE 

2570 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 923. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 919-922. 
2571 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 940, 944-945. . 
2572 See also infra, paras 2566-2569, 2580-2581. 
2573 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1120. 
2574 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
2575 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
2576 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
2577 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2578 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1206. 
2579 See also infra, paras 2748-2753,2800-2802,2806. 
2580 In reaching this conclusion, the Appeals Chamber has relied on sections of the Trial Judgement discussing the 
Appellants' responsibility. The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to substantiate his claim that one cannot do 
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members "went from being merely aware of the crime to intending it",2581 the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the Trial Chamber found that when the JCE members became aware of the expanded 

crimes, and did not take any measures to prevent their recurrence but contributed to them and 

persisted in implementing the common objective, they thereby came to intend those expanded 

crimes.2582 Stojic fails to demonstrate an error in this approach.2583 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses StojiC's argument. 

814. Reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber sufficiently understood and explained Counts 21 (in part), 24, and 25 as consisting 

of the crimes that were added as part of the expanded JCE, hence distinguishing them from the 

remaining crimes that the Trial Chamber found were part of "the CCP from the beginning. Given 

that the Trial Chamber identified explicitly that the expanded crimes became part of the CCP in 

June 1993, with the siege of East Mostar,2584 and came to that conclusion based on the findings it 

made in relation to each individual Appellant as set out above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 

Trial Chamber described with sufficient precision when and under what circumstances the scope of 

the CCP broadened. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic and Praljak have not demonstrated 

that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to define which crimes were part of the original JCE and 

which were part of the expanded JCE.2585 Consequently, it dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 7 as 

well as StojiC's grounds of appeal 11 and 12. 

(b) Stojic's appeal (Ground 4 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

815. Referring to several Tribunal trial judgements, Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred 

in law in failing to consider whether each individual crime in each municipality and each detention 

centre had the objective of furthering the CCP.2586 Specifically, he submits that the Trial Chamber 

erred in: (1) omitting to analyse whether crimes in Gornji Vakuf, Prozor, Mostar, Capljina, and 

Stolac, as well as at the Heliodrom and Ljubuski, Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons, were part of the 

so. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 106. In light of its conclusion, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses StojiC's claim 
that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and failed to provide a "reasoned decision". See supra, fn. 2491. 
2581 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 107. 
2582 See supra, paras 806-812; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68 (where the Trial Chamber found that all the 
Appellants intended the crimes that were part of the CCP, including the expanded crimes). See also infra, paras 1800-
1804. 
2583 Cf Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 171-172. 
2584 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 59. 
2585 See also infra, paras 874-886. 
2586 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 50, referring to Tolimir Trial Judgement, paras 1021-1024, 1028-1030, Kuprdkic et ai. 
Trial Judgement, paras 163-164, 336-338, Boskoski and Tarcuiovski Trial Judgement, para. 572. See also StojiC's 
Appeal Brief, heading before para. 48, paras 48-49; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 23; Appeal Hearing, AT. 276 (21 Mar 
2017). 
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CCP;2587 (2) failing to address the crimes at Vojno Detention Centre in its CCP assessment;2588 

(3) "expressly declin[ing]" to determine the underlying purpose of HVO actions in Jablanica;2589 

and (4) wrongly including the Stupni Do attack in Vares Municipality in its analysis having found 

that it was not ordered by'''HVO leaders".259o 

816. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber exhaustively analysed the crimes 

elsewhere in the Trial Judgement.2591 In particular, it asserts that the Trial Chamber: (1) examined' 

the HVO actions in Jablanica and concluded that these events were part of the CCP;2592 (2) found 

that Vojno Detention Centre was "within the network of detention centres used to implement" the 

CCP, thus making it unnecessary to mention the crimes that took place there in its CCP 

assessment;2593 and (3) reasonably found that the crimes in Stupni Do were committed pursuant to 

the CCP. 2594 

(ii) Analysis 

817. With respect to StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to assess whether each 

individual crime in each municipality and each detention centre formed part of the CCP, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that JCE liability requires proof of a common purpose "which amounts to 

or involves the commission of a crime".2595 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber found that the CCP - a common criminal plan to ethnically cleanse the provinces 

considered Croatian - came into being in mid-January 1993, and was implemented through various 

crimes that took place in a number of different municipalities and detention centres.2596 The 

2587 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 51, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 80-91, 343-488, 758-1377, 1379-1663, 
1787-1878,1879-2034,2035-2191, Vol. 3, paras 1-274, Vol. 4, paras 45, 47, 56-59. 
2588 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 52, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41-68. 
2589 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 52, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 526. 
2590 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 52, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. See also Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 
58. . 
2591 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 33, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1-2191, Vol. 3, paras 1-
1741. 
2592 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 538-543, Vol. 4, paras 
146,341, 714, 717. 
2593 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 890. The Prosecution 
submits that for instance, Heliodrom detainees were transported to Vojno Detention Centre, held in very harsh 
conditions, mistreated, and even murdered while performing forced labour, and that some detainees agreed to leave for 
ABiH-controlled territories or other countries. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1650, 1654-1655, 1662, 1694-1700, 1703-1709, 1721, 1723-1724, 1726, 1731, 1740, 1749, 
1757, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
2594 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 492, 503, 507, 699-700, 
752-753, 1294-1295, 1396-1397, 1498-1499, 1554-1556, 1596-1599, 1740-1741, Vol. 4, paras 61-63, 65-66, 68, 202, 
594,596-597,621,623,626,765,767, 772, 775-777,805,815-816, 1220. The Prosecution does not expressly respond 
to StojiC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's approach to the crimes in Gornji Vakuf, Prozor, Mostar, Capljina, and 
Stolac, as well as at the Heliodrom and Ljubuski, Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons. See Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 33. 
2595 Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227 (ii). See also Sainovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 611; Stakic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 64; Brdanill Appeal Judgement, paras 364, 418; supra, para. 790. 
2596 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-65. See supra, paras 789-790. 
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Trial Chamber found that the CCP came into being in mid-January 1993 based on a number of 

factors, including the presentation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 2 January 1993, and the 

ultimatum adopted by the HVO HZ-HB envisaging the subordination of the ABiH to the HVO ("the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum,,).2597 The Trial Chamber's factual findings regarding the crimes in 

Gornji Vakuf, Prozor, Mostar, Capljina, and Stolac, as well as at the Heliodrom and Ljubuski, 

Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons, were .then expressly referenced or cross-referenced by the 

Trial Chamber in its CCP analysis, including by finding that the JCE was carried out in stages,z598 

Further, in the same section of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber made clear that it considered 

that these events, among others, formed part of the CCP because they "tended to follow a clear 

pattern of conduct".2599 

818. Regarding the crimes at Vojno Detention Centre, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber did not expressly refer to these crimes in its analysis of the CCP,Z600 However, the 

Trial Chamber made clear that the entire CCP analysis was underpinned by factual findings 

regarding, inter alia, the detention centres,2601 and found that the overall system of detention centres 

formed an integral part of the system for deporting the Muslim population of the HR H_B.2602 The 

Appeals Chamber also recalls that the Trial Judgement must be read as a whole,2603 and observes 

that the Trial Chamber's analysis of PrliC's, Petko viC' s, and PusiC's criminal responsibility made 

clear that the crimes at Vojno Detention Centre fell within the CCP.2604 The Appeals Chamber finds 

that Stojic has failed to demonstrate an error with regard to the Trial Chamber's approach to these 

crimes. This submission is rejected. 

819. Regarding StojiC's assertion that the Trial Chamber erred in "expressly declin[ing]" to 

determine the underlying purpose of HVO actions in Jablanica, the Appeals Chamber observes that 

the Trial Chamber concluded that it was unable to determine the underlying reason for the clashes 

between the HVO and ABiH in Jablanica Municipality.2605 The Trial Chamber, however, concluded 

that the events in Jablanica fell within the CCP because the crimes that were committed there 

2597 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445, 451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44, 125. See also infra, paras 852-853. 
2598 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45, 47-48, 57, 59, 61, 64 & fns 124 (referring to Gornji Vakuf), 126 (referring to 
findings on Prozor), 127-128 (referring to Jablanica and Gornji Vakuf), 154-157 (referring to Prozor, Capljina, Stolac, 
the Heliodrom, and Ljubuski and Gabela Prisons), 165-167 (referring to Mostar), 169-172 (referring to Vares), 175-177 
(referring to Mostar, the Heliodrom, and Ljubuski, Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons). 
2599 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-64. 
2600 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1664-1716. 
2601 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2602 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66, 68,1298. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 890. 
2603 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. See also 
Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
2604 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 236-239, 274, 797-798, 1186-1187, 1203. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
~aras 240,287-288, 1215. 

605 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 526 ("Whatever the underlying reasons may have been, clashes between the HVO 
and the ABiH did break out on 13-14 April 1993 in Jablanica Municipality."). 
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formed part of "a clear pattern of conduct,,.2606 The explanation for the clashes between the HVO 

and ABiH thus forms background context, and has no direct bearing on this conclusion. Stojic fails 

to explain how this omission has an impact on his conviction. This argument is dismissed. 

820. As regards StojiC's challenge to the findings on the attack at Stupni Do on 23 October 1993, 

the Appeals Chamber observes that although the Trial Chamber found that the HVO leaders did not 

order the attack, it still found that the crimes committed there fell within the CCP because they 

formed part of the said pattern of conduct and because of the HVO leaders' attempts to conceal 

them.2607 In that respect, the Trial Chamber focused on two leaders specifically, namely Praljak and 

Petkovic, and their involvement in concealment of Stupni Do crimes.2608 Further, the Trial Chamber 

found that both Praljak and Petkovic participated in planning and directing the HVO operations in 

Vares Municipality in October 1993?609 Similarly, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic facilitated 

the HVO military operations in Vares Municipality.2610 The Appeals Chamber discerns no issue 
. . 

, with this approach and notes that the absence of an order by HVO leaders to attack Stupni Do does 

not necessarily result in a conclusion that the crimes that took place during the attack were not part 

of the CCP, so long as there are other factors that can be used to lead to that conclusion, such as the 

pattern of crimes. In that regard, the Appeals Chamber notes the reversal of some of the Vares­

Municipality-related findings concerning Petkovic and Praljak, namely that Petkovic contributed to 

the commission of crimes in Vares town and Stupni DO,2611 and that Praljak facilitated the crimes in 

Stupni Do by contributing to their concealment and by planning and directing the operations in 

Vares Municipality.2612 However, a number of the Trial Chamber's other findings concerning the 

events in Vares Municipality remain undisturbed; including that: (1) Praljak planned and directed 

the HVO operations in Vares Municipality; (2) Petkovic contributed to concealment of the Stupni 

Do crimes; (3) Stojic facilitated the HVO military operations in Vares Municipality; (4) Stojic, 

Petkovic, and Praljak were all informed of Stupni Do crimes soon after they happened; and (5) 

Stojic and Petko vic accepted these crimes.2613 Further, all three were found to have intended the 

type of crimes that took place in Stupni Do months before the Stupni Do attack and, additionally, 

continued to participate in the JCE following that attack.2614 The Appeals Chamber considers that 

these undisturbed findings provide a sufficient link between the JCE members and the crimes that 

2606 T . 1 J 5 na udgement, Vol. 4, paras 46, 48, 6 . 
2607 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-62, 65. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 484-486, 492. 
2608 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
2609 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 591-594, 597, 767. 
2610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380, 383. 
2611 See infra, paras 2275-2280. 
2612 See infra, paras 2059-2062. 
2613 See infra, paras 1698,1701-1703,1707,1709-1711,2028,2042-2047, 2050-2054, 2283-2284, 2289-2294. 
2614 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68,1225, 1227-1228. 
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took place in Stupni DO.2615 As a result, and recalling again that the Trial Chamber considered that 

Stupni Do crimes were part of a clear pattern of conduct, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has 

failed to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Stupni Do events fell within 

the CCP. 

821. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Stojic has not shown that the 

Trial Chamber erred in failing to specifically address whether each individual crime had the 

objective of furthering the CCP. StojiC's ground of appeal 4 is dismissed in relevant part. 

(c) Praljak's appeal (Ground 49) 

822. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion for its 

conclusions on crimes charged under JCE I and his responsibility for those crimes, thereby denying 

him his right to an effective appea1.2616 Specifically, Praljak claims a lack of reasoned opinion as 

regards: (1) his conviction under JCE I for murders in Mostar which the Trial Chamber held not to 

form part of the CCP;2617 (2) the variation in crimes included in the CCP as between different 

municipalities;2618 and (3) whether he was found guilty of crimes committed in Jablanica, Stolac, 

Ljubuski, and Capljina.2619 

823. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber clearly established the scope of Praljak's 

convictions, with sufficient reasoning, thereby allowing him to exercise his right of appea1.2620 With 

regard to Mostar, the Prosecution contends that Praljak was convicted under JCE I for murders 

2615 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls that for JCE I liability "it is sufficient for the participant to perform acts 
that in some way are directed to the furthering" of the common plan or purpose. Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 229. 
See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1378, 1653; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1445; Krajisnik 
Appeal Judgement, para. 695 ("It is sufficient that the accused 'perform acts that in some way are directed to the 
furthering' of the JCE in the sense that he significantly contributes to the commission of the crimes involved in the 
JCE"). See also Karemera and Ngirul11patse Appeal Judgement, paras 109 ("the Trial Chamber was not required to find 
that he personally contributed to each criminal act, but rather that he made a significant contribution to the common 
purpose and that each of the criminal acts for which he was held responsible formed part of that purpose"), 153. 
2616 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 539-540, 543-544; Praljak's Reply Brief, paras 112-113. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 
383 (22 Mar 2017). 
2617 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 541. 
2618 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 541. . 
2619 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para: 542. Praljakalso claims under this ground of appeal that the Trial Chamber failed to 
provide a reasoned opinion in relation to the scope of the CCP and its expansion and when concluding that crimes 
committed in Gornji Vakuf Municipality fell within the CCP. Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 540, 542. However, these 
arguments are premised on his submissions in other grounds of appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses 
elsewhere. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 540 & fns 1238-1239 (referring to, inter alia, sub-grounds of appeal 7.1-
7.2, 39.2), para. 542. See also supra, para. 814; infra, paras 867, 1921. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber will not 
consider them here. 
2620 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 272-274, 276. 
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other than those which the Trial Chamber considered not to form part of the CCP. 2621 The 

Prosecution argues that Praljak's other arguments warrant summary dismissa1.2622 

824. With regard to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned 

opinion in relation to how the crimes included in the CCP could vary between different 

municipalities, the Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak does not explain why a criminal plan 

perpetrated across a wide geographical area would have to be exactly .consistent in the crimes 

committed in different locations. With regard to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

provide a reasoned opinion in relation to his conviction under JCE I for murders in Mostar which it 

held not to form part of the CCP, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that 

certain murders committed during the HVO's detention and eviction operations were not part of the 

CCP.2623 However, the Trial Chamber also found that murders committed "during attacks", 

including during the HVO attackS on East Mostar and during the HVO attack on the village of 

Rastani in Mostar, fOlmed part of the CCP.2624 Praljak was accordingly convicted of those specific 

murders rather than murders that did not form part of the CCP. He misrepresents the Trial 

Chamber's findings and his argument is therefore dismissed. Finally, Praljak's argument that the 

Trial Chamber failed to make clear findings as regards his responsibility for the crimes committed 

in Jablanica, Stolac, Ljubuski, and Capljina misrepresents the Trial Judgement. Although the Trial 

Chamber found that Praljak had not personally contributed to the crimes in these municipalities,2625 . 

it found that these crimes fomled part of the CCP,2626 and that Praljak, as a JCE member, was 

responsible for these crimes.2627 The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber violated his right to a reasoned opinion, and dismisses his ground of appeal 49. 

Cd) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.1.3) 

825. Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber was required to establish through a reasoned opinion 

that each underlying crime charged was a consequence of the implementation of the JCE.2628 In the 

2621 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 275. 
2622 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 274. The Prosecution does not specifically address Praljak's 
submission regarding Jablanica, Stolac, Ljubuski, and Capljina. 
2623 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 70, 72. . 
2624 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59,66. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 948-963. 
2625 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630. 
2626 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 48, 57. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 63. 
2627 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 631. 
2628 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 34, referring to Zigiranyirazo Trial Judgement, para. 418, Limaj et al. Trial 
Judgement, para. 669, Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 99. Petkovic argues in particular that jurisprudence 
demands tPis step in order to exclude the possibilities that: (1) crimes might have occurred in the absence of a specific 
plan, or independently thereof; or (2) the perpetrators' relationship to the JCE members was too tenuous. PetkoviC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 34. 
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present case, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred in assuming that the crimes were the result of 

the implementation of the CCP .z629 

826. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not assume that the crimes were part of 

the CCP, but engaged in a detailed analysis of the pattern of the crimes committed in various 
.. 1" 2630 mumclpa ltIes. 

827. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber was required to provide clear findings 

as to the scope of the JCE,2631 and further recalls its finding that the Trial Chamber complied with 

this test in the present case.2632 Moreover, Petkovic merely claims that the Trial Chamber 

unreasonably assumed that the crimes occurred as a result of the implementation of the CCP, 

without supporting the argument with any evidence. The Appeals Chamber finds that Petko vic fails 

to show an error in the inference the Trial Chamber drew, and thus dismisses his sub-ground of 

appeal 3.2.1.3. 

4. Alleged errors as regards the constituent events of the CCP 

(a) Introduction 

828. While noting that the Prosecution alleged the existence of several JCEs set up at various 

times and under various forms, the Trial Chamber found that there was only one, single CCP, 

namely "domination by the HR H-B Croats through ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population.,,2633 

The Trial Chamber also found that already as of December 1991, leaders of HZ(R) H-B and leaders 

of Croatia, including Tudman, believed that in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, it 

was necessary to change the ethnic make-up of the territories claimed to form part of the HZ 

H_B.2634 Additionally, it found that from no later than October 1992, Prlic, Stojic, Praljak, and 

Petkovic knew that the implementation of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE ran counter to the peace 

negotiations being conducted in Geneva and would involve the Muslim population moving outside 

the territory of the HZ H_B.2635 The Trial Chamber found that the JCE came into being in 

mid-January 1993, and was carried out in stages.2636 In particular, it referenced and cross-referenced 

2629 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 35-36. Petkovic submits in particular that the Trial Chamber's decision was based on 
unproven factual presumptions, namely that: (1) all crimes were the consequence of a plan and had no other cause; (2) 
the underlying crimes were the consequence of that particular plan and no other; (3) the plan was implemented in each 
and every location where the crimes were allegedly committed; and (4) all of the Appellants partook in and shared that 
common plan. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 36. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 12. 
2630 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 33. 
2631 See Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 161-178. See also supra, para. 817. 
2632 See also supra, paras 817-821, 824. 
2633 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
2634 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2635 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2636 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45. 
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its findings that the HVO committed crimes: (1) in Gornji VakufMunicipality between January and 

April 1993;2637 (2) in Jablanica Municipality in April 1993;2638 (3) in Prozor Municipality in 

April 1993;2639 (4) in Mostar Municipality between April 1993 and Apri11994;264o (5) following the 

ABiH attack on the Tihomir Misic Barracks on 30 June 1993;2641 and (6) in Vares Municipality in 

October 1993.2642 

(b) Alleged errors regarding the findings concerning the pre-CCP period 

(i) PrliC's appeal (Sub-ground 10.1) 

829. Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the CCP existed?643 He submits 

that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on "selective evidence" in concluding that the HZ(R) H-B 

leaders sought to change the ethnic make-up of the territories, and that Prlic knew that the 

implementation of the plan ran counter to the peace negotiations being conducted in Geneva.2644 

830. The Prosecution responds that Prlic makes mere assertions unsupported by evidence2645 with 

"redundant and unexplained cross-references to arguments" made elsewhere in his appeal briet.2646 

The Prosecution submits that these arguments do not warrant detailed consideration and thus should 

be summadly dismissed.2647 

831. The Appeals Chamber notes that in asserting that the Tdal Chamber erred in relying on 

"selective evidence", Prlic simply references a single paragraph of the Trial Judgement, without 

explaining how the Trial Chamber erred. The Appeals Chamber also observes that Prlic merely 

makes reference, without explaining their relevance, to a number of his sub-grounds of appeal 

2637 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45, 48 & fns 124, 127. 
2638 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46, 48. 
2639 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4; para. 47. 
2640 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 49,51,53,56-59. 
2641 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57,64. 
2642 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-63. 
2643 PdiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
2644PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 282, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. Pdic also adopts by reference his sub­
grounds of appeall.1, 1.3, 9.6, 9.7, 16.1, 16.2, and 16.3. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 283. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 141-142, 159-162, 169 (20 Mar 2017) (where he argues, inter alia, that the CCP did not exist and that the Croat 
plans about division of territory were based on various international peace plans which in turn never called for ethnic 
cleansing). 
2645 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 166, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 20(ix), Galic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 246. 
2646 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 166-167. 
2647 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 166. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 163-165. The 
Prosecution further submits that the evidence and the pattern of events in BiH clearly show that the goal was to change 
the ethnic composition of Herceg-Bosna through crimes and that this was ultimately achieved. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 
180, 190-192 (20 Mar 2017). 
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which it considers and dismisses elsewhere,z648 The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects Pdic's 

sub-ground of appeal 10.1.2649 

(ii) Praljak's appeal (Sub-ground 5.4 in part) 

832. Praljak challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusion that as of December 1991, HZ(R) H-B 

leaders and Croatian leaders believed that in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE, it 

was necessary to change the ethnic make-up of the territories claimed to form part of HZ(R) H-B. 

Praljak submits that this finding contradicts other findings in which the Trial Chamber considered 

that "the possible aim" of the. plan was to establish an autonomous Croatian entity in BiH.2650 

Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber confused the CCP with political aims when concluding 

that the ICE was established to accomplish the political purpose of establishing an autonomous 

Croatian entity in BiH, as this purpose was legitimate and not crimina1.2651 In addition, he contends 

that the Trial Chamber "recognized that Tudman was solely led by" Croatia, which indicates that 

Tudman was concemed about Croatia's interests.2652 

833. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's semantic argument about contradiction between a 

Croatian entity in BiH and partition disregards the findings on partition discussions between the 

Croats and Serbs,z653 The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber did not confuse the CCP 

and the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE, but rather identified a single common criminal purpose, 

namely, to establish, by criminal means, a Croatian entity in BiH reconstituting at least in part the 

Banovina borders.2654 It further asserts that Praljak selectively cites passages from the 

2648 See supra, paras 170-176,697-699, 722-727. See also infra, paras 1146-1221. 
2649 With respect to PrliC's argument that the plans for division of territory did not call for ethnic cleansing as they were 
based on various international peace plans, the Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic made the same argument in his Final 
Brief. See PrliC's Final Brief, paras 239-262. This argument was rejected by the Trial Chamber. Prlic now repeats his 
arguments using his own interpretation of the evidence without showing that no reasonable trier of fact could have 
interpreted this evidence as the Trial Chamber did. For that reason, PrliC's argument regarding ethnic cleansing is also 
dismissed. 
2650 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 93, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 71 (Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1-
5.2), Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 10,24,43. Praljak also takes issue with the Trial Chamber's finding that the CCP 
was established in January 1993, arguing that: (1) any idea Tudman had ever had to divide BiB vanished in early 1992 
with the proclamation of BiH's independence; and (2) following the proclamation, Tudman reiterated that the Croatian 
people's future was within BiH. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 94, referring to, inter alia, Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 
73-75,79-80,82-85 (Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 5.1-5.2). 
2651 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 95, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44; Appeal Hearing, AT. 382 (22 Mar 
2017). 
2652 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 96, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
2653 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 40. 
2654 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 33. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 41. 
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Trial Judgement out of context and fails to read the Trial Judgement as a whole, thus ignoring the 

detailed JCE analysis.2655 

834. Praljak replies that contrary to the Prosecution's assertion, the Trial Chamber did not 

establish a single common criminal purpose.2656 

835. To the extent that Praljak argues that there is a contradiction between the findings on the 

CCP and those on the Ultimate Purpose of the ICE, the Appeals Chamber notes that he refers to 

submissions in his sub-grounds of appeal 5.1 and 5.2, which are dismissed elsewhere.2657 In any 

event, the Appeals Chamber observes that, contrary to Praljak's contention that the political aim 

was to establish an autonomous Croatian province in BiH, the Trial Chamber concluded that the 

Ultimate Purpose of the JCE was to set up a Croatian entity that reconstituted, at least in part, the 

Banovina borders and facilitated the reunification of the Croatian people and that such entity was 

either supposed to be joined to Croatia directly ()r to be an independent state within BiH with close 

ties to Croatia.2658 

836. Praljak's claim that the Trial Chamber confused the CCP with legitimate political aims also 

has no merit as the Trial Chamber consistently identified the CCP as the ethnic cleansing of the 

Muslim population in pursuit of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE?659 Given that the Trial Chamber 

found that the ethnic cleansing was to be achieved through a number of different crimes, it clearly 

distinguished between the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE - the tenitorial political aspirations of the 

JCE members - and the criminal means by which it was implemented.266o Praljak's argument is 

therefore dismissed. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that when claiming that the Trial 

Chamber recognised that Tudman was solely led by Croatia and he was mainly concerned about 

Croatia's interests, Praljak mischaracterises the relevant finding, namely that Tudman was 

"advocating the existence and the legitimacy of the BiH Croatian people in order to protect the 

borders of Croatia,,?661 Praljak fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's findings concerning 

the CCP. Therefore, this contention is dismissed. 

2655 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 34. The Prosecution also argues that Praljak repeats trial argu~ents. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 40, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement Vol. 4, paras 432-433, 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 94. 
2656 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 20. 
2657 See supra, paras 602-607. 
2658 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 24. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 10, 16. 
2659 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44, 1232. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65 (referring to modification of 
the ethnic composition of the Croatian provinces). 
2660 See supra, para. 789. 
2661 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15. 
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837. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate any error in the 

impugned Trial Chamber's findings and dismisses Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 5.4 in relevant 

part. 

(iii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.1.2 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

838. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that "'ethnic cleansing' was 

[a] necessary implication of the establishment of a Croatian entity in BiH" and failed to give a 

reasoned opinion about this inference, or to refer to relevant evidence.2662 In this regard, he argues 

that the international community envisaged BiH not as a unitary state, but as one composed of 

territorial units based on criteria of nationality.2663 Petkovic also challenges the evidence 

underpinning the finding that JCE members believed that in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose 

of the JCE it was necessary to change the ethnic make-up of the territories claimed to form HZ(R) 

H_B.2664 In particular, he argues that neither of the two documents relied on by the Trial Chamber­

Exhibits P00089 and P00021 - supports this finding.2665 

839. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably determined that Petkovic and 

the other JCE members intended to ethnically cleanse the Muslim population in order to achieve the 

Ultimate Purpose of the JCE.2666 It submits that the Trial Chamber did not rely solely on Exhibits 

P00089 and P00021, but on numerous well-supported findings, and argues that Exhibits P00089 and 

P00021 in any event provided further support for the Trial Chamber's conclusion.2661 

b. Analysis 

840. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber considers that PetkoviC's argument regarding the 

intentions of the international community for BiH is a mere assertion unsupported by evidence, and 

2662 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 30 (emphasis in original), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 32-33; Appeal Hearing, AT. 493 (23 Mar 2017). Petkovic raises this argument in the 
alternative to his submission that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a clear definition of the term "ethnic cleansing". 
See PetkoviC'sAppeal Brief, paras 28-29; supra, paras 787-790. 
2663 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 30. 
2664 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 31, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
2665 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 31, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43 & fn. 120; Appeal Hearing, AT. 
493 (23 Mar 2017). 
2666 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 25. 
2667 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 25-26, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 11-12, 18-19,43, 
45-66. In particular, the Prosecution refers to the findings that: (1) JCE members such as Pdic and Boban made 
statements that Muslims had to be removed from the HZ(R) H-B; (2) on 26 October 1992, Praljak made a statement that 
"it is in our interest that the Muslims get their own canton so they have somewhere to move to"; (3) Petkovic and others 
made efforts to divide BiH between the Croats and Serbs, leaving little or no space for Muslims; and (4) widespread 
ethnic cleansing by the HVO forces occurred throughout the HZ(R) H-B during the JCE time period, following a clear 
pattern. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16-18; Appeal Hearing, AT. 660 (24 Mar 2017). 
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dismisses this argument. The remainder of PetkoviC's challenges relate to the exhibits cited by the 

Trial Chamber as support for the conclusion that as of December 1991 the leaders of the HZ(R) 

H-B, including Boban, and leaders of Croatia, including Tudman, believed that changing the ethnic 

make-up of the provinces was necessary in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE,2668 

namely Exhibits P00089 and P00021. 

841. Exhibit P00089 is the Presidential Transcript of 27 December 1991, with the referenced 

pages containing part of a speech by Tudman, in which the establishment of a purely Croatian 

community "inside the widest possible borders" is discussed.2669 The Appeals Chamber notes that in 

the course of this discussion, Boban refers to "cleansing border areas".2670 However, the relevant 

parts of the Presidential Transcripts do not, as a whole, reflect a clear consensus regarding a 

political purpose that would have ethnic cleansing as its logical corollary.2671 Turning to 

Exhibit P00021, a 1991 book by Ante Valenta, entitled "Dividing Bosnia and Struggling for Its 

Integrity", the Appeals Chamber notes that the book discusses the relocation of Muslims to central 

BiH.2672 The Appeals Chamber also notes, however, that although Valenta occupied the position of 

HZ(R) H-B Vice-President in 1993,2673 his book does not support the broader proposition that JCE 

members held this belief in December 1991. 

842. The Appeals Chamber considers, however, that these ambiguities have no impact on the 

Trial Chamber's conclusions. The Ttial Chamber made a number of findings elsewhere 

demonstrating that the HZ(R) H-B leaders and Tudman acquired the intention to change the ethnic 

make-up of the territories claimed to form part of the HZ(R) H-B - namely to ethnically cleanse the 

Muslims from the territory claimed as Croatian - before the JCE came into being in 

mid-January 1993.2674 These are not challenged by Petkovic in this sub-ground of appea1.2675 In any 

2668 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43, referring to Exs. P00021, P00089, pp. 34-35. The Appeals Chamber notes that 
while it could appear from footnote 120 of Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber relied on pages 18-
24 of Exhibit P00021 for this finding, page numbers 18-24 do not correspond fully to the two pages of the book that 
were admitted during trial under Exhibit P00021, namely pages 43 and 66 of the BCS version of the exhibit. See Philip 
Roger Watkins, T. 18803-18804; Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlic et al., Case No. 1T-04-74-T, Order to Admit Evidence 
Regarding Witness Philip Watkins, 30 August 2007. The Appeals Chamber notes that only page 23 of the English 
version corresponds to page 66 of the BCS version. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the reference to pp. 
18-24 is a typographical error. 
2669 Ex. P00089, pp. 34-35. The Appeals Chamber notes that there appear to be two translations of Exhibit P00089 on 
the judicial record and considers that the Trial Chamber's finding relates to the most recently added translation, ET 
0085-0386-0085-0510. 
267°E P x. 00089, p. 35. 
2671 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 12 ("The Chamber notes that Franjo Tudman spoke equivocally, advocating, on 
the one hand, respect for the existing borders of BiH, knowing that the international community was opposed to 
dividing BiH, and, on the other, the partition of BiH between the Croats and the Serbs"), referring to, inter alia, Ex. 
P00089, pp. 29-30. 
2672 See Ex. P00021, p. 40; Ex. 1D01538, pp. 42-43. 
2673 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 524 & fn. 1281. 
2674 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-24, 44, 1232. 
2675 See infra, paras 868-873. 
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event, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber expressly found that the CCP came 

into existence only by mid-January 1993, because the evidence was insufficient to reach a finding 

as to its existence at an earlier stage.2676 The Appeals Chamber considers therefore that Petkovic 

fails to demonstrate that ambiguities in. the evidential basis proffered by the Trial Chamber would 

have any impact on his conviction. 

843. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Petkovic has not demonstrated that the 

Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion or failed to refer to relevant evidence when 

finding that ethnic cleansing was necessary in order to achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. His 

sub-ground of appeal 3.2.1.2 is dismissed in relevant part. 

(c) Alleged errors in the findings that the JCE commenced in mid-January 1993 and that Muslim 

civilians were removed from villages in Gornji Vakuf Municipality 

844. The Trial Chamber concluded that the JCE began to be implemented in January 1993 when, 

as the HZ H-B leaders were participating in peace talks, the HVO conducted military campaigns in 

the provinces it considered Croatian in order to consolidate its presence.2677 In particular, the 

Trial Chamber found that on 18 January 1993, the HVO launched an attack on the town of 

Gornji Vakuf and the villages of Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and Zdrimci III Gornji Vakuf 

Municipality,2678 and removed members of the Muslim population.2679 

(i) PrliC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.2, 10.3, and 10.4 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

845. Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the CCP came into being in 

January 1993.2680 He submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying "solely" on the unsubstantiated 

evidence of international witnesses, whose lack of credibility the Trial Chamber overlooked,2681 

while ignoring other relevant evidence.2682 Further, pointing to the evidence of Prosecution Witness 

Cedric Thornberry, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber overlooked that the evidence from the 

international witnesses was based on "unsubstantiated perceptions",z683 Prlic also alleges errors in 

the finding that the HZ H-B leaders carried out the JCE in stages, and more specifically that the 

2676 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2678 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 343-388,396-468, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2679 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 48. 
2680 PdiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 284, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 452-464, Vol. 2, paras 330-342, 503-506, 
514,521, Vol. 4; para. 44. 
2681 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 284, referring to Christopher Beese, T. 5328-5332 (private session) (22 Aug 2006), Ex. 
P02787. 
2682 PdiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 284. 
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HVO launched an attack in Gornji Vakuf on 18 January 1993, shelled villages, took control over 

them, and conducted military campaigns in the provinces considered as Croatian.2684 

846. The Prosecution responds that Prlic's challenges should be summarily dismissed as 

misrepresenting factual findings or evidence.2685 Specifically, the Prosecution subinits that:' (1) the 

Trial Chamber relied on evidence other than that of international witnesses,2686 and Prlic does not 

support his argument that these witnesses lacked credibility and their evidence was 

unsubstantiated;2687 and (2) Prlic does not identify evidence that the Trial Chamber ignored.2688 In 

relation to Prlic's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding on the implementation of the JCE in 

stages, the Prosecution argues that he makes "'mere assertions unsupported by any evidence' 

coupled with redundant and unexplained cross-references", warranting summary dismissal. 2689 

b. Analysis 

847. In respect of PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in relying solely on the 

uncorroborated evidence of international witnesses, the Appeals Chamber notes that contrary to his 

submission, the Trial Chamber's conclusion regarding the formation of the JCE was based not only 

on the evidence of international witnesses, but on findings made elsewhere in the 

Trial Judgement,2690 which were in turn based on a range of evidence. 2691 Prlic fails to explain why 

the conclusion should not stand on the basis of these other findings. In addition, as for his argument 

regarding the lack of credibility of international witnesses, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber 

"overlooked" the testimony of Witness Christopher Beese, in which Beese confirmed that the 

ECMM reports prepared by international witnesses were criticised by Lord David Owen for lacking 

2683 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 284, referring to Ex. PlO041, para. 42 (witness statement of Witness Cedric Thornberry). 
2684PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 286(a)-(c), 287(a) (referring to sub-ground of appeal 16.1). The Appeals Chamber notes 
that Pdic also cross-references his sub-ground of appeal 16.2. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 288. 
2685 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 168, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 20(i). 
2686 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 169, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1; paras 452-464, Vol. 2, paras 
330-342,503-506,514,521, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2687 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 170. 
2688 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 172. 
2689 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 166, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 20(ix), Galic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 246. 
2690 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 442-451 ("Negotiations 
within the Framework of the Vance-Owen Plan (August 1992-January 1993)"), 452-476 ("Subsequent History of the 
Vance-Owen Plan; Attempts to Implement the Principles of this Plan in the Field (January 1993-August 1993)"). 
2691 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 443 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1D00288, 1D00289, p. 2, lD02664, pp. 13-16, 
lD02848, p. 2, lD02849, p. 1, lD0285 0, lD02851, 4D00830), 445 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. lD01521), 446 
(referring to, inter alia, 3D03720), 447 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. lD02935 (confidential)), 451 (referring to, inter 
alia, Ex. lD01521), 455 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. lD01195), 457 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D01537, lD01195 , 
pp. 1-2),458 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. lD01521), 459 (referring to Ex. lD01195, pp. 1-2), 460 (referring to, inter 
alia, Exs. 1D02729, 2D00206), 461 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 2D00093, 4D00358), 462 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. 
4D01235), 463 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 2DOll11, pp. 1-2, 2D00289), 464 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. 4D00557), 
465 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. lD02903, lD01193, lD01822, lD02890), 473 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. lD00817, 
p. 4), 476 (referring to Exs. lD01281, lD01388, p. 2). 
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analysis and being irrelevant.2692 Although the Trial Chamber did not refer to this testimony in the 

portions of the Trial Judgement Pdic points to,2693 the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber 

need not refer to the testimony of every witness or every piece of evidence on the trial record and 

that there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all evidence presented to it, as long as 

there is no indication that it completely disregarded evidence which is cleady relevant.2694 Given 

that the Trial Chamber relied on Beese's evidence at various points in the Trial Judgement, 

including in the section discussing the formation of the JCE, it is clear that it did not disregard his 

evidence.2695 Accordingly; Pdic fails to explain how no reasonable trier of fact could have reached 

the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber.2696 As for PdiC's challenge in respect of Thornberry's 

evidence, Pdic merely refers to the paragraph of the witness's statement which he claims is an 

"unsubstantiated perception" without providing any support for this assertion, and thus fails to 

explain why the Trial Chamber erred in relying on it?697 The Appeals Chamber further notes that 

the Trial Chamber relied on a range of other evidence to corroborate Thornberry's evidence that. 

Croats were contemplating ethnic cleansing in BiH.2698 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses, as 

undeveloped, PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber disregarded relevant evidence, as he fails to 

explain what evidence was disregarded or how it had any impact on the Trial Chamber's 

findings. 2699 

848. As for Pdic's challenge to the Trial Chamber's findings on the HVO's military campaigns 

from January 1993 and in particular the attacks in Gornji Vakuf, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Pdic makes his argument solely by cross-reference to his grounds of appeal 16.1 and 16.2, which 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.270o This argument is thus rejected. 

849. The Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that the JCE crystallised in mid-January 1993 and that the HZ H-B leaders carried out 

the JCE in stages. PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 10.2, 10.3, and 10.4 in relevant part are therefore 

dismissed. 

2692 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 284, referring to Christopher Beese, T. 5328-5332 (private session) (22 Aug 2006). 
2693 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 284, referrillg to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 452-464, Vol. 2, paras 330-342,503-
506,514,521, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2694 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; Popovic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925,1017. . 
2695 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 21, 45, 54-55 & fns 66,123,149,152-153. 
2696 See MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 224. 
2697 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P10041, para. 42. 
2698 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44, referring to, inter alia, Witness BH, T(F). 17534-17535 (closed session) (25 
Apr 2007), Ole Brix-Andersen, Ex. P10356 ("Kordic and Cerkez Case") T. 10752,10777-10779 & T(F). 10871-10872, 
Ex. P01353 (confidential), p. 1, Ex. P02327 (confidential), p. 6, Ex. P02787, p. 4. 
2699 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 16.1, which the 
Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See infra, paras 1147-1174. 

353 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23542



(ii) StojiC's appeal (Ground 10) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

850. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a "reasoned decision" in entering its 

finding that the JCE was established "at least as early as mid-January 1993".2701 He also submits, in 

the alternative, that no reasonable trial chamber could have made this finding.2702 In support of both 

submissions, Stojic first argues that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence that does not support the 

conclusion that the JCE came into being by mid-January 1993,2703 and that the Trial Chamber could 

not rely on earlier findings in the Trial Judgement because they were "strictly historical and 

brief,.2704 Second, Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber's finding that the JCE came into being by 

mid-January 1993 was inconsistent with its other findings that, at the same time, the HZ H-B 

leaders were participating in peace talks with the BiH Muslims and then, after 30 January 1993, 

attempted to co-operate with them.2705 Third, Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber offered 

insufficient reasons for its finding that the military actions in Gornji Vakuf formed part of the JCE, 

whereas those in Prozor in 1992 did not.2706 He posits that the Trial Chamber found that the military 

actions in Prozor in 1992 fell outside the JCE because they were not alleged against Pusic, but since 

the same was true for the military actions in Gornji Vakuf, they too must also have fallen outside 

the JCE.2707 Last, Stojic argues that there was no change of circumstances in January 1993 that 

could lead a reasonable trial chamber to find that a JCE came into existence at this time and that, in 

particular, the attack on Gornji Vakuf was a result of escalating tensions that began there in 

September 1992.2708 

851. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that the CCP existed 

by mid-January 19932709 and identified the evidentiary basis for its finding. 2710 It argues that there 

was no inconsistency between the findings that a CCP existed and· that peace talks were ongoing at 

2700 The Appeals Chamber notes that PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.1 concerns his significant contribution to the the 
JCE in Gornji Vakuf, whereas his sub-ground of appeal 16.2 concerns his significant contribution to the JCE in Prozor, 
SoviCi, and Doljani. See infra, paras 1146-1208. . 
2701 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 87-88, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 

fara. 93 . 
702 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 88, 92-93. . 

2703 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 89, referring to Cedric Thornberry, T. 26166-26168, 26173-26176 (14 Jan 2008), 
Witness BH, T. 17534-17535 (closed session) (25 Apr 2007), Exs. 1>10041, para. 42, P01353 (confidential), P10356, 
ffo' 10752, 10777-10779, 10871-10872, P02327 (confidential), P02787. 

04 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 89. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 87. 
2705 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 90. 
2706 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 91, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 69. 
2707 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 91, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 69 & fn. 179. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 

fara. 87. 
708 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 92-93. 

2709 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 66. 
2710 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 70. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 68. 
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the same time, and that Stojic ignores the connection the Trial Chamber drew between the twO.2711 

Further, the Prosecution contends that Stojic misunderstands the Trial Chamber's reason for not 

finding the attack in Prozor in 1992 to be part of the CCP, which was that it was not convinced 

beyond reasonable doubt that the JCE members were acting in concert at that time.2712 Finally, the 

Prosecution argues that the preceding tensions in Gomji Vakuf did not preclude the Trial Chamber 

from finding that the JCE members used the 18 January 1993 attack to implement the CCP.2713 

b. Analysis 

852. The Trial Chamber found that the JCE was established "at least as early as mid-January 

1993,,?714 The Trial Chamber explained that, from that date: 

the leaders of the HVO and certain Croatian leaders aimed to consolidate HVO control over 
Provinces 3, 8 and 10, which under the Vance-Owen Plan, were attributed to the BiH Croats, and, 
as the HVO leaders interpreted it, to eliminate all Muslim resistance within these provinces and to 
"ethnically cleanse" the Muslims so that the provinces would become majority or nearly 
exclusively Croatian?715 

853. Regarding StojiC's claims that the evidence the Trial Chamber relied on cannot support 

these findings, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on 

evidence, emanating from as early as January 1993, indicating that the HVO aimed to consolidate 

control over territories that it considered to be Croatian.2716 Further, the finding that a JCE existed 

as of mid-January 1993 is supported by two previous sections of the Tlial Judgement detailing, 

among other things, evidence of orders issued in mid-January 1993 to implement the 15 January 

1993 Ultimatum?717 While Stojic claims that these previous sections may not be relied on because 

they were "strictly ~storical and brief',2718 the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber 

was not barred from relying on them to support subsequent findings. To the extent that the previous 

findings impact on criminal responsibility,2719 the Trial Chamber addressed their significance in the 

chapter discussing the CCP and the criminal responsibility of the Appellants, which included 

explaining how the events in mid-January 1993 formed part of the CCP.2720 The Appeals Chamber 

2711 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 67. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 68; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 347-348 (21 Mar 2017) (arguing that Stojic ignores the Trial Chamber's findings that the JCE members 
relied on their own interpretation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan to implement the CCP). 
2712 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 69. 
2713 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 68. 
2714 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2715 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2716 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 122, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01353 (confidential), p. 1. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44 et seq. and references cited therein. 
·2717 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 122, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, "Negotiations within the 
Framework of the Vance-Owen Plan (August 1992 - January 1993)", "Subsequent History of the Vance-Owen Plan; 
Attempts to Implement the Principles of this Plan in the Field (January 1993 - August 1993)". 
2718 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 89, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 408. 
2719 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 408. 
2720 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45, 65. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125-128. 
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finds no fault in this approach and dismisses StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

was not supported by the evidence and findings on which it relied. 

854. As to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's findings are inconsistent, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the establishment of a JCE by mid-January 1993 is not, in itself, 

contradicted by the findings that BiH Croats and Muslims participated in peace talks and attempted 

to co-operate after 30 January 1993.2721 StojiC ignores relevant Trial Chamber findings, notably that 

the HVO conducted military campaigns in the provinces it considered Croatian while conducting 

peace talks and that JCE members sought "to modify the ethnic composition of the so-:called 

Croatian provinces in light of their interpretation of the Vance-Owen Plan" according to which 

those provinces were to become "majority or nearly exclusively Croatian".2722 Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's argument. 

855. Turning to StojiC's argument regarding the Prozor attack, th~ Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber found that "the evidence does not support a finding that the crimes committed in 

Prozor in October 1992 formed part of the [CCP inasmuch as the Trial Chamber] was not in a 

position to establish that, at that time, the members of the JCE were acting in concert".2723 The 

Appeals Chamber also observes that, in a footnote at the end of this finding, the Trial Chamber 
, . ' 

recalled that "Pusic [was] not being prosecuted for the crimes committed in Prozor in October 

1992,,?724 The Appeals Chamber sees no ambiguity with the inclusion of this footnote. 

856. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that the CCP came 

into being in January, 1993 based on a number of factors, including in particular the presentation of 

the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 2 January 1993 and the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum,2725 as well as 

the evidence discussed above.2726 Further, the Trial Chamber explicitly found that "many crimes 

committed by HVO forces from January 1993 to April 1994 tended to follow a clear pattern of 

conduct" and that in the vast majority of cases these crimes were not committed by chance or 

randomly?727 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber's finding on the start of the JCE was not based on the 

membership of the JCE alone but rather also on the pattern of events starting in January 1993. The 

2721 See also infra, paras 985-990. 
2722 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45,65. See also TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, paras 46, 52,54-55. 
2723 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 69. ' 
2724 T' J nal udgement, Vol. 4, para. 69 & fn. 179. 
2725 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445, 451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44, 125. See also supra, paras 852-853. 
2726 See supra, para. 853. 
2727 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. The Appeals Chamber also notes in this regard that the Trial Chamber found that 
the operations in Gornji Vakuf villages unfolded "in exactly the same way" and that "[b]earing in mind the total 
similarity in the way the operations, unfolded and the crimes committed in each of these villages" it was satisfied that 
they "corresponded to a preconceived plan". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
704. 
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Appeals Chamber therefore considers that, reading the Trial Judgement as a whole,2728 the 

Trial Chamber clearly explained why it found that the CCP came into being in January 1993 and 

not in October 1992. 

857. As for StojiC's argument that tensions began escalating in Gomji Vakuf in September 1992, 

the Appeals Chamber considers that this did not preclude the Trial Chamber from finding that a 

JCE was established by mid-January 1993 and that the 18 January 1993 attack on Gornji Vakuf was 

evidence of the implementation of the CCP.2729 Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber's findings do reflect a change of circumstances in January 1993, notably the 

presentation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 2 January 1993 and the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, 

as discussed above.273o Finally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that the 

JCE was established "at least as eadyas mid-January 1993".2731 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

dismisses StojiC's argument. 

858. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's selection of 

the date of mid-January 1993 was neither arbitrary nor unreasoned.2732 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses StojiC's arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion. 

Further, having dismissed all of his submissions above, the Appeals Chamber also rejects his 

alternative argument that no reasonable bier of fact could have found that the JCE came into being 

in mid-January 1993. StojiC's ground of appeal 10 is therefore dismissed. 

(iii) StojiC's appeal CGround 4 in part) 

859. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the 18 January 1993 attacks in 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality fell within the JCE.2733 He submits that the 18 January 1993 attacks 

cannot be divorced from the fighting that broke out in Gomji Vakuf Municipality on 

11 January 1993, and that the Trial Chamber thus unreasonably found that the earlier episode of 

fighting was not part of the JCE, whereas its continuation on 18 January 1993 was.2734 

860. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber acknowledged HVO-ABiH clashes prior 

to 18 January 1993 in Gornji Vakuf Municipality, but reasonably found that the crimes committed 

'2728 v 

Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Mrk§ic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. 
See Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
2729 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45. 
2730 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445,451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44, 125. See supra, paras 855-856. 
2731 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44 (emphasis added). , 
2732 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 93. 
2733 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 56, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45,69. 
2734 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 56, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 336-337. See StojiC's Reply 
Brief, para. 22; Appeal Hearing, AT. 276-277 (21 Mar 2017) (arguing that had there been a JCE to take over Banovina, 
the HVO would have taken over the whole of Gornji Vakuf Municipality but did not do so). 
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by the HVO during and after 18 January 1993 fonned part of the CCP.2735 In particular, the 

Prosecution highlights the "total similarity" in the way in which the operations and the crimes in 

January 1993 unfolded.2736 

861. The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic mischaracterises the Trial Chamber's approach 

regarding the 11 and 18 January 1993 attacks. The Trial Chamber's finding' that the 

18 January 1993 attacks fonned part of the CCP is based on findings regarding: (1) the 

crystallisation of the CCP by mid-January 1993, on the basis of broader geopolitical circumstances, 

s\lch as the presentation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 2 January 1993 and the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum;2737 (2) the "total similarity in the way the operations unfolded and the crimes [were] 

committed" in particular during the HVO attacks of the villages of Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and 

Zdrimci on 18 January 1993, which led the Trial Chamber to find that they "corresponded to a 

preconceived plan,,;2738 and (3) the fact that these events fonned part of a "pattern of conduct" with 

later crimes.2739 Stojic fails to show how the clashes between the HVO and ABiH earlier in the 

month of January 1993 - which the Trial Chamber took into account2740 - had any impact on the 

finding that the 18 January 1993 attacks fonned part of the CCP. StojiC's submission is dismissed. 

The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that the 18 January 1993 attacks in Gornji Vakuf Municipality fell within the JCE, and 

rejects his ground of appeal 4 in relevant part. 

(iv) Praljak's appeal (Ground 15) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

862. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred when it concluded that the crimes in 

Gornji Vakuf in January 1993, including the killings in the village of Dusa, fell within the CCP.2741 

In this regard,' he submits that as fighting broke out in Gornji Vakuf Municipality on 

11 January 1993, the finding that the CCP was established in mid-January 1993 is contradictory,2742 

and an alternative reasonable inference was that HVO attacks occurred in response to military 

operations initiated by the ABiH and that the HVO had no interest in military activities against the 

2735 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37 . 
• 2736 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 37, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. See also Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 347-348 (21 Mar 2017). 
2737 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445, 451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44,125,131,142,271. 
2738 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 562, 704, 708, 922. 
2739 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
2740 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 336-337. 
2741 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 239-245. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 399 (22 Mar 2017). 
2742 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, paras 233, 238. Praljak argues in particular that the fact that HVO activities ceased without 
taking over the entire Gornji Vakuf Municipality shows that the actions were not planned. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
para. 236; Appeal Hearing, AT. 402 (22 Mar 2017). See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 242, 244-245. 
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ABiH.2743 Praljak also argues that while a common criminal plan need not be previously arranged 

or formulated and may materialise extemporaneously, it must be established prior to the 

commission of an action or a crime,2744 and that the Trial Chamber erred in law when it inferred the 

existence of a plan from the "sole commission" of the crimes in Gornji Vakuf. 2745 Finally, Praljak 

contends that the Trial Chamber did not give reasons why the killings in Dusa should be included in 

the CCP.2746 He argues that the Trial Chamber did not properly establish that all JCE members 

"shared [the] intent to perpetrate this crime",2747 and "did not establish the required intent for the 

said crime", referring to his arguments made elsewhere challenging the Trial Chamber's findings 

that the HVO intended to cause serious bodily harm to civilians in Dusa and thus committed murder 

and wilful killing in that village. 2748 

863. The Prosecution responds thatJhe Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that the crimes in 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality in the latter part of January 1993 formed part of the CCp?749 In 

particular, the Prosecution responds that: (1) there was no alternative reasonable explanation for the 

events in Gornji Vakuf;275o (2) Praljak repeats his failed trial arguments or merely offers an 

alternative interpretation of the evidence;2751 (3) as the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded, the 

JCE members were actively involved in the progress of HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf, which 

"unfolded in exactly the same way" and "were part of an attack plan for the capture of the 

municipality by the HVO,,;2752 and (4) the Trial Chamber's finding on the commencement of the 

CCP was not based "solely on" the occurrence of the crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality, but on 

broader factors including the Vance-Owen Peace Plan and the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, as well 

as the similarity between the Gornji Vakuf crimes and other military operations. 2753 

2743 Praljak's Appeal BJjef, paras 234-236, 243, 245. Praljak also submits that: (1) the HVO tried to calm tensions in 
conflicts in the municipality; (2) the HVO Main Staff instructed all HVO commands to solve the problems through 
talks; and (3) at the relevant time, the HVO and ABiH were allies against the VRS. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 
235. See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 243; Appeal Hearing, AT. T. 472 (22 Mar 2017). 
2744Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 237-238, referring to Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 418, Stakic Appeal Judgement, 
para. 64, Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 100, Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 117, Tadic Appeal Judgement, 
para. 227. 
2745 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 237, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2746 Praljak's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 239, paras 239-241. 
2747 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 240, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 228, Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 
65; Appeal Hearing, AT. 400 (22 Mar 2017). 
2748Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 240, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 196-198 (sub-ground of appeal 12.2). 
2749 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 107. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 104, 106. 
2750 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 107-108, 112. 
2751 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 107, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 234-236, 243, Praljak's 
Final Trial Brief, paras 231-232, 235, 243, Praljak Closing Arguments, T. 52485 (17 Feb 2011). 
2752 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 110-111, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 126-
127, 130-132,330-334,336,561. ' 
2753 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 108-109. The Prosecution responds in respect of Praljak's arguments 
with regard to Dusa that the Trial Chamber: (1) properly applied the law as regards JCE liability; and (2) did not make 
any error with regard to its findings as to Dusa, given the broader basis for the conclusion that the CCP existed. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 107. 
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b. Analysis 

864. The Appeals Chamber turns first to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in 

including the 18 January 1993 events within the CCP, as it failed to consider the alternative 

reasonable inference that these events were a defensive response to earlier clashes with the ABiH. 

The Appeals Chamber discerns no contradiction between the finding that clashes between the HVO 

and ABiH occurred on 11-12 January 1993, and that the JCE came into existence "as early as 

mid-January 1993,,?754 While the Trial Chamber did not specifically refer to the fighting that broke 

out on 11-12 January 1993 when reaching this conclusion, the Appeals Chamber recalls the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the 18 January 1993 Gornji Vakuf events fell within the .CCP was 

based on a number of findings,2755 and was not affected by the fact that conflict with the ABiH 

continued?756 For this reason, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses the assertion that the 

Trial Chamber based its conclusion that the CCP came into existence on the events in Gomji Vakuf 

alone?757 The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has not demonstrated that no reasonable trier of 

fact could conclude that the only reasonable inference from the evidence was that the attacks on 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality were part of the CCP. The Appeals Chamber finds no legal error in the 

Trial Chamber's finding. Praljak's argument in this regard therefore fails. 

865. Regarding Praljak's submissions that the Trial Chamber did not give reasons why the 

killings in Dusa should be included in the CCP, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber did not expressly refe~ to those killings.2758 However, the Trial Chamber explained, 

based on a number of factors, as stated earlier,2759 that in furtherance of the CCP the HVO launched 

the attack on 18 January 1993 on the town of Gornji Vakuf and "several surrounding villages", 

including Dusa.2760 The Trial Chamber then noted that the HVO "first shelled these sites", and 

provided a cross-reference to its earlier findings on the crimes that occurred in this village,2761 

including that the HVO killed seven people through shelling in Dusa.2762 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore considers that the Trial Chamber included the killings in Dusa within the scope of the 

2754 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
2755 See supra, paras 852, 858, 861. 
2756 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 460-461. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2757 Cf Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 237-238. The Appeals Chamber also rejects Praljak's submissions regarding 
alleged HVO co-operation with the ABiH on the basis that he fails to show how this would impact on the 
Trial Chamber's CCP findings relevant to his conviction. Cf Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 234-236, 243, 245. 
2758 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
2759 See supra, paras 852, 858, 861. 
2760 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 358-368, 398-410. 
2761 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45 & fn. 124 (referring to "the Chamber's factual findings with regard to the 
Municipality of Gornji Vakuf'). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 358-368,398-410. 
2762 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 366, 368 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 
663,711. 
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CCP, as illustrated also by its finding that, with the exception of Pusic, all the Appellants intended 

the crimes in Gornji Vakuf and possessed intent for murder at that point in time,z763 

866. However, as found earlier in relation to Praljak's ground of appeal 12, the Appeals Chamber 

has overturned the Trial Chamber's finding that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa constituted 

murder and wilful killing ("Dusa Reversal") and, as a result, has overturned the Appellants' 

convictions related to those deaths under Counts 1, 2, 3, 15, and 16.2764 On that basis, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that Praljak has demonstrated that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa were not 

part of the CCP. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses his remaining arguments on this 

issue as moot. The impact of this finding, as far as the scope of the CCP is concerned, will be 

examined below. 2765 

867. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber grants Praljak's ground of appeal 15, in 

part, and reverses the Trial Chamber's finding that the Dusa killings were part of the CCP. As for 

the remainder of ground 15, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that the crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993, with 

the exception of the killings in Dusa, fell within the CCP.2766 

(v) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.1 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

868. Petkovic argues that the evidence and findings relied upon by the Trial Chamber do not 

support the inference that the plan to ethnically cleanse Provinces 3, 8, and 10 had crystallised by 

mid-January 1993.2767 Petkovic also alleges errors in the conclusion that the HVO removed the 

Muslim popUlation from the villages of Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and Zdrimci in Gornji Vakuf 

Municipality to ethnically cleanse the municipality,z768 In this regard, he submits that with the 

exception of an "unknown number" of citizens from Dusa and Hrasnica, the Trial Chamber's 

findings show that most of the villagers of Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and Zdrimci stayed within 

2763 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 134, 337, 562, 710, 923. With respect to Pusic, as noted earlier, he was found to have 
been a member of the JCE only from April 1993. See supra, para. 855. 
2764 See supra, paras 441-443. 
2765 See infra, paras 874 et seq. 
2766 See also infra, para. 883. 
2767PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 43, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P10041, para. 42, P01353 (confidential), p. 1, P02327 
(confidential), p. 6, P02787, p. 4, P10356, Cedric Thornberry, T. 26166-26168, 26173-26176 (14 Jan 2008), Witness 
BH, T. 17478-17479 (closed session) (24 Apr 2007). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 42, 44. 
2768 Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, para. 46. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 45. Petkovic also submits that the 
Appellants were not charged "with the deportation/forcible transfer of Muslims" from Gomji Vakuf. Petkovic Appeal 
Brief, para. 46. 
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Gomji Vakuf Municipality.2769 In Petkovi6's view, given that the "ethnic map of the Municipality 

remained unchanged", no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that HVO military actions 

in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993 fell within the CCP, or that the local Muslim population was 

"ethnically cleansed" from this municipality.277o 

869. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the JCE existed 

from at least mid-January 1993.2771 It argues that Petkovic ignores the Trial Chamber's findings 

about the events following the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, as well as other evidence and findings 

relied upon to support the conclusion that the CCP commenced by mid-January 1993.2772 As for the 

crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality, the Prosecution submits that they were reasonably found to 

further the CCP, given the similarities between these crimes and later ones in other 

mUnicipalities?773 The Prosecution also argues, relying on the Dordevic Appeal Judgement, that the 

Tribunal's jurisprudence disproves PetkoviC's claim that the ethnic composition of a region needs to 

change for ethnic cleansing to occur.2774 It notes that, in any event, Petkovic ignores that the crime 

of forcible displacement occurred on a "massive scale" and thus the ethnic map was redrawn in 

several municipalities, including Gomji Vakuf. 2775 

.870. Petko vic replies that the Dordevic Appeals Chamber's finding confirms that at least a 

temporary change in ethnic balance is necessary in order to establish a common criminal plan.2776 

2769 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 47-50, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 405, 426A27, 452-454, 466-468, 
Vol. 3, paras 845-848, 899-900,902, 904, 906. Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber based its findings regarding the 
removal of Muslims from Hrasnica on Exhibits P09710 (confidential) and P10106. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 47. Petkovic also asserts that an unidentified number of civilians asked UNPROFOR to take them to the 
municipality of Bugojno. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 49. 
2770 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 50. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 44, 51; Appeal Hearing, AT. 485-486, 
494-495, 524 (23 Mar 2017). 
2771 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 38. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16-18. 
2772 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 38-39, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 122. In 
partiCUlar, the Prosecution argues that Petkovic disregards: (1) further findings elsewhere in the Trial Judgement 
regarding the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; (2) Exhibit P01353 (confidential), as well as Cedric Thornberry's testimony 
confirming Exhibit P01353's accuracy; (3) the evidence of Ole Brix-Anderson; (4) the testimony of Witness BH; 
(5) Exhibit P02327 (confidential); and (6) Exhibit P02787. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 39, 
referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 452-454, 460, Vol. 4, para. 112, fns 1092-1093, 2449, Cedric 
Thornberry, T. 26175-26176 (14 Jan 2008), Ex. P10356, pp. 3, 34, Witness BH, T. 17534-17353 (closed session) (25 
A~r 2007). 
273 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 41; Appeal Hearing, AT. 533 (23 Mar 2017). See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 40. 
2774 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 42, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154. See Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 532-533 (23 Mar 2017). 
2775 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 43; Appeal Hearing, AT. 533, 546-550 (23 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the forcible removals from Hrasnica village were 
based on more than the exhibits (Exs. P09710 (confidential) and P10106) to which Petkovic refers. See Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 43. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 44. 
2776 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(i), referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154; Appeal Hearing, AT. 567 
(23 Mar 2017). 
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b. Analysis 

871. Regarding PetkoviC's evidential challenges in relation to the finding that the JCE came into 

existence as ·of mid-January 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that he points to the evidence 

underpinning the Trial Chamber's inference that the leaders of the HVO and certain Croatian 

leaders aimed, by mid-January 1993, to ethnically cleanse the Muslim population in order to 

achieve the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE,2777 and argues that the evidence and findings do not 

support the Trial Chamber's concl?sion. In other words, Petkovic offers his own interPretation of 

the evidence without showing that no reasonable trier of fact could have interpreted this evidence as 

the Trial Chamber did. Accordingly, PetkoviC's submissions are dismissed. 

872. As for Petko viC' s submissions regarding the change in the ethnic composition of 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality, the Appeals Chamber notes that the findings pointed to by Petko vic 

indeed indicate that only some, as opposed to all, of the occupants of the villages left the 

municipality.2778 However, the Appeals Chamber considers there to be no error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that, despite this, the events in Gornji Vakuf formed part of the CCP as 

the Trial Chamber relied on a number of factors in addition to the removal of villagers from the 

municipality. For example, the Trial Chamber found that the crimes in Gornji Vakuf, as well as 

subsequent crimes, "tended to follow a clear pattern of conduct".2779 The Trial Chamber also drew 

explicit parallels between the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf and its subsequent operations in the 

municipalities of Jablanica and Prozor, showing in tum that these operations, and the resulting 

crimes, were part of tpe CCP.2780 Further, in the present case, the Trial Chamber concluded that the 

removal of persons from villages in Gornji Vakuf Municipality amounted to crimes on the basis of, 

inter alia, the serious mental harm that these transfers engendered,2781 and the deprivation of 

civilians' right to enjoy a normal family life.2782 The Trial Chamber also expressly took account of 

the fact that the transfers affected a particular portion of the population, namely women, children, 

2777 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44 & fn. 122, referring to the evidence of Witnesses Cedric Thornberry, BH, Qle 
Brix-Andersen, Exs. P02327 (confidential), P02787, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 441-451 ("Negotiations within the 
Framework of the Vance-Owen Plan (August 1992-January 1993)"),452-456 ("Subsequent History of the Vance-Owen 
Plan; Attempts to Implement the Principles of this Plan in the Field (January 1993 - August 1993)"). 
2778 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 405, 426-427, 466-468, Vol. 3, paras 845-848, 899-906. The Appeals Chamber 
notes that paragraphs 452-454 of Volume 2 of the Trial Judgement refer to the removal of named individual civilians in 
the village of Uzricje and do not directly support the conclusion that only some citizens were affected. 
2779 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes that contrary to Petkovic's 
submission, the Appellants were charged with forcible transfer in Gornji Vakuf Municipality (Count 8), as well as 
unlawful transfer of a civilian (Count 9), and that he himself was convicted for those crimes in relation to Gornji Vakuf. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
2780 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-48. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 142 (finding that the 4 April 1993 
Ultimatum which led to crimes in Prozor was identical to the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum). 
2781 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 845-848. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 94-95, 141, 197,251,315. 
2782 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 899-906. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 94-95,141,197,251,315. 
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and the elderly.2783 Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to PetkoviC's argument, the 

Dordevic Appeal Judgement does not assist him as it holds that, as a matter of law, a cornmon 

purpose need not be achieved in order for a trial chamber to conclude that a plurality of persons 

shared it or that crimes were committed in furtherance of a joint criminal enterprise.2784 The 

Appeals Chamber thus finds that Petkovic fails to demonstrate any error. in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that the crimes in Gornji Vakuf formed part of the CCP. PetkoviC's argument is 

therefore dismissed. 

873. The Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

inferring that the plan to ethnically cleanse Provinces 3, 8, and 10 had crystallised by 

mid-January 1993 and that the military actions in Gornji Vakuf Municipality formed part of the 

CCP. PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.1 is dismissed in relevant part. 

(vi) Impact of the Dusa Reversal on the CCP 

874. Elsewhere in the Judgement, the Appeals Chamber has overturned the Trial Chamber's 

findings that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa in January 1993 constituted the crimes of murder 

and wilful killing and, as a result, has overturned the Appellants' convictions related to those 

killings under Counts 1,2, 3, 15, and 16.2785 The Appeals Chamber will now examine what impact, 

if any, the Dusa Reversal has on the Trial Chamber's conclusions concerning the scope of the CCP 

and, more particularly, the crimes that formed part of it.2786 

875. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that 

certain murders and wilful killings charged under Counts 2 and 3 formed part of the CCP, while 

others did not. Specifically, the Trial Chamber found that murders and wilful killings committed 

during attacks on villages ("attack murders") or in the context of the systematic use of detainees for 

labour on the front line or as human shields ("forced labour murders") formed part of the CCP 

(collectively, "CCP murders"), whereas murders and wilful killings committed during evictions (or 

closely linked thereto), or as a result of mistreatment or poor conditions of confinement during 

detention, did not.2787 

2783 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 845-848, 899-906. 
2784 See Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154 ("The Appeals Chamber considers that this goal [of demographically 
modifying Kosovo] does not require a finding that the ethnic balance be changed permanently, or that all members of 
the JCE shared the intent to permanently remove [ ... ]. [T]he Trial Chamber's conclusion that the common purpose was 
to change the ethnic balance of Kosovo to ensure Serb control over the province would still be reasonable even if the 
shift in ethnic balance was temporary and the purpose in fact not achieved."). Cf PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(i). 
2785 See supra, paras 441-443,866. . 
2786 See supra, para. 866. . . 
2787 Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59, 61, 66, 68, with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 70-71, 281, 433, 632, 
822, 1008, 1213. 
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876. The Trial Chamber found that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa, along with the 

established crimes in the Gomji Vakuf Municipality, marked the very start of the JCE. In addition, 

according to the Trial Chamber's findings, these deaths were, with one exception, the sole 

established attack murders that occurred in the period from January 1993 until June 1993,2788 the 

latter date marking the expansion of the CCP with the addition of East Mostar-related crimes.2789 

This one exception is the 19 April 1993 incident in the village of Toscanica in Prozor Municipality, 

where the Trial Chamber found that HVO soldiers killed two unarmed men during the HVO attack 

on the village.279o In contrast to this period, a number of attack murders was found by the Trial 

Chamber to have occurred from June 1993, starting with the East Mostar siege.2791 As for forced 

labour murders, the Trial Chamber found that the Heliodrom detainees were killed during forced 

labour in the period between May 1993 and March .1994.2792 However, a close analysis of the 

evidence relied upon for this finding shows that no forced labour murders in fact occurred before 

June 1993 and that the majority occurred in July 1993 and onwards.2793 Accordingly, the Trial 

Chamber made an error of fact in relation to its finding that the Heliodrom killings during forced 

labour took place already in May 1993. The impact of this error will be considered below.2794 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

877. The incident in Dusa being such a significant event in relation to the scope of the CCP, the 

Appeals Chamber invited the Parties to make submissions at the Appeal Hearing as to the impact a 

2788 See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 655-756 (containing the Trial Chamber's legal findings with respect to 
Counts 2 and 3 concerning murder and wilful killing, respectively). 
2789 See supra, paras 792-814. 
2790 The Appeals Chamber notes that, having found that two unarmed men were killed during an attack on the village, 
the Trial Chamber made legal findings under Counts 2 and 3 for those murders. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 91, 
Vol. 3, paras 656-657, 705-706. However, there is no discussion of those murders in the Appellants' responsibility 
sections concerning their contribution and intent for crimes in Prozor Municipality. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 
141, 147 (Prlic), 329 (Stojic), 573 (Praljak), 692-693, 699 (Petkovic), 998 (Coric), 1099 '(Pusk). While for Prlic the 
Trial Chamber appears to have found him responsible for Counts 2 and 3 in relation to Prozor Municipality, Prlic's 
responsibility section establishes only that, given his contribution to the events in Prozor, he accepted the commission 
of crimes committed against Muslims in Prozor, "namely the destruction of Muslim property and the arrests and 
removal of the Muslim population" and makes no mention of the Prozor killings. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 
141, 146-147. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4 para. 278 (listing Counts 2 and 3 under Prozor Municipality as being among 
the crimes for which it found Prlic guilty through his participation in a joint criminal enterprise). 
2791 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 672-679, 681, 683, 699-700,721-722,724-729,732,734,752-753. The first 
such murder took place in East Mostar on 6 June 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1061-1070. The Appeals 
Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber found that East Mostar was subjected to intense and uninterrupted firing and 
shelling from June 1993 to March 1994. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1018. 
2792 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 674-676, 724-726 & fns 1310, 1369 (referring to the Trial Chamber's factual 
findings regarding the forced labour murders in the Heliodrom). 
2793 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1600-1604 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 
1616 (stating that the evidence showed the use of human shields only in the months of July to September 1993), Vol. 3, 
~aras 677-679, 727-729. 

794 See infra, paras 881-882 (& fn. 2810), 2792. 
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potential reversal of the murder of the seven civilians in Dusa would have, if any, on the CCP and 

on the mens rea of each of the Appellants.2795 

878. While Pdie and Petkovie fail to address this specific issue,2796 Praljak argues that should the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding the HVO's intent for killings in Dusa be overturned, "the 

events" in Gornji Vakuf could not be part of the CCP and should be seen as an incident between the 

HVO and ABiH, which did not spread to the entire area of the HZ H_B.2797 As for the impact on his 

mens rea, Praljak refers to his ground of appeal 12 and submits that the evidence did not support the 

finding that he intended civilians to be killed in Dusa.2798 Corie makes a similar argument, namely 

that the events in Gornji Vakuf were an isolated local incident. He also submits that if the murders 

in Dusa are overturned no basis would exist for the Trial Chamber's findings that there was a 

pattern of crimes and the resulting conclusion that he was responsible for murder and wilful killing, 

even in relation to the killing incidents that occurred after June 1993 in Mostar and the 

Heliodrom.2799 Corie further argues that since murder was found to be part of the clear pattern of 

conduct by the Trial Chamber, it is "essential" to the finding that the CCP existed such that its 

removal means that Corie cannot be said to have had any JCE I liability and should be fully 

acquitted under Counts 2 and 3?800 Pusie acknowledges that the Dusa convictions do not apply to 

him due to his JCE membership starting later but argues that should the Appeals Chamber reverse 

convictions of other Appellants under Counts 2 and 3, then the same should happen for him?801 

879. The Prosecution argues that even if the Dusa murder findings are overturned, neither the 

scope of the CCP nor the llwns rea of the Appellants as regards murder and wilful killing would be 

affected. According to the Prosecution, this is because the Trial Chamber included attack murders 

within the CCP on the ground that they were a part of the "entire system designed for deporting the 

Muslim population", which in tum was a finding based on the Trial Chamber's overall assessment 

of the pattern of crimes throughout the existence of the JCE.2802 The Prosecution adds that this 

pattern of crimes was one of extreme violence, which included not only the CCP murders but also 

mistreatment of Muslims during evictions and cruel and inhumane treatment of Muslims detained in 

2795 See Order for the Preparation of the Appeal Hearing, 1 March 2017, p. 6 (question 4(a) and (b». 
2796 Stojic addressed the issue at the Appeal Hearing but did so only in a written submission he referred to as a 
"skeleton" argument. However, the Appeals Chamber will not consider the skeleton argument because it was not 
admitted into the judicial record. Stojic made no oral submissions on this issue during the Appeal Hearing despite being 
encouraged to do so. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 255-256, 301-302 (21 Mar 2017). 
2797 Appeal Hearing, AT. 398-401 (22 Mar 2017). 
2798 Appeal Hearing, AT. 400-401 (22 Mar 2017). 
2799 Appeal Hearing, AT. 584-585 (24 Mar 2017). 
2800 Appeal Hearing, AT. 585 (24 Mar 2017). . 
2801 Appeal Hearing, AT. 682-683 (27 Mar 2017). Pusic also submits that since the Trial Chamber made no findings as 
to his mens rea in relation to the Dusa killings, the reversal should have no impact on his mens rea for ICE. Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 683 (27 Mar 2017). 
2802 Appeal Hearing, AT. 219-220 (20 Mar 2017). 
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HVO detention centres.2803 In addition, the Prosecution submits that the overall conduct of attacks 

in Gornji Vakuf shows that the HVO employed an extreme level of violence indicating that murder 

was an acceptable means of achieving the objective of ethnic cleansing, which was then confirmed 

by subsequent attacks in Prozor, Jablanica, East Mostar, Rastani, and Stupni Do and by use of 

prisoners for labour on the front line who were killed as a result. 2804 

b. Analysis 

880. As noted earlier, with the Dusa Reversal,the CCP murders, bar one, started occurring only 

from June 1993, with the siege of East Mostar, which was some four-and-a-half months after the 

start of the JCE.2805 In other words, in the period from January 1993 until June 1993 "a clear pattern 

of conduct" in HVO crimes found by the Trial Chamber2806 included only one instance of CCP 

murders.2807 Based on these circumstances and contrary to the Prosecution's submission, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that there was a pattern 

of conduct with respect to the attack or forced labour murders such that they were a part of the 

"entire system designed for deporting the Muslim population" in the period from January 1993 until 

June 1993. Similarly, with respect to the Prosecution's argument that the Trial Chamber's findings 

show a pattern of violence throughout the existence of the JCE such that the Dusa Reversal has no 

effect on its scope, the Appeals Chamber considers that such pattern of violence is not enough, on 

its own and with only one incident involving two murders during an attack on the village of 

Toscanica in April 1993, to infer - as the only reasonable conclusion - that murder and wilful 

killing were part of the CCP from January 1993. This is particularly so when, with the exception of 

2803 Appeal Hearing, AT. 219-220 (20 Mar 2017), AT. 648 (24 Mar 2017), AT. 731 (27 Mar 2017), AT. 762-763 (28 
Mar 2017). 
2804 Appeal Hearing, AT. 220-222 (20 Mar 2017). To illustrate this submission, the Prosecution refers to the HVO 
attack on Muslim civilians in Hrasnica in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993, their subsequent rounding up by 
the HVO, and the execution of one of the Muslim men by an HVO soldier. However, the Prosecution also 
acknowledges that the Trial Chamber made no findings on this incident. It further cites to the Trial Chamber's findings 
relating to the murder of two unarmed men during an attack on the village of Toscanica in April 1993 in Prozor 
Municipality. Appeal Hearing, AT. 220-221 (20 Mar 2017). See also supra, fn. 2790. 
2805 See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2793. While the Prosection refers to the Hrasnica execution, the Appeals Chamber notes 
that the Trial Chamber made no findings relating to that killing incident and, furthermore, explicitly held that it had no 
evidence to find that the "death of villagers resulted from the HVO attack and artillery fire on the village of Hrasnica". 
See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 369-373. Accordingly, that incident will not be considered by the Appeals Chamber 
for the purposes of this discussion. 
2806 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
2807 The Appeals Chamber notes that a number of other killings took place in that period but those were not considered 
by the Trial Chamber to have been part of the CCP and, as such, are not relevant to this discussion. See supra, para. 
874. 
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Pusic,2808 all the Trial Chamber's remaining findings relating to the Appellants' contribution to and 

intent for the CCP murders concern the period starting from June 1993?809 

881. With respect to the Appellants' mens rea, the Prosecution's submission that the Appellants' 

intent for murder and wilful killing are not affected by the Dusa Reversal suggests that all the 

Appellants, with the exception of Pusic who joined the JCE later, must have had the intent for 

murder and wilful killing months before the first proven CCP killing occurred. In this case, 

however, again with the exception of PUSiC,281O the Trial Chamber's remaining findings do not 

establish beyond reasonable doubt that the Appellants had the intent for mwder and wilful killing 

prior to June 1993.2811 Further, while the Trial Chamber made its conclusions on the nature of the 

CCP and its commencement based on factors other than just the events in municipalities and crimes 

on the ground, these factors also do not establish that the Appellants intended murder and wilful 

killing from January 1993.2812 

882. Accordingly, in light of the Trial Chamber's error regarding the civilian deaths in Dusa, and 

considering the lack of any pattern of CCP murders or findings concerning the Appellants' intent 

for murder and wilful killing from January 1993 until June 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers 

that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were patt of the CCP 

in the period from January 1993 until June 1993. The Trial Chamber's remaining findings, 

including the lone intent finding for Pusic regarding forced labour murders, do not establish beyond 

reasonable doubt that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 

1993. 

883. On the other hand, and contrary to Praljak's and CoriC's submissions, insofar as other 

crimes that took place in Gornji Vakuf are concerned, they are enough to sustain the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that the events in Gornji Vakufformed part of the CCP. This is because 

the other HVO crimes which the Trial Chamber considered as forming a clear pattern of 

2808 See infra, para. 881. 
2809 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 174, 176, 232, 237-238, 272, 274 (Prlic), 362-363, 368-370, 395, 426 (Stojic), 
579-582, 585-586, 625 (Praljak), 749-750, 790-796, 798, 815 (Petkovic), 936-938, 964-966, 971, 1000-1004 (Coric), 
1120-1122,1147-1151,1186-1187,1206 (Pusic) 
2810 See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2793. Pusic challenges this intent finding in his ground of appeal 5. See infra, paras 
2791-2792. Ultimately, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that this intent finding is relevant for the purposes of 
the incorporation of murder and wilful killing in the CCP as it is not enough, on its own, to conclude that these crimes 
were intended by all JCE members and thus were part of the CCP before June 1993. 
2811 See supra, fn. 2809. While the Prosecution cites to two killing incidents that took place in January and April 1993, 
the Appeals Chamber considers that these are not enough to establish intent on the part of the Appellants, particularly 
since: (1) the Trial Chamber made no factual findings relating to the January 1993 killing in Hrasnica and therefore did 
not enter any intent findings in relation thereto; and (2) as noted earlier, the Trial Chamber did not discuss the killings in 
Toscanica in any of the Appellants' responsibility sections when considering their intent for the crimes in Prozor. See 
supra, para. 876 & fn. 2790. 
2812 See supra, paras 847, 856-858,861,864,872. 
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conduct,2813 such as forcible transfers and imprisonment of civilians in Gornji Vakuf, remain 

unaffected by the Dusa Reversa1.2814 Accordingly, Praljak's submission that the events in Gomji 

Vakuf should be removed from the CCP and CoriC's submission that Gomji Vakuf was an isolated 

incident not connected to the CCP are dismissed. 

884. The Appeals Chamber will now examine whether, on the basis of the Trial Chamber's 

remaining findings, it remains established that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from 

June 1993.2815 As noted above, the Trial Chamber made extensive findings concerning all of the 

Appellants' contribution to, knowledge of, and intent for the crimes that took place in East Mostar, 

including murder and wilful killing.2816 These findings were made for the purpose of: (1) assessing 

whether crimes that were not already found to be part of the CCP, namely unlawful attack on 

civilians in East Mostar, unlawful infliction of terror on civilians in East Mostar, and destruction of 

religious property in East Mostar, became part of the CCP in June 1993; and (2) establishing the 

Appellants' responsibility for crimes committed in East Mostar that the Trial Chamber considered 

to be original CCP crimes.2817 In making those findings, the Trial Chamber specifically noted the 

Appellants' knowledge and acceptance of killings that took place in East Mostar due to the HVO 

fire on the city.2818 The Appeals Chamber is satisified that the Trial Chamber's findings in relation 

to the expansion of crimes in East Mostar establish beyond reasonable doubt that murder and wilful 

killing were also expanded crimes, particularly since those findings show that the Trial Chamber 

considered: (1) that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in June 1993; and (2) that the 

Appellants were infonned of murder and wilful killings but did nothing to prevent them.2819 

Further, the Trial Chamber also found that despite their knowledge of the killings in East Mostar, 

the Appellants continued to participate in the CCP and therefore accepted the crimes in question.282o 

2813 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
2814 See supra, paras 468-481. 
2815 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the first murder in East Mostar occurred on 6 June 
1993 and was a result of HVO sniper fire. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1061-1070. 
2816 See supra, paras 792-814. With respect to Pdic, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber made findings 
regarding his intent for and contribution to both sniping and shelling, and yet did not include murder and wilful killing 
in its list of crimes for which Pdic was found directly responsible in relation to Mostar. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 174-176, 272. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 278. Reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, however, including 
the above-mentioned East Mostar findings, it is clear that the Trial Chamber was satisfied that Pdic had the intent for 
murder and wilful killing of civilians in East Mostar and that he contributed to them. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 
174-176 ("Pdic knew about the HVO crimes committed during the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East 
Mostar - that is, the murders and destruction of property ... by minimising them or attempting to deny them, he 
accepted and encouraged them"), 272 ("Pdic supported the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar and 
its impact on the civilian population ... and accepted the crimes directly linked to the HVO military operations against 
East Mostar"). Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers the omission of Counts 2 and 3 from the list of crimes to 
have been an inadvertent omission on part of the Trial Chamber. See also infra, para. 1245. 
2817 S ee, e.g., supra, paras 798-799. 
2818 See supra, paras 798, 805~812. 
2819 See supra, paras 806-812 and references cited therein. 
2820 See supra, paras 806-812 and references cited therein. 
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885. 'The Appeals Chamber also notes that, contrary to Corie's submission, the Trial Chamber's 

findings regarding the Appellants' contribution to, knowledge of, and intent for the crimes in 

East Mostar - including murder and wilful killing - were not dependent on the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that there was a pattern of conduct in the HVO crimes.' Rather, the Trial Chamber 

focused on the evidence concerning the Appellants' involvement in and kriowledge of the events in 

East Mostar.2821 Accordingly, the Dusa Reversal does not affect those findings. Further, given the 

small number of CCP murders found by the Trial Chamber to have been committed in the period 

from January 1993 until June 1993 the removal of murder and wilful killing from the CCP in that 

period does not impact the Trial Chamber's finding that there was a pattern of crimes or that the 

CCP existed, such that Corie should be relieved of any JCE liability or acquitted on Counts 2 and 3. 

886. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds, on the basis of the Trial Chamber's remaining 

findings, that there is no impact on the Trial Chamber's conclusion that murder and wilful killing 

were part of the CCP as of June 1993, when the CCP murders started occurring more regularly and 

when the Appellants were all found to have had the requisite intent As the remaining findings do 

not establish that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in April 1993, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that PrliC's conviction pursuant to JCE I for the murders of two 

unarmed men in Prozor must be reversed.2822 Insofar as the other Appellants, as members of the 

JCE, were also found responsible pursuant to JCE I for these murders, the Appeals Chamber 

reverses their convictions as wel1.2823 The impact of these findings on the Appellants' sentences, if 

any, will be assessed below. 

Cd) Alleged errors regarding events in Jablanica Municipality between February and May 1993 

887. The Trial Chamber found that in Jablanica Municipality, tensions between the HVO and 

ABiH mounted between the beginning of February and mid-April 1993.2824 On 15 April 1993, the 

HVO commenced shelling the town of Jablanica, and on 17 April 1993, the HVO launched an 

attack in the Jablanica Valley, shelling the villages of SoviCi and Doljani and ultimately taking 

control of these villages?825 Given the context of the broader attack in the Jablanica Valley, the 

Trial Chamber concluded that the attack on 17 April 1993 was not a "purely defensive" reaction to 

2821 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 174-176, 179-184, 336-337, 341-342, 355, 359, 362-363, 368-370, 372, 579-
582,586,745-756,936,938,940-945,1118-1122. 
2822 See also supra, fn. 2810; infra, paras 2791-2792. 
2823 As it has not been asked to do so by the Parties, the Appeals Chamber will not engage in an analysis of whether the 
elements of ICE III liability are met with respect to the Appellants'in connection to these incidents, particularly since 
doing so would require the Appeals Chamber to have a comprehensive understanding of the entire trial record. See also 
infra, para. 3125. . 
2824 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. 
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the ABiH attack on the same day.2826 The Trial Chamber also found that these military campaigns 

were accompanied by: (1) arrests and detentions of Muslims under harsh conditions (ABiH 

members and non-members alike); (2) the removal of ABiH members as well as several other men 

to Ljubuski Prison; and (3) the removal of the remaining Muslim popUlation outside Jablanica 

Municipality. 2827 

(i) PdiC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.3 and 10.4 in part) 

888. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HZ H-B leaders carried out 

the JCE in stages, by finding that the HVO attacked SoviCi and Doljani on 17 April 1993, and in 

concluding that this attack was not a defensive reaction to an ABiH attack.2828 In support of his 

assertions, Pdic adopts his sub-ground of appeal 16.2 by reference.2829 

889. The Prosecution responds that PdiC's arguments are unsupported assertions and warrant 

summary dismissa1.283o In relation to PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding on the 

implementation of the JCE in stages, the Prosecution argues that his unsupported assertions are 

coupled with redundant and unexplained cross-references, which also warrant summary 

dismissa1.2831 

890. The Appeals Chamber notes that beyond referring to arguments made elsewhere in his 

appeal brief, Pdic fails to explain why the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HVO attacked· 

SoviCi and Doljani on 17 April 1993, and in concluding that this attack was not a purely defensive 

reaction to the ABiH attack on the same day. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that it 

dismisses the submissions in PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.2 elsewhere.2832 The Appeals 

Chamber thus finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate an error and dismisses PdiC's . sub-grounds 

of appeal 10.3 and 10.4 in relevant part. 

2825 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. The Trial Chamber also found that on 5 May 1993, in the village of SoviCi, 
approximately 450 women, children, and the eldedy were moved by HVO soldiers from the SoviCi School and the 
houses of JunuzoviCi hamlet towards Gornji Vakuf. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 609. 
2826 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. 
2827 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 48. 
2828 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 286(d), 287, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 452-476, Vol. 2, paras 84, 87, 
89,330-342,346-395,445,465-467,503-506,514, 521-536, 538-549, 753, Vol. 4, paras 45-47,668, 1220. 
2829 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 288, referring to PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.2. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber 
"mischaracterized events and actions, failed to provide reasoned opinions, and applied an incorrect legal standard in 
assessing the evidence". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 311. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 281, 312. 
2830 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 166-167. The Prosecution submits that Prlic fails to explain how his 
arguments made under other grounds of appeal support the claims he makes in this instance. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Pdic), para. 167. 
2831 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 166, referring to Dordevid Appeal Judgement, para. 20(ix); GaUd 
AEpeal Judgement, para. 246. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 182-183 (20 Mar 2017). 
282 See infra, paras 1177-1208. 
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(ii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.1 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

891. Petkovic submits that the evidence does not support the Trial Chamber's conclusions that: 

(1) 450 women, children, and the elderly were moved from SoviCi on 5 May 1993 in the direction 

of Gomji Vakuf, causing serious mental suffering; and (2) the purpose of HVO actions in the region 

was to ensure that BiH Muslims were moved outside Jablanica Municipality, not to retum.2833 He 

asserts in this regard that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence demonstrating that the civilians 

from SoviCi were later transported from Gomji Vakuf to Jablanica, which, in his view, shows that 

the removal of citizens to Gomji Vakuf was just a temporary solution and did not result in a 

permanent change in the ethnic composition of Jablanica Municipality,z834 Petkovic also argues that 

the Trial Chamber erred when concluding that the HVO attack on SoviCi and Doljani was part of 

the CCP, given its acknowledgement that this attack was at least in part a defensive reaction to the 

ABiH attack on the same day.2835 

892. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that the crimes in 

Jablanica Municipality formed part of the CCP, given that they were systematically committed 

pursuant to a well-organised and orchestrated plan,z836 It asserts that these events formed part of the 

attempt to enforce the JCE members' interpretation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan,2837 and 

responds that PetkoviC's argument that the ethnic map of Jablanica must change for the crimes to 

fall within the CCP runs contrary to the Dordevic Appeal Judgement.2838 The Prosecution also 

submits that PetkoviC's argument regarding a. military justification for the attack on Jablanica 

should be summarily dismissed as a repetition of his trial argument without a demonstration of 

error, asserting that in any event, Appeals Chamber jurisprudence demonstrates that the existence of 

2833 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 54-56, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 609, 613, Vol. 3, paras 
850,908, Vol. 4, paras 30, 48. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(iii). 
2834 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 55-56, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613, Ex. P02825, Nihad Kovac, T. 
10311 (16 Nov 2006), Witness CA, T. 10042 (13 Nov 2006). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 485-486, 496-497 (23 Mar 
2017). . 
2835 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 57, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 

f8~~~~~~cution's Response Brief (PetkoviC), para. 47, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 142, 146, 
271,341, 717. 
2837 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 47. 
2838 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 48, referring to, inter alia, Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
para. 42, Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 532-533 (23 Mar 2017). The Prosecution 
argues that the Trial Chamber was aware that Witness CA returned to Jablanica in June 1993. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Petkovic), para. 48, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 612. 
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a defensive element to operations "does not undermine their link to the common criminal 

purpose".2839 

893. Petkovic replies that the Dordevic Appeals Chamber finding confirms that at least a 

temporary change in ethnic balance is necessary in order to establish the common criminal plan.284o 

b. Analysis 

894. As for PetkoviC's challenge regarding the Trial Chamber's findings on SoviCi, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that on 5 May 1993, approximately 450 

villagers (women, children, and the elderly) were moved towards Gornji Vakuf.2841 It then 

concluded that it did not have sufficient evidence to establish what happened next to the affected 

civilians.2842 The Appeals Chamber recalls that a common criminal plan to demographically modify 

a certain region "does not require a finding that the ethnic bala~ce be changed permanently" ?843 

. Accordingly, whether or not Petkovic is correct that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence 

showing that the population from SoviCi returned to Jablanica Municipality2844 is irrelevant. As a 

result, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber did not err in finding that the crimes 

that took place in Jablanica Municipality, including the removal of the population from SoviCi, fell 

within the CCP. Further, the Trial Chamber concluded that the removal of civilians on 5 May 1993 

amounted to crimes,2845 having taken account of, inter alia, a number of contemporaneous 

circumstances, including that the transfer was pre-planned by the HVO,2846 caused serious mental 

suffering to a particularly vulnerable group of civilians,2847 and deprived victims of the right to a 

normal social, family, and cultural life?848 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petko vic has 

failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's finding and his submission is dismissed. 

895. Turning to Petkovic's assertion that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to take account of the 

fact that the HVO's attack on the villages of SoviCi and Doljani was a defensive response to an 

2839 Pro;ecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 49, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 523, Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 812, Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 345-347. . 
2840 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(i), referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154; Appeal Hearing, AT. 567 
(23 Mar 2017). See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(iii). ' 
2841 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 609-615, Vol. 3, paras 849, 907. 
2842 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613. 
2843 See supra, fn. 2784. Cf PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14(i). . 
2844 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 55-56, referring to Ex. P02825, p. 2 (a report indicating that there were buses 
carrying refugees from Gornji Vakuf to Jablanica between 10 and 15 June 1993), Nihad Kovac, T. 10311 (16 Nov 
2006) (noting that the witness went to Jablanica from Gornji Vakuf); Witness CA, T. 10042 (13 Nov 2006) (noting that 
the witness returned to Jablanica). The Appeals Chamber notes that in any event, the Trial Chamber did take account of 
Witness CA's testimony regarding the return to Jablanica in June 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 612. 
2845 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 852,910,1703,1706. See alsoTrial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 145,718,723,1103. 
2846 See, e.g:, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 851, 909. . 
2847 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 850-851. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 907. 
2848 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 850, 908. 
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ABiH attack, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber stated that it could not find that 

the attack on SoviCi and Doljani was "purely a defensive reaction to the ABiH attack on that same 

day",2849 indicating that the attacks may have been, at least in part, motivated by offensive 

considerations. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "whether an attack was ordered as 

pre-emptive, defensive or offensive is from a legal point of view irrelevant, [ ... ] [t]he issue at hand 

is whether the way the military action was carried out was criminal or not".2850 In the present case, 

the Trial Chamber found that on 17 April 1993, the !IVO launched an attack in the Jablanica 

Valley, shelling several localities, including SoviCi and Doljani and committing crimes during and 

following the attack.2851 Considering the evidence pertaining to the attack on the entire Jablanica 

Valley, the Trial Chamber found that these crimes forn1ed part of the CCP on the basis that they 

occurred as part of the campaigns which were committed systematically and "had to be the result of 

a preconceived HVO plan".2852 Finally, it concluded that the crimes formed part of a "clear pattern 

of conduct", along with other crimes that were committed by the HVO between January 1993 and 

April 1994.2853 Accordingly, even if the attack on SoviCi and Doljani was partly defensive, this has 

no bearing on the Trial Chamber's ultimate conclusion that it resulted in crimes which it reasonably 

found formed part of the CCP. PetkoviC's argument is therefore dismissed.2854 

896. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Petkovic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its conclusion that the crimes in Jablanica Municipality fell within the CCP, 

and dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.1 in relevant part. 

(e) Alleged errors in the findings on HVO offensive actions in Prozor Municipality 

897. The Trial Chamber found that, between 17 and 19 April 1993, the HVO was conducting 

"offensive actions" and took possession of several villages in Prozor Municipality, committing acts 

of violence such as setting fire to Muslim houses, causing the Muslim population to flee, and 

2849 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01915, p. 2 (indicating that the HVO attack on the 
village of SoviCi was to start on 16 April 1993). 
2850 Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 812. 
2851 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46, 48. 
2852 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, para. 146. 
2853 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46-48 (noting, inter alia, that while the attack 
on SoviCi and Doljani was taking place, the HVO was also conducting "offensive actions" in several villages in the 
Municipality of Prozor) .. 
2854 The Appeals Chamber recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's finding that murder and willful killing were part of 
the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 874-886. Since the Trial Chamber found 
that no Jablanica killings were in fact part of the CCP, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the change in the 
scope of the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993 affects in any way the Trial Chamber's reasoning 
that the crimes in Jablanica which were part of the CCP followed a pattern of conduct that took place in other 
municipalities. See supra, para. 876. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 580-581, Vol. 4, para. 72. 
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thereby preventing any possibility of retum.2855 The Trial Chamber concluded that these actions fell 

within the CCP ,z856 

(i) PdiC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.3 and 10.4 in part) 

898. Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber wrongly concluded that the HZ H-B leaders carried out 

the JCE in stages by erroneously finding that, inter alia, the HVO attacked villages in Prozor 

Municipality between 17 and 19 April 1993, committing acts of violence and causing the Muslim 

population to flee,z857 He also relies by reference on submissions made in his sub-ground of appeal 

16.2.2858 

899. The Prosecution responds that PrliC's sub-ground of appeal in relevant part consists of mere 

assertions unsupported by any evidence coupled with unexplained cross-references to arguments he 

makes elsewhere, and requests that it be summarily dismissed,z859 

900. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 10.3 and 10.4 in relevant 

part as undeveloped, since he fails to reference any part of the trial record in support of the mere 

assertion that the findings on the Prozor attacks are erroneous and fails to particularise how or why 

his submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 16.2 support his present contentions. 

(ii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.1 in part) 

901. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the HVO military actions in 

Prozor Municipality in April 1993 that caused the Muslim population to flee were launched 

pursuant to the CCP. 2860 He argues that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude this because the 

Trial Chamber found that the crimes in relation to the removal of Muslims from Prozor 

Municipality (forcible transfer and unlawful transfer of civilians) were only committed on 

28 August and 14 November 1993.2861 

902. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that crimes 

committed during the HVO operations in Prozor Municipality in April 1993 furthered the CCP.2862 

The Prosecution argues that although the Trial Chamber only found crimes of deportation and 

2855 Trial Judgement, Vol. '4, para. 47. 
2856 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45,47,65-66. 
2857 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 286(d). See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
2858 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. 
2859 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 166-167. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 183 (20 Mar 2017). 
2860 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 52-53. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 24, 42-44; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, 
para. 14. 
2861 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 52; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14; Appeal Hearing, AT. 497-498 (23 Mar 2017). 
2862 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 45. 
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forcible transfer in Prozor Municipality in August 1993,2863 the Trial Chamber's factual findings 

link the April 1993 crimes to the CCP because the HVO offensive in Prozor Municipality involved 

violent crimes causing the Muslim population to flee and preventing their return?864 

903. The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber based its conclusion on the CCP on, 

inter alia, its findings that the HVO offensive in Prozor Municipality in April 1993 involved acts of 

violence such as the burning of Muslim houses, "causing the Muslim population to flee, and thereby 

preventing any possibility of return".2865 The finding that these violent acts, among other facts, 

support the conclusion on the CCP is not dependent on the findings regarding the crimes of forcible 

transfer and unlawful transfer of civilians.2866 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PetkoviC's 

sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.1 in relevant part. 

(iii) Praljak's appeal (Ground 10) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

904. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the crimes in Prozor 

Municipality formed part of the CCP.2867 In support, he argues that the Trial Chamber: (1) did not 

establish the identity of the "authors" of the CCP that resulted in the commission of crimes in 

Prozor,2868 or the "common action" of the JCE members, including Croatian officials;2869 (2) did not 

have evidence that the Croatian officials allegedly involved in the JCE had any knowledge of the 

Prozor events before they occurred;287o (3) reached its conclusion on the basis of Exhibit P11380, 

which was admitted erroneously;2871 (4) found that the Prozor crimes were not discussed among the 

JCE members;2872 and (5) in basing its conclusion on circumstantial evidence only, erred in 

disregarding evidence providing an alternative reasonable explanation for the events in Prozor, 

namely that they were a consequence of ABiH military activities threateriing the population.2873 In 

2863 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 46. The Prosecution notes that contrary to PetkoviC's submissions, 
the Trial Chamber found that crimes of forcible displacement were not established in Prozor for November 1993. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 46 & fn. 168. 
2864 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petko vic) , para. 46. 
2865 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 47. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45, 65-66. 
2866 Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 840-842, 894-896, Vol. 4, para. 47. 
2867 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 163-164, 167-168, 173-174. 
2868 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 163. 
286g Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 168. 
2870 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 168. 
2871 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 165 & fn. 380. Praljak argues, relying on his ground of appeal 50, that Exhibit P11380 
- one of the Mladic Diaries - was admitted erroneously because it was admitted in violation of his fundamental right to 
a fair trial. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 165 & fn. 381. 
2872 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 164. 
2873 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 166-167, 169-171, 173-174. In this regard, Praljak further argues that the 
Trial Chamber ignored evidence: (1) regarding the popUlation in Prozor consisting of 62.2 per cent Croats (which would 
render any plan to change the ethnic composition in favour of Croats absurd); and (2) that Croats were seeking refuge 
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this respect, Praljak argues, inter alia, that the Trial Chamber erred in disregarding evidence on the 

great influx of Muslims into central BiH fleeing Serb-controlled territories disrupting the ethnic 

balance between Croats and Muslims and contributing to the outbreak of the war.2874 

905. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that cnmes 

committed in Prozor during HVO operations in 1993 furthered the CCP,Z875 Specifically, the 

Prosecution submits that: (1) Praljak's arguments regarding the identity of the authors of the CCP 

and the JCE members' common action ignore the Trial Chamber's clear finding that the crimes in 

Prozor were linked to the implementation of the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, and followed the pattern 

of HVO crimes committed in other locations; (2) it is unnecessary to show that every JCE member 

knew precisely how the CCP would be implemented in Prozor;2876 (3) the Trial Chamber's findings 

regarding the plan of ethnic cleansing in Prozor are not dependent on Exhibit Pl1380;2877 

(4) whether Prozor was discussed in certain meetings is irrelevant;2878 and (5) the Prozor crimes 

were not a legitimate response to ABiH military activities nor solely the consequence of the existing 

situation in Prozor or of the instability caused by the arrival of refugees2879 but were, rather, a part 

of the JCE members' CCP to consolidate HVO control over Prozor by "'ethnically cleans[ing]' the 

Muslims".288o The Prosecution argues, in particular, that the ABiH's Neretva 93 offensive was 

launched in September 1993 and was therefore after the Prozor crimes.2881 

906. Praljak replies that the ABiH offensive during which Croats were expelled started well 

before summer 1993.2882 

from an ABiH offensive in central BiH in, inter alia, Prozor, which resulted in a chaotic situation. Praljak's Appeal 
Brief, paras 169, 171. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 472 (22 Mar 2017). 
2874 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, paras 171-172. 
2875 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 146. 
2876 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 150. 
2877 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 153. 
2878 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 150. The Prosecution further submits that in any event Prozor was 
discussed. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 150. 
2879 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 151-152. The Prosecution argues that Praljak's submission that the 
Prozor events were a consequence of an ABiH offensive merely repeats trial arguments without showing an error. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 146. The Prosecution claims that, in arguing that any plan to modify the 
ethnic composition in Prozor would have been absurd, Praljak misunderstands the CCP, which included consolidating 
HVO control to make so-called Croatian provinces nearly exclusively Croatian. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
para. 152. Furthermore, the Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not ignore Prozor's pre-conflict 
demographics or evidence of Croat refugees moving from central BiH to Prozor in mid-1993. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Praljak), para. 152. It also argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the objective to detain Prozor's 
Muslim women, children, and the elderly was to accommodate the Croats arriving in Prozor Municipality. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 152. 
2880 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 151. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 147-149. In 
this respect, the Prosecution argues that Praljak ignores key findings. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 146. 
2881 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 151. 
2882 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 72. See also Praljak' s Reply Brief, paras 69-71. 
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b. Analysis 

907. With regard to Praljak's arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to make findings as to the 

identity of the "authors" of the CCP that resulted in the commission of crimes in Prozor and as to 

the common action of the JCE members, the Appeals Chamber notes that he both fails to identify 

the challenged factual findings and ignores other relevant factual findings. 2883 It therefore dismisses 

these arguments. With respect to his claim that there was no evidence that the Croatian officials 

allegedly involved in the JCE had prior knowledge of the Prozor events, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber found that the CCP entailed consolidating HV 0 control over the 

so-called Croatian provinces under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, which included Prozor 

Municipality.2884 Further, it found that the crimes that took place in Prozor "tended to follow a clear 

pattern of conduct" as did the crimes that took place in other municipalities between January 1993 

and April 1994.2885 Consequently, the Trial Chamber found that the criminal plan of the JCE 

members, including the Croatian leaders, did encompass Prozor Municipality. The 

Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber was not required to establish that a 

participant in the JCE knew about each specific crime committed pursuant to the JCE.2886 Likewise, 

the lack of a finding that the JCE members discussed events in Prozor does not undermine the 

Trial Chamber's ultimate conclusion that Prozor crimes fell within the CCP. The Appeals Chamber 

further notes that this conclusion was based on many sources of evidence and is not dependent on 

Exhibit P 113 80.2887 Pralj ak' s argument is therefore dismissed.2888 

908. Turning finally to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence suggesting 

an alternative reasonable explanation for the Prozor events, namely that they were a consequence of 

ABiH military operations threatening the popUlation, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

2883 The Appeals Chamber notes that: (1) the Trial Chamber explicitly found that the attacks on the Prozor villages in 
April 1993 "were planned by Milivoj Petkovic, pursuant to an ultimatum issued by Jadranko Prlic to the ABiH" (Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220, 1231 (internal references omitted)); and (2) the Trial Chamber made further findings as 
to how the JCE members, including Croatian leaders, collaborated as a plurality of persons in implementing the CCP 
(Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1217-1232; see, in particular, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219, 1222-1223,1231). 
2884 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 446 & fn. 1062, para. 447 & fn. 1065 (both referring to Ex. P09276, map 
11), Vol. 4, paras 44,47,65. 
2885 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 47,65. 
2886 Sainovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491; Kvocka et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 276. 
2887 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41-68. See, in particular, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 47 and the section of the 
Trial Judgement referenced therein with underlying findings and evidence. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in any 
event, it addresses and dismisses the arguments Praljak makes regarding the allegedly erroneous admission of 
Exhibit Pl1380 elsewhere. See supra, para. 121. 
2888 The Appeals Chamber recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's finding that murder and willful killing were part of 
the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 874-886. Ultimately, however, the Appeals Chamber 
does not consider that this change in the scope of the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993 affects the 
Trial Chamber's reasoning concerning the clear pattern of conduct in relation to crimes in Prozor Municipality 
particularly since, as noted earlier, the Trial Chamber found that only two murders that formed part of the CCP occurred 
in Toscanica, which is in contrast to June 1993 and onwards. See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2790. See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 47, 65. 
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Trial Chamber expressly considered evidence and reached findings on the various topics to which 

Praljak refers, partly relying on the same evidence he now cites.2889 Accordingly, the relevant 

evidence to which Praljak refers in support of his argument was not ignored by the Trial Chamber 

in its reasoning.289o Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that, having considered these topics 

and underlying evidence, the Trial Chamber nevertheless concluded that the events in Prozor 

Municipality involving HVO acts of violence, including setting fire to Muslim houses, fell within 

the CCP to consolidate HVO control over provinces considered Croatian under the Vance-Owen 

Peace Plan by modifying their ethnic composition,z891 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes, in 

particular, that ethnic tensions in Prozor Municipality caused by the influx of Muslim refugees, 

contrary to Praljak's submission, do not contradict this finding. The Appeals Chamber further notes 

that the Trial Chamber considered other evidence and findings in this respect, including in relation 

to the pattern of the many crimes committed and the context of enforcing the HZ(R) H-B leaders' 

interpretation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan.2892 In sum, Praljak has failed to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have reached, as the only reasonable inference, the conclusion that the 

crimes committed in Prozor Municipality in April 1993 fell within the CCP. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 10. 

(f) Alleged errors in the findings on HVO actions in Mostar Municipality 

909. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) on 15 April 1993 the Mostar municipal HVO adopted a 

decision on the rights of refugees and displaced and deported persons ("15 April 1993 Decision"), 

and, as a result, Muslims had no access to humanitarian aid forcing them to leave Mostar;2893 (2) an 

HVO policy existed that entailed drastically reducing the Muslim population of the HZ H-B, 

especially in Mostar, while increasing the Croatian population there;2894 (3) the HVO arranged 

removals of Croats to Provinces 8 and 10, including those not fearing real danger due to combat, 

either by force or voluntarily, and by so doing could have altered the balance of power in. these 

2889 The Trial Chamber considered evidence and found that: (1) the Croats constituted around 63 per cent of Prozor 
Municipality's population in 1991 (Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 5, 8; cf Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 169); (2) some 
of the Croats moving from central BiH were under threat from the ABiH (Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 53 (referring 
to, inter alia, Ex. 3D00837), 54-55; cf Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 171, referring to the same exhibit); and (3) many of 
them arrived in Prozor (Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 53, 60, 63; see also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 5-6; cf 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 171). . 
2890 In any event, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was not required to refer to the testimony of every 
witness and to every piece of evidence on the record. See MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 224. 
2891 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45, 47, 55, 65-66. 
2892 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44,65. See also Trial Judgement, Vol, 4, paras 45-64. 
2893 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 49. 
2894 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 51. 
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provinces so that it favoured the Croats;2895 and (4) the HVO launched an attack on Mostar on 

9 May 1993.2896 The Trial Chamber further found that these actions fell within the CCp?897 

(i) PdiC's appeal (Sub-ground 10.5) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

910. Pdic contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the Mostar municipal HVO 

adopted the 15 April 1993 Decision which led to discrimination against Muslims.2898 He argues that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Croats became the majority in Mostar Municipality in 

May-June 1992 and that a subsequent influx of refugees again changed the demographic structure 

in Mostar in May 1993, this time in favour of Muslims.2899 

911. Prlic further argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the 15 April 1993 

Decision denied Muslim refugees humanitarian aid, forcing them to leave Mostar, as well as that at 

the beginning of May 1993, the HVO issued an ultimatum to Muslims occupying abandoned homes 

to leave by 9 May 1993 and that evictions started on 8 May 1993?900 In support of his argument, he 

submits that the Trial Chamber: (1) erroneously relied on adjudicated facts and Prosecution 

Witnesses BA's and BB's uncorroborated statements, excluding other relevant evidence such as 

evidence showing their lack of credibility;2901 (2) ignored Witness BB's "demonstrated lack of 

knowledge" of relevant issues;2902 (3) ignored Defence Witnes~ Martin Raguz's testimony that the 

15 April 1993 Decision was in accordance with the law on refugees, which regulated the 

obligations of military conscripts, and, in reality, changed nothing concerning the status of 

displaced persons regardless of their ethnicity;2903 and (4) ignored Defence Witness 

Marinko SimunoviC's testimony that: (i) similar decisions were adopted by Muslim-majority 

municipalities, (ii) there was no connection between the 15 April 1993 Decision and the movement 

of people or distribution of aid,2904 (iii) the level of humanitarian aid went down in April 1993 in 

2895 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 55. 
2896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 775, Vol. 4, para. 56. 
2897 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45, 49, 51, 54-56, 65-66. 
2898 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 289. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
2899 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 290. In support, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber relied on: (1) Witness BA's 
unsubstantiated statement; (2) "mischaracterized documents"; and (3) the testimony of Witness CS, whose evidence, 
when compared with Exhibit 1D00936, is inconclusive. Furthermore, he argues that the Trial Chamber ignored 
evidence, inter alia: (1) that data from the ODPR and ICRC from May 1993 onwards related only to West Mostar; and 
(2) from Witness CS that by May 1992, 7,905 refugees occupied abandoned apartments in Mostar town illegally. PdiC's 
A~peal Brief, para. 290. 
290 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 739-742, Vol. 4, paras 49, 159. 
2901 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291; PdiC's Reply Brief, 'para. 56. 
2902 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291. 
2903 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 292. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
2904 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 293. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 

380 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23515



part because of the 15 April 1993 Decision,2905 (iv) contrary to international reports, no one lost 

refugee status due to this decision,2906 (v) humanitarian aid was distributed transparently and 

without discrimination in Mostar Municipality,2907 and (vi) the Red Cross was independent and 

distributed aid equally. 2908 

912. The Prosecution responds that Prlic misrepresents the record in challenging the 

Trial Chamber's finding regarding the 15 April 1993 Decision denying Muslims humanitarian aid, 

arguing that Witnesses BA and BB corroborate each other and are corroborated by other evidence 

cited by the Trial Chamber.2909 The Prosecution also claims that Prlic does not substantiate his 

claim that the Trial Chamber ignored Witness BB' s "demonstrated lack of knowledge" and does not 

explain how this renders the Trial Cha~ber' s reliance on the evidence unreasonable.2910 It further 

argues that Prlic misrepresents the record with his assertion that the Trial Chamber ignored 

testimony from Raguz and Simunovic.Z911 Finally, the Prosecution contends that Prlic fails to show 

how the alleged errors could have affected the verdict.2912 

b. Analysis 

913. Turning first to PrliC's arguments that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Croats 

became the majority in Mostar Municipality in May-June 1992, and that a subsequent influx of 

refugees changed the demographic structure in Mostar in May 1993 in favour of Muslims, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that these arguments are made within the scope of his overarching 

challenge under ground of appeal 10 concerning the Trial Chamber's finding that the HZ(R) H-B 

had a CCP to dominate the Muslim population through ethnic cleansing.2913 The Appeals Chamber 

considers that the findings regarding the existence of the CCP and, consequently, Prlic's 

convictions,2914 do not rely on the demographic findings challenged under his sub-ground of app~al 

10.5.2915 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses these arguments. 

2905 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 293. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
2906 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 293. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
2907 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 294. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
2908 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 294. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
2909 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 173. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 168. 
2910 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 174. The Prosecution contends that, in any event, PdiC's assertions 
regarding Witness BB's ignorance are untrue. Prosecution's Response Brief (PdiC), para. 174. 
2911 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 175. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 168. 
2912 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 176. 
2913 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
2914 See, e.g., Trial Judgement,. Vol. 4, para. 278. 
2915 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 290, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 672-673. In this regard, 
the Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic fails to explain how the finding regarding the influx of mostly Muslim refugees 
into Mostar changing the demography there in May 1993 should have any impact on the Trial Chamber's findings 
regarding the existence of the CCP to dominate the Muslim population through ethnic cleansing. Cf Brdanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 22. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the finding that the Croats became the majority in Mostar 
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914. The Appeals Chamber turns to PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding 

that the 15 April 1993 Decision denied Muslim refugees humanitarian aid, forcing them to leave 

Mostar, as well as that at the beginning of May 1993 the HVO issued an ultimatum to Muslims 

occupying abandoned homes to leave by 9 May 1993 and that evictions started on 8 May 1993.2916 

With regard to his argument that Witnesses BA's and BB' s statements are uncorroborated, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's findings indicate that it found that these two 

witnesses corroborated each other,2917 and were corroborated by other evidence and adjudicated 

facts. 2918 In any event, there is no general requirement that the testimony of a witness be 

corroborated if deemed otherwise credible.2919 Further, PrliC'sargument that the Trial Chamber 

excluded evidence showing Witnesses BA's and BB's lack of credibility relies on his ground of 

appeal 6, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.292o As for his argument that the Trial 

Chamber ignored Witness BB' s lack of knowledge on a number of issues, Prlic fails to demonstrate 

how this renders the Trial Chamber's reliance on Witness BB' s evidence with regard to the 

15 April 1993 Decision unreasonable. 

915. With regard to PdiC's arguments that the Trial Chamber ignored the evidence of Raguz and 

Simunovic, the Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic challenges two sets of Trial Chamber findings: 

(1) that the 15 April 1993 Decision denied Muslim refugees humanitarian aid and forced them to 

leave Mostar;2921 and (2) that, at the beginning of May 1993, the HVO issued an ultimatum to 

Muslims occupying abandoned homes to leave by 9 May 1993 and that evictions started on 8 May 

1993.2922 The Appeals Chamber considers that the evidence of Raguz and Simunovic highlighted by 

Prlic concerns the 15 April 1993 Decision,2923 and is thus irrelevant to the latter finding. 2924 To the 

extent that the allegedly ignored evidence is relevant to the fonner finding,2925 the Appeals 

Municipality in May-June 1992 relates to a period outside of the time frame of the CCP. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
garas 44 et seq. 

916 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 739-742, Vol. 4, paras 49, 
159. 
2917 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 739, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09712 (confidential), paras 23, 26, Witness BA, 
T(F). 7173 (closed session) (25 Sept 2006), Witness BB, T(F). 17142, 17144 (closed session) (16 Apr 2007). 
2918 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 739 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09840 (confidential), para. 5),741-742 (referring 
to, inter alia, Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlic et al., Case No. IT-04-74-T, Decision on Prosecution Motions for Judicial 
Notice of Adjudicated Facts of 14 and 23 June 2006, 7 September 2006, Adjudicated Fact no. 79, Ex. P02227, p. 2). 
PdiC's mere assertion that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on adjudicated facts is dismissed. 
2919 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. See also Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
2920 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291; Pdic's Reply Brief, para. 56, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 182-183, 
189-190 (PdiC's ground of appeal 6). See supra, para. 218. The Appeals Chamber understands that Pdic intended to 
refer to Witness BB, not Witness Be. Cj. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291; Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), fn. 591; 
PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 56). PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously excluded "other relevant evidence" 
without any further specification is dismissed as a mere assertion. 
2921 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 739-741, Vol. 4, paras 49, 159. 
2922 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 742. 
2923 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 292-293, and references cited therein. 
2924 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 742. 
2925 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 291, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 739-741, Vol. 4, para. 49. 
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Chamber considers that Pdic fails to provide support for his claim that Raguz testified that the 15 

April 1993 Decision in reality changed nothing concerning the status of displaced persons 

regardless of their ethnicity. 2926 He also fails to support his submission that Simunovic testified that 

there was no connection between that decision and the movement of people or distribution of 

humanitarian aid.2927 Further, PrliC's claim that contrary to international reports no one lost refugee 

status based on the 15 April 1993 Decision is not borne out by the testimony he cites.2928 As for the 

remainder of the allegedly ignored evidence, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic fails to 

explain how this evidence could impugn the challenged finding. 2929 PdiC's arguments that the Trial 

Chamber ignored testimony from Raguz and Simunovic are therefore dismissed. 

916. Having dismissed the arguments above, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed 

to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concludipg that: (1) the Mostar municipal HVO 

adopted the 15 April 1993 Decision" which led to discrimination against Muslims; (2) Croats 

became the majority in Mostar Municipality in May-June 1992, and that a new influx of refugees 

changed the demographic structure in Mostar in May 1993 in favour of Muslims; (3) the 

15 April 1993 Decision denied Muslim refugees humanitarian aid, forcing them to leave Mostar; 

and (4) at the beginning of May 1993, the HVO issued an ultimatum to Muslims occupying 

2926 The Appeals Chamber notes that the references to Raguz's testimony that Prlic cites in his appeal brief, fn. 809, do 
not support this assertion. The Appeals Chamber notes that Raguz testified that the 15 April 1993 Decision envisaged 
who could be granted refugee or displaced person status and that it regulated the entitlement to refugee cards and aid in 
Mostar Municipality. Martin Raguz, T. 31481,31483 (27 Aug 2008). See also Martin Raguz, T. 31284 (25 Aug 2008). 
The Appeals Chamber fails to see how the assertion that the 15 April 1993 Decision was in accordance with the law on 
refugees, which regulated the obligations of military conscripts, carries any relevance to the challenged finding. 
2927 The Appeals Chamber notes that the references to SimunoviC's testimony that Prlic cites in his appeal brief, fn. 810, 
do not support this assertion. Simunovic, to the contrary, testified that he and the Red Cross had to distribute aid 
according to the criteria of the 15 April 1993 Decision. Matinko Simunovic, T. 33588, 33596-33597 (22 Oct 2008). The 
Appeals Chamber further notes that, in addition, Simunovic testified that in accordance with the 15 April 1993 
Decision: (1) internally displaced persons moved to their formerly abandoned homes when they were able to do so; and 
(2) displaced persons accommodated in schools were to be relocated to other buildings. Marinko Simunovic, T. 33444-
33445 (20 Oct 2008), T. 33594 (22 Oct 2008). The Appeals Chamber fails to see how the assertion that decisions 
similar to the 15 April 1993 Decision were adopted in Muslim-majority municipalities is relevant to the impugned 
finding. 
2928 The Appeals Chamber again notes that the references to SimunoviC's testimony that Prlic cites in his appeal brief, 
fn. 812, do not support his assertion. To the contrary, Simunovic testified that the number of beneficiaries, in particular 
in the category of militarily able-bodied men, did change as a result of the 15 April 1993 Decision. Marinko Simunovic, 
T. 33632-33633 (22 Oct 2008). 
2929 The Appeals Chamber fails to see how the assertion that the level of international humanitarian aid went down in 
April 1993 in part because of the 15 April 1993 Decision could cast doubt on the challenged finding. It further notes 
that the evidence that Prlic cites in support in his appeal brief, fns 813-814, does not support his assertions that the aid 
was distributed in Mostar Municipality in a non-discriminatory manner and that the Red Cross distributed it equally. 
Insofar as Marinko Simunovic testified that: (1) the Mostar Red Cross "did its job" irrespective of persons' ethnic 
background (Marinko Simunovic, T. 33681 (23 Oct 2008)); (2) the Mostar Red Cross operated free from the influence 
of the executive authorities (Marinko Simunovic, T. 33409 (20 Oct 2008)); and (3) the Muslims were receiving 
humanitarian aid under the same conditions as the Croats (Marinko Simunovic, T. 33527 (21 Oct 2008)), the Appeals 
Chamber notes that he also testified that he distributed aid according to the 15 April 1993 Decision. See supra, fn. 2927. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that the witness also stated that the Red Cross relied for the determination as to who 
required aid on lists of persons created by "professional services of the municipality and the Social Services on the 
ground". Marinko Simunovic, T. 33419 (20 Oct 2008). See Marinko Simunovic, T. 33418, 33420-33421 (20 Oct 2008). 
See also Marinko Simunovic, T. 33495-33496 (21 Oct 2008). 
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abandoned homes to leave by 9 May 1993 and that evictions started on 8 May 1993. The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 10.5. 

(ii) PdiC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.6, 10.7, and 10.8) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

917. Pdic asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that an HVO policy existed to 

drastically reduce the Muslim population of the HZ H-B, especially in Mostar, through removing 

the Muslim population and increasing the Croatian population.293o Pdic argues that the 

Trial Chamber relied on Witness BA's testimony without other supporting evidence, and 

disregarded all contrary evidence?931 Pdic also claims that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding 

that there was a new influx of people in Mostar around 5 May 1993, changing the demography in 

favour of Muslims.2932 He further claims that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Prlic 

requested humanitarian organisations' assistance in moving Croats to areas considered to be 

Croatian.2933 Lastly, Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HVO 

arranged the removal of Croats to Provinces 8 and 10 to alter the balance of power.2934 In support of 

his submission, Pdic argues that Prosecution Witnesses Beese's and BD's evidence was 

unsubstantiated, and that it "defies logic" that Croats would ethnically cleanse Croats from 

Province 10 to Province 8, which in 1992 was already 90 per cent Croatian?935 

918. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show an error in arguing that Witness BA's 

evidence was not supported by other evidence, and that he ignores ample evidence corroborating 

the existence of an HVO policy of ethnic cleansing?936 The Prosecution argues that PdiC's claim 

that the Trial Chamber disregarded all evidence contrary to Witness BA's testimony is 

unsubstantiated, fails to identify the allegedly contrary evidence, and is contradicted by the 

Trial Chamber's express consideration of Prlic's case denying such a policy.2937 Finally, the 

Prosecution argues that the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE is not contradicted by the Trial Chamber's 

finding on the HVO seeking to move Croats from Province 10 to Province 8, since the HVO lost 

control of Travnik (the capital of Province 10) to the ABiH in mid-June 1993.2938 

2930 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 295-296, referring to PdiC's grounds of appeal 16.5, 16.6.2, 16.6.5-16.6.6. See also 
Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
2931 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 296. 
2932 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 297. 
2933 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 299. 
2934 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 300. '. 
2935 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 300. 
2936 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 177. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 184-185 (20 Mar 2017). 
2937 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 177. 
2938 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 178. 
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b. Analysis 

919. Turning first to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding on the existence of an HVO 

policy entailing the drastic reduction of the Muslim population while increasing the Croat 

population in HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlie fails to articulate any error when 

arguing that Witness BA's evidence is not supported by other evidence, given that there is no legal 

requirement for corroboration.2939 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that, contrary to PrliC's 

assertion, the Trial Chamber considered ample corroborating evidence.294o The Appeals Chamber 

also dismisses PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber disregarded all contrary evidence, as it is 

unsupported by any evidence.2941 Further, Prlie fails to particu1arise how his submissions in sub­

grounds of appeal 16.5, 16.6.2, 16.6.5, and 16.6.6 support his present arguments, and, therefore, 

they are dismissed as undeveloped.2942 

920. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses as undeveloped PrliC's claims that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that: (1) there was a new influx of people in Mostar around 

5 May 1993, changing the demography in favour of Muslims;2943 and (2) Prlie requested 

humanitarian organisations' assistance in moving Croats to areas considered to be Croatian. In this 

regard, Prlie fails to particularise how his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 16.6.2 support his 

claims. 

921. With regard to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HVO 

arranged removals of the Croat population to alter the balance of power, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that he fails to support his claim that the evidence of Beese and Witness BD is 

unsubstantiated. This argument is therefore dismissed as undeveloped. The Appeals Chamber 

further considers that PrliC's argument that it "defies 10gic,,2944 that Croats would ethnically cleanse 

other Croats from Province 10 to Province 8 (which in 1992 was already 90 per cent Croatian) is 

baseless, given that the Trial Chamber clearly explained how these relocations formed an integral 

2939 Kordi6 and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. See Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 21. Furthermore, PrliC's 
argument regarding Witness BA relies on his challenges to the witness's credibility under sub-ground of appeal 6.1, 
which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, para. 218. . 
2940 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 51, referring to Bo Pellnas, T(F). 19511-19512 (5 June 2007), Witness BB, 
T(F). 17185, 17188 (16 April 2007) (closed session), Exs. P09593, para. 3 (confidential), P09712, paras 24-25 
(confidential). 
2941 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber specifically considered both of PdiC's arguments that there 
was no plan or any measures designed to ethnically cleanse the regions controlled by the HZ(R) H-B or the surrounding 
regions, and that the accusations of "reverse ethnic cleansing" were without any basis. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
39. 
2942 The Appeals Chamber notes that, in any event, it dismisses elsewhere the submissions made under these 
sub-grounds. See infra, paras 1287-1298, 1300-1317. 
2943 The Appeals Chamber notes that it dismisses elsewhere PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 10.5, to which he refers in this 
submission. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 817; supra, paras 910-916. 
2944 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 300. 
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part of the project to consolidate HVO control by criminal means.2945 Prlic simply attempts to 

substitute his own evaluation of this evidence for that of the Trial Chamber and, therefore, this 

argument is dismissed. 

922. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that an HVO policy existed to drastically reduce the Muslim 

population of the HZ H-B, especially in Mostar, through removing the Muslim population and 

increasing the Croatian population. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's sub-grounds 

of appeal 10.6, 10.7, and 10.8. 

(iii) StojiC's appeal (Ground 47) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

923. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law and failed to give a "reasoned 

decision" in finding that the HVO launched the attack on Mostar on 9 May 1993.2946 First, given 

that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that the evidence remained "very divided",2947 Stojic argues 

that it was "impossible" to conclude beyond reasonable doubt that the attack was launched by the 

HVO.2948 Second, Stojic argues that no witness could reliably establish that the HVO launched the 

attack. 2949 In particular, he contends that: (1) the local-witnesses did not give evidence that 

adequately supported this conclusion; (2) contrary to the Trial Chamber's conclusion, most of the 

international witnesses were not in Mostar on 9 May 1993;2950 and (3) there is another reasonable 

inference to be drawn from the HVO radio broadcast on the need to establish law and order which 

the civilian witnesses heard, namely, that the attack could have been a response to ABiH actions?951 

Third, Stojic claims that the Trial Chamber failed to explain why it disregarded submissions and 

evidence suggesting that the ABiH initiated the attack, in particular that: (1) the ABiH was planning 

an attack on Mostar in April 1993; (2) military and technical equipment was supplied to the ABiH 

in Mostar in May 1993 by the HVO; (3) only five or six men were present at the relevant HVO 

command post just before the attack commenced; (4) none of the Appellants were in Mostar; and 

2945 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 51-56, 60-64. 
2946 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 398, paras 3~8-402. 
2947 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 399, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 764. 
2948 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 399-400. 
2949 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 400. 
2950 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 400, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 775. Stojic refers here to 
Witnesses BF, Beese, and Klaus Johann Nissen. He further argues that Witness Grant Finlayson was in the relevant 
area, but was unable to explain the basis for concluding that the HVO started the attack. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
400. 
2951 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 400, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 765. 
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(5) the HVO needed to call reinforcements to Mostar.2952 Stojic contends that these errors led the 

Trial Chamber to find that the events in Mostar were part of the CCP, as opposed to a defensive 

response to the ABiH attack.2953 

924. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber, having considered the totality of the 

evidence, reasonably concluded that the HVO launched the attack on Mostar on 9 May 1993.2954 It 

argues that the inhabitants of Mostar all gave similar accounts of the 9 May 1993 events -

consistent with the evidence from the international witnesses - that the HVO attacked the town?955 

The Prosecution further responds that Stojic misrepresents the evidence, considering that local 

witnesses were able to establish that the HVO started the attack.2956 Lastly, the Prosecution argues 

that the Trial Chamber considered the evidence Stojic referred to, but ultimately relied, instead, on 

other evidence regarding the attack. 2957 

b. Analysis 

925. Turning first to StojiC's claim that the evidence of local witnesses failed to reliably establish 

that the HVO launched the attack on Mostar, the Appeals Chamber notes that contrary to StojiC's 

claim, evidence, including that of several local witnesses, supports the Trial Chamber's finding that 

the initial attack came from Hum mountain and West Mostar,2958 which were controlled by the 

HVO. 2959 The Trial Chamber also took account of the fact that Mostar residents testified that at 

around 9:00 a.m. on 9 May 1993, the HVO broadcast an official press announcement to the effect 

that the HVO had undertaken a "large-scale action" to restore law and order and called on the 

2952 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 401, referring, inter alia, to Exs. P01962, P01970, 3DOlOlO, 3D01023, 3D01008, 
3DOlO09. In support of his submission that MTS was supplied to the ABiH in Mostar in May 1993, Stojic refers to 
garagraph 29 and footnotes 85 and 86 of his appeal brief, under his ground of appeal 2. 

953 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 398, 402. 
2954 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 364. 
2955 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 365-368, 371. The Prosecution submits that it is immaterial that most 
of the international witnesses were not in Mostar during the attack, as they testified about reports they received from 
observers present in Mostar. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 367. It also maintains that according to 
inhabitants of Mostar the shelling was coming from HVO controlled areas and was directed at ABiH-controlled areas. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 365. The Prosecution further argues that contemporaneous reports of 
international observers also describe HVO shelling of ABiH positions. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 366. 
2956 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 369. Furthermore, the Prosecution submits that the evidence of the 
HVO radio broadcast together with the other evidence supports the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO launched the 
9 May 1993 attack. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 370. 
2957 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 371. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 364. 
2958 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 765 & fn. 1767, referring to Ex. P09805 (confidential), p. 2 (Witness CT heard that 
the shooting came from the upper part of the settlement formerly called Bakamluk, renamed Vatican); Ex. PlO032, 
para. 7 (Witness Mujo Copelj stated that he was awoken by the sounds of shelling coming from the "Western side" and 
from Mount Hum and Bakina Luka); Ex. PlO033, para. 7 (Witness Muris Marie stated that "the HVO" launched the 
offensive from the "West side"); Ex. PlO034 (confidential), paras 6-7 (Witness DY stated that she was told that the 
shelling came from Hum hill and from the Velez stadium); Ex. 3D03101, p. 4 (excerpt of a book by 
Ismet Hazdiosmanovic stating that the "HVO firing" came from the locality of Hum hill as he could clearly see from his 
arsartrnent). . 
259 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 761, 769. The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic does not challenge these 
findings under the present ground of appeal. 
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Muslims to place white flags in their windows "as a sign of their capitulation".296o Finally, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that when discussing the evidence of local witnesses, the Trial Chamber 

also relied on Adjudicated Fact no. 81 which states that the "HVO attacked Mostar using artillery, 

mortars, heavy weapons and small arms,,?961 The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to 

show that, in light of the totality of this evidence, no reasonable trier of fact could have interpreted 

it in the way the Trial Chamber did. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the 

conclusion that the evidence of local witnesses supported the finding that the HVO launched the 

attack on 9 May 1993. 

926. As for StojiC's claim that "most" of the international witnesses relied upon by the 

Trial Chamber were not in Mostar on 9 May 1993, the Appeals Chamber observes as a preliminary 

matter that the Trial Chamber relied on the evidence of a large number of international witnesses in 

respect of the events of 9 May 1993, including the three witnesses referred to by Stojic.2962 As 

Stojic points out, Beese, Nissen, and Witness BF testified that they were not in Mostar on 

9 May 1993?963 However, when making a finding that the "observers from the international 

community in Mostar on 9 May 1993 confirmed the description of the fighting on 9 May provided 

by the inhabitants of Mostar",2964 the Trial Chamber did not rely on the evidence of Beese, Nissen, 

and Witness BF. Rather, it relied on a number of other international witnesses and documents, 

including relevant international reports. 2965 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial 

Chamber considered the evidence of Beese, Nissen, and Witness BF only as corroborative of its 

findings about the incident which were based on eyewitness testimony. 2966 The Appeals Chamber 

thus finds no error in the Trial Chamber's approach to the evidence of Beese, Nissen, and Witness 

BF, and dismisses StojiC's argument to the contrary. 

2960 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 766. 
2961 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 1764. See also Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlic et aI., Case No. IT-04-74-T, Decision on 
Prosecution Motions for Judicial Notice of Adjudicated Facts of 14 and 23 June 2006, 7 September 2006, p. 16. 
2962 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 771-772, and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, p!\Ta. 
764. 
2963 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 400, referring to Christopher Beese, T. 3156, 3167 (14 June 2006) (Beese testified 
that he left Mostar on the afternoon of 8 May 1993 for Split, and was on leave from 9 May 1993), Klaus Johann Nissen, 
T. 20602 (27 June 2007) (Nissen was on leave on 9 May 1993), Witness BF, T. 25909 (8 Jan 2008) (closed session), T. 
25959 (9 Jan 2009) (closed session). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 771 & fn. 1795 (referring, inter alia, to 
Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20601-20601 (27 June 2007», 772 (referring, inter alia, to Christopher Beese, 
T(F). 3167-3169 (14 June 2006), Witness BF, T(F). 25909-25910 (14 June 2006». 
2964 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 771 (emphasis added). 
2965 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 771 & fn. 1794. The Trial Chamber also observed later in the same paragraph that 
some of the international observers were able to see that the HVO was shelling Mostar intensely. This finding also did 
not depend on the evidence of Beese, Nissen, and Witness BF. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 771 & fn. 1796. 
2966 The Trial Chamber took account of, inter alia, Nissen's evidence to support the finding that the HVO had restricted 
the movement of international observers (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 771 & fn. 1795), and Beese's, Nissen's, and 
Witness BF's evidence to support the conclusion that the HVO had started the attack on 9 May 1993 (see Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 772 & fn. 1798). 
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927. As regards StojiC's argument that there was an alternative reasonable inference in respect of 

the HVO's radio broadcast, namely, that the attack could have been a response to ABiH actions, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that Mostar residents testified that around 9:00 a.m. on 9 May 1993, the 

HVO broadcast an official press announcement to the effect that the HVO had undertaken a 

large-scale action to restore law and order.2967 The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic merely 

suggests a different interpretation of the evidence without demonstrating that the Trial Chamber 

unreasonably concluded, based on the totality of evideuce, that the attack on 9 May 1993 was 

launched by the HVO . . 
928. As for StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to explain why it disregarded 

submissions and evidence suggesting that the ABiH initiated the attack, the Appeals Chamber notes 

that contrary to StojiC's submission, the Trial Chamber expressly considered evidence that only five 

or six men were present at the relevant HVO command post just before the attack commenced,2968 

that none of the Appellants were in Mostar,2969 and that the HVO needed to call reinforcements to 

Mostar,z97o Further, as regards StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that 

military and technical equipment was supplied to the ABiH in Mostar in May 1993, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the HVO and ABiH co-operated militarily from 

May 1992 against the JNA and VRS.2971 It further found, considering, inter alia, the evidence 

referred to by Stojic, that in furtherance of this co-operation, the HVO supplied the ABiH with 

medical aid, weapons, and military equipment in 1992 and 1993.2972 Lastly, with regard to StojiC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that the ABiH was planning an attack on 

Mostar in April 1993, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial judgement should be read as a 

whole,2973 and notes that the Trial Chamber found that both the HVO and the ABiH seemed to be 

preparing for a potential attack on the eve of 9 May 1993,z974 It also considered evidence suggesting 

that it was the ABiH that attacked the HVO on the morning of 9 May 1993 but nevertheless 

concluded that it was the HVO that launched an attack on Mostar on that day.2975 Accordingly, the' 

2967 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 766. 
2968 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 768. 
2969 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 773. 
2970 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 770 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3DOlO07, 3DOlO08, 3DOlO09, 3D0101O, 
3D01023), 772 (noting testimony to the effect that the HVO redeployment orders could be explained by the fact that the 
HVO was surprised by the ABiH's strong resistance). 
2971 See Trial Judgement, Yol. 1, para. 440. 
2972 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440 & fns 1037-1039, Vol. 2, para. 696 & fn. 1562, Yol. 4, para. 308 & fn. 732. 
Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 29 & fns 85-86, referring to, inter alia, Andelko Makar, T. 38447-38448, 38453-38456 
(23 Mar 2009), Exs. 2D01107, 2D01108. See also Trial Judgement, Yol. 1, fn. 1114. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 86, 
referring to, inter alia, Andelko Makar, T. 38447-38448 (23 Mar 2009). See generally infra, paras 985-990. 
2973 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 202; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 306, 321; Boskoski 
and Tarculovski Appeal Judgement, para. 67. 
2974 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 774. 
2975 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 768-770, 775. 
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Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a 

reasoned opinion by not expressly considering the evidence regarding events in April 1993. 

929. Turning finally to StojiC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on "divided 

evidence" when concluding that the HVO initiated the attack, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber observed that "the evidence remains very divided with respect to how the attack of 

9 May 1993 started".2976 The Appeals Chamber considers that there is no error, per se, in the 

Trial Chamber making a finding adverse to StojiC's submission while recognising that the evidence 

in respect of the attack was very divided. Moreover, Stojic fails to highlight any inconsistencies that 

the Trial Chamber left unresolved.2977 

930. In conclusion, the Appeals' Chamber finds that Stojic has not demonstrated that the 

Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion, and has not succeeded in showing that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the HVO launched the attack on Mostar on 

9 May 1993. StojiC's ground of appeal 47 is dismissed. 

(iv) Praljak's appeal (Ground 28) 

931. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the crimes in Mostar formed 

part of the CCP.2978 In support, he argues that: (1) this is not the only reasonable conclusion from 

the evidence since the events in Mostar were a consequence of ABiH attacks and not "part of any 

plan,,;2979 (2) the Trial Chamber did not establish the identity of the "authors" of the CCP that 

resulted in the commission of crimes in Mostar, nor Praljak's involvement in these crimes before 

24 July 1993,2980 nor the common action of the JCE members, including Croatian leaders, in 

Mostar;2981 and (3) there is no evidence that either Praljak or the Croatian officials allegedly 

involved in the JCE had any knowledge of actions in Mostar before they occurred.2982 

2976 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 764. . 
.2977 See KupreSkic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 31 (stating that it is "certainly" within the discretion of the trial 
chamber to evaluate any inconsistencies, and that it is the trial chamber that has the main responsibility to resolve any 
inconsistencies that may arise within and/or among witnesses' testimonies). 
2978 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 326, 329; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 79. 
2979 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 325, 328-329; Appeal Hearing, AT. 383-384, 400 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak further 
contends that the ABiH attacks forced the HVO to protect itself and the Croatian population and to engage in battle in a 
populated urban environment; most of the resulting victims were collateral damage. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 328. 
With regard to some crimes that might have been committed by HVO members, Praljak asserts that these were isolated 
acts and not part of any criminal plan. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 328. 
2980 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 326; Praljak's Reply Brief, paras 79, 81. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber's 
findings show that his actions, contrary to HVO policy, aimed at assisting international organisations in bringing 
humanitarian aid into Mostar. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 81. 
2981 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 327. 
2982 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 327; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 80. 
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932. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that crimes 

committed in Mostar formed part of the CCP?983 In, particular, the Prosecution submits that: 

(1) Praljak's claim that the Mostar events were a consequence of ABiH attacks ignores several 

Trial Chamber findings and repeats failed trial arguments;2984 (2) his argument regarding the 

identity of the authors of the CCP resulting in the Mostar crimes likewise ignores key findings;2985 

(3) the Trial Chamber's finding that Praljak did not contribute to crimes committed in Mostar 

before 24 July 1993 has no impact on whether such crimes formed part of the CCP, particularly in 

light of the Trial Chamber's findings that these crimes were part of a preconceived plan, 

implemented in a co-ordinated manner by other JCE members;2986 (4) his argument regarding the 

JCE members' common action 'ignores various Trial Chamber findings;2987 and (5) his insistence on 

evidence that Croatia's representatives had prior knowledge of HVO activities in Mostar is 

misplaced.2988 

933. With regard to Praljak's argument that the Mostar events were a consequence of ABiH 

attacks and not part of a plan, the Appeals Chamber notes that he both fails to identify the 

challenged factual findings and ignores other relevant factual findings?989 The same is the case with 

his arguments that the Trial Chamber omitted to make findings as to the identity of the "authors" of 

the CCP that resulted in the commission of the crimes in Mostar and as to the common action of the 

JCE members including Croatian leaders in Mostar.2990 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses 

these submissions. 

934. With respect to Praljak's claim that there was no evidence that he or the Croatian officials 

who were allegedly involved in the JCE had prior knowledge of the actions in Mostar, the 

2983 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 173. 
2984 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 175, See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 174. The 
Prosecution further submits that the HVO's crimes cannot be justified as me:r;e collateral damage, considering that HVO 
shelling: (1) also targeted civilians and civilian objects; (2) included the use of indiscriminate weapons; and (3) affected 
the whole of East Mostar. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 175. 
2985 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 173-174. 
2986 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 176. 
2987 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 176. 
2988 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 176. 
2989 Notably, Praljak ignores various findings on events in Mostar that clearly do not qualify as responses to ABiH 
military action, such as withholding humanitarian aid from Muslims, large-scale arrests and systematic eviction 
operations of civilians, and impeding or blocking humanitarian convoys. See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 49, 
57-59,64. 
2990 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 327 & fn. 792. The Appeals Chamber notes in this respect that the Trial Chamber 
explicitly found that the Appellants, all of whom were found to be JCE members, contributed to the crimes that took 
place in Mostar. See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 165, 171, 348-349, 355-357,581, 586, 734-735, 738, 928, 
933-934, 1110, 1112, 1116. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber made findings as to how the 
JCE members, including Croatian leaders, collaborated as a plurality of persons in implementing the CCP .. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219, 1222-1223, 1231. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1217-1218, 1220-1221, 1224-
1230, 1232. To the extent Praljak argues that the JCE members were not present in Mostar, the Appeals Chamber 
recalls that it is not necessary that a participant in a JCE be physically present at the site of the crime at the time it is 
committed. See Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 112; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 81. 
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Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the CCP entailed consolidating HVO 

control over the so-called Croatian provinces under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, which included 

Mostar Municipality?991 Further, it found that the crimes that took place in Mostar "tended to 

follow a clear pattern of conduct" along with the crimes that took place in other municipalities 

between January 1993 and April 1994.2992 Consequently, the Trial Chamber found that the criminal 

plan of the JCE members, including the Croatian leaders, did encompass Mostar Municipality.2993 

The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber was not required to establish that a 

participant in the JCE knew about each specific crime committed pursuant to the JCE.2994 Praljak's 

argument that the Trial Chamber did not establish his involvement in the Mostar crimes before 

24 July 1993 is not determinative as to whether the crimes in Mostar formed part of the CCP?995 

The Appeals Chamber therefore concludes that Praljak has failed to show that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded that the crimes in Mostar formed part of the CCP. The Appeals Chamber 

dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 28. 

(v) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.1 in part) 

935. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred when it found that "ethnic cleansing" began 

in Mostar in mid-May 1993 and that Muslims were forcibly transferred from West Mostar to 

East Mostar on 26 May 1993?996 Petkovic argues that neither of these findings is supported by the 

cited evidence which was either not concerned with the second half of Mayor did not relate to 

evictions and expulsions at al1. 2997 PetkoviC further argues that the totality of the evidence shows 

that, in fact, the 26 May 1993 transfer was a voluntary exchange of Croats and Muslims.2998 

2991 Se~, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 446 & fn. 1062, para. 447 & fn. 1065 (both referring to Ex. P09276, map 
11), para. 449, Vol. 4, paras 44, 49-52, 54-58, 65. 
2992 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 49, 51, 54-58, 65. The Appeals Chamber recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's 
finding that murder and willful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 874-
886. Ultimately, however, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that this change in the scope of the CCP in that 
period affects the Trial Chamber's reasoning concerning the clear pattern of conduct in relation to crimes, particularly 
since not many instances of murders which were part of the CCP took place in that period, in contrast to June 1993 and 
onwards. See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2790. 
2993 This included the expanded crimes that took place in East Mostar from June 1993 as the Trial Chamber made 
findings indicating that the Croatian leaders were informed about events in BiH, including in East Mostar, mainly 
through PraljaIc but also through other Appellants. See supra, paras 2453, 2458, 2531. 
2994 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 276. 
2995 See, e.g., Karemera and Ngirumpatse' Appeal Judgement, para. 153. To the extent that Praljak challenges his own 
participation in the JCE, the Appeals Chamber addresses this argument below. See infra, paras 1975-2014. 
2996 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 66. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 60, 63. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
fcaras 24, 42-44, 59; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14; Appeal Hearing, AT. 498-499 (23 Mar 2017). 

997 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 61-62, 64, 66, referring to Exs. P02425, P09677 (confidential), P09384 (witness 
statement of Miro SalCin), para. 9; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14. 
2998 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 65-66; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 14, referring to Exs. P02512, P02524, Witness 
A, T. 14111 (closed session) (14 Feb 2007). 
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936. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that crimes 

committed during HVO operations in Mostar furthered the CCP.2999 It argues that the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO forcibly removed Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar 

in the second half of May 1993 is supported by a wide range of evidence, and that Petko vic fails to 

show that the Trial Chamber erred in this regard. 30oo The Prosecution submits that Petko vic wrongly 

asserts that there was a voluntary population exchange of Croats and Muslims.30Ol 

937. Turning first to PetkoviC's argument that the finding regarding the transfer of Muslims 

starting in mid-May 1993 was not supported by the evidence, the Appyals Chamber observes that 

he misrepresents the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied,3002 and ignores other relevant 

factual findings. 3oo3 With regard to PetkoviC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that "the 

HVO [moved] at least 300 Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar on 26 May 1993 without 

their having the possibility of returning to West Mostar",3004 the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Petkovic incorrectly claims that it was based on one exhibit, P09677, which does not support it.3oo5 

In fact, Exhibit P09677 supports the finding,3006 which is furthermore based on a much broader 

spectrum of evidence and other relevant factual findings that Petkovic ignores.3oo7 Regarding the 

assertion that the transfers took place on a voluntary basis, the Appeals Chamber observes that 

Petkovic points to evidence indicating that the transfer was part of an organised exchange between 

the HVO and ABiH, who drew up lists of "individuals who want[ed] to move from one local 

community to another".3008 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also made 

findings on the violent context in which these movements were occurring, including that: (1) the 

Muslims were forcibly expelled from their homes and transported either to the Heliodrom or 

directly to East Mostar; (2) in some cases, the Muslims had to move to collection centres or sleep 

on the streets; (3) one witness testified that he felt so unsafe in West Mostar that he signed up to be 

2999 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 50. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16-17. 
3000 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 52, 54. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 18, 
51. 
3001 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 53. 
3002 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 1899, referring to Miro SalCin, T(F). 14232, 14234 (15 Feb 2007), T(F). 14300 
(19 Feb 2007), Exs. P02425 (confidential), para. 12, P09834, para. 9. The Appeals Chamber observes that much of this 
evidence relates to expUlsions from West Mostar to East Mostar on 9 May 1993 and onwards, which would therefore 
include the mid-May period, and considers that Petkovic fails to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's statement 
that. "[a]ccording to evidence received by the Chamber, between 1,200 and 2,000 Muslim inhabitants were forced to 
leave West Mostar during this HVO operation". Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 814. 
3003 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 812-813, 815. Cf PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 62 (claiming that "there is no 
evidence that the HVO soldiers forced Muslims to leave West Mostar in the second half of May 1993"). 
3004 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 818. 
3005 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 64, referring to Ex. P09677 (confidential). 
3006 See, in particular, Ex. P09677 (confidential), para. 2 (reporting from Mostar on 26 May 1993 that "approximately 
300 civilians were escorted from the West to East Bank [who] appear to have been Muslim DPlRs or Muslim residents 
of the West Bank who were recently evicted from their flats"). 
3007 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 816-817 and references cited therein. 
3008 Ex. P02512, para. 2. See also Witness A, T. 14111 (closed session) (14 Feb 2007); Ex. P02524. 
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moved to East Mostar; and (4) the Muslims were then prevented from returning to West Mostar.3009 

In ignoring these findings, Petkovic fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's approach 

in this regard. 

938. The Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to demonstrate any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusions as regards the transfers that began in Mostar in mid-May 1993, and 

dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.1 in relevant part. 

(vi) Praljak's appeal (Sub-ground 6.3) and PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.3) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

939. Both Praljak and Petkovic submit that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in finding that the 

HVO organised the displacement of Croats to Provinces 8 and 10 in order to alter the balance of 

power in favour of the Croats.3010 Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber ignored the fact that Croats 

left central BiH because the ABiH and the Mujahideen threatened them,3011 while Petkovic argues 

that since the Trial Chamber acknowledged that Croatian population movements were at least partly 

caused by fear of the ABiH, it was not justified "to consider that assistance of the HVO authorities 

to refugees of Croatian ethnicity was part of the [CCP]".3012 Praljak also contends that, contrary to 

what the Trial Chamber found, the HVO requested the assistance of international organisations for 

moving the Croats because of their disastrous situation in Zenica.3013 Praljak further argues that the 

Trial Chamber misunderstood the meaning of the expression "evacuation in [an] organized manner" 

used by the HVO authorities with regard to what to do with the expelled Croats.3014 Praljak also 

points out that the Trial Chamber itself found that Croats were displaced from Travnik, "that is, 

from Province 8 [Sic]".3015 Finally, he argues that the displaced· Croats were only temporarily 

accommodated on the territory of the HZ(R) H-B before being transferred to Croatia.3016 

3009 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 812-813, 817, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3010 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 124; PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 77, 79. See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 100; 
Praljak's Reply Brier, para. 25; PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 24, 42-44. 
3011 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 122-123. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 119; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 25. 
3012 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 78. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 77; Appeal Hearing, AT. 498 (23 Mar 2017). 
Petko vic further argues that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to distinguish between the Croats who were expelled by 
the ABiH and those whom the HVO allegedly removed, thereby treating the removal of all Croats as a part of the 
alleged CCP. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 79. 
3013 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 121. 
3014 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 120, referring to Exs. P02142, p. 4, ID01829, ID01672, p. 2. Praljak argues that this 
expression was used by HVO authorities to show that the expelled Croats would be taken in by the HVO authorities and 
that their reception and accommodation would be organised. Praljak Appeal Brief, para. 120. 
3015 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 124. The Appeals Chamber notes that Travnik was in Province 10. 
See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1062, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09276, map 11. 
3016 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 124. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 25. 
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940. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that JCE members 

moved Croats into the HZ(R) H-B to alter the ethnic balance in favour of Croats.3017 With respect to 

Praljak's arguments, the Prosecution argues that: (1) he ignores the Trial Chamber's assessment of 

the evidence and repeats his trial arguments without identifying any error;3018 (2) the displacement 

of Croats from Travnik, located in Province 10, to Province 8 is consistent with the Ultimate 

Purpose of the JCE since the ABiH took control of Travnik from the HVO in mid-June 1993;3019 

and (3) the common purpose to change the ethnic balance existed even if JCE members only 

partially succeeded and the ethnic balance was only temporarily altered.302o As for Petkovic, the 

Prosecution contends that his argument regarding HVO assistance to ethnic Croats is undermined 

by the fact that the HVO used force and propaganda to encourage their displacement.3021 The 

Prosecution also submits that, contrary to Petkovic's submission, the Trial Chamber did distinguish 

between the Croats forced to flee by the ABiH and those forced to fl~e by the HVO.3022 

b. Analysis 

941. With regard to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored the fact that Croats left 

central BiH because the ABiH and the Mujahideen threatened them, the Appeals Cbamber first 

observes that the Trial Chamber noted evidence indicating that Croats from central BiH were under 

threat from the ABiH and the Mujahideen and that some of them fled the fighting on their own 

initiative, as well as evidence indicating that the HVO was stirring up fears in these Croats in order 

to make them leave.3023 The Appeals Chamber consequently finds that the Trial Chamber did not 

ignore evidence that some Croats left central BiH under threat from the ABiH and the Mujahideen, 

and that Praljak merely advances his own preferred interpretation of the evidence. His argument is 

dismlssed. 

942. In addition, and concerning PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber was not justified in 

considering the assistance of HVO authorities to Croatian refugees as part of the CCP given its 

findings on the motives for the movement of Croatian refugees, the Appeals Chamber recalls that 

the Trial Chamber found that the HVO was animated by a dual purpose: 

It is clear from all the evidence that the HVO arranged these removals to Provinces 8 and 10, not 
merely to come to the rescue of one part of the Croatian population located in combat zones, but 

3017 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 43; Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 28. 
See Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16-17, 29-30. 
3018 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 43. 
3019 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 43. 
3020 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 43. 
3021 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 31, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 78. See 
also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 18. 
3022 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 31. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 18. 
3023 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 53-54. 
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also to remove the other part of the population that did not fear any real danger, doing so either by 
force or voluntarily. By doing this, the HVO could alter the balance of power in these provinces so 
that it favoured the Croats.3024 

The Appeals Chamber cannot see why the first of these purposes would undercut the second and 

finds that Petkovic has failed to articulate an error in this regard. Furthermore, with regard to 

PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to distinguish between Croats expelled 

by the ABiH or HVO, thereby treating the removal of all Croats as a part of the alleged CCP, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did make that distinction,3025 and that Petkovic 

mer~ly asserts, without providing any support, that the Trial Chamber treated the removal of all 

Croats as a part of the CCP. 

943. As for Praljak's contention that the HVO requested the assistance of international 

organisations for moving the Croats because of their disastrous situation in Zenica, the 

Trial Chamber considered evidence that the request for assistance was made due to the threat the 

Croats were facing in central BiH, but it nevertheless arrived at the conclusion that the HVO 

arranged removals of Croats to Provinces 8 and 10, including removals of those not fearing real 

danger.3026 Praljak fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same 

conclusion. 

944. Regarding Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber misunderstood the meaning of the 

expression "evacuation in [an] organized manner" used by HVO authOlities,3027 the 

Appeals Chamber notes that in support of this argument Praljak does not refer to a specific part of 

the Trial Judgement but simply cites to three exhibits, two of which contain the relevant 

expression.3028 The Appeals Chamber further notes that the relevant paragraph where the 

Trial Chamber analysed the reasons for the movements of Croats refers to two of those exhibits 

without mentioning the relevant expression; rather the Trial Chamber cited to these exhibits, among 

many others, while noting that certain documents, originating with the HVO, suggest that the 

movement of the popUlation was due to ABiH threats.3029 The Trial Chamber then proceeded to 

outline evidence to the contrary, and found that the removals were in fact organised not only to 

protect one part of the Croatian population but also to remove the other part that had nothing to fear, 

in order to alter the balance of power in Provinces 8 and 10 in favour of Croats.3030 Accordingly, 

3024 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 55 (internal references omitted). 
3025 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 54-55. . 
3026 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 54-55, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02714, p. 2. 
3027 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 120. 
3028 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 120, referring to Exs. P02142, 1D01829, 1D01672. 
3029 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 53-54 & fns 142, 148, referring to Exs. P02142, 1D01672. While the Trial Chamber 
used the phrase "in an organised manner" in a subsequent finding, that finding appears to have no relevance to Praljak's 
challenges here. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 60. 
3030 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 54-55 & fns 149-153 and references cited therein. 
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,Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber gave any particular significance to this expression. His 

argument is therefore dismissed. With regard to Praljak's point about Croats being displaced from 

Travnik, the Appeals Chamber observes that the subsequent displacement of Croats from Travnik is 

not inconsistent with the challenged finding.3031 Further, the Trial Chamber found that in mid-June 

1993, HVO members drove Muslims out of West Mostar, telling them that they needed to make 

f C . f T 'k 3032 way or roats commg rom ravm . 

945. Turning to Praljak's final argument that the displaced Croats were only temporarily 

accommodated on the territory of the HZ(R) H-B before being transferred to Croatia, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that he refers to evidence indicating that some displaced Croats transited 

through the territory of the HZ(R) H-B and continued on to Croatia.3033 This is not inconsistent with 

the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO arranged removals to Provinces 8 and 10 to alter the 

balance of power in these provinces so that it favoured the Croats.3034 In addition, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that, as a matter of law, the objective or common purpose of a JCE does 

not need to be achieved in order for a trial chamber to conclude that a plurality of persons shared a 

common purpose or that crimes were committed in furtherance of a JCE.3035 Praljak's argument is 

dismissed. 

946. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that the HVO organised the displacement of Croats to Provinces 8 

and 10 in order to alter the balance of power in favour of the Croats. It therefore dismisses Praljak's 

sub-ground of appeal 6.3. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to 

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusions regarding the removal of Croats, and 

dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.3. 

(g) Alleged errors in the findings regarding the events before and after the attack on the HVO 

Tihomir MiSic Barracks in Mostar on 30 June 1993 

947. The Trial Chamber found that "in the opinion of the international organisations present", the 

process of "ethnic cleansing", which began in Mostar and surrounding areas, appeared 

irreversible.3036 In this regard, the Trial Chamber observed that, on 4 June 1993, during a meeting in 

3031 The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Prosecution points to evidence indicating that the ABiH took 
control of Travnik from the HVO in mid-June 1993, which Praljak does not contest in his reply brief. Cj. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Praljak), para. 43 & fn. 211 and references cited therein; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 25. 
3032 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3033 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 124 & fn. 304 and references cited therein. 
3034 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 55. 
3035 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 154. 
3036 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58, referring to, inter alia, Witness BB, T(F). 17185, 17188 (closed session) (16 Apr 
2007), Ex. P09677 (confidential). 
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Divulje in Croatia ("4 June 1993 Divulje Meeting") with Pdic, Petkovic, and Boban, Witness DZ 

spoke of "ethnic cleansing" in these areas.3037 It also found that all the participants, including 

Boban, denied the existence of ethnic cleansing, although Boban stated that the Muslims in BiH had 

to be chased out of Mostar and BiH entirely.3038 

948. The Trial Chamber further concluded that after the ABiH attacked the HVO Tihomir Misic 

Barracks in Mostar on 30 June 1993, the implementation of the JCE became "more efficient".3039 

It found that the HVO arrested Muslims from the municipalities of Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, 

Ljubuski, and Prozor, detaining them in HVO detention centres or sending them to ABiH-controlled 

territories and to, third countries via Croatia.304o In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that the 

HZ(R) H-B authorities implemented a "system of deportation utilising the release of Muslim 

detainees from the HVO detention centres contingent upon their departure from Croatia - often 

with their families - where they were supposed to stay only temporarily prior to being transferred to 

a third country".3041 Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that due to the "very harsh conditions of 

confinement" which could lead to detainee deaths, Muslim detainees agreed to leave for ABiH­

controlled territories or for another country rather than remain in confinement. 3042 

(i) PdiC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.10 and 10.15) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

949. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the arrests and detentions of 

Muslims from Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, Ljubuski, and Prozor and their forcible removal after the 

Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Batracks were part of the JCE.3043 Further, Prlic argues that the 

Trial Chamber erred when it concluded that the JCE became "more efficient" as the HZ(R) H-B 

authorities introduced, on 30 June 1993, a system of deportation predicated upon the release of 

3037 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58, referring to, inter alia, Witness DZ, T(F). 26469 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008), 
Exs. P09677 (confidential), P02652. 
3038 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58, referring to Witness DZ, T(F). 26550, 26552-26554 (closed session) 
(22 Jan 2008), Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 63. 
3039 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57, 64. 
3040 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
3041 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
3042 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
3043 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 301, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 921-923, 1642-1655, Vol. 3, paras 140-
145, 264-266, 270, 272-274, Vol. 4, paras 57-58. Prlic argues in thls respect that the Trial Chamber disregarded 
evidence that: (1) Muslim HVO members were arrested in response to the ABiH attack; (2) there were international 
negotiations and an agreement reached in September 1993 concerning the release of HVO and ABiH prisoners; and (3) 
Croats from Travnik "were not accommodated" in Mostar. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 302, referring to PrliC's sub­
grounds of appeal 1.3, 16.3.1, 16.5.1-16.5.2. 
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Muslims from HVO detention centres, which was contingent upon their departure to Croatia and 

their subsequent transfer to a third country. 3044 

950. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the process of "ethnic cleansing" 

was irreversible, by solely relying on Exhibit P09677, a report of Witness BB.3045 He also contends 

that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence indicating that international organisations adopted 

"different approaches" and that "civilians from different communes were organized in agreement 

with the UN and ECMM with the same number crossing over from East to West Mostar".3046 Prlic 

contends that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Exhibit P02652, a report on the 4 June 1993 

Divulje Meeting, as this meeting focused on: (1) the implementation of the Vance-Owen Peace 

Plan; (2) the establishment of the provisional government; and (3) the cessation of hostilities, 

specifically in the Konjic area.3047 He further contends that "contrary to [Witness] DZ", 

Exhibit P02652 does not reflect Boban's remarks that "BiH Muslims had to be chased out from 

Mostar and BiH entirely". 3048 

951. The Prosecution responds that PdiC's arguments have no merit as they are based on mere 

assertions, misrepresentations, and unexplained claims that are not inconsistent with, nor 

contradictory to, the Trial Chamber's finding. 3049 It also argues that Prlic relies on other 

sub-grounds of his appeal without explaining how they support his arguments?050 With respect to 

PrliC's allegation of error concerning the 4 June 1993 Divulje Meeting, the Prosecution contends 

that the Trial Chamber's finding on Boban's remarks was not based on Exhibit P02652, but rather 

on Witness DZ's evidence.3051 

b. Analysis 

952. The Appeals Chamber rejects PdiC's contentions that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that 

the arrests and detentions of Muslims from Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, Ljubuski, and Prozor and their 

forcible removal following the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks were part of the JCE 

and that the JCE became more efficient after the introduction of a system of deportation as of 

30 June 1993. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that, in support of his arguments, Pdic 

3044 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 308-309, referring to PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 1.1, 1.3, 16.1-16.3. 
3045 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 303, referring to Ex. P09677 (confidential). 
3046 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 303, referring to Witness BC, T. 18481-18484 (closed session) (15 May 2007), Klaus 
Johann Nissen, T. 20655-20658 (private session) (27 June 2007), Exs. P02512, P02547 (confidential), p. 7, 6D00007, 
4D00496, p. 1. In this regard, Pdic adopts his submissions of sub-grounds of appeal 16.4.3-16.4.4 by reference. Pdic's 
1PReal Brief, para. 304.. . 
3 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 305, referring to Ex. P02652 (confidential), ground of appeal 6.1. 
3048 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 305. 
3049 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 166-167, 179-180. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 
182; Appeal Hearing, AT. 185-187 (20 Mar 2017). 
3050 Prosecution's Response Brief (PrliC), paras 166-167. 

399 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23496



merely cross-references his sub-grounds of appeal 1.1, 1.3, 16.1-16.3, 16.3.1, and 16.5.1-16.5.2, 

which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.3052 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

PrliC's arguments in this regard. 

953. As to Prlic's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the process of ethnic 

cleansing was irreversible since it "solely" relied on Exhibit P09677, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that in reaching the impugned conclusion, the Trial Chamber also relied on Witness BB' s 

testimony confirming the contents of Exhibit P09677. 3053 PdiC's argument is thus dismissed. 

Similarly, the Appeals Chamber rejects PrliC's undeveloped arguments that the Trial Chamber 

ignored evidence showing "the different approaches used by the international organizations, and 

that civilians from different communes were organized in agreement with the UN and ECMM with 

the same number crossing over from East to West Mostar,,305
4 for lack of clarity.3055 In any event, 

Pdic fails to explain how the cited evidence would materially impact the impugned finding. 

Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that in support of this argument Pdic refers to his 

submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.4.3-16.4.4, which it dismisses elsewhere.3056 Accordingly, 

these arguments are dismissed. 

954. Further, the Appeals Chamber sees no merit in PdiC's contention that the Trial Chamber 

misrepresented confidential Exhibit P02652 which reported on the 4 June 1993 Divulje Meeting. 

Pdic simply argues that this meeting focused on the implementation of the Vance-Owen Peace 

Plan, the establishment of the provisional government, and the cessation of hostilities without 

showing any error in the Trial Chamber's finding. A review of the relevant finding shows that, 

rather than relying on Exhibit P02652, the Trial Chamber referred to Witness DZ's testimony as 

well as his Rule 92 ter statement, which plainly support Boban's utterance as recalled in the 

impugned conc1usion.3057 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this contention. 

955. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously found that the arrests and detentions of Muslims from Mostar, Stolac, 

Capljina, Ljubuski, and Prozor and their forcible removal were part of the JCE. He has also failed to 

show an error in relation to the Trial Chamber's conclusions that the process of "ethnic cleansing" 

appeared irreversible to the international organisations and that the JCE became more efficient after 

3051 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 181, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58 & fn. 164. 
3052 See supra, para. 176; infra, paras 1146-1221, 1286-1298. 
3053 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58 & fn. 161, referring to Witness BB, T(F). 17185, 17188 (closed session) 
(16 Apr 2007), Ex. P09677 (confidential), para. 12. 
3054 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 303 (internal reference omitted). 
3055 See supra, para. 24. 
3056 See infra, paras 1232-1241. 
3057 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 58, referring to Witness DZ, T(F). 26552-26554 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008), Ex. 
P10367 (confidential), para. 63. 
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the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses his 

sub-grounds of appeal 10.10 and 10.15. 

(ii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.2) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

956. Petko vic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the "HVO measures of 

30 June 1993 were taken to further [the CCP] of 'ethnic cleansing in a more efficient manner,,,.3058 

He argues that this conclusion contradicts the Trial Chamber's factual findings on the events, 

namely that on 30 June 1993 the ABiH launched an offensive in co-operation with HVO soldiers of 

Muslim ethnicity and that, in response to this offensive, the HVO "took certain actions".3059 

Petkovic further argues that the Trial Chamber failed to evaluate evidence about the ABiH's 

offensives after April 1993 and its territorial expansion?060 He submits, therefore, that the evidence 

supports the conclusion that "the underlying reason for taking special security measures by the 

HVO leaders on 30 June 1993 was [in response to the] broad military offensive of the ABiH and 

HVO's losing control over certain areas".3061 Petkovic concludes that the Trial Chamber's 

inferences that the HVO leaders decided to implement the JCE more efficiently and that the HVO's 

authorities and forces launched political and military activities to further the CCP as of 

30 June 1993 should be reversed, as should his conviction for "expanded core crimes".3062 

957. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic fails to show an error in the impugned findings as he 

merely repeats arguments raised at trial and that his arguments should be summarily dismissed.3063 

The Prosecution also submits that Petkovic misconstrues the Trial Chamber's findings since its 

conclusion' on the increased efficiency of the implementation of the CCP has no bearing on the 

expanded crimes, but on the crimes which were part of the criminal means from the outset of the 

CCp.3064 

3058 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 75. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 73, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 
880-886; Appeal Hearing, AT. 502 (23 Mar 2017). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 71-72; PetkoviC's Reply 
Brief, para. 16, referring to Prosecutor v. Zoran Kupreski6 et aI., Case No. IT-95-16-T, Decision on Evidence of the 
Good Character of the Accused and the Defence of Tu Quoque, 17 February 1999 ("Kuprdki6 et al. Tu Quoque 
Decision"). 
3059 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 73, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 880-886; Appeal Hearing, AT. 502-
512 (23 Mar 2017). 
3060 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 74. By contrast, according to Petkovic, the Trial Chamber "indirectly acknowledged" 
ABiH expansion when considering the relocation of Croatians from central BiH. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 74, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 284, Vol. 4, para. 60. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 71-72. 
3061 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 75. 
3062 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 76. 
3063 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 61-63, referring to PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 133. 
3064 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 58-60. 
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b. Analysis 

958. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded that following the Attack on 

the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks, the implementation of the JCE became more efficient as HZ(R) 

H-B authorities introduced "a system of deportation utilising the release of Muslim detainees from 

the HVO detention centres contingent upon their departure from Croatia".3065 The Trial Chamber 

further found that the evidence showed the occurrence of: (1) arrests and detention of Muslims from 

Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, Ljubuski, and Prozor; and (2) their transfer to ABiH-controlled territories 

and third countries via Croatia after their detention in HVO detention centres.3066 

The Appeals Chamber observes that in arguing that the "security measures taken by the HVO" 

subsequent to the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks were in response to the ABiH 

offensives, rather than part of the CCP,3067 Petkovic simply repeats unsuccessful submissions 

already raised at trial without demonstrating how the Trial Chamber erred in this regard.3068 

Moreover, Petko viC' s argument that the Trial Chamber's conclusions as to the events of 

30 June 1993 are contradicted by other factual findings also amounts to a further attempt to reargue 

his submission that these events were a defensive response to the ABiH. These submissions are 

dismissed. 

959. The Appeals Chamber also rejects PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider relevant evidence about the ABiH's offensives after Aplil 1993 and its terlitolial 

expansion as he does not identify any relevant piece of evidence in this regard.3069 Finally, with 

respect to PetkoviC's contention that his conviction for the "expanded core climes" should be 

reversed, the Appeals Chamber observes that he misunderstands the relevant findings because the 

increased efficiency bf the CCP implementation concerns the introduction of a deportation system 

rather than any "expanded core climes".3070 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in 

Petkovi,C's submission. His argument thus fails. 

3065 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. 
3066 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57,64. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 889-900. The Appeals Chamber also 
notes that the Trial Chamber found that the crimes against Muslims - either members of the HVO or the ABiH - who 
were held in the detention centres formed part of the widespread and systematic attack on the Muslim civilian 
EOfulation. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 650. 

06 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 73. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. i5. 
3068 See PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 133-151,525-526. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds PetkoviC's reliance on 
the Kuprdkic et al. Tu Quoque Decision inapposite since it deals with the admission of evidence rather than its 
assessment. See Kupreskic et al. Tu Quoque Decision, pp. 2-5. 
3069 The Appeals Chamber also fails to see how the fact that the Trial Chamber considered the "expansion of the 
territory under the control of the ABiH" materially affects its conclusion concerning the CCP. See PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 74. 
3070 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 64. In addition, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already concluded that the 
expanded crimes of the JCE only encompassed those encapsulated in Counts 21 (in part), 24, and 25. See supra, paras 
798,814. 
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960. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that 

the Trial Chamber unreasonably found that the JCE became more efficient following the Attack on 

the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks and dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.2. 

(h) Alleged errors in the findings as to events in late 1993 

961. The Trial Chamber concluded that from early June 1993 until late that year, approximately 

22,000 to 24,000 Croats arrived in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B, in particular in Prozor, Stolac, 

Capljina, and Ljubuski.3071 It also found that in October 1993, the HVO arrested and detained 

Muslim men from the town of V ares, 3072 and conducted an attack on Stupni Do on 

23 October 1993, killing part of the Muslim population.3073 The Trial Chamber concluded that after 

this attack, the HVO warned the Croatian population of an imminent risk of reprisal by the ABiH 

and requested that they leave Vares Municipality urgently.3074 Some of the Croatian population 

were forced to leave Vares Municipality, whereas other persons left of their own accord.3075 While 

the Trial Chamber concluded that the HVO leaders did not order the attack on Stupni Do,3076 it 

found that they attempted to conceal the HVO's responsibility for these crimes inasmuch as this 

encouraged the Croatian population to leave the Vares region. 3077 

(i) PrliC's appeal (Sub-grounds 10.12, 10.13, and 10.14) 

962. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised and ignored evidence when it 

concluded that: (1) "22,000-24,000 Croats" from Travnik, Novi Travnik, Vares, Kiseljak, and 

Bugojno arrived in HZ(R) H-B territory in an organised manner; (2) in October 1993, the HVO 

forced Croats to leave Vares; and (3) HVO leaders concealed events in Stupni Do in order to 

encourage the Croats of Vares to move in accordance with "their plan". 3078 

963. The Prosecution responds that Prlic's arguments should be summarily dismissed as he fails 

to explain how or why the Trial Chamber erred, and does not show how the referenced sub-grounds 

of appeal are relevant or support his contention.3079 

3071 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 60. 
3072 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3073 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3074 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3075 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3076 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3077 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 62. 
3078 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 306, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 227, 232, 824, 874, 1786, Vol. 3, paras 
502,508, Vol. 4, paras 60-62. Prlic adopts his sub-grounds of appeal 16.5 and 16.6 by reference. PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 307. 

079 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 166-167. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 187 (20 Mar 2017). 
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964.· The Appeals Chamber notes that beyond reference to arguments made elsewhere in his 

appeal brief, which the Appeals Chamber has dismissed,3080 Prlic fails to particularise his 

allegations of error. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate an error 

and dismisses PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 10.12, 10.13, and 10.14. 

(ii) Praljak's appeal (Ground 32) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

965. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber ignored relevant evidence and made contradictory 

findings when concluding that the events in Vares formed part of the CCp.3081 He asserts that the 

Trial Chamber failed to consider the alternative reasonable inference that these events were a 

consequence of the ABiH offensive that began earlier in 1993, as well as the "chaotic situation" 

provoked by the consequential influx of Croats.3082 Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber erred 

in not taking into account evidence that in October 1993, the HVO tried to calm hostilities,3083 and 

in ignoring the fact that the ethnic composition of Vares Municipality was already weighted in 

favour of Croats.3084 Praljak further submits that the contention that HVO leaders tried to conceal 

the crimes in Stupni Do is baseless, given that the attack on Stupni Do was planned by soldiers and 

local HVO commanders without the knowledge of HVO leaders.3085 According to Praljak, the same 

applies to the conclusion that the HVO concealed events to encourage the Croatian population to 

1 V v M .. l' 3086 eave ares umclpa lty. 

966. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that the crimes 

committed in Vares Municipality formed part of the CCP,3087 and submits that Praljak simply 

disagrees with the Trial Chamber's findings, as opposed to showing an error.3088 In particular, the 

Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that: (1) the HVO crimes in Vares 

followed a clear pattern of conduct, as opposed to defensive measures;3089 (2) the crimes 

3080 See infra, paras 1287-1298, 1300-1317. 
3081 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 336. 
3082 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 330, 336-337, referring to, inter alia, Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 170-171 
(sub-ground of appeal 10.2), Ex. 3D00800. Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber "did not take into account that 
[the] situation in Vare[s] was specific with many problems". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 331. 
3083 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 331, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D00807 (confidential), 3D00809. 
3084Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 332, 335, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00020. 
3085 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 337. Praljak submits that the HVO Main Staff had no control or authority over persons 
who committed crimes and that the HVO Main Staff did not even know what happened in Stupm Do. See Praljak's 
Appeal Brief, para. 334, referring to Exs. P06026, P06091, P06104, P06140, P06144. See also Praljak's Reply Brief, 
~aras 97-99. 
086 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 335, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 508, Vol. 4, para. 62. Praljak argues 

that this is contradicted by the Trial Chamber's finding that the departure of Croats was caused by the threat of ABiH 
attacks. See Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 336. 
3087 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 232. 
3088 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 232, 237. 
3089 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 235. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 232-234. 
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encouraged the Croatian population to leave Vares;3090 and (3) although the evidence does not 

indicate that Praljak or Petkovic were directly involved in the decision to attack Stupni Do, the 

Trial Chamber reasonably found that they participated in planning and directing the HVO's 

operations in Vares in October 1993, took steps to conceal HVO responsibility for the crimes, and 

had effective control over .soldiers in the field. 3091 

b. Analysis 

967. The Appeals Chamber turns first to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider alternative reasonable inferences for the events in Vares Municipality. In this regard, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded that the events fell within the CCP 

because the HVO leaders attempted to conceal the HVO's responsibility for the crimes committed 

in Stupni Do in order to "encourage the Croatian population of the Vares region to move in the 

direction of BiH, which suited their plan,,3092 and because they formed part of a pattern of conduct 

with other crimes.3093 In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber was well aware of the broader 

context of ABiH attacks, as well as the consequential relocation of Croatian civilians.3094 Recalling 

that a trial chamber does not have to discuss other inferences it may have considered, as long as it is 

satisfied that the inference it retained was the only reasonable one,3095 the Appeals Chamber finds 

that Praljak fails to demonstrate any enor in the Trial Chamber's conclusion. The Appeals Chamber 

also considers that Praljak fa~ls to explain how the evidence indicating that the HVO tried to calm 

hostilities in Vares,3096 or as regards the ethnic composition of Vares,3097 was relevant to the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the events in Vares Municipality formed part of the CCP. Praljak's 

submissions are thus dismissed.3098 

3090 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 236, 238-240. The Prosecution also submits that: (1) the 
Trial Chamber did not ignore the demographic composition of Vares, but that Praljak misunderstands the 
Trial Chamber's findings on this; (2) Praljak does not explain how an omission to refer to earlier ABiH fighting would 
affect any relevant factual findings; (3) evidence cited to support the claim that the HVO sought to prevent conduct in 
Vares mainly refers to conduct unrelated to the CCP; and (4) the Trial Chamber did consider the "chaotic situation" in 
Vares. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 237. 
3091 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 238-240. 
3092 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 62. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3093 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
3094 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 283-285,502, Vol. 4, paras 57, 60-61. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 311-
312,411. 
3095 See, e.g., Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 157, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 192. 
3096 See Ex. 3D00807 (confidential); Ex. 3D00809 (chronology of events prepared by the Bobovac Brigade Commander 
dated 20 October 1993 affirming that the HVO attempted to maintain peace in this area). 
3097 See Ex. P00020 (census for BiH giving the population numbers for the different ethnicities in each municipalities, 
dated 1991). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 283, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09276, p. 31 (indicating the 
composition of Vares Municipality in 1991). 
3098 The Appeals Chamber recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's finding that murder. and willful killing were part of 
the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 874-886. Ultimately, however, the Appeals Chamber 
does not consider that this change in the scope of the CCP in that period affects the Trial Chamber's reasoning 
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968. Regarding Praljak's challenges to the Trial Chamber's findings in respect of the HVO's 

involvement in the Stupni Do crimes, the Appeals Chamber considers that he mischaracterises the 

Trial Chamber's findings. The Trial Chamber expressly took account of the HVO leaders not 

having ordered the attack and acknowledged that Ivica Rajic did not inform Petkovic of his decision 

to launch the attack on Stupni Do until it was launched on 23 October 1993.3099 However, as stated 

earlier,3100 the Trial Chamber's finding that these crimes were part of the CCP was based not only 

on the HVO leaders' attempts to conceal the crimes in Stupni Do, but also on the pattern of crimes 

it found to have existed between January 1993 and April 1994 and the links between the attack in 

Stupni Do and Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic.3101 

969. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber ignored relevant evidence and made contradictory findings when concluding that the 

events in Vares Municipality formed part of the CCP, and dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 32. 

(iii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-ground 3.2.2.1 in part) 

970. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned OpInIOn by not 

expressly establishing that the HVO actions in Vares and Stupni Do in October 1993 were 

committed to further the CCP?102 Further, Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and 

fact as "[t]here is no evidence about forcible transfer or deportation of Muslims, and the Trial 

Chamber did not even infer otherwise".3103 

971. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the crimes 

committed during the HVO operations in Vares Municipality furthered the CCP, as did the 

subsequent movement of the Croatian population.3104 It also submits that PetkoviC's focus on the 

fact that forcible displacement was not established for Vares fails to demonstrate any error as 

regards the other crimes committed there as part of the CCP.3105 

972. With reference to the assertion that the Trial Chamber did not make the findings necessary 

to conclude that the events in Vares formed part of the CCP, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber, in its analysis of the CCP, made detailed findings with respect to the events which 

concerning the clear pattern of conduct, particularly since not many instances of murder as part of the CCP took place 
in that period, in contrast to June 1993 and onwards but before the events in Vares. See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2790. 
3099 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 409-412. 
3100 S ee supra, para. 820. 
3101 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-62, 65. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 484-486, 492. See also supra, fn. 3098. 
3102PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 68-69, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-63. See also PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 24, 70, 284-286. . 
3103 PetkoviC' s Appeal Brief, para. 70; Appeal Hearing, AT. 499 (23 Mar 2017). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
68; Petkovic's Reply Brief, para. 15. . 
3104 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 55. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 16-17. 
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took place in Vares Municipality, including killings, detention, and the destruction of buildings.3106 

The Trial Chamber also found that these crimes, inter alia, "tended to follow a clear pattern of 

conduct" with the other crimes committed by HVO forces from January 1993 to April 1994.3107 The 

Appeals Chamber thus considers that the Trial Chamber clearly explained the basis for its 

conclusion that the crimes in Vares Municipality, including in Stupni Do, were committed in 

furtherance of the CCP. Petko viC' s submission is dismissed. 

973. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Petkovic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in not providing a reasoned opinion by not expressly establishing that the HVO 

actions in Vares Municipality and Stupni Do in October 1993 were committed to further the CCP 

and dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2.1 in relevant part. 

5. Other challenges to evidence and alternative reasonable inferences 

974. The Appellants raise certain other challenges to the CCP, alleging errors as regards: (1) the 

conclusion regarding a pattern of the crimes and the overall existence of the CCP; and (2) the 

context of the conflict between the HVO and ABiH. 

(a) Alleged errors regarding the pattern of the crimes and the overall existence of the CCP 

CPrliC's Sub-grounds 10.16 and 10.17, StojiC's Ground 4 in part, and PusiC's Ground 3 in part) 

975. The Trial Chamber concluded that the crimes committed by HVO forces from January 1993 

. to April 1994 tended to "follow a clear pattern of conduct" and "[iJn the vast majority of cases [ ... J 

were not committed by chance or randomly".3108 The Trial Chamber found that the only reasonable 

inference was that these crimes were committed as part of the CCP,3109 and that the JCE members 

"lent support and co-ordination to field operations for the purpose of carrying out [ ... J the 

crimes".3110 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

976. Prlic, Stojic, and Pusic all challenge the existence of the CCP and the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that there was a clear pattern of conduct with respect to the HVO activities. More 

specifically, Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to offer any supporting authority 

3105 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 56. 
3106 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61-63. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 333-399 (arrest and detention in 
Vares), 400-404 (thefts and sexual abuse in Vares), 426-429 (sexual abuse in Stupni Do), 430-464 (killings and deaths 
in Stupni Do), 465-467 (burning and destruction of Muslim property). 
3107 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See also supra, fn. 3098. 
3108 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
3109 . Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
3llOTrial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 
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for its conclusions that a clear pattern of conduct existed, and that "HZ(R)HB political and military 

leaders, especially Prlic" assisted in the implementation of the JCE.3111 Similarly, Stojic argues that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that all the events - in Gomji Vakuf, Jablanica, 

Prozor, Mostar, Vares, as well as at the Heliodrom and Ljubuski, Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons3112 -

formed part of the CCP.3113 He asserts that had the events unfolded pursuant to a single common 

criminal plan, "the result would have been a consistent wave of attacks implementing that plan,,3114 

but that this was not the case, because there was a three-month "hiatus" after the conflict in 

Gornji Vakuf,3115 and a "further gap" between the events of June 1993 and the military activities in 

Vares in October 1993.3116 Stojic also alleges other errors, arguing that: (1) the findings that the 

crimes "tended to follow a clear pattern" and the "vast majority" were not committed by chance, 

were "erroneously unspecific,,;3117 (2) the finding that crimes committed from January 1993 to 

March 1994 were "the result of a plan established by the leaders of the HZ(R) H-B" is erroneous, 

because the Trial Chamber found that the JCE also included the "leaders of Croatia,,;3118 and (3) the 

Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing that witnesses were not aware of a common criminal 

plan or did not believe that events had occurred pursuant to'a single plan.31l9 Finally, Pusic submits 

that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that "the ethnic cleansing in BiH" was the result of the 

"unplanned effects of the new situation created by the influx of refugees who by their very presence 

upset the demographic equilibrium between the ethnicities".312o He submits that the 

Trial Chamber's failure to address this inference demonstrates a failure to provide a reasoned 

opinion that invalidates the Trial Judgement.3121 

977. The Prosecution responds that Prlic ignores the Trial Chamber's overall findings as to the 

events and crimes that formed part of the CCP, and asserts that his sub-grounds of appeal 

3111 Prlle' s Appeal Brief, para. 310, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65-67. 
3112 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 48. 
3m Stojie's Appeal Brief, paras 49, 58; Appeal Hearing, AT. 275-276 (21 Mar 2017). 
3114 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 53. 
3115 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 53. Stojie submits that the HVO ceased actions in January 1993 without attempting to 
take over the whole municipality of Gornji Vakuf. See Stojic's Reply Brief, para. 20; Appeal Hearing, AT. 276-277 (21 
Mar 2017). 
3116 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 53. Stojic contends that "there were never any standing conflicts [ ... ] only sporadic 
conflicts here and there". Stojie's Appeal Brief, paras 53, 58, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 394-395. 
3117 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 55. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
3118 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 54, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43, 65, 1222. 
3119 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 57, referring to Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20649-20650 (27 June 2007), Andrew Pringle, 
T. 24259 (7 Nov 2007), Radmilo Jasak, T. 48682-48683 (20 Jan 2010), Dragan CurCic, T. 45809 (12 Oct 2009), Hamid 
Bahto, T. 37911-37913 (11 Mar 2009). See also Stojie's Reply Brief, para. 21. 
3120 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 100, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 370. Pusie argues in partiCUlar that the 
influx stemmed from the "ethnic cleansing by Serb forces driving Croat[s] and Muslims into central [BiH] creating 
overcrowding and conflict". Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 100, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 369-370. See also 
Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 99; Pusie's Reply Brief, para. 23; Appeal Hearing, AT. 675-678, 681 (27 Mar 2017). 
3121 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 101. 
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10.16-10.17 ought to be summarily dismissed.3122 With respect to StojiC's arguments, the 

Prosecution responds that the identification of a common criminal plan is a fact-based inquiry that 

can tum on a number of factors, and does not require a "consistent wave of attacks".3123 It also 

submits that: (1) the HVO halted its Gornji Vakuf operations in January 1993 only after having 

captured a number of villages;3124 (2) the violence recurred in April 1993 in a similar fashion; and 

(3) there was no gap in hostilities between June 1993 and the activities in October 1993.3125 As for 

StojiC's remaining challenges, the Prosecution responds that: (1) the Trial Chamber's findings were 

not erroneously unspecific;3126 (2) although the Trial Chamber "inadvertently" failed to list the 

Croatian leadership among those who devised the CCP in one paragraph, it made clear elsewhere­

including in the next paragraph - that the JCE members included both Croatian and HVO 

leaders;3127 and (3) StojiC's "general reference" to witness testimony demonstrates no error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding the CCP.3128 Concerning Pusic, the Prosecution responds that 

the Trial Chamber acknowledged that population movement occUlTed because of fighting in the 

municipalities relevant to this case and other BiB regions, but reasonably concluded both that the 

JCE members knew by October 1992 that achieving their territorial objectives would require 

moving the Muslim population from BZ(R) H-B, and that from mid-January 1993 they started 

implementing this plan by conducting military attacks, atTests, detentions, and evictions aimed at 

the Muslim population.3129 

978. In reply, Stojic argues that he did not submit that the CCP "requires" a consistent wave of 

attacks,3130 but that the fluctuation in hostilities shows that the events of 1993 were better 

understood as reflective of "isolated flashpoil1ts, rather than a unified purpose".3131 

3122 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 182, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41-64, 67; 
Appeal Hearing, AT. 180 (20 Mar 2017). The Appeals Chamber notes that the Prosecution mistakenly characterises its 
response paragraph as going to PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 10.15-10.16. However it relates to sub-grounds of appeal 
10.16-10.17. 
3123 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 35. 
3124 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 35. 
3125 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 36. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 344-346 (21 Mar 2017) (arguing that 
the basis of the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the CCP was "the very obvious pattern of criminal activity targeted 
at Muslims during and after HVO operations", as well as various statements by JCE members). 
3126 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 33. . 
3127 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 34, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44,66, 1231. 
3128 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 38. 
3129 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 87, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43,45-51,53-54,56-59, 
61, 64, 66. The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably based its conclusions regarding the CCP on, 
inter alia, the pattern of crimes, the collaboration of the political and military leadership of the HZ(R) H-B, and direct 
statements of intent by JCE members, all of which are ignored by Pusic. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 80, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 51, 54,58,62-66, 1219; Appeal Hearing, AT. 709-710 (27 Mar 2017). See 
also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 81-85, 88. 
3130 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 19, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 35. 
3131 StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 19-20; Appeal Hearing, AT. 275-276 (21 Mar 2017). 
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(ii) Analysis 

979. Starting with Prlic, the Appeals Chamber finds that he misrepresents the Trial Chamber's 

findings. Contrary to his submission, the Trial Chamber discussed at length the evidence regarding 

crimes in various municipalities and detention centres throughout the Trial Judgement and then 

expressly cross-referenced the factual findings regarding those crimes in its CCP analysis, in order 

to reach the finding that there existed a pattern of crimes.3132 Further, even though the 

Trial Chamber's finding that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in the period from 

January 1993 until June 1993 has been reversed,3133 the Appeals Chamber does not consider that 

this change in the scope of the CCP in that period affects the Trial Chamber's reasoning concerning 

the clear pattern of conduct in relation to crimes forming part of the CCP, particularly since not 

many instances of murders which were considered to have been part of the CCP took place in that 

period, in contrast to the period after June 1993.3134 Prlic fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial 

Chamber's approach. 

980. With regard to StojiC's claim that there was no consistent wave of attacks implementing the 

CCP, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the CCP crystallised in 

January 1993, and was implemented in "stages", including: (1) crimes committed in Gornji Vakuf 

in January 1993; (2) crimes committed in Prozor and Jablanica in April 1993; and (3) crimes 

committed in and around Vares in October 1993.3135 The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic 

mischaracterises the Trial Chamber's approach when considering the implementation of the CCP, 

as the Trial Chamber focused on the overall pattern of events from January 1993 until April 1994 

when reaching its conclusions, which in tum is not affected by a hiatus in attacks.'3136 In particular, 

the Trial Chamber found that the events in Jablanica in April 1993 took place in the context of 

conflicts between the HVO and ABiH, which had been underway since the beginning of 

February 1993,3137 and also found that from June 1993, the CCP expanded with the siege of 

East Mostar and became more efficient with the system of deportation.3138 The Appeals Chamber 

finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's approach, and rejects his 

submission. 

3132 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-65 and references cited therein. 
3133 See supra, paras 874-886. 
3134 See supra, para. 876 & fn. 2790. 
3135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-47, 61. . 
3136 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. As noted earlier, this pattern is 
also not affected by the change in the scope of the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, 
~ara. 979. 

137 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. 
3138 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57,59,64. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 

410 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23485



981. As for StojiC's argument that certain parts of the Trial Chamber's findings were 

"erroneously unspecific", the Appeals Chamber considers that the relevant findings evince no 

ambiguity,3139 appearing as overall conclusions following a detailed and full analysis in which the 

Trial Chamber explained which crimes formed part of the CCP, and why.3140 This submission is 

rejected. As for Stojic's argument regarding the Croatian leadership findings, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that in an isolated paragraph, the Trial Chamber suggested that the crimes were "the result of 

a plan established by the leaders of the HZ(R) H_B".3141 However, it is clear from a broader reading 

of the Trial Judgement that this sentence contains an unintentional omission, as the Trial Chamber 

consistently held elsewhere that the JCE members also included Croatian leaders, who were 

involved in planning and implementing the CCP.3142 This argument is also dismissed. Finally, in 

relation to StojiC's challenges to witnesses' evidence, the Appeals Chamber notes that he simply 

makes general allegations regarding the Trial Chamber's omission to consider the evidence of 

certain witnesses,3143 without explaining why the Trial Chamber erred in reaching the conclusions it 

did regarding the CCP on the basis of other evidence and findings. 3144 This argument is thus also 

dismissed. 

982. As for PusiC's arguments, the Appeals Chamber first notes that in support of his submission, 

Pusic relies entirely on the Judge Antonetti Dissent without showing that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have inferred as the Trial Chamber did. In any event, the Majority expressly took account of 

the fact that some population movements were generated as a consequence of fighting, and others 

occurred deliberately as part of the CCP.3145 However, after a detailed assessment of the 

evidence,3146 the Majority concluded that the CCP came into existence in mid-January 1993 on the 

ba'sis of broader geopolitical circumstances, such as the presentation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan 

on 2 January 1993 and the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum,3147 and that the HVO's interpretation of the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan resulted in the commission of crimes which formed part of a "clear pattern 

of conduct".3148 

983. In sum, as Prlic has failed to demonstrate any error on the part of the Trial Chamber, his 

sub-grounds of appeal 10.16 and 10.17 are dismissed. Similarly, as Stojic has failed to show that no 

3139 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65 (observing that the crimes committed from January 1993 to April 1994 
"tended to follow a clear pattern of conduct", and in the "vast majority of cases" were not committed by chance or 
randomly). 
3140 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41-64. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66-73. 
3141 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
3142 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44,66,1222, 1231. 
3143 See supra, fn. 3119. 
3144 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
3145 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43,51,54,60-61. 
3146 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4 paras 46-64 and references cited therein. 
3147 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445,451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44, 125, 131, 142,271. 
3148 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See also supra, para. 979. 
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reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only reasonable inference from the evidence 

was that all the events formed part of a single common criminal plan, StojiC's ground of appeal 4 is 

dismissed in relevant part. The Appeals Chamber also finds that Pusic has not demonstrated any 

error in the Trial Chamber's finding, including a failure by the Trial Chamber to provide a reasoned 

opinion. His ground of appeal 3 is therefore also dismissed in relevant part. 

(b) Alleged errors regarding the context of the conflict with the ABiH 

984. In its analysis of the CCP, the Trial Chamber took account of the fact that the crimes took 

place in the context of conflict between the HVO and ABiH, considering, inter alia, that: 

(1) "tensions between the ABiH and the HVO mounted" in Jablanica Municipality, "particularly 

between the beginning of February and mid-April 1993,,;3149 (2) the JCE became more efficient 

with the introduction of a system of detention and deportation after the Attack on the HVO Tihomir 

Misic Barracks on 30 June 1993;3150 and (3) the events in Vares in October 1993 took place 

subsequent to the attack conducted by the ABiH on the village of Kopjari.3151 Elsewhere in the 

Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber also made findings on the existence of co-operation between 

the HVO and ABiH in 1992 and 1993, particularly as to, inter alia: (1) military co-operation 

between the HVO and ABiH when fighting the JNA and VRS;3152 (2) the HVO's provision ofMTS 

and medical aid to the ABiH;3153 (3) the creation of joint commands and commissions between the 

HVO and ABiH;3154 and (4) the inclusion of Muslims within the ranks of the HVO.3155 

(i) StojiC's appeal (Ground 2) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

985. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to give a "reasoned decision" by finding that 

there was a JCE without proper consideration of evide~ce proffered and his submissions at trial of 

the substantial co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and ABiH.3156 Stojic argues that the 

Trial Chamber disregarded evidence and submissions - or failed to evaluate their effect on the 

alleged existence of the JCE3157 - demonstrating that: (1) Croatia and the HVO delivered and/or 

3149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. 
3150 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
3152 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440, Vol. 2, paras 695-697. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. 
3153 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440, Vol. 2, para. 696, Vol. 4, para. 308. 
3154 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 441,463-464. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 458-477. 
3155 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 774. 
3156 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 25, paras 27, 37. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 25-26, referring to, 
inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 9-73. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 8, 13; Appeal Hearing, AT. 267-275 
(21 Mar 2017). 
3157 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 25-27, 37; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 15. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 33. 
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provided MTS and other forms of aid to the ABiH;3158 (2) the HVO and ABiH engaged in close 

military co-operation, fighting side by side and establishing effective joint commands and 

commissions as common parts of the BiH armed forces;3159 and (3) Muslims made up a substantial 

proportion of the HVO armed forces. 3160 Stojic asserts that: (1) the only reasonable conclusion from 

the evidence is that the HVO and Croatia did not regard the ABiH as their enemy;3161 and (2) had 

the Trial Chamber evaluated the evidence and submissions, it could not have concluded that a ICE 

existed.3162 

986. The Prosecution responds that Stojic does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider co-operation between the HV /HVO and the ABiH, nor how such co-operation would 

render the Trial Chamber's CCP findings unreasonable.3163 It submits that Stojic: (1) cites evidence 

confirming that the HV /HVO only supplied the ABiH with MTS at locations and times the ABiH 

was fighting Serbs3164 and·allowed only a meagre amount of humanitarian supplies through to East 

Mostar;3165 and (2) fails to explain how certain evidence - much of which was expressly considered 

or related to exhibits deemed inadmissible - invalidates or undermines the Trial Chamber's 

findings. 3166 The Prosecution argues that, contrary to StojiC's assertion, the Trial Chamber made 

express findings concerning joint HVO-ABiH commands and commissions and that Stojic, 

regardless, fails to demonstrate how piecemeal co-operation contradicts the "clear pattern" of HVO 

crimes.3167 Finally, it submits that the evidence Stojic cites regarding Muslims in the HVO 

3158 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 25, 28-29,35; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 9-11; Appeal Hearing, AT. 269-272, 356 (21 
Mar 2017), AT. 812-813 (28 Mar 2017). See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 25. Stojic submits that the 
MTS was: (1) portable (thus its deployment was not controlled by the donor); and (2) provided even in areas where 
there was conflict between the HVO and ABiH. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 36. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 9-
12. As to aid other than MTS, Stojic submits, inter alia, that medical supplies were sent to the ABiH, Muslim civilians 
and ABiH members were treated in Mostar and Croatian hospitals, humanitarian organisations operated in Croatia for 
the ABiH's benefit, and the ABiH operated offices in Zagreb and Split. StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 29, 35; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 272-273 (21 Mar 2017). 
3159 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 30-32, 35. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 34; Appeal Hearing, AT. 272-273 (21 
Mar 2017). 
3160 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 33. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 14; Appeal Hearing, AT. 273-274 
(21 Mar 2017). 
3161 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 35. See also Stojic's Reply Brief, paras 8, 11-12; Appeal Hearing, AT. 275 (21 Mar 
2017). 
3162 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 37. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 25-26, 35; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 8, 11-14; 
A~pealHearing, AT. 267, 274-275 (21 Mar 2017). . 
31 3 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 20; Appeal Hearing, AT. 346-347 (21 Mar 2017). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 26. 
3164 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 22. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 21. 
3165 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 23. The Prosecution submits that the JCE members' manipulation of 
humanitarian aid access supports the Trial Chamber's findings. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 23. 
3166 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 22(4)-(5), 23. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 21. 
3167 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 24. The Prosecution contends, moreover, that it was only in the context 
of peace negotiations and joint initiatives that the ABiH "recognised" the HVO as a constituent part of the BiH 
forces. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 24. 
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demonstrates a progressive decimation that was consistent with the JCE members' goal of ethnic 

domination and mirrored demographic changes across the HZ(R) H_B?168 

b. Analysis 

987. With respect to StojiC's assertion that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence on the 

existence of co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and ABiH, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that a trial judgement should be read as a whole.3169 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber made factual findings on the issue of co-operation throughout the 

Trial Judgement, expressly considering and relying upon, inter alia, numerous pieces of evidence to 

which Stojic refers. First, the Trial Chamber found that the HVO and ABiH co-operated militarily 

in 1992 and 1993 when fighting the JNA and VRS and that, in particular, an independent Mostar 

battalion made up of Muslims and Croats was created in April 1992, co-operating closely with the 

HVO in the defence of Mostar.3170 It additionally found that, in furtherance of this co-operation, the 

HVO supplied the ABiH with, inter alia, medical aid, weapons, and military equipment in 1992 and 

1993.3171 Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that: (1) on 21 July 1992, Tudman and Izetbegovic 

signed a treaty, proclaiming the HVO an integral part of the ABiH that was to be represented within 

the joint command of the Republic 'of Bosnia a~d Herzegovina ("RBiH") armed forces;3172 and (2) 

the HVO itself included Muslims within its ranks in 1992 and 1993, although the evidence showed 

that the Muslims left the ranks of the HVO en masse in May and June 1993.3173 The Trial Chamber 

also discussed at length peace negotiations and the creation of joint commissions and comma~ds' 

between the HVO and ABiH during 1993 in several municipalities in order to implement the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan3174 and noted that clashes between the HVO and ABiH broke out in the 

3168 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 25. 
3169 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Oric Appeal Judgement, para. 38; Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 435; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 344. . 
3170 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440 & fn. 1037, Vol. 2, paras 695-697 & fns 1563-1564. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 30, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D00208, 3D00211, 4D00615, P00708. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
308. 
3171 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440 & fns 1037-1039, Vol. 2, para. 696 & fns 1559, 1561-1562, Vol. 4, para. 308 & 
fns 730, 732. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 26, 28-29, 35, referring to, inter alia, Mile Akmadzic, T. 29443 (17 June 
2008), 29611-29612 (19 June 2008), Hamid Bahto, T. 37897-37911 (11 Mar 2009), Nedzad Cengic, T. 37950-37951 
(11 Mar 2009), Tihomir Majic, T. 37850-37852 (9 Mar 2009), Andelko Makar, T. 38417-38418, 38447-38448, 38453-
38456 (23 Mar 2009), T. 38472 (24 Mar 2009), Slobodan Praljak, T. 40138-40140 (14 May 2009), T. 40141-40142 
(private session) (14 May 2009), 41132-41134 (3 June 2009), T. 42146 (29 June 2009), Exs.2D00320, 2D00325, 
2D00502, 2D00522, 2D00809, 2D01101, 2D01111; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 9-10 & fns 21-22, 24-25. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1114. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 28 & fn. 86, referring to, inter alia, Andelko Makar, 
T. 38447-38448 (23 Mar 2009). 
3172 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 441. 
3173 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 774 & fn. 1807. Cj. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 33, referring to, inter alia, 
Ex. 2D00150. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1806. 
3174 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 463-464 & fns 1115-1119. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 440-441,458-477 & 
fns 1037, 1133, 1140, 1144, Vol. 4, paras 45, 127 & fns 123,368. Cj. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 32, referring to, inter 
alia, Bo Pellnas, T. 19753 (7 June 2007), Exs. 4D01700, pp. 5, 7-8, P01238, paras 1, 3, P01467, paras 1-3, P01709, 
para. 8, P02016, pp. 2-4. 
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municipalities during this period of co-operation.3175 In terms of the HVO providing aid to the 

ABiH, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the HVO: (1) hindered the 

delivery of humanitarian aid to East Mostar between June and December 1993 by restricting access 

of international organisations to East Mostar; and (2) provided sporadic humanitarian aid to East 

Mostar between June and September 1993 that was conditional on obtaining certain advantages.3176 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded evidence. on the existence of co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and the 

ABiH. Rather, he simply attempts to substitute his own interpretation of this evidence for that of the 

Trial Chamber. His argument is therefore dismissed. 

988. Concerning StojiC's submissions in relation to evidence not referred to by the Trial Chamber 

when making the aforementioned findings on co-operation,3177 the Appeals Chamber notes that 

much, but not all, of the evidence Stojic refers to concerns co-operation in 1992 and is therefore 

temporally outside the scope of the JCE, which came into being in mid-January 1993.3178 Stojic 

does not demonstrate how this evidence would have an impact on the impugned finding. The same 

applies to the evidence which Stojicargues concerns co-operation in 1993. The Appeals Chamber 

considers that he merely asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to consider relevant evidence, without 

showing that no reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the same 

conclusion as the Trial Chamber did. Thus, his argument is dismissed. 

989. When submitting that the Trial Chamber disregarded his trial submissions concerning the 

co-operation, Stojic claims that the Trial Chamber "did not even mention them in its summary of 

the Defence arguments on the JCE".3179 The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic misrepresents 

the Trial Chamber's approach, as its brief summary of each Appellant's submissions was not 

3175 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 460,470,477, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
3176 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1243-1244 & fns 3100-3101. Cj. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 29, referring to, inter 
alia, Exs. 2D00119, 2D00120, 2D00321, 2D00322, 2D00323, 2D00333, 2D00455, 2D00504, P02703 (confidential), 
~ara. 5, P02782 (confidential), para. 3, P02929 (confidential), para. 1. 

177 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 28 (referring to, inter alia, Marijan Biskic, T.15194 (6 Mar 2007), 
Dragutin Cehulic, T. 38700 (1 Apr 2009), Mario Milos, T. 38656-38657, 38659-38660, 38662 (30 Mar 2009), 
Exs.2D00229, 2D00311, 2D00527, 2D00955, 2D01046, 2D01048, 2D01050, 2D01068, 2DOI069, 2D01070, 
2D01078, 2DOI086, 2D01091, 2D01093, 2DOI095, 2DOI097, 2D01100, 2D01107, 2D01108, 2D0111O, 2D01116, 
2D01243, 3D00299, 3D00314, 3D00436, 3D00437), 29 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. m0l302, 2D00317, 2D00318, 
2D00319, 2D00324, 2D00602, 2D00603, 3D00615, 3D00667, 3D01034, P02731 (confidential), para. 5, P02923 
(confidential), para. 3), 30 (referring'to, inter alia, Exs. 2D01278; 2DOI279, 2D01281, 2D01283, 2D01284, 2D01285, 
2D01286, 2D01287, 2D01289, 2D01290, 2D01291, 2DOI292, 2D01293, 2D03057, P00492), 31-32 (referring to, inter 
alia, Filip Filipovic, T. 47444 (30 Nov 2009), Witness 4D-AB, T. 47190 (24 Nov 2009), Exs. 2D00643, 4D00434 
4D00554), 33 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03260, pp. 2,4-5),34 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01675), 36 & fns 94-97, 
99-100, 111-113, 115-116, 125 and references cited therein. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, fns 20,24,32 and references 
cited therein. 
3178 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45. 
3179 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 26, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 39. See StojiC's Reply Brief, 
para. 15. 
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intended to be an exhaustive enumeration thereof.3180 Further, the Trial Chamber was not under an 

obligation to justify its findings in relation to every submission made during the trial. The Appeals 

Chamber recalls, rather, that the Trial Chamber maintained the discretion as to which legal 

arguments to address.3181 The Appeals Chamber thus sees no merit in StojiC's assertion that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the JCE existed had it evaluated the evidence and 

submissions. His submission is dismissed. 

990. Turning to Stojic's assertion regarding the Trial Chamber's alleged failure to evaluate the 

effect of evidence of co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and ABiH when finding that 

a JCE existed, thus breaching his right to a "reasoned decision", the Appeals Chamber recalls that a 

trial chamber is obliged to provide a reasoned opinion ensuring that an appellant can exercise his 

right of appeal in a meaningful manner and that the Appeals Chamber can understand and review 

the trial chamber's findings as well as its evaluation of the evidence.3182 In the present case, the 

Appeals Chaml?er notes that, in addition to the various factual findings regarding co-operation 

mentioned above,3183 in its analysis of the CCP the Trial Chamber explicitly considered 

co-operation between the two sides only insofar as it found that the HZ H-B leaders participated in 

peace talks at the outset of the JCE while the HVO conducted military campaigns in the provinces it 

considered Croatian in order to consolidate its presence.3184 However, the Trial Chamber 

nevertheless concluded that a JCE came into being in mid-January 1993 on the basis of 

circumstances such as the presentation of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 2 January 1993 and the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum,3185 finding that the JCE was then implemented by numerous criminal 

acts, which took place pursuant to a "clear pattern of conduct" from January 1993 to April 1994.3186 

The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's approach 

or how the existence of co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and ABiH necessarily 

invalidates these findings. Thus, his argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned 

opinion is dismissed.3187 For similar reasons, his assertion that the only reasonable conclusion from 

the evidence is that the HVO and Croatia did not regard the ABiH as their enemy is dismissed. 

991. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

did not provide a reasoned opinion in finding that there was a JCE without properly considering the 

submissions and evidence proffered at trial regarding the existence and impact of substantial 

3180 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 39, referring to, inter alia, StojiC's Final Brief, paras 64-152. 
3181 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
3182 Art. 23(2) of the Statute; Rule 98 ter(C) of the Rules. See Stanish; and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 137; 
POfovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1123 (and references cited therein), 1367, 1771. 
318 See supra, para. 987. 
3184 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 45. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46. 
3185 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 445,451-452, Vol. 4, paras 44, 125. See also supra, paras 852-858. 
3186 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 

416 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23479



co-operation between Croatia "and/or" the HVO and the ABiH. StojiC's ground of appeal 2 is 

dismissed. 

(ii) StojiC's appeal (Ground 3) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

992. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a "reasoned decision" by not 

properly taking account of trial submissions and underlying evidence that demonstrate that the 

HVO military actions from January 1993 were a reaction to specific ABiH offensives.3188 Stojic 

first argues that the Trial Chamber erred when it failed to determine why clashes between the HVO 

and ABiH broke out in April 1993, disregarding the significance of Defence evidence that the HVO 

action in April 1993 occurred in response to an ABiH offensive that started on 13 and 

14 April 1993 and was directed at Konjic, Jablanica, and Prozor.3189 Second, Stojic argues that the 

Trial Chamber: (1) failed to consider the purpose of the April 1993 attacks in Prozor; and (2) erred 

in concluding that the attacks on SoviCi and Doljani in Jablanica Municipality were not a "defensive 

reaction to the ABiH attack that same day", because it failed to take account of the fact that the 

attack was a response to the ABiH offensive in the area rather than on that day alone.3190 Third, 

Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence and submissions showing that the 

HVO actions following 30 June 1993 were a response to an ABiH offensive in central BiH which 

included the Attack on the HVO Tihomir MiSic Barracks.3191 Stojic also avers that the 

Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion in concluding that the deportation system 

implemented after this attack was merely a "more efficient" implementation of the CCP.3192 

993. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber explained why the crimes committed by 

the HVO formed part of the CCP.3193 In particular, it submits that: (1) the Trial Chamber specified 

the purpose of the HVO's April 1993 attacks in Prozor Municipality, which was to take control of 

3187 Regarding the clear pattern of conduct, see also supra, para. 979. 
3188 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 38, paras 38-39; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 16-17. See also StojiC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 47; Appeal Hearing, AT. 275-276, 282-282 (21 Mar 2017). Stojic also argues that HVO actions in 
Mostar in May 1993 were a response to an ABiH attack on 9 May 1993; referring to his ground of appeal 47. See 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 38; supra, paras 923-929. . 
3189 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 40-41. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber abrogated its responsibility to provide a 
reasoned opinion in choosing not to determine why clashes between the HVO and ABiH broke out at this time. StojiC's 
Afcpeal Brief, para. 41, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 526. . 
310 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 42, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 543, Vol. 4, para, 46. Stojic argues that 
the Trial Chamber erred in finding that these events fell within the CCP. Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 42. See also 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 43-44. 
3191 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 45-46, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, paras 141-151, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 
882-895. Stojic also argues that while the Trial Chamber linked the detention of Muslim men in Mostar, Stolac, 
Capljina, Ljubuski, and Prozor to the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks, it failed to explain how these arrests 
were connected to the CCP established in January 1993. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 46. 
3192 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 46, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57,64. 
3193 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 27. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 31. 
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villages by acts of violence against the Muslim population, and the attacks were part of the 

implementation of the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum;3194 (2) the existence of a "defensive component" to 

the HVO attacks against the villages of SoviCi and Doljani does not undermine the link of these 

events to the CCP;3195 and (3) the Trial Chamber explained how the arrests and detentions of 

Muslim men after 30 June 1993 formed part of the CCP, as well as how the CCP became more 

efficient. 3196 

b. Analysis 

994. Considering first the Trial Chamber's conclusions regarding the conflict between the HVO 

and ABiH in Jablanica Municipality in April 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber concluded that "clashes between the HVO and the ABiH" broke out in the 

municipality on 13 and 14 April 1993.3197 The Trial Chamber also stated that, having considered 

Defence evidence and submissions that HVO engagements in mid-April 1993 were intended to 

repel the ABiH offensive in the area,3198 it was unable to determine the reason for the clashes.3199 

The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that these events fell within the CCP despite being aware of this context. As for StojiC's 

submission that the Dial Chamber failed to appreciate the broader context of the entire ABiH 

offensive in Jablanica, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found, in addition to 

referring to the clashes on 13 and 14 April 1993, that on 15 April 1993, the HVO commenced 

shelling the town of Jablanica and that on 17 April 1993, the HVO launched an attack in Jablanica 

Valley, which was not purely defensive, shelling several localities, including SoviCi and Doljani, 

and committing crimes during and following the attack.32oo Thus, contrary to StojiC's submission, 

the Trial Chamber clearly considered the broader context of the events in Jablanica. As for Prozor, 

the Trial Chamber found that the HVO's "offensive actions" in Prozor Municipality in April 1993 

resulted in taking possession of several villages, committing acts of violence such as setting fire to 

Muslim houses, causing the Muslim population to flee, and thus preventing any possibility of 

retum.3201 It also considered that these crimes in Jablanica and Prozor, along with others, formed 

3194 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 28. 
3195 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 28. 
3196 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 29-30. 
3197 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 526. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 524-525. 
3198 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 523-524. See also StojiC's Final Brief, paras l33-140. 
3199 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 526 ("Whatever the underlying reasons may have been, clashes between the HVO 
and the ABiH did break out on 13-14 April 1993 in Jablanica Municipality."). 
3200 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46, 48. The Trial Chamber also found that on 5 May 1993, in the village of SoviCi, 
approximately 450 women, children, and the elderly were moved by the HVO soldiers from the SoviCi School and the 
houses of JunuzoviCi hamlet towards Gornji Vakuf. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 609. See also supra, paras 819, 
895. 
3201 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 47. 
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part of a clear "pattern of conduct".3202 As noted earlier, the Appeals Chamber considers that this 

pattern of conduct, rather than the offensive or defensive nature of the operations, was the basis of 

the Trial Chamber's conclusions concerning the events that fell within the CCP.3203 Stojic thus fails 

to show that the Trial Chamber diq not provide a reasoned opinion in this regard. 3204 

995. Turning to StojiC's challenges to the events following 30 June 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that in its analysis of the CCP the Trial Chamber recalled that the ABiH attacked the HVO 

Tihomir Misic Barracks on that day.3205 In doing so the Trial Chamber cross-referenced its factual 

findings concerning this attack.3206 The Trial Chamber nevertheless found that after this event, "the 

implementation of the JCE became more efficient",3207 finding that the HVO "arrested and detained 

many Muslims" from a number of municipalities, before sending them to ABiH-controlled 

territories or to third countries via Croatia, or putting them in HVO detention centres, including the 

Heliodrom and Ljubuski, Gabela, and Drete1j Prisons.3208 In light of these conclusions, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that, contrary to StojiC's submission, the Trial Chamber did not fail to 

consider evidence and submissions showing that the HVO actions following 30 June 1993 were a 

response to an ABiH offensive in central BiH which included the Attack on the HVO Tihomir 

Misic Barracks. Rather, having considered that evidence, it came to the conclusion that the Attack 

on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks was a catalyst that made the JCE implementation more 

efficient. The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show any error and dismisses his 

arguments. 

996. As for StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber offered no explanation for concluding that 

the system of deportation implemented after 30 June 1993 was simply a more efficient 

implementation of the "original" CCP, the Appeals Chamb(1r notes that it has already dealt with, 

and dismissed, this argument. 3209 

997. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion and did not properly consider trial submissions 

and underlying evidence that demonstrate that the HVO military actions from January 1993 were a 

reaction to specific ABiH offensives. The Appeals Chamber dismisses his ground of appea13. 

3202 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46-48,65. Regarding this pattern of conduct, see also supra, para. 979. 
3203 See supra, para. 895. 
3204 See, e.g., Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1367, 1402, 1771; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 25. 
3205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3206 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 878-886. 
3207 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3208 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. 
3209 See supra, para. 800. 
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(iii) PetkoviC's appeal (Sub-grounds 3.2.2 and 3.2.2.4) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

998. Petkovic first argues that the Trial Chamber erred when it concluded that HVO military 

operations formed part of a plan, and that although the Trial Chamber took note of the need to 

"carefully distinguish between the legitimate/permissible use of military force and the commission 

of crimes that might accompany such instances", it failed to do SO.321O Petkovic also argues, relying 

on evidence concerning the events in Stupni'Do, that the finding that the crimes were planned by 

the Appellants is contradicted by "evidence of multiple reactions to these crimes', which were duly 

reported up the chain of command and condemned by supposed lCE-members".3211 

999. Second, Petko vic submits thllt the Trial Chamber erred because it concluded that there was a 

"clear pattern of conduct" in the crimes committed as a result of the implementation of the CCP, as 

opposed to a pattern of military operations.3212 In support, he asserts that damage to civilian 

property is often collateral to military operations.3213 In addition, Petkovic submits that the 

Trial Chamber "had to carefully evaluate destruction of Muslim houses on each location to establish 

whether the destruction was done for special, underlying purpose of 'ethnic cleansing' or not".3214 

In this regard, he asserts that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the destruction of 

Muslim houses in Gornji Vakuf, lablanica, and ProZor formed part of the CCP.3215 Petkovic argues 

in particular that: (1) the demographic composition of the municipalities of Gornji Vakuf and 

Prozor stayed the same; and (2) crimes in the villages of SoviCi and Doljani were committed as "an 

act of revenge of members of one HVO unit" .3216 

1000. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on evidence of the 

pattern of crimes committed throughout the lCE period in finding that the CCP existed.3217 In 

response to PetkoviC's first challenge, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber properly 

distinguished between legitimate aspects of military operations and the commission of crimes 

3210 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 37-38, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 39; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 
12-13. Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber reasoned that because both military operations and the crimes were 
planned, they must have been committed pursuant to the same plan. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 38-40. See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 37. 
3211 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 41, referring to Exs. P02050, P02059, P02088, P02112, P09494, Milivoj Petkovic, 
T. 49438-49446, 49450-49451 (15 Feb 2010). 
3212PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 81-82,84. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 484, 575 (23 Mar 2017). 
3213 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 82. 
3214 PetkoviC' s Appeal Brief, para. 83. 
3215 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 83. 
3216 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 83, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 643, Vol. 3, paras 1526-1529, 1559-
1563; Appeal Hearing, AT. 494-495, 497-498, 524 (23 Mar 2017). 
3217 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 32. 
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during such operations.3218 The Prosecution also asserts that the Trial Chamber was aware of the 

evidence cited by Petkovic as regards the reporting of crimes up the chain of command, but found 

that the JCE members failed to follow up on initial reports or condemnations, and denied or 

concealed the crimes committed.3219 In response to PetkoviC's second challenge, the Prosecution 

submits that: (1) crimes such as those at issue are never permitted, even in connection with military 

operations;322o and (2) the Trial Chamber carefully examined how the criminal destruction of 

property fits within the CCP.3221 

b. Analysis 

1001. The Appeals Chamber turns first to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

distinguish between legitimate use of military force and crimes that might accompany such 

instances. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in the present case, crimes were charged in the context 

of an armed conflict.3222 Contrary to PetkoviC's assertiori, in considering whether those crimes were 

committed, the Trial Chamber made findings that certain incidents did not amount to crimes 

because the possibility of legitimate military conduct could not be excluded.3223 Having found that a 

wide range of crimes did occur, however, the Trial Chamber then concluded that the numerous 

criminal acts committed during military campaigns were carried out in furtherance of the CCP and 

formed a pattern of conduct. 3224 The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's 

reasoning,3225 and therefore dismisses Petko viC' s argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

distinguish between legitimate use of military force and Climes that might accompany such 

instances. Further, and as a consequence, Petko viC' s argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

3218 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 34. 
3219 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 35. 
3220 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 36. 
3221 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 37. 
3222 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 514-589. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 34-299, 326-488, 520-
655. 
3223 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 655 (the Trial Chamber could not exclude the possibility that villagers were 
taking part in hostilities and could not find that those villagers were civilian victims of the crime of murder), 701 (the 
Trial Chamber could not establish whether certain individuals belonged to the village guard or were members of the 
ABiH, and therefore could not find that they were victims of murder), 704 (the Trial Chamber could not establish the 
source of shots that were fired when HVO soldiers broke down the door of a house, and could not exclude the 
possibility that its occupants were taking part in the hostilities, and therefore was unable to find that certain villagers 
were victims of wilful killing), 706 (the Trial Chamber recalled that an individual was armed and could not find that the 
individual was a victim of wilful killing), 950 (the Trial Chamber could not fmd that those who were being detained 
were civilians, and therefore could not find that the crime of imprisonment was committed), 1525 (the Trial Chamber 
could not exclude the possibility that Muslims inside the house took part in the combat activities, thus making the house 
a legitimate military target for the HVO soldiers), 1558 (the Trial Chamber could not exclude the possibility that the 
destruction of a house was justified by military necessity), 1563 (the Trial Chamber could not exclude the possibility 
that the destruction caused during an HVO attack was justified by military necessity). 
3224 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-47, 56, 59,61,65. Regarding this pattern of conduct, see also supra, para. 979. 
3225 The Appeals Chamber also considers that Petkovic fails to substantiate his assertion that the Trial Chamber 
concluded that as both military operations and criminal acts were planned, they must have formed part of the same plan. 
Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not find that military operations per se formed part 
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consider that damage to civilian property may be deemed collateral damage in military campaigns 

is also dismissed. 

1002. As for PetkoviC's submission, relying on the events in Stupni Do, that the conclusion that 

the crimes were planned by the Appellants was contradicted by evidence of crimes being reported 

up the chain of command and JCE members' reaction to the crimes, the Appeals Chamber notes 

that the Trial Chamber considered this in its analysis of the CCP. It, however, found that despite not 

takin'g part in the decision to attack Stupni Do on 23 October 1993, Petkovic, among others, 

attempted to conceal the crimes and thereby furthered the CCP.3226 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

finds no error in the Trial Chamber's analysis. PetkoviC's submission is thus dismissed. 

1003. The Appeals Chamber also rejects the submission that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that there was a clear pattern of crimes as opposed to a pattern of military operations, 

noting that the Trial Chamber's conclusion in this regard was based on the findings that a large 

number of crimes were committed, in "stages", in order to implement the JCE.3227 Accordingly, 

PetkoviC's arguments are dismissed. 

1004. As for Petkovic's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that destruction of 

Muslim houses in Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, and Prozor formed part of the CCP, the 

Appeals Chamber. recalls that it has considered, and dismissed, the submission that the absence of 

permanent demographic change has any bearing on the conclusion that crimes were committed.3228 

The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses PetkoviC's challenges insofar as they relate to Gornji Vakuf, 

Jablanica, arid Prozor. As for the argument that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to consider that 

'crimes committed in SoviCi and Doljani in Jablanica Municipality were an act of revenge of 

members of one HVO unit,3229 the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic merely suggests a different 

interpretation of the evidence without showing that the Trial Chamber reached an unreasonable 

conclusion.3,230 His arguments thus fail. 

1005. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Petko vic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred when it concluded that: (1) HVO military operations formed part of a plan by 

failing to distinguish the crimes and legitimate military conduct; and (2) there was a "clear pattern 

of the CCP, and considered only the crimes which - in certain incidents - accompanied such operations. This 
submission is also dismissed, See supra, fn. 3210. 
3226 See Trial Judgement, VoL 4, paras 61-62, See also Trial Judgement, VoL 3, paras 317-326, 411-425, 476-498, VoL 
4, faras 760-777,846-849, See also infra, paras 2289-2294. 
322 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 45. See Trial Judgement, VoL 4, paras 46-66. See also supra, para. 979. 
3228 See supra, paras 872, 894. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 27, 79. . 
3229 See Trial Judgement, VoL 2, para. 643. 
3230 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 146. 
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of conduct" in the crimes committed as a result of the implementation of the CCP. PetkoviC's 

sub-grounds of appeal 3.2.2 and 3.2.2.4 are dismissed. 

(iv) CoriC's appeal (Ground 1 in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1006. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the CCP existed, having failed 

to take into account reasonable alternative inferences and having ignored certain evidence.3231 He 

argues that "[n]o such plan was shown to exist in documents, orders and meeting notes introduced 

into evidence".3232 Corie submits that there was "abundant evidence" showing that the acts of the 

HZ H-B were defensive, pointing to: (1) witness testimony;3233 (2) documentary evidence regarding 

the establishment of the HZ H-B as a temporary .response to aggression;3234 (3) the HVO 

co-operation with the ABiH;3235 (4) the fact that the ABiH was involved in planning attacks against 

the HZ H-B even whilst participating in peace negotiations;3236 and (5) the lack of discrimination 

against Muslims, which was evidenced by, inter alia, Muslims joining the HVO.3237 Corie also 

3231 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 18,20,29. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 19,21. 
3232 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 22. 
3233 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 23, referring to Ex. 5D05110 (confidential) (witness statement of Prosecution Witness 
NO), para. 10, Zdenko Andabak, T. 50965 (15 Mar 2010), Dragan CurCic, T. 45809 (12 Oct 2009), Radmilo Jasak, T. 
48682-48685 (20 Jan 2010), Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20648-20650 (27 June 2007), Slobodan Praljak, T. 41832-41833 
(23 June 2007), Andrew Pringle, T. 24259 (7 Nov 2007), Zvonko Vidovic, T. 51462 (29 Mar 2010). 
3234 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 24-25, referring to Exs. 1D0041O, 1D02147, lD02314, lD02441 , lD02096, lD02908, 
2D00093, P00047, P00050, P00052, P00060, P00078 , P00079, P00081, P00117, P00128, P00151, P00152, P00289, 
P00292, P00303,P00339,P01467,P00498, P00543, P01798,P01467,P01988,P02088,MileAkmadzic, T. 28482(17 
June 2008), Stjepan Kljuic, T. 3937-3938, (27 June 2006), T. 4216-4217 (28 June 2006), Ciril RibiCic, T. 25462-25463 
(10 Dec 2007). 
3235 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 26, referring to Exs. lDQ0507, lD02147, lD02432, lD02441, lD02664, 2D00147, 
2D00311, 2D005n, 2D00523, 2D00630, 2D00809, 2D0l177, 2D01185, 2D01253, 3D00008, 3D00437, 4D00397, 
4D0041O, 4D00476, 4D00478, 4D01026, 4D01048, 4D01521, P00151, POOI55, P00339, P01988, P02002, P02091, 
Witness DE, T. 15615, 15597-15598 (closed session) (13 Mar 2007), T. 15671 (closed session) (14 Mar 2007), Stjepan 
Kljuic, T. 4187-4188 (27 June 2006), Robert Donia, T. 1830 (10 May 2006), Borislav Puljic, T. 32251-32252 
(16 Sept 2008), Mile Akmadzic, T. 29424-29426 (17 June 2008), T. 29601, 29603-29604 (18 June 2008), Hamid 
Bahto, T. 37916-37918 (11 Mar 2009), Tihomir Majic, T. 37850-37851 (9 Mar 2009), Filip Filipovic, T. 47778 (7 Dec 
2009), Mario Milos, T. 38651 (30 Mar 2009), Bo Pellnas, T. 19730 (7 June 2007), Dragan Pinjuh, T. 37700 (4 Mar 
2009), Mirko Zelenika, T. 33248 (15 Oct 2008), Andelko Makar, T. 38381-38386 (23 Mar 2009). 
3236 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 27, referring to Exs. lD01264, lD01662, lD01652, lD02729, 2D00229, 2D00253, 
2D01107, 3D00837, 4D00568, 4D00895, 4D00896, 4D01700, P00633, P01240, P01305, P01317, P01675, P02346, 
P02760, P02849, P03038, P03337, Zoran Buntic, T. 30723-30724 (15 July 2008), Filip Filipovic, T.47444 
(30 Nov 2009), Dragan Jurie, T. 39308, 39345-39346 (27 Apr 2009), Witness DE, T. 15698-15699 (closed session) 
(14 Mar 2007). Corie asserts that against this backdrop, it is evident that "self-defence was the guiding principle of the 
HVO, not any pre-conceived plan to ethnically cleanse Muslims". CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 27. 
3237 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 28-29, referring to Exs. ID00442, ID00669, lD01l53, lD02001, lD02124, lD02381, 
2D00439, 4D00455, P00128,P00672, P00824, POI097,POI264, P01439, POI511,POI536, P01563, P01627, P01652, 
P02059, P02091, P02155, P03673, P04008, P04111, P04699, P04735, P07279,P07674, PIOnO (confidential), Witness 
CQ, T. 11424 (private session) (11 Dec 2006), Milivoj Petkovie, T. 49342 (11 Feb 2010), Zoran Buntic, T. 30724-
30725 (15 July 2008), Andelko Makar, T. 38414 (23 Mar 2009), Witness CJ, T. 10952 (closed session) (30 Nov 2006). 
Corie submits in particular that: (1) Muslims were appointed to all levels of the HZ-HB and steps were taken to oppose 
demographic changes; and (2) the disarming and detention of Muslim members of the HVO was a military necessity 
which came about following the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks on 30 June 1993. See CoriC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 28-29. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 27. 
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submits that the Trial Chamber's failure to consider the totality of evidence invalidates its 

conclusion that a ICE existed, arguing that the Trial Chamber: (1) "could not distinguish criminal 

events during the attacks and after"; and thus (2) could not "distinguish damage and injury that 

occurred as part oflegitimate combat apart from those that were criminally incurred".3238 

1007. The Prosecution responds that: (1) the majority of Corie's arguments warrant summary 

dismissal as they were made in his final brief;3239 and (2) the evidence he refers to does not support 

his own claims.324o It points to the Trial Chamber's findings on the CCP and argues that Corie 

ignores the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber which demonstrates that the events were part 

of a ICE, as opposed to a defensive reaction to the ABiH offensive.3241 In particular, the 

Prosecution argues that given the "massive scope, scale, duration and similarity" of the crimes, the 

Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that a ICE existed despite ABiH planning of attacks during 

ongoing negotiations and the inclusion of Muslims in the HVO. 3242 

b. Analysis 

1008. The' Appeals Chamber will first address Corie's assertion that the Trial Chamber found that 

it could not distinguish between criminal events occurring during military attacks and criminal 

events occurring after the HVO takeover of villages. It considers that Corie takes this solitary 

finding out of context. In assessing evidence concerning the alleged destruction of Muslim houses 

and thefts of their property in the village of Hrasnica, the Trial Chamber referred to paragraph 67 of 

the Indictment which alleges that ''following the HVO attack on Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje and 

Zdrimci the HVO plundered and burned Bosnian Muslim houses and property in and around these 

villages,,3243 and stated that "[t]he evidence did not always facilitate distinguishing the criminal 

events alleged to have occurred during the actual attack of the village from the criminal events once 

the HVO took over the village".3244 Noting, however, that some witnesses provided sufficient detail, 

the Trial Chamber concluded that HVO members committed thefts and plundered Muslim houses in 

Hrasnica but that it had no evidence to find that the HVO stole valuables from some Muslims 

3238 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 29, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 2, para. 412. 
3239 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 19. 
3240 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 24. 
3241 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 20-24. 
3242 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 26. The Prosecution argues in partiCUlar that: (1) the fact that the HVO 
was "careful enough" to avoid explicit reference to the CCP in documentation is irrelevant; (2) arguments regarding 
efforts to oppose demographic changes are undermined by the HVO's active role in the displacement of Muslims; and 
(3) regardless of whether disarming and detentions of Muslims became a military necessity following June 1993, it did 
not justify the crimes which occurred. Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 21,25-26; Appeal Hearing, AT. 659-
660 (24 Mar 2017). 
3243 Indictment, para. 67 (emphasis added); Trial Judgement, VoL 2, para. 413. See also Trial Judgement, VoL 2, para. 
411. 
3244 See Trial Judgement, VoL 2, para. 412. 
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during their arrests in Hrasnica. 3245 Accordingly, contrary to Corie's submission, this conclusion by 

the Trial Chamber has no impact on the existence of the JCE. 

1009. The remainder of Corie's arguments essentially go to the assertion that the Trial Chamber 

failed to consider evidence demonstrating that the acts of the HZ H-B were acts of self-defence as 

opposed to being part of the CCP.3246 Considering first Corie's argument in relation to witness 

evidence, the Appeals Chamber notes that Corie argues that the Trial Chamber disregarded the 

evidence of a number of witnesses to the effect that they did not know of or participate in a criminal 

plan, as well as other testimony which, in his view, supports the hypothesis that the acts of the HZ 

H-B were defensive. The Appeals Chamber notes that contrary to Corie's submission, the 

Trial Chamber considered much of the testimonial evidence he points to at various junctures in the 

Trial Judgement.3247 Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that Corie fails to explain how the 

conclusion that the CCP existed - made on the basis of other evidence and findings, which Corie 

does not challenge3248 - is affected by this evidence. Corie simply attempts to substitute his own . 

interpretation of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber, often repeating submissions made at 

trial without showing an enor by the Trial Chamber.3249 His argument is thus. dismissed. 

1010. The Appeals Chamber turns next to Corie's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider evidence demonstrating that the HZ H-B was established as a temporary response to 

aggression. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has considered, and dismissed, identical challenges 

to this finding above.325o The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber found, based on a 

range of evidence, including the evidence referenced by Corie, that the HZ H-B was created against 

a backdrop of war in response to Serbian aggression, but was not solely an "interim defensive 

measure to counter aggression but was instead sought to create a 'mini-state' separate from the 

RBiH".3251 Similarly, with respect to Corie's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to take account 

of the fact that the ABiH was planning attacks against the HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber took account of the fact that clashes between the HVO and ABiH broke out in 

the municipalities during the period of co-operation in 1993.3252 It also took account, in its analysis 

of the CCP, of a number of specific ABiH attacks, including the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misie 

3245 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 413,415. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 414. 
3246 The Appeals Chamber has considered, and dismissed, a number of arguments in this regard above. See supra, paras 
861,864,895,908,928,958,967,979,982 .. 
3247 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol'. 1, para. 946 & fn. 2344 (referring to Ex. 5D05110 (confidential)), Vol. 2, paras 40 
(referring to Zdenko Andabak, T(F). 50965 (15 Mar 2010)), 513, 524, 880-881 (referring to, inter alia, Radmilo Jasak, 
T(F). 48684-48685 (20 Jan 2010)). 
3248 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-73. 
3249 See, e.g., Corie's Final Brief, paras 153-155, 160. 
3250 See supra, paras 728-733. 
3251 Triai Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 14 & fn. 31 (referring to Ex. P00078), para. 15 & fns 34, 39 (referring to 
Exs. P00052, P00078). 
3252 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 460, 470, 477, Vol. 4, para. 45. 
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Barracks.3253 Further, the majority of evidence Corie refers to in this respect was considered by the 

Trial Chamber throughout the Trial Judgement, and used to make findings on co-operation between 

the two sides during which clashes erupted between them.3254 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

again finds that Corie simply attempts to substitute his own evaluation of the evidence for that of 

the Trial Chamber, repeating submissions made at trial,3255 without showing an error by the Trial 

Chamber. 

1011. Regarding CoriC's challenges concerning the question ofHVO co-operation with the ABiH, 

the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber did not expressly consider this issue in its 

analysis of the CCP, apart from referring to the HZ H-B leaders' participation in peace talks.3256 

However, as stated earlier, the Trial Chamber made a number of findings on the issue throughout 

the Trial Judgement.3257 The Appeals Chamber also recalls that it has found that the 

Trial Chamber's findings on co-operation did not impact on the conclusion that the CCP came into 

being in mid-January 1993.3258 For the san:e reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that the further 

evidence of co-operation that Corie pointed to - the vast majority of which was again considered in 

the Trial Judgement and used to make findings on co-operation between the two sides3259 - fails to 

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion. This argument is also rejected. 

1012. The Appeals Chamber also rejects CoriC's submissions regarding the Trial Chamber's 

approach to evidence with respect to the alleged lack of discriminatory intent against Muslims. The 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Judgement is replete with findings conceming attacks on 

Muslims and crimes committed against them,3260 including the conclusion that "in all the 

municipalities the evictions were accompanied in many instances by episodes of violence directed 

3253 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 46,57,61. 
3254 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440 & fn. 1037 (referring to Ex. 4D01700), para. 460 & fn. 1105 (referring to 
Ex. lD02729), para. 462 & fns 1110-1111 (referring to Ex. P01240), para. 754 & fn. 1762 (referring to Ex. P00633), 
Vol. 2, para. 1896 & fn. 4729 (referring to Ex. 4D00568), Vol. 3, para. 284 & fns 636-637 (referring to Ex. lDOI264), 
Vol. 4, para. 53 (referring to Exs. 3D00837, P02760). Other evidence cited to by Corie was also evaluated and 
considered by the Trial Chamber, albeit in contexts other than co-operation and clashes between the two sides. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 740 & fns 1738, 1740 (referring to Exs. 4D00895, P03337, 4D00896), Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 
235 (referring to Ex. P0l317). The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is to be presumed that the Trial Chamber evaluated 
all the evidence presented to it as long as there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any 
particular piece of evidence. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 306; Dordevi6 Appeal Judgement, fn. 2527. 
Given that the Trial Chamber was aware of Exhibits 4D00895, P03337, 4D00896, and P0l317, Corie fails to 
demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in not expressly referring to these exhibits in relation to the issue of 
discrimination against the Muslims. 
3255 See, e.g., Corie's Final Brief, paras 153-155, 160. 
3256 See supra, para. 990. 
3257 See supra, para. 987. 
3258 See supra, paras 987-991. See also supra, para. 861. 
3259 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 440 & fns 1037-1038 (referring to Exs. 4D00478, 4D01026, 4D01048, 4D01521, 
Mile Akmadzie, T(F). 29443, 29602-29606 (17 June 2008)), para. 443 & fn. 1054 (referring to Ex. lD02664), para. 472 
& fns 1145-1147 (referring to Ex. P02091), para. 754 & fn. 1762 (referring to Ex. P02002), Vol. 2, paras 696-697 & fns 
1559-1564 (referring to Exs. 2D00523, 2D00522). 
3260 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1-2191, Vol. 3, paras 1-1741. 
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against Muslims".3261 Furthennore, the Trial Chamber found that while the HVO included Muslims 

within its ranks in 1992 and 1993, the evidence showed that the Muslims left the ranks of the HVO 

en masse in May and June 1993.3262 It also noted in the context of the CCP that the 15 April 1993 

Decision denied some 16,000 to 20,000 people, "primarily Muslims", the status of displaced 

persons, as a result of which Muslims had no access to humanitarian aid.3263 The Trial Chamber 

also observed that following the ABiH attack on 30 June 1993, the implementation of the CCP 

became "more efficient" with, inter alia, the arrests and detentions of a number of Muslims.3264 ill 

light of these findings, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie fails to show how the evidence he 

cites to - much of which was considered elsewhere in the Trial Judgement to make various 

findings3265 - would have an impact on the Trial Chamber's finding that the CCP existed. 

1013. In ,sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have found that the existence of the CCP was the only reasonable inference. 

Corie's ground of appeal 1 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

6. Conclusion 

1014. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has granted Praljak's ground of appeal 15 in part and 

reversed the Trial Chamber's finding that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa were part of the 

CCP. As a consequence, the Appeals Chamber has also: (1) reversed the Trial Chamber's finding 

that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993; (2) found that the remaining 

findings establish that murder and wilful killing were part o{ the CCP from June 1993; and 

(3) reversed the Appellants' convictions for murder and wilful killing in relation to two killings in 

Prozor. The impact of the reversal of these findings on sentencing, if any, will be addressed 

3261 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 645. 
3262 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 774 & fn. 1807. 
3263 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 49. 
3264 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 57. . 
3265 Some of the evidence cited by Corie was used by the Trial Chamber to make findings on topics indirectly relevant 
to the issue of discrimination against Muslims, including for example the co-operation between the two sides through 
the establishment of a joint command, desertion of Muslims from the HVO, the establishment of a commission to deal 
with war crimes allegations, and appointments of judges and prosecutors to the civil and military courts. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 472 & fn. 1145 (referring to Ex. P02091), para. 522 & fn. 1275 (referring to Exs. P00824, 
POI652), para. 548 & fn. 1330 (referring to Ex. POI511), para. 649 & fn. 1533 (referring to Ex. POI536), Vol. 2, para. 
882 & fn. 2066 (referring to Ex. P04699), para. 1552 & fn. 3911 (referring to Ex. P03673), Vol. 4, para. 52 & fn. 141 
(referring to Ex. P02059), para. 158 & fn. 428 (referring to Ex. P00672). Much of the evidep.ce now cited by Corie was 
also considered and used by the Trial Chamber, but in another context. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 
& fn. 1268 (referring to Ex. POOI28), para. 537 & fn. 1311 (referring to Ex. P07674), para. 544 & fn. 1327 (referring to 
Ex. P01097), para. 777 & fn. 1816 (referring to Ex. P10220 (confidential)), para. 978 & fn. 2461 (referring to Ex. 
lD02124), Vol. 4, para. 88 & fns 235,252 (referring to Exs. P01264, P04111, P07279, P01439). The Appeals Chamber 
recalls that it is to be presumed that the Trial Chamber evaluated all the evidence presented to it, as long as there is no 
indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any particular piece of evidence. See Popovic et ai. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 306; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, fn. 2527. Given that the Trial Chamber was aware of much of the 
evidence now cited by Corie and given that it analysed it throughout the Trial Judgement, Corie fails to demonstrate 
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below.3266 The Appeals Chamber further recalls that it has dismissed the Appellants' remaining 

challenges with respect to the CCP. 

that the Trial Chamber erred in not expressly considering it when making its findings concerning discrimination against 
Muslims. 
3266 See infra, paras 3359-3365. 
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E. Alleged Errors in Relation to Jadranko PrliC's Participation in the JeE 

1. Introduction 

1015. Starting on 14 August 1992, Pdic served as the President of the HVO HZ H-B and after the 

establishment of the HR H-B on 28 August 1993, as the President of the Government of HR 

H_B.3267 On 16 February 1994, Pdic also became a member of the Presidential Council of the HR 

H_B.3268 The Trial Chamber found that Pdic had significant de jure and de facto powers in co­

ordinating and directing the work of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R)H-B. It found in particular 

that he chaired high-level meetings, in which decisions on the political and military strategy in the 

HZ(R) H-B were taken collectively, could issue military decisions that were sent through the 

military chain of command, played a key role in the relations of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) , 

H-B with the Government of Croatia, and had powers over detentioncentres.3269 

1016. Further, the Trial Chamber found that Pdic was a principal member of the JCE and 

significantly contributed to it from January 1993 to April 1994.3270 In particular, the Trial Chamber 

found that he contributed to the JCE in the municipalities of Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, Prozor,3271 

and Mostar,3272 and through his involvement in blocking the delivery of humanitarian aid,3273 the 

campaign of mass arrest of Muslims,3274 the movement of the population,3275 and the concealment 

of crimes.3276 Finally, the Trial Chamber found that Pdic intended to implement the CCP and shared 

with the other members of the JCE the discriminatory intent to expel the Muslim population from 

the HZ(R) H_B.3277 The Trial Chamber convicted Pdic under Article 7(1) of the Statute of 

committing, pursuant to JCE I liability, various crimes amounting to grave breaches of the Geneva 

Conventions, violations of the laws or customs of war, and/or crimes against humanity under 

Articles 2, 3, and 5 of the Statute, respectively.3278 Pdic was sentenced to a single sentence of 

25 years of imprisonment. 3279 

3267 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 82. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 483, 516, 524, 534. 
3268 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 82. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 497. 
3269 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 270. 
3270 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 276, 1225, 1230. 
3271 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 271. 
3272 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 272. 
3273 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 272. 
3274 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 272. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 155. 
3275 T . 1 J na udgement, Vol. 4, para. 275. 
3276 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 273-274. 
3277 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 276. 
3278 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68, 278, Disposition, p. 430. These crimes are: persecution as a crime against 
humanity (Count 1); murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva 
Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); 
unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against 
humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 1 
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1017. Pdic challenges these and related findings of the Trial Chamber with regard to his JCE 

contribution and mens rea.3280 These challenges will be addressed in the following sections. 

2. PrliC's role as President of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B 

1018. In the present section, the Appeals Chamber will address PdiC's challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding his: (1) powers in civilian matters; (2) powers in military 

matters; (3) powers pertaining to humanitarian aid; and (4) role in the relations between HZ(R) H-B 

and Croatia. 

(a) Alleged errors related to PdiC's functions and responsibilities in civilian matters 

1019. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic, as President of the INO/Government of the HZ(R) 

H-B, had various powers in civilian matters.3281 Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law 

and fact by finding that he had significant de jure and de facto powers in co-ordinating and 

directing the work of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H_B.3282 As a result, Pdic submits that he 

should be acquitted on all Counts.3283 The Prosecution responds that PdiC's submissions should be 

dismissed.3284 

1020. The Appeals Chamber will examine PrliC's challenges relating to: (1) his decision-making 

powers; (2) the expansion of Government powers; and (3) his powers over various official bodies, 

namely the Departments/Ministries of Defence, the Interior, and Justice, as well as fiscal organs of 

inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity 
(Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawful labour as a violation 
of the laws or customs of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and 
carried out unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); desp-uction or wilful 
damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); 
unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on 
civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes 
also fell within the framework of the JCE, meaning Prlic was also responsible for them, but did not enter convictions for 
them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of confinement) as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 
17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity as a violation 
of the laws or customs of war (Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68, Disposition, p. 430. See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1260-1266. The Appeals Chamber discusses PrliC's convictions pursuant to JCE III below. 
See infra, para. 2833 et seq. 
3279 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 430. 
3280 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 313-629, 642-651. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 173, 177-178, 233-234, 245-246 (20 
Mar 2017). 
3281 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 88-105. 
3282 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 313, 379. Similarly, Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber repeatedly erred in its 
assessment of his de jure and de facto powers by repeating that he was "involved in the supervision and activities" of all 
HVO HZ H-B departments, sub-departments, and offices. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 341. The Appeals Chamber deals 
with those allegations below. See infra, paras 1048-1092. 
3283 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 380. 
3284 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 186. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 183-185; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 195 (20 Mar 2017). 
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the Government, the Office for Displaced Persons and Refugees ("ODPR"), the Exchange Service, 

and municipal governments. 

(i) PrliC's decision-making powers CPrliC's Sub-ground 11.1) 

1021. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic: (1) participated in the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) 

H-B meetings and was informed of the situation in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B; (2) contributed 

to the adoption of decisions taken collectively, which comprised HVO policy, by taking an active 

part in drawing them up, including decisions relating to the appointment and dismissal of some 

members of the HVO; and (3) signed laws, decisions, and decrees adopted by the 

HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H_B.3285 

a. PrliC's powers vis-a.-vis other organs and officials 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1022. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed the functions and responsibilities 

of the HZ H-B President, the HR H-B President, the HZ H-B Presidency, the HR H-B House of 

Representatives, the HVO HZ H-B President, and the President of the HR H-B Govemment. 3286 He 

further submits that the Trial Chamber erred by not distinguishing the HVO HZ H-B from the HR 

H-B Government.3287 He argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that: (1) HDZ-BiH played 

a significant role in the division of powers in BiH and the HZ H_B;3288 and (2) Mate Boban was the 

supreme authority in the HZ H_B. 3289 Prlic also submits that the Trial Chamber failed to assess the 

powers of the HR H-B President and that it wrongly found that it was Boban who appointed him to 

the Presidential Counci1.329o He argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed his powers by 

ignoring that HVO HZ H-B Vice-President Kresinlir Zubak's powers were much greater than 

hiS.3291 Finally, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing the differences in the 

functioning of the HZ H-B and the HVO HZ H-B executive, the HR H-B, and the HR H-B 

Government and municipalities during different periods of war in 1991-1994.3292 

3285 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 90. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 88-89. 
3286 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 314. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 315, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 45-76 
(sub-ground of appeal 1.2), sub-ground of appeal 1.4. 
3287 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 316. 
3288 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 317. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 318, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of 
a:Ps~eal 1.1. 
38 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 319. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 320, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 50-51, 
54-55 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2). 
3290 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 321. 
3291 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 322. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 139 (20 Mar 2017). 
3292 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 323. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 324, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 45-57 
(sub-ground of appeal 1.2), 83-86 (sub-ground of appeal 1.4). 
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1023. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to explain the relevance of the evidence on the 

HDZ-BiH's role.3293 The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber addressed Boban's authority in 

his various functions, that Prlic fails to explain how evidence of Boban's authority as HZ H-B 

President renders unreasonable the Trial Chamber's findings on PrliC's authority as President of its 

Government, and that PrliC's claim that Boban made decisions that had to be implemented by the 

HVO HZ H-B is not supported by the evidence he cites.3294 The Prosecution further argues that it is 

irrelevant who appointed Prlic to the Presidential Council and that, in any event, Prlic fails to show 

that the Trial Chamber unreasonably relied on Boban's decision appointing him.3295 It contends that 

PrliC's claim that Vice-President Zubak's powers exceeded those of Prlic is not supported by the 

cited evidence.3296 Finally, the Prosecution argues that Prlic fails to connect to any findings the 

evidence the Trial Chamber allegedly ignored on the differences in the functioning of various 

organs.3297 

11. Analysis 

1024. With respect to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed the functions 

and responsibilities of the HZ H-B President, the HR H-B President, the HZ H-B Presidency, the 

HR H-B House of Representatives, the HVO HZ H-B President, and the President of the HR H-B 

Government, the Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic only references a section of the 

Trial Judgement in which the Trial Chamber reached some conclusions on PrliC's actions as 

President of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, without explaining how the Trial Chamber 

erred or showing that no reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the 

same conclusion.3298 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's argument. 

1025. Regarding the alleged error in not distinguishing the HVO HZ H-B from the Government of 

the HR H_B,3299 the Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic does not explain how this alleged failure 

resulted in the Trial Chamber making any specific erroneous finding. The Appeals Chamber further 

considers that Prlic does not explain how the evidence regarding the role played by the HDZ-BiH, 

which the Trial Chamber allegedly ignored, demonstrates that the Trial Chamber's findings were 

3293 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 193. 
3294 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 192. 
3295 Prosecution's Response Brief (PdiC), para. 196. 
3296 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 194. The Prosecution also argues that Pdic fails to explain how the 
Presidential Council, of which he was· a member, undermined his powers as Government President. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), para. 195. 
3297 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 197. 
3298 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 314, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 88-90. The Appeals Chamber also 
notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2 and 1.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the 
Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3299 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber made this distinction. See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 
515-521, Vol. 4, para. 82. See also infra, paras 1034-1039. 
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unreasonable.330o Finally, regarding the Trial Chamber's alleged disregard for evidence showing 

that Boban was the supreme authority in HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber examined Boban's powers and various positions,3301 and that Pdic has failed to show 

that the allegedly ignored evidence would have had any impact on the Trial Chamber's findings.3302 

These arguments are dismissed. 

1026. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses Pdic's submission that the Trial Chamber wrongly 

found that Boban appointed him to the Presidential Council, as the Trial Chamber's finding is 

supported by the referenced evidence,3303 while PdiC's submission is not.3304 With regard to the 

Trial Chamber's alleged disregard for HVO HZ H-B Vice-President Zubak's powers, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that Pdic merely points to evidence of Zubak taking certain actions, without 

demonstrating that Zubak's powers "far exceeded,,3305 his own. The argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

1027. Turning lastly to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing the 

differences in the functioning ~f the HZ H-B and the HVO HZ H-B executive, the HR H-B, and the 

HR H-B Government and municipalities during different periods of war in 1991-1994, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that this argument is based on a reference to vast p011ions of an expert 

report and fails to identify any specific challenged findings. 3306 Pdic has failed to demonstrate any 

error and his argument is dismissed. 

b. PdiC's statutory powers and role within the HVO/Government of the 

HZ(R)H-B 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1028. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that as HVO HZ H-B President, 

he played a significant role within the HVO HZ H-B because he signed official documents, directed 

debates about adopting decisions, organised votes, and sometimes proposed revisions to "texts".3307 

He submits that the Trial Chamber based this conclusion on: (1) documentary evidence introduced 

3300 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 1.1, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3301 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 493-510,691-708. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 511. 
3302 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 1.2, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3303 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 497, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P07876. 
3304 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 321 & fns 851, 853 and references cited therein. 
3305 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 322 .. 
3306 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 323 & fn. 859. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions 
in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2 and 1.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3307 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 325; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017). 
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through a bar table motion;3308 (2) a misinformed interpretation of the "Statutory Decision of 

3 July 1993" [SiC];3309 (3) Witness Davor Marijan's biased and discredited testimony; and (4) 

Witness Zoran PerkoviC's accurate testimony.3310 Prlic further argues that the HVO HZ H-B 

departments never submitted programs to the HVO HZ H-B, despite his requests.3311 Prlic also 

claims that, in assessing his responsibilities, the Trial Chamber ignored changes in legislation after 

Boban relinquished his position to PrliC.3312 Finally, he contends that the Trial Chamber ignored 

evidence when reaching conclusions on the decision-making process in the HVO HZ H-B and 

argues that he had a vote equal to others but no power to appointanyone.3313 

1029. The Prosecution responds that Prlic's interpretation of the Statutory Decision of 3 July 1992 

is not supported by the evidence he cites.3314 It argues that PrliC's assertion that HVO HZ H-B 

departments never submitted work programs' to the HVO HZ H-B does not undermine PrliC's 

statutory powers arid is contradicted by evidence on one suchprogram.3315
, The Prosecution also 

argues that Prlic fails to address evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied and which shows him 

exercising his statutory powers,3316 and furthermore relies on evidence that affirms the findings he 

challenges.3317 Finally, it argues that Prlic fails to identify the alleged changes in legislation after 

Boban relinquished his position to Prlic or to explain how they impacted his authority.3318 

ii. Analysis 

1030. The Trial Chamber found that: 

[ ... ] the President of the HVO played a more significant role within the Government of the HVO 
than the Pdic Defence suggests. In fact, under the Statutory Decision of 3 July 1992, the President 
of the HVO was in charge of and responsible for the activities of the HVO. The President signed 
the official HVO documents, such as decrees and decisions, including certain decisions to appoint. 
Article 9 of the said Decision also indicates that the President of the HVO was supposed to ensure 

3308 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 325. 
3309 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 325-326, refening to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.4 and 1.2.5. Prlic 
claims in this regard that the Trial Chamber "ignored evidence showing, de facto, that Article 9 [of the Statutory 
Decision of 3 July 1992] could not be implemented after Pdic replaced Boban on 14 August 1992, ignoring the Decree 
on the Organization and Responsibilities of Departments and Commissions of the HVOHZHB". He submits that 
Article 5 of this Decree required the HVO HZ H-B departments and commissions to execute policies and apply 
regulations and other acts of the HZ H-B Presidency, and thus department heads and commissions were directly 
resjonsible to the HZ H-B Presidency and not to the HVO HZ H-B President. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 326. 
331 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 325. 
3311 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 327. 
3312 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 328, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 47-57 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2). Prlic 
further argues that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised his words regarding how the power of the HVO HZ H-B 
President was reduced by the changes in legislature after Boban ceased to be its President, leaving Prlic unable to make 
anr decisions independently. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 337. 
331 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 336; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137, 234 (20 Mar 2017). Pdic further argues that he "signed 
all decisions even though in theory he could have been against them". Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017). 
3314 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 188. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 187. 
3315 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 188 & fn. 648. 
3316 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 189. 
3317 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 190; Appeal Hearing, AT. 195-196 (20 Mar 2017). 
3318 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 191. 
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unity of political and administrative action within the HVO and to cooperate with the other organs 
of the HZ H-B. In legislative affairs, Jadranko Prlic, as President of the [ ... ] HVO, directed 
debates during discussions over adoRting a statute or a decree, organised votes and sometimes 
even proposed revisions to the texts.3 

19 

1031. The Appeals Chamber considers that in arguing that the Trial Chamber relied on 

documentary evidence introduced through a bar table motion, Pdic fails to articulate an error.3320 

Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that in attempting to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber 

,misinterpreted the Statutory Decision of 3 July 1992, Prlic advances arguments that are 

unsupported3321 or disconnected from any specific impugned findings.3322 The Appeals Chamber 

also observes that while Pdic impugns the credibility of Marijan alleging that he "could not grasp 

basic legal issues relevant to understanding the collective decision-making process of the 

HVOHZHB",3323 the Trial Chamber relied on his testimony merely to find that the President of the 

HVO signed certain decisions to appoint,3324 a fact that Pdic concedes.3325 The Appeals Chamber 

finds that Prlic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber's assessment of Marijan's evidence 

was wholly erroneous.3326 Finally, the Appeals Chamber observes that PerkoviC's testimony, which 

Pdic submits was accurate, confirms in part the impugned finding. 3327 All these arguments are 

therefore dismissed. 

1032. The Appeals Chamber further observes that PdiC's argument that the HVO HZ H-B 

departments never submitted programs to the HVO HZ H-B fails to articulate an error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings and dismisses it on this basis. The Appeals Chamber also notes that 

PdiC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored changes in legislation after Boban relinquished his 

3319 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 536 (internal references omitted). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 88-90. 
3320 The Appeals Chamber notes in particular its standing jurisprudence that the admission of documents from the bar 
table is permissible. See, e.g., Prosecutor v. Seier Halilovic, Case No. IT-01-48-AR73.2, Decision on Interlocutory 
Appeal Concerning Admission of Record of Interview of the Accused from the Bar Table, 19 August 2005, paras 
16-17. 
3321 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic fails to provide support for his claim that "Article 9 [of the 
Statutory Decision of 3 July 1992] could not be implemented after Prlic replaced Boban on 14 August 1992". Prlic's 
Agpeal Brief, para. 326. 
33 2 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber considers that PrliC's submission that department heads and commissions were 
directly responsible to the HZ H-B Presidency fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber reached any specific 
erroneous findings by ignoring the Decree on the Organisation and Responsibilities of Departments and Commissions 
of the HVO HZ H-B. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 326. Prlic points to the findings that he signed official documents, 
directed debates about adopting decisions, organised votes, and sometimes proposed revisions to texts. See PrliC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 325, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 536. The Appeals Chamber considers that 
PrliC's argument is not inconsistent with these challenged findings. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to 
his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.4 and 1.2.5, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, 
raras 168-176. 

323 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 325 & fn.862, referring to Davor Marijan, T. 35716-35728 (21 Jan 2009). 
3324 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 536 & fn. 1307, referring to Davor Marijan, T(F). 35717, 35721 (21 Jan 2009). 
3325 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 336. 
3326 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131, referring to, inter alia, Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement, 
30,41, 130,225. 
3327 See, in particular, Zoran Perkovic, T. 31726-31727 (2 Sept 2008). 
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position to Prlie is entirely based on a cross-reference to his sub-ground of appeal 1.2, which the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.3328 

1033. Regarding Prlie's contention that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence when reaching 

conclusions on the decision-making process in the HVO HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that the evidence Prlie claims the Trial Chamber ignored, allegedly indicating that he had a vote 

equal to others but no power to appoint anyone, is not inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's 

findings on the HVO HZ H-B decision-making process to which he points.3329 This argument is 

therefore dismissed. 

c. Distinction between the HZ H-B and the HR H-B 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1034. Prlie submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed his de jure decision-making 

powers between August 1992 and April 1994 by not distinguishing between the HZ H-B and the 

HR H-B at all relevant times and in all relevant circumstances.333o Prlie argues that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he presided over "cabinet" meetings of the HR H-B 

Govemment, which had the power to make urgent decisions on defence and security, relying 

exclusively on documentary evidence introduced through a bar table motion, whereas there is no 

evidence that "cabinet" meetings ever took place.3331 Prlie further argues that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously concluded that at the recommendation of the President of the HR H-B Government, the ' 

Govemment appointed and removed heads and deputy heads of the' "cabinet", relying exclusively 

on irrelevant documentary evidence introduced through a bar table motion.3332 Finally, Prlie argues 

that the Trial Chamber, by relying on irrelevant evidence, erred in finding that Corie, as Chief of the 

Military Police Administration, attended HVO HZ H-B sessions, whereas there is no evidence that 

he ever did SO.3333 

1035. The Prosecution responds that PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in confiating his 

powers as President of the HVO HZ H-B and President of the Govemment of the HR H-B ignores 

the finding that the Law on the Govemment of the HR H-B granted Prlie similar powers in both 

3328 See supra, paras 168-176. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber 
mischaracterised his words as it is not supported by his references to the trial record. 
3329 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 883, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 536, Vol. 4, paras 89-90. Similarly, 
PrliC's argument that he signed all decisions whether or not he agreed with them is not inconsistent with these findings. 
3330 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 329. 
3331 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 330, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3332 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 331, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. Prlic submits that 
the evidence "came into effect" during a period outside the Indictment period, was not relevant to the HR H-B, and/or 
concerned the appointments and dismissals of "head of offices" rather than the heads of the "cabinet". PrliC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 331. 
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positions.3334 As forPrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred with regard to "cabinet" meetings, 

the Prosecution argues that he fails to demonstrate that any such error would have any impact since 

the Government regularly met and discussed and decided matters of defence and security. 3335 The 

Prosecution further contends that PrliC's argument regarding the appointment and removal of heads 

and deputy heads of the "cabinet" has no impact on the verdict.3336 Finally, the Prosecution argues 

that it is irrelevant whether Corie attended Government sessions as Chief of the Military Police 

Administration and that the Trial Chamber properly relied on minutes of Government meetings 

showing Corie in attendance. 3337 

ii. Analysis 

1036. Regarding PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he presided 

over "cabinet" meetings of the HR H-B Government, the Appeals Chamber recalls the 

Trial Chamber's finding that "between August 1992 and April 1994, Jadranko Prlie organised and 

presided over many meetings of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, which met at least once a 

week, as well as those of the 'cabinet' of the Government of the HR H-B, which had the authority 

to make urgent decisions on defence and security when the circumstances did not allow for a 

meeting of the government to be held". 3338 The Appeals Chamber notes that none of the evidence 

on which the Trial Chamber relied with regard to the "cabinet" supports that Prlic actually presided 

over such "cabinet" meetings,3339 as the cabinet is defined by the Law on Government of the HR 

H-B: "Government shall have a close cabinet which shall be comprised of president, vice presidents 

and ministers of defence and internal affairs.,,334o The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that no 

reasonable trier o~ fact could have made this finding based on the evidence on which the 

Trial Chamber relied. As such, the Trial Chamber erred in fact. However, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber found that Prlie presided over many meetings of the 

HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H_B,3341 and sees no indication that the Trial Chamber relied 

specifically on Prlie presiding over "cabinet" meetings to make any adverse findings against 

3333 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 330. 
3334 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 198. 
3335 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 199. 
3336 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 201. 
3337 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 200. 
3338 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 (internal references omitted). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 527. 
3339 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 236, referring to Exs. P05517, p. 2, P06667, P07279, P073lO, P08092. 
See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 199. 
3340 Ex. P05517, p. 2 (Article 9). 
3341 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88. 
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him.3342 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlie has not demonstrated that this error 

resulted in a miscarriage of justice, and consequently dismisses his argument. 

1037. The Appeals Chamber turns to Prlie's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that at the recommendation of the President of the Government, the Government 

appointed and removed the heads and deputy heads of the "cabinet", relying exclusively on 

irrelevant documentary evidence introduced through a bar table motion. In making this finding,3343 

the Trial Chamber relied on evidence that does not appear to concern the "cabinet". 3344 To this 

extent, it erred in fact. However, the Appeals Chamber sees no indication that the Trial Chamber 

relied specifically on this erroneous finding to make any adverse findings against PrliC.3345 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore finds that this error did not result in a miscarriage of justice and 

dismisses his argument. 

1038. Prlie's argument that the Trial Chamber relied on irrelevant evidence in finding that Corie, 

as Chief of the Military Police Administration, attended HVO HZ H-B sessions, appears to be based 

on a misreading of the Trial Judgement. The Trial Chamber relied on the evidence in question to 

find that Corie was the Chief of the Military Police Administration, not that he attended HVO HZ 

H-B sessions.3346 Further, the Trial Chamber found that a number of persons, including Corie, 

attended meetings of "the HVO/Govemment of the HZ(R) H-B", i.e. either the HVO HZ H-B or the 

HR H-B Govemment, and referred in support to examples of evidence indicating Corie's presence 

at HR H-B Government meetings, but not at HVO HZ H-B meetings.3347 In light of the broad scope 

of the finding, covering the meetings of both bodies, this does not amount to an error of fact. In any 

event, Prlie has not demonstrated any miscarriage of justice based on the alleged absence of 

evidence that Corie ever attended any HVO HZ H-B sessions. The Appeals Chamber therefore 

dismisses Prlie's argument. 

1039. The Appeals Chamber dismisses above all arguments advanced by Prlie in support of his 

contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed his de jure decision-making powers 

between August 1992 and April 1994 by not distinguishing between the HZ H-B and the HR H-B at 

all relevant times and in· all relevant circumstances. In addition, the Appeals Chamber observes that 

Prlie has failed to explain why the Trial Chamber was required to make this distinction, considering 

3342 See, in particular, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 90. 
3343 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 537. 
3344 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1312, referring to Exs. ·lD01402, Art. 27, p. 10, P06817, P07461. The Appeals 
Chamber considers that, although Exhibit 1D01402 appears on its face to have entered into force in June 1994, Prlic 
fails to demonstrate that the evidence was not relevant to the HR H-B or "came into effect" during a period outside the 
Indictment period. See Ex. 1D01402, pp. 2, 16. 
3345 See, in particular, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 536-537, Vol. 4, paras 89-90 .. 
3346 Compare PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 330 & fn. 875, with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 242. 
3347 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 241, referring to, e.g., Exs. P06667, P07082, P07514. 
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the Trial Chamber's finding, which Pdic ignores, that his powers as President of the HVO HZ H-B 

. and as President of the Government of the HR H-B were similar.3348 Thus, PdiC's contention is 

dismissed. 

d. Government discussions 

1040. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that from August 1992 to 

April 1994 the "HVO/Government of the HZ(R)H-B" discussed: (1) measures to ensure the 

observance of the code of war, as it relied on unsupportive evidence;3349 (2) the budget of the 

"HZ(R)HB", as it relied on unsupportive evidence and ignored other relevant evidence;335o and 

(3) the location, detention conditions, and exchange of "prisoners of war" with the ABiH, as it 

wrongly assessed the evidence. 3351 

1041. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's 

findings that the Government discussed the above topics.3352 

1042. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber understands that the Trial Chamber's 

expression "HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B" covers all forms of the Government between 

August 1992 and April 1994.3353 Regarding PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that 

during this time period the Government discussed measures to ensure the observance of the "codes 

of war",3354 the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to establish that no reasonable trier 

of fact could have made this finding based on the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied, 

3348 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 537. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 536. 
3349 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 332. Specifically, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber relied on Witness Philip Roger 
Watkins's testimony and report (Exhibit P06687 (confidential)), which cannot be used to assess PrliC's responsibilities 
as HVO HZ H-B President, as the HVO HZ H-B did not exist at the time of the report. He also argues that the report 
contains nothing about the HR H-B Government discussing measures to be taken for ensuring the observance of the 
code of war. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 332. 
3350 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 333, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. See also PrliC's 
Reply Brief, para. 58. Specifically, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on Exhibit 2D01262, which 
concerned the HZ H-B Presidency rather than the HVO HZ H-B, and Exhibit P01097, which was admitted into 
evidence through the bar table. He further argues that the Trial Chamber ignored Witness Neven TomiC's testimony 
that: (1) on 28 August 1993 the HZ H-B Presidency ceded its competency over the budget to the House of 
Representatives of the HR H-B; (2) the HZ H-B budget was never enacted; and (3) the first law on the budget was. 
proposed and enacted in 1994 by the House of Representatives of the HR H-B. Finally, Pdic submits that Exhibit 
P08092, admitted into evidence through the bar table, concerns the HR H-B and therefore does not show that the HVO 
HZ H-B had a budget. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 333; PrliC's Reply Brief, para. 58. 
3351 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 334. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 335, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of 
appeal 13. Specifically, Prlic argues that the HVO HZ H-B never discussed the exchange of prisoners of war. In 
support, he submits that: (1) Exhibit P01439 concerns a proposal of the Exchange Commission to exchange 30 civilians 
from Glamoc (controlled by Serb forces) and Livno (controlled by HVO forces); (2) Exhibit P02679 concerns military 
prisons, which were not for detaining prisoners of war; and (3) Exhibit P03560 concerns an emergency situation when 
the issue of accommodation of prisoners of war was discussed based on a request of the municipal HVO Capljina. 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 334. 
3352 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 202-204. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 205. 
3353 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88. See also supra, para. 1015. 
3354 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 332, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88. 
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which included an exhibit containing infonnation about Pdic, President of the Government, 

discussing measures to ensure the observance of the "Codes of War" in November 1993.3355 The 

Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber's finding that the budget of the HZ(R) 

H-B was discussed at Government meetings between August 1992 and April 1994, is supported by 

the evidence the Trial Chamber relied on, such as minutes of meetings held in October 1992, 

January 1993, and March 1994.3356 The Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate 

any error in this regard.3357 Finally, the Trial Chamber's finding that the location, detention 

conditions, and exchange of "prisoners of war" with the ABiH were discussed, is supported by 

evidence,3358 which Pdic fails to challenge in any convincing manner.3359 All these submissions are 

therefore dismissed. 

e. Conclusion 

1043. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Pdic's sub-ground of 

appeal 11.1. 

3355 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 249, referring to Ex. P06687 (confidential), p. 2; Philip Roger Watkins, 
T(F). 18798-18799 (21 May 2007). Since the Trial Chamber's finding covers all incarnations of the Government 
between August 1992 and April 1994, the Appeals Chamber considers that PdiC's assertion that the HVO HZ H-B did 
not exist at the time of confidential Exhibit P06687 shows no error. 
3356 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 250, referring to, e.g., Exs. 2D01262 (minutes of a HZ H-B Presidency 
meeting of 17 October 1992), P01097 (minutes of an HVO HZ H-B working meeting on 11 January 1993), p.3, 
P08092 (minutes of an HR H-B Government meeting on 19 March 1994). Regarding Exhibits P01097 and P08092, the 
Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber's finding covered all incarnations of the Government between August 
1992 and April 1994, and considers that Pdic has failed to articulate an error in alleging that the Trial Chamber relied . 
on evidence admitted from the bar table. Regarding Exhibit 2D01262, the Appeals Chamber considers that while it is 
the minutes of an HZ H-B Presidency meeting rather than a Government meeting, several members of the Government 
were present at that meeting, and in any event the Trial Chamber's finding remains supported by Exhibits P01097 and 
P08092. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that TomiC's testimony, as PdiC's represents it, is not inconsistent with 
the finding that the Government discussed the budget, regardless of who had competency over it and when the first 
budget was actually enacted. 
3357 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
3358 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 252, referring to, e.g., Exs. P01439, P02679, P03560, item 7, P04841, 
conclusion 1. 
3359 Prlic misunderstands on which part of Exhibit P01439 the Trial Chamber relied. See Ex. P01439, p. 5, third dash 
("The meeting [of the "International Red Cross"] will be held on 11 and 12 February 1993 in Geneva and it will pertain 
to the exchange of prisoners."). Cf PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 334, referring to Ex. P01439, p. 5, second dash ("The 
proposal submitted by the Commission for the exchange of prisoners on the exchange of 30 civilians from Glamoc arid 
Livno is accepted."). See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 204. With regard to Exhibit P02679, Pdic 
fails to provide any support for his assertion that military prisons were not for detaining prisoners of war. See PdiC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 334. PdiC's submission regarding Exhibit P03560 - that it concerns an emergency situation when 
the issue of accommodation of prisoners of war was discussed based on a request of the municipal HVO Capljina - fails 
to articulate any error. Finally, Pdic does not challenge Exhibit P04841, which provides further support for the Trial 
Chamber's finding. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 88 & fn. 252. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers 
to his submissions in ground of appeal 13, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1318-1333, 
1335-1343, 1356-1373. 
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(ii) Expansion of Government powers (PdiC's Sub-ground 11.22 

1044. The Trial Chamber found that despite being subordinated to the Presidency of the HZ H-B, 

the HVO HZ H-B gradually arrogated to itself all executive, administrative, and some legislative 

power, without effective oversight by the Presidency of the HZ H_B.3360 

1045. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the HVO HZ H-B 

progressively appropriated all executive and administrative powers including legislative functions 

because the Presidency of the HZ H-B met infrequently and lacked oversight.3361 Pdic argues that 

the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Witnesses Neven TomiC's and Zoran BuntiC's testimonies.3362 

Pdic further points to evidence· allegedly contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding. 3363 

1046. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was based on evidence about 

events happening at the time and that Pdic - relying primarily on evidence regarding the de jure 

relationship between the Presidency of the HZ H-B and the HVO HZ H-B - fails to show that it 

was unreasonable. 3364 

1047. The Appeals Chamber observes that the impugned finding is based in part on the 

testimonies of Tomic and Buntic.3365 Having examined these in relevant parts,3366 the 

Appeals Chamber finds no indication that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised them, and observes 

that the witnesses testified about the transfer of powers from the Presidency of the HZ H-B to the 

HVO HZ H-B, which exercised considerable powers. The Appeals Chamber further observes that 

the allegedly contrary evidence indicates, notably, that the HVO HZ H-B exercised substantial de 

facto powers as the Presidency of the HZ H-B ceased to convene.3367 As such, Pdic fails to 

3360 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 522, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 511. 
3361 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 338. 
3362 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 338-339, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 54 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2). 
3363 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 338, 340. Pdic claims that expert Witness Ciril Ribicic. "acknowledged that the 
HVOHZHB adopted decrees on an interim basis in emergency situations and exceptional circumstances to be 
confirmed by the HZHB Presidency; a common practice permitting the HZHB Presidency (the Presidents of municipal 
HVOs) to retain power." PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 338. He further claims: "Articles 38-43 of the Rules of Procedures 
of the HZHB Presidency (P00596) show that the HZHB Presidency was superior to the HVOHZHB. As the supreme 
administrative body, the HZHB Presidency was kept fully informed. The changes to Article 18 of the Statutory 
Decision enabled the HVOHZHB to pass pressing decrees for immediate enactment until determined otherwise by the 
HZHB Presidency. The HVOHZHB urged the HZHB Presidency to meet. Similar measures in emergency situations 
were prescribed in the BiH legal system (All People's Defence system).".PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 340 (internal 
references omitted). 
3364 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 206-207. 
3365 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 511 & fn. 1246, para. 522 & fn. 1274, referring to, inter alia, Zoran Buntic, T(F). 
30761-30762 (15 July 2008), 30889-30890 (17 July 2008), Neven Tomic, T(F). 34145-34146 (3 Nov 2008). 
3366 Zoran Buntic, T(F). 30761-30762 (15 July 2008),30889-30890 (17 July 2008), Neven Tomic, T(F). 34145-34146 
(3 Nov 2008). 
3367 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 338,340 and references cited therein. 
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demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding. 3368 

Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Prli6's sub-ground of appeal 11.2. 

(iii) DepartmentlMinistry of Defence (PrliC's Sub-ground 11.3) 

1048. The Trial Chamber found that Prli6 was involved in the supervision and activities of the 

DepartmentlMinistry of Defence of the HZ(R) H -B. 3369 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1049. Prli6 challenges this finding, submitting that the Trial Chamber ignored contrary 

evidence.337o Prli6 a~gues in particular that the HZ R-B Presidency established the Defence 

Department, which enjoyed a certain independence,3371 and that neither the HVO HZ H-B nor he 

could issue orders to the Head of the Defence Department. 3372 Prli6 further submits that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, on the basis of insufficient evidence, that he participated in 

setting up the military and defence program and structures of the HZ(R) H_B.3373 He also submits 

that the Trial Chamber wrongly concluded on the evidence that he approved the methodology for 

adopting defence plans and participated in the adoption of the decision on the control of HZ(R) H-B 

airspace. 3374 In addition, Prli6 submits that the Trial Chamber, by ignoring relevant evidence, 

erroneously concluded that Stoji6 regularly reported to "his. President" on defence matters including 

the military situation on the ground.3375 Prli6 contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that the "HVO agreed" that he would organise a special working meeting with the 

collegiums of the Departments of Defence and the Interior, by misinterpreting evidence and 

ignoring evidence to the contrary. 3376 Prli6 also submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded, by mischaracterising evidence, that he appointed Biski6 as a Deputy Defence 

Minister. 3377 Moreover, Prli6 contends that the Trial Chamber "erred regarding lukie's 

appointment".3378 Finally, he contends that the Trial Chamber erred by ignoring evidence showing 

the differences between the HVO HZ H-B and the HR H-B Govemment.3379 

3368 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 1..2, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3369 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 92. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3370 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 341-343; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017). See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 344, 
referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 52 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2), (sub-)grounds of appeal 1.2.4, 1.2.5, 12. 
3371 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 343; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137-138 (20 Mar 2017). 
3372 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 342. 
3373 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 345, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3374 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 346, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, grounds of appeal 3, 12. 
3375 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3376 Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 348. 
3377 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 349, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 11..1. 
3378 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 350. 
3379 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 351, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 51 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2). 
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1050. The Prosecution responds that clear evidence supports the Trial Chamber's finding that Pdic 

participated in the supervision and activities of the DepartmentiMinistry of Defence, and that Pdic 

fails to demonstrate any errors in the impugned findings. 338o 

b. Analysis 

1051. With regard to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence contrary to the 

finding that he was involved in the supervision and activities of the DepartmentiMinistry of 

Defence of the HZ(R) H-B, the Appeals Chamber considers that neither of his assertions in this 

regard - that the HZ H-B Presidency established the Department of Defence, which enjoyed a 

certain independence, and that the HVO HZ H-B and he could not issue orders to the Head of the 

Defence Department - are inconsistent with the impugned finding. To the extent that Pdic argues 

that the DepartmentiMinistry of Defence was so independent that there was no room for him to be 

involved in it$ supervision and activities, the Appeals Chamber considers that his claims are not 

borne out by the evidence on which he relies.3381 For these reasons, PdiC's submission is dismissed. 

1052. Regarding PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that "Pdic participated in 

particular insetting up the military and defence programme and structures of the HZ(R) H_B",3382 

the Appeals Chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could have made this finding based on the 

evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied. 3383 The Appeals Chamber notes in this regard that 

Exhibit P00518 sets out that "The Service Regulations of the Armed Forces and the Decision on the 

Basic Organisation of the Defence Department have been drafted and will be signed by the 

President of the HZ H-B", and that Exhibit P00988, a 1993 "Decision on the Internal Organisation 

of Defence Offices and Administrations within the Croatian Community of Herceg-Bosna", bears 

PdiC's name.3384 Prlic has failed to demonstrate an error. 3385 His challenge is dismissed. 

1053. The Appeals Chamber turns to PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's findings that he 

"approved the methodology for adopting defence plans" and "participated in the adoption of the 

3380 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 208-215. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 208-209 (20 Mar 2017). 
3381 See Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017), referring to Exs. P00303, Arts 2-22, mOOOOl, Arts 2-7, P00434 (not 
admitted into evidence), mOOOlO, IDOOI71, ID00173, IDOOI74; PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 343 & fns 903, 907 and 
references cited therein (testimony of Witnesses Neven Tomic, Slobodan Bozic, and "I", as well as Ex. P00588, Art. 
170). The Appeals Chamber notes that, for example, Exhibits IDOOOIO and ID00171, decisions on the appointment of 
heads of.the Department of Education, Culture, and Sport and the Department of Economic Affairs, do not show that 
the DepartmentiMinistry of Defence was so independent that there was no room for Prlic to be involved in its 
supervision and activities. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in (sub-)grounds of 
'Ts~eal1.2, 1.2.4, 1.2.5, and 12, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 168-176, 1098-1127. 
3 8 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3383 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fns 262-263, referring to Exs. P00518, p. 3, P00988. See also supra, paras 1044-1047. 
3384 Exhibits P00518, p. 3, P00988. 
3385 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
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decision on the control of HZ(R) H-B airspace".3386 In making these findings, the Trial Chamber 

relied on minutes of Government meetings, where Pdic was present and in which the participants 

unanimously adopted a decision on the methodology for making defence plans3387 and a decision to 

control the airspace of the HR H-B. 3388 The Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to 

show any error in the Trial Chamber's findings. 3389 His challenge is dismissed. 

1054. With respect to Pdic's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that "Stojic regularly 

reported to his President on defence matters, including the military situation on the ground",3390 the 

Appeals Chamber observes that this finding was based on minutes of Government meetings, over 

which Pdic presided and at which Stojic reported on such matters. 3391 Prlic contends that the 

Trial Chamber ignored relevant evidence, namely the minutes of another Government meeting 

which state: "[iJt was recommended that in the future the Department of Defence should issue 

timely reports about the situation at the front line to the public and to the members of leading bodies 

of the HVO of the HZHB".3392 The Appeals Chamber considers that this evidence is not 

inconsistent with the challenged finding, and consequently dismisses PdiC's argument. 3393 

1055. The Appeals Chamber understands that Prlic challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that 

"on 29 July 1993, because of the overall military situation in the territory of the HZ H-B, especially 

in the Mostar area, the HVO [HZ H-BJ agreed that Jadranko Prlic would organise special working 

meetings with the collegiums of the departments of defence and the interior". 3394 The 

Appeals Chamber observes that this narrowly tailored finding is based on verbatim support in the 

minutes of the HVO HZ H-B meeting held on 29 July 1993,3395 and considers that it is unclear how 

any of Prlic's factual assertions could undermine the finding. 3396 His challenge in this regard is 

therefore dismissed. 

1056. Next, Pdic challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that Pdic "made some appointments, for 

example, Marijan Biskic who on 1 December 1993 was appointed Deputy Minister responsible for 

3386 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3387 Ex. P00767, pp. 1,3-4; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91 & fn. 264. 
3388 Ex. P0731O, pp. 1,7; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91 & fn. 265. 
3389 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in grounds of appeal 3 and 12, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 177-183, 1098-1127. 
3390 T 'al J n udgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3391 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91 & fn. 267, referring in particular to Exs. P01324, pp. 2-3, ID02179. 
3392 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03796,p. 5. 
3393 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
3394 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3395 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91, referring to Ex. P03796, p. 5. 
3396 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 348. In particular, PdiC'~ assertion that he "could not independently organize 
working meetings with the department, .but only with the approval of the collective bodyIHVOHZHB" is not 
inconsistent with the challenged finding. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 348. 
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security in the Ministry of Defence of the HR H_B",3397 with reference to evidence that indicates 

that the appointment was a collective decision. 3398 Nevertheless, considering that the Trial Chamber 

relied on evidence showing PrliC's involvement in the appointment of Biskic,3399 as the President of 

the Government of HR H-B who signed the decision of appointment,3400 the Appeals Chamber finds 

that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trial chamber could have made the impugned 

finding. His challenge is therefore dismissed.3401 

1057. Regarding PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber "erred regarding Jukic's appointment", 

the Appeals Chamber notes that he does not explain how the Trial Chamber erred. Since he fails to 

articulate an error, his argument is dismissed. Finally, concerning PrliC's contention that the 

Trial Chamber erred by ignoring evidence showing the differences between the HVO HZ H-B and 

the HR H-B Government, the Appeals Chamber is unable to discern which findings he challenges. 

Consequently, it dismisses his argument on the basis that he has failed to identify the challenged 

findings. 3402 

'1058. ,For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's sub-ground of 

appeal 11. 3. 

(iv) DepartmentiMinistry of the Interior (PrliC's Sub-ground 11.4) 

1059. The Trial, Chamber found that Prlic was involved in the supervision and activities of the 

DepartmentiMinistry of the Interior of the HZ(R) H_B.3403 

3397 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91. 
3398 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 349 & fn. 919 and references cited therein. 
3399 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 91, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 608, referring to, inter alia, 
Ex. P06994, Marijan Biskic, T(F). 15039, 15048-15049 (5 Mar 2007). Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 92. 
3400 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 92; Ex. P06994. . 
3401 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 11.1, which the 
A~peals Chamber dismisses above. See supra, paras 1022-1043. 
34 2 In addition, the Appeals Chamber notes that PrliC's challenge is entirely based on a cross-reference to his 
sub-ground of appeal 1.2, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3403 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 94. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

1060. Prlic challenges this finding,3404 arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on 

evidence that he signed appointments to conclude that he had power over the other members of the 

HVO HZ H-B, while ignoring evidence that he only signed collectively adopted decisions.3405 

1061. Prlic contends that the fact that he presided over meetings of the HVO/Government of the 

HZ(R) H-B, during which decisions about the Ministry of the Interior and its activities were 

adopted, does not prove that he was involved in the supervision and activities of the Ministry of the 

Interior.3406 He argues in this regard that the Trial Chamber relied on exhibits admitted through a 

bar table motion that: (1) do not concern the Indictment period; (2) do not mention his presence at 

meetings; (3) do not mention decisions about the Ministry of the Interior; or - in one case -

(4) concern a decision the implementation of which is not supported by any evidence. 3407 

1062. Prlic also submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that: (1) the HVO HZ H-B 

agreed that he would organise special working meetings with the collegiums of the Departments of 

Defence and the Interior;3408 and (2) he, rather than Boban, proposed to Tudman that Coric be 

appointed Minister of the Interior of the HR H_B.3409 

1063. Finally, Prlic submits that, in assessing the "supervision" over the DepartmentiMinistry of 

the Interior, the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the Departments/Ministries of Defence and 

the Interior independently decided about the engagement of police forces. 3410 By contrast, Prlic 

argues, there is no evidence that he issued orders to the Department of the Interior.3411 

1064. The Prosecution responds that Prlic's assertion that the Government's collective 

decision-making process absolves him of responsibility for its powers and decisions is 

unfounded.3412 It argues that Prlic fails to explain how no reasonable trial chamber could have 

found, based on explicit evidence, that he would organise special meetings with the collegiums of 

the Departments of Defence and the Interior.3413 With regard to Prlic presiding over Government 

3404 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 352; Appeal Hearing, AT. l37 (20 Mar 2017). 
3405 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 353. See PrliC'.s Appeal Brief, para. 354, referring to PrliC's Appeal Bri~f, para. 52 (sub­
ground of appeal 1.2), sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.4 and 1.2.5, para. 350 (sub-ground of appeal 11.3); Appeal Hearing, 
AT. l37 (20 Mar 2017). 
3406 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 356. 
3407 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 356, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3408 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 355, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 11.3. 
3409 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 357. Specifically, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Exhibit P06581 

, in finding that he proposed to Tudman that Coric be appointed Minister of the Interior of the HR H-B. PrliC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 357. 
3410 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 358-359; Appeal Hearing, AT. l37 (20 Mar 2017). 
3411 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 359. 
3412 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 216. 
3413 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 217. 
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meetings during which decisions about the Ministry of the Interior and its activities were adopted, 

the Prosecution submits that he repeatedly misrepresents the evidence supporting the 

Trial Chamber's findings, while ignoring other evidence that supports them.3414 It also argues that 

Pdic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber unreasonably concluded, despite clear evidence in 

support, that he proposed the appointment of Coric as Minister of the Interior.3415 Finally, the 

Prosecution argues that the evidence of the Interior and/or Defence Department and/or military 

authorities issuing orders relating to deployment of police forces does not undermine the 

Trial Chamber's finding on PdiC's supervisory role.3416 

b. Analysis 

1065. In arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on evidence - specifically Exhibits 

P03791 and ID001903417 - that he signed appointments to conclude that he had power over the 

other members of the HVO HZ H-B, Pdic misrepresents the Trial Chamber's findings. 3418 The 

Trial Chamber did not conclude on the basis of this evidence that he had power over the other 

members of the HVO HZ H-B, but rather concluded, based on this and other evidence,3419 that he 

"was involved in the supervision and activities of the Department/Ministry of the Interior of the 

HZ(R) H_B".342o Pdic has failed to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the 

evidence he cites in reaching this conclusion and his argument is therefore dismissed.3421 

1066. As for PdiC's argument that the fact that he presided over Government meetings during 

which decisions about the Ministry of the Interior and its activities were adopted, does not prove 

that he was involved in the supervision and activities of the Ministry of the Interior, the 

Appeals Chamber first notes that this was only one consideration - among many others -

supporting the impugned finding.3422 Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier 

of fact could have found the fact that Prlic presided over Government meetings, during which 

3414 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 218, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 356. 
3415 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 221. 
3416 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 219. The Prosecution adds that, in any event, Prlic and the Government 
could, and did, make decisions directly impacting the deployment of police forces. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Prlic), para. 219. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 220. 
3417 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 353, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03791, 1D00190 (decisions relating to the 
DeJJartment of the Interior, bearing PrliC's name and published in the official gazette of the HZ H-B). . 
341 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 352 (referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 93-94), 353 (which appears to relate 
to the first two sentences in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93). 
3419 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93 and references cited therein. 
3420 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 94. To the extent that Prlic argues that the DepartmentiMinistry of the Interior was so 
independent that there was no room for him to be involved in its supervision and activities, the Appeals Chamber 
considers that his claims are not borne out by the evidence on which he relies. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 
2017), referring to Exs. P00303, Arts 2-22, lD00001, Arts 2-7, P00434 (not admitted into evidence), lDOOOlO, 
lD00171, lD00173, lD00174. See also supra, para. 1051 & fn. 3381. 
3421 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2, 1.2.4, 1.2.5, and 
11.3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176, 1048-1058. 
3422 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 93-94. 
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decisions about the Ministry of the Interior and its activities were adopted, to be an indicator of his 

involvement in the supervision and activities of the Ministry of the Interior. With regard to PdiC's 

challenge to the Trial Chamber's reliance on exhibits admitted through a bar table motion, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that he repeatedly misrepresents the evidence on which the Trial Chamber 

based its finding. 3423 This evidence includes minutes of Government meetings, dated within the 

Indictment period, which indicate that Prlic was present and that decisions about the Ministry of the 

Interior were made.3424 The existence of evidence as to whether one of the adopted decisions was 

implemented or not has no impact on the impugned finding, which does not deal with the question 

of implementation. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's argument. 3425 

1067. Regarding PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO HZ H-B agreed 

that he would organise special working meetings with the collegiums of the Departments of 

Defence and the Interior,3426 the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has previously dismissed a 

challenge to a similar finding supported by the same evidence.3427 Pdic does not add any discernible 

argument under the present sub-ground of appeal, and his challenge is consequently dismissed. 

1068. With regard to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he, 

rather than Boban, proposed to Tudman that Coric be appointed Minister of the Interior of the HR 

H-B, the Appeals Chamber notes that he ignores evidence on which the Trial Chamber based its 

finding, which explicitly supports this finding.3428 His argument is therefore dismissed. 

1069. Finally, with respect to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the 

Departments/Ministries of Defence and the Interior independently decided about the engagement of 

police forces, the Appeals Chamber observes that this alleged fact is not inconsistent with the 

impugned finding.3429 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the argument. 

1070. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of 

appeal 11.4. 

3423 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93 & fns 271-272 and references cited therein. Cf PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
356. 
3424 Exs. P01403, pp. 1,3-4; P06667, pp. 1,4; P07354, pp. 1-3. 
3425 The Appeals Chamber also notes that PdiC refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
3426 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93. 
3427 See supra, para. 1055. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 355, refeITing to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
348 (sub-ground of appeal 11.3). . 
3428 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 93 & fn. 274, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06583 ("[T]he President of the Croatian 
Republic of Herceg-Bosna, Mr. Mate Boban, has appointed Dr. Jadranko Prlie Prime Minister. At the Prime Minister's 
suggestion, the following people were appointed members of the government: [ ... ] Valentin Corie - interior minister".) 
Pdie fails to explain why the Trial Chamber's conclusion could not stand on the basis of this evidence. As such, the 
Appeals Chamber dismisses his argument that the Trial Chamber eITed in relying on Exhibit P06581, among other. 
evidence, in finding that he proposed to Tudman that Corie be appointed Minister of the Interior of the HR H-B. 
3429 See also supra, para. 1051 & fn. 3381. 
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(v) Department/Ministry of Justice and General Administration (Pdic's Sub-ground 11.5) 

1071. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic was involved in the supervision and activities of the 

Department/Ministry of Justice and General Administration of the HZ(R) H_B.3430 

1072. Pdic challenges this finding, submitting that it was based on the 'fact that he presided over 

HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B meetings and signed some appointments.3431 He argues in this 

regard that presiding over these meetings did not give him the power to supervise those bodies,3432 

and that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the HVO HZ H-B was responsible for judicial 

appointments.3433 

1073. The Prosecution responds that Pdic cites no evidence to support his claim that his presiding 

role gave him no power of supervision.3434 The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber did 

rely on the allegedly ignored evidence, which furthermore supports the impugned finding. 3435 

1074. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's argument that he had no power of supervision as it 

is not borne out by the evidence on which he relies.3436 The Appeals Chamber further dismisses the 

argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the HVO HZ H-B was responsible for 

judicial appointments, as this alleged fact is not inconsistent with the impugned finding. Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 11.5.3437 

(vi) Fiscal organs of the Government (PdiC's Sub-ground 11.6) 

1075. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic directed and controlled the fiscal organs of the 

HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B and its budget.3438 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1076. Pdic submits that this finding was erroneous, as the Trial Chamber relied on documents 

covering the period when the Ministry of Finance did not function and mischaracterised the 

3430 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 96. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 95. 
3431 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 360. . 
3432 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 360; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017). See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 361, 
referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 52 (sub-ground of appeal 1.2), sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.4-1.2.5. 
3433 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 362. 
3434 Prosecution's Response Brief (PrliC), para. 222. 
3435 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 222. 
3436 See Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017), referring to Exs. P00303, Arts 2-22, m00001, Arts 2-7, P00434 (not 
admitted into evidence), 1DOOOlO, m00171, m00173, m00174. See also supra, para. 1051 & fn. 3381. 
3437 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2, 1.2.4, and 1.2.5, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176. 
3438 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 98. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 97. 
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testimony of Witness Miroslav Rupcic,3439 whereas Prlic argues that he could only act with 

authorisation from the HVO HZ H_B.3440 Prlic further challenges the Trial Chamber's underlying 

findings that he: (1) directed, supported, and facilitated raising or collecting funds, arguing that no 

decrees proposed by the Department of Finance and enacted by the HVO HZ H-B gave him such 

power, and RupciC's evidence does not support the Trial Chamber's conclusions;3441 and (2) drew 

up, supervised, and controlled the budget of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, which Prlic 

argues was based on a mischaracterisation of the evidence. 3442 

1077. The Prosecution responds that Prlic: (1) neither provides support for his claim that the 

Ministry of Finance did not function during unspecified dates, nor explains how that would 

undermine the Trial Chamber's findIngs on his powers;3443 (2) ignores that he himself signed the 

decrees on which he relies,3444 and fails to explain how the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the 

evidence of RupCic;3445 and (3) fails to substantiate his claim that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised evidence that squarely supports its finding that he drew up, supervised, and 

controlled the budget. 3446 

b. Analysis 

1078. Turning first to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he directed and 

controlled the fiscal and financial organs of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B and its budget, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic provides no support for his assertions that the Ministry of 

Finance did not function during a certain period and that he could only act with authorisation from 

the HVO HZ H-B. He furthermore fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the 

testimony of Rupcic.3447 PrliC's challenge amounts to a mere assertion and is dismissed as such.3448 

3439 The Appeals Chamber understands that the witness Prlic describes as "Witness I" is Rupcic. 
3440 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 363. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 52 (sub­
ground of appeal 1.2), sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.4-1.2.5, 11.1. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 133 (20 Mar 2017). 
3441 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 365. 
3442 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 366. Specifically, Prlic submits that: (1) in Exhibits 1002135 and 1D02136 the HVO HZ 
H-B is reminding the Finance Department of its obligations - pursuant to HVO HZ H-B decrees - to estimate the 
inflow of funds in the budget; (2) the House of Representatives was in charge of the HR H-B budget, as found by the 
Trial Chamber; (3) the Head of the Finance Department of the HVO HZ H-B was vested with the executive authority to 
implement the budget without any authorisation from the HVO HZ H-B President; and (4) in 1992 and 1993 
expenditures were made pursuant to HVO HZ H-B decisions and only in 1994 was the first HR H-B budget adopted. 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 366. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 133 (20 Mar 2017). 
3443 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 223. 
3444 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 223. 
3445 Prosecution.'s Response Brief (Prlic), para. 223. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), fn. 749. 
3446 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 224. 
3447 -See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 97-98, referring to, inter alia, Exs. POO102, P01097, p. 1, 1D00036, Art. 2, 
Miroslav RupCic, T(F). 23448-23451 (9 Oct 2007). 
3448 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2, 1.2.4, 1.2.5, and 11.1, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176, 1021-1043. 
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1079. Regarding PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he directed, supported, and 

facilitated raising or collecting funds,3449 the Appeals Chamber notes that this finding is supported 

by official publications of HVO HZ H-B decrees, bearing PdiC's name, concerning the raising or 

collection of funds.345o Pdic has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

made this finding. His arguments in this regard are therefore dismissed. 

1080. Finally, concerning PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he drew up, 

supervised, and controlled the budget of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H_B,3451 the 

Appeals Chamber notes that this finding is supported by evidence showing his role in this 

regard.3452 Pdic either ignores this evidence3453 or fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised it. 3454 His challenge is therefore dismissed. 

1081. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Pdic's sub-ground of 

appeal 11.6. 

(vii) Office for Displaced Persons and Refugees (PdiC's Sub-ground 11.7) 

1082. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic was involved in directing and organising the activities 

of the ODPR and had the power to direct and control it.3455 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1083. Pdic challenges this finding, submitting that it contradicts another finding that the ODPR 

was accountable to the HVO HZ H-B and not to Prlic.3456 He argues in this regard that the 

3449 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 97. 
3450 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 97, referring to, inter alia, Exs. POO102, P00408/1D00013, 1D00025, 1D00028, 
1D00030, 1D00034. 
3451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 97. 
3452 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 97, referring to Exs. P00412, P00511, P01403, pp. 3-4, P06189, p. 2, P07628, 
1D02135, 1D02136, Miroslav RupCic, T(F). 23342-23343 (8 Oct 2007). 
3453 Compare PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366, with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 283. 
3454 Regarding PdiC's submission that in Exhibits 1D02135 and 1D02136 the HVO HZ H-B is reminding the Finance 
Department of its obligations - pursuant to HVO HZ H-B decrees - to estimate the inflow of funds in the budget, the 
Appeals Chamber considers that both exhibits relate to the Government of the HR H-B and support the impugned 
finding. Concerning PdiC's submission that the House of Representatives was in charge of the HR H-B budget, the 
Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that the House of Representatives of the HR H-B, established 
on 28 August 1993, was charged with adopting the budget of the HR H-B. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 508 (emphasis 
added). Prlic fails to demonstrate that this finding (or the evidence to which he refers in support) is inconsistent with the 
impugned finding. See Pdic Appeal Brief, fns 944-945 and references cited therein. With regard to PdiC's submission 
that the Head of the Finance Department of the HVO HZ H-B was vested with the executive authority to implement the 
budget without any authorisation from the HVO HZ H-B President, the Appeals Chamber observes that he cites to a 
single exhibit discussing a draft decree yet to be adopted. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 946, referring to Ex. P00578, p. 
2. Finally, the Appeals Chamber fails to see how PrliC's last submission - that in 1992 and 1993 expenditures were 
made pursuant to HVO HZ H-B decisions and only in 1994 was the first HR H-B budget adopted - shows any error in 
the impugned finding. 
3455 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 100. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 99. 
3456 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 367. 
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Trial Chamber erred by basing its conclusion on HVO HZ H-B decisions signed by him and by 

mischaracterising Witness Martin Raguz's testimony.3457 Prlic further submits that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he "instructed" the ODPR to assist with regard to a visit by experts 

from the Croatian ODPR, when in fact he was just pleading on behalf of the HVO HZ H_B.3458 

Finally, Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber wrongly found, based on a single exhibit, that he 

participated in a meeting attended by Zubak and Tadic, during which they allegedly "informed an 

international organization of their plan to negotiate with the Croatian ODPR for transit visas for 

Muslims".3459 Prlic argues in this regard that nothing supports the conclusion that he ever directed 

or controlled the ODPR.3460 

1084. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Prlic had the power 

to direct and control the ODPR and that he was involved in directing and organising its 

activities.3461 It argues that Prlic fails to establish the alleged contradiction in the Trial Chamber's 

findings,3462 and has not explained how the Trial Chamber erred in relying on, or in interpreting, 

certain evidence.3463 

b. Analysis 

1085. With regard to PrliC's argument that the impugned finding is contradicted by the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the ODPR was accountable to the HVO HZ H-B and not to Prlic, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that in the section discussing PrliC's powers with respect to the ODPR, the 

Trial Chamber first recalled "its findings that, at the organisational ltwel, the ODPR was 

accountable to the HVO HZ H-B and not to its president personally".3464 The Trial Chamber then 

considered documentary and witness evidence indicating that Prlic was personally involved in the 

activities of the ODPR and its management, on the basis of which it reached the impugned 

finding. 3465 The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that Prlic does not demonstrate any 

contradiction in the Trial Chamber's findings. The Appeals Chamber further considers that PrliC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber erred by basing its conclusion on HVO HZ H-B decisions signed 

by him is an undeveloped assertion that also ignores other evidence on which the Trial Chamber 

3457 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 367 & fn. 952, referring to Martin Raguz, T. 31310-31316 (25 Aug 2008). 
3458 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 368. 
3459 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 369. 
3460 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 369. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 370, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds 
of appeal 16.6.3-16.6.4. Prlic also submits that: "[t]he Headquarters for refugees was formed due to the gravity of the 
humanitarian situation at the time, for activities usually performed by the municipalities. Zubak headed the 
Headquarters and was authorized to make autonomous decisions in the Headquarters' area of responsibility, with the 
ODPR becoming more autonomous." PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 371 (internal references omitted). 
3461 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 225. 
3462 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 226. 
3463 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 226. 
3464 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 99, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 629-631. 
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relied.3466 Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic merely asserts that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised the testimony of Raguz without demonstrating an error. 3467 PdiC's arguments are 

therefore dismissed. 

1086. Turning to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he 

"instructed" the ODPR to assist with regard to a visit by experts from the Croatian ODPR when he 

was just pleading on behalf of the HVO HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber based this finding on Exhibit ID02141,3468 a letter signed by Pdic which reads: "We 

ask that you provide". 3469 The Appeals Chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could have 

found that this amounted to an instruction, notwithstanding the irrelevant evidence on which Pdic 

relies to argue that he was pleading rather than instructing.347o PdiC's submission is therefore 

dismissed. 

1087. ·Turning at last to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he participated in 

a meeting attended by Zubak and Tadic, during which they informed an international organisation 

of their plan to negotiate with the Croatian ODPR for transit visas for approximately 10,000 

Muslims "wishing to leave",3471 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's finding is 

explicitly supported by the exhibit on which it relied,3472 and that Pdic fails to develop why the 

Trial Chamber would have erred in basing this finding on a single piece of evidence. In light of the 

fact that the finding is explicitly supported by the evidence, and that the Trial Chamber alsQ relied 

on other evidence to find that Pdic was involved in directing and organising the activities of the 

ODPR and had the power to direct and control it,3473 the Appeals Chamber also dismisses PdiC's 

final submission that nothing supports the conclusion that he ever directed or controlled the 

ODPR.3474 

3465 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 99-100. 
3466 Compare PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 367 & fns 951-952 and references cited therein, with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
p,aras 99-100 and references cited therein. 

467 The Appeals Chamber notes that the part of Raguz's testimony cited by Prlic squarely supports the Trial Chamber's 
finding that "[o]n 31 May 1993, [Prlic] proposed to the HVO HZ H-B that Martin Raguz be appointed Deputy Head of 
the ODPR and signed the decision to that effect". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 99 & fn. 287, referring to, inter alia, 
Martin Raguz, T(F). 31310-31316 (25 Aug 2008). 
3468 T . I J 9 na udgement, Vol. 4, para. 99 & fn. 2 7. 
3469 Ex. ID0214l. 
3470 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 368 & fn. 953 and references cited therein. 
3471 • Tnal Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 99. 
3472 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 296, referring to Ex. P09679 (confidential), p. l. 
3473 See supra, paras 1085-1086; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 99-100. 
3474 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 369. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub­
grounds of appeal 16.6.3 and 16.6.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1300, 1304-1306, 
1308-1309, 1315, 1317. PrliC's submissions regarding the "Headquarters for refugees" and Zubak's role in that 
are not inconsistent with the impugned finding. 
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1088. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chaplber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of 

appeal 11. 7. 

(viii) Exchange Service (Pdic's Sub-ground 11.8) 

1089. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic exercised direct authority over the Exchange Service by 

supervising its establishment, organisation, and activities and by being kept informed of its 

activities.3475 

1090. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber en'oneously concluded that he exercised direct power 

over the Exchange Service, in particular by supervising its establishment, organization, and 

activities and by being kept informed of its activities.3476 Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously relied on: (1) Exhibit P03796, introduced through a bar table motion;3477 (2) Exhibit 

P07102, which allegedly bears no indicia of reliability - specifically no signature or stamp - and is 

not corroborated by any evidence indicating that it is genuine and was ever sent to or received by 

the HR H-B Government or Pdic;3478 and (3) three "uncorroborated" "reports" not identified by 

exhibit numbers, in disregard of other evidence showing that the Service was: (a) an autonomous 

body communicating directly with other entities; and (b) not accountable to the HVO HZ H-B, as 

shown by the fact that it is not referenced in Government reports. 3479 

1091. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pdic exercised 

direct authority over the Exchange Service.348o The Prosecution argues that Pdic misidentifies the 

evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied, makes misleading, irrelevant, inconect, and 

unsupported claims, and fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of 

evidence. 3481 

1092. The Appeals Chamber notes that in arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on 

Exhibit P03796, Pdic has failed to articulate any error and dismisses the argument on this basis.3482 

With regard to Exhibit P07102, the Appeals Chamber observes that while the document is not 

signed or stamped, the Trial Chamber accepted its authenticity in light of other evidence on the 

3475 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 104. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 101-103. 
3476 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 372. 
3477 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 372, referring to Ex. P03796, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3478 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 372. 
3479 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 373 & fn. 962, referring to Exs. P07178, P07246, P07468. 
3480 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 227. 
3481 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 228. The Prosecution further argues that Prlic improperly raises for the 
first time on appeal a challenge to the authenticity of Exhibit P07102, which moreover bears indicia of reliability. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 228 & fn. 779. . 
3482 Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 102, referring to Ex. P03796. The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic also refers to 
his submissions in ground of appeal 3,. which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
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record. 3483 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the final assessment of a piece of 

evidence is based on the totality of the evidence in a given case.3484 As such, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Prlic has failed to establish that no reasonable trier of fact could have considered it to be 

authentic or could have relied on it.3485 Concerning the three reports on which the Trial Chamber 

relied, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber described them and referenced them with 

sufficient specificity,3486 allowing Prlic to identify them.3487 The Appeals Chamber further notes 

that the aforementioned reports all concern information on the release of prisoners transmitted by 

Pusic, the head of the Exchange Service,3488 to the Government of the HR H -Band thus corroborate 

each other insofar as they show that Prlic was kept informed of the service's activities, and are in 

any event corroborated by other evidence on the record3489 supporting the concluding finding that 

Prlic was kept informed.349o Prlic therefore establishes no error in this regard. Finally, with respect 

to the allegedly disregarded evidence that the Exchange Service was an autonomous body not 

accountable to the HVO HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlie's submissions that this 

body communicated directly with various entities and is not referenced in Government reports are 

not inconsistent with the challenged finding. 3491 For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 11.8. 

3483 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1062, 1089, 1092, 1127 et seq., referring to, inter alia, Ex. P07102. The Appeals 
Chamber notes that these portions of the Trial Judgement relate to PusiC's liability and that Pusic does not challenge the 
authenticity of Exhibit P07102 .. 
3484 See Lukic and Lukic Appeal Judgement, para. 261. 
3485 The Appeals Chamber observes that the impugned finding makes no mention of Exhibit P07102 being sent to or 
received by the HR H-B Government or Prlic. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 103 ("Moreover, in a letter dated 
10 December 1993, Berislav Pusic proposed to Jadranko Pdic, among other things, that a body other than the 
[Exchange Service] be entrusted with the classification of prisoners and that the Government of the HR H-B, whose 
President was Jadranko Pdic, approve a list of 'persons [civilians] who voluntarily want to leave the area of the HR H­
B' drawn up by the Service for the Exchange of Prisoners and Other Persons."). 
3486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 103 & fn. 302 and references cited therein. 
3487 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 962, referring to Exs. P07178, P07246, P07468. 
3488 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 101 & fn. 299. 
3489 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 103 & fn. 301 and reference cited therein. 
3490 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 104. 
3491 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 373 & fns 963-964 and references cited therein. 
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(ix) Municipal governments (PrliC's Sub-ground 11.9) 

1093. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic directed and supervised the work of the HVO municipal 

authorities, considering that the Government: (1) co-ordinated the work of the municipal 

administrative bodies; (2) could dissolve the municipal HVOs, annul their enactments, and appoint 

and dismiss their members; and (3) could abrogate the decisions of the mu'nicipal HVOs that 

d h I · .,(: 3492 contravene t e regu atlOns III lorce. 

1094. Prlic challenges this finding,3493 arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously found, based on 

unsupportive documents admitted from the bar table, that he: (1) palticipated in the dissolution of 

the municipal HVOs that did not conform to HZ(R) H-B policies; (2) received reports from the 

municipal HVOs; and (3) participated in the appointment of members of various municipal HVO 

councils. 3494 

1095. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings are reasonable and that Prlic 

fails to explain his claims to the contrary. 3495 

1996. Regarding PrliC's submissions that the Trial Chamber erred in making findings based on 

unsupportive bar table documents, the Appeals Chamber finds that the impugned findings are 

supported by the exhibits on which the Trial Chamber relied,3496 and dismisses PrliC's submissions 

as they misrepresent the evidence.3497 The Appeals Chamber dismisses Prlic's sub-ground of 

appeal 11.9. 

3492 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 105. 
3493 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 374. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 375, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 54-55 
(sub-ground of appeal 1.2), sub-ground of appeal 1.2.6. 
3494 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 376-378; PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 59, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
¥,round of appeal 3. , 
495 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 229-230. 

3496 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 105 and references cited therein. Specifically, the finding that Pdic "participated 
in the decision of 22 March 1993 on the dissolution of the municipal HVOs which did not conform to the policies in 
force in the HZ(R) H B, for example the Ljubuski HVO because of the difficulties linked to the mobilisation of 
conscripts in that municipality" is supported by Exhibits P0l781 ("By the decision of Jadranko Pdic, President of the 
HVO HZ H-B, which was adopted on 22 March 1993, the Ljubuski HVO was dismissed") and P0l700 (Pdic's decision 
dated 22 March 1993, referring to "the difficulties to mobilise conscripts" in Ljubuski Municipality). The finding that 
Pdic "received reports from the municipal HVOs" is supported by Exhibits P01853 (a report of the Travnik HVO 
addressed to, inter alios, Pdic), P06292 (a report on the work 'of the Vitez Defence Office addressed to, inter alios, 
Pdic), and 2D00852 (containing a request - adopted by the HVO HZ H-B with Prlic in attendance - for all municipal 
HVOs to submit detailed reports). Finally, the finding that "Prlic participated in the appointment of members of various 
municipal HVO councils, among others, those of the municipalities of Vares, Jablanica and Ljubuski" is supported by 
Exhibits P05805 (a letter from the President of the Ljubuski municipal HVO to Pdic, requesting a decision on the 
appointment of the Ljubuski municipal HVO) and P08239 (Minutes of a session of the Government of the HR H-B, at 
which Pdic was present, setting out appointments to, inter alia, theVares and Jablanica municipal councils). 
3497 The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in (sub-)grounds of appeal 1.2, 1.2.6, and 3, which 
it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176, 177-183. 
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(x) Conclusion 

1097. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's ground of appea111 in its entirety. 

(b) Alleged errors regarding powers in military matters (PrliC's Ground 12) 

(i) Iritroduction 

1098. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in finding that he and the 

Government had power in military matters (sub-ground of appeal 12.1) and that reports on HVO 

combat activities were routinely sent to the Government (sub-ground of appeal 12.2),3498 

undermining his JCE convictions,3499 and warranting his acquittal on Counts 1_25.3500 The 

Prosecution responds that PdiC's submissions should be dismissed.3501 

(ii) The Government's and PdiC's powers in military matters (PdiC's Sub-ground 12.1) 

1099. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B had the power and 

responsibility to control, in general and particularly in terms of the military strategy, the HVO.3502 

The Trial Chamber also found that, as President of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, Pdic 

had an influence on the defence strategy and the military operations of the HVO.3503 It found that he 

specifically had the power to: (1) preside over and participate in meetings at which decisions on the 

strategy and the military situation in the HZ(R) H-B were taken; (2) adopt decisions and decrees on 

such matters; (3) be infonned about the military situation; and (4) if necessary, "take decisions 

directly which had a direct impact" on the course of the military operations of the HVO.3504 

1100. The Appeals Chamber will address in turn PrliC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's 

findings on the Government's powers in military matters and his own powers in that regard. 

3498 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 382, 403, 408. Specifically, Pdic alleges that by ignoring evidence, the Trial Chamber 
failed to provide reasoned opinions and applied an incorrect legal standard in assessing the evidence, amounting to an 
error oflaw. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 408. 
3499 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 381, 408. . 
3500 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 409. 
3501 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic),para. 233. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 231-232. 
3502 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 517-521. 
3503 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106. 
3504 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 111. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 106-110. 
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a. The Government's powers in military matters 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1101. Pdic first argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the HVO HZ H-B played a role 

in military matters.3505 He submits that the Trial Chamber based this finding exclusively on the 

Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces (Exhibit P00588) ("3 July 1992 Decree on the 

Armed Forces"),3506 which requires the production of defence plans, while ignoring other evidence 

indicating that such plans had "nothing to do with the usage of military forces".3507 

1102. Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised PetkoviC's evidence when claiming 

that he acknowledged that the HVO HZ H-B - as the civilian authority in the HZ H-B - exercised 

control over the HVO/military authorities.3508 In addition, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously relied on PetkoviC's Final Brief, which has no legal authority.3509 

11 03. Pdic also submits that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted PetkoviC's testimony when 

claiming he acknowledged that the civilian authorities of the HVO HZ H-B were asked to set the 

"overall strategy" of the HZ H-B, and based this finding on evidence that could not sustain a 

finding beyond reasonable doubt.3510 He contends that the Trial Chamber also erroneously relied on 

the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces (Exhibit P00289), which was only in effect before 

Mate Boban relinquished his executive authority within the HVO HZ H_B.3511 Finally, Prlic 

contends that the Trial Chamber relied on a HVO HZ H-B report (Exhibit P00128), which does not 

show that the HVO HZ H-B made political or "overall strategy" decisions.3512 

1104. Pdic challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that "[t]he government was allowed to make 

proposals and form conclusions concerning issues of a military nature, which the Ministry of 

Defence could then forward to the Senior Main Staff or to the principal commanding officers, but 

3505 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 382-383; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 Mar 2017). 
3506 The decree was amended on 17 October 1992. Exhibit P00588, a decree issued by Mate Boban on 17 October 1992 
on the armed forces of the Croatian Community of Herceg Bosna (edited version) ("Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on 
the Armed Forces"); p. 1. 
3507 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 383, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. See PrliC's Reply 
Brief, paras 60-61. Pdic also submits that there is no evidence of any HVO HZ H-B defence plans. PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
r:ara. 383; Appeal Hearing, AT. 138 (20 Mar 2017). 

508 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para: 384. 
3509 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 385, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 161 (ground of appealS). 
3510 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 386, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 455-459 (sub-ground of appeal 
16.1.1). 
3511 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 387. In this regard, Pdic also argues that: (1) the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed 
Forces was then amended, stripping the HVO HZ H-B and its President of any power over the HVO; (2) Witness Davor 
Marijan "carelessly" analysed the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces although "this blunder was exposed when 
he testified"; and (3) the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces provides an accurate account of the HVO 
HZ H-B's actual powers or lack thereof over the HVO. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 387; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137-138 
(20 Mar 2017). 
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lacked authority to give orders of a military nature",3513 as it mischaracterised PetkoviC's 
. 3514 testImony. 

1105. Finally, Pdic contends that the Trial Chamber misrepresented Marijan's testimony - and 

ignored other evidence - when concluding that he stated that the "Government of the HVO" 

adopted reports and decisions concerning issues related to defence and as a consequence provided 

instructions for their enforce~ent.3515 

1106. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not base its finding that the HVO HZ 

H-B played a role in military matters exclusively on the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the 

Armed Forces and that Pdic fails to explain the relevance of his argument regarding defence 

plans.3516 The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber did not mischaracterise Petkovic's 

evidence,3517 thatthe Trial Chamber's reference to PetkoviC's Final Brief is irrelevant,3518 and that 

the Trial Chamber did not err in relying on the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces.3519 

Finally, it argues that Pdic does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber misrepresented Marijan's 

evidence and that the other evidence he refers to fails to show any error in the TriaI' Chamber's 

findings. 3520 

ii. Analysis 

1107. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not base its finding that the 

HVO HZ H-B played a role in military matters exclusively on the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on 

the AImed Forces. Rather, the Trial Chamber .assessed "the Pdic Defence's theory that reforms in 

the Decree on the Armed Forces of 3 July 1992 stripped the HVO of its role in military matters",3521 

3512 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 388 & fn. 982. 
3513 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 389, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 1, para. 519; Appeal Hearing, AT. 234 (20 Mar 2017). 
3514 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 389-390. Prlic also submits that: (1) Praljak, the second Chief of the Main Staff, testified 
that neither Prlic nor the' HVO HZ H-B could give him orders and that the HVO was only obliged to implement 
Boban's orders; and (2) the Trial Chamber found that the Chief of the Main Staff was directly accountable to the 
Supreme Commander with regard to strategic planning and the use of the HVO. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 391. 
351 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 392, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519. The quote is from the 
Trial Judgement. 
3516 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 234. 
3517 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 235-238. 
3518 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 236. 
3519 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 234. The Pro~ecution further argues that Prlic repeats his trial argument 
that the amendment of the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces stripped the Government of power over the HVO, 
without showing that the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting this argument. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 
234. 
3520 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 239-240. 
3521 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 518. 
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and reviewed a number of pieces of evidence before reaching its conclusions to the contrary.3522 

Prlic misrepresents the factual findings and his argument is therefore dismissed. 

1l08. With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Petkovic's 

evidence when claiming that he acknowledged that the HVO HZ H-B exercised control over the 

HVO, the Appeals Chamber considers that the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber supports its 

summary of PetkoviC's testimony and that Prlic has failed to demonstrate any error in this 

regard.3523 As the Trial Chamber's assessment of this evidence is supported by the record, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's additional reference to PetkoviC's Final Brief 

is inconsequential. 3524 PrliC's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

II 09. Turning to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in claiming that PetkoviC 

acknowledged that the civilian authorities of the HVO HZ H-B were asked to set the "overall 

strategy" of the HZ H-B, the Appeals Chamber again considers that the evidence cited by the 

Trial Chamber supports the Trial Chamber's summary of PetkoviC's testimony and that Pdic has 

failed to demonstrate any error in this regard.3525 The Appeals Chamber further dismisses PdiC's 

arguments regarding the Trial Chamber's reliance on the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces 

(Exhibit P00289) and HVO HZ H-B report (Exhibit P00128), as he has failed to demonstrate that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have found as the Trial Chamber did, based on the other evidence 

on which it relied. 3526 

1l10. As for Prlic's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that "[t]he government was allowed 

to make proposals and form conclusions concerning issues of a military nature, which the Ministry 

of Defence could then forward to the Senior Main Staff or to the principal commanding officers, but 

la~ked authority to give orders of a military nature",3527 the Appeals Chamber considers that he 

merely makes factual assertions that either are not supported by the evidence to which he refers,3528 

3522 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 518-521. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in 
rs;ound of appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
523 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 & fn. 1264, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 50014-50015 (25 

Feb 2010), 50342 (3 Mar 2010). Regarding PdiC's submissions that: (1) Praljak testified that neither Prlic nor the HVO 
HZ H·B could give him orders and that the HVO was only obliged to implement Boban's orders; and (2) the Trial 
Chamber found that the Chief of the Main Staff was directly accountable to the Supreme Commander with regard to 
strategic planning and the use of the HVO, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to articulate an error. 
3524 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 & fn. 1264, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 55, 64(ii). 
The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 5, which it dismisses elsewhere 
in the Judgement. See supra, paras 107-138. 
3525 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 & fn. 1265 and references cited therein. See, in particular, Milivoj Petkovic, 
T. 50350 (3 Mar 2010). The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 
16.1.1, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1146-1153. 
3526 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 at fns 1265, 1268 and references cited therein. 
3527 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519. 
3528 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 390 & fns 985-986, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49771 (22 Feb 2010), 
50186-50188 (1 Mar 2010). The Appeals Chamber considers that the evidence relied on by Prlic does not support his 
assertions that only the Supreme Commancier and the Main Staff could decide on military matters and that the HVO HZ 
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or are not inconsistent with the challenged finding.3529 Thus, Prlic has failed to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have made this finding and his arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1111. Regarding PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber misrepresented Marijan's testimony, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that, according to the Trial Chamber, "Davor Marijan stated that 

although the Government of the HVO did not form part of the chain of command of the armed 

forces, during its sittings, it adopted reports and decisions concerning issues related to defence, and 

as a consequence, provided instructions for their enforcement". 3530 The Appeals Chamber considers 

that the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber supports its summary of Marijan's testimony, although 

there is no explicit reference to enforcement. This, however, has no discernible impact on any 

ensuing finding of the Trial Chamber and therefore does not occasion any miscarriage of justice.3531 

With regard to the allegedly ignored evidence, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic merely 

makes factual assertions that are either not supported by the evidence to which he refers,3532 or are 

not inconsistent with the challenged finding. 3533 These arguments are dismissed. 

b. PrliC's powers in military matters 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1112. Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that the Government, with his 

participation, discussed the HVO's military strategy and adopted regulations concerning the 

mobilisation of military personnel, in contradiction to: (1) its previous finding that "areas related to 

mobilization and appointment constituted some of the stated powers wielded directly by 

Mate Boban"; and (2) evidence that only Boban was authorised to proclaim mobilisation, with the 

Defence Department having the obligation to prepare and execute mobilisation.3534 

1113. Prlic further submits that the Trial Chamber incorrectly found that Petkovic testified that 

Prlic could issue operative orders to the armed forces through the Defence Department, in 

contradiction to: (1) PetkoviC's explicit testimony to the contrary; and (2) other findings of the 

H-B was not part of the military. The first citation appears to be an error. The second citation makes no mention of the 
HVO HZ H-B and only relates to the Supreme Commander's and the Main Staff's position in the command structure of 
the combat component of the HVO without asserting that they had exclusive authority in military matters. 
3529 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 389-391 at fns 984, 987-991. 
3530 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 519 (internal references omitted), referring to, inter alia, Ex. 2D02000, pp. 11-12, 
~ara. 13. 

531 Namely, the concluding findings on the powers of Pdic and the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B in military 
matters. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 518-521, Vol. 4, paras 106-11l. 
3532 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 392 & fn. 997. 
3533 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 392 at fns 993-996. 
3534 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 393, refelTing to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 394, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of appeal 16.1-16.2; Appeal Hearing, AT. 137 (20 
Mar 2017). 
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Trial Chamber. 3535 Moreover, he contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he 

issued decisions that had a direct impact on military operations, based on evidence that does not 

support the conclusion.3536 In this regard, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised 

Exhibit P02967, which is not signed by Boban and does not relate to military issues. 3537 

1114. Pdic also contends that the Trial Chamber placed undue weight on the statements of 

representatives of the international community that he appeared to be very well-informed about the 

situation on the ground, whereas "[0 ]ther documents in support of this statement actually show" that 

he had neither knowledge nor power in military affairs. 3538 He submits that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously concluded that he played a key role in a series of ceasefire negotiations in Gornji Vakuf 

and Mostar, whereas there is no credible evidence supporting this conclusion.3539 Finally, Prlic 

contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously found, based on unsupportive evidence and 

contradicting itself, that he had the power to co-ordinate the deployment of civilian police units that 

were under the direct power of the Ministry of the Interior.3540 

1115. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to explain how the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that the Government, with his participation, discussed military matters, or how the 

Trial Chamber allegedly contradicted itself. 3541 It further argues that Petkovic did testify that Pdic 

could issue operative orders to the armed forces through the Defence Department, and that Pdic 

ignores relevant evidence.3542 The Prosecution contends that Pdic shows no elTor in the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he could issue decisions that had a direct impact on military 

operations.3543 The Prosecution further argues that Pdic fails to articulate an error when contending 

that the Trial Chamber placed undue weight on the statements of representatives of the international 

community that he appeared to be very well-informed about the situation on the ground.3544 It also 

argues that, contrary to PrliC's claim, there is credible evidence supporting the Trial Chamber's 

3535 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 395. 
3536 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 396-397. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 399, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal 
Brief, sub-ground of appeal 16.3. 
3537 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 398. 
3538 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 400. 
3539 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 401, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 184-185 (sub-ground of appeal 
6.1), 202-203 (sub-ground of appeal 6.2). Prlic argues that Witness DZ was not in a position to comment on ceasefire 
~eements, since he admitted to having no business in military matters. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 401. 
3 40 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 402, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 110; PrliC's Reply Brief, para. 
62. 
3541 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 241. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 245. 
3542 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 237. 
3543 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 243-245. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 208-209 (20 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution argues in this regard that Prlic is correct that the order with exhibit number P02967 is not signed by Boban, 
but this only supports the Trial Chamber's finding on PrliC's power by demonstrating that Boban's signature was not 
rejuired. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 244. 
35. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 242. 
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finding that he played a key role in ceasefire negotiations.3545 Finally, the Prosecution submits that 

the Trial Chamber's finding that he had the power to co-ordinate the deployment of civilian police 

units is well-supported by the evidence. 3546 

ii. Analysis 

1116. Turning first to PdiC's contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that the 

Government discussed, with his participation, the HVO's military strategy and adopted regulations 

concerning the mobilisation of military personnel, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has 

failed to demonstrate any contradiction between these findings3547 and the finding that the areas 

related to mobilisation and appointment constituted some of the stated powers wielded directly by 

Boban.3548 Specifically, Pdic has not demonstrated that either the Government or Boban had 

exclusive power in the area of mobilisation. To the contrary, he points to evidence allegedly 

showing that only Boban was authorised to proclaim mobilisation, with the Defence Department 

having the obligation to prepare and execute mobilisation. These assertions are not inconsistent 

with the challenged finding that the Government adopted regulations concerning mobilisation.3549 

The Appeals Chamber consequently dismisses PrliC's arguments in this regard. 

1117. Regarding PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber incorrectly found that Petkovic 

testified that Prlic could issue operative orders to the armed forces through the Defence Department, 

the Appeals Chamber has reviewed the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber and the evidence 

cited by Pdic. The Appeals Chamber considers that he has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have made the challenged finding.355o In this regard, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Pdic has failed to demonstrate the alleged contradictions.3551 It considers in particular 

that PetkoviC's testimony, cited in relation to the challenged finding that Pdic could issue operative 

orders to the armed forces through the Defence Department, squarely supports that finding. 3552 The 

Appeals Chamber further notes that the citations by Pdic, in support of his contention that Petkovic 

explicitly testified that Pdic could not issue operative orders to the military, are about other 

3545 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 246. 
3546 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 247. 
3547 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106. 
3548 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 704 & fn. 1651, referring to Ex. P00289, Arts 29, 34, Ex. P00588, Arts 29,34. 
3549 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.1 and 16.2, which 
it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1146-1208. 
3550 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107 & fn. 321 and references cited therein. 
3551 The alleged contradiction at PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1003, is not supported by the references to the evidence. The 
alleged contradiction at PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1004, is not inconsistent with the challenged finding. The alleged 
contradiction at PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1005, is obscure and vague.' 
3552 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107 & fn. 321, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 50009-50010 (25 Feb 2010), 
50342-50343 (3 Mar 2010). 
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matters3553 or only state that nobody ~utside the chain of command (namely Mate Boban and Stojic) 

issued orders to Petkovic or the army. 3554 His arguments are dismissed. 

1118. With regard to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he "issued decisions 

which had a direct impact on the course of the military operations",3555 the Appeals Chamber notes 

that the Trial Chamber based its finding on documents, signed by Prlic, relating to military 

matters.3556 While the impugned finding does not refer to any evidence concerning the direct impact 

of these documents on the course of the military operations of the HVO, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that a trial judgement must be read as a whole.3557 Since the Trial Chamber made findings 

elsewhere in the Trial Judgement regarding the direct impact of these decisions,3558 and Prlic does 

not demonstrate any error in those findings,3559 the Appeals Chamber concludes that Prlic has failed 

to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding. 

1119. PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber placed undue weight on the statements of 

representatives of the international community that he appeared to be very well-informed of the 

situation on the ground,356o does not adequately address the broad range of evidence on which the 

Trial Chamber relied,3561 offering only an unsupported claim about one allegedly contradictory 

piece of evidence.3562 Thus, the contention is dismissed as a mere assertion that the Trial Chamber 

must have failed to consider relevant evidence, without showing that no reasonable trier of fact, 

based on the evidence, could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber. 

1120. With regard to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he 

played a key role in a series of ceasefire negotiations in Gomji Vakuf and Mostar, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's findings in this regard are based on clearly 

supportive evidence. For instance, the Trial Chamber relied on Ray Lane who testified to a meeting 

3553 This includes, for example, PetkoviC's description of his first time encounter with Prlic in July 1992 and the need 
for a decision made at the political level expressed at an HVO-ABiH meeting to remodel the command structure to 
improve efficiency. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 395 & fn. 1003, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49762-
49764 (22 Feb 2010), 50775-50777 (10 Mar 2010). 
3554 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 395 & fn. 1003, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 50361-50362 (3 Mar 2010). 
3555 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107. 
3556 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107 & fns 322-324, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01184, P02967, P03038, p. 1, 
1D01588. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's claim that Exhibit P02967 does not relate to military issues, 
considering that the exhibit contains an explicit order to military authorities. Further, the Appeals Chamber considers 
that even on the assumption that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Exhibit P02967 was co-signed by Boban, Prlic 
fails to demonstrate that this would lead to any miscarriage of justice. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107 & fn. 323. 
3557 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 306, 321 and references cited therein. 
3558 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 884-885 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03038, p. 1), Vol. 4, paras 126-127 
(referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01184), 151-154 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03038), 265-267 (referring to, inter alia, 
Exs. P01184, P03038). See infra, paras 1149-1152, 1159-1160,1165,1171. 
3559 See, e.g., infra, para. 1160 & fn. 3679 (referring to Ex. P01184), para. 1218 & fns 3820-3821 (referring to, 
inter alia, Ex. P03038). 
3560 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 108. 
3561 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 325. 
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attended, inter alios, by Pdic that aimed at terminating the hostility in Gornji Vakuf, and on 

Exhibit 1D0218, a report on a meeting to find an interim arrangement for Mostar which, inter alios, 

Pdic attended.3563 Pdic bases his challenge to the credibility of this evidence on cross-references to 

his ground of appeal 6, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.3564 As such, he fails to 

demonstrate that the evidence lacks credibility. Further, he makes factual assertions that are not 

inconsistent with the impugned c6nc1usions.3565 Thus, he has failed to show that no reasonable trier 

of fact could have made those findings. His submission is dismissed. 

1121. Turning finally to PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he had the power to 

co-ordinate the deployment of civilian police units that were under the direct authority of the 

Ministry of the Interior,3566 the Appeals Chamber considers that this finding was based on evidence 

on the basis of which a reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding3567 and that 

Pdic has failed to poi~t to evidence to the contrary.3568 The Trial Chamber relied, namely, on a 

letter from the Ministry of the Interior to, ·inter alios, Pdic, referring to a prior agreement on the 

governmental level as reflected in a statement by Pdic, that the civilian police be withdrawn from 

the front line, and the decision dated 20 October 1993 of the government of the HR H-B, signed by 

Prlic, on the same issue.3569 Pdic has also failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber contradicted 

itself when it found that he had the power to co-ordinate the deployment of these civilian police, 

and that his direct authority over HZ(R) H-B civilian police was not proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt, as these two findings are not mutually exc1usive.357o PdiC's challenge is therefore dismissed. 

3562 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 400 & fns 1015-1016. 
3563 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 109, referring to, e.g., Raymond Lane, T(F). 23687-23688 (15 Oct 2007), Ex. 
lD02189 (confidential), p. 1. 
3564 See supra, paras 212-218. Further, the Appeals Chamber fails to see why Witness DZ~s statement that "the military 
conflict was not part of my business" (Witness DZ, T. 26494 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008)) would prevent him from 
providing credible evidence about PrliC's involvement in the ceasefire negotiations. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
109 & fn. 327. 
3565 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 401 at fns 1018 ("Petkovic and Pasalic signed the Order to stop the fighting in Gornji 
Vakuf after Petkovic received Boban's order."), 1019 ("P0l215 confirms that Petkovic and Pasalic agreed that a joint 
order by the ABiH and HVO high commands be sent to the local commanders in Gornji Vakuf to ease tensions."), 1022 
("Boban was directly involved in ceasefire negotiations in relation to Mostar through his proposal for an interim 
agreement, although the Muslims did not accept it because they wanted Prlic to be the leader of both sides."). None of 
these assertions are inconsistent with the impugned Trial Chamber conclusions that Prlic played a key role in a series of 
ceasefire negotiations in Gornji Vakuf in January 1993 and in Mostar in December 1993 and around January 1994. 
Trial Chamber, Vol. 4, para. 109. 
3566 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 110. 
3567 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 110, referring to Exs. P05963, P06837. 
3568 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 402 & fn. 1025 and references cited therein. 
3569 Exs. P05963, P06837. 
3570 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 655. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber expressly recalled this 
finding in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 110. 
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c. Conclusion 

1122. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Prlic has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had power in military matters and 

that the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B had the power and responsibility to control the HVO. 

As a result, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 12.1. 

(iii) Pdic's knowledge of combat activities (PdiC's Sub-ground 12.2) 

1123. The Trial Chamber found that reports on the HVO's combat activities were compiled by the 

Main Staff and routinely sent to the President of the HZ H-B, the Government, and the Head of the 

Department of Defence.3571 

1124. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that reports on combat activities of 

the HVO were routinely sent to the Government,3572 arguing that the cited documents are not 

reports on combat activities3573 and that the Trial Chamber ignored relevant evidence.3574 

1125. The Prosecution responds that Pdic ignores other findings demonstrating that he and his 

Government were well-infOlmed of the military situation and, in any event, fails to show how the 

impugned finding, even if erroneous, could have impacted the verdict. 3575 

1126. The Appeals Chamber notes that the impugned finding was based, in part, on reports that 

included information on HVO combat activities,3576 and therefore dismisses PdiC's argument to the 

contrary. Regarding the allegedly ignored evidence, the Appeals Chamber considers that PdiC's 

factual assertions are not inconsistent with the impugned finding, as they do not deal with whether 

information on HVOcombat activities was sent to the Government,3577 and therefore dismisses his 

argument in this regard. In any event, Prlic ignores other factual findings which further support the 

impugned finding.3578 For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to 

establish that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the Trial Chamber's conclusion.3579 

PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 12.2 is dismissed. 

3571 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 767. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 766, 768. 
3572 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 403; Appeal Hearing, AT. 138 (20 Mar 2017). 
3573 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 403, 405. 
3574 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 404, 406. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 407, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
sub-ground of appeal 11.3. ' 
3575 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 248. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 232. 
3576 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 767 & fn. 1786, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P07302, pp. 2-4, 4D00830, pp. 1-2. 
3577 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 404, 406. . 
3578 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 767-768. 
3579 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 11.3, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1048-1058. 
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(iv) Conclusion 

1127. Having dismissed PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 12.1 and 12.2, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that he has failed to demonstrate any error regarding his JCE convictions under his ground of 

appeal 12, which is consequently dismissed in its entirety. 

(c) Alleged errors regarding PrliC's powers pertaining to humanitarian aid (PdiC's Ground 14) 

1128. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic held the power to negotiate and authorise the delivery of 

humanitarian aid in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B and in BiH.358o This finding was based on, 

inter alia, the finding that in June to August 1993, Prlic participated in many meetings with 

representatives of international organisations negotiating free access for humanitarian convoys to 

the HZ(R) H_B.3581 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1129. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in concluding that he, as President 

of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, had the power to negotiate and authorise the delivery 

of humanitarian aid in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B and BiH.3582 Pdic argues that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously relied on: (1) Exhibit ID00898, which does not grant authorisation to 

negotiate and authorise delivery of humanitarian aid;3583 (2) Witness Klaus Johann Nissen's 

speculative testimony;3584 and (3) the testimony of Witness BA who was not responsible for 

convoys and lacked credibility.3585 

1130. Pdic further contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that from June to 

August 1993 he participated in many meetings between representatives of international 

organisations and the HVO negotiating free access for humanitarian convoys, as none of the 

3580 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 118. 
3581 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 117. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 115-116, 118. 
3582 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 428, 437; Appeal Hearing, AT. 145 (20 Mar 2017). Specifically, Pdic alleges that by 
attaching undue weight to certain evidence, and ignoring other evidence, the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned 
opinion and applied an incorrect standard in the assessment of evidence, amounting to an error of law. PdiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 437. 
3583 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 435, referring to Ex. 1D00898 (a decision appointing Pdic member of the RBiH 
Government Staff for the Collection of Items to Help the RBiH Population Survive). See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
436, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 16.4.7. 
3584 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 428. 
3585 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 429, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 182-183 (sub-ground of appeal 
6.2). See PdiC's Reply Brief, paras 66-67. Pdic further argues that the Trial Chamber inferred from a bar table 
document the conclusion, which was speculative and not the only plausible one, that since the UNHCR reported an 
incident to Pdic in February 1993 and Coric responded to that report, Pdic must have entrusted Coric with the matter. 
PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 430, referring to, inter alia, Pdic's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
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evidence it relied on refers to "negotiations of free access of humanitarian aid" with him.3586 

Finally, Pdic claims that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence relevant to the agreement made on 

10 July 1993 between the ABiH and the HVO on the free passage of humanitarian convoys, 

("Makarska Agreement"),3587 as well as evidence that other persons had the power to approve the 

passage of humanitarian aid, whereas there is no evidence that he had any such power. 3588 As a 

result, Pdic argues that he should be acquitted of Count 25.3589 

1131. The Prosecution responds that Pdic misrepresents the factual findings and the evidence, 

fails to substantiate his claims that the Trial Chamber impropedy assessed or ignored evidence, and 

fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trial chamber could have made the challenged findings. 359o 

(ii) Analysis 

1132. Turning first to PdiC's challenge based on Exhibit ID00898, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that the Trial Chamber relied on this exhibit to find that "on 17 November 1992, Mile Akmadzic, 

President of the Government of the RBiH, appointed Jadranko Pdic as the representative of the BiH 

Government, in particular, for co-operation with the logistics centres of the Republic of Croatia in 

the distribution of humanitarian aid to the inhabitants of BiH",3591 a finding supported by that 

exhibit and relevant to the impugned finding.3592 The Appeals Chamber further observes that in the 

part of Nissen's testimony on which the Trial Chamber relied, he appears to infer PdiC's authority 

regarding humanitarian convoys from PdiC's position.3593 The Appeals Chamber considers that 

Pdic has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this evidence, in 

combination with other evidence, to reach the impugned finding.3594 Further, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that Witness BA lacked credibility or, considering 

3586 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 431. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 432, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of 
aPs~eal16.4. 
3 8 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 433. 
3588 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 434. 
3589 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 438. See also PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 65. 
3590 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 261-268. 
3591 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 115, referring to Ex. 1D00898. 
3592 The Appeals Chamber observes that the cited exhibit refers to Prlic being a representative of, and supporting the 
distribution of humanitarian aid to the inhabitants of, the "REiH" rather than "BiH", but considers this difference to be 
immaterial in the context of the Trial Chamber's assessment of PrliC's powers pertaining to humanitarian aid. The 
Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 16.4.7, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1262-1285. 
3593 Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20467-20468 (25 June 2007) ("Q. We see in -- in this document on the third page there's a 
list of people who attended - there's a list of people who attended the meeting. It says: 'For the Croatian Defence 
Council, Dr. Jadranko Prli[c].' Are you in a position to comment on his authority regarding matters such as these, 
humanitarian convoys, to conclude such an agreement? A. I think he was authorised to conclude such an agreement, 
because he was the head, as I might call him, of the HVO, and it concerned the HVO as a whole, politically and 
militarily, to agree to such convoys to the north, to middle Bosnia"). 
3594 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 115-118. The Appeals Chamber also notes that PdiC's assertions regarding 
Nissen's whereabouts, knowledge, and testimony are not supported by his references to the trial record. See PrliC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 428 at fns 1108-1110. . 
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his/her background, that no reasonable ttier of fact could have relied on his/her evidence because 

the witness was not responsible for convoys.3595 These arguments are dismissed. 

1133. Turning to PdiC's challenge to the Ttial Chamber's finding that from June to August 1993 

he participated in many meetings with representatives of international organisations negotiating free 

access for humanitatian convoys, the Appeals Chamber observes that in making this finding the 

Ttial Chamber recalled a seties of factual findings pertaining to PdiC's participation in 

contemporaneous meetings concerning freedom of access for humanitatian convoys?596 Regarding 

PdiC's argument that none of the evidence the Ttial Chamber relied on refers to "negotiations of 

free access of humanitatian aid" with him, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Ttial Chamber 

relied on evidence of several meetings dealing with access of humanitatian convoys in which Pdic 

participated,3597 and that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable ttier of fact could have 

relied on that evidence to make the impugned finding.3598 As to PrliC's argument that the 

Ttial Chamber ignored evidence relevant to the Makarska Agreement, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that he has failed to explain why his assertions in this regard are inconsistent with the 

challenged finding. 3599 Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic is wrong when he states 

that there is no evidence that he had any power to approve the passage of humanitatian aid.36oo As 

such, his assertion that other persons had that power is not inconsistent with the impugned finding. 

These arguments are dismissed. 

1134. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's ground of appeal 14. 

3595 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 116 & fn. 344 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber notes in this 
regard that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 6.2, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. 
See supra, paras 212-218. With regard to the alleged error in interpreting a bar table document, the Appeals Chamber 
considers that Prlic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trial chamber could have drawn the inference that Prlic must 
have entrusted Coric with the matter, in light of Witness BA's evidence on PrliC's role with regard to the passage of 
humanitarian convoys. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 116 & fn. 344. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic 
refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-
183. 
3596 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 117, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1230, 1238-1239. 
3597 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1230 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09712 (confidential), para. 64), 1238 (referring to, 
inter alia, Witness BC, T(F). 18360-18365 (closed session) (14 May 2007), Ex. P09999 (confidential)),. 1239 (referring 
to, inter alia, Exs. P10367 (confidential), para. 79, P04027 (confidential), pp. 1-2). For context, see Exs. P09712 
(confidential), paras 62-63, 65, P10367 (confidential), paras 80-81. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 117, 
referring to, inter alia, Ex. P10264. ' 
3598 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic makes factual assertions that are not inconsistent with the challenged finding. 
See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 431 at fns 1117-1118. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his 
submissions in sub-ground of appeal 16.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1222-1285. 
3599 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 433. Cf PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 428, 431; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 117. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic does not challenge in his ground of appeal 14 any findings on his mens rea. 
3600 See supra, para. 1132. 
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(d) Alleged errors regarding PdiC's role in the relations between HZ(R) H-B and Croatia 

(i) PdiC's ties with leaders of Croatia (PdiC's Ground 15) 

1135. The Trial Chamber found that between September 1992 and the end of April 1994, Pdic 

attended five meetings in Croatia with Franjo Tudman, President of Croatia, and other Croatian 

leaders?601 The Trial Chamber also found that Pdic worked on economic co-operation between the 

HZ(R) H-B and Croatia and co-operated with the Croatian ODPR in organising the departure of 

Muslims "wishing to leave" the HZ H-B for Croatia or third countries.3602 

1136. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact by finding that he, as President of 

the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, played a key role in the relations of the 

HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B with the Government of Croatia.3603 Pdic first challenges the 

finding that from September 1992 to April 1994 he attended five meetings in Croatia with Tudman 

and other Croatian leaders, arguing that the evidence shows that after the first meeting on 

17 September 1992 he did not meet with Tudman again until 5 November 1993.3604 Second, Prlic 

submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he worked on economic co-operation 

between HZ(R) H-B and Croatia, when in fact no economic issue or co-operation was discussed.3605 

Finally, Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that he co-operated with the 

Croatian ODPR in organising the departure of Muslims, relying on one document from Witness BA 

and one bar table document.3606 As a result, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber's findings on his 

ICE membership and significant contribution to the ICE are erroneous and that he should be 

acquitted on Counts 1_25.3607 

1137. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings are reasonable and that Pdic 

fails to show otherwise, instead making unsubstantiated or irrelevant assertions and offering 

alternative explanations of the evidence.3608 In addition, the Prosecution argues that Prlic fails to 

3601 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 119. 
3602 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 120. 
3603 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 439, 447. Specifically, Pdic alleges that by attaching undue weight to certain evidence, 
and ignoring other evidence, the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion and applied an incorrect standard 
in the assessment of evidence, amounting to an error of law. PrfiC's Appeal Brief, para. 447. 
3604 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 439. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 440, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of 
appeal 18. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 441. Pdic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the 
Mladic Diaries. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 442. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 443, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
ground of appealS. 
3605 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 444; PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 68. 
3606 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 445. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 446, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of 
aPo~eal16.6.3-16.6.4. 
30 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 439, 448. 
3608 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 269-273, 275; Appeal Hearing, AT. 196-200, 203-205 (20 Mar 2017). 
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show how his arguments, even if accepted, would warrant reversing his convictions on 

Counts 1_25.3609 

1138. The Appeals Chamber observes that PrliC's argument that, after the first meeting on 

17 September 1992, he did not meet Tudman again until 5 November 1993 is not inconsistent with 

the impugned finding that they met five times between September 1992 and the end of April 1994. 

Further, the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied supports the fact that Prlic met with 

Tudman five times within this time period.3610 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses this 

argument. The Appeals Chamber further considers that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded that he worked on economic co-operation between HZ(R) H-B 

and Croatia, as the two exhibits on which the Trial Chamber relied support its finding.3611 His 

submission in this regard is therefore dismissed. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber's finding that Prlic co-operated with the Croatian ODPR in organising the departure 

of Muslims is supported by the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied3612 and dismisses 

P 1· " b" d' 1 3613 r IC s su mIssIOn accor mg y. 

1139. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's ground of appeal 15. 

(ii) PrliC's knowledge of an international armed conflict involving Croatia 

(PdiC's Sub-ground 16.16) 

1140. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic knew that an international armed conflict between the 

HVO/HV and the ABiH was taking place while he held the posts of "HVO President" and President 

of the Government of the HR H-B, as he: (1) was informed of the HVO military operations against 

the ABiH; and (2) knew about the participation of Croatia in this conflict, and facilitated it.3614 

3609 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 270, 274. 
3610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 119 & fn. 348, referring to Exs. P00498, P06454, P06581, P07570, P07856. The 
Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 18, which it dismisses elsewhere in 
the Judgement. See infra, paras 1391-1399. In addition, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as irrelevant the factual 
submissions made in Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 441. With regard to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in 
relying on the Mladic Diaries, the Appeals Chamber notes that it is entirely based on a cross-reference to his ground of 
aRrea15, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 107-138. 
3 1 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 120 & fn. 353, referring to Exs. P00498, p. 30 (referring to discussions on 
customs), P06454, pp. 37-39. The Appeals Chambers observes that the latter reference does not directly concern 
economic co-operation with Croatia. As pointed out by the Prosecution, other parts of Exhibit P06454 provide support 
for the relevant factual finding. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), fn. 935, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06454, 
pp. 31, 34. Noting that the Trial Chamber relied on these pages elsewhere in the relevant section of the Trial Judgement, 
the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic does not demonstrate a factual error resulting in a miscarriage of justice. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 119 & fn. 349, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06454, pp. 30-39 (referring to, inter alia: (1) co­
ogeration between the respective ministries of finance; and (2) potential Croatian investments). 
3 12 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 120 & fn. 355, refelring to Exs. P07019, P09679 (confidential), p. 1. 
3613 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.6.3 and 16.6.4, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1300, 1304-1306, 1308-1309, 1315, 1317. 
3614 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 277. 
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1141. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he facilitated Croatia's 

participation in the armed conflict and knew that it was international in character. 3615 Pdic argues in 

this regard that: (1) there was no international armed conflict; and (2) Witness Ray Lane's evidence 

that he was informed of the HVO military operations against the ABiH is unsubstantiated. 3616 

1142. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Prlic was aware of 

the international character of the armed conflict and his submissions should be summarily 

dismissed.3617 

1143. The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic provides no support for his argument that there was 

no international armed conflict; rather, he refers to the Trial Chamber's finding that there, was an 

international conflict.3618 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses this argument as a mere 

assertion unsupported by any evidence. With regard to PdiC's challenge to Lane's evidence, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber based the impugned finding only in part on the 

evidence of Lane. Pdic ignores the remaining evidentiary basis of the finding3619 without explaining 

why the conviction should not stand on the basis of the remaining evidence.362o The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses this argument. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.16. 

3. Alleged errors in relation to PdiC's significant contribution to the CCP and his intent 

1144. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic, by his acts or failures to act in exercising his functions, 

was a principal member of the JCE, significantly contributed to it, and intended to implement the 

CCP, an intention he shared with the other JCE members. 3621 

1145. In the present section, the Appeals Chamber will address PdiC's challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding his: (1) contribution to the JCE in the municipalities of Gornji 

Vakuf, Prozor, Jablanica, Mostar, and Vares; (2) involvement in the arrest and detention of 

Muslims, the movement of population, and the concealment of crimes; and (3) mens rea and 

actus reus of commission through a JCE. 

3615 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, paras 624-625. 
3616 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 624. See PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 626, referring to PrIiC's Appeal Brief, paras 202-203 
(sub-ground of appea16.2), ground of appeal 15, para. 649 (ground of appeal 18). 
3617 Prosecution's Response Brief (PrIic), para. 398. 
3618 See PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 624 & fn. 1598, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 277. 
3619 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 277, referring to Ray Lane, T(F). 23681-23684, 23687-23688, 23691, 23697 (15 
Oct 2007), Exs. P01215, P03038, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 119-120. 
3620 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in (sub-)grounds of appeal 6.2, 15, and 18, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 212-218, 1135-1139; infra, paras 1391-1399. 
3621 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 122-276. 
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(a) Gomji VakufMunicipality (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.1) 

(i) The 15 January 1993 Ultimatum (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.1.1) 

1146. The Trial Chamber found that on 15 January 1993, Pdic signed a decision, adopted at an 

HVO session that same day, whereby all ABiH units stationed in the so-called Croatian provinces 3, 

8, and 10 were to submit themselves to the command of the HVO Main Staff within five days 

("15 January 1993 Ultimatum,,).3622 It further found that by drafting, inter alia, this ultimatum, Pdic 

significantly contributed to the implementation of the JCE in Gomji Vakuf Municipality.3623 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1147. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in making these findings by mischaracterising 

evidence and disregarding relevant evidence.3624 He asserts in particular that: (1) the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum and "orders by Stojic and Petkovic" did not represent an "ultimatum" 

to the ABiH;3625 (2) the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that Alija Izetbegovic signed the 

constitutional principles of the Vance-Owen Plan, and that its Annex VII provided for a withdrawal 

of all formations into provinces where the ethnic group of their affiliation represented the majority 

until complete demilitarisation was reached;3626 (3) the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum implemented 

the agreement reached in Zagreb on the same day;3627 and (4) after Izetbegovic reneged on this 

agreement, Mate Boban accordingly issued an order to withdraw the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, 

with which the HVO HZ H-B complied.3628 Finally, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in 

3622 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125,127. 
3623 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 271. 
3624 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 451. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 139-142, 162 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic also argues that the 
Trial Chamber erred in relying on Witness William Tomljanovich. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 451, referring to PrliC's 
~ound of appeal 4.2. See also Prlic's Appeal Brief, paras 449-450, 627-629. 

625 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 452; Appeal Hearing, AT. 139-142, 160-162 169-170, 243 (20 Mar 2017). See PrliC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 451. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 244 (20 Mar 2017). In this regard, Prlic further argues, inter 
alia, that: (1) the decision and orders called for reciprocity in re-subordination, the establishment of an ABiH-HVO 
joint command, and HVO commanders to initiate talks with ABiH commanders on the best way of setting up joint 
commands; (2) the decision and orders prescribed no measures for lack of compliance (referring to Witness Christopher 
Beese's evidence); (3) weapons flowed freely from the HZ H-B to the ABiH at that time, including the area of Gornji 
Vakuf; and (4) the HVO HZ H-B resolved to provide help to HVO units in Provinces 1, 5, and 9 according to the 
Vance-Owen Peace Plan which were to be subordinated to the ABiH. Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 452; Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 139-140 (20 Mar 2017). 
3626 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 455; Appeal Hearihg, AT. 159-160, 243 (20 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Brief, 
para. 454. In this regard, Prlic further contends that the ICFY's co-chairmen concurred that it was up to the ABiH and 
HVO to make arrangements concerning this withdrawal. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 455. 
3627 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 456-459; Appeal Hearing, AT. 160-162,170,243 (20 Mar 2017). See Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 140 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic submits that this agreement had to be implemented swiftly due to the tensions erupting in 
Gornji Vakuf. Appeal Hearing, AT. 160-162, 169-170,241-244 (20 Mar 2017). In particular, Prlic contends that the 
Trial Chamber disregarded its own finding that on 18 January 1993, Mate Boban and Mile Akmadzic sent a letter to 
Alija Izetbegovic explaining that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was "in accordance with the Geneva Conference". 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 457; Appeal Hearing, AT. 140 (20 Mar 2017). See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 456. 
3628 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 459; Appeal Hearing, AT. 141, 160-161,243 (20 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 133-134 (20 Mar 2017). 
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finding that HVO Colonel Miro Andric issued two orders for subordination, on 

14 and 16 January 1993 considering: (1) that an order issued on 14 January 1993 could not have 

been based on the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; and (2) the lack of cOlToborating evidence that there 

was any other "decision" or "subordination order". 3629 

1148. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings on the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum are reasonable.363o It contends further that in claiming that there was no ultimatum, Prlic 

makes irrelevant and erroneous assertions.3631 The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber 

considered evidence "that Izetbegovic signed the constitutional principles" since it found that the 

Muslims accepted those principles.3632 It contends that Prlic mischaracterises the evidence and the 

Trial Judgement by suggesting that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was in accordance with the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan.3633 The Prosecution further submits that PrliC's claim of a Zagreb 

agreement relies almost entirely on the self-serving claims of Praljak,.who even conceded that 

Izetbegovic never signed the document containing the alleged agreement. 3634 The Prosecution 

contends that: (1) PrliC's claim that Boban "withdrew" the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum is not 

supported by the evidence cited;3635 and (2) he erroneously claims that the Trial Chamber found that 

two "subordination orders" existed.3636 

b. Analysis 

1149. The Appeals Chamber turns first to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised the evidence and disregarded relevant evidence.3637 With regard to Prlic's 

argument that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum and orders by Stojic and Petkovic did not represent 

an "ultimatum" to the ABiH, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could 

have reached the conclusion ofthe Trial Chamber,3638 based on, notably, the findings, supported by 

ample evidence, that: (1) the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum contained an order to all ABiH units in 

3629 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 453, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125. 
3630 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 280-282; Appeal Hearing, AT. 181, 192, 208-210 (20 Mar 2017). 
See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 276-279. 
3631 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 281. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 181 (20 Mar 2017). 
3632 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 282. 
3633 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 282; Appeal Hearing, AT. 182 (20 Mar 2017). 
3634 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 283. It asserts that Prlic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber acted 
unreasonably when it declined to credit Slobodan Praljak's testimony, which is contradicted by contemporaneous 
records. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 283. 
3635 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 284. The Prosecution further contends that Prlic fails to explain how the 
Trial Chamber disregarded its finding on the 18 January 1993 letter. Prosycution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 283. 
3636 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 285. 
3637 With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Tomljanovich, the Appeals Chamber 
notes that it is entirely based on a cross-reference to his sub-ground of appeal 4.2, which it dismisses elsewhere in the 
Judgement. See supra, paras 204-211. 
3638 See, in particular, Exs. P01139, nos 4, 8, P01140, nos 2-3, 7, P011461P01155, nos 1, 4-5. The Appeals Chamber 
understands Prlic to refer for the finding of an "ultimatum" to the challenged findings in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 
127,271, which in turn are based on challenged findings in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125, and underlying findings. 
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the so-called Croatian provinces under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan to subordinate themselves to 

the HVO within five days;3639 (2) StojiC's order down the chain of command of the same day, 

implementing the decision, prescribed measures in case of failure to comply;3640 and (3) StojiC's 

order was restated in substance in the order of the same day sent down the chain of command by 

Petkovic.3641 

1150. The evidence that Prlic refers to in support of his argument that the decision and orders at 

issue do not represent an ultimatum3642 does not show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

reached the findings of the Trial Chamber. 3643 PdiC's submissions in this regard amount to a mere 

disagreement with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence. In particular, contrary to his 

assertions,3644 the evidence he refers to supports the Trial Chamber's findings that the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum as implemented by the orders down the HVO chain of command 

foresaw measures for lack of compliance.3645 This argument is dismissed. 

1151. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly found that the Muslims 

accepted the constitutional principles of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan3646 and therefore dismisses 

PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence to this effect. Insofar as Pdic calls into 

question the findings on the character of the decision and the orders as an ultimatum by referring to 

Annex VII of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan providing for a withdrawal of all units into their ethnic 

majority provinces until complete demilitarisation, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has 

failed to demonstrate that an agreement concerning withdrawal had been reached.3647 Similarly, 

3639 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 452. 
3640 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 453. 
3641 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 454. 
3642 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 452 & fn. 1145. 
3643 Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that the referenced evidence does not provide support for PrliC's assertions that 
the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum and the two orders down the chain of command did not contain an ultimatum since (as 
Prlic appears to assert by way of referencing evidence to this effect) an agreement on a joint command was allegedly 
reached in Zagreb. See infra, fn. 3648. Other evidence that Prlic refers to supports the Trial Chamber's findings of an 
ultimatum (see, e.g., Exs. POI139 nos 4, 8, P01140, nos 2-3, 7, P01146JP01155, nos 1, 4-5) or is irrelevant (see, e.g., 
Exs. P01032, p. 16 (referring to an HVO order in relation to Travnik, Mostar, and Posavina only), P03642, pp. 1-2). 
The Appeals Chamber notes in particular that PrliC's assertions regarding reciprocal subordination and an ABiH-HVO 
joint command are not inconsistent with the finding of the 15 January 1993 decision's and the orders' nature as an 
ultimatum. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
3644 Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 452 & fn. 1148. 
3645 Exs. P01139, nos 4, 8, P01140, nos 2-3, 7, P01146JP01155, nos 4-6. Beese's lack of knowledge of such measures is 
of no assistance to PrliC's argument. Christopher Beese, T. 5205-5206 (21 Aug 2006). Further, the Appeals Chamber 
considers that PrliC's assertions on the free flow of weapons into Gornji Vakuf and the resolve of the HVO HZ H-B to 
assist HVO units in Provinces 1,5, and 9 are irrelevant to his challenge to the characterisation as an "ultimatum" of the 
15 January 1993 decision and the two orders. 
3646 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 451. 
3647 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 455. Prlic makes submissions and refers to evidence suggesting that agreement on 
this matter had yet to be reached. See supra, fn. 3626. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 451. 
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Prlic has failed to demonstrate the exisFence of a "Zagreb agreement". 3648 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses these arguments. 3649 

1152. As for PrliC's argument that Izetbegovic reneged on the alleged Zagreb agreement, and that 

as a result, Boban issued an order to withdraw the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, which was complied 

with, the Appeals Chamber has examined the evidence that Prlic cites in support of this 

argument. 3650 At the outset, the Appeals Chamber observes that since Prlic has failed to demonstrate 

the existence of a "Zagreb agreement",3651 it follows that he fails to show that Izetbegovic reneged 

on it. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber further observes that Exhibit POU58 does not confinn 

that he reneged on the alleged agreement - rather, Gojko Susak, speaking to Izetbegovic, refers to a 

"gentleman's agreement that you would work on this,,3652 and the exhibit contains no answer from 

Izetbegovic confirming that he was distancing himself from any such agreement. With regard to 

Praljak's testimony on the matter,3653 the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found 

parts of Praljak's testimony "hardly credible".3654 Finally, concerning the alleged withdrawal of the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum, the Appeals Chamber notes that the evidence on which Prlic relies 

concerns a change of the deadline of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, not its withdrawa1. 3655 For 

these reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's argument. 

1153. With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that two orders for 

subordination by Andric existed, dated 14 and 16 January 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that he 

essentially only advances arguments militating against the existence of and concerning the finding 

on the earlier order. 3656 The Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's findings that: 

3648 The Appeals Chamber has examined the evidence Pdic cites in support and finds it unclear and unconvincing in this 
regard. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 456-459 and references cited therein. In addition, with regard to Praljak's 
testimony, the Appeals Chamber recalls 'that the Trial Chamber found parts of it "hardly credible". Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 1, para. 399. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that the 
Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the evidence relating to the alleged "Zagreb agreement". 
3649 The Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic fails to show that the Trial Chamber disregarded its own finding that in 
the letter addressed to Alija Izetbegovic on 18 January 1993, Mate Boban and Mile Akmadzic recalled that the 15 
January 1993 Ultimatum was "in accordance with the 'Geneva Conference''', since the finding on the content of the 
letter is not a finding on the truth of the matter asserted therein and that, in any event, this does not show that an 
afoeement was reached as asserted by Pdic. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 458. 
350 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 459, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 40572-40576 (21 May 2009).40617-40622 
(25 May 2009), 41959-41962, 41975-41976 (24 June 2009), Exs. P01158, P01240, pp. 5-19, P01267, lD00820, 
lD00821; Appeal Hearing, AT. 141 (20 Mar 2017), referring to Exs. P01267, P02046/lD01655, lD00820, lD00821. 
3651 See supra, para. 1151. 
3652 Ex. P01158, p. 51 (emphasis added). 
3653 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1177 and references cited therein. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1178 and 
references cited therein. 
3654 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
3655 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fns 1179-1180, referring to Exs. lD00820, lD00821, P01267. Cf Ex. P011461P01155, 
no 5. 
3656 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 453, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125. Pdic's reference to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 330 appears to be mistaken. 
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On 16 January 1993, implementing an HVO decision adopted the same day, Miro Andric, a 
colonel in the HVO Main Staff, passed on the general order on subordination issued by 
Milivoj Petkovic on 15 January 1993 to the representatives of the ABiH in Gornji Vakuf and again 
demanded that all the ABiH forces subordinate themselves to the HVO forces. The Chamber 
recalls that, according to Fahrudin Agic, on 14 January 1993 Miro Andric had demanded the 
subordination of all the ABiH forces to the HVO forces in the Municipality of Gornji Vakuf. 
Fahrudin Agic also stated that Miro Andric issued the order on the basis of documents signed by 
Jadranko Pdic. On 16 and 17 January 1993, the ABiH rejected Miro Andric's orders to 
subordinate.3657 

The Appeals Chamber observes, first, that the Trial Chamber did not claim that the order issued on 

14 January 1993 was based on the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum.3658 Further, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the Trial Chamber based its finding that Andric issued a subordination order on 

14 January 1993 . on the testimony of Witness Fahrudin Agic3659 and that there is no general 

requirement that the testimony of a witness be corroborated if deemed otherwise credible.366o Even 

assuming that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that Andric issued two separate 

subordination orders, the Appeals Chamber sees no indication that the Trial Chamber relied 

specifically on the existence of two such orders to make any adverse findings against PrliC.3661 

Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that any such error would not have resulted in a 

miscarriage of justice. The Appeals Chamber consequently dismisses this argument. Sub-ground of 

appeal 16.1.1 is dismissed. 

(ii) Mili tary operations following the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum 

(PrliC's Sub-ground 16.1.2) 

1154. The Trial Chamber found that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was followed by systematic 

and widespread military operations undertaken through the chain of command of the HVO, 

including in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993, which involved the commission of many crimes against 

the Muslim population as part of a single preconceived plan.3662 The Trial Chamber further found, 

as one of many findings on which it based the aforementioned conclusion, that on 18 January 1993, 
, 

Colonel Miro Andric ordered HVO troops in Gomji Vakuf to use force to compel the ABiH to 

implement the ceasefire agreement of 13 January 1993 and to capture the village of Uzricje in order 

to open a route to Gomji Vakuf, in accordance with an order sent by his "superiors".3663 Another 

such underlying finding was that Prlic sent a letter on 18 January 1993 to the Gomji Vakuf 

municipal HVO and its Croatian population, assuring them of the support of his government which 

3657 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125 (internal references omitted). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fns 362, 364. 
3658 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125 & fn. 364. 
3659 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 125 & fn. 363, referring to, inter alia, Fahrudin Agic, T(F). 9285-9288 
(31 Oct 2006). 
3660 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. See also Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 362. 
3661 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125-135. 
3662 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 271. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 460. 
3663 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 126. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 127. 
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would not leave them "at the mercy of the Muslim extremists", promising assistance by the HVO as 

necessary.3664 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1155. Prlie submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum 

was followed by military operations in Gomji Vakuf by contradicting its own findings and by 

mischaracterising and ignoring evidence.3665 In particular, PrliC submits that the Trial Chamber: 

(1) ignored testimony by Witness Milan Gorjanc that PetkoviC's orders (Exhibits POI135 and 

P01139) did not represent orders to attack the ABiH, and that the latter order on the contrary 

obliged operative zone commanders to initiate talks with ABiH commanders in order to establish 

joint commands;3666 (2) mischaracterised AndriC's report of 27 January 1993, arguing that AndriC's 

actions were unrelated to the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum;3667 and (3) mischaracterised the HVO HZ 

H-B letter dated 18 January 1993 addressed to Gomji Vakuf and erroneously referred to it as 

"PrliC's letter". 3668 

1156. The Prosecution responds that Prlie fails to show that no reasonable trial chamber could 

have found that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum resulted in HVO attacks on Gornji Vakuf involving 

crimes against the Muslim population fonning part of the CCP.3669 In particular, it 'submits that 

Prlie fails to show any error in his attempts to "recharacterise" PetkoviC's order as unrelated to the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum.367o It further contends that the Trial Chamber reasonably interpreted 

AndriC's report and that the evidence Prlie cites does not support that the Gomji Vakuf attacks were 

unrelated to the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum.3671 The Prosecution further submits that Prlie fails to 

explain how the Trial Chamber mischaracterised his 18 January 1993 letter.3672 

3664 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 126. 
3665 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 460. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 461-463. 
3666 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 461; Appeal Hearing, AT. 141 (20 Mar 2017). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 149-150 
(20 Mar 2017). 
3667 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 462; PrliC's Reply Brief, para. 69; Appeal Hearing, AT. 140-141 (20 Mar 2017). Pdic 
further submits that the Trial Chamber ignored testimony by Praljak and Witness Zrinko Tokic and Exhibit 4D00356 
when finding that military operations in Gornji Vakuf followed the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum. PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 460 & fn. 1182. Pdic also argues that the Trial Chamber relied on an erroneous translation of AndriC's report of 
27 January 1993 (Ex. 3D03065/4D00348), which correctly reads in relevant parts "following a higher order" instead of 
"following an order from [their] superiors", resulting in erroneous findings. PdiC's Reply Brief, para. 69, referring to, 
inter alia, PdiC's Response Brief, para. 177 (Prosecution's ground 3). 
3668 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 463. 
3669 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 286; Appeal Hearing, AT. 182 (20 Mar 2017). See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), para. 288; Appeal Hearing, AT. 192, 210-211 (20 Mar 2017). 
3670 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 287. 
3671 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 288; Appeal Hearing, AT. 208-210 (20 Mar 2017). 
3672 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 289. 
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b. Analysis 

. 1157. The Appeals Chamber turns first to Pdic's claim that the Trial Chamber, in reaching the 

challenged findings that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was followed by military operations in 

Gornji Vakuf, contradicted its own findings. The Appeals Chamber notes that the portion of the 

Trial Judgement that Pdic references as containing the findings that are allegedly contradicted is 

irrelevant to the findings on military operations in Gornji Vakuf in January 1993 that he 

challenges.36
:

3 The Appeals Chamber dismisses this undeveloped assertion. 

1158. Turning to PdiC's argument concerning PetkoviC's orders, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Gorjanc, in his testimony referenced by Pdic, asserted that he could not glean from one of 

PetkoviC's orders (Exhibit PO 1135) that it contained an order for military operations against the 

ABiH. However, he confirmed the HVO's heightened readiness to resort to anned force in Gornji 

Vakuf, which supports rather than undennines the challenged findings on military operations in 

Gornji Vakuf following the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum.3674 The HVO's heightened readiness is 

also evident from E~hibit POl135 itself and other evidence Pdic refers to.3675 In light of this, PdiC's 

reliance on the instruction contained in Petkovic's other order (Exhibit P01139) to HVO 

commanders to initiate talks with ABiH commanders on joint commands, in support of his 

challenge to the Trial Chamber's findings, also fails. PdiC's arguments do not show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned findings and are therefore dismissed. 

1159. Further, having reviewed the relevant Trial Chamber findings and supporting evidence, the 

Appeals Chamber finds no merit in PdiC's assertion that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised 

AndriC's 27 January 1993 report.3676 Turning to PrliC's assertion that "AndriC's actions", which the 

Appeals Chamber understands to refer to his 18 January 1993 order to the HVOto attack the ABiH, 

were umelated to the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, the Appeals Chamber notes that none of the 

3673 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 460, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 336-337, which pertain to 
findings on changes in the ethnic composition in "Herceg-Bosna" in the period 1991-1994. 
3674 Milan Gorjanc, T. 46380-46382 (2 Nov 2009). 
3675 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 461, referring to, e.g., Ex. P01163, pp. 2-4 (report dated 16 January 1993 on an HVO 
general's message to the ABiH in Gornji Vakuf to subordinate and abide by further conditions while pointing to the 
presence of two HVO brigades, artillery, and tanks in Prozor, which would be ready to advance on Gornji Vakuf should 
the HVO demands not be met by the following day). 
3676 The Trial Chamber found, inter alia, based on the report, that "[o]n 18 January 1993, Colonel Miro Andric ordered 
the HVO troops in Gornji Vakuf to use force to compel the ABiH to implementthe terms of the ceasefire agreement of 
l3 January 1993 and to capture the village of Uzricje in order to open a route to Gornji Vakuf, in accordance with the 
order sent by his 'superiors"'. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 126, referring to Ex. 3D03065/4D00348. Pdic asserts, 
based on the report, that "on 18 January [1993] Andric ordered the implementation of the l3 January 1993 [ceasefire] 
Agreement". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 462. The Appeals Chamber fails to see any inconsistency between the two 
statements. Insofar as Pdic challenges the finding that AndriC's actions were "in accordance with the order sent by his 
'superiors"', the Appeals Chamber can see no relevant material difference between this formulation and the alternative 
translation "following a higher order". See also supra, paras 177-183, infra, fn. 5050. Prlic merely offers an alternative 
interpretation of the evidence without showing that no reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned findings. 
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references Prlic cites support his assertion.3677 On the contrary, many referenced exhibits indicate 

that the use of force on 18 January 1993 was a reaction to the ABiH not bowing to the conditions of 

the 15 January 1993 Decision.3678 Prlie therefore has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have reached the impugned findings and the Appeals Chamber dismisses his arguments. 

1160. Turning to PrliC's argument concerning the HVO HZ H-B letter dated 18 January 1993, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the text of the letter supports the impugned finding and that Prlie 

has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have made this finding or characterised the 

letter - bearing his typed name - as PrliC's.3679 Further, he has failed to explain the relevance of his 

remaining assertions regarding the letter to his challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding on the 

letter. 3680 

1161. In light of the above, sub-ground of appeal 16.1.2 is dismissed.3681 

(iii) Various findings concerning the January 1993 attacks on Gornji Vakuf 

(PrliC's Sub-ground 16.1.3) 

1162. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) Prlic was directly involved in planning the attack on 

Gornji Vakuf, the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum signed by him, and its implementation on the ground 

until the ceasefire when he ordered the cessation of HVO attacks on 25 January 1993;3682 (2) on 

19 January 1993, Prlic attended ceasefire negotiations in Mostar concerning Gornji Vakuf 

Municipality;3683 (3) Colonel Miro Andric stated that his "superiors" had ordered him to use force 

in Gornji Vakuf, and that Prlic was one of his "superiors,,;3684 and (4) Prlic said at a meeting on 

3677 The same applies to the testimony of Praljak and Tokic and Exhibit 4D00356 to which Pdic refers as allegedly 
ignored by the Trial Chamber in reaching the impugned finding that military operations in Gornji Vakuf followed the 
15 January 1993 Ultimatum. For Slobodan Praljak, T. 44073-44074, 44085 (31 Aug 2009), the Appeals Chamber also 
recalls that the Trial Chamber found Praljak's evidence "hardly credible" on certain points. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
ftara. 399. This argument is dismissed. 

678 Exs. P01163; P01174; P01182; P01185, p. 4; P01226; P01236, pp. 3-4; ID00816. See also Exs. POI227, p. 1; 
3D03065/4D00348, pp. 2-3. Regarding Slobodan Praljak, T. 40578-40581 (21 May 2009), 40591-40594 (25 May 
2009), the Appeals Chamber again recalls that the Trial Chamber found Praljak' s evidence "hardly credible" on certain 
points. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
3679 Ex. P01184. 
3680 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 463. 
3681 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the deaths of seven 
civilians in Dusa and that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in the period from January until June 1993. 
See supra, paras 441-443, 882. The Appeals Chamber does not consider that these changes affect the Trial Chamber's 
finding that is challenged under this ground insofar as it concerns the remaining crimes, namely that the HVO 
operations following the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, including those in Gornji Vakuf, involved the commission of 
many crimes against the Muslim population as part of a single preconceived plan. This is in particular so sirice the Dusa 
killings were the only killings among those crimes. See supra, para. 876. 
3682 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 131. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 126-127, 132, 134. 
3683 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 127. 
3684 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 126-127, 133. 
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25 January 1993 with an ECMM representative in Mostar that he had ordered the HVO commander 

in Gomji Vakuf to stop all attacks immediately.3685 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1163. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that: (1) he was involved in 

planning the attack on Gomji Vakuf; (2) on 19 January 1993, he attended ceasefire negotiations, 

considering that Witness Ray Lane's evidence was not reliable;3686 (3) Prlic was one of AndriC's 

superiors, by relying solely on one sentence in one exhibit;3687 (4) he stated on 25 January 1993 that 

he had ordered the HVO in Gomji Vakuf to stop all attacks;3688 and (5) Zeljko Siljeg's reports on 

Gomji Vakufwere "particularly" sent to the HVO HZ H_B.3689 

1164. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to show that no reasonable trial chamber could 

have found that he was directly involved in planning the attack on Gomji Vakuf, the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum, and its implementation on the ground.369o Notably, it argues that the 

Trial Chamber's findings are supported by the evidence and that Prlic fails to explain how the 

Trial Chamber acted unreasonably and how his submissions impact the challenged findings. 3691 

b. Analysis 

1165. The Appeals Chamber will first address PrliC's challenge to the finding that he was one of 

AndriC's "superiors". It notes that Prlic reproduces the findings he claims contradict the challenged 

3685 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 129. 
3686 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 464; PdiC's Reply Brief, paras 70-73, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 202-203 
(sub-ground of appeal 6.2). See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 466. With regard to the finding on negotiations, Prlic 
submits in particular that Lane was a poor witness who did not recall the meeting's location and what was discussed, 
and that he speculated about PdiC's powers. He further argues that Lane was discredited by Exhibit POI215, p. 1, which 
suggests that Petkovic, Arif Pasalic, and Pdic met separately. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 464; PdiC's Reply Brief, paras 
70-73. Further, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the 20 January 1993 order by Petkovic and 
Pasalic to abort all combat activities in Gornji Vakuf was based on a meeting of these two persons with Pdic and Jean­
Jacques Beaussou. This contradicts, in PdiC's submission, another finding that the order by Petkovic and Pasalic rather 
"concurred" with an order by Mate Boban, as corroborated by other evidence. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 465. 
3687 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 466, referring to Ex. 3003065/4000348, p. 2. In particular, Pdic submits that there is no 
evidence that the HVO HZ H-B or Pdic had any power to issue orders to the military, that no such orders exist, and that 
the Trial Chamber correctly concluded that Pdic was outside the chain of command. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 466. 
3688 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 468. In particular, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence indicating that 
Pdic merely said that an order had been given, not that he himself had issued the order. In this regard, Pdic submits 
that: (1) another report, Exhibit P01309, which reported that Pdic himself had issued the order to stop the fighting, 
faultily reproduced Exhibit P01303; and (2) Siljeg's 24 January 1993 order to respect the ceasefire (Ex. P01300) was 
issued pursuant to an HVO Main Staff order (Ex. 4000048 (confidential)). Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 468 and 
references cited therein. 
3689 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 467. In particular, Pdic submits that these reports were sent to the HZ H-B presidency, 
the Defence Department, the HVO Main Staff, and the North-West OZ. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 467, referring to, 
inter alia, PdiC's ground of appeal 3. 
3690 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 290. 
3691 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 290-294. 
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finding in an incomplete manner and misrepresents them.3692 Pdic alleges that the Trial Chamber 

found that he was not in the military chain of command, but omits that the Trial Chamber qualified 

this finding by determining that: (1) as President of the Government he had influence on the 

defence strategy and military operations of the HVO; (2) the HVO/Government ofHZ(R) H-B, as a 

civilian authority, had the power and responsibility to control, in general and particularly in terms of 

military strategy, the HVO; (3) that during meetings between August 1992 and April 1994, in which 

Pdic participated as President of the Government, the situation and military strategy of the HVO in 

the territory claimed to be part of the HZ(R) H-B were discussed and the Government adopted 

various regulations, concerning, for instance, mobilisation of military personnel and the supply of 

weapons. 3693 Notably, the Trial Chamber considered in this respect the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum.3694 In light of these findings, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Pdic has failed to 

show that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that Andric stated that his "superiors" had 

ordered him to use force in Gornji Vakuf, and that Pdic was one of his "superiors". 3695 

1166. Pdic further claims that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he was involved in 

planning the attack on Gornji Vakuf, but offers no arguments in support of this assertion. Insofar as 

PdiC's argument that he was not AndriC's superior could be interpreted as a submission in support 

of tlns assertion, this argument has been dismissed above.3696 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses as undeveloped PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he was involved in 

planning the attack on Gornji Vakuf. Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could 

have found, relying on Lane, that he attended the 19 January 1993 ceasefire negotiations. 3697 The 

Appeals Chamber further finds that Prlic has failed 'to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have found that he said at a meeting on 25 January 1993 with an ECMM representative in 

3692 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 466, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 708, 743-768, Vol. 4, para. 
106. 
3693 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106. 
3694 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106. 
3695 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 126-127, 133 (quotation marks in original). These findings also rebut PdiC's 
assertions that there is no evidence that the HVO HZ H-B or Pdic had any power to issue orders to the military, and that 
no such orders exist. See supra, paras 1098-1127; infra, paras 1212,1214, 1219. 
3696 See supra, para. 1165. 
3697 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 127. The Appeals Chamber notes that with regard to his Claims of Lane's poor 
memory, Pdic refers to his submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 6.2, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. 
See supra, paras 212-218. Prlic fails to explain in which regard his assertion that Lane speculated about his powers is 
relevant to the impugned finding on his attendance at the 19 January 1993 negotiations. This argument is therefore 
dismissed. With regard to PrliC's assertion that Exhibit P01215, p. 1, suggests that Petkovic, Pasalic, and Pdic met 
separately, the Appeals Chamber has examined the exhibit in its entirety and finds that a reasonable trial chamber could 
have found that there was only one meeting. See Ex. P01215, pp. 1-3. See also Ray Lane, T. 23681-23685 (15 October 
2007). Prlic fails to identify any challenged factual finding by way of reference to a paragraph of the Trial Judgement 
with regard to his assertion that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the 20 January 1993 order by Petkovic and 
Pasalic to abort all fighting in Gornji Vakuf was based on a meeting of Petkovic, Pasalic, Pdic, and Beaussou. Since it 
is unclear which is the challenged finding, this argument is dismissed. See Practice Direction on Formal Requirements, 
para. 4(b)(ii). To the extent that Prlic intended to challenge with these submissions any of the other findings that he 
challenges under this ground, he fails to explain how these submissions impact any of these other findings. 
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Mostar that he had ordered the HVO commander in Gornji Vakuf to stop all attacks 

immediately.3698 Finally, with regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding 

that Siljeg's reports on Gomji Vakuf were "particularly" sent to the HVO HZ H-B, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that this argument is entirely based on a cross-reference to his ground of 

appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere.3699 

1167. For all of the reasons set out above, sub-ground of appeal 16.1.3 is dismissed. 

(iv) PrliC's intent concerning crimes in Gornji Vakuf CPrliC's Sub-ground 16.1.4) 

1168. The Trial Chamber found that since Prlic participated in planning the attack on Gornji 

Vakuf, knew about the course of operations and the crimes committed, and continued to exercise 

his functions in the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, he intended that those crimes be 

committed, namely the destruction of Muslim houses, the murder and detention of Muslims who 

did not belong to any armed force, and the removal of the region's inhabitants to Gomji Vakuf by 

the HVO in January 1993.3700 The Trial Chamber based this finding on, inter alia, its finding that 

between 19 and 30 January 1993, Zeljko Siljeg, Commander of the North-West OZ, sent several 

reports particularly to the HVO HZ H-B on the situation in Gomji Vakuf, reporting, inter alia, that: 

(1) several buildings were on fire in Gornji Vakuf town and in the villages of Uzricje and Dusa; 

(2) most buildings in Donja Hrsanica had been burnt down or demolished; (3) no civilian 

population remained in Donja Hrsanica and Gomja Hrsanica; and (4) a number of Muslim houses 

had been torched and items stolen in Uzricje, Dusa, and Trnovaca, and seven Muslim "civilians" 

had been killed during the HVO shelling of Dusa.3701 

3698 With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence indicating that he merely said that an order 
had been given, not that he himself had issued the order, the Appeals Chamber notes that he points to a report dated 25 
January 1993 stating that Prlic said that an order had been given "on Saturday" to Colonel Siljeg to stop immediately 
any attack. Prlic"s Appeal Brief, para. 468, referring to Ex. P01303 (confidential). However, the Appeals Chamber 
considers that none of the evidence that Prlic cites to supports his assertion that another report, Exhibit P01309, which 
stated that Pdic himself had issued the order to stop the fighting, faultily reproduced Exhibit P01303. Lane was not 
present at the meeting which is documented in the two reports and was in no position to comment. Ray Lane, T. 23784-
23786 (16 Oct 2007). Likewise, the other evidence Prlic cites as allegedly having been ignored does not support his 
claim that it indicates that he merely said that an order had been given, not that he himself had issued the order. Witness 
Christopher Beese could not comment on the version of events that PdiC's counsel put to him ("It's quite difficult to 
respond to this. [ ... J I am not in a position really to comment on how this was addressed [ ... J I can only offer 
explanations I don't know"). Christopher Beese, T.5314-5315 (private session) (22 Aug 2006). Lastly, PrliC's 
submission that Siljeg's 24 January 1993 order to respect the ceasefire (Ex. P01300) was issued pursuant to an HVO 
Main Staff order (Ex. 4D00048 (confidential)), suggesting that this was the order referred to in Exhibits P01303 and 
P01309, fails to acknowledge that Siljeg's order contained in Exhibit P01300 in fact dates from 25 January 1993 and 
refers to Main Staff orders dated 20 and 24 January 1993 (see also Exs. P01238/1D00819, P01293), whereas in Exhibit 
P01303 (confidential), Prlic is reported to have stated that the order was given "on Saturday", which would have been 
23 January 1993. These arguments are dismissed. 
3699 See supra, paras 177-183. 
3700 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 134. 
3701 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 127, 130. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

1169. Prlic claims that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he intended the crimes in Gornji 

Vakuf.3702 He argues that Siljeg's reports dated 19, 29, and 30 January 1993 were sent to the HZ 

H-B Presidency, the HVO HZ H-B Defence Department, the HVO Main Staff, and the North-West 

OZ, and do not show that he or the HVO HZ H-B were aware of developments in the field on 

15 to 25 January 1993.3703 Prlic submits further that no such awareness can be gleaned from the 

minutes of HVO HZ H-B meetings.3704 Finally, Prlic claims that the Trial Chamber ignored 

evidence showing that neither he nor the HVO HZ H-B had any involvement in the Gornji Vakuf 

military operations, pointing to various orders calling for the identification of the persons 

responsible for clashes and to evidence that the military commanders executed these orders.3705 

1170. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding on PrliC's intention concerning 

crimes in Gornji Vakuf is based on extensive evidence.3706 It submits that Prlic fails to show that the 

Trial Chamber acted unreasonably in concluding that he was infornled of the contents of Siljeg's 

January 1993 reports.3707 The Prosecution submits that: (1) these reports expressly state that they 

were sent to the Government, as Prlic admitted at trial; and (2) the minutes of Government meetings 

over which Prlic presided clearly show his interest in the developments in Gornji Vakuf. 3708 The 

Prosecution further submits that the evidence Prlic cites does not support his claim that neither he 

nor his Government were involved in any way in the Gornji Vakuf military operations.3709 It argues, 

finally, that PrliC's powers in military matters were amply demonstrated. 371o 

b. Analysis 

1171. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's 

finding that the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa in January 1993 constituted murder and wilful 

killing, and that as a result, it has vacated PrliC's convictions under Counts 1, 2, 3, 15, and 16 with 

3702 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 469. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 470, referring to PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 16.1.3. 
3703 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 471, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01206, P01351, P01357. The Appeals Chamber notes 
that the date of one of Siljeg's reports (Exhibit P01351) is illegible as it reads "2/?/January 1993" but that its contents 
concern the situation in Gornji Vakuf on 28 January 1993. Ex. P01351. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial 
Chamber referred to the date of this report at times as 29 January 1993 and at times as 28 January 1993. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 445, Vol. 4, paras 333, 705 (referring to the date as 28 January 1993); Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
paras 367, 398, Vol. 4, paras 130, 333 (referring to the date as 29 January 1993). Given that there is no dispute between 
the Parties on the date of this report and that the Trial Chamber relied on it as evidence of some Appellants' knowledge 
of crimes, the Appeals Chamber adopts the Trial Chamber's determination of the date of this report as 29 January 1993, 
which is to the benefit of the Appellants. 
3704 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 471. 
3705 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 472. 
3706 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 295. 
3707 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 296. 
3708 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 296. 
3709 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 297. 
3710 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 297. 
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regard to these killings.3711 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as moot PrliC's 

submissions under this sub-ground to the extent that they challenge the finding that he intended that 

murders be committed in Gornji Vakufin January 1993. 

1172. The Appeals Chamber notes that all three of Siljeg's reports to which Prlic refers are 

addressed to the HVO HZ H_B,3712 a fact which Prlic ignores when he lists the recipients. It 

therefore finds that Prlic misrepresents the evidence and fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have found that the reports were sent, or particularly sent, to the HVO HZ H_B.3713 The 

evidence Prlic cites does not support his claim that his awareness of the developments in Gornji 

Vakuf cannot be gleaned from minutes of HVO HZ H-B meetings, which, on the contrary, show 

that the situation in Gornji Vakuf was discussed.3714 These arguments are dismissed.3715 

1173. With respect to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that neither he nor 

the HVO HZ H-B had any involvement in the Gornji Vakuf military operations, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Prlic participated in planning the 

attack on Gornji Vakuf is based on, inter alia, the findings that he: (1) signed the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum ordering the subordination of ABiH units to HVO command; (2) assured the municipal 

HVO and the population of Gornji Vakuf of his Government's support on the day of the attack on 

18 January 1993; and (3) attended ceasefire negotiations on 19 January 1993 for Gornji Vakuf, at 

which he stated that in order to show his "good will" the HVO would not enact by force "the 

decision [ ... J whose deadline was 20 January 1993".3716 In addition, the Trial Chamber found that 

the facts that: (1) the attacks on Gornji Vakuf's villages followed the same pattern; and (2) Siljeg's 

reports failed to refer to the unlawful nature of destruction and appropriation of property in these 

villages, support the conclusion that the capture of these villages and ensuing crimes were part of 

the attack plan for the capture of the municipality by the HVO.3717 In light of these underlying 

findings, neither PrliC's claims that various orders called for identifying the persons responsible for 

clashes and that these orders were executed, nor the evidence he cites in support, show that no 

3711 See supra, para. 441-443. 
3712 Exs. P01206, p. 1,P01351, p. 1, P01357, p. 1. 
3713 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 127, 130. Counsel for Prlic at trial conceded that the period following 15 January 
1993 was the only period when the HVO HZ H-B emerged as one of the addressees when information was submitted on 
the situation that unfolded in Gornji Vakuf. Jadranko Prlic, T. 27572 (6 May 2008). The Appeals Chamber also notes 
that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 16.1.3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See 
sut/a, paras 1162-1167. 
374 Exs. POl227, P01324, pp. 1-3, P01403, p. 3. 
3715 S . ee also mfra, para. 3052 & fn. 10012. 
3716 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125-127. 
3717 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 131. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's 
findings regarding the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa and that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in the 
period from January until June 1993. See supra, paras 441-443,882. The Appeals Chamber does not consider that these 
changes affect the Trial Chamber's reasoning and conclusion, insofar as it concerns the remaining crimes, that the 
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reasonable trier of fact could have found that he participated in planning the attack on Gornji Vakuf. 

PrliC's arguments are dismissed. 

1174. Having dismissed all of PrliC's arguments pertaining to the basis for the Trial Chamber's 

finding on his intent,3718 the Appeals Chamber concludes that he has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he intended the crimes in Gomji Vakuf, excluding the 

crimes of murder and wilful killing as discussed above.3719 Thus, PrliC'ssub-ground of appeal 

16.1.4 fails. 

(b) The municipalities of Prozor and lablanica CPrliC's Sub-ground 16.2) 

(i) The 4 April 1993 Ultimatum CPrli6's Sub-grounds 16.2.1 and 16.2.2) 

1175. The Trial Chamber found that on 3 April 1993, the HVO HZ H-B adopted an ultimatum, 

published on 4 April 1993 - that is, the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum -, envisaging that, if the Muslim 

authorities refused to sign a statement on the subordination of the ABiH to the HVO in Provinces 3, 

8, and 10 by 15 April 1993, the HVO would apply it unilaterally, including by military means.3720 

Based on, inter alia, that finding, the Trial Chamber concluded that in Apri11993 the HVO planned 

'an attack on villages in the municipalities of Prozor and Iablanica (located in Province 83721) to 

implement the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum by force, and that by drafting this ultimatum, Prli6 

significantly contributed to the implementation of the ICE in these municipalitiGs.3722 

1176. The Trial Chamber further found that on 15 April 1993 and the days that followed, orders 

were given to the HVO aiming to consolidate the HVO's positions and to enforce subordination of 

the ABiH forces.3723 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1177. Prli6 argues thattpe Trial Chamber erred in making the above findings on the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum by: (1) mischaracterising evidence; (2) erroneously relying on Witness 

William Tomljanovich, Witness DZ, and uncorroborated hearsay news reports;3724 and (3) ignoring 

capture of these villages and ensuing crimes were part of the attack plan for the capture of the municipality by the HVO, 
rarticularly since the Dusa killings were the only killings among those crimes. See supra, para. 876. 

718 See supra, para. 1168. 
3719 See supra, para. 1171. 
3720 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 467-468, Vol. 4, paras 138-140. 
3721 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 446 & fn. 1062, referring, in particular, to Ex. P09276, map 11. 
3722 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138-147, 271. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 465-476, Vol. 2, para. 89, 
Vol. 4, para. 1220. 
3723 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 469. 
3724 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 473-474, 479, 486. For his submissions on Tomljanovich, see PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 
1219, referring to PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 4.2. With respect to Witness DZ, Prlic submits that he was not 
competent to testify on the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, since he: (1) relied on a January 1993 document and newspaper 
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reliable evidence that no ultimatum was issued, showing that the media reports were incorrect.3725 

Pdic asserts in particular that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence, which, he submits, is essential to 

understanding the 3 April 1993 conclusions of the HVO HZ H-B, namely evidence that: (1) Alija 

Izetbegovic undertook efforts to restructure the BiH by forming new districts, which Pdic claims 

was unconstitutional and contrary to the Vance-Owen Peace Plan and a 3 March 1993 agreement 

between Muslims and Croats;3726 (2) on 13 March 1993, the BiH Presidency dismissed the legally 

elected presidents of the municipal assemblies in Konjic and Jablanica; (3) on 20 March 1993, Safet 

Cibo was illegally appointed "to the 4th Corps of ABiH" and to the regional board of the SDA for 

Herzegovina; and (4) the HVO HZ H-B had doubts about the sincerity of the Muslim leadership, in 

particular that of Izetbegovic.3727 

1178. Pdic further challenges the findings on the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum by pointing to 

allegedly ignored evidence on: (1) IzetbegoviC's and Mate Boban's agreement to implement the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan;3728 (2) Lord David Owen's statement that after their "bilateral agreement" 

on the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 25 March 1993 it was decided that both sides would try to reach 

an agreement on controversial issues;3729 (3) the proposed Izetbegovic-Boban joint statement's 

compliance with the terms of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan;373o (4) the minutes of the 3 April 1993 

HVO HZ H-B meeting showing that Boban made arrangements for the Vance-Owen Peace Plan's 

implementation with regard to interim provincial governments;3731 and (5) the 25 April 1993 joint 

statement on the establishment of a co-ordinating body to implement the Vance-Owen Peace Plan 

and a joint command.3732 

1179. Pdic also submits that a reasonable trial chamber would have concluded that the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum was not linked to a JCE, pointing to a number of documents.3733 Finally, in 

arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that on 15 April 1993 and the days that followed, 

articles; (2) [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex]; (3) never referred to the Vance-Owen Peace Plan in his 
statement; (4) was not involved in its implementation; and (5) was ignorant of its provisions. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
486. 
3725 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 478-479, 482; Appeal Hearing, AT. 142 (20 Mar 2017). 
3726 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 475-478; Appeal Hearing, AT. 143 (20 Mar 2017). 
3727 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 478. See Appeal Heanng, AT. 132, 142-143 (20 Mar 2017). 
3728 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 480. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber found that both sides had signed the entire 
Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 25 March 1993. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 480. 
3729 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 482; Appeal Hearing, AT. 142 (20 Mar 2017). Pdic submits that Owen stated that the 
command/control of "the two military forces" remained a controversial issue between the parties, and that "[i]t was then 
decided that both sides would try, as much as they could, to reach an agreement and if an agreement was not reached 
within 14 days, the two Co-Chairmen would offer their good services". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 482. 
3730 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 483. 
3731 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 481, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01798. 
3732 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 484; Appeal Hearing, AT. 143 (20 Mar 2017). Pdic submits further that the 
Trial Chamber ignored its own findings and that an isolated view on these documents and events presents a distorted 
picture, but when viewed in context the documents allow for the only reasonable conclusion that no JCE existed. PdiC's 
AEpeal Brief, para. 484, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 472. 
37 3 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 487. 
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the HVO was ordered to enforce the ABiH's subordination, Pdic alleges that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded several orders issued as of March 1993 aimed at "ensur[ing] greater performance of 

assignments in operational zones" of directly subordinated units and preventing misunderstandings 

between the HVO and ABiH.3734 

1180. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show that the findings concerning the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum are unreasonab1e.3735 The Prosecution argues in particular that: (1) he fails 

to explain the relevance of the alleged unilateral acts by the SDAJABiH in March 1993 and how 

they would render the Trial Chamber's findings unreasonable; (2) PdiC's chiim that Izetbegovic had 

signed the entire Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 25 March 1993 is irrelevant, since the plan expressly 

stated that the question of subordination was to be resolved in future negotiations;3736 (3) Pdic 

wrongly submits that the "proposed Boban-Izetbegovic 'Joint Statement'" of 2 April 1993 complied 

with the terms of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan in light of the unilateral demand for subordination, 

which had not been settled under the plan;3737 and (4) to the extent that Pdic submits that the 

unilateral demand for subordination under threat of military force was meant to implement a "peace 

I " h' .. bl 3738 P an , t IS assert10n IS untena e. 

1181. The Prosecution contends that in arguing that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum was unrelated to 

the JCE, Pdic only refers to evidence unrelated to subordination or dating from late April and fails 

to explain how it renders the Trial Chamber's findings unreasonable.3739 It further submits that he 

fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that commencing on 

15 April 1993, the HVO was enforcing the ABiH's subordination, and fails to explain the relevance 

of the March 1993 orders he cites.374o 

1182. The Prosecution asserts that Pdic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

multiple media reports3741 and Witness DZ's corroborated evidence3742 when making its findings on 

3734 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 485. In particular, he submits that these orders were unrelated to the 3 April 1993 HVO 
HZ H-B meeting and that during that time, weapons flowed freely from the HZ H-B to the ABiH. Pdic's Appeal Brief, 

p7~ap!~~~ution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 298-299; Appeal Hearing, AT. 182 (20 Mar 2017). See Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 192 (20 Mar 2017). The Prosecution asserts that he instead makes irrelevant and/or erroneous assertions and denies 
that the HVO's threat of unilateral implementation represented an "ultimatum". Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), 
rara.299. 

736 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 298-299. 
3737 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 298-299. 
3738 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 299. 
3739 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 303. 
3740 Prosecution's Response Brief (PdiC) , para. 301. The Prosecution submits further that the evidence of weapons 
transport Pdic cites to is unrelated to the area in question and only shows that the HVO allowed such transports to 
ABiH regions where it was fighting the Serbs jointly with the ABiH, an uncontested fact. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Pdic), para. 301. 
3741 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 300. The Prosecution submits in particular that Pdic fails to explain how 
no reasonable trier of fact could have preferred the Defence Department's spokesperson's (Veso Vegar's) 
contemporaneous statement to the press that "[i]t is definitely an ultimatum" over his implausible later assertion that he 
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the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum.3743 The Prosecution further submits thatPrlic fails to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber acted unreasonably in not crediting his public denial in late April 1993, given the 

wealth of contrary evidence, including his own concession shortly after issuing the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum that it could "lead to bloodshed". 3744 

1183. Pdic replies that the Prosecution wrongly claims that he conceded shortly after the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum that it could "lead to bloodshed".3745 

b. Analysis 

1184. With regard to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the evidence of 

Tomljanovich, the Appeals Chamber notes that this argument is entirely based on a cross-reference 

to his sub-ground of appeal 4.2, which it dismisses elsewhere.3746 The Appeals Chamber notes 

further that in making the impugned findings on the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum,3747 the Trial Chamber 

relied on Witness DZ's evidence in combination with ample other evidence.3748 Pdic has failed to 

show any elTor in this regard,3749 and his argument concerning Witness DZ is dismissed. 

1185. With regard to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber elToneously relied on 

"uncolToborated" media reports in its findings on the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the challenged findings are based not only on the media reports, but 

also on other corroborating evidence, notably the very minutes of the HVO HZ H-B meeting at 

which the ultimatum was adopted, Exhibit P01798. 3750 With regard to PdiC's submissions that the 

"did not give any statements" during this period. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 300. See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), para. 298. 
3742 Prosecution' s Respon~e Brief (Prlic), para. 302. 
3743 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 300. 
3744 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 300. 
3745 PrliC's Reply Brief, para. 74. 
3746 See supra, paras 204-211. 
3747 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 140. 
3748 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138-139. . . 
3749 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 139. With regard to PrliC's claim that Witness DZ relied on newspaper articles and a 
document from January 1993, the Appeals Chamber observes that the transcript pages that Prlic cites indicate that the 
witness relied on various first-hand sources. Witness DZ, T. 26483-26485 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008). The Appeals 
Chamber notes further that the witness [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex]. Witness DZ, T. 26473-26475, 
26480 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008); Ex. P10367 (confidential), paras 4-7. Noting that the witness testified on the 
Vance-Owen Peace Plan in his viva voce testimony, the Appeals Chamber sees no merit in PrliC's submission that his 
written statement does not contain any reference to this plan. Witness DZ, T. 26480, 26483-26485 (closed session) 
(22 Jan 2008). PrliC's claim that the witness was not involved in the peace plan's implementation is irrelevant for the 
reliability of his testimony on the plan. PrliC's claim that the witness was ignorant of the plan's provisions is not 
supported by the cited testimony, which deals with a separate document. Witness DZ, T. 26729-26730 (closed session) 
(24 Jan 2008). On the contrary, he testified that as soon as he arrived in the region he carefully reviewed the Vance­
Owen Peace Plan, which he considered to be the very basis of all initiatives taking place in the region at the time. 
Witness DZ, T. 26480-26481 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008). 
3750 The Appeals Chamber understands PrliC's argument to refer to the findings in Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 468 at 
fns 1131-1134, Vol. 4, para. 139 at fn. 396. Other evidence corroborating the media reports in question (Exs. P01804, 
P01808, P10675) includes Witness DZ, T(F). 26482-26483 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008) and Exhibits P02045, pp. 1-2 
and P09545, pp. 83-85. To the extent that Prlic also intends to challenge the reliance on the media reports for the 
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Trial Chamber ignored reliable evidence showing that the media reports were incorrect and that no 

ultimatum was issued, the Appeals Chamber has considered the evidence he refers to and finds that 

Pdic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned 

findings. 3751 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber considers that: (1) Pdic fails to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have preferred the evidence on which the Trial Chamber based the 

impugned findings to the testimony of Witness Veso Vegar; and (2) Exhibit P09519 and the 

testimony of Witness Neven Tomic are not inconsistent with the impugned findings, 

notwithstanding TomiC's understanding of the word "ultimatum". Pdic has also failed to show that 

the Trial Chamber, in making the impugned findings, mischaracterised evidence.3752 These 

arguments are dismissed. 

1186. The Appeals Chamber fails to see how PdiC's assertions on IzetbegoviC's unilateral efforts 

to restructure BiR's districts, the BiH Presidency's dismissal of legally elected presidents of 

municipal assemblies, Safet Cibo's illegal appointment to the ABiH's 4th Corps and the regional 

board of the Herzegovina SDA, and the HVO HZ H-B's mistrust ,towards the Muslim leadership are 

relevant to and could have impacted the challenged findings that the HVO HZ H-B adopted an 

ultimatum on 3 April 1993 for the Muslim authorities to subordinate the ABiR to the HVO.3753 

Pdic merely asserts that this evidence is "essential to understanding the 3 April 1993 HVOHZHB 

conclusions,,3754 but does not elaborate on - and therefore fails to clarify - the alleged connection 

between these issues and the challenged findings. As such, the Appeals Chamber concludes that he 

has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the 

conclusions of the Trial Chamber. To the extent that Pdic argues that these alleged facts provide 

ulterior motives for the HVO HZ H-B's ultimatum, negating any link to the lCE, the 

Appeals Chamber considers, in light of his deficient and unclear submissions, that he has failed to 

demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have found a link to the lCE. These arguments are 

dismissed. 

findings in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 138 at fns 392-393, the Appeals Chamber notes that the reports provide direct 
evidence for the findings that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum was released to the press on 4 April 1993 and that several 
newspaper articles referred to it as an "ultimatum" with a deadline of 15Apri11993. Prlic has failed to show any error. 
3751 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 479, referring to Veso Vegar, T. 37071-37075 (17 Feb 2009),37083-37088,37150-
37152 (18 Feb 2009), Ex. P09519, Neven Tomic, T. 34710-34714 (17 Nov 2008). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 142 
(20 Mar 2017), referring to Exs. P01883, P02059, P03642, 1D02159, 2D00689, 2D00891. 
3752 Prlic claims that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised Exhibits P01798 and P02046/1D01655. See PrliC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 474 & fn. 1221, para. 482 & fn. 1241. With regard to Exhibit P01798, the Appeals Chamber understands 
that Prlic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings in Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 468 at fns 1130-1131, 1133-1135, 
Vol. 4, para. 138 at fns 388-389, 391. With regard to Exhibit P02046/1D01655, the Appeals Chamber understands that 
Prlic challenges the Trial Chamber's finding in Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 468 at fn. 1133, Vol. 4, para. 138 at fn. 
394. The Appeals Chamber can see no indication that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised either exhibit in these 

, findings. 
3753 See supra, para. 1175. See also supra, para. 1176. 
3754 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 478. 
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1187. With regard to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence on t!Ie 

agreement between Izetbegovic and Boban regarding the implementation of the Vance-Owen Peace 

Plan, the Appeals Chamber finds that this agreement is irrelevant to the challenged findings, since 

the plan expressly foresaw further negotiations and agreement between the two sides with regard to 

the deployment of ABiH and HVO forces in Provinces 5, 8, 9, and 10.3755 This submission is 

therefore dismissed. 

1188. With regard to PdiC's claim thatthe proposed Izetbegovic-Boban joint statement complied 

with the terms of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, the Appeals Chamber notes that the proposed joint 

statement foresaw a three-day deadline for the withdrawal of outside forces from the designated 

provinces and the subordination of HVO forces in Provinces 1, 5, and 9 to ABiH command, and of 

ABiH forces in Provinces 3, 8, and 10 to HVO command.3756 The Vance-Owen Peace Plan, 

however, did not envisage this.3757 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Pdic has failed to 

show that the proposed Izetbegovic-Boban joint statement complied with the terms of the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan, and dismisses his submission. Turning to PdiC's claim that the minutes of 

the 3 April 1993 HVO HZ H-B meeting show that Boban made arrangements for the Vance-Owen 

Peace Plan's implementation with regard to interim provincial governments, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that any steps taken towards implementation of the plan concerning such government 

institutions bear no relevance to the challenged findings that the HVO HZ H-B at that meeting 

adopted an ultimatum to the ABiH for subordination in certain provinces. It therefore dismisses this 

claim. 

1189. The Appeals Chamber notes that the 25 April 1993 Croatian and Muslim joint statement 

on the establishment of a co-ordinating body to implement the Vance-Owen Peace Plan and a joint 

command, to which Pdic points and which the Trial Chamber considered, postdates the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum.3758 The Appeals Chamber fails to see why this evidence should render the 

3755 Ex. P01398, p. 30, heading E. This is further supported by the quote of Lord Owen that the issue of 
command/control of the two military forces remained controversial between the Croatian and the Muslim sides after 
their agreement to the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, and that "[i]t was then decided that both sides would try, as much as 
they could, to reach an agreement" on this issue within a fortnight. Ex. P02059, p. 2. PrliC's argument that the Trial 
Chamber ignored this statement by Lord Owen setting out the next steps expected of the Croat and Muslim sides after 
their "bilateral agreement" on the Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 25 March 1993 is therefore dismissed. See also Herbert 
Okun, T. 16798 (3 Apr 200'"!). As a result, Prlic also fails to demonstrate the relevance of his submission that the Trial 
Chamber found that both sides had signed the entire Vance-Owen Peace Plan on 25 March 1993. 
3756 Ex. P01798, pp. 2-3. The proposed joint statement was not even signed by the Muslim side, a fact that Prlic does not 
challenge. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 467-468; Ex. P01798, pp. 2-4; PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 483. 
3757 See supra, fn. 3755. See also Ex. 1D02908, p. 12, heading E. 
3758 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 484, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P02078 , P02088. The Trial Chamber expressly 
considered the 25 April 1993 joint statement in Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 472. The Appeals Chamber therefore 
dismisses PrliC's allegation that the Trial Chamber ignored this finding. Prlic also refers, without any explanation as to 
why it should impact the impugned finding on the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, to Exhibit P02054 (confidential), the 
relevance of which is unclear to the Appeals Chamber. 
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impugned findings unreasonable.3759 PdiC's submission regarding the 25 April 1993 joint statement 

is therefore dismissed. 

1190. The Appeals Chamber notes that the documents which Pdic cites in support of his claim 

that a reasonable trial chamber would have concluded that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum was not 

linked to a JCE, relate to a different time frame and/or subject matter than the subordination of 

ABiH units to HVO command in certain provinces as envisaged in the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. As 

such, these documents fail to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that by 

drafting this ultimatum, Pdic significantly contributed to the implementation of the JCE in the 

municipalities of Prozor and Jablanica. 376o PdiC's claim regarding the link to a JCE is therefore 

dismissed. 

1191. Finally, with regard to the orders issued as of March 1993, the Appeals Chamber fails to 

see their relevance to PdiC's challenge to the finding that, on 15 April 1993 and the days that 

followed, the HVO was ordered to enforce the ABiH's subordination.3761 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses this challenge. 

1192. For the foregoing reasons, PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 16.2.1 and 16.2.2 fail. 

(ii) Military operations following the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum (PdiC's Sub-grounds 

16.2.3, 16.2.4, and 16.2.5) 

1193. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO operations in the municipalities of Prozor and 

Jablanica in April 1993 resulted from a preconceived HVO plan to implement the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum by force. 3762 As part of this implementation, on 16 April 1993, Zeljko Siljeg, 

Commander of the North-West OZ, drew up a "plan" for an attack on several villages in Prozor 

Municipality, including the village ofParcani, and sent it to the Main Staff.3763 

3759 The Appeals Chamber also fails to see how the documents and events to which Prlic refers, when viewed in a 
broader context, demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that a JCE existed, and therefore dismisses 
PrliC's submission that an isolated view of these documents and events presents a distorted picture. 
3760 See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 464-473, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01983, P02078, lD02903, 3D00320; 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 45-46. Cf Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 487 and references cited therein. 
3761 The Appeals Chamber further observes that in reaching this finding the Trial Chamber relied upon some of the 
orders that Prlic alleges it disregarded, but those orders in fact date from April 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 
469, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01900, P01913. Cf PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 485 and references cited therein. 
Likewise, the Appeals Chamber fails to see in which way his reference to evidence on the transport of weapons to the 
ABiH from the HZ H-B is relevant to the impugned finding, considering that the evidence pertains to March 1993. See 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 485 and references cited therein. 
3762 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 146. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138-145. In paragraph 146, Volume 4, of the 
Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber inadvertently referred to "the ultimatum of 15 April 1993". However, it is clear 
from the context of the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber meant to refer to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, which set 
the deadline on 15 April 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138-140, 142. 
3763 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 141-142. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

1194. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum caused clashes around Jablanica Municipality (in particular in SoviCi and Doljani) and 

was followed by systematic and widespread HVO military operations around Prozor.3764 He 

contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that, following this ultimatum, a plan to attack 

villages in Prozor Municipality was drawn up, as it relied on exhibits introduced through a bar table 

motion and ignored Witness Radmilo Jasak's testimony that no plan for attack existed and that the 

HVO action was a reaction to an ABiH offensive that had commenced on 13 April 1993.3765 Pdic 

further alleges that the Trial Chamber made contradictory findings in concluding on the one hand 

that the HVO started shelling the town of Jablanica on 15 April 1993, and on the other hand that 

clashes between the HVO and the ABiH started on 13-14 April 1993.3766 Finally, Pdic argues that 

the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing that the HVO did not plan to take control of 

Jablanica and was rather defending against an ABiH offensive that began on 23 March 1993.3767 

1195. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded, based on various 

findings and evidence, that: (1) the HVO operations in the municipalities of Prozor and Jablanica 

resulted from the HVO's plan to implement the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum by force;3768 and (2) the 

HVO drew up a plan of attack on prozOr.3769 

b. Analysis 

1196. Turning to PdiC's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that following the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum, a plan to attack villages in Prozor Municipality was drawn up, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber relied upon exhibits admitted 

by decision on a bar table motion fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached 

the impugned finding based on the evidence before it. 3770 Concerning Jasak's testimony, the 

3764 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 488. 
3765 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 489, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. See also Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 144 (20 Mar 2017). 
3766 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 490. 
3767 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 491. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 142-143 (20 Mar 2017). 
3768 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 304, 306. The Prosecution submits in particular that to the extent that 
Pdic relies on PetkoviC's "self-serving" statement that the HVO never planned to take control of Iablanica to show that 
it did not plan to attack SoviCi and Doljani, this claim is contradicted by several contemporaneous reports to Petkovic. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 306. The Prosecution further argues that there is no contradiction between 
the Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) HVO-ABiH clashes broke out in Iablanica Municipality on 13-14 April 1993, 
with the HVO surrounding the town of Iablanica; and (2) the HVO commenced shelling the town of Iablanica on 15 
Afsri11993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 306. 
37 9 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 305. The Prosecution submits further that Pdic fails to demonstrate how 
the Trial Chamber acted unreasonably in favouring the plain words of contemporaneous reports over Iasak's self­
serving testimony. Pro'secution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 305. 
3770 The Appeals Chamber notes in particular that the Trial Chamber in reaching the impugned finding relied on HVO 
reports setting out the plan on raiding, inter alia, Parcani in Prozor Municipality, implementing the plan, and reporting 
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Appeals Chamber notes that he testified that there was no plan at the level of the Main Staff whereas 

the Trial Chamber found that the plan for attack was drawn up by Siljeg, Commander of the North­

West OZ, and sent to the Main Staff; Jasak's testimony is therefore not inconsistent with the 

impugned finding.3771 Further, the Appeals Chamber recalls that where a trial chamber does not 

refer to evidence it is to be presumed that it assessed and weighed the evidence, provided that there 

is no indication that the trial chamber completely disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant.3772 

In the present case, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to rebut the presumption 

that the Trial Chamber assessed the evidence. These arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1197. The Appeals Chamber further sees no contradiction between the Trial Chamber's findings 

that the HVO commenced shelling Jablanica town on 15 April 1993, and that clashes between the 

HVO and the ABiH broke out on 13-14 April 1993 in Jablanica Municipality.3773 The argument is 

dismissed. 

1198. With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing that 

the HVO did not plan to take control of Jablanica and was rather defending against an ABiH 

offensive that began on 23 March 1993, the Appeals Chamber first notes that Prlic does not point to 

any finding that the HVO planned to take control of Jablanica but rather to a finding concerning the 

capture of two villages in Jablanica Municipality.3774 The Appeals Chamber further notes that his 

assertions that the HVO action constituted a defence against an ABiH offensive do not detract from 

and are not inconsistent with the finding that the HVO eventually captured the Villages. To the 

extent that Prlic suggests that these submissions are inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's finding 

that the HVO military operations in the municipalities of Jablanica and Prozor resulted from an 

HVO plan to implement by force the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum,3775 the Appeals Chamber fails to see 

how ABiH military operations that began on 23 March 1993 could show that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have found that HVO military operations in April 1993 were carried out pursuant to the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum. 

thereon. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 141, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01909, P01917, P01936, P01952. Further, the 
Appeals Chamber notes that in making this argument, Prlic refers to his submissions under ground of appeal 3, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
3771 Radmilo Jasak, T. 48951 (26 Jan 2010); Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 141. Moreover, the possibility that the HVO 
action may have been a reaction to an ABiH offensive that had commenced on 13 April 1993, allegedly suggested in 
Jasak's testimony, is not inconsistent with the impugned finding that the "plan" for an attack on several villages in 
Prozor Municipality was drawn up as part of the implementation of the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. 
3772 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017; Kvocka et al. 
A~peal Judgement, para. 23. 
373 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 526, 528, Vol. 4, para. 143. The Appeals Chamber observes in addition that all 
references to Trial Chamber findings contained in PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 490, are erroneous, and recalls that an 
appellant is expected to provide precise reference to relevant paragraphs in the trial judgement to which the challenges 
are being made. See supra, para. 24. 
3774 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 491, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 144. 
3775 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 146. See supra, fn. 3762. 
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1199. Having dismissed all arguments under the present sub-grounds of appeal, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum caused clashes around Jablanica Municipality and was 

followed by systematic and widespread HVO military operations around prozor.3776 

1200. For the foregoing reasons, PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 16.2.3, 16.2.4, and 16.2.5 fail. 

(iii) Removal of Muslims from Doljani and SoviCi (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.2.6) 

1201. The Trial Chamber found that on 5 May 1993, the President of the Gomji Vakuf HVO, 

Ivan Saric, wrote to Pdic informing him that the HVO had removed approximately 300 Muslims 

fr~m Doljani and SoviCi, and that Pdic did nothing to protect them.3777 

1202. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding, solely relying on Exhibit P02191, 

that he was personally informed of the removal of these civilians and did nothing to protect them, 

while no evidence supports a finding that he received this document or was informed of its 

content.3778 He claims that the Trial Chamber found no involvement of the HVO HZ H-B or Pdic in 

the evacuation of civilians.3779 

1203. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show that the impugned finding was 

unreasonable, since it is based on a5 May 1993 report addressed directly to him and bearing a 

stamp confirming receipt on the same day.378o It submits that his remaining assertions are 

irrelevant. 3781 

1204. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the report (Exhibit P02191) 

was received by the HVO Main Staff in Mostar on the same day that it was sent, and was addressed 

to the President of the HVO HZ H-B in Mostar.3782 It finds that Pdic has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have found, relying on this exhibit, that he was personally informed of 

the removal of civilians from SoviCi and Doljani.3783 Regarding PdiC's submission that the 

Trial Chamber found no involvement of the HVO HZ H-B or Pdic in the evacuation of civilians, 

3776 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 488. The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic fails to identify the impugned finding by way 
of reference to the Trial Judgement, but understands his challenges to refer to the finding in the first sentence in Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 146, recalled supra, para. 1193 at fn. 3762. 
3777 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613, Vol. 4, paras 145-146. 
3778 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 492, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's ground of appeal 3. 
3779 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 493. 
3780 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 307. 
3781 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 307. 
3782 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613, Vol. 4, para. 145. 
3783 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 492, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613, Vol. 4, paras 145-146. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic also refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere 
in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
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the Appeals Chamber fails to see its relevance to the impugned finding. Pdic's sub-ground of 

appeal 16.2.6 is dismissed. 

(iv) Mens rea (PrliC's Sub-ground 16.2.7) 

1205. The Trial Chamber found that, being aware of the HVO crimes committed against the 

Muslim population in the wake of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum, Prlic had reason to know that 

the similar 4 April 1993 Ultimatum would have the same outcome, namely the commission of 

crimes by the HVO against the Muslim population, and that he intended this to happen.3784 Thus, 

the Trial Chamber found that by participating in drafting the latter ultimatum, Pdic accepted the 

destruction of Muslim property and the arrests and removal of the Muslim popUlation in the 

municipalities of Jablanica and Prozor in mid-ApriI1993?785 

1206. PdiC submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that by participating in drafting 

the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum he intended that crimes be committed against Muslims in the 

municipalities of Prozor and Jablanica, as it ignored evidence that the alleged crimes were 

investigated and that it was Boban, rather than Prlic or the HVO HZ H-B, who was involved in the 

investigations.3786 

1207. The Prosecution responds that: (1) the impugned finding is reasonable; (2) the alleged 

investigations were in fact only preliminary inquiries that were never followed through and which 

the Trial Chamber did not ignore; and (3) Pdic fails to explain how his lack of involvement in this 

regard demonstrates that he did not intend the crimes?787 

1208. The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic relies on PetkoviC's evidence that there were 

investigations into crimes committed by the Convicts' Battalion in the second half of April 1993 in 

SoviCi and Doljani in Jablanica Municipality.3788 Contrary to PdiC's assertion, the Trial Chamber 

did not ignore PetkoviC's evidence on this topic.3789 The Trial Chamber found in this regard that: "It 

is clear from all the evidence that not only were no measures taken, but moreover, these units, 

which were known since 1993 to be violent and dangerous, took part in HVO numerous military 

operations during which many crimes were committed.,,379o As for the submission that it was Boban 

who was involved, the Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic refers to some evidence indicating that 

3784 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 146-147. See supra, fn. 3762. 
3785 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 146-147. 
3786 PrliC's Appeal Blief, para. 494, referling to, inter alia, Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 146-147; Ex. 2D00089; 
Ex. P02088, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49439-49442 (15 Feb 2010). 
3787 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 308. 
3788 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 494 & fn. 1281 and references cited therein. 
3789 See Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 806 & fn. 1522. 
3790 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 806. See infra, paras 2338-2349. 
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Boban had some involvement in investigations into crimes.3791 However, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that the mere fact that someone else may have been involved in the investigation rather than 

Pdic cannot show an error in the Trial Chamber's finding on his mens rea.3792 His sub-ground of 

appeal 16.2.7 is therefore dismissed. 

(c) PdiC's involvement in the campaign of mass arrest of Muslims beginning on 30 June 1993 in 

several municipalities CPrlic's Sub-ground 16.3) 

1209. The Trial Chamber found that on 30 June 1993, following an ABiH attack on HVO 

positions, Pdic and Stojic issued a joint proclamation ("30 June 1993 Joint· Proclamation"), 

containing a call to arms to the Croatian people in BiH to defend themselves against the Muslim 

aggression.3793 Despite the fact that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation did not, per se, call for the 

mass arrest of Muslims, the Trial Chamber concluded that Pdic accepted, knew, and intended to 

have Muslim men arrested indiscriminately and en masse, and placed in detention.3794 In reaching 

this conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered that the "chronological account of the events that 

occurred after the [30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation] attests to the implementation of a 

preconceived plan",3795 including the actions undertaken by the military authorities after the 

30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation.3796 In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that: (1) the military 

chain of command perceived the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation, which Stojic was charged with 

implementing,3797 "in the same way it did" the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum and the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum; and (2) based on the testimony of Petkovic, the military authorities could not have 

3791 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 494, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 2D00089, Ex. P02088, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49439-
49442 (15 Feb 2010). 
3792 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the deaths of seven 
civilians in Dusa and PdiC's convictions for the 19 April 1993 killings in the village of Toscanica in Prozor 
Municipality. See supra, paras 441-443, 876 & fn. 2790, para. 886. The Appeals Chamber does not consider that these 
changes affect the Trial Chamber's finding that is challenged under this ground, insofar as it concerns the remaining 
crimes, i.e. that Pdic, being aware of the HVO crimes committed against the Muslim population in the wake of the 
15 January 1993 Ultimatum, had reason to know that the similar 4 April 1993 Ultimatum would have the same 
outcome, namely the commission of crimes by the HVO against the Muslim popUlation, and that he intended this to 
happen. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 146; supra, fn. 3762. This is in particular so since not many instances of 
murder took place in that period. See supra, para. 876. 
3793 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151, 154. 
3794 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 154-155. 
3795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 154. 
3796 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151 (the Commander of the North-West OZ, Zeljko Siljeg, requested "instructions 
for work" from Petkovic and Stojic on the basis of the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and forwarded "the order of the 
Defence Department and the HVO HZ H-B" to the Rama Brigade and the 2nd Military Police Battalion, among others), 
152 (Radoslav Lavric sent an order, pursuant to the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation, to all the departments and 
sections of the Military Police Administration and to all Military Police battalions demanding, inter alia, the arrest of all 
conscripts who had not regulated their status). 
3797 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 15 L 
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made arrests without the approval of the civilian authorities, including the consent of President 

Prlic.3798 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1210. Pdic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his involvement in the campaign of 

arrests and mass detention of Muslims beginning on 30 June 1993 in several municipalities.3799 

First, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of a Muslim offensive starting on 

30 June 1993 and made contradictory findings when concluding that Pdic and Stojic called on the 

Croats to arm themselves against the Muslims in the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation,3800 rather 

than accepting this proclamation as an act of defence. 3801 Second, Pdic claims that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation was linked to a JCE, 

while it ignored evidence that the HVO: (1) was surprised by the ABiH attack; (2) had not taken 

any preventive measures; and (3) had made no preparations for the arrests resulting from the ABiH 

attack and killings of HVO Croats by HVO Muslims.3802 

1211. Pdic also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the military chain of 

command perceived the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation in the same way as it perceived the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum and the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum.3803 He specifically submits that the 

evidence does not support the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic was tasked with implementing 

this proclamation.3804 

3798 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 154. 
3799 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 495. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 503. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 449. 
38ooPrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 496-497; Appeal Hearing, AT. 144-145 (20 Mar 2017). . 
3801 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 498. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 496-497. Prlic specifically argues that the attack on 
30 June 1993 was an act of treason by Muslim HVO soldiers and that he himself issued no orders to military units and 
made no inflammatory remarks demonising Muslims or the ABiH. PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 497-498. 
3802 PrliC' s Appeal Brief, para. 499. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 500, refelTing to Witness Klaus Johann Nissen's and 
Witness Bozo PavloviC's testimonies; Appeal Hearing, AT. 144-145 (20 Mar 2017). 
3803 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 503. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 504, refelTing to PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 16.1-
16.2. 
3804 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 505-506. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber elTed in finding that the 30 June 1993 
Joint Proclamation was the basis for the following acts: (1) Siljeg's request, Exhibit P03026, for "instructions for 
work"; and (2) LavriC's order to the Military Police, Exhibit P03077, demanding, inter alia, the atTest of all conscripts 
who had not regulated their status. PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 507-508. Prlic contends that the 30 June 1993 Joint 
Proclamation was never sent to the HVO Main Staff or any military structure. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 507. Prlic also 
submits that the Trial Chamber contradicted itself regarding who ordered the mobilisation and ignored the following 
evidence: (1) LavriC's order "conformed" to StojiC's order; (2) the arrests were based on HVO Main Staff orders; and 
(3) PetkoviC's order of 30 June 1993 was based on an authorisation from Boban and did not refer to the 30 June 1993 
Joint Proclamation. PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 507-509. 

498 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23397



1212. In addition, Pdic claims that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the military 

authorities could not have made arrests without the approval of the civilian authorities, including 

Pdic, as it mischaracterised PetkoviC's testimony.3805 

1213. Finally, regarding his knowledge and intent, Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that he knew of "the plan" and intended to have Muslim men arrested indiscriminately 

and en masse, and placed in detention.3806 Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of 

his attempts to reduce tension and improve the situation by: (1) informing the "internationals" about 

the arrests as soon as he became aware; and (2) appealing to all sides in BiH not to use 

humanitarian operations as a weapon in the conflict.3807 

1214. The Prosecution responds that Pdic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's 

findings.3808 It submits that the Trial Chamber specifically considered the attack launched by the 

ABiH forces and that it is irrelevant whether this attack came as a surprise or not.3809 The 

Prosecution also argues that PdiC's attempts to distance himself from StojiC's "mobilisation order" 

are unfounded. 3810 Further, it claims that Pdic failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and PetkoviC's order caused orders to be issued 

down the military chain of command.3811 With respect to PetkoviC's testimony, the Prosecution 

argues that PdiC fails to explain how the Trial Chamber erred in relying on his evidence that the 

HVO was structured for the civilian authorities to "exert control over the military".3812 

3805 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 501. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 502, referring to PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 12.1. 
3806 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 510. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 511, referring to PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 
16.3.1-16.3.2. 
3807 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 512, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 433 (PdiC's ground of appeal 14). 
3808 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 309-310. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 192 (20 Mar 2017). 
3809 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 312. The Prosecution notes that in any event, Pdic relies on evidence 
indicating that the HVO had envisaged that the situation in Mostar could escalate. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), 
~ara. 312. 

810 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 311. 
3811 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 313. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 315. The 
Prosecution further submits that the 30 June .1993 Joint Proclamation was indeed forwarded to military units. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 313. In addition, the Prosecution argues that Pdic fails to explain how the 
Trial Chamber erred in relying on Petko viC' s testimony to find that the military authorities could not have canied out 
the mass anests without the approval of the civilian authorities, including Prlic. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), 

f8~~r~!:~ution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 314. See Prosecution's Response Brief (PdiC), fn. 1101. The Prosecution 
submits further that it is beside the point whether PetkoviC's order was based on authority from Boban. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Pdic), para. 315. 
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1215. Finally, the Prosecution submits that Pdic's knowledge and intent are amply demonstrated 

by his attempt to justify the mass detentions and arrests, and that his submissions to the contrary are 

unfounded. 3813 

(ii) Analysis 

1216. The Appeals Chamber turns first to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored 

evidence of a Muslim offensive starting on 30 June 1993 and made contradictory findings when 

concluding that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation called on the Croats to arm themselves against 

the Muslims. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber concluded that early on 

30 June 1993, the ABiH launched an offensive on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks, located in the 

north of the town of Mostar, and that following this and other attacks that took place during the 

course of several days, the ABiH succeeded in taking control of the north zone of East Mostar.3814 

The Trial Chamber also found that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation called for the Croatian 

people in BiH to defend themselves against the Muslim aggression.3815 Considering these findings, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to show that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of a 

Muslim offensive starting on 30 June 1993, and is merely offering his own interpretation of the 

evidence.3816 Further, Pdic fails to explain how the Trial Chamber contradicted itself.3817 

Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses his argument. 

1217. Concerning PdiC's second challenge that this proclamation was not linked to the JCE, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the allegedly ignored evidence does not provide clear support for 

Pdi6's assertions that the HVO was surprised, had not taken any preventive measures with regard to 

the ABiH attack, and had made no preparations for the arrests.3818 In any event, Pdic fails to explain 

why the mass arrest of Muslims could not be linked to the JCE if it had not been planned prior to 

the ABiH attack.3819 The Appeals Chamber dismisses his argument accordingly. 

1218. With respect to PdiC's challenge that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the military 

chain of command perceived the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation in the same way as it did the 

3813 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 316. The Prosecution also submits that PdiC's appeal of 6 July 1993 not 
to use humanitarian operations as a weapon is irrelevant to the arrest campaign and only highlights his failure to take 
action in that regard. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 317. 
3814 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 880-881. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57, 64. 
3815 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 151. 
3816 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 497. 
3817 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 496 & fn. 1287, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 879-884. 
3818 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 499, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 4D00702, Radmilo Jasak, T. 48700-48701 (20 Jan 
2010), Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49585, 49589 (17 Feb 2010). 
3819 The Appeals Chamber further finds no merit in PrliC's reference to Nissen's evidence, in which he speculated about, 
but acknowledged having no personal knowledge of, any plan or preparations for mass arrests of Muslims, and to 
PavloviC's testimony, in which he said that he did not recall the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation. See PdiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 500 and references cited therein. . 
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15 January 1993 Ultimatum and the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, the Appeals Chamber finds, having 

reviewed the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the issuance and chain of command in respect of 

the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and the supporting evidence, that Prlic has failed to articulate 

an error that would invalidate the Trial Chamber's conclusion in this respect. The Appeals Chamber 

notes in particular that the Trial Chamber's findings on how the military chain of command 

perceived the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation find explicit support in the evidence on which it 

relied.382o The Appeals Chamber further considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have found, 

based on the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and events that followed, that Stojic was tasked with 

implementing this proclamation.3821 Bearing in mind the Trial Chamber's findings with respect to, 

and in particular the chronology of events following the signing of, the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum 

and the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum,3822 the Appeals Chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could 

have made the impugned finding. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's challenge. 

1219. Concerning PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the military authorities 

could not have made arrests without the approval of the civilian authorities, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Prlic fails to explain how Petkovic's statement that PrliC's influence was limited by 

the decree on armed forces would show that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised his testimony. The 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber specifically considered Petkovic's testimony that 

Prlic could only issue operative orders to the anned forces through the Department of Defence, but 

also noted that he, as President of the HVO Government, issued decisions that had a direct impact 

on the course of military operations of the HVO.3823 Against this background, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Prlic merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's finding without showing an error and 

d· . hi 3824 ISlllisses s argument. 

3820 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151-152, referring to Exs. P03026, P03038, P03039, P03077. Notably, Siljeg's 
order, Exhibit P03026, specifically states that it is based on, inter alia, "the command issued by the Head of Defence 
Department and the President of the HVO HB HZB". Exhibit P03077 similarly indicates that it was issued "[p]ursuant 
to the order by the Head of the Defence Department, Mr Bruno Stojic, and the HZ H-B HVO President, Dr. J. Pdic". In 
addition, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation "was 
never sent to the HVO Main Staff or to any military structure". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 507. See Ex. P03039 
(forwarding the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation to, inter alia, all HVO representatives in municipalities, all Defence 
Offices in municipalities, and Military Police command). The Appeals Chamber also finds no contradiction in the Trial 
Chamber's findings regarding who ordered the mobilisation. Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 884, with 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151-152. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic fails to show that the 
allegedly ignored evidence is relevant to or impacts the impugned finding. 
3821 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 151, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03038. The Appeals Chamber considers that 
Pdic fails to point to any evidence that would show an error in this regard. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 506. The 
Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.1 and 16.2, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1146-1208. 
3822 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125, 138-140. See supra, paras 1149-1152, 1184-1189. 
3823 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 107. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 106; supra, para. 1118. 
3824 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 12.1, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1099-1122. 
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1220. Finally, turning to PdiC's arguments concerning his intent and knowledge of the plan to 

have Muslim men arrested indiscriminately and en masse, and placed in detention, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that these challenges are based in part on mere cross-reference to 

arguments that were considered and dismissed above. 3825 Regarding the argument that the Trial 

Chamber ignored evidence of his attempts to reduce tension and improve the situation by informing 

the "internationals" about the arrests, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber 

specifically found, inter alia, that Pdic informed representatives of an international organisation of 

the 6,000 Muslim military-aged men whom the HVO had arrested for security reasons and placed in 

detention?826 The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses his argument as he ignores relevant findings. In 

relation to the argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of PdiC's appeal to all sides in 

BiH not to use humanitarian operations as a weapon, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has 

failed to show how such evidence demonstrates that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the 

campaign of arrests and mass detention of Muslims are unreasonable and dismisses his argument 

accordingly.3827 

1221. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed to show any error in 

the impugned findings and dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 16.3. 

(d) Mostar Municipality (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.4) 

(i) West Mostar 

a. Alleged error in concluding that the Croatian culture was introduced 

CPrliC's Sub-ground 16.4.1) 

1222. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding, by relying on the testimony of 

Tomljanovich, while. ignoring other evidence, that he approved the introduction of a Croatian 

culture in HZ(R) H-B through the use of the Croatian language and Dinar and the HZ H-B coat of 

arms and flag. 3828 

3825 Specifically, Pdic refers to his challenges in sub-grounds of appeal 16.3.1 and 16.3.2 (PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
paras 496-500), which concern the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 511; supra, paras 
1210,1216-1217. 
3826 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 894 & fn. 2091, specifically noting the testimony of Petkovic that "the HVO had 
never tried to conceal the isolation measures against HVO Muslim soldiers and Muslims fit for combat from the 
international observers", referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 49581-49584 (17 Feb 2010). See also Trial 
Judgement, VoL 2, para. 895, VoL 4, para. 153. 
3827 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 14, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1128-1134. 
3828 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 514-520. 
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1223. The Prosecution responds that PrliC's conviction does not rely on the findings made on his 

involvement in "Croatisation" and as such his arguments should be summarily dismissed.3829 

1224. The Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber found that Prlie did debate and 

sign regulations approving the introduction of a Croatian culture, it did not find that Prlie promoted 

the municipal HVO's policy of discrimination against Muslims, thus encouraging their departure 

from Mostar.383o It also did not find that he was informed of such a policy.3831 As Prlie challenges 

factual findings on which his conviction does not rely,3832 the Appeals Chamber dismisses his 

sub-ground of appeal 16.4.1. 

b. Alleged error regarding PrliC's acceptance of the arrest of Muslims that took 

place around 9 May 1993 CPrliC's Sub-ground 16.4.2) 

1225. The Trial Chamber found that the situation in Mostar was discussed during the 38th session 

of the HVO on 17 May 1993, and that: 

[ ... ] The HVO expressed its support for the relocation of civilians to the Heliodrom and said that 
the women, children and elderly people had been released. The Chamber considers that by 
participating in the meeting and raising no objections while continuing to exercise his functions at 
the head of the HVO, Jadranko Pdic accepted the arrests of Muslim men of Mostar who did not 
belong to any armed forces carried out around 9 May 1993?833 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1226. Prlie challenges the above finding arguing that the Trial Chamber misconstrued 

Exhibit 1D01666 (minutes of the 38 th HVO meeting), the single document on which it based its 

conc1usion?834 According to Prlie, the HVO HZ H-B did not express its support for the relocation 

of civilians to the Heliodrom but for the activities of the ODPR.3835 Prlie submits that the 

Trial Chamber ignored evidence and its own findings that the ODPR did not participate in the 

relocation of civilians.3836 Further, he submits that nothing suggests that only Muslims were 

relocated.3837 He also submits that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that he and the HVO HZ 

H-B were not involved in any "activities or agreements during this period".3838 

3829 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 319. 
3830 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 158. . 
3831 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 160. 
3832 Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 270-276. See supra, paras 1149-1152, 1157-1159, & fn. 3677, para. 11·90; infra, 
Earas 1314, 1317 & fns 4077, 4092. 

833 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 165. 
3834 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 521, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
3835 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 522. 
3836 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 522. 
3837 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 523-524. 
3838 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 524. 
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1227. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to show that no reasonable trial chamber could 

have relied on the plain words of the minutes of the 38th HVO meeting to reach its conclusions.3839 

According to the Prosecution, these minutes clearly demonstrate that the Government expressed 

support for the ODPR's activities in the context of its moving civilians from Mostar to the 

Heliodrom.384o The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber's findings and the evidence show 

that only Muslims were relocated.3841 Lastly, the Prosecution submits that Prlic ignores contrary 

evidence as to his and the Government's involvement in "activities" at this time.3842 

ii. Analysis 

1228. The Appeals Chamber notes that the impugned finding was based on the minutes of the 

38th HVO meeting, held on 17 May 1993, which state that: 

[ ... J Support was expressed for the activities of the [ODPRJ which has been active since the first 
day civilians were relocated from Mostar to the former Military Gymnasium and Heliodrom, after 
the commencement of combat activities in Mostar. [ ... J The HVO HZ H-B was informed that all 
elderly persons, women and children have already been sent back to their homes, and that some of 
them have been sent, at their own request, to the part of town on the left bank of the river 
Neretva?843 

The Appeals Chamber considers with regard to PrliC's argument that the HVO HZ H-B did not 

express its support for the relocation of civilians to the Heliodrom but rather for the activities of the 

ODPR, that based on a contextual reading of the minutes of the 38th HVO meeting, a reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded that the HVO HZ H-B expressed its support for such relocation of 

civilians?844 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's argument. 

1229. As to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence and its own findings that 

the ODPR did not participate in the relocation of civilians, the Appeals Chamber considers that this 

submission is not supported by the references on which Prlic relies.3845 For instance, he refers to 

PetkoviC's testimony on an agreement between him and Sefer Halilovic concerning, inter alia, 

displaced persons and the fact that Petkovic was informed of civilians being released from the 

Heliodrom,3846 which the Appeals Chamber does not consider demonstrates that the ODPR did not 

participate in relocating civilians. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses Prlic's argument as a mere 

3839 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 320. 
3840 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prli~), para. 320. 
3841 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 321. 
3842 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 321. 
3843 E x. lD01666, pp. 1-2. 
3844 Having dismissed the argument that the Trial Chamber misconstrued Exhibit 1D01666 (the minutes of the 
38th HVO meeting), the Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic does not clearly articulate any error in the Trial Chamber's 
reliance on "a single document". In this regard, the Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in 
~round of appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 

845 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, fns 1343-1344 and references cited therein. 
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assertion and misrepresentation of the evidence. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses PrliC's 

claim that the evidence does not indicate that only Muslims were relocated, as he ignores other 

relevant findings of the Trial Chamber.3847 Lastly, PrliC's argument that neither he nor the HVO HZ 

H-B participated in "activities or agreements during this period" is vague and irrelevant to the 

challenged factual finding and is dismissed on this basis. 

1230. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's sub-ground of 

appeal 16.4.2. 

c. Alleged errors regarding PrliC's contribution to the eviction process 

CPrliC's Sub-grounds 16.4.3 and 16.4.4) 

1231. The Trial Chamber found that on 6 July 1993, Prlie signed a decree on the use of apartments 

abandoned by the tenants ("Decree of 6 July 1993"),3848 and that he thereby accepted the HVO HZ 

H-B's practice of appropriating the apartments of Muslims expelled from West Mostar and 

contributed to their eviction because once the Muslims were deprived of their apartments, their 

return to Mostar became unrealistic.3849 It also found that from at least June 1993, Prlie was 

repeatedly alerted to the forcible evictions of Muslims, which continued until February 1994.3850 By 

failing to act, by validating the loss of apartments belonging to Muslims in Mostar, and by 

remaining in power while fully aware of the crimes committed against Muslims, Prlie contributed to 

the climate of violence and accepted the commission of acts of violence linked to the eviction 

campaign.3851 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1232. Prlic challenges these findings.3852 Specifically, Prlic claims that there is no evidence that 

the HVO HZ H-B appropriated the apartments of expelled Muslims from West Mostar or allocated 

apartments of expelled Muslims to soldiers and Croatian families, and that the Trial Chamber made 

findings supporting this view. 3853 

3846 PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1344, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49552-49553 (16 Feb 2010), 49555 
(24 Feb 2010). 
3847 The Trial Chamber found that between 9 and 11 May 1993 Muslims were arrested and transported to the Heliodrom 
and, following that, only Muslims were detained in the Heliodrom. Trial Judgement, VoL 2, paras 805, 1495, 1497-
1498. 
3848 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 169; Ex. P03089. 
3849 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 170. 
3850 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 171. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 170. 
3851 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 171. 
3852 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 525. 
3853 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 526. 

505 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23390



1233. Prlic further argues that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the Decree of 6 July 1993, 

which was similar to a 1992 BiH law on abandoned apartments?854 He also claims that the 

Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing: (1) the "chaotic" use of socially-owned abandoned 

apartments; (2) efforts made by municipal authorities to introduce order in the use of apartments; 

(3) that the aim of the Decree of 6 July 1993 was to standardise legislation in all municipalities; 

(4) that this decree was more in line with human rights than the 1992 BiH law; and (5) that the 

majority of abandoned apartments were allotted to Muslims and ABiH soldiers.3855 

1234. Prlic also challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusion that when Muslims were deprived of 

their apartments "their return became unrealistic" as, according to him, the Trial Chamber ignored 

evidence that the HVO HZ H-B adopted measures to protect private property and to preserve the . 
demographic structure by decreeing that refugees and displaced persons retain their places of 

domicile in the places of residence as of 1 April 1992.3856 

1235. The Prosecution responds that Prlic shows no error in the Trial Chamber's conclusions and 

that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that he endorsed the practice of evicting Muslims and 

appropriating their apartments.3857 According to the Prosecution, Prlic ignores relevant evidence3858 

and does not explain how the similarities between the Decree of 6 July 1993 and the 1992 BiH law 

render the Trial Chamber's findings unreasonable.3859 The Prosecution further avers that Prlic fails 

to explain how the "chaotic use" of abandoned apartments, efforts made by municipal authorities to 

introduce order in the use of apartments, and assertions that the Decree of 6 July 1993 aimed to 

standardise municipal legislation and was more in line with human rights than the 1992 BiH law on 

abandoned apartments, are relevant to the impugned finding. 386o Finally, the Prosecution submits 

that Prlic fails to support his claim that the majority of abandoned apartments were allotted to 

Muslims and ABiH soldiers.3861 

1236. With regard to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that once Muslims were 

deprived of their apartments, their return became unrealistic, the Prosecution submits that Prlic 

ignores the plain language of the Decree of 6 July 1993 - giving the previous tenant only seven 

days after a declaration of cessation of imminent threat of war to retake occupancy. 3862 The 

3854 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 527. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 148 (20 Mar 2017). 
3855 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 528; Appeal Hearing, AT. 148 (20 Mar 2017). 
3856 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 529; Appeal Hearing, AT. 149 (20 Mar 2017). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 148 (20 Mar 
2017). See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 530, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 10.5. 
3857 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 322-323. 
3858 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 324. 
3859 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 324. 
3860 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 325. 
3861 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 325. 
386.2 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 326. 
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Prosecution submits that Prlic also fails to explain how alleged Government measures to protect 

property and restrict property transactions facilitated the return of Muslim tenants to their 

apartments.3863 Further, the Prosecution claims that, in light of the ongoing violent HVO ethnic 

cleansing campaign, PrliC's suggestion that the aim of a decree that refugees and displaced persons 

were to maintain their registered domicile as of 1 April 1992 was to prevent demographic change, is 

untenable.3864 

ii. Analysis 

1237. The Appeals Chamber will first address PdiC's argument that there is no evidence that the 

HVO HZ H-B appropriated the apartments of expelled Muslims from West Mostar or that it 

allocated apartments of expelled Muslims to soldiers and Croatian families. The Appeals Chamber 

recalls that the Trial Chamber found that it was HVO forces who evicted Muslims from their 

apartments and allocated them to HVO soldiers and Croatian families. 3865 The Appeals Chamber 

also recalls that the Trial Chamber'found that by signing the Decree of 6 July 1993, issued by the 

HVO HZ H-B itself,3866 Prlic accepted the HVO HZ H-B practice of appropriating the apartments 

of the Muslims expelled from West Mostar and knew about it as of June 1993.3867 In these 

circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to show that no reasonable trier 

of fact coulcl have made the impugned finding. The Appeals Chamber further considers that the fact 

that the Trial Chamber was unable to find that in July and August 1993, apartments from which 

Muslims had been evicted were allocated to Bosnian Croat civilians is not inconsistent with the 

impugned finding.3868 For these reasons, Pdic's argument is dismissed. 

1238. With regard to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised the Decree of 

6 July 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers that he selectively refers to articles of the Decree of 

6 July 1993 that purportedly support his claim, without demonstrating that the Trial Chamber 

misinterpreted them or other relevant articles.3869 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber considers that 

Prlic ignores Articles 7 and 12 of the Decree of 6 July 1993 stating that an abandoned apartment, 

except for the HZ H-B's own military apartments, "may be allocated for temporary use to HVO 

members or other active participants in the struggle against the enemy or to persons who have been 

deprived of a dwelling place because of the war". It also recalls that Article 10, to which Prlic 

refers, only gives seven days' time, after a proclamation of a "cessation of imminent danger of war" 

3863 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 326. 
3864 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 327. 
3865 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 824, 827, 864-866, 872-874, 919-920, 930, 937. 
3866 See Ex. P03089. 
3867 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 170. 
3868 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 938. 
3869 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 527, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03089, Arts 1-3, 9-11. 

507 
Case No.IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23388



for a tenant to reclaim occupancy of an apartment, otherwise "the apartment shall be considered to 

have been permanently vacated".387o PrliC's claim is therefore dismissed. The Appeals Chamber 

considers that Prli6 has not explained how any similarities to a 1992 BiH law on abandoned 

apartments render the Trial Chamber's findings erroneous and dismisses this- contention as 

irrelevant. 

1239. The Appeals Chamber notes that Prli6's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence 

showing the "chaotic" use of abandoned apartments is not supported by any reference to the trial 

record. Thus, it is a mere assertion unsupported by any evidence and the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses it as such. Regarding PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing 

the efforts made by municipal authorities to introduce order in the use of apartments and that the 

Decree of 6 July 1993 was meant to standardise the legislation in all municipalities and was more in 

line with human rights than the 1992 BiH law on abandoned apartments, the Appeals Chamber fails 

to see its relevance to the impugned finding and notes that Prli6 provides no explanation in this 

regard. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses the argument as irrelevant. As to PrliC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing that the majority of abandoned 

apartments were allotted to Muslims and ABiH soldiers, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prli6 

points to evidence which is not specific to the relevant time period, and dismisses his argument as 

temporally irrelevant. 3871 

1240. With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, because it 

ignored evidence, that when Muslims were deprived of their apartments "their return to Mostar 

became unrealistic",3872 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on the wording of 

the Decree of 6 July 1993, which stated that "[w]hen cessation of imminent danger of war is 

proclaimed and the holder of tenancy rights [ ... ] fails to take up occupancy of the apartment within 

seven days, the apartment shall be considered to have been permanently vacated". 3873 The 

Appeals Chamber considers that Prli6 has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact, based on 

3870 Ex. P03089, Arts 7, 10, 12. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 169 & fn. 454. 
3871 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 528(e), referring to Exs. 3DOlO27 (dated September 1992), 1D00641 (dated 
September 1992), 3D00734 (dated October 1992), Borislav Puljic, T. 32291-32292 (17 Sept 2008) (on Ex. 3DOlO27), 
Veso Vegar, T. 37054-37058 (17 Feb 2007) (on Ex. 3DOlO27). Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 169-171, fn. 455 
(referring to May/June 1993 and onwards). With regard to the HVO member Jasak's testimony that in August 1993 
there was no available housing for him, the Appeals Chamber considers this evidence not to be inconsistent with the 
impugned finding. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1361, referring to Radmilo Jasak, T. 48802-48804 (25 Jan 2010). 
Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers PrliC's reference to "Puljic [ ... ] 32309/21-32210/3" to be defective. PrliC's 
A~peal Brief, fn. 1360. 
382 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 170. 
3873 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 169 & fn. 454, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03089, Art. 10. 
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this evidence, and notwithstanding the allegedly ignored evidence,3874 could have reached the same 

conclusion as the Trial Chamber. 3875 

1241. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 

16.4.3 and 16.4.4. 

(ii) East Mostar 

a. The HVO campaign of fire and shelling of East Mostar 

(PrliC's Sub-ground 16.4.5) 

1242. The Trial Chamber found that Prlie knew about the HVO crimes committed during the 

HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar - namely the murders and destruction of 

property, including mosques and the Old Bridge - and that by minimising or attempting to deny 

them, he accepted and encouraged them.3876 The Trial Chamber concluded on this basis that Prlie 

supported the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar as well as its impact on the 

population of East Mostar.3877 

1. Arguments of the Parties 

1243. Prlie challenges these findings. 3878 He claims there is no evidence that he in any way 

encouraged the murders and destruction in East Mostar.3879 Prlie also argues that in finding that he 

minimised or concealed the HVO's responsibility in the destruction of the Old Bridge, the 

Trial Chamber misinterpreted his comments at a meeting with Franjo Tudman and in a BBC 

interview and ignored evidence that from 7 to 11 November 1993 he was not in Mostar.3880 

1244. The Prosecution responds that Prlie incorrectly claims that there is no evidence that he 

encouraged crimes that accompanied the HVO campaign of firing and shelling against 

East Mostar.3881 In the Prosecution's view, Prlie misrepresents his comments in his meeting with 

Tudman and to the BBC, which in fact support the Trial Chamber's finding that he sought to 

3874 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 529 and references cited therein. 
3875 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 10.5, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 910-916. 
3876 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 173-175, referring to, inter alia, 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1347-1351. 
3877 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. 
3878 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 531. 
3879 Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 531. 
3880 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 531-533. With regard to the BBC interview, Prlic points specifically to his comments 
that the destruction of the Old Bridge "is terrible", that there was no political or military reason to destroy it, and that he 
still hoped that Muslims, Croats, and Serbs could live harmoniously in the region. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 533. 
3881 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 328. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 192-193 (20 Mar 2017). 
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conceal or minimise HVO responsibility in the destruction of the Old Bridge.3882 Finally, the 

Prosecution submits that his argument that he was not in Mostar from 7 to 11 November 1993 is 

irrelevant. 3883 

ii. Analysis 

1245. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found, based on supporting 

evidence,3884 that Pdic accepted and encouraged the murders and destruction of property in Mostar 

by minimising or attempting to deny these crimes that he knew had been committed.3885 This 

included evidence relating specifically to East Mostar.3886 The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses 

PdiC's assertion that there is no evidence that he in any way encouraged the murders and 

destruction in East Mostar.3887 

1246. Turning to the Old Bridge, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the 

Trial Chamber's findings that the destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime 

against humanity (Count 1) and unlawful infliction of telTor on civilians as a violation of the laws or 

customs of war (Count 25) and has therefore acquitted the Appellants of these charges insofar as 

they concern the Old Bridge.3888 In its analysis of PdiC' s contribution to the lCE, the Trial Chamber 

referred to its finding that the destruction of the Old Bridge amounted to wanton destruction not 

justified by military necessitl889 and found that Pdic knew about the crime of the destruction of the 

Old Bridge by the HVO:3890 Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's 

findings on PdiC's contribution to the lCE, as far as the Old Bridge is concerned, are premised on 

the destruction of the Old Bridge being a crime. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber reverses the 

Trial Chamber's finding - insofar as it concerns the Old Bridge - that Pdic knew about the HVO 

crimes committed during the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar and that by 

minimising or attempting to deny them, he accepted and encouraged them.3891 As a result, Pdic's 

submissions with regard to the Old Bridge are moot. 

1247. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 

16.4.5. 

3882 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 329. 
3883 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 329. 
3884 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1347-1351, Vol. 4, paras 174-176 and references cited therein. 
3885 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. 
3886 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 174. 
3887 See supra, fn. 2816. 
3888 See supra, para. 426. The Appeals Chamber also reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction not justified by military necessity as a violation of the laws or customs of 
war (Count 20). See supra, para. 414. 
3889 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 175 & fn. 469. 
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b. The living conditions in East Mostar (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.4.6) 

1248. The Trial Chamber found that in June 1993, the HVO hindered repair works on the water 

supply system in East Mostar proposed by the TRW Company.3892 The Trial Chamber accepted 

Witnesses BA's and BC's evidence that despite PdiC's assurances that there would be no obstacles 

to repairing the water supply system and that he would permit repair work to go ahead, the HVO 

constantly raised bureaucratic obstacles to prevent the repair. 3893 The Trial Chamber considered the 

only possible explanation to be that Pdic deliberately impeded the attempts to repair the water 

supply system by placing bureaucratic obstacles in the way.3894 The Trial Chamber nevertheless 

noted that between July and November 1993, the HVO attempted to repair the hydraulic system.3895 

The Trial Chamber also noted PdiC's proposals of 2 December 1993 to alleviate the suffering of the 

population of East Mostar, but found no evidence that the proposals were ever implemented.3896 

The Trial Chamber found that Pdic knew of the bad living conditions of the population of East 

Mostar, in particular the lack of food and water, and had the power to intervene but failed to act to 

improve such conditions.3897 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1249. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that, having had the power to 

intervene, he failed to act to improve the living conditions of the population of East Mostar.3898 He 

argues that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence showing his effOlts to facilitate the flow of 

humanitarian aid and his negotiation efforts at the end of 1993 to find a solution for Mostar.3899 

1250. Prlic also claims the Trial Chamber erred in concluding, based on selective evidence and 

uncorroborated hearsay, that in June 1993 the HVO hindered repair on the water supply in 

East Mostar,3900 and that, by creating "bureaucratic obstacles", he deliberately impeded the TRW 

Company's attempts to have it repaired. 3901 Pdic further submits that the Trial Chamber 

mischaracterised some evidence and ignored other evidence which demonstrates that there were 

3890 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. 
3891 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 176. 
3892 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1213,1218, Vol. 4, para. 179. 
3893 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1213, Vol. 4, paras 179-180. 
3894 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 180. 
3895 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1215, 1218, Vol. 4, para. 179. 
3896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1203,1222, Vol. 4, para. 181. 
3897 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 182. 
3898 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 534. 
3899 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 534, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 397 (ground of appeal 12), 433 
(~'ound of appeal 14), 544, 546 (sub-ground of appeal 16.4.7). 
300 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 535. 
3901 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 535, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 179-180 (ground of appeal 6), 
186-187 (sub-ground of appeal 6.2). Prlic claims in this regard that Witness BA offered no specifics for his claims that 
the HVO constantly raised "bureaucratic obstacles". PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 535. 
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other reasons why the water supply system had not been repaired, such as security reasons, that 

West Mostar also lacked water, that the Mostar municipal authority controlled the water supply, and 

that bridges had to be repaired before the water supply could be fixed. 3902 He submits that it is 

"illogical" for the Trial Chamber to conclude that the HVO obstructed the repairs on the water 

supply in June 1993 when it found that from July until November 1993, the HVO attempted to 

manage the water supply issues in Mostar and performed the necessary repairs. 3903 

1251. Pdic further argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that his proposals to 

alleviate the suffering of the population of East Mostar were not followed through, implying his 

non-commitment or obstruction, while ignoring its own finding that there was a front line . .. 

separating Mostar and evidence that the ABiH rejected all offers for help from West Mostar and 

that the possibilities to help were limited.3904 Finally, Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber ignored 

evidence that the peace proposal after the inauguration of the HR H-B Government reaffirmed 

previous efforts to provide necessary utilities and healthcare for all inhabitants of Mostar, that the 

new government, having more powers, played a more prominent role in humanitarian issues, and 

that Pdic sincerely tried to find solutions for all of Mostar and its inhabitants. 3905 

1252. The Prosecution responds that PdiC shows no error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 

he failed to intervene to improve living conditions in East Mostar.39
0

6 It argues that the 

Trial Chamber relied on corroborated evidence to conclude that he deliberately impeded repairs to 

the water system3907 and that it did not mischaracterise the evidence supporting its finding that the 

HVO impeded repairs on the water system.3908 According to the Prosecution, the Trial Chamber 

considered evidence, analogous to the evidence Pdic claims it ignored, of objective obstacles and 

ABiH non-co-operation.3909 Finally, the Prosecution submits that none of the other evidence Pdic 

refers to undermines the Trial Chamber's findings. 3910 

3902 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 536. 
3903 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 536. 
3904 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 537. 
3905 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 538. 
3906 Prosecution's Response Brief (Frlic), para. 330. 
3907 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 331. 
3908 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 332. 
3909 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 333. 
3910 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 333-335. As to the evidence Prlic cites t9 argue that the HR H-B 
Government sought to provide utilities and healthcare for all inhabitants of Mostar, the Prosecution notes that he only 
refers to one such effort: the establishment of a soup kitchen in West Mostar. Further, the Prosecution argues that 
PrliC's suggestion that it was only with the creation of the HR H-B that the Government had the necessary power to 
intervene with respect to humanitarian issues ignores the Trial Chamber's findings on the Government's consistent 
authority throughout the relevant period. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 335. 
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ii. Analysis 

1253. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered evidence showing PrliC's 

negotiation efforts at the end of 1993 to find a solution for Mostar, at times even the specific 

evidence that Prlic claims it ignored, and accordingly dismisses PrliC's claims to the contrary.3911 

Further, PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence of his efforts to facilitate the 

flow of humanitarian aid is based on a cross-reference to his (sub-)grounds of appeal 12, 14, and 

16.4.7, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.3912 

1254. With respect to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber relied on selective evidence and 

uncorroborated hearsay to find that he and the HVO hindered repair on the water supply in 

East Mostar in June 1993,3913 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on several 

pieces of mutually corroborating evidence to reach this finding. 3914 PrliC's argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

1255. With regard to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised evidence that showed 

that there were other reasons for the non-repair of the water supply in East Mostar, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber characterised this evidence in a manner similar 

to that of PrliC.3915 In particular the Trial Chamber found that: 

THW ultimately broke off its activities at the end of June 1993, but the evidence shows that this 
was for security reasons linked to the escalating combat in Mostar. [ ... J Furthermore, since one 
part of the infrastructure was located on HVO-controlleci territory and the other on 
ABiH-controlled territory, repairs to water pipes could be done only when the respective troops of 
the HVO and the ABiH withdrew from the zone where the infrastructure was located. However, 
neither the HVO nor the ABiH co-operated fully and withdrew their troops so the pipes could be 
repaired. 3916 

3911 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 109 (referring to, inter alia, the testimony of Witness DZ and Ex. 1D02189 
(confidential», 181 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. lD01874, P07008). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1203 and 
references cited therein. Cf PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 534 & fn. 1375; supra, para. 1120. 
3912 See supra, paras 1098-1134; infra, paras 1262-1285. 
3913 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1218, Vol. 4, paras 179-180, 182. 
3914 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1213 & fns 3035-3037, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09712 (confidential), paras 
43,65, P09842 (confidential), p. 3, Witness BC, T(F). 18331-18332 (closed session) (14 May 2007). As to PrliC's claim 
that Witness BA offered no specifics for his claims that the HVO constantly raised "bureaucratic obstacles", the 
Appeals Chamber considers that it fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trial chamber could have found that the HVO 
created bureaucratic obstacles to prevent the repair works in June 1993, based on the evidence of Witnesses BA and 
Be. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1213, Vol. 4, paras 179-180. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his 
submissions within ground of appeal 6, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 212-218. 
3915 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 536 at fns 1379-1380. 
3916 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1214 (referring to, inter alia, Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20511 (26 June 2007», 
1217 (internal references omitted) (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02598, Grant Finlayson, T(F). 18151-18156 (8 May 
2007». The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic also refers to document 2D00156, which was not admitted into evidence. 
Cf PrliC's Appeal Brief, fns 1379-1380. 
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Neither the evidence supporting this finding nor the allegedly ignored evidence3917 is inconsistent 

with the challenged conclusion. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's arguments in this 

regard. 

1256. The Appeals Chamber further considers that Prlic fails to explain how the Trial Chamber's 

finding that, between July and November 1993, the HVO had attempted to manage the water supply 

issues in Mostar and perform the necessary repairs,3918 but that in June 1993 it had not,3919 was 

"illogical", as one finding does not preclude the other. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses 

the argument. 

1257. Turning to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that his proposals to 

help the population of East Mostar were not followed through,3920 the Appeals Chamber first 

considers that PrliC has failed to show how the factual finding that there was a front line dividing 

Mostar3921 is Inconsistent with the impugned findings. The Appeals Chamber further considers that 

PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence showing that the ABiH rejected all offers to 

help mainly relies on the testimony of Witness Ivan Bagaric who testified that, at the time, he 

thought that the Muslim leadership was refusing offers of medical help as a political tactic.3922 The 

Appeals Chamber notes that the other evidence Prlic refers to is similar to that which the 

Trial Chamber considered.3923 The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber thus duly 

considered evidence of a similar nature, but nevertheless concluded that the evidence did not 

demonstrate that such offers were ever implemented.3924 Prlic has failed to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber. These 

arguments are dismissed. 

1258. As to PrliC's related argument that there were limited possibilities to help East Mostar, the 

evidence to which he refers only indicates that the ABiH allowed inhabitants of East Mostar 

permission to leave it in extreme medical cases. 3925 Prlic has failed to show how this evidence is 

3917 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 536 at fns 1381-1384. 
3918 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1215-1218, Vol. 4, para. 179. 
3919 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1213, 1218, Vol. 4, para. 179. 
3920 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1203, 1222, Vol. 4, para. 18I. 
3921 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 992. The Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic's reference to Vol. 1 of the Trial 
Judgement is erroneous and was meant to refer to Vol. 2. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 537 & fn.1387. 
3922 See Ivan Bagaric, T. 39161-39166 (22 Apr 2009),39176-39177 (23 Apr 2009). 
3923 See Ex. P02923 (confidential) (a report on which Bagaric testified); Ivan Bagaric, T. 38973-38974 (21 Apr 2009), 
39213-39216, (23 Apr 2009); Witness BD, T. 20951-20952 (closed session) (5 July 2007); Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
p,ara. 1222 and references cited therein. Cf Prlic's Appeal Brief, fn. 1388. 

924 The Appeals Chamber observes moreover that the Trial Chamber merely found that there was no evidence to 
support a finding that such proposals were ever implemented, rather than finding that such proposals were not 
implemented as Pdic asserts. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 181; PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 537. 
392 See Witness BC, T. 18486-18487 (closed session) (15 May 2007). , 
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inconsistent with the impugned findings. 3926 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses the 

argument. 

1259. With respect to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the peace 

proposal after· the inauguration of the HR H-B Government reaffirmed previous efforts to provide 

utilities and healthcare for all inhabitants of Mostar, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

evidence Prlic relies upon amounts to one effort to set up a soup kitchen in West Mostar.3927 It finds 

that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned 

finding in light of this evidence and dismisses his argument. 3928 With regard to his argument that the 

new government had more powers to playa more prominent role in humanitarian issues, Prlic relies 

on two letters he sent at the end of November and beginning of December 1993 to the commander 

of UNPROFOR and one witness's interpretation of these letters, stating PrliC's intentions to 

improve the humanitarian situation.3929 Again, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic fails to 

show that, in light of this evidence, no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned 

findings that there was "no evidence to support a finding that the proposals [to improve the 

suffering of the population of East Mostar] were ever implemented",393o or that, "even though he 

was aware of the appalling overall situation of the inhabitants of East Mostar and had the power to 

intervene, Iadranko Prlic failed to act to improve the living conditions of the population of 

East Mostar".3931 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

1260. Similarly, with regard to PrliC's final argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that 

he sincerely tried to find solutions for all of Mostar. and its inhabitants, the Appeals Chamber has 

considered the evidence he points to,3932 which at most indicates that Prlic made some efforts in this 

regard, namely, that he mentioned at a meeting with internationals "his own initiatives [ ... ] 

referring to the [ ... ] provision of public kitchens for Muslims [and] provision of hospital facilities 

for Muslims".3933 The Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier 

of fact could have reached the impugned findings based on the remaining evidence.3934 The 

argument is therefore dismissed. 

3926 See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1217. 
3927 Marinko Simunovic, T. 33519-33521 (21 Oct 2008); Exs. lD02764, lD02765, lD02766, lD02767. See PdiC's 
A~peal Brief, fn. 1390. 
398 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1203, Vol. 4, paras 181-182. 
3929 Zoran Perkovic, T. 31799-31800 (2 Sept 2008); Exs. 1D0l873, 1D01912. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1391. 
3930 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 181. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1203, 1222. 
3931 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 182. 
3932 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1392 and references cited therein. Witness DZ talks favourably about PdiC's role in the 
December 1993 negotiations and that the ABiH wanted him as a negotiating partner. Witness DZ, T. 26689 (23 Jan 
2008),26701-26704,26716 (closed session) (24 Jan 2008). 
3933 Ex. 1D02189, p. 2. 
3934 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1203, 1222, Vol. 4, paras 181-182 and references cited therein. 
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1261. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of 

appeal 16.4.6. 

c. PdiC's contribution .to blocking humanitarian aid to East Mostar 

(PdiC's Sub-ground 16.4.7) 

1262. The Trial Chamber found that by contributing to blocking the delivery of humanitarian aid 

to East Mostar, from June to at least December 1993, Pdic must have foreseen that it would cause 

serious bodily harm to the inhabitants of East Mostar and would constitute a serious attack on their 

human dignity, and therefore he intended to cause great suffering to the Mostar population.3935 The 

Trial Chamber also found that in a meeting on 10 June 1993, Prlic and other HVO officials 

informed Witness BA that the ODPR had laid down stricter administrative requirements for the 

movement of humanitarian aid convoys, requiring that each convoy be individually approved by the 

HVO. 3936 

1263. Further, the Trial Chamber found that Prlic was one of the HVO officials with the authority 

to grant passage to the international and humanitarian organisations to deliver humanitarian aid to 

East Mostar.3937 It also found that the HVO impeded the regular delivery of humanitarian aid, at 

least between June and December 1993, by restricting access to East Mostar for international 

organisations, in particular through administrative restrictions, and that the HVO completely 

blocked access for humanitarian convoys for almost two months in the summer of 1993 and in 

December 1993.3938 The Trial Chamber found that Prlic knew of the difficulties the intemational 

organisations, particularly humanitarian ones, had regarding access to East Mostar, that he had the 

power to grant them access, and that between June and at least December 1993, he created 

numerous administrative barriers in order to restrict the delivery of humanitarian aid to 

East Mostar. 3939 

1264. The Trial Chamber further found that the frequent meetings between representatives of the 

intemational organisations and the HVO in July and August 1993 held to negotiate free access for 

humanitarian convoys to East Mostar, including the meeting held on 8 August 1993 in Makarska, 

attested to the difficulties faced by the intemational organisations in obtaining permission for the 

deli very of humanitarian aid.394o 

3935 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 185. 
3936 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1230, Vol. 4, para. 184. 
3937 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1231, Vol. 4, para. 183. 
3938 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1244, Vol. 4, para. 183. See also Trial Judgement, VoL 2, paras 1227, 1237-1242. 
3939 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 185. 
3940 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1239, Vol. 4, para. 184. 
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1. Arguments of the Parties 

1265. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he foresaw and intended 

the suffering and attack on human dignity of East Mostar inhabitants by contributing to the blocking 

of humanitarian aid delivery to East Mostar from June to at least the end of December 1993.3941 

1266. According to Prlic, the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, based on Witness BA's 

uncorroborated evidence, that in a meeting held on 10 June 1993, international organisations were 

informed that the ODPR had decided to set administrative requirements for the J;Ilovement of 

humanitarian aid convoys.3942 Prlic submits in this regard that Witness BA [Redacted, see Annex C 

- Confidential Annex]. 3943 

1267. Prlic also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to grant 

passage to organisations delivering humanitarian aid.3944 He argues that he needed the permission of 

the HVO to move about. 3945 

1268. Prlic contends further that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, by mischaracterising 

Witness BC's evidence, that in July 1993, he refused to authorise access for international 

organisations to East Mostar. 3946 Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that just after 

the Makarska Agreement and when a joint Muslim-Croat convoy was ready for departure from 

Croatia, the ABiH attacked the municipalities of Stolac and Capljina on 12 July 1993, thereby 

preventing any movement from the south.3947 Prlic argues that this is an alternative plausible 

explanation for the blocking of delivery of humanitarian aid.3948 

1269. Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber's findings that "during some periods [he] blocked 

all access to the area" were unsubstantiated by the evidence and also contradicted by the evidence 

on the "milk convoy" and evidence that it was Boban, not Prlic, who decided on the movement of 

representatives of international organisations in July 1993.3949 

1270. Prlic claims the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, relying on mischaracterised and 

irrelevant evidence, that the meeting held on 8 August 1993 in Makarska attests to difficulties faced 

by international organisations in obtaining permission to deliver humanitarian aid to the inhabitants 

3941 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 539. 
3942 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 540. . 
3943 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 540, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 179-180 (ground of appeal 6). 
3944 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 541. 
3945 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 541. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 542, referring to Prlic's Appeal Brief, ground of 
a£real14. 
3 4 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 543 and references cited therein. 
3947 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 543 and references cited therein. 
3948 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 543. 
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of East Mostar, when the Makarska Agreement was in fact organised to eliminate obstacles in the 

delivery of humanitarian aid.3950 

1271. Prlie also argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that some administrative 

procedures were necessary, and that all convoys were approved and reached their destinations.3951 

Similarly, according to Prlie, the Trial Chamber ignored evidence on the "Joint Commission" 

initiated by him and the "Protocol", instructions on the passage of humanitarian convoys,3952 which 

ensured the unhindered passage of humanitarian convoys in BiH from June to December 1993, as 

confirmed by the UNHCR.3953 Finally, Prlie contends that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that, 

despite his limited powers, he endeavoured to ensure the free flow of humanitarian aid, as shown by 

his request to Praljak to use his influence to persuade protesters to allow convoys to enter 

East Mostar in late August 1993.3954 

1272. The Prosecution responds that Prlie demonstrates no error in the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he deliberately participated in blocking humanitarian aid to East Mostar, intending to cause 

great suffering to the population.3955 It submits that Prlie misrepresents the record when claiming 

that the Trial Chamber erred by relying on the evidence of Witness BA3956 and ignores contrary 

evidence to challenge the Trial Chamber's finding that he could approve the passage of 

humanitarian aid.3957 The Prosecution argues that Prlie misconstrues the evidence in his attempt to 

show that no movement from the south was possible for security reasons due to an ABiH attack on 

12 July 1993.3958 

1273. In the Prosecution's view, the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Prlie blocked all access to 

Mostar during certain periods is not "unsubstantiated".3959 The Prosecution also claims that Prlie 

mischaracterises the Trial Judgement when he suggests that the Trial Chamber relied solely on the 

meeting held on 8 August 1993 in Makarska to conclude that international organisations 

encountered difficulties in negotiating humanitarian convoy access. 3960 

3949 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 544. 
3950 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 545. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 546. 
3951 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 546. 
3952 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1412, referring to, inter alia, Exs. lD01855, lD02024, 1D02025. 
3953 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 546. 
3954 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 547. 
3955 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 336. 
3956 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 337. 
3957 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 338. 
3958 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 339. The Prosecution further argues that the fact that a humanitarian 
convoy was cancelled due to fighting does not undermine the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Pdic contributed to the 
blocking of humanitarian aid. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 340. 
3959 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 341. According to the Prosecution, Pdic misleadingly refers to the "milk 
convoy" in July 1993, which did not go through. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 341. 
3960 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 342. . 
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1274. Further, the Prosecution argues that PdiC's claim that some administrative ' procedures were 

necessary cannot explain the deliberate nature of the obstruction to access for humanitarian 

convoys.3961 Moreover, according to the Prosecution, PrliC's claim that all convoys were approved 

and reached their destination ignores clear contrary evidence.3962 In the Prosecution's view, PdiC's 

assertion that the UNHCR "confirmed" a Joint Commission had ensured the unhindered passage of 

humanitarian convoys in BiH between June and December 1993, relies solely on one piece of 

evidence which is vague and unsubstantiated.3963 

1275. The Prosecution also submits that PdiC's contention that he endeavoured to ensure the free 

flow of humanitarian aid is not supported by the evidence he cites and that he ignores other relevant 

evidence.3964 Lastly, the Prosecution avers that Pdic fails to explain how his request for Praljak to 

intervene to allow a convoy to enter Mostar renders the Trial Chamber's overall conclusion 

unreasonable.3965 

ii. Analysis 

1276. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber relied on the evidence 

of Witness BA to find that, in a 10 June 1993 meeting, Pdic and other HVO officials informed 

Witness BA that the ODPR had laid down stricter administrative requirements for the movement of 

humanitarian aid convoys.3966 With regard to Witness BA's testimony allegedly being 

uncorroborated, the Appeals Chamber recalls that there is no general requirement that the testimony 

of a witness be corroborated if deemed otherwise credible.3967 The other reasons Pdic proffers for 

not crediting Witness BA's evidence -[Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex]- are not, in 

the Appeals Chamber's opinion, sufficient to affect the credibility of Witness BA.3968 The Appeals 

Chamber thus rejects this argument. 

1277. The Appeals Chamber further notes that PdiC's argument that he himself needed permission 

from the HVO to move about is not inconsistent with the challenged finding that he had the 

3961 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 343. 
3962 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 343. 
3963 Prosecution's Resp'onse Brief (Prlic), para. 343. Moreover, the Prosecution submits that Prlic contradicts his own 
claim by citing evidence showing that this Joint Commission was only formed following a 17 October 1993 meeting. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 343. 
3964 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 344. 
3965 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 345. 
3966 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1230 & fn. 3066, Vol. 4, para. 184 & fn. 481, referring to Ex. P09712 (confidential), 
p.ara.64. 

967 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. 'Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. See also Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
3968 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic also refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 6, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 212-218. ' 
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authority to grant passage to organisations to deliver humanitarian aid to East Mostar. 3969 This 

. argument is therefore dismissed. 

1278. With regard to PdiC's challenge to the allegedly mischaracterised evidence of Witness BC, 

which the Trial Chamber relied upon to find that, in July 1993, Prlic refused international 

organisations access to East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber based its 

finding on the testimony of Witness BC and PrliC's letter dated 14 July 1993.3970 Witness BC 

testified that in a meeting with Prlic and others, held some time between 10 and 15 July 1993, Pdic 

linked "humanitarian access to East Mostar [ ... ] to the military situation on the ground".3971 This 

link recurs in PdiC's letter dated 14 July 1993: 

By this letter we would like to warn both the addressee and the public of the unpredictable and 
immeasurable consequences of [the Muslim party's] violations of the Makarska Agreement [ ... ] 
[aimed at procuring free passage for humanitarian convoys]. HVO will have to reconsider its 
duties and obligations concerning the implementation of this agreement unless B-H Army stops 
their offensive in the Neretva valley at once.3972 

Witness BC further testified that Pdic "said as long as the military situation continues as it is, [ ... ] 

referring to the events [ ... ] at the north barracks, then [the Bosnian Croat leadership] would not be 

in a position to grant humanitarian access to East Mostar". 3973 The Appeals Chamber considers that 

Prlic has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact, based on this evidence, could have 

reached the impugned finding. 

1279. With respect to PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the ABiI~'s 

attack on 12 July 1993 on the municipalities of Stolac and Capljina (located to the south of Mostar) 

had prevented any movement from the south, and that this was an alternative plausible explanation 

for the blocking of the delivery of humanitarian aid, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial 

chamber need not refer to every witness testimony or every piece of evidence on the record and that 

there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all evidence presented to it, as long as there 

is no indication that the trial chamber completely disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant.3974 
. . 

The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not refer to this particular ABiH attack in 

the context of considering the blocking of humanitarian aid.3975 The Appeals Chamber has 

3969 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1231, Vol. 4, para. 183. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his 
submission in ground of appeal 14, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1128-1134. 
3970 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1238, Vol. 4, para. 184, referring to Witness BC, T(F). 18360-18365 (closed session) 
(14 May 2007), Ex. P09999 (confidential). 
3971 Witness BC, T. 18362 (closed session) (14 May 2007). See Witness BC, T. 18360-18361 (closed session) (14 May 
2007). . 
3972 Ex. P09999 (confidential). 
3973 Witness BC, T. 18362 (closed session) (14 May 2007). 
3974 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 229; 
POfovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
397 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1233, Vol. 4, para. 184. 
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considered the evidence Prlic points to and notes that it indicates that an ABiH attack had taken 

place and as a result a humanitarian convoy destined for the Heliodrom in Mostar Municipality 

could not go through.3976 The Appeals Chamber also considers that Prlic relies on evidence which 

indicates that the same humanitarian convoy could not go through because of fighting and because 

"access was prevented". 3977 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Prlic has failed to 

demonstrate that the allegedly ignored evidence was so clearly relevant that the Trial Chamber's 

lack of reference to the 12 July 1993 attack amounts to disregard. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same 

conclusion as the Trial Chamber: that in July 1993, Prlic refused to authorise access to East Mostar 
+' • f . . I .. 3978 lor representatIves 0 mternatlOna orgamsatIOns. 

1280. Turning to PrliC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's finding that during some periods he 

blocked all access to the area, the Appeals Chamber first observes that PrliC's argument regarding 

the "milk convoy" disregards relevant evidence that the convoy did not go through.3979 The 

Appeals Chamber also considers that Pdic has failed to show how Boban's authority to grant 

international organisations access to East Mostar precludes the Trial Chamber from finding on the 

evidence that he also had such authority. 3980 The Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to 

show, based on the evidence relied upon by the Trial Chamber, that no reasonable trier of fact could 

have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber: that, at times, Pdic blocked all access of 

humanitarian aid to the area.3981 The Appeals Chamber thus rejects PdiC's challenges. 

1281. As to his argument that the Trial Chamber mischaracterised evidence and relied upon 

irrelevant evidence to erroneously conclude that the meeting held on 8 August 1993 in Makarska 

attested to difficulties faced by international organisations in obtaining permission to deliver 

humanitarian aid to the population of East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic 

misrepresents the factual finding.3982 It reads as follows: 

The frequent meetings held beMeen July and August 1993 between the representatives of the 
international organisations and the HVO - like the one on 8 August 1993 in Makarska [ ... J to 
negotiate unobstructed access for humanitarian convoys to East Mostar attest to the difficulties 

3976 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 543 & fns 1400-1404 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
Eara. 1233, Vol. 4, para. 184 and references cited therein. 

977 Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20564 (26 June 2007). See also Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20564 (26 June 2007) (testifying 
that, contrary to what happened in July 1993, a humanitarian convoy had entered East Mostar in June 1993, in spite of 
on~oing sniping). ' 
397 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 1238, Vol. 4, para. 184. 
3979 Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 73. See also Witness BD, T. 20720, 20729 (closed session) (3 July 2007), 
Ex. P03530 (confidential). 
3980 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1231, Vol. 4, paras 183-184, referring to, inter alia, Witness BD, T(F). 20700 
(closed session) (3 July 2007). 
3981 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 183-185, referring to, inter alia, Witness BC, T(F). 18360-18365 
(closed session) (14 May 2007), Exs. P09712 (confidential), para. 64, P09999 (confidential). 
3982 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1239. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 184. 
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faced by the international organisations in obtaining pennission to deliver humanitarian aid to the 
population of East Mostar [ ... ].3983 

PrliC's allegations that the Trial Chamber relied on mischaracterised and irrelevant evidence 

misconstrue how and why it relied on this evidence.3984 The Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic 

has failed to demonstrate any error and dismisses his argument; 

1282. As to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that some administrative 

procedures were necessary, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not explicitly 

refer to this evidence when considering the blocking of access to East Mostar of members of 

international organisations and humanitarian aid.3985 The Appeals Chamber has reviewed the 

evidence Prlic relies upon, which indicates that checkpoints were necessary, for example, to combat 

criminal activities, and has in particular considered the evidence indicating that some humanitarian 

convoys had been found to carry weapons and ammunition destined for Muslims.3986 The 

Appeals Chamber however considers that Prlic has failed to show how this evidence is inconsistent 

with the impugned findings3987 or would justify blocking - as opposed to placing more stringent 

control measures on - the delivery of humanitarian aid to East Mostar. As such, he has also failed 

to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber disregarded clearly relevant evidence.3988 PrliC's submission 

is therefore dismissed. 

1283. With regard to PrliC's argument that all convoys were approved and reached their 

destinations, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic misconstrues the evidence3989 and ignores 

other relevant contrary evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied to find that this was not always 

the case. 3990 Similarly, as· to his argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the Joint 

Commission and the Protocol ensured unhindered passage of humanitarian convoys in BiH from 

June to December 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to provide evidence 

3983 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1239 (emphasis added; internal references omitted). 
3984 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1239, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P04027 (confidential), pp. 1-2, P04420 
(confidential), p. 1, Witness BD, T(F). 20719-20720 (closed session) (3 July 2007). Cf PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 545, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1239, Vol. 4, para. 184, Exs. P04027 (confidential), P04420 (confidential), 
Witness BD, T. 20720-20721 (closed session) (3 July 2007). The evidence referenced in PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1411, 
also fails to demonstrate any error in this regard. 
3985 Compare Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 546 & fn. 1410 and references cited therein, with Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
p,aras 1224-1244, Vol. 4, paras 183-185 and references cited therein. 

986 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 546 & fn. 1410 and references cited therein. 
3987 See supra, fn. 3985. See, e.g., supra, paras 1265, 1269. 
3988 See supra, para. 1279. 
3989 The Appeals Chamber considers that Witness Martin Raguz testified that every request that was submitted by an 
international organisation for safe passage for a humanitarian convoy that followed the Protocol was approved. He also 
testified, however, that it was "another matter whether some convoys were stopped and whether they had problems en 
route". Martin Raguz, T. 31357-31358 (26 Aug 2008). . 
3990 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1233, 1238-1242, Vol. 4, paras 183-184 and references cited therein. 
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that humanitarian convoys passed unhindered to East Mostar during this time period,3991 and as 

such fails to demonstrate an error in any impugned finding. The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects 

PdiC's arguments. 

1284. With regard to PdiC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that he had 

endeavoured to ensure the free flow of humanitarian aid, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber did rely on evidence similar to that which Pdic points to with regard to Praljak's 

involvement.3992 In fact, the Trial Chamber found that, on 21 and 25 August 1993, humanitarian 

convoys were able to get into East Mostar, supplies were air dropped, and that Praljak intervened to 

ensure the security of the convoy on 25 August 1993.3993 The Appeals Chamber further recalls that 

the Trial Chamber also found that between June and September 1993, the HVO itself provided 

humanitarian aid, albeit sporadically, to East Mostar but that such sporadic aid was conditional on 

obtaining certain advantages,3994 and did "not cast doubt on the observation that the HVO 

obstructed the delivery of the humanitarian aid to East Mostar".3995 The Appeals Chamber further 

considers that while the Trial Chamber did not expressly refer to evidence indicating that Pdic, at 

times, spoke in favour of allowing humanitarian aid to pass,3996 Pdic fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied,3997 could have 

reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber. The Appeals Chamber thus rejects this claim. 

1285. Having dismissed all of PdiC's arguments, the Appeals Chamber finds that he has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he foresaw and intended the 

suffering and attack on human dignity of East Mostar inhabitants by contributing to the blocking of 

humanitarian aid delivery to East Mostar from June to at least the end of December 1993. Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.4.7. 

(e) Displacement of Croats from Vares Municipality (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.5) 

1286. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) Vares Municipality was not included in Provinces 3, 8, 

and 10 of the Vance-Owen Peace Plan; (2) in June 1993, between 10,000 and 15,000 BiH Croats 

from Kakanj arrived in Vares town; and (3) after 23 October 1993 and the events in Stupni Do, the 

3991 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 546 & fns 1412-1414 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber notes 
further that the Protocol on which Pdic relies dates to 1994 and is therefore not relevant to the time-frame in question. 
See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 546, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1D01855, 1D02024, 1D02025. 
3992 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 547 & fn. 1418, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1240 and references cited 
therein. 
3993 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1240. 
3994 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1243. 
3995 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1244. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1241. 
39~6 See, e.g., Exs. P03673, lD01529, lD02070; Slobodan Praljak, T. 44394-44395 (3 Sept 2009). 
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HVO political authorities called on the Croatian popUlation to leave this municipality because of the 

risk of a response by the ABiH. 3998 The Trial Chamber also found that Pdic contributed to the 

organisation of the removal of the Croats from the municipalities of Kakanj and Vares and their 

rehousing in the HZ(R) H-B in August 1993, considering, inter alia, that he communicated on 18 

August 1993 a decision to evacuate Croats from Vares Municipality to western Herzegovina.3999 

The Trial Chamber further found that in October 1993 Pdi6 was concerned about the arrival of 

Croatian refugees and that he attended the HR H -B Government meeting on 4 November 1993 

where it was decided that the ODPR would take care of the receipt and accommodation of the 

Croatian "refuge~s".4ooo Based on these and other facts, the Trial Chamber then concluded that: 

Pdic knew that some HZ(R) H-B officials did not wish that municipality to be included in the area 
of BiH considered "Croatian". Inasmuch as he contributed to the movement of the Croatian 
population in the territories of the HZ(R) H-B and continued to exercise his functions in the 
EVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B, the Chamber finds that he shared that wish.4oo1 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1287. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was involved in the 

displacement of Croats from Vares to territories claimed to be part of the HZ H_B.4002 He first 

contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that this displacement occurred because some 

HZ(R) H-B officials did not wish Vares Municipality to be included in the "area of BiH considered 

Croatian", arguing that there was no evidence to support this conclusion.4oo3 

1288. Pdic also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he contributed to organising 

the removal of the Croats from the municipalities of Kakanj and Vares and their rehousing in the 

HZ(R) H-B in August 1993, arguing that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that in June 1993 

between 10,000 and 15,000 Bosnian Croats arrived in Vares town, escaping from ABiH attacks, 

and that his 18 August 1993 letter did not communicate to the Mostar Municipal HVO a decision to 

3997 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1230, 1238-1239, Vol. 4, paras 184-185, referring to, inter alia, Witness BC, 
T(F). 18360-18365 (closed session) (14 May 2007), Exs. P09999 (confidential), P04420 (confidential), Witness BD, 
T(F). 20719-20720 (closed session) (3 July 2007). 
3998 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 198-199, 202, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 284. 
3999 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 200. 
4000 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 200-203. 
4001 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 204. 
4002 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 548-549. 
4003 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 549-550. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 557. Prlic also argues that the HZ H-B never 
had defined borders and was established to protect all BiH Croats, and that Vares was always part of the HZ H-B. 
PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 550; Appeal Hearing, AT. 136 (20 Mar 2017). PdiC further claims that the Trial Chamber 
ignored evidence that Croats were expelled from Travnik, Bugojno, Fojnica, and Konjic, areas designated by 
international negotiators as part of Croat-majority provinces, yet Croats did not leave from Kiseljak and Kresevo, areas 
that were not designated as Croat-majority provinces. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 551. 
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evacuate Kakanj Croats, but was addressed to the Vares Municipal HVO in response to repeated 

requests for evacuation.4oo4 

1289. Prlic further contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the HVO. political 

authorities called on Croats to leave Vares Municipality after the events in Stupni Do, as it relied on 

"one document of unsubstantiated hearsay" (Exhibit P02980), which did not identify the 

authorities.4oo5 

1290. Further, challenging the findings that the HR H-B Government decided on 

4 November 1993 that the ODPR would receive and accommodate refugees and that Vares town 

fell to the ABiH on 5 November 1993, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that: 

(1) the town actually fell on 3 November 1993; (2) the citizens left it early on 3 November 1993; 

(3) the HVO Main Staff then asked UNPROFOR to pull out the civilians from the battle zone; and 

(4) on 4 November 1993 the HR H-B Government was reacting to this humanitarian catastrophe.4oo6 

1291. Finally, Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he shared the wish to 

displace Croats from Vares Municipality because it was not considered to be Croatian, considering 

that his October 1993 letter. shows that neither he nor the HVO HZ H-B expected the arrival of 

Vares Croats in November 1993.4007 

1292. The Prosecution responds that there is clear support in the evidence for the Trial Chamber's 

finding that Pdic and other HZ(R) H-B officials wished to exclude Vares Municipality from the 

territories considered Croatian.4oo8 Further, the Prosecution submits that Pdic does not contest his 

role in removing Kakanj Croats, but merely argues that he responded to a request for evacuation.4oo9 

Concerning PrliC's challenge that the Trial Chamber relied on one unsubstantiated hearsay 

document to find that the HVO political authorities called on Croats to leave Vares Municipality 

after the events in Stupni Do, the Prosecution submits that: (1) Prlic ignores UNPROFOR's first-

4004 PdiC's Appeal Brief; para. 552. Pdic further challenges the Trial Chamber's finding regarding his direct power over 
the ODPR and argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that all Croats displaced from Vares en,ded up in Croatia. 
PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 553-554. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 235 (20 Mar 2017). 
4005 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 555, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. In addition, Pdic 
argues that the arrival of 5,000 refugees in Herzegovina "had nothing to do with the alleged call of 'the HVO political 
authorities' to the Croats to leave Vares". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 555. 
4006 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 556. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 148-149 (20 Mar 2017). 
4007 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 549, 557. 
4008 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 346-347. The Prosecution further submits that PdiC's submission that 
the HZ(R) H-B "never had defined borders" is contradicted by, inter alia, his own stated goal of "rounding off 
territories" that were believed to be "Croatian". Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 348. It submits that it is 
irrelevant whether Vares was always part of the HZ H-B as it was not part of the historic Banovina, and HZ(R) H-B 
leaders accepted its exclusion from the so-called Croatian provinces under the Vance-Owen Peace Plan. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), para. 349. 
4009 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 350. The Prosecution submits that only 1,770 out of the 5,500 Croats 
from Vares moved to Croatia, while the rest stayed in Capljina. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 354. 
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hand account of the events; and (2) the document in question was authenticated and 

corroborated.4olO It further submits that the evidence cited by Prlic with respect to the date when 

Vares town fell is consistent with the Trial Chamber's finding in this regard.4011 The Prosecution 

also contends that the evidence refutes PrliC's submission that the Government was merely reacting 

to a "humanitarian catastrophe". 4012 

(ii) Analysis 

1293. Turning to PrliC's challenge that there is no evidence supporting the Trial Chamber's 

finding that the HZ(R) H-B officials did not "wish" to include Vares Municipality in areas they 

considered Croatian, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered that, 

inter alia, Praljak indicated in April 1993 that Vares Municipality would not be included in the 

territory of the HZ H_B.4013 The Trial Chamber also noted PrliC's remark during a meeting on 

5 November 1993, in the context of the fall of Vares town: 

We must move closer to rounding off tenitories. As a government, last spring we defined both the 
proposals and the conclusions, even with regard to moving certain brigades from some areas, 
which would include moving the population from those areas and concentrating it in certain 
directions that we think could become and remain Croatian areas.4014 

Finally, the Trial Chamber considered the fact that Vares Municipality was not placed in a province 

under Croatian control, in accordance with the Vance-Owen Peace Plan.4015 Against this 

background, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic ignores relevant factual findings, as well as the 

evidence underlying them. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses his argument.4016 

1294. With respect to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence indicating that 

several thousands of BiH Croats arrived in Vares in June 1993, escaping from ABiH attacks, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber specifically noted that in June 1993, "between 

10,000 and 15,000 BiH Croats arrived in the town of Vares",4017 in addition to noting that this 

4010 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 352, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 555. 
4011 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 353. 
4012 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 351. 
4013 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 198. 
4014 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 214. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 191. See also infra, para. 1316. 
4015 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 198. 
4016 Similarly, considering the Trial Chamber's findings recalled above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PrliC's 
arguments that the HZ H-B never had defined borders and was established to protect all BiH Croats, and that Vares was 
always part of the HZ H-B, as they fail to demonstrate any enor in the impugned finding. See supra, paras 719-723. 
Further, regarding PrliC's submission that Croats were expelled from Travnik, Bugojno, Fojnica, and Konjic, areas 
designated by international negotiators as part of Croat-majority provinces, yet Croats did not leave from Kiseljak and 
Kresevo, which were not designated as a Croat-majority provinces, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to 
show the relevance of his argument to the impugned finding, which concerns HZ(R) H-B officials' intentions with 
re~ard to Vares Municipality. This argument is also dismissed. . 
401 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 199. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 284, 502. 
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happened "[fjollowing an ABiH attack" on Kakanj Municipality.4018 His argument is thus 

dismissed. Regarding PrliC's challenge raised with respect to his letter dated 18 August 1993, the 

Appeals Chamber agrees that the letter was addressed to the Vares Municipal HVO.4019 However, it 

finds that this does not undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that Prlic contributed to the 

organisation of the removal of Croats from the municipality and their resettlement in HZ(R) H-B 

territory. On the contrary, the letter supports the Trial Chamber's finding, as it is signed by Prlic 

and states that "we have decided to secure the 'evacuation [of Kakanj Croats exiled from Vares 

Municipality who are children, women, sick, or elderly] in the region of Western Herzegovina". 4020 

The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses his argument.4021 

1295. Concerning the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO political authorities called on the 

Croatian population to leave Vares Municipality because of the risk of a response by the ABiH,4022 

and noting FrliC's challenge related to the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P02980,4023 an 

UNPROFOR diary, the Appeals Chamber observes that the finding is referenced to a single excerpt 

of this diary, covering events in Vares Municipality on 29-30 October 1993.4024 The most relevant 

part reads as follows: "We came by information indicating that the HVO were encouraging people 

to flee by spreading rumours about Muslim atrocities and by making transportation possibilities 

available.,,4025 The Appeals Chamber observes that this evidence neither specifically indicates that 

the HVO political authorities called on them to leave nor reveals the source of the quoted 

information. Regardless, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's conc1usion4026 is 

sufficiently supported by the Trial Chamber's other findings,4027 and therefore finds that Prlic has 

failed to demonstrate an error of fact which has occasioned a miscarriage of justice. The Appeals 

Chamber therefore dismisses his argument. 

4018 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 284. 
4019 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 200 & fn. 515, referring to Ex. P04282. Prlic incolTectly cites to Exhibit P04248. 
See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 522 & fn. 1431. 
4020 Ex. P04282. 
4021 Regarding PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding related to his direct power over the ODPR, the Appeals 
Chamber notes that his challenges to his powers in relation to ODPR and Croatia are addressed and dismissed above. 
See supra, para. 1085. Concerning his challenge that the Trial Chamber ignored that displaced Croats ended up in 
Croatia, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic in essence relies on one document that supports the Trial Chamber's 
finding and thus dismisses his argument. Compare Ex. ID00927 with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 199. 
4022 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 503, Vol. 4, para. 202 .. 
4023 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
4024 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 503 & fn. 1071, Vol. 4, para. 202 & fn. 520, referring to Ex. P02980, p. 21. 
4025 Ex. P02980, p. 21. 
4026 See supra, para. 1286. . 
4027 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 198-203; supra, para. 1293. With regard to PrliC's argument that the anival of 
5,000 refugees in Herzegovina had nothing to do with the alleged call of the HVO political authorities to the Croats to 
leave Vares, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber made any such 
connection and therefore dismisses his argument. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 202. 
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1296. Turning to PrliC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's findings that the HR H-B Government 

decided on 4 November 1993 that the ODPR would receive and accommodate refugees, and that 

Vares town fell on 5 November 1993, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber took 

into account the state of affairs in Vares Municipality, including the ongoing battle between the 

HVO and ABiH,4028 the Government's actions,4029 as well as the departure of Croats.4030 With 

regard to PrliC's claim that Vares town fell already on 3 November 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that the Trial Chamber found that Vares town fell into ABiH hands on 5 November 1993,4031 

which is consistent with all of the evjdence to which he refers.4032 As a result, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Prlic has Jailed to demonstrate that any of the other allegedly ignored evidence shows an 

error in the impugned findings and dismisses his arguments accordingly. 

1297. Finally, regarding PrliC's challenge, based on his letter from October 1993, to the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that he shared the wish that Vares Municipality not be included in the 

area of BiHconsidered "Croatian", the Appeals Chamber first observes that the Trial Chamber 

relied on several findings before reaching its conclusion.4033 In support of his claim that this letter 

affirms that he and the HVO HZ H-B did not expect the arrival of Vares Croats in November 1993, 

Prlic cites the following portion: "if there is no new aggression on the territories inhabited with 

Croatian population, by the winter period all of the displaced persons WIll be taken care of, in the 

d d h d . ,,4034 Th f' f hi d a equate an to uman nee s appropnate way. e 1rst part 0 t s sentence rea s as a 

hypothetical qualifying the assertion in the second part of the sentence. As such, the 

Appeals Chamber can draw no inference from this sentence as to PrliC's or the HVO HZ H-B's 

actual expectations with regard to the arrival of Vares Croats in November 1993. In any event, 

PrliC's argument is not inconsistent with the· challenged finding. For these reasons, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

1298. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was involved in the displacement of Croats from Vares and 

dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 16.5. 

4028 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 503, Vol. 4, para. 203. 
4029 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 203, 214. 
4030 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 504-506. 
4031 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 507, Vol. 4, para. 203. 
4032 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 556 & fn. 1441, referring to Exs. 3D00971, 3D00984, 4D00519, p. 11, 
Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49610-49611 (17 Feb 2010). Exhibit 4D00519 (confirmed by Petkovic in his testimony), p. 11, 
states that Vares fell on 3 November 1993, but only describes the HVO leaving that day, not the ABiH coming. Exhibit 
3D00971, dated 3 November 1993, refers to intense ongoing battle in and around Vares but not to its fall. Exhibit 
3D00984, dated 4 November 1993, suggests that Vares was not yet in ABiH hands. 
4033 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 198-204. 
4034 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 557, referring to Ex. m00927, p. 2. 

528 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23367



(t) PdiC's contribution to a policy of population movement (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.6) 

1299. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic supported the policy of moving Muslim detainees and 

their families outside the HZ(R) H-B and planned and facilitated the movement of the Croatian 

population to the areas claimed to belong to the HZ(R) H_B.4035 It further found that even though 

the latter movement could be partly justified by the ongoing fighting, it was also prompted by the 

HVO and constituted part of a policy by the HZ(R) H-B leadership.4036 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1300. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in reaching these conclusions,4037 by challenging 

a number of findings on which the Trial Chamber relied. First, he submits that the Trial Chamber 

erred in finding that on 1 February 1993, the HVO HZ H-B established the Commission for the 

Question of the Migration of Population by relying on one document introduced through a bar tqble 

motion, although there is no evidence that this commission ever existed.4038 He also challenges the 

finding that at a meeting on 5 May 1993, Prlic advocated a popUlation and property exchange 

program, giving the example that a Muslim in Mostar and a Croat in Zenica could exchange their 

flats, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Witness BA's testimony and excluding 

other relevant evidence.4039 

1301. Pdic further challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that according to a 13 June 1993 

ECMM report, the HVO was conducting a large-scale propaganda campaign to provoke a mass 

exodus of the Croatian population from Travnik Municipality to the north, claiming that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously gave yveight to ECMM reports and Witness Christopher Beese's 

testimony.404o Prlic also contends that in finding that the HVO HZ H-B .organised the anticipated 

4035 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 215, 275. 
4036 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 215. 
4037 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 558-559, 561, 575-577, 583. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 560, referring to PdiC's sub­
.ro;0unds of appeal 16.4.3, 16.9-16.10. 

038 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 562, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's ground of appeal 3. 
4039 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 563, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 208. Pdic specifically argues, 
pointing to evidence in support, that: (1) Witness BA was not informed about Zenica in the spring of 1993; (2) Croats 
wished to escape Zenica as they were under attack; (3) there was no resettlement policy of Croats from Zenica; 
(4) Boban's 7 May 1993 letter to the UN sought the protection of Croats "to enable the free movement of Croats 
entering and leaving the areas of Zenica, Konjic and Jablanica"; (5) the Croatian exodus was due to ABiH attacks 
(referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 497 (sub-ground of appeal 16.3.1), 499 (sub-ground of appeal 16.3.2), 566 (sub­
ground of appeal 16.6.2), 582 (sub-grounds of appeal 16.6.3 and 16.6.4)); (6) evacuation was requested for the 
wounded; and (7) the Mujahideen were "real and frightening". He further submits that there is no evidence on any 
property exchange, "forbidden by the HVOHZHB". PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 563, referring to, inter alia, Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 208. . 
4040 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 564 & fn. 1459, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209, PdiC's Appeal 
Br\ef, paras 200-201 (sub-ground of appeal 6.2). Prlic also points to evidence in support of his claim. See PrliC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 564. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 565, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 16.5. 
Prlic argues in particular that Beese's testimony that the movement was an effort to change the voting pattern is 
unsustainable in light of evidence that the HVO HZ H-B took measures to the contrary and that his testimony that the 
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relocation of many Croats from central Bosnia, the Trial Chamber misinterpreted two documents 

and ignored evidence.4041 In particular, Pdic argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence on: 

(1) ABiH attacks in the Travnik area where civilians had to be evacuated to Serb-controlled 

territory; (2) the HVO HZ H-B's proposals, in light of the information about the imminent threat to 

central Bosnian Croats, to the HZ(R) H-B Presidency to take action; and (3) the expUlsion of 30,000 

Croats from central Bosnia when the ABiH captured Travnik on 9 June 1993 and Kakanj on 

13 June 1993.4042 

1302. Pdic further claims that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that Muslims were forced to 

leave West Mostar in order to accommodate the arriving Croats, in light of contrary evidence and a 

lack of evidence on a policy to forcibly remove Muslims and settle Croats in Mostar or 

Herzegovina.4043 

1303. Referring to the Trial Chamber's finding that on 21 June 1993 Pdic signed a decision 

creating a staff for organising and co-ordinating efforts concerning expelled persons and refugees, 

Pdic argues that the HVO HZ H-B created this staff to deal with the high number of displaced 

persons arriving in HZ H-B territories in June 1993 due to the ABiH offensive in central Bosnia.4044 

Further, Pdic challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on Witness DZ's evidence that during a 

meeting on 23 June 1993, Vladislav Pogarcic, Boban's Chief of Staff, expressed, inter alia, PdiC's 

wish to gather the Croatian population in one Croatian entity, claiming that there is no evidence 

linking PogarCic to Pdic, or that Witness-DZ "reported this claim". 4045 

1304. Pdic also claims that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that at a meeting on 16 July 1993 

he stated that 10,000 Muslims wished to leave Mostar for third countries and that he negotiated with 

Croatia for transit visas for Muslims to go through its territory.4046 He argues that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously relied on Witness BA 4047 and ignored and mischaracterised evidence indicating, 

notably, that transit visas were not intended for Muslims alone.4048 Pdic also submits that the 

danger from the Mujahideen was propaganda was not credible. Pdic submits further that it "defies logic to suggest that 
the HZHBIHVOHZHB would pursue a reverse ethnic cleansing policy to resettle Croats from a designated Croat­
majority province", submitting that Travnik was the capital of one of the Croat-majority provinces according to the 
Vance-Owen Peace Plan. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 564. 
4041 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 566 & fn. 1464, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209, PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
fo:ound of appeal 3. 

. 042 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 566-567. 
4043 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 568. 
4044 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 569 & fn. 1476, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 210. 
4045 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 570 & fn. 1479, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 211. 
4046 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 577, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 212. 
4047 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 578. Pdic submits in particular that contrary to Witness BA's testimony, confidential 
Exhibit 6D00577 does not mention his presence at the meeting. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 578. 
4048 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 577-581, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 182-183 (sub~ground of 
appeal 6.1). 
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Trial Chamber erred in finding that he directed or participated in expelling Muslims from HZ(R) 

H-B territories, as it ignored evidence that Muslim refugees returned to HVO-controlled areas.4049 

1305. Finally, Prlic claims that the Trial Chamber erred: (1) in finding that he participated in 

organising and facilitating the departure of the Croatian population of central Bosnia to 

Herzegovina between August and November 1993;4050 (2) in finding that the ODPR sent him a 

letter on 3 November 1993;4051 (3) by ignoring the context of his statement, made at a meeting held 

on 5 November 1993, about population movements into areas that "could become and remain 

Croatian,,;4052 and (4) in finding that the HVO exerted pressure on Croats to leave Vares, implying 

that some Croats from Vares were removed as part of the JCE.4053 

1306. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he played a key role in removing the Muslim population from territory claimed by 

the HZ(R) H-B and simultaneously settling Croats from central Bosnia there.4054 It submits that 

Prlic ignores the bulk of the findings and evidence supporting the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

regarding his contribution and intent to remove Muslims from the HZ(R) H_B.4055 Regarding the 

allegation that there is no evidence of moving Muslims out of West Mostar and the resettling of 

Croats in Mostar or Herzegovina, the Prosecution contends that Prlic himself cites evidence 

demonstrating the resettlement of Croats throughout Herzegovina, and that he ignores extensive 

evidence in support of the impugned finding.4056 Similarly, regarding the claim that no Muslims 

4049 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 583. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 584, referring to PrliC's sub-grounds of appeal 
16.6.2, 16.6.3-16.6.4. 
4050 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 571. Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on its finding that at a 29 July 
1993 meeting of the HVO HZ H-B, the organisation and logistics concerning the anticipated arrival of 10,000 Croats 
from central Bosnia were discussed. PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 571, 582. Prlicfurther submits that the Trial Chamber 
ignored evidence showing why 10,000 Croats fled from central Bosnia and why they ultimately arrived in Croatia. 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 571. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1482, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's sub-ground of 
appeal 16.6.2. He also submits that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence concerning the 29 July 1993 meeting, showing 
that the ODPR had no goal of ethnically cleansing territory of Muslims. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 582. 
4051 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 572. Prlic argues in particular that the letter was sent to the Presidents of the municipal 
HVOs. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 572. 
4052 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 573, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 214, PrliC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 240 (sub-ground of appeal 9.2). Prlic submits that he stated that Herzegovina could not accommodate Croats from 
Vares and that Croatia should accommodate them. PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 573. 
4053 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 574; Appeal Hearing, AT. 148-149 (20 Mar 2017). Prlic argues in particular that this 
contradicts the Trial Chamber's finding that even if the HVO exerted this pressure "the threat of attacks by the ABiH 
and the fact that they did happen were sufficient to bring about the departure of Croats from the municipality", and that 
there was no policy to relocate Croats from central Bosnia to HZ(R) H-B territories. Prlic's Appeal Brief, para. 574; 
AEpeal Hearing, AT. 148-149 (20 Mar 2017). 
404 Prosecution's Response (Prlic), para. 355. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 228 (20 Mar 2017). 
4055 Prosecution's Response (Prlic), paras 356-357. 
4056 Prosecution's Response (Prlic), para. 359. 
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were expelled, the Prosecution argues that Prlic ignores many underlying findings and his own prior 

admission.4057 

1307. With respect to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding regarding his conduct at the 

meeting on 5 May 1993, the Prosecution argues that Prlic fails to explain how the evidence he cites 

renders the Trial Chamber's finding unreasonab1e.4058 With regard to the challenged finding 

concerning a 13 June 1993 ECMM report on an HVO campaign to provoke a mass exodus of the 

population in Travnik, the Prosecution submits that Prlic misrepresents Beese's testimony and 

shows no errorin the Trial Chamber's reliance on this witness's evidence.4059 

1308. The Prosecution also submits that Prlic fails to show that the Trial Chamber acted 

unreasonably in crediting Witness DZ's testimony, considering that any lack of connection between 

Pogarcic and Prlic is beside the point and Witness DZ's evidence is corroborated.406o With respect 

to the Trial Chamber's findings regarding PrliC's statements at the 16 July 1993 meeting, the 

Prosecution submits that Prlic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trial chamber could have 

relied on Witness BA's first-hand and corroborated testimony.4061 

1309. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Prlic planned 

and facilitated the movement of Central Bosnian Croats into territory claimed by the HZ(R) H-B as 

part of a policy.4062 It contends that he incorrectly argues. that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence 

that Croats were fleeing ABiH attacks.4063 It further argues that PrliC's claims concerning the 

3 November 1993 letter are irrelevant since the Government echoed its content at a meeting on the 

following day.4064 In the Prosecution's submission, PrliC's challenges to findings concerning HVO 

4057 Prosecution's Response (Prlic), para. 358. The Prosecution submits that Prlic ignores evidence showing that the 
return of some expelled Muslims, if any, to HVO-controlled territory was contrary to the JCE members' intentions. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 358. 
4058 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 367. The Prosecution argues further that PrliC's claims regarding events 
in Zenica ignore that Zenica was mentioned in the impugned finding only as an illustrative example of a possible 
exchange. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 367. 
4059 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 364, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 564, 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209. The Prosecution further argues that the evidence Pdic cites does not support his 
claim. With regard to PrliC's argument that it defies logic that the HVO would remove Croats from Travnik in Province 
10, the Prosecution claims that Prlic ignores the fact that the HVO lost control of this area in mid-June 1993, which 
e~lains the relocation of Croats from Travnik. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 364. 
40 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 368. 
4061 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 360. The Prosecution further submits that Prlic relies on evidence that 
relates to a different meeting. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 360. See also Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Prlic), para. 361. 
4062 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 362. The Prosecution further argues that PrliC's attempts to attribute this 
influx solely to external factors is at odds with the evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 362. 
4063 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 363. 
4064 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 366. 

532 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23363



pressure on Vares Croats and his statement on 5 November 1993 about population movements are 

likewise without merit,4065 

(ii) Analysis 

1310. With regard to Pdic's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that on 

1 February 1993 the HVO HZ H-B established the Commission for the Question of the Migration 

of Population, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have made this 

finding based on the documentary evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber.4066 It is irrelevant for 

the challenged finding whether there was evidence on the commission's existence after its 

establishment,4067 PdiC's argument is therefore dismissed. 

1311. Turning to PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that during a meeting on 

5 May 1993, he advocated a popUlation and property exchange programme whereby, for example, a 

Muslim in Mostar could exchange his flat for a flat occupied by a Croat in Zenica, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred by relying on 

Witness BA's evidence, which directly supports the impugned finding.4068 The Appeals Chamber 

further finds that the evidence which Pdic alleges the Trial Chamber ignored was either considered 

by the Trial Chamber,4069 or does not show that the impugned finding was unreasonable.407o Thus, 

this challenge fails. 

1312. Concerning PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that according to an ECMM 

report dated 13 June 1993, the HVO was conducting a large-scale propaganda campaign to provoke 

4065 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 365, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 573. In particular, 
with regard to the former finding, the Prosecution submits that Prlic fails to identify any contradiction. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Pdic), para. 365. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 366. With regard to the latter 
finding, the Prosecution argues that PdiC's claims are not supported by the evidence he cites. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Pdic), para. 365. 
4066 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 207, referring to Ex. P0l388, point 6, p. 2. 
4067 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
4068 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 208, referring to Ex. P09712 (confidential), para. 38. For context, see Ex. P09712 
(confidential), para. 37. 
4069 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber specifically considered that one part of the Croatian popUlation 
of central Bosnia was actually fleeing the fighting between the ABiH and HVO. See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 53-55, 215. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers in this respect to his submissions in sub-grounds of 
appeal 16.3.1 and 16.3.2, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1209-1211, 1213-1218, 
1220-1221. . 
4070 The Appeals Chamber finds Prlic's arguments concerning Zenica unpersuasive since the reference to Zenica in the 
impugned finding provides just an example to illustrate how the programme would operate. It further considers that 
Boban's 7 May 1993 letter to the UN seeking the free movement of Croats entering and leaving the areas of Zenica, 
Konjic, and Jablanica is not inconsistent with the impugned finding. Compare Ex. P09606, p. 2, with Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 208. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that the evidence that Prlic cites does not support his claim 
that property exchange was forbidden by the HVO HZ H-B. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1455 and references cited 
therein. 
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a mass exodus of the Croatian population from Travnik Municipality,4071 the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the evidence Prlic points to fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in the 

weight it gave to the ECMM reports and Beese's testimony that support the impugned finding.4on 

This argument is therefore dismissed. Further, regarding PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber 

misinterpreted two documents in reaching its finding that the HVO HZ B-B organised the 

anticipated relocation of many Croats from central Bosnia, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 

finding is well supported by the contents of the documents and that Prlic has failed to show any 

error in this respect.4073 Concerning Prlic's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that, contrary to PrliC's submissions, the Trial Chamber specifically 

considered that one part of the Croatian population of central Bosnia, including Travnik 

Municipality, was fleeing the fighting between the ABiH and HVO.4074 Similarly, contrary to 

Prlic's suggestions, the Trial Chamber considered evidence regarding the HVO HZ H-B's proposals 

to the Presidency to take action after having been informed of the imminent threat to central 

Bosnian Croats.4075 The Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic merely asserts that the 

Trial Chamber has failed to interpret the evidence in a particular manner. Consequently, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses all these arguments. 

1313. The Appeals Chamber further considers that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier 

of fact could have found that between 400 and 650 Muslims were forced to leave their homes in 

West Mostar in order to accommodate the Croats from other areas in BiB and in particular from 

4071 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 & fn. 533 and references cited therein. 
4072 With regard to PdiC's argument that Beese's testimony that the movement was an effort to change the voting pattern 
is unsustainable, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not specifically rely on this part of Beese's 
testimony for the impugned finding, and dismisses PdiC's argument accordingly. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 
& fn. 533 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber further observes that PdiC's claim that Beese "incredibly" 
noted that the danger from the Mujahideen was propaganda is not supported by the cited evidence. See PdiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 564 & fn. 1463, referring to Christopher Beese, T. 5442-5443 (23 Aug 2006). PdiC's submission that 
Travnik was part of a designated Croat-majority province and that it would therefore defy logic to resettle Croats from 
there fails to account for PrliC's own statement that the ABiH took control of Travnik on 9 June 1993. See PdiC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 566. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdi6 refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 
6.2 and 16.5, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 212-218,1286-1298. 
4073 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 & fn. 534, referring to Exs. 1D01668, conclusion 3 (Minutes of an HVO HZ H-B 
meeting held on 15 June 1993, which Pdic chaired, recording the following conclusion: "A proposal was made to the 
Presidency of the HZ H-B and the HVO Supreme Commander to adopt a decision to pull out all military units from 
areas outside the designated Croatian provinces, together with the Croatian inhabitants living there. To this effect, 
demand cooperation and assistance from UNPROFOR and UNHCR"), P03413, p. 1 (Letter from Prlic to the President 
of the HZ H-B dated 13 July 1993, referring to the conclusion reached by the HVO HZ H-B on 15 June 1993 as 
follows: "A proposal has been put to the Presidency of the HZ H-B and the Supreme Commander of the HVO to reach 
the decision to withdraw all military units together with the local Croatian popUlation from the areas outside of the 
defined Croat provinces. For that purpose an assistance of UNPROFOR and UNHCR needs to be requested in a form of 
an ultimatum."). The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
4074 See supra, fn. 4069. The Appeals Chamber therefore sees no merit in Pdic's assertion that the Trial Chamber 
ignored evidence on the expUlsion of 30,000 Croats from central Bosnia when the ABiH captured Travnik on 
9 June1993 and Kakanj on 13 June 1993. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 566. . 
4075 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 & fn. 534 and references cited therein. Cf PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 566-567 & 
fns 1466-1467, 1469-1470 and references cited therein. 
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Travnik. In particular, it dismisses Pdic's challenge that there is no evidence on a policy that 

Muslims were forced to leave Mostar or Herzegovina in order to accommodate Croats, since the 

Trial Chamber's finding to the contrary is based on ample evidence, which Pdic fails to address.4076 

1314. With respect to Pdic's challenge to the finding that on 21 June 1993, he signed a decision 

creating a staff for organising and co-ordinating the effort to accommodate and provide for expelled 

people and refugees, the Appeals Chamber considers that PdiC's submission that the staff aimed to 

deal with the humanitarian crisis fails to articulate an error. Further, Prlic's argument is irrelevant to 

the impugned finding, which concerns the staff's creation, and does not demonstrate an error in the 

Trial Chamber's overarching conclusion.4077 This argument is therefore dismissed. Next, 

concerning the Trial Chamber's reliance on Witness DZ's evidence that during a meeting on 

23 June 1993, PogarCic, speaking on behalf of, inter alios, Prlic, expressed PdiC's wish to gather the 

Croatian population in one Croatian entity, the Appeals Chamber considers that evidence of a 

specific link between Pogarcic and Pdic is not required for the finding that, according to 

Witness DZ, the former reported about the latter's wishes.4078 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that a reasonable tder of fact could have made this finding, based on the evidence relied 

on by the Trial Chamber, even in the absence of further evidence that Witness DZ "reported this 

. claim''.4079 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes Witness DZ's evidence stating that, dudng 

the 23 June 1993 meeting, "PogarCic was voicing the idea expressed by [ ... J Pdic, [ ... J that they 

would absorb the Croat population from other areas of [BiHJ into a Croat entity,,.408o PdiC's 

arguments are dismissed. 

1315. As regards PdiC's challenges to the findings that in a meeting held on 16 July 1993 Prlic 

stated that 10,000 Muslims wished to leave Mostar for third countries, and that he negotiated with 

Croatia for transit visas to be granted to the Muslims wishing to go to third countdes,4081 the 

Appeals Chamber first considers that Pr1ic fails to show that confidential Exhibit 6D00577, which 

he alleges the Trial Chamber ignored; concerns that specific meeting.4082 Regarding PdiC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber ignored and mischaracterised evidence indicating, notably, that 

transit visas were not intended for Muslims alone, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pdic has failed 

to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the relevant conclusions of the 

4076 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 & fn. 535, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 860-876. See, in particular, 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 874-876. 
4077 See supra, para. 1299. . 
4078 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 211. 
4079 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 211, referring to Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 70; Witness DZ, T(F). 26564 
(closed session) (22 Jan 2008),26577 (closed session) (23 Jan 2008). 
4080 Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 70. See also Witness DZ, T(F). 26577 (closed session) (23 Jan 2008). 
4081 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 212. 
4082 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 212, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09679 (confidential), para. 1. 
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Trial Chamber in light of the evidence on which it relied,4083 notwithstanding the evidence to which 

Prlic refers.4084 Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds that in submitting that the Trial Chamber 

ignored evidence that Muslim refugees returned to, inter alia, HVO-controlled areas, indicating 

they were not expelled, Prlic ignores many of the Trial Chamber's factual findings in support of the 

impugned finding that there existed a policy of moving Muslim detainees and their families outside 

the HZ(R) H_B.4085 In light of this, Prlic's assertion that Muslims later returned is of no 

consequence. PrliC's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1316. Regarding PrliC's challenge to the finding that he participated in organising and facilitating 

the departure of the Croatian population of central Bosnia to Herzegovina between August and 

November 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers that he misrepresents the basis of the finding,4086 

and fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached this conc1usion.4087 As regards 

PrliC's challenge to the finding that the ODPR sent him a letter on 3 November 1993, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the letter indicates that it was sent to the "President, personally,,.4088 In 

light of this, the Appeals Chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could have reached this 

finding.4089 Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to demonstrate, on the basis of 

the evidence he cites, any error in how the Trial Chamber interpreted the transcript of the meeting 

held on 5 November 1993, containing PrliC's statement on the population movements into Croatian 

areas,4090 or in its finding Fhat the HVO exerted pressure on the Croats to leave Vares.4091 All these 

arguments are dismissed. 

4083 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras.212, 275 & fns 538-539. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1446, Vol. 4, 
Earas 64, 969. 

084 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 578-581 & fns 1495-1503 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber also 
notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 6.1, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. 
See supra, paras 212-218. 
4085 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 814,876,2101-2104,2115,2131,2161. In any event, Pdic fails to show 
that no reasonable trial chamber could have made the impugned finding. 
4086 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 213 & fn. 541, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 196-204 ("Jadranko 
PdiC's Involvement in Moving Croats from Vares"). Cf PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 571 (Pdic incorrectly claims that the 
Trial Chamber, in reaching the impugned finding, relied on its finding contained in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 212, 
that at a 29 July 1993 meeting of the HVO HZ H-B, the organisation and logistics concerning the anticipated arrival of 
10,000 Croats from central Bosnia were discussed). 
4087 The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic fails to explain in which regard the allegedly ignored evidence on the reasons 
why the 10,000 Croats fled central Bosnia and why they ended up in Croatia and not in Herzegovina undermines the 
impugned finding. In any event, the Trial Chamber considered that one part of the Croatian popUlation of central Bosnia 
was actually fleeing the fighting. See supra, fn. 4069. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 209 & fn. 534, referring to 
Exs. ID01668, conclusion 3, P03413, p. 1. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has failed to 
explain how the allegedly ignored evidence concerning the 29 July 1993 meeting, relating to the goal of the ODPR, 
would show an error in the relevant conclusions of the Trial Chamber regarding Pdic. Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 
4, para. 212, with PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 582. See also supra, para. 1299. 
408 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 213 & fn. 542, referring to, inter alia, Ex. ID01354. 
4089 The Appeals Chamber also considers that PdiC's claims are in any event inconsequential in light of the finding that 
the Government meeting on the following day, 4 November 1993, which Pdic attended, dealt with the same issues as 
those addressed in the letter. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 213. 
4090 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 214. See also supra, para. 1293. Cj. Ex. P06454, pp. 36, 38. PdiC's submission that 
he stated that Herzegovina could not accommodate Croats from Vares and that Croatia should accommodate them is not 
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1317. Having dismissed the supporting arguments, the Appeals Chamber therefore also dismisses 

PrliC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's concluding findings.4092 Thus, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 16.6. 

(g) PdiC's authority over detention centres 

(i) PrliC's general powers over detention centres (Prlic's Ground 13 in part) 

1318. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic had authority over detention facilities, particularly to 

open and close them.4093 It also found that he had the power to grant international organisations 

access thereto.4094 

1319. The Trial Chamber further found that Prlic knew of the harsh conditions under which the 

Muslims arrested by the HVO were being detained at the prisons in Dretelj, Gabela, and the 

Heliodrom, yet justified such detentions, denied that the situation was bad, and on occasion took 

some measures which were insufficient to address the situation.4095 

1320. The Trial Chamber held that Prlic accepted and encouraged the extremely precanous 

conditions and the mistreatment of the detainees in the prisons in Dretelj, Gabela, and the 

Heliodrom.4096 It concluded on the basis of this and other findings that PrliC's contribution to the 

JCE was significant and showed his intention to implement the CCP to expel the Muslim 

population from the HZ(R) H_B.4097 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1321. Prlic claims that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in concluding that he was a 

member of a JCE and made a significant contribution to it, having power over the detention centres 

supported by the evidence to which he refers. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 573 & fn. 1487, referring to Ex. P06454, 
p. 38. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 9.2, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 595-601, 625-633, 661-667, 672-676. 
4091 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 214. See also supra, paras 1293-1296. Prlic fails to show any contradiction between 
this finding and the Trial Chamber's finding that "even if the HVO forces exerted pressure on the Croats to leave Vares, 
the threat of attacks by the ABiH and the fact that they did happen were sufficient to bring about the departure of Croats 
from the municipality". Trial Judgement Vol. 3, para. 508. Further, the Appeals Chamber fails to see how Prlic's 
argument that expelled Croats mainly ended up in Croatia is inconsistent with the challenged finding that HVO forces 
exerted pressure on Croats to leave Vares. 
4092 See supra, paras 1299-1300 & fn. 4037. The Appeals Chamber notes that in challenging the Trial Chamber's 
concluding findings, Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.4.3, 16.9, and 16.10, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1231-1241; infra, paras 1360-1367, 1374-1376. 
4093 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 112, 114,218,270. 
4094 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 113-114. . 
4095 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 273. 
4096 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 273. 
4097 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 276. 
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of the HZ(R) H_B.4098 Prlic submits that there is no evidence connecting him or the HVO HZ H-B 

to the 17 detention centres identified by the Trial Chamber.4099 In particular, Prlic submits that the 

Trial Chamber ignored evidence on the differences between detention centres - for POW s - and 

civilian or military prisons - for persons subject to criminal proceedings.4lOO 

1322. Further, Prlic argues that the municipal HVO had authority over Dretelj and Gabela military 

facilities. 4101 Prlic also contends that contrary to the Trial Chamber's findings, the HVO HZ H-B 

did not approve any request from the HVO Capljina to move detainees elsewhere, and that HVO 

HZ H-B officials were not tasked with finding space for prisoners in other detention centres, but in 

other municipalities.4102 He also asserts that the HVO HZ H-B had no power to force the municipal 

HVOs to accommodate detainees to help the HVO Capljina.4103 

1323. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, based on sel~ctive evidence, 

that he could close detention centres.4104 He argues that his alleged representation that "it was his 

intention to close POW camps" is not proof of his de jure or de facto powers over detention 

centres.4105 Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that, inter alia, Mate Boban 

had begun closing detention centres in July 1993 and asserts that based on a joint declaration of 

14 September 1993, signed by Franjo Tudman and Alija Izetbegovic ("Tudman-Izetbegovic 

Declaration"), Boban decided to close all detention centres by 10 December 1993.4106 Prlic further 

argues that the Trial Chamber misconstrued the letters he sent in December 1993 on behalf of the 

HR H-B Government.4107 

1324. Finally, Prlic contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had the power 

to grant international organisations access to detention centres by relying on one uncorroborated 

piece of evidence, which was also hearsay.4108 He also argues that the Trial Chamber ignored 

4098 PdiC's Appeal Brief; paras 410, 426. Specifically, Pdic alleges that by mischaracterising evidence, attaching undue 
weight to certain evidence, and failing to consider alternatives, the Trial Chamber applied an incorrect legal standard in 
assessing the evidence, amounting to an error oflaw. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 426. 
4099 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 414. Nor is there evidence, according to Pdic, that: (1) information was exchanged 
between the detention centres and him or the HVO HZ H-B; or (2) the latter budgeted for or financed the detention 
centres. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 415. 
4100 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 412-413; Appeal Hearing, AT. 147 (20 Mar 2017). See PdiC's Reply Brief, paras 63-64. 
4101 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 416-417. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 145 (20 Mar 2017). 
4102 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 417, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 211. 
4103 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 417. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, p(lra. 418, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.6, 11.9. 
4104 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 421; Appeal Hearing, AT. 145 (20 Mar 2017). Pdic further submits that district prisons 
are different from detention centres. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 421, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras "413-416". 
4105 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 421, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 181-182 (sub-ground of appeal 
6.1). 
4106 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 422-423. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 606 (under PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 
16.9). 
4107 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 424. 
4108 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 425, referring to, inter alia, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3. 
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evidence that international organisations regularly visited the Heliodrom in May to July 1993, 

without seeking his authorisation.4109 Pdic concludes that he should be acquitted on Counts 1-3 and 

6_18.4110 

1325. The Prosecution responds that the impugned findings are reasonable and that Pdic fails to 

show otherwise.4111 The Prosecution avers that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on evidence to 

find that Pdic opened and closed Gabe1a Prison and that he fails to explain the relevance in this 

regard of any distinction between prisons for persons subject to criminal proceedings and detention 

centres for POWS.4112 The Prosecution contends that there is ample evidence demonstrating PdiC's 

and the Government's authority over detention facilities.4113 Further, the Prosecution argues that 

Pdic fails to show that the Trial Chamber unreasonably relied on his statements and letters as 

evidence of his authority.4114 In the Prosecution's view, Prlic misconstrues and ignores evidence 

showing that he had authority to grant humanitarian access to detention centres.4115 Finally, the 

Prosecution submits that evidence of international organisations visiting the Heliodrom without his 

permission does not undermine the Trial Chamber's conclusion on his authority.4116 

b. Analysis 

1326. The Appeals Chamber observes at the outset that the Trial Chamber's finding that Pdic had 

authority over detention centres is substantiated by several pieces of evidence.4117 In particular, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that in making this finding the Trial Chamber relied on evidence that 

Pdic signed decisions to, or presided over meetings of the HVO HZ H-B in which decisions were 

taken to, inter alia: (1) open and appoint a director of Gabela Prison and to then close it;4118 (2) set 

up a working group to visit Cap1jina Municipality, inspect the detention sites, and propose measures 

to improve the conditions of confinement;4119 and (3) establish the Exchange Service with Pusic as 

its he~d.4120 The Trial Chamber specifically addressed in more detail PdiC's participation in the 

4109 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 425. 
4110 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 427. 
4111 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 249-250. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 193,226-231 (20 Mar 2017). 
4112 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 254-256. In any case, the Prosecution submits that the distinction is 
irrelevant as no differentiation was made in fact among Gabela Prison detainees who included Muslim members of the 
HVO, ABiH members, and Muslim civilians, some of whom were subject to criminal proceedings. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), para. 255. . 
4113 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 252-253. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 232 (20 Mar 2017). 
4114 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 257-258. 
4115 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 259. 
4116 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 260. 
4117 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 112-114,218-219 and references cited therein. 
4118 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 154 & fns 359 (referring to Exs. P02679, P03350, p. 3), 360 (referring to Exs. 
P02674, P03350, p. 3), para. 155 & fn. 364 (referring to Ex. P07668), para. 156. See also infra, paras 1368-1373. 
4119 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 59, 211 & fns 117,483, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03560. 
4120 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4. para. 101 & fn. 299. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 102-104. 
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crimes committed in the Heliodrom, Vojno Detention Centre, and Dretejl and Gabela Prisons.4121 

Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic himself points to evidence that indicates the 

Government's responsibility for detention facilities and prisoner's.4122 Based on the foregoing, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that PrliC has failed to show an error and thus dismisses the argument 

that there is no evidence connecting him or the HVO HZ H-B to the detention centres.4123 

1327. As to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence as to a distinction between 

detention centres - for POW s - and prisons - for persons subject to criminal proceedings - Prlic 

fails to explain how evidence that there was such a distinction would impact the impugned finding 

in light of the Trial Chamber's finding that no distinction was in practice made at Gabela Prison 

between detainees based on their status.4124 Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber considers 

that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned 

finding. 

1328. With regard to his argument that the municipal HVO had authority over Dretelj and Gabela 

military facilities, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic misrepresents the Trial Ch~mber' s 

finding. 4125 In any event, even assuming that Prlic had demonstrated that the local HVO had some 

authority over detention centres,4126 he has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

reached the sarrie conclusion as the Trial Chamber, based on the remaining evidence,4127 that Prlic 

had authority over detention centres. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses his argument. 

1329. Turning to PrliC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's findings that the HVO HZ H-B 

approved the request from the HVO Capljina to move detainees and tasked certain persons with 

finding alternative accommodation for detainees in other detention facilities, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that these findings are amply supported by the evidence on which they are based,4128 and 

4121 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 220 et seq. 
4122 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 412, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00292, Zoran Buntic, T. 30655 (14 July 2008), 
Zoran Perkovic, T. 31982 (4 Sept 2008). 
4123 The Appeals Chamber also considers that Pdic has failed to explain how the alleged absence of evidence on 
exchanges of information between the detention centres and Pdic or the HVO HZ H-B, or on the latter's budgeting for 
or financing of detention centres, affect the impugned finding, given the remaining evidence the Trial Chamber relied 
uEon. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses these arguments. 
424 See TrialJudgement, Vol. 3, paras 200,203-204. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 194-195. 
4125 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081 (finding that Stojic issued an order on 3 July 1993 transferring the 
management of detention of Muslim men of military age in Capljina Municipality to the local HVO but also finding 
that it had no evidence showing that the local HVO took responsibility for the detention of the Muslim men arrested). 
4126 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 416, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1D01105, 2D01019; Zoran Buntic, T.30499-30500, 
30502-30503 (9 July 2008), 
4127 See supra, para. 1326. 
4128 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 211 & fns 481, 486, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03560, pp. 1, 4 ("After a 
discussion of the request by the HVO of Capljina municipality to relocate prisoners [ ... J unanimous approval was given 
to [ ... ] designate new sites and transfer prisoners of war"), 5, P03573 (An HVO HZ H-B work group "has visited 
Capljina municipality and assessed the existing conditions concerning [ ... J the accommodation of prisoners of war and 
isolated individuals [and] proppses the relocation of the part of the detained individuals from Capljina [ ... J. The 
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finds that Pdic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached these findings. 

As to his argument that the HVO HZ H-B could not force the municipal HVOs to help the HVO 

Capljina in accommodating detainees, the Appeals Chamber considers that even if no municipality 

was willing to help the Capljina Municipality by taking in a number of detainees, as the evidence 

Pdic points to indicates,4129 Pdic has failed to show that this is inconsistent with the challenged 

finding that he had power over detention centres. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses it 

accordingly.4130 

1330. With regard to the challenge to the finding that PdiC had the power to close detention 

centres, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have made this finding 

based on the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied.4131 Further, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that the Trial Chamber considered Boban's decision of 10 December 1993 to close 

detention centres, to 'which Prlic refers,4132 and found that Boban, among others, had power over 

them.4133 As to the Trial Chamber's reliance on letters sent by Pdic in December 1993, in which he 

discussed the process of closing detention facilities, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic has 

failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have inferred PdiC's authority over detention 

centres from these letters, which Pdic sent in his official capacity.4134 Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses all these arguments. 

1331. Turning to PdiC's contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had the 

power to grant international organisations access to detention centres by relying on one 

uncorroborated document containing hearsay, the Appeals Chamber recalls that in assessing the 

probative value of hearsay evidence, the surrounding circumstances must be considered.4135 In the 

circumstances of this case, the Appeals Chamber considers that the author of the document relied 

upon by the Trial Chamber, a report by an international organisation, wrote what Pdic had said to 

him in person in a meeting the night before and considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have 

following individuals are assigned [ ... J to explore possibilities to accommodate a certain number of detained 
individuals from Capljina"), Zoran Buntic, T(F). 30585 (10 July 2008) (regarding other municipalities' lack of 
willingness to accommodate detainees from Capljina in their own facilities). 
4129 See Zoran Buntic, T. 30582-30586 (10 July 2008). 
4130 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 1.2.6 and 11.9, which 
it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 168-176, 1093-1096. 
4131 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 158, Vol. 4, paras 112, 254, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P06965 (UN report of 30 
November 1993 referring to PdiC's statement that he intended to close POW camps), para. 6, P07668 (RR H-B decree 
dated 23 December 1993 closing GabelaPrison and bearing PdiC's name). PdiC's submission that district prisons are 
different from detention centres is dismissed elsewhere. See supra, parl\. 1326. The Appeals Chamber also notes that 
Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 6.1, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, 
paras 212-218. . 

132 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 423. See also infra, para. 1366. 
4133 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1441, Vol. 3, para. 191. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 158, to which Pdic 
refers. See Prlic's Appeal Brief, fn. 1099; infra, para. 1372. 
4134 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 112 & fns 335-336 and references cited therein. 
4135 Lukic and Lukic Appeal Judgement, para. 303. See also Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, paras 1276, 1307. 

541 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23354



relied upon it.4136 Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that there is evidence on the record 

confirming that this meeting took place and was reported in the document in question,4137 as well as 

evidence corroborating PrliC's power to grant international organisations access to detention 

centres.4138 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's argument. 

1332. With respect to PrliC's allegation that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that international 

organisations regularly visited the Heliodrom in May to July 1993 without seeking his 

authorisation, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that Prlic was one of 

several persons who regulated access to the Heliodrom for representatives of international 

organisations,4139 and finds that PrliC's argument is not inconsistent with the challenged finding that 

Prlic also had the power to grant international organisations access to detention centres. The 

Appeals Chamber thus dismisses this argument. 

1333. Having dismissed the arguments above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic has failed to 

demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he had power over detention 

centres,4140 or power to grant international organisations access to them. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses PrliC's ground 13 in part. 

(ii) The Heliodrom 

a. PrliC's power over the Heliodrom (PrliC's Sub-grounds 16.7.1 and 16.7.3) 

1334. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had power over the 

Heliodrom and that he was involved in and/or had the power to grant representatives of 

international organisations access to it.4141 The Prosecution responds that PrliC's mere assertions 

should be summarily dismissed.4142 The Appeals Chamber considers that PrliC's submissions are 

4136 See Trial JUdgement, Vol. 2, para. 1437 (referring to Ex. P09846 (confidential)), Vol. 4, para. 113. The Appeals 
Chamber considers in particular that a reasonable trial chamber could have understood the statement in the report in 
question - "I was offered a visit to Rodoc" - to refer to the Heliodrom. See, e.g., Philip Roger Watldns, T. 18868 (22 
May 2007) ("Rodoc is also sometimes referred to as the Heliodrom"). The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers· 
to his submissions in ground of appeal 3, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183. 
4137 Witness BB, T. 17284-17285 (closed session) (17 Apr 2007). 
4138 Ex. P03573 (Minutes of the 47th session of the HVO HZ H-B held on 20 July 1993 over which PrliC presided and at 
which the following conclusion was reached: "The access is allowed to the International Red Cross and other 
international organizations in order to inspect the conditions in the facilities where detained individuals are 
accommodated."). The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on this exhibit to find, notably, that the 
Government discussed the situation of the detainees in the detention centres and possible actions in that regard. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 219 & fn. 558, para. 224 & fn. 569. 
4139 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 144l. 
4140 The Appeals Chamber addresses PrliC's specific challenges with regard to the Heliodrom, Vojno Detention Centre, 
Dretelj Prison, and Gabela Prison elsewhere in the Judgement. See infra, paras 1334-1373. 
4141 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 586-587, 592-593, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 13. 
4142 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 369. 
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entirely based on cross-references to his ground of appeal 13, which it dismisses elsewhere in this 

Judgement.4143 PdiC's sub-grounds of appeal 16.7.1 and 16.7.3 are dismissed. 

b. PdiC's facilitation of and support for the detention of civilians in the 

Heliodrom (PdiC's Ground 13 in part and Sub-ground 16.7.2) 

1335. The Trial Chamber held that at the 38th session of the HVO on 17 May 1993, attended, 

inter alios, by Pdic, the HVO expressed its support for the relocation of civilians from Mostar to the 

Heliodrom, stating that the women, children, and the eldedy had been released.4144 The 

Trial Chamber found that at several meetings of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B attended 

by Pdic, particulady those held on 19 and 20 July 1993, the situation of the detainees in the 

detention centres was raised, and the Government conceded that efforts had to be made to improve 

the detention conditions but did not consider itself responsible for that.4145 

1336. The Trial Chamber also found that Pdic was informed at the meetings on 

19 and 20 July 1993 of the precarious situation of the detained Muslims at the detention centres.4146 

The Trial Chamber held that by issuing the press release on 23 July 1993 - stating that the detainees 

in all the detention centres, including the Heliodrom, were men of military age, that the women, 

children, and eldedy had been released from there, and that medical checks had been carried out on 

all the detainees and those with any medical problems were released regardless of age - Pdic 

imparted information about the detention of Muslims which he knew was inaccurate.4147 

1337. The Trial Chamber considered that the fact that Pdic took measures to improve the 

detention conditions of the detainees, but did not deem himself responsible for their 

implementation, did not exonerate him.4~48 The Trial Chamber further found that Prlic ought to 

have ensured the actual implementation of the decision of 19 July 1993 but that, instead, on 

23 July 1993, Prlic publicly justified the detention of Muslims at the Heliodrom and denied that 

their situation was bad.4149 The Trial Chamber thus found that Pdic facilitated the detention of 

civilians and the bad conditions in which the detainees were living.4150 

4143 See supra, paras 1318-1333; infra, paras 1335-1343, 1356-1373. 
4144 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 222. 
4145 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 224. 
4146 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 224-225. 
4147 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 223 (referring to Ex. P03673, p. 2), 225. 
4148 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 225. 
4149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 225. 
4150 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 225. 
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i. Arguments of the Parties 

1338. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, by "effectively" relying on one 

document, the minutes of the 38th session of the HVO HZ-HB meeting held on 17 May 1993, that 

he and the HVO HZ-HB facilitated and supported the detention of civilians and the bad conditions 

in the Heliodrom.4151 

1339. Pdic further submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that the HVO HZ H-B 

"conceded that efforts had to be made to improve the d~tention conditions" and that by issuing the 

press release on 23 July 1993, having been previously informed of the bad situation of the detained 

Muslims on 19 and 20 July 1993, publicly denying such bad conditions, he knowingly gave 

inaccurate information.4152 Pdic contends that the 19 and 20 July 1993 meetings related to the 

Cap1jina prisons, not the He1iodrom.4153 Pdic argues further that the Trial Chamber ignored 

contextual evidence when assessing the press re1ease.4154 

1340. The Prosecution responds that PdiC's claim that the Trial Chamber relied on one document 

to conclude that he facilitated and supported the detention of civilians and the bad conditions in the 

Heliodrom is incorrect, articulates no error, and fails to show that the Trial Chamber unreasonably 

interpreted that document.4155 The Prosecution avers that Pdic fails to show that no reasonable trial 

chamber could have concluded that he knowingly imparted inaccurate information through the 

23 July 1993 press release, and argues that while the Government meetings of 19 and 20 July 1993 

focused on the conditions in Cap1jina prisons, the minutes reflect an awareness of generally poor 

detention conditions.4156 

4151 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 588-589, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 1D01666, PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 3 
and sub-ground of appeal 16.4.2. See also PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 414(g). 
4152 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 590. 
4153 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 590, referring to Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 417 (ground of appeal 13). 
4154 Specifically, Pdic argues that: (1) he issued the press release in response to Mate GraniC's appeal to address the 
deteriorating humanitarian situation in BiB at the time; (2) the information in the press release came from the 
authorities in charge of the detention centres; (3) there is no evidence that those in charge of the Heliodrom were 
obliged to send information to him or the HR H -B Government, or that any such information was exchanged; (4) he had 
no de jure power over any of the detention centres, including the Heliodrom; (5) there is no evidence that he "exceeded 
his legitimate powers"; and (6) he could not implement any measures in the Heliodrom. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 590. 
See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 591, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 13. 
4155 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 370. 
4156 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 371. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 228-229 (20 Mar 2017). The Prosecution 
also refers to other findings and supporting evidence, which it argues show that Pdic lied on 23 July 1993. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 371. In the Prosecution's view, it was irrelevant that the press release was in 
response to GraniC's appeal. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 371. Finally, the Prosecution argues that PdiC's 
claim that the information in the press release came from the authorities in charge of detention centres ignores 
information which he actually had. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 372. 
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ii. Analysis 

1341. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber considers that Pdic misrepresents the challenged factual 

finding when he claims that the Trial Chamber effectively relied on one document. The 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber reached the impugned finding after a discussion 

of various pieces of evidence, including the minutes of the 38th session of the HVO HZ H-B on 

17 May 1993, a press release dated 23 July 1993, minutes of the HVO HZ H-B sessions held on 

19 and 20 July 1993, as well as other findings. 4157 As Pdic has failed to demonstrate any error in the 

Trial Chamber's finding, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

1342. The Appeals Chamber now turns to the impugned findings that the HVO HZ H-B conceded 

that efforts were needed to improve detention conditions and that Prlic, despite knowing about these 

bad conditions, publicly denied them and thus knowingly gave inaccurate information. With t:egard 

to PdiC's argument that the 19 and 20 July 1993 meetings related to the Capljina prisons, not the 

Heliodrom, the Appeals Chamber has reviewed the underlying evidence and considers that, based 

on this evidence, a reasonable trier of fact could have found that the discussion revolved around all 

detention centres and not just Capljina prisons.4158 With regard to Pdic's argument that the 

Trial Chamber ignored contextual evidence when assessing the press release, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that he has failed to explain how the evidence he submits the Trial Chamber ignored is 

inconsistent with the challenged findings. 4159 It thus dismisses all these arguments. 

1343. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PdiC's ground of appeal 13 in part, as well as his 

sub-ground of appeal 16.7.2. 

4157 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 222-224, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03560, P03573, P03673, 1001666. The 
Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 3 and sub-ground of appeal 16.4.2, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183, 1225-1230. 
4158 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 224 & fn. 569, referring to Exs. P03560, p. 4, P03573. The Appeals Chamber notes 
in particular that Exhibit P03560, minutes of the 46th session of the HVO HZ H-B held on 19 July 1993, states that: 
"[a]fter a discussion of the request by the HVO of Capljina municipality to relocate prisoners and a discussion of the 
status and accommodation conditions of prisoners and persons in isolation, with the aim of improving their 
accommodation conditions and overcoming the newly-arisen situation, unanimous approval was given to adopt the 
following [c]onc1usions [ ... ] [s]ecure accommodation conditions, material and medical support for prisoners of war in 
accordance with the Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War." Ex. P03560, p. 4 (emphasis 
added). The Appeals' Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 13, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1318-1333, infra, paras 1356-1373. 
4159 See supra, fn. 4154. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in ground of appeal 13, 
which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1318-1333; infra, paras 1356-1373. 
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c. PdiC's facilitation and acceptance of the use of Heliodrom detainees for front 

line labour (Pdic's Sub-ground 16.7.4) 

1344. The Trial Chamber found that Pdic was one of the HZ(R) H-B officials who were informed 

of incidents during the work at the front line of detainees from the Heliodrom and elsewhere.4160 

The Trial Chamber found that Pdic, once notified of these incidents, had the power to intervene and 

put an end to the practice and by failing to act, he both facilitated the use of detainees from the 

Heliodrom for work at the front line and as human shields and accepted their abuse and the death of 

some of them.4161 

1. Arguments of the Parties 

1345. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he facilitated the use of the 

detainees from the Heliodrom for work at the front line and as human shields, that he had the power 

to intervene, and that he accepted their abuse and the death of some of them.4162 Priic argues that he' 

had no power over the military or over those authorised at the Heliodrom to assign detainees to 

forced labour.4163 He submits that the HVO Main Staff had authority over such matters and 

prohibited the taking of prisoners for labour in dangerous zones, and that the Defence Minister 

issued orders to prevent such practices.4164 

1346. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, by relying on selective 

evidence, including letters from the ICRC on which he was copied, that he was informed of the 

forced labour carried out by detainees.4165 He argues that there is no evidence that he received these 

letters and even if he did, they were not proof of his de jure and de facto powers, let alone that he 

"acquiesc~d by dereliction".4166 Prlic also argues that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that the 

ICRC sent a report in November 1993 on the issue of forced labour to Boban and PogarCic, who -

unlike Prlic - were responsible, that Marijan Biskic received the ICRC's letters, that the Military 

Police as the competent authority and the SIS responded to each letter, and that measures were 

taken to investigate the allegations made in the ICRC's letters.4167 

1347. The Prosecution responds that Prlic shows no error in the impugned finding that he 

facilitated the use of detainees for work on the front line since he was aware of the practice and 

4160 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1481, 1492, Vol. 4, para. 229. . 
4161 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 232. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 274. 
4162 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 594. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 595, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, grounds of 
apgeal12-13. 
4 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 596. 
4164 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 596. 
4165 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 597. 
4166 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 597. 
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failed to intervene.4168 It argues that he ignores the Trial Chamber's findings on his authority over 

the military and the Department of Defence whose officials were found to have authority over the 

use of Heliodrom detainees for forced labour.4169 It also avers that there is evidence that he was 

personally informed of the use of Heliodrom detainees for front line labour.4170 In the Prosecution's 

view, evidence that the Military Police and SIS "reacted" to this issue does not undermine the 

Trial Chamber's findings on PrliC's failure to intervene.4171 In any case, the Prosecution argues that 

Pdic points to no evidence reflecting actual prevention or punishment, or evidence otherwise 

undermining the Trial Chamber's finding that no HVO member was ever sanctioned for using 

Heliodrom prisoners for forced labour.4172 

ii. Analysis 

1348. Concerning PrliC's argument that he had no power over the military or over those authorised 

at the Heliodrom to assign detainees to forced labour, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it dismisses 

elsewhere PdiC's general challenges to his powers in military matters and over detention centres.4173 

The Trial Chamber listed several persons, not including Pdic, who had power to authorise the use 

of Heliodrom detainees for forced labour, but included him among the persons who were informed 

of the incidents during forced labour performed by Heliodrom detainees.4174 The Trial Chamber 

found that Pdic had the power to intervene and end the practice based on his position of 

authority.4175 In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber considers that PdiC's arguments 

concerning the HVO Main Staff's authority and the Defence Minister's orders are not inconsistent 

with the impugned finding that Pdic facilitated the use of detainees from the Heliodrom for work at 

the front line and as human shields, and accepted their abuse and the death of some of them.4176 The 

Appeals Chamber thus dismisses these arguments. 

1349. With regard to PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on selective 

evidence - i.e. a report of an international organisation on a meeting with him, dated 

17 August 1993, and two letters dated 18 February and 16 March 1994 by an international 

organisation - to conclude that he was informed of the work of the detainees,4177 the 

4167 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 597; PrliC's Reply Brief, para. 75. 
4168 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 373; Appeal Hearing, AT. 229 (20 Mar 2017). 
4169 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 374. 
4170 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 375. 
4171 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 376. 
4172 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 376. 
4173 See supra, paras 1098-1127, 1318-1333. 
4174 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1492. 
4175 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 232. 
4176 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 594, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 232. 
4177 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1481 & fn. 3749, Vol. 4, para. 229 & fn. 575, referring to Exs. P07895, p. 1, 
P08079 (confidential), p. 2, P09846 (confidential). 
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Appeals Chamber observes that the 17 August 1993 document reported on a personal meeting with 

Pdic the previous evening where he "brushed over" ICRC allegations on the use of prisoners from 

the Heliodrom and elsewhere to work on the front line.4178 The Appeals Chamber also considers 

that Pdic was copied on the 18 February and 16 March 1994 letters, and that based on these three 

documents, a reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding. Further, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber did not find that Pdic had the power to intervene to stop 

detainees from the Heliodrom being used to work on the front line, nor that he "acquiesced by 

dereliction", based on the two letters.4179 The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses these arguments. 

1350. As to PdiC's final argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that other officials 

received a report and letters from the ICRC on this issue, that the Military Police and SIS responded 

to each letter, and that measures were taken to investigate the allegations made, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that, regardless of the allegedly ignored evidence,4180 Pdic has failed to 

show that the conclusion of the Trial Chamber could not stand on the basis of the above-mentioned 

evidence that Pdic was also informed of the use of detainees for work on the front line.4181 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses this argument. 

1351. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber rejects PdiC's sub-ground of appeal 16.7.4. 

d. PdiC's planning and facilitation of the organisation of the departure of about 

2,500 detainees from the Heliodrom to Croatia (PdiC's Sub-ground 16.7.5) 

1352. The Trial Chamber found that, at least on one occasion in July 1993, Pdic planned and 

facilitated the organisation of the departure of about 2,500 detainees from the Heliodrom to Croatia, 

although he knew that an international organisation had called the plan "ethnic c1eansing".4182 

1353. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in making this finding, relying on limited and 

uncorroborated evidence.4183 He argues that there is no evidence that he was involved in releasing 

persons from the Heliodrom.4184 In PdiC's view, the Trial Chamber ignored evidence making no 

mention of 10,000 persons wishing to leave Mostar and that only 71 persons, of the 502 who 

4178 See Ex. P09846 (confidential). 
4179 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 232 ("Given his position of authority"). See also supra, paras 1021-1127, 
1318-1333. . 
4180 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 597, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00284 and the testimony of Marijan BiskiC. 
4181 See supra, paras 1348-1349. . 
4182 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 235. 
4183 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 598. 
4184 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 598. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 599, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds 
16.6.3-16.6.4. 
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applied for transit visas to Croatia for family, security, employment, or health-related reasons, were 

from Mostar.4185 

1354. The Prosecution responds that Prlic misrepresents the evidence the Trial Chamber relied 

upon.4186 The Prosecution argues that Prlic ignores evidence showing his central role in organising 

the displacement of prisoners, and that the fact that others had authority to release detainees does 

not undermine the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Prlic "planned and facilitated" the departure of 

Heliodrom detainees.4187 It also argues that even if some of the 2,500 persons had applied for transit 

visas this does not undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that the departure was involuntary.4188 

1355. With regard to the argument that the Trial Chamber relied on limited and uncorroborated 

evidence, the Appeals Chamber observes that Prlic misrepresents in both regards the 

Trial Chamber's findings, which were based on several pieces of mutually corroborating 

evidence.4189 As to PrliC's challenge that there is no evidence that he was involved in releasing 

persons from the Heliodrom, the Appeals Chambers considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that 

the Military Police and other HVO authorities - not listing Prlic - had the power to release 

detainees,4190 does not preclude it from making the impugned finding, which is supported by 

evidence.4191 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to explain how the 

allegedly ignored evidence undermines the impugned finding.4192 For these reasons, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses all ofPrlic's arguments, as well as PrliC's sub-ground of appeal 16.7.5. 

(iii) Vojno Detention Centre (PrliC's Ground 13 in part and Sub-ground 16.8) 

1356. The Trial Chamber found that, as of 20 January 1994, PrliC was informed that detainees 

from Vojno Detention Centre were being used to work at the front line and that several had been 

mistreated, wounded, and killed during such work.4193 The Trial Chamber also found that by 

continuing to exercise his functions, and because he took no measures to stop the crimes which 

4185 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 600. 
4186 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 377. 
4187 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 379. . 
4188 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 378. The Prosecution also submits that Pdic refers to scant or irrelevant 
evidence and ignores relevant findings of the Trial Chamber. Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 378. 
4189 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 234-235 & fns 588-591 and references cited therein. Cf PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 598 & fn. 1533. In any event, there is no general requirement that the testimony of a witness be corroborated if 
deemed otherwise credible. Popovic et aZ. Appeal Judgement, paras 243, 1264; D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 215. See also Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 

190 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1445-1452. 
4191 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 234-235 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic 
refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.6.3 and 16.6.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. 
See supra, paras 1300, 1304-1306, 1308-1309, 1315, 1317. 
4192 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 600, referring to Exs. P03554 (confidential), P09682 (confidential), pp. 3-4, Adalbert 
Rebic, T. 28462-28465 (partly private session) (22 May 2008). Cf Ex. P09679 (confidential). 
4193 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 238, 274. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 236-237. See also Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2, paras 1685-1686. 
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continued until the end of January 1994, Prlic accepted the use of detainees at the front line and 

their consequent death and wounding.4194 

1357. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had power over V ojno 

Detention Centre and its detainees.4195 Prlic further asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that he accepted the use of detainees at the front line and their death and wounding based 

on letters sent by the ICRC to others, on which he was copied.4196 

1358. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable and that PrliC's 

arguments should be summarily dismissed.4197 

1359. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it dismisses PrliC's challenge to his overall 

authority over detention centres in another part of the Judgement,4198 and considers that he fails to 

demonstrate any error specifically with regard to his authority over Vojno Detention Centre.4199 

With regard to Prlic's claim that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he accepted the use 

of detainees at the front line and the death and wounding of some of them based on letters sent by 

the ICRC, on which he was copied,4200 the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of 

fact could have found that he was informed on the basis of this evidence 4201 and therefore finds that 

Prlic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred. It. further considers that Prlic misrepresents 

the impugned finding. The Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber inferred his 

knowledge of the use of detainees at the front line and their ensuing death and wounding from the 

4194 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 238,274. 
4195 Prlic's Appeal Brief, paras 414(h), 601. 
4196 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 601. See PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 602, referring to Prlic's Appeal Brief, (sub-)grounds 
of appeal 12.l, 13, 16.7.4. 
4197 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 380. 
4198 See supra, paras 1318-1333. 
4199 The Appeals Chamber notes in particular that Prlic partly relies on the Trial Chamber's findings that other persons 
and bodies had authority over Vojno Detention Centre, but considers that this does not preclude the Trial Chamber from 
finding that Prlic had a general authority over detention facilities, particularly to open and close them. See PrliC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 414(h), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1669-1682. See also supra, paras 1318, 1326. 
The Appeals Chamber further considers that Prlic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber relied on him being 
copied on letters sent by the ICRC to conclude that he had power over Vojno Detention Centre and its detainees. See 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 601 & fn. 1537, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1685, 1694, 1711, 1729. 
4200 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1620 & fn. 4107, Vol. 4, paras 236-237 & fns 592-594, referring to, inter alia, 
Exs. P07636, p. 1, P07660, P08079 (confidential), p. 1. 
4201 See Exs. P07636 (ICRC letter dated 20 January 1994), p. 1 ("The majority of the prisoners were wounded by 
shelling or rifle fire, while working on the frontline, in Mostar, Vojno or Vrdi; they either died on the spot or during the 
transfer to the hospital. In August and September [1993], during military offensives, a large number[] of prisoners were 
made to work on the frontline in Mostar."); P07660 (ICRC letter dated 24 January 1994) ("[P]risoners are again being 
used for work on the front line [ ... ] a large number of detainees are still held under working obligation in front line 
areas like Vo[j]no, Hum, Mostar and Vrdi [ ... ] the detainees held in these places are used for work of military 
character, such as building fortifications, and [ ... ] several of them have been injured."); P08079 (confidential) (ICRC 
letter dated 16 March 1994), p. 1 ("On the 8th of November [1993], 75 prisoners were transferred from Rodoc to Vojno. 
They worked everyday on the frontline, starting at 6 am.") The letter proceeds to describe in detail the alleged 
mistreatment and wounding of the prisoners by the soldiers guarding them. See also Ex. P08079 (confidential), p. 2 
(regarding detainees killed on the front line). 
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ICRC letters,4202 his knowledge of such crimes being committed was only one of the considerations 

leading the Trial Chamber to conclude that he accepted such crimes - the other two were his 

continued exercise of his functions and the fact that he took no measures to stop the commission of 

such crimes.4203 The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects this argument. For the foregoing reasons, 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's ground of appeal 13 in part, as well as his sub-ground of 

appeal 16.8. 

(iv) Dretelj Prison (PdiC's Ground 13 in part and Sub-ground 16.9) 

1360. The Trial Chamber found that in July 1993, in meetings of the HVO/Government of the 

HZ(R) H-B in which Prlic participated, decisions were taken to improve the conditions of detention 

of detainees.4204 These decisions did not bring about the expected improvements, however, because 

at the end of September 1993, the conditions were still as bad.4205 The Trial Chamber found that, 

while exercising his functions in the HVO/Government of HZ(R) H-B, Pdic continued to be 

informed of the bad conditions of detention and the mistreatment of detainees.4206 It also found that 

instead of having the detainees released, they were moved to other detention centres or to third 

countries via Croatia.4207 The Trial Chamber concluded therefore that Pdic accepted the extremely 

precarious conditions and the mistreatment of detainees in Dretelj Prison and "even facilitated them 

by not releasing the detainees", and facilitated their departure to foreign countries through his 

failure to act.4208 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1361. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had power over Dretelj 

Prison and its detainees and that he accepted the precarious conditions and mistreatment of 

detainees.4209 He challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on the minutes of two HVO HZ H-B 

meetings to find that the decision taken in July 1993 to improve the conditions of detention "did not 

bring about the expected improvements because in September 1993 the detention conditions were 

still just as bad".4210 In his submission, the HVO HZ H-B's holding discussions to find solutions for 

4202 See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1685 & fn. 4237, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P07895 regarding his 
knowledge of similar events that were occurring in the Heliodrom. 
4203 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 238. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in 
(sub-)grounds of appeal 12.1, 13, and 16.7.4, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1099-
1122,1318-1333,1335-1351; infra, paras 1360-1373. 
4204 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 248. 
4205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 248. 
4206 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 249. 
4207 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 249. 
4208 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 249. 
4209 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 414(1), 603. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 604 (referring to PdiC's (sub-)grounds of 
aE~eal12.1, 13, 16.7.4),606 & fn. 1556 (referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 13). 
4 1 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 605. 
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problems outside its responsibility and pow~rs, and to which it did not contribute, "does not impute 

de jure or de facto responsibility" .4211 

1362. Prlic further asserts that the Trial Chamber erred, by ignoring relevant evidence regarding 

the 20 September 1993 meeting with international organisations, in concluding that he moved 

prisoners from Dretelj Prison to other locations.4212 Referring to the joint Tudman-Izetbegovic 

Declaration, which provided for the disbanding of detention camps and the release of detainees, 

Prlic argues that Mate Granic and Haris Silajdzic, charged with implementing this agreement, took 

measures to abolish Dretelj Prison and release detainees from this facility, in co-operation with 

international organisations and based on the free will of the detainees.4213 Prlic claims that neither 

the HVO HZ H-B nor he were "involved in these matters".4214 

1363. The Prosecution responds that there is ample evidence to show that Prlic accepted and 

facilitated the precarious conditions and mistreatment of detainees in Dretelj Prison.4215 It avers that 

the Trial Chamber logically inferred that Prlic facilitated the movement of prisoners from Dretelj 

Prison to other detention centres or to third countries by failing to take genuine steps to improve 

detention conditions and/or release detainees.4216 The Prosecution notes that the evidence on which 

Prlic relies to show his purported non-involvement in fact underscores his and his Government's 

failure to use their authority to take appropriate steps to release prisoners.4217 

1364. The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber did not ignore relevant evidence and 

took note of evidence of: (1) the 20 September 1993 meeting attended by Prlic relating to the 

implementation of the joint Tudman-Izetbegovic Declaration; and (2) the ICRC transferring a 

certain number of detainees following this meeting.4218 In the Prosecution's view, neither of these 

pieces of evidence undermines the impugned finding.4219 It also argues that Prlic cites irrelevant 

evidence in claiming that Dretelj Prison detainees were transferred based on their "free will" and 

that, in any case, this argument cannot account for clear contrary evidence.422o 

4211 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 605, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, (sub-)grounds of appeal 3, 16.7. 
4212 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 606. 
4213 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 606. See Prlic Appeal Brief, para. 423 (under PrliC's ground of appeal 13). 
4214 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 606 & fn. 1556, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, ground of appeal 13. 
4215 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 381. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 382; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 229-230 (20 Mar 2017). 
4216 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 383. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 228 (20 Mar 2017). 
4217 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 383. 
4218 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 384-385. 
4219 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), paras 384-385. 
4220 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 385. 
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b. Analysis 

1365. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it dismisses elsewhere PrliC's general 

challenges to his overall authority over detention centres.4221 It therefore turns to PrliC's specific 

claim that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the HVO/Government's decision in July 1993 to 

take measures to improve conditions of detention did not bring about the expected improvements 

and that detention conditions remained as bad in September 1993. The Appeals Chamber notes that 

in support of this finding, the Trial Chamber relied on the minutes of HVO HZ(R) H-B meetings 

held in July and September 1993, the latter of which recorded a conclusion that detention conditions 

were still bad in September.4222 It also referred to other evidence in this regard.4223 Prli6's argument 

makes no attempt to explain how the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the minutes, ignores the 

other evidence, and as such amounts to mere assertion.4224 It is dismissed as such. Further, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to what Prli6 suggests, the Trial Chamber did not "impute de 

jure or de Jacto responsibility,,4225 to the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B on the basis of these 

minutes.4226 This claim is therefore also dismissed. 

1366. With respect to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence relevant to the 

20 September 1993 meeting in finding that he moved prisoners from Dretelj Prison to other 

locations, the Appeals Chamber considers that he misrepresents the challenged finding, which is 

limited to him facilitating their departure to foreign countries through his failure to act.4227 Further, 

while the Trial Chamber did not refer to the joint Tudman-Izetbegovi6 Declaration per se,4228 it 

relied extensively on a report of the 20 September 1993 meeting of an international organisation, 

which cited the start of the implementation of this joint Tudman-Izetbegovi6 Declaration as the 

reason for such meeting.4229 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber in 

fact relied on some of the same evidence that Prli6 claims was ignored.423o The Appeals Chamber 

also notes that the evidence referred to by Prli6 does not support his contention that detainees were 

4221 See supra, paras 1318-1333. 
4222 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 241,244 & fns 598, 603, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03573, P04841, pp. 1-2. 
4223 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 241, 244 & fns 598, 603, referring to, inter alia, Zoran Buntic, T(F). 30585 
(10 July 2008), Andrew Pringle, T(F). 24145-24151, 24155 (6 Nov 2007), Ex. P04863 (confidential). See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 245 & fns 605-606, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05219 (confidential). 
4224 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 605. 
4225 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 605. 
4226 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 248-249. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in 
(sub-)grounds of appeal 3 and 16.7, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 177-183, 1334-
1355. 
4227 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 249. 
4228 See Ex. P05051. 
4229 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 245 & fns 605-608, 610, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05219 (confidential), pp. 1-
2. 
4230 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 245 & fns 604 (referring to Ex. P04863 (confidential)), 606-608 (referring to, 
inter alia, Zdravko Sancevic, T(F). 28815-28818 (29 May 2008), Adalbert Rebic, T(F). 28312-28313 (20 May 2008), 
Ex. 1D01936, p. 1). 
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transferred from Drete1j Prison based on their "free will"; in particular, none of the evidence speaks 

to their consent to being transferred.4231 Moreover, even if there is some evidence that the ICRC 

confirmed the release of 516 detainees from Drete1j Prison on medical grounds in 

September 19934232 and that some were treated as refugees while in transit in Croatia,4233 Prlic fails 

to show how this detracts from the challenged finding. Similarly, as to PrliC's claim that neither the 

HVO HZ-HE nor he were involved "in these matters", the Appeals Chamber recalls that the 

Trial Chamber found that he facilitated their departure by failing to act.4234 These arguments are 

dismissed. 

1367. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had power over Drete1j Prison 

and its detainees and that he accepted the precarious conditions and mistreatment of the 

detainees.4235 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's ground of appeal13 in part, as well 

as his sub-ground of appea116.9. 

(v) Gabe1a Prison (PrliC's Ground 13 in part and Sub-ground 16.11) 

1368. The Trial Chamber found that on 8 June 1993, Prlic, as President of the HVO HZ H-B, 

officially established Gabe1a Prison and appointed its warden, and that on 22 December 1993, when 

he was President of the HR H-B, he officially closed the prison.4236 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1369. Prlic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he and/or the HVO HZ 

H-B had power ov~r Gabe1a Prison and established and closed it.4237 He contends that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that Gabe1a Prison was established on 8 June 1993 pursuant 

to his decision, by relying on the HVO HZ H-B decision to set up a County Military Prison and 

County Prison in Gabe1a and by ignoring evidence on the difference between detention centres and 

civilian or military prisons.4238 He also argues that there is no evidence that the decision 

4231 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1553 and references cited therein. 
4232 See Ex. P05304. 
4233 See Adalbert Rebic, T. 28317 (20 May 2008), 28501-28502 (22 May 2008); Ex. 1D02735. 
4234 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 249. 
4235 The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic refers to his submissions under (sub-)grounds of appeal 12.1, 13, and 16.7.4, 
which the Appeals Chamber dismisses, in relevant part, elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1099-1122, 1318-
1333, 1344-1351. 
4236 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 154-158, Vol. 4, para. 251. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 112. 
4237 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 414(m), 609. 
4238 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 411. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 412-413; PdiC's Reply, para. 64. Pdic adds that the 
decision was not his and he did not set up a detention centre. PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 411. Pdic also argues that there 
is no evidence indicating that Gabela Prison was referred to as the "County Military Prison". PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 
419. 
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establishing Gabela Prison was in force given that it had not been officially published.4239 Prlic 

further submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he or the HVo HZ-HE established and 

closed Gabela Prison is contrary to its findings that Gabela Prison functioned within the military 

structure as of April 1993, and that the Gabela authorities implemented Bobari's order to close all 

detention centres by releasing prisoners.4240 Lastly, Prlic asserts that reports on and information 

about Gabela Prison were sent to the Office of the HR H -B President and not to him or the 

Government. 4241 

1370. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he opened and closed Gabela Prison.4242 With respect to PrliC's argument that his 

orders did not relate to Gabela Prison, the Prosecution submits that Prlic ignores the testimony of 

former detain~es who identified the warden, whom he had appointed, as the warden of Gabela 

Prison.4243 The Prosecution submits that Prlic fails to show that no reasonable trial chamber could 

conclude that both Boban and Prlic had and exercised the power to close detention facilities.4244 

Further, the Prosecution avers that the facts that Gabela Prison took in detainees as of April 1993, 

and that Gabela Prison authorities began implementing Boban's order of 10 December 1993 to 

close all detention centres, do not contradict the Trial Chamber's findings that Prlic officially 

established Gabela Prison on 8 June 1993 and that he officially closed it on 22 December 1993.4245 

Finally, the Prosecution argues that PrliC's claim that reports relating to Gabela Prison were sent to 

Boban but not to Prlic or the Government is undercut by his reliance on material generated by his 

own Government.4246 

b. Analysis 

1371. The Appeals Chamber first turns to Prlic's contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that Gabela Prison was established on 8 June 1993 pursuant to his decision. First, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

relied on, for the impugned finding, the HV 0 HZ H-B decision, signed by Prlic, to set up a County 

Military Prison and County Prison in Gabela.4247 Concerning the allegedly ignored evidence, the 

4239 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 419. 
4240 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 420. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 416. 
4241 PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 420, 609. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 610, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, 
(sub-)grounds of appeal 12.1, 13, 16.7, 16.9. . 
4242 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 254, 387. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 227 (20 Mar 2017). 
4243 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 255. 
4244 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 256. 
4245 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 256. 
4246 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 387. , 
4247 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 154, Vol. 4, para. 251, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02679. With respect to PdiC's 
claim that there is no evidence that Gabela Prison was referred to as the "County Military Prison", the Appeals 
Chamber notes that Pdic has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact, based on the testimonies of former 
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Appeals Chamber recalls that it dismisses elsewhere PdiC's submissions on the difference between 

detentio~ centres and civilian or military prisons.4248 Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that 

Pdic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have reasoned that his decision of 22 

December 1993 overturning the decisions of 8 June 1993 - establishing Gabela Prison and 

appointing its warden - indicated, among other evidence, that the 8 June 1993 decision had entered 

into force. 4249 His arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1372. Regarding PdiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's findings on who opened and closed 

Gabela Prison are contradicted by other findings, the Appeals Chamber considers that neither the 

findings that Gabela Prison had already begun operating in April 1993 and functioned within the 

military structure,4250 nor the finding that the Gabela Prison authorities implemented Boban's order 

to close all detention centres by releasing prisoners,4251 detract from the impugned findings that he 

or the HVO HZ H-B officially established Gabela Prison on 8 June 1993 and officially closed it on 

22 December 1993.4252 His argument is therefore dismissed. Finally, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that PdiC's claim that reports of and information about Gabela Prison were sent to the 

Office of the HR H-B President, not to him or the Government, is not inconsistent with his or the 

Government's specific authority over Gabela Prison as set out in the challenged finding. 4253 His 

argument in this regard also fails. 

1373. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PdiC's ground of appeal 13 in 

part, as well as his sub-ground of appeal 16.11. 

(vi) PrliC's facilitation of the departure of detainees to foreign countries via Croatia 

(PrliC's Sub-ground 16.10) 

1374. Pdic claims that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he facilitated the departure 

of detainees to foreign countries via Croatia.4254 In this regard, he argues that the Trial Chamber 

Gabela Prison detainees who recognised the warden of Gabela Prison, Bosko Previsic, PrliC's appointee, could have 
concluded that the evidence related to Gabela Prison. His argument is therefore dismissed. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, 
Earas 236-237,251, Vol. 4, para. 251 and references cited therein. 

248 See supra, paras 1321, 1325, 1327. 
4249 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 155. See also Exs. P02674, P02679, P07668. 
4250 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 157, 165-166. 
4251 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 264-265. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 158. 
4252 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 154-158, Vol. 4, para. 251. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 112. 
4253 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 154-158, Vol. 4, para. 251. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 112. The 
Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in (sub-)grounds of appeal 12.1, 13, 16.7, and 16.9, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the JlJdgement. See supra, paras 1099-1122, 1318-1367. 
4254 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 607. 
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ignored evidence that under the authority of the ICRC, detainees "vohintarily chose where to be 

released" to.4255 

1375. The Prosecution responds that PrliC's reliance on evidence regarding the ICRCdoes not 

support the suggestion that he participated in genuinely voluntary departures and that Prlic ignores 

that detainees had no genuine choice given the extremely harsh conditions of detention to which he 

contributed.4256 

1376. The Appeals Chamber has reviewed the evidence Prlic claims the Trial Chamber 

ignored,4257 and notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered some of it.4258 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's argument insofar as this evidence is concerned. As to 

the remaining evidence,. the Appeals Chamber recalls that when a trial chamber does not refer to 

certain evidence, it is to be presumed that the trial chamber evaluated all the evidence presented to 

it, as long as there is no indication that the trial chamber completely disregarded eyidence which is 

clearly relevant.4259 The Appeals Chamber considers that PrliC does not rebut this presumption as he 

fails to show how the evidence to which he refers undermines the impugned finding.426o Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that he has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber based on the other evidence before it.4261 Prlic 

also ignores other relevant factual findings that detainees did not exercise a real choice when they 

departed to third countries, given their other option was to remain in harsh conditions of 

detention.4262 In light of all of the above, PrliC's argument fails, and the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

his sub-ground of appeal 16.10. 

4255 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 607. See Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 608, referring to Pdic's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of 
llfgeal16.4.3, 16.9. 
4 6 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 386. The Prosecution further contends that, In any event, the evidence 
cited by Pdic post-dates the findings of the Trial Chamber and much of it says nothing about detainees exercising any 
choice with respect to the terms of their departure. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 386. 
4257 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 1558 and references cited therein. See infra, fns 4258-4260. 
4258 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1647, referring to Exs. 1D00938 (lCRC letter dated 7 October 1993), m02213 
(Official Note Defence Ministry HR H-B dated 7 March 1994). 
4259 See Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
4260 The Appeals Chamber notes that the evidence includes a list of detainees wishing to move to .third countries (Ex. 
P07371), Witness Marijan Biskic's testimony that the lCRC representatives were involved in the implementation of the 
decision to release detainees (Marijan Biskic, T. 15319-15322 (8 Mar 2007», internal official documents discussing 
where detainees should go (Exs. P07148, P07l49, 6D00499), and an UNPROFOR document reporting Pdic as saying 
that the wishes of the detainees with regard to their destination on release "including third countries [ ... J must be 
strictly honored" (Ex. P06965, p. 3). 
4261 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 64, 233-234 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
249. 
4262 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 787, 805, 817, 835, Vol. 4, paras 64, 233 and references cited therein. The 
Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.4.3 and 16.9, which it dismisses 
elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1231-1241, 1360-1367. 
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, ' -, 

(h) Denial, concealment, and encouragement of crimes and failure to prevent or punish crimes 

(PrliC's Sub-grounds 16.12, 16.13, 16.14, and 16.15) 

1377. The Trial Chamber found that Prlic knowingly sought to minimise or conceal the crimes 

committed by the HVO in order to facilitate the implementation of the JCE.4263 The Trial Chamber 

also found that Prlic through his official and public statements engendered fear, mistrust, and hatred 

of Bosnian Muslims among Bosnian Croats and exacerbated nationalist sentiments, thus he 

contributed to the realisation of the JCE.4264 The Trial Chamber concluded that Pdic denied, 

concealed, and encouraged the crimes against Muslims and took no appropriate measures to prevent 

the crimes or punish the perpetrators.4265 With respect to his ability to do so, the Trial Chamber 

found that Prlic had the authority and power to intervene within the hierarchy of the HVO and HR 

H-B, particularly in relation to the other Appellants, and thus change the course of events.4266 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1378. ~ith respect to the Trial Chamber's finding that he knowingly sought to minimise or 

conceal crimes committed by the HVO, Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber erred by relying only on 

the testimony of Witness BA, which it mischaracterised.4267 Prlic further refers to evidence showing 

his views that evictions were not an official policy, were carried out by "gangster elements", and 

were contrary to Croat interests.4268 He also contends that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that 

there were "random evictions", which were carried out by irregular forces, and that the Military 

Police regularly reported these crimes.4269 Prlic also submits that the Trial Chamber relied on 

unsubstantiated evidence in concluding that in August 1993 he informed an international 

representative that Muslims from Ljubuski were being interned for their own safety.427o 

1379. Prlic further contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously ,concluded that through his official 

and public statements, he engendered fear, mistrust, and hatred of Bosnian Muslims among Bosnian 

Croats and exacerbated nationalist sentiments, and thus contributed to the realisation of the JCE.4271 

Prlic submits in this regard' that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that a letter of 

4263 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 263. 
4264 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 267. 
4265 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 269. 
4266 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 268. 
4267 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 612, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-ground of appeal 6.1. See also Prlic's Appeal 
Brief, paras 449,627-629. 
4268 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 612. 
4269 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 612. 
4270 PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 613, refelTing to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, paras 187-188 (ground of appeal 6.2). 
Prlic adds that, even if he did make these remarks, considering the ongoing events, "they were not beyond the ken". 
PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 613. See also PrliC's Appeal Brief, para. 614, referring to PrliC's Appeal Brief, (sub-)grounds 
of appeal 13, 16.7. 
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18 January 1993 and a proclamation of 30 June 1993 were issued at crucial times and influenced an 

HVO attack and a campaign of mass arrests of Muslims.4272 Prlic also contends that the 

Trial Chamber ignored all of his other statements against population movement and the war.4273 

1380. Finally, PrliC contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that despite having the 

hierarchical power to intervene with respect to members of the JCE he did nothing to prevent 

crimes and to punish perpetrators.4274 In this regard he argues that the Trial Chamber failed to 

establish that he had power over the perpetrators of crimes and that he had the power to intervene 

within the hierarchy of the HVO and the HZ(R) H_B.4275 Prlic further argues that the Trial Chamber 

ignored evidence which was contrary to its conclusion that he did not sincerely condemn crimes, as 

well as evidence of efforts to prosecute and combat crimes.4276 

1381. The Prosecution responds that Prlic fails to demonstrate any error.4277 It argues that the 

Trial Chamber neither mischaracterised nor relied exclusively on Witness BA's evidence in 

reaching its conclusion that Prlic denied and concealed crimes against Muslims.4278 It submits that 

Prlic cites no relevant evidence in arguing that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence of "random 

evictions" by "irregular forces" and fails to address the Trial Chamber's findings on systematic 

eviction operations carried out by the HVO and PrliC's knowledge thereof.4279 The Prosecution also 

argues that Prlic fails to show that no reasonable trial chamber could have relied on specific 

evidence that Prlic informed an international representative that Muslims were being interned for 

their own safety.428o 

1382. The Prosecution further submits that Prlic fails to articulate any error in the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he publicly incited fear, mistrust, and hatred of Bosnian Muslims among Croats and 

4271 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 615. See PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 616, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of 
a~real16.1.2, 16.3.1. 
4 7 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 617. 
4273 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 618. See alsoAppeal Hearing, AT. 133-134 (20 Mar 2017). 
4274 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 611, 619. 
4275 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 619. Pdic also argues that the evidence contradicts the Trial Chamber's assumption that 
he had such powers. PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 619-620, referring to PdiC's Appeal Brief, grounds of appeal 11-13. 
4276 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 621-623. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 145-147 (20 Mar 2017). 
4277 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 389. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 390-397. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 276-279. 
4278 Prosecution's Response Brief (Prlic), para. 390. 
4279 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 391. The Prosecution also submits that PrliC's argument in this regard is 
contradicted by his prior admission that the evictions were carried out by military authorities with the backing of 
politicians. Further, it argues that Pdic mischaracterises the content of reports to imply that evictions were punished and 
i~nDfes the contrary findings of the Trial Chamber in this regard. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 391. 
480 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 392. The Prosecution submits that he also ignores that HVO authorities 
conducted no case-by-case evaluation of possible safety reasons for detention. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), 
para. 392. 
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that he fails to explain why the evidence he referred to rendered the Trial Chamber's findings 

unreasonable.4281 

1383. The Prosecution also submits that Pdic incorrectly claims that the Trial Chamber failed to 

establish that he had hierarchical powers to prevent and punish crimes, given its detailed findings in 

this regard.4282 Finally, the Prosecution argues that PdiC's statements condemning crimes are 

consistent with the Trial Chamber's finding that, in the majority of cases, he did not sincerely 

condemn crimes committed by the HVO, and that the evidence he cites does not undermine the 

Trial Chamber's findings on his failure to take appropriate steps to prevent or punish the mass 

crimes committed against Muslims.4283 

(ii) Analysis 

1384. Turning to PdiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he knowingly sought to 

minimise or conceal crimes committed by the HVO, the Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to 

PdiC's submission, the Trial Chamber neither mischaracterised4284 nor relied exclusively on 

Witness BA's evidence in reaching its conclusion.4285 The evidence referred to by Pdic, in which he 

represented that evictions were not an official policy, were carried out by "gangster elements", and 

were contrary to Croat interests, is not inconsistent with the challenged finding. 4286 His arguments 

in this regard are therefore dismissed. 

1385. Regarding PdiC's challenge that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that there were 

"random evictions" which Were carried out by irregular forces, the Appeals Chamber notes that he 

ignores the Trial Chamber findings on the involvement of the HVO in eviction operations and his 

knowledge of such operations.4287 Further, with respect to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber 

failed to consider evidence that the Military Police regulady reported the acts allegedly carried out 

by irregular forces, he has failed to show how his submission is in any way inconsistent with the 

challenged finding, which concerns crimes carried out by the HVO. His argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

4281 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 393. 
4282 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 394. The Prosecution contends that Pdic cites evidence that does not 
undermine his authority and ignores evidence in which he confirmed it to international representatives. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Pdic), para. 395. 
4283 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 396-397. 
4284 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 259 & fn. 633 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber also notes that 
Pdic refers to his submissions in sub-ground of appeal 6.1, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, 
r:aras 212-218. 

285 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 259-263 and references cited therein. 
4286 PdiC's Appeal Brief, para. 612, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09712 (confidential), para. 73, P09846 (confidential). 
4287 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 815, 822-823, 876, 900, 919-920, 985-987, Vol. 4, paras 166-171, 259. 
See supra, paras 1231-1241. 
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1386. In addition, Prlic has failed to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded 

that he infonned an international representative in August 1993 that Muslims from Ljubuski were 

being interned for their own safety. Contrary to his submission, the Appeals Chamber can see no 

indication that the evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied in reaching this conclusion was 

unsubstantiated.4288 His argument is therefore dismissed. 

1387. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PrliC's contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

concluded that through his official and public statements, he engendered fear, mistrust, and hatred 

of Bosnian Muslims among Bosnian Croats and exacerbated nationalist sentiments, and thus 

contributed to the realisation of the JCE.4289 Considering the letter of 18 January 1993 and the 

proclamation of 30 June 1993 referred to by Prlic, the Appeals Chamber notes that he merely 

asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously reached a conclusion as to the meaning and effect of this 

evidence, but fails to articulate an error in this regard. Regarding PrliC's contention that the 

Trial Chamber ignored his statements against population· movement and the war, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that it is clear from the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber expressly 

considered some of the evidence to which Prlic refers.429o With respect to other evidence, Prlic 

merely asserts that the Trial Chamber must have failed to consider it, but fails to show any 

relevance of this evidence 4291 or that the Trial Chamber did not consider it. In this regard, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber need not refer to every witness testimony or every 

piece of evidence on the record and that there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all 

evidence presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely 

disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant. 4292 The Appeals Chamber finds that this is not the 

case here, noting that the Trial Chamber considered similar evidence.4293 His argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

4288 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 260, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09846 (confidential), Witness BB, T(F). 17284-
17286 (closed session) (17 Apr 2007). The Appeals Chamber dismisses as obscure PrliC's argument that these remarks 
"were not beyond the ken". The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in (sub-)grounds of 
aPsfea16.2, 13, and 16.7, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 212-218, 1318-1373. 
48 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.1.2 and 16.3.1, which it 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1154-1161, 1209-1210, 1214, 1216, 1221. 
4290 See, e.g., PrliC's Appeal Brief, fns 1576-1581, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01015, P01215, lD01655, 1D02189. 
See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1073, Vol. 2, fns 944, 3410, Vol. 3, fn. 463, Vol. 4, paras 15, 109 & fns 37, 200, 
325-328, 368, 393-394. 
4291 See, e.g., PrliC's Appeal Brief, fns 1577-1578, 1580-1581, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00672, P02046, P02124. 
4292 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24, See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; 
POfovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
429 See PrliC's Appeal Brief, fns 1576-1581, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00578, P00921, P01317, P02021, P0651O, 
lD00190, lD00193, lD00818, lD02076, 1D02078, 1D02123, 1D02124, 1D02149, 1D02225, ID02379, Belinda Giles, 
T. 2061-2062, 2064-2073 (15 May 2006), Witness DZ, T. 26689 (23 Jan 2008), T. 26701-26704, 26716 (24 Jan 2008), 
PrliC's Opening Statement, T. 27555 (6 May 2008), Borislav Puljic, T. 32126-32131 (15 Sept 2008), T. 32238-32241 
(16 Sept 2008), Miroslav Palameta, T. 32789-32790 (25? Sept 2008), Neven Tomic, T. 34677-34688 (17 Nov 2008). 
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1388. With respect to PdiC's submission that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that 

despite having the hierarchical power to intervene with respect to members of the JCE, he ~id 

nothing to prevent crimes and to punish perpetrators, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber made general findings on PdiC's powers, to which it referred, and which support its 

conclusion that he had such hierarchical powers.4294 Pdic merely asserts that the Trial Chamber did 

not establish these hierarchical powers, but fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact, based on 

the evidence, could have reached the same conclusion.4295 His argument therefore fails. 

1389. While Pdic refers to evidence in which he condemned crimes,4296 the Appeals Chamber 

notes that this evidence is not inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's conclusion that in the majority 

of cases he did not sincerely condemn the crimes committed by the HVO.4297 In addition, Pdic fails 

to show how the evidence he cites, which refers to some measures taken to prosecute and combat 

crimes,4298 undermines the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he took no appropriate measures to 

prevent crimes or punish the perpetrators of those crimes.4299 The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic 

does not identify any such appropriate measures that he took and recalls that it has upheld the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he had the authority and power to intervene within the hierarchy of the 

HVO and HR H-B and thus change the course of events.4300 Pdic has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the conclusion that he took no 

appropriate measures to prevent crimes or punish the perpetrators of those crimes. In light of the 

above; the Appeals Chamber dismisses the argument that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence 

which was contrary to its conclusion that he did not sincerely condemn crimes, as well as evidence 

of efforts to prosecute and combat crimes. 

1390. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Pdic's sub-grounds of appeal 

16.12, 16.13, 16.14, and 16.15. 

(i) Mens rea and actus reus of commission through a lCE CPdiC's Ground 18) 

1391. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) Pdic made a significant contribution to, and was one of 

the "principal members" of, the JCE; (2) his contribution showed his intention to implement the 

4294 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 268 & fn. 654, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 84-12l. 
4295 PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 619-620. The Appeals Chamber notes that Pdic refers to his submissions in grounds of 
appeal 11, 12, and 13, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1021-1127, 1318-1333, 1335-
1343, 1356-1373. 
4296 See PriiC's Appeal Brief, fns 1585-1588, 1595 and references cited therein. 
4297 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 268. 
4298 See PdiC's Appeal Brief, fns 1589-1594, 1596 and references cited therein. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 146 (20 
Mar 2017), referring to, inter alia, Exs. 5D05024, 5D05027. 
4299 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 268-269 and references cited therein. 
4300 See supra, paras 1377, 1388. 
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CCP; and (3) he shared with the other members of the JCE a discriminatory intent to expel the 

Muslim population from the HZ(R) H_B.4301 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1392. Pdic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in concluding that he possessed 

the requisite mens rea for membership in the JCE and that he carried out the actus reus of the 

JCE.4302 He asserts that an omission may only constitute a contribution to a JCE if itis combined 

with a duty to act and authority over the perpetrators.4303 Prlic argues that the Trial Chamber 

"essentially applied a strict liability standard", finding him responsible by virtue of his position and 

the continued exercise of his functions. 4304 Pdic further submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

interpreted "legislative decisions in light of subsequent events" and found that by participating in 

drafting those decisions, he intended the crimes.4305 Pdic refers to a number of conclusions reached 

by the Trial Chamber relating to his mens rea, which in his submission are "premised on erroneous 

inferences from selective evidence, ignoring other relevant evidence and alternative plausible 

explanations".4306 Pdic further submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence regarding 

his mental state and ignored several relevant factors, namely his: (1) Government service in BiH 

from 1989 to 2003 based on free democratic elections; (2) understanding of the HZ H-B as forming 

part of a tri-national BiH; (3) negotiation efforts at the end of 1993 to find a solution for Mostar; 

(4) ideas for the future of BiH; (5) aims for the HVO HZ H-B; (6) efforts to prevent crimes and 

punish perpetrators; and (7) non-membership in the Croatian Democratic Union during the 

Indictment period.4307 Pdic concludes that he should be acquitted on Counts 1_25.4308 

1393. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not apply a strict liability standard or 

find Pdic responsible simply by virtue of his position and the continued exercise of his 

4301 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 276. 
4302 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, paras 642, 646, 650. Specifically, PrIic alleges that by ignoring evidence and alternative 
plausible explanations, the Trial Chamber failed to provide reasoned opinions and applied an incorrect legal standard in 
assessing the evidence, amounting to an error of law invalidating the Trial JUdgement. PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 650. 
PrIic also contends that no reasonable trier of fact would find that he assumed the risk of reasonably foreseeable crimes 
being committed outside the alleged JCE. PrIic's Appeal Brief, para. 650. 
4303 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 643. See PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 648. 
4304 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 646; Prlic Reply Brief, para. 76. See also PrIiC's Appeal Brief, paras 643-645. 
4305 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 646-647, referring to, inter alia, Gotovina and Markac Appeal Judgement, paras 93-98; 
PrIic Reply Brief, para. 76. 
4306 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 648, referring to, inter alia, PrIiC's Appeal Brief, (sub-)grounds of appeal 6.1, 10, 11, 
16.1-16.15,17. 
4307 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 649, referring to, inter alia, PrliC's Appeal Brief, sub-grounds of appeal 16.12-16.15; 
Appeal Hearing, AT. 135-136,138 (20 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 134, 139 (20 Mar 2017). PrIic argues 
that the Trial Chamber failed to take into account that he took measures in order to set up effective organs of authority 
in BiH "with the intent of applying international plan of construction of a normal Bosnia-Herzegovina, attempting to 
include third parties in this". Appeal Hearing, AT. 138 (20 Mar 2017). 
4308 PrIiC's Appeal Brief, para. 651. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 173, 177-178 (20 Mar 2017). 
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functions. 4309 The Prosecution avers that the Trial Chamber found that Prlic made active 

contributions to each of the assessed crime bases and that his contributions through omissions 

complemented his active conduct.4310 It further contends that Prlie's suggestion that his omissions 

could not constitute contributions to the CCP is based on an erroneous premise that he did not have 

actual powers which would trigger a duty to act.4311 The Prosecution argues that PrliC's mere 

assertion that the Trial Chamber interpreted legislative decisions in light of subsequent events 

should be summarily dismissed.4312 The Prosecution also submits that Prli6 wrongly claims that the 

Trial Chamber found that he intended crimes based only on his participation in drafting legislative 

decisions.4313 Lastly, the Prosecution avers that Prlic did not establish that the Trial Chamber failed 

to consider any evidence which was relevant to his mental state, instead listing factors that: (1) he 

fails to explain; (2) bear no apparent relevance to his mens rea; and/or (3) the Trial Chamber did 

consider. 4314 

(ii) Analysis 

1394. The Appeals Chamber interprets PrliC's statement that an omission may only constitute a 

contribution to a JCE if it is combined with a duty to act and authOlity over the perpetrators as an 

allegation that the Trial Chamber erred in law in this regard. The Appeals Chamber recalls that 

"when establishing an accused's participation in a joint criminal enterprise through his failure to 

act, the existence of a legal duty to act deriving from a rule of criminal law is not required".4315 The 

Appeals Chamber further recalls that a failure to act has been taken into account in assessing an 

accused's contribution to a joint criminal enterprise and intent, where the accused had some power 

and influence or authority over the perpetrators to prevent or halt the abuses, but failed to exercise 

such powers.4316 The existence of such influence or authority is a factual matter to be determined on 

a case-by-case basis.4317 The Appeals Chamber notes that Prlic advances no factual challenge to his 

4309 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 400-401. It contends that Pdic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable 
trial chamber could have relied on his continued exercise of his functions as a relevant factor in inferring intent or as a 
fact relevant to his failure to use his authority to intervene. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 401. 
4310 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 400, 407 .. 
4311 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 408. In this regard, the Prosecution notes that the Trial Chamber found 
that his failure to prevent and punish crimes was a culpable omission given his hierarchical authority and power to 
intervene and that PdiC's duties were grounded in international law and in HZ(R) H-B legislation. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Prlic), paras 408-409. 
4312 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 402. 
4313 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 403. The Prosecution further submits that having mischaracterised the 
Trial Chamber's method of analysis, ~rliC's attempt to draw an analogy to the method used by the Gotovina et ai. trial 
chamber should be summarily dismissed. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), para. 404. 
4314 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pdic), paras 400, 405-406. 
4315 Stanisic and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110. See Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653; Sainovic et 
ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 985; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 215, 695-696; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 
427; Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 99;, Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
4316 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 752. 
4317 Stanisic and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, para. 752. 
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authority over the perpetrators under the present ground of appea1.4318 The Appeals Chamber 

concludes that Prlic has failed to establish an error of law and dismisses his argument. 

1395. Regarding PrliC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred by essentially applying a "strict 

liability" standard, finding him responsible by virtue of his position and the continued exercise of 

his functions, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber properly articulated the requisite 

mens rea for JCE I liability, which is "the intent to commit a specific crime, an intent that must be 

shared by all the co-participants".4319 Applying this standard, the Trial Chamber found that Prlic 

shared with the other members of the JCE a discriminatory intent to expel the Muslim popUlation 

. from the HZ(R) H_B.4320 PrliC's position and continued exercise of his functions were only two of 

several factors assessed by the Trial Chamber which led it to conclude that he significantly 

contributed to, and shared the intent of, the JCE.4321 Other factors included his actions, his 

contemporaneous knowledge of crimes committed, his attempts at minimising or concealing such 

crimes, and his failure to stop or prevent such crimes when he had the de jure and/or de facto power 

to do SO.4322 Further, the Appeals Chamber finds that Prlic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have relied on the relevant factors of his position and continued exercise of his 

functions in its assessment. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber also recalls that the fact that the 

participation of an accused amounted to no more than his or her routine duties will not eXCUlpate the 

accused - what matters is whether the act in question furthered the CCP and whether it was carried 

out with the requisite intent.4323 PrliC's argument is therefore dismissed. 

1396. Regarding PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in interpreting "legislative 

decisions in light of subsequent events", the Appeals Chamber considers Pdic's reliance on the 

Gotovina and Markac Appeal Judgement to be inapposite, as the majority of the Appeals Chamber 

in that case did not find that the trial chamber erred by interpreting evidence in light of subsequent 

events; rather, having reversed the trial chamber's findings with regard to those subsequent events, 

the Majority found that the trial chamber's interpretation of the evidence in question was no longer 

4318 See, in particular, PdiC's Appeal Brief, paras 648-649. See also infra, paras l397 -1398. 
4319 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 214, referring to, inter alia, Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 101, Tadic Appeal 
Judgement, paras 196,228. 
4320 T' J 6 . nal udgement, Vol. 4, para. 27 . 
4321 Regarding PdiC's position and continued exercise of his functions, see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 134, 147, 165, 
168,174,204,232,238,249,270-276. 
4322 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 121, 134, 147, 165, 168, 174, 185,204,232,238,249,263,269-275. Insofar as 
the Trial Chamber relied on PrliC's contemporaneous knowledge of crimes committed (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 134, 147, referring to January and April 1993), the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial 
Chamber's findings regarding the deaths of seven civilians in Dusa. See supra, paras 441-443. The Appeals Chamber 
does not consider that these changes affect the Trial Chamber's reasoning and conclusion, insofar as it concerns the 
remaining crimes, that he significantly contributed to, and shared the intent of, the JCE, based on, inter alia, this 
contemporaneous knowledge, particularly since not many instances of murder took place in that period. See supra, para. 
876. 
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the only reasonable one.4324 The Appeals Chamber also considers that in the present case the 

Trial Chamber inferred PrliC's mens rea from his contribution after assessing the totality of the 

evidence, not merely from "legislative decisions".4325 His submission is therefore dismissed. 

1397. With regard to PrliC's claim that the Trial Chamber's findings on his mens rea were 

premised on erroneous inferences from selective evidence, ignoring other relevant evidence and 

alternative plausible explanations, the Appeals Chamber notes that this claim is entirely based on 

cross-references to his (sub-)grounds of appeal 6.1, 10, 11, 16.1-16.15, and 17, which it dismisses 

elsewhere.4326 

1398. With respect to PrliC's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence 

regarding his mental state, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber in fact relied on 

some of the evidence Prlic indicates,4327 and considers that he fails to substantiate the relevance of 

the factors which he lists.4328 The submission is dismissed. 

1399. Having rejected the arguments above, the Appeals Chamber considers that Prlic has failed 

to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he possessed the requisite mens rea 

for membership in the JCE and that he carried out the actus reus of the JCE.4329 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses PrliC's ground of appeal 18. 

4. Conclusion 

1400. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses all challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's findings related to PrliC's contribution to, and his mens rea for, the JCE. The 

Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that it reverses above the Trial Chamber's finding - insofar as it 

4323 Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 154. See also Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 182, 
244. 
4324 Gotovina and Markac Appeal Judgement, para. 93. See Gotovina and Markac Appeal Judgement, paras 91-92, 94-
98. 
4325 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 122-276. 
4326 See supra, paras 212-218, 1021-1097, 1146-1317, 1334-1390,2837-2848. 
4327 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 109 (concerning PrliC's role in ceasefire negotiations in Mostar), 932 (regarding 
PrliC's efforts to fight crime). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 75. Cf, Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 649. 
4328 With regard to PrliC's submission that he took measures in order to set up effective organs .of authority in BiH "with 
the intent of applying international plan of construction of a normal Bosnia-Herzegovina, attempting to include third 
parties in this", the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered similar submissions at trial. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 75 & fn. 186, referring to PrliC's Final Brief, paras 316, 332. The Appeals Chamber finds that 
this explanation of the relevance to his intent does not demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's finding on his 
mens rea, based on its detailed analysis of his position, actions, contemporaneous knowledge of crimes committed (see 
also supra, fn. 4322), attempts at minimising or concealing such crimes, failure to stop or prevent such crimes when he 
had the power to do so, and continued exercise of his functions. See, in particular, supra, paras 1391, 1395 & fns 4321-
4322 and references cited therein; infra, para. 1400. With regard to the remaining factors advanced, Prlic does not even 
attempt to explain their relevance. See supra, para. 1392 & fn. 4307, referring to, inter alia, Pdic's Appeal Brief, para. 
649. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Prlic refers to his submissions in sub-grounds of appeal 16.12, 16.13, 16.14, 
and 16.15, which it dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 1377-1390. 
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concerns the Old Bridge - that Pdic knew about the HVO crimes committed during the HVO 

campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar and that by minimising or attempting to deny 

them, he accepted and encouraged them.433o 

4329 Regarding PdiC's contention that no reasonable trier of fact would find that he assumed the risk of reasonably 
foreseeable crimes being committed outside the alleged JCE, see 2837-2848. 
4330 See supra, para. 1246. 
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F. Alleged Errors in Relation to Bruno StojiC's Participation in the JCE 

1. Introduction 

1401. Bruno Stojic was appointed the Head of the Department of Defence within the HZ(R) H-B 

Government on 3 July 1992 and exercised the functions of the position until 15 November 1993, 

after which he was the head of the department for the production of military equipment.4331 The 

Trial Chamber found that Stojic contributed to the JeE from January 1993 to 

15 November 1993,4332 and concluded that his contribution was significant.4333 The Trial Chamber 

concluded that Stojic was one of the most important JCE members as he controlled the HVO and 

the Military Police, and served as the link between the HVO and the Government.4334 The Trial 

Chamber also found that Stojic used the HVO, including the Military Police to commit crimes that 

formed part of the CCP.4335 It made several findings concerning StojiC's contributions to the JCE 

including, inter alia, that: (1) he had significant de jure and de facto powers over most components 

of the HVO and the Military Police, which he exercised by taking decisions related to military 

operations and having those decisions implemented through the armed forces' chain of command, 

forwarding Government decisions down the armed forces' chain of command, and making 

proposals to the Government about military matters which were approved;4336 (2) he continued to 

exercise effective control knowing that HVO members had committed crimes;4337 (3) he made no 

serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from committing crimes;4338 and (4) he 

participated in some HVO military operations in the mUnicipalities.4339 

1402. The Trial Chamber convicted Stojic under Article 7(1) of the Statute of committing, 

pursuant to JCE I liability, various crimes amounting to grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions, 

violations of the laws or customs of war, and/or crimes against humanity under Articles 2, 3, and 5 

of the Statute, respectively.434o Stojic was sentenced to a single sentence of 20 years of 

imprisonment. 4341 

4331 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 555-557, Vol. 4, paras 293, 325, 425, 1227. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 539-
554, 558-584. 
4332 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1227, 1230. 
4333 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4334 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425, 429. 
4335 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 429, 1232. 
4336 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304, 312, 425. The Appeals Chamber interprets that where the Trial Chamber stated 
that Stojic "forwarded HVO decisions down the chain of command and made proposals to the HVO about military 
matters which were then approved by that collective body" (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 425), it referred to the 
Eolitical component of the HVO, i.e. the "Government". 

337 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-426. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4338 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. 
4339 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 426, 430. 
4340 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 431-432, Disposition, p. 430. These crimes are: persecution as a crime against· 
humanity (Count 1); murder as a 'crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave ~reach of the Geneva 
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1403. Regarding StojiC's mens rea under ICE I liability, the Trial Chamber concluded that he: 

(1) intended the crimes committed in the various municipalities,4342 at times inferring his intent 

from his failure to make any serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from 

committing crimes;4343 (2) shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from the territory of 

Herceg-Bosna with other ICE members;4344 and (3) intended to discriminate against Muslims in 

order to facilitate their eviction from the territory of Herceg-Bosna.4345 

1404. Stojic challenges several findings of the Trial Chamber with regard to his contribution to the 

ICE and his mens rea.4346 These challenges will be addressed below. 

2. Alleged errors in finding that Stojic commanded and had "effective control" over the HVO 

(StojiC's Ground 20) 

1405. The Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Stojic, as Head of the 

Department of Defence, commanded and had "effective control" over the HVO.4347 In coming to 

this conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered that Stojic: (1) played a fundamental role in the 

establishment and organisation of the HVO;4348 (2) was regularly informed of the military 

operations conducted by the HVO;4349 (3) was the member of the HZ(R) H-B Government in charge 

of informing it about the military operations;4350 (4) had the authority to send military-related 

Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of civilians as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); 
unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against 
humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 11); 
inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a grave breach of ,the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity 
(Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawful labour as a violation 
of the laws or customs of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and 
carried out unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); destruction or wilful 
damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); 
unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on 
civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes 
also fell within the framework of the JCE, meaning Stojic was also responsible for them, but did not enter convictions 
for them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of confinement) as a . 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war 
(Count 17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity 
(Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68, Disposition, p. 430. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1260-
1266. The Appeals Chamber discusses StojiC's convictions pursuant to JCE III infra, paras 2833-2834,2849-2880. 
4341 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 430. . 
4342 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. 
4343 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. 
4344 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
4345 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4346 Stojic's Appeal Brief, paras 122-126, 139-369. 
4347 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-429. 
4348 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 299, 312. 
4349 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300,302,312. 
4350 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300,312,425. 
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Government decisions through the military chain of command and used that authority;4351 (5) had 

the authority to issue orders directly to the HVO and to ensure that they were carried out, which he 

used;4352 (6) received reports from the HVO Military Intelligence Service ("VOS") on a daily 

basis;4353 (7) was responsible for all the logistical and financial aspects as well as the human 

resources of the HVO;4354 and (8) had the authority to designate representatives of the HVO in 

peace negotiations.4355 The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic made proposals about defence 

which were then adopted by the Government. 4356 

1406. Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that he commanded and had 

effective control over the HVO.4357 Specifically, he: (1) asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

inferred that he had "effective operational authority" over the HVO from evidence that he had 

"limited administrative competences"; and (2) further challenges some of the underlying 

findings. 4358 

(a) StojiC's administrative and logistical roles in the HVO 

1407. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that he had "effective operational 

authority" over the HVO from evidence that he had "limited administrative competences" or 

logistical functions.4359 Specifically, Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber failed to properly 

distinguish the functions of a civilian administrator from the command of combat operations.436o He 

asserts that the Trial Chamber "entirely disregarded" his qualifications and experience, which did 

not include combat experience.4361 Stojic also argues that the functions of the Department of 

Defence were limited to administrative and logistical matters, which is demonstrated by the Trial 

Chamber's findings and the fact that no operational order was signed by him alone.4362 He also 

submits that the Trial Chamber, disregarding its previous conclusions, failed to distinguish between 

4351 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304-305,312,425. 
4352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306, 312, 425. 
4353 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 301,312. 
4354 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308-310,312. 
4355 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 311-312. 
4356 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300, 425. The Appeals Chamber interprets the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic 
"made proposals about defence which were then adopted by the HVO" (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300), as a 
reference to the political component of the HVO or, in other words, the Government. 
4357 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 139-140, 146, 166. Stojic avers that this finding is the basis for the Trial Chamber's 
findings that he had the necessary intent and that he significantly contributed to the JCE. StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
faras 139, 166. 

358 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 139-140, 146, 166. The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic does not directly challenge, 
under this ground of appeal, the Trial Chamber's finding that he was regularly informed of the military operations 
conducted by the HVO or that he received reports from the VOS on a daily basis. 
4359 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 140-141, 145. 
4360 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 141. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 142-145; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 37. 
4361 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 142. Stojic submits that it is "inconceivable that a man with no operational experience 
could have the authority to issue operational orders". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 142. 
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substantive and administrative competences in relation to his power of appointment as he merely 

administered appointments initiated by others.4363 Stojic further argues that "only operational 

command can justify the vital conclusions that [he] directly participated in specific operations and 

'used' the armed forces to commit crimes".4364 

1408. The Prosecution responds that Stojic fails to show an error, and argues that the Trial 

Chamber considered and rejected his argument that he was a mere civilian administrator.4365 It 

submits that StojiC's "logistical and administrative competencies as [Department of Defence] Head 

strengthened his control over the HVO armed forces by giving him authority over, inter alia, 

arming, financing and human resource matters, all factors indicative of his effective control".4366 

1409. The Appeals Chamber will first address StojiC's more specific challenges. Regarding 

StojiC's qualifications and experience, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did 

summarise his background leading up to his appointment as Head of the Department of Defence.4367 

Regardless, Stojic fails to show that his alleged lack of operational experience was so relevant to the 

Trial Chamber's determination of his role and conduct during the JeE period that a consideration of 

the same would have had an impact on any of the Trial Chamber's findings. Further, the Trial 

Chamber considered StojiC's arguments at trial that his role in appointments was purely 

administrative,4368 but still found that the Head of the Department of Defence: (1) appointed, and 

removed from office, brigade commanders and high-ranking officers;4369 (2) had the power to 

appoint officers within the HVO brigades up to and including the rank of Deputy Brigade 

Commander;437o and (3) appointed deputy commanders for security in the OZs and in the brigades 

on the advice of the deputy chief for security of the Department of Defence.4371 Stojic relies on the 

latter finding to argue that his role was purely administrative,4372 but fails to provide any further 

4362 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 143, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 544, 565, Vol. 4, paras 304-305, 308-
310, 312, arid Trial Judgement, para. 312. 
4363 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 144, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 571-575, 577-578, Vol. 4, para. 303. 
4364 StojiC' s Reply Brief, para. 37 (internal references omitted). 
4365 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 106, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 557, Vol. 4, 
paras 295, 409. The Prosecution also asserts that the fact that Stojic made some appointments on the advice of others 
does not undermine theTrial Chamber's finding that he exercised the power to appoint officers in the HVO brigades, or 
suggests that his role was "purely administrative". Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 126. 
4366 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 106 (internal references omitted), referring to Nahimana et aZ. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 606, BZaskid Trial Judgement, para. 522, Musema Trial Judgement, para. 880. 
4367 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 293. 
4368 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 568. 
4369 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 571. 
4370 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 573, Vol. 4, para. 303. 
4371 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 575, Vol. 4, para. 303. 
4372 In arguing that the Trial Chamber found that "he only made appointments on the advice of others, his role was 
appointing or 'consent[ing] to' appointments" (see StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 144), Stojic refers to findings on his 
involvement in appointing staff within the SIS and the Military Police Administration, the Deputy Chief of the Main 
Staff as well as its assistant chiefs, and the heads of Defence administration in the municipalities. See Trial Judgement, 
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support. The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to call into question the Trial Chamber's 

findings on his power to make appointments. His arguments are dismissed. 

1410. The Appeals Chamber now turns to StojiC's overarching challenge that "effective 

operational authority" cannot be inferred from administrative and logistical functions. The 

Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber did not find that Stojic had "effective 

operational authority".4373 Rather, it found that Stojic "commanded and had effective control over 

the HVO armed forces".4374 Moreover, the Trial Chamber was not required to find that Stojic had 

"effective operational authority".4375 The Appeals Chamber recalls that the actus reus for liability 

under lCE I is the participation of the accused in the common criminal plan which may take the 

form of assistance in, or contribution to, the execution of this plan,4376 and that this contribution to 

the crimes is significant.4377 Whether an accused significantly contributed to a lCE is a matter of 

evidence.4378 Thus, conduct pursuant to an "administrative" or "logistical" function can be a factor 

in determining whether StojiC's contribution to the lCE was significant.4379 Stojic provides no 

support for his argument that only "operational command", which he does not define, can justify the 

conclusion that he participated in operations and used the HVO and the Military Police to commit 

crimes and thus significantly contributed to the lCE.4380 

1411. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's contention that his functions were limited 

to "adininistrative" and "logistical" matters. To the contrary, the Trial Chamber considered that 

Stojic, inter alia: (1) ordered the mobilisation of Croatian conscripts and imposed a curfew in the 

HZ H_B;4381 (2) issued an order to units in charge of the Military Police checkpoints in Mostar 

Vol. 1, paras 574-575, 577-578. The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show that this involvement is 
inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's finding on his power to make appointments. 
4373 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 140. 
4374 See supra, para. 1405. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 326 ("Stojic had effective control over the activities 
of the components of the HZ(R) H-B armed forces"), 426 (Stojic "continued to exercise effective control over the 
armed forces"). Stojic challenges the underlying findings that the Trial Chamber relied on in corning to this conclusion, 
and the Appeals Chamber dismisses these challenges below. See infra, paras 1414-1415, 1418-1419, 1422-1423, 1427-
1435,1441-1453,1456. 
4375 See also infra, paras 1528-1530. 
4376 Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1615; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695; Stakic Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 64; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227(iii). 

377 Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Krajisnik Apyeal Judgement, para. 706; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, 
para. 430. See Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653; Sainovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1445; Krajisnik 
Appeal Judgement, para. 695 ("It is sufficient that the accused 'perform acts that in some way are directed to the 
furthering' of the JCE in the sense that he significantly contributes to the commission of the erimes involved in the 
JCE" (internal references omitted)). 
4378 See Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 696 ("Beyond that, the law does not foresee specific types of conduct which 
per se could not be considered a contribution to the common purpose. Within these legal confines, the question of 
whether the accused contributed to a JCE is a question of fact to be determined on a case-by-case basis"). 
4379 See Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, paras 1544-1545 (in considering Radivoje Miletic's "technical" role in the 
UNPROFOR convoy notification procedure, the Appeals Chamber concluded that "[w]hether an act is 'technical' does 
not per se preclude it from being a contribution to a JCE"). 
4380 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 139-141, 145, 166; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 37. 
4381 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305, referring to Ex. P03038. See infra, para. 1422. 
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instructing them to check all vehicles leaving the town;4382 (3) issued orders directly to the HVO, 

particularly with regard to ceasefires, the detention centres, the freedom of movement of 

humanitarian or international organisations, and the mobilisation and reinforcement of HVO 

troops;4383 (4) ordered a commanding officer to allow the passage of UNPROFOR convoys in the 

Central Bosnia Operating Zone ("Central Bosnia OZ") on 23 February 1993;4384 and (5) ordered 

Miro Andric, a colonel in the Main Staff, to capture the Gornji Vakuf area by the use of force, 

which resulted in crimes.4385 

1412. Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic interprets'the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he "commanded and had effective control" over the HVO as a finding that he had "effective 

operational authority" or "effective operational control".4386 On this issue, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that "commanded" necessarily means that Stojic had sufficient influence and authority 

over the HVO so as to be 'able to control its members effectively.4387 Thus, Stojic does not 

demonstrate that the influence and authority he obtained by his direct control over the human, 

financial, and logistical resources of the HV04388 cannot be considered as a factor in determining 

his command 'authority.4389 Notably, StojiC's command authority was not based only on his 

administrative and logistical functions. 439o StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

inferred his command authority from, inter alia, his administrative or logistical functions is 

dismissed. 

(b) StojiC's role in the establishment and organisation of the HVO 

1413. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he played a fundamental role in the 

establishment and organisation of the HVO is unsupported by the evidence, i.e. Exhibit P00646, 

4382 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 316, referring to Ex. P02578. 
4383 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306, referring to Exs. P0061O, P00619, P05232, P05235, 4D00461. See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 795, referring to Ex. P01316. See infra, para. 1429. 
4384 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562, referring to Ex. 2D00984. 
4385 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330,334, referring to Ex. 4D00348. See infra, paras 1565-1569. In addition, the Trial 
Chamber found, inter alia, that Stojic: (1) ordered all the HZ H-B MUP military units in Mostar to be re-subordinated 
on 2 July 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 703); and (2) issued orders directly to the HVO, including for the 
immediate halt of offensive operations against the ABiH in April 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562, referring 
to Ex. P02093). 
4386 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312; StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 140-141. 
4387 See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 111, 734 (a failure to intervene to prevent recurrence of crimes 
or to halt abuses has been taken into account in assessing an accused's contribution to a joint criminal enterprise and his 
intent "where the accused had some power and influence or authority over the perpetrators sufficient to prevent or halt 
the abuses but failed to exercise such power"). 
4388 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308, 312. See infra, paras 1414-1415, 1418, 1422-1423, 1427-1435, 1441-1453, 
1456. 
4389 See Nahimana et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 606. See also Blaskic Trial Judgement, para. 522; Musema Trial 
Judgement, para. 880. 
4390 See supra, para. 1410. 
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and contradicted by the fact that the Main Staff and the HVO existed prior to his appointment.4391 

The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding is supported by Exhibit P00646,4392 and 

that StojiC's role in creating the Main Staff as well as evidence on its organisation was 

considered. 4393 

1414. The Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber was aware that the HVO and the 

Main Staff existed as of April 1992,4394 whereas Stojic was appointed as the Head of the 

Department of Defence on 3 July 1992.4395 However, the Trial Chamber considered that while there 

was a chief of the Main Staff as early as April 1992, "the structure of the Main Staff was not 

officially introduced until September 1992,,4396 and that it was not until the "close of 1992" that the 

HVO developed its structure.4397 Consistent with these observations, the Trial Chamber noted that 

on 15 September 1992, Mate Boban issued a decision establishing the overall structure of the Main 

Staff,4398 and that on 18 September 1992, Stojic announced its provisional establishment4399 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber considered that between September 1992 and November 1993, Stojic 

participated in approximately 40 Government sessions and meetings at which legislation including, 

inter alia, the amended decree on the HVO, was adopted.44oo The Appeals Chamber therefore 

considers that Stojic fails to show how the fact that the Main Staff and the HVO existed before his 

appointment could have impacted on the Trial Chamber's findings on his role in their establishment 

and organisation. 

1415. Additionally, in making its finding, the Trial Chamber considered that on 24 October 1992 

Stojic prepared an operations programme for the HVO which "explained the structure of the various 

components of the armed forces, including the Military Police, and set the objectives and the work 

plan for each of them".4401 The Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit P00646 in which the operations 

programme for the Military Police was set out and it was noted that the operations programme for 

4391 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 147; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 39. Stojic contends that the only evidence relied on by 
the Trial Chamber - Exhibit P00646 - contains no targets, objectives, or work plans, and is irrelevant to the 
establishment of the armed forces. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 147; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 39. 
4392 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras l07-lOS. 
4393 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 109, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 711-712, 
fn. 166S. The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber was aware that the Main Staff was in existence prior to 
the issuance of Exhibit P00646. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 109. 
4394 The Trial Chamber noted that Petkovic became Chief of the Main Staff in April 1992 and that the "HVO armed 
forces spontaneously organised on the territory of the HZ H-B" during the first half of 1992. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
paras 715, 780, Vol. 4, para. 651. These dates are consistent with the evidence cited by Stojic to support his contention 
that the Main Staff and HVO existed prior to his appointment. StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 373; Ex. 1D02716; 
Ex. P00154. 
4395 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 293. 
4396 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 715. 
4397 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 7S0. 
4398 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 711. 
4399 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 712. 
4400 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297. See infra, paras 1509-1513. 
4401 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 299, referring to Ex. P00646. 
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the Main Staff was attached.4402 Thus, considering the 'J.bove,4403 the Appeals Chamber is not 

convinced by StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber's finding was unsupported. Stojic fails to 

show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, on the basis of this evidence and the 

Trial Chamber's findings, that he played a fundamental role in the establishment and organisation 

of the HVO. His arguments are dismissed. 

(c) StojiC's responsibility to inform the HZ(R) H-B Government of military operations and to 

make proposals which were adopted 

1416. Stojic asserts that there is no basis for the Trial Chamber's finding that he informed the 

Government about the military situation and made proposals about defence which were adopted. 4404 

He argues that the evidence the Trial Chamber analysed - concerning the events in Gornji Vakuf in 

January 1993 and in Vares in October 1993 - merely shows that he reported on issues that were 

already well-known and that no decisions resulted from his reports.4405 Specifically, he asserts that: 

(1) his 19 January 1993 report on the situation in Gornji Vakuf repeated the contents ofreports that 

had already been received by the Government;4406 and (2) a 4 November 1993 decision by the 

Government that the ODPR would be responsible for refugees from Vares was based on 

information sent by the ODPR that it was already working on refugee services in the area, rather 

than· on information provided by StojiC.4407 Stojic contends that any instructions issued in the 

remaining evidence cited related to "purely administrative matters".4408 

1417. The Prosecution responds that, in addition to reports on the Gornji Vakuf and Vares events, 

the minutes of other Government meetings show that Stojic regularly informed the Government of 

the military and security situation, and that decisions were made based on those briefings.4409 

4402 Ex. P00646, pp. 1-2. Exhibit P00646 also states that the operations programme for the SIS "was specially developed 
and as such [would] be presented by the chief of the Defence Department". Ex. P00646, p. 1. 
4403 See supra, paras 1414-1415. 
4404 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 148, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. The Appeals Chamber interprets 
that where the Trial Chamber stated that Stojic "informed the RVO - both through reports and during RVO sessions -
about the military and security situation on the ground and made proposals about defence which were then adopted by 
the RVO", (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300), it was referring to the political component of the RVO, i.e. the 
Government. 
4405 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 148-149, referring to, inter alia, Exs. POI227, P01206, P01197, p. 4, ID01354; StojiC's 
Reply Brief, para. 42. 
440 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 148, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300, Exs. P01227, P01206, POlI97, 
fi 4. 

07 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 149, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300, Ex. lD02179. 
4408 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 149, referring to Exs. lD01609, POlI97, ID0l667, ID0l61O, 1D01608, P00518, 
2D00851, 4D00508, P05799, P05769. 
4409 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 122-125, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01227, pp. 1-2, 1D02179, p. 1. 
The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber's finding is not undermined by the fact that the information 
presented by Stojic may have already been well-known to Government members or included in other reports. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 123-124. 
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1418. The Appeals Chamber notes that in finding that Stojic "informed the [Government] - both 

through reports and during [Government] sessions - about the military and security situation on the 

ground and made proposals about defence which were then adopted by the [Government]",4410 the 

Trial Chamber not only analysed StojiC's reports of events in Gornji Vakuf and Vares,4411 but also 

relied on the minutes of numerous meetings at which Stojic briefed the Government on military and 

security situations.4412 Turning to StojiC's specific challenges, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit ID02179 which is the minutes of the 4 November 1993 meeting at 

which the Government took a decision to continue measures to protect displaced Croats after a 

briefing of the military situation in Vares given by StojiC.4413 StojiC's assertion that the ODPR had 

previously reported to the Government that it was working with refugees in Vares does not call into 

question the Trial Chamber's reliance on this exhibit to support its finding, in particular that Stojic 

informed the Government about the military and security situation on the ground.4414 Moreover, 

StojiC's assertion that he "merely reported on issues that were already well-known,,441S does not 

undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that he was the member of the Government responsible for 

informing it of militmy operations, and in fact did so. His argument in relation to the 

Trial Chamber's reliance on his 19 January 1993 report on the situation in Gornji Vakuf is therefore 

also dismissed. 

1419. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes, in particular, that the Trial Chamber relied on 

Exhibit 2D00851, the minutes of a 15 June 1993 Government meeting, at which Stojic gave a report 

on the military situation in the territory of the HZ H-B highlighting the shortage of materiel and 

4410 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 425. The Appeals Chamber interprets 
that where the Trial Chamber stated that Stojic "informed the HVO - both through reports and during HVO sessions -
about the military and security situation on the ground and made proposals about defence which were then adopted by 
the HVO" (Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300), it is referring to the political component of the HVO, which is referred 
to as the Government by the Appeals Chamber. 
4411 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. 
4412 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn.707, citing Exs. POlI97, p. 4 (the Government sent encouragement to the HVO and 
Croatian population in Gornji Vakuf on the basis of a report on the military situation submitted by the Department of 
Defence during a meeting attended by Stojic), P01227, pp. 1-2 (Stojic reported on the situation in Gornji Vakuf and that 
Muslim forces were being depicted in a positive light and proposed that measures be taken to counter misinformation in 
the media), 1D01609, pp. 1-2 (Government decisions were made after StojiC's involvement in discussions on the 
implementation of the Vance-Owen Plan, recruitment, and materiel shortages), 1D01667, p. 2 (Stojic reported about the 
military and security situation in the HZ H-B), 1D0161O, pp. 1-2 (a draft decision on troop mobilisation submitted by 
the Department of Defence was adopted, and Stojic reported on the military and security situation in Central Bosnia), 
1D01608, pp. 1-3 (Stojic reported about the current military and security situation in the HZ H-B), 4D00508, p. 1, 
P05769/P05799, p. 2 (Stojic, along with Praljak and Petkovic, submitted a report on the military and security situation 
and warned of the harmful consequences of inconsistent implementation of regulations on the combat readiness and 
morale of the soldiers, after which the Government issued a decision for consistent implementation), 2D00851, pp. 1, 3 
(Stojic gave a report on the military situation highlighting the shortage of materiel and technical equipment and made 
proposals which were upheld by the Government), P00518 (report from StojiC on Department of Defence activities 
including, inter alia: (1) drafting documents for the functioning of the department such as the Decree on the Treatment 
of Persons Captured in Armed Conflicts in the HZ H-B and Regulations on Military Discipline; (2) dividing the military 
into OZs; (3) forming brigades; and (4) establishing training centres). 
4413 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 707, citing Ex. 1D02179, pp. 1-2. 
4414 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. 
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technical equipment. Notably, at this meeting Stojic made proposals which were upheld by the 

Government.4416 StojiC's assertion that there is no basis for the Trial Chamber's finding that he 

made proposals about defence which were adopted is, therefore, dismissed. To the extent that Stojic 

argues that his reports and proposals concerned "purely administrative issues", the Appeals 

Chamber recalls its finding that he has not shown that an administrative role cannot evidence 

command authority.4417 Thus, Stojic fails to show an error and the Appeals Chamber dismisses his 

arguments. 

Cd) StojiC's authority to send military-related Government decisions through the military chain of 

command 

1420. Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on him forwarding Government decisions to 

the Main Staff,4418 as the three orders it cited show that he forwarded them within his administrative 

competence.4419 Specifically, Stojic submits that he forwarded one order only as an "administrative 

conduit,,4420 and that the other two orders were co-signed by him because they contained 

administrative or logistical matters.4421 He argues that forwarding decisions made by others does 

not amount to effective control.4422 Stojic asserts that reliance on orders that he merely co-signed 

was misplaced as they do not prove that he, as opposed to the other signatory, had effective 

control. 4423 

1421. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on ~vidence showing 

that Stojic did not just "forward decisions", but also enforced military-related Government 

decisions on matters beyond administration and 10gistics.4424 

4415 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 148. 
4416 Ex. 2D00851, pp. 1,3. 
4417 See supra, paras 1410-1412. See also supra, para. 140l. 
4418 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 143, 150, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304-305. 
4419 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 143, 150, referring to Exs. PO 1140, P03038, P03128; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 40. 
Stojic argues that he was unable to issue operational orders. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150. 
4420 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150, referring to Ex. P01140. 
4421 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150, referring to Exs. P03038, P03128. 
4422 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 143, 150. 
4423 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 38. 
4424 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 110-113. The Prosecution submits, as examples, that: (1) Stojic 
implemented the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum by ordering ABiH units to subordinate to the HVO, and rather than 
merely acting as an "administrative conduit", he instructed that he personally receive reports every eight hours 
(Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 111, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304, Exs. P01140, 
P01146); (2) in June 1993, Stojic implemented the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation by ordering mobilisation and 
imposing a cur:few (Prosecution'S Response Brief (Stojic), para. 112, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305, 
Ex. P03038); and (3) in July 1993, Stojic and Petkovic ordered HVO units to carry out tasks "with the aim of 
eliminating" Muslim troops in the South-East OZ, and there is no indication that Stojic signed the order strictly due to 
logistical tasks within it (Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 113, citing Ex. P03128). The Prosecution argues 
that Exhibits P01140 and P03128 are combat orders that exemplify StojiC's authority over military operations. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 114. 
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1422. The Trial Chamber, in analysing StojiC's role within the military chain of command, 

recalled that "as Head of the Department of Defence, Bruno Stojic forwarded [the] decisions of the 

Government of the HZ H-B to the HVO Main Staff which then forwarded them to the commanders 

of the units deployed on the ground to implement them.,,4425 In this regard, the Trial Chamber 

considered a chain of orders in which Stojic was instructed to implement a decision issued by Pdic 

that certain ABiH units subordinate themselves to the HVO, Stojic ordered the Main Staff and the 

Military Police Administration to carry out PdiC's decision, and Petkovic forwarded StojiC's order 

to the ~ommanders of the OZS.4426 The Trial Chamber further noted that following the 30 June 1993 

Joint Proclamation from Pdic and Stojic in relation to defending against ABiH attacks: (1) Stojic, as 

Head of the Department of Defence, ordered the mobilisation of Croatian conscripts and imposed a 

curfew in the HZ H-B, after which Coric issued a further implementation order;4427 and (2) Stojic 

and Petkovic co-signed an order on 2 July 1993 to all HVO units in the South-East OZ to 

"eliminate" the Muslim troops in the area.4428 Thus, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by 

StojiC's contention that he merely forwarded Government decisions as art "administrative 

conduit".4429 Notably, in StojiC's order for the. implementation of PdiC's decision, he also ordered 

that chiefs of the Main Staff and the Military Police Administration would be responsible to him 

regarding the implementation of his order.443o The Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded that these orders cited by the Trial Chamber show that Stojic not 

only forwarded them, but also i,mplemented and enforced GO'.;ernment orders.4431 

1423. The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced by StojiC's submission that he merely co­

signed some of the orders as he does not show that any authority his co-signatories had precludes 

him from also having authority.4432 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere StojiC's 

argument that an administrative role cannot evidence command authority.4433 Therefore, Stojic fails 

to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber unreasonably considered his role in forwarding and 

implementing Government decisions as a relevant factor in determining his command authority 

over the HVO. His arguments are dismissed. 

4425 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304. 
4426 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01146, P01140, POl139. 
4427 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305, referring to Exs. P03038, P03077. 
4428 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305, referring to Ex. P03128. 
4429 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150. 
4430 E x.POl140,pp.1-2. . 
4431 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 425 ("Stojic took decisions related to military operations and had them 
implemented through the armed forces' chain of command", and "forwarded HVO decisions down the chain of 
command".). 
4432 See Ex. P03038 (co-signed by Pdic); Ex. P03128 (co-signed by Petkovic). 
4433 See supra, para. 1412. See also supra, para. 1401. 
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(e) StojiC's authority to issue orders directly to the HVO and to ensure that they were carried out 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1424. Stojie argues that the Trial Chamber unreasonably found that he could issue operational 

orders to the HVO and ensure they were carried OUt.
4434 Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred 

by disregarding previous relevant conclusions to the contrary, including its findings that: (1) the 

Head of the Department of Defence was not de jure part of the military chain of command;4435 

(2) only "administrative and technical tasks" were assigned to the Department of Defence;4436 

(3) the "classic" chain of command proceeded through the Main Staff;4437 (4) the "few occasions" 

on which Stojie issued orders did not "upset the proper functioning of the military chain of 

command,,;4438 (5) the Main Staff was the pivotal link in the chain of command;4439 and (6) key 

parts of the armed forces - the VOS and the Anti-Terrorist Groups ("ATGs") - were not de jure 

within the Department of Defence.444o He also asserts that the orders cited by the Trial Chamber 

were confined to mostly logistical matters, were not combat orders, and do not demonstrate that he 

had overall authority.4441 

1425. Stojie further contends that the conclusion that he issued orders on specified topics is 

unsupported by the evidence cited.4442 He specifically asserts that: (1) Exhibit P00610 is a report 

sent by Corie to the HVO generally without referring to any order issued by Stojic and was not 

addressed to him; (2) of the orders relating to mobilisation, namely Exhibits P05232 and P05235, 

only one was signed by him but was corrected and signed by Praljak; (3) Exhibit P00582 is an order 

to withdraw stamps which is an administrative activity; (4) Exhibit 4D00461 is "inauthentic and 

unreliable"; and (5) Exhibits P02292 and P03026 were merely requests for instructions addressed to 

Stojie and Petkovie without any evidence that Stojie responded.4443 Stojie also argues that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously relied on Article 30 of the Amended Decree Regarding the Armed 

Forces of 17 October 1992 ("Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces"), which indicates 

that certain command responsibilities could be delegated to the Head of the Department of Defence, 

4434 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 151. 
4435 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4436 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para, 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 559. 
4437 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 791. 
4438 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 796. 
4439 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 708. 
4440 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 301,307; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 40. 
Stojic also asserts that the SIS did not send regular reports to the Department of Defence. StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
ftfa. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 302. 

1 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 153; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 41. 
4442 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 153-154, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306 ("Stojic [ ... J did issue orders 
[ ... J particularly with regard to the ceasefires, the detention centres, the troop movements, the reorganisation of the 
military units, the assignment of the troops as reinforcements for other units, freedom of movement of humanitarian or 
international organisations and the mobilisation of HVO troops"). 
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because no such delegation occurred.4444 He further contends that no evidence was cited to support 

the finding that he could ensure that his orders were carried out4445 and that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded its own conclusions that orders he issued were not followed. 4446 

1426. The Prosecution responds that Stojic issued orders to the. HVO and could ensure their 

compliance. It argues that: (1) the Trial Chamber found that Stojic issued orders on a range of 

matters;4447 (2) StojiC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's reliance on certain orders issued by him 

are unpersuasive;4448 and (3) regardless of whether Boban formally delegated command 

responsibilities under Article 30 of the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces, Stojic 

did issue orders directly to the HVO, thus demonstrating his command authority.4449 The 

Prosecution contends that Stojic merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence without 

showing an error.4450 

(ii) Analysis 

1427. The Trial Chamber was satisfied that the "evidence showed that even though the Head of 

the Department of Defence was not de jure part of the military chain of command, Bruno Stojic, as 

head of that department, did issue orders directly to the HZ(R) H-B armed forces".4451 Stojic 

challenges this conclusion by asserting that the Trial Chamber disregarded its own previous relevant 

conclusions.4452 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber first notes that Stojic is overly broad in 

asserting that the Trial Chamber found that "only 'administrative and technical tasks' were assigned 

to the [Department of Defence]".4453 In fact, the Trial Chamber merely observed that 

"administrative and logistical tasks" were assigned to the Department of Defence by Article 10 of 

the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces, but did not suggest that these were the 

"only" tasks performed by the Department of Defence.4454 Stojic ignores the Trial Chamber's 

subsequent analysis which considered the authority held by the Head of the Department of Defence 

beyond Article 10 of the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces. In particular, it 

considered that, theoretically, the President of the HZ H-B could delegate certain command 

responsibilities to the Head of the Department of Defence and that several orders from Stojic 

4443 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4444 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 157, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4445 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, Vol. 4, para. 1039. 
4446 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, Vol. 4, paras 480, 1039. 
4447 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 115-117. 
4448 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 118-119, referring to StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4449 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 120. 
4450 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 142-143. 
4451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565. 
4452 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 151-152. 
4453 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152 (emphasis added). 
4454 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 559, referring to Ex. P00588, Art. 10, p. 3. 
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addressed directly to the HVO had been admitted into evidence.4455 Thus, Stojic fails to show that 

the Trial Chamber later disregarded this observation, and his argument is dismissed. Moreover, the 

Appeals Chamber has already found that Stojic has not demonstrated that an ~dministrative or 

logistical role cannot evidence command authority.4456 Therefore, Stojic does not show that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously considered his orders on logistical matters as an indicator of his control 

authority. StojiC's argument is dismissed. 

1428. Turning to StojiC's submissions III relation to the Trial Chamber's findings on the 

functioning of the HVO's chain of command,4457 the Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial 

Chamber held that "the classic chain of command of the armed forces proceeded from the Main 

Staff, which was in direct contact with the OZs, which directed th~ HVO brigades",4458 it 

specifically found that exceptions occurred whereby Stojic issued orders directly to the OZs and 

brigade commanders.4459 Further, Stojic takes the Trial Chamber's finding that it Was 

"incontrovertible that orders intended for the armed forces customarily flowed through the chain of 

command, whose pivotal link was the Main Staff,446o out of context. In making this finding, the 

Trial Chamber was addressing an assertion that Boban "bypassed" the Main Staff "when it suited 

him" to issue orders directly to the HVO.4461 In this context, the Trial Chamber again noted that 

while orders "customarily flowed" through the Main Staff, there were exceptions whereby orders 

were transnlitted directly to the HVO without going through the Main Staff.4462 The Appeals 

Chamber therefore considers that Stojic fails to show how the Trial Chamber's finding that the 

Main Staff was the pivotal link within the military chain of command undernlines the Trial 

Chamber's finding that Stojic had the authority to issue orders directly to the HVO. Moreover, 

Stojic does not substantiate his assertion that the Trial Chamber's findings that the VOS and ATGs 

were not within the hierarchy of the Department of Defence and that the SIS did not send regular 

reports to the Department of Defence are inconsistent with the finding that Stojic issued orders to 

the HVO.4463 StojiC's arguments are thus dismissed. 

1429. The Appeals Chamber will now turn to StojiC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's reliance 

on certain evidence in finding that he issued orders directly to the HVO, "particularly with regard to 

the ceasefires, the detention centres, the troop movements, the reorganisation of the military units, 

the assignment of. the troops as reinforcements for other units, freedom of movement of 

4455 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 560-565. See infra, para. 1433. 
4456 See supra, para. 1412. See also supra, para. 1401. 
4457 See supra, para. 1424. 
4458 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 791. 
4459 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 795. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 562, 565, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4460 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 708. 
4461 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 701, 704, 708. 
4462 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 708. 

581 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23314



humanitarian or international organisations and the mobilisation of HVO troopS".4464 The Appeals 

Chamber notes that Exhibit P0061O, a report by Coric.to the HVO, indicates that troop movements 

had been implemented "[b]y order from the head of the Defence Department".4465 The Appeals 

Chamber further notes that Exhibit P05232 is an order signed by Stojic not only for immediate 

mobilisation of forces "following the incursion of MOS !Muslim armed forces/ terrorist groups", 

but also for the mobilised forces to be used to "eliminate the infiltrated terrorist groups without 

compromise".4466 The content of this order signed by Stojic is almost identical to that of 

Exhibit P05235 issued on the same day by Praljak.4467 In challenging the Trial Chamber's reliance 

on this order, Stojic asserts that Exhibit P05235 shows that it was Praljak, not him, who had 

operational command.4468 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that not only does Praljak's order 

state that it was being issued "with regard to the Order from the Head of the Defence 

Department",4469 but also that Praljak testified that he issued his order "immediately pursuant" to 

StojiC's order.447o Praljak's testimony that he made a correction to StojiC's original order4471 does 

not undermine the Trial Chamber's finding in relation to StojiC's authority to issue such orders.4472 

1430. The Appeals Chamber further notes that in Exhibit P00582, Zdravko Sagolj, commander of 

the Herceg Stjepan Brigade, noted that he had acted "[i]n line with orders issued verbally by 

Mr. Bruno STOJIC".4473 StojiC's assertion that this order is "a clear example of administrative 

activity",4474 does not satisfy the Appeals Chamber that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on it to 

find th~t Stojic issued orders directly to the HVO.4475 Finally, by only cross-referencing another 

ground of appeal, Stojic does not show that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on 

Exhibit 4D0046 1.4476 Thus, considering the above, Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded on the basis of the evidence discussed, as well as other relevant evidence 

cited by the Trial Chamber,4477 that he issued orders directly to the HVO on the specified topics. 

4463 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152. 
4464 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4465 Ex. P0061O, p. 1. Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4466 . Ex. P05232, p. 1. 
4467 Ex. P05235 (stating that the mobilised forces are to be used to "destroy, in an uncompromising manner, the MOS 
terrorist groups that have infiltrated Ithe areal"). 
4468 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4469 Ex. P05235, p. 1. 
4470 Slobodan Praljak, T. 42081 (25 June 2009). 
4471 Praljak testified that StojiC's order mistakenly referred to "Mostar" and that he corrected it to "Ljubuski" and 
clarified that he "signed it to indicate that [hel had made the correction". Slobodan Praljak, T. 42081-42082 
(25 June 2009). 
4472 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4473 Ex. P00582. 
4474 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4475 See supra, para. 1412. See also supra, para. 1401. 
4476 See infra, paras 1676, 1681-1684 (finding that the Trial Chamber reasonably considered Exhibit 4D00461 as 
reliable). 
4477 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fns 1362-1364, Vol. 4, fn. 725. 
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1431. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not disregard its finding 

that Stojic was not de jure part of the military chain of command, as Stojic asserts.4478 Rather the 

Trial Chamber specifically considered this argument before it found that the above described 

orders4479 provided evidence that "even if the Head of the Department of Defence did not fit de jure 

into the chain of military command, Bruno Stojic, as Head of the Department of Defence, did 

dispatch orders directly to [the HVO]".4480 Stojic fails to show an error and his argument is 

dismissed. 

1432. In addition' to concluding that Stojic issued orders to the HVO, the Trial Chamber also 

considered, on the basis of Exhibits P02292 and P03026, that "on at least two occasions, the 

commander of the forward command post of the South-East OZ requested instructions from both 

Bruno Stojic and Milivoj Petkovic about the conduct of the military operations in central Bosnia 

and Herzegovina".4481 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber assessed these requests 

in the context of the evidence cited above and considers that Stojic has not shown that it erred in 

considering that they support its finding on his ability to issue operational orders.4482 StojiC's 

assertion that there is no evidence that he responded to these requests is irrelevant. Thus, his 

argument is dismissed. 

1433. Furthermore, Stojic has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber erred by relying on 

Article 30 of the Amended 3 July 1992 Decree on the AImed Forces to find that Boban, as Supreme 

Commander of the Armed Forces, could delegate certain command responsibilities to the Head of 

the Department of Defence.4483 Contrary to StojiC's assertion that no such delegation occurred,4484 

the Trial Chamber made no finding on this issue, but rather, only noted that it had no evidence 

referring to a transfer of authority from Boban to Stojic.4485 It then considered that it had received 

"several orders" from Stojic addressed directly to the HVO.4486 Within this context, Stojic has not 

shown that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that Article 30 of the Amended 

3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces provided some support for a finding that Stojic issued 

orders directly to the HVO.4487 

4478 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4479 See supra, paras 1428-1429. , 
4480 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 560-564, Vol. 4, para. 306. See also supra, 
£ara.1429. 

81 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306, referring to Exs. P02292, P03026. 
4482 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
4483 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 560, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00588, p. 10. 
4484 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 157. 
4485 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562. 
4486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562. 
4487 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306 & fn. 725, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P00588. 
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1434. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not make a general 

conclusion that StojiC's orders were not followed. 4488 Rather, in the findings referenced by Stojic 

the Trial Chamber noted that: (1) it had no evidence that the HVO took responsibility for the 

detention of Muslim men following an order from Stojic transferring the management of their 

detention from the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade to the local HVO;44~9 (2) Praljak intervened when an 

HVO unit blocked the passage of an UNPROFOR convoy that had an authorisation for passage 

issued by Stojic;4490 and (3) it had no evidence that the Detention Commission which was created 

on the order of Stojic,4491 accomplished the tasks assigned to it.4492 The Appeals Chamber is not 

convinced this undermines the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic had the authority to ensure that 

his orders were carried out. The Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere a similar challenge by Stojic 

that the Trial Chamber disregarded instances where his orders were disobeyed and where he relies 

on the same sections of the Trial Judgement.4493 Additionally, as the above evidence 

demonstrates,4494 StojiC's orders were regularly followed.4495 Stojic has not shown that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he had the authority to not only issue orders, but also to ensure that 

they were followed. 

1435. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's contention that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he had the authority to issue orders directly to the HVO and to ensure 

that they were carried out. 

(f) StojiC's responsibility for the human, financial, and logistical resources of the HVO 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1436. Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that he "directly controlled" the human, 

financial, and logistical resources of the HVO.4496 He contends that the evidence relied on by the 

Trial Chamber does not support a finding that he had direct control over finances as: 

(1) Exhibit 2D01443 predates the ICE; (2) Exhibit P04399/3D01206 is a request that Stojic be 

informed of financial problems but does not show that he had the power to resolve those problems; 

4488 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 155. 
4489 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 208l. 
4490 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 480. 
4491 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 622. The Commission for Prisons and Detention Centres was a commission created 
on 6 August 1993 by the Department of Defence to take charge of all detention units and prisons in which POWs and 
military detainees were held, and which began its work as of 10 August 1993 ("Detention Commission"). Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 622, 624, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03995. 
4492 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1039. . 
4493 See infra, para. 1487 & fn. 4743. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
~ara. 772, Vol. 2, para. 2081, Vol. 4, paras 480, 1039. 

94 See supra, para. 1429. 
4495 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304-305, 330, 334, 354-355. 
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(3) Exhibit 2D01246 demonstrates that technical resources for the care of the wounded were 

provided by the municipal HVOs, rather than by him; (4) Exhibit P06807 relates to the 

administrative redistribution of telephone lines; and (5) Exhibit P00970 is a report on Military 

Police activities, which is irrelevant, and it was not proven that it was sent to Stojic.4497 

1437. In relation to logistics, Stojic contends that the evidence of Witness Christopher Beese, 

which the Trial Chamber relied on to conclude that Stojic bought arms for the HVO from German 

arms dealers, was uncorroborated and speculative.4498 He also argues that a finding that he was 

authorised to request weapons and materiels from the HV is unsupported as Exhibits P01164 and 

2D00809 are irrelevant, and Exhibit P03998, is but one request, "made in a state of emergency".4499 

Stojic similarly submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he organised the purchase of weapons 

from the VRS is not supported as the evidence only establishes that he was aware of the purchase of 

weapons and occasionally relayed information about pricing.450o 

1438. Stojic further argues that the Trial Chamber's underlying finding that he directly financed 

the HVO disregards "clearly relevant" evidence and findings which established that the pertinent 

funding came from the Department of Finance or the municipalities.4501 Specifically, he contends 

that the Trial Chamber disregarded: (1) Exhibits ID0l609, ID01934, P06689, and P08118, all of 

which indicate that by default the Department of Finance controlled the finances of the armed 

forces; (2) 25 exhibits, including Exhibit lD03036, which all indicate that the HVO was financed 

by the municipalities; and (3) his trial submissions as well as Witness PetkoviC's testimony.4502 

Stojic further challenges the Trial Chamber's underlying findings that: (1) he was responsible for 

preparing the budget of the Department of Defence, asserting that the Trial Chamber relied on one 

paragraph in Exhibit 2D02000 but disregarded the following paragraph which indicated that no 

budget was prepared, and that Exhibit P08118 "confirms that the lack of a budget contributed to a 

significant lack of clarity on the financing of the HVO,,;4503 (2) he contacted the Croatian 

Department of Defence for the payment of wages, arguing that Exhibits P10291, P0091O, and 

4496 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 158, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308-310. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 143. . 

97 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
4498 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 161, referring to Christopher Beese, T. 5386 (23 Aug 2006). Stojic asserts that none of 
the other evidence cited by the Trial Chamber - namely the evidence of Witnesses Stipo Buljan, BF, and Davor Korac 
- corroborates Beese's evidence. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 161 & fn. 431. 
4499 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162. Stojic asserts that Exhibit P03998 does not prove that he regularly sent requests to 
the HV or generally had the authority to do so. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162. 
4500 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 43. Stojic suggests that the cited evidence of Witness 
Radmilo Jasak was not relevant to weapons procurement. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162, fn. 434, referring to Radmilo 
Jasak, T. 49026 (27 Jan 2010). 
4501 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 159,referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 675,679, 681; StojiC's Reply Brief, 
£ara.43. 

502 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 159. 
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P10290 were not signed by him and Exhibits P00098 and P00910, as well as the testimony of 

Witness Miroslav Rupcic, do not relate to loan requests from Croatia;4504 and (3) he could authorise 

others to withdraw money from HVO bank accounts.4505 

1439. Finally, Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber's finding that he was responsible for financing 

the training centres and mobilising the HVO is unsupported by the evidence it relied on.4506 He 

argues that: (1) Exhibits P00907, P00965, P04074, 2D01459, and P01350 provide no support; and 

(2) Exhibit 3D01460, a request sent to both Stojic and Petkovic for changes to the military 

recruitment and admissions process, illustrates a mere administrative competence.4507 Moreover, 

Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber misrepresented Witness Praljak's testimony. He argues that 

when Praljak said that the Government, through Stojic, looked after the army's training; food, and 

mobilisation, his point was that Stojic did not possess operational authority. Stojic adds that Praljak 

clearly did not believe that he was under StojiC's comrnand.4508 

1440. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Stojic directly 

controlled the human, financial, and logistical aspects of the HVO.4509 It argues that the Trial 

Chamber did not find that Stojic "bought arms for the HVO from German arms dealers", but rather 

that he "had to see to the logistical needs, in material and weapons, of the HVO", a matter, it adds, 

that Stojic conceded at tria1.4510 The Prosecution further argues that: (1) StojiC's role in the 

procurement of weapons was supported by the evidence;4511 (2) the Trial Chamber relied on various 

pieces of evidence to find that Stojic was authorised to request weapons and materiels from the 

HV;4512 and (3) the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber shows that Stojic was heavily involved 

in organising weapons purchases from the VRS.4513 It asserts that as the Trial Chamber was mindful 

of StojiC's trial arguments regarding the funding of the HVO and the evidence cited supports the 

4503 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 163, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 43. 
Stojic argues that "[n]o relevant budget was admitted into evidence". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 163. 
4504 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. Stojic submits that the testimony of Witness Davor Marijan also does not relate to 
loan requests from Croatia. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. 
4505 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. Stojic asserts that: (1) Exhibit 2D01352, an HVO payroll he signed, simply lists 
the employees of the Office of the Head of the Department of Defence; (2) Exhibit PI 0301 and the testimony of RupCic 
evidences a single incident in which Stojic requested a cash withdrawal, which was authorised by Rupcic, and does not, 
on its own, establish general authority; and (3) Exhibit P00098 only establishes that he was one of five individuals 
authorised to sign payment orders. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. 
4506 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 165, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 310. 
4507 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 165. 
4508 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 165. 
4509 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para's 127, 132, 139. 
4510 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 127, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, para. 254. 
4511 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 127-128. The Prosecution further submits that Stojic's challenges to 
the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber in footnote 729 of Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement "misapprehend[] the 
Judgement". Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 138. 
4512 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 129, referring to Exs. P03998, P0l164, P00098. 
4513 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 130. 
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Trial Chamber's finding, Stojic fails to show any error.4514 Moreover, the Prosecution submits that 

Stojic ignores Exhibit P01521 which further supports'the Trial Chamber's finding that he was 

responsible for the HVO's finances. 4515 It also submits that Stojic fails to show any error regarding 

the remaining Trial Chamber findings that he challenges in this regard.4516 

(ii) Analysis 

a. The logistical needs of the HVO 

1441. In finding that Stojic was "responsible for 'all the logistical and financial aspects and for the 

human resources of the armed forces,,4517 the Trial Chamber first considered that "Stojic had to see 

to the logistical needs, in materiel and weapons, of the HVO armed forces.,,4518 The Trial Chamber 

based this conclusion, in part, on Exhibit 2D01443,4519 the minutes of a Department of Defence 

meeting held on 24 November 1992, at which Stojic issued an order so that the costs of barracks 

reconstruction could be examined.4520 While this meeting predates the lCE and his contribution to 

the CCP,4521 Stojic does not substantiate his assertion that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on it 

to determine his responsibilities as Head of the Department of Defence as his conduct pursuant to 

these responsibilities extended into the lCE period.4522 The Trial Chamber also relied on 

Exhibit P04399 in which the assistant commander of the Information and Propaganda Department 

asked that Stojic be informed of problems in relation to the supply of newspapers to soldiers and a 

shortage in workspace, specifically "with the aim of improving the conditions of work and life".4523 

The Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's assertion that this does not support that he had the power to 

resolve such problems.4524 Thus, Stojic fails to show how the Trial Chamber erred in considering 

Exhibit P04399 as evidence that he saw "to the logistical needs" of the HVO.4525 Similarly, the 

Appeals Chamber also rejects StojiC's contentions that: (1) Exhibit 2D01246, an order from Stojic 

4514 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 136 . 
. 4515 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 137. 

4516 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 133-135, 139-141. 
4517 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. 
4518 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. 
4519 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance 
on Exhibit 2D01443, as well as certain other evidence, by arguing that it does not establish that he "had direct control 
over finances". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160, referring to Exs. 2D01443, P04399/3D01206, 2D01246, P06807, 
P00970. This argument misinterprets the Trial Chamber's reliance on this evidence: the Trial Chamber relied on it to 
support its finding that "Stojic had to see to the logistical needs, in materiel and weapons, of the HVO armed forces." 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308, fn. 729. The Appeals Chamber will consider whether a reasonable trial chamber 
could have relied on this evidence to conclude that Stojic was responsible for logistical resources. 
4520 Ex. 2D01443, p. 2. 
4521 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. 
4522 See Sainovic et at. Appeal Judgement, fn. 3858 ("certain conduct of a JCE member which started prior to, and 
continued during, the period when a common purpose of a JCE was found to have existed could constitute an act in 
furtherance of the common purpose by virtue of the continuation of this conduct"). See infra, para. 1891. 
4523 Ex. P04399, pp. 3-4. 
4524 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. See supra, para. 1436. 
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to OZ commanders that they provide business space and technical resources, "in cooperation with 

the president of municipal HVO[S]"4526 shows that he did not provide such resources;4527 (2) the 

Trial Chamber unreasonably relied on Exhibit P06807, which relates to the administrative 

redistribution of telephone lines for the HVO;4528 and (3) Exhibit P00970, which reports that 

military equipment was allowed to be transported to Central Bosnia "with the approval of Mr. 

STOJIC",4529 is irrelevant. 

1442. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber also relied on the evidence of 

Witness Christopher Beese to support its conclusion that Stojic was responsible for the HVO's 

logistical needs.453o Beese testified, and stated in a contemporaneous report, that on multiple 

occasions he saw persons in StojiC's office - whom he was later told were German arms salesmen -

with what Beese recognised as munitions boxes.4531 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential 

AnnexJ4532 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential AnnexJ4533 Thus, Stojic does not show that 

Beese's evidence was uncorroborated or so speculative that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on 

it.4534 Stojic does not show that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this evidence in 

concluding that he was responsible for the HVO's logistical needs, in materiel and weapons. 

1443. The Trial Chamber further considered that in order to see to the logistical needs of the 

HVO, Stojic was authorised to send requests for materiel and weapons directly to the HV.4535 In 

reaching this finding, the Trial Chamber relied on: (1) Exhibit P01l64, a Military Police order, 

issued pursuant to the order by the Head of the Department of Defence among others, which 

stipulates, inter alia, that "documentation for arms, military equipment, and ammunition imported 

from the Republic of Croatia or another country that needs to cross over checkpoints [ ... J should be 

signed by the head of the defense department of HZ HB, Bruno '/last name illegible, probably 

STOJICI",;4536 (2) Exhibit 2D00809, minutes of a meeting attended by Stojic at which an 

4525 See Trial Judgement. Vol. 4, para. 308. 
4526Ex. 2D01246, p. 1. See also Stipo Buljan, T. 36753 (11 Feb 2009). 
4527 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
4528 Ex. P06807. Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
4529 Ex. P00970, p. 7. The Appeals Chamber also considers that it is immaterial whether this report was sent to Stojie. 
Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
4530 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308, fn. 729. 
4531 Christopher Beese, T. 5385-5387 (23 Aug 2006). Beese further testified that he recognised the boxes from his 
ex~erience as a British army officer. Christopher Beese, T. 5387-5388 (23 Aug 2006). See Ex. P02620, p. 2. 
453 Witness BF, T. 25835 (closed session) (8 Jan 2008). 
4533 Witness BF, T. 25835-25836 (closed session) (8 Jan 2008). 
4534 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojie argues that the evidence of Witnesses Stipo Buljan and Davor Korae does 
not corroborate Witness Beese's evidence, See supra, fn. 4498. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the evidence 
of Witnesses Buljan and Korae was not cited by the Trial Chamber to corroborate the evidence of Witness Beese and 
has no bearing on the reliability of Witness Beese's testimony. 
4535 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. The Trial Chamber also found that Stojie was authorised to make payments 
from HVO accounts, but Stojie does not challenge this consideration. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. 
4536 Ex. P0l164, p. 1. 

588 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23307



agreement was reached for the transport of supplies to produce ammunition;4537 and 

(3) Exhibit P03998, a request from Stojic to the HV for weapons.4538 The Appeals Chamber 

considers that StojiC's arguments concerning Exhibits P01164 and P03998 are unpersuasive.4539 As 

Exhibit 2D00809 does not specifically speak to the HV's involvement in the supply of materiel and 

weapons, the Trial Chamber erred in relying on this exhibit. However, Stojic fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have arrived at the impugned finding on the basis of the remaining 

evidence. Moreover, Stojic ignores the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P00098, a request from 

Boban to open a bank account "for the purpose of performing financial transactions with the 

Republic of Croatia", which lists Stojic as one individual authorised to sign payment orders.454o In 

sum, Stojic merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence without showing that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have interpreted this evidence as the Trial Chamber did. 

1444. The Trial Chamber also considered that Stojic, on behalf of the HVO, organised the 

purchase of weapons from the VRS.4541 In doing so, it relied on a series of communications in 

June 1993 between Stojic and Ivica Rajic, an HVO commander,4542 discussing the negotiation for 

and transfer of weapons from the VRS to the HVO.4543 Notably, in one communication Rajic relays 

that he asked his VRS contact to negotiate the price of weapons with Stojic and that he was 

awaiting Stojic's instructions on how to proceed.4544 The Trial Chamber also relied on subsequent 

communications which included: (1) a report sent from Rajic to Stojic, "as per request", listing the 

weapons and ammunition received from the VRS;4545 (2) a proposed price list for armaments in 

which Rajic requests that Stojic confirm that the criteria will be "sorted out at the Government 

level,,;4546 and (3) a request from Rajic, addressed to Boban, Petkovic, and Stojic, in which he 

requests that they reach "an urgent agreement" with the VRS for the use of "heavy and armoured 

equipment".4547 In arguing that this evidence "establishes only that Stojic was aware of the purchase 

of weapons from the VRS and that on occasions he relayed information about pricing 

agreements",4548 but that it "does not establish any personal involvement in the purchases 

4537 Ex. 2D00809. 
4538 Ex. P03998. 
4539 See supra, para. 1436, fn. 4499. 
4540 Ex. P00098. See Miroslav Rupcic, T. 23338-23339 (8 Oct 2007). 
4541 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308. 
4542 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1650. . 
4543 Ex. P09820; Ex. P02934; Ex. P02966. The testimony of Radmilo Jasak supports the interpretation that references in 
these documents to "the XY side" refer to Serbia. Radmilo Jasak, T. 49024-49028 (27 Jan 2010). 
4544 Ex. P02966. 
4545 Ex. P06364. 
4546 Ex. P09967, p. 3. 
4547 Ex. P03403, p. 1. 
4548 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162. 
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themselves",4549 Stojic merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence without showing an 

error on the part of the Trial Chamber. StojiC's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

b. The finances of the HVO 

1445. Turning to the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic "was responsible for the finances of the 

armed forces of the HZ(R) H_B",4550 the Trial Chamber relied exclusively on Exhibit 2D02000 to 

find that Stojic "prepared the budget of the Department of Defence".4551 Exhibit 2D02000 indicates 

that when Stojic took over as Head of the Department of Defence, preparing its budget was one of 

12 "priority tasks".4552 Contrary to StojiC's assertion,4553 Exhibit 2D02000 merely notes that "some" 

of the listed tasks were not completed, but makes no reference to the budget and, therefore, does not 

indicate that no budget was prepared.4554 Moreover, Exhibit P08118 does not confirm that "the lack 

of a budget contributed to a significant lack of clarity on the financing of the HVO",4555 rather the 

concerns it raised revolve around a lack of funds. 4556 The Appeals Chamber considers that the 

evidence cited by the Trial Chamber establishes only that Stojic was responsible for preparing the 

budget and that no reasonable trial chamber could have relied on it to find that Stojic did, in fact, 

prepare one. However, considering the discussion below,4557 the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic 

fails to show how this error could have an impact on the Trial Chamber's overall conclusion that he 

was responsible for the finances of the HVO. 

1446. The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic was "responsible for the payment of salaries to the 

members of the armed forces as he was authorised to withdraw funds from the HVO bank 

accounts" and that he "contacted the Department of Defence of Croatia for money to pay the 

salaries.,,4558 In relation to the latter, the Trial Chamber relied on Exhibits P10291, P0091O, and 

P10290, requests from Stojic to the Croatian Department of Defence to transfer money to an HVO 

bank account for the payment of salaries.4559 The Trial Chamber accepted that while the requests 

are not personally signed by Stojic, they are signed on his behalf.456o The Trial Chamber further 

relied on: (1) Exhibit P0091O, an order from Gojko Susak that the HVO be given a loan for the 

4549 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162. 
4550 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309. 
4551 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to Ex. 2D02000. 
4552 Ex. 2D02000, para. 94. 
4553 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 163. 
4554 E x. 2D02000, para. 95. 
4555 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 163. 
4556 E P 1 x. 08 18, p. 4. 
4557 See infra, paras 1446-1450. 
4558 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309. 
4559 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to Exs. P10291, P10290, P0091O. 
4560 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to, inter alia, Davor Marijan, T(F). 35736 (21 Jan 2009). In the 
questioning of Witness Marijan, it was suggested that when "za" appeared on a BCS document this signified that the 
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payment of HVO salaries;4561 (2) Exhibit P00098, a request from Boban to open a bank account 

"for the purpose of performing financial transactions with the Republic of Croatia" which lists 

Stojic as one individual authorised to sign payment orders;4562 and (3) the testimony of Rupcic 

addressing paperwork used in transactions for the payment of HVO salaries, including 

Exhibits P10290 and P10291, by the Department of Defence of Croatia.4563 The Appeals Chamber 

is not convinced that, as argued by Stojic, this evidence does "not actually relate to requests for 

loans from Croatia" for the payment of HVO salaries.4564 Stojic fails to show an error by the Trial 

Chamber.4565 

1447. The Trial Chamber also found that "[a]s the person in charge of the finances of the 

Department of Defence, Bruno Stojic could authorise other people to withdraw funds from the 

HVO bank accounts".4566 The Trial Chamber relied on, inter alia, Exhibit P10301, a bank slip that 

indicates that money was withdrawn by RupCic "based on the request for cash withdrawal issued by 

Bruno STOJIC".4567 Stojic does not substantiate his assertion that a single incident cannot 

demonstrate that he had the authority to authorise others to withdraw funds and therefore he fails to 

show an error by the Trial Chamber in this respect. Moreover, the Trial Chamber also relied on 

Exhibit P01521,4568 an order from Stojic in which he designated individuals within the HVO with 

"authority to deal with material and financial /?/supplies,,4569 and detailed instructions on the 

procedure. Stojic does not challenge the Trial Chamber's reliance on this document. 

1448. Stojic further asserts that the Trial Chamber unreasonably found that he "directly financed 

the armed forces" because it disregarded evidence and findings that relevant funding came from the 

Department of Finance or the municipalities.457o The Appeals Chamber first considers that at trial, 

Stojic raised similar arguments.4571 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber did not 

find that Stojic "directly financed the armed forces", but rather found that he "directly controlled" 

and "was responsible" for HVO finances. 4572 Further, the Trial Chamber considered the role of the 

document was being signed on behalf of someone, which was not denied by the witness. Davor Marijan, T. 35736-
34737 (21 Jan 2009). 
4561 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to Ex. P0091O. 
4562 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to Ex. P00098. 
4563 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309, referring to Miroslav Rupcic, T(F). 23366-23369, 23387 (8 Oct 2007). 
4564 Contra StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. 
4565 See supra, para. 1438. 
4566 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 309. 
4567 Ex. P10301. See Miroslav Rupcic, T. 23387-23388 (8 Oct 2007). The Trial Chamber also relied on 
Exhibit 2D01352, a payroll signed by Stojic. The Appeals Chamber does not consider that this supports the Trial 
Chamber's conclusion that Stojic could authorise others to withdraw funds, however this has no impact on the Trial 
Chamber's finding. Ex. 2D01352, p. 3. . 
4568 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 734. 
4569 E x. P01521, p. 1. 
4570 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 159. 
4571 Stojic; s Final Brief, paras 315, 359-361. 
4572 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308, 309, 312. 
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Department of Finance and noted that it was responsible for collecting taxes and duties, establishing 

a customs system, and deciding a Government budget.4573 The Trial Chamber also noted evidence 

that "the HVO initiated the implementation of a centralised system of taxation for the purpose of 

financing the HZ H_B".4574 Regarding the municipalities, the Trial Chamber noted evidence that 

they financed the military units.4575 It also reviewed "evidence indicating that the municipalities 

used their own' resources to finance their municipal defences,,4576 and that municipalities were 

forced to collect revenue on their own.4577 While those findings were not made in the section of the 

Trial Judgement discussing StojiC's responsibility, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial 

Chamber considered some of the same evidence Stojic now cites.4578 Thus, the Trial Chamber was 

cognisant of the involvement of the Department of Finance and the municipalities in financing the 

municipalities' defences. 

1449. Additionally, although Exhibit 1D01609 - the minutes of a 26 May 1993 Government 

meeting - indicates that the Department of Finance was in charge of implementing measures to 

ensure continuous payment of soldiers' salaries, to fulfil contracts for the production of materiel and 

technical equipment, and the payment of taxes, the relevant decisions were taken after Stojic briefed 

the Government on problems with recruitment and shortages in materiel and technical 

equipment.4579 The Appeals Chamber also notes that Stojic points to Exhibit P06689, a letter from 

Prlic indicating the need for a unified financial system and that any payments outside of the budget 

to, inter alios, soldiers would be considered illegal, and calling for the Ministry of Defence and the 

Ministry of Finance, among others, to undertake the legal steps.4580 However, this exhibit does not 

provide direct support for StojiC's contention that the Department of Finance controlled the finances 

of the armed forces by default. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Stojic's 

reliance on Exhibit P08118, a Defence Department Annual Report, which does not suggest that the 

Department of Finance controlled the finances of the armed forces, as asserted by StojiC.4581 

Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber expressly considered that Witness 

Petkovic testified that "Stojic was to contact the Government of the HZ H-B for material and 

4573 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 640-644. 
4574 TrialJudgement, Vol. 1, para. 643. 
4575 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 679. 
4576 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1,para. 679. 
4577 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 681. 
4578 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fns 1595 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1001771, 2D00538, 1D01759, 1D00307), 1598 
(referring to, inter alia, Exs. 1D00559, 1D00561). See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 159 & fn. 419, referring to, inter 
alia, Exs. 1D01771, 2D00538, 1D01759, 1D00307, 1D00559, 1D00561. 
4579 E D x. 1 01609, p. 2. 
4580 Ex. P06689. See Ex. 1D01934 (a report'from the Head of the Department of Finance outlining its decisions to 
frevent potential consequences of implementing a functioning financial system). 

581 Specifically, the articles cited by Stojic indicate that the Defence Department was limited in its ability to provide 
logistical support for the HVO due to: (1) "[t]he lack of a uniform finance system"; (2) "[t]he self-financing of HVO 
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financial resources for the HVO armed forces", but found that the evidence showed that Stojic 

"directly controlled the human and financial resources of the HVO armed forces".4582 The 

Appeals Chamber finds that, by only asserting that the Trial Chamber "discarded without 

explanation" Witness PetkoviC's evidence and "disregarded" his trial submissions, Stojic ignores 

the Trial Chamber's relevant findings and evidence relied upon and fails to show an error. 4583 

1450. Moreover, as found above, the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic: (1) was 

responsible for the payment of salaries to the members of the HVO; (2) was authorised to withdraw 

funds from HVO bank accounts; (3) was authorised to request funds from Croatia to pay salaries; 

and (4) could authorise others to withdraw funds from HVO bank accounts.4584 Stojic does not 

demonstrate that any 'alleged role that either the Department of Finance or the municipalities played 

in the funding of the HVO calls into question the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic, as Head of the 

Department of Defence, was responsible for its finances. StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

1451. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's contention that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he was responsible for the finances of the HVO. 

c. Human resources 

1452. Regarding the management of HVO human resources, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic 

was responsible for "ensuring the financing of the training centres and the mobilisation of the 

members of the HZ(R) H-B armed forces.,,4585 In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber relied 

on: (1) Exhibit P00907, a report from Petkovic to Stojic which describes the militaty situation and 

addresses problems associated with mobilisation;4586 (2) Exhibit P00965, a report from the Assistant 

Chief of the Main Staff for Professional Units, Ivica Primorac, to Stojic and Petkovic describing the 

composition and capabilities of professional units within the HVO;4587 (3) Exhibit P04074, an order 

from Praljak, "[pJursuant to the order of the Defence Department [ ... J regarding the training of 

recruits,,;4588 (4) Exhibit 2D01459, an order issued by Stojic appointing the "chief of Administration 

for military obligation and mobilization,,;4589 (5) Exhibit 2D01350,4590 a request from Primorac to 

units through municipal bodies"; (3) "[t]he lack of regulations governing salaries of individuals financed through the 
budget"; and (4) "[t]he lack of a single market". Ex. P08118, p. 4. 
4582 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 308, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 50344-50345 (3 Mar 2010). 
4583 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 159. See Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 131 (the Trial Chamber has "broad 
discretion in assessing the appropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the testimony of a witness"); Kvocka et 
aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 23 ("the Trial Chamber is not under the obligation to justify its findings in relation to every 
submission made during the trial"). 
4584 See supra, paras 1446-1447, fn. 4535. 
4585 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 310. 
4586 Ex. P00907, p. 6. 
4587 Ex. P00965. 
4588 Ex. P04074, p. 1. 
4589 Ex. 2D01459. 
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Stojic and Petko vic for the resolution of a personnel dispute about the transfer of soldiers to the 

professional units;4591 (6) Exhibit 3D01460, a "Request to resolve a problem" addressed to Stojic 

and Petkovic, in which Zeljko Siljeg outlines problems related to mobilisation and requests certain 

action to rem'edy the situation;4592 and (7) Praljak's testimony that the Government, through Stojic, 

was competent to ensure that mobilisation was in place for the HVO.4593 

1453. From the outset, the Appeals Chamber notes that while Exhibit P04074 suggests that the 

Department of Defence, and therefore Stojic, had the authority to issue orders in relation to the 

training of recruits, nothing in the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber supports its specific finding 

that Stojic "was responsible for ensuring the financing of the training centres".4594 However, Stojic 

has not shown that the cited evidence does not support the Trial Chamber's finding that he was 

responsible for the mobilisation of members of the HVO. Specifically in relation to 

Exhibit 3DO 1460, the fact that Siljeg addressed his request to both Stojic and Pet~ovic does not 

demonstrate that it was Petkovic, and not Stojic, who had the authority to resolve the problem, 

particularly within the context of the other cited evidence demonstrating StojiC's role in relation to 

mobilisation. Further, while Praljak testified that he did not consider himself to be under StojiC's 

command,4595 he also clearly stated that Stojic did have the competency to ensure that "mobilisation 

was in place".4596 Therefore, Stojic's assertion that the Trial Chamber's finding that he was 

responsible for the mobilisation of the HVO is not supported by the evidence is dismissed. 

Moreover, while the Trial Chamber erred in considering that Stojic was responsible for the 

financing of the training centres, in light of the above analysis upholding the Trial Chamber's 

finding that Stojic was responsible for HVO finances,4597 Stojic has not shown how this error 

impacts the Trial Chamber's overall finding that he was responsible for "all the logistical and 

4590 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P01350, however, the 
Appeals Chamber considers this to be an editorial mistake as the Trial Chamber cited Exhibit 2D01350, not 
Exhibit P01350. See supra; para. 1439; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 737. 
4591 Ex. 2D01350, p. 1. 
4592 Ex. 3D01460. 
4593 Slobodan Praljak, T. 40422-40423 (20 May 2009). 
4594 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 310, referring to Exs. P04074 (an order dated 10 August 1993 from Praljak, pursuant 
to an order from the Department of Defence, in relation to the assignment of recruits to further training), 3DO 1460, p. 1 
(a communication dated 24 July 1993 from Zeljko Siljeg to Stojic requesting that he resolve problems associated with 
recruitment), 2D01459 (an order dated 9 June 1993 by Stojic appointing the Chief of Administration for military 
obligation and mobilisation), 2D01350 (communication dated 31 July 1993 from Ivica Primorac to Stojic requesting 
that he resolve an issue associated with the assignment of volunteers to certain units), P00907 (a report dated 
15 December 1992 from Petkovic to the Main Staff noting, inter alia, the difficulty in mobilising HVO units due to 
differing requirements in the municipalities). 
4595 Slobodan Praljak, T. 40421-40422 (20 May 2009). 
4596 Slobodan Praljak, T. 40422-40423 (20 May 2009). 
4597 See supra, paras 1445-1451. 
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financial aspects and for the human resources of the armed forces" or that he had command 

authority over the HVO.4598 His arguments are dismissed. 

(g) StojiC's authority to designate representatives of the HVO in ceasefire negotiations 

1454. Stojic disputes that he had the authority to designate representatives of the HVO in ceasefire 

negotiations,4599 as: (1) Petko vic was found to be in charge of negotiations;4600 (2) the only 

reasonable inference from the orders cited by the Trial Chamber was that Stojic communicated 

authority already possessed by Petkovic;4601 and (3) there is no evidence that Stojic himself had the 

power to represent the HVO in ceasefire negotiations.4602 

1455. The Prosecution responds that Stojic merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence 

. without showing an error on the part of the Trial Chamber.4603 

1456. The Trial Chamber relied on two documents to support its finding that Stojic had the 

authority to designate individuals to represent the HVO in ceasefire negotiations: 

(1) Exhibit P00811, an appointment of Dario Kordic as PetkoviC's deputy at tripartite negotiations, 

signed by Stojic and dated 26 November 1992;4604 and (2) Exhibit P03922, a communication dated 

3 August 1993 from Stojic to UNPROFOR indicating that Petkovic, "as Chief of the HVO Main 

Staff, commands all HVO forces, and as the sole such lindividuall has full authority in 

negotiations".4605 In relation to Exhibit P00811, the Appeals Chamber considers that a plain reading 

of the docum~nt, in particular the language that "KORDIC is hereby appointed",4606 belies StojiC's 

assertion that it was merely paperwork indicating an appointment made by Petkovic. Moreover, in 

support of his argument, Stojic cites Exhibit P00812 which is an order dated 26 November 1992 

from both Stojic and Petkovic directing Kordic to attend the negotiations.4607 Thus, this exhibit does 

not demonstrate that it was Petkovic, and not Stojic, who had the authority to make such an 

appointment. Regarding Exhibit P03922, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by StojiC's 

argument as this exhibit supports the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic designated persons. Even 

if he was only communicating that Petkovic had pre-existing authority, the Appeals Chamber 

4598 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. 
4599 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 311. 
4600 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 44, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 680. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156. 
4601 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 44. Stojic submits that Exhibit P00811 indicates that 
Dario Kordic had been appointed as deputy for one meeting whereas Exhibit P00812, which was disregarded by the 
Trial Chamber, shows that this delegation of authority was actually made by Petkovic. He asserts that Exhibit P03922 is 
merely an explanation he provided on the existing command structure. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156. 
4602 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156. 
4603 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 142-143. 
4604 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 311, referring to Ex. P00811. 
4605 Ex. P03922, p. 1. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 311, referring to Ex. P03922. 
4606 Ex. P00811. 
4607 Ex. P00812. See supra, fn. 4601. 
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considers that Stojie fails to show how this would preclude a finding that he had the authority to 

designate persons to represent the HVO, especially since the Trial Chamber's finding is supported 

by other evidence.4608 Further, the Trial Chamber's finding that Petkovie, as Deputy Commander of 

the Main Staff, was able to negotiate with the international community on behalf of the HV04609 is 

not inconsistent with the impugned finding. Stojie merely offers his own interpretation of the 

evidence without showing an error. His arguments are thus dismissed. 

(h) Conclusion 

1457. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojie has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that he commanded and had "effective control" 

over the HVO. The Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's ground of appeal 20. 

3. Alleged errors in finding that Stojie commanded and had "effective control" over the Military 

Police (StojiC's Ground 21) 

1458. The Trial Chamber concluded that it was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Stojie, 

as Head of the Departrrient of Defence, commanded and had "effective control" over the Military 

Police.4610 In reaching this finding, the Trial Chamber considered that Stojie: (1) issued instructions 

for the reorganisation of the Military Police units;4611 (2) appointed its most senior officers with the 

exception of the Chief of the Military Police Administration;4612 (3) was regularly infOlmed about 

its activities;4613 (4) had the authority to issue orders to the Chief of the Military Police 

Administration, including those directly linked to operations on the ground such as 

resubordination;4614 and (5) was responsible for all aspects oflogistics and staffing.4615 

(a) Arguments of the Parties 

1459. Stojie contends that the Trial Chamber arrived at the unreasonable conclusion that he 

commanded and had effective control over the Military Police on the basis of his "limited 

administrative competences".4616 In addition to arguing that he was not involved in the appointment 

of the Chief of the Military Police Administration, Stojie submits that he was not a decision-maker 

4608 Ex. P00811; Ex. P00812. 
4609 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 748. 
4610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 320. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 293, 425. 
4611 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 319-320. 
4612 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 859, Vol. 4, paras 313, 320. 
4613 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 318,320. 
4614 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 314-316, 320. 
4615 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 317, 320. , 
4616 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 168, 176. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 167; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 45,53. Stojic 
avers that this finding was critical to the Trial Chamber's findings that he had the necessary intent and that he 
significantly contributed to the JCE. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 177. 
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and merely administered appointments initiated by others.4617 He also submits that his 

administrative roles in logistics, staffing, and the re-organisation of the Military Police units do not 

evidence effective control or command authority.4618 StojiC argues that, even if he was 

hierarchically superior to the Chief of the Military Police Administration, this did not mean that he 

exercised effective control over the Military Police as: (1) the powers of the Chief of the Military 

Police Administration were administrative and diminished over time;4619 and (2) the Military Police 

had a "fuzzy" chain of command creating reasonable doubt about the operative chain of 

command.462o 

1460. Regarding the orders he issued, Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber failed to consider 

whether issuing only nine orders throughout the Indictment period suggested effective control, and 

argues that these orders were administrative or logistica1.4621 He submits that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded its previous conclusion that it was not persuaded that he issued a substantial number of 

orders to the Military Police units.4622 Stojic also submits that none of the evidence relied on by the 

Trial Chamber supported its finding that he issued orders consistent with operational command and 

that he could ensure that the orders were implemented.4623 Stojic avers that the orders: 

(1) demonstrated that command authority resided in the Main Staff; (2) were not addressed to, or 

issued by, him alone and thus do not prove that he exercised command authority as opposed to the 

other signatories or addressees; and (3) were administrative and related to internal discipline.4624 

1461. Stojic further contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he received 

regular reports about the activities of the Military Police as the evidence showed that he received 

only a limited number of reports on specific occasions.4625 Particularly, Stojic submits that the 

evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber: (1) showed that reporting was sporadic; (2) included two 

requests for reports which indicated ad hoc reporting; or (3) was irrelevant to the reporting 

procedure. Stojic also argues. that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that various Military Police 

4617 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 169. 
4618 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 173-174. 
4619 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 170; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 46, 48. 
4620 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 170; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 47. 
4621 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 171. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 49. 
4622 S "-, AlB· . f 171 tOJIC S ppea ne, para. . 
4623 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 172. 
4624 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 172; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 50. Stojic replies that the orders for subordination to the 
armed forces, for redeployment, and in relation to checkpoints were exclusively administrative or logistical. StojiC's 
Reply Brief, para. 49. 
462 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 51. 
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reports were actually received by him.4626 Stojic avers that the "simple receipt of reports, in the 

absence of evidence that [he] actually acted on their contents, does not prove effective control". 4627 

1462. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable and the 

evidence correctly considered.4628 The Prosecution submits that Stojic possessed and exercised his 

power to make appointments within the Military Police.4629 It also argues that an accused's power 

to control finances or organise troops is relevant to establishing effective contro1.4630 The 

Prosecution submits that Stojic repeats his trial arguments that the powers of the Chief of the 

Military Police Administration were administrative without showing an error.4631 It argues that: 

(1) confusion in the dual chain of command of the Military Police, does not mean that the Military 

Police Administration lacked effective control;4632 and (2) Stojic ignores his effective control over 

the Military Police alo~g the HVO chain of command.4633 

1463. The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic did not issue a 

substantial number of orders directly to the Military Police units did not include orders to the Chief 

of the Military Police Administration.4634 It further submits that Stojic also issued orders that were 

directly linked to operations on the ground,4635 and that his challenges to the evidence relied on by 

the Trial Chamber are undeveloped.4636 The Prosecution also responds that Stojic fails to show that 

the Trial Chamber's finding that he received regular reports is undermined,4637 and that the receipt 

of reports is relevant for assessing effective contro1.4638 

4626 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 175, referring to Exs. P01053, P03314 (confidential), P02863. 
4627 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175. 
4628 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 145-146, 152, 158, 160. See also Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 161. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 325-327 (21 Mar 2017). 
4629 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 158-159. The Prosecution argu.es that Stojic, as the most senior officer 
in the Department of Defence, could appoint senior Military Police leaders and denies that he merely administered 
~~ointments initiated by others. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 159. 
4 3 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 160, referring to, inter alia, Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, 
Eara.606. 

631 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 147. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber did not disregard 
its previous findings and that it found that CoriC's authority was not purely administrative. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Stojic), para. 147, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. . 
4632 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 148. 
4633 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 148, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. 
4634 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 149. The Prosecution argues that the fact that Stojic could issue orders 
directly to the Military Police units when needed supports the conclusion that he had effective control. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 149. . 
4635 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 150, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 965, Vol. 4, paras 304, 
315,320. 
4636 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 151. 
4637 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 153-156. The Prosecution also argues that Stojic received and 
requested regular reports about Military Police activities and was kept apprised of related activities. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 152. 
463? Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 157, referring to, inter alia, Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, 
para. 1861, Popovic et al. Trial Judgement, para. 2024. 
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1464. Stojic replies that the Prosecution fails to address the regularity of the reports he received, 

and that this limited flow of information is inconsistent with effective contro1.4639 

(b) Analysis 

(i) StojiC's involvement in appointments within the Military Police and his administrative 

1465. Stojic first disputes the Trial Chamber's finding that he "appointed the people who would 

hold the most senior posts within the [Military Police] units and the Military Police 

Administration".464o Notably, the Trial Chamber expressly considered that the Chief of the Military 

Police Administration was an exception,4641 but observed that he was appointed on the advice of the 

Head of the Department of Defence.4642 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic 

fails to show that he "had no involvement at all in the appointment of the most senior person in the 

department,,4643 and, regardless, he does not demonstrate how his contention would have had an 

impact on the Trial Chamber's finding. 

1466. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by StojiC's argument that he Was not the 

decision-maker but merely administered appointments. Referring to various pieces of evidence, the 

Trial Chamber found that Stojic appointed, inter alios, the deputy chief and the Assistant Chief of 

the Military Police Administration, the heads of department and the chiefs of section as well as the 

commanders and the deputy commanders' of the Military Police battalions "on the advice of the 

Chief of the Military Police and with the approval of the assistant, chief for Security of the 

Department of Defence".4644 Stojic relies only on the latter part of this Trial Chamber finding4645 

without showing how taking advice or obtaining approval from others affected his decision-making 

powers. Thus, Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have considered his 

involvement in the appointment of senior staff within the Military Police as a relevant indicator that 

he had "effective control" and command authority over the Military Police.4646 StojiC's arguments 

are dismissed. 

4639 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 51. Stojic argues that the evidence shows, at its highest, that he received 13 reports in 16 
months of office. StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 51. Stojic also submits that Exhibit P08548, a history of the Military Police 
from 1992 to 1995, does not mention him thus proving his lack of authority. Stojic's Reply Brief, para. 52. 
4640 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 313. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 859. 
4641 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 859, Vol. 4, para. 313. 
4642 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 2029, referring to Ex. P00837, p. 4. See Ex. P00837, p. 4 ("At the proposal of the head 
of the Defence Department, the HVO HZ HB appoints the chief of administration of the military police."). 
4643 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 169. 
4644 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 575. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 858-859, 954. 
4645 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 169. 

, 4646 See supra, para. 1412. See also supra, para. 1401. 
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1467. Stojic also challenges the Trial Chamber's consideration of his responsibility for "the 

logistical and staffing needs of the Military Police, including the payment of salaries to its members 

and mobilisation",4647 and the instructions he gave for the reorganisation of the Military Police 

units.4648 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic only contends that these matters "cannot support a 

.finding of', or "do[] not evidence", "effective control" and operational command over the Military 

Police.4649 Stojic merely offers his own conclusions without showing that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously considered his role in logistics, staffing, and the reorganisation of units as an indicator 

of authority. To the extent that Stojic argues that his roles concerned "purely administrative 

matters", he does not support his argument that an administrative role cannot be a factor to consider 

as evidence of command authority,4650 and more broadly, that such a role cannot contribute to the 

implementation of a JCE.4651 Moreover, Stojic does not show that any alleged error by the Trial 

Chamber in this regard would affect the overall finding that he exercised "effective control" and 

command authority, which was based on several other factors. 4652 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

dismisses StojiC's argument. 

(ii) The authority of the Military Police Administration 

1468. Regarding StojiC's arguments concerning the authority of the Military Police 

Administration,4653 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered numerous orders 

issued by Corie with regard to the establishment of checkpoints, the freedom of movement, and unit 

deployment. In so doing, the Trial Chamber rejected arguments made at trial by Stojic that the role 

of the Military Police Administration was "purely administrative".4654 The Appeals Chamber 

further notes that Stojie merely relies on the Trial Chamber's observation that witnesses stated that 

the Military Police Administration had jurisdiction over the Military Police units in an 

administtative and logistical sense.4655 However, the Trial Chamber then observed that "it seems 

that the Military Police Administration occasionally acted in order [ ... ] to issue orders to the 

Military Police which went beyond the administrative and logistical framework and that it could in 

fact [ ... ] order their resubordination,,4656 before addressing evidence of these orders and power of 

4647 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 317. 
4648 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 319. See Ex. P00957; Ex. P00960. 
4649 See StojiC' s Appeal Brief, paras 173-174. 
4650 See supra, para. 1412, referring to Nahimana et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 606. See also Blaskic Trial Judgement, 
Eara. 522; Musema Trial Judgement, para. 880. 

651 See Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, paras 1544-1545 (in considering Radivoje MiletiC's "technical" role in the 
UNPROFOR convoy notification procedure, the Appeals Chamber concluded that "[w]hether an act is 'technical' does 
not per se preclude it from being a contribution to a JCE"); supra, para. 1401. 
4652 See supra, para. 1458. 
4653 See supra, para. 1459. . 
4654 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 871, 887, 915. 
4655 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 953. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 170. 
4656 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 953. 
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resubordination.4657 Thus Stojic repeats his unsuccessful trial arguments and fails to show an error 

by the Trial Chamber. 

1469. Furthermore, the Trial Chamber also found that: (1) Coric, as Chief of the Military Police 

Administration, had command and control power over the Military Police units;4658 (2) the Military 

Police Administration gradually relinquished its power to exercise direct command over the 

Military Police units but that this did not lead to a complete renunciation of its command;4659 and 

(3) the Military Police had a dual chain of command which led to confusion.466o The Trial Chamber 

therefore was aware of, and made findings on, the same factors which, according to Stojic, show 

that he did not necessarily have "effective control" and command authority over the Military Police 

units by virtue of being CoriC's hierarchical superior. While those findings were not made in the 

section of the Trial Judgement discussing Stojic's responsibility, the Appeals Chamber recalls that 

the Trial Judgement is to be read as a whole.4661 Stojic thus fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

"overlooked" its other findings;4662 especially as these other findings are not inconsistent with Stojic 

having command authority over the Military Police units through his ability to give orders to COlic 

d· . 4663 S .. ,' h d' . d 4664 regar mg vanous areas. tOJIC s arguments are t us lsmlsse . 

(iii) StojiC's issuance of orders to the Military Police 

1470. In relation to the Trial Chamber's consideration of the orders he issued to the Military 

Police, StojiC's argument suggesting that issuing only nine orders throughout the Indictment period 

is not indicative of "effective control" is unpersuasive.4665 First, StojiC's argument is premised on 

the Trial Chamber's alleged reliance on "only" nine orders in finding that he could issue orders to 

the Chief of the Military Police Administration.4666 However, the Trial Chamber referred to 

additional evidence - some of which the Appeals Chamber will address below - in concluding that 

4657 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 959-974. 
4658 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 871,887,915. 
4659 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 963-964. Similarly, the Trial Chamber found that CoriC's power of command over 
the Military Police units weakened as of July 1993 but "did not disappear completely". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
£ara.868. 

660 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 971, 974. Regarding the Military Police's dual chain of command, the Appeals 
Chamber further notes that Stojic had de facto powers over the HVO through the HVO military chain of command, 
which included the Military Police units embedded in the HVO brigades, thus any confusion on the ground on where 
orders emanated from would not necessarily affect StojiC's command authority. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 961, 
971,974, Vol. 4, paras 306, 312, 425. See also supra, para. 1457. 
4661 Stanish: and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; 
MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. See Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
4662 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 170. 
4663 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 314. 
4664 Regarding StojiC's argument on Exhibit P08548, the Appeals Chamber notes that this pUblication does not list the 
entire chain of command over the Military Police and that thus does not call into question the Trial Chamber's finding 
refsarding StojiC's authority. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 52. 
46 5 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 171. 
4666 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 171, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 314. 
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Stojic did issue orders to the Military Police and that these orders were implemented.4667 Moreover, 

the Appeals Chamber considers that StojiC's argument that the issuance of nine orders is 

insufficient to show that he had "effective control" or command authority is inapposite as the 

Trial Chamber's consideration of his ability to issue orders to the Military Police does not relate to 

his responsibility as a commander pursuant to Article 7(3) of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber 

recalls that the actus reus for liability under JCE I is the participation of the accused in the common 

criminal plan which may take the form of assistance in, or contribution to, the execution of this 

plan,4668 and that this contribution to the crimes is significant.4669 As such, in and of itself, the 

number of orders Stojic issued to the Military Police has no bearing on the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he contributed to the furtherance of the JCE through their issuance. Thus, StojiC's 

argument is dismissed. 

1471. In addition, Stojic's contention that the Trial Chamber disregarded its earlier finding that it 

was not persuaded that Stojic issued "a substantial number of orders" directly to Military Police 

units4670 ignores the context of this observation. The Trial Chamber continued to say that it was not 

persuaded that the number of orders issued directly to the Military Police units implied that Stojic 

was circumventing the Military Police Administration's authority. 4671 StojiC's contention is thus 

dismissed. 

1472. Stojic also argues that the orders relied on by the Trial Chamber do not substantiate its 

findings. Regarding his first contention in support,4672 while Exhibits P00875, 5D02002, and 

5D00548 indicate that the Main Staff had authority over the Military Police units resubordinated to 

the HVO command,4673 Stojic does not show that this precludes his authority over the same units. In 

this regard" the Appeals Chamber considers that authority over a unit can be exercised by various 

4667 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 315-316. In addition to the evidence Stojic challenges and which is addressed below 
(see infra, para. 1472), the Trial Chamber referred to other testimony and exhibits showing that Stojic issued orders to 
the Military Police, which were implemented. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 315-316, fns 741-745. These orders, 
inter alia: (1) concerned the movement of people and goods in Jablanica; (2) prohibited the carrying of long barrel 
weapons by civilians and members of military units as well as restricted the carrying of short barrel weapons, and 
instructed checkpoints to implement the order; (3) concerned the prevention of banned movement of goods and 
weapons; (4) concerned the detention of trucks with trailers; (5) increased control of exit and entry points in Mostar; 
and (6) concerned inspection of all persons and motor vehicles leaving Mostar due to increased number of thefts of both 
public and private property. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 315-316, referring to, 'inter alia, Exs. PO 1164, p. 1, 
POU21, pp. 1-4, POI517, P03327 (confidential), p. 5, P01868, p. 1, P02578. 
4668 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1615; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695; Stakic Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 64; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227(iii). 

669 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Kraji$nik Appeal Judgement, para. 706; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, 
Eara.430. 

670 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 965. See Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 171. 
4671 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 965. 
4672 See supra, para. 1460. 
4673 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 315 & fns 741-742, 744, referring to Exs. P00875, 5D02002, 5D00548. 
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persons within the chain of command.4674 Notably, Stojic as Head of the Department of Defence 

had authority over the Main Staff and, in fact, two of the exhibits cited by Stojic were signed by 

him.4675 Similarly, StojiC's contention that his command authority was not proven from the cited 

evidence as the orders or requests did not come to or from him alone is unconvincing and 

insufficient to show an error by the Trial Chamber. In this respect, Stojic does not substantiate the 

assertion that he could not exercise authority on his own accord or that it was the other signatories 

that had command authority. Thus, Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded that he had command authority over the Military Police after assessing the evidence cited 

by the Trial Chamber. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere StojiC's argument as far 

as it concerns the administrative or logistical nature of his involvement as evidence of command 

authority, which necessarily includes the orders he issued.4676 Notably, Stojic had the authority to 

issue orders to the Chief of the Military Police Administration, including those directly linked to 

operations on the ground such as release of detainees, resubordination of Military Police units, and 

the engagement of Military Police forces. 4677 Furthermore, his references to two exhibits being 

"purely administrative orders relating to internal discipline,,4678 and a confidential exhibit cited by 

the Trial Chamber among other various pieces of evidence 4679 fail to demonstrate an error by the 

Trial Chamber in its assessment of the evidence. Thus, StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

(iv) StojiC's receipt of reports on Military Police activities 

1473. Stojic also contests the Trial Chamber's finding that he regularly received reports about the 

activities of the Military Police,468o by arguing that the reports were sporadic.4681 Notably, the Trial 

Chamber cited various pieces of evidence to support its finding,4682 but Stojic only challenges the 

reliance on one exhibit and states that other reports prepared by the author of that exhibit were not 

sent to him.4683 The Appeals Chamber is unconvinced by this argument as Stojic fails to show how 

any alleged "sporadic" reporting from one individual affects the Trial <;:hamber's finding that he 

received regular reports which did clearly emanate from various sources.4684 Stojic also argues that 

4674 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1892 ("the exercise of effective control by one commander does not 
necessarily exclude effective control being exercised by a different commander"). 
4675 See Ex. P00875; Ex. 5D02002. 
4676 See supra, paras 1412, 1467. See also supra, para. 1401. 
4677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 314-316,320. 
4678 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 172, referring to Exs. P01121, P01098. 
4679 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 172, referring to Ex. P03327 (confidential); Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 315 & 
fn. 741, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03327 (confidential). 
4680 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 320. 
4681 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175. See supra, para. 1460. 
4682 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318 & fns 747-749. 
4683 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175, referring to Ex. P03314 (confidential). 
4684 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03274 (order from Stojic that various 
personnel including the Chief of the Military Police Administration submit reports to the Department of Defence), 

603 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23292



as Exhibits P03274 and P00518 were requests for reports, this showed ad hoc reporting.4685 The 

Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit P00518 is not a request for reports but a report sent by Stojie, 

on 22 September 1992, to the HVO and the Government, reporting, inter alia, on the activities of 

the Military Police, including how many reports it had filed by that point.4686 As such, it indicates 

that Stojie and the Department of Defence were aware of the activities of the Military Police. 

1474. With respect to Exhibit P03274, the Appeals Chamber notes that it is Stojie's request, 

directed to all HVO bodies, in which he asks for an "assessment of the current situation in your 

area" in order for the Department of Defence to be able to submit its own report to the Government 

for the period January 1993 to July 1993. Stojie does not explain how this request calls into 

question the Trial Chamber's finding that he received regular reports about the activities of the 

Military Police,4687 particularly given the other documents cited by the Trial Chamber in support of 

its finding, including an "interim report" sent by Corie to Stojie personally informing him of the 

Military Police units' activities in Gornji Vakuf in early January 1993.4688 Furthermore, given that 

this request was directed to all HVO bodies and that Stojie asked for the "assessment of the current 

situation:', his assertion that if he had regular reports from the Military Police he would not have 

needed to request them is speculative. Accordingly, he fails to show an error. 

1475. As it concerns Stojie's submission that two of the exhibits cited by the Trial Chamber are 

irrelevant to the reporting procedure, the Appeals Chamber notes that although Exhibits 2D02000 

and P01409 do not directly speak to Stojie receiving reports, they concern activities of the Military 

Police and clearly indicate that he would have been informed of these activities.4689 In this regard, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit 2D02000 lists one of StojiC's priority tasks as ensuring that 

the Military Police submit reports to the military courts,4690 while Exhibit P01409is an order issued 

by Stojie on 3 February 1993 regarding the mobilisation of the Military Police.4691 Thus, Stojie fails 

to show that there are reasonable inferences that can be drawn from these exhibits other than that he 

was kept informed of Military Police activities. A reasonable trier of fact could have considered 

these exhibits as evidence of a reporting procedure and StojiC's. arguments are thus dismissed. 

P01053 (report to Stojie personally from Corie), P02863 (report to, inter alios, Stojie personally from the Deputy 
Commander of the Rama Brigade). 
4685 See supra, para. 1460. 
4686 Ex. P00518, pp. 4, 6. 
4687 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175. 
4688 See Ex. P01053. Although Exhibit P01053 predates the JCE, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the Trial 
Chamber reasonably considered it as supporting the finding that Stojie was regularly informed of the Military Police 
units' activities. See also Exs. P02863 (report from the deputy commander of the Military Police units in Prozor 
informing Stojie and Corie of the activities of Tuta's men in Prozor Municipality), P03314 (confidential) (report from 
the commander of the Military Police units in Prozor informing Stojie and Corie of the influx of civilians and soldiers in 
Prozor Municipality). ' 
4689 See Ex. 2D02000, para. 94(7); Ex. P01409. 
4690 Ex. 2D02000, para. 94(7). 
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Consequently, StojiC's argument that the "limited flow of information" is inconsistent with 

"effective control,,4692 is also dismissed, since he fails to demonstrate the irregularity of reports. 

1476. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that he actually 

received three Military Police reports,4693 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found 

that he regularly received reports about Military Police activities and cited these three reports as 

support.4694 Considering that the three reports in question were addressed to Stojic personally,4695 

and the Trial Chamber made numerous findings on the reporting procedure involving Stojic, he 

does not demonstrate that the'Trial Chamber failed to find that he received these three reports. In 

this regard, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic had ordered all heads of units, including the 

Military Police Administration, to submit reports on their activities to him.4696 In addition, the Trial 

Chamber found that Stojic received reports from other organs and exercised a reporting function in 

relation to the Government; reports which would include the activities of Military Police units 

embedded in the HVO brigades.4697 Thus, the Trial Chamber found, inter alia, that: (1) Stojic 

received reports on the situation in BiH, in particular the military situation, sent by the Main 

Staff;4698 and (2) Stojic, in tum, informed the HZ(R) H-B Government, both through reports and 

during Government sessions, about the military and security situation on the ground.4699 

1477. Further, the Trial Chamber, in discussing StojiC's authority over the HVO, relied on 

evidence 4700 which also shows that he ordered several units, including the Military Police 

Administration, to provide him with written reports every eight hours on the implementation of the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum.4701 The Appeals Chamber also notes that some of the reports relied on 

by the Trial Chamber were addressed to Stojic or the Department of Defence,4702 and considers that 

he does not present any arguments demonstrating that the flow of information was interrupted in 

those instances thus preventing his receipt of the reports. Therefore, in light of the reporting 

function Stojic was found to have exercised on the basis of various reports sent to him, the Appeals 

Chamber concludes that Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded 

4691 Ex. P01409, 
4692 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 51. 
4693 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 175, referring to Exs. P01053, P03314 (confidential), P02863. 
4694 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01053, P03314 (confidential), P02863. See supra, 
Eara. 1473. 

695 Ex. P01053; Ex. P03314 (confidential); Ex. P02863. 
4696 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318. 
4697 See supra, paras 1418-1419. 
4698 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 767-768. 
4699 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. 
4700 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01140. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 453, 562. 
4701 Ex. PO 1140, para. 9. See Ex. P01053 (Interim Report sent by Corie to Stojie on 5 January 1993). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 153. 
4702 Ex. P01053; Ex. P02863; Ex. P03314 (confidential); Ex. P04224. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 318 & fns 747-
749. 
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that the Military Police reports addressed and sent to him, particularly the three reports he 

challenges on <1-ppeal, were also received by him. 

1478. Stojic further argues that "effective control" is not proven by the receipt of reports unless he 

acted on their contents.4703 The Appeals Chamber first considers that the receipt of infonnation and 

regular reports on the activities of the Military Police, as part of the information flow, can be a 

relevant indicator in determining StojiC's authority over the Military Police.4704 Moreover, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that acting on the contents of a report is not a necessary requirement in 

determining command authority.4705 As Stojic fails to show the contrary, his arguments are 

dismissed. 

(c) Conclusion 

1479. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred by finding that he commanded and had "effective control" over the Military Police. 

StojiC's ground of appeal 21 is dismissed. 

4. Alleged errors concerning StojiC's failure to prevent and punish crimes committed by the HVO 

and the Military Police (StojiC's Ground 23) 

1480. The Trial Chamber found that "Stojic did not intend to prevent or punish the crimes by the 

HVO atmed forces, including the Military Police, whereas he had the de facto power to do SO".4706 

It concluded that "if [Stojic] did not issue orders to prevent or punish crimes or if those orders were 

not obeyed, it was because he knowingly did not want to take those measures".4707 The Trial 

Chamber also found that Stojic was informed about the serious discipline problems within the KB 

unit under the command of Mladen Naletilic, alias "Tuta", and their crimes. It concluded that, 

although Stojic had the power to prevent or punish the crimes committed by Naletilic's men, he had 

no intention of doing so and in fact accepted and encouraged the crimes by praising the unit.4708 

1481. Stojic challenges these findings of the Trial Chamber, and argues that it erroneously: 

(1) found that he had the power to prevent and punish crimes committed by the HVO, including the 

Military Police, and NaletiliC's troops and deliberately failed to do SO;4709 and (2) relied on his 

4703 S tojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 175. 
4704 Cf Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1861. 
4705 Cf Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1860. 
4706 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 410-415, 421-422,427. 
4707 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 415. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 410-414, 427. 
4708 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 420. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 416-419, 427. 
4709 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 178-188. 
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failure to prevent and punish crimes as a basis for its conclusion that he significantly contributed to 

the JCE and shared the intent of other JCE members.4710 

(a) StojiC's de facto power to prevent and punish crimes (StojiC's Sub-ground 23.1) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1482. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to provide a reasoned "decision" 

regarding its finding that he had the de facto power to prevent and punish crimes.4711 Specifically, 

Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber failed to identify any de jure or de facto power he possessed or 

any mechanism he could have used to prevent and punish crimes.4712 He avers that the "vague 

reference to 'operative orders' is insufficient" as it failed to explain how such orders could prevent 

or punish crimes.4713 Stojic also submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion is inconsistent with, 

and opposite to, an earlier finding that he did not have the de jure obligation to prevent or punish 

crimes.4714 He contends that having found that he had no obligation to punish crimes, the Trial 

Chamber "should not have relied on any omission to prevent or punish crimes as a way of 

establishing his culpability".4715 Stojic also submits that the Trial Chamber disregarded: (1) its 

earlier finding that crimes could not be effectively opposed;4716 and (2) clearly relevant Defence 

submissions and cited evidence that the Department of Justice and Administration ("DoJA") was 

responsible for setting up and administering the military judiciary.4717 

1483. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber specified how StojiC could have taken 

measures to prevent and punish crimes on the basis of his power to issue and enforce orders to the 

HVO, including the Military Police and identified two types of operative orders he issued as 

examples.4718 The Prosecution further argues that Stojic: (1) issued other orders which demonstrate 

his effective control, such as orders relating to, inter alia, manpower, the formation and dissolution 

4710 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 189. Stojic argues that these errors invalidate the Trial Judgement and his convictions 
on all counts should be overturned. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 189. 
4711 S .. " A al B . f 178 to]lC s ppe ne , para. . 
4712 S .. " AlB' f 179 tOJIc s ppea ne, para. . 
4713 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 179, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 414. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 291 
(21 Mar 2017). 
4714 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 180, referring to Trial Judgement,. Vol. 4, para. 413. In this regard, Stojic highlights the 
Trial Chamber's findings that the Military Police had a dual chain of command which resulted in a "fuzzy" chain of 
command and that the Military Police Administration's control diminished over time. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 180, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 949-950, 964, 971, 974. . 
4715 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 180. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 291 (21 Mar 2017). 
4716 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 181, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 972, 986; Stojic's Reply Brief, para. 56. 
4717 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 182, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, para. 406, referring to Exs. P03350, lD01974, 
P01536, P01652, lD01179, P00559. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber only considered that the DoJA de facto 
proposed military judicial appointments and disregarded the remainder of the Defence submissions. StojiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 182. 
4718 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 164, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 320, 410, 413-415. 
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of units, and the tasking and removal of military personnel;4719 and (2) "could have spoken out 

against crimes".4720 It further responds that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic had de Jacto power 

to prevent and punish through his orders.4721 The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber did 

not base its findings on whether Stojic could refer matters to the military courts,4722 and that the 

Defence submissions at trial on the DoJA "have no bearing on measures Stojic could have taken to 

suppress crimes". 4723 

1484. Stojic replies that as "effective control" requires the material ability to prevent or punish 

crimes all factors which might impede this material ability must be taken into account,4724 and thus 

argues that the Trial Chamber should have considered the non-compliance with his orders.4725 

(ii) Analysis 

1485. Regarding StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to identify the powers he 

possessed or any mechanism he could have used to prevent or punish crimes, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that the Trial Chamber found that the evidence did "not support a finding that Bruno Stojic 

had the de jure obligation to apply [his] instructions to punish the members of the HVO armed 

forces and the Military Police who had committed a crime".4726 Thus, the relevant issue is the de 

Jacto powers which the Trial Chamber found Stojic possessed.4727 In this regard, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber made various findings, including that Stojic: (1) had "the 

power to issue operative orders to [the HVO and the Military Police] as well as the power to have 

his orders forwarded through the chain of command of the HVO armed forces, including the 

Military Police,,;4728 (2) had the power to issue orders directly to the HVO and the Military Police 

and to ensure they were carried out and used that authority;4729 (3) issued orders directly to the 

4719 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 164 & fns 629-636, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01098. As part of its 
response to StojiC's ground of appeal 21, the Prosecution submits that Exhibit P01098 demonstrates Stojic's ability to 
punish military personnel without authorisation through the Chief of the Military Police Administration. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 151. 
4720 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 164. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 333-334 (21 Mar 2017). 
4721 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 166. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 333 (21 Mar 2017). 
4722 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 167. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 339 (21 Mar 2017). 
4723 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 168. 
4724 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 55. Stojic replies that Exhibit P01098, which the Prosecution argues shows his ability to 
punish military personnel, actually "shows that his authority was limited to requesting a 'report to the competent 
court"'. StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 59. 
4725 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. Stojic replies that there was no evidence that he could ensure that his orders were 
carried out, and that his material ability to prevent or punish was negated by the inability of the Military Police to 
function. StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 56-57. 
4726 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 413. See supra, para. 1428. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber 
similarly found that the Head of the Department of Defence was not de jure part of the military chain of command. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4727 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. 
4728 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 414. See supra, paras 1427-1435, 1470-1472. 
4729 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 410. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304-311,325-326,423. See also supra, 
paras 1427-1435, 1470-1472. 
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HVO, particularly with regard to ceasefires, detention centres, troop movements, reorganisation of 

military units, assignments and mobilisation of troops, and freedom of movement of humanitarian 

or international organisations;473o and (4) had the authority to issue orders to the Chief of the 

Military Police Administration, including those directly linked to operations on the ground, such as 

resubordination.4731 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it dismisses elsewhere St?jiC's challenges to 

these findings on his powers and the evidence the Trial Chamber relied on in concluding that he 

could issue various orders.4732 StojiC's contention is dismissed. 

1486. Concerning whether the Trial Chamber was required to explain how the orders, which Stojic 

had the power to issue, could have been used to prevent or punish crimes, the Appeals Chamber 

finds this argument to be unpersuasive for the following reasons. Among the findings noted 

above,4733 the Trial Chamber considered that Stojic issued orders to conduct autopsies whenever the 

commission of a war crime was suspected and for HVO commanders to respect international 

humanitarian law.4734 The Trial Chamber also observed that Stojic: (1) had the power to issue 

instructions about matters of discipline in the HVO;4735 (2) had the power to have his orders 

forwarded through the chain of command;4736 and (3) was hierarchically superior to CoriC.4737 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber noted that the Main Staff was an integral part of the Department of 

Defence.4738 The Trial Chamber then concluded that in light of these powers, StojiC's failure to 

issue orders to prevent or punish crimes, and any failure to obey the orders he did issue, was the 

result of him making no serious effort to prevent or punish crimes.4739 In light of this analysis, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that it was unnecessary for the Trial Chamber to expand on or discuss 

further how StojiC's orders could have prevented or punished crimes. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses StojiC's argument. 

1487. Stojic also argues, in reply, that he did not have the "material ability" to prevent or punish 

crimes and that the Trial Chamber should have considered the non-compliance with his orders as an 

impediment to his ability to prevent and punish.474o In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber was not required to establish that Stojic had a "material ability" to prevent or 

4730 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 562, 564-565, 795, Vol. 4, para. 306. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 413. See 
also supra, paras 1427-1435, 1470-1472. 
4731 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 314, 320. See supra, paras 1458, 1472. 
4732 See supra, paras 1424-1435, 1470-1472. 
4733 See supra, para. 1485. 
4734 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 412, 414. 
4735 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 413. 
4736 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 414-415. 
4737 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 854, 862, Vol. 4, para. 314. 
4738 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4739 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 415, 423, 427. 
4740 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 57, referring to Strugar Appeal Judgement, paras 256-257. See supra, para. 1484. 
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punish crimes given that it conducted its analysis in the context of StojiC's JCE I liability.4741 

However, the Appeals Chamber also notes that a failure to intervene to prevent recurrence of crimes 

or to halt abuses has been taken into account in assessing an accused's contribution to a joint 

criminal enterprise and his intent "where the accused had some power and influence or authority 

over the perpetrators sufficient to prevent or halt the abuses but failed to exercise such power".4742 

Nonetheless, Stojic refers only to four instances in the Trial Judgement which do not clearly speak 

to his direct orders being disobeyed.4743 He also does not address the fact that the Trial Chamber did 

note that "if [his] orders were not obeyed, it was because he knowingly did not want to take those 

measures".4744 Thus, Stojic fails to show that his orders were not complied with to such an extent 

that any alleged failure by the Trial Chamber to consider this factor was an error. He fails to 

. demonstrate that these four instances cited could have impacted the Trial Chamber's findings on his 

ability to issue orders. 

1488. Stojic also argues that the Trial Chamber's conclusions that he had no de jure obligation to 

prevent and punish crimes and that he had the de facto power to prevent and punish crimes are 

inconsistent.4745 Stojic, however, fails to substantiate his argument and does not address the 

distinguishing features between de jure and de facto powers, in that, having de facto powers does 

not necessarily mean that de jure powers must also exist.4746 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that Stojic was found to have had command. authority and "effective control" over most of 

the HVO and the Military Police through his de facto powers.4747 Thus, Stojic does not show an 

inconsistency in the Trial Chamber's findings and his argument is dismissed. For the same reasons, 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's remaining assertion - that the Trial Chamber erred in 

relying on his failure to prevent and punish crimes - as the basis of his culpable omission stems 

from his de facto powers.4748 In any event, provided the accused shares the intent to implement the 

common purpose by criminal means, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "when establishing an 

4741 See supra, para. 1410. 
4742 Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 111, 734. 
4743 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 772 ("Although the evidence shows that mobilisation was a challenging process, 
particularly due to the lack of response to the call to arms and due to desertion [ ... J the armed forces of the HVO in late 
1992 already numbered 45,000 men"), Vol. 2, para. 2081 (the Trial Chamber's finding that it had no evidence that one 
order Stojic issued on 3 July 1993 - to transfer the management of the detention of Muslim men of military age arrested 
in Capljina Municipality from the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade to the local HVO - was implemented), Vol. 4, paras 480 
(the Trial Chamber observed that Praljak intervened when an HVO unit blocked the passage of an UNPROFOR convoy 
authorised by Stojic, allowing for the convoy to pass through), 1039 (the Trial Chamber's finding that it was not aware 
of evidence showing that the Detention Commission - under the authority of the Department of Defence -
accomplished its tasks). 
4744 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 415. See also inft'a, para. 1494. 
4745 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 413,423. 
4746 The Appeals Chamber has made this clear in the context of its discussions regarding Article 7(3) responsibility. See 
Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 193 ("The power or authority to prevent or to punish does not solely arise from de 
jure authority conferred through official appointment"). See also Nahimana et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 625; 
Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement, para. 294, quoting Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 192. 
4747 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306,312,320,326. See also supra, para. 1457. 
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accused's participation in a joint criminal enterprise through his failure to act, the existence of a 

legal duty to act deriving from a rule of criminal law is ~ot required".4749 In addition, any alleged 

error in this regard does not impact on the Trial Chamber's consideration of whether Stojic used his 

authority to undertake measures which could have prevented or punished crimes as a factor in 

inferring his JCE I intent.475o 

1489. Stojic also contends that the Trial Chamber disregarded his trial submissions on the role of 

the DoJA in prosecuting crimes;4751 however, he does not explain how these trial submissions could 

have impacted on the Trial Chamber's findings. In particular, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber did discuss that the DoJA "was tasked with establishing effective judicial 

authority".4752 Recalling that the Trial Chamber is not under the obligation to justify its findings in 

relation to every submission made during the trial,4753 StojiC's contention is dismissed. 

1490. Regarding StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded its earlier finding that 

crimes could not be effectively opposed, the Appeals Chamber takes note of the Trial Chamber's 

discussion on the difficulties experienced by organs involved in taking criminal action against the 

HVO, and in particular, its finding that because the Military Police was forced to devote major parts 

of its force to combat operations, "crime within the ranks of the HVO armed forces - including the 

Military Police - [ ... ] could not, for example, be effectively opposed, especially inasmuch as the 

civilian police forces and the military tribunals failed to operate in satisfactory fashion".4754 

Nonetheless, even if the organs involved in investigating and prosecuting crimes experienced 

difficulties, the Appeals Chamber considers that this did not preclude the Trial Chamber from 

finding that Stojic had command authority and "effective control" over the HVO and the Military 

Police as he had other avenues available to prevent and punish crimes.4755 StojiC's de facto powers 

gave him sufficient power or influence to deal with crimes, which he has not shown was hindered in 

such a way that he could not at least make inquiries, initiate investigations, or report the 

perpetrators to the competent authorities. For example, as noted by the Trial Chamber, on 

6 February 1993 Stojic ordered the brigades of the North-West OZ to conduct autopsies whenever 

there were suspicions of a war crime; further, on 23 April 1993, having heard of the killings and 

4748 See supra, para. 1482. . 
4749 Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110. See Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 111. 
4750 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 423,427-428. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1045. See also Popovic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1368-1369; infra, para. 2081 ("For the purposes of establishing the mens rea element of' 
commission through participation in a JCE [ ... ], it was within the Trial Chamber's discretion to consider, among other 
factors, whether Praljak used his command authority to undertake measures which could have prevented or punished 
the commission of crimes."). . 
4751 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 182, referring to Stojic's Final Brief, para. 406. See supra, para. 1482. 
4752 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 646. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 645, 647-650. 
4753 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 305, 1841. 
4754 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 972. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 411. 
4755 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312,320,410,415,425-427. 
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torching of houses in Jablanica, he issued a joint order with Petkovic instructing the HVO 

commanders to respect international humanitarian law.4756 StojiC's argument is dismissed as he fails 

to show that no reasonable trier of fact, after finding that some organs involved in opposing crime 

were not operating in a satisfactory fashion, could have concluded that he had the de facto power to 

prevent or punish crimes. 

1491. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he had the de facto power to prevent and punish crimes committed by 

the HVO and the Military Police. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 23.1 is dismissed. 

(b) Whether Stojic did not intend to prevent or punish crimes (StojiC's Sub-ground 23.3) 

1492. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he "did not intend 

to prevent or punish the crimes".4757 In this regard, Stojic argues that he issued instructions 

encouraging the investigation of crimes, ordered commanders to respect international humanitarian 

law, and promUlgated regulations for the treatment of POWS.4758 Stojic also contends that the Trial 

Chamber failed to explain its conclusion that he "knowingly did not want to take measures", 

especially in light of its findings that the judicial system was "seriously limited" and that crime 

could not be effectively opposed.4759 Stojic argues that alternative reasonable inferences include that 

he did not have the power to ensure that his instructions were canied OUt.4760 

1493. The Prosecution responds that Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

found that he did not intend to prevent or punish crimes.4761 It argues that the Trial Chamber was 

cognisant of the unenforced orders Stojic issued, was mindful of difficulties in the judicial system, 

and reasonably concluded that he made "no serious effort" to prevent or punish crimes.4762 

4756 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 340, 342, 412, 414. In addition, while Stojic submits, referring to 
Exhibit P01098, that "his authority was limited to requesting a 'report to the competent court''', the Appeals Chamber 
considers that this was nevertheless an authority he had and could exercise. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 59. 
Furthermore, in the Appeals Chamber's view, Exhibit P01098 demonstrates that Stojic could in fact initiate criminal 
proceedings against military personnel through the Chief of the Military Police Administration. See Ex. P01098, p. 2 
(where Stojic instructs that "[a]ny person who opens fire in an inhabited area without authorisation shall be immediately 
arrested and detained, and a report submitted to the competent organ".). 
4757 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 186-187, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. 
4758 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 187, referring to Exs. P02578, p. 1, P02050, P01474. 
4759 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 188, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 972, 986. 
4760 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 188; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 58. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 57. 
4761 Prosecution's Response Brief (StojiC), para. 165. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 163. The 
Prosecution submits that Stojic instead concealed crimes and commended and secured promotions for perpetrators he 
knew had participated in crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 165. 
4762 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para~ 165, 167. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 163. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 333-337, 339 (21 Mar 2017). 
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1494. Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusion that "he knowingly did not want to take" 

measures to prevent or punish crimes.4763 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a Trial 

Judgement must be read as a whole,4764 and notes that the Trial Chamber made numerous findings 

which put the impugned conclusion into context. In addition to StojiC's ability to issue orders to 

punish and prevent crimes,4765 the Trial Chamber also found that he: (1) participated in or planned 

HVO military operations and knew of crimes being committed and thus intended to have those 

crimes committed;4766 (2) encouraged crimes committed by Naletilic's troops and commended 

Naletilic;4767 (3) requested and obtained a promotion for Ivica Rajic knowing that he committed 

crimes;4768 and (4) denied to international representatives that the evictions of Muslims from West 

Mostar were being carried out by the HVO which proved that the HVO authorities did not 

genuinely intend to prevent crimes.4769 The Trial Chamber also considered evidence that Stojic 

wished to punish offences but could not do so in practice because of the situation in BiH at the time, 

including that the military courts were not functioning,4770 as well as his trial submissions that he 

was not in a position to prevent or punish crimes.4771 It is on the basis of these findings and 

considerations that the Trial Chamber concluded that Stojic "did not intend to prevent or punish the 

crimes,,4772 and that "he knowingly did not want to take" such measures.4773 The Appeals Chamber 

finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber en-ed in concluding that his intention 

not to prevent or punish crimes was the only reasonable inference available from the evidence. The 

Appeals Chamber also dismisses StojiC's assertions on crimes not being effectively opposed, the 

limitation of the judicial system, and his lack of power to ensure compliance with his orders.4774 

1495. Further, the Trial Chamber was aware of, and considered, StojiC's: (1) order on 

23 April 1993 to the commanders of all OZs to treat civilians and detainees in accordance with 

international law;4775 (2) promulgation of regulations on 11 February 1993 for the treatment of 

POWs imprisoned in detention centres;4776 and (3) order for vehicles exiting the town of Mostar to 

4763 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 415. 
4764 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et at. Appeal judgement, para. 2006; 
Mrksic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. See Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
4765 See supra, paras 1485-1486. 
4766 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. See also infra, paras 1534-1537, 1541-1542, 1545-1550. 
4767 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 423,427. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 416-420. See also infra, paras 1498-
1499. 
4768 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-383. See also infra, para. 1707 (limiting 
consideration that Stojic requested and obtained a promotion for Ivica Rajic knowing that he committed crimes in Vares 
town, and not Stupni Do). 
4769 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 421-422,427. See infra, paras 1625-1630. 
4770 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 411. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 972, 980-986. See also supra, para. 1489. 
4771 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para.A09. 
4772 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. 
4773 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 415. 
4774 See supra, paras 1486-1489, 1492. 
4775 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 340, referring to Ex. P02050. 
4776 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 386, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01474. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 387. 
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be checked in an attempt to combat thefts.4777 Stojic fails to show how these actions call into 

question the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he "made no serious effort to prevent or punish the 

crimes" based on its findings discussed above.4778 StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 23.3 is therefore 

dismissed. 

(c) StojiC's power to prevent or punish the crimes committed by NaletiliC's troops (StojiC's Sub­

ground 23.2) 

1496. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he had the power to prevent or punish 

the crimes committed by NaletiliC's troops was unreasonable and inconsistent with earlier 

findings. 4779 Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber found elsewhere that the ATGs reported directly 

to the Main Staff and that he was not in their chain of command.478o He also submits that no 

evidence was presented showing that he had command authority over the KB and its ATGs.4781 · 

1497. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Stojic had the 

power to prevent or punish crimes committed by the KB and its ATGs.4782 The Prosecution avers 

that this finding is unaffected by the fact that the Trial Chamber could not find that Stojic exercised 

a power of command over the KB and its ATGs under NaletiliC's command.4783 It argues that the 

findings show that Stojic accepted and encouraged cri~es committed by the KB and its ATGs.4784 

1498. The Trial Chamber found that, although "there were structural and operational ties between 

Bruno Stojic and Mladen Naletilic and his ATGs",4785 it had "no evidence supporting a finding that 

the Department of Defence exercised a power of command over the KB and its ATGs under 

Mladen NaletiliC's command".4786 The Trial Chamber also concluded that "Stojic had effective 

control over the activities of the components of the HZ(R) H-B armed forces - save the KB - and 

over the Military Police".4787 Stojic argues that the former finding is contradictory to the holding by 

the Trial Chamber that he had the power to prevent or punish crimes committed by "Tuta's men" 

4777 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 446, referring to Ex. P02578, p. 1. 
4778 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 187, referring to Exs. P02578, p. 1, P02050, 
P01474. 
4779 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 183, 185; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 60. 
4780 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 184, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 565, 708, 791, 795-796,829,835. 
4781 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 184; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 60, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 835. 
4782 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 170. 
4783 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 170, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 835, Vol. 4, paras 307, 
420. The Prosecution argues that the Main Staff was an integral part of the Department of Defence, and that the absence 
of direct orders from Stojic to the KB or the ATGs does not exclude his effective control over them. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 170. . 
4784 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 171, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 416-418, Exs. P02770, 
P04401 (confidential), pp. 4-5, P03928 (0300-3205). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 337-338 (21 Mar 2017). 
4785 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 307. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 832-835. 
4786 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 307. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 835. 
4787 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 326. 
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but had no intention of doing SO.4788 However, in arriving at this impugned finding, the Trial 

Chamber also: (1) considered evidence that Stojic was asked "to use his authority and influence" to 

put an end to a situation involving "Tuta's men" and their "severe discipline problems,,;4789 

(2) observed various instances where Stojic stated that he had confidence in "Tuta" and commended 

the KB and its commander "Tuta,,;4790 and (3) found that there were structural and operational ties 

between Stojic and Naletilic and his ATGs.4791 

1499. Moreover, Stojic fails to take into consideration that the Trial Chamber also found that: 

(1) the Main Staff was an integral part of the Department of Defence;4792 (2) he had the power to 

have his orders forwarded through the chain of command;4793 (3) he had the de facto power to 

prevent and punish crimes by the HVO;4794 and (4) the KB and its ATGs, under NaletiliC's 

command, were integrated into the overall HVO chain of command and reported directly to the 

Main Staff.4795 Thus, Stojic would have been able to issue orders to, or could have used his position 

and influence over, the Main Staff, and more specifically Petkovic and then subsequently Praljak as 

Chief/Commander of the Main Staff, regarding the prevention or punishment of crimes committed 

by the units under NaletiliC's command. Considering the authority that Stojic could have exercised 

over the Main Staff as well as the "structural and operational ties" between him and Naletilic, the 

Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by his argument that the Trial Chamber's findings were 

inconsistent or contradictory.4796 StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 23.2 is therefore dismissed. 

(d) Conclusion 

1500. In sum, Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in: (1) finding that he 

had the power to prevent and punish crimes committed by the HVO, including the Military Police, 

and NaletiliC's troops and deliberately failed to do so; and (2) relxing on his failure to prevent and 

punish crimes as a basis for its conclusion that he significantly contributed to the JCE and shared 

the intent of other JCE members. StojiC's ground of appeal 23 is dismissed. 

4788 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 420. 
4789 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 419. 
4790 . 4 Tnal Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 834, Vol. , paras 418, 420, 427. 
4791Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 307. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 832-835. 
4792 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4793 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 414. 
4794 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 410-415, 421-422, 427. 
4795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829: . 
4796 The Appeals Chamber further finds that StojiC's remaining arguments highlight the Trial Chamber's findings, 
which he does not challenge, and thus he fails to show how these arguments would impact on the conclusions of the 
Trial Chamber. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 184; supra, para. 1496. 
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5. Alleged errors concerning StojiC's powers and responsibilities (StojiC's Ground 24) 

(a) Whether Stojic represented the Government in peace negotiations (StojiC's Sub-ground 24.1) 

1501. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he represented "the HVO" in 

peace negotiations at the highest level based on the three meetings it relied on.4797 Stojic argues 

that: (1) the meeting on 25 March 1993 merely concerned an attempt to resolve a specific issue in 

the Konjic area;4798 (2) he did not attend the 18 April 1993 meeting as he "interrupted" this meeting 

with news about an ABiH offensive causing the meeting to be postponed;4799 and (3) the only 

evidence on his involvement in the 2 June 1993 meeting is not that he attended the negotiation but 

that he later ratified the resulting agreement. 4800 He asserts that the evidence, at most, shows that he 

participated in local meetings on isolated occasions, and that there is no evidence that he attended 

any high-level or international negotiation.4801 

1502. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable.4802 It argues that 

Stojic: (1) minimises the importance of the 25 March 1993 meeting;4803 (2) ignores the evidence of 

ECMM monitor, Klaus Johann Nissen, that Stojic represented the HZ(R) H-B at the 18 April 1993 

meeting concerning, inter alia, a ceasefire and withdrawal of troops, and his late attendance does 

not undermine the finding;4804 and (3) misrepresents the evidence on the 2 June 1993 meeting 

regarding joint HVO-ABiH Mostar patrols.4805 

1503. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic was "one of the HVO 

HZ H-B officials auth0l1sed to represent that body in peace negotiations at the highest level".4806 In 

doing so, it considered evidence showing that Stojic participated in meetings aimed at resolving the 

conflicts between the HVO and the ABiH, as well as evidence of an agreement he signed setting up 

4797 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 321-324. The Appeals Chamber notes 
that Stojic refers to the "HVO" in this sub-ground of appeal without clarifying whether this refers to the HVO armed 
forces or the HVO Government. Given that he is challenging the Trial Chamber's findings in paragraphs 321 to 324 of 
Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement, which in turn concern StojiC's representation of the Government, thy Appeals 
Chamber interprets StojiC's use of the term "HVO" in this particular sub-ground of appeal as a reference to the HVO 
Governnient. 
4798 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190, referring to Ex. 2D00643. 
4799 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190, referring to Ex. P01950 (confidential), para. 4, [Redacted, see Annex C -
Confidential Annex] 
4800 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190, referring to Exs. P02652 (confidential), p. 1, P10367 (confidential), para. 58. 
4801 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 191. 
4802 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 174. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. l73. See also 
A~peal Hearing, AT. 325 (21 Mar 2017). 
48 3 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 174. 
4804 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 174, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 322, Klaus 
Johann Nissen, T. 20417 (25 June 2007). 
4805 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 174. 
4806 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 324. 
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a joint patrol of HVO and ABiH soldiers.4807 In challenging the Trial Chamber's reliance on this 

evidef!.ce, Stojic contends that the 25 March 1993 meeting was aimed at resolving a specific issue 

but cites evidence which the Trial Chamber took into account.4808 The Appeals Chamber considers 

that Stojic fails to demonstrate that this evidence or his assertion is inconsistent with the Trial 

Chamber's finding that this meeting was aimed at resolving the conflicts between the HVO and the 

ABiH in the municipalities of Konjic and Jablanica.4809 In any event, as Stojic does not challenge 

that he participated in these negotiations as one of the representatives of the HVO HZ H-B, he fails 

to show how his assertion could affect the Trial Chamber's overall finding. 

1504. Regarding the 18 April 1993 meeting, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial 

Chamber found that Pdic, Stojic, and Petkovic attended this meeting on behalf of the HVO.481O In 

support of this finding, the Trial Chamber relied solely on the evidence of the ECMM monitor 

Klaus Johann Nissen who testified that Stojic was one of the participants in the meeting along with 

Prlic and Petkovic· on the "HVO side".4811 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that 

Exhibit P01950 indicates that Stojic interrupted the meeting and reported on a large scale offensive 

of the ABiH in central Bosnia.4812 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex].4813 The Trial 

Chamber did not refer to tins evidence. The Appeals Chamber considers that StojiC's alleged late 

arrival to and interruption of the 18 April 1993 meeting is not consistent with Nissen's evidence 

that he was a participant in this meeting.4814 Nonetheless, given the limited scope of the Trial 

Chamber's finding of StojiC's attendance at this meeting on behalf of the HVO, the Appeals 

Chamber does not consider that this inconsistency impugns its overall finding that he represented 

"the HVO" in peace negotiations at the highest level. 

1505. Regarding the 2 June 1993 "meeting", the Trial Chamber in fact considered that on 

2 June 1993, Boban, Stojic, and Petkovic signed an agreement on setting up joint HVO and ABiH 

patrols, and not that they attended a meeting on that date.4815 StojiC's argument that he did not 

attend a negotiation around that date4816 therefore shows a misunderstanding of the Trial Chamber's 

reliance on the relevant evidence. The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber 

considered the agreement as evidence that Stojic was authorised to sign agreements concerning the 

4807 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 321-323. 
4808 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190, referring to Ex. 2D00643; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 321, referring to, 
inter alia, Ex. 2D00643. 
4809 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 321. 
4810 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 322. 
4811 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 322, referring to Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20416-20417 (25 June 2007). 
4812 Ex. P01950 (confidential), para. 4. 
4813 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] 
4814 Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20417 (25 June 2007). 
4815 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 323. 
4816 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 190. 
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HVO.4817 Furthennore, Stojic does not dispute that he was one of the competent authorities 

empowered to sign agreements resulting from peace negotiations. Thus, his argument is dismissed. 

1506. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses StojiC's argument that there is no evidence that he 

attended any high-level or international negotiation. Notably, the 25 March 1993 and 18 April 1993 

meetings, as well as the agreement signed on 2 June 1993, all concern resolutions discussed 

between senior representatives of the HVO HZ H-B and the SDNABiHJHDZ, and thus Stojic fails 

to show that the Trial Chamber erred in considering these meetings to be held at "the highest 

level".4818 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded that he was one of the officials within the HVO HZ H-B 

authorised to represent that body in peace negotiations at the highest level. StojiC's sub-ground of 

appeal 24.1 is dismissed. 

(b) Whether Stojic took part in fonnulating the defence policy of the HZ(R) H-B Government 

(StojiC's Sub-ground 24.2) 

1507. Stoji~ submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he took part in the formulation of 

the HZ(R) H-B Government's defence policy based on his participation in meetings of the 

Government.4819 Stojic argues that mere attendance at a meeting only establishes that he knew about 

the subject-matter under discussion, and that the Trial Chamber failed to assess what contributions 

he made to the meetings.482o In particular, Stojic contends that the cited evidence shows no direct or 

relevant contribution by him,4821 pre-dates the JCE,4822 or does not establish that his contributions 

related to the fonnulation of defence policy.4823 Stojic further contends that the Trial Chamber erred 

in finding that defence policy was fonnulated during the Government meetings as: (1) the military 

situation was discussed in two meetings but no decisions were made;4824 and (2) the detention 

4817 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 323; Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 58; Ex. P02652 (confidential), p. 2. 
4818 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 324. 
4819 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 192, 194, 196. While Stojic refers to "meetings of the HVO" in his submissions relating 
to this ground of appeal, the Appeals Chamber notes that he challenges a finding of the Trial Chamber which concerns 
Stojic's attendance at Government meetings. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, heading before para. 297. 
4820 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 193-194, referring to Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 87, Milutinovic et al. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 143. Stojic submits that the evidence only establishes that he attended Government meetings 
during which various topics were discussed and does not show that he played a leading role in these meetings. StojiC's 
A£peal Brief, para. 196. 
48 1 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 194, referring to Exs. P00559, p. 3, 1D01666, P05955. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
Eara. 196. . 

822 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 194, referring to Exs. P00578, p. 5, P00672, pp. 4,6. According to Stojic, the evidence 
which pre-dates the JCE has no relevance to the formulation of defence policy during the JCE period. See StojiC's 
AEpeal Brief, para. 194. 
483 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 194. Stojic argues that in the meeting of 6 September 1993 he spoke on administrative 
issues and not the establishment of detention centres, and that during a meeting on 4 November 1993 he only provided 
an update on the situation in Vares. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 194, referring to Exs. P04841, pp. 3-4, 1D01354. 
4824 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 195, referring to Exs. 1D02179, 1D01666. 
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centres and technical rules relating to military service were discussed at one Government 

session.4825 

1508. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable,4826 and contends 

that Stojic's arguments fail to show an error.4827 It argues that even if Stojic did not voice his 

opinion during the Government meetings, he participated by exercising his vote.4~28 The 

Prosecution submits that Stojic: (1) disseminated information and made defence-related proposals 

to the Government;4829 and (2) participated in meetings where discussions took place, and proposals 

were adopted, concerning, inter alia, the armed forces' organisational structure, the mobilisation of 

forces, the detention and treatment of POW s, the detention centres, and the military and security 

si tuati on. 4830 

1509. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic participated in many 

Government meetings in his capacity as Head of the Department of Defence, and "in that context 

took part in formulating defence policy of the HZ(R) H_B".4831 The Trial Chamber considered that 

decisions were taken at these meetings on various subjects including: (l) the status of refugees and 

displaced persons; (2) the amended decree on the armed forces; (3) the decree imposing the war tax 

in the territory of the HZ H-B; (4) the military situation on the ground; (5) the mobilisation of the 

HVO; and (6) the situation in the HVO detention centres.4832 Notably, the evidence relied on by the 

Trial Chamber shows that a majority of proposals were unanimously adopted during these 

meetings, and Stojic does not argue that he abstained or voted against any of the proposals or 

decisions.4833 Further, there is evidence of Stojic actively participating in some meetings by making 

proposals and providing reports and updates on the military situation.4834 Thus, a reason~ble trier of 

fact could have concluded that Stojic participated in these meetings by providing reports as well as 

by voting on the proposals discussed and adopted. 

4825 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 195, referring to Ex. P04841. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 196. 
4826 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 175. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 173. 
4827 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 178. 
4828 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 175. 
4829 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 175. 
4830 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 176-178. The Prosecution argues that the pre-JCE Government 
meetings demonstrated StojiC's role in formulating defence policy. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 178. 
See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 325 (21 Mar 2017). 
4831 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 298. See supra, para. 1418. 
4832 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00559, p. 7, P00578, p. 5, P00672, p. 3, P01097, 
P05955, lD01666, lD02179, P04841. 
4833 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00559, p. 7, P00578, p. 5, P00672, p. 3, P01097, 
P04841, P05955, lD02179. See Ex. P00543, p. 7; Ex. P00921; Ex. P01227; Ex. P01324; Ex. P02606, p. 2; Ex. P0561O, 
E' 2; Ex. lD01l81, pp. 3-5; Ex. lD01669. 

834 Ex. P05799; Ex. lD01608, pp. 2-3; Ex. lD01668; Ex. lD01275, pp. 2-3. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300 & 
fns 235, 247. 
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1510. The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced by StojiC's argument that a finding on his 

personal contributions to the meetings was required in order to conclude, as the Trial Chamber did, 

that he took part in formulating the defence policy of the HZ(R) H-B by virtue of his 

participation.4835 Considering that the case-law cited by Stojic is distinguishable from his case,4836 

the Appeals Chamber also finds his argument to be unsupported. His arguments are thus dismissed. 

1511. further, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by StojiC's contentions that no defence 

policies were formulated during the meetings and that some meetings cited as evidence by the Trial 

Chamber pre-date the JCE.4837 The evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber shows that various 

issues affecting the defence policy were discussed and formulated at these meetings, including the 

military situation on the ground and the mobilisation of the HVO.4838 Stojic only supports his . 

argument by asserting that evidence of discussions on the military situation and the detention 

centres in three meetings is insufficient to support the Trial Chamber's finding.4839 The Appeals 

Chamber recalls that it is to be presumed that the Trial Chamber evaluated all the evidence 

presented to it as long as there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any 

evidence which is clearly relevant.484o In this regard, the Trial Chamber specifically referred to over 

40 Government sessions and meetings that Stojic attended when making its findings thus indicating 

that the evidence on the ten meetings it cited to explicitly did not encompass all the evidence it 

considered.4841 Since Stojic fails to address the other evidence on the record,4842 the Appeals 

Chamber is not convinced that he has shown an error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning and the 

ultimate finding. 

1512. Finally, as the Trial Chamber took account of various meetings held between January and 

November 1993, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show how any alleged error in the 

Trial Chamber's consideration of, inter alia, the evidence on meetings which pre-date the JCE 

4835 See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 925 (The Appeals Chamber considered that, apart from being present at 
a meeting, Nikola Sainovic did not issue any instructions or make any statements and thus did not exert any influence; it 
considered though that his presence showed his continuous involvement with the issues). 
4836 See Krstic Appeal Judgement, paras 85-87 (The Appeals Chamber considered that Radislav KrstiC's presence at two 
meetings could at most establish his knowledge of decisions taken and that there is no evidence suggesting that he was 
aware of any genocidal intent of Ratko Mladic as it was highly unlikely that Mladic would have discussed this in front 
ofUNPROFOR leaders or the foreign media present); Milutinovic et al. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 132, 142-143 (In 
discussing the Prosecution's argument that Milan MilutinoviC's presence at meetings conferred legitimacy to the 
decisions taken, it was considered that Milutinovic only attended a limited number of meetings and that he did not play 
a significant role in them). 
4837 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 194-195. See supra, para. 1418. 
4838 See supra, fn. 4833. -
4839 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 195. 
4840 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017; Kvocka et ai. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 23. 
4841 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297. 
4842 See supra, fns 4833-4834. 
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could have affected its finding that he participated in the formulation of the defence policy of the 

HZ(R) H-B both before and after the JCE came into effect.4843 

1513. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that by providing reports, taking part in, and voting 

in the Government sessions and meetings Stojic participated in the formulation of the defence 

policy of HZ(R) H-B. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 24.2 is thus dismissed. 

(c) Whether Stojie exercised the functions of the Head of the Department of Defence until 

15 November 1993 (StojiC's Sub-ground 24.3) 

1514. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he left the office of 

the Head of the Department of Defence on 15 November 1993.4844 Stojie argues that his successor 

was appointed on 10 November 1993 and that he took up his new position at the Department for the 

Production of Military Equipment on the same day.4845 He also argues that there is no evidence that 

he performed any function related to the Department of Defence after 10 November 1993.4846 

1515. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable, and that Stojic 

ignores Exhibit 2D00416, a transfer of duties he signed on 15 November 1993.4847 

1516. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that by a declaration of 

10 November 1993, Boban appointed Perica Jukie as Minister of Defence4848 and that Stojic 

exercised his functions as Head of the Department of Defence until 15 November 1993.4849 Stojic 

does not address Exhibit 2D00416, the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber in concluding that 

the transfer of responsibilities from Stojie to Jukie was made official on 15 November 1993.4850 

Thus, Stojie fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded based on the 

evidence that he exercised the functions of the Head of the Department of Defence until 

15 November 1993. Moreover, Stojie fails to explain how any alleged error in this regard would 

have an impact on his convictions. His arguments in his sub-ground of appeal 24.3 are dismissed. 

4843 See supra, para. 1441 & fn. 4522. 
4844 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 197. 
4845 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 197, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 293, Exs. P06583, 2D03001. 
4846 S .. -, AlB' f 197 tOJIC S ppea ne, para. . 
4847 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 179, referring to Ex. 2D00416. See Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 173. 
4848 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 556, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06583. 
4849 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 293. 
4850 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 556, Vol. 4, fn. 687, referring to Ex. 2D00416. 
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(d) Conclusion 

1517. In sum, StojiC's ground of appeal 24 is dismissed.4851 

6. Alleged errors in identifying the members of the ICE (StojiC's Ground 7) 

1518. Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to identify the members of the 

ICE with sufficient specificity.4852 He asserts that the Trial Chamber's finding that the ICE included 

"notably commanders of the HVO armed forces, political and administrative officials of the 

HVO/government and municipal HVOS,,4853 fails to identify whether all or only some of the 

individuals encompassed in these groups were ICE members.4854 Stojic contends that the impugned 

finding is extraordinarily broad and vague as, inter alia, it has no temporal or geographic 

limitation.4855 Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber's failure to unambiguously identify the ICE 

members, "which is an essential precursor to a finding that there was a ICE at all",4856 necessitates a 

reversal of its finding that a ICE existed, and thathis convictions must be set aside.4857 

1519. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber exceeded the requirement of identifying 

ICE members by groups or categories when it named ten members, including the Appellants.4858 It 

asserts that as the crimes were attributable to Stojic, either directly or via the other Appellants, the 

fact that additional ICE members were not identified in detail has no impact on his convictions.4859 

1520. Stojic replies that the Trial Chamber's "failure to define the ICE membership precisely is 

not remedied by its blanket finding that all crimes perpetrated by non-members are attributable to 

ICE-members,,,486o as a link must be establisbed between the perpetrator and a ICE member.4861 

1521. The Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber correctly stated the law on the 

element of "plurality of persons" in relation to the actus reus of ICE participation.4862 After a 

4851 Given that the Appeals Chamber dismisses all three sub-grounds of appeal under ground of appeal 24, it does not 
need to address StojiC's argument that these three alleged errors of fact cumulatively occasion a miscarriage of justice. 
See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19S. 
4852 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 79-S0. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 76-77. 
4853 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 78, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, pMa. 1231. 
4854 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 77-79, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 157. 
4855 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 79. Stojic also argues that by using the word "notably", the Trial Chamber signalled that 
it "thought that there were other entirely unidentified members beyond even the vague categories identified". StojiC's 
Affeal Brief, para. 79. . 
48 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. SO. 
4857 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. SO. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 256-257 (21 Mar 2017). 
4858 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 57, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 5S. 
4859 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 57. 
4860 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 24. . . 
4861 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 24. Stojic submits, by way of example, that there is no basis for a finding that a JCE 
member used the perpetrators to commit crimes in Stupni Do and that "[t]he assumption that all crimes are imputable to 
a JCE-member is thus insufficient." StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 25 (emphasis in the original). 
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detailed analysis of how the CCP was implemented through a joint and concerted action, including 

the means by which the Appellants contributed to it,4863 the Trial Chamber concluded that "a 

plurality of persons consulted each other to devise and implement the [CCP].,,4864 It found that 

"[t]he group included Franjo Tudman, Gojko Susak, lanko Bobetko, Mate Boban, ladranko Pdie, 

Bruno Stojie, Slobodan Praljak, Milivoj Petkovie, Valentin Corie and Berislav Pusie.,,4865 In 

identifying these individuals, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber fulfilled the 

requirement of establishing that a plurality of persons shared the CCP.4866 In this ground of appeal, 

Stojie does not dispute the Trial Chamber's findings as far as they concern the plurality of persons 

and the named individuals, but challenges the identification of the remaining lCE members. 

1522. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "[t]he plurality of persons can be 

sufficiently identified by referring to 'categories or groups of persons', and it is not necessary to 

name each of the individuals involved".4867 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber 

made detailed findings on the timing and geographical scope of the lCE.4868 Considering the above, 

. the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Stojie's submission that the Trial Chamber's description 

of the plurality of persons belonging to the lCE had "extraordinary breadth and vagueness,,4869 or 

that it was required in this case to find whether all or only some of the individuals from these 

groups were lCE members.487o Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojie fails to show 

how any alleged ambiguity regarding the unidentified lCE members would affect the Trial 

Chamber's findings that the named individuals were lCE members,4871 and that a lCE existed. 

Additionally, his allegations, if any, that the Trial Chamber incolTectly attributed crimes to 

members of the lCE will be considered when addressing StojiC's related challenges.4872 

4862 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212, Vol. 4, para. 1217. 
4863 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1217-1230. 
4864 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
4865 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
4866 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1409; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 141; Brdanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 364; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227. See also Gatete Appeal Judgement, para. 239 . 

.4867 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 141, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 156. See Brdanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 430; Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, para. 150. 
4868 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41-66,1218-1230. See also supra, paras 783-784, 813-814. 
4869 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 79. 
4870 See Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 436 (referring to Tolimir Trial Judgement, para. 1071: "[The Trial Chamber] 
is convinced that this plan was carried out by a plurality of persons, including numerous high-ranking VRS officers. and 
their subordinates, and members of the Bosnian Serb MUP"); Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1409 (finding that 
the "plurality of persons" requirement was met with the identification of categories or groups and the naming of the 
appellants as participants in the JCE); Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, para. 150 (finding no error in the 
description that the JCE members were "'political leaders' , 'persons of authority within the military, the Interahamwe, 
and the territorial administration', and 'influential businessmen'" as some members of these groups were identified by 
name in other findings). Contra Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 157. 
4871 See Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 231. 
4872 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1410. 
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1523. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has not demonstrated that 

the Trial Chamber erred in law in the manner in which it identified the members of the JCE. StojiC's 

ground of appeal 7 is thus dismissed. 

7. Alleged errors in finding that Stojic made a significant contribution to the JCE in general 

(StojiC's Ground 27) 

1524. In concluding that Stojic made a significant contribution to the implementation of the 

CCP,4873 the Trial Chamber found, inter alia, that he: (1) commanded, controlled, and had 

"effective control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police;4874 (2) was the link 'between the 

HZ(R) H-B Government and the HVO and the Military Police;487.5 (3) controlled the human and 
) 

financial resources of the HVO and their 10gistics;4876 and (4) was in charge of the logistical and 

staffing needs of the Military Police.4877 Furthermore, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic "used the 

armed forces and the Military Police to commit crimes that were part of the common criminal 

purpose,,4878 and that their actions were attributable to him.4879 Stojic submits that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he 'significantly contributed to the CCP in genera1.4880 

(a) Alleged legal errors in the application of JCE liability (StojiC's Sub-ground 27.1, in part) 

1525. Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously based its findings that he significantly 

contributed to the JCE on a finding that he had "effective control" over the HVO and the Military 

Police.4881 He argues that "effective control" is not directly relevant for an analysis of his 

contribution, and thus the Trial Chamber blurred the tests for superior responsibility and JCE 

liability.4882 He avers that this resulted in a "lower threshold" by establishing his criminal 

responsibility without considering whether he significantly contributed to the crimes or had control 

over specific perpetrators.4883 

1526. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not blur the tests for superior 

responsibility and JCE or consider effective control at the expense of determining Stojic's 

4873 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. See supra, para. 568. 
4874 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 320, 425, 429. 
4875 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425, 429. 
4876 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308,312. 
4877 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 317,320. 
4878 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4879 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4880 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 231-232. 
4881 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. 
4882 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. 
4883 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. 
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significant contribution,4884 and avers that it was unnecessary for the Trial Chamber to decide 

whether he controlled specific perpetrators.4885 

1527. The Trial Chamber found that Stojic commanded and had "effective control" over the HVO 

and Military Police.4886 After making this determination, the Trial Chamber proceeded to analyse 

the extent to which Stojic contributed to the commission of the crimes perpetrated by the HVO and 

the Military Police in the various municipalities and detention centres,4887 as well as his denial of 

crimes and his failure to prevent crimes and punish the perpetrators.4888 The' Trial Chamber, in its 

conclusions, considered that Stojic: (1) had powers over the HVO and the Military Police, which he 

exercised;4889 (2) continued to exercise "effective control" after being informed of crimes;4890 and 

(3) made no serious effort to stop the commission of crimes.4891 

1528. The Appeals Chamber first considers that nothing prevented the Trial Chamber from 

considering StojiC's "effective control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police as a factor in 

determining whether his contribution to the JCE was significant.4892 In this regard, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that although authority or control over principal perpetrators "is not a necessary 

element to establish JCE liability", it is "one of the various factors that a chamber may take into 

account in determining whether crimes of principal perpetrators were linked with the accused".4893 

Notably, the Trial Chamber considered that Stojic "controlled the HVO armed forces and the 

Military Police" and "used the armed forces and the Military Police to commit crimes that were part 

of the common criminal purpose",4894 before concluding that the actions of the HVO and the 

Military Police were attributable to him.4895 Thus, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's 

contention that "effective control" is not directly relevant to a finding on his significant 

contribution. 

1529. Further, in addition to his role in linking the HZ(R) H-B Government with its military 

component and his participation in military operations,4896 the Trial Chamber considered that 

StojiC's intent and significant contribution stemmed from the fact that he made no serious efforts to 

4884 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 197. 
4885 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 197-198. 
4886 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312,320. 
4887 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 326-407. 
4888 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 408-423. 
4889 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 425. 
4890 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. 
4891 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. 
4892 See, e.g., DOl'devic Appeal Judgement, para. 264. See also supra, para. 1410. 
4893 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1520 (emphasis in original). 
4894 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4895 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
4896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-426. 
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stop the commission of crimes despite having power over the HVO and the Military Police.4897 In 

this regard, an accused's shared intent and contribution to a lCE can be inferred from his control 

and command authority over the perpetrators and his failure to intervene in order to stop or punish 

the crimes committed pursuant to the CCP.4898 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to 

show that the Trial Chamber "blurred the tests for command responsibility and lCE,,4899 or erred by 

considering his command authority and powers over the HVO and the Military Police as factors 

establishing his significant contribution. 

1530. To the extent that Stojic argues .that the Trial Chamber relied on his "effective control" in 

assessing his significant contribution without first determining his control over specific perpetrators 

and thus his ability to prevent or punish their crimes,4900 the Appeals Chamber recalls that "lCE 

liability does not require, as a constitutive element, the failure of an accused to punish subordinates' 

crimes despite his knowledge thereof,.4901 Since the Trial Chamber convicted Stojic as a participant 

in a lCE and not as a superior pursuant to Article 7(3) of the Statute, all it had to establish was his 

significant contribution to the lCE. However, the Appeals Chamber also notes that a failure to 

intervene to prevent recurrence of crimes or to halt abuses has been taken into account in assessing 

an accused's contribution to a joint criminal enterprise and his intent "where the accused had some 

power and influence" or authority over the perpetrators sufficient to prevent or halt the abuses but 

failed to exercise such power".4902 Accordingly, once it established that Stojic had command 

authority over the HVO and the Military Police in general and assessed that his failure to use it to 

prevent or punish crimes in general amounted, along with other factors, to a significant contribution 

to the lCE, it was unnecessary also to find that he controlled the specific perpetrators of specific 

crimes such that he was able to punish them or prevent their crimes.4903 Therefore, Stojic fails to 

show that the Trial Chamber applied a "lower threshold" in considering his significant contribution. 

1531. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 27.1 

as it relates to the Trial Chamber's consideration of his command authority over the HVO and the 

Military Police in determining his significant contribution to the ICE. 

4897 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425, 427-429. 
4898 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1242. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1233, 1237. 
4899 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. 
4900 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. The Appeals Chamber will consider StojiC's challenges regarding his 
si

81
nificant contribution to specific crimes below. See il~fra, paras 1551-1748. 

491 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1237. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1233. 
4902 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 111, 734. 
4903 See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1256-1257 ("Close cooperation between a principal perpetrator and a 
JCE member, including the accused, is but one of various factors from which a chamber may infer that a crime formed 
part of the common purpose and is thus imputable to JCE members" and "it is not a prerequisite for imputing the crime 
to JCE members"). Cf Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1237 (considering Nebojsa PavkoviC's argument that his 
knowledge of specific crimes was not established and finding that his general knowledge of crimes and failure to 
intervene etc., were correctly considered as evidence of his intent and contribution to a JCE). 
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(b) Whether StojiC's assistance to military operations contributed to the JCE (StojiC's Sub­

ground 27.1 in part) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1532. Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber erred by considering the "general assistance" he 

provided to the military as significant contribution because such assistance had no direct link to the 

individual crimes and was not necessarily directed at furthering' a JCE.4904 Specifically, Stojic 

argues that the Trial Chamber failed to assess whether any of his orders contributed to the crimes, 

and that his logistical support cannot amount to a contribution to the commission of specific 

crimes.4905 Stojic also submits that logistical assistance and arranging finance for the armed forces 

are too equivocal and remote to find that he furthered a JCE.4906 

1533. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings on StojiC's significant 

contribution were reasonable, and that his conduct was not "general assistance" .'4907 It argues that 

the Trial Chamber considered StojiC's control of finances and logistical resources in addition to 

other factors, such as the orders he issued.4908 

(ii) Analysis 

1534. Stojic argues that his "general assistance" to the military did not further the JCE. The 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber analysed StojiC's conduct in detail,4909 and did not 

classify his activities as only "general assistance", but rather concluded that he, inter alia: 

(1) played a fundamental role in the establishment and the organisation of the HVO and took part in 

formulating the defence policy;4910 (2) was regularly informed about the HVO military operations 

and Military Police activities and was in charge of keeping the Government infonned;4911 (3) issued 

orders directly to the HV04912 and had the authority to issue orders to the Chief of the Military 

Police Administration, including orders directly linked to operations on the ground, such as orders 

4904 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 233-234, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
Earas 231, 242. 

905 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 235. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 68. 
4906 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 68. 
4907 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 196. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 195. The 
Prosecution lists, as examples, StojiC's planning and/or facilitating of HVO operations, his hindrance of the delivery of 
humanitarian aid to the civilian population of East Mostar, and his encouragement to perpetrators to continue 
cOmmitting crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 196. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 324-325 
(21 Mar 2017). 
4908 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 197. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 325-327 (21 Mar 2017). 
4909 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 298,305,312,320,324,337,348-349,355,357,372, 380, 415-418, 420, 
423, 425-427, 429, 1220. 
4910 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 298-299, 312. See supra, paras 1509-1513. 
4911 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300, 312, 318, 320. See supra, paras 1418, 1473-1478. 
4912 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306, 312. See supra, paras 1427-1435. 

627 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23268



on resubordination;4913 (4) had the authority to designate persons to represent the HVO in ceasefire 

negotiations, and personally represented the Government in peace negotiations;4914 (5) reorganised 

the Military Police and appointed its most senior officers;4915 and (6) planned or facilitated the HVO 

military operations in Gornji Vakuf, Mostar, and Vares,4916 and was involved in organising and 

conducting the eviction campaigns in West Mostar.4917 Further, in arriving at its findings, the Trial 

Chamber considered, and rejected, StojiC's arguments at trial that his role was solely administrative 

and logistical, and that he had no command or control authority over the armed forces. 4918 Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber is not convinced by StojiC's mischaracterisation of his contribution, which is 

merely an attempt to minimise his involvement with the HVO and the Military Police. Nonetheless, 

the Appeals Chamber recalls that the administrative and logistical roles played by Stojic were 

considered, among others, by the Trial Chamber in its determination of whether he commanded and 

had "effective control" over the HVO and the Military Police.4919 

1535. Further, with respect to Stojic's submission that his logistical assistance did not have a 

direct link to individual crimes, the Appeals Chamber notes that the jurisprudence of the Tribunal 

does not require a direct link between an accused's contribution and crimes as the accused does not 

have to contribute to a specific crime in order to be held responsible for it4920 and because a 

contribution to a JCE may take the form of contribution to the execution of a common criminal 

purpose.4921 Therefore, Stojic fails to demonstrate an error regarding whether his "general 

assistance" was directly linked to crimes as this is unnecessary for JCE liability. His arguments are 

dismissed. 

1536. Regarding StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to evaluate whether his orders 

contributed to' the crimes, the Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic had de facto command over the 

HVO and the Military Police which extended beyond financial and logistical powers.4922 In support 

of his argument, Stojic relies on the Trial Chamber's findings that he issued orders on 

"mobilisations, troop movements, reorganisation of units, assignment of reinforcements, free 

4913 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 314-315, 320. See supra, paras 1470-1472. 
4914 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 311-312, 324. See supra, paras 1456, 1503-1506. 
4915 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 319-320. See supra, paras 1465-1467. 
4916 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 334-335, 337, 348, 380-381. See infra, paras 1579-1580, 1605, 1611, 1598, 1654-
1625, 1703. 
4917 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 355,357. See infra, paras 1617-1653. 
4918 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 557,563,565, Vol. 4, paras 295, 312, 320. See supra, paras 1401-1412. 
4919 See supra, paras 1409-1412. 
4920 See Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 263; Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, paras 109, 153. 

,4921 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695 (internal references omitted). See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 1378; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 987. 

922 See supra, paras 1429-1432, 1457, 1468-1472, 1479. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 235, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306,314. 
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movement of convoys and ceasefires".4923 However, while some of StojiC's orders may be 

considered logistical, the Trial Chamber also found that he issued operational orders, such as those 

concerning the detention centres,4924 Military Police checkpoints,4925 and the redeployment and 

resubordination of Military Police units.4926 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber notes, as examples, 

that Stojic ordered: (1) all HVO units in the South-East OZ to "eliminate" the Muslim troops in the 

area;4927 (2) a commanding officer to allow the passage of UNPROFOR convoys in Central Bosnia 

OZ on 23 February 1993;4928 and (3) Miro Andric, a colonel in the Main Staff, to capture the Gornji 

Vakuf area by the use of force, which resulted in crimes.4929 The Appeals Chamber is therefore 

satisfied that the Trial Chamber implicitly considered that StojiC's orders, whether logistical or 

operational, contributed to the commission of the crimes. Thus, StojiC's de facto command over the 

HVO and the Military Police was not based only on the logistical or financial orders that he 

issued.493o Regardless, considering the above,4931 StojiC does not demonstrate that his "logistical 

support cannot amount to a contribution to the commission of specific crimes",4932 or that this 

assistance was "too remote".4933 The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses StojiC's arguments in 

this regard. 

1537. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate 

that the Trial Chamber erred in considering his logistical assistance to the military operations as a 

factor establishing his significant contribution. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses StojiC's 

sub-ground of appeal 27.1 in part. 

4923 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 235, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306, 314. 
4924 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4925 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 316. 
4926 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 965, Vol. 4, paras 315, 320. 
4927 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305. 
4928 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 795. 
4929 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330, 334, referring to Ex. 4D00348. In addition, the Trial Chamber found, inter alia, 
that Stojic: (1) ordered a general mobilisation and imposed a curfew in all municipalities of HZ H-B (see Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 884); (2) ordered all the HZ H-B MUP military units in Mostar to be re-subordinated on 
2 July 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 703); and (3) issued orders directly to the HVO, including for the 
immediate halt of offensive operations against the ABiH in April 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 562, referring 
to Ex. P02093). See infra, paras 1562-1569. . 
4930 See supra, paras 1414-1415, 1418, 1422-1423, 1456-1457, 1468, 1473-1479. Stojic: (1) was involved in military 
operations in central BiH (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306); (2) was regularly informed of the military operations 
conducted by the armed forces and in turn informed the Governrnentaccordingly (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 306); and (3) sent military-related Government decisions through the military chain of command (see Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312). 
4931See supra, paras 1534-1536. 
4932 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 235. See supra, paras 1401-1412. 
4933 See supra, para. 1532. 
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(c) Whether Stojic's role as a link between the armed forces and the Government contributed to 

the JCE (StojiC's Sub-ground 27.2 in part) 

1538. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he formed a link between the HVO and 

the Government could not "in itself establish that he made a significant contribution to crimes", 

since this link was "not inherently unlawful".4934 Stojic also contends that linking the civilian 

government with the military is too equivocal and remote to support a finding that he furthered a 

JCE.4935 

1539. The Prosecution responds that StojiC translated Government decisions into ground-level 

action4936 and thus used his link between HVO and the Government to plan the crimes.4937 

1540. The Trial Chamber found that Stojic was the link between the civilian government of the 

HZ(R) H-B and the HVO military component.4938 It considered that "Stojic took decisions related to 

military operations and had them implemented through the armed forces' chain of command, 

forwarded HVO [Government] decisions down the chain of command and made proposals to the 

HVO [Government] about military matters which were then approved by that collective body".4939 

1541. Regarding StojiC's submission that the link itself cannot amount to significant contribution, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber analysed evidence on how Stojic used his role as 

a "link" to further the JCE. These activities included his participation in approximately 40 HVO 

Government sessions and meetings, which involved discussions and decision-making on the 

military situation on the ground, the mobilisation of the HVO, and the situation in the detention 

centres.4940 Stojic also received reports on the military operations and informed the Government 

about the situation on the ground thus facilitating the decision-making process.4941 These decisions 

were then forwarded by Stojic to the Main Staff and the Military Police for implementation.4942 

Furthermore, the Trial Chamber also found that Stojic played a fundamental role in the 

4934 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 238. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 237. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 231, 
242; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 68. 
4935 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 68. 
4936 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 199. The Prosecution lists several of Stojic's activities, such as his 
enforcement of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum and his participation in the planning of indiscriminate arrests of Muslim 
males. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic)~ para. 199. 
4937 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 200. The Prosecution argues that "it makes no difference whether 
StojiC's link between the Government and armed forces/MP was 'inherently unlawful"'. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 200. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 195. 
4938 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425,429. 
4939 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 425. See Trial, Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 297, 300, 304, 312. See also supra, 
Pcaras 1418-1419, 1422-1423. 

940 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297. See supra, paras 1418, 1509-1513. 
4941 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. Notably, Stojic informed the Government about the consequences of the 
implementation of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum as well as the military situation in Vares on 4 November 1993. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. See supra, paras 1418, 1422-1423. 
4942 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304. See supra, paras 1422-1423. 
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establishment and organisation of the HVO,4943 and had the authority to make appointments in 

HVO brigades up to the level of deputy brigade commanders and assistant commanders for 

security.4944 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded that he used his role to ensure that Government decisions were 

communicated to the HVO and Military Police and implemented, thus furthering the ICE. 

Likewise, Stojic fails to show that his role as a link between the Government and the HVO military 

component was "too remote". 

1542. In light of the above, Stojic's sub-ground of appeal 27.2 is dismissed in part. 

(d) Whether Stojic used the HVO and Military Police to commit crimes (Stojic's Sub­

grounds 27.2 (in part) and 27.3) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1543. Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber en-ed by finding that he used the HVO and the 

Military Police to commit crimes that were part of the CCP.4945 Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber 

erred by finding that all the actions of the HVO and Military Police were attributable to him as it 

f~iled to articulate a legal basis for its conclusion.4946 He argues that the Trial Chamber thus 

imposed a form of superior responsibility without establishing t~at he controlled the direct 

perpetrators of any specific crimes.4947 According to Stojic, the Trial Chamber did not cite any 

evidence in support nor explain how he used these forces to commit crimes.4948 He also argues that 

the Trial Chamber's finding was inconsistent with other findings that he was not in the military 

chain of command and only issued logistical orders.4949 Stojic further avers that the Trial Chamber 

failed to analyse each Appellant's significant contribution individually as it used identical language 

in relation to him, Praljak, and Petkovic without distinguishing between the functions and powers of 

civilian leaders and military generals.495o 

1544. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable, and refers to 

findings on StojiC's involvement in HVO operations.4951 The Prosecution submits that it was 

irrelevant that Stojic Was not de jure within the military chain of command because of his ability to 

4943 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 299. See supra, paras 1414-1415. 
4944 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 303. See supra, paras 1409, 1465-1467. 
4945 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 240, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
Earas 231, 242. 

946 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 239. 
4947 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 239. 
4948 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. 
4949 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 240, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4950 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 241. 
4951 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 202. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 195. 
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issue orders to the HVO and Military Police beyond logistical matters and his "effective control" 

over them.4952 It also submits that the crimes were correctly attributed to Stojic because he used the 

HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes within the CCP.4953 The Prosecution argues that the 

Trial Chamber did not impose a form of superior responsibility, and that authority or control over 

the principal perpetrators is not a necessary element of JCE liability.4954 It argues that the Trial 

Chamber's findings on Praljak and Petkovic show that Stojic and "his fellow JCE members" 

worked together to further the CCP.4955 

(ii) Analysis 

1545. In relation to StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber erroneously attributed all actions of 

the HVO and the Military Police to him,4956 the Appeals Chamber observes that Stojic does not 

address the Trial Chamber's relevant findings. Notably, the Trial Chamber found that StojiC: 

(1) commanded and had "effective control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police;4957 

(2) planned or facilitated various military operations involving these aImed forces;4958 and (3) made 

no serious effort to prevent or punish the commission of crimes by these armed forces. 4959 The Trial 

Chamber also concluded that Stojic and other JCE members used the HVO and the Military Police 

to commit crimes forming part of the CCP.4960 The Appeals Chamber recalls that under JCE 

liability, once it is established that an accused participated in a JCE,4961 "he is appropriately held 

liable also for those actions of other JCE members, or individuals used by them, that further the 

common criminal purpose (first category of JCE) [ ... J, or that are a natural and foreseeable 

consequence of the carrying out of this crime (third category of JCE)".4962 Further, as the Trial 

Chamber did correctly set out the law on the actus reus for participation in a JCE,4963 Stojic's 

assertion that the Trial Chamber failed to articulate a legal basis for attributing to him the actions of 

the HVO and the Military Police is without merit.4964 Therefore, Stojic fails to demonstrate that the 

4952 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 202. 
4953 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 201. 
4954 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 201, referring to Sa'inovie et al, Appeal Judgement, para, 1520. 
4955 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 203. ' 
4956 See supra, para. 1543. 
4957 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312,320,425. See supra, paras 1457, 1479. 
4958 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 337,357,378,383,426, 1220. 
4959 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 423,427. See supra, paras 1480, 1491, 1494-1495, 1498-1499. 
4960 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 429, 1232. 
4961 See Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 429-430; Stakie Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Tadie Appeal Judgement, 
p,ara.227. ' 
962 Martie Appeal Judgement, para. 172. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1520; Brdanin Appeal 

Judgement, para. 431. 
4963 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212. The Trial Chamber specifically noted that "for a participant in a JCE to be held 
responsible for a crime committed by a person outside of the JCE, it is necessary to prove that the crime may be 
imputed to one of the members of the JCE" and that "such person - utilising the direct perpetrator of the crime - acted 
in furtherance of the common plan". Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212(1). 
4964 ' See supra, para. 1543. 
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Trial Chamber erred in law by concluding that the actions of the HVO and the Military Police were 

attributable to him. His arguments are dismissed. 

1546. Regarding StojiC's assertion that there is no evidentiary basis for the Trial Chamber's 

finding that he used the HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes that were part of the 

CCP,4965 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber made numerous findings establishing 

his role and power in relation to these armed forces. Specifically, the Trial Chamber found that, 

inter alia, Stojic: (1) planned and facilitated the HVO military operations, and was informed of the 

crimes committed, in Gomji Vakuf,4966 Mostar,4967 West Mostar,4968 Capljina,4969 and Vares;4970 

(2) facilitated the hindering of the delivery of humanitarian aid to the civilian popUlation in East 

Mostar; 4971 (3) praised the direct perpetrators of crimes thus accepting and encouraging the 

crimes;4972 and (4) allowed perpetrators within the HVO and the Military Police to continue 

committing crimes by failing to punish them.4973 The Appeals Chamber considers that, on the basis 

of these findings, a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that Stojic used both the HVO and the 

Military Police under his control to commit the crimes that were part of the CCP. The Appeals 

Chamber also observes that, in making these findings, the Trial Chamber referred extensively to 

evidence, both exhibits and witness testimony.4974 Recalling that a Trial Judgement must be read as 

whole,4975 the fact that the Trial Chamber did not cite evidence in its conc1usion,4976 which is based 

on its prior analysis, is not indicative of an error. 

1547. Notably, Stojic does not challenge the Trial Chamber's findings on the principal 

perpetrators of the crimes in this ground of appeal, but disputes his "use" of them. Specifically, in 

arguing that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that all the actions of the HVO and the Military 

Police were attributable to him, Stojic ignores that the crinies falling within the JCE are attributable 

4965 See supra, para. 1543. 
4966 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 337. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330, 334-335, referring to, inter alia, 
Exs. 4D00348, P01206, P01357, P01351, Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 40689-40690 (26 May 2009). See infra, paras 1561, 
1565-1569, 1572-1575, 1578-1579. 
4967 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344-349, referring to, inter alia, Witness A, T(F). 14009 (closed session) 
(13 Feb 2007), Exs. P01868, P04238 (44:22-44:52). See infra, paras 1598, 1601-1605, 1608-1611,1614-1598. 
4968 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 354-355, referring to Ex. P10367 (confidential), paras 33, 69. See infra, paras 1617, 
1621-1625, 1628-1631, 1633-1637, 1646-1649, 1652, 1654-1655, 1658-1661, 1664-1667. 
4969 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 375. See infra, paras 1681-1688, 1691-1696. 
4970 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-383, referring to Exs. P06219, P06267, P06307, P06328, P06339, P06362. See 
infra, paras 1701-1703, 1707-1711. 
4971 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1227-1244, Vol. 4, para. 372, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09712 (confidential), 
para. 64, P03900 (confidential), p. 2, Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20453-20454, 20457 (25 June 2007). See infra, 
Earas 1670-1674. 

972 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 416-420 (referring to Exs. P02770, P04401 (confidyntial), pp. 4-5, P05303) 423. See 
sllfira, paras 1480, 1485-1491, 1494-1495, 1498-1500. 
493 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 410-415. See infra, paras 1628-1625. 
4974 See supra, fns 4966-4971. 
4975 Stanish! and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; 
MrkSic and Sijivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. See Kaiimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
4976 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. 
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to him once it is proven that he or other JCE members used the principal perpetrators to commit 

these crimes.4977 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, for each of the crime sites, the 

Trial Chamber identified a link between the specific group or unit of the HVO and Military Police 

involved in crimes and at least one JCE member,4978 and at times, Stojic himself.4979 The Appeals 

Chamber recalls that the link between the underlying crime or physical perpetrator in question and a 

JCE member can be inferred from various factors, including "evidence that the JCE member 

explicitly or implicitly requested the non-JCE member to commit such a crime or instigated, 

ordered, encouraged, or otherwise availed himself of the non-JCE member to commit the 

crime".4980 Considering the above,4981 Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber's finding that he, 

and other JCE members, used the HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes has no evidentiary 

basis. Similarly, StojiC's contention that the Trial Chamber imposed a form of superior 

responsibility without establishing that he controlled the direct perpetrators is dismissed,4982 as his 

control over the perpetrators is not a requirement under JCE liability. 

1548. Concerning StojiC's assertion that the Trial Chamber's findings are inconsistent,4983 the 

Appeals Chamber notes that, although the Trial Chamber found that Stojic was not de jure part of 

the military chain of command,4984 he nevertheless had command and "effective control" over the 

HVO and the Military Police based on his de facto powers.4985 Further, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses elsewhere StojiC's arguments concerning the logistical nature of his orders.4986 Thus, 

Stojic fails to demonstrate that there is any inconsistency concerning the Trial Chamber's findings. 

Regarding StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber used identical language in its findings on 

Praljak's and PetkoviC's significant contribution, the Appeals Chamber notes that similar language 

was used in the concluding paragraphs.4987 However, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

4977 See supra, para. 1545. . 
4978 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras·558, 562 (Praljak in Gornji Vakuf), 694, 699 (Petkovie in Prozor), 711-724 
(Petkovie in Jablanica), 928 (Corie in West Mostar), 1147, 1151 (Pusie in relation to the Heliodrom), 1220 (the 
Af,pellants' involvement in planning, facilitating, or conducting military operations). 
49 9 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 334-337 (Gornji Vakuf), 354-355, 357 (West Mostar), 363, 368-370, 372 
(East Mostar), 378 (Capljina), 380-383 (Vares), 395 (the Heliodrom), 396 (Ljubuski Prison), 407 (Dretelj Prison and 
Gabela Prison). For example, the Trial Chamber found that Stojie: (1) ordered Miro Andric, a colonel in the Main Staff, 
to capture the Gornji Vakuf area by the use of force, and crimes were committed during this operation (see Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330, 334; infra, paras 1565-1569); (2) was actively involved in eviction campaigns in West 
Mostar, with evidence that he ordered that "people" be evicted from their homes and their houses burned by HVO 
members (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 354-357; infra, paras 1621-1618); and (3) controlled the HVO snipers in 
East Mostar (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 368-370; infra, paras 1664-1667). 
4980 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1050, quoting Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 226. Se~ Sainovic et al. 
AEpeal Judgement, paras 1257, 1259. 
491 See supra, paras 1545-1547, fns 4978-4979. 
4982 See supra, para. 1543. 
4983 See supra, para. 1543. 
4984 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
4985 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312,320. See supra, paras 1427-1428, 1457, 1479. 
4986 See supra, paras 1409-1412, 1419, 1423, 1427, 1467, 1534, 1536. 
4987 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 427, 429,626,628,816,818. 
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relevant distinctions were made in the detailed analysis on each Appellant's participation in the JCE 

and their responsibility under JCE liability,4988 particularly with regard to their functions and 

powers.4989 StojiC's argument is thus dismissed as unmeritorious. 

1549. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have concluded on the basis of the evidence that he, and other JCE members, used the HVO 

and Military Police to commit crimes pursuant to the CCP, and that the actions of these armed 

forces are attributable to him. StojiC's sub-grounds of appeal 27.2, in part, and 27.3 are dismissed. 

(e) Conclusion 

1550. Based on the foregoing, StojiC's ground of appeal 27 is dismissed. 

8. Alleged errors concerning StojiC's involvement in crimes committed in the municipalities and 

detention centres 

(a) Prozor Municipality and Ljubuski Prison (StojiC's Ground 28) 

155l. The Trial Chamber found that Stojic was infOlmed on 13 July 1993 that detained men, 

including prisoners of war, but also men who did not belong to any armed force, were relocated 

from Prozor Secondary School to Ljubuski Prison. It further found that since Stojic continued to 

exercise his functions, the only reasonable inference was that he accepted the detention of men not 

belonging to any armed force at Ljubuski Prison in July 1993.4990 Notably, in reaching this 

conclusion the Trial Chamber relied on one report from Zeljko Siljeg to Stojic and Petkovic on 

13 July 1993 ("Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993,,).4991 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1552. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have arrived at the Trial Chamber's 

finding on his knowledge on the basis of Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993.4992 He asserts that because 

this report was found to be insufficient to establish PetkoviC's knowledge of the detentions, it was 

equally insufficient regarding his own knowledge of those detentions.4993 Stojic also argues that the 

only relevant paragraph in Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 does not support the inference that he 

4988 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 299-424, 469-623, 657-8l3, 
4989 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 299-325, 469-511, 657-686. 
4990 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329,396. 
4991 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329,396, referring to Ex. P03418, p. 4. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 149. 
4992 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 244. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 243,248. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 
4993 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 244, refening to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 799. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 361-362 
(21 Mar 2017). Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber concluded the opposite with regard to Petkovic and that its 
inconsistency is "unjustifiable". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 244. 
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knew about the detention of civilians.4994 Furthermore, Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber erred 

by inferring that he accepted the detention of civilians at Ljubuski Prison because, inter alia, he had 

no personal responsibility for this detention ceiltre.4995 He also contends that he did not have the 

authority to intervene which is shown by the fact that Petkovic responded to Siljeg without copying 

Stojic.4996 Stojic avers that "the receipt of a single report relating to detentions at a facility outside 

of [his] control, which was being addressed by [the] Main Staff', cannot amount to a significant 

contribution t6 the .relevant crime. 4997 

1553. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable,4998 and that it 

correctly classified the "men who did not belong to any armed force" as civilians.4999 The 

Prosecution submits that given StojiC's role in planning the indiscriminate arrests, he knew that 

Muslim men who did not belong to any armed force had been arrested.50oo It argues that it is 

irrelevant that Petkovic did not copy Stojic in his response to Siljeg,5001 and that the. Trial 

Chamber's inconsistent finding on PetkoviC's knowledge based on Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 

does not impact on StojiC's conviction.5oo2 

(ii) Analysis 

1554. Regarding StojiC's argument that Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 does not support the 

inference that he knew about the detention of civilians, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber considered that, through Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, Stojic and Petkovic were 

informed that Siljeg "had relocated detainees - mostly prisoners of war, but also some 'civilians'" 

from Prozor Secondary School to Ljubuski Prison.5003 Notably, this report states only that Siljeg 

had requested a reply "regarding relocating Muslims vlo Iliable for military servicel from Rama to 

4994 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 245, referring to Ex. P03418, para. 13. Stojic also submits that Siljeg's Report of 
13 July 1993 did not inform him that individuals were detained at Ljubuski Prison, but indicated that their 
accommodation was "unclear". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 246. 
4995 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 247. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 248. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 
4996 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 247, referring to Ex. P03455, para. 12. 
4997 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 248. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 249. Stojic replies that it was not established that 
he saw Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993. StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 
4998 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 206-207, 209. 
4999 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 207, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 951-952, 
1001-1002, Vol. 4, para. 329, Exs. P03380, P03971. 
5000 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 206-207, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 57, 
151-155,953,973,984,996, 1220. The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably found from Siljeg's 
Report of 13 July 1993 that detainees were taken to Ljubuski Prison and then sent to Dretelj Prison. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 209. 
5001 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 210. The Prosecution further submits that the HVO and the Military 
Police operating in Ljubuski Prison were under StojiC's control and that he was found to have issued detention-related 
orders. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 211, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 320. The 
Prosecution also asserts that, regardless of his authority over Ljubuski Prison, Stojic planned the arrests of Muslims 
detained there. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 212. 
5002 Prosecution's Response Brief (StojiC), para. 208. 
5003 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329,396, referring to Ex. P03418, p. 4. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 149. 
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Herzegovina",5004 and that "there was no reply until we had, on our own initiative, driven them into 

Ljubuski".5005 On reviewing the exhibit, the Appeals Chamber considers that Siljeg's Report of 

13 July 1993, neither includes an explicit reference to civilians, nor sufficient information about the 

detainees to conclude that Stojic knew that Siljeg was referring to the relocation of "civilians". In 

addition, there is no reference in the report to the Prozor Secondary School, but only the statement 

that the persons referred to were transported from Rama to Herzegovina.5oo6 The Appeals Chamber 

notes, however, that the Trial Chamber considered that Prozor Municipality was also called 

"Rama".5007 Considering the above, the exhibit - on its face - only speaks to the relocation of 

Muslims "liable for military service" from Prozor Municipality to Ljubuski.5oo8 

1555. The Appeals Chamber takes particular note of the fact that the Trial Chamber made no 

finding that the phrase "Muslims liable for military service" necessarily denoted "men who did not 

belong to any armed force". Thus, the phrase is not sufficient - by itself - to conclude that at least 

some of these men and boys did not belong to any armed force. 5oo9 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded from Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 

alone that the only reasonable inference was that Stojic had been informed about the detention of 

"civilians" or "men and boys who did not belong to any armed force" in Prozor Municipality or 

L· b vki P . 5010 1U us nson. 

1556. On whether Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 read together with the Trial Chamber's other 

findings could support the inference that Stojic knew of detentions, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber also referred to its previous factual findi~gs when arriving at its conclusion on 

StojiC's knowledge.50ll The section of the Trial Judgement on Prozor Secondary School outlines 

evidence that: (1) in the summer of 1993, between 400 and 500 people were held at Prozbr 

Secondary School;5012 (2) most of the detainees were Muslim men who were members of the 

TO/ABiH and between 16 and 60 years of age;5013 (3) there were seven detainees under 16 years of 

5004 Ex. P03418, para. 13, p. 4. 
5005 Ex. P03418, para. 13, p. 4. 
5006 E 4 x. P03418, para. 13, p. . 
5007 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 5 ("Prozor, which means 'window' and is also called Rama, is the entry point from 
Herzegovina into Central Bosnia"). The Appeals Chamber also notes that the "Military Prison of the Rama Brigade" 
was "[t]he official name of the [Prozor] Secondary School as a detention facility". Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 138. 
5008 See Ex. P03227 (an order from Siljeg referring to the Prozor area as "Rama"). 
5009 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 146, Vol. 4, para. 799. 
5010 See infra, paras 2150, 2154-2156 (discussing Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, the Appeals Chamber found that "it is 
not satisfied that a reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inference, that Petkovic knew 
that men who did not belong to any armed force were being detained at the Prozor Secondary School and were 
transferred to Ljubuski Prison in July 1993", see infra, para. 2155). . 
5011 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329, 396 & fns 764,857, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 145-156, 1800-
1818. 
5012 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 145. 
5013 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 146, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09731 (confidential), pp. 4-5, P09197, p. 11, 
P03266,P09925,p.3. 
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age and 40 detainees over 60 years of age, "who did not belong to any anned force,,;50l4 and 

(4) 237 detainees, described as "not prisoners of war", were moved to Ljubuski Prison.50l5 

However, the Appeals Chamber observes that the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber in its 

discussion only shows that there were men who did not belong to any armed force detained at 

Prozor Secondary School, but not that Stojic had been infonned of this detention, and particularly, 

that civilians or men and boys who did not belong to any armed force were detained and 

relocated.50l6 

1557. Furthennore, in the Trial Chamber's analysis of the evidence on the arrival and transfer of 

detainees of Ljubuski Prison no mention is made of Stojic or his knowledge of events in the factual 

findings or in the evidence cited.5017 On a broader scale, the Trial Chamber did not refer to any 

involvement by Stojic in the events taking place in Ljubuski Municipality or Ljubuski Prison.50lS 

Considering the above,50l9 the Appeals Chamber finds that even when reading the Trial Chamber's 

findings on the detention of civilians at Prozor Secondary School and Ljubuski Prison in 

conjunction with Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded 

that the only reasonable inference was that Stojic was informed of the detention and relocation of 

civilians or men and boys who did not belong to any armed force in Prozor Municipality and at 

Ljubuski Prison in July 1993. 

1558. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic was involved in planning some of the 

HVO's military operations, and more relevantly, planned and was infonned of the campaign of 

arrests and mass detentions of Muslims who did not belong to any armed force in ¢apljina.502o 

Elsewhere, the Appeals Chamber has noted the Trial Chamber's finding that following the 

30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation issued by, Stojic and Prlic "the chain of command was set in 

5014 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 146, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P09685, P09699, p. 2, P09722, p. 2, Witness BL, 
T(F). 5856.:5857, 5859-5860 (31 Aug 2006). 
5015 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 148, referring to, interalia, Exs. P03380, P09989, p. 5, P09925, p. 3, P03418. 
5016 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 145-156, fns 351-378, and evidence cited therein. Notably, the Trial Chamber 
referred to two reports of Luka Markesic from the SIS which state that "civilians" were among the detainees, but these 
reports were not sent to Stojic or the Department of Defence. Thus, neither of MarkesiC's reports establish that Stojic 
was informed of the detention of men and boys who did not belong to any armed force at Prozor Secondary School. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 148 (referring to Ex. P03380, p. 1), 152 (referring to Ex. P03971). 
5017 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1800-1818, and evidence cited therein. Specifically on the transfer of detainees 
from Prozor Municipality to Ljubuski Prison in July 1993, the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber does not give any 
indication that Stojic, or the Department of Defence, was informed of the detention and relocation of civilians or men 
and boys who did not belong to any armed force from Prozor Municipality. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1813, and 
evidence cited therein. 
5018 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1765-1878. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1768, 1774. Cf Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2, para. 1789 (the Prosecution argued at trial that Stojic, inter alios, was responsible for running Ljubuski Prison, 
however, the Trial Chamber made no finding on this issue). 
5019 See supra, paras 1554-1557, fns 5016-5017. 
5020 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 373-375, 1220 & fn. 2283. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151-152, 154,341-
342,388-389,397-398,406-407,953. See also infra, paras 1687-1688, 1696. 
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motion in order to arrest Muslims" in the municipalities of Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, and Prozor.5021 

However, the Trial Chamber made no findings on StojiC's involvement in the July 1993 events in 

Prozor and Ljubuski, other than the receipt of Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993.5022 Absent a 

determination that Stojic participated in planning, directing, or facilitating the July 1993 operations 

in Prozor and Ljubuski, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that a reasonable trier of fact could 

have concluded that the only reasonable inference was that StojiC was informed and knew of the 

detention of civilians or men and boys who did not belong to any armed force in Prozor 

Municipality and Ljubuski Prison. 

1559. In light of the above, the Trial Chamber also erred in concluding, as the only reasonable 

inference, that Stojic accepted the detention of men who did not belong to any .armed forces at 

Ljubuski Prison.5023 StojiC's argument on the Trial Chamber's erroneous reliance on Siljeg's Report 

of 13 July 1993 is granted. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that it is unnecessary to deal with 

StojiC's remaining arguments in tins regard, which are moot. 

(iii) Conclusion 

1560. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber grants StojiC's ground of appeal 28 in part, 

and reverses the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic was informed of the detention of civilians in 

Prozor and Ljubuski Prison based on Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, and that he accepted the 

detention of men who did not belong to any armed forces at Ljubuski Prison. The impact of this 

reversal of findings on StojiC's contribution to the JCE, mens rea, and convictions, if any, will be 

discussed in the relevant sections below.5024 

(b) Gomji VakufMunicipality (StojiC's Ground 29) 

1561. The Trial Chamber found that, on 18 January 1993, the HVO and the Military Police 

attacked Gomji Vakuf Municipality, which resulted in the destruction of Muslim houses, the 

murder and detention of Muslims who did not belong to any armed force, and the removal of 

women, children and the elderly from the area.5025 The Trial Chamber considered that, as Stojic sent 

Colonel Miro Andric to Gomji Vakuf who then reported to Stojic on the situation in Gomji Vakuf 

5021 See infra, para. 1687. 
5022 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329, 396. Cf infra, para. 1586 (noting StojiC's knowledge of a preconceived plan 
regarding events in Prozor in April 1993 following the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum). 
5023 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329, 396. 
5024 See infra, paras 1806-1807. 
5025 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 344-345, 347, 358, 368-369, 374, 381, Vol. 4, para. 331. The Appeals Chamber 
recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's finding that the killing of the seven civilians in Dusa amounted to 
murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the findings on these crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality and 
StojiC's conviction thereof. On the same basis, the Appeals Chamber considers elsewhere that no reasonable trier of fact 
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and Prozor in a report dated 27 January 1993 ("AndriC's Report"), the only reasonable inference it 

could draw was that Stojic was one of AndriC's superiors who ordered him to capture the Gornji 

Vakuf area by force. 5026 It also found that Stojic facilitated and closely followed the HVO 

operations in the area. 5027 The Trial Chamber further found that Stojic was aware of the reports sent 

by Zeljko Siljeg about the situation in Gomji Vakuf and was thus informed of the destruction of 

Muslim houses, the murder and detention of Muslim civilians, and the removal of inhabitants of the 

area by the HVO.5028 The Trial Chamber concluded that "inasmuch as Bruno Stojic planned and 

facilitated the HVO military operations in Gornji Vakuf in January 1993 and was informed of the 

crimes committed during the operations, he intended to commit those crimes".5029 

(i) Whether Stojic ordered Miro Andric to capture Gornji Vakuf by force (StojiC's Sub­

ground 29.1) 

1562. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was one of the superiors who 

ordered Andric to use force in Gomji Vakuf, and that this inference is not supported by AndriC's 

Report.503o He contends that this report shows that he ordered Andric to resolve the situation 

peacefully.5031 Further, Stojic submits that AndriC's Report is addressed to him personally, and as it 

uses his name when referring to his orders, "[i]t is inconceivable that later in the same document 

Andric would have referred to an order from Stojic as an order 'from our superiors' without 

identifying him by name".5032 Stojic also contends that Andric sending the report nine days after the 

attack, on 27 January 1993, would be "astonishing" if he was one of AndriC's superiors.5033 

1563. Stojic also submits that the Trial Chamber's finding is inconsistent with its findings on the 

military chain of command.5034 He contends that he was not part of the military chain of command 

could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. Thus, the 
following section will only focus on the remaining crimes committed in Gornji Vakuf. See supra, paras 441-443, 882. . 
5026 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 334. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 338, Vol. 4, para. 330. The Appeals Chamber 
notes that the Trial Chamber found that Andric's Report was sent to Stojic on 22 January 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 330, 334. However, it is clear from the. signature page of AndriC's Report that it was signed by Andric on 
27 January 1993. See Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 3. 
5027 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 335. 
5028 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 336. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-333. 
5029 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 337. 
5030 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 251-252, 255, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 334, Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, 
PtE. 1-2. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 356-358 (21 Mar 2017). 

31 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 252, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 356-357 
(21 Mar 2017). 
5032 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 252, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1. Stojic argues that there was a 
mistranslation as the order actually says "following a higher order" instead of "following an order from our superiors" 
which further distances him from the order. StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 637. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 358 
(21 Mar 2017). 
5033 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 252, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 3. 
5034 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 253. 
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and that he did not send direct combat orders.5035 Stojic argues that the usual chain of command, 

. which went through the Main Staff, was operational in Gomji Vakuf at the time.5036 In this regard, 

he contends that: (1) Andric was in the Main Staff and thus his reference to "our superiors" could 

not relate to Stojic;5037 (2) Praljak consulted with Andric on 15 or 16 January 1993 after AndriC's 

last evidenced contact with Stojic;5038 (3) on 16 January 1993, Praljak told the ABiH that they 

would be annihilated if they did not comply with the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum;5039 (4) on 

18 January 1993, Praljak ordered that weapons be sent to Gomji Vakuf;504o and (5) the order to 

cease combat operations came from Boban and was transmitted by Petkovic.5041 

1564. The Prosecution responds that the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber demonstrates 

that Andric acted under the authority of Stojic,5042 and argues that Andric: (1) managed the situation 

in Gomji Vakuf following a verbal order from Stojic;5043 (2) transmitted the order containing the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum from Petkovic, which was issued pursuant to an order from Stojic;5044 

and (3) reported to Stojic on the capture of Gomji Vakuf Municipality after the ABiH rejected the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum.5045 It argues that, although Andric indicated that he was sent on 

12 January 1993 to resolve the situation peacefully, "this is not inconsistent with the interpretation 

that Stojic later ordered Andric to use force after the HVO's demands had not been met".5046 It 

further argues that StojiC's argument that AndriC's Report identifies him by name whenever 

referencing him is flawed. 5047 The Prosecution contends that it is immaterial whether Stojic was in 

the de jure military chain of command and whether this chain of command functioned in Gomji 

Vakuf.5048 

5035 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 253, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 565, 791-796, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
5036 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 253-254. 
5037 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 253, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 338. 
5038 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 254, referring to Ex. P01174. 
5039 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 254, referring to Ex. P01162. 
5040 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 254, referring to Ex. P01202. 
5041 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 254, referring to Exs. ID00472, P01238, P01286. Stojic argues that a similar order was 
sent by Boban on 27 January 1993, and transmitted by Petkovic. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 254, referring to 
Exs. P01329, P01322. 
5042 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 215. . 
5043 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 215, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 338, Vol. 4, paras 330, 
334-335. 
5044 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 215, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 304. 
5045 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 215, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 341, 345, Vol. 4, 
Baras 45, 330, 334. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 327-328 (21 Mar 2017). 

046 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 216, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
Bara.334. 

047 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 217. 
5048 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 218. The Prosecution asserts that Praljak was also not de jure within the 
military chain of command in January 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 218. It also argues that Stojic 
ordered that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum be executed, sent Andric to manage the situation in Gornji Vakuf, and 
received and relayed reports on the situation to the Government. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 218, 
referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 338, Vol. 4, paras 127,304, 334-336. 
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1565. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber, relying on AndriC's Report, found that: 

(1) further to an oral order of 12 January 1993 from Stojic, Andric went to Prozor on 

13 January 1993 in order to calm down the situation in Gornji Vakuf Municipality;5049 and (2) on 

18 January 1993, Andric ordered the HVO forces in Gornji Vakuf to use force to ensure that the 

ABiH honoured the ceasefire agreement concluded on 13 January 1993 and that the HVO take 

Uzricje village so as to open a route to Gornji Vakuf.5050 The Appeals Chamber notes that in 

AndriC's Report, he stated that he arrived "in Prozor in the early morning hours of 13 January", 

familiarised himself with the situation, saw that the situation was tense and clashes were likely, and 

scheduled a meeting with representatives of the OS BH at the camp of UNPROFOR in Gornji 

Vakuf. 5051 Andric then reports that he arrived in Gornji Vakuf, that negotiations were very 

difficult,5052 and that "[d]uring the entire time between 13 January and 17 January 1993 we met 

several times in the UN camp and appealed to the OS BH". 5053 

1566. The Appeals Chamber further recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that on 16 January 1993, 

at a meeting between. representatives of the HVO and the ABiH, Andric transmitted the general 

subordination order issued by Petkovic the previous day - pursuant to the orders of Prlic and 

Stojic5054 - to the ABiH representatives, insisting on the subordination of all ABiH forces to the 

HVO.5055 The Trial Chamber found that on 16 and 17 January 1993, the ABiH rejected these 

subordination orders.5056 Moreover, following the HVO attack in Gornji Vakuf on 18 January 1993, 

Andric reported to Stojic on the operations. Based on this sequence of events and the related Trial 

Chamber findings, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber's 

inference - that he was one of AndriC's "superiors" who ordered the use of force - was not the only 

5049 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 337-338, Vol. 4, para. 330. 
5050 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330, 334, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 2 ("On 18 January 1993, following 
a higher order, it was decided to use force to exert pressure on the [ABiH] and to force them to honour what they had 
agreed, while the simultaneous taking of Uzricje would open a route to Gornji Valeuf."). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 124, 126. The Appeals Chamber notes that the authoritative translation of the exhibit reads as "following a higher 
order" instead of the phrase which was considered by the Trial Chamber, i.e. "following an order from our superiors". 
See Decision on PrliC's Motion to Replace Translation of Exhibits 4D00348 and 3D03065, 11 March 2015, p. 2. 
5051 Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1. . 
5052 Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1. 
5053 Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 2. The Appeals Chamber notes that in the section dealing with StojiC's responsibility, the 
Trial Chamber also found - recalling a factual finding in a previous section of the Trial Judgement related to Gornji 
Vakuf Municipality - that it was Stojic who had sent Andric to Gornji Vakuf. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 334 
("In the part relating to the structure of the Municipality of Gornji Vakuf, the Chamber notes that it was Bruno Stbjic 
who had sent Colonel Miro Andric to Gornji Vakur'). Upon review of the factual finding relied upon by the Trial 
Chamber to make this finding, the Appeals Chamber notes, however, that this earlier finding relates to Stojic 
dispatching Andric, on 12 January 1993, "to manage the situation in Gornji Vakur', and not to go to Gornji VakuL See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 338. In reading this finding together with paragraph 330 of Volume 4 of the Trial 
Judgement, it is evident that Stojic dispatched Andric to Prozor to attend meetings relating to the situation in Gornji 
Vakuf. As such, the Trial Chamber erred when finding that Stojic sent Andric to Gornji Vakuf. However, the Appeals 
Chamber does not consider the issue of whether Stojic physically sent Andric to Gornji Vakuf to be determinative of 
the issue at hand, namely, whether Stojic was one of the superiors who ordered Andric to use force. 
5054 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 816. 
5055 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 339. 

642 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23253



reasonable one. Additionally, Stojic does not demonstrate how the references in AndriC's Report to 

the instructions Andric received to resolve differences peacefully5057 would have an impact on the 

Trial Chamber's finding in this regard. 

1567. With regard to StojiC's argument that, because of the contents of the report, it is 

"inconceivable" that he was one of the superiors who ordered the use of force, the Appeals 

Chamber considers this argument to be speculative and merely his own interpretation of the 

evidence without him showing an error.5058 The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced by StojiC's 

contention that a report on events sent nine days after those events occurred indicates that he was 

not one of the "superiors". 5059 StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

1568. The Appeals Chamber notes that StojiC's argument that he was not part of the military chain 

of command ignores the Trial Chamber's findings that the Main Staff was an integral part of the 

Department of Defence and that, although the Head of the Department of Defence was not de jure 

part of the military chain of command, Stojic commanded and had "effective control" over the 

HVO and the Military Police by, inter alia, issuing orders directly to the HVO.5060 Thus, the Main 

Staff's involvement, and particularly that of Praljak and Petkovic, does not call into question the 

conclusion that Stojic was one of Andric's "superiors". StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

1569. In light of the above, Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that 

he was one of AndriC's superiors who ordered him to capture the Gornji Vakuf area by force. 

StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 29.1 is dismissed. 

(ii) Whether Stojic was aware of the commission of crimes based on reports from Zeljko 

Siljeg (StojiC's Sub-ground 29.2) 

1570. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was aware of the crimes 

committed in Gornji Vakuf through the reports from Siljeg.5061 He contends that the Trial Chamber 

failed to analyse the reliability of one of these reports, Exhibit P0l357, which he argues is a 

compilation of documents with different dates and recipients and the authenticity of which cannot 

5056 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 341. 
5057 See Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 1. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 126, 334. 
5058 The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced that any alleged error in the translation of Exhibit 4D00348 would have 
an impact on the Trial Chamber's findings. See supra, fns 5032, 5050. 
5059 The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that Exhibit 4D00348 was sent to Stojic on 
22 January 1993 as the exhibit is dated 27 January 1993. See supra, fn. 5026. However, this error has no impact, 
particularly as Andric recounts in his report that he was wounded on 22 January 1993 and thus had to dictate this report 
from his hospital bed. See Ex. 4D00348/3D03065, p. 3. . 
5060 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 303-306, 312, 320. See supra, paras 1435, 1457, 1470-1472, 1479 (dismissing 
StojiC's challenges to the findings that he commanded the HVO and the Military Police). 
5061 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 256-257, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 336. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 260. 
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be established.5062 Stojic argues that there is no evidence that he received these reports.5063 He also 

submits that Siljeg's reports were addressed "simply" to the Department of Defence, that the Trial 

Chamber relied on its "flawed" inference that he ordered the use of force, and that it cannot be 

inferred that he was aware of all subsequent reports from Gomji Vakuf Municipality.5064 Stojic 

contends that, even if he had read the reports, their contents do not support an inference that he was 

aware of the destruction of Muslim homes, the detention and removal of civilians, or the 

murders.5065 He argues thilt the reports state that properties were on fire or destroyed and record the 

number of civilian casualties, but maintains that this was in the context of the ongoing 

hostilities.5066 He submits that nothing in the reports refers to civilian detentions,5067 the HVO's 

responsibility, or the occurrence of crimes.5068 

1571. The Prosecution responds that StojiC's late challenge to the authenticity of Exhibit P01357 
I 

should be dismissed.5069 The Prosecution also responds that, in addition to its inference that Stojic 

ordered the use of force, the Trial Chamber relied on StojiC's overall control over the HVO and the 

Military Police as well as his "deep" involvement in the Gomji Vakuf operations.507o It submits that 

Siljeg's reports were sent to the Department of Defence, received by StojiC, and confirmed that 

HVO forces committed crimes in Gomji Vakuf.5071 The Prosecution contends that the Trial 

Chamber correctly assessed the totality of the evidence, namely Siljeg's reports and StojiC's 

knowledge of the military operations.50n It further submits that Stojic inconectly asserts that no 

report mentions the detention of civilians and refers to a report dated 30 January 1993 from Siljeg 

which alerted Stojic to the fact that there were civilian detainees.5073 

5062 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 257, referring to Ex. PO 1357. 
5063 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 257. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 280 (21 Mar 2017),804-806 (28 Mar 2017). 
5064 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 258, referring to Exs. P01206, p. 1, P01357, p. 1, P01351, p. 1. See also Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 280 (21 Mar 2017),804-806 (28 Mar 2017). 
5065 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 259. 
5066 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 259, referring to Exs. P01206, P01357, P01351. 
5067 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 259. Stojic argues that Exhibit P01351 confirms that there were detainees but that they 
were all members of the ABiH. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 259, referring to Ex. P01351. 
5068 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 259. Stojic submits the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, from a report stating that 
"there [was] no civilian population left", that the HVO removed the inhabitants of the area as this conclusion cannot 
follow from a reading of this report. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 259, referring to Ex. 01357, p. 6, Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 336. 
5069 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 223, referring to Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 532-533. The 
Prosecution further argues that Stojic mischaracterises the exhibit as it is a single report in which several orders and 
rePo0rts are reproduced and referenced. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 223, referring to Ex. P01357. 
500 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 220, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300, 312, 334-336. 
5071 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 220-221, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 334, 
Exs. P01206, p. 1, P01357, p. 1, P01351, p. 1. 
5072 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 221, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 131, 561. The 
Prosecution contends that Stojic knew that the references in Siljeg's reports documented HVO crimes. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 221. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 328-330 (21 Mar 2017). 
5073 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 222, referring to Ex. P01357. The Prosecution argues that this 
30 January 1993 report indicated that no civilian population was left in Gornja and Donja Hrasnica and that "some of 
the population were taken prisoner [oo.] and taken to Trnovaca". Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 
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1572. Regarding StojiC's knowledge of the Gornji Vakuf crimes, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit PO 1357 as well as other reports from Siljeg to find that Stojic 

was aware of the crimes committed there.5074 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic challenged the 

authenticity or reliability of Exhibit P01357 during trial by arguing that the original document was 

partly illegible, and that information contained therein could not be admitted based only on a draft 

translation.5075 The Trial Chamber rejected this argument and concluded that the exhibit had 

sufficient indicia of reliability, relevance and probative value.5076 By only submitting that the Trial 

Chamber "failed to analyse the reliability" of Exhibit P01357 as "[i]ts authenticity cannot be 

established",5077 Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in exercising its broad discretion 

regarding the admissibility or reliability of this exhibit.5078 

1573. On the issue of whether Stojic received or was aware of Siljeg's reports, Exhibits P01357, 

P01206, and P01351 were all addressed to the Department of Defence.5079 However, in the Appeals 

Chamber's view, the fact that the reports were not addressed to Stojic personally does not 

undernune the Trial Chamber's finding that he, as Head of the Department of Defence, was aware 

of these reports due to his: (1) involvement in the Gornji Vakuf operations; and (2) position as the 

member of the Government who was "responsible for the armed forces". 5080 With respect to the 

latter, the Appeals Chamber recalls that Stojic was found to have exercised a reporting function vis­

a-vis the Government and would receive various reports from different nlilitary organs in order to 

be able to exercise that function.5081 Accordingly, in light of the reporting function Stojic was found 

to have exercised and taking into account the Trial Chamber's findings as to his involvement in the 

Gornji Vakuf operations, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Stojic fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he received Siljeg's reports concerning the 

operations in Gornji Vakuf. 

referring to Ex. PO 1357, pp. 6-7. It also asserts that Stojic learned of allegations of mistreatment in Tmovaca through an 
earlier report. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 222, referring to Ex. P01351, p. 4. 
5074 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-333,336, referring to Exs. P01206, P01357, P01351. 
5075 Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlic et al., Case No. IT-04-74-T, Joint Defence Response to Prosecution Motion for 
Admission of Documentary Evidence, 8 October 2007 (confidential) ("Joint Response"), p. 12. For other exhibits, 
Stojic specifically objected to the lack of authenticity, the lack of probative value, and the lack of relevance. Joint 
Response, pp. 11-15. 
5076 See Prosecutor v. ladranko Prlic et al., Case No. IT-04-74-T, Decision on the Prosecution Motion for Admission of 
Documentary Evidence (Two' Motions: HVO and Herceg-Bosna), 24 January 2008 (French original filed on 
11 December 2007), para. 32, p. 9, Annex 1, p. 4 (admitting document with Rule 65 tel' number 01357 ,which later 
became Ex. P01357, into evidence). 
5077 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 257. 
5078 See Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 99, 470 ("the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is 
best placed to assess the credibility of a witness and reliability of the evidence adduced;'). See also Popovic et al. 
Afspeal Judgement, paras 74,131. 
509 Ex. P01357, p. 1; Ex. P01206, p. 1; Ex. P01351, p. 1. See supra, fn. 3703. 
5080 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 336. 
5081 See supra, paras 1418-1419, 1476. 
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1574. Regarding Stojic's argument that it cannot be inferred from Siljeg's reports that he knew of 

the crimes committed, the Appeals Chamber notes that: (1) Exhibit P0l206 states that several 

facilities were on fire;5082 (2) Exhibit P0l351 mentions persons, including "civilians" as being 

killed and the destruction of houses through torching and shelling;5083 and (3) Exhibit P01357 states 

that most buildings in Donja Hrasnica were burned down or demolished, that there "[was] no 

civilian popUlation left in Gomja Hrsanica and Donja Hrasnica", and that "some of the population 

were taken prisoners [ ... ] and some fled". 5084 In this regard, the. Appeals Chamber finds that 

although the reports, by themselves, do not expressly state that the HVO were committing the 

relevant crimes, StojiC's awareness of the crimes stems from the reports read in conjunction with 

his overall role in and knowledge of the operations. Notably, in considering these exhibits, the Trial 

Chamber recalled its previous findings that the Gomji Vakuf operations involved the HVO burning 

down and destroying buildings and houses, forcibly removing the women, children and the elderly, 

and detaining people.5085 Considering the Trial Chamber's findings and the evidence cited above, as 

well as the finding that Stojic facilitated and closely followed the Gornji Vakuf operations, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding 

that he was aware of the destruction of Muslim houses, detention of Muslims who did not belong to 

any armed force, and the removal of the irihabitants of the area through Siljeg's reports.5086 StojiC's 

argument is thus dismissed. 

1575. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate 

that no reasonable trier ofJact could have found that he was aware of the crimes committed during 

the Gornji Vakuf operations. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 29.2 is dismissed. 

(iii) Whether Stojic facilitated and closely followed the military operations in Gornji 

Vakuf and intended the crimes to be committed (StojiC's Sub-ground 29.3) 

1576. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he facilitated and closely followed the 

operations in Gornji Vakuf is "a remarkable construction". 5087 He contends that the Trial Chamber 

5082 Ex. P01206, p. 1. 
5083 Ex. P01351, pp. 2-4. See supra, fn. 3703. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's 
finding that the killing of the seven civilians in Dusa amounted to murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the 
findings on these crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality and StojiC's conviction thereof. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber 
has overturned the Trial Chamber's finding that the destruction of Muslim houses in Dusa resulting from shelling was 
wanton and not justified by military necessity. See supra, paras 435,441-443,452. 
5084 Ex. P01357, pp. 6-7. Siljeg also recounts a conversation with "BlJEDIC", from the Muslim delegation, who told 
Siljeg that he could raze Gornji Vakuf to the ground but he could not kill every single person. Ex. P013S7, pp. 1-2. 
508 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-333. 
5086 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 336. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's 
finding that the killing of the seven civilians in Dusa amounted to murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the 
findings on these crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality and StojiC's conviction thereof. On the same basis, the Appeals 
Chamber considers elsewhere that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of 
the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 441-443,882. 
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made several inferences based on other inferences, and specifically that he facilitated and closely 

followed the military operations, then as a result he must have been aware of the reports sent by 

Siljeg, before concluding that he planned and intended the commission of crimes in Gomji 

Vakuf.5088 Stojic argues that the only direct evidence is that he sent Andric to Gornji Vakuf on 

12 January 1993 "to calm the situation" and AndriC's Report.5089 He asserts that this evidence 

cannot lead to the inference that he planned or facilitated the HVO military operations.509o Further, 

Stojic submits that his receipt of a report nine days after the attack does not amount to "'closely 

following' events" and thus the first inference cannot be sustained.5091 

1577. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable.5092 The 

Prosecution submits that Stojic incorrectly argues that the only direct evidence relied on was 

AndriC's Report5093 and ignores the evidence which shows his involvement in implementing the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum,5094 and that he received Siljeg's reports.5095 It also submits that the 

Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic intended the crimes is supported by the findings that he planned 

the operations, failed to punish the perpetrators, and continued contributing to the CCp.5096 

1578. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic closely followed 

and facilitated the military operations in Gomji Vakuf is based on the fact that: (1) he ordered 

Andric to become involved in negotiations in order to calm down the situation in Gomji Vakuf; 

(2) Andric then ordered the HVO to use force in Gornji Vakuf to ensure that the ABiH honoured 

the ceasefire agreement concluded on 13 January 1993; and (3) Andric subsequently informed 

Stojic about the results of the military operations and the negotiations with the ABiH.5097 Other than 

asserting that the Trial Chamber's reliance on AndriC's Report "cannot support an inference" that 

5087 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 261, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 335-337. 
5088 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 261, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 335-337. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
~aras 250, 262-263. 

089 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 262, referring to Ex. 4D00348/3D03065. 
5090 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 262. 
5091 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 262. . 
5092 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 224, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 337. See Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 214. 
5093 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 225. 
5094 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 225, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125, 127,304,919. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 327-328 (21 Mar 2017). 
5095 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 225, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-333, 336. See also 
Af~eal Hearing, AT. 328-330 (21 Mar 2017). 
50 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 226, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 337, 415, 423, 426. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 327-328 (21 Mar 2017). . 
5097 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 335. See supra, paras 1565-1566. The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's 
findings made elsewhere that: (1) Stojic was responsible for the implementation of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; 
(2) he ordered the HVO and the Military Police to implement the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; and (3) he analysed the 
implementation during a meeting chaired by Prlic on 19 January 1993 where he also stated that the situation in Gornji 
Vakuf had finally calmed down thus showing that he was aware of the events in Gornji Vakuf even prior to receiving 
AndriC's Report on 27 January 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 125, 127, 304. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
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he planned and facilitated the operations, Stojic does not offer any other reasonable inferences that 

can be drawn from the evidence. Similarly, Stojic's argument on his belated receipt of AndriC's 

Report is unpersuasive.5098 For both arguments, Stojic merely provides his own interpretation of the 

evidence without showing an error. Accordingly, StojiC's arguments are dismissed. As the 

remainder of StojiC's contentions are based on his challenge to the inference that he planned and 

facilitated the Gomji Vakuf operations, and he only asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously used 

this inference to make further inferences on his knowledge and intention, these contentions are also 

dismissed. 

1579. Based on the above, Stojic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that 

he planned and facilitated the Gomji Vakuf operations and intended the crimes committed during 

these operations. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 29.3 is dismissed. 

(iv) Conclusion 

1580. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in determining his contribution and intent regarding the crimes committed in Gornji 

Vakuf Municipality. 5099 StojiC's ground of appeal 29 is therefore dismissed. 

(c) Jablanica Municipality (StojiC's Ground 30) 

1581. The Trial Chamber found that on 17 April 1993 the HVO launched an attack on the 

Jablanica area, shelling the villages of SoviCi and Doljani.5100 The Trial Chamber held that the HVO 

operations in Jablanica Municipality followed a preconceived plan of which Stojic "must have been 

informed".5101 It also found that Stojic must have been aware of the crimes committed by the HVO 

in SoviCi and Dolj ani , that is, the destruction of buildings and mosques as well as the arrest of 

people not belonging to any armed forces. 5102 It further found that Stojic must have been aware of 

these crimes, especially as on 23 April 1993 he - along with Petkovic - ordered the commanders of 

all the OZs to respect international law ("23 April 1993 Order,,).5103 In arriving at its findings, the 

Trial Chamber also considered that Stojic was informed of: (1) the military operations in Jablanica 

through a report dated 23 April 1993 from Ivica Primorac, Assistant Chief of the Main Staff 

paras 142, 146 (noting that the HVO committed crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality following the 15 January 1993 
Ultimatum). ' 
5098 See also supra, fn. 5059. 
5099 See supra, fns 5025, 5086 (excluding murder and wilful killing (Counts 2 and 3)). 
5100 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 338. 
5101 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5102 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. The Trial Chamber excluded the destruction of mosques in Jablanica 
Municipality from the CCP and therefore considered the related crimes within the framework of JCE III liability. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 73,342,449. 
5103 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 340-341, referring to Ex. P02050. 
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("Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993,,);5104 and (2) crimes committed by the HVO through an 

ICRC report dated 20 April 1993 ("ICRC Report of 20 April 1993,,).5105 It concluded that Stojic 

knew about the crimes, continued to exercise his functions, making no "apparent efforts" to ensure 

that the 23 April 1993 Order was respected, and thus accepted these crimes.5106 

(i) Whether Stojic must have been aware of the plan in relation to the HVO military 

operations in Jablanica Municipality (StojiC's Sub-ground 30.2) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1582. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that he knew about the HVO 

military operations in Jablanica before they took place and that the events followed a preconceived 

plan.5107 Specifically, Stojic argues that: (1) the only report cited - Primorac's Report of 

23 April 1993 - was a general update on various locations six days after the attack;5108 (2) the 

attack in Jablanica was directed by the "usual military chain of command", and since he was not in 

the military chain of command, the orders the Trial Chamber referred to do not mention him, and 

thus it was unreasonable to infer that he was aware of the operations in advance;5109 and (3) his 

knowledge could not be established as the only reasonable inference from Primorac's Report of 

23 April 1993, which stated that the HVO had conquered SoviCi and Doljani, and from the ICRC 

Report of 20 April 1993.5110 Stojic asserts that "evidence of such meagre involvement cannot 

support a finding that [he] significantly contributed to those crimes". 5111 

1583. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that StQjic knew of 

the plan to attack Jablanica Municipality. According to the Prosecution, Stojic was aware that the 

4 April 1993 Ultimatum would be enforced through crimes in Jablanica Municipality the same way 

as the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was enforced in Gomji Vakuf.5112 It also submits that Stojic: 

5104 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 339,341, referring to Ex. 4D01034. 
5105 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 340-341, referring to Ex. P01989. 
5106 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 342. 
5107 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 269-273. . 
5108 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 270, referring to Ex. 4D01034. 
5109 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 271, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 565; 791-796, Vol. 4, 
£ara.306,Exs.P01896,POI915,p.2,POI932,P02037,p.1. 

110 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 272. 
5111 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 272. 
5112 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 229. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that on 
3 April 1993 the HZ(R) H-B Government held a session in which it was decided that if the subordination of the ABiH 
armed forces to the HVO in provinces 3, 8, and 10, and the establishment of a joint HVO/ABiH command in other 
provinces by 15 April 1993 was refused, then the HVO would apply it unilaterally, including by military means, and 
this statement (the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum) was released on 4 April 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 138. Referring 
to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum, the Prosecution submits that Stojic: (1) was present at the Government session held on 
3 April 1993; (2) was in charge of implementing the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; (3) planned the violent operations in 
Gornji Vakuf; and (3) received reports documenting violent crimes against Muslims in Gornji Vakuf operations. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 229. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 228. 
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(1) commanded and had "effective control" over the HVO and was informed of military 

operations;5113 and (2) was informed of the progress of the operations by Primorac's Report of 

23 April 1993.5114 

. b. Analysis 

1584. Regarding Stojic's argument that no evidence was cited by the Trial Chamber that he knew 

of the HVO military operations in Jablanica "before" they happened,5115 the Appeals Chamber 

notes that this does not conespond with the Trial Chamber's finding. Notably, the Trial Chamber 

found that "Stojic must have been informed of that plan" and that he "must have been aware of the 

crimes committed by the HVO troops in SoviCi and Doljani".5116 The Appeals Chamber finds that 

the Trial Chamber did not infer that Stojic was necessarily informed in advance of the military 

operations, but relied on, inter alia, the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993, Primorac's Report of 

23 April 1993, and a report submitted by Marko Rozic to Slobodan Bozic on 23 April 1993 

("RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993,,)5117 to conclude that he must have been infOlmed of the plan 

and the crimes.511S Further; Stojic's knowledge of the plan before the operations occurred is not a 

necessary factor in determining his participation in those operations. Therefore, StojiC's argument is 

dismissed as it concerns his knowledge of the plan before the operations took place. 

1585. In any event, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by StojiC's challenges to the T11al 

Chamber's findings. Concerning Stojic's submission that the Trial Chamber erred by inferring that 

events in Jablanica followed a preconceived plan, the Appeals Chamber observes that the existence 

of a preconceived plan was not "entirely unexplained". 511 9 The Appeals Chamber notes that 

elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found that the HVO operations in Jablanica 

and Prozor followed a "systematic course of action",5120 and that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum 

resulted in a "plan" for an attack on several villages in Prozor before discussing a similar attack in 

5113 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 230. The Prosecution points to one exhibit, a report from Siljeg, 
concerning preparations for the Jablanica operations which was sent to the Department of Defence. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 230, referring to Ex. p01915. 
5114 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 231. 
5115 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 270, 272. 
5116 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5117 The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber mistakenly cited Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993 in the 
second sentence of paragraph 341 in Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement as it is RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993 which 
speaks to the destruction of houses and mosques pursuant to superior orders. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 
Trial Chamber was in fact referring to RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 338, 341, 
Ex. P02063. Cf Ex. 4D01034. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), fn. 955; infra, fn. 5150. Marko Rozic 
was the HVO Defence Bureau Chief in Jablanica (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 649), and his report stated that 
"[w]hen the conflict had ceased, by order of the senior commanders, all Muslim houses were burnt down and two 
mosques were demolished" and sought instructions on the further treatment of "the prisoners". Ex. P02063. 
5llS Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 338-341. 
5119 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 271. 
5120 Trial Judgement, VolA, paras 146, 341. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717 ("the HVO operations in Jablanica 
were part of a well-organised and orchestrated plan by the HVO leadership"). 
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Jablanica.5121 The Trial Chamber reasonably considered the above as evidence of a preconceived 

plan. The Trial Chamber also noted RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993, which refers to orders from 

superior HVO commanders to set fire to Muslim houses and mosques, in this respect.5i22 Further, 

the Trial Chamber made other findings from which a preconceived plan regarding Jablanica could 

be reasonably inferred, including that: (1) Petko vic ordered on 15 April 1993 that combat readiness 

be raised in the Jablanica area;5i23 (2) Zdravko Sagolj, the Herceg Stjepan Brigade commander, 

requested reinforcements on 15 April 1993 from the Main Staff and various OZs and for them to 

"act IMMEDIATELY in accordance with our previous agreement,,;5i24 and (3) on 16 April 1993, 

heavy artillery batteries and assault tanks had already taken up positions around SoviCi, HVO 

soldiers were kept in reserve in case they were needed, and "coordination" with "Tuta" was 

planned.5125 Thus, Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in considering that a 

preconceived plan existed. 

1586. Stojic further contests the Trial Chamber's finding that he must have been aware of the 

preconceived plan by arguing that the attack in Jablanica was directed by the "usual military chain 

of command" and that Stojic was not part of this chain of command.5i26 In support of this argument, 

he cites to a number of reports from Siljeg and orders given by Petkovic relating to the HVO's 

operations in Jablanica that do not refer to Stojic by name.5127 The Appeals Chamber first notes that 

the Trial Chamber did not rely on these reports or orders to find that Stojic must have been aware of 

the preconceived plan.5128 Moreover, one of the reports - the report sent by Siljeg on 16 April 1993 

to the Department of Defence - stated that "[w]e continue to work according to plan".5i29 

Regarding StojiC's role in the military chain of command, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the 

Trial Chamber reasonably found that he: (1) commanded and had "effective control" over the HVO 

and the Military Police;5130 (2) was informed about their military actions;5i3i (3) infOlmed the 

HZ(R) H-B Government, both through reports and during Government sessions, about the military 

and security situation on the ground;5132 and (4) was not de jure part of the military chain of 

5121 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 142-146. 
5122 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. See supra, fn. 5117. 
5123 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, paras 712-713. 
5124 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 533, quoting Ex. 4D00453. 
5125 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 534. 
5126 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 271. 
5127 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 271. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 688. 
5128 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5129 Ex. P01915, p. 3. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 46 & fn. 125, referring to Ex. P01915. 
5130 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312,320. See supra, paras 1457, 1479. 
5J3J Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 300-301, 312, 318, 320. See supra, paras 1418, 1473-1476. 
5132 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300. See supra, para. 1476. 
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command but had de facto powers.5133 Thus, Stojic fails to show that his position in the military 

chain of command calls into question the Trial Chamber's findings. 

1587. Further, the Trial Chamber established that the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum was developed 

during the 3 April 1993 meeting which Stojic attended.5134 Additionally, Stojic facilitated and 

closely followed the operations in Gornji Vakuf which implemented the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum.5135 Notably, the Trial Chamber found that the attack on Prozor in April 1993 was a 

result of the implementation of the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum which was "identical" to the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum.5136 It also found that "the HVO operations in the municipalities of 

Prozor and Jablanica followed a systematic course of action and therefore had to be the result of a 

preconceived HVO plan to implement the ultimatum of 15 April 1993 by force".5137 Thus, in 

addition to the Trial Chamber's reliance on Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993,5138 the Appeals 

Chamber considers that similarities in the military operations could also be reasonably used to infer 

StojiC's knowledge of the plan in relation to Jablanica. The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails 

to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have inferred, as the only reasonable inference, that he 

was aware of the preconceived plan. His arguments are dismissed.5139 

1588. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate 

that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that he must have been aware of the plan concerning the 

HVO operations in Jablanica.514o StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 30.2 is thus dismissed. 

5133 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565, Vol. 4, paras 304,306,423. The Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere StojiC's 
challenges to the findings on his command authority. See supra, paras 1457, 1479. 
5134 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 138. 
5135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-333,336. See supra, paras 1578-1579. 
5136 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 142. 
513? Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 146. The Trial Chamber found that the ultimatum was released to the press on 
4 April 1993 with a deadline of 15 April 1993, thus the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber was in fact 
referring to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138, 140. 
5138 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5139 The Appeals. Chamber will address StojiC's submissions concerning the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 and 
Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993 in the section below. See infra, paras 1591-1595. 
5140 To the extent that the "preconceived" plan included a pattern of conduct regarding murder and wilful killing, the 
Appeals Chamber recalls that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the 
CCP from January 1993 until June 1993 due to the Dusa reversal and the lack of any pattern of CCP murders. See 
supra, para. 882. However, given that no killings that formed part of the CCP were found to have occurred in Jablanica, 
this change in the scope of the CCP has no impact on the Trial Chamber's findings above concerning StojiC's 
responsibility for the events in Jablanica. See supra, para. 876. 
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(ii) Whether Stojic must have been aware of the crimes committed in SoviCi and Doljani 

(StojiC's Sub-ground 30.1) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1589. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its conclusion that he knew about the crimes 

committed in SoviCi and Doljani, as there was no evidence in support.5141 He argues that the ICRC 

Report of 20 April 1993 does not identify these villages as places where crimes were committed, 

but only mentions Doljani as a location "cut-off by the fighting" and disconnected from 

humanitarian aid.5142 Further, Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber unreasonably found that the 

ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 informed him of the destruction of mosques and the detention of 

civilians, since these crimes were not mentioned in the report.5143 Stojic also avers that the Trial 

Chamber erred by concluding that the 23 April 1993 Order was linked to SoviCi and Doljani as: 

(1) the order was sent to all commanders and soldiers; (2) there is no indication that the order was 

precipitated by events in any particular location or by the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993, which did 

not refer to these two villages, but to all "HVOIBiH controlled areas".5144 Stojic further contends 

that it was unreasonable to conclude from the term "cleansing" in Primorac's Report of 

23 April 1993 that he had knowledge about the crimes, because tlns tenn is ambiguous and could 

also refer to lawful clean-up operations following military actions.5145 

1590. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the ICRC Report of 

20 April 1993 to establish StojiC's awareness of HVO crimes.5146 It argues that as Stojic knew that 

SoviCi and Doljani would be attacked and the Muslims removed,5147 upon receipt of the ICRC 

Report of 20 April 1993 he knew that crimes were committed there.5148 The Prosecution submits 

that Rozic alerted Stojic to HVO crimes in SoviCi and Doljam.5149 In addition, it contends that the 

5141 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 265. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 264. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 
5142 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 265, referring to Ex. P01989, p. 1. . 
5143 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 266, referring to Ex. P01989, p. 1. 
5144 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 267. . 
5145 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 268, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 558, 561, Kordic and Cerkez Appeal 
Judgement, para. 403. Stoji6 also contends that there is no evidence that he received this report. StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
fn.679. 
5146 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), para. 233. The Prosecution also responds that Stoji6 received information 
that the HVO had committed crimes in Jablanica Municipality but did not enforce the 23 April 1993 Order. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), para. 232. 
5147 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), para. 233, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), paras 229-231. 
See also supra, para. 1583. 
5148 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), para. 233. In addition, the Prosecution submits that the ICRC Report of 20 
April 1993 urged for the proper treatment of captured combatants and civilians. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), 
~ara. 233, referring to Ex. P01989, p: 3. 

149 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stoji6), para. 234, referring to Ex. P02063 (referenced in Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
paras 641, 648). The Prosecution submits that RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993 was addressed to StojiC's immediate 
subordinate, Slobodan Bozi6, who would have alerted Stoji6 to the report, due to its contents. Prosecution's Response 
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Trial Chamber did not rely on Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993 to establish Stojic's knowledge 

of crimes in SoviCi and Doljani, but rather his awareness of the military operations in these 

villages.5150 

b. Analysis 

1591. The Trial Chamber relied on the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 to conclude that "since the 

ICRC informed Bruno Stojic of the crimes committed by the HVO armed forces in [Jablanica 

Municipality], he must have been aware of the c.rimes committed [ ... ] in SoviCi and Doljani during 

the operations".5151 The Trial Chamber considered that the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 informed 

Stojic that: (1) since 15 April 1993, people had been killed and "civilian" houses regularly torched 

in the areas under the HVO control, including lablanica; and (2) the security situation was so 

difficult that the ICRC delegates had to be evacuated from that municipality.5152 Regarding StojiC's 

challenges to the Trial Chamber's reliance on the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that the ICRC reported that "the situation in HVOIBiH controlled areas hard] 

greatly deteriorated since April ISth,,5153 and specifically noted that "[s]urnrnary executions, 

hostage-taking, indiscriminate shelling such as that on Zenica market [ ... ], and the deliberate 

destruction of numerous homes have resulted in the flight of hundreds of terrorized civilians.,,5154 

Further, the ICRC infOlmed that: (1) "[s]everal villages and municipalities, such as Doljani, 

lablanica [ ... ], Zenica and Tuzla hard] been cut-off by the fighting,,;5155 and (2) "[f]or security 

reasons, the ICRC delegates in lablanica had to be evacuated temporarily".5156 

1592. Although Stojic argues. that only the crimes committed in Zenica were mentioned in the 

ICRC Report of 20 April 1993,5157 the Appeals Chamber notes that the report also lists crimes 

committed in HVOIBiH controlled areas since 15 April 1993 and uses an incident of indiscriminate 

shelling on the Zenica market as an example. Further, the report refers in this context to several 

villages and municipalities "such as" Doljani and lablanica, which were "cut-off by the 

fighting".5158 SoviCi is a part of lablanica Municipality and is not excluded from the listed 

Brief (Stojic), para. 234. Slobodan Bozic was the assistant to the Head of the Department of Defence from mid­
January 1993 to November 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 649. 
5150 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 235. The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber incorrectly stated 
that Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993, rather than RoziC's Report of 23 April 1993, indicated that houses and 
mosques were destroyed. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), fn. 955. See supra, fn. 5117. 
5151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5152 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 340, referring to Ex. P01989. 
5153 E P x. 01989, p. 2. 
5154 E P x. 01989, p. 2. 
5155 Ex. P01989, p. 2. The ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 also states that "[t]he ICRC has neither been able to provide 
relief and medical assistance, nor protection to those in need". Ex. P01989, p. 3. 
5156 Ex. P01989, p. 3. 
5157 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 265. 
5158 Ex. P01989, p. 2. 
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places.5159 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that 

Stojic was informed through the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 that crimes were committed in 

Jablanica Municipality. Thus, StojiC's argument that the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 does not 

identify Doljani and SoviCi as crime sites is dismissed. 

1593. Concerning StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber unreasonably found that the ICRC 

Report of 20 April 1993 informed him of the destruction of mosques and the detention of civilians, 

the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic misinterprets the Trial Judgement. As noted above, the 

Trial Chamber found that Stojic was informed by the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 that people had 

been killed and civilian houses regularly torched in the areas under HVO control, including 

Jablanica.516o The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber then inferred that Stojic must 

have been aware of the crimes committed by the HVO in SoviCi and Doljani, having also taken into 

account that: (1) the operations in JablanicaMunicipality were a result of a preconceived plan of 

which Stojic must have been informed;5161 (2) the houses and mosques in SoviCi and Doljani had 

been destroyed pursuant to an order by superior HVO officials in the execution of that preconceived 

plan;5162 (3) Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993, sent to Stojic, referred to the "cleansing" of 

Doljani on 19 Apri11993;5163 and (4) after hy was informed of the commission of crimes, including 

killings and the deliberate destruction of houses, by the JCRC Report of 20 April 1993, Stojic 

issued the 23 April 1993 Order for HVO commanders to "treat the civilians and detainees in 

accordance with internationallaw".5164 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails 

to demonstrate that the Trial 'Chamber unreasonably inferred that Stojic must have been aware of 

the crimes committed by the HVO in SoviCi and Doljani, that is, the destruction of buildings, 

including mosques, and the arrests of people who did not belong to any armed force. StojiC's 

argument is dismissed. 

1594. In relation to Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993, the Trial Chamber noted that the report 

referred to the "cleansing" of Doljani on 19 April 1993.5165 The Appeals Chamber is not convinced 

by StojiC's argument that, since the term "cleansing" is ambiguous, it was unreasonable for the Trial 

Chamber to rely on this term to find that he must have been aware of the crimes.5166 Stojic refers to 

5159 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 538, Vol. 4, para. 338. 
5160 See supra, para. 1591. 
5161 T' J nal udgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5162 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 338,341, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02063. 
5163 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 339,341. See infra, para. 1594. 
5164 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 340, referring to Ex. P02050. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5165 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 563, Vol. 4, para. 339, referring to Ex. 4D01034 . 
. 5166 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 268. See supra, para. 1589. The Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's argument that 
there is no evidence establishing that he received this report, as the report is addressed to him and he does not submit 
any further arguments on why he would not have received it. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 679. 
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evidence that the term meant the "taking of an area" during military actions5167 in arguing that the 

term referred to lawful clean-up operations,5168 but'fails to show that the Trial Chamber did not take 

this evidence into account. Notably, in addition to the reference to "cleansing" in Primorac's Report 

of 23 April 1993, the Trial Chamber considered several pieces of evidence that the women, 

children, and the elderly residing in Doljani after the attack were arrested.5169 Thus, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's approach of considering, 

inter alia, Primorac's Report of 23 April 1993 as evidence that Stojic must have been aware of the 

crimes. His argument is thus dismissed. 

1595. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred by linking the 23 April 1993 

Order to the operations in SoviCi and Doljani,5170 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber found that "Stojic must have been aware of the crimes committed by the HVO troops in 

SoviCi and Doljani especially as he then ordered the commanders of all the OZs to respect 

intemationallaw".5171 In the Appeals Chamber's view, such an order, especially since the HVO 

operations were regularly conducted in a similar way,5172 was relevant to all military staff involved 

in military operations. Notably, the Trial Chamber also considered this issue by taking account of 

the fact that the 23 April 1993 Order was sent "to the commanders of all OZS".5l73 Stojic therefore 

fails to demonstrate how the fact that the order was not addressed only to the HVO in SoviCi and 

Doljani calls into question the Trial Chamber's finding that he must have been aware of the crimes 

committed in SoviCi and Doljani especially as he then issued the 23 April 1993 Order.5174 Further, 

as the 23 April 1993 Order addressed what was requested in the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993 -

the medical assistance and behaviour in accordance with intemationallaw5175 - a reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inference, that this order had been triggered by 

the ICRC Report of 20 April 1993. Thus, StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

1596. The Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously inferred that he knew about the crimes committed in SoviCi and Doljani and his sub­

ground of appeal 30.1 is dismissed. In light of the above,5176 StojiC's general argument that no 

5167 Witness 4D-AA, T. 49217 (closed session) (9 Feb 2010). 
5168 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 268, referring to Witness 4D-AA, T. 49217 (closed session) (9 Feb 2010). 
5169 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 562-563. 
5170 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 267. See supra, para. 1589. 
5171 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5172 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 142-144, 146. See supra, para. 1586. 
5173 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 340. 
5174 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 341. 
5175 Ex. P02050; Ex. P01989, p. 3. 
5176 See supra, paras 1584-1588, 1591-1595. 
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reasonable trier of fact "could have constructed the further inference that he accepted" the crimes 

committed in SoviCi and Doljani5177 is also dismissed. 

(iii) Conclusion 

1597. Based on the foregoing, StojiC's ground of appeal 30 is dismissed. 

(d) The May 1993 operations in Mostar town (StojiC's Ground 31) 

1598. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO attacked Mostar town on 9 May 1993,5178 resulting 

in crimes against its Muslim inhabitants.5179 The Trial Chamber found that the only inference it 

could draw was that Stojic participated in planning these Mostar military operations,5180 and that 

"he also participated in planning the acts of violence which accompanied the operations".5181 The 

Trial Chamber considered as evidence a British Broadcasting Corporation interview with Stojic 

after 9 May 1993 ("BBC Video"), in which he explained that "the HVO could clear its part of the 

town in several hours".5182 The Trial Chamber concluded that, in the BBC Video, Stojic presented 

himself as an HVO military chief who had control over West Mostar in May 1993.5183 In arriving at 

this conclusion, the Trial Chamber rejected the evidence of Defence expert Witness Davor Marijan, 

that the BBC Video did not prove that Stojic was in charge of the May 1993 operations in Mostar, 

on the basis that he, inter alia, was biased in favour of Stojic and the HVO.5184 The Trial Chamber 

also found that Stojic "participated in the preparation of the HVO troops in Mostar in the days 

preceding the attack of 9 May 1993" and "knew of the troops' plans, of their ability and of their 

plan of action".5185 

(i) StojiC's participation in preparing the troops and planning the HVO operations in 

Mostar (StojiC's Sub.,ground 31.1) 

1599. Stojic submits that no reasonable trial chamber could have inferred that he participated in 

preparing the troops and planning the HVO military operations on the basis of the BBC Video.51S6 

In particular, he argues that the inference is not supported as: (1) the interview occurred after 

5177 S .. " AlB' f 272 - tOJIc s ppea ne, para. . 
5178 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 775. 
5179 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 822-824, 826-827, 1494-1498, Vol. 4, para. 347. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
~aras 797-806, 812-818. 

180 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 348. 
5181 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 349. 
5182 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 344, referring to Ex. P04238, 44:22-44:52. The Appeals Chamber refers to the video 
clip corresponding to Exhibit P04238, 43:22-44:33 as the BBC Video. Notably, the partial transcript of this video clip is 
~rovided under the same exhibit number, Exhibit P04238. See Ex. P04238, p. 3. 

183 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5184 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 345-346. 
5185 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 348. 
5186 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 276,279. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 274. 
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9 May 1993;5187 (2) the only words directly attributed to him were not clear enough as they were 

voiced over by the journalist, no plan was mentioned,5188 and the Trial Chamber failed to consider 

whether the statement that the troops could clear their part of the city in five hours was realistic 

given that the conflict continued for months;5189 and (3) the Trial Chamber failed to consider the 

context surrounding the relevant statement, which was only a snippet of an interview and did not 

address the 9 May 1993 attack or the eviction operations.5190 Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber 

failed to consider other inferences, such as whether "an individual might want to present an image 

of strength or control which was not the situation on the ground.,,5191 

1600. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on StojiC's comment in 

the BBC Video,5192 and that it is immaterial that the interview was recorded after 9 May 1993.5193 It 

also argues that Stojic presents no basis to question the accuracy of the words attributed to him.5194 

The Prosecution argues that StojiC's comment on clearing Mostar in five hours showed that he 

knew of his troops' plans and ability to execute them, and was consistent with the conduct of HVO 

operations.5195 It further submits that it is irrelevant that Stojic did not specifically refer to the 

9 May 1993 attack or the evictions as his comments came in the midst of the HVO operations in 

May 1993.5196 

1601. Regarding Stojic's first argument, the Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to explain 

why the Trial Chamber could not rely on the BBC Video to infer his participation in the operations 

merely because the interview was recorded after the 9 May 1993 attack began.5197 The Appeals 

Chamber notes that there is no requirement that such evidence must refer to conduct that occurred 

at the same time as, or before, the military operations. In any event, it is clear from the context that 

this interview was recorded contemporaneously with the events in Mostar town in May 1993.5198 

With regard to StojiC's contention that the relevant statement in the BBC Video was voiced over by 

a journalist, the Appeals Chamber notes that he merely repeats his argument at trial without 

5187 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 276. . 
5188 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 275. Stojic argues that these words could not 
su~port the finding that he knew of the troops' plan. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277. 
518 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1184, 1196. Stojic argues that these 
words did not support the finding that he knew of the troops' ability. Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 277. 
5190 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 278. . 
5191 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 278. 
5192 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 238. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 237. The 
Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that how Stojic presented himself in the BBC Video was 
consistent with his actual role. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 242, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 346. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 330-331 (21 Mar 2017). 

193 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 239. 
5194 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 240. 
5195 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 240, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 805, 812-815, 826-828, 
Vol. 4, paras 347-348. 
5196 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 241. 
5197 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 344. 
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demonstrating how its rejection by the Trial Chamber constituted an error.5199 Nonetheless, Stojic 

fails to show how the !rial Chamber erred in relying on the journalist's account of Stojic's words, 

given that it had the discretion to rely on hearsay evidence.52oo Stojic's arguments are thus 

dismissed. 

1602. As for Stojic's argument that no plan was mentioned in the BBC Video, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that the statement attributed to Stojic - that the HVO troops could clear its part 

of Mostar - plainly indicates his awareness of the events on the ground and thus any plan being 

executed.5201 Moreover, this statement is consistent with the actions of the troops that took place, 

which was to engage "in a campaign aimed at evicting the Muslims of West Mostar from their 

flats" shortly following the 9 May 1993 attack.5202 The Trial Chamber considered that these 

operations were conducted in "waves and in an orchestrated manner" involving recurring acts of 

violence that indicated that they were part of a "preconceived plan".5203 Additionally,. the Trial 

Chamber also considered that Stojic knew that the HVO implemented a plan aimed at intensifying 

control over the town of Mostar by placing HVO forces, including the Military Police, on alert 

since 14 April 1993, which further supports the conclusion that he knew of a plan regarding 

Mostar.5204 Stojic thus fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he "knew 

of the troops' plans" simply on the basis that no plan was mentioned in the BBC Video.5205 

1603. Further, Stojic fails to show how the estimate given in the BBC Video that this "clearing" 

could be done in five hours is inconsistent with the finding that he knew of the troops' ability.5206 

Stojic argues that this estimate "bore no resemblance to reality", asserting that "the conflict in 

Mostar continued for months rather than hours".5207 In supporting the assertion that the conflict 

continued for months, Stojic refers to findings relating to the campaign of sniping and the siege of 

East Mostar beginning in June 1993, and not findings on the May 1993 operations in West Mostar 

discussed in the BBC Video.5208 The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that the 

5198 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344-347. 
5199 Compare StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277 with Stojic Closing Arguments, T. 52380 (16 Feb 2011). See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344-346. 
5200 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 510; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1276, 1307; Sainovic 
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 846. 
5201 The Appeals Chamber notes that the transcript of the BBC Video states the following: "the Minister says his forces 
could clear their part of the city in five hours". Ex. P04238, p. 3. In the BBC Video, however, the words actually used 
were: "the Minister says his forces could clear their ha{fof the city in five hours" (emphasis added). Ex. P04238, 43:58-
44:03. 
5202 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 347. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 797-806, 812-818, 822-824, 826-827, 
1494-1498. 
5203 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 347. 
5204 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 344, refening to, inter alia, Ex. P01868. 
5205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 348. 
5206 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 348. 
5207 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277. 
5208 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 277, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1184, 1196. 

659 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23236



initial eviction operations in West Mostar, in fact, took place between 9 and 11 May 1993,5209 

which is relatively consistent with the estimate provided in the BBC Video. StojiC's arguments that 

the statement attributed to him was not clear enough to support the finding that he participated in 

planning the Mostar operations5210 are therefore dismissed. 

1604. The Appeals Chamber further considers that the Trial Chamber's findings are not 

undermined by the absence of express references to the 9 May 1993 attack or eviction operations in 

the BBC Video, particularly considering the above analysis.5211 Stojic fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have reached its findings in light of the evidence it considered.5212 

With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider other inferences that 

could be drawn from the BBC Video, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber 

considered that the BBC Video "speaks for itself,;5213 namely, that "Stojic present[ed] himself as an 

HVO military chief who had control over West Mostar in May 1993.,,5214 Stojic provides no 

evidentiary support for his alternative inference that he "may" have been trying to "present an 

image of strength or control which was not the situation on the ground",5215 and does not show how 

this inference would impact the impugned finding, which was based on various other factors. 5216 

His arguments are thus dismissed. 

1605. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate, in his 

sub-ground of appeal 31.1, that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the BBC Video to c~mclude 

that he participated in preparing the troops and planning the Mostar military operations. His sub­

ground of appeal 31.1 is dismissed . 

. (ii) Alleged errors in the assessment of and reliance on Expert Witness Davor Marijan's 

evidence (StojiC's Sub-ground 31.2) 

1606. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting certain aspects of Witness Marijan's 

evidence while relying on other partS.5217 Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber's finding that 

Marijan was biased in favour of him and the HVO was inconsistent with its reliance on Marijan's 

evidence, which it "routinely accepted" throughout the Trial Judgement, including that Stojic did 

5209 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 805 (the round-up and detention of Muslim inhabitants of West Mostar between 9 
and 11 May 1993), 812-815 (Muslims were expelled from their homes and made to cross the front line towards East 
Mostar or placed in the Heliodrom in the second half of May 1993), 816-818 (at least 300 Muslims were moved from 
West Mostar to East Mostar on 26 May 1993). 
5210 See supra, para. 1599. 
5211 See supra, paras 657, 1601-1602, fn. 5197. 
5212 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344,346-349, and evidence cited therein. 
5213 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5214 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5215 See supra, para. 1599. 
5216 See supra, para. 1598. 
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not issue any "combat orders".5218 He further argues that the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting 

Marijan's evidence on the basis that he "merely offered hypotheses,,5219 since, as an expert witness, 

Marijan was entitled to offer opinions within his expertise which do not have to be based on 

firsthand knowledge. 522o Stojic also contends that the Trial Chamber failed to give sufficient 

reasons for rejecting Marijan's conclusions, arguing that it did not consider: (1) whether the maps 

and the office shown in the BBC Video were of a military nature; (2) the absence of documentary 

evidence that he directed military operations in Mostar; and (3) Witness Slobodan BoziC's 

corroborative testimony that everyone wore uniforms at that time.5221 Stojic submits that had 

Marijan's evidence been taken, into account, the Trial Chamber could not have inferred from the 

BBC Video that he participated in planning the military operations in Mostar. 5222 

1607. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably rejected Marijan's evidence 

concerning the BBC Video, and that its decision was reasoned.5223 It submits that the Trial Chamber 

was not inconsistent in its approach regarding Marijan's evidence, relying on it only when 

uncontroversial and corroborated.5224 The Prosecution argues that Stojic mischaracterises. or 

misconceives the Trial Chamber's approach to Marijan's entire testimony.5225 It contends that the 

Trial Chamber rejected Marijan's evidence on the BBC Video because it was found to be 

unconvincing.5226 The Prosecution further contends that Stojic fails to show how BoziC's testimony 

- whose credibility was "extremely weak,,5227 - undermines the Trial Chamber's finding.5228 

1608. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber held that, after having heard his entire 

testimony, Marijan "had a bias in favour of Bruno Stojic and the HVO".5229 It considered that 

Marijan was a former HVO soldier and that, throughout his testimony and expert report, he sought 

to exonerate Stojic instead of providing objective answers as an expert.5230 Regarding StojiC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber treated Marijan's evidence inconsistently, the Appeals Chamber 

5217 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
5218 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 281, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 559, 565. 
5219 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 282, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5220 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 282, referring to Prosecutor v. Vujadin Popovic et ai., Case No. IT-05-88-AR73.2, 
Decision on Joint Defence Interlocutory Appeal Concerning the Status of Richard Butler as an Expert Witness, 
30 January 2008, para. 27 ("Popovic et al. Decision of 30 January 2008"), Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 303. 
5221 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 283, referring to Slobodan Bozic, T. 36315 (private session) (3 Feb 2009). 
5222 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 284. 
5223 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 243. 
5224 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 244. The Prosecution argues that Stojic ignores instances where the 
Trial Chamber noted inconsistencies within Marijan's evidence or with other evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Stojic), para. 244, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 561,867. 
5225 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 244-245, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 559, 565, Vol. 4, 
r:ara.312. 

226 Prosecution's Response Blief (Stojic), para. 246. 
5227 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 247, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 551. 
5228 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 247. 
5229 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5230 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
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first recalls that "it is for the Trial Chamber to accept or reject, in whole or in part, the contribution 

of an expert witness".5231 The Appeals Chamber further observes that, with regard to the BBC 

Video, the Trial Chamber provided specific reasons for rejecting Marijan's conclusion, namely that 

it found his answers unconvincing, that he was not in the office at the time of the interview, and that 

his hypotheses were "uncorroborated by the evidence.,,5232 In the other parts of the Trial Judgement 

where Marijan's evidence was accepted, the Appeals Chamber observes that it was generally 

corroborated by other evidence.5233 Further, the Trial Chamber did not "routinely" accept Marijan's 

evidence, and notably, it found that Stojic issued operational orders directly to the HV05234 contrary 

to the evidence Marijan gave that the Head of the Department of Defence did not issue orders 

related to combat activities.5235 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show 

that the Trial Chamber's reliance on Marijan's evidence was inconsistent throughout the Trial 

Judgement or demonstrated a discernible error.5236 His arguments are dismissed. 

1609. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber elToneously rejected Marijan's 

evidence because he offered hypotheses, the Appeals Chamber notes that the views of expert 

witnesses need not be based upon firsthand knowledge or experience.5237 However, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that, just as for any other evidence presented, trial chambers have the discretion to 

assess the reliability and probative value of expert reports and testimony.5238 Bearing in mind the 

reasons given by the Trial Chamber for rejecting Marijan's evidence,5239 and as Stojic has failed to 

show that the Trial Chamber rejected Marijan's evidence solely on the basis that he offered 

hypotheses or provided evidence that was not firsthand, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Stojic's 

argument. 

1610. As for StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide sufficient reasons for 

rejecting Marijan's conclusion, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is not "required to 

set out in detail why it accepted or rejected a particular testimony". 5240 In this regard, the Appeals 

Chamber is not persuaded that the deficiencies Stojic alleges concerning the maps, the office, or the 

5231 Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 58. See Popovic ~t al. Appeal Judgement, para. 132 ("a trial chamber can 
reasonably accept certain parts of a witness's testimony and reject others."). 
5232 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. 
5233 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 495,505,544,600,640,676,679,694, 702, 767, 772,855,924,946. The 
Appeals Chamber notes that on one occasion, the Trial Chamber rejected Marijan's evidence for being contradictory. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 561. 
5234 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565. See supra, paras 1427-1435. 
5235 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 559, referring to, inter alia, Davor Marijan, T(F). 35693 (20 Jan 2009), 36073-
36074 (27 Jan 2009), Ex. 2D02000, para. 86. 
5236 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. 
5237 Popovic et al. Decision of 30 January 2008, para. 27, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 198, Semanza 
ARpeal Judgement, para. 303. 
52 8 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 69. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 131-132. 
5239 See supra, para. 1608. 
5240 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 139. 
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lack of documentary evidence undermine the Trial Chamber's reasoning, especially as the Trial 

Chamber expressly noted these issues.5241 In relation to Witness BoziC's evidence, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that there is no indication that the Trial Chamber relied only on the fact that 

Stojic was wearing a unifonn in the BBC Video to arrive at its findings, having also taken into 

account his conduct and words in concluding that he presented himself as an HVO military chief 

who had control over West Mostar in May 1993.5242 Thus, Stojic has failed to show that any 

disregard of this evidence would impact on the Trial Chamber's findings. StojiC's arguments are 

dismissed. 

1611. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate 

that the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting Marijan's evidence concerning the BBC Video and thus 

inferring from this video that he participated in planning the Mostar operations. StojiC's sub-ground 

of appeal 31.2 is dismissed. 

(iii) StojiC's participation in planning the acts of violence which accompanied the HVO 

operations in Mostar (StojiC's Sub-ground 31.3) 

1612. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber elToneously inferred, from his participation in 

planning the military operations in Mostar, that he participated in planning the acts of violence, and 

that it gave no explanation for this inference.5243 Specifically, he argues that he did not participate in 

planning the military operations and that, even if he did, it does not follow that he participated in 

planning the acts of violence, given that there are other reasonable inferences available from the 

evidence. Stojic also contends that there was no. evidence that he was involved in planning the 

details of how the operations were to be carried OUt.
5244 

1613. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was reasonable.5245 It argues 

that the Trial Chamber did not merely rely on its conclusion that Stojic planned the operations, but 

found that acts of violence were an intrinsic part of those operations.5246 

1614. The Appeals Chamber notes that it has dismissed StojiC's arguments challenging his 

participation in planning the Mostar military operations above. 5247 Regarding StojiC's argument that 

5241 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 345. 
5242 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344,346. See infra, para. 1621. 
5243 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 285. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 286; StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 70-71. 
5244 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 285. 
5245 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 248. 
5246 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 249, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 349. See Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 250. The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber's findings show that the HVO 
"systematically and violently evicted Muslims." Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 249, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 356. 
5247 See supra, paras 1601-1605, 1611. 
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the Trial Chamber gave no explanation for inferring that he participated in planning the acts of 

violence, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that as Stojic participated in, 

among other things, planning the HVO operations in Mostar on 9 May 1993 and continued to 

exercise control over the HVO and Military Police knowing that they were committing crimes in 

other municipalities, he intended them.5248 It also found that, during the days that followed the 

attack of 9 May 1993, the HVO engaged in a campaign aimed at evicting Muslims of West Mostar 

from their flats and detaining between 1,500 and 2,500 Muslims in an orchestrated manner.5249 This 

orchestrated campaign was accompanied by acts of violence on a scale that indicated that these 

crimes "were part of a preconceived plan and were in no way the acts of a few undisciplined 

individuals.,,525o Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that it was unnecessary for the Trial 

Chamber to give further reasons having already found that: (1) the crimes and violent acts 

committed during the operations were done in pursuance· of "an orchestrated and organised 

plan,,;5251 and (2) Stojic participated in planning those operations.5252 Stojic fails to support his 

contention that an inference that he participated in planning the violent acts does not follow from 

these previous findings. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show that this 

inference was one that no reasonable trier of fact could have drawn, particularly as he offers no 

other reasonable inference. His arguments are dismissed. 

1615. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he participated in planning the acts of violence 

accompanying the Mostar military operations. His sub-ground of appeal 31.3 is dismissed. 

(iv) Conclusion 

1616. In sum, StojiC's ground of appeal 31 is dismissed. 

(e) The eviction of the Muslim population from West Mostar (StojiC's Grounds 32 and 33) 

1617. The Trial Chamber found that, beginning in June 1993, the HVO expelled many Muslims 

from West Mostar, evicting them from their homes and committing crimes against them.5253 It 

5248 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. 
5249 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 347. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 823, 827, 866, 868, 872, 876, 924, 928, 
930-931,934,937,980-987, Vol. 4, para. 356. . 
5250 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 347. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 823, 827, 866, 868, 872, 876, 924, 928, 
930-931,934,937,980-987, Vol. 4, para. 356. To the extent that the "preconceived" plan included a pattern of conduct 
regarding murder and wilful killing, the Appeals Chamber recalls that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that 
murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993 due to the Dusa reversal and the lack 
of any pattern of CCP murders. See supra, para. 882. 
5251 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 349. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 797-806, 812-818, 822-824, 826-827, 1494-
1498, Vol. 4, para. 347. 
5252 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 344, 346, 348-349, 426. 
5253 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 876, 900, 914, 920, 934-935, Vol. 4, paras 57,356. 
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coricluded that Stojic was not only informed of the evictions but was also "actively involved in 

organising and conducting the eviction campaigns",5254 and intended to have the acts of violence 

linked to the eviction campaigns committed.5255 In this respect, the Trial Chamber considered that: 

(1) Stojic received a report from Dragan Curcic dated 2 June 1993 ("CurCiC's Report of 

2 June 1993,,)5256 informing him of the occupancy of vacant flats in Capljina and Mostar assigned 

to members of the HVO; (2) a Main Staff report dated 14 June 1993 ("CED Report"), informing 

him of the evictions of Muslims from West Mostar;5257 and (3) Stojan VrliC's report dated 

5 July 1993 ("VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993"), containing a list of Muslim homes to be raided that 

evening.5258 The Trial Chamber also considered that: (1) as of 16 June 1993, international 

representatives alerted, inter alios, Stojic to the evictions of Muslims from West Mostar to East 

Mostar based on, inter alia, Exhibits P03804 and P09712;5259 (2) Stojic told international 

representatives at a dinner on 17 July 1993 that "the loss of territory in some areas was part of a 

preconceived strategy bf the HVO whose objective was to exert maximum pressure on the southern 

part of the town of Mostar", expressed his "concern" for the Muslim civilians living in the ABiH­

controlled areas in East Mostar, suggested that the largest possible number of these civilians should 

be evacuated and offered his assistance, and estimated that the conflict between the Muslims and 

Croats in Mostar would be resolved in 20 days;5260 and (3) Witness DZ was told that Stojic was in 

charge of implementing the plan to cleanse Mostar town, and heard HVO members say that Stojic 

d d .. d d . f h 5261 or ere eVIctIOns an estructIOn 0 omes. 

(i) Whether Stojic received reports concerning the evictions of Muslims and crimes 

against them, and was involved in organising and conducting the eviction campaigns (StojiC's Sub­

ground 33.1) 

1618. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously disregarded clearly relevant evidence in 

reaching its conclusions.5262 Referring to his trial arguments, Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded the evidence of Witness Slobodan Bozic,5263 who testified that any documents received 

by the Department of Defence were stamped, registered, and signed by Stojic.5264 As the CED 

5254 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. 
5255 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 357. 
5256 Ex. P02608. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 351, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02608. 
5257 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 351, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02770. 
5258 Ex. P03181. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 352, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03181. 
5259 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 350, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P02806 (confidential), P03804 (confidential), 
P09712 (confidential). 
5260 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 353. 
5261 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 354. 
5262 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
5263 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295, referring to Stojic's Final Brief, para. 482, Stojic Closing Arguments, T. 52399 
(16 Feb 2011). 
5264 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295, referring to Slobodan Bozic, T. 36246-36247 (3 Feb 2009). 
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Report and VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993 were neither stamped nor signed by him, Stojic submits 

that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that they were received. 5265 He argues that elsewhere the 

Trial Chamber disregarded another document because it lacked a signature, stamp, and sea1.5266 

Stojic avers that the intake register indicating whether the documents were received was not entered 

into evidence.5267 He also argues that CurCiC's Report of 2 June 1993 is irrelevant because he had 

no role in the distribution of flats,5268 and that Exhibits P03804 and P09712 do not relate to him.5269 

Stojic contends that no reasonable trier of fact could have found, based on the single report that 

international representatives alerted him to evictions on 16 June 1993, that the only reasonable 

inference was his active involvement in organising and conducting the evictions.527o 

1619. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic knew of 

evictions of Muslims in West Mostar, having received the relevant reports.5271 It submits that the 

Trial Chamber considered Slobodan BoziC's credibility to be "extremely weak",5272 and that 

StojiC's lack of involvement in the distribution of flats is irrelevant to his knowledge of the contents 

of CurCiC's Report of 2 June 1993.5273 It also argues that Exhibits P03804 and P09712 show that 

Stojic and other JCE members acted together to further the expulsion campaign, and that the Trial 

Chamber reasonably relied on them.5274 The Prosecution further asserts that it was "impossible" for 

Stojic, who was based in West Mostar at the time of the crimes, to be unaware of their 

occurrence. 5275 

1620. Stojic replies that demonstrating that a document was sent to the Department of Defence in 

general does not establish beyond reasonable doubt that he saw it.5276 

5265 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. Stojic asserts that the name "Bruno" handwritten on the CED Report 
(Exhibit P02770) casts further doubt that it was seen by him, and that VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993 (Exhibit P03181) 
bears the stamp of the Military Police, showing that the latter received it. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
5266 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 117. 
5267 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295, referring to Ex. 2D01399. 
5268 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 730-733. 
5269 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
5270 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 296. . 
5271 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 257, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 351-352, 
355. The Prosecution specifies that Stojic: (1) ignores that VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993 (Exhibit P03181) was 
personally addressed to him and has Department of Defence stamps on it; (2) incorrectly refers to the stamp as one from 
the Military Police as it is a Department of Defence stamp with the Military Police abbreviation, "MP" , written on it; 
and (3) acknowledges that his first name "Bruno" is written on the CED Report (Exhibit P02770) but his argument is 
illogical. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 258. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 330-332, 336-337 
(21 Mar 2017). Moreover, regarding the CED Report, the Prosecution argues that witnesses "confirmed that Stojic 
received reports generated by the HVO Main Staff's electronic operations centre, the CED". Appeal Hearing, AT. 336 
(21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 736, Vol. 2, para. 870. 
5272 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 258, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 551. 
5273 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 259. 
5274 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 260. 
5275 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 261. 
5276 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 

666 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23229



1621. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is to be presumed that the Trial Chamber evaluated all 

the evidence presented to it as long as there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely 

disregarded any evidence which is clearly relevant. 5277 Concerning Slobodan Bozic's testimony, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that this witness testified as to "how documents were received and 

processed" by the Department of Defence, namely that they would receive a reception stamp, and 

Stojic would sign them and indicate where they were to be forwarded for processing.5278 The Trial 

Chamber did not expressly take account of this witness's evidence when reaching its conclusions 

about the reports received by Stojic in relation to West Mostar.5279 However, the Appeals Chamber 

also notes that, earlier in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber held that it had "heard and 

analysed [Slobodan BoziC's] entire testimony", but found his credibility to be "extremely weak" on 

one issue,5280 recalled that "it assigned very little credibility to [Slobodan BoziC]" ,5281 and 

concluded that, "[t]hroughout his testimony, Slobodan Bozic remained extremely vague in respect 

of any question regarding [the] possible responsibility of the Accused Stojic".5282 The Appeals 

Chamber is therefore satisfied that the Trial Chamber did not disregard Slobodan BoziC's evidence 

on the receipt of reports by the Department of Defence but rather considered his evidence with 

caution, generally relying on his testimony when it was corroborated by other evidence.5283 

Recalling that a trial chamber can reasonably accept certain parts of a witness's testimony and reject 

others,5284 Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber eITed in not expressly considering 

Slobodan BoziC's evidence in its discussion of the reports concerning the evictions of the West 

Mostar Muslims. This argument is thus dismissed. 

1622. Regarding the exhibits themselves, the Appeals Chamber notes that the CED Report has 

"Bruno" handwritten on it, while CurciC's Report of 2 June 1993 and Vrlic's Report of 5 July 1993 

were both personally addressed to Stojic, which a reasonable trier of fact could have concluded 

meant that they were in fact brought to his attention.5285 The Appeals Chamber also rejects the 

5277 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017; Kvocka et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 23. 
5278 Slobodan Bozic, T. 36246-36247 (3 Feb 2009). 
5279 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 351-352,355. 
5280 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 551 (discussing the powers assigned to the Department of Defence Collegium). 
5281 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 573. 
5282 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 55l. 
5283 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 472,495,556,573 (the Trial Chamber explained that, although it assigned 
very little credibility to Slobodan Bozic, other evidence nevertheless supported his evidence concerning the 
appointment of power of the President of the HZ H-B and the Head of the Department of Defence), 583, 675, 834, 
Vol. 2, paras 765,768,784,1231,1455,1496, Vol. 3, paras 16,57, Vol. 4, paras 82, 293, 300,325 (the Trial Chamber 
found that, as of 15 November 1993, Stojic no longer had any control over the armed forces and the Military Police in 
view of: (1) Slobodan BoziC's testimony that after November 1993 Stojic never again came to the Department of 
Defence; and (2) the absence of other evidence). 
5284 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 132. 
5285 Ex. P02770, p. 1; Ex. P02608, p. 2; Ex. P03181, p. 2. The Appeals Chamber also considers that Stojic fails to 
explain why Exhibit P03181 should be disregarded as it features a stamp showing that it was received by the 
Department of Defence. See Ex. P03181, p. 2. 

667 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23228



assertion that the Trial Chamber disregarded another piece of evidence from a different department 

on the basis that it was not stamped or signed as the Trial Chamber doubted the authenticity of that 

document on other bases.5286 With regard to the intake registry, as Stojic acknowledges,5287 the 

document was not admitted into evidence.5288 Thus, the Trial Chamber could not be expected to 

consider the intake registry in its determinations. As for Exhibits P03804 and P09712, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not rely on these documents on the basis that Stojic had 

received them and knew of their contents.5289 In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that 

Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered CurCic's Report of 2 June 1993, 

VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993, and the CED Report on the basis that he did not receive them.529o 

1623. In relation to CurCiC's Report of 2 June 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber relied on StojiC's knowledge of vacant flats, in addition to other evidence, to demonstrate 

that he was aware that evictions were occurring, and not to find that he had a role in the distribution 

of such flats. 5291 Thus, Stojic's submission ~n this issue is rejected. Regarding Exhibits P03804 and 

P09712, although they do not specifically mention Stojic, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber relied on other evidence explicitly stating that he told intemational representatives on 

16 June 1993 that the evictions were carried out by criminals not under HVO contro1.5292 Thus, 

Stojic fails to demonstrate that the finding could not stand on the basis of the remaining evidence. 

In this respect, Stojic also fails to substantiate his argument that no reasonable trier of fact could 

have reached its conclusion on the basis of the report of 16 June 1993, particularly as he offers no 

other reasonable inference. StojiC's argumen~s are dismissed. 

1624. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he received reports conceming the eviction of Muslims and 

crimes against them in Mostar beginning in June 1993 and was also actively involved in organising 

and conducting the eviction campaigns. His sub-ground of appeal 33.1 is dismissed. 

5286 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 116-117. 
5287 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
5288 See Ex. 2D01399 (letter from the Croatian Ministry of Justice stating that it had no archive material from the 
De?artment of Defence). 
528 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 350. See also supra, para. 1617. 
5290 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 351-352. 
5291 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 351,355. , 
5292 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 788, referring to Antoon van der Grinten, T(F). 21046, 21048 (10 July 2007), 
Ex. P02806 (confidential), p. 2. See Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21046-21050 (10 July 2007). 
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(ii) Whether Stojie and the HVO authorities genuinely intended to punish crimes against 

Muslims in Mostar (StojiC's Sub-ground 33.2) 

1625. The Trial Chamber considered evidence that on 2 June 1993, Stojie informed the HVO of 

measures taken to prevent thefts in flats,5293 along with further evidence that on 16 June 1993, when 

representatives of the international community informed Corie, Pusie, Stojie, and Prlie that 

evictions were occurring, they responded that the evictions were carried out by "criminals who were 

not under HVO control".5294 The Trial Chamber thus concluded that the HVO authorities did not 

genuinely intend to prevent crimes against Muslims.5295 The Trial Chamber also held that in light of 

the evidence, as well as the fact that the HVO continued to commit crimes throughout the 

Indictment period and that Stojie encouraged the commission of the crimes by NaletiliC's troops, he 

did not intend to prevent or punish the crimes committed by the HVO, including the Military 

Police, despite having the de facto power to do SO.5296 

1626. Stojie submits that no reasonable tlier of fact could have concluded that the only reasonable 

inference was that he did not intend to punish climes against Muslims.5297 He argues that the Trial 

Chamber: (1) disregarded evidence of the minutes of an HZ(R) H-B meeting on 31 May 1993 

("Minutes of 31 May 1993"),5298 requiring that appropliate measures be taken for the prevention of 

climes in Mostar;5299 (2) failed to properly consider his order of the same day ("StojiC's Order of 

31 May 1993"),5300 ordering a curfew, vehicle checks, and arrests;5301 and (3) ignored other 

evidence showing the steps taken to combat clime in Mostar.5302 Stojie argues that his statement to 

the representatives of the international community that the evictions were canied out by "criminals 

who were not under HVO control" supports the conclusion that he took steps to prevent crimes.5303 

1627. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was reasonable and is not 

undermined by StojiC's order of 31 May 1993 and the other evidence he cites.5304 

5293 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 422. 
5294 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 422. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 350. 
5295 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 422. 
5296 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 320. 
5297 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 297-298, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 422-423. 
5298 Ex. P02575. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Ex. P02575. 
5299 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Ex. P02575, pp. 1-2. 
5300 Ex. P02578. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Ex. P02578. 
5301 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Ex. P02578, p. 1. 
5302 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Exs. P04111, 2D00854, P06730, P07035. 
5303 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 298, referring to Ex. P02806 (confidential). 
5304 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 262. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 256. The 
Prosecution further points to the ongoing campaign of mass and systematic HVO crimes against Muslims and 
underscores the Trial Chamber's findings on StojiC's failure to prevent or punish such crimes. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Stojic), para. 263, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 415, 423, 427, Ex. P07035, pp. 4, 6, 11. 
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1628. In relation to crime-fighting measures taken on 31 May 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes 

that the Minutes of 31 May 1993 refer, inter alia, to the need to ensure that "all appropriate 

measures are taken for the prevention of crime, especially the looting of private property from 

apartments in the territory of the Mostar Municipality,,,5305 while StojiC's Order of 31 May 1993 

instructs all Military Police and civilian police at checkpoints around Mostar to enfOrce a curfew 

and mandatory vehicle checks, as well as to arrest persons with goods of unidentified origin in 

Mostar.5306 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly consider the 

Minutes of 31 May 1993, but carefully assessed StojiC's Order of 31 May 1993, and in particular 

took account of the fact that StojiC and Branko K vesic, Head of the Department of the Interior, had 

issued that order so as to combat thefts.5307 

1629. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the conclusion that Stojic did not intend to 

prevent or punish the crimes was also based on other findings and considerations,5308 including that: 

(1) the HVO conti~ued to commit crim~s throughout the relevant time period;5309 (2) Stojic 

participated in or planned HVO military operations throughout this period, knew of crimes being 

committed, and thus intended to have those crimes committed;5310 and (3) he encouraged the 

commission of the crimes by NaletiliC's troops by commending them on several occasions while 

knowing that they were committing crimes.5311 In light of this, the Appeals Chamber considers the 

evidence cited by Stojic - which further underlines that he knew that crimes were occurring, and 

failed to take adequate measures to address this - fails to demonstrate any error in the Trial 

Chamber's findings. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses, for the same reasons, the assertions that 

the Trial Chamber erred in disregarding other evidence showing StojiC's involvement in crime­

fighting, some of which occurred after his JCE membership ended in November 1993,5312 or in its 

assessment of his statement to the representatives of the international community. Stojic fails to 

show how this evidence could call into question the relevant Trial Chamber finding. These 

arguments are rejected. 

5305 Ex. P02575, p. 2 (emphasis omitted). 
5306 Ex. P02578, p. 1. 
5307 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 446, referring to Ex. P02578. 
5308 See supra, paras 1491-1492, 1494-1495. 
5309 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 423. 
5310 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. See supra, para. 1494. 
5311 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 420,423. See supra, paras 1498-1499. 
5312 See Exs. P04111 (minutes of an HZ(R) H-B meeting on 11 August 1993 calling for crime prevention measures in 
general), 2D00854 (minutes of a meeting on 17 September 1993 discussing steps to establish a judicial system and fight 
crime), P06730 (a police report of 18 November 1993 detailing criminal investigation in connection with evictions), 
P07035 (a report of 4 December 1993 to the Croatian Information Service detailing findings on crimes). 
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1630. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he and the HVO authorities did not genuinely intend to punish the 

crimes against Muslims. His sub-ground of appeal 33.2 is dismissed. 

(iii) Alleged errors in the assessment of StojiC's comments made on 17 July 1993 

(StojiC's Sub-ground 33.3) 

1631. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, based on his statements 

made at the dinner on 17 July 1993, that the only reasonable infere~ce was that he was actively 

involved in organising and conducting the Mostar eviction campaigns.5313 In partiCular, Stojic 

argues that: (1) the statements refer to military pressure on the ABiH as opposed to the evictions of 

civilians;5314 (2) none of the comments attributed to him "reflect the way in which events 

subsequently unfolded",5315 in that the conflict in Mostar was not resolved within 20 days and that 

the next HVO attack occurred on 24 August 1993;5316 (3) he expressed concern for the civilians and 

offered his assistance in evacuating them, which is inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's 

inference;5317 (4) the Trial Chamber failed to consider that it was "hardly likely" that he would have 

made incriminating statements at an informal dinner with international representatives;5318 and 

(5) the Trial Chamber disregarded the alternative reasonable inference that he was trying to present 

a confident and powerful position to international observers in the face of military difficulty.5319 

1632. The Prosecution responds that: (1) Stojic ignores that the intemational representatives 

surmised from his comments that the HVO military pressure would drive Muslim civilians out of 

East Mostar;5320 (2) East Mostar was the target of a prolonged HVO military attack;5321 (3) the Trial 

Chamber was correct not to accept his professed concern for civilians as genuine;5322 (4) StojiC's 

argument that he would not likely have said anything incriminatory shows no enor;5323 and (5) even 

if he was trying to present a confident and powerful position,this does not show that the Trial 

Chamber unreasonably relied on his comments.5324 The Prosecution also submits that the Trial 

5313 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 306. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 299-300. 
5314 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 301, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03545 (confidential), p. 9, P03547, p. 3. 
5315 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 302. 
5316 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 302, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 945-972, Exs. P10217 (confidential), 
fara. 125, P03530 (confidential), para. 3. 

317 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 303. Further, Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber failed to address the "significant 
inconsistency" between Witness DZ's witness statement and his oral testimony. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 303, 
referring to Witness DZ, T. 26791 (closed session) (24 Jan 2008); Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 34. 
5318 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 304, referring to Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 87. 
5319 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 305, referring to Exs. P03545 (confidential), p. 8, P03530 (confidential), p. 5. 
5320 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 265, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 361. 
5321 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 265, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1018,1378. 
5322 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 265. 
5323 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 265. 
5324 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 265. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 330-331 (21 Mar 2017). 
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Chamber's reasonable conclusion is further supported by other evidence of StojiC's role and 

. 1 . h M 5325 IllVO vement III t e ostar events. 

1633. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not reach 

the conclusion that Stojic was actively involved in the eviction campaigns in Mostar on the basis of 

the statements he made at the dinner of 17 July 1993 alone, but also on the basis of other evidence 

and findings.5326 To the extent to which Stojic alleges the contrary,5327 this submission is dismissed. 

1634. With regard to StojiC's argument that the comments attributed to him related not to the 

evictions of civilians but to applying military pressure on the ABiH, the Appeals Chamber notes 

that, in the section on his knowledge of the East Mostar crimes, the Trial Chamber observed that 

Stojic commented that the HVO strategy was to place "maximum pressure on the southern part of 

the town of Mostar while leaving one route open [ ... J to allow the ABiH to escape".5328 It also took 

account of the fact that the analysis of the situation from members of the international organisations 

indicated that: (1) Stojic seemed convinced of his troops' ability to achieve a definitive military 

solution to the "Muslim problem" in Mostar town;5329 and (2) the HVO military pressure, in tandem 

with the shelling and isolation of East Mostar, would lead to shortages of food and water thus 

driving out the civilians.533o Therefore, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did 

consider StojiC's statement related to the HVO's military strategy concerning the ABiH. However, 

the Trial Chamber also considered the effect such a strategy would have had on the civilian 

popUlation and concluded that "the plan of action to which Bruno Stojic referred was necessarily 

directed against the entire popUlation of East Mostar and not only against the ABiH,.5331 Stojic does 

not argue, much less demonstrate, that these goals of the HVO strategy were mutually exclusive. 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber also found that Stojic knew of the shelling of East Mostar, the attacks 

on representatives of international organisations in that part of town, and the shortages of food and 

water suffered by the Muslim population.5332 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Stojic only 

asserts one interpretation of his statements which was acknowledged by the Trial Chamber. In light 

of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

considering his statements on the basis that his comment concerned applying pressure on the ABiH. 

StojiC's argument is dismissed. 

5325 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 264, and evidence cited therein. 
5326 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 350-352,354. See supra, para. 1617. 
5327 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 299. 
5328 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 361, referring to Ex. P03545 (confidential), p. 8. See also Ex. P03547, p. 3; Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 353. 
5329 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 361, referring to Ex. P03545 (confidential), p. 9. See also Ex. P03547, p. 3. 
5330 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 361-362. 
5331 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362 (emphasis added). 
5332 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. 
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1635. Turning to StojiC's argument that his comments are inconsistent with the fact that there was 

no HVO attack until 24 August 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic misrepresents the 

Trial Chamber's findings. The Trial Chamber did conclude that there was an HVO attack in Mostar 

which began on 23 August 1993 in the section of the Trial Judgement pointed to by Stojic,5333 but 

also found that "the HVO forces carried out a new round of operations in mid-July 1993 in which 

they expelled Muslims from West Mostar, including the women, children and the elderly" and that 

these operations "continued throughout the second half of July and in August 1993".5334 These 

attacks occurred contemporaneously with StojiC's comments, and thus his argument to the contrary 

is rejected. As to StojiC's argument on his estimation of the duration of the conflict, the Appeals 

Chamber is not persuaded that his statement that the conflict would be resolved within 20 days was 

necessarily inconsistent with his appraisal of the situation on 17 July 1993. Stojic therefore fails to 

demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on the evidence. Regardless, Stojic 
-

does not show how this alleged inconsistency could impact on the impugned finding which was 

based on various other factors.5335 This argument is rejected. 

1636. As for StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's reliance on these statements is 

inconsistent with his concern for, and offer to help, the civilian population, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered evidence that Stojic "expressed his 'concern"; 

and "suggested that the largest possible number of these civilians be evacuated and offered his 

assistance".5336 Nevertheless, the Trial Chamber concluded, on the basis of the evidence as a whole, 

that Stojic participated in organising and conducting the eviction campaigns.5337 Thus, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber gave StojiC's concern and offer to help little or no weight and 

did not accept these statements as genuine. Stojic simply seeks to substitute his own interpretation 

of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber, and fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have reached this conclusion. His argument is dismissed.5338 Further, the Appeals 

Chamber dismisses StojiC's argument that it was "hardly likely" that he would have made 

5333 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 947-972. 
5334 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 920. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 919, referring to Ex. PlO038, para. 24 ("[o]n 
22 July 1993, six HVO soldiers came to the flat belonging to Jasmina eWe and took her and her family to Semovac, 
north of Mostar; once there, the soldiers told them that they were 'allowed to leave the West area'.") (internal 
references omitted). 
5335 See supra, paras 1617, 1633. 
5336 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 353, referring to Witness DV, T(F). 22895-22896 (private session) (1 Oct 2007), 
Exs. P10217 (confidential), para. 124, P03545 (confidential), p. 9. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 361, referring 
to Ex. P03545 (confidential), p. 9. 
5337 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. See supra, paras 1598, 1601-1604, 1610-1611, 1614-1615, 1617, 1621-1624. 
5338 The Appeals Chamber also rejects StojiC's argument that, the Trial Chamber failed to address the inconsistency 
between Witness DZ's witness statement and testimony, given that the content of the witness's testimony was 
considered by the Trial Chamber. Therefore, Stojic does not establish that evidence of a similar nature could have had 
an impact on the Trial Chamber's conclusions. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 353, 355. See Witness DZ, T. 26791 
(closed session) (24 Jan 2008); Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 34. See infra, paras 1641-1643. 

673 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23222



incriminating statements at the dinner as unconvincing.5339 Regarding StojiC's contention that the 

Trial Chamber failed to take account of another reasonable inference, i. e. that he was simply trying 

to present a confident and powerful position, the Trial Chamber considered the evidence he now 

cites in its discussion on his participation in events.5340 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber considers 

that Stojic fails to show how this possible inference is inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he was actively involved in organising and conducting the eviction campaigns in 

Mostar. StojiC's argument is dismissed. 

1637. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in relying on statements attributed to him at a dinner on 17 July 1993 to 

support its finding that he was actively involved in organising and conducting the eviction 

campaigns. His sub-ground of appeal 33.3 is dismissed. 

(iv) Alleged errors regarding Witness DZ's credibility and evidence (StojiC's Grounds 32 

and 33.4) 

1638. The Trial Chamber relied on the evidence of Witness DZ in various instances when 

addressing StojiC's responsibility. Specifically, Witness DZ's evidence was used, with other 

evidence, to conclude that Stojic represented the HVO in peace negotiations.5341 Further, in 

concluding that Stojic participated in planning the operations to evict Muslims from West Mostar 

and thus intended acts of violence linked to these operations,5342 the Trial Chamber considered, 

inter alia, that Witness DZ: (1) was told by Vladislav Pogarcic that Stojic was in charge of 

implementing the plan to cleanse Mostar town; and (2) heard HVO members say that Stojic ordered 

people to be evicted from their homes and their houses burned in Mostar.5343 The Trial Chamber 

also considered Witness DZ's evidence as well as other evidence in finding that Stojic knew of 

crimes in East Mostar such as shelling and attacks on representatives of the international 

community.5344 

5339 The Appeals Chamber considers that the case-law cited by Stojic in support is legally and factually distinguishable 
from his case. See Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 87 (the Appeals Chamber considered that Radislav KrstiC's presence 
at three meetings did not suggest that he was aware of any genocidal intent of Ratko Mladic as it was unlikely that 
Mladic would have discussed this in front of UNPROFOR leaders or the foreign media present). 
5340 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fns 796 (referring to Exhibit P03545), 797 (referring to Exhibits P03545 and P03530). 
5341 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 323; referring to Witness DZ, T(F). 26546 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008), 
Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 58. 
5342 See supra, para. 1617. 
5343 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 354, referring to Ex. P10367 (confidential), paras 33, 69. The Trial Chamber also 
relied on Witness DZ's evidence, in combination with other evidence, to conclude that Stojic estimated that the conflict 
between Muslims and Croats in Mostar could be resolved in 20 days. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 353 & fn. 797. See 
sl1f1ra, paras 1631-1636, fn. 5338. . 
53 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 359 & fn. 801. 
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a. Alleged errors regarding the credibility of Witness DZ (StojiC's Ground 32) 

1639. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law and/or fact by failing to assess and/or give 

a "reasoned decision" on Witness DZ's reliability and credibility.5345 Specifically, Stojic submits 

that the Trial Chamber erred in law by disregarding the Defence submission that the witness was 

not credible, making no express findings on his credibility, failing to address inconsistencies in his 

evidence, and relying on his written evidence while disregarding his oral evidence.5346 Stojic argues 

that no reasonable trial chamber could have found Witness DZ credible and relied on his evidence 

since: (1) he failed to explain, and was evasive about, why none of his contemporaneous reports 

contain the allegations he made against Stojic at trial; (2) he distorted the facts at trial, deliberately 

painting a negative picture of Stojic, thereby showing his bias; (3) his working relationships were 

persistently bad; and (4) he lacked background knowledge.5347 Stojic concludes that this undennines 

the findings that he participated in planning eviction oper'.ltions in West Mostar and knew about 

attacks on international organisations in East Mostar,since they are primarily based on the evidence 

of Witness DZ, and therefore calls for setting aside his convictions on Counts 1-3,6-11,15-17,20, 

and 22_25.5348 

1640. The Prosecution responds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred when 

assessing Witness DZ's credibility.5349 The Prosecution argues that the right to a reasoned opinion 

does not require an explicit analysis of Witness DZ's credibility and that large parts of his evidence 

were well corroborated.535o With regard to StojiC's factual allegations, the Prosecution contends 

that: (1) Witness DZ's repOlts were not all available and did not cover all topics; (2) the witness 

was not biased against Stojic and did not distort the facts; (3) Stojic fails to demonstrate how being 

disliked by peers impacts on the witness's credibility; and (4) his alleged lack of background 

knowledge is irrelevant to the assessment of his credibility.5351 

1641. The Appeals Chamber turns first to StojiC's assertion that the impugned findings are. 

"primarily" based on Witness DZ's evidence. It notes that the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic 

was "actively involved in organising and conducting the eviction campaigns" against Muslims from 

West Mostar is based on a variety of other testimonial and documentary evidence.5352 Equally, the 

5345 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 287, paras 288-289. See StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 67-68, 70-71. 
5346 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 287, para. 288. 
5347 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 287, paras 289-293. 
5348 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 287-288, 293. 
5349 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 252, 255. 
5350 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 252-254. 
5351 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 254. 
5352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 352-353, referring to, inter alia, Antoon van 
der Grinten, T(F). 21079-21080 (10 July 2007), Witness DV, T(F). 22895-22896, 22899 (closed session) (1 Oct 2007), 
Ex. P03181, Ex. P03547, p. 3, Ex. P10217 (confidential), paras 122-125. 
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Trial Chamber's finding regarding StojiC's knowledge of the targeting of international organisations 

by the HVO is based on extensive other evidence.5353 Thus, Stojic has failed to show that the 

impugned findings are "primarily" based on Witness DZ's evidence or that it was the principal 

evidence on which the Trial Chamber relied to convict him.5354 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that a trial chamber has broad discretion in assessing the appropriate weight and credibility 

to be accorded to the testimony of a witness,5355 and thus Stojic must demonstrate a discernible 

error. 5356 

1642. Although the Trial Chamber did not explicitly address StojiC's trial arguments challenging 

the credibility of Witness DZ, it stated that to "rule on the alleged acts [in Mostar Municipality], the 

Chamber assessed a great amount of evidence" including the evidence of Witness DZ.5357 The Trial 

Chamber then proceeded to rely on both Witness DZ's viva voce testimony and his/her witness 

statement in numerous instances, alongside other evidence, when determining the factual narrative 

of events in Mostar.5358 Thus, the Trial Chamber clearly considered Witness DZ to be credible 

despite StojiC's trial arguments to the contrary. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "an 

accused's right to a reasoned opinion does not ordinarily demand a detailed analysis of the 

credibility of particular witnesses", 5359 however, a trial chamber must provide reasons for accepting 

testimony despite alleged or material inconsistencies when it is the principal evidence relied upon to 

convict an accused.536o Having determined that Witness DZ's evidence was not the principal 

evidence relied upon to convict Stojic for events in Mostar, the Appeals Chamber considers that 

Stojic has not identified any material inconsistencies in Witness DZ's evidence that the Trial 

Chamber was required to address.5361 Therefore, Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber 

committed a discernible error by not providing an explicit analysis on Witness DZ's credibility. 

5353 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 359, 362, 367, referring to, inter alia, Antoon van der Grinten, T(F). 21046, 21076-
21078 (10 July 2007), 21186-21187 (11 July 2007), Witness DW, T(F). 23087 (3 Oct 2007), Ex. P02806 (confidential), 
Ex. P03162 (confidential), p. 1, Ex. P03184 (confidential), p. 2, Ex. P10287 (confidential), para. 30. 
5354 See supra, para. 1639. 
5355 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 781, 797, 819; Lukic and Lukic 
Affeal Judgement, paras 86, 235, 363, 375. 
53 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131 ("In such cases the 
Appeals Chamber will deem that the witness evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber could not have been accepted by 
any reasonable tribunal of fact or that the evaluation of the evidence was 'wholly erroneous"', and proceed to substitute 
its own finding for that of the Trial Chamber). 
5357 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 667. 
5358 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1228, 1235, 1239, 1259-1260, 1263, 1266. 
5359 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 60. 
5360 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 129, 134, 252; KZlpreSkic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 135, 202. 
5361 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 288-290 (arguing that Witness DZ's contemporary reports of events did not contain 
any allegations against him, and referring to evidence on the release of UN interpreters - an event which was not 
considered in the Trial Judgement). 
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1643. Moreover, in arguing that no reasonable trier of fact could have found Witness DZ credible 

and relied on his evidence, Stojic repeats his arguments that were unsuccessful at trial5362 without 

demonstrating that their rejection constituted a discernible error. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses his ground of appeal 32. 

b. Alleged errors in relation to Witness DZ's hearsay evidence (StojiC's Sub-

ground 33.4) 

1644. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in according any weight to Witness DZ's 

hearsay evidence.5363 In particular, he asserts that: (1) Witness DZ's evidence is uncorroborated;5364 

(2) one of the statements is "multiple hearsay" from unidentified HVO soldiers on unspecified 

occasions, which was translated by an unidentified interpreter;5365 (3) the Trial Chamber 

disregarded Witness DZ's failure to record "important" statements in any contemporaneous 

report;5366 and (4) Witness DZ was unable to recall the dates of conversations and who translated 

them for him.5367 

1645. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly relied on Witness DZ's 

evidence,5368 as: (1) it was corroborated;5369 (2) it was based on what he learnt directly from 

Pogarcic in English;537o and (3) his contemporaneous reports were only a summary such that the 

parts of it which are on the record do not represent all of his communications with PogarCic.5371 

1646. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber may rely on evidence, including hearsay 

evidence, provided that it is reliable and credible.5372 The Appeals Chamber also recalls that a trial 

5362 Compare Stojic Closing Arguments, T. 52322-52337 (15 Feb 2011) with StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 288-292. 
5363 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 309, 311. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 307-308. 
5364 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 309. 
5365 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 309, referring to Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 33. 
5366 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 310, referring to Witness DZ, T. 26781-26782 (closed session) (24 Jan 2008), 
EX.P02930. . 
5367 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 310, referring to Witness DZ, T. 26778 (closed session) (24 Jan 2008). 
5368 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 266. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 332-333 (21 Mar 2017). 
5369 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 266, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 350, Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), paras 237-242, 257-259, 264-265. The Prosecution also asserts that Stojic ignores that 
Witness DZ's evidence is compatible with other reliable evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief (StojiC), para. 269. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 267. 
5370 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 268, referring to Witness DZ, T. 26554, 26572-26573 (closed session) 
(22 Jan 2008), Ex. P10367 (confidential), paras 25-26, 69. 
5371 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 269, referring to Witness DZ, T. 26763-26764, 26864 (closed session) 
(24 Jan 2008). 
5372 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1276. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 846. 
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chamber has wide discretion as to the assessment of the weight and probative value of hearsay 

evidence, but must proceed with caution in the assessment of such evidence.5373 

1647. With regard to StojiC's argument that Witness DZ's hearsay evidence is uncorroborated, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that two pieces of prima facie credible evidence are corroborative when 

they are compatible with one another regarding the same fact or a sequence of linked facts. 5374 In 

this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that Witness DZ's evidence regarding StojiC's role in 

the implementation of the evictions is corroborated by evidence showing that StojiC: (1) presented 

himself as "an HVO military chief who had control over West Mostar in May 1993,,;5375 

(2) received reports from HVO officials regarding events that occurred during the course of the 

eviction campaigns;5376 and (3) hosted a dinner at his house attended by international 

representatives, during which he informed them of HVO strategies and objectives regarding 

Mostar.5377 In relation to Witness DZ's evidence that Stojic ordered homes to be burned, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the evidence was not relied on to establish his responsibility for the 

burning of houses, but to establish that Stojic was actively involved in organising and conducting 

the eviction campaign,5378 which, as discussed above, is corroborated to some extent by other 

evidence. Thus, StojiC's argument on the lack of corroboration of Witness DZ's evidence is 

dismissed. 

1648. As to the assertion that Witness DZ's statements relied on hearsay from unidentified HVO 

soldiers on unspecified occasions, which was translated by, an unidentified interpreter,5379 the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the source of the information is one of the factors that should be 

considered when assessing the weight and probative value of hearsay evidence.538o In this case, the 

source of the information has been identified as HVO soldiers whose discussions Witness DZ heard 

and understood.5381 The Appeals Chamber considers that more specific identification of the source 

of the information was not necessary under the circumstances, and finds that Stojic does not 

demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's decision to find Witness DZ's evidence reliable, taking 

5373 Lukic and Lukic Appeal Judgement, para. 577. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1307 ("It is settled that 
the weight and probative value to be afforded to hearsay evidence will ultimately depend upon 'the infinitely variable 
circumstances which surround hearsay evidence' ."). 
5374 Gatete Appeal Judgement, para. 125; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 428. See Popovic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, paras 243 (a trial chamber has the discretion to decide in the cir{:umstances of each case whether 
corroboration is necessary or whether to rely on uncorroborated, but otherwise credible, witness testimony"), 1264; 
D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 215. 
5375 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 346. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 344, referring to Ex. P04238. See also supra, 
Pcaras 1598, 1601-1604, 1610-1611, 1614-1615, 1617, 1621-1624. 

376 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 351-352, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P02608, P0277 0, P03181. See supra, 
Pcaras 1617, 1621-1624. 

377 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 353, and references cited therein. See supra, para. 1617. 
5378 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. 
5379 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 309, referring to Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 33. 
5380 Lukic and Lukic Appeal Judgement, para. 577. 
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into account the evidence as a whole. Finally, as to StojiC's argument that Witness DZ's evidence 

should have been less reliable as the witness did not record this evidence in contemporary reports, 

the Appeals Chamber considers that there is no requirement for a witness to do so before his or her 

evidence can be relied on by a trial chamber. This argument is dismissed. 

1649. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in relying on Witness DZ's evidence in establishing that Stojic was actively involved in 

organising and conducting the eviction campaigns. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 33.4 is dismissed. 

(v) StojiC's intention that mistreatment be committed against Muslims during the eviction 

campaigns (StojiC's Sub-ground 33.5) 

1650. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable 

inference, that he intended that the mistreatment linked to the eviction campaigns be committed.5382 

Specifically, he argues that this conclusion was not based on any evidence and is inconsistent with 

the evidence that he expressed concem about civilians and sought the evacuation of children.5383 

Stojic also asserts. that there is no evidence that he intended the acts of violence.5384 

1651. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic intended 

the acts of violence that occurred during the expUlsion campaign.5385 It submits that there was 

evidence that acts of violence were committed systematically to expel Muslims,5386 and that the 

Trial Chamber "was right not to accept that Stojic genuinely cared about East Mostar civilians".5387 

1652. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to explain the evidential 

basis for its conclusion that he intended acts of violence, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

paragraph of the Trial Judgement referred to by Stojic does not cite evidence.5388 However, the 

Appeals Chamber finds no error in this regard, as the contested paragraph clearly contains the 

conclusion, summarising the findings made previously in that section.5389 The Appeals Chamber 

dismisses elsewhere his challenges to those findings - including challenges on the basis of StojiC's 

expressed concem about civilians.539o This challenge is also dismissed. In respect of the alleged 

lack of evidence of his intention, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber permissibly 

5381 Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 33. 
5382 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 312-313, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 357. 
5383 S .. -, AlB' f 313 tOJIC S ppea ne, para. . 
5384 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 313. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 314. 
5385 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 270. 
5386 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 271, refeJ.Ting to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 827, 866, 868, 872, 
876,924,928,930,934,981-987, Vol. 4, paras 356-357. 
5387 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 272. 
5388 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 313, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 357. 
5389 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 350-356. 
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based its inference not on direct evidence but on its other findings that the acts of violence were part 

of a preconceived plan and that Stojic participated in planning the operations resulting in these 

violent acts.5391 Stojic merely makes an assertion without pointing to any other reasonable inference 

that could be drawn from the evidence. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding, as the only reasonable inference, that he 

intended that Muslims be mistreated during the course of the eviction campaigns beginning in 

Mostar in June 1993. His sub-ground of appeal 33.5 is dismissed. 

(vi) Conclusion 

1653. In sum, StojiC's grounds of appeal 32 and 33 are dismissed. 

(f) The siege of East Mostar (StojiC's Ground 34) 

1654. The Trial Chamber found that, between June 1993 and April 1994, the HVO laid siege to 

East Mostar and committed crimes.5392 It found, inter alia, that: (1) the town was the target of a 

prolonged military attack by the HVO that included intense constant shooting and shelling, 

including sniper fire, that resulted in many inhabitants being injured or killed; (2) the population 

could not leave East Mostar of its own free will and had to live under extremely harsh conditions, 

without food, water, electricity and appropriate medical care; and (3) the HVO hindered and, at 

times, completely blocked the ani val of humanitarian aid and deliberately targeted the members of 

the international organisations, killing and wounding some of them.5393 

1655. The Trial Chamber found that Stojic knew about the HVO's plan of action to exert pressure 

on East Mostar to force the ABiH to leave the sector and the impact it had on civilians.5394 It 

concluded that, inasmuch as he continued to exercise his functions in the HVO/Government of the 

HR H-B, he "accepted the crimes directly linked to the HVO military operations against East 

Mostar, that is, the murders and the destruction of property, including mosques, related to the 

shelling and the harsh living conditions of the population of that part of the town caused by the lack 

of food and water".5395 In reaching this conclusion it relied on, inter alia: (1) its earlier finding that 

5390 See supra, paras 1621-1624, 1628-1630, 1633-1637, 1646-1649. 
5391 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 357. 
5392 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1378. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 992-1377; Vol. 4, para. 59. 
5393 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1378. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 992-1377; Vol. 4, para. 59. 
5394 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 361-362. 
5395 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded that: (1) StojiC's 
JCE membership ended on 15 November 1993 (see supra, paras 1401, 1516; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1227); and 
(2) sniping incidents 13 and 14 occurred in 1994 (see infra, para. 1995). Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds that for 
seven of the ten mosques destroyed or severely damaged in Mostar, "no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded 
beyond reasonable doubt that they were severely damaged or destroyed before 9 November 1993, and thus before 
Praljak's membership in the JCE ended". See infra, para. 2002). Based on the same reasoning detailed in Praljak's 
section below (see infra, paras 1984-1985, 2000-2003), the Appeals Chamber finds proprio motu that - to the extent the 
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Stojic was kept informed by the representatives of the international community about the crimes 

committed by HVO members in Mostar, such as the shelling and the incidents when representatives 

of the international community were targeted by the HVO;5396 (2) Stojic being informed through a 

report on 21 August '1993 that there were shortages of food, water, and electricity in East 

Mostar;5397 and (3) StojiC's statement to international representatives on 17 July 1993 that the 

HVO's plan of action was to put pressure on East Mostar in order to force the ABiH to leave the 

sector, which, as found by the Trial Chamber, was necessarily directed against the entire population 

of East Mostar and not only against the ABiH.5398 In relation to the sniping campaign, the Trial 

Chamber considered, inter alia, that Stojic told Witness Antoon van der Gtinten that certain snipers 

were under his control,5399 before concluding that Stojic must have controlled all HVO snipers in 

West Mostar since their actions always followed the same modus operandi.54oo The Trial Chamber 

concluded, based on this finding and other considerations, including the testimony of Witness DZ, 

that Stojic must have known that the snipers in West Mostar were targeting civilians and members 

of international organisations in East Mostar.5401 It also concluded that inasmuch as Stojic did 

nothing to remove the obstacles hindeting access to humanitarian aid though he had the power and 

the obligation to do so, he facilitated that obstruction.5402 

(i) StojiC's knowledge and acceptance of the harsh living conditions of the population in 

East Mostar (Stojic's Sub-ground 34.1) 

1656. Stojic submits that the Ttial Chamber erred in finding that he knew about and accepted the 

harsh living conditions of the population in East Mostar.5403 He argues that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded clearly relevant evidence showing that the Department of Defence took steps to supply 

medicine and medical equipment to Muslim civilians and the ABiH,5404 namely the evidence: (1) of 

Trial Chamber so found - Stojic cannot be held responsible for crimes occurring after 15 November 1993, including 
sniping incidents 13 and 14 as well as the destruction of or severe damage to seven mosques in Mostar as it relates to 
Count 21. The impact of this finding on sentencing, if any, will be addressed below. See infra, para. 3361. 
5396 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 359, referring to, inter alia, Witness DZ, T(F). 26472-26473, 26484-26485 (closed 
session) (22 Jan 2008). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1266, referring to, inter alia, Witness DZ, T(F). 26484-
26485,26489-26490 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008). 
5397 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 360, referring to Ex. P04403. 
5398 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. See supra, paras 1633-1637. 
5399 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 365, referring to Antoon van der Grinten, T(F). 21046-21048, 21051, 21248 
(10 July 2007), Ex. P02806 (confidential), p. 2. 
5400 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 368-369. 
5401 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 369. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1266 (referring to Witness DZ, T(F). 26484-
26485, 26489-26490 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008), Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 21), Vol. 4, paras 359 (and 
references cited therein), 364-365 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 2D00116, 2DOOI17). 
5402 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1244. . 
5403 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 315-316, 319. See Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 331; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 71. 
5404 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316, referring to StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 92. Stojic also argues that the Trial 
Chamber's conclusion is inconsistent with its finding that, between June and September 1993, the HVO provided 
humanitarian aid to East Mostar. StojiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 782, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1243. 
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Witness Ivan Bagaric;5405 (2) that the HVO offered unconditional help with supplying medical aid, 

facilitat~d by UNPROFOR;5406 (3) that the HVO offered to accommodate wounded Muslim 

civilians and ABiH soldiers at hospitals, with equal treatment;5407 and (4) that Muslim civilians 

were evacuated for medical treatment.5408 Further, Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

found that he accepted shortages of food and water without finding that he had the power to 

improve the situation, and that there was no evidence that he had such contro1.5409 He also contends 

that the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO "attempted to manage the problem of water and 

electricity supplies" is inconsistent with its finding that he accepted the harsh living conditions.5410 

Stojic also argues that the Trial Chamber drew unreasonable inferences from his statements at the 

dinner on 17 July 1993, given that "no plan [he referred] to at that meeting actually 

materialised" . 5411 

1657. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was reasonable5412 and that 

Stojic knew of the shelling and sniping attacks and appeared "well-informed" of events.5413 It also 

contends that the Trial Chamber considered the HVO's sporadic aid but reasonably found that this 

did 'not undermine its conclusion.5414 The Prosecution argues that it is immaterial that the Trial 

Chamber did not expressly find that Stojic had the power to improve the situation in Mostar given 

that he aggravated that situation.5415 It further asserts that StojiC's comments on 17 July 1993 

confirmed his knowledge and involvement in the HVO's plan in East Mostar.5416 

1658. The Appeals Chamber first notes that, in disputing the Trial Chamber's finding that he 

accepted the shortages of food and water suffered by the Muslim population in East Mostar,5417 

Stojic does not explicitly challenge the finding that he knew of these shortages:5418 Moreover, 

StojiC's argument concerning his statements at the 17 July 1993 dinner is only supported by a cross-

5405 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316, referring to Ivan Bagaric, T. 38880,38937,38946-38948,38962 (20 Apr 2009). 
5406 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316, referring to Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21164 (11 July 2007), Exs. P02731 
(confidential), P02782 (confidential), 2DOOl19, 2D00321, 2D00504. 
5407 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316, referring to Exs. P02923 (confidential), 2D00123, 2D00455. 
5408 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316, referring to Exs. 3D00615, 3D01034. . 
5409 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 317. 
5410 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 317, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1218. 
5411 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 318, referring to StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 302 (StojiC's Ground 33.3). 
5412 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 275. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 274. 
5413 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 276, referring to, inter alia, Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21076 
(10 July 2007). The Prosecution submits that Stojic knew of the dire situation facing Muslim civilians, given "his false 
concern" offering to evacuate civilians from East Mostar. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 276. 
5414 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 278. The Prosecution argues that the evidence, at best, shows that the 
HVO only provided limited medical supplies on three occasions. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 278. 
5415 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 279. The Prosecution asserts that any attempt by the HVO to manage 
the water and electricity situation is undermined by its crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 279. 
5416 Prosecution's Response Brief (StojiC), para. 277, and evidence cited therein. 
5417 See supra, para. 1656. 
5418 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. 
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reference to arguments he made elsewhere which have already been considered and dismissed.5419 

This argument is therefore also dismissed. 

1659. Stojic, though, does argue that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that the HVO 

supplied medical aid to Muslim civilians and the ABiH. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber's finding which Stojic challenges was limited to his acceptance of the "crimes 

directly linked to the HVO military operations against East Mostar, that is, the murders and the 

destruction of property, including mosques, related to the shelling and the harsh living conditions of 

the population [ ... J caused by the lack of food and water".5420 Thus, the Appeals Chamber is not 

convinced that any evidence on the supply of medical aid would have an impact on the Trial 

Chamber's finding challenged under this sub-ground of appeal. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber 

also notes that the Trial Chamber made factual findings on the issue, in support of which it 

expressly considered and relied on, inter alia, some of the evidence that Stojic cites. Specifically, 

the Trial Chamber found that between June and September 1993, the HVO provided sporadic 

humanitarian aid to East Mostar, conditional on the HVO obtaining certain advantages, which did 

not bring into question the finding that the HVO impeded the delivery of humanitarian aid.5421 

Stojic thus fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber disregarded relevant evidence and fails to 

show how this evidence could undemrine the conclusion that he accepted the East Mostar crimes. 

His argument is dismissed. 

1660. The Appeals Chamber turns to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber was inconsistent in 

finding that the HVO attempted to manage the water and electricity problems in East Mostar and 

that he accepted the harsh living conditions there. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber found that the HVO hindered proposed water supply repairs in June 1993 but also 

concluded that the HVO - namely, its municipal office for reconstruction in Mostar5422 
- did indeed 

attempt to manage the water and electricity shortages from July 1993 until at least November 1993 

by performing necessary repairs and thus it could not find that the HVO willingly refused to restore 

water supplies.5423 The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the Trial Chamber erred in 

considering, as a part of his responsibility, that Stojic accepted the water shortage as a component 

of the harsh living conditions endured by the East Mostar population.5424 However, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that this error has no impact on StojiC's conviction, given that the Trial 

5419 See supra, paras 1634-1637. . 
5420 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363 (emphasis added). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. 
5421 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1243 & fns 3100-3101, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 2D00119, 2D00504, 2D00321, 
2D00123, 2D00455, P02782 (confidential), Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21164 (11 July 2007). See supra, fns 5406-
5407. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. 
5422 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1215. 
5423 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1218. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1212-1215. 
5424 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 362-363. 
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Chamber also reached its conclusion on the basis that he knew of and accepted the food shortage 

suffered by the Muslim population.5425 Although Stojic also challenges this aspect of the finding by 

arguing that he had no control over the food supply, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial 

Chamber's finding that the food shortage was due to the large number of people in East Mostar, the 

confinement of this part of the town, and the obstruction of humanitarian aid,5426 which were causes 

that were all. attributed to the HVO.5427 Taking into account the Trial Chamber's findings 

concerning StojiC's contribution to the appalling living conditions of Muslim inhabitants in East 

Mostar, and specifically by hindering the regular arrival of humanitarian aid which included food 

convoys,5428 the Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to show that the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he knew of and accepted the food shortage suffered by the Muslim population is undermined 

by any lack of evidence regarding his control over the food supply. 5429 TIns argument is disnlissed. 

1661. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber elTed in finding that Stojic accepted the harsh living conditions of the population 

in East Mostar caused by the lack of food. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 34.1 is dismissed. 

(ii) StojiC's control over HVO snipers in West Mostar and knowledge of sniper attacks in 

East Mostar (StojiC's Sub-grounds 34.2, 34.3, and 34.4) 

1662. Stojic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he controlled all the 

HVO snipers in Mostar,5430 as Witness van der Grinten clarified his testimony that Stojic controlled 

all the snipers as meaning that they were "under HVO control".5431 He argues that this interpretation 

is consistent with Exhibit P02806 and findings on his linlited powers since he was not in the 

nlilitary chain of command.5432 Further; Stojic asserts that there was no evidential basis for the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he knew about HVO attacks on international organisations,5433 and that: 

(1) Witness DZ, who was generally unreliable,5434 was unsure whether he raised the issue of sniping 

attacks with Stojic or unable to specify whether he received a response from Stojic;5435 and (2) the 

5425 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 362-363. 
5426 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1202. 
5427 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1198-1200, 1244, 1255. 
5428 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1202, Vol. 4, paras 361-363, 372. See infra, paras 1670-1674. 
5429 See infra, paras 1670-1672. . 
5430 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 320-323. Stojic also argues that the finding that he controlled all HVO snipers in West 
Mostar went beyond the allegations in the Indictment. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 322. See also 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 331; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 71. 
5431 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 323, referring to Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21050-21051'(10 July 2007). See also 
AEpeal Hearing, AT. 359-360 (21 Mar 2017). 
542 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 323, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 565, 708, 796, Ex. P02806 
(confidential), para. 5. 
5433 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 320-321. 
5434 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 321, referring to StojiC's Ground 32. 
5435 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 321, referring Witness DZ, T. 26486-26487, 26497-26498 (closed session) 
(22 Jan 2008), Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 21. 
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HVO's investigation on the death of a SpaBat lieutenant, which found that the HVO was not 

responsible, was based on inaccurate information from that battalion.5436 In addition, Stojic submits 

that the Trial Chamber's finding that he must have known that HVO snipers were targeting civilians 

and international organisations is unsustainable, as it is based on the impugned finding that he 

controlled all HVO snipers.5437 

1663. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Stojic controlled all 

HVO snipers in West Mostar, and knew about HVO attacks on internationals and Muslim civilians 

in East Mostar.5438 The Prosecution argues that all the HVO snipers shared the same modus 

operandi as the snipers Stojic admitted were under his control, and that he exercised command and 

"effective control" over the armed forces.5439 It further contends that Witness van der Grinten's 

evidence shows that he considered HVO control over snipers to be synonymous with StojiC's 

control, which is consistent with the evidence.544o As for the targeting of international organisations 

and civilians, it asserts that Witness DZ's evidence and the incorrect information Stojic received 

regarding the SpaBat lieutenant's death shows no error in the Trial Chamber's finding.5441 

1664. Turning first to StojiC's argument regarding his control over all HVO snipers in West 

Mostar, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber anived at its inference after 

considering: (1) the testimony of Witness van der Grinten that Stojic admitted to controlling the 

snipers in two locations, which was supported by documentary evidence;5442 (2) that all the sniping 

in West Mostar had the same targets and followed the same modus operandi;5443 and (3) that Stojic 

controlled most of the HVO.5444 Having already dismissed StojiC's challenges regarding the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he commanded the HVO,5445 the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the 

alleged clarification made by Witness van der Grinten calls into question the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion.5446 Stojic merely seeks to substitute his own interpretation of the evidence for that of 

5436 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 321, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 364, 369, Exs. 2D00116, 2D00117. 
5437 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 324. 
5438 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 280, 283. In reaching the findings on StojiC's knowledge on East 
Mostar crimes, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber also relied on his knowledge of the HVO's East Mostar 
plan and consistent witness evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 280, and evidence cited therein. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 335 (21 Mar 2017). 
5439 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 283. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 284. 
5440 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 284, referring to Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21051 (10 July 2007), 
Ex. P02806 (confidential), p. 2. 
5441 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 281-282. 
5442 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 365, 368. 
5443 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 368. 
5444 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 368. 
5445 See supra, para. 1457. 
5446 See Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21050-21051 (10 July 2007) (evidence that Stojic said that "he had all snipers under 
control", and the witness agreeing with a question from the Bench that the snipers were under HVO control). 
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the Trial Chamber without demonstrating that its evaluation was erroneous.5447 His argument is 

dismissed.5448 

1665. With regard to StojiC's argument that there was no evidential basis for the Trial·Chamber's 

conclusion that he knew about HVO attacks on international organisations, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that its dismissal of StojiC's arguments on Witness DZ's general reliability.5449 Furthermore, 

the Appeals Chamber observes that, in the portions of testimony highlighted by the parties, 

Witness DZ testified that he told Stojic about the shelling and sniping directed at international 

organisations,545o and he later stated that Stojic had "no particular response" and that the matter was 

left "in the air".5451 The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this testimony in reaching its findings that he was 

informed about those crimes.5452 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber, in 

reaching this finding, also relied on other evidence to conclude that Stojic knew that international 

organisations were being targeted by the HVO.5453 As for StojiC's argument that an HVO 

investigation found that the HVO was not responsible for a SpaBat lieutenant's death, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on StojiC's control of the snipers in West Mostar and 

his statement that the snipers had not fired on the day the lieutenant died - not the findings of the 

HVO investigation or his involvement in it - to find that he knew that the snipers were targeting 

civilians and members of international organisations.5454 Therefore, Stojic fails to show how the 

incorrect information provided by SpaBat, which was acknowledged by the Trial Chamber,5455 has 

an impact on the relevant findings. 

1666. The Appeals Chamber now turns to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that he must have known that HVO snipers were targeting civilians and international 

organisations, which he argues is unsustainable solely because the Trial Chamber erred in finding 

that he controlled all of the snipers in Mostar.5456 However, the Appeals Chamber notes the finding 

that he knew about HVO attacks on international organisations and in particular Witness DZ's 

5447 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 323. . 
5448 Regarding Stojic's argument that the Trial Chamber's finding that he controlled all the HVO snipers in West Mostar 
went beyond the allegations in the Indictment, the Appeals Chamber finds that as he fails to develop or provide support 
for this assertion, it is dismissed. See supra, fn. 5430. 
5449 See supra, paras 1641-1643. 
5450 Witness DZ, T. 26486-26487 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1266, referring to, 
inter alia, Ex. P10367 (confidential), para. 21. 
5451 Witness DZ, T. 26497-26498 (closed session) (22 Jan 2008). 
5452 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1266, Vol. 4, paras 359, 362, 367, 369. 
5453 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 359, 362, 367, referring to, inter alia, Antoon van der Grinten T(F). 21046, 21076-
21078 (10 July 2007), 21186-21187· (11 July 2007), Witness DW, T(F). 23087(3 Oct 2007), Exs. P02806 
(confidential), P03162 (confidential), p. 1, P03184 (confidential), p. 2, P10287 (confidential), para. 30. See supra, 
p,aras 1641-1643. 

454 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 365,369. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 364. 
5455 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 364. 
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evidence.5457 Specifically regarding the targeting of civilians, the Trial Chamber inferred that Stojic 

"must have known" of this sniping as: (1) Stojic controlled all the snipers in West Mostar; (2) the 

actions of the snipers followed the same pattern; and (3) civilians were regularly targeted by 

snipers.5458 Having dismissed his arguments against the finding that he controlled the snipers 

above,5459 the Appeals Chamber also dismisses his challenge against the finding that he must have 

known that HVO snipers were targeting civilians and members of international organisations as 

Stojic provides no additional argumentation to support his challenge.546o In particular, Stojic has not 

shown that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was not the only reasonable inference available from the 

factors and evidence it considered. 

1667. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he controlled all the HVO snipers in West Mostar, and that he was 

aware that the HVO was targeting civilians and members of international organisations in East 

Mostar. Stojic's sub-grounds of appeal 34.2, 34.3, and 34.4 are dismissed. 

(iii) Whether Stojic facilitated the hindering of humanitarian aid access (StojiC's Sub­

ground 34.5) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1668. Stojic submits that: (1) no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he facilitated the 

hindering of humanitarian aid access to Mostar or that his contribution in this regard was 

significant;5461 and (2) the Trial Chamber did not sufficiently explain its conclusion by failing to 

cite the evidence it relied on.5462 Stojic contends that his power to grant access could not be 

established from Exhibit P03900, given that the document suggests that the HVO - and not Stojic 

personally - approved access, and that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that there is no 

evidence that Pdic raised the issue with him.5463 Further, Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded clearly relevant evidence and submissions that matters concerning the access of 

humanitarian organisations were ordinarily addressed by Prlic, the ODPR, or the Main Staff.5464 

Stojic also asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that international representatives refuted 

5456 See supra, para. 1662. 
5457 See supra~ para. 1665. 
5458 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 366,369. 
5459 See supra, para. 1664. . 
5460 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 324; supra, para. 1662. 
5461 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 330. . 
5462 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 326. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 331; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 71. 
5463 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 327. 
5464 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 328, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, paras 447-459, Martin Raguz, T. 31353-31354 
(26 Aug 2008), Exs. P03346 (confidential), P03895, P04027 (confidential), P04358, P05138, P09846 (confidential). 
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security justifications for refusing access to Mostar as the only witness relied on, Witness Klaus 

Johann Nissen, agreed with the security justifications.5465 

1669. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic 

obstructed humanitarian aid delivery to East Mostar.5466 The Prosecution contends that 

Exhibit P03900 indicates that Stojic had the authority to grant international organisations access to 

East Mostar,5467 which is consistent with other evidence confirming StojiC's authority to regulate 

humanitarian aid delivery.5468 It further submits that international observers rejected StojiC's 

security considerations justifying the blockade, and that Witness Nissen only agreed on the 

justification in diplomatic terms.5469 The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber did not 

ignore StojiC's submissions that others controlled the flow of humanitarian aid.547o 

b. Analysis 

1670. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to cite evidence in support of 

its finding that he hindered the access of humanitarian aid to East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that, in the paragraph in question, the Trial Chamber cited to its earlier findings in the Trial 

Judgement.5471 These earlier findings, which are supported by ample evidence, include that: (1) the 

power and authority for the distribution of humanitarian aid were conferred on the Department of 

Defence, and that Stojic in particular had the auth0l1ty to issue passes to local humanitarian 

organisations;5472 (2) the Head of the Department of Defence could give orders to the Chief of the 

Military Police Administration on the freedom of movement of convoys (including humanitarian 

convoys);5473 (3) Stojic had the legal authority to authorise the passage of humanitarian convoys, 

and did in fact issue orders allowing the passage of UNPROFOR convoys;5474 (4) the decision 

whether to grant access to international organisations could be taken by Stojic, among others;5475 

5465 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 329, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1236, Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20456-
20457 (25 June 2007). 
5466 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 285. 
5467 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 286-288, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1231, Ex. P03900 
(confidential). 
5468 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 286, 288, referring, inter alia, to Exs. P02291, P02419 (confidential), 
p,. 1, Witness DV, T. 22903-22904 (1 Oct 2007), Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 372, 753. 

469 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 286, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1236, Vol. 4, 
p,ara. 372, Ex. P03196, Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20455-20457 (25 June 2007). 

470 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 289. 
5471 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372 & fn. 819. 
5472 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 554, referring to Exs. 1D01609, pp. 1-2, 2D00552, 2D00553, 2D00555, 2D00556, 
2D00557,2D00986. 
5473 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 862, Vol. 4, para. 314, referring to Exs. P01316, P00864. The Appeals Chamber also 
notes the Trial Chamber's findings that the Military Police was tasked with preventing unauthorised persons, including 
unauthorised convoys, from entering into areas where military operations were ongoing. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
p,aras 928, 930-937. 

474 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 562, 635, 795. 
5475 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1231, referring to Ex. P03900 (confidential), p. 2. 
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and (5) the HVO hindered the regular delivery of humanitarian aid to East Mostar between June and 

December 1993 through, inter alia, erecting administrative obstacles and completely blocking entry 

by humanitarian convoys for two months in the summer of 1993 and during December 1993.5476 

StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to cite supporting evidence thus fails. 

1671. In challenging the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P03900, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that this exhibit supports the Trial Chamber's finding thatStojic had the power to grant 

access to East Mostar to the international organisations.5477 In any event, Stojic ignores that the 

Trial Chamber also relied on other evidence to arrive at this finding. 5478 In particular, the Trial 

Chamber also relied on evidence that Stojic issued passes to members of humanitarian organisations 

granting them freedom of movement or transport on the territory of HZ H_B,5479 and made findings 

that Stojic dispatched orders directly to the HVO on the freedom of movement of humanitarian or 

international organisations.548o The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to explain how the 

finding should not stand on the basis of this other evidence. His argument is dismissed. 

1672. As for StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded relevant submissions, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is "not under the obligation to justify its findings in 

relation to every submission made during the trial".5481 Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in explicitly referring to only a part of his trial submissions. The Appeals Chamber is also not 

persuaded by StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that access of 

humanitarian organisations was ordinarily addressed by others, and notes that the Trial Chamber 

expressly considered most of the evidence Stojic refers to in finding that, inter alios, Prlic,5482 the 

ODPR,5483 and the Main Staff,5484 could grant such access. The Appeals Chamber considers that the 

remainder of the evidence Stojic points to, which was not expressly considered, was substantively 

. addressed by the Trial Chamber's findings noted above. 5485 StojiC's argument that the Trial 

5476 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1244. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1227-1243, and evidence cited therein. 
The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that the sporadic aid that the HVO brought in, which was 
conditional on obtaining certain advantages, did not cast doubt on the finding that the HVO obstructed the delivery of 
humanitarian aid to East Mostar. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1244. 
5477 Ex. P03900 (confidential), p. 2. See Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. 
5478 See supra, para. 1670. 
5479 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 554, 562, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 2D00552, 2D00553, 2D00555, 2D00556, 
2D00557,2D00986. 
5480 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 565, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
5481 K v 23 vocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. . 
5482 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1437 & fn. 3595, Vol. 4, paras 116-118 & fn. 345. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
para. 1231, Vol. 4, paras 183, 185. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 328, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P04027 
(confidential), P04358, P09846 (confidential). 
5483 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 635-636 & fn. 1504, Vol. 2, para. 1230. Cf StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 328. 
5484 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 752 & fn. 1758. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 936. Cf StojiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 328, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03895. 
5485 See supra, fns 5482-5484. 
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Chamber disregarded relevant evidence thus fails. Moreover, he fails to show how the involvement 

of others precludes his authority and ability to grant access. His arguments are dismissed. 

1673. Turning to StojiC's argument challenging the finding that international representatives 

rejected the security issues he raised, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on, 

inter alia, the testimony of Witness Nissen on the issue.5486 Although the witness testified that 

StojiC's justification that the ECMM's security could not be guaranteed was correct "in diplomatic 

terms",5487 the witness also testified that he tried to persuade Stojic to grant them access with an 

armoured vehicle with "no success".5488 The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial 

Chamber's evaluation that the international representatives rejected security issues raised by 

Stojic5489 given that the witness viewed his attempt to negotiate access with Stojic as unsuccessful. 

Stojic merely seeks to offer his own interpretation of the evidence without showing an error. His 

argument is dismissed. 

1674. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to grant access to East Mostar to the 

international organisations, and did nothing to remove the obstacles hindering access of 

humanitarian aid, having, in fact, facilitated them. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 34.5 is dismissed. 

(iv) Conclusion 

1675. In sum, StojiC's ground of appeal 34 is dismissed. 

(g) Capliina Municipality (StojiC's Ground 35) 

1676. The Trial Chamber found that, in July 1993, Stojic knew of and facilitated the dete~tion of 

men who did not belong to any armed force in Capljina.549o In reaching this conclusion it referred to 

Exhibit 4D00461 - an order from Stojic dated 3 July 1993 - through which he transferred the 

"management of the detention of the Muslim men of military age arrested in the Municipality of 

Capljina from the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade to the local HVO" ("StojiC's Order of 

3 July 1993,,).5491 The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic was informed about the allegations of 

evictions in Capljina from at least 20 July 1993.5492 In this respect, the Trial Chamber referred to 

Exhibit P03573, namely the minutes of the 47th session of Government held on 20 July 1993 

5486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1236, referring to, inter alia, Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20453-20455, 20457 
(25 June 2007), Ex. P03196 (confidential), p. 1. 
5487 Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20456-20457 (25 June 2007). 
5488 Klaus Johann Nissen, T. 20456-20457 (25 June 2007). 
5489 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1236. 
5490 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 375. 
5491 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 373. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, fn. 5087. 
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attended by Stojic ("Minutes of the 47th Government Session,,).5493 The Trial Chamber found that it 

was noted during this Government session that a working group visit to Capljina Municipality 

established that the media reports concerning alleged expulsions of Muslims from that municipality 

were not true.5494 The Trial Chamber further found that the operations were carried out according to 

a preconceived plan and concluded that as Stojic had "effective control" over most of the HVO and 

the Military Police who carried out the Capljina evictions and "since he himself contributed to 

planning the evictions following the same plan as in West Mostar, it [could] only find that he was 

also informed about the evictions in Capljina and the manner in which they were carried OUt.,,5495 It 

then concluded that the only inference it could reasonably draw was that Stojic also intended to 

have Muslim property destroyed.5496 

1677. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber made a number of errors which "take away the 

foundation for the finding that [he] significantly contributed to the commission of crimes in 

Capljina and intended to have Muslim property destroyed.,,5497 The Prosecution responds that 

StojiC's involvement in the Capljina operations furthered the CCP.5498 

(i) Whether Stojic was aware of and facilitated the detention of men who did not belong 

to any armed force (StojiC's Sub-ground 35.1) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1678. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to properly assess the weight to be 

attached to StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 - the only evidence cited as support for the finding that he 

knew of and facilitated the Capljina detentions. According to Stojic, because he had challenged the 

authenticity of this order during trial, the Trial Chamber was obliged to provide a reasoned 

assessment ofits weight, including its authenticity.5499 Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber failed 

to do so and, instead: (1) relied on its earlier assessment that StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 was 

sufficiently reliable for admission into evidence confusing the test for admissibility with weight;5500 

(2) considered only three Defence submissions relating to the reliability of the order and ignored the 

5492 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
5493 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 376. 
5494 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 376. 
5495 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 377. 
5496 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
5497 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 345. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 71. Stojic therefore submits that the Appeals 
Chamber should overturn his convictions on Counts 1,6-11, and 19-21. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 345. 
5498 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 291. The Prosecution responds that StojiC's assertion that his 
convictions on Counts 1, 6-11, and 19-21 should be vacated if an error is found is incorrect in law. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 302 & fn. 1262. 
5499 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 333. 
5500 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 334, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, fn. 5087. 
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remaining submissions;5501 and (3) gave insufficient reasons for relying on StojiC's Order of 

3 July 1993, such as noting the evidence of Witness CG - who could not assist on authenticity -

and merely stating that the order was similar to other orders.5502 

1679. Stojic also contends that the Trial Chamber failed to: (1) assess StojiC's Order of 

3 July 1993 in light of the whole trial record which shows that the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade 

continued to be in charge of the detainees contrary to StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 and that there 

was no reason for him to issue this order since he was not a member of the working group 

concerned with these individuals nor was he in charge of the relevant detention centres;5503 and 

(2) scrutinise StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 "with particular vigour" given that it was the only 

document relied upon to establish that he facilitated the detention of civilians in Capljina.5504 In 

addition, Stojic claims that even if authentic, StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 was not followed and 

therefore had no causal effect on the detentions.5505 

1680. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber provided a reasoned assessment for 

relying on StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 and did not disregard StojiC's trial arguments.5506 It also 

contends that: (1) the Trial Chamber reasonably observed that Witness CG confilmed the Capljina 

detentions; (2) it is immaterial that the Trial Chamber did not receive any evidence of the 

implementation of Stojic's Order of 3 July 1993; and (3) the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the 

order's form and appearance when finding it similar to StojiC's other orders.5507 Further, according 

to the Prosecution, there is no need to show a causal connection between StojiC's Order of 

3 July 1993 and the unlawful detentions as JCE liability requires a significant contribution to the 

common criminal purpose rather than to specific crimes.5508 The Prosecution claims that, in any 

event, StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 Order is not the only evidence demonstrating StojiC's 

knowledge of and role in the detention of Muslim males in Capljina.5509 The Prosecution also 

responds that Stojic ignores the Trial Chamber's findings on his authority over the relevant 

detention centres and argues that it is irrelevant that Stojic was not a member of the working group 

that assessed conditions within those centres.5510 

5501 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 335, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, fn. 5087, StojiC's Final Brief, 
r:aras 545-547. 

502 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 336, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 2081, fn. 5087, Witness CG, T. 10843-
10844 (28 Nov 2006). 
5503 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 337, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03197, P03216, P03442, P03573, P05133. 
5504 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 338. 
5505 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 339. 
5506 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 292. 
5507 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 293-294. 
5508 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 295. 
5509 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 295, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 154. 
5510 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 296-297. 
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b. Analysis 

1681. Addressing Stojic's submissions regarding the Trial Chamber's assessment of Stojic's Order 

of 3 July 1993 first, the Appeals Chamber recalls at the outset that a trial chamber has a broad 

discretion when deciding the weight to be accorded to an exhibit.5511 In any event, the Appeals 

Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber did in fact provide a reasoned assessment of the 

reliability and weight of Stojic's Order of 3 July 1993. Contrary to StojiC's submission, the Trial 

Chamber did not ignore his arguments in relation to the authenticity of the order, as evidenced by 

the fact that it cited all the relevant challenges he had made in his Final Brief.5512 While the Trial 

Chamber then chose to outline three of those challenges in the Trial Judgement,5513 the Appeals 

Chamber considers that Stojic's remaining challenges on the matter were closely related to and, in 

fact, subsumed within those three, such that there was no need to explicitly discuss them as well.5514 

Stojic fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred. 

1682. Further, in its analysis of the authenticity of Stojic's Order of 3 July 1993 the Trial Chamber 

recalled its earlier finding that it "offered indicia of reliability, relevance and probative value 

sufficient for admission into evidence.,,5515 Thus, contrary to Stojic's argument, it is clear that the 

Trial Chamber was mindful of the fact that its earlier assessment was made for the purpose of 

admitting StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 into evidence. Stojic fails to show how the Trial Chamber 

confused the test for the admissibility of evidence with the weight to be accorded to that evidence 

once admitted. Similarly, it is also clear from the way in which the Trial Chamber's analysis is 

structured that this was merely one of the factors listed in support of the conclusion that Stojic's 

Order of 3 July 1993 was authentic and reliable. 5516 

1683. With respect to Stojic's claim that the Trial Chamber gave insufficient reasons for relying 

on Stojic's Order of 3 July 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that Witness CG partially confirmed 

the content of the order, namely that the Muslim men referred to therein were indeed detained in 

Capljina.5517 Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that it was not unreasonable for the Trial 

Chamber to use this evidence to infer the authenticity of StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993, particularly 

5511 See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 470; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131 (the Trial 
Chamber has "broad discretion in assessing the appropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the testimony of a 
witness"); Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
5512 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, paras 544-547. 
5513 T . 1 J na udgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087. 
5514 See Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23 ("the Trial Chamber is not under the obligation to justify its findings 
in relation to every submission made during the trial"). 
5515 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087 (emphasis added). 
5516 The other factors considered by the Trial Chamber were: (1) its rejection of the admission into evidence of 
Exhibit 2D0388, tendered by Stojic to call into question StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993; (2) Witness CG's testimony 
when shown StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993; and (3) the fact that StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 was similar to other orders 
Stojic had issued. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087. 
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as it was coupled with other factors. 5518 Indeed, the Trial Chamber also noted that Stojic's Order of 

3 July 1993 was similar to other orders signed by Stojic and admitted into evidence during the 

tria1.5519 While the Trial Chamber did not at that point provide a list of such orders, only several 

pages earlier the Trial Chamber discussed StojiC's ability to issue orders to the HVO, including with 

respect to detention centres, and listed a number of his orders in support, one .of which concerned 

Capljina and was similar to StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 in form and appearance.5520 Thus, Stojic 

fails to show an error by the Trial Chamber on these issues. 

1684. Additionally, the Trial Chamber's reference to similar orders also indicates that it 

considered Stojic's Order of 3 July 1993 in light of all the evidence in the case, contrary to StojiC's 

submission. The fact that Stojic was not a member of the working group concerned with conditions 

of detention in Capljina or that he may not have been in charge of the relevant Capljina detention 

centres, namely Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison, does not in any way affect the Trial Chamber's 

findings that he was able to issue orders such as StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993, particularly bearing 

in mind his position and his authority over the HVO and the Military Police.5521 Furthermore, StojiC 

ignores the Trial Chamber's explicit findings demonstrating that Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison 

"fell within [his] responsibility" and that he was able to issue orders relevant to the Muslim men 

detained there.5522 Finally, the fact that the Trial Chamber noted that it had no evidence that StojiC's 

Order of 3 July 1993 was ever complied with5523 also does not call into question its authenticity or 

the reasoning behind the issuance of such an order. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses StojiC's arguments concerning the authenticity of StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 and the 

Trial Chamber's assessment of its weight. 5524 

1685. Turning to the Trial Chamber's use of StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that, contrary to his submission, the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic knew of and 

facilitated the detention of Muslim men who did not belong to any armed force in Capljina was not 

based solely on StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993. In this regard, the Trial Chamber also recalled its 

earlier findings that the arrests of Muslim men in Capljina were undertaken between 30 June 1993 

5517 Witness CG, T. 10843-10844 (28 Nov 2006). 
5518 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087. 
5519 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 5087: See also supra, fn. 5516. 
5520 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 304-306, 312, fn. 725 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05232). See supra, para. 1429. 
See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 562-565. Additionally, the Prosecution cited a number of orders similar in 
appearance, namely Exhibits 2D00985, P03146, P03163, which were also relied on by the Trial Chamber. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 294 & fn. 1227; Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 795, 965, fn. 1383. 
5521 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 397-407. In relation to StojiC's challenges regarding the Trial Chamber's 
findings on his authority over Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison, see infra, paras 1736-1748. 
5522 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 399,406-407. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306,312,320. 
5523 TrialJudgement, Vol. 2, para. 208l. 
5524 Accordingly, StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber was obliged to scrutinise StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 with 
"particular vigour" is therefore dismissed as moot. 
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and mid-July 1993 by the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade, the 3rd Company of the 3rd Military Police 

Battalion, the Capljina MUP, and members of the HVO. 5525 As noted earlier, Stojie was found to 

have exercised "effective control" over the HVO and the Military Police5526 as well as a reporting 

function vis-a.-vis the Government, regarding military matters. 5527 The Trial Chamber then referred 

to the fact that Stojie continued to exercise his functions "in the HVO/Government of the HR H-B" 

and thus inferred that he accepted the detention of Muslim men who did not belong to any armed 

force. 5528 Further, the Trial Chamber was cognisant of the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation in 

which Stojie and Prlie called on all Croats in BiH to take up arms against the Muslims and which, 

the Trial Chamber found, was the catalyst for the arrests of Muslim men in Capljina and other 

municipalities.5529 The Trial Chamber also considered that "the military authorities could not have 

made arrests without the approval of the civilian authorities" .5530 

1686. The Appeals Chamber acknowledges that the Trial Chamber did not explicitly refer to the 

30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation in the part of the Trial Judgement dealing with Stojie's 

responsibility for the arrests in Capljina,5531 or in the factual narrative outlining those arrests.5532 

However, the Trial Chamber noted the proclamation in the section dealing with Stojie's control 

over the HVO, only several pages prior to embarking on the discussion of his responsibility 

regarding the events in Capljina.5533 Further, the Trial Chamber discussed the 30 June 1993 Joint 

Proclamation in various other parts of the Trial Judgement including in the sections concerning: 

(1) the factual narrative surrounding the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misie Barracks on 

30 June 1993;5534 (2) Prlie's responsibility, since Prlie was a co-signatory of the proclamation;5535 

and (3) Corie's responsibility because, on 1 July 1993, Radoslav Lavrie, on behalf of Corie, issued 

an order invoking the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and demanding the arrest of "all conscripts 

who had not 'regulated their status,,,.5536 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that, when 

discussing StojiC's responsibility, the Trial Chamber was fully cognisant of the existence of the 

30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation and its significance as a catalyst for the arrests of Muslim men in 

Capljina. In addition, as it will become clear from the analysis below,5537 the Trial Cha~ber was 

5525 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 373-374. 
5526 See supra, paras 1405, 1457-1458, 1479-1480, 1485-1491. 
5527 See supra, paras 1418-1419, 1476, 1572. 
5528 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 375. . 
5529 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151-154, 305. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 953, 973, 984, 996, 1220. See also 
sUfora, para. 1422. 
55 0 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 154. 
5531 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 373-378. 
5532 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 2078-2083. 
5533 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 305. 
5534 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 884. 
5535 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 151. 
5536 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 953; Ex. P03077. 
5537 See infra, para. 1692. 
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also aware of StojiC's authority and position within the Government, insofar as it concerned 

detention of Muslim men in the detention centres in Capljina. 

1687. With respect to StojiC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in law when concluding that he 

facilitated or significantly contributed to the cornmissionof crimes because Stojic's Order of 

3 July 1993 was not folloyved, the Appeals Chamber notes that this argument is premised on the 

view that the order was the only evidence relied upon by the Trial Chamber. However, as explained 

in the preceding paragraphs,5538 this was not the case. The Appeals Chamber notes that, even if 

StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 was ultimately not implemented,5539 the Trial Chamber, in the section 

dealing with PrliC's responsibility, referred to the 30 June 1993 Joint Proclamation, noted that it was 

followed up by LavriC's order of 1 July 1993, and then found that following the 30 June 1993 Joint 

Proclamation, "the chain of command was set in motion in order to arrest Muslims" in the 

municipalities of Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, and prozOr.5540 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that Stojic both facilitated and knew 

of the arrests in Capljina. In other words, this finding by the Trial Chamber is not affected by its 

statement that it received no evidence of the implementation of StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 on the 

ground. 

1688. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic has failed to show that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on StojiC's Order of 3 July 1993 or concluded that he 

knew of and facilitated the detention of Muslim men who did not belong to any anned forces in 

Capljina. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 35.1 is therefore dismissed. 

(ii) Whether Stojic was infonned of evictions in Capljina and the manner in which they 

were carried out (StojiC's Sub-grounds 35.2 and 35.3) 

1689. Stojic argues that no reasonable chamber could have concluded that he was infonned of the 

Cap1jina evictions on the basis of the Minutes of the 47th Government Session, given that it was 

reported during that session that the allegations of expUlsions were not true.5541 Stojic further argues 

that the finding relating to his contribution to the planning of the evictions is ambiguous because it 

is unclear whether he planned the evictions in Capljina which followed the same plan as those in 

West Mostar or whether he was infonned of evictions in Capljina because he had planned similar 

5538 See supra, paras 1685-1686. . 
5539 Rather than concluding that Exhibit 4D00461 was not followed, the Trial Chamber noted that it received no 
evidence that the local HVO took responsibility for the detention of the Muslim men. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
Eara. 2081. See supra, paras 1434, 1486. 

540 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 151-154. See also supra, para. 1422. 
5541 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 344. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 343. 
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evictions in West Mostar.5542 According to Stojic, neither interpretation withstands scrutiny 

because: (1) there is no evidence that he planned the evictions in Capljina, particularly since the 

Trial Chamber later stated that he only found out about the evictions after they had taken place;5543 

and (2) no reasonable trial chamber could have found that the only reasonable inference from an 

earlier finding that he planned the evictions in West Mostar was that he was also informed about the 

. . CV 1" 5544 operatIOns m ap Jma. 

1690. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the Minutes of the 

4ih Government Session since Stojic would have known, in light of: (1) his role in the planning of 

expUlsions in Capljina and other municipalities; (2) his authority over the perpetrators; and (3) his 

knowledge of RVO crimes across the BiR, that the allegations discussed in the session were well­

founded. 5545 The Prosecution also responds that the finding that Stojic planned the evictions in 

Capljina Municipality is neither ambiguous nor unreasonable when his role in the indiscriminate 

arrests of Muslim males, particularly those in West Mostar, is considered.5546 The Prosecution 

further contends that the Trial Chamber's finding - made in the context of JCE III liability - that 

Stojic learned of the Capljina evictions after they had taken place is not inconsistent with his role in 

planning them.5547 

1691. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's conclusion relating to StojiC's 

responsibility for the evictions in Capljina was based on four different but related findings, namely 

that: (1) Stojic was informed about the allegations of evictions from at least 20 July 1993 as shown 

by the Minutes of the 47th Government Session;5548 (2) the nature of evictions in Capljina carried 

out by the HVO, which was in line with the modus operandi employed in other municipalities, 

demonstrated that it followed a preconceived plan to evict Muslims;5549 (3) Stojic had "effective 

control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police;555o and (4) Stojic had, in fact, personally 

'b d 1 . h .. 5551 contn ute to p annmg t e eVIctIOns. 

5542 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 341. See Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 340, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
Eara.378. 

543 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 342, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 448. 
5544 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 342. See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. Stojic asserts that planning one specific 
operation cannot support a finding that an individual was informed of an entirely separate operation. StojiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 342. 
5545 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 301. 
5546 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 298-299. The Prosecution submits that findings concerning the arrest 
and eviction operations demonstrate that the arrests of Muslim men occurred in conjunction with evictions of Muslim 
women, children, and the elderly, and that Stojic's involvement in planning and supporting the former provided a 
reasonable basis from which to infer that he also planned the latter. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 298. 
5547 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 300. 
5548 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 376,378. 
5549 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 377-378. 
5550 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
5551 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
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1692. With respect to StojiC's argument that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on the 

Minutes of the 47th Government Session to establish that he was informed about the evictions, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic knew of the allegations of such 

evictions from that exhibit, not of the evictions themselves.5552 In reaching this conclusion, the Trial 

Chamber was fully aware that the working group reported to Stojic and others that these allegations 

were not true, but this did not affect its finding that he was aware of the allegations.5553 In that 

respect, the Minutes of the 47 th Government Session show that the working group did not deny that 

expulsions were taking place in Capljina at the time, but rather denied that all Capljina Muslims had 

been expelled.5554 The minut~s also show that following the debate on the working group's report, 

including the information that at least 2000 Muslims were accommodated in various locations in 

Capljina, Stojic and others agreed to: (1) support the opening of a "transit centre"in Ljubuski for 

those who "want to leave the war affected areas and depart to third countries"; and (2) assign 

certain individuals, including Prlic himself, to "explore possibilities" of accommodating a number 

of "detained individuals" away from Capljina in order to "create conditions in Capljina in 

1· . h . . 1 d d" 5555 comp lance WIt mternatlOna stan ar s . 

1693. Before making its ultimate finding that Stojic was in fact aware of the expUlsions, the Trial 

Chamber, as mentioned above, referred also to StojiC's authority over most of the HVO and the 

Military Police, as well as the fact that the HVO conducted the campaign of evictions in Capljina 

based on a preconceived plan.5556 Further, the Trial Chamber made multiple findings on StojiC's 

involvement in planning the expUlsions in West Mostar and other municipalities5557 and on his 

knowledge that the HVO conducted evictions across the BiH.5558 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

considers that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the Minutes of the 4 i h Government Session 

to conclude that Stojic knew of the allegations of expUlsions - and that this knowledge was one of 

several factors it used to infer that he was in fact informed about the evictions in Capljina. Thus, 

Stojic does not demonstrate an error by the Trial Chamber in its reliance on the Minutes of the 47th 

Government Session. 

5552 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 376. 
5553 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 376. 
5554 Ex. P03573, pp. 1-2 ("Work[ing] group has ascertained that the reports in some media concerning the alleged 
expUlsion of all Muslims from Capljinl\ Municipality were not true. Namely it was established that Capljina Student 
Centre and holiday homes in Pocitelj polje, Sevac polje, Bivolje brdo and VisiCi accommodate more than two thousand 
Muslims mainly [from] Eastern Herzegovina."). 
5555 Ex. P03573, p. 2. 
5556 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
5557 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 335-337, 347-349, 355. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1220. 
5558 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 331-335, 350-352, 355, 357, 416-417. See also supra, paras 1561, 1575, 
1580,1617,1653. 
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1694. In relation to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's finding that since he "contributed 

to planning the evictions following the same plan as in West Mostar, it can only find that he was 

also informed about the evictions in Capljina" is ambiguous, the Appeals Chamber acknowledges 

that it is not immediately clear from the Trial Chamber's language whether it was referring to the 

planning of Capljina evictions specifically.5559 However, this is ultimately irrelevant as the Appeals 

Chamber considers that it was not unreasonable of the Trial Chamber to rely on StojiC's 

involvement in planning the evictions in West Mostar, as one of several factors going to the finding 

that he was informed of the Capljina evictions, particularly as the operations followed "the same 

plan" and began within a month of each other. 5560 Whether an inference that the planning of one 

specific operation by an individual can support a finding that the individual was informed of a 

different operation can be made will ultimately depend on the context, including the similarities 

between the operations, as well as the position of the individual in question. In this particular case, 

the Trial Chamber found that the operations were similar and that Stojic had "effective control" 

over most of the HVO and over the Military Police who carried out both operations.5561 

1695. Moreover, as stated above, the similatities between the eviction campaigns in West Mostar 

and Capljina was just one of the factors that the Trial Chamber considered in reaching the 

conclusion that Stojic was informed about evictions in Capljina - the other factors being: (1) the 

Minutes of the 47th Govemment Session; (2) the fact that the evictions conducted by the HVO 

followed a preconceived plan; and (3) the findings relating to Stojic's "effective control" over most 

of the HVO and Military Police. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate 

that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only reasonable inference was that he 

was informed of the Capljina evictions after considering the combination of these factors. 5562 

1696. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he knew of the evictions in Capljina, and the 

manner in which they were carried out. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

StojiC's sub-grounds of appeal 35.2 and 35.3. 

5559 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's analysis relating to Stojic's responsibility for theft under 
JCE III suggests that it did not find that Stojic planned the Capljina evictions per se but rather that he was merely 
informed of them from at least 20 July 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 448 (Stojic "learned of the operations to 
evict Muslims from the Municipality of Capljina on 20 July 1993, that is, after they had taken place"). 
5560 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 355-357,377-378. 
5561 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 378. 
5562 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 423, 426-427. 
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(iii) Conclusion 

1697. In sum, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's ground of appeal 35.5563 

(h) Vares Municipality (Stojic's Ground 36) 

1698. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO military operations in Vares Municipality beginning 

in October 1993 resulted in the commission of crimes.5564 Specifically, these operations included: 

(1) the arrests, detention, and mistreatment of Muslim civilians and ABiH members in the town of 

Vares between 23 October 1993 and 3-4 November 1993;5565 and (2) the attack on the village .of 

Stupni Do on 23 October 1993 which resulted in deaths and destruction of property.5566 The Ttial 

Chamber found that: (1) "in view of the fact" that the Government officials Boban and Prlic, and 

"those in charge of the Main Staff' Petkovic and Praljak knew about the murders and destruction 

committed by RajiC's troops.in Stupni Do; (2) that Stojic was the Government member in charge of 

the HVO, facilitated the HVO military operations in Vares in October 1993 and considered them to 

be cartied out satisfactorily, the only reasonable inference it could draw was that Stojic was also 

informed about the deaths of Muslims, both members of the ABiH and non-members, and the 

destruction of their property as of 4 November 1993.5567 It also found that, by continuing to exercise 

his functions while knowing of the crimes and by obtaining a promotion for Ivica Rajic, Stojic 

accepted the murders and destruction of property. 5568 

(i) StojiC's facilitation of the military operations in Vares (StojiC's Sub-ground 36.2) 

1699. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber enoneously concluded that he facilitated the military 

operations in Vares based on communications between Rajic and himself.5569 Stojic submits that the 

Trial Chamber misunderstood these communications557o and that it "cannot be assumed" that his 

contact with Rajic on 30 October 1993 was in response to Rajic's request on 29 OctQber 1993.5571 

Stojic argues that these communications cannot be reasonably linked to the Vares crimes as: 

5563 Accordingly, StojiC's assertion that his convictions on Counts 1, 6-11, and 19-21 should be vacated is also 
dismissed. . 
5564 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 303-508. 
5565 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 339-340, 342-348, 352-399. The Trial Chamber also found that thefts and sexual 
abuse occurred during the operations in Vares town. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 401-404. 
5566 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 417, 421-422, 464, 466-467. The Trial Chamber also found that thefts and sexual 
abuse occurred during the operations in Stupni Do. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 429,465,467. 
5567 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-382. See supra, para. 820. 
5568 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-382. 
5569 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 349, 353. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 355. 
5570 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 349. Stojic asserts that, on 29 October 1993, Rajic asked him to establish contact with 
"Kovacevic" in relation to the movement of men to and from Vares, and then on 30 October 1993, he contacted Rajic 
with instructions regarding the movement of a convoy "along the BerkoviCi-Nevesinje-Borci-Konjic route". StojiC's 
A~peal Brief, para. 349, referring to Exs. P06219, P06267. 
55 1 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 349. Stojic asserts that in the later communication he asked Rajic to issue an approval to 
be sent to "Kovacevic", while RajiC's request was that he contact "Kovacevic". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 349. 
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(1) they concern the movement of HVO troops along the BerkoviCi-Konjic route which was 

unrelated to Vares since HVO convoys needed this route in order to. reach an HVO enclave near 

Konjic;5572 (2),the attack on Stupni Do ended on 26 October 1993, the communications post-date 

the operations;5573 and (3) the usual military chain of command - which did not include him -

functioned during the operations, and that the relevant orders passed through the Main Staff to Rajic 

and the HVO.5574 

1700. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on StojiC's 

communications with Rajic to find that Stojic facilitated the military operations in Vares.5575 

1701. In assessing the evidence, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) on 29 October 1993, Rajic 

informed Stojic, Praljak, and Petkovic that the VRS were not allowing his troops through to Vares, 

contrary to an agreement;5576 (2) on the following day, Stojic informed Rajic that an agreement had 

been reached with the VRS for the passage of an HVO convoy along the BerkoviCi-Nevesinje­

Borci-Konjic route and ordered him to send relevant documents to "Minister Kovacevic,,;5577 and 

(3) on 31 October 1993, Rajic confilmed with Stojic that the VRS was implementing the original 

agreement. 5578 The Trial Chamber concluded that these communications showed that Stojic 

facilitated the military operations in Vares in October 1993.5579 Having considered the evidence 

cited by Stojic, which is the same evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber,558o the Appeals 

Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber "misunderstood" these communications. In this 

regard: (1) Exhibit P06219, a communication from Rajic to Stojic and others dated 

29 October 1993, states that the "XY" side was not implementing an agreement, and that it was 

"necessary to urgently establish contact between Mr. STOnC and Mr. KOV ACEVIC in order to get 

this going so that assistance can be provided to Vares,,;5581 (2) Exhibit P06267, a communication 

from Stojic to Rajic dated 30 October 1993, states that pursuant to agreements reached, Rajic was to 

send an approval for the passage of convoys to Minister Kovacevic;5582 and (3) Exhibit P06307, a 

communication from Rajic to Stojic dated 31 October 1993, states that "the realisation of the 

5572 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 350, referring to Exs. P07622 (confidential), para. 1.1, P09276, Dragan Jurie, T. 39331-
39332 (27 Apr 2009). Stojie contends that Vares is 100km away from Konjic. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 350, referring 
to Ex. P09276. 
5573 Stojie's Appeal Brief, para. 351. 
5574 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 352, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 313-330. Stojie asserts that none of the 
relevant orders on the Vares operations mentioned him. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 352. 
5575 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 306. The Prosecution asserts that the operations in Vares were ongoing 
when Stojie facilitated the movement of RajiC's troops, and that the HVO withdrew from Vares Municipality around 
3 November 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 307. 
5576 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380, referring to Ex. P06219. 
5577 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380, referring to Ex. P06267. 
5578 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380, referring to Ex. P06307. 
5579 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380. See supra, para. 820. 
5580 Compare StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 349 with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380 & fns 830-832. 
5581 Ex. P06219, p. 2. 
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agreem~nt between General PETKO VIC and General MILO V ANOVIC is under way". 5583 Thus, 

the Appeals Chamber considers that this evidence is consistent with the Trial Chamber's underlying 

findings noted above5584 and reasonably supports the conclusion that Stojic facilitated the Vares 

military operations in October 1993. Further, Stojic merely argues that it "cannot be assumed" that 

the communications relate to each other and thus only offers his own interpretation of the evidence 

without showing an error. His argument on the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence is 

dismissed. 

1702. Regarding StojiC's argument contesting the link between the communications and the 

crimes committed during the Vares military operations, the Appeals Chamber first dismisses his 

contention that the communications post-date the attack on Stupni DO.5585 On this issue, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Stojic facilitated the Vares 

military operations, during which the crimes were committed, was not limited to the attack on 

Stupni Do but extended to events in Vares Municipality, and more specifically, the operations in 

Vares town.5586 The Appeals Chamber recalls that operations in the town of Vares began on 

23 October 1993 and ended around 3 or 4 November 1993.5587 Concerning StojiC's place in the 

military chain of command, the Appeals Chamber recalls that he was correctly found to have had de 

facto powers over most of the HVO and the Military Police.5588 Moreover, even if none of the 

orders leading up to, or in the beginning of, the Vares operations mentioned Stojic or were sent to 

him,5589 the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that this does not impact on the Trial Chamber's finding 

that Stojic facilitated those operations, particularly as the Trial Chamber did not find that he 

planned or directed the operations.559o Stojic also argues that the movement of troops addressed by 

the communications was unrelated to events in Vares. However, the evidence he cites does not call 

into question the Trial Chamber's assessment of this issue.5591 Notably, in Exhibit P06219, the 

communication dated 29 October 1993, Rajic stated that because the VRS was not implementing 

the agreement "for two days now they have not been allowing me to transfer my men to Vares and 

.to bring back the ones who have already been there for seven days" and that Stojic was to urgently 

5582 Ex. P06267. 
5583 Ex. P06307. 
5584 See supra, para. 1701. 
5585 The Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to StojiC's assertion, the attack on Stupni Do only occurred on 
23 October 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 417-422, 465-466. 
5586 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 380. See also supra, para. 820. 
5587 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 339-340,342-348, 352-399. 
5588 See supra, paras 1457, 1479, 1491. 
5589 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic only refers to paragraphs 313 to 330 of Volume 3 of the Trial Judgement 
which addresses the events between 22 and 26 October 1993 and not specifically the attack on Vare!; town and Stupni 
Do. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 352. 
5590 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-381,383. 
5591 See Ex. P07622 (confidential), para. 1.1. 
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contact Kovacevic "in order to get this going so that assistance can be provided to Vares". 5592 Thus, 

StojiC fails to show that the movement of troops referenced in the communications was unrelated to 

the events in Vares. StojiC's arguments are dismissed. 

1703. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the Trial 

Chamber erred in concluding that he facilitated the military operations in Vares in October 1993. 

StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 36.2 is therefore dismissed. 

(ii) StojiC's knowledge and acceptance of crimes in Vares Municipality (StojiC's Sub­

grounds 36.1 and 36.3) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1704. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that he knew of murders and 

destruction of property in Vares as there is no evidentiary basis for such an inference.5593 

Specifically, he contends that: (1) there is no evidence that any report on the crimes was sent to him 

or circulated' within the Department of Defence;5594 (2) he did not attend a meeting on 

4 November 1993 during which the crimes were discussed;5595 and (3) no witness testified about his 

awareness of the crim.es.5596 Stojic also submits that, even if he knew of the crimes, there was no 

basis for finding that he accepted them. He argues that, as he was appointed to a different post by 

10 November 1993, "he did not continue in office",5597 and that "he did not obtain the promotion of 

Rajic after allegedly learning of his crimes".5598 On the latter point, Stojic contends that he 

requested RajiC's promotion on 1 November 1993 but the Trial Chamber found that he knew of the 

crimes as of 4 November 1993. He argues that as the Trial Chamber did not establish that he knew 

of the crimes before requesting the promotion, it erred in finding that he approved of or accepted 

the crimes.5599 

1705. The Prosecution responds that Stojic "must have known" that RajiC's troops had committed 

crimes in Vares, at the very latest, by th~ end of October 1993.5600 Specifically, it asserts that 

StojiC's knowledge was based on reports that reached his superiors, immediate subordinates, and 

5592 Ex. P06219, p. 2. 
5593 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 346, 355. Stojic suggests that the Trial Chamber's 
finding on his knowledge was based only on his official role. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347. 
5594 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347 . 

. 5595 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347, referring to Ex. P06454. See infra, fns 5608-5609 (clarifying that the relevant 
meeting occurred on 5 November 1993). 
5596 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 347. 
5597 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 348, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1227. 
5598 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 348 (emphasis in original). 
5599 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 354. 
5600 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 304-305, 309. 
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the local HVO leaders.5601 The Prosecution also argues that, even if Stojic only learned of the 

crimes on 4 November 1993, he did nothing to reverse the promotion or sanction Rajic which 

demonstrates his acceptance of the crimes.5602 

1706. Stojic replies that the Prosecution: (1) argues that he knew of crimes prior to 

4 November 1993 without having appealed the Trial Chamber's finding;5603 and (2) ignores that 

Stupni Do investigations appeared to be underway while failing to identify any power he had to 

reverse a promotion. 5604 

b. Analysis 

1707. The Appeals Chamber will first address the challenges to StojiC's knowledge of crimes in 

Vares prior to 4 November 1993. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded 

that Stojic requested and obtained RajiC's promotion although he knew that Rajic had committed 

crimes.5605 The Trial Chamber's conclusion is supported by its findings that Stojic: 

(1) communicated with Rajic between 29 and 31 October 1993 concerning the military operations 

in Vares and facilitated those operations which he thought had been carried out satisfactorily;5606 

(2) requested RajiC's promotion on 1 November 1993;5607 and (3) infollned the Government about 

the military situation in the Vares area dming a meeting on 4 November 1993.5608 However, the 

Trial Chamber's finding on StojiC's knowledge of crimes as of 4 November 1993 specifically 

concerned the crimes committed in Stupni DO.5609 Notably, in the impugned finding, the Trial 

Chamber referred to Stojic being informed of "the deaths" and "the destruction of property" as of 

4 November 1993.5610 Those crimes occurred in Stupni DO.5611 Thus, the Appeals Chamber 

5601 Prosecution's Response Brief(Stojic), paras 304-305. 
5602 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 309. The Prosecution asserts that, by requesting and obtaining RajiC's 
Eromotion, Stojic showed that he shared the CCP. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 303,308. 

603 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70. 
5604 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 70, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 487-491,494-495, Vol. 4, para. 381. 
5605 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 383, 427. 
5606 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-381. 
5607 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 381. 
5608 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 300, referring to Ex. 1D02179. Notably, Exhibit 1D02179 is the minutes of a 
Government meeting held on 4 November 1993, and attended by Pdic, Stojic and others, which discussed the military 
and security situation in the Vard area. Ex. 1D02179. 
5609 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, paras 383, 443. The Trial Chamber seemed to have based the finding that Stojic knew of 
the deaths and destruction of property on its earlier finding that, on 4 November 1993, key members of the Government, 
including Pdic, Praljak, and Boban attended a meeting which analysed the ramifications of the Stupni Do events as well 
as the involvement of Rajic and his troops in the area which had become public knowledge. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 382-383, referring to Ex. P06454, pp. 57-60, 72-73. Notably, the minutes of that meeting are dated 
5 November 1993 (see Ex. P06454, p. 1) and elsewhere the Trial Chamber referred to this meeting being held on 
5 November 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 203, 595). Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial 
Chamber mistakenly referred to this meeting as being held on 4 November 1993 in paragraphs 382 and 761 of the Trial 
Judgement. However, whether Stojic had the relevant knowledge as of 4 or 5 November 1993, and considering that 
Stojic did in fact attend another Government meeting on 4 November 1993 in which he briefed the attendees on the 
Vares situation, the Trial Chamber's mistake has no impact. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 203,300. 
5610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. 
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considers that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic: (1) facilitated the military operations of RajiC's 

troops in Vares in October 1993, and considered that the operations were satisfactorily carried out 

justifying RajiC's promotion; and (2) was informed of the crimes in Stupni Do as of 4 or 

5 November 1993.5612 

1708. In light of the above, StojiC's involvement in RajiC's promotion therefore predates his 

awareness of the Stupni Do crimes. Notably, RajiC's promotion was granted by Boban on the same 

day that Stojic requested it, i.e. on 1 November 1993.5613 The Appeals Chamber also notes that 

neither the Trial Chamber nor the Parties refer to any evidence on StojiC's ability to reverse a 

promotion granted by Boban. The Appeals Chamber finds that, to the extent that the Trial Chamber . 

relied on StojiC's involvement in RajiC's promotion to find that he accepted the murders and 

destruction of property in Stupni DO,5614 the Trial Chamber erred. The impact of this error, if any, 

will be addressed below.5615 However, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that StojiC's involvement in 

RajiC's promotion reasonably supports the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Stojic facilitated the 

Vares military operations carried out by RajiC's troops and considered that these operations were 

carried out satisfactorily.5616 

1709. Stojic further disputes the Trial Chamber's inference that he was informed of the murders 

and'destruction of property in Stupni Do as of 4 November 1993 by arguing a lack of evidence. The 

Appeals Chamber reiterates that a trial chamber may rely on either direct or circumstantial evidence 

to underpin its findings.5617 Specifically, a trial chamber may draw inferences to establish a fact on 

which a conviction relies based on circumstantial evidence as long as it is the only reasonable 

inference that could be drawn from the evidence presented.5618 Regarding StojiC's awareness of 

these crimes, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) Government officials - Boban and Prlic - as 

well as those in charge of the Main Staff - Praljak and Petkovic - knew of these crimes in Stupni 

Do which had become public knowledge and were discussed during a meeting on 

5611 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 699-703, 752-756, 1554-1556, 1596-1599. See supra, para. 1698. See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 763, 767. 
5612 See supra, fn. 5609. 
5613 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 381, refening to Exs. P06328, P06339, P06362. The Appeals Chamber notes that 
Exhibit P06362 is a document issued by S~ojic on 2 November 1993 stating that Rajic was promoted by a decree from 
Boban. Ex. P06362. 
5614 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383 ("Moreover, insofar as h~ [ ... ] requested and obtained Ivica RajiC's 
promotion, the [Trial] Chamber holds that the only reasonable inference it can draw is that Bruno Stojic accepted the 
murders and the destruction"). 
5615 See infra, paras 1710-1712. 
5616 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-381, 383. 
5617 Stanish! alld Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 172; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 971; Stakic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 219. 
5618 Stanis;c and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 375; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1278; Stakic 
Judgement, para. 219. 
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5 November 1993;5619 (2) Stojic was the Government member in charge of the armed forces; and 

(3) StojiC facilitated the Vares military operations and considered them to have been carried out 

satisfactorily.562o Notably, Stojic has not challenged the first of these considerations, and the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere his submissions disputing his control over the HVO and the 

Military Police,5621 as well as his facilitation of the Vares military operations.5622 The Trial 

Chamber also found that Stojic briefed the HZ(R) H-B Government about the military and security 

situation in the Vares area during another meeting on 4 November 1993.5623 Thus, despite a lack of 

. direct evidence that he was informed of the Stupni Do crimes,5624 Stojic fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have arrived at the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the only 

reasonable inference was that by 4 November 1993,5625 he was so informed. Stojic's argument is 

therefore dismissed. 

1710. In addition to considering StojiC's role in RajiC's promotion, the Trial Chamber also took 

account of his continued exercise of his functions while knowing of the crimes in concluding that 

he accepted those crimes.5626 Notably, the Trial Chamber concluded that the HVO infoillled the 

international community that investigations into the Stupni Do crimes were underway but that this 

was intended to deceive the international community.5627 The Appeals Chamber notes in this regard 

that the Trial Chamber did not make any finding on this issue as it concerns Stojic, nor does Stojic 

point to any evidence that he was informed of an investigation of the crimes. Thus, StojiC's 

assertion that Stupni Do investigations "appeared to be underway" does not impact on the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he accepted the crimes. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls 

that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic exercised his functions as Head of the Department of 

Defence unti115 November 1993,5628 thus he had approximately ten days in which he could have 

taken some action after learning of the Stupni Do crimes.5629 Further, the Trial Chamber found that 

despite StojiC's power and authority over the HVO and the Military Police,563o he made no serious 

5619 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 382-383, referring to Ex. P06454, pp. 57-60, 72-73. See supra, fn. 5608 (clarifying 
that the relevant meeting occurred on 5 November 1993). 
5620 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 380-382. The Trial Chamber also found 
elsewhere that Stojic briefed the HZ(R) H-B Government about the military and security situation in the Vares area 
during another meeting on 4 November 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 203,300, referring to Ex. 1D02179. 
5621 See supra, paras 1457, 1479, 1491. 
5622 See supra, para. 1703. The Appeals Chamber also rejects StojiC's assertion that the Trial Chamber relied only on his 
official role to conclude that he had knowledge of the crimes. See supra, fn. 5593. 
5623 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 203,300, referring to Ex. 1D02179. 
5624 See supra, para. 1704. 
5625 See supra, fn. 5609. 
5626 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. 
5627 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480,484,488-492. 
5628 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 293. See supra, para. 1516. 
5629 See supra, para. 1490. 
5630 See supra, paras 1405, 1457-1458, 1479-1480,1500. 
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effort to stop the commission of crimes by their members.5631 By failing to do so, even with the 

short time-frame available,5632 the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably. 

concluded, as the only available inference from the evidence, that Stojic accepted the murders and 

destruction of property. StojiC's arguments on this point are dismissed. 

1711. Moreover, based on the above,5633 the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's 

error in relying on RajiC's promotion to find that Stojic accepted the murders and destruction of 

property in Stupni Do does not impact its overall conclusion on his acceptance of the crimes. 

Further, StojiC's continued participation in the JCE after being aware of the events in Vares 

Municipality - albeit for a short time frame - was also reasonably used to infer his shared intent. 

StojiC's sub-grounds of appeal 36.1 and 36.3 are dismissed. 

(iii) Conclusion 

1712. In sum, StojiC's ground of appeal 36 is dismissed as he has failed to demonstrate an error by 

the Trial Chamber that impacts on its consideration of his participation in the JCE based on his 

involvement in the military operations in Vares Municipality. 

(i) Detention Centres (Stojic's Ground 37) 

(i) Whether Stojic was responsible for the detention centres (StojiC's Sub-ground 37.1, in 

1713. In discussing StojiC's responsibility for the detention centres, the Trial Chamber found that 

on 6 August 1993 StojiC ordered that the "procedures for interrogation and release of detainees in 

the HZ H-B detention centres be better organised".5634 The Trial Chamber also noted that during a 

6 September 1993 meeting attended by Stojic, the Government took decisions to bring the detention 

centres for "prisoners of war" in line with the standards of international law and tasked the DoJA as 

well as the Department of Defence with overseeing the implementation of these decisions.5635 

Furthermore, the Trial Chamber found that Boban ordered the Department of Defence and the Main 

5631 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. 
5632 Cf Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1898& fn. 5324 (considering that Vinko Pandurevic had about 30 hours 
to prevent his subordinates from committing crimes and finding that while he "would have indeed needed to act 
quickly, issuing orders requires little time and responsibility for this could have been delegated if necessary."); 
paras 1914 (finding that Pandurevic had a few hours in which he might have made the relevant inquiries or issued 
orders in relation to preventing his subordinates from committing crimes), 1915 (finding that Pandurevic had less than 
24 hours but had ample time and opportunity to initiate action to prevent his subordinates from participating in 
~ersecution). 

633 See supra, para. 1710. 
5634 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 384, referring to Ex. P04002, p. 1. 
5635 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 385, referring to Ex. P04841. 
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Staff to comply with international law in the treatment of POWS.5636 It pointed out that the 

regulations for the treatment of POWs in the detention centres, promulgated by Stojic on 

11 February 1993, were still in force in November 1993 and provided for, inter alia, the sanitary, 

dietary, and working conditions.5637 The Trial Chamber inferred from this evidence that Stojic was 

informed of the detention of Muslims and that this detention was not in conformity with 

international law. 5638 It also concluded that even if Stojic "did seek to improve the detention 

conditions and the treatment of detainees - as the [Trial] Chamber found in the parts relating to the 

various detention centres - the conditions and treatment remained poor until the day the centres 

were closed down.,,5639 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1714. According to Stojic, the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that he was responsible for the 

conditions at detention centres from the measures which were promulgated to improve those 

conditions and which were ultimately ineffective.564o Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to 

articulate a basis for finding that he was responsible for detained civilians as they were under the 

responsibility of the ODPR or the DoJA.5641 He argues that it was the ODPR that was tasked with 

improving conditions concerning accommodation and diet during the Government meeting of 

6 September 1993,5642 and that Exhibits P04841, the minutes of the Government working meeting 

of 6 September 1993, and P05104, Boban's follow up order of 15 September 1993, did not place 

additional responsibilities on the Department of Defence.5643 In the same vein, Stojic contends that 

the order that Boban issued after this Government meeting contained only action for the Main Staff 

to process.5644 Similarly, Stojic argues that the fact that the requests of the Health Section of the 

Department of Defence for improvement in conditions were not implemented does not mean that he 

accepted or was responsible for the poor conditions. Stojic contends that another alternative 

inference is that he failed to improve the conditions because he lacked the power to do SO,5645 and 

5636 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 385, referring to Ex. P05104. 
5637 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 386. 
5638 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 387. 
5639 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 387 .. 
5640 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 384-386, 395, 407. Stojic refers to the 
Detention Commission that he attempted to establish in August 1993 for improving the prison conditions and notes that 
the Trial Chamber found no evidence that it carried out its functions. Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to 
Ex. P03995; Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 625. Stojic replies that his acceptance of unlawful detentions is not the only 
reasonable inference available from the fact that Gabela Prison detainees were not categorised. StojiC's Reply Brief, 
Ear~~. . . 

641 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 359, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03995, 1D01666, 5DOl004, 4D01105, P02925, 
P02915. 
5642 StojiC's Appeal Brief, pata. 359, referring to Ex. P04841. 
5643 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 359. 
5644 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 359, referring to Exs. P05104, P05199, P05188. 
5645 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P04145, 2D00412, P05503, 2D02000, para. 70. 
2D00717, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 405. . 
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submits in that regard that there was no evidence that the Health Section had de jure powers to 

order improvements.5646 He also claims that there is no evidence that the rules he issued in 

February 1993, before POWs were detained, were followed, arguing that the Heliodrom operated 

according to the rules issued by Corie in September 1992.5647 

1715. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojie exercised 

authority over the Heliodrom, Drete1j Prison, and Gabela Prison and that he had authority to 

improve the detention conditions.5648 The Prosecution also contends that Stojie ignores the role he 

and the authorities under his control played in operating these detention centres.5649 According to 

the Prosecution, the evidence Stojie cites does not show that the ODPR or the DoJA displaced his 

authority over detained civilians.565o It further argues that the Trial Chamber, reasonably relied on 

StojiC's 11,February 1993 instructions regulating the treatment of POWs and that the fact that these 

instructions were not followed shows that he took no steps to ensure compliance.5651 The 

Prosecution also submits that the Health Section of the Department of Defence could issue orders 

concerning health-care provisions at Dretelj Prison, Gabela Prison, and the Heliodrom and yet no 

such care was provided in the first two, while some detainees received no medical care in the 

Heliodrom.5652 In that regard, the Prosecution submits that Stojie misrepresents the Trial Judgement 

by claiming that the Trial Chamber found there was no evidence of the Health Section's de jure 

powers to order improvements.5653 

5646 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 619. 
5647 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1407, 1415, 1458, Vol. 4, para. 386, 
Exs. P01474, P00352, p. 14. The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic mistakenly dates CoriC's instructions as 
September 1993 and considers this to be a typographical error. 
564 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 313 (referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 312, 320, 
384-386, 388, 390-395, 398-407, 423, 427, Ex. P03995), 332. According to the Prosecution, a decree of 3 July 1992 
concerning the treatment of persons captured during combat in the HZ H-B signed by Mate Boban placed the 
Department of Defence in charge of HVO detention centres. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 313, referring 
to Ex. P00292. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 648. 
5649 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 328. The Prosecution avers that Stojic recognised his responsibility for 
detained civilians as he formed the Detention Commission and that he accepted unlawful detentions as nothing was 
done to categorise Gabela Prison detainees. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 329, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 202-204, Vol. 4, para. 407, Ex. P03995. 
5650 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 330. The Prosecution asserts that: (1) Stojic relies on the 
6 September 1993 meeting but ignores the fact that the Department of Defence was tasked at that meeting with 
improving detention conditions; and (2) Stojic cites evidence showing that the Military Police which was found to 
have been under his command and effective control - allowed Heliodrom detainees to be taken to work. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Stojic), para. 330, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 320, Exs. P02915, P04841, pp. 1-3. 
5651 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 331, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1431, Vol. 4, paras 386, 
395,397-399. 
5652 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 332, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1461-1463, 
Vol. 3, paras 30, 177, 180. 
5653 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 332, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 619. 
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b. Analysis 

1716. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial judgement must be read as a whole,5654 and that the 

subsection dealing with StojiC's responsibility for detention centres should be read together with the 

other parts of the Trial Judgement. Bearing this in mind, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber did not err in inferring that Stojie was responsible for the conditions in detention 

centres on the basis that the promulgated measures were ineffective as submitted by Stojie.5655 The 

implication of StojiC' s submission here is that the Trial Chamber relied solely on these unsuccessful 

measures in order to infer his responsibility for those conditions, which is not the case. Notably, the 

Trial Chamber made findings on the identity of the personnel that operated those detention centres 

including the armed forces c;1eployed to these centres,5656 and found that Stojie commanded and had 

"effective control" over most of these armed forces and was hierarchically superior to Corie.5657 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber concluded that Stojie could issue orders directly to the HVO 

regarding the detention centres and to Corie on the release of detainees.5658 The Trial Chamber also 

made findings relating to StojiC's personal involvement with respect to the Heliodrom's security 

arrangements, access by international organisations and journalists, and release of detainees. 5659 

1717. Further, in the introductory paragraphs of the subsection titled "Detention Centres", the 

Trial Chamber, in reaching its conclusion about StojiC's knowledge of conditions of detention in 

detention centres, discussed the level of authority Stojie had regarding those conditions based on the 

tasks given to the Department of Defence in relation thereto, and based on certain actions Stojie 

took in 1993, in accordance with that authority.566o Th~s, the Trial Chamber found that the 

Department of Defence was tasked by the Government and Boban to ensure compliance with 

standards of international law in relation to the detention centres and treatment of prisoners.5661 In 

respect of Exhibit P05104, namely Boban's order of 15 September 1993 for conditions of detention 

and treatment of POWs to be improved in compliance with the Geneva Conventions, the Appeals 

Chamber rejects StojiC's argument that Boban's order contained only action that was to be 

implemented by the Main Staff as this order was clearly addressed to both the Main Staff and the 

5654 Stanish: and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; 
MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. 
5655 See supra, para. 1714. 
5656 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1400-1405, 1407-1412, 1415-1416, 1428, 1441, 1452, 1456, 1464, 1472-1473, 
1476, 1492 (the Heliodrom), Vol. 3, paras 17-21,25-28,30,32-36 (Dretelj Prison), 165, 168-169, 171, 173-175, 180, 
187-192 (Gabela Prison), Vol. 4, paras 955, 959, 964, 968, 988, 991 (Corie's involvement in the detention centres). 
5657 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 302, 312, 314, 320, 326. 
5658 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 306, 314. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 915. 
5659 Trial Judgement; Vol. 2, paras 1410, 1429, 1431-1432, 1441,1450,1452. 
5660 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 384-386. Stojie's other actions and omissions were discussed in the sections on the 
sPtecific detention centres. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 388-395, 397-407. 
561 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 385; supra, para. 1713. 
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Department of Defence.5662 In the Appeals Chamber's view, a reasonable trier of fact could have 

interpreted the fact that the order was sent to both organs as indicating that the Department of 

Defence was to ensure that the Main Staff and the HVO complied with the order and implemented 

it on the ground.5663 As such, the Trial Chamber's finding that Boban ordered both the Department 

of Defence and the Main Staff to ensure compliance with international law in combat and treatment 

of prisoners is not contradicted.5664 Accordingly, Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber could 

not rely on Exhibit P05104 to reach its conclusions. 

1718. Moreover, in the Appeals Chamber's view, the fact that some documents show that the 

ODPR or the DoJA dealt with civilians detained in detention centres5665 does not impacton the fact 

that the Department of Defence was tasked with improving conditions of detention. In this respect, 

Stojic fails to demonstrate that any authority exercised by the ODPR or the DoJA precludes him 

from also exercising authority over the detention centres. Contrary to StojiC's submission, the 

minutes of the Government's working group meeting of 6 September 1993 clearly show that the 

Department of Defence was tasked with, inter alia, improving conditions in detention centres and 

that it was given a deadline of 15 days to do SO.5666 Stojic does not show how the fact that the 

ODPR was required to improve the accommodation and diet of the detainees or that the DoJA was 

tasked jointly with the Department of Defence to adopt regulations pertaining to the procedure 

towards detained persons affects the Trial Chamber's finding. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to rely on Exhibit P04841 to reach its 

conclusions. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber also considers that StojiC's submission that his 

regulations of 11 February 1993 were never followed is unpersuasive and he does nGt show how 

this affects the Trial Chamber's findings. In the Appeals Chamber's view, a reasonable trier of fact 

could have relied on these regulations to arrive at the conclusions the Trial Chamber reached 

regarding StojiC's knowledge and therefore consider them a relevant factor in determining his 

authority and responsibility over detained civilians.5667 

1719. Stojic also challenges the Trial Chamber's consideration of information given to him that 

preventive measures recommended by the Health Section of the Department of Defence for Gabela 

5662 See Ex. P05104. 
5663 In that regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that the Main Staff was accountable to the 
Department of Defence with regards to a number of matters and that the HVO brigade commanders were subordinated 
to, i~lter alia, the Head of the Department of Defence. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 564. See also supra, 
~aras 1409-1410,1422-1423,1427-1435. 

664 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 385. 
5665 See Exs. 1D01666, 5DOlO04, P02925. While Stojic also relies on Exhibit P02915 to show that the DoJA had 
authority over detained civilians in the Heliodrom, the Appeals Chamber notes that this exhibit makes no reference to 
the DoJA and instead shows that the Military Police was allowed to take detainees from the Heliodrom to work. 
FurthemlOre, the exhibit also bears the stamp of the Department of Defence. Ex. P02915. 
5666 Ex. P04841, pp. 2-3. 
5667 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 386-387. 
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Prison were not implemented.5668 The fact that these recommendations were ultimately not 

. implemented, despite the specific mandate of the Department of Defence in relation to conditions of 

detention, was referred to by the Trial Chamber in its conclusion that even if Stojic "did seek to 

improve the detention conditions and the treatment of detainees - as the [Trial] Chamber found in 

the parts relating to the various detention centres - the conditions and treatment remained poor until 

the day the centres were closed down".5669 It was also referred to later in the discussion on Dretelj 

Prison and Gabela Prison when the Trial Chamber found that Stojic - even though informed of the 

continued bad conditions and the lack of compliance with the Health Section's recommendations -

did nothing, leading to the conclusion that he "accepted the extremely precarious conditions and the 

mistreatment in the prisons of Dretelj and Gabela".567o 

1720. In arguing that there is no evidence that the Health Section had de jure powers to make 

requests for improvement of conditions, Stojic relies on the Trial Chamber's finding that it had no 

evidence regarding the "full complement of powers" given to the Health Section.5671 However, he 

ignores the Trial Chamber's finding only two paragraphs later, that the Health Section was tasked 

with visiting HVO detention centres, of which it informed Stojic.5672 The Trial Chamber then 

proceeded to find later in the Trial Judgement that the Health Section was directly involved with the 

provision of medical care at the Heliodrom, Dretelj Prison, and Gabela Prison.5673 Thus, StojiC's 

argument, to the extent it concerns any lack of authority of the Health Section, is dismissed. 

Moreover, Stojic ignores the fact that the finding that he accepted the poor detention conditions was 

not based only on the non-implementation of the Health Section's recommendations.5674 

1721. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber did not only 

consider the ineffective promulgated measures but a multitude of other factors, most importantly, 

the role that Stojic, and the authorities he controlled, played in operating, assessing, and improving 

those detention centres, as well as his knowledge about the conditions therein. Therefore, Stojic has 

not shown that the Trial Chamber erred with regard to his authority over, and responsibility for the 

conditions at, the detention centres. Moreover, Stojic has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber 

erred in considering the ineffective measures taken to improve detention conditions as a factor in 

determining StojiC's responsibility. His arguments to the contrary are dismissed. 

5668 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 405. 
5669 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 387. 
5670 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 407. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 405-406. 
5671 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 619. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 366. 
5672 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 621. 
5673 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1461-1464, Vol. 3, paras 30, 177-180. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 392, 404-
405. 
5674 The Appeals Chamber also does not see how StojiC's arguments regarding the fact that the Detention Commission 
did not carry out its function assists him. If anything, it affirms the Trial Chamber's findings that he made no genuine 
efforts to improve the situation in the detention centres. His argument is dismissed. 
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(ii) StojiC's involvement in the Heliodrom and awareness of detention conditions (StojiC's 

Sub-grounds 37.1, in part, and 37.2) 

1722. Having made its finding about StojiC's know ledge of conditions of detention in the 

detention centres generally,5675 the Trial Chamber turned to StojiC's involvement with the 

Heliodrom. The Trial Chamber first recalled its findings about the harsh conditions of detention that 

existed there.5676 It also found that various officials, including the Heliodrom wardens, informed 

Stojie on several occasions about the conditions of detention there and about the detainees' work on 

the front line which resulted in the death and wounding of some detainees.5677 The Trial Chamber 

determined that Stojie took no measures to rectify those conditions and found that "[i]nasmuch as 

he continued to exercise his functions in the [Government], [ ... ] Stojie accepted the bad detention 

conditions at the Heliodrom".5678 

a. Whether Stojie was responsible for crimes committed at the Heliodrom 

(StojiC's Sub-ground 37.1, in part) 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1723. Stojie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he failed to rectify the detention 

conditions at the Heliodrom without making "an unequivocal preliminary finding that he had the 

power to do SO,,5679 which, he claims, was inconsistent with the approach the Trial Chamber used in 

relation to other detention centres.5680 Stojie also claims that no reasonable chamber could have 

found that he was responsible for conditions at the Heliodrom as: (1) he was not found to have had 

any role in establishing it; (2) he merely formalised Mile PusiC's appointment as the warden of the 

Heliodrom, as ordered by Corie; (3) the logistics, access to the Heliodrom, and the release of the 

detainees were controlled by the military chain of command; and (4) there is no evidence that he 

issued orders to the Heliodrom wardens or was involved in its daily activities.5681 Stojie avers that 

he was only one of several recipients of reports about the detention conditions - most of which he 

did not receive, and that the only remaining report he received from the Health Section, namely 

5675 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 384-387. 
5676 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 394, recalling Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1517-1545, 1552-1565, 1594-1605. 
5677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 388-392, 395, relying on Exs. P04186, P04352, P05812, P05503. 
5678 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 395. 
5679 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 357. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 356. 
5680 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 357 (referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1379-1663, Vol. 4, paras 388-395), 
367. According to Stojic, the Trial Chamber made no findings that he was responsible for Vojno Detention Centre, 
Ljubuski Prison, and Vitina-Otok Camp and thus made no findings that he failed to rectify the conditions there. StojiC's 
AEpeal Brief, para. 357, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1675-1686, 1789-1799, 1852-1857. 
561 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 358, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras l395, 1416, 1428, 1445-
1456, Exs. P00452, p. 1, P00352, pp. 12-l3. Stojic avers that the order for detention of HVO Muslims at the Heliodrom 
came frorri Petkovic arid was then passed through the military chain of command. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 359, 
referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03019, P04745. 
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Exhibit P05503, does not establish that he was responsible for medical care or s~curity at the 

Heliodrom.5682 

1724. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojie exercised 

authority over the Heliodrom and 'its detention conditions,5683 and argues that any lack of findings 

regarding other detention centres is irrelevant.5684 Specifically, regarding the Heliodrom, the 

Prosecution argues that: (1) it was established by Corie who was under StojiC's control;5685 (2) the 

Trial Chamber acknowledged StojiC's decision of 3 September 1992 to establish a central military 

prison at its site, and his appointment of Mile Pusie on that day;5686 and (3) Stojie was not involved 

in its administration simply because he did not want to be involved.5687 With respect to the Health 

Section report, the Prosecution responds that ultimately Boban directed his order to both the Main 

Staff and the Department of Defence.5688 It also argues that Stojie misrepresents the Trial 

Judgement by asserting that he was not responsible for medical care or security at the Heliodrom 

since he had control over: (1) the Military Police that secured the Heliodrom, and the units of the 

atmed forces that provided medical supplies and supervised medical treatment;5689 and (2) the 

personnel from the HVO, Military Police, and the SIS who dealt with logistics, prison access, and 
. I 5690 pnsoner re ease. 

5682 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 360, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1408, 1460, Ex. P05503. See infra, 
para. 1732. Stojie asserts that Exhibit P05503 was produced in response to Boban's order to the Main Staff that the 
conditions be improved. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para: 360, referring to Ex. P05104. 
5683 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 313, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 390-392, 
395,399-407,423,427. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 334-335 (21 Mar 2017). 
5684 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 314. 
5685 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 315, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1395, Vol. 4, para. 320. 
5686 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 315, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras l391, 1395. The 
Prosecution also submits that: (1) Corie acknowledged that StojiC's decision of 3 September 1992 was taken following 
the request of the Military Police Administration; and (2) CoriC's subsequent order regarding Mile PusiC's appointment 
demonstrated Stojie's control over Corie. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 315, referring to Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2, para. 1394. 
5687 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 316. The Prosecution also argues that while authorities reported 
problems in the Heliodrom to Stojie and requested that he solve them, he did nothing. It further avers that StojiC's 
intervention would not have been requested if he was powerless. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), paras 316 
(referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 393, 395, 423, 427, Josip Praljak, T. 14734 (27 Feb 2007), 
Exs.P03209,P04186,P04352,P05812),319. 
5688 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 317, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 385. 
5689 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 318, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1405, 1407-
1409, 1412, 1464, Vol. 4, paras 312, 320. The Prosecution argues that the provision of medical supplies was initially the 
Department of Defence's responsibility and the Health Section was directly involved in the provision of health 
treatment at the Heliodrom. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 318. 
5690 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 319, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1416, 1428, 1441, 
1452, 1456, Vol. 4, paras 302, 312, 320. The Prosecution further submits that it is irrelevant that the Muslim HVO 
members were detained at the Heliodrom pursuant to PetkoviC's order. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojie), para. 320. 
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1725. Stojic replies that the Prosecution concedes that no explicit findings were made on his 

authority over the Heliodrom. He argues that "[a] reasoned decision requires an express finding on 

such a critical issue", and that any implicit finding is untenable given the lack of evidence.5691 

ii. Analysis 

1726. The Trial Chamber found that Stojic took no measures to rectify the detention conditions in 

the Heliodrom and concluded that "[i]nasmuch as he continued to exercise his functions in the 

[Government], [ ... ] Stojic accepted the bad detention conditions at the Heliodrom and the use of 

detainees for work on the front line".5692 Concerning StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber 

failed to make an unequivocal finding that he had the power to improve the conditions in the 

Heliodrom, the Appeals Chamber accepts that it would have been preferable for the Trial Chamber 

to expressly find that Stojic had the authority over the Heliodrom, as it did with Gabela Prison and 

Dretelj Prison, and that by not doing so the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion. 

However, as noted above,5693 the Trial Chamber did find that the Department of Defence was tasked 

with improving the conditions of detention of POWs and that Stojic had "effective control" over 

most of the HVO and Military Police deployed to the detention centres, including the Heliodrom. 

Thus, it is clear that the evidence outlined in the introductory paragraphs was used by the Trial 

Chamber to show the mandate Stojic had to improve the conditions of detention in the detention 

centres generally and thus in the Heliodrom. 

1727. Moreover, the Trial Chamber: (l) heard evidence that Stojic was responsible for resolving 

issues likely to arise in detention centres and could take the decision to close those centres;5694 

(2) found that Stojic had authority over the release of detainees;5695 (3) found that Stojic participated 

in Government meetings and took decisions on the situation in the detention centres;5696 and 

(4) observed thatStojic issued orders concerning the detention centres.5697 As indicated earlier, the 

Trial Chamber also made findings relating to StojiC's personal involvement with respect to the 

Heliodrom's security arrangements, access by international organisations and journalists, and 

release of detainees.5698 The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic does not challenge most of these 

5691 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 69, citing Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 128, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, 

Eara. 139. 
692 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 395. 

5693 See supra, paras 1713, 1716-1718. 
5694 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 542. 
5695 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 862, 915. 
5696 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 297. 
5697 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 306. 
5698 See supra, para. 1716. 

Case No. IT-04-74-A 
715 

29 November 2017 

23180



findings. 5699 Considering all this, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber made 

sufficient factual findings to show that StojiC had authority over the Heliodrom. Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could have found that Stojic had authority 

over the detention centres, including the Heliodrom, and thus could have taken measures to improve 

the detention conditions.57oo 

1728. The Appeals Chamber now turns to StojiC's more specific arguments. First, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that, in finding that Stojic received continuous reports on the Heliodrom,5701 the 

Trial Chamber considered a report from Stanko Bozic, the Heliodrom warden, on logistical 

problems concerning lack of food and space at the Heliodrom and requesting that Stojic find a 

solution.5702 It also considered that various officials, including'the Heliodrom wardens, informed 

Stojic on several occasions about the conditions of detention and the detainees' work on the front 

line which resulted in the death and wounding of some detainees.5703 The Appeals Chamber is 

satisfied that a reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the reports sent to Stojic by the 

Heliodrom wardens show that he was viewed as someone who could improve the detention 

conditions. Stojic's assertion that he was only one of many recipients of these reports is insufficient 

to show an error. 

1729. Moreover, the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on these reports to find that Stojic knew of 

the detention conditions.5704 Other than challenging his receipt of these reports, Stojic argues that 

Exhibit P05503, that is, the report from the Health Section addressed to him personally, does not 

establish his responsibility for medical care or security. In this respect, the Trial Chamber 

considered this report - which described the various problems at the Heliodrom such as insufficient 

guards, overcrowding, and disastrous hygienic conditions - as evidence that Stojic was informed of 

5699 While Stojic challenges the finding that he had authority over the release of detainees and that he could issue orders 
to the Heliodrom wardens, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this challenge elsewhere. See supra, para. 1723, infra, 
rara, 1728. 

700 In addition, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic's arguments relating to Vojno Detention Centre, Ljubuski 
Prison, and Vitina-Otok Camp, are speculative and dismisses them as such, The Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic 
merely speculates that the Trial Chamber did not discuss Vojno Detention Centre and Vitina-Otok Camp in relation to 
his JCE responsibility due to his lack of authority over them but does not present convincing arguments or address the 
lack of evidence as to his direct involvement in those centres. As for Ljubuski Prison, while correct that the Trial 
Chamber did not conclude that Stojic failed to rectify conditions in Ljubuski and made no explicit findings on his 
authority over it, he was nevertheless convicted for the crimes that took place there on the basis that he had notice of 
and accepted the crimes committed there. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 396. See supra, para. 1560 (reversing the 
findings on StojiC's knowledge and acceptance of the detention of Muslim men who did not belong to any armed forces 
at Ljubuski Prison). 
5701 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 395. 
5702 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 388, referring to Ex. P04186. 
5703 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 388-391, referring to Exs. P04352 (noting that an ICRC representative who visited 
the Heliodrom complained that the conditions of detention, specifically the inadequate food, the use of detainees for 
work, and the isolation cells, contravened the Geneva Conventions and informing Stojic that the number of wounded 
and killed detainees was increasing by the day), P05812 (informing Stojic, among other things, that detainees were 
beaten while at work and expressing concern about the large numbers of severely wounded and suffering detainees). 
5704 The Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's challenges to his receipt of reports elsewhere. See infra, para. 1734. 
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the detention conditions.5705 Thus, Stojic misinterprets the Trial Chamber's reliance on the report 

from the Health Section. Furthermore, as noted earlier, the Trial Chamber also made findings 

relating to StojiC's personal involvement with respect to the Heliodrom's security arrangements and 

the release of detainees, as well as with regard to the personnel operating in the Heliodrom, all of 

whom were found to be under StojiC's contro1.5706 Thus, StojiC's argument that Exhibit P05503 

does not establish his responsibility is dismissed as unpersuasive. 

1730. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber dismisses StojiC's remaining contentions on his alleged 

lack of involvement in the establishment of the Heliodrom and its daily activities, and the control 

exercised through the military chain of comniand. In light of the above considerations and his 

"effective control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police deployed to detention centres,5707 

Stojic fails to show how these contentions could call into question the Trial Chamber's findings. 

Notably, while the Trial Chamber held that it could not draw any conclusions as to the "precise 

role" Stojic played in establishing the Heliodrom, it was ultimately satisfied that Coric, whom it 

found to be under Stojic's control in some respects, ordered its establishment.5708 

1731. Therefore, on the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic has 

failed to show that the Trial Chamber elTed in concluding that he took no measures to rectify the 

bad detention conditions at the Heliodrom. 

b. Whether Stojic was aware of the conditions at the Heliodrom (StojiC's Sub-

ground 37.2) 

1732. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he knew about the conditions at 

the Heliodrom through reports and letters because there is no evidence that he actually received or 

read any of these reports.5709 Stojic contends that reports received by the Department of Defence 

were marked with a "receipt stamp", recorded in an intake register, and then signed by him.5710 He 

argues that none of the documents were stamped or signed by him,5711 and that the intake register 

5705 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 392,395. 
5706 See supra, para. 1716, fns 5656 & 5657. The Appeals Chamber also finds that the sections of the Trial Judgement 
cited by Stojic as support for his contention that it was expressly found that he was not responsible for medical care or 
security at the Helicidrom (see StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 360 & fn. 885) in fact do not speak to Stojic or make any 
such finding. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1408, 1460. 
5707 See supra, paras 1716, 1726-1728. 
5708 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1395. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 314,320. The Appeals Chamber notes that 
the Trial Chamber also referred to StojiC's decision of 3 September 1992 to establish a central military prison at the 
Heliodrom site and to appoint Mile Pusic as its warden. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1391, referring to Ex. P00452, 
p-l. 

709 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 388-392. See StojiC's Reply Brief, 

g~as~~iC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Slobodan Bozic, T. 36246-36247 (3 Feb 2009). 
5711 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Exs. P04352, P05812, P04186. 
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was not entered into evidence.5712 According to Stojic, Stanko Bozic, who wrote several of the 

reports, "did not give evidence".5713 Stojic also submits that the fact that he did not visit the 

Heliodrom shows that he was not aware of the conditions there.5714 He asserts that the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he failed to improve conditions at the Heliodrom is contingent on his 

knowledge of the conditions.5715 

1733. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Stojic was aware of 

the conditions at the Heliodrom,5716 and reasonably relied on the reports from Stanko Bozic.5717 It 

also responds that Stojic received other information concerning the detention conditions at the 

Heliodrom.5718 According to the Prosecution, StojiC's failure to visit the Heliodrom does not show 

that he had no knowledge of the situation there but instead shows that he accepted the crimes.5719 

1734. With regard to StojiC's argument that there is no evidence that he actually received and read 

the reports related to the conditions in the Heliodrom,5720 the Appeals Chamber notes that his only 

support for this argument is the evidence of Slobodan Bozic and the intake registry. As the Appeals 

Chamber dismisses elsewhere the same arguments concerning this evidence and document, StojiC's 

argument under this ground of appeal is likewise dismissed.5721 Moreover, the fact that the author of 

several of these reports, Stanko Bozic, did not testify does not take away from the fact that they 

were written and sent to the Department of Defence and were addressed to StojiC personally.5722 

Having been personally addressed to Stojic, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic does not present 

any arguments demonstrating that the flow of information was intenupted in those instances thus 

preventing his receipt of the reports. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic conceded 

to having received the report of 30 September 1993 from the Health Section which addressed the 

conditions in the Heliodrom and which was considered by the Trial Chamber in detennining that he 

knew of the detention conditions.5723 The Appeals Chamber also considers that StojiC's argument 

5712 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Ex. 2D01399. 
5713 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 388, 3'90-391. 
5714 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 393. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 69. 
5715 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 369. . 
5716 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 333, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1566, Vol. 4, para. 395, 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 316-317. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 334-335 (21 Mar 2017). 
5717 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 333, referring to Exs. P04186, P04352, P05812. The Prosecution 
contends that StojiC's arguments are based on the absence of the intake register which could not be located and the 
evidence of Slobodan Bozic, whose credibility the Trial Chamber found "extremely weak". Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Stojic), para. 333, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 551. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 334-335 
(21 Mar 2017). 
5718 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 334, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P04841, pp. 1-2, P06167, p. 2, 
P05503. 
5719 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 335. 
5720 Notably, Stojic only identifies three of the reports for which he claims that there is no evidence that he received 
them. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Exs. P04352, P05812, P04186. 
5721 See supra, paras 1618, 1621. See also supra, para. 1622. 
5722 See Ex. P04352; Ex. P05812; Ex. P04186. 
5723 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 360; Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 392, referring to Ex. P05503. 
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that his failure to visit the Heliodrom shows that he was unaware of the situation is unconvincing, 

particularly as he merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence. In this respect, the Trial 

Chamber expressly considered StojiC's failure to visit the Heliodrom in its discussion on his failure 

to take measures to rectify the detention conditions at that 10cation.5724 

1735. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic fails to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he knew about the detention conditions at the Heliodrom and 

that he failed to rectify them thereby accepting the crimes. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 37.2 is 

dismissed. 

(iii) StojiC's involvement in Dreteli Prison and Gabela Prison (StojiC's Sub-ground 37.1, 

in part) 

1736. The Trial Chamber found that Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison were within the remit of the 

South-East OZ, were effectively military prisons, and fell within StojiC's responsibility.5725 In 

reaching these conclusions, the Trial Chamber relied on: (1) PetkoviC's order to the South-East OZ, 

dated 30 June 1993, according to which the military authorities were to isolate the combat-aged 

Muslim men from villages in their zone of responsibility;5726 and (2) its earlier finding that combat­

aged Muslim men were indeed detained in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison.5727 According to the 

Trial Chamber, this meant that they were effectively military prisons, despite StojiC's statement to 

the contrary during the Department of Defence meeting on '2 September 1993.5728 Further, in 

considering StojiC's responsibility for these prisons, the Trial Chamber noted the fact that it was 

decided at that Department of Defence meeting on 2 September 1993 that the SIS, the Military 

Police Administration, and the Health Section would submit reports to Stojic on Dretelj Prison and 

Gabela Prison by 8 September 1993.5729 

1737. The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic knew of and accepted the "extremely precarious 

conditions" in which the Muslims, some of whom did not belong to the ABiH, were detained in 

Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison.5730 It considered a number of meetings which Stojic attended, 

namely: (1) a Government session on 20 July 1993 where a proposal was made by a working group 

that visited Capljina to resolve the problem of overcrowding in Dretelj Prison and Gabela. 

5724 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 393,395. 
5725 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 397,399. 
5726 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397, referring to Ex. P03019, Andrew Pringle, T(F). 24144-24145 (6 Nov 2007). See 
Andrew Pringle, T. 24141-24143 (6 Nov 2007). 
5727 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397. 
5728 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397; Ex. P04756, p. 4 ("My opinion is that we have two military prisons Heliodrom 
and the military prison at Ljubuski. As for the other places where detainees are held (Gabela and Dretelj), I do not 
consider them as military facilities and refuse to personally endorse the work of these institutions."). 
5729 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 398. 
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Prison;5731 (2) a Government meeting on 6 September 1993 where the discussion concerned bad 

conditions of detention in various prisons which "could harm the interests of the HR H_B,,;5732 and 

(3) a meeting Stojic, Prlic, Pusic, and others had with an ICRC representative on 

20 September 1993 who said that he had seen about 20 Dretelj detainees showing signs of 

malnutrition.5733 The Trial Chamber also noted that Stojic received a report dated 

29 September 1993 from the head of the infectious diseases services of the Department of Defence 

stating that the number of detainees at Gabela Prison significantly exceeded the prison's capacities, 

increasing the risk of an epidemic, and that several detainees were malnourished.5734 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

1738. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he was responsible for Dretelj Prison 

and Gabela Prison is "manifestly inconsistent with earlier factual findings" because: (1) there is no 

finding that he was involved in the establishment of the two prisons; and (2) the conditions of 

detention in both were controlled "wholly and exclusively" by the Commander of the 1st Knez 

Domagoj Brigade Colonel Nedjeljko Obradovic, while the wardens were appointed by Boban and 

Prlic.5735 Stojic argues that the conclusion that he was responsible for Dretelj Prison and Gabela 

Prison because they fell under the remit of South-East OZ and reports on their conditions were to be 

submitted to him is unreasonable as the Main Staff commanded the South-East OZ and he was not 

part of the "classic military chain of command".5736 

1739. Stojic also claims that the Trial Chamber en'ed in its assessment of the 2 September 1993 

meeting because it failed to consider that his statement regarding the status of the two prisons was 

not challenged by anyone present.5737 According to StojiC, the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence 

that: (1) Dretelj Prison was a municipal prison within the remit of Capljina Municipality and the 

Department of Defence had to request authorisation in order to visit;5738 (2) no representative of the 

5730 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 400, 406-407. 
5731 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 401, referring to Ex. P03573, Zoran Buntic, T(F). 30585 (10 July 2008). 
5732 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 402, referring to Ex. P04841, pp. 1-2 (noting, with respect to conditions of detention, 
that "the situation was declared unsatisfactory and harmful to the reputation 'and interests of the Croatian Republic of 
Herceg-Bosna" and making various conclusions regarding improvements in detention centres) Andrew Pringle, 
T(F). 24145-24151, 24155 (6 Nov 2007), The Trial Chamber further noted that the minutes of this meeting indicated 
that "the situation was not considered to fall under the Government's responsibility". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 402. 

733 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 403, referring to Ex. P05219 (confidential). 
5734 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 404, referring to Ex. P05485, pp. 2-3. The Trial Chamber also noted that, 0)1 

27 October 1993, Stojic was informed by the Health Section that the measures it recommended for Gabela Prison had 
not yet been implemented. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 405, referring to Ex. P06167, p. 2. 
5735 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 361, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 16, 25-35, 156-157, 169-192, 
Exs. P07341, P05133, 5DOlO64, P03462, P03197, P03161. 
5736 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 362, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 595, 708, 747, 755, 781, 791, 795-796, 
Vol. 4, para. 306. 
5737 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 363, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397, Ex. P04756, p. 4. 
5738 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Zoran Buntic, T. 30578, 30580 (10 July 2008), Ex. P05133. 
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Department of Defence was assigned to the working group established on 29 July 1993 to relocate 

Dretelj and Gabela detainees;5739 (3) he left the 20 September 1993 meeting with the ICRC 

immediately after it started;574o and (4) the reports on the two detention centres which were 

supposed to be submitted by 8 September 1993 were not sent to him but directly to Boban.5741 

1740. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic exercised 

authority over Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison and could have improved their detention 

conditions.5742 The Prosecution argues that StojiC's arguments are contradictory' and unclear 

because he first argues that Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison were controlled by Obradovic, but 

then he claims that they were' not military prisons as evidenced by his refusal to recognise them as 

such during the 2 September 1993 meeting.5743 The Prosecution further argues that any control 

exercised by Obradovic does not undermine StojiC's power since the latter commanded and 

exercised "effective control" over the armed forces, including the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade, as 

well as the Military Police and the SIS who also played a role in operating those prisons.5744 

1741. The Prosecution further contends that the fact that Prlic and Boban appointed the wardens 

and that Dretelj Prison was under municipal control does not show an error in the Trial Chamber's 

detennination on Stojic's authority and power. 5745 The Prosecution also submits that the evidence 

cited by Stojic shows that the Department of Defence was involved in running Dretelj Prison and 

Gabela Prison,5746 and given that role, it is irrelevant that none of its members were assigned to 

explore the relocation of detainees or that Stojic left the 20 September 1993 meeting.5747 Further, it 

argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the 2 September 1993 meeting and that Stojic's 

argument that the reports were not sent to him but directly to Boban is unsupported. 5748 

5739 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 401, Ex. P03573. 
5740 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 403, Ex. P05219 (confidential), p. 2. 
5741 Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 365, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 398, Exs. 2D00926, P05222, P05225, 
Slobodan Bozic, T. 36283-36284 (3 Feb 2009). 
5742 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 313, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 390-392, 
395,399-407,423,427. 
5743 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 321, 323-324. 
5744 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 323, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 20, 25-28, 
36, 191, Vol. 4, paras 302, 306, 312, 320. 
5745 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 322, 324. 
5746 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 325, referring to Ex. P05133. The Prosecution argues that SIS members 
played an important role in interrogating detainees. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 325, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 33, 36, 190, 192, Ex. P05647, p. 3, 
5747 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 326. 
5748 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 327. According to the Prosecution, although the reports were sent to 
Boban by StojiC's immediate subordinate Ivica Lucic, Slobodan BoziC's testimony did not exclude that Stojic received 
these reports and his credibility was considered to be "extremely weak". Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), 
para. 327, referring to, inter alia, Slobodan Bozic, T. 36283 (3 Feb 2009), Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 551. 
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1742. Stojic replies that his submission that the Trial Chamber's findings did not "prove" his 

responsibility for Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison was not inconsistent with his submission that 

h 'li' 5749 t ey were not lll1 tary pnsons. 

ii. Analysis 

1743. First, in light of the foregoing discussion, the Appeals Chamber considers that whether or 

not Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison were strictly military facilities and thus fell within the 

responsibility of Stojic on that basis does not ultimately affect the Trial Chamber's findings that he 

nevertheless had certain authority over them. As noted earlier, Stojic was tasked with improving the 

conditions of detention in the detention centres which held "prisoners of war", as distinct from 

institutions that held persons subject to criminal proceedings.575o Given that military-aged Muslim 

men in Capljina Municipality were found by the Trial Chamber to have been isolated and detained 

by the "military authorities" and then placed in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that they were effectively military 
. 5751 pnsons. 

1744. In any event, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded that the fact that these prisons were run by Colonel Obradovic, an HVO cOlll1nander, 

shows that they were military facilities and thus also within StojiC's remit.5752 Further, StojiC's own 

statement dUling the 2 September 1993 meeting regarding the status of these two prisons was duly 

considered by the Trial Chamber and rejected.5753 The Appeals Chamber concludes that the fact that 

the Trial Chamber did not explicitly refer to the lack of objections to StojiC's statement does not 

mean that the reactions at the meeting were not considered by the Trial Chamber. Thus, Stojic fails 

to show how the lack of objections could have an impact on the Trial Chamber finding.5754 

Furthennore, StojiC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's consideration of the fact that Dretelj Prison 

and Gabela Prison fell under the remit of the South-East OZ because that operational zone was 

controlled by the Main Staff is wholly unpersuasive. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls 

5749 StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 69. 
5750 See supra, paras 1713, 1716-1717. 
5751 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397. 
5752 On a related point, the control that Obradovie exercised over Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison does not, in the 
Appeals Chamber's view, undermine StojiC's authority over those prisons since he commanded and exercised "effective 
control" over most of the armed forces, including the 1 sl Knez Domagoj Brigade and the Military Police, and had 
authority over the SIS, all of whom played a role in operating the prisons. Cj. Popovic et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 
1892 ("the exercise of effective control by one commander does not necessarily exclude effective control being 
exercised by a different commander"). See Nizeyimana Appeal Judgement, para. 201. See also supra, para. 1716 & 
fns 5656-5657. 
5753 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 397-399, 406. 
5754 Indeed, the Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to StojiC's claim, the minutes of the meeting show that Ivica 
LuCie responded to Stojie, stating that "we cannot just pass over the problem of the Gabela and Dretelj prisons like that" 
as it could "cause us a lot of harm". Ex. P04756, p. 5. 
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that Stojic was found to have had "effective control" over most of the HVO and the Military Police 

deployed in detention centres although he was not de jure within the military chain of command.5755 

Thus, Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber's finding was unreasonable on this issue.5756 

1745. Moreover, other findings made by the Trial Chamber, such as: (1) StojiC's command 

authority over forces involved in the operation of these prisons and his ability to issue order directly 

to the HVO regarding detention centres; and (2) the fact that it was agreed during the 

2 September 1993 meeting that Stojic would receive reports about the conditions of detention in 

Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison by 8 September 1993, from, among others, the personnel that 

operated in the two prisons,5757 support its conclusion that Stojic had certain authority over Dretelj 

Prison and Gabela Prison.5758 The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the Trial Chamber 

could rely on these factors to conclude that Stojic had authority over Dretelj Prison and Gabela 

Prison and particularly the conditions of detention that existed there. Accordingly, the fact that 

Stojic did not participate in the establishment of Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison, that Pdic and 

Boban appointed the wardens in those prisons, and that no Department of Defence representative 

was assigned to the working group established on 29 July 1993 does not undermine the Trial 

Chamber's findings that Stojic had authority over the two prisons including insofar as their 

conditions of detention were concerned. 

1746. Similarly, the fact that Dretelj Prison may have fallen under the remit of Capljina 

Municipality does not affect the finding that Stojic and the Department of Defence had authority 

over it, given the evidence discussed by the Trial Chamber. Specifically, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the evidence cited by Stojic does not call into question the Trial Chamber's finding. 

Witness Zoran Buntic testified that Dretelj Prison was established as a municipal prison by virtue of 

a decision by the municipal council of Capljina Municipality and was under the municipality's 

remit.5759 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that, on this issue, Stojic repeats his trial argument 

and the same evidence he cited at trial which was expressly noted by the Trial Chamber,576o before 

it nonetheless found that Dretelj Prison fell under StojiC's responsibility.5761 By simply repeating his 

argument, Stojic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's consideration of this evidence and its 

5755 Trial Judgement, Vol, 4, paras 306,312,320. 
5756 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 362. . 
5757 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 398. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not determine 
whether Stojic ultimately received these reports and thus did not use it in its discussion as to the notice he had in 
relation to the conditions of detention in DreteljPrison and Gabela Prison. Accordingly, Stojic's argument in relation to 
the receipt of these reports is irrelevant. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 398-407. 
5758 See supra, para. 1716, and references cited therein. 
5759 Zoran Buntic, T. 30575-30580 (10 July 2008). See Ex. P03573. 
5760 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 38, referring to StojiC's Final Brief, para. 512 (citing Zoran Buntic, T. 30578, 30580 
(10 July 2008)). 
5761 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 399. 
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ultimate conclusion on his authority. Furthermore, Exhibit P05133 does not assist Stojic. While this 

exhibit shows that the Department of Defence requested access to Dretelj Prison for SIS operatives, 

this does not necessarily mean that Stojic lacked authority. The Trial Chamber clearly assessed this 

exhibit and referred to it in noting evidence that "agents of the SIS were able to request 

authorisation to go to the collection centres or the prisons [ ... ] in order to collect information".5762 

Notably, SIS operatives were found by the Trial Chamber to have been involved in the interrogation 

and release of the detainees in Dretelj Prison.5763 Thus, StojiC's arguments contesting that Dretelj 

Prison and Gabela Prison fell within his responsibility are dismissed. 

1747. Having considered the notice that he had with respect to the h~rsh conditions of detention 

and the mistreatment of detainees, the Trial Chamber conduded that Stojic accepted these 

conditions and mistreatment, as well as the fact that Muslims not belonging to any armed force 

were detained in these locations.5764 In doing so, the Trial Chamber relied on, among other things, a 

report of a meeting with an ICRC representative on 20 September 1993 during which conditions in 

Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison were discussed.5765 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Stojic is recorded as having left the meeting before it started.5766 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the Trial Chamber erred in its reliance on this report. However, given the other 

evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber to conclude that Stojic was on notice of the conditions of 

detention in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison, in particular the meeting of 6 September 1993 where 

it was noted that the situation in the detention centres could halm the interests of the 

Government,5767 the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's finding is sufficiently 

supported and thus this error has no impact on the ultimate conclusion. 

(iv) Conclusion 

1748. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that, in reaching its conclusions on StojiC's 

responsibility for detention centres, the Trial Chamber was cognisant not only of his specific actions 

and omissions in relation thereto, but also of: (1) the level of authority he had with respect to those 

detention centres, including the personnel working there; and (2) his mandate in relation to the 

improvement of conditions of detention. Stojic has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber's 

conclusions on his authority and powers, or his knowledge, concerning the detention conditions at 

5762 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 614, referring to, inter alia, Ivan Bandic, T(F). 38084-38085, 38091 (17 Mar 2009), 
38248-38251 (18 Mar 2009), Ex. P05133. 
5763 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 26 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05133), 33, 36. 
5764 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 407. 
5765 See supra, para. 1737. 
5766 Ex. P05219 (confidential), p. R020-9291 (Registry pagination) (noting that Stojic "left immediately [after] the 
meeting started - presumably he was called away on urgent business"). 
5767 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 401-402, 404-405. See supra, para. 1737. 
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the Heliodrom, Dretelj Prison, and Gabela Prison were erroneous. Stojic has therefore failed to 

show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only reasonable inference was 

that he accepted the crimes that took place in the Heliodrom, Drete1j Prison, and Ga~ela Prison. 

StojiC's ground of appeal 37 is therefore dismissed. 

9. Alleged errors regarding StojiC's mens rea and related challenges 

(a) Alleged errors in finding that Tudman and others directly collaborated in, and shared the intent 

for, the JCE (StojiC's Grounds 6 and 14) 

1749. Under his ground of appeal 14, Stojic contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that 

Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko directly collaborated with HVO leaders and authorities in order to 

further the JCE.5768 He submits that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence that "shows only general 

discussions [ ... ] but not direct collaboration in either the JCE or the commission of crimes",5769 and 

disrega~ded evidence.577o He asserts that without the conclusion that Tudman and others directly 

collaborated in the JCE, the Trial Chamber could not have found that Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko 

were JCE members, and its conclusions on the JCE would "unravel".5771 Stojic further contends, 

under his ground of appeal 6, that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Tudman, Susak, Bobetko, 

Boban, and other unnamed JCE members shared the intent for the JCE, without making the 

necessary findings that they intended the commission of specific crimes, and that the evidence 

would not support such findings.5772 He submits that "in order to find a JCE, it is necessary to find 

that all the participants intended the indictment crimes to be committed",5773 thus, inadequate 

findings on the shared intent of all participants invalidate the finding that there was a JCE.5774 

1750. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Tudman, Susak, and 

Bobetko collaborated with HVO leaders to further the CCP5775 and relied on this to establish their 

5768 Stojic's Appeal Brief, paras 117, 121, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1222-1223. 
5769 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 121. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 117. Stojic asserts that the Trial Chamber: 
(1) failed to identify a link between the discussions documented in the cited evidence and a JCE or the commission of 
crimes; and (2) unreasonably relied on transcripts of meetings about Stupni Do and Mostar Old Bridge as evidence of 
direct collaboration when they "actually show the absence of any shared intent". StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 118-119. 
5770 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 120. 
5771 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 121. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 294 (21 Mar 2017). 
5772 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 70-75. Stojic asserts that: (1) the finding that Tudman, Susak, Bobetko, and Boban 
"'devise[d] and implement[ed], the common purpose or that their ultimate purpose was to reconstitute the Banovina is 
insufficient" (StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 72, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231); (2) the Trial Chamber 
cited no evidence about the intent of Susak or Bobetko (StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 73); and (3) the Trial Chamber 
erred in fact in finding that Tudman intended the Indictment crimes (StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 74). See also Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 275, 284, 294-295, 297-298 (21 Mar 2017). 
5773 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 71 (emphasis in original). 
5774 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 75. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 74; Appeal Hearing, AT. 294-295 (21 Mar 2017). 
5775 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 48, 50-52. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 349 (21 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution asserts, inter alia, that: (1) Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko provided the HVO with military support and 
participated in planning HVO military operations to implement the CCP; (2) In November 1993, Pdic conferred with 
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shared intent.5776 It asserts that the lCE crimes can be attributed to Stojic either directly or via the 

other Appellants, and that the Trial Chamber's lCE conclusions are not dependent on its findings in 

relation to Tudman, Susak, Bobetko, Boban, or unnamed lCE members.5777 

1751. Stojic challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusion that "[tJhe evidence [ ... J shows that 

Croatian leaders Franjo Tudman, Gojko Susak and lanko Bobetko directly collaborated with the 

HVO leaders and authorities to further the lCE.,,5778 While Stojic asserts that a reversal of this 

finding would negate the Trial Chamber's conclusion that these three individuals were lCE 

members, he does not show that it would also negate the Trial Chamber's finding that the remaining 

lCE members, including Stojic and the other Appellants, formed a plurality of persons who 

consulted with each other to devise and implement the CCP.5779 In this respect, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber provided a detailed analysis of how Stojic and the other 

Appellants collaborated with each other in order to implement the CCP, independent of the 

involvement of Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko.5780 Further, the Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's 

assertion that any alleged inadequacies in the findings on the shared intent of Tudman, Susak, 

Bobetko, Boban, and unnamed lCE members invalidate its finding that there was a lCE. To the 

contrary, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it is not required, as a matter of law, that a trial chamber 

make a separate finding on the intent of each member of a lCE.5781 After a detailed discussion,5782 

the Trial Chamber found that Stojic shared the intent with the other members of the lCE: (1) to 

expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B tenitories;5783 and (2) that the lCE I crimes be 

committed in order to further the CCP.5784 Thus, it was not required to examine the individual 

actions or scrutinise the intent of each lCE member who was not an accused in this case. 

Tudman about the plan to move BiH Croats into HZ(R) H-B territories they thought "could become and remain 
Croatian"; and (3) Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko maintained a privileged and continuous link with Praljak on BiH­
related issues and discussed Croatia's policy in BiH "with a view to furthering the common criminal purpose". 
Prosecution'sResponse Brief (Stojic), para. 50. 
5776 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 48, 50, 53. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 54. The 
Prosecution also asserts that the evidence supports the Trial Chamber's finding that Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko 
intended the crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 51-52; Appeal Hearing, AT. 349-356 (21 Mar 2017). 
5777 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 55. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 349 (21 Mar 2017). 
5778 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1222. 
5779 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
5780 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219-1221. 
5781 Dordevi6 Appeal Judgement, para. 141 ("[I]n order to conclude that persons identified as joint criminal enterprise 
members acted in furtherance of the joint criminal enterprise, a trial chamber is required to identify the plurality of 
persons belonging to the joint criminal enterprise and establish that they shared a common criminal purpose", and it "is 
therefore not required, as a matter of law, that a trial chamber make a separate finding on the individual actions and the 
intent of each member of a joint criminal enterprise to establish that a plurality of persons acted together in 
implementing the common purpose."). 
578 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-68. 
5783 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See infra, paras 1759-1760. 
5784 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68, 426. See infra, paras 1770, 1773. 
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1752. Therefore, considering also that none of the crimes committed in furtherance of the CCP 

were attributed to the JCE through Tudman, Susak, Bobetko, Boban, or the unnamed members of 

the JCE,5785 Stojic fails to show that any alleged error by the Trial Chamber in concluding that they 

directly collaborated with the HVO leaders and authorities to further the JCE and shared the 

common criminal intent, would have an impact on his convictions. StojiC's grounds of appeal 6 and 

14 are thus dismissed. 

(b) Alleged errors concerning StojiC's knowledge of the JCE and its common criminal purpose 

(StojiC's Ground 15) 

1753. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that he was a member of the JCE as . 

it made no finding that he knew of the JCE and its CCp.5786 According to Stojic, to the extent that 

the Trial Chamber made any such finding, it failed to provide a reasoned opinion.5787 He submits 

that throughout its discussion of the CCP, the Trial Chamber used the generic term "leaders of the 

HZ(R) H-B", which did not necessarily include him.5788 Stojic further contends that the sole 

relevant finding is on his knowledge in October 1992, but as the JC,E was only established in mid­

January 1993, this finding could only relate to his knowledge of a long-term political purpose.5789 

Stojic also submits that his knowledge could not be inferred simply from his position, and contends 

that many important findings pre-date his appointment as Head of the Department of Defence and 

that he did not attend any of the presidential meetings with Tudman.579o 

1754. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded, based on a 

thorough analysis, that Stojic was a JCE member from mid-January 1993 to 15 November 1993.5791 

It argues that "[i]t is inherent in the [Trial] Chamber's shared intent finding that Stojic was aware of 

the common criminal purpose",5792 thus an express finding on this issue was unnecessary.5793 

1755. The Trial Chamber found that "the only possible inference it [could] reasonably draw [from 

all the evidence was] that Bruno Stojic intended to expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-

5785 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
5786 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 122-124, 126. Stojic avers that the Trial Chamber's finding that he was a member of the 
JCE should be overturned. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
5787 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 122, 124. . 
5788 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 123, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 24, 43. 
5789 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 124, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-44. 
5790 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 125. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 360-361 (21 Mar 2017). Stojic submits that he was 
not involved in the creation of the HZ H-B and that his primary contribution to the meetings on 5 and 26 October 1992 
concerned the release of prisoners. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 125, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 14-15, 
18, 24, Ex. Pl1380, p. 3. 
5791 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 91. 
5792 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 92. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 91. 
5793 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 92, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, 
Appeal Judgement, paras 706-707. 
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B", and that he shared this intention with other JCE members.5794 It also found that: (1) "Stojic 

knew that crimes were being committed against the Muslims with the sole purpose of forcing them 

to leave the territory of BiH,,;5795 (2) a plurality of persons, including Stojic, consulted with one 

another to devise and implement the CCP;5796 and (3) Stojic and other JCE members used the HVO 

and the Military Police to commit the crimes that were part of the CCP.5797 The Appeals Chamber 

considers that Stojic ignores these relevant findings and focuses only on the findings made in the 

general section discussing the establishment of the JCE and its CCP. In this regard, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that "the mens rea required for liability under the first category of joint criminal 

enterprise is that the accused shares the intent with the other participants to carry out the crimes 

forming part of the common purpose".5798 The Trial Chamber found that Stojic shared the required 

intent and thus it is evident that he knew of the common criminal purpose of the JCE.5799 StojiC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber failed to make a finding that he knew of the JCE and its common 

criminal purpose is unmeritorious and is therefore dismissed. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion.58oo 

1756. To the extent Stojic argues that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he 

knew of the CCP and the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Appeals Chamber notes that Stojic again 

fails to address the Trial Chamber's detailed discussion on his involvement in the relevant 

events,5801 which led to findings that he knew of and intended the crimes being committed and 

shared the necessary intent. Specifically, the Trial Chamber found, inter alia, that: (1) during 

meetings between September 1992 and November 1993, Stojic discussed and took decisions on the 

military situation on the ground, the mobilisation of the HVO, and the situation in the HVO 

detention centres;5802 (2) Stojic was informed of HVO military operations;5803 (3) Stojic facilitated 

and closely followed all HVO operations in Gomji Vakuf;5804 (4) Stojic participated in planning the 

HVO military operations, and the accompanying acts of violence, in Mostar that began on 

9 May 1993;5805 (4) Stojic was not only informed of the evictions of Muslims from West Mostar as 

of June 1993, but was also actively involved in organising and conducting the eviction 

5794 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See infra, paras 1759-1760. 
5795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
5796 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
5797 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
5798 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 220, 228, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 707. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652. 
5799 See infra, paras 1759-1760. 
5800 See supra, para. 19. 
5801 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 297-430, 1220-1221, 1227, 1230-1232. 
5802 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 297-298. See supra, paras 1509-1513. 
5803 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. . 
5804 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 335, 337. See supra, paras 1578-1579. 
5805 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 348-349. See supra, paras 1601-1605, 1608-1611, 1614-1615. 
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campaigns;5806 and (5) Stojic knew of the HVO's plan of action against East Mostar and the impact 

it had on the civilian population and accepted the crimes directly linked to this military 

operation.5807 The Appeals Chamber thus considers tha~ Stojic misunderstands the basis of the Trial 

Chamber's findings on his knowledge when he argues that this knowledge cannot be inferred from 

"simply" his position. This argument is dismissed. Further, recalling the mens rea requirement for 

JCE 1,5808 StojiC's contentions that many of the findings concerning the formation of HZ H-B and 

the Ultimate Purpose to set up a Croatian entity pre-date his involvement5809 are irrelevant and he 

fails to show how any alleged error would impact on his membership in the JCE. These contentions 

and StojiC's ground of appeal 15 are dismissed. 

(c) Alleged errors in finding that Stojic had the shared intent of the JCE (StojiC's Sub-ground 25.1) 

1757. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law in finding that he possessed the shared 

intent of the JCE.581O Specifically, Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber's finding on his intent 

"does not mirror", and is narrower than, the finding on the "shared criminal purpose".5811 In this 

respect, he compares the finding that he intended to expel the Muslim population from the 

HZ(R) H-B tenitory5812 with the finding that the CCP of the JCE was the domination of the 

HR H-B Croats through the etlmic cleansing of the Muslim population.58B Stojic asserts that 

conduct such as murder and destruction of property encompassed within the CCP does "not 

necessarily" fall within the intent to expel the Muslim population.5814 

1758. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings are not inconsistent and that 

Stojic fails to read the finding on his intent in conjunction with an earlier finding specifying the 

types of crimes through which the CCP was achieved.5815 

1759. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded that Stojic intended to expel 

the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory and shared this intention with the other JCE 

members.5816 Earlier in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found that the CCP was the 

domination by the HR H-B Croats through the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim popUlation, and that 

5806 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 355. See supra, paras 1621-1624, 1633-1637, 1646-1649, 1652. 
5807 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See supra, paras 1658-1661, 1664-1667, 1670-1674. 
5808 See supra, para. 1755. 
5809 See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 125, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 14-15, 18,24. 
5810 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 202. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 200-201. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 282-283 
(21 Mar 2017). Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber's legal error invalidates the Trial Judgement and that all his 
convictions should be overturned. Stojic's Appeal Brief, para. 202. 
5811 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 202. See StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 61, 63. 
5812 Stojic's Appeal Brief, paras 200,202, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
5813 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 200,202, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
5814 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 202. See StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 62. 
5815 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 182, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68. See 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 181. 
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to accomplish this purpose, the JCE members, including the Appellants, made use of the political 

and military apparatus of the HZ(R) II_B.58I7 In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that JCE 

members "implemented an entire system for deporting the Muslim population of the HR H-B" 

which included the removal and placement in detention of civilians; murders and the destruction of 

property during attacks; mistreatment and devastation caused during evictions operations; 

mistreatm~nt and poor conditions of confinement and the widespread use of detainees on the front 

lines for labour or as human shields, as well as murders and mistreatment related thereto; and the 

removal of detainees and their families outside of the territory of the BiH once they were 

released.5818 The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic and the other Appellants, as JCE members, 

intended that the relevant crimes be committed in order to fmther the CCp.58I9 

1760. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber considers that, in concluding that "Stojic intended to expel 

the Muslim population" and that he "shared that intention with other members of the JCE",582o the 

Trial Chamber was referring to the shared intent for the JCE - which it found earlier in the Trial 

Judgement to have existed - to be perpetuated. Reading the Trial Judgement as a whole,5821 the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic shared the intent to expel 

the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory is indistinguishable from its finding that he 

had the intent to ethnically cleanse the Muslim population through an "entire system for deporting 

the Muslim population of the HR H-B", effectuated through a range of crimes under the Statute.5822 

In this regard, Stojic does not show that the finding on his shared intent is "narrower" than the 

finding on the purpose of the JCE. Moreover, it is clear that conduct such as murder and destruction 

of property5823 - found to have been a part of the system for deporting the Muslim population - fell 

within the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic intended to expel the Muslim population and 

intended the relevant crimes. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Stojic has failed 

to demonstrate a legal elTor on the part of the Trial Chamber in determining his shared intent to 

perpetuate the JCE and further its CCP. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal2S.1 is thus dismissed. 

5816 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
5817 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43-44. See supra, paras 786, 789-790; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
5818 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could 
conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. 
While this means that Stojic did not have the intent for murder and wilful killing from January 1993 until June 1993, it 
does not affect the Trial Chamber's remaining findings concerning his contributions and intent for various crimes -
including murder and wilful killing from June 1993 - particularly as only a few murders forming part of the CCP were 
found to have occurred prior to June 1993. See supra, para. 876. 
5819 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67, 426, 429. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66,68. 
5820 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
5821 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; 
MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. 
5822 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 
5823 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 70 (excluding murders committed during expUlsion campaigns in certain 
municipalities and in the detention centres from the CCP). 
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(d) Alleged error in law in failing to make a specific finding on StojiC's intent to participate in the 

JCE (StojiC's Sub-ground 25.2) 

1761. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber did not make an express finding concerning his intent 

to participate in the JCE.5824 He argues that this defect cannot be remedied by inferring his intent 

from other findings as: (1) the Trial Chamber's "failure to address an element of a crime is too 

serious to be lightly remedied,,;5825 and (2) the existing findings regarding his intent "do not 

inevitably lead to the inference that [he] intended to participate in a JCE".5826 

1762. The Prosecution responds that it was unnecessary for the Trial Chamber to separately find 

that Stojic intended to participate in the JCE as this is inherent in its finding on his shared intent.5827 

1763. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Judgement does not contain a finding which 

explicitly states that Stojic "intended to participate in the JCE". However, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the Trial Chamber found that Stojic had the shared intent with the other JCE 

members to expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory,5828 and that he intended the 

crimes committed in furtherance of the CCP.5829 The Appeals Chamber observes that the mens rea 

requirement in the Tribunal's jurisprudence at times has been phrased differently, such as: (1) "the 

mens rea required for liability under the first category of joint criminal enterprise is that the accused 

shares the intent with the other participants to carry out the crimes forming part of the COlmnon 

purpose,,;5830 and (2) "the accused must share both the intent to commit the crimes that form part of 

the common purpose of the JCE and the intent to participate in a common plan aimed at their 

commission".5831 Despite the differences, these formulations are substantively consistent. Although 

the Trial Chamber did not use the terminology "intended to participate in the JCE", its findings are 

consistent with the jurisprudence outlined above. 

5824 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 204, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-431. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 203, referring to Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 365, 429, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 685. See also 
Apl.eal Hearing, AT. 282 (21 Mar 2017). 
58 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 205. 
5826 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 205 (emphasis in original), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 337, 357, 428-
429. Furthermore, Stojic contends that the intent to participate in a JCE "is a discreet issue which connects the intent to 
commit specific crimes with contribution to the common purpose". StojiC's Appeal Brief, para.205. 
5827 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 183, referring to Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1369, 1652, 
1654, Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 364-365, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
Eara.428. 

828 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See supra, paras 1759-1760. 
5829 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68. See infra, paras 1770, 1772, 1800-1804. 
5830 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 220, 228, Krajisllik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 707, See Stanisic and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, plj.ra. 77 ("The mens rea element for the first 
category of JCE liability is the intent to perpetrate a certain crime (this being the shared intent on the part of all co­
perpetrators)"); Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 996 ("The Trial Chamber correctly articulated the requisite 
mens rea for the first category of.JCE, explaining that it had to be proved 'that the accused shared with the other joint 
criminal enterprise members the intent to commit the crime or underlying offence. "'), 1286, 1470. 
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1764. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber - having determined that Stojic 

possessed the required shared intent5832 - did not also have to find that he intended to participate in 

the JCE. Moreover, StojiC's intent to participate in the JCE, as the only reasonable inference, is 

clearly evident from the findings that he shared the intent of the JCE and to commit the JCE I 

crimes, and that he significantly contributed to the JCE.5833 By merely asserting that the Trial 

Chamber's findings "do not inevitably" lead to this inference, when in fact they do, Stojic fails to 

present any persuasive argument to the contrary. StojiC's sub-ground of appeal 25.2 is dismissed. 

(e) Alleged errors in inferring StojiC's intent from his general logistical assistance (StojiC's Sub­

ground 25.3) 

1765. Stojic argues that insofar as the Trial Chamber inferred his intent to commit the relevant 

crimes from the general logistical support that he provided to the military operations, including the 

financing of the mmed forces, it erred.5834 He submits that there "is no necessary connection 

between [his] general logistical acts, lawful in themselves, and the commission of crimes".5835 

Stojic also avers that the Trial Chamber's statement that his intent was based on "all the evidence 

analysed above" made it "impossible" to understand which evidence was relied on.5836 

1766. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's analysis of StojiC's intent was neither 

unclear nor based on his general logistical support to the armed forces. 5837 

1767. The Trial Chamber concluded that "[i]n view of all the evidence analysed above, [ ... ] the 

only possible inference it [could] reasonably draw [was] that Bruno Stojic intended to expel the 

Muslim popUlation from the HZ(R) H_B.,,5838 TIns conclusion was made in the final section of the 

Trial Judgement section addressing Stojic's responsibility after the Trial Chamber summarised its 

findings, made in the preceding sub-sections, regarding StojiC's contribution to the JCE and his 

intent. 5839 The Appeals Chamber considers that, while it would have been preferable for the Trial . . 

Chamber to have provided cross-references to the evidence and findings it relied on, it was not 

"impossible" for Stojic to ascertain on what basis the Trial Chamber inferred his intent. On his more 

specific argument, the Appeals Chamber finds that it is evident .that the Trial Chamber did not rely 

5831 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1369, 1652; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365. See Stanisic and 
Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 915, 917. 
5832 See supra, paras 1759-1760. 
5833 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 426,428-429. 
5834 StojiC' s Appeal Brief, para. 207, heading before para. 206. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 206. 
5835 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 207. Stojic also asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the absence of 
evidence that he ordered the commission of any crime. StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 206. 
5836 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 206-207, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
5837 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 187. 
5838 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. 
5839 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-427. See infra, para. 1792. 
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on StojiC's administrative or logistical assistance to the anned forces and the military operations to 

infer his intent. Rather, the Appeals Chamber recalls that this assistance was explicitly considered 

by the Trial Chamber in determining StojiC's command authority and "effective control" over the 

HVO and the Military Police584o as well as his significant contribution to the JCE. 5841 Thus, Stojic's 

arguments and sub-ground of appeal 25.3 are disrnissed.5842 

(f) Alleged errors concerning StojiC's intent to commit certain crimes (StojiC's Sub-ground 25.4) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1768. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to make clear and reasoned findings that he had 

the requisite intent for certain crimes.5843 Although the convictions in the Dordevic case were 

upheld despite the failure to make precise findings on intent for each crime, Stojic contends that the 

crimes in the present case are less connected to the CCP and more complex, thus requiring the Trial 

Chamber to make individual intent findings.5844 In this regard, he argues that the Trial Chamber 

failed to find that he intended to: (1) cause death or grievous bodily harm to victims (Counts 2 

and 3) in any municipality;5845 (2) destroy property or had reckless disregard to the likelihood of 

such destruction (Counts 19 arid 20) in Jablanica, Mostar, or Vares;5846 (3) destroy protected 

property (Count 21) in Mostar;5847 or(4) spread tenor among the civilian population (Count 25).5848 

Further, Stojic argues that any finding that he intended the murders in Mostar is inconsistent with an 

earlier finding that those murders did not fall within the CCP because there was a "lack of common 

5840 See supra, paras 1409-1412, 1441-1453,1470-1472. 
5841 See supra, paras 1534-1537. 
5842 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses StojiC's assertion - found only in a heading - on his alleged lack of orders as 
he fails to develop this argument or explain how evidence of an order is required in order to infer his intent. 
5843 StojiC's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 208, paras 210, 215. See StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 208; StojiC's Reply 
Brief, paras 61, 64, referring to, inter alia, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 200. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 282-284 (21 Mar 2017). 

844 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 209 (referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 930); StojiC's Reply Brief, 
paras 62-63 (referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 468, 470); Appeal Hearing, AT. 283-284 (21 Mar 2017). 
Stojic replies that as 'it only found that he intended to expel the Muslim population, the Trial Chamber should have 
made separate findings that he intended each diverse crime and that this is essential. StojiC's Reply Brief, paras 62-63; 
Apfeal Hearing, AT. 284 (21 Mar 2017). 
58 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 211, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 330-337, 343-372,379-383,388-395, 
Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 259, Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, paras 36-38. 
5846 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 212, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 363, 370, 383, Kordic and Cerkez 
Appeal Judgement, para. 74. Stojic also argues that the Trial Chamber was ambiguous in finding that he intended to 
commit "those crimes" in Gornji Vakuf without specifying which crimes or what mens rea standard it applied. StojiC's 
Apl.eal Brief, para. 212, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 337. 
58 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 213, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 176, Vol. 4, para. 363. 
5848 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 214, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 197, Vol. 4, paras 343-372, GaUc 
Appeal Judgement, para. 104. 
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intent".5849 He also contends that the Trial Chamber's approach was inconsistent, making particular 

findings on his intent regarding crimes in some municipalities while failing to do so for others.585o 

1769. The Prosecution responds that it was sufficient for the Trial Chamber to have clearly set out 

the types of crimes within the CCP and determine that Stojic shared the intent with the other JCE 

members to commit those crimes.5851 It argues that, in any event, the Trial Chamber made exact 

findings that Stojic intended the commission of particular crimes in specific locations, including the 

destruction of property and mosques.5852 According to the Prosecution, the Trial Chamber's 

findings are consistent as it was the murders committed during evictions and in detention centres 

which the Trial Chamber found were not JCE I crimes.5853 

(ii) Analysis 

a. Alleged errors regarding StojiC's intent to commit crimes under Counts 2, 3, 

19, 20, and 21 of the Indictment 

1770. The Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic shared the intent to 

expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory, and that this finding is 

indistinguishable from the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic had the intent to ethnically cleanse 

the Muslim population through an "entire system for depOlting the Muslim popUlation of the 

HR H-B", effectuated through a range of crimes under the Statute.5854 It also found that Stojic and 

the other Appellants, as JCE members, intended that the relevant crimes be committed in order to 

further the CCP, and then proceeded to list these crimes.5855 Notably, the crimes enumerated by the 

Trial Chamber as falling within the CCP included murder (Count 2),5856 wilful killing (Count 3), 

extensive destruction of property not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully and 

wantonly (Count 19), wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages or devastation not justified by 

military necessity (Count 20), destruction or wilful damage done to institutions dedicated to religion 

5849 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 211, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4; para. 70. 
5850 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 199, 213; StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 61. 
5851 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 1'84, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68, 428, Dordevic 
AEpeal Judgement, paras 468, 470. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), paras 181, 183. 
582 Prosecution's Reponse Brief (Stojic), para. 185, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 336-337, 349, 355-357, 
378. 
5853 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 186, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65-66, 70. 
5854 See supra, paras 1759-1760. 
5855 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67-68, 426. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 
5856 See infra, para. 1773. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that 
murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. While this 
means that Stojic did not have the intent for murder and wilful killing from January 1993 until June 1993, this does not 
affect the Trial Chamber's remaining findings concerning his contributions and intent for various crimes - including 
murder and wilful killing from June 1993 - particularly since only a few murders forming part of the CCP were found 
to have occurred prior to June 1993. See supra, para. 876. 
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or education (Count 21), and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians in Mostar (Count 25).5857 The 

Trial Chamber el&borated on these findings by determining that Stojic planned, intended, and 

accepted the crimes discussed in relation to- the various municipalities,5858 and concluded that the 

only inference it could reasonably draw was that he intended to have those crimes committed.5859 

Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber explicitly found that Stojic 

encouraged crimes and did not intend to prevent or punish crimes committed by the HVO and the 

Military Police, which it later considered in inferring his intent.586o Before analysing whether these 

findings were sufficient, the Appeals Chamber will first consider StojiC's arguments on what the 

Trial Chamber was required to find with respect to his intent. 

1771. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber was required to make findings on the underlying 

elements of mens rea in relation to each crime, such as - in the case of murder and wilful killing­

the intent to cause death or grievous bodily harm which he reasonably must have known might lead 

to death.5861 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that none of the authorities Stojic cites support 

this proposition, and his attempt at distinguishing the Dordevic Appeal Judgement is not 

convincing. In the Dordevic case, the Appeals Chamber found no error in the approach of 

identifying the crimes that were part of the JCE in that case and then finding that Vlastimir 

Dordevic "shared the requisite intent for these crimes".5862 While the CCP in this case involves 

various types of crimes, the Trial Chamber clearly identified the crimes which it found all the 

Appellants shared the intent to commit.5863 Moreover, in discussing the specific intent required for 

persecution under JCE I liability, it was noted in the Dordevic Appeal Judgement that it would be 

preferable for a trial chamber to make "separate findings on [the accused's] intent in relation to 

each of the crimes that were within the JCE", but nonetheless no error was found as the essence of 

the JCE was clearly discriminatory.5864 

5857 TliaI Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68. See supra, fn. 5856 
5858 See Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 337, 342, 349, 357, 363, 370, 378, 383, 389, 395, 407. See infra, paras 1800-
1804. The Appeals Chamber recalls here its finding overturning StojiC's convictions for murder and wilful killing in 
relation to the deaths of civilians in Dusa, Gornji Vakuf Municipality, and in relation to two killings in Toscanica, 
Prozor Municipality. See supra, paras 441-443,880-882. 
5859 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. 
5860 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 423,427. 
5861 See supra, para. 1768. 
5862 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468. See also Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 996 (the Appeals Chamber 
found that there was no error in the Tlial Chamber's approach regarding mens rea by concluding that the common 
purpose of the JCE was to be achieved through forcibly displacing the Kosovo Albanian population, and subsequently 
finding that Sainovic "shared the intent to forcibly displace part of the Kosovo Albanian population"); Karemera and 
Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, paras 137, 154 (the tlial chamber did not err in finding that the accused acted with the 
requisite mens rea when it considered that the JCE members acted with the intent to destroy the Tutsi population after 
e~ressly considering the massive scale of the killings, systematically and publicly targeting Tutsi civilians). 
58 See supra, paras 1759-1760,1770. 
5864 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 470. 

735 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23160



1772. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber made the requisite 

findings in respect of the crimes challenged by Stojic. Of particular note is the fact that the Trial 

Chamber set out correctly the applicable law on the various crimes and JCE liability.5865 

Importantly, the Trial Chamber also made extensive findings on the required actus reus and 111,ens 

rea of'the physical perpetrators for all crimes which it found were the means through which the 

CCP was achieved.5866 Specifically, for the crimes of murder and wilful killing,5867 the Appeals 

Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic knew of, accepted, and intended: (1) the 

murders and wounding of Muslim civilians in East Mostar during the siege of that part of the 

town;5868 (2) the murders in Stupni DO;5869 and (3) the wounding and death of some of the detainees 

at the Heliodrom used for work on the front line.587o In relation to the crimes of extensive 

destruction of property and wanton destruction or devastation of cities, towns, or villages in 

Jablanica, Mostar, and Vares, and destruction or wilful damage to institutions dedicated to religion 

or education in Mostar, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic knew of, accepted, and intended: (1) the 

destruction of property, including mosques, in Jablanica;5871 (2) the destruction of property, 

including mosques, related to the shelling and harsh living conditions of the popUlation of East 

Mostar;5872 and (3) the destruction of property in Stupni DO.5873 In light of these findings, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber made separate findings on StojiC's intent in 

relation to each of the crimes as required. Thus, Stojic fails to demonstrate that the requisite intent 

findings were not made or that they were unclear. His arguments discussed above are dismissed. 

1773. The Appeals Chamber now turns to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber was 

inconsistent in its findings concerning the murders in Mostar. The Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber excluded certain murders in Mostar from the CCP, to the extent that they occurred 

specifically "during the HVO campaigns to expel the Muslims or while they were in detention".5874 

The Trial Chamber thus appropriately made no findings on Stojic's intent for any murders in West 

Mostar,5875 although it did find that he intended murders in East Most~r in respect of the crimes 

connected with the siege there.5876 Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's 

5865 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 31-221. 
5866 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 509-1741, Vol. 4, para. 68. 
5867 The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful 
killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. 
5868 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras ,369-370. See infra, paras 1773, 1800-1804. 
5869 T ' 1 J na udgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. 
5870 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 395. See infra, paras 1773, 1800-1804. 
5871 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 342. See infra, paras 1773, 1800-1804. The Trial Chamber considered the destruction 
of mosques committed in Jablanica under Count 21 as a JCE III crime. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 342. 
5872 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See infra, paras 1773, 1800-1804. 
5873 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 383. 
5874 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 70. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 56-58,348-349,357. 
5875 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 347-349,357. 
5876 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 363,369-370. 
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findings were consistent in this respect. With regard to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's 

approach was inconsistent in finding that he intended crimes in particular municipalities while 

making no such findings in others, the Appeals Chamber considers that he misinterprets' the Trial 

Chamber's findings. The Appeals . Chamber recalls that JCE I intent can be inferred from 

circumstantial evidence, such as a person's knowledge of the common criminal purpose or the 

crime(s) involved, combined with his continuing participation in the crimes or in the 

implementation of the common criminal purpose, if this is the only reasonable inference available 

on the evidence.5877 In the paragraphs where Stojic alleges no intent finding was made,5878 the Trial 

Chamber found that he: (1) participated in planning the crimes;5879 or (2) knew about the relevant' 

crimes, but continued to participate in the JCE, and thus "accepted" those crimes.5880 The Trial 

Chamber then concluded that the only inference it could reasonably draw was that he intended to 

have those crimes committed.5881 The Appeals Chamber considers that Stojic fails to demonstrate 

any error or inconsistency in the Trial Chamber's approach. StojiC's arguments on inconsistencies 

are dismissed. 

b. Alleged errors regarding StojiC's specific intent to commit the crime of 

unlawful infliction of terror on civilians 

1774. The Appeals Chamber next tums to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to find 

that he possessed the intent required for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians under 

Article 3 of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea for this crime requires the 

general intent to make the civilian population or individual civilians not taking direct part in 

hostilities the object of the acts of violence or threats thereof and the "specific intent to spread terror 

among the civilian population".5882 While spreading terror must be the primary purpose of the acts 

or threats of violence, it need not be the only one and can be inferred from the "nature, manner, 

timing, and duration" of the acts or threats.5883 

5877 Stanish: and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, para. 81; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1369, 1652. See 
Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 393. . 
5878 StojiC s Appeal Brief, fn. 541. 
5879 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 349. 
5880 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 363, 369-370, 383. See infra, paras 1800-1804. 
5881 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426. 
5882 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 104. The actus reus of the crime of 
unlawful infliction of terror consists of "[a]cts or threats of violence directed against the civilian popUlation or 
individual civilians not taking direct part in hostilities causing death or serious injury to body or health within the 
civilian population". D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 31. See Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 100. 
5883 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 104. See infra, para. 2017. 
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1775. In response to StojiC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to find that he intended to 

spread terror among the civilian population,5884 the Prosecution concedes that the Trial Chamber 

made no explicit finding on StojiC's specific intent to commit terror.5885 Nonetheless, the 

Prosecution argues that the only reasonable reading of the TriaLJudgement as a whole results in the 

inherent conclusion that StojiC possessed the specific intent to commit terror.5886 It avers that this 

conclusion is inherent from the Trial Chamber's findings on Stojic's heavy involvement in the 

Mostar operations, his knowledge of the same, and his shared intent for the CCP.5887 The 

Prosecution also contends that "when the [Trial] Chamber found that the HVO possessed the 

specific intent to spread terror [ ... ], one of the people within the HVO that the [Trial] Chamber 

must have been referring to was StojiC".5888 It concludes that the Trial Chamber "had clearly 

satisfied itself that Stojic possessed the specific intent to spread terror".5889 The Prosecution also 

responds that, if there was a failure to provide a reasoned opinion on this issue, the findings and the 

evidence leads to "the same inescapable conclusion".589o 

1776. Stojic replies that the evidence is incompatible with a finding that he intended to spread 

terror, referring to: (1) his statements at the 17 July 1993 dinner indicating that the HVO's primary 

purpose in East Mostar was to gain a military advantage and that he offered to assist 

evacuations;5891 (2) evidence that he provided medical supplies to Muslim civilians and the ABiH in 

Mostar;5892 and (3) a Trial Chamber finding that, between July and November 1993, the HVO 

attempted to manage the electricity and water supply problem in Mostar.5893 Stojic also submits that 

a finding on his specific intent to commit terror is such a fundamental and basic finding, that its 

absence from the Trial Judgement can only result in the reversal of his conviction, particularly as it 

relates to an expanded JCE crime and requires speculation.5894 

1777. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in the section on StojiC's individual responsibility 

pursuant to JCE I, the Trial Chamber found that StojiC "accepted the crimes directly linked to the 

HVO military operations against East Mostar, that is, the murders and the destruction of property, 

including mosques, related to shelling and the harsh living conditions of the population of that part 

5884 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 214, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 197, Vol. 4, paras 343-372, Galic 
Agpeal Judgement, para. 104. See supra, para. 1768. 
58 Appeal Hearing, AT. 339-340 (21 Mar 2017). 
5886 Appeal Hearing, AT. 340, 342-343 (21 Mar 2017). 
5887 Appeal Hearing, AT. 340-342 (21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1231, 1246, Vol. 4, 
Earas 359, 362, 372. 

888 Appeal Hearing, AT. 340 (21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial JUdgement, Vol. 3, para. 1692. See Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 341-342 (21 Mar 2017). 
5889 Appeal Hearing, AT. 340 (21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 428,431. 
5890 Appeal Hearing, AT. 342 (21 Mar 2017). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 343-344 (21 Mar 2017). 
5891 Appeal Hearing, AT. 362-363 (21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 361. 
5892 Appeal Hearing, AT. 363 (21 Mar 2017), referring to StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 316. 
5893 Appeal Hearing, AT. 362-363 (21 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1218. 
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of the town caused by the lack of food and water".5895 The Trial Chamber also found that Stojic 

"must haVe known that the snipers in West Mostar were targeting civilians and members of 

international organisations in East Mostar,,5896 and "accepted the murders and wounding of Muslim 

civilians in East Mostar during the siege of that part of the town".5897 It also found that he facilitated 

the hindering of access of humanitarian aid to East Mostar.5898 Furthermore, the Trial Chamber 

found that Stojic intended to expel the Muslim population from HZ(R) H-B, and that he shared this 

intent with other JCE members.5899 The Trial Chamber then found Stojic responsible for 

committing the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians in Mostar Municipality.5900 

1778. The Appeals Chamber concludes that, i\l making the intent findings above5901 and holding 

Stojic responsible for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians, the Trial Chamber 

considered that he had the required mens rea for this crime. However, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that the Trial Chamber's approach falls short of what is required under its obligation under 

Article 23(2) of the Statute, translated into Rule 98 ter(C) of the Rules, to give a reasoned opinion 

in writing, meaning that "all the constituent elements of a crime have to be discussed and 

supporting evidence has to be assessed by the Trial Chamber". 5902 Although the Appeals Chamber 

considers that the intent findings for Stojic provided by the Trial Chamber satisfy the general intent 

requirement that he intended to make the civilian population or individual civilians not taking direct 

part in hostilities the object of the acts of violence, they do not satisfy the specific intent 

requirement, namely, whether he committed the offence with the primary purpose of spreading 

terror among the civilian population.5903 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, in the 

section outlining its legal findings, the Trial Chamber explicitly found that the HVO had "the 

specific intention [ ... J to spread terror among the civilian population of East Mostar,,5904 and 

"committed acts of violence, the main aim of which was to inflict terror on the population".5905 

However, no similar findings were made in the individual criminal responsibility section to clarify 

whether Stojic shared this specific intent. 5906 

5894 Appeal Hearing, AT. 362-363 (21 Mar 2017). 
5895 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See supra, para. 1661, fn. 5395. 
5896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 369. See supra, para. 1667. 
5897 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 370. . 
5898 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. See supra, para. 1674. 
5899 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. See also supra, para. 1760. 
5900 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 431. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1689-1692. 
5901 See supra, para. 1777. . 
5902 Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 383. See also Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 385. 
5903 See supra, para. 1774. 
5904 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See supra, paras 546-565. 
5905 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1692. See supra, paras 546-565. 
5906 See infra, para. 2019. 
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1779. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber failed to provide 

a reasoned opinion, by neglecting to set out in a clear and articulate manner the factual and legal 

mens rea findings on the basis of which it reached the decision to convict Stojic for the crime of 

unlawful infliction of terror.5907 The Appeals Chamber will therefore determine whether this error 

of law invalidates the Trial Chamber's decision to convict Stojic for this crime. In so doing, the 

Appeals Chamber will assess, on the basis of the Trial Chamber's findings, as well as evidence 

referred to by the Trial Chamber, whether a reasonable trier of fact could be satisfied beyond 

reasonable doubt - and as the only reasonable inference available - that Stojic intended that the acts 

of violence be committed with the primary purpose of spreading terror among the civilian 

population.5908 

1780. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in the portion of the Trial Judgement relating to the legal 

findings on the crime of unlawful infliction of terror, the Trial Chamber, having described the 

"appalling living conditions" in East Mostar, found that: 

The [Trial] Chamber is satisfied that the deliberate isolation of a population in an area as small as 
East Mostar for several months - and doing so after forcibly transferring a large part of the 
population there - and thus the exacerbation of their distress and difficult living conditions is part 
of the same plan and demonstrates the specific intention of the HVO to spread terror among the 
. '1' I' f E M 5909 CIVI Ian popu atIOn 0 ast ostar. 

1781. It reached this conclusion, having considered, inter alia, that: (1) between June 1993 and 

March 1994, the HVO subjected the civilian population of East Mostar to intense, daily, and 

frequent shelling and firing which resulted in the death and injury of a large number of Muslim 

civilians;5910 (2) these attacks were indiscriminate particularly as they were intense and 

uninterrupted over a period of nine months, they were not limited to specific targets;5911 (3) the 

civilian inhabitants of East Mostar were subjected to a campaign of HVO sniper fire involving the 

targeting of women, children, and elderly people who were going about their daily business, 

including firemen aiding and assisting the population;5912 (4) the constant and intense shelling and 

fire - including sniper fire - had the effect of terrifying the population of East Mostar;5913 

(5) between June 1993 and December 1993, the HVO deliberately destroyed ten mosques in East 

Mostar, which had no military value, as well as the Old Bridge of Mostar on 8 November 1993, the 

destruction of which had a major psychological impact on the morale of the population and the 

5907 See Bizil1111ngu Appeal Judgement, para. 18, referring to Hadf,ihasanovic and Kllbura Ap12eal Judgement, para. 13. 
5908 See Stani§ic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 356, referring to Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, 
paras 383-388, Nyiramasu/zuko et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 977, Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 23, 
Ndindiliyimana et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 293. See also supra, para. 20; infra, para. 2020. 
5909 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See also infra, para. 2021. 
5910 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546-565. 
5911 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546-565. 
5912 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 540-545. 
5913 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546-565. 
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HVO had to be aware of that impact, in light of the great symbolic, cultural, and historical value the 

mosques and the Old Bridge had;5914 and (6) the HVO aggravated the appalling living conditions to 

which the Muslim inhabitants of East Mostar were subjected by blocking or hindering the regular 

provision of humanitarian aid or access of the international organisations to East Mostar, including 

by deliberately attacking the members of the international organisations, and by deliberately 

keeping the civilian population in the small and overcrowded enclave of East Mostar from 

June 1993 to April 1994.5915 The Appeals Chamber recalls, in this regard, that the challenges 

presented to the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO committed the crime of unlawful infliction 

of terror on the population of East Mostar have been considered and dismissed, with the exception 

of the challenges to the Old Bridge. Specifically, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the Old Bridge was unlawful to be erroneous.5916 

Thus, the Trial Chamber's findings on the Old Bridge will not be considered in determining 

whether Stojic had the specific intent to terrorise. 

1782. The Appeals Chamber considers that, to the extent that Stojic had knowledge of and 

contributed to the appalling living conditions in East Mostar caused by the HVO, the Trial 

Chamber's reasoning outlined above is relevant for the assessment of StojiC's own specific intent 

for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror. Thus, in relation to his involvement in the crimes, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls the Tlial Chamber's findings that Stojic "commanded and had effective 

control over the HVO armed forces" from 3 July 1992 to 15 November 1993.5917 The Trial 

Chamber found, in particular, that Stojic had the power to "send military-related government 

decisions through the military chain of command and used that authority [and] that he had the 

authority to issue orders directly to the almed forces and to ensure they were carried out and used 

that authority". 5918 

1783. In relation to how Stojic exercised this authority in Mostar Municipality, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber noted StojiC's admission that he controlled the snipers 

positioned in the glass-walled bank building and the secondary school in Mostar.5919 The Trial 

Chamber found that, inasmuch as Stojic controlled most of the HVO armed forces and as all the 

5914 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1690. See supra, paras 405-426. 
5915 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See supra, paras 536-539. 
5916 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the Old . 
Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages or devastation not justified by military necessity as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war. The Appeals Chamber has also reversed the Trial Chamber's findings that the 
destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime against humanity (Count 1) and unlawful infliction of 
terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25) and has therefore acquitted the Appellants of 
these charges insofar as they concern the Old Bridge. See supra, paras 411-414, 426, 548-565. See also infra, 
p.ara. 2021. 

917 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. See supra, paras 1405,1457-1458,1479. 
5918 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 312. See supra, paras 1422-1423, 1435, 1457. 
5919 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 368. 
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sniping in West Mostar had the same targets and followed the same modus operandi, the dnly 

inference it could draw was that Stojic controlled all the snipers in West Mostar.5920 The Appeals 

Chamber notes here the Trial Chamber's findings that the HVO snipers in West Mostar subjected 

the civilian population of East Mostar to a campaign of sniper fire, involving the targeting of 

women, children, and elderly people who were going about their daily business, including firemen 

aiding and assisting the population,5921 and that this sniper fire terrified the population of East 

Mostar.5922 The Appeals Chamber recalls also the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic knew that 

the snipers in West Mostar were targeting civilians and members of international organisations and 

thereby accepted the murders and wounding of Muslim civilians in East Mostar during the siege.5923 

1784. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber made findings regarding StojiC's 

involvement in the shelling of East Mostar and the harsh living conditions endured by the 

population of that part of the town. In this respect, the Trial Chamber noted evidence that on 

17 July 1993, Stojic told members of international organisations that the HVO plan of action was to 

put pressure on East Mostar to force the ABiH to leave the sector, which the Trial Chamber 

considered was necessarily directed against the entire population of East Mostar and not only 

against the ABiH.5924 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere StojiC's arguments 

on his statements made on 17 July 1993.5925 

1785. Additionally, the Trial Chamber considered evidence that: (1) Stojic was kept informed by 

representatives of the international community about crimes committed by HVO members in 

Mostar, such as the shelling and incidents when representatives of the international community 

were targeted by the HVO;5926 and (2) Branko Kvesic, Head of the Department of the Interior of the 

HZ H-B, informed Stojic that there was no water or electricity in East Mostar and that there was 

less and less food and medical equipment there.5927 The Trial Chamber found, in view of this 

evidence, that Stojic knew of the shelling of East Mostar, the attacks on representatives of 

international organisations, and the shortages of food and water suffered by the Muslim 

population.5928 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere StojiC's arguments 

concerning the medical assistance given by the HVO.5929 However, the Appeals Chamber has 

granted Stojic's contentions regarding the HVO's attempts at managing the water supply and 

5920 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 368. See supra, para. 1667. 
5921 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689, Vol. 4, paras 369-370. See supra, paras 540-545. 
5922 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1015. 
5923 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 369-370. See supra, para. 1667. 
5924 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 361-362. See supra, para. 1658. 
5925 See supra, paras 1631, 1634, 1636. 
5926 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 359. 
5927 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 360. See supra, paras 1658-1660. 
5928 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. See supra, para. 1658. 
5929 See supra, paras 1656, 1658. 
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concluded that the Trial Chamber erred in considering that he accepted the water shortage as a 

component of the harsh living conditions endured by the civilian population.593o However, the Trial 

Chamber's finding that Stojic accepted the harsh living condition caused by the lack of food is 

maintained, thus any error in relation to. the water shortage would not impact on StojiC's knowledge 

and intent, particularly in light of the various other findings supporting the conclusion that he knew 

of and accepted the harsh living conditions. 

1786. The Appeals Chamber also recalls the Trial Chamber's findings that the shelling was 

indiscriminate,5931 and also had the effect of terrifying the population.5932 The Trial Chamber 

concluded that Stojic knew of the HVO's plan of action and the impact it had on the civilian 

popUlation of East Mostar and that, inasmuch as he continued to exercise his functions in the 

HVO/Government of the HR H-B, he "accepted the crimes directly linked to the HVO military 

operations against East Mostar, that is, the murders and the destruction of property, including 

mosques, related to the shelling and the harsh living conditions of the population of that part of the 

town caused by the lack of food". 5933 

1787. The Appeals Chamber also recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that the HV 0 had to be 

aware of the major psychological impact that the destruction of the mosques, which had no military 

value, had on the morale of the population.5934 The Trial Chamber found that Stojic accepted the 

destruction of the mosques related to the shelling of East Mostar. 5935 In light of this, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that StojiC must have been aware 

that the destruction of the mosques would have a psychological impact on the morale of the 

population.5936 Furthennore, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that, 

inasmuch as Stojic did nothing to remove the obstacles hindering access of humanitarian aid to East 

Mostar even though he had the power and obligation to do so, he in fact facilitated them.5937 

1788. In light of all of the above, the Appeals Chamber observes that, despite not explicitly 

finding that Stojic had the specific intent to spread terror, the Trial Chamber considered that Stojic 

had extensive knowledge of, and accepted nearly all, the underlying acts that the Trial Chamber 

earlier considered demonstrated the HVO's specific intent to spread terror.5938 Accordingly, the 

5930 See supra, paras 1656, 1660. 
5931 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1008; supra, paras 546-565. 
5932 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1015; supra, paras 546-565. 
5933 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 362. See also supra, para. 1661. 
5934 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1690. 
5935 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 363. See supra, fn. 5395. 
5936 The Appeals Chamber is of the view that the finding that Stojic is responsible for the destruction of only three of the 
ten mosques does not have an impact on this conclusion. See supra, fn. 5395. See also infra, para. 2023 & fn. 6911. 
5937 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 372. See supra, para. 1674. 
5938 See supra, paras 1780-1781. 
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Appeals Chamber concludes in the specific circumstances of this case, and given StojiC's command 

authority over the HVO,5939 that a reasonable trier of fact could be satisfied beyond reasonable 

doubt - and as the only reasonable inference available - that Stojic intended that the acts of 

violence be committed with the primary purpose of spreading terror among the civilian popUlation. 

Therefore, Stojic fails to show that the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned opinion 

invalidates his conviction for the crimes of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians. StojiC's 
. d' . d 5940 argument IS ISffilsse . 

(iii) Conclusion 

1789. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to provide a 

reasoned opinion on StojiC's intent for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians under 

Article 3 of the Statute but concludes that Stojic fails to show how this eITor invalidates his 

conviction for the crime. Additionally, Stojic has failed to demonstrate any other error in the Trial 

Chamber's findings with respect to his intent to commit the ICE I crimes. Thus, StojiC's sub-ground 

of appeal 25.4 is dismissed. 

(g) Alleged errors concerning StojiC's specific intent to disCliminate against the Muslim 

population (StojiC's Sub-ground 25.5) 

1790. Stojic argues that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned "decision" when it found 

that, based on "all the evidence analysed above", he knew that crimes were being committed against 

the Muslims with the sole purpose of forcing them to leave the territory of BiH.5941 According to 

Stojic, the Trial Chamber failed to sufficiently explain the basis for its finding that the crimes were 

committed solely for that purpose, or that he knew that the crimes were committed solely for that 

purpose.5942 Further, StojiC claims that the Trial Chamber failed to identify the evidence on which it 

relied and that the generic reference to "all the evidence analysed above" does not allow him to 

understand the finding and prejudices his ability to challenge it on appea1.5943 He also avers that the 

Trial Chamber failed to explain its conclusion that mere participation in the ICE was sufficient to 

conclude that he had the specific intent to discriminate.5944 Stojic submits that in finding that he had 

discriminatory intent, the Trial Chamber disregarded clearly relevant evidence about his general 

5939 See supra, paras 1457, 1782. 
5940 See infra, para. 2024. 
5941 StojiC's Appeal Brief, paras 216,218, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
5942 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 218. 
5943 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 218. 
5944 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 218. 
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attitude to Muslims5945 such as: (1) witness testimony that he helped Muslims and did not express 

any prejudiced views;5946 and (2) its own findings that Stojic himself supplied materiel and 

technical equipment to the ABiH and that the Department of Defence provided humanitarian aid to 

East Mostar.5947 Stojic asserts that since the Trial Chamber failed to give a reasoned "decision" on a 

required element of the crime of persecution, the Appeals Chamber should reverse the finding that 

he intended to discriminate against Muslims and overturn his conviction on Count 1.5948 

1791. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Stojic 

possessed discriminatory intent since the CCP he shared entailed the ethnic cleansing of Muslims 

and thus was clearly discriminatory.5949 It argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on its 

factual findings regarding StojiC's ICE participation in this regard5950 and did not disregard 

evidence favourable to him.5951 The Prosecution also submits that Stojic was not impaired in 

challenging this finding due to a lack of reasoned opinion.5952 

1792. The Appeals Chamber notes that in making its findings in relation to StojiC's responsibility 

under ICE I, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic had de facto and de jure powers over most of the 

components of the HVO and the Military Police, that he was the link between the Government and 

the HVO,5953 and he made no serious effort to stop the commission of crimes. 5954 Notably, the Trial 

Chamber made numerous findings on StojiC's knowledge or participation in the planning of the 

crimes in, inter alia, Gornji Vakuf, Mostar, and Capljina, which targeted the Muslim population.5955 

5945 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 219. Stojic argues in reply that there is no discussion of evidence suggesting that he did 
not intend crimes or share the CCP anywhere in the Trial Judgement's section on his responsibil~ty. StojiC's Reply 
Brief, para. 65, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-431. 
5946 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 219, referring to Hamid Bahto, T. 37937 (11 Mar 2009), Nedzad Cengic, T.37943-
37944 (11 Mar 2009), Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21023-21024 (10 July 2007), Davor Korac, T. 38827, 38829-38330 
(7 Apr 2009), Tomislav Kresic, T. 38736 (2 Apr 2009), Stipo Buljan, T. 36751-36752, 36766, 36768 (11 Feb 2009), 
Ivan Bagaric, T. 38879-38880,38947-38948 (20 Apr 2009). 
5947 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 219, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1243, Vol. 4, para. 308. See also StojiC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 217. Stojic also submits that the Trial Chamber's misunderstanding of this evidence is demonstrated, 
by the fact that it was only used in the context of mitigation whereas he submitted that this evidence went to his intent. 
StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 219, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1334, Stojic Closing Arguments, T. 52302-
52303 (15 Feb 2011). 
5948 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 220. 
5949 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 188, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41,65,429,1232. 
5950 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 188, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 470. 
5951 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 188, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 139, 141, Kvocka 
et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. 
5952 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 188, referring to, inter alia, Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, 
p,ara. 128, Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 139, Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 81. 

953 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 425. 
5954 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 427. See also supra, paras 1494-1495. 
5955 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 336 (Stojic was aware of the destruction of Muslim houses and detention of Muslims 
in Gornji Vakuf), 349 (Stojic participated in planning the operations and acts of violence against Muslims in Mostar 
town and during eviction campaigns in West Mostar), 362-363 (Stojic knew of HVO's plan of action for the siege of 
East Mostar and knew of the shortages of food and water suffered by the Muslim population), 378 (Stojic knew of the 
evictions of the Muslim population from Capljina and the manner in which they were carried out), 406-407 (Stojic 
knew of the detention of Muslims in extremely precarious conditions in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison and their 
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Having found that he shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B 

territory,5956 the Trial Chamber then concluded that "all the evidence analysed above" shows that 

Stojic knew that crimes were being committed with the sole purpose of forcing Muslims to leave 

BiH and that, by participating in the ICE, Stojic intended to discriminate against the Muslims in 

order to facilitate their eviction from BiH.5957 

1793. The Appeals Chamber sees no issue with the Trial Chamber's analysis. As found by the 

Trial Chamber, the CCP: (1) was the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population which entailed the 

expulsion of the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory through the commission of a 

range of crimes under the Statute;5958 (2) was accomplished by the ICE members, including Stojic, 

through the "use of the political and military apparatus of the HZ(R) H_B,,;5959 and (3) was intended 

by Stojic who shared that intent with the other ICE members. 596o Additionally, as recalled above, 

the Trial Chamber made numerous findings on StojiC's knowledge or participation in the planning 

of the crimes against Muslims.5961 Further, the Trial Chamber found that Stojic knew of the crimes 

being committed against the Bosnian Muslims, and continued to participate in the ICE until 

November 1993.5962 Bearing in mind, moreover, that the essence of the ICE was inherently 

discriminatory as it consisted of the expulsion of the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B 

territory through a range of crimes under the Statute, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the 

Trial Chamber did not err in its approach in concluding that Stojic possessed the specific intent to 

discriminate against the Muslim population. 

mistreatment), 426. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1694-1741 (findings on the various HVO crimes which 
s~ecifically targeted Muslims and thereby the underlying crimes of persecution under Count 1). 
5 56 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. The Trial Chamber defined the CCP as the domination of the HR H-B Croats 
through the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. As noted above, the Appeals 
Chamber is of the view that the Trial Chamber's finding that Stojic shared the intent to expel the Muslim population 
from the HZ(R) H-B territory is one and the same as the one that he had the intent to ethnically cleanse the Muslim 
~ofulation through a "system for deporting the Muslim population of the HR H-B". See supra, paras 1759-1760. 

95 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
5958 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41,66,428. 
5959 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See supra, paras 786, 789-790. 
5960 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See supra, paras 1755-1756, 1759-1760. 
5961 See supra, para. 1792. The Appeals Chamber notes the following: (1) the Trial Chamber found that the recurrence 
and scale of acts of violence against Muslims during the eviction campaigns in Mostar following the attack of 
9 May 1993 and during the summer of 1993 were part of a preconceived plan and that Stojic participated in planning 
these acts of violence following the attack of 9 May 1993 and intended those acts during the summer of 1993 (see Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 347,349,357; supra, paras 1598, 1612-1615, 1617, 1652); (2) in its factual narrative of the 
expulsion of Muslims families from West Mostar after the Attack on the HVO Tihomir Misic Barracks, the Trial 
Chamber considered VrliC's Report of 5 July 1993, which was personally sent to Stojic and provided a list of Muslim 
families who had a member in the ABiH - which Vrlic called a "baZUa unit" - that included the address of each family 
mentioned indicating that a raid would be carried out in the course of the evening (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
para. 897, Vol. 4, para. 352, referring to Ex. P03181; supra, paras 1617, 1622); and (3) StojiC's statement to 
international representatives on 17 July 1993 that the HVO's plan of action was to put pressure On East Mostar in order 
to force the ABiH to leave the sector, which, as found by the Trial Chamber, was necessarily directed against the entire 
population of East Mostar and not only against the ABiH (in so finding the Trial Chamber considered evidence from 
members of international organisations that Stojic seemed convinced of his troops' ability to achieve a military solution 
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1794. The Appeals Chamber also finds that Stojic fails to show an error regarding the Trial 

Chamber's reference to "all the evidence analysed above". It is clear from the structure of its 

analysis what evidence the Trial Chamber relied on to determine that Stojic knew of crimes being 

committed against Muslims with the sole purpose of forcing them to leave BiH. Indeed, in the 

section titled "Bruno StojiC's Responsibility under lCE I", the Trial Chamber systematically 

outlined, under various subsections, the evidence showing StojiC's knowledge of crimes against the 

Muslims in the municipalities and detention centres, including his knowledge of evictions of 

Muslims, and made relevant findings.5963 Following that analysis, the Trial Chamber arrived at a 

number of conclusions, including the conclusion as to StojiC's knowledge, consistently referring to 

the evidence it outlined in the section as a whole.5964 StojiC's argument that he is prejudiced by the 

Trial Chamber's reference to "all the evidence analysed above" is therefore not persuasive.5965 

1795. As for StojiC's submission that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence favourable to him 

when considering his discriminatory intent, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did 

not refer to this evidence when concluding on StojiC's discriminatory intent.5966 However, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is not under an obligation to refer to the testimony of 

every witness and that it is to be presumed that it evaluated all the evidence presented to it, as long 

as there is no indication that it completely disregarded any evidence which is clearly relevant.5967 A 

trial chamber is also not required to set out in detail why it accepted or rejected a particular 

testimony.5968 However, a trial chamber must provide reasons for accepting testimony despite 

alleged or material inconsistencies when it is the principal evidence relied upon to convict an 

accused.5969 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that if a trial chamber failed to refer to the 

evidence given by a witness, even if it is in contradiction to its finding, it is to be presumed that the 

to what the HVO considered was a "Muslim problem" in Mostar town (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1246, Vol. 4, 
p.aras 361-362, referring to Ex. P03545; supra, paras 1634-1637, 1655, 1658). 

962 See supra, fn. 5955. 
5963 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 326-424. See also supra, para. 1792 & fn. 5955. For example, the Trial Chamber 
found that Stojic knew of the evictions of Muslims in Capljina and participated in organising the eviction of Muslims in 
West Mostar. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 350-357, 373-378. It also found that he knew of the harsh conditions the 
Muslim detainees suffered in the Heliodrom, Dretelj Prison, and Gabela Prison. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 384-395, 
397-407. 
5964 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 426 ("As it established above"), 428 ("In view of all the evidence analysed 
above"), 429 ("all the evidence analysed above"). 
5965 See supra, para. 1767. 
5966 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. 
5967 ToIimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017; Kvocka et aI. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 23. 
5968 Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 139. 
5969 Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Haradinaj et aI. Appeal Judgement, paras 129, 134, 252; KupreSkic et 
aI. Appeal Judgement, paras 135, 202. 
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trial chamber assessed and weighed that evidence, but found that it did not prevent it from making 

its findings.597o 

1796. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in the context of his control over the HVO and in 

sentencing, the Trial Chamber discussed some of the evidence Stojic relies on here going to his 

relationships with the Muslim side and to his good character,5971 which indicates that it was 

cognisant of and assessed this evidence but found that it did not prevent it from reaching its 

conclusions on StojiC's discriminatory intent. With respect to other evidence raised by Stojic,5972 the 

Appeals Chamber, having analysed that evidence,5973 finds that Stojic does not show that it calls 

into question the findings of the Trial Chamber, particularly as he knew of the crimes targeting 

Muslims and continued to participate in the JCE. Thus, it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber not 

to refer to that evidence when discussing StojiC's discriminatory intent. Similarly, the fact that the 

Trial Chamber found that Stojic supplied materiel and technical equipment to ABiH and that the 

Department of Defence provided humanitarian aid to East Mostar, shows that despite being 

cognisant of these facts, the Trial Chamber did not consider them important enough to affect its 

finding on StojiC's discdminatory intent. Indeed, with respect to the supply of humanitarian aid to 

East Mostar, the Trial Chamber also noted that it was sporadic and conditional on secudng "gains" 

in negotiations with ABiH.5974 In any event, even if these findings were considered to be favourable 

to Stojic, the evidence of limited and selective assistance towards a few individuals does not 

preclude a trier of fact from reasonably finding that the requisite intent to discriminate existed.5975 

1797. Accordingly, for all the reasons outlined above, Stojic has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he possessed discriminatory intent. StojiC's sub-ground of 

appeal 25.5 is therefore dismissed. 

5970 Kvocka et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. , 
5971 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 308, 1334 & fns 732, 2481, referring to Hamid Bahto, T(F). 37900 (11 Mar 2009), 
Nedzad Cengie, T(F). 37943-37945, 37951 (11 Mar 2009). The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 
noted that Witness Nedzad Cengie and Stojie were friends. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 2481. 
5972 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 219 (referring to the evidence of Witnesses Antoon van der Grinten, Davor Korae, 
Tomislav Kresie, Stipo Buljan, and Ivan Bagarie). 
5973 Antoon van der Grinten, T. 21023-21024 (10 July 2007) (stating that the Appellants, including Stojie, expressed no 
derogatory views concerning Muslims); Davor Korae, T. 38827, 38829-38830 (7 Apr 2009) (stating that Stojie, while 
serving as the Assistant Minister of the Interior of BiH prior to the conflict, did not have any issues with different 
ethnicities working at that ministry); Tomislav Kresie, T. 38736 (2 Apr 2009) (stating that some of StojiC's best friends 
before the conflict were Muslims and Serbs); Stipo Buljan, T. 36751-36752,36766,36768 (11 Feb 2009) (stating that 
Stojie made an effort to look after all HVO members regardless of their ethnicity); Ivan Bagarie, T. 38879-38880, 
38947-38948 (20 Apr 2009) (stating that the Health Section of the Department of Defence looked after anyone who 
needed medical care, regardless of their ethnicity, and that it also employed experts regardless of their ethnicity). 
5974 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1243. The Trial Chamber also dismissed the supply of MTS as a factor that would 
demonstrate good character on behalf of Stojie. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4; para. 1334. 
5975 See Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para. 195; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 32; Rutaganda Appeal 
Judgement, para. 537. See also Kvocka et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 233 (finding that evidence that Miroslav Kvo¢ka 
was a tolerant and politically moderate man who was close to the Muslim community did not preclude a conclusion that 
he intended to further a joint criminal enterprise whose purpose was to persecute non-Serbs). 
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(h) Alleged errors concerning StojiC's intent to commit the crimes in Prozor, lablanica, East 

Mostar, Cap1jina, Vares, and the detention centres (StojiC's Sub-ground 25.6) 

1798. Stojic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to expressly find that he intended the crimes 

committed in Prozor, Jablanica, East Mostar, Cap1jina, Vares, and the detention centres, as it simply 

inferred that he "accepted" the crimes because he knew they had been committed and yet continued 

to exercise his official functions.5976 According to Stojic, the Trial Chamber erred in law in inferring 

his intent in this way since intent must be assessed at the time the crime is committed whereas his 

knowledge of crimes was usually obtained from reports, after the crimes took p1ace.5977 He further 

asserts that in inferring his intent in this way, the Trial Chamber eradicated the distinction between 

lCE I and JCE III as knowledge and acceptance of crimes are intrinsic elements of the latter, not the 

forrner. 5978 Stojic also claims that intent is not the only reasonable inference from his continuation 

in office as that can be motivated by many factors, including "general support for the HZHB".5979 

Finally, Stojic submits that no reasonable chamber could have concluded that he knew that crimes 

had been committed in the five municipalities and the detention centres.5980 

1799. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on StojiC's knowledge of 

crimes and his continuation in office when finding that he had the shared intent since, by remaining 

as Head of the Department of Defence, he continued to contribute to the CCP.5981 It further submits 

that the Trial Chamber's approach did not confuse JCE I and lCE III liability.5982 

1800. As noted above, the Trial Chamber inferred StojiC's intent for the crimes that took place in 

the municipalities and detention centres from his participation in the HVO military operations in 

Mostar and Vares, and from his continued exercise of control over the armed forces while knowing 

of the crimes they committed in other municipalities.5983 Thus, the fact that he was found to have 

known of and accepted the crimes in Prozor, Jab1anica, East Mostar, Capljina, Vares, and detention 

5976 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 221, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 329, 342, 363, 370, 378, 383, 
395-396, 407. See also StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 222. Stojic contends that his convictions pertaining to these 
locations should be overturned and that the Trial Chamber's errors "fatally undermine" his responsibility under JCE I 
liability. StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 227. 
5977 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 223, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 338-339. 
5978 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 224, referring to Stanish: alld Simatovic Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 2326, 2412-
2415. 
5979 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 225. Stojic also contends that "mere continuation in office is an insufficient foundation 
for an inference of intent because there is no nexus between continuation in office and specific crimes". StojiC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 225. 
5980 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 226 (referring to his submissions in his grounds of appeal 28, 29.2, 30, 33.1, 33.3, 34.1, 
34.4,35,36.1,36.3,37.2, and 40). See also StojiC's Reply Brief, para. 66. 
5981 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 189, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 426, Dordevic Appeal 
Judgement, paras 512-513, Krajisllik Appeal Judgement, para. 697. The Prosecution submits that StojiC's continuation 
in office was not the only factor relied on to find that he had the shared intent. Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), 
p,ara. 189. 

982 Prosecution's Response Brief (Stojic), para. 189. 
5983 See supra, para. 1792. 

749 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23146



centres was merely one of the factors used by the Trial Chamber to find his intent for all the crimes 

that formed part of the CCP. The Appeals Chamber recalls here that the requisite mens rea for a 

conviction under JCE I can be inferred from a person's knowledge of the common plan, combined 

with his continuous participation in the JCE, if this is the only reasonable inference available on the 

evidence.5984 In this case, the Trial Chamber considered that StojiC was the link between the 

Government and the HVO military component and that he continued exercising his official 

functions despite having knowledge of the crimes committed by that military component.5985 It also 

found that he shared the intent to further the CCP together with the other JCE members5986 and that 

his contribution to the JCE was significant.5987 Stojic fails to show an error in t~e Trial Chamber's 

reasoning in this respect. 

1801. While Stojic submits that there was another reasonable inference to be drawn from his 

continuation in office, he also claims that "[iJn the absence of other evidence or findings, mere 

continuation in office" is insufficient to infer intent.5988 However, the Appeals Chamber reiterates 

that StojiC's continuation in office, and thereby his continued control over the armed forces 

perpetrating the crimes, was not the only factor used in the Trial Chamber's conclusion. Rather, as 

outlined above,5989 the Trial Chamber also relied on other factors such as his planning of the HVO 

military {)perations in Mostar and his involvement in evictions in West Mostar. In light of those 

activities, considered together with the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic continued in office 

despite knowing of crimes and that he failed to stop or punish thos(( crimes,5990 Stojic fails to show 

that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the only reasonable inference it could draw was that 

he intended those crimes. 

1802. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by StojiC's submission that knowledge of 

crimes typically obtained from reports after the fact cannot support an inference that he possessed 

the requisite intent to commit the crimes in question. Importantly, the Trial Chamber found that 

Stojic, with the other JCE members, intended the crimes falling within the CCP, i.e. Counts 1, 6-9, 

10-20, 24_25,5991 based on his participation in military operations, knowledge and acceptance of 

crimes, and his failure to act coupled with his continued participation in the JCE. 5992 Notably, the 

Trial Chamber made clear findings that Stojic planned, facilitated, and knew of the crimes 

5984 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652, referring to, inter alia, Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 512, 
Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 202,204,697, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 428-429. 
5985 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-426,429. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1227, 1230. 
5986 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 428. See also supra, paras 1759-1760. . 
5987 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 429. , 
5988 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 225. 
5989 See supra, paras 1792, 1800. 
5990 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 415,423,427. 
5991 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68, 426, 428-429. 
5992 See supra, para. 1800. 
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committed in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993.5993 It then found that Stojic knew of the crimes that 

were being committed later during the JCE period, including in Iablanica, East Mostar, Capljina, 

Vares, and the detention centres, and yet continued to participate in the JCE.5994 In this regard, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that it is not necessary for a participant in a ICE to know of each specific 

crime committed in order to be criminally liable for it.5995 Rather, it suffices that a JCE member 

knows that crimes are being committed according to a common plan and knowingly participates in 

that plan in a way that facilitates the commission of a crime or which allows the criminal enterprise 

to function effectively or efficiently.5996 Therefore, it was not a requirement for the Trial Chamber 

to find, as an example, that Stojic knew the specific evictions in .Capljina at the time they occurred 

as he was found to have intended evictions as part of the CCP from Ianumy 1993. Stojic thus fails 

to show any error in theTrial Chamber's reasoning, even if he received reports on some criminal 

incidents committed in certain locations after they occurred. 

1803. Further, the Appeals Chamber rejects StojiC's argument that, by using knowledge and 

acceptance of cnmes to infer intent for those crimes, the Trial Chamber eradicated the distinction 

between the requirements of ICE I and JCE III.5997 The crimes forming part of the CCP, including 

the crimes in Prozor, Iablanica, East Mostar, Capljina, Vares, and detention centres, were 

specifically intended by Stojic and the other JCE members.5998 Further, contrary to Stojic's 

submission,knowledge and acceptance of crimes by continued participation are not "intrinsic 

elements" of ICE III. Rather, liability under JCE III arises when crimes are committed which, while 

not part of the common criminal plan, were foreseeable to the accused and he willingly took that 

risk.5999 As such, this form of liability does not necessarily require knowledge and/or acceptance of 

5993 See supra, paras 1561, 1569, 1575, 1579. 
5994 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 363, 378, 426. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the findings 
that Stojic knew of and accepted the detention of men who did not belong to any armed forces in Prozor and Ljubuski 
Prison. See supra, paras 1560, 1710, 1712. 
5995 ToIimir Appeal Judgement, para. 474; Kvocka et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 276. See Sainovic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 1491 (where the Appeals Chamber concluded that as a participant in the joint criminal enterprise, 
Sreten Lukic need not have known of each specific crime committed in order to be criminally liable. It concluded that it 
sufficed "that he shared the intent for the commission of these crimes and acted in furtherance of the common pu;pose". 
Therefore, the Appeals Chamber found that LukiC's submission that he lacked specific knowledge of the crimes 
committed in Prizren municipality to be inapposite). 
5996 ToIimir Appeal Judgement, para. 474. See Sainovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491 ("It suffices that he shared 
the intent for the commission of [the] crimes and acted in furtherance of the common purpose"). 
5997 StojiC's Appeal Brief, para. 224. 
5998 The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful 
killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. This means that Stojic did not 
have the intent for murder and wilful killing from January 1993 until June 1993. In that respect, the Appeals Chamber 
recalls its finding overturning his convictions for murder and wilful killing in relation to two killings in Toscanica, 
Prozor Municipality. See supra, paras 880-882. 
5999 Stani§ic and ZupIjanin Appeal Judgement, para. 967; Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 1431, quoting Brdanin 
Appeal Judgement, para. 365. See Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 514 (requiring that the possibility be "reasonably 
foreseeable to the accused"); Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1078, 1538, 1575. 
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deviatory crimes but rather the knowledge that they were a natural and foreseeable consequence of 

h "1 6000 t e common cnmma purpose. 

1804. Based on the foregoing, Stojic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded that he had the intent to commit the JCE I crimes in Prozor, Jablanica, East Mostar, 

Capljina, Vares, and the detention centres. His sub-ground of appeal 25.6 is therefore dismissed.6oo1 

(i) Conclusion 

1805. In sum, the Appeals Chamber has dismissed all of Stojic's challenges to his mens rea under 

his sub-ground of appeal 25. 

10. Conclusion 

1806. Based on the above sections addressing his challenges to the findings on his JCE 

contribution and mens rea, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Stojic has failed to demonstrate 

any error which has an impact on the Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) a plurality of persons, 

including Stojic, consulted with each other to devise and implement the CCP; (2) Stojic 

continuously contributed to the JCE between January 1993 and 15 November 1993; (3) StojiC's 

contribution, which included the use of the HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes, was 

significant and furthered the CCP; (4) Stojic shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from 

the territory of Herceg-Bosna with other JCE members; (5) Stojic shared the intent to carry out the 

crimes forming part of the CCP; and (6) Stojic intended to discriminate against Muslims in order to 

facilitate their eviction from the tenitory of Herceg-Bosna.6
oo

2 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

upholds the majority of StojiC's convictions under JCE I for the various crimes fonning part of the 

CCP and committed prior to the end of his JCE membership on 15 November 1993. 

1807. Furthennore, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the findings that Stojic knew 

of and accepted the detention of men who did not belong to any armed forces in Prozor and 

Ljubuski Prison.6003 However, it also recalls that the crimes resulting from the detention of civilians 

- except for murder in Prozor Municipality - were crimes fonning part of the CCP which were 

intended by Stojic to be committed. Thus, the reversal of a finding that he knew of and accepted 

specific criminal incidents does not affect his conviction for those crimes under JCE I liability. 

6000 See Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, paras 83, 86. ' 
6001 With respect to StojiC's argument that no reasonable trial chamber could have concluded that he knew that the 
crimes had been committed in Prozor, Jablanica, East Mostar, Capljina, Vares, and the detention centres, the Appeals 
Chamber notes that it has dismissed most of his challenges in that respect. This argument is therefore moot. See supra, 
Earas 1551-1748. 

002 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 425-430, 1220, 1227, 1230-1232. 
6003 See supra, para. 1560. 
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Lastly, the impact, if any, on sentencing with regard to the finding that Stojic cannot be held 

responsible for crimes occurring after 15 November 1993, including certain incidents of sniping and 

destruction of mosques in Mostar under Count 21, will be addressed below.6oo4 

6004 See supra, fn. 5395. See infra, para. 3361. 
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G. Alleged Errors in Relation to Slobodan Praliak's Participation in the .ICE 

1. Introduction 

1808. From approximately March 1992 to 15 June 1993, Slobodan Praljak was Croatia's Assistant 

Minister of Defence and then its Deputy Minister of Defence, first at the rank of brigadier and then 

as major-general of the HV.6005 The Trial Chamber obseryed that it had no evidence that Praljak 

held official functions in the HVO between mid-May 1992 and 24 July 1993.6006 From 24 July 1993 

to 9 November 1993, Praljak was the commander of the Majn Staff.6oo7 The Trial Chamber found 

that Praljak contributed to the JCE from January 1993 to 9 November 1993,6008 and that his 

contribution was significant.6oo9 It concluded that Praljak was one of the most important JCE 

members as he controlled the HVO and the Military Police, and served as a link between Croatia 

and the HZ(R) H-'B.6010 The Trial Chamber also found that Praljak used the HVO, including the 

Military Police, to commit crimes that formed part of the CCp.6011 It made several findings 

concerning Praljak's contributions including, inter alia, that: (1) he had significant de facto and 

subsequently de jure and de facto authority over the HVO and Military Police and that he exercised 

this authority;6012 (2) he made decisions regarding the HVO military operations and had them 

carried out through the chain of command;6013 (3) he was "a conduit between Croatia and the HVO 

government [and ... J participated in forwarding instructions and policies from Croatia to the HZ(R) 

H-B and vice-versa, and facilitated obtaining military and logistical support from Croatia to the 

HVO,,;6014 (4) he participated in the planning of several HVO military operations;6015 and 

(5) despite his authority he made no serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from 

committing crimes.6016 

1809. Regarding Praljak's mens rea under JCE I liability, the Trial Chamber concluded that he: 

(1) intended the crimes committed in the various municipalities,6017 at times inferring his intent 

from his failure to make any serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from 

6005 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 457. 
6006 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. 
6007 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. The Trial Chamber observed that afterPraljak: was replaced as Commander of 
the Main Staff, he returned to Croatia and was appointed advisor to the Croatian Minister of Defence for the ministry's 
archival facilities. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. 
6008 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1228, 1230. 
6009 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6010 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6011 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6012 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624-625. 
6013 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 624. 
6014 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 624. 
6015 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6016 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
6017 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
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committing crimes;6018 (2) shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from the territory of 

Herceg-Bosna with other lCE members;6019 and (3) intended to discriminate against Muslims in 

order to facilitate their eviction from the territory of Herceg-Bosna.6020 

1810. The Trial Chamber convicted Praljak under Article 7(1) of the Statute of committing, 

pursuant to lCE I liability, various crimes amounting to grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions, 

violations of the laws or customs of war, and/or crimes against humanity under Articles 2, 3, and 5 

of the Statute, respectively.6021 Praljak was sentenced to a single sentence of 20 years 

imprisonment. 6022 

1811. Praljak challenges these and related findings of the Trial Chamber with regard to his lCE 

contribution and mens rea.6023 These challenges will be addressed in the following sections. 

2. Alleged errors concerning the military chain of command (Praljak's Ground 37) 

1812. The Trial Chamber found that the Military Police answered to a dual chain of command 

which Ineant that they Were under the command of the OZ and HVO brigade commanders in 

executing their regular daily duties in addition to being under the command of the Military Police 

Administration in areas such as appointments, discipline or training their members.6024 The Trial 

Chamber further concluded that "the division of responsibilities under the Military Police 

Administration, on the one hand, and the OZ commanders, on the other, was not quite so clear cut 

6018 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 626-627. 
6019 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6020 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6021 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68, 630, Disposition, p. 430. These crimes are: persecution as a crime against 
humanity (Count 1); murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva 
Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); 
unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against 
humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 11); 
inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity 
(Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawful labour as a violation 
of the laws or customs of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and 
carried out unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); destruction or wilful 
damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); 
unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on 
civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes 
also fell within the framework of the JCE, meaning Praljak was also responsible for them, but did not enter convictions 
for them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of confinement) as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war 
(Count 17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity 
(Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68, Disposition, p. 430. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1260-
1266. The Appeals Chamber discusses Praljak's convictions pursuant to JCE III infra, paras 2833-2834, 2881-2898. 
6022 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p.430. 
6023 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 358-469. 
6024 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945,949,971. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 953-970. 
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in the field,,.6025 Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that "inasmuch as the HVO brigades were 

subordinated to the Chief of the Main Staff via the OZs, the official in charge of the Main Staff also 

had command authority over the Military Police platoons embedded in those brigades,,6026 and thus 

the Main Staff had final authority over the Military Police battalions as they carried out their daily 

duties.6027 It also found that the KB fell within the HVO's military chain of command and reported 

directly to the Main Staff.6028 

(a) The OZ and HVO brigade commanders' authority over the Military Police in carrying out their 

"daily duties" CPraljak's Sub-ground 37.1) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1813. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the Military Police was 

under the command of the OZ and HVO brigade commanders in executing their regular daily 

duties.6029 Praljak argues that as the Trial Chamber concluded that the chain of command for the 

Military Police was "complex, unclear, and fuzzy", it should have carefully scrutinised the 

evidence.603o He contends that, because the Military Police's subordination was an important factor 

in detemlining his responsibility, the Trial Chamber en'oneously failed to give reasons for its 

rejection of an ECMM report stating that the Military Police answered only to Stojic and Mate 

Boban.6031 Praljak also submits that the Trial Chamber improperly interpreted the Provisional 

Instructions for the Work of the Military Police Units of April 1992 ("Provisional Instructions") by 

considering its content in isolation.6032 Particularly, he argues that the Trial Chamber ignored the 

provisions according to which: (1) the Military Police Administration led and commanded all 

Military Police units within the framework of operative groups, organisational units, or within the 

administration;6033 and (2) the lower units, in executing their work, Were responsible to the Militmy 

Police battalion commander, who then answered to the Military Police Administration.6034 

1814. Praljak also submits that the Military Police units were not completely subordinated to the 

HVO brigade commanders as they were still under the Military Police Administration's supreme 

6025 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. 
6026 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
6027 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
6028 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
6029 Praljak's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 359. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 358. 
6030 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 359, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 846, 974. 
6031 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 366, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 973, Ex. P02803, p. 4, para. 16. 
6032 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 362, referring to Ex. P00837 (entitled "Instructions for the Work of Military Police 
Units of the Croatian Defence CouncillHVO/Croatian Community of Herceg-BosnaIHZ HBf'). . 
6033 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 362, referring to Ex. P00837, p. 4, para. 1. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 363. 
6034 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 362, referring to Ex. P00837, p. 5, para. 5. 
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command.6035 He avers that "the HVO-MP [was] unique and [was] linked to battalions and 

companies under the command of the MPA Chief,.6036 Praljak submits that the Military Police's 

responsibility to a brigade ceased when it was used for general military and police affairs, and that 

his authority over the Military Police was limited to combat activities.6037 He further contends that 

only the Military Police units in a brigade. were subordinated to the brigade commander regarding 

their daily duties, as all other units carried out all the Military Police's work "in the OZ of the 1st 

MP Battalion" which was directly subordinated to the Military Police Administration.6038 

1815. Praljak asserts that it seems that the Trial Chamber considered that the Military Police 

"submitted only to the classic military hierarchy", i.e. via the commanding officers of the OZs and 

brigades, when it performed its daily duties.6039 Regarding those daily duties, Praljak argues that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously decided to assess them, and the operative chain of command, on a case­

by-case basis as they cannot be specified in such a way.6040 He asserts that documents from the 

Military Police Administration indicate that these daily duties were "solely duties to secure barracks 

and .. commands, military transport for the brigade, entry into the frontline in the brigade's zone of 

responsibility and the taking into custody/detention of individuals for the brigade".6041 Praljak 

submits that it was impossible to conclude that the Military Police submitted only to the classic 

military hierarchy when it performed its daily duties as the Military Police Administration issued , 

numerous orders to it concerning its daily duties such as the establishment of checkpoints.6042 

Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to properly define the HVO military commanders' 

scope of authority over the Military Police, as it omitted to identify the daily duties of the Military 

Police.6043 Thus, he concludes that the Trial Chamber was prevented from properly establishing 

responsibility for the acts committed by members of the Military Police.6044 

1816. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber: (1) considered the Provisional 

Instructions as <l: whole and in the context of other evidence;6045 (2) considered the evidence, which 

does not undermine its findings;6046 and (3) reasonably rejected the ECMM report in light of other 

6035 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 363, referring to Ex. P00957, p. 5. 
6036 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 363, referring to Ex. P04922. 
6037 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Ex. P04922; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 36. 
6038 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 365, referring to Ex. P00957, p. 5. 
6039 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 361, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 949. 
6040 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 947. 
6041 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 364, referring to Exs. P04922, P00957, p. 5, 2D02000, p. 27, para. 49. 
6042 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 365, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. 
6043 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 367. 
6044 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 367. 
6045 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 65, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945-950, 959. 
6046 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 65, referring to Trial JUdgement, Vol. 1, para. 952, Ex. P04922. 
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evidence demonstrating the existence of a dual chain of command.6047 It also submits that the Trial 

Chamber's case-by-case assessment of the chain of command was not erroneous.6048 

(ii) Analysis 

1817. The Trial Chamber found that the Military Police units answered to a dual chain of 

command.6049 In this context, the Trial Chamber observed that two principles governed the chain of 

command and control in the Military Police units: on the one hand, the HVO Military Police units 

in furtherance of their "daily duties" in their areas of responsibility, were subordinated to the 

commanders of the HVO unit to which they were attached, on the other hand, when a Military 

Police unit travelled outside its area of responsibility, it was required to place itself under the 

authority of the unit responsible for that area in connection with its "daily duties", namely the 

commander of the OZ or brigade in question.605o It proceeded to note the difficulties in defining 

these "daily duties",6051 and recalled that they "must have included some of the 20 duties of the 

Military Police enumerated in the [Provisional Instructions] as pointed out by Witness NO".6052 

Regarding these "daily duties", the Trial Chamber stated that it would "assess whether the Military 

Police units reported to the Military Police chain of command or that of the OZ commanders on a 

case-by-case basis".6053 

1818. The Appeals Chamber will first address Praljak's challenges to the Trial Chamber's 

assessment of the evidence. Regarding the ECMM report, the Trial Chamber concluded that "as [it] 

concerns the existence of a dual chain of command over the military police units, [it could not] 

accept the [ECMM.report] stating that the Military Police answered only to the orders of the Head 

of the Department of Defence and to those of Mate Boban". 6054 This conclusion followed an in­

depth analysis of the command and control authority exercised by the OZ and HVO brigade 

commanders6055 as well as the Military Police Administnltion6056 over the Military Police, wherein 

6047 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 65, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 973. 
6048 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 66. The Pro~ecution also argues that the Military Police 
Administration's issuance of orders does not undermine the finding that the Military Police was subordinated to the 
HVO brigade commanders. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 66. 
6049 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 945 (intemal references omitted). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 949. See also 
sUfora, para. 1812. 
600 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 949. 
6051 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 942-944,946. 
6052 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 947, fn. 2347. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 946 (noting Witness NO's 
evidence), 952 (identifying some of the daily duties). 
6053 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 947. 
6054 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 973, referring to Ex. P02803. The ECMM report, which is authored by the Deputy to 
the ECMM Chief and dated 16 June 1993, states in relevant part that "[i]n particular the military police answer only to 
HVO Minister of Defence Stoji[c] and Mate Boban, and are a major force in the control of traffic moving through 
South Central Bosnia-Hercegovina". Ex. P02803, para. 16. 
6055 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 942-952, and evidence cited therein. 
6056 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 953-972, and evidence cited therein. 
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the Trial Chamber considered and weighed numerous pieces of evidence, including various exhibits 

as well as evidence from Praljak,6057 Petkovic,6058 Coric,6059 Witness NO,6060 and Witness Marijan 

Biskic.6061 Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that it is clear from the Trial Chamber's analysis 

and conclusions on the Military Police's dual chain of command that it rejected the relevant 

statement in the ECMM report because of the substantial evidence showing the existence of a dual 

chain of command. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is not required 

to set out in detail why it accepted or rejected a particular testimony, and that an accused's right to a 

reasoned opinion does not ordinarily demand a detailed analysis of the credibility of particular 

witnesses.6062 However, a trial chamber must provide reasons for accepting testimony despite 

alleged or material inconsistencies when it is the principal evidence relied upon to convict an 

accused.6063 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that if a trial chamber failed to refer to the 

evidence given by a witness, even if it is in contradiction to its finding, it is to be presumed that the 

trial chamber assessed and weighed that evidence, but found that it did not prevent it from making 

its findings.6064 The Appeals Chamber is therefore satisfied that the Trial Chamber was not required 

to set out in detail why it rejected the relevant statement in the ECMM report because of the 

substantial evidence showing the existence of a dual chain of command, despite the importance of 

the subject-matter. Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

1819. As to Praljak's submission that the Trial Chamber ignored or improperly interpreted the 

Provisional Instructions, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered 

the same provisions identified by Praljak in its discussion on the command and control authority 

exercised by the Chief of the Military Police Administration over the Military Police units.6065 The 

Trial Chamber recalled that the Provisional Instructions "stipulat[edJ that the Chief of the Military 

Police Administration commanded and controlled all military police units'',6066 and that "[aJlthough 

[ ... J the Military Police battalion and unit commanders were subordinated to the OZ and brigade 

commanders under whose authority they stood in carrying out their 'daily duties''',6067 it seemed 

6057 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945,949 & fns 2340-2341, 2352. 
6058 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945-946 & fns 2343, 2345. 
6059 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 945. 
6060 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 946, 961 & fns 2344, 2346. 
6061 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
6062 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber has broad discretion 
in assessing the appropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the evidence. Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, 
fara. 131. ' 

063 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Haradinaj et at. Appeal Judgement, paras 129, 134, 252; Kuprdkic et 
at. Appeal Judgement, paras 135, 202. 
6064 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
6065 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 959-974. 
6066'Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 959, referring to Exs. P00837, p. 4 (stating that "[t]he Military Police Administration 
is organised within the framework of the Croatian Defence Council and it leads and commands all Military Police units 
within the framework of operative groups, organisational units or within the Military Police Administration"), P00978. 
6067 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 959. 
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that "all Military Police units were responsible for their work and carrying out their assigned tasks 

to the Military Police Administration through the Military Police Battalions organised in each 

OZ".6068 Moreover, it relied on the Provisional Instructions in observing that directives issued 

regarding the work of the Military Police served as a reminder that all subordinate units of the 

Military Police within the OZs formed part of the Military Police battalions.6069 Considering the 

above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber "neglected" or 

ignored the provisions he cites.6070 As far as he argues that the Trial Chamber improperly 

interpreted these provisions, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to explain how the Trial 

Chamber misinterpreted the evidence. His arguments are dismissed. 

1820. Regarding Praljak's contentions that the Military Police units were not completely 

subordinated to the HVO brigade commanders and were linked to battalions under the command of 

the Chief of the Military Police Administration, the Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to 

explain or demonstrate that these contentions call into question the Trial Chamber's findings. 

Recalling the Trial Chamber's observations noted above,6071 and the finding that the Military Police 

had a dual chain of command,60n Praljak's contentions are not inconsistent with the Trial 

Chamber's findings. 6073 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's argument 

that because the Military Police Administration issued orders to the Military Police concerning their 

"daily duties", it was "impossible" for the T11al Chamber to arrive at its findings.6074 His 

contentions are dismissed as he fails to demonstrate any impact on the Trial Chamber's findings. 

1821. Praljak also argues that his authority over the Military Police was limited to combat 

activities but relies only on Exhibit P04922, which is an extract from the Provisional Instructions, as 

support. The Appeals Chamber concludes that Praljak specifically relies on the paragraph which 

states that "[b]rigade platoons within the framework of Military Police companies and battalions 

can be used for general military and police affairs under the command of the company commander, 

with the agreement of the brigade commander, and at that time their responsibilities towards the 

brigade shall cease".6075 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit P04922 also specifies 

6068 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 959, referring to Ex. P00837, p. 5 (stating that "[t]he commanders of lower units are 
responsible for their work and execution of tasks to the commander of the battalion military police, and he answers to 
the Military Police administration"). 
6069 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 864, refening to Ex. P00837, p. 5. 
6070 See Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 362. 
6071 See supra, para. 1819; Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
6072 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 864, 949, 952, 959, 971, 973-974. 
6073 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 959-964. Compare Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 363, referring to Exs. P00957, 
p. 5, P04922 with Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 949, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00957, P04922. See also 
Ex. P00957, p. 5; Ex. P04922. 
6074 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971 (noting that the division of responsibilities between the Military Police 
Administration and the OZ commanders were not quite so clear cut in the field). 
6075 Ex. P04922, p. 1. 
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that the "brigade Military Police is authorised to secure barracks and commands, military transports 

for the brigade, entry into the front line in the brigade's zone of responsibility and the taking into 

custody and detention of individuals for the brigade",6076 and that the "brigade Military Police has 

no other jurisdiction except for what has been described above and cannot perform territorial 

military and police tasks outside the brigade's zone of responsibility".6077 Thus, Exhibit P04922 

does not support the contention that the tasks of the Military Police units embedded in the HVO 

brigades were limited to combat activities. Further, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial 

Chamber's finding that the Main Staff had authority over the Military Police units in their "daily 

duties",6078 which included the same duties expressed in Exhibit P04922.6079 Praljak fails to show 

that Exhibit P04922 is inconsistent with this Trial Chamber finding. Additionally, he does not 

explain how his argument that the Military Police, when used for general military and police affairs, 

ceased to be responsible to the HVO brigades affects the finding on his "effective control" over 

Military Police units embedded in the HVO brigades.608o On the same basis, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses Praljak's submission regarding the Military Police not assigned to an HVO brigade.6081 

Praljak's contention that his authority over the Military Police was limited to combat activities is 

thus dismissed.6082 

1822. Tuming to Praljak's arguments on the "daily duties" of Military Police units, the Appeals 

Chamber first considers that he partially misinterprets the Trial Chamber's case-by-case approach. 

To the extent that he argues that the Trial Chamber assessed the "daily duties" on a case-by-case 

basis,6083 it was the determination on which chain of command operated that was assessed in this 

way.6084 Regarding the "daily duties" themselves, the Trial Chamber did consider. these assignments 

as "providing barracks security and security for the brigade command, escorting and guarding 

brigade convoys, establishing points of entry at the borders of the brigade's area of responsibility 

and arresting and detaining individuals in the brigade's jail cells".6085 Praljak argues that these listed 

tasks were the sale "daily duties", and while he cites evidence - which was considered by the Trial 

Chamber6086 - that could be interpreted as supporting this contention,6087 the Trial Chamber 

6076 Ex.P04922,p. l. 
6077 Ex. P04922, p. 1 (emphasis added). 
6078 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 952. 
6079 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 949, 952, fn. 2347. 
6080 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 490 ("inasmuch as the HVO brigades were subordinated to the Commander of the 
Main Staff via the OZs, Slobodan Praljak as commander of the Main Staff likewise had command authority over the 
Military Police platoons embedded in those brigades"). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
6081 S 14 ee supra, para. 18 . 
6082 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950 ("the Main Staff did have final authority over the Military Police battalions 
as they carried out their 'daily duties'''). 
6083 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 364. See supra, para. 1815. 
6084 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 947. See supra, para. 1817. 
6085 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 952, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P04922, P00957, p. 5, 2D02000, para. 49. 
6086 See supra, fns 6041, 6085. 
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considered other evidence which showed that additional tasks were delegated to the Military Police 

in the brigades - such as securing crime sites, informing relevant authorities about criminal 

investigations, checking apartments of persons mobilised, confiscating weaponry, and patrolling 

and recording improper parking of vehicles.6088 Praljak does not contest the Trial Chamber's 

consideration of this other evidence. The Appeals Chamber th~refore finds that the Trial Chamber 

did not provide an exhaustive list of the "daily duties" of the Military Police.6089 Praljak thus fails to 

demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's findings on the "daily duties" identified and his 

argument is dismissed. Based on the foregoing,6090 the Appeals Chamber also finds unpersuasive 

Praljak's arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to properly define the scope of authority that the 

HVO brigade commanders exercised over the Military Police units and that its case-by-case 

assessment on the operative chain of command was erroneous. Praljak does not put forward 

sufficient support demonstrating an error. 

~823. Finally, as far as Praljak argues that his responsibility for the crimes committed by the 

Military Police could not be established as their "daily duties" - and thus the scope of authority 

which the military commanders had over them - were not sufficiently defined,6091 the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that Praljak was found responsible, and convicted, for crimes committed pursuant 

to JCE I and JCE III liability.6092 Thus, it is not a necessary element that Praljak or the HVO 

military commanders had authority over all the Military Police units who committed crimes in 

furtherance of the JCE.6093 Any allegations that the Trial Chamber incorrectly attributed crimes 

committed by the Military Police to the JCE members will be considered when addressing Praljak's 

related challenges. Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

1824. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously concluded that the Military Police was under the command of the OZ and HVO brigade 

commanders in executing their "daily duties". His sub-ground of appeal 37.1 is dismissed. 

6087 See Ex. P04922; Ex. 2D02000, para. 49. 
6088 See Ex. 3D03815; Ex. 3D03816; Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 952, fn. 2362, and evidence cited therein. Notably 
Exhibit P00957, after identifying the same duties noted by Praljak and the Trial Chamber, states that "[i]n performing 
their daily duties, the commanders of [Military Police] battalions in operations zones are directly subordinate to the 
Operations Zone Commander and carry out all orders relating to military police work in accordance with the powers 
and responsibilities of the [Military Police]". Ex. P00957, p. 5. 
6089 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 944,947,952, fns 2341, 2362. 
6090 See supra, paras 1817, 1819. 
6091 See supra, para. 1815. 
6092 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 630,644. 
6093 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1050; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 165, 169; Brdanin Appeal 
Judgement, paras 364, 410-412; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
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(b) The Main Staff's command authority over the KB (Praljak's Sub-ground 37.2) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1825. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber failed to properly analyse evidence in finding that 

the KB fell within the HVO's military chain of command and reported to the Main Staff, thus 

erroneously attributing responsibility to him for crimes committed by them.6094 Specifically, Praljak 

asserts that in finding that Mladen Naletilic, "Tuta", was the KB commander,60,95 the Trial Chamber: 

(1) failed to consider that Ivan Andabak "[himself] recognized and affirmed that he was the order­

issuing authority in the KB,,;6096 and (2) "did not make any effort" to establish Andabak's functions 

within the KB, and, thus, could not have affirmed that Naletilic was the KB commander.6097 He also 

submits that Naletilic and Andabak were employees of the Department of Defence.6098 Praljak 

argues that: (1) Andabak stated that the KB was responsible exclusively to Boban;6099 (2) the Trial 

Chamber recognised testimony that the KB was under Boban's authority, but "should have given 

more persuasive reasons" on why it gave more weight to Boban's lack of orders to the KB;6100 and 

(3) problems with the KB were not reported to the Main Staff, but to Boban directly.6101 

1826. Praljak further 'submits that documents relied on by the Trial Chamber only show that the 

KB participated in some HVO military actions and not their integration into the HVO's military 

chain of command.6102 He also contends that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted an order he issued as 

there is no evidence that the referenced unit, "ATG TUTA" , was linked to ''Naletilic-Tuta,,.6103 

Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber made improper inferences from the fact that an ATG unit 

under the Main Staff's command was formed from KB members in December 1993 as this does not 

indicate the Main Staff's authority before this date or that the KB itself was ever under its 

command.6104 Finally, Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber's conclusions that members of the KB 

and the ATGs engaged in "criminal" conduct, had serious disciplinary problems, and were often in 

6094 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 371, 375-376. Praljak asserts that the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned 
oginion requires a de /laVa review of the evidence by the Appeals Chamber. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 376. 
6 95 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 817. 
6096 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Ex. 4D01356. 
6097 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 369; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 37. 
6098 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 370, referring to Ex. P00464. Praljak asserts that "all documents" written and signed 
by Naletilic and Andabak in their KB functions were on the department's letterhead and that the KB commanders 
addressed correspondence directly to the Department of Defence. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 370, referring to 
Exs . .P01701, P021l8, P02783, P03309, POl776. 
6099 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 370, referring to Ex. 4D01356. 
6100 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 370-371, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 825. 
6101 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 371, referring to Ex. P05226. 
6102 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 372, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829, fn. 1948. 
6103 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 373, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 826. Praljak argues that a reference in 
the order to the "ATG TUTA" did not concern "Tuta's ATG", and that the "ATG TUTA" is not listed as a unit 
belonging to the KB. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 373, referring to Exs. P04131, P07009. 
6104 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 374, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 827. 
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conflict with HVO units, indicate that the KB was not integrated into the "regular HVO forces",6105 

and that the Main Staff did not have complete control over all HVO units.6106 

1827. The Prosecution responds that Praljak repeats arguments that were rejected at trial and fails 

to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the KB and its ATGs were 

subordinated to Praljak and the Main Staff in the HVo chain of command.6107 

(ii) Analysis 

1828. In the section of the Trial Judgement addressing the structure of the armed forces, the Trial 

Chamber found that Mladen Naletilic, alias "Tuta", was the commander of the KB and its ATGs at 

least between 22 February 1993 and 2 December 1993.6108 The Trial Chamber also found that the 

KB and its ATGs, under the command of Naletilic, were "deployed in the OZs pursuant to the 

orders issued by the Main Staff and [ ... J were integrated into the overall chain of command and 

reported directly to the Main Staff,.6109 The Trial Chamber relied on: (1) an order dated 

12 August 1993 from Praljak in which he expressly ordered the Main Staff to exercise direct 

command over "Tuta's ATG,,;6110 (2) an order dated 23 December 1993, issued by Ante Roso, the 

then Chief of the Main Staff, in which an ATG unit was formed out of KB units and placed under 

the command of the Main Staff;6111 and (3) several orders and reports referring to deployments of 

the K13 and its ATGs in the South-East OZ, particularly in Mostar starting in July 1993 and 

continuing until at least January 1994, deployments which were carried out pursuant to orders of the 

Chief of the Main Staff.6112 In the section of the Trial Judgement addressing Praljak's powers 

specifically, the Trial Chamber recalled that, from at least 12 August 1993, he had direct command 

authority over the KB and the ATGs.6113 

1829. Regarding Praljak's challenges to the Trial Chamber's reliance on the evidence noted 

above,6114 the Appeals Chamber is first not convinced by his assertion that the Trial Chamber erred 

in considering that the "TUTA ATG" unit referenced in the 12 August 1993 order referred to the 

KB and its ATGs commanded by Naletilic, alias "Tuta".6115 This challenge is dismissed.6116 

6105 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 375, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 820. 
6106 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 37 .. 
6107 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 67. The Prosecution further submits that Praljak fails to explain how 
the Trial Chamber's inability to determine Andabak's precise functions in the KB rendered its findings on the Main 
Staff's command over the KB unreasonable. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 67. 
6108 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 817-818. 
6109 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
6110 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 826, referring to Ex. P04131. 
6111 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 827, referring to Exs. P07315, P07377.· 
6112 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 828, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03466, p. 2, P03128, P03260, P04499. 
6113 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 493. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 826. 
6114 See supra, paras 1826, 1828. 
6115 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 826, 829. 
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Similarly, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's assertion that the Trial Chamber erred 

in relying on Roso's order.6117 Rather, a reasonable trier of fact could have found that this order, in 

which the Chief of the HVO Main Staff re-assigned members of the KB, demonstrated that the 

Main Staff had authority over the KB at that time. Praljak merely offers his own interpretation of 

the evidence and thus fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have considered that this 

order issued by Roso, in combination with the other cited evidence,6118 supported a finding that the 

KB fell within the HVO's chain of command. Further, Praljak disputes the Trial Chamber's 

findings by asserting that the deployment orders, dated from July 1993 until at least January 1994, 

show only that the KB and its ATGs participated in HVO military actions. However, Praljak does 

not show that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that "these deployments were carried out pursuant 

to the orders of the Chief of the Main Staff of the HVO", and that once deployed, the units were 

placed under the OZ's commanding officer.6119 The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak merely 

seeks to offer his own interpretation of the evidence considered by the Trial Chamber without 

showing an error. Praljak's arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1830. With regard to Praljak's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that Naletilic was the KB 

commander,6120 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on multiple exhibits6121 

which were signed by, or on behalf of, Mladen Naletilic - Tuta, as the Commander of the Convicts 

Battalion and ATGs and dated between February 1993 and December 1993.6122 Praljak does not 

challenge the Trial Chamber's reliance on this evidence.6123 Further, contrary to Praljak's 

submission, the Trial Chamber did not ignore evidence that Andabak "[himself] recognized and 

affirmed that he was the order-issuing authority in the KB".6124 Rather, the Trial Chamber 

considered Exhibit 4D01356,6125 the news article cited by Praljak, in which Andabak is quoted as 

saying: "r signed orders and Tuta was [the] political and ideological figure in the Convict[s] 

Battalion. We all followed his visions".6126 Relying on, inter alia, this exhibit, the Trial Chamber 

6116 See supra, para. 25. 
6117 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 374, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 827. 
6118 See supra, para. 1828. 
6119 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 828. 
6120 See supra, para. 1825. 
6121 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 817 & fn. 1924. 
6122 Ex. P01531; Ex. P01701; Ex. P02U8; Ex. P02783; Ex. P03309; Ex. P05432; Ex. P06664; Ex. P07009. 
6123 The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak himself cites some of these exhibits which refer to Naletilic, or "Tuta", as 
the commander of the KB to support his other arguments made in this sub-ground of appeal. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
~aras 370, 373, referring to Exs. POI776, P07009. 

124 Contra Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 368, referring to Ex. 4D01356. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 817, 
fn.1925. 
6125 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1925. 
6126 Ex. 4D01356, p. 1. 
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recognised that Andabak also exercised command responsibilities within the KB.6127 In light of the 

evidence cited above, the Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak fails to show that 

Exhibit 4D01356 calls into question the Trial Chamber's finding that Naletilic served as the KB 

commander.6128 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Praljak's contention that the 

Trial Chamber's inability to precisely establish Andabak's functions in the KB undermines its 

findings.6129 Praljak's arguments are thus dismissed. 

1831.Conceming Praljak's submission that both Naletilic and Andabak were employees of the 

Department of Defence,6130 the Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber considered, and 

rejected, arguments and evidence that the KB was under the authority of the Department of 

Defence.6131 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber considered the majority of the 

evidence cited by Praljak,6132 including a certificate dated 10 September 1992 and signed by Stojic, 

indicating that Naletilic was an "employee" o( the Department of Defence.6133 Further, the Trial 

Chamber noted, from this cited evidence, that Naletilic corresponded with the Head of the 

Department of Defence on several occasions,6134 as well as from other evidence, that Stojic twice 

congratulated the KB on military operations,6135 before concluding that "there were structural and 

operational ties between Bruno Stojic and Mladen [Naletilic] and his ATGs".6136 However, the Trial 

Chamber also considered that it did not have "any order sent by the Head of the Department of 

Defence to Mladen Naletilic, to the KB or to its ATGs or any testimony to support a finding that the 

Department of Defence exercised cOlmnand authority over the KB and its ATGs under the 

command of Mladen Naletilic".6137 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that - to the extent that he 

argues that it was the Department of Defence, and not the Main Staff, that had command authority 

over the KB and its ATGs - Praljak fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

arrived at the Trial Chamber's conclusions in this regard. His argument is dismissed. 

6127 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 817, fn. 1925. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also considered 
additional evidence of witnesses who stated that Andabak was the commander of the KB, as well as an adjudicated fact 
that Mario Hrkac and Andabak were under the orders of Naletilic. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1925. 
6128 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 817. 
6129 Cj Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1892 ("the exercise of effective control by one commander does not 
necessarily exclude effective control being exercised by a different commander"). 
6130 See supra, para. 1825. 
6131 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 822, 830-835. 
6132 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 833-834, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00464, P02118, P02783, P01701, POl776. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that the other piece of evidence cited by Praljak, Exhibit P03309, only shows that "Mladen 
Naletilic, aka, Tuta" sent a request from the "Defence Deparlment". Ex. P03309, p. 1. 
6133 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 833, referring to Ex. P00464. 
6134 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 834, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P02118, P02783, P01701, POl776. 
6135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 834, referring to Exs. P03823, P05303. 
6136 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 835. The Appeals Chamber notes that there is a typographical error in the English 
translation of the Trial Judgement as the original French version refers to "Mladen NaletiliC" and not "Mladen StojiC". 
6137 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 835. 
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1832. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber also considered evidence that 

the KB was under the authority of Boban, not the Main Staff,6138 including the same evidence 

Praljak cites in support of his argument on this issue.6139 Notably, the Trial Chamber specifically 

'considered: (1) Exhibit 4D01356, in which Andabak is quoted as saying that he was responsible 

"[e]xc1usively to the Ministry of Defence of the Republic of Croatia, to Gojko [Susak] and to Mate 

Boban,,;6140 and (2) the evidence of several witnesses, including Petkovic.6141 The Trial Chamber 

found, however, that it had "no order in its possession sent by Mate Boban to the KB and its ATGs 

nor any other document from the HVO which could attest to Mate Boban's directing [of! the KB 

and its ATGs.,,6142 The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber is not required to set out in 

detail why it accepted or rejected a particular testimony, and an accused's right to a reasoned 

opinion does not ordinarily demand a detailed analysis of the credibility of particular witnesses.6143 

However, a trial chamber must provide reasons for accepting testimony despite alleged or material 

inconsistencies when it is the principal evidence relied upon to convict an accused.6144 Additionally, 

the Appeals Chamber recalls that if a trial chamber failed to refer to the evidence given by a 

witness, even if it is in contradiction to its finding, it is to be presumed that the trial chamber 

assessed and weighed that evidence, but found that it did not prevent it from making its findings.6145 

The Appeals Chamber is therefore satisfied that the Trial Chamber was not required to give "more 

persuasive reasons" as to why it did not rely on evidence suggesting that the KB was under the 

authority of Boban. 6146 Praljak' s argument is thus dismissed as he fails to show an error. 

1833. Regarding Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber's conclusions on the behaviour of 

members of the KB and the ATGs demonstrate the Main Staff's lack of control over the units,6147 

the Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to place these conclusions in their proper context. 

Notably, this submission 'ignores the Trial Chamber's: (1) consideration that Praljak and Zeljko 

Siljeg intervened and calmed a situation where "Tuta's men" led an assault on the Military Police 

building in Prozor in June 1993;6148 and (2) subsequent discussion on the placement of the KB and 

6138 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 825, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 4D01356, P05226. 
6139 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 370-371, referring to Exs. 4D01356, P05226; supra, para. 1825. 
6140 Ex. 4D01356. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1945, referring to Ex. 4D01356. 
6141 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1945. 
6142 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 825. 
6143 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133. 
6144 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 133; Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 129, 134, 252; Kuprefkic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 135,202. 
6145 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
6146 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131 (recalling that a trial chamber has broad discretion in assessing the 
aE?ropriate weight and credibility to be accorded to the evidence). 
6 4 See supra, para. 1826. 
6148 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 820. The Appeals Chamber notes that Zeljko Siljeg was the commander of the North­
West OZ at the relevant time. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 783, fn. 1839. 
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the ATGs within the military chain of command.6149 The Trial Chamber was therefore aware of the 

behavioural issues and lack of discipline within the KB and the A TGs, but nonetheless found that 

these units were integrated into the overall military chain of command and reported directly to the 

Main Staff.6150 The Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have so found as he only asserts his own conclusions. His argument is dismissed. 

1834. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that the KB was within the HVO's chain of command and 

under the command authority of the Main Staff. Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 37.2 is thus 

dismissed. 

(c) Conclusion 

1835. In sum, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 37. 

3. Alleged errors relating to Praljak's functions and authority CPraljak's Ground 38) 

(a) PraUak's de facto command before 24 July 1993 CPraUak's Sub-ground 38.12 

1836. The Trial Chamber concluded that Praljak had de facto command authOlity over the HVO 

and the Military Police from autumn 1992 to 24 July 1993 and that he exercised these powers.6151 In 

arriving at these conclusions, the Tlial Chamber found that Praljak directed the HVO by: (1) taking 

command over certain operations; (2) issuing orders to units and receiving reports from 

commanders in the field; (3) representing the HVO in the efforts to set up a joint command with the 

ABiH; and (4) commanding certain Military Police unitS.6152 It also found that Praljak played roles 

in mediating the tension between various HVO components and in drafting the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum.6153 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1837. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that he had de facto command 

authority over the HVO,6154 and over Military Police units, before 24 July 1993.6155 Praljak argues 

that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's observation, he did not acknowledge his de facto authority as 

6149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 822-829. 
6150 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
6151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 472, 476, 482, 624. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459 (The Trial Chamber 
observed that it had no evidence that Praljak held official functions in the HVO between mid-May 1992 and 
24 July 1993). 
6152 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 469-477. 
6153 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 475, 478-481. 
6154 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 378-390. 
6155 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 387, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 396-401. 
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he testified that he had some authority in providing assistance based on "his force of 

persuasion".6156 He asserts that he went to BiH before July 1993 for short periods of time, ,and that 

the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that he went there, with Alija IzetbegoviC's consent, to calm 

the situation in order to avoid conflict.6157 Praljak also argues that his command over HVO units in 

May 1992 is irrelevant as at that time the HVO was comprised of Muslims and Croats who fought 

together against JNA and VRS forces.6158 

1838. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted, and relied on, evidence which did 

not support its conclusion on his de facto command.6159 Specifically, he argues that the documents 

issued in October 1992 and February 1993 were not orders, were not issued by him, and though he 

co-signed them, he had no authority otherwise it would have been unnecessary for Stojic and 

Petkovic to sign and issue them.6160 Referring to an order issued in May 1993, Praljak submits that 

Petkovic did not order the subordination of an HVO unit in Ljubuski to him, but rather only ordered 

that the commander report to him. Praljak further submits that there is no evidence contradicting his 

testimony that he was briefly in the Prozor area in May 1993 and his explanation for his role in the 

reception of the Ljubuski unit.6161 Praljak also asserts that the report from Tihomir Blaskic was only 

copied to him as it was logical for him to be informed of its contents, and if he received the report it 

was from Stojic not Blaskic.6162 He further submits that there is no evidence that he had any 

command role in the Boksevica operation, as while he was nominated as a member of the operation 

command, he "was there only as [a] simple soldier".6163 

1839. Praljak also submits that the Trial Chamber's finding on his de facto command was 

erroneously based on: (1) the events in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993, as it "is impossible" to 

conclude his authority from these events;6164 and (2) his role as a mediator, as the Trial Chamber 

did not give any reasons on why this role is relevant to a finding on de facto command.6165 Praljak 

also argues that the orders he issued attempting to set up a joint command between the HVO and 

the ABiH were never executed and the joint command never became effective. He further argues 

6156 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 378, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 469, Slobodan Praljak, T. 43935, 
43938 (26 Aug 2009). Praljak also refers to his "moral authority". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 379. 
6157 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 379, referring to, inter alia, Slobodan Praljak, T. 41873-41874 (23 June 2009), 
T.43934-43935 (26 Aug 2009), Safet Idrizovic, T. 9602-9605, 9616-9618, 9627 (6 Nov 2006), T. 9630-9638 
(7 Nov 2006), T. 9833-9834 (8 Nov 2006). 
6158 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 380. See Praljak' s Reply Brief, para. 31. 
6159 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 379. 
6160 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 381, referring to Exs. 2D01335, 2D00195. Praljak asserts that Exhibit 2D01335 was an 
approval issued by Stojic to an ABiH unit, while Exhibit 2D00195 was a permission issued by Petkovic. Praljak's 
AEpeal Brief, para. 381. . 
61 1 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 382, referring to Ex. P02526, Slobodan Praljak, T. 43934-43939 (26 Aug 2009). 
6162 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 383, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01864. 
6163 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 385, referring to Ex. P03246, Slobodan Pra1jak, T. 40773 (26 May 2009). See 
Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 30. 
6164 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 384, referring to Praljak' s Appeal Brief, paras 462-468 (Praljak's Ground 42). 

769 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23126



that these orders do not prove his command authority but only show his attempt to stabilise the 

situation, to allow Muslims and Croats to continue working together, and to avoid conflict.6166 

1840. According to Praljak, the Trial Chamber's finding on his de facto command is contradicted 

by its findings on his role in the events before 24 July 1993.6167 Praljak asserts that the Trial 

Chamber erred in law as effective control is necessary in order to establish de facto command 

authority, and that the mere influence on persons is insufficient to prove either.6168 He also argues 

that the Trial Chamber's erroneous conclusion was based on isolated actions which were temporally 

and geographically limited, and were misinterpreted.6169 

1841. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's conClusion on Praljak's de facto 

command was reasonable and that the evidence established that he directed the HVO before 

24 July 1993.6170 The Prosecution submits that the Trial' Chamber noted and rejected Praljak's 

argument that he was a "'simple soldier' peddling 'advice' based only on 'moral' authority".6171It 

argues that Praljak's authority was grounded in his high-level positions, i.e. AssistantlDeputy 

Minister of Defence as an HV Brigadier and then as Major-General, as well as his privileged and 

continuous ties with Croatia's senior leadership.6172 The Prosecution also responds that the Trial 

Chamber did not find that Praljak had effective control over the HVO before his appointment as 

Commander of the Main Staff, and that - in any event - JCE contribution does not depend on 

effective control. 6173 

1842. The Prosecution further argues that Praljak seeks to reinterpret the evidence without 

showing an error.6174 Specifically, it submits that: (1) Praljak's orders issued jointly with other 

senior HVO leaders show that he worked closely with high-ranking HVO officials and, despite his 

unofficial status, "was recognised as wielding authority sufficient to sign important orders"; 

(2) whether the HVO was comprised of Muslims and Cro~ts in May 1992 is immaterial as Praljak 

demonstrated his authority by commanding HVO troops; (3) whether the joint command was ever 

6165 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 388. 
6166 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 386, referring to, inter alia, Slobodan Praljak, T. 40466-40475 (20 May 2009), 
T.40672-40676 (25 May 2009), T. 43289-43290 (17 Aug 2009), Exs. 3D00647, lD00507, 2D00628, 4D0041O, 
3D0351O, 3D005611P01739, 3D00289, P01622, P01738, lD02432, 3D02666, 3D02233. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 414-417 (22 Mar 2017). 
6167 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 389. 
6168 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 390, referring to CelebiCi Appeal Judgement, para. 197. 
6169 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 390. 
6170 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 51, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D00424, P03516, p. 4, Zdenko 
Andabak, T. 51011 (17 Mar 2010). See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 50. 
6171 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 51. The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber rejected 
Praljak's arguments that he did not have command authority and that his authority was limited to providing advice and 
assistance. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 53. 
6172 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 51. 
6173 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 54. 
6174 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 52. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 50. 
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realised does not affect the Trial Chamber's conclusions on Praljak's authority to give orders; 

(4) BlaskiC's report confirmed that Praljak's authority within the HVO was accepted, regardless of 

who transmitted it; (5) PetkoviC's May 1993 order concerning the deployment of the HVO unit in 

Ljubuski to Prozor and his nomination of Praljak to the operational command of the Boksevica 

operation both show that Petkovic accepted Praljak's authority over HVO forces; and (6) Praljak's 

role as a mediator confirmed his de facto authority as his interventions "were taken seriously". 6175 

1843. Praljak replies that his de facto command, as an important factor in his JCE contribution, 

should have been properly established which needed a determination on his effective contro1.6176 

(ii) Analysis 

1844. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt 

that Praljak had de facto command authority over the HVO and the Military Police from 

autumn 1992 to 24 July 1993, when he was appointed commander of the Main Staff.6177 Regarding 

his positions and official functions during this period, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak was the 

Assistant Minister of Defence and then Deputy Minister of Defence of. Croatia from approximately 

March 1992 to 15 June 1993, first at the rank of brigadier and then as major-general of the HV.6178 

With regard to his functions in the HVO, it found that Praljak was the commander of the South­

Eastern Herzegovina operations group between early April 1992 and mid-May 1992. The Trial 

Chamber observed that it had no evidence establishing that Praljak held official functions in the 

HVO between mid-May 1992 and 24 July 1993.6179 

1845. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to establish his effective 

control over the HVO before 24 July 1993. The Appeals Chamber recalls that "the ability to 

exercise 'effective control' over the perpetrators of the crime is not a requirement for establishing 

responsibility for commission through participation in a JCE".6180 Further, the Trial Chamber found 

that Praljak had de facto command authority but did not make any findings on his "effective 

control" for the time-period prior to 24 July 1993.6181 Although the Trial Chamber considered 

Praljak's de facto authority as a factor in assessing his contribution to the JCE,6182 the Appeals 

6175 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 52. 
6176 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 32. 
6177 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 459,482. 
6178 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 457. Praljak was Commander of the Main Staff from 24 July 1993 to 
9 November 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. 
6179 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. 
6180 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1368. See Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 227-228. See also Sainovic et al. 
AEpeal Judgement, para. 988. Cf Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1520. 
61 1 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 506 (finding that Praljak had command and 
control authority and "effective control" over the HVO between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993). 
6182 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 530,545,624. 
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Chamber is not convinced by Praljak's argument that a finding on "effective control" was essential 

to a determination of his de facto authodty. One factor the Trial Chamber considered in finding that 

Praljak significantly contdbuted to the JCE was his de facto command over the HVO and the 

Military Police as evidenced through him directing the HVO by, inter alia, taking command over 

certain operations and issuing orders to units and receiving reports from commanders in the 

fie1d.6183 Therefore, as the Trial Chamber found that Praljak's actions in this regard furthered the 

implementation of the CCP, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial 

Chamber erred in considering his de facto command authority as a factor in assessing his 

contribution to the JCE, absent an assessment of his "effective control".6184 Praljak's argument is 

dismissed. 

1846. Before discussing his command authodty prior to 24 July 1993, the Tdal Chamber noted, as 

a preliminary issue, that although Praljak "acknowledged his de facto authodty in BiH before being 

appointed commander of the Main Staff, he nevertheless stated that he did not have command 

authOlity but rather authodty and power limited to providing advice and assistance".6185 The Trial 

Chamber then considered that Praljak was present in BiH alongside the HVO for long pedods prior 

to 24 July 1993, and with this as background information it went on to address the evidence on his 

command authority.6186 Praljak argues that he did not acknowledge his de facto authodty, only that 

he had "a certain amount of authority when it [came] to assistance".6187 However, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that as the Trial Chamber's observation concerning Praljak's acknowledgement 

was not a basis for its finding on his de facto authOlity, Praljak fails to show how any alleged 

misinterpretation of his testimony on this point would affect the Trial Chamber's finding. Similarly, 

Praljak fails to explain how his contention that he went to,BiH prior to July 1993 with IzetbegoviC's 

consent and to calm the situation could affect the Trial Chamber's finding on his defacto authodty. 

Concerning the length of time he was present in BiH pdor to July 1993, Praljak only cites his 

testimony that he was present in Prozor for "a very short period" of time.6188 The Appeals Chamber 

is therefore not persuaded that the Trial Chamber erred in noting that Praljak was present in BiH 

6183 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. See supra, paras 1836, 1844; infra, paras 1846-1852. 
6184 See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1368 ("While not every position of authority necessarily leads to 
superior responsibility under Article 7(3) of the Statute, this does not preclude a trial chamber from considering the 
accused's authority over the direct perpetrators in finding him responsible pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute"). 
6185 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 469. 
6186 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 470-471. 
6187 Slobodan Praljak, T. 43935 (26 Aug 2009). See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 378, fn. 891. Praljak testified that he 
"had a certain amount of authority" and "had the force of persuasion, to a certain extent". Slobodan Praljak, T. 43938 
(26 Aug 2009). 
6188 Slobodan Praljak, T. 43934-43935 (26 Aug 2009). See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 379, fn. 893. 
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"for long periods", and was "regularly present in the South-East OZ and the Municipality of Prozor 

between October and December 1992".6189 Praljak's arguments are dismissed. 

1847. Praljak contests the Trial Chamber's reliance on and interpretation of the evidence as well 

as its conclusions underlying the finding on his de facto command. The Trial Chamber first 

observed that, in May 1992, Praljak commanded the HVO troops deployed on the front line with 

Serbian forces. 6190 Praljak argues that this is irrelevant,6191 but fails to explain how the fact that the 

HVO units were comprised of both Croats and Muslims could have affected the Trial Chamber's 

consideration of his command over these units as showing his authority. Second, the Trial Chamber 

noted that Praljak issued orders to: (1) HVO military units in October 1992 and February 1993 

authorising free movement of people in the zones controlled by the HVO;6192 and (2) HVO troops 

deployed in the field, and particularly concerning the conduct of the Gornji Vakuf operations in 

January 1993.6193 The Appeals Chamber notes that the "order" issued in October 1992 is labelled as 

an approval and signed by both Stojic and Praljak,6194 and the "order" issued in February 1993 is a 

permit for free travel and signed by both Petkovic and Praljak.6195 Regardless of whether these 

documents were orders, approvals, or pennits, the Appeals Chamber considers that their designation 

does not call into question their use by the Trial Chamber to show Praljak's involvement and 

influence. For the same reason, Praljak's argument that the fact that he co-signed these documents 

showed that he had no authority is unpersuasive. The Appeals Chamber also finds Praljak's 

contention that it "is impossible" to conclude from the Gornji Vakuf operations that he had de facto 

command to be unmeritorious as he only refers to another ground of appeal and fails to explain how 

the Trial Chamber erred in conside11ng the orders he issued in relation to these operations.6196 

Praljak's arguments are dismissed. 

1848. The Trial Chamber also considered that, on 26 May 1993, Petkovic ordered the deployment 

of brigade troops from Ljubuski to Prozor and their on-site subordination to Praljak.6197 The 

evidence in support of this conclusion is Exhibit P02526, which is PetkoviC's order stating that 

company-strength forces were to be sent to Prozor and that the company commander report to 

6189 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 470. 
6190 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472. 
6191 See supra, para. 1837. 
6192 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472, referring to Exs. 2D01335, 2D00195. 
6193 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472, referring to, inter alia, Exs. POll72, P01202, POl162, p. 3, POl 277. 
6194 Ex. 2D01335 (entitled: "Approval for undisturbed leave of soldiers to the Jajce position"). 
6195 Ex. 2D00195. 
6196 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472; Ex. P0l172 (order dated 16 January 1993 and issued by Praljak concerning 
the situation in Gornji Vakuf and for the supply of eight multiple grenade launchers); Ex. P01202 (order dated 
18 January 1993 and issued by Praljak concerning the situation in Gornji Vakuf and for the supply of five multiple 
grenade launchers); Ex. P01162, p. 3 (report dated 16 January 1993 noting that Praljak sent a message to enemy forces 
that "they will be annihilated if they do not accept the decisions of the HZ BH"); supra, para. 1839. 
6197 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472. 
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Praljak. The Appeals Chamber also notes Praljak's testimony that he was only briefly in Prozor, 

denying that PetkoviC's order suggested that he had command authority, and explaining that he was 

on good terms with the men from Ljubuski and they had to be persuaded to assist in prozOr.6198 

Based on the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber and Praljak, even if the Ljubuski unit was not 

subordinated to Praljak, the fact that the commander was ordered to report to him could reasonably 
, 

be considered as a factor showing that he had some authority or influence. Praljak only disputes this 

consideration by citing his own evidence at trial which the Trial Chamber took into account.6199 The 

Appeals Chamber thus finds that Praljak offers his own interpretation of the evidence without 

showing an error. Further, whether or not Praljak' s explanation - that he only had "a certain amount 

of authority when it [came] to assistance,,62oo as it concems the Ljubuski unit deployed to Prozor­

has merit, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's finding on his de facto command 

authority before 24 July 1993 was based on various pieces of evidence.6201 Thus, the Appeals 

Chamber is not satisfied that any possible error by the Trial Chamber conceming Praljak's authority 

over the Ljubuski unit deployed to Prozor is such that the Trial Chamber's overall finding is 

erroneous. 

1849. Praljak contests the Trial Chamber's consideration of a report dated 13 April 1993 from 

Blaskic by arguing that "[ w ]hile the document seems to be addressed to two persons, the end of the 

report indicates that it was actually addressed only to one person".6202 This report was addressed to 

both Praljak and Stojic,6203 but Praljak seeks to argue that because the last page of the report says: 

"To: 1 x addressee'',6204 he was only copied on the report. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded 

by this argument, and regardless, the Trial Chamber did not find that the report was addressed to 

Praljak but that he received it.6205 Similarly, his argument on how he. received the report is 

irrelevant to its assessment. Further, the Appeals Chamber observes that the report concemed a visit 

of HV officers to inspect the HVO troops in the Central Bosnia OZ, and noted, inter alia, that the 

officers did rounds and made an assessment of the situation in the brigade and the battalion 

commands based on their levels of combat readiness.6206 Praljak fails to show that the Trial 

Chamber erred in considering a report that he received, whether it was addressed or copied to him, 

6198 Slobodan Praljak, T. 43934-43935 (26 Aug 2009). Praljak testified that he "wa~ to assist with their reception, with 
explaining to them the reasons for their arrival there, why they had left their municipalities, with regard to assisting 
[S]iljeg, to incorporate them in the command structure. It was a matter of assistance". Slobodan Praljak, T. 43936 
(26 Aug 2009). See Slobodan Praljak, T. 43937-43939 (26 Aug 2009). 
6199 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 469, 472, fns 935, 943, refening to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 43933-43935 
(26 Aug 2009). ' 
6200 Slobodan Praljak, T. 43935 (26 Aug 2009). 
6201 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 472-481. 
6202 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 383. See supra, para. 1838; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 473. 
6203 Ex. P01864, p. 1. 
6204 Ex. P01864, p. 3. 
6205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 473. 
6206 Ex. P01864, pp. 1-2. 
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on the assessment of HVO troops and their combat readiness as an indicator of his command 

authority. His arguments are dismissed. 

1850. Praljak also disputes the Trial Chamber's observation that he, as Major-General, was part of 

the operational command of the Boksevica operation in the Prozor area in early July 1993.6207 The 

Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit P03246, which is an order issued by Petkovic concerning the 

Boksevica operation and lists Praljak as a member of the operational command.6208 The only 

evidence Praljak cites to support his argument that he was involved in the Boksevica operation "as 

[aJ simple soldier" is his own testimony.6209 Although not specific to the Boksevica operation, the 

Trial Chamber did consider Praljak's testimony that "he was a simple soldier at the time, without a 

specific rank, but that he had moral authority and power limited to providing advice and 

assistance".6210 Nevertheless, the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Praljak had de facto command 

authority can be supported by Exhibit P03246, which a reasonable trier of fact could interpret as 

showing that Praljak was deemed to have some authority or influence. The Appeals Chamber thus 

finds that Praljak fails to show an enor by the Trial Chamber in considering that he was part of the 

Boksevica operational command. 

1851. The Appeals Chamber also finds Praljak's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to 

explain the relevance of his role as a mediator to his de facto authority to be unconvincing.6211 It is 

apparent from the Trial Chamber's discussion on his role as a mediator, which involved calming the 

tension between the various components of the HVO, that his actions taken under this role 

demonstrated that he had sufficient influence and power to effect change.6212 Similarly, the Appeals 

Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's arguments concerning the Trial Chamber's regard of the 

joint command he attempted to set Up.6213 The Trial Chamber noted that Praljak had issued orders 

on behalf of the HVO aimed at setting up a joint command for the HVO and ABiH, and that his 

testimony was that he took over setting up this joint command because of the chaotic situation.6214 

The Appeals Chamber first considers that Praljak does not substantiate his contention that his orders 

"were never really executed" as he does not cite any evidence to this effect. Second, regardless of 

whether the joint command became effective or Praljak's intention behind setting it up, his 

6207 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472; supra, para. 1838. 
6208 Ex. P03246, p. 1. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472, referring to Ex. P03246, p. 1. 
6209 Slobodan Praljak, T. 40773 (26 May 2009) ("So I was just an ordinary soldier in a way, in the second half of 
June [1993]. And as an ordinary soldier, I went to Bok[s]evica"). The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's 
finding that Praljak was officially released from active military service in the BV on 15 June 1993. Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 1, para. 716. 
6210 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 478. 
6211 See supra, para. 1839. 
6212 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 478-482. 
6213 See supra, para. 1839. 
6214 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 474. 
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involvement can reasonably support a conclusion that he exercised some authority. Thus, Praljak 

has not shown that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered it as a factor. Praljak's arguments are 

dismissed. As Praljak has not identified any contradictions between the Trial Chamber's findings on 

his de facto command authority and his role in events,6215 and fails to show an error in the Trial 

Chamber's interpretation of his actions,6216 his remaining arguments are also dismissed. 

1852. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had de facto command authority over the HVO and 

the Military Police before 24 July 1993. Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 38.1 is therefore dismissed. 

(b) Praljak's command authority and "effective control" over the HVO as of 24 July 1993 

CPraljak's Sub-ground 38.2) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1853. Praljak submits· that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had command 

authority and effective control over all HVO components between 24 July 1993 and 

9 November 1993.6217 Praljak argues that his authority over HVO military operations did not mean 

that he had effective control over all the HVO components, particularly when they were not 

engaged in military operations.6218 He also argues that he could only have ensured the proper 

functioning of the chain of command and asserted his authority in the area where he was present.6219 

Praljak contends that the fact that a unit operated within a framework established by the Main Staff, 

by itself, did not prove that he had effective control over that unit.622o Praljak submits that the HVO 

did not have a single chain of command,6221 or a properly functioning one.6222 He asserts that the 

Main Staff orders were not implemented;6223 municipal authorities interfered with milit'ary 

orders;6224 and some units and individuals acted independently.6225 

6215 See supra, para. 1840. 
6216 See supra, para. 1840. 
6217 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 391. 
6218 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 392. 
6219 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 393. 
6220 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 395, referring to Hadzihasanovic alld Kubura Appeal Judgement, para. 209. Praljak 
seems to argue that de jure authority per se is insufficient to prove effective control. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 395. 
6221 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 41220-41221 (4 June 2009), Exs. P05772, p. 4, 
~ara. 8, 3D00793. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 33. 

222 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394. 
6223 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring to Exs. P03706, P04640, P06269, 3D01098. 
6224 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring to Ex. P06454, pp. 51, 67. 
6225 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring to Exs. P04594, pp. 4-5, 3D01169, 3D0l178.Praljak also argues that 
some units, namely the KB, were not integrated into the chain of command. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring 
to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 370-376. 
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1854. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was reasonable in its conclusions and 

refers to its various findings.6226 The Prosecution argues that, contrary' to Praljak's submission 

regarding the HVO not engaged in military operations, the Main Staff's command and control 

authority over the OZs and brigades extended beyond their field operations.6227 It also argues that 

Praljak's orders demonstrated his broad authority, including his contrpl regarding discipline.6228 

Concerning Praljak's arguments on the chain of command, the Prosecution contends that he seeks 

to re-litigate arguments made at trial, and cites evidence the Trial Chamber considered, without 

showing that the Trial Chamber's overall conclusions were unreasonable.6229 The Prosecution also 

contends that, irrespective of his location, Praljak issued orders directly to the OZs and brigades.623o 

(ii) Analysis 

1855. The Trial Chamber found that, as Commander of the Main Staff, Praljak "had command and 

control authority and effective control over all the components of the HVO armed forces between 

24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993".6231 The Trial Chamber arrived at this conclusion after 

discussing various aspects of Praljak's authority, including his management of discipline within the 

HVO, his direct command over military operations, and the orders he issued.6232 Specifically, the 

Trial Chamber found that Praljak had "de jure and de facto broad authority over the administration 

and control of the HVO armed forces, in particular authority over the general organisation of the 

armed forces, control and discipline of the HVO armed forces, coinmunication within the HVO 

anned forces [ ... J and the training of HVO soldiers".6233 Besides his direct command over military 

operations, it also considered that Praljak ordered that the HVO units be deployed in the field and 

prepared for combat, and ordered the cessation of hostilities as well as the passage of international 
.. d h .. 6234 orgamsatlOns an umamtanan convoys. 

6226 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 56, The Prosecution refers to the Trial Chamber's findings on the 
Main Staff's central mission to command the armed forces and conduct military operations, the Main Staff's direct 
authority over the four OZs, Praljak's command authority over Military Police platoons within the HVO brigades, and 
Praljak's broad authority over administration and control of the HVO. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 56. 
6227 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 57. The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber considered 
Praljak's similar arguments at trial and reasonably concluded otherwise. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
~ara. 57. 

228 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 57. 
6229 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 58. 
6230 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 59. The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber's finding on 
Praljak's effective control and presence in the field is consistent. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 59. 
6231 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 506. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 459, 483-484, 624-625. Notably, the HVO 
armed forces included the Military Police; however, Praljak's arguments on his "effective control" over the Military 
Police as of 24 July 1993 will be addressed below in his sub-ground of appeal 38.3. 
6232 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 495-505. 
6233 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 495. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 496, 503, 506. 
6234 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 503. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 504-505. 
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1856. Referring to the Trial Chamber's recollection that the pri,mary mission of the Main Staff was 

to command the armed forces and direct military operations,6235 Praljak argues that his authority to 

command military operations does not equate to "effective control".6236 The Appeals Chamber ~nds 

that Praljak ignores that his authority to direct military operations was not the sole basis of the Trial 

Chamber's conclusion on his command authority and "effective control".6237 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds that Praljak fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's consideration of his 

authority to command HVO military operations as one factor indicating his "effective control". For 

the same reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds Praljak's argument on his "effective control" over a 

specific unit because that unit operated within the Main Staff's framework, to be unpersuasive.6238 

Praljak's arguments are thus dismissed. 

1857. In arriving at its conclusion on Praljak's authority, the Trial Chamber considered that 

"Praljak was very present in the field to ensure the proper functioning of the chain of command and 

to assert his authority".6239 Praljak, though, argues that he could have only done so in the area he 

was located and the fact that he had to go into the field to assert his authority confirms his lack of 

"effective control". However, Praljak does not support his contention that his authority was limited 

to the area he was located. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers the various occasions 

where the Trial Chamber noted evidence of orders issued by Praljak to all four OZS.6240 Further, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did take into account the fact that there were 

instances where Praljak's orders were not followed and that there were co-ordination problems but 

it concluded that these operational difficulties did not affect the proper functioning of the military 

chain of command.6241 Thus, Praljak fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erroneously 

considered his presence in the field as an indicator of his "effective control". 

1858. Regarding Praljak's submission that the HVO did not have a single chain of command 

during his tenure as Commander of the Main Staff, the Appeals Chamber takes into account the 

evidence he cites.6242 Praljak refers to: (1) his own testimony that "there wasn't only my line of 

6235 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 483. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 747. 
6236 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 392. 
6237 See supra, para. 1855. 
6238 See supra, para. 1853. The Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak's reliance on the Hadiihasanovic and Kubura 
Appeal Judgement does not assist as, in that case, the Appeals Chamber found that the fact that a detachment took part 
in combat operations within a specific framework did not necessarily prove effective control but went on to note that 
the detachment maintained a significant degree of independence on various issues. Hadiihasanovic and Kubura Appeal 
Judgement, para. 209. The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak does not argue clearly, in this ground of appeal, that a 
specific component of the HVO operated with a significant degree of independence. See infra, para. 1860 (discussing 
Praljak's general argument that some units acted independently). 
6239 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 489. 
6240 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 718-720 (considering Praljak's statements on the geographic division of tasks, and 
finding that he issued orders to the four OZs and to the brigades), 747, 750-751, Vol. 4, paras 486, 488, 496. 
6241 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 489. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 790-796. 
6242 See supra, para. 1853 & fn. 6221. 
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command" and that commanders "wouldn't respect the line,,;6243 (2) a report from Zeljko Siljeg 

dated 9 October 1993, which notes that "[o]rders to brigades have been forwarded [from] the HVO 

Main Staff on a number of occasions without previously informing the command of the Operations 

zone",6244 and that "everyone seems to have their own lindependent! chain of command,,;6245 and 

(3) conclusions resulting from a meeting on 7 November 1993 between the "ZGS HVO" and 

Military District commanders and brigades which included the conclusion to "[e]stablish one and 

only command line".6246 The Appeals Chamber considers that these pieces of evidence point to one 

chain of command but that this chain may not have always been respected. 

1859. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber did not explicitly refer 

to the evidence Praljak now cites in its discussion on the HVO's chain of command, it considered 

evidence that: (1) the Main Staff occasionally gave direct orders to brigades, regiments or 

battalions, without going through every echelon in the chain of command;6247 and (2) there was no 

effective chain of command within the HVO between 1992 and early 1994,6248 but still concluded 

that, in view of all the evidence, the operational problems were not such as to upset the proper 

functioning of the chain of command between the Main Staff, the OZs, the brigades, and the lower 

echelons.6249 The Trial Chamber was therefore aware of the difficulties that existed along this chain 

of command. Regardless of whether there were multiple chains of command, Praljak does not 

contest his authority and command within the classic chain of command which proceeded from the 

Main Staff.625o In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "the exercise of effective control by 

one cOlmnander does not necessarily exclude effective control being exercised by a different 

commander".6251 Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

1860. Praljak also argues that the HVO di? not have a properly functioning chain of command. 

While the evidence cited by Praljak does indicate that orders from Main Staff were not always 

implemented,6252 the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did consider that some 

orders issued by Praljak were not implemented but recalls that it nonetheless concluded that there 

was a properly functioning chain of command between the Main Staff, the OZs, the brigades and 

6243 Slobodan Praljak, T. 41220 (4 June 2009). See Slobodan Praljak, T. 41221 (4 June 2009). See supra, fn. 6221. 
6244 Ex. P05772, p. 4, para. 6. See supra, fn. 6221. 
6245 Ex. P05772, p. 4, para. 8. See supra, fn. 6221. 
6246 Ex. 3D00793, p. 1. See supra, fn. 6221. The Appeals Chamber notes that the BCS version of Exhibit 3D00793 
indicates that "ZGS HVO" means the commander of the HVO Main Staff. 
6247 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 793, Vol. 4, para. 488. 
6248 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 790. 
6249 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 791, 796, Vol. 4, para. 489. 
6250 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 791, Vol. 4, para. 488. 
6251 Popovic et aT. Appeal Judgement, para. 1892 (considering that two parallel chains of command existed, see Popovic 
et aT. Appeal Judgement, paras 1890-1891). 
6252 See Ex. P03706; Ex. P04640; Ex. P06269; Ex. 3D01098. See also supra, fn. 6223. 
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the lower echelons.6253 Further, the only evidence Praljak cites in support of his contention that 

municipal authorities interfered with military orders, by itself, is insufficient to call into question 

the Trial Chamber's conclusions on the chain of command.6254 Praljak also argues generally that 

some units and individuals acted independently, however, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded 

that the evidence he cites6255 shows that these units operated with a significant degree of 

independence such that it would render erroneous the Trial Chamber's conclusions that there was a 

properly functioning chain of command, and that Praljak exercised "effective control" over the 

HVO. Thus, Praljak's arguments on the proper functioning of the HVO chain of command are 

dismissed. 

1861. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had command and control authority and "effective 

control" over all the components of the HVO between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993. 

Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 38.2 is therefore dismissed. 

(c) Praljak's command authority and "effective control" over the Military Police as of 

24 July 1993 CPraljak's Sub-ground 38.3) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

1862. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had command 

authority over the Military Police units embedded in the HVO brigades.6256 Praljak argues that, due 

to the chaotic situation and the HVO's lack of organisation, his command authority over the HVO 

and the Military Police was not secured.6257 He submits that the Military Police had a dual chain of 

command with the Military Police Administration having general and supreme control,6258 and that 

even during combat activities the Military Police reported to the Chief of the Military Police 

Administration.6259 Praljak argues that this dual chain of command undermined his authority.626o He 

also contends that commanders of subordinated units had to secure functional links between the 

6253 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 796, Vol. 4, para. 489, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03706. See supra, para. 1858. 
6254 See Ex. P06454, pp. 51, 67. See also supra, fn. 6224. 
6255 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394, referring to Exs. P04594, pp. 4-5 (noting that the ATGs and other 
independent units caused great disorder), 3DOl169 (report by Zarko Tole denying involvement in the attack on Mostar), 
3D0l178 (a request from Praljak on the whereabouts of members of a professional battalion within the Petar 
Kresimir IV Brigade). The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered evidence that members of the KB 
and ATGs engaged in criminal conduct, had serious disciplinary problems, and were often in conflict with the HVO, 
but still concluded that they were integrated into the overall chain of command and reported directly to the Main Staff. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 820, 829. The Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's arguments on the KB elsewhere. 
See supra, paras 1828-1834 (Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 37.2). 
6256 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 396, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 490. 
6257 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 396, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 394. 
6258 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 397,399, referring Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 363. 
6259 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 397, referring to Exs. P03950, P05497, P05731, P03762, P03934, 5D04394. 
6260 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 34. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 35. 
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Military Police and its administration, with the latter being informed of all significant events. 

Praljak further argues that the Military Police was not automatically subordinated to him as such 

subordination had to be requested from the Military Police Administration.6261 Praljak submits that 

he could not independently take any decision regarding the Military Police, issue orders directly to 

its units, or sanction its members.6262 Citing the principle in dubio pro reo, Praljak argues that, as 

the Military Police's chain of command was "fuzzy",6263 the Trial Chamber could not have 

concluded that he exercised effective control over the Military Police.6264 

1863. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Praljak had 

command authority over the Military Police re-subordinated to the HVO,6265 and that Praljak's 

authority was not undermined by the Military Police's dual chain of command.6266 The Prosecution 

argues that the evidence Praljak cites - to suggest that he could not take decisions regarding the 

Military Police or issue orders - confirms his authority.6267 

1864. Praljak replies that, as the Main Staff did not have control over all HVO units,6268 the Trial 

Chamber should have established, for each incident, his effective control over the units involved in 

criminal activities.6269 

. (ii) Analysis 

1865. The Appeals Chamber recalls that Praljak was found to have had command authority and 

"effective control" over the HVO, including the Military Police, between 24 July 1993 and 

9 November 1993.6270 Specifically, the Trial Chamber found that "inasmuch as the HVO brigades 

were subordinated to the Commander of the Main Staff via the OZs, Slobodan Praljak as 

commander of the Main Staff likewise had command authority over the Military Police platoons 

embedded in those brigades".6271 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber also recalls that the Trial 

6261 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 398, referring to Exs. P03778, P03762. 
6262 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 399-400, referring to Exs. P05376, P03829, 3D01202, 3D01192. Praljak argues that 
the fact that he issued orders to the Military Police does not mean per se that he had effective control over it. Praljak's 
ReflY Brief, para. 35. 
626 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 401. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974. 
6264 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 401. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 34. 
6265 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 60. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 63, referring to 
Ex. P04125. 
6266 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 61. 
6267 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 62. The Prosecution also points to other evidence it argues confirms 
Praljak's authority over the Military Police. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 62, referring to Exs. P05188, 
f:aras 3-4, P05104, para. 7. 

268 Praljak refers to his challenges concerning the KB and the ATGs. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 37, referring to 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 368-369, 375. 
6269 Praljak's Reply Brief, paras 34, 37. 
6270 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 506. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 459, 483-484, 624-625; supra, para. 1855, 
fn.6231. 
6271 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 490. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. 
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Chamber found that the Military Police units had a dual chain of command - they were 

subordinated to the commanding officer of the OZ in which they were active or the brigade 

commanders in carrying out their "daily duties", and to the Military Police Administration in other 

areas, such as discipline or training.6272 The Trial Chamber further concluded that "the division of 

responsibilities under the Military Police Administration, on the one hand, and the OZ commanders, 

on the other, was not quite so clear cut in the field".6273 

1866. Praljak first argues that his command authority over the Military Police was not secured, but 

relies only on his submission - that the HVO did not have a properly functioning chain of 

command - made in his sub-ground of appeal 38.2.6274 Having considered and dismissed his prior 

submission,6275 the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that his authority was "not 

secured" over the Military Police. Regarding Praljak's argument that his "effective control" over 

the HVO units involved in each criminal incident should have been established, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that this submission was raised for the first time in his reply and is not a counter­

argument to any response from the Prosecution. Thus, as the Prosecution did not have the 

opportunity to address this submission, the Appeals Chamber will not consider it further. 6276 His 

arguments are dismissed. 

1867. Praljak also argues that the Military Police's dual chain of command undermined his 

authority. The Appeals Chamber first considers that, as far as Praljak's argument concems the 

existence of the dual chain of command, the Military Police units reporting to Corie, and the 

maintenance of links between the Military Police units and the Military Police Administration, 

these factors were considered by the Trial Chamber in its discussion on the distribution of the 

command and control authority over the Military Police.6277 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that Praljak's submission that the Military Police Administration had "general and supreme 

control" over the Military Police is only supported by a cross-reference to sub-ground 37.1 of his 

6272 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945, 949-950, 952, 959, 961, 971, 973. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 946-948, 
953,962-966,974; supra, paras 1812, 1817-1823. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber 
concluded that when a Military Police unit travelled outside its area of responsibility, it was required to place itself 
under the authority of the unit responsible for that area in connection with its "daily duties", namely the commander of 
the OZ or brigade in question. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 949. 
6273 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. 
6274 See supra, paras 1853, 1862. 
6275 See supra, para. 1860. See also supra, para. 1858. 
6276 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 314; Martie Appeal Judgement, para. 229; Mugenzi and Mugiraneza 
Af?eal Judgement, fn. 273. 
62 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 953, 959-964 (command and control authority of the Chief of the Military Police 
Administration over the Military Police), 971, 974 (dual chain of command). The Appeals Chamber also notes that 
some of the evidence Praljak cites was considered by the Trial Chamber in its analysis of the Military Police's 
command structure. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 939 (Exs. P03762, P03778), 950 (Ex. 5D04394), 962 (Ex. P03762), 
968-969 (Ex. P03778), 971 (Ex. P03762), 974 (Ex. 5D04394), Vol. 4, paras 490 (Exs. P03934, 5D04394), 492 
(Ex. P03778). 
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appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.6278 Nonetheless, whether the Military 

Police Administration exercised command and control authority over the Military Police and had to 

be informed of significant events does not, by itself, demonstrate that Praljak's authority as 

Commander of the Main Staff was undermined. Relevantly, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial 

Chamber's finding that "the Main Staff did have final authority over the Military Police battalions 

as they carried out their 'daily duties",.6279 The Trial Chamber also concluded that the evidence it 

cited to show that the Military Police units were subordinated to the HVO brigade commander in 

calTying out their "daily duties" did not prevent it from noting evidence on the Military Police 

Administration's command and control authority over these units in several areas.6280 The Appeals 

Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that his command authority over the Military Police was 

undermined by its dual chain of command.6281 Thus, his argument is dismissed. 

1868. Further, Praljak disputes his "effective control" by relying on the Trial Chamber's 

observation that "the units of the Military Police operated under the authority of a fuzzy chain of 

command and carried out assignments for which they were not originally designed". 6282 The 

Appeals Chamber, though, finds that this observation by the Trial Chamber must be considered in 

the context of its prior discussion on the Military Police's chain of command. Notably, the Trial 

Chamber found that: (1) the Military Police units answered to a dual chain of command;6283 (2) "the 

division of responsibilities under the Military Police Administration, on the one hand, and the OZ 

commanders, on the other, was not quite so clear cut in the field,,;6284 and (3) the dual chain of 

command led to confusion among the Military Police unit commanders but two reforms were 

introduced in July and December 1993 to clarify this chain of command.6285 The Appeals Chamber 

considers that by referring to a "fuzzy chain of command", the Trial Chamber only sought to 

highlight the confusion between the responsibilities falling under each chain of command. This 

confusion in responsibilities does not affect the existence of these chains of command or the de jure 

authority held by Praljak along the HVO chain of command. Considering that the Trial Chamber 

determined Praljak's de jure authority and detailed his de facto command over the HVO and the 

Military Police, the Appeals Chamber finds that any confusion in the field does not necessarily 

6278 See supra, paras 1814, 1820. 
6279 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 952. See also supra, para. 1812, fn. 6082. 
6280 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 952. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 961. 
6281 See Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1892 (discussing whether Vinko Pandurevic's command authority over 
a brigade was negated by others when two parallel chains of command existed, see Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, 
paras 1890-1891). See Nizeyil11ana Appeal Judgement, para. 201. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Praljak's 
argument that his issuance of orders to'the Military Police does not mean per se that he had "effective control", as it is 
clear from the Trial Chamber's findings that this was not the only basis for its finding on his command authority and 
"effective control". See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 506, 624. 
6282 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974. 
6283 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945,949-950,952,959,961,971,973. 
6284 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 971. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, par~s 959-960. 
6285 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974. 
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undermine Praljak's "effective control". Further, Praljak does not refer to any supporting evidence 

or Trial Chamber findings, which could indicate that uncertainty regarding his authority over the 

Military Police existed or that any of his orders were not implemented due to this uncertainty. Thus, 

Praljak fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact, even considering the Military Police's "fuzzy 

chain of command", could have concluded that he exercised "effective control" over the Military 

Police. His submission is dismissed. 

1869. As it concerns Praljak's arguments that the Military Police were not automatically 

subordinated to him, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did set out the procedure 

for the re-subordimition of the Military Police units. This procedure ended with the Military Police 

Administration issuing the re-subordination order.6286 In any event, the Appeals Chamber considers 

that Praljak does not explain how the procedure for the re-subordination of the Military Police units 

would affect the Trial Chamber's finding that he had command authority over these units once they 

were embedded in the HVO brigades.6287 Praljak also contends that he could not independently take 

any decision regarding, or issue orders directly to, the Military Police. However, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber took into account various orders issued by Praljak 

concerning the Military Police,6288 noted that whenever the situation on the ground was too 

"serious" Praljak could directly re-subordinate Military Police units,6289 and concluded that "[i]t 

even appears that the Chief of the Main Staff occasionally issued direct orders to [the Military 

Police] platoons".629o The evidence cited by Praljak does not call into question the Trial Chamber's 

findings as, at best, some of the exhibits only show that at times Praljak's orders concerning the 

Military Police were relayed through CoriC.6291 Notably, the Trial Chamber did consider some of 

this evidence in concluding that the Main Staff did have final authority over the Military Police as 

they carried out their "daily duties",6292 and that Praljak sometimes issued orders directly to Military 

6286 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 966. The Trial Chamber also found that this procedure did not "appear to have been 
applicable in cases where the situation on the ground was too 'serious"', and gave examples such as an order from 
Praljak for the mobilisation of all resources in certain areas, including the Military Police, who were to be placed under 
the command of the South-East OZ commander. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 967, referring to Ex. P04125. 
6287 See supra, para. 1865. 
6288 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 950,961,963,967, fns 2355, 2407, Vol. 4, paras 476,490-491. 
6289 Trial Judgement,Vol. 1, para. 967, Vol. 4, para. 491. See supra, fn. 6286. 
6290 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950, referring to Ex. 5D04394. The Trial Chamber similarly considered that the 
evidence showed that Petko vie sometimes issued orders directly to Military Police platoons. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 490. However, the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber shows that the orders in question came from Praljak and 
not Petkovie, and the examples given by the Trial Chamber are orders issued by Praljak. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 490, referring to Exs. 5D04394, P03934, P05376, Slobodan Praljak, T. 43991, 43997 (27 Aug 2009). Thus, the 
A~peals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's reference to Petkovie was a typographical error. 
62 1 See Exs. P05376 (instructions dated 25 September 1993 from Corie to the commander of the 6th Battalion of the 
Military Police to carry out military and police tasks and stating that,. by the order of Praljak, certain criteria was to be 
observed), P03829 (order dated 30 July 1993 from Praljak to Corie demanding information on the Military Police 
members who had, inter alia, detained and beaten humanitarian aid drivers), 3D01202 (order dated 21 August 1993 
from Praljak to the OZs stating that military policemen should implement the order), 3D01192 (request from Praljak to 
Stojie and Corie for disciplinary measures to be imposed on a commander of a Military Police unit). 
6292 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 950, fn. 2355, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03829. 

784 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23111



Police platoons.6293 Considering the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show 

that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he could issue orders directly to, or take action 

concerning, the Military Police units embedded in the HVO brigades. 

1870. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to demonstrate 

that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had command authoqty and "effective control" 

over the Military Police. Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 38.3 is therefore dismissed. 

(d) Conclusion 

1871. In sum, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's ground of appeal 38. 

4. Alleged errors relating to Praljak's significant contribution to the JCE (Praljak's Ground 40) 

1872. As recalled above,6294 the Trial Chamber found that Praljak contributed to the JCE from 

January 1993 to 9 November 1993,6295 and that his contribution was significant.6296 It concluded 

that Praljak was one of the most important JCE members as he controlled the HVO and the Military 

Police, and served as a link between Croatia and the HZ(R) H_B.6297 The Trial Chamber also found 

that Praljak used the HVO, including the Military Police, to commit crimes that fOlmed part of the 

CCP.6298 It made several findings concerning Praljak's contributions including, inter alia, that: 

('1) he made decisions regarding the HVO military operations and had them carried out through the 

chain of command;6299 (2) he was "a conduit between Croatia and the HVO government [and ... J 

participated in forwarding instructions and policies from Croatia to the HZ(R) H-B and vice-versa, 

and facilitated obtaining military and logistical support from Croatia to the HVO,,;6300 (3) he 

participated in the planning of several HVO military operations, namely operations in Prozor and 

Mostar in the summer of 1993 and in Vares in October 1993;6301 and (4) despite his authority he 

made no serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from committing crimes.6302 

6293 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 490, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05376. See supra, fn. 6290. 
6294 See supra, para. 1808. 
6295 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1228, 1230. 
6296 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6297 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6298 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6299 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 624. 
6300 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 624. 
6301 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6302 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
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(a) Whether Praljak's ICE contribution was properly established CPraljak's Sub-ground 40.1 m 

part) 

1873. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber failed to clearly and unambiguously establish his 

contribution to the ICE.6303 He contends that the Trial Chamber was required to define specifically 

which of his acts it considered to be a significant contribution.6304 In particular, Praljak asserts that 

the Trial Chamber satisfied itself by stating that he used the HVO and the Military Police to commit 

crimes. Praljak argues that this finding is too vague to challenge as the Trial Chamber referred to no 

evidence and did not specify the period, geographical scope, or the crimes to which the finding 

relates.6305 He further contends that this finding is in contradiction to other Trial Chamber findings 

on his role as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B and his role in the crimes.6306 

1874. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's explicit findings show that it clearly 

determined Praljak's contributions in a manner well-grounded in evidence.6307 It avers that Praljak 

ignores the Trial Chamber's analysis,6308 and fails to explain his assertion on contradictory 

findings. 6309 

1875. The Appeals Chamber notes that in concluding that Praljak's contribution to the 

implementation of the CCP was significant,6310 the Trial Chamber provided an extensive analysis 

on his various powers, authority, and control over the HVO and the Military Police,6311 before 

discussing his responsibility under ICE I with regard to the crimes committed in specific 

municipalities, and detention centres, his denial of crimes committed and failure to prevent or 

punish crimes as well as his role as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H_B.6312 Specifically, 

in its concluding paragraphs on' his ICE ~ responsibility, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak: 

(1) controlled the HVO and the Military Police;6313 (2) used the HVO and the Military Police to 

commit crimes that formed part of the CCP and that their actions were attributable to him;6314 and 

(3) served as a link between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B, forwarding instructions and policies from 

Croatia to the HZ(R) H-B and vice-versa, and facilitating military and logistical support from 

6303 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 419, 424. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 421-422, 
6304 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 422. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para, 423, 
6305 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 419, 423; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 42. 
6306 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 420. 
6307 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para, 69. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 68, See also 
AEpeal Hearing, AT. 430-438 (22 Mar 2017), 
638 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 68-69, See also Appeal Hearing, AT, 429-431 (22 Mar 2017), The 
Prosecution also submits that Praljak's claim that he is required to speCUlate is untenable, Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Praljak), para. 69. 
6309 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para, 70. 
6310 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 628. 
6311 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 457-511. 
6312 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 512-623. 
6313 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624,628. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 472-506, 
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Croatia to the HVO.6315 Notably, the Trial Chamber also found that Praljak participated in planning 

HVO military operations in the Prozor, Mostar, and Vares Municipalities,6316 and that he made no 

serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police from committing crimes.6317 Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber concludes that the Trial Chamber clearly expressed which of Praljak's conduct it 

considered amounted to a significant contribution. Praljak fails to show that these findings were 

unclear or ambiguous. His argument is dismissed. 

1876. Regarding the Trial Chamber's finding that Praljak used the HVO and Military Police to 

commit crimes, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has dismissed most of Praljak's challenges -

under other grounds of appeal - to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his control and 

authority over the HVO and the Military Police who committed crimes pursuant to the CCP,6318 and 

his knowledge of their crimes.6319 More specifically, the Trial Chamber clearly found that: 

(1) Praljak planned and directed military operations during which the HVO and the Military Police 

had committed lCE crimes;6320 (2) "the machinery, structures and members of the HVO were used 

to implement the various aspects of the common criminal purpose,,;6321 and (3) in carrying out his 

de jure and de facto powers, Praljak used the members and structures of the HVO to commit the 

crimes that were part of the CCP.6322 Consideling the Trial Chamber's discussion and findings on 

the climes committed pursuant to the ICE, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's 

argument that the finding that "he used the HVO and Military Police" is "too vague".6323 The 

Appeals Chamber further finds Praljak's assertion on contradictory findings to be unsupported as he 

does not specify any finding which belies the Trial Chamber's conclusion, much less identify a 

contradiction. Moreover, Praljak fails to show that "the Trial Chamber satisfied itself by stating that 

he used the HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes" as the finding that he significantly 

contlibuted to the ICE was based on several factors.6324 Praljak's arguments are dismissed, and thus 

his sub-ground of appeal 40.1 is dismissed in part. 

6314 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624, 628. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220, 1228, 1230, 1232. 
6315 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624, 628. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 515-545. 
6316 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 563-598, 624. 
6317 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 617-623,626. 
6318 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 469-511. See supra, paras 1824, 1834, 1852, 1861, 1870. 
6319 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 625, 628. See infra, paras 1928-1929, 1933, 1954-1956, 1963-1967, 1970,2008-
2026,2042-2047,2050-2052,2059-2062,2072-2082. 
6320 See supra, paras 1808, 1875. 
6321 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
6322 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
6323 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 419. 
6324 See supra, paras 1808, 1875. 
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(b) Whether Praljak's involvement in military operations amounted to a significant contribution 

and furthered the JCE CPraljak's Sub-grounds 40.2, 40.3, and 40.7) 

1877. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber erred in deducing from his involvement in military 

operations that he contributed to specific crimes.6325 Praljak contends that his participation in the 

military operations in Gornji Vakuf and Prozor is insufficient to conclude that his conduct was 

aimed at furthering the CCP.6326 Specifically, he argues that his activities in Gornji Vakuf were 

aimed at calming down the situation and that the Trial Chamber failed to explain how these 

activities related to crimes.6327 Regarding Prozor, Praljak asserts that he was the Commander of the 

Main Staff, thus "it [was] natural and logical that he was involved in the HVO military 

operations".6328 Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber: (1) satisfied itself with his functions in 

order to convict him without having established that his acts concerning Mostar constituted a 

significant contribution;6329 and (2) made unclear and contradictory findings on his involvement in 

th V
· v • 6330 

e ares operatIOns. 

1878. Praljak further contends that "[t]here is no doubt that [he] participated in planning/directing 

of many military actions,,6331 between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993 as this was in fulfilment 

of his functions.6332 He asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in considering his positive acts aimed at 

preventing crimes as a contribution to the crimes.6333 Praljak further argues that the Trial Chamber 

failed to detennine any link between his acts and the CCP and thus did not establish that he acted in 

furtherance of the JCE.6334 He asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered that the 

contribution to individual crimes also constituted the contribution to the CCP.6335 

1879. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was not required to find that Praljak made 

a contribution to each criminal act forming part of the JCE. It also responds that the Trial Chamber 

correctly relied on Praljak's contributions to crimes committed during operations in Gomji Vakuf, 

6325 Praljak's Appeal Brief, headings before para. 425. 
6326 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 426-427. 
6327 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 426, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 462-466 (Praljak's Ground 42). See also 
Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 44. 
6328 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 427. 
6329 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 428, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 482, 484-488 (Praljak's Ground 44.1). 
In reply, Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber "would have convicted any person holding [his] position regardless [of] 
the concrete individual actions and intentions". Praljak's Reply Brief, para: 43. 
6330 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 429, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61, 524. 
6331 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 430. 
6332 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 430-431. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 394 (22 Mar 2017). 
6333 Praljak's Appeal BrIef, para. 431, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol.A, paras 574, 600, 602, 608-609, 611-613. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 394 (22 Mar 2017). 
6334 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 434. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 433. 
6335 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 432-433. Praljak argues that the "contribution to specific crimes amounts to aiding and 
abetting". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 433. 
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Prozor, Mostar, and Vares to conclude that he made a significant contribution to the CCP.6336 The 

Prosecution also argues that Praljak does not show that no reasonable trier of fact could l)ave 

concluded that his personal involvement in the military operations was directed at furthering the 

CCP.6337 It argues that Praljak was not convicted for fulfilling his professional functions or 

engaging in legitimate military' operations,6338 and that he misconstrues his "so-called 'positive 

actions ,,,.6339 

1880. Regarding Praljak's arguments on the link between his acts and the CCP, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that the actus reus for liability under JCE I is the participation of the accused in the 

common criminal plan which may take the form of assistance in, or contribution to, the execution of 

this plan,634o and that this contribution to the crimes is significant.6341 In this regard, it is not 

disputed that an accused's acts must in some way be directed to the furthering of the common 

criminal plan of the JCE,6342 which is an essential consideration in determining whether the 

contribution to the JCE was significant. In Praljak's case, the Trial Chamber concluded that "the 

evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt" that his contribution to the implementation of the CCP 

was significant.6343 Thus, having found that Praljak significantly contributed to the JCE, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that it was unnecessary for the Trial Chamber to expressly find that his 

contribution furthered the CCP as this is, at the very least, implicit. The Appeals Chamber therefore 

finds that Praljak's argument on the alleged failure to establish that his acts furthered the CCP is 

unpersuasi ve. 

1881. In relation to Praljak's submission that contribution to crimes does not automatically 

amount to a contribution to the CCP,6344 the Appeals Chamber finds that nothing prevented the 

Trial Chamber from considering Praljak's involvement in the commission of crimes as a 

contribution to the execution of the JCE. Notably, "[w]hat is required is that [the accused] 

6336 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 79. 
6337 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 80. . 
6338 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 80. 
6339 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 81. The Prosecution points out, inter alia, that the Trial Chamber 
reasonably found that Praljak's conduct with respect to Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison did not constitute a genuine 
effort to remedy the poor conditions. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 81. 
6340 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1615; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695; Stakic Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 64; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227(iii). 

341 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 706; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, 

~3!~ap~~~ViC et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1378, 1653; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1445; Krajisnik 
Appeal Judgement, para. 695 ("It is sufficient that the accused 'perform acts that in some way are directed to the 
furthering' of the JCE in the sense that he significantly contributes to the commission of the crimes involved in the 
JCE"). 
6343 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6344 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 433. 
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voluntarily participated in at least one aspect" of the common criminal purpose.6345 By only 

asserting that it is not automatic,6346 Praljak fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded that his involvement in the commission of crimes - and his use of the HVO and Military 

Police to commit crimes - furthered the CCP and amounted to a significant contribution to·the JCE. 

Praljak's arguments are dismissed. 

1882. As it concerns Praljak's involvement in the Prozor operations, he merely asserts that by 

virtue of his position it was "natural and logical" that he was involved. The Appeals Chamber 

recalls that, provided the accused shares the intent to implement the common purpose by criminal 

means, "participation [in the JCE] does not have to be in and of itself criminal, as long as the 

accused performs acts that in some way contribute to the furtherance of the common purpose of the 

JCE",6347 and "the fact that [the accused's] participation amounted to no more than his or her 

'routine duties' will not eXCUlpate the accused".6348 Therefore, regardless of whether it was 

"natural" for Praljak to be involved in the planning or directing of the military operations in Prozor, 

this is not eXCUlpatory. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Praljak fails to show that his 

involvement in the Prozor operations "does not in itself demonstrate his contribution to the 

JCE",6349 and that he fails to show any error by the Trial Chamber in this regard. Moreover, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak's arguments concerning Gomji Vakuf and Mostar are only 

supported by cross-references to his grounds of appeal 42 and 44, and these arguments are 

addressed and dismissed below.635o On the same basis, Praljak's general argument that his 

participation in military operations was in fulfilment of his professional functions is also dismissed. 

Further, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses, as unsupported, Praljak's argument regarding the 

Vares operations since he fails to show any contradiction between the sections of the Trial 

Judgement which he cites.6351 

1883. Regarding Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered his "positive 

actions" as contributions to the crimes committed, the Appeals Chamber finds that he misinterprets 

the Trial Chamber's evaluation of these "positive actions". The Trial Chamber in fact concluded 

that Praljak "did not make any serious efforts to stop [the HVO and the Military Police] from 

6345 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1510; Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 119; Tadic Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 196. 

346 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 433. To the extent that Praljak argues that his intent to further the CCP must be 
established, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this in the section on his mens rea. See infra, paras 1918, 1921, 1944. 
6347 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653. See Sainovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 985; Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, paras 215, 695-696. 
6348 Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653, quoting Blagojevic and Jokic Appeal Judgement, para. 189. See 
Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, paras 1615, 1666 .. 
6349 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para: 427. 
6350 See infra, paras 1949, 1954, 1988. 
6351 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 429, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61, 524, Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
paras 499, 503-515 (Praljak's Ground 45.1). 
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committing crimes".6352 Notably, the Trial Chamber: (1) considered that Praljak issued an order on 

17 August 1993 to the Prozor command post stating that all detainees used for labour should be 

withdrawn;6353 (2) found that he knew detainees were being used for labour;6354 but (3) concluded 

that he "did not take any measures to prevent detainees from working on the front line prior to 

17 August 1993 and thus accepted it".6355 Thus, the Trial Chamber did not consider Praljak's order 

of 17 August 1993 as a contribution to the JCE, but his failure to take action prior to that order. 

Further, the remainder of the "positive actions" cited by Praljak were considered by the Trial 

Chamber to infer his knowledge and acceptance of the conditions of confinement at Gabela PriSOI;1 

and Dretelj Prison,6356 and were found not to constitute any real effort on his part to remedy these 

poor conditions.6357 Praljak does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber's finding that these actions 

were not "real" efforts to remedy detention conditions is unreasonable. Thus, Praljak's argument 

that his "positive actions" were erroneously considered as contributions to the crimes is dismissed. 

1884. In sum, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 40.2, 40.3, and 

40.7 as discussed above. 

(c) Whether Praljak's role as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B was in furtherance of 

the JCE (Praljak's Sub-grounds 40.1 in part, 40.4, 40.5, and 40.6) 

1885. The Trial Chamber concluded that "as part of a project to establish Croatian control over the 

HZ(R) H-B territories, Slobodan Praljak served as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B to 

further the common criminal purpose of the JCE,,;6358 a conclusion which it considered in 

determining that his contribution to the JCE was significant.6359 In arriving at this conclusion, the 

Trial Chamber made numerous relevant findings, including that from April 1992 to 

November 1993, Praljak participated in meetings of the senior Croatian leadership at which 

Croatia's policy in BiH was discussed and defined with a view to furthering the CCP.6360 It 

considered that: (1) during these meetings Praljak was informed of and championed this policy and 

contributed to discussions;6361 (2) Praljak championed Croatia's political positions in BiH and was 

6352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
6353 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574. See infra, paras 1958, 1963-1967, 1970-1971. 
6354 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574. See infra, paras 1958, 1963-1967, 1970-1971. 
6355 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575 (emphasis added). See infra, paras 1958, 1963-1967, 1970-1971. 
6356 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 600,602,608-614. See infra, paras 2064,2072-2082. 
6357 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. See infra, paras 2064, 2072-2082. 
6358 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 545. 
6359 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624,628. 
6360 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522, 530. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 523-529. Notably, during a meeting on 
11 September 1992 which Praljak attended, Tudman recalled "his telTitorial ambitions regarding the Croatian Banovina 
and stated that the area which previously constituted the Croatian Banovina was demographically and geopolitically 
part of Croatia and also called for 'Croatia' to be 'cleansed'''. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 522, refening to 
Ex. P00466, p. 56. 
6361 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522,530. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 523-529. 
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involved in applying them in BiH territory, notably by informing the HVO and Military Police of 

these policies and issuing instructions to HVO commanders;6362 and (3) Praljak informed the 

Croatian leadership about the military and political situation in BiH.6363 

1886. In arriving at the above conclusions, the Tri~l Chamber specifically discussed, among other 

evidence, the following meetings in which Praljak participated: (1) various meetings in 1992, 

namely on 6 April 1992, 1 August 1992, 11 September 1992, 26 September 1992,5 October 1992, 

and 26 October 1992;6364 (2) meetings on 13 January 1993 and 18 May 1993 where he presented 

and supported the Croatian position on HZ(R) H-B at international meetings;6365 (3) meetings on 

15 September 1993 and 5 November 1993 where in the latter he called for Croatia to give logistical 

support to HR H_B;6366 (4) a meeting on 6 November 1993 where Susak referred to Praljak's 

assessment of the military situation on the field in BiH showing Praljak's influence among the 

Croatian leadership;6367 (5) a meeting on 15 January 1993 where Praljak - in his capacity as envoy 

between Tudman and Izetbegovic - gave his consent to HVO commanders to demand that the 

ABiH issue a denial of HVO crimes before the commanders took part in negotiations on 

16 January 1993 to resolve the conflict in Gornji Vakuf;6368 and (6) meetings on 

11 September 1992, 29 January 1993, and 2 April 1993 showing that Praljak informed the HVO 

and the Military Police of Croatian polices in BiH and informed Croatian leaders about the situation 

in BiH.6369 

1887. The Trial Chamber found that "from at least April 1992 to November 1993, Slobodan 

Praljak [ ... J effectively took part in transmitting information, instructions, orders, requests and 

policies between the leadership of the Croatian government and the HZ(R) H-B leadership with the 

aim of furthering the common criminal purpose". 6370 It also found that "Pralj ak facilitated securing 

military support from Croatia in the form of manpower to the HVO armed forces by encouraging 

and directly contributing to the enrolment of the HV officers in the HVO between the spring of 

1992 and October 1993".6371 

6362 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 530-537. 
6363 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 538. 
6364 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522-523,525. 
6365 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 524,526-527. 
6366 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523. 
6367 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 528. 
6368 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 534. 
6369 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 531-532,538. 
6370 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 540. 
6371 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 544. 
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(i) Praljak's conduct prior to the existence of the JCE 

1888. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on his activities undertaken before 

the CCP existed, which should be analysed in light of the situation that existed, i.e. that the HVO 

and the ABiH were allies.6372 In this regard, Praljak points to him providing information to Croatian 

leaders about the situation in the field, which he avers could not further the CCP.6373 Specifically, 

he argues that meetings held before January 1993 cannot constitute a contribution to the CCP as 

such a plan did not exist at that time.6374 

1889. The Prosecution responds that it was within the Trial Chamber's discretion to rely on 

Praljak's pre-January 1993 conduct as this was considered when assessing the existence of a 

common criminal plan, his shared intent to carry out the JCE crimes, his discriminatory intent, and 

his subsequent role in the JCE.6375 It points out that Praljak's role as a conduit and his ties to 

Croatian authorities continued throughout the JCE period,6376 and thus, even if the Trial Chamber 

considered Praljak's pre-January 1993 conduct as a contribution this would not be a legal error.6377 

1890. Praljak replies that it is not always the case that an accused's pre-JCE conduct, which 

continues into the JCE period, is in furtherance of the common criminal plan. He avers that this is 

so in his case as the situation in 1992 was "completely different" from that in 1993.6378 

1891. The Appeals Chamber notes that in its discussion on whether Praljak served as a conduit 

between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B, the Trial Chamber considered evidence on his participation in 

meetings and peace negotiations held before January 1993.6379 However, the Trial Chamber also 

considered meetings and peace negotiations subsequent to the establishment of the JCE during 

which Praljak suggested that Croatia intervene by providing logistical support and made other 

recommendations,6380 presented and supported the Croatian position and even represented the 

6372 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 442; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 40. 
6373 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 441, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 538. 
6374 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 443. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 39. ' 
6375 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 71-72, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 297. See also 
Appeal Hearing, AT. 423-428 (22 Mar 2017). The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber confined its assessment 
of Praljak's contribution to the ICE to the period of January 1993 to November 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Praljak), para. 71. 
6376 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 72, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 528, 530, 
540, 1228, 1230. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 423-428 (22 Mar 2017). 
6377 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 73, referring to, inter alia, Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, fn. 3858, 
Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 162, 209-218. The Prosecution alternatively submits that any resulting error would 
have no impact on the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Praljak significantly contributed to the JCE. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Praljak), para. 74. 
6378 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 39, referring to Saillovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1177. 
6379 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522-523,525,538. 
6380 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523 (meetings held on 15 September 1993 and the 5 November 1993 with the 
Croatian presidency). . 
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Croatian delegation in a meeting held in Medugorje on 18 May 1993,6381 and informed and gave 

instructions to the HVO and the Military Police about Croatian policies such as the importance of 

creating a Croatian state within BiH and "Zagreb's position" on how military operations should be 

implemented.6382 Recalling that the Trial Chamber expressly stated that Praljak's relevant conduct 

spanned from April 1992 to November 1993,6383 the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that Praljak's 

pre-JCE conduct which was noted by the Trial Chamber continued into the JCE period. In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that "certain conduct of a JCE member which started prior 

to, and continued during, the period when a common purpose of a JCE was found to have existed 

could constitute an act in furtherance of the common purpose by virtue of the continuation of this 

conduct".6384 Similarly, Praljak's submission concerning his provision of information on the 

situation in the field is also dismissed as the Trial Chamber referred to both his pre-JCE conduCt as 

well as his actions after January 1993.6385 The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Praljak fails to 

show an error in the Trial Chamber's consideration of his pre-JCE conduct. His arguments are 

therefore dismissed. 

(ii) The Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence and Praljak's participation in 

meetings 

1892. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that his role as a conduit between 

Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B was aimed at furthering the CCP.6386 Praljak contends that if he went to 

BiH as an envoy for Tudman and Izetbegovic, he could convey only those instructions agreed to by 

both of them which served the interests of both Croatia and BiH.6387 Praljak also contends that the 

Trial Chamber misinterpreted or erroneously relied on evidence as: (1) he did not explain, in a 

meeting on 29 January 1993, Zagreb's position on how some military operations should be 

implemented, as he explained "the position he brought from Zagreb" where the meetings involved 

Croatian leaders, Izetbegovic, Owen, and Vance;6388 (2) he did not attend a meeting on 2 April 1993 

in any official capacity, his aim was to explain the benefits of the Vance-Owen Plan, and while he 

6381 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 524-526. 
6382 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 531-532,534-535. See supra, fn. 6360. 
6383 See supra, para. 1885. 
6384 Sainovie et al. Appeal Judgement, fn. 3858, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 162, 209-218, Martie 
Appeal Judgement, para. 117, Martie Trial Judgement, paras 445, 448. See Dordevie Appeal Judgement, para. 297. 
c.r. Sainovie et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1177. 
6385 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 538, referring to Exs. P06454, pp. 49-57, 62, P05080, pp. 18-20. 
6386 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 442. Praljak argues that while at times he had an intermediary role, which was normal 
and useful in a conflict situation, this role was never used to further the CCP. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 435. Praljak 
replies that the Trial Chamber's conclusions and the Prosecution's arguments in response are founded on the erroneous 
premise that the Croatian leaders were JCE members. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 41, referring to Praljak's Appeal 
Brief, paras 93-99 (Praljak's Ground 5). 
6387 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 436, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 534. 
6388 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 437, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 531, Slobodan Praljak, T. 41599, 
41601 (17 June 2009). 
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spoke about the homogenisation, it concerned all BiH populations;6389 (3) the SpaBat report dated 

27 August 1993 did not refer to his mission on 15 June 1993 in BiH territory "to 'control' the 

political leadership of the HVO of the HZ-HE with whom Zagreb 'did not agree'" and provided no 

details on the matter;6390 and (4) Witness Peter Galbraith's evidence on Praljak's issuance of 

permits to German journalists to access Gabela Prison was aimed at harming him as there was no 

evidence that the permit issuance was based on any intervention.6391, He further submits that "[n]o 

reasonable trier of fact could conclude that on [5 November 1993 Tudman] referred to instructions 

that he would have given to Praljak" regarding defence in various locations as, at most, the 

evidence showed that they discussed the matter. 6392 

1893. Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered his participation in meetings 

with Croatian officials as a contribution to the JCE.6393 Specifically, Praljak argues that: (1) the 

purpose of two meetings held after January 1993 was not criminal and was aimed at restoring 

peace;6394 (2) it was not established that the CCP existed at the time a meeting with the French 

delegation took place on 13 January 1993, and that this meeting's primary aim was to discuss the 

possibility of a Muslim-Croat joint action;6395 and (3) it is unclear whether the Trial Chamber 

considered his presence at a meeting in Medugorje on 18 May 1993 as a contribution to the JCE.6396 

Praljak also asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to determine how his knowledge of the Croatian 

positions obtained through meetings furthered the CCP.6397 

1894. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Praljak used his role 

as a link between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B to further the CCP, and that he fails to address the 

explicit findings on this issue.6398 It argues that Praljak "merely invites the Appeals Chamber to re­

examine the evidence, without showing any error".6399 Specifically, the Prosecution contends that 

Praljak di~agrees with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence, mischaracterises the 

6389 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 438, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 43382-43383, 43393 (18 Aug 2009), 
Ex. POI788, p. 2. 
6390 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 439, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 533, Ex. P04573, p. 5. 
6391 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 439, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 535, Ex. P04716. Praljak asserts that 
"[e]ven if Galbraith intervened for issuance of this permit, which [was] highly unlikely, there is no evidence that his 
intervention reached Praljak". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 439, referring to Peter Galbraith, T. 6506-6509 
(12 Sept 2006), T. 6541 (13 Sept 2006). 
6392 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 440, referring to Ex. P06454, p. 54. 
6393 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 443. 
6394 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 443, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523, Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 406 
(Praljak's Ground 39.1). 
6395 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 444, referring to Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 524, Ex. 3D00482. 
6396 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 444, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 526. Praljak asserts that his presence at 
the Medugorje meeting cannot be considered as a contribution. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 444. 
6397 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 445, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 530. 
6398 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 75, 77. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 422-423, 430-438 
(22 Mar 2017). 
6399 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. 
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evidence, or fails to demonstrate an error with regard to: (1) the two meetings on 

15 September 1993 and 5 November 1993, and Tudman's comments in the latter;6400 (2) the 

2 April 1993 meeting;6401 (3) the 27 August 1993 SpaBat report;6402 (4) Galbraith's evidence;6403 

(5) the 13 January 1993 meeting with the French delegation;6404 (6) the 18 May 1993 meeting at 

Medugorje;6405 and (7) Praljak acting as an envoy of Tudman and Izetbegovic.6406 

1895. Praljak challenges the Trial Chamber's consideration of evidence showing that before 

negotiations on 16 January 1993, two HVO representatives consulted him in Prozor and he "gave 

them his consent to demand that the ABiH issue a denial about the HVO's involvement in several 

crimes based on [his] statements made [ ... ] in his capacity as the envoy of President Tudman and 

Alija Izetbegovic".6407 In this regard, Praljak fails to show how his assertion that he could only 

convey instructions which served the interests of both Croatia and BiH could affect the Trial 

Chamber's findings, particularly as his assertion is consistent with the overall finding that he served 

as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B. On the same basis, the Appeals Chamber also 

dismisses Praljak's argument concerning his explanation of Zagreb's position in the meeting on 

29 January 1993.6408 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show how any 

error by the Trial Chamber in considering the instance where he may have been communicating 

positions shared by both Tudman and Izetbegovic,6409 could impact on its overall findings. 

1896. Regarding the meeting held on 2 April 1993, the Trial Chamber noted that during this 

meeting Praljak "mentioned the importance of creating a Croatian state within BiH and 

6400 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 76-77. The Prosecution argues that Praljak does not dispute that 
during these meetings he advised the Croatian leadership on the situation in the field, and that it is clear that he 
participated in these meetings as a trusted advisor to the leadership. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 76. 
See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 434-435 (22 Mar 2017). 
6401 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. The Prosecution contends that Exhibit POI788 shows that Praljak 
championed Croatia's political positions during this meeting. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. See also 
Agpeal Hearing, AT. 433-434 (22 Mar 2017). . . 
64 2 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. The Prosecution submits that this report is consistent with findings 
on Praljak's involvement in applying Croatia's policies. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. See also 
Agpeal Hearing, AT. 436-437 (22 Mar 2017). 
64 3 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. 
6404 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. The Prosecution avers that the Trial Chamber properly assessed 
and relied on Exhibit 3D00482 to conclude that Praljak presented and supported Croatia's position at international 
meetings. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. 
6405 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber properly relied on 
Praljak's participation in this meeting to conclude that he represented Croatia in international meetings and thus knew 
of Croatia's political positions. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. 
6406 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 77. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 432 (22 Mar 2017). 
6407 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 534. 
6408 Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 531 ("On 29 January 1993, [ ... ] Praljak explained to the [M]ilitary [P]olice 
Zagreb's position regarding how military operations in Gornji Vakuf and Central Bosnia were unfolding and how they 
should be implemented in the field") with Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 437 ("Praljak did not explain[] Zagreb's 
position, he explained the position he brought from Zagreb where he had meetings with Croatian leaders but also with 
Izetbegovic, Owen and Vance and where he was mandated by Tudjman and Izetbegovic to calm the conflict" in Gornji 
Vakuf). See Slobodan Praljak, T. 41599, 41601 (17 June 2009). 
6409 See supra, paras 1892, 1895. 
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homogenising the Croatian population within the borders, all the while informing the attendees of 

the measures proposed under the Vance-Owen Plan".6410 Regardless of whether he attended the 

meeting in any official capacity, Praljak's assertions concerning this meeting6411 fail to show any 

error by the Trial Chamber in considering the same evidence he cites. Praljak merely seeks to offer 

his own interpretation of the evidence. Similarly, Praljak's contention regarding the SpaBat report 

dated 27 August 1993 is also dismissed.6412 Praljak further disputes the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

Galbraith's testimony that following pressure applied on Tudman by an embassy of the United 

States of America, Praljak - on the request of Croatia - allowed German journalists to film inside 

Gabela Prison.6413 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that Praljak does not demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's acceptance of Galbraith's evidence on this issue. Praljak again only 

offers his own interpretation of the evidence. Further, the Trial Chamber considered that on 

5 November 1993, Tudman referred to the instructions he gave Praljak regarding defence in Novi 

Travnik, Vitez, and Busovaca,6414 and cited the minutes of the meeting in which Tudman stated to 

Praljak that "I know that, I told you that this line - Novi Travnik, Vitez, Busovaca, that it had to be 

defended and ensure this ... ".6415 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have arrived at the Trial Chamber's conclusion based on the evidence 

cited. His arguments discussed above are all dismissed. 

1897. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Praljak's challenges to the findings on his participation 

in meetings. Regarding the meetings held on 15 September 1993 and 5 November 1993, Praljak 

only supports his argument on the purpose of these meetings by cross-referencing arguments made 

elsewhere. As the Appeals Chamber dismisses these arguments elsewhere,6416 Praljak's current 

argument is unsupported. FUlther, the Appeals Chamber finds that whether theprimary aim of the 

13 January 1993 meeting with the French delegation was to discuss a Muslim-Croat joint action, the 

Trial Chamber considered, inter alia, Praljak's participation in this meeting as well as the 

18 May 1993 meeting in Medugorje as evidence that he presented and supported the Croatian 

6410 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 532, referring to Ex. POI788, pp. 1-4, Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 43381-43404 
(18 Aug 2009). 
6411 See supra, para. 1892. 
6412 Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 533 (noting that the SpaBat report maintained that one of Praljak' s missions 
on BiH territory, as of 15 June 1993, was to "control" the HVO's political leadership with whom Zagreb "did not 
agree" but also noting that the report did not give any additional details) with Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 439 (arguing 
that the SpaBat report did not give details). See Slobodan Praljak, T. 41599, 41601 (17 June 2009). 
6413 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 535, referring to Peter Galbraith, T(F). 6538-6540 (13 Sept 2006), Ex. P04716. 
See Peter Galbraith, T. 6541 (13 Sept 2006). 
6414 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 537, referring to Ex. P06454, p. 54. 
6415 Ex. P06454, p. 54. 
6416 See infra, para. 1915. 
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position on Herceg-Bosna at international meetings.6417 Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in its approach. His arguments are dismissed. 

(iii) Praljak's efforts to obtain logistical support from Croatia 

1898. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber's finding that he requested, organised, and 

facilitated military reinforcements from the HV to the HVO with the aim of furthering the JCE is 

not supported.6418 Specifically, Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber erred in considering his 

posting of HV members to the HVO as: (1) they were assigned equally to the HVO and the 

ABiH;6419 and (2) many of the appointments, including that of Vladimir Primorac in April 1992, 

were not linked to the subsequent conflict between the Croats and the Muslims.642o Praljak also 

submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that, at his request, the Croatian government 

continued paying the salaries of HV soldiers who joined the HVO.6421 He argues that the Trial 

Chamber referred to documents dated 1992, which are irrelevant to his contribution to the CCP, and 

issued when the HVO fought together with the Muslims against the JNAlVRS.6422 Praljak further 

argues that these documents do not support the Trial Chamber's finding but rather show that he, as 

an employee of the CroatianMinistry of Defence, applied the policy established.6423 

1899. The Prosecution responds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber unreasonably· 

concluded that he facilitated securing military and logistical support from Croatia in furtherance of 

the CCP. It also submits that there is evidence demonstrating that Praljak continued to mrange 

military support for the HVO dming the JCE period in the form of HV personnel, payment of 

1 · . . d' 6424 sa anes, trmmng, an eqmpment. 

1900. Regarding Praljak's first argument on the HV's assignment to the HVO, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that it considered his previous argument that HV troops were permitted to volunteer 

for either the HVO or the ABiH,6425 and concluded that this did not preclude the HV from also 

reinforcing and assisting the HVO in its fight against the ABiH and thus the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion on this issue was not undermined.6426 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak 

6417 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 524-527. 
6418 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 448. 
6419 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 446, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 542, Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 18. 
6420 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 446, referring to Exs. P00345, P00927. 
6421 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 447, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 543. 
6422 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 447, referring to Exs. P00734, P00891. 
6423 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 447. 
6424 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 78, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 41445-41446 (15 June 2009), 
T. 43038, 43070-43071 (14 July 2009), Exs. P03957, 3D02082, P06157, P06009. The Prosecution also asserts that it 
was within the Trial Chamber's discretion to rely on Praljak's pre-JCE conduct. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
~ara. 78. 

25 See supra, paras 254, 270, 275. 
6426 See supra, paras 254, 270, 275. 
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fails to show how any possible assignment of HV troops to the ABiH would affect the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he "personally and directly contributed to posting HV members to the HVO 

armed forces".6427 Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

1901. The Trial Chamber also considered that the evidence showed that Praljak personally and 

directly contributed to the posting of HV members to the HVO, including the appointment of 

Primorac in the spring of 1992.6428 Praljak asserts that many of the appointments were not linked to 

the conflict, but cites only to Primorac's appointment. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber considered evidence showing that Praljak's involvement in the posting and 

discharging of HV soldiers continued in 1993.6429 The Trial Chamber also found that HV troops 

were directly involved alongside the HVO troops in the conflict with the ABiH at all times relevant 

to the Indictment, including during 1993, after evaluating various pieces of evidence.643o The 

Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Praljak's mere assertion is not sufficient to call into question 

the Trial Chamber's findings. Further, to the extent that Praljak argues that pre-JCE appointments 

are ilTelevant to his responsibility, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses this argument as 

unpersuasive since his involvement in securing military support from Croatia continued into 

1993.6431 Praljak's contention is dismissed. 

1902. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Praljak's challenges to the Trial Chamber's finding that, 

at his request, the Croatian government continued paying salaries to the HV soldiers authorised by 

that government to join the HVO.6432 The evidence explicitly relied on by the Trial Chamber clearly 

shows that Praljak requested the payment of salaries to HV soldiers in November and 

December 1992.6433 Although these requests occulTed prior to the time when the JCE was found to 

be in existence, the Trial Chamber did refer to evidence showing that the salaries of some HV 

soldiers were paid by the Croatian government in 1993.6434 The Appeals Chamber notes that the 

evidence cited by the Trial Chamber concerning the payment of salaries in 1993 does not explicitly 

6427 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 542. 
6428 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 542. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 548. 
6429 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 542, referring to Exs. P03957, P06118. 
6430 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 775, Vol. 3, paras 530-544, Vol. 4, para. 542. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 546-
552. 
643] See supra, para. 1891. 
6432 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 543, referring to Exs. P00734 (dated 4 August 1993), P00891 (dated 
27 October 1993). 
6433 See Ex. P00734 (request dated 12 November 1992 concerning the salary of Zeljko Siljeg, an HV colonel appointed 
as commanding officer of the North-West OZ, see Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 548); Ex. P00891 (request dated 
10 December 1992 concerning daily allowances for various HV soldiers). 
6434 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 529 (referring to Exhibit P06157, a request dated 27 January 1993 for the payment of 
wartime supplements to HV soldiers temporarily assigned to the Southern Front following an order from Praljak), 555 
(referring to testimony of Witness Marijan Biskic that he arrived in BiH on 8 November 1993 and was paid by the 
Croatian government (see Marijan Biskic, T. 15042-15044 (5 Mar 2007) and Exhibit P07173, an order dated 
14 December 1993 from the Croatian Defence Minister, Gojko Susak, for the allocation of funds to the HR Herceg­
Bosna (see Ex. P07173, pp. 1-2». 
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show that these payments were made at the request of Praljak. Thus to the extent the Trial Chamber 

relied on Praljak requesting that the Croatian government continued paying salaries to the HV 

soldiers who joined the HVO, it erred. However, Praljak fails to show how this error affects the 

Trial Chamber's overall finding that he facilitated securing military support from Croatia between 

the spring of 1992 and October 1993, which was also based on his contribution to the posting of HV 

members to the HVO.6435 

(iv) Whether Praljak's link to the Croatian government furthered the CCP 

1903. In addition to his overall submission that his link to the Croatian government did not further 

the JCE, Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered his role as a conduit as a 

contribution to the JCE as it is unclear whether this role was aimed at furthering "the project to 

establish Croatian control" over BiH territories or the CCP.6436 The Prosecution responds that his 

submission that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his role as a conduit are unclear is 

unsupported and undeveloped.6437 

1904. Having failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's assessment and consideration 

of the evidence which could have an impact on its overall conclusion, Praljak only makes general 

arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to establish how his link with the Croatian government, his 

knowledge of the Croatian policies, and his efforts to obtain logistical support from Croatia 

furthered the CCP.6438 Notably, the Trial Chamber expressly found that "Praljak served as a conduit 

between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B to further the common criminal purpose of the JCE".6439 In this 

regard, the Trial Chamber considered, in addition to the evidence and findings addressed above,6440 

that: (1) Praljak received a salary from the Croatian Ministry of Defence while he was in Gornji 

Vakuf in January to February 1993 and continued to be remunerated by this ministry when he was 

the Commander of the Main Staff;6441 (2) Croatia's policy in BiH was discussed and defined during 

the relevant meetings in which Praljak participated "with a view to furthering the common criminal 

purpose,,;6442 (3) Praljak himself testified that he was implementing the "policy of the Croatian 

6435 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 544. See supra, para. 1885. 
6436 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 423, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 545 ("as part of a project to establish 
Croatian control over the HZ(R) H-B territories, Slobodan Praljak served as a conduit between Croatia and the 
HZ(R) H-B to further the common criminal purpose of the JCE"). Praljak also argues that it is unclear whether the 
ffoject to establish Croatian control over BiH territories was a part of the CCP·. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 423. 

37 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 70. 
6438 See supra, paras 1892-1893, 1898. 
6439 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 545. 
6440 See supra, paras 1885, 1895-1897, 1900-1901. 
6441 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 520. 
6442 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 522. 
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state" while he was in BiH;6443 and (4) Praljak's advice and assessments regarding the conflict in 

BiH was relied on to make decisions on Croatia's involvement in BiH.6444 

1905. Considering the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the Trial Chamber did, that his serving as a link 

between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B was aimed at furthering the CCP of the JCE, and in fact did so 

by facilitating the commission of the JCE crimes.6445 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber finds that 

Praljak fails to show how the Trial .chamber's finding is unclear regarding whether his actions 

furthered the CCP6446 and his argument is dismissed as undeveloped. The Appeals Chamber thus 

dismisses Praljak's sub-grounds of appeal 40.1 in part, 40.4, 40.5, and 40.6 as discussed above. 

(v) Conclusion 

1906. In sum, Praljak's ground of appeal 40 is dismissed. 

5. Praljak's mens rea and related challenges 

1907. As recalled above with regard to Praljak's mens rea under JCE I liability, the Trial Chamber 

concluded that he: (1) intended the crimes committed in the various municipalities,6447 at times 

inferring his intent from his failure to make any serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military 

Police from committing crimes;6448 (2) shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from the 

territory of Herceg-Bosna with other JCE members;6449 and (3) intended to discriminate against 

Muslims in order to facilitate their eviction from the territory of Herceg-Bosna.6450 Notably, the 

Trial Chamber inferred his intent from its findings that Praljak was informed of crimes committed 

by the HVO and the Military Police "primarily through HVO internal communication channels",6451 

continued to exercise "effective control" over the armed forces until the end of his functions as 

Commander of the Main Staff,6452 and did not make any serious efforts to stop crimes.6453 In fact, 

the Trial Chamber concluded that Praljak denied that crimes had been committed and facilitated the 

failure to prosecute the perpetrators.6454 In relation to Praljak's membership in the JCE, the Trial 

6443 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 527, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 43001-43002 (13 July 2009). 
6444 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 528. 
6445 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 545, 624, 628. 
6446 See supra, para. 1903. 
6447 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. See supra, para. 1809. 
6448 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 626-627. See supra, para. 1809. 
6449 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. See also supra, para. 1809. 
6450 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. See supra, para. 1809. 
6451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6452 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6453 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
6454 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
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Chamber found that· "'a plurality of persons consulted each other to devise and implement the 

common criminal purpose", including all the Appellants, Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko.6455 

(a) Alleged errors in finding that Praljak was a member of the JCE (Praljak's Ground 39 and Sub­

ground 5.4 in part) 

(i) Whether Croatian officials participated in the JCE (Praljak's Sub-ground 5.4 in part) 

1908. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion by "satisfy[ing] 

itself with [a] general statement that certain Croatian leaders, including Tudjman, were members of 

the JCE".6456 Specifically, he argues that the involvement of the Croatian leaders in the CCP should 

have been established,6457 and that the Trial Chamber only referred to the HVO/ HZ(R) H-B leaders 

in its analysis of the CCP.6458 Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber referred to Tudman only 

twice, but not in the context of the JCE, and did not mention Janko Bobetko and Susak.6459 Praljak 

submits that the evidence does not implicate the Croatian leaders in the CCp6460 and that they did 

not intend any criminal acts but rather had legitimate political aims.6461 He also submits that it was 

"problematic" to find that the Croatian leaders were JCE members as they could not defend 

themselves and their participation implied State involvement.6462 

1909. The Prosecution responds that Praljak selectively cites the Trial Judgement out of context, 

ignores the detailed analysis of the JCE, and offers his own assessment on matters that do not affect 

the Trial Chamber's findings.6463 It also argues that Praljak's JCE I crimes are attributable to him 

directly or via his co-accused, and do not depend on JCE members who were not accused.6464 

1910. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that "a plurality of persons 

consulted each other to devise and implement the common criminal purpose", including all the 

6455 Trial Juc;lgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
6456 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 99. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 22. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 385 
~2 Mar 2017). 

57 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 95-96. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 21. 
6458 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 96, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-70. 
6459 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 97, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-70. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 387-388 (22 Mar 2017). 
6460 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 99. Praljak replies that the Trial Chamber did not identify any key moment of 
collaboration and considered any contact between the Croatian and HZ(R) H-B authorities as JCE contribution. 
Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 20. Further, Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber excluded the Croatian leaders from the 
CCP by finding, inter alia, that the crimes were committed based on a plan established by the HZ(R) H-B leaders. 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 98, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. 
6461 Praljak'sAppeal Brief, para. 98. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 388 (22 Mar 2017). 
6462 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 99. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 389 (22 Mar 2017). 
6463 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 34. The Prosecution also responds that the Croatian leadership 
collaborated with the HZ(R) H-B leadership at key moments in the JCE and lent their support to crimes which were part 
of the CCP. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 33. 
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Appellants, Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko.6465 The Trial Chamber also found that: (1) "key moments 

of the JCE were made possible by the collaboration of the HZ(R) H-B leadership and authorities, 

both with each other and with the Croatian leadership,,;6466 (2) Croatian leaders Tudman, Susak, an,d 

Bobetko directly collaborated with the HVO leaders and authorities to further the JCE;6467 and 

(3) there was a privileged and continuous link between Praljak and the Croatian authorities, 

including Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko, on subjects regarding BiH, notably Croatia's engagement 

in BiH.6468 

1911. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber elaborated in detail on Praljak's 

contribution to the CCP and his JCE I liability.6469 The Trial Chamber found that JCE I crimes were 

attributable to Praljak, and that he and his co-accused used the members and structures of the HVO 

and the Military Police to commit crimes forming part of the CCp.6470 Before arriving at this 

conclusion, the Trial Chamber identified a link between the principal perpetrators of each crime and 

Praljak or one of his co-accused, who were all found to be JCE members.6471 In this respect, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber provided a detailed analysis of how Praljak and the 

other Appellants collaborated with each other in order to implement the CCP, independent of the 

involvement of Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko.6472 Accordingly, Praljak fails to show how any 

alleged error regarding the JCE membership of Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko would affect the 

findings that Praljak and the other Appellants: (1) formed a plurality of persons who collaborated to 

implement the CCP; (2) significantly contributed to the JCE; (3) used the principal perpetrators to 

commit crimes; and (4) shared the intent to carry out the crimes forming part of the common 

purpose.6473 Moreover, Praljak does not argue that the principal perpetrators were linked only, or 

even linked at all, to the Croatian leaders Tudman, Susak, or Bobetko in committing crimes 

furthering the CCP.6474 Thus, Praljak does not show that his responsibility under JCE I liability is 

dependent on the membership, contribution or intent of Croatian leaders, in particular Tudman; 

Susak, and Bobetko, in the JCE. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses all arguments 

6464 Prosecution's Response Brief CPraljak), para. 35, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 1232. The Prosecution 
asserts that nothing precludes the reliance on evidence relating to a deceased JCE member. Prosecution's Response 
Brief CPraljak), para. 35, referring to Sainovie et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1262-1264. 
6465 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
6466 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1219. 
6467 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1222. 
6468 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1223. 
6469 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 512-631. 
6470 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6471 See, e.g., TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, paras 329, 558, 562, 694, 699, 711-724, 928,1147,1220. 
6472 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219-1221. 
6473 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 275-276, 428-429, 627-628, 817-818, 1004, 1208-1209, 1231-1232. See Brdanin 
Appeal Judgement, paras 427, 430; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 96-97; Tadie Appeal Judgement, paras 227-
228. 
6474 Sainovie et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1256; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 225; Martie Appeal Judgement, 
paras 168, 172; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 413,430. 
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submitted by Praljak as, irrelevant and finds that he fails to show that any alleged error would 

impact on his convictions.6475 In sum, Praljak's sub-ground of appealS.4 is dismissed in part. 

(ii) Praljak's awareness of the CCP (Pral;ak's Sub-ground 39.1) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1912. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he was aware of the CCP, 

which led to an erroneous finding that he participated in the JCE. In particular, he argues that there 

is no evidence that he had knowledge of the CCP in January 1993 or at any moment during its 

existence.6476 Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber should not have relied on his participation at 

meetings with senior Croatian leaders because: (1) it found that crimes were committed as a result 

of a plan established by the HZ(R) H-B leaders, not the Croatian leaders, whereas no HVO or 

HZ(R) H-B representative· attended the meetings;6477 and (2) the objectives of the two relevant 

meetings which occurred in September and November 1993 were to put an end to fighting and his 

intervention was limited to describing the situation in the field. 6478 Praljak also asserts that the Trial 

Chamber distorted his testimony and erred in relying on a finding that he implemented Croatia's 

policies in BiH before taking command of the Main Staff because it "could not find any criminal 

element" in those policies6479 and he testified that he implemented "above all the BiH policy". 6480 

He argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on his role in negotiations that pre-dated the 

JCE, the evidence of which was admitted in "violation of basic rules of a fair trial".6481 

1913. The Prosecution responds that: (1) Croatian leaders played an essential role in the 

conception and implementation of the JCE, thus Praljak's participation at their meetings and his 

role in implementing Croatia's policies in BiH are directly relevant to establishing his awareness of 

the CCP and his JCE membership;6482 (2) the absence of HVO and HZ(R) H-B representatives at 

meetings highlights Praljak's importance as a conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H_B;6483 

(3) the Trial Chamber properly assessed Praljak's testimony regarding his role in implementing 

6475 See supra, paras 19, 21. 
6476 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 407-408. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 389-391 (22 Mar 2017). 
6477 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 403, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 45. See 
A~peal Hearing, AT. 389-390 (22 Mar 2017). 
64 8 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 406, referring to Exs. P05080, pp. 2, 11-23, P06454, pp. 3, 49-55. See Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 389-390 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak argues that all but two of the meetings were held prior to the date the Trial 
Chamber found that the JCE was established, and are thus irrelevant to determining his participation in the JCE. 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 403, 406, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 522-523, 538. See Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 390 (22 Mar 2017). 
6479 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 403-404; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 46. 
6480 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 404. 
648l Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 405, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 525, Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 547-
553 (Praljak's Ground 50.1). . 
6482 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 82-83. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 423-428 (22 Mar 2017). 
6483 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 83. 
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Croatia's policies within the context of his role as a conduit;6484 and (4) there is ample evidence 

supporting the Trial Chamber's finding that Praljak shared the CCP.6485 

b. Analysis 

1914. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, after a detailed analysis of the evidence, the Trial 

Chamber concluded that Praljak not only learned of the Croatian government's policies regarding 

Herceg-Bosna, but also demonstrated his willingness to implement these policies and found that "as 

part of a project to establish Croatian control over [BiH] territories, Slobodan Praljak served as a 

conduit between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B to further the [CCP]".6486 Contrary to Praljak's 

assertion that Croatian leaders did not participate in the conception of the CCP, the Appeals 

Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber found that Croatian leaders such as Tudman, Susak, 

and Bobetko were members· of the JCE,6487 and it specifically found that Croatia's policies in BiH 

were discussed at these meetings with a view to furthering the CCP.6488 Praljak's challenges related 

to these findings of the Trial Chamber made elsewhere have been considered and dismissed.6489 

Moreover, by asserting that no representative of the HVO or HZ(R) H-B attended the meetings, 

Praljak ignores the Trial Chamber's finding that by attending these meetings he was acting as a 

conduit between Croatia.and HZ(R) H-B to further the CCP.6490 Thus, Praljakfails to show that the 

Trial Chamber elTed by relying on these meetings to assess his knowledge of the CCP and his 

participation in the JCE as of mid-January 1993. 

1915. Additionally, Praljak does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber ened in relying on the 

evidence of two meetings which occulTed on 15 September 1993 and 5 November 1993. The Trial 

Chamber noted that Praljak participated in these meetings by, inter alia: (1) recommending that 

"territorial discontinuity in Herceg-Bosna not be allowed and for Muslim access to the sea to be 

denied - particularly because of the reaction by the Serbian military that would ensue,,;6491 

(2) calling on Croatia to provide logistical sUpport;6492 and (3) providing logistical 

recommendations for changes to be made in the HVO's civilian and military departments, such as 

6484 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 86. 
6485 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 84-85. The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber was permitted 
to rely on evidence of Praljak' s participation at meetings and negotiations leading up to the establishment of the JCE to 
infer that, as of mid-January 1993, he was aware of and shared the CCP as well as his role in the JCE. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Praljak), paras 82, 84. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 423-428 (22 Mar 2017). 
6486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 530, 545. See supra, para. 1885. 
6487 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
6488 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 522. 
6489 See supra, paras 1904, 1910. 
6490 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 540,545. See supra, paras 1885, 1891. 
6491 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523. 
6492 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523. 
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replacing officers in the Main Staff.6493 In this regard, the Trial Chamber considered that Praljak 

"advised the Croatian leadership about Croatian policy and operations in BiH".6494 By asserting that 

the objectives of the meetings were to put an end to fighting and that his intervention was limited to 

describing the situation in the field, Praljak merely offers his own interpretation of the evidence 

without showing an error on the part of the Trial Chamber. 

1916. Turning to Praljak's assertion that the Trial Chamber erred in considering that he 

implemented the policy of the Croatian state while he was in BiH, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber relied on Praljak's testimony that he "was implementing the 'policy of the 

Croatian state' while he was in BiH".6495 While the Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak also 

testified that he "was implementing the policies of Bosnia and Herzegovina, above all",6496 Praljak 

does not explain how this contradicts his statement, or the· Trial Chamber's finding, that he 

implemented Croatia's policies while in BiH.6497 Notably, the Trial Chamber found that Croatian 

and HZ(R) H-B leaders collaborated in order to further the CCP.6498 Moreover, as Praljak himself 

submits,6499 the Trial Chamber found that crimes were committed as the result of a plan established 

by HZ(R) H-B leaders. Therefore, Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in considering 

that he implemented the policies of BiH as support for its finding that he served as a conduit 

between Croatia and the HZ(R) H-B. 

1917. Regarding Praljak's pre-JCE conduct, the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere his 

challenges to the meetings and negotiations that took place before mid-January 1993,6500 and thus 

he fails to show that this conduct is irrelevant. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber has already rejected 

Praljak's assertion that the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber in this regard was admitted in 

"violation of basic rules of a fair trial".6501 Thus, Praljak's arguments are dismissed. Based on the 

above, as well as findings discussed elsewhere, the Appeals Chamber also rejects Praljak's assertion 

that there is no evidence of his knowledge of the CCp.6502 

6493 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523. 
6494 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 523. 
6495 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 527, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 43001-43002 (13 July 2009). 
6496 Slobodan Praljak, T. 43001-43002 (13 July 2009). Praljak continued to testify that "[m]y policies were parallel to 
the policies of the Republic of Croatia and the policies of Franjo Tudjman, Gojko [Susak], Bruno [Stojic], Jadranko 
[Prlic], and all the others". Slobodan Praljak, T. 43002 (13 July 2009). 
6497 See supra, para. 1904. 
6498 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1219, 1222, 1231. 
6499 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 403. 
6500 See supra, para. 1891. 
6501 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 405, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 547-553. See supra, paras 
119-138, fn. 338. 
6502 See infra, paras 1921, 1928-1929, 1933, 1936-1942, 1940-1942. 
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1918. In conclusion, Praljak has failed to show any error by the Trial Chamber concerning his 

awareness of the CCP in January 1993 or at any moment during its existence. His sub-ground of 

appeal 39.1 is dismissed. 

(iii) Alleged failure to establish Praljak's shared criminal intent with all members of the 

JCE (Praljak's Sub-ground 39.2) 

1919. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber's "statement" that he shared the intention to expel 

the Muslim population from BiB with other JCE members is not sufficient to find that he was a JCE 

member.6503 Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber was required to establish not only that he shared 

the intent to commit the same crime as the other JCE members, but also that he shared their intent 

to further the CCp.6504 Specifically, he argues that "some kind of interaction" between the JCE's 

princ'ipal members aimed at the CCP's furtherance should have been established.6505 Praljak asserts 

that because the Trial Chamber found that the composition of the group forming the JCE fluctuated 

over time, it was required to establish with whom he entered into an agreement in January 1993 and 

with whom he remained in agreement throughout the period he was found to have contributed to the 

JCE.6506 

1920. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not merely find that the Appellants 

shared the intent to commit the same crime, but that they intended to commit a range of crimes to 

further the CCp.6507 The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber made precise findings regarding 

the period during which the Appellants formed part of the group, but "was not required to make 

explicit findings as to the exact period of each non-Accused JCE member's participation" or the 

exact date that they reached an agreement with Praljak.6508 The Prosecution further contends that 

the Trial Chamber arrived at reasonable conclusions on the JCE members.6509 

1921. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that, as of mid-January 1993, a 

JCE was established with the common criminal purpose being the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim 

popUlation, and that to accomplish this purpose, the members of the JCE, including the Appellants, 

6503 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 412-4l3, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. Praljak further asserts that he 
never intended to expel the Muslim population from BiH. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 412. 
6504 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 411-412. 
6505 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 411; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 47. 
6506 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 4l3. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 383 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak also argues that the 
Trial Chamber erred by establishing only the periods during which the Appellants participated in the JCE without also 
specifying when the other JCE members, in particular Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko, participated. Praljak's Appeal 
Brief, paras 409-410. 
6507 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 87. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 428-429 (22 Mar 20l7). 
6508 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 88. 
6509 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 89. 
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made use of the political and military apparatus of the HZ(R) H_B.651O The Trial Chamber also 

found that Praljak and the other Appellants, as JCE members, intended that the relevant crimes be 

committed in order to further the CCP.6511 Moreover, the Trial Chamber concluded that: (1) key 

moments of the JCE were made possible through the collaboration of the HZ(R) H-B leadership and 

authorities,6512 including Praljak;6513 (2) Praljak consulted with other JCE members to devise and 

implement the CCP;6514 and (3) Praljak intended to expel the Muslim population from the BiH and 

shared this intention with the other JCE members.6515 The Appeals Chamber therefore is not 

persuaded by Praljak's assertion that "some kind of interaction" should have been established. The 

Trial Chamber's findings make it clear that Praljak formed a plurality of persons sharing the CCP 

from January 1993 to November 1993 with Pdic, Petkovic, Coric, and Stojic, as well as with Pusic 

as of April 1993.6516 Additionally, Praljak provides no support for his assertion that the Trial 

Chamber was required to establish with whom he entered into agreement in January 1993 and with 

whom he subsequently remained in agreement.6517 Thus, the requirement that a plurality of 

individuals shared the CCP was met and the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's arguments, 

discussed above, in support of his contention that the Trial Chamber ened by failing to establish 

that he shared with JCE members the intent to further the CCP. Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 39.2 

is dismissed. 

(iv) Alleged errors in finding that Praljak shared the criminal intent of the JCE members 

(Praljak's Sub-ground 39.3) 

1922. Praljak asserts that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted the evidence and failed to apply the 

standard of beyond reasonable doubt when it found that the only reasonable inference was that he 

shared the intent to expel the Muslim popUlation from BiH.6518 He argues that: (1) a proper analysis 

of the evidence shows that he did not have any criminal intent;6519 (2) the Trial Chamber inconectly 

infened his intent from his position in Croatia and evidence that he was fulfilling his functions 

6510 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41,43-44. See supra, paras 789-790. See also supra, paras 1759-1760. 
65J1 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67, 625. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66,68. 
6512 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1219. 
6513 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220, 1223, 1230. 
6514 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
6515 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. 
6516 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 469-628 (findings on Praljak's involvement 
in the JCE including his collaboration with other JCE members). 
6517 Likewise, the Appeals Chamber finds that the details of the JCE membership of Tudman, Susak, and Bobetko were 
not necessary to establish Praljak' s shared intent. See supra, paras 1910-1911. 
6518 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 415-417. 
6519 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 415, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 458-460 (Praljak's Ground 41.4). 
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whereas there is no evidence of his criminal intent;6520 and (3) the Trial Chamber did not take into 

consideration other possible explanations that could have been drawn from the evidence.6521 

1923. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's assertions are unsupported, undeveloped, and 

should be summarily dismissed.6522 

1924. The Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak has failed to substantiate his arguments under 

this sub-ground of appeal, particularly as the Trial Chamber's findings on his shared intent were not 

based only on his fulfilment of his functions6523 and he has offered no other reasonable inference. 

Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 39.3 is therefore dismissed. 

(b) Alleged errors in finding that Praljak had the necessary l1Wl7S rea (Praliak's Ground 41) 

(i) Alleged errors in finding that Praljak knew that the HVO committed crimes (Praljak's 

Sub-ground 41.1) 

1925. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he knew that HVO soldiers 

committed crimes as there is no evidence to support its finding that he was informed of such crimes 

through HVO internal communication channels.6524 Praljak asserts that: (1) it is unclear which 

crimes the Trial Chamber found he had been informed of because it refers to his knowledge of 

crimes in "other municipalities,,;6525 (2) he could not have been informed through HVO intemal 

communication channels before he was part of the HVO structure as of 24 July 1993;6526 and (3) for 

the period after 24 July 1993, it should have been established that he was infOlmed of the crimes as 

his position alone was insufficient to presume actual or constructive knowledge.6527 

1926. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was "amply supported" by 

evidence and factual findings regarding the functioning of HVO internal communication channels, 

Praljak's involvement in military operations, and Praljak's regular field presence.6528 It also asserts 

that, for JCE I liability, it was unnecessary to determine "exactly 'when, how and by whom'" 

Praljak was informed of each crime. 6529 

6520 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 416. 
6521 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 417. 
6522 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak),.para. 92. 
6523 S . . 1'. ee lIlj,a, para. 1933. 
6524 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 451; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 50. 
6525 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 451, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6526 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 451. 
6527 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 451-452, referring to OricTrial JUdgement, para. 319; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 49. 
See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 450. 
6528 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 94-97. 
6529 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 93. 
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1927. In reply, Praljak asserts that his knowledge about the military and political situation does 

not mean that he had knowledge about crimes being committed.653o 

1928. In its concluding section concerning Praljak's JCE I responsibility, the Trial Chamber noted 

that - as established in the previous section of the Trial Judgement - Praljak "was informed of the 

crimes committed by the members of the HZ(R) R-B armed forces primarily through HVO internal 

communication channels".6531 Bearing in mind the Trial Chamber's findings made elsewhere in the 

Trial Judgement, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered that HVO internal 

communication channels "worked relatively well and in any case sufficiently well for the 

chief/commander of the Main Staff or his deputy to be informed regarding the situation prevailing 

in the field".6532 Further, the Appeals Chamber observes that before his appointment as Commander 

of the Main Staff on 24 July 1993, the Trial Chamber considered evidence that between January and 

June '1993, Praljak was present in BiR, particularly in the municipalities of Gornji Vakuf, Ljubuski, 

Prozor, Jablanica, and Mostar,6533 was involved in certain operations,6534 and concluded that he 

received reports from commanders in the field.6535 In specific instances, the Trial Chamber 

considered that because crimes were committed on a systematic basis, the only reasonable inference 

from evidence that Praljak planned and directed HVO military operations and was aware of the 

situation in the field was that he also knew that crimes were committed.6536 Thus, based on these 

Trial Chamber findings, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the conclusion that Praljak was 

informed of the HVO's crimes primarily through HVO internal communication channels is 

sufficiently supported. Praljak, by only challenging the Dial Chamber's paragraph on his 

knowledge while ignoring the analysis of the evidence provided elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, 

fails to show an error. 

1929. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber did not only rely on 

Praljak's knowledge of crimes it found he obtained through HVO internal communication channels,· 

but also inferred his knowledge of crimes based on his involvement in the military operations in the 

various municipalities. In this regard, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) for Gornji Vakuf, 

Praljak planned, directed, facilitated, and was kept informed of the HVO military operations in 

Gornji Vakuf around 18 January 1993, and as the operations and crimes linked to them unfolded 

according to a preconceived plan, the only reasonable inference was that Praljak intended the 

6530 Praljak' s Reply Brief, para. 5l. 
6531 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6532 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 735. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 742 ("the Main Staff and its Chief were kept 
routinely informed of the situation prevailing on the ground"). 
6533 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 470. 
6534 See infra, para. 1929. 
6535 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 473. See also supra, paras 1836, 1849, 1852. 
6536 See, e.g., Trial Judgen:tent, Vol. 4, paras 572-573. See also infra, para. 1929. . 
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murders and destruction of property, as well as the arrests and removal of Muslims from the 

area;6537 (2) for Prozor, the crimes were carried out in an "organised and orchestrated manner" such 

that they did not "constitute random events but followed preconceived plans drawn up by the HVO 

leadership" and that because Praljak planned and directed the HVO military operations in Prozor 

Municipality as of 24 July 1993 and was informed of the situation on the ground before and after 

24 July 1993, the only reasonable inference was that he must have known that members of the HVO 

were committing crimes;6538 (3) for Mostar, the crimes were committed "systematically and/or over 

a period of time" demonstrating that they were orchestrated by the HVO leadership and that 

because Praljak directed the HVO military operations in Mostar during some of the period, the only 

reasonable inference was that he knew that crimes would be committed;6539 (4) for Vares, Praljak 

was made aware of crimes at a government meeting;6540 and (5) for Gabela Prison and Dretelj 

Prison, Praljak knew of the poor detention conditions and accepted the crimes committed in these 

10cations.6541 

1930. Considering all the Trial Chamber's findings set out in the preceding paragraphs and, in 

particular, those relating to the information channels, Praljak's presence and participation in 

military operations as well as his de facto and subsequent de facto and de jure position within the 

military chain of command,6542 the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably 

concluded as the only inference available that Praljak knew of the crimes committed by the HVO 

and Military Police. Recalling that Praljak's knowledge of crimes can be infelred from 

circumstantial evidence providing it is the only reasonable inference available,6543 Praljak fails to 

show error in this regard. Therefore, Praljak's contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously found 

that he knew of crimes being committed by HVO soldiers is rejected. For the same reasons, 

Praljak's assertion on the lack of clarity on which crimes he was found to be informed of is also 

,dismissed. Thus, his sub-ground of appeal 41.1 is dismissed. 

6537 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 562. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 556, 558, 560. See also infra, paras 1954-
1956. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's finding that the killing of the seven 
civilians in Dusa amounted to murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the findings on these crimes in Gornji 
Vakuf Municipality and Praljak' s conviction thereof. See supra, paras 441-443. 
6538 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 572-573. See also infra, paras 1963-1965, 1970. 
6539 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See also infra, para. 2014. 
6540 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 595,597. 
6541 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. See also infra, paras 2074-2081. 
6542 See supra, paras 1928-1929. 
6543 See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 172; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 971, 1404; 
Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 348, 406; CelebiCi Appeal Judgement, para. 458. 
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(ii) Alleged errors in deducing Praljak's intent from his military functions and activities 

CPraljak's Sub-ground 41.2) 

1931. Praljak asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously deduced that he possessed t~e requisite 

mens rea for crimes from his military functions and activities, namely his participation in planning 

HVO military operations which "do not in themselves involve the commission of crimes".6544 

1932. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not infer Praljak's intent from his mere 

involvement in military operations but from his use of the HVO and the Military Police to commit 

crimes forming part of the CCP. 6545 

1933. In analysing Praljak's intent, the Trial Chamber considered that he: (1) participated in 

planning the HVO military operations in the municipalities of Prozor, Mostar, and Vares; (2) was 

informed of crimes being committed by the HVO and the Military Police; and (3) continued to 

exercise "effective control" over these forces while knowing that they were committing crimes.6546 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber recalled its finding that, despite his authority over the HVO and the 

Military Police, Praljak did not make any serious efforts to stop the commission of crimes.6547 It 

concluded that the only reasonable inference it could draw was that Praljak intended to have the 

lCE crimes committed.6548 In its earlier discussions on Praljak's responsibility for events occurring 

at the various municipalities, the Trial Chamber detailed its reasoning for finding that Praljak 

planned, directed, or facilitated the military operations, knew of crimes, and thus accepted and 

intended the commission of the lCE crimes.6549 For the detention centres, Praljak - although not 

found to have planned the operations - knew of the crimes, did nothing to prevent or punish the 

crimes, and thus accepted and intended the commission of the lCE crimes.655o Praljak therefore 

only challenges one factor, namely his participation in the planning of HVO military operations, 

which the Trial Chamber considered in inferring his 111.ens rea. Regardless, Praljak fails to show any 

error in the Trial Chamber's approach of considering his fulfilment of his official functions or his 

military activities in planning military operations as a factor showing his intent, particularly as this 

6544 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 453, referring to Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 957. Praljak argues that 
"[l]eading military operations does not equate with involvement in crimes." Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 453. 
6545 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 90, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624, 628,1342. 
6546 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6547 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
6548 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6549 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 558, 560, 562 (Gornji Vakuf), 573, 575 (Prozor), 586 (Mostar), 594, 597 (Vares). 
See also infra, paras 1954-1956, 1963-1965, 1970,2014. 
6550 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611 (Gabela Prison), 614 (Dretelj Prison). See also infra, paras 2074-2081. 
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factor was taken into account alongside his knowledge of the crimes being committed during these 

military operations.6551 His sub-ground of appeal 41.2 is dismissed. 

(iii) Alleged errors in finding that Praljak possessed discriminatory intent (Praljak's Sub­

ground 41.3) 

1934. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber failed to properly establish that he possessed the 

discriminatory intent required for persecution.6552 He asserts that because the Trial Chamber 

convicted him for persecution as a crime under JCE I, "discriminatory intent is [a] prerequisite for 

his participation in the JCE and it is therefore legally impossible to draw his discriminatory intent 

from his participation in the JCE".6553 Praljak also argues that evidence that he assisted Muslims on 

"numerous occasions" militates against a finding that he had discriminatory intent.6554 

1935. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Praljak 

possessed discriminatory intent on the basis of his significant contribution to the ICE while 

knowing that crimes were being committed against Muslims.6555 It further argues that evidence of 

"limited or selective" assistance does not preclude a finding of discriminatory intent.6556 

1936. After a detailed analysis of the evidence, the Trial Chamber found that the only reasonable 

inference was that Praljak intended to expel the Muslim population from BiH.6557 The Trial 

Chamber also concluded that Praljak knew that .crimes were being committed against Muslims with 

the sole aim of forcing them to leave the territory, and thus by participating in the JCE he intended 

to discriminate against the Muslim population in order to facilitate their eviction.6558 Earlier in its 

analysis, the Trial Chamber specifically considered evidence that Praljak assisted humanitarian 

convoys to access East Mostar between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993 and found that it was 

unable to find that Praljak participated in hindering the arrival of humanitarian aid to Mostar or that 

he was aware that the HVO authorities were hindering its arrivaL6559 The Trial Chamber was free to 

consider, however, that this did not negate its finding that Praljak's participation in the JCE 

demonstrated his intent to discriminate against Muslims. The Appeals Chamber recalls that 

6551 See Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653, referring to Blagojevic and Jokic Appeal Judgement, para. 189 
(noting that "participation does not have to be in and of itself criminal, as long as the accused performs acts that in some 
way contribute to the furtherance of the common purpose" of the JCE and recalling that "the fact that the accused's 
participation amounted to no more than his or her 'routine duties' will not eXCUlpate the accused"). Cf Kordic and 
Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 957 (the Appeals Chamber found that leading a military attack which was not part of 
the persecutory campaign does not equate to involvement in crimes or the existence of the requisite mens rea). 
6552 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 454-457. 
6553 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 455. 
6554 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 456-457; Praljak's Reply Brief, paras 52-53. 
6555 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 98. 
6556 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 99. 
6557 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. 
6558 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. See Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1654. 
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evidence of limited and selective assistance towards a few individuals does not preclude a trier of 

fact from reasonably finding that the requisite intent to discriminate existed.656o Therefore, neither. 

Praljak's assertion that he assisted with humanitarian convoys, nor his assertion that he "personally 

assisted Muslims and accommodated a number of them in his house,,6561 satisfies the Appeals 

Chamber that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had discriminatory intent, in light of all the 

other findings of the Trial Chamber. 

1937. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's assertion that the Trial 

Chamber erred by inferring his discriminatory intent from his participation in the JCE.6562 As found 

by the Trial Chamber, the CCP: (1) was the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population which 

entailed the expUlsion of the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B territory through the 

commission of a range of crimes under the Statute;6563 (2) was accomplished by the JCE members, 

including Praljak, through the "use of the political and military apparatus of the HZ(R) H_B,,;6564 

and (3) was intended by Praljak who shared that intent with the other JCE members.6565 

Additionally, the Trial Chamber made numerous findings on Praljak's knowledge of or 

participation in the planning of the crimes in, inter alia, Gomji Vakuf, Prozor, and Mostar which 

targeted the Muslim population.6566 The Trial Chamber also found that Praljak condoned the crimes 

against the Muslims in Mostar.6567 Thus, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak knew of the crimes 

being committed against the Bosnian Muslims, and continued. to participate in the JCE until 

9 November 1993. Bearing in mind, moreover, that the essence of the JCE was inherently 

discriminatory as it consisted of the expUlsion of the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B 

territory through a range of crimes under the Statute, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial 

Chamber did not err in concluding that the only reasonable inference was that Praljak also 

possessed the specific intent to discriminate against the Muslim population. Praljak's sub-ground of 

appeal 41.3 is therefore dismissed. 

6559 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 588-590. 
6560 See Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para. 195; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 32; Rutaganda Appeal 
Judgement, para. 537. See also Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 232-233. 
6561 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 456. 
6562 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 455. 
6563 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43-44, 66, 428. See supra, paras 789-790. 
6564 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See supra, paras 789-790. 
6565 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See supra, paras 1921, 1924, 1928-1929. 
6566 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 558,562 (Praljak facilitated and directed operations in Gornji Vakuf and intended to 
have Muslims arrested, and removed from the area a~ well as for houses to be destroyed), 570, 573 (Praljak planned and 
directed operations in Prozor as of 24 July 1993 and must have known that the HVO were removing and detaining the 
Muslim population), 575 (Praljak was aware that work being done by detainees in Prozor was often on the front line), 
581, 586 (Praljak participated in directing and planning operations in Mostar between July and November 1993 and 
intended crimes including the destruction of mosques and the removal of women and children). See Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 3, paras 1694-1741 (findings on the various crimes committed by the HVO which specifically targeted Muslims 
and thereby the underlying crimes of persecution under Count 1). 
6567 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 620. 
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(iv) Alleged errors in finding that Praliak had the necessary intent for each ICE crime 

(Praljak's Sub-ground 41.4) 

1938. Praljak argues, under his sub-ground of appeal 41.4, that the Trial Chamber failed to 

establish that he possessed the requisite intent for each ICE crime.6568 He contends that because the 

Trial Chamber concluded only that he intended to expel the Muslim population from BiH, his 

liability is limited to "crimes implying the [expulsion] of the population".6569 Moreover, Praljak 

argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he intended to expel the Muslim population from 

BiH because it failed to assess relevant evidence to the contrary.6570 He asserts that the Trial 

Chamber ignored evidence that: (1) he was not obliged, nor able, to initiate criminal 

proceedings;6571 (2) he requested that competent bodies initiate criminal proceedings when he was 

informed of an illegal act as demonstrated by, inter alia, Exhibit P05530;6572 and (3) he 

continuously warned soldiers that crimes cannot be justified by military necessity and took 

measures to inform HVO members ofintemational humanitarian law.6573 

1939. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber considered Praljak's conduct "in light of 

the totality of the evidence" and found that he did not make any selious efforts to stop his 

subordinates from committing climes.6574 It submits that: (1) the Trial Chamber reasonably found 

that Praljak had authority to discipline the HVO and the Military Police;6575 (2) Exhibit P05530 is a 

report condemning him for not taking measures to combat widespread looting by HVO and Military 

Police units;6576 (3) the evidence cited by Praljak to show that he continuously warned soldiers 

about comnlitting climes relates primarily to conduct unrelated to the CCP;6577 and (4) the Trial 

Chamber considered evidence that Praljak took measures to inform HVO members about 

international humanitatian law but concluded that he made no real efforts to enforce those rules.6578 

1940. Contrary to Praljak's submission, the Tlial Chamber did not conclude only that he intended 

to expel the Muslim popUlation from BiH. Additionally, the Trial Chamber found the CCP was the 

6568 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 458. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 391 (22 Mar 2017). 
6569 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 458, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 391 
(22 Mar 2017). Praljak asserts that he could not be convicted for crimes other than deportation and inhumane acts 
(forcible transfer) as crimes against humanity or unlawful deportation/transfer as grave breaches of the Geneva 
Conventions. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 458. 
6570 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 459-460. 
6571 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 459, referring to Exs. P00449, P01760, lD00201, P09552, 4D00861. 
6572 Praljak's Appeal Blief, para. 459, referring to Exs. P05530, 3D03316; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 48. 
6573 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 459, referring to, inter alia, Exs. 3D03316, 3DOl193; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 48. 
6574 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91. The Prosecution argues that Praljak denied that crimes were being 
committed, condoned and facilitated those crimes, a~d actively contributed to concealing them from the international 
community. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91. 
6575 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 495-496. 
6576 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91. 
6577 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91. 
6578 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 91. 
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domination by the HR H-B Croats through ethnic cleansing of the Muslim popu1ation.6579 The Trial 

Chamber also found that Pra1jak and the other Appellants, as JCE members, intended that the 

relevant crimes be committed in order to further the CCP.6580 In this regard, the Trial Chamber 

found that JCE members "implemented an entire system for deporting the Muslim population of the 

HR H-B" which included the removal and placement in detention of civilians; murders and the 

destruction of property during attacks; mistreatment and devastation caused during eviction 

operations; mistreatment and poor conditions of confinement and the widespread use of detainees 

on the front lines for labour or as human shields, as well as murders and mistreatment related 

thereto; and the removal of detainees and their families outside of the territory of the BiH once they 

were re1eased.6581 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that, in concluding that "Praljak intended 

to expel the Muslim population" and that he "shared this intention with other members of the 

JCE",6582 the Trial Chamber was referring to the shared intent for the commission of the crimes that 

formed part of the JCE by relying on its findings on Praljak's intent for the commission of the 

crimes encompassed in that JeE made throughout the section of the Trial Judgement analysing the 

evidence with regard to his individual responsibility under JCE 1.6583 

1941. Importantly, after setting out the correct applicable law on the various crimes and JCE 

liability,6584 the Trial Chamber made extensive findings on the required actus reus and mens rea of 

the physical perpetrators for all crimes which it found were the means through which the CCP was 

achieved.6585 Thus, the Trial Chamber, applying the correct legal principles, found that the relevant 

elements of crimes were established. The Trial Chamber also found that JCE I crimes were 

attributable to Pra1jak, and that he and his co-accused used the members and structures of the HVO 

and the Military Police to commit crimes forming part of the CCP.6586 The Trial Chamber also 

explicitly concluded that "[eJveryone of the Accused, as members of the JCE, [ ... J intended that 

these crimes be committed in order to further the common plan,,6587 before it listed these crimes.6588 

Pra1jak does not address these findings under this ground of appeal. Thus, the Trial Chamber clearly 

identified the crimes which formed part of the CCP and found that Pra1jak shared the requisite 

6579 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. 
6580 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67,625. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66,68. 
6581 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could 
conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. 
While this means that Praljak did not have the intent for murder and wilful killing from January 1993 until June 1993, 
this does not affect the Trial Chamber's remaining findings concerning his contributions and intent for various crimes -
including murder and wilful killing from June 1993 - particularly as only a few murders forming part of the CCP were 
found to have occurred prior to June 1993. See supra, para. 876. 
6582 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. 
6583 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 625-626,628. See supra, para. 1933. 
6584 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 31-221. 
6585 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 509-1741, Vol. 4, para. 68. 
6586 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
6587 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 67. 
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intent for these crimes.6589 Thus, Praljak's argument that his intent for each JCE crime was not 

established is dismissed as he fails to provide support for this argument. 6590 

1942. Moreover, Pra1jak does not show that the Trial Chamber failed to assess relevant evidence 

allegedly contradicting its finding that he intended to expel the Muslim population from BiR. In 

coming to this conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) Praljak continued to participate in 

the planning of HVO military operations while knowing that HVO members were committing 

crimes; and (2) despite his authority over the HVO and the Military Police, Praljak did not make 

any serious efforts to stop them from committing crimes.6591 With regard to the latter .finding, the 

Trial Chamber considered evidence that Praljak condoned crimes by congratulating HVO troops 

deployed in Mostar while knowing of their crimes.6592 Notably, the Trial Chamber found that 

Praljak had de jure and de facto authority over, inter alia, control and discipline of the RVO, 

including the Military Police.6593 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's 

discussion of evidence showing that Praljak managed discipline with the HVO, including evidence 

that: (1) in August 1993 he ordered the commander of the Klis Battalion to file a report to him 

concerning a Main Staff order punishing HVO soldiers with disciplinary measures as that order had 

not been implemented;6594 and (2) on 22 September 1993, he took measures to organise the system 

of military justice in the HVO to resolve disciplinary problems.6595 In light of the finding that he 

controlled the discipline of the HVO including the Military Police, and considering that initiating 

criminal proceedings is only one measure which can be taken by a superior, Praljak fails to show 

, that his alleged inability to initiate criminal proceedings calls into question the Trial Chamber's 

finding that he did not make any serious efforts to stop crimes from being committed. 

1943. Additionally, the evidence cited by Praljak does not support his submission that he 

requested competent bodies to initiate criminal proceedings but merely shows that he ordered one 

convoy stopped on suspicion of looting, without showing that any disciplinary measures were 

taken, and that he issued a general warning against committing criminal offences.6596 Further, the 

Trial Chamber explicitly considered evidence that Praljak organised a conference on international 

humanitarian law and distributed pamphlets on the subject to HVO members. 6597 Thus, contrary to 

6588 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68. 
6589 See Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468. See also supra, paras 1770-1772. 
6590 The Appeals Chamber will address Praljak's arguments on his intent regarding the crime of unlawful infliction of 
terror below. See infra, paras 2015-2024. . 
6591 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 625-626. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 620. 
6592 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 620, referring to Ex. P05365. 
6593 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 495, referring to Exs. P03706, P03829, P04207, P04640, 3D02756, P06224, 
3D02793, P06269, 3D02772. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 482,496,498-501,506,624. 
6594 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 496, referring to Ex. P04640. 
6595 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 496. 
6596 Ex. P05530; Ex. 3D03316. 
6597 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 498. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 499-502. 
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Praljak's assertion, the Trial Chamber did not ignore this evidence. Praljak's arguments are rejected 

and his sub-ground of appeal 41.4 dismissed. 

(c) Conclusion 

1944. In sum, Praljak has failed to demonstrate any error by the Trial Chamber regarding his 

shared intent to further the CCP or his intent to commit the crimes encompassed within the CCP.6598 

Praljak's grounds of appeal 39 and 41 are dismissed. 

6. Alleged errors concerning Praljak' s involvement in, knowledge of, and intent with regard to, 

crimes committed in the municipalities and detention centres 

(a) Gornii VakufMunicipality CPraljak's Ground 42) 

1945. The Trial Chamber found that Praljak actively participated in drafting the 15 January 1993 

Ultimatum, which demanded that ABiH forces present in Provinces 3, 8, and 10 of the Vance-Owen 

. Plan subordinate themselves to the HVO within five days.6599 It noted that reports dated 

16 January 1993 prove that Pra1jak was involved in implementing the ultimatum and, consequently, 

in planning the military operations in the Gornji Vakuf area in January 1993.6600 Notably, the Trial 

Chamber found that Praljak facilitated and directed the military operations in Gornji Vakuf 

Municipality around 18 January 1993 by issuing two orders that artillery be sent to Gornji 

Vakuf.6601 It also held that Praljak was kept abreast of the situation in the field in January 1993.6602 

The Trial Chamber concluded that insofar as Praljak planned, directed, facilitated, and. was kept 

informed of the military operations in Gornji Vakuf around 18 January 1993, and as the operations 

and the crimes directly linked to them unfolded according to a preconceived plan, the only 

reasonable inference it could draw was that he intended the murders and destruction of property, as 

well as the arrests of Muslims regardless of their status and removal of Muslims from the area.6603 

1946. In arriving at its conclusions, the Trial Chamber recalled the manner in which the HVO 

launched an attack on Gornji Vakuf town and the villages of Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and Zdrimci 

6598 The Appeals Chamber will address Praljak's challenges concerning his intent to commit the crime of unlawful 
infliction of terror in section below discussing his involvement and intent regarding crimes committed in Mostar 
Municipality. See infra, paras 2015-2026. 
6599 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 553. 
6600 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 556, referring to Exs. P01162, lD00816, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 534-537. 
6601 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 558. 
6602 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 560, referring to Ex. P0l293. 
6603 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 562. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's finding 
that the killing of the seven civilians in Dusa amounted to murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the 
findings on these crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality and Praljak's conviction thereof. On the same basis, the Appeals 
Chamber considers elsewhere that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of 
the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. Thus, the following section will only focus on the remaining 
committed in Gornji Vakuf. See supra, paras 441-443,882. 
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and, noting the "total similarity in the way the operations unfolded and the crimes [were] committed 

in each of these villages", found that they "corresponded to a preconceived plan,,.6604 Notably, the 

Trial Chamber found that the HVO operations "unfolded in exactly the same way", particularly in 

the four villages.6605 In this regard, it observed that the HVO first attacked the villages' by shelling 

and destroying several Muslim houses, which killed several people, and then entered the villages, 

arrested all the popUlation there, separated the men from the women, the children, arid the elderly, 

detained all the Muslims in the villages at different locations in the municipality, and destroyed 

their houses.6606 

(i) Praljak's involvement in planning the events in Gomji Vakuf 

1947. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was involved in planning the 

HVO military operations in Gomji Vakuf.6607 He contends that as the HVO military actions in the 

area were not planned, but provoked by the ABiH, he could not have participated in the planning of 

these actions.6608 Praljak also asserts that there is no evidence suggesting that he participated in any 

plan regarding events in Gomji Vakuf.6609 

1948. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamqer's findings were reasonable a!ld that 

Praljak merely repeats his trial arguments or offers an alternative interpretation of the evidence.6610 

1949. As noted earlier, the Trial Chamber found that the military operations in Gomji Vakuf town, 

Dusa, Hrasnica, Uzricje, and Zdrimci "unfolded in exactly the same way", and that the similmity in 

these operations and in the crimes committed showed that the attacks corresponded to a 

preconceived plan.6611 In disputing the Trial Chamber's findings, Praljak contends that the Gomji 

Vakuf operations were not planned. However, Praljak's only support for his argument is a cross­

reference to other arguments presented, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.6612 

6604 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. 
6605 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. 
6606 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 561. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 343-388. 
6607 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 465, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 556. See Praljak's Reply Brief, 
para. 59. Praljak also asserts that the events in Gornji Vakuf were not a part of the CCP. Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
Eara. 461, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 234-245 (Praljak's Ground 15). 

608 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 465, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 234-245 (Praljak's Ground 15). Praljak 
asserts that the fact that "both sides had extremists who did not obey [ ... J their respective commanders" militate in 
favour of a theory that the events were not planned. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 465, referring to Ex. POl163, p. 3. 
6609 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 468. 
6610 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 113, 115. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 437-438 (22 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution also argues that Praljak, inter alia: (1) actively participated in drafting the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum; and 
(2) travelled to Prozor to ensure the ultimatum was implemented on the ground. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
para. 113. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116. 
b611 . 

See supra, para. 1946. 
6612 See supra, paras 862-867 (dismissing Praljak's arguments that an alternative reasonable inference was that HVO 
attacks occurred in response to military operations initiated by the ABiH and that the Gornji Vakuf events were not 

'. of the CCP). 
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Notably, Praljak does not challenge the Trial Chamber's consideration of how the operations 

occurred in finding the existence of a preconceived plan.6613 Thus, Praljak's argument that the 

Gornji Vakuf operations were not planned is unsubstantiated and he fails to show an error in this 

regard. Praljak also argues that'there is no evidence of his participation in any plan. In this respect, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered evidence showing that Praljak: 

(1) was actively involved in drafting the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum;6614 (2) was involved in 

implementing the ultimatum in Gornji Vakuf;6615 (3) issued orders for artillery to be sent to Gornji 

Vakuf;6616 and (4) was kept informed of the situation in the field.6617 Praljak's contention is 

therefore without merit. His arguments on his involvement in the Gornji Vakuf operations are 

dismissed. 

(ii) Praljak's knowledge of events in Gornji Vakuf and his intent 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1950. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he had criminal intent 

based on the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum.6618 He also submits that the Trial Chamber found that 

only the HVO leaders gave a criminal interpretation to the Vance-Owen Plan and that he was not a 

member of the HVO at that time.6619 Praljak contends that the proper assessment of the ultimatum 

shows that he acted with the "intention to implement the peace agreement and calm down any 

tensions and conflicts".662o Specifically, he submits that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was: 

(1) drafted in Zagreb, in the presence of both parties and international representatives, including 

Izetbegovic, Vance, and Owen; (2) in line with the Vance-Owen Plan; and (3) aimed at preventing 

the conflict and the resulting crimes.6621 Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber ignored the text and 

spirit of the ultimatum which treated HVO units and ABiH units equally, as illustrated by the call 

for the HVO to subordinate its units to the ABiH in Provinces 1, 5, and 9.6622 He contends that he 

6613 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2,paras 344,357-358,369,374,381, Vol. 4, para. 56l. 
6614 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 475,553, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 40569, 40571 (21 May 2009). 
6615 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 556, referring to Exs. P01162, lD00816. 
6616 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 558, referring to Exs. POll72, P01202, P01277. 
6617 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 560, referring to Ex. P01293. 
6618 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 464. See also Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 60. 
6619 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 58, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
6620 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 464. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 466. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 391-392 
(22 Mar 2017). 
6621 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 462, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01158, p. 51, P01391, p. 33. See Praljak's Appeal 
Brief, para. 463. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 414 (22 Mar 2017). . 
6622 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 463, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01150, P01155. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 392 
(22 Mar. 2017). Praljak asserts that the implementation of the ultimatum ordered that ABiH officers be included in the 
HVO command. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 463, referring to Ex. POI 139. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 58. 
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was sent to Gornji Vakuf Municipality pursuant to a request by Tudman and Izetbegovie in order to 

calm the tensions between the HVO and the ABiH.6623 

1951. Praljak also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was kept informed 

about the situation in Gomji Vakuf.6624 He contends that the Trial Chamber based this finding on 

Exhibit P01293, PetkoviC's order instructing Zeljko Siljeg to report urgently to "Brada" on the 

situation in Gornji Vakuf, which it interpreted erroneously.6625 Praljak submits that this report does 

not demonstrate that Siljeg had to inform him about the situation in Gomji Vakuf and that it is not 

clear whether Siljeg should have sent this report to him or to Petkovie.6626 He points out that the 

Trial Chamber recognised that it did not have specific information about the instructions he might 

have given to the local HVO units.6627 Praljak further contends that Exhibit P01293 concerned a 

cease-fire which confirms his own testimony that his intention was to calm the situation.6628 

1952. The Prosecution responds that Praljak's claim that the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum was 

prepared in order to prevent the conflict should be rejected, and that he merely disagrees with the 

Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence.6629 It argues that the Trial Chamber properly 

assessed the ultimatum, including the manner in which it was implemented in Gomji Vakuf.6630 The 

Prosecution also contends that any subordination of HVO units to the ABiH in provinces not falling 

within HZ(R) H-B territory does not undennine the Trial Chamber's reasonable finding that the 

ultimatum was to be implemented with force to consolidate the HVO's control over Gornji 

Vakuf.6631 The Prosecution further argues that, on 29 January 1993, while Muslim women, children, 

and elderly were being expelled from their homes in Gornji Vakuf, Praljak participated in a meeting 

with Corie and commanders of Military Police battalions deployed in Gomji Vakuf during which 

their activities were discussed and in which he explained how "Zagreb's position" should be 

implemented in the field. 6632 

6623 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 465, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01739/3D00561, P007181P00nO. Praljak replies 
that no mention was made of the displacement of the Muslim population during the 29 January 1993 meeting and that 
there is no evidence that he was aware of this displacement. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 61. See infra, para. 1952. 
6624 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 467, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 560. 
6625 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 467, referring to Ex. P01293. 
6626 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 467, referring to Ex. P01293. 
6627 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 466, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 559. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 392 
(22 Mar 2017). 
6628 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 467, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T. 40568-40582 (21 May 2009). 
6629 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116. The Prosecution contends that the evidence Praljak cites to show 
that the ultimatum was drafted in accordance with an "international agreement" reveals an ongoing disagreement with 
the Vance-Owen Plan. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116, referring to, inter alia, Herbert Okun, 
T. 16765-16770 (3 Apr 2007). 
6630 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116. The Prosecution also points to the same pattern of crimes in 
Jablanica and Prozor following the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116. 
6631 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116. 
6632 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 113, 116, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 477, 
527. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 114. The Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber 
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1953. The Prosecution also responds that Praljak merely repeats his trial testimony regarding 

Exhibit P01293 and that he only offers a different interpretation of the evidence.6633 It also argues 

that by claiming that the cease-fire was meant to end the hostilities, Praljak ignores the Trial 

Chamber's finding that this was only ordered after the HVO had secured their control over the 

area.6634 The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber properly established Praljak's shared. 

intent to carry out the crimes under JCE I liability to further the CCp.6635 

b. Analysis 

1954. The Appeals Chamber notes that, based on the Trial Chamber's findings, the ultimatum was 

in keeping with the Vance-Owen Plan.6636 However, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that any 

alleged error concerning the text and spirit of the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum could impact on the 

Trial Chamber's overall findings as Praljak misunderstands the Trial Chamber's reliance on the 

ultimatum. In this regard, the Trial Chamber found Praljak "was involved in implementing [the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum] in Gornji Vakuf and, consequently, in planning the HVO military 

operations in this area in January 1993".6637 Therefore, regardless of the alleged intention behind 

the ultimatum, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber also relied on the subsequent 

actions taken, in particular the orders for the use of force in implementing it, as well as the attacks 

launched on Gornji Vakuf Municipality to conclude that the JCE members involved intended to 

commit the relevant crimes in that municipality pursuant to the JCE.6638 Specifically, the Trial 

Chamber's finding that Praljak intended the crimes was based on: (l) his role in implementing the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum and thus his involvement in planning the Gornji Vakuf military 

operations;6639 (2) his role in facilitating and directing the Gornji Vakuf military operations;664o and 

reasonably found that Praljak's participation in the 29 January 1993 meeting is an example of his role in transmitting 
policies from Croatia with the aim of furthering the CCP. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116, referring to 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 540. 
6633 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116, referring to, inter alia, Slobodan Praljak, T. 44117-44119 
(31 Aug 2009), Ex. P01293. The Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber's interpretation of Exhibit P01293 is in 
keeping with the overall evidence regarding Praljak's awareness of the military situation on the ground due to his de 
facto authority over the HVO and his presence in the field. It also asserts that the Trial Chamber's acknowledgement 
that it lacked information on Praljak's instructions to Siljeg and Miro Andric does not undermine its conclusions. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 51. See 
AEpeal Hearing, AT. 439 (22 Mar 2017). 
664 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 116, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 110, 
referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 390-395, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
6635 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 117. 
6636 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 448-449,452. 
6637 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 556 (emphasis added). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 338-341, Vol. 4, 
Earas 554-555. 

638 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 453, Vol. 2, paras 338-342, Vol. 4, paras 44-45, 125-126,330,334,553,556, 702. 
The Appeals Chamber further notes that Praljak' s argument, that only HVO leaders gave a criminal interpretation to the 
ultimatum and that he was not an HVO leader, ignores the Trial Chamber's finding that he did have de facto command 
authority over the HVO at this time. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 482. 
6639 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 556. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 553. 
6640 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 558. 
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(3) him being kept informed of the military operations which together with the crimes directly 

linked to them unfolded according to a preconceived plan.6641 

1955. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Praljak's overarching submission that 

his intention was to prevent conflict. The Trial Chamber was cognisant of the attempts to negotiate 

peace and meetings between the HVO and the ABiH to calm the situation on the ground,as well as 

Praljak's role as an envoy of Tudman and Izetbegovic,6642 but nonetheless found that Praljak 

intended the crimes. Considering Praljak's actions, the Appeals Chamber finds that he only offers 

his own interpretation of the evidence without showing an error in the Trial Chamber's assessment 

of the evidence. Thus, Praljak, by only arguing that he acted with the intention to calm tensions in 

the area, fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he intended the relevant crimes 

committed in Gomji Vakuf.6643 

1956. Regarding Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was kept 

informed about the Gomji Vakuf military operations, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber relied on Exhibit P01293 in reaching this conclusion.6644 As noted earlier, Exhibit P01293 

is an order from Petko vic to Siljeg that he "is to report urgently to Brada in Mostar and send a 

report on the situation in Gomji Vakuf directly". 6645 Further, the Trial Chamber noted that "Brada" 

was the nickname given to Praljak, which Praljak does not challenge.6646 Thus, Praljak, by arguing 

that it was unclear who the report should have been sent to, merely offers an unpersuasive 

interpretation of this exhibit without showing that the Trial Chamber eiTed in relying on it as 

evidence that he was kept informed. Notably, the Trial Chamber also considered evidence that 

"Brada" was mentioned as being the person who issued orders in connection with the Gomji Vakuf 

military operations but concluded that it did not "have more specific information as to the nature of 

these orders".6647 In the Appeals Chamber's view, this consideration reasonably supports a finding 

that Praljak was aware of the events occurring in Gomji Vakuf. The Appeals Chamber thus finds 

that the reference to a cease-fire in Exhibit P01293 and the Trial Chamber's finding that it did not 

have specific information about the orders Praljak issued do not undermine the finding that he was 

6641 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 559-560,562. See infra, para. 1956. See also Ex. P01293. 
6642 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 337, Vol. 4, paras 475, 534, 556. 
6643 For the same reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's connected argument under his sub-ground of appeal 
40.7, namely that his participation in the military operations in Gornji Vakuf and Prozor is insufficient to conclude that 
his conduct was aimed at furthering the CCP because his activities in Gornji Vakuf were aimed at calming down the 
situation. See supra, paras 1877, 1882. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's finding 
that the killing of the seven civilians in Dusa amounted to murder and wilful killing, and thus has overturned the 
findings on these crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality and Praljak's conviction thereof. On the same basis, the Appeals 
Chamber considers elsewhere that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of 
the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, paras 441-443, 882. 
6644 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 560. 
6645 Ex. P01293, para. 3. See supra, para. 1951. 
6646 TriaIJudgement, Vol. 4, fn. 1113. 
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kept informed about the situation in Gomji Vakuf. Bearing in mind his involvement in the military 

operations,6648 the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier 

of fact could have concluded that he was kept informed about the military operations in Gornji 

Vakuf. 

c. Conclusion 

1957. ill sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in its findings on his participation in the Gomji Vakuf military operations and that he intended 

the relevant crimes committed during these operations.6649 Praljak's ground of appeal 42 is 

dismissed. 

(b) Prozor Municipality CPraljak's Ground 43) 

1958. The Trial Chamber found that Praljak planned and directed the Prozor operations as of 

24 July 1993, and that he was familiar with the situation in the field even before he became 

commander of the Main Staff and subsequently remained informed.6650 The Trial Chamber found 

that insofar as the arrests and removals in Prozor Municipality were carried out in an organised 

manner, by different units and in different locations, they did not constitute random events but 

followed a preconceived plan drawn up by the HVO leadership.6651 The Trial Chamber concluded 

that Praljak must have known that HVO members were removing and detaining the Muslim 

popUlation from Prozor in July 1993 and August 1993.6652 It found that as Praljak continued to 

exercise his functions, he accepted the detentions and removals.6653 

1959. The Trial Chamber also found that between June 1993 and September 1993, the HVO 

frequently used detainees for work on the front line.6654 Based on an order that Praljak issued to the 

Prozor forward command post on 17 August 1993 ("Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993") for the 

withdrawal of all detainees used for labour,6655 the Trial Chamber held that he "knew that Muslim 

detainees were being used for labour in the zone of responsibility of the Prozor forward command 

6647 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 559. 
6648 See supra, para. 1949. 
6649 See supra, fns 6603, 6643. 
6650 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 573. 
6651 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 572. Regarding the events in Prozor Municipality, the Trial Chamber recalled its 
various findings, including: (1) the arrests of Muslim men in June 1993, July 1993, and August 1993 by the Military 
Police, assisted by the Kinder Vod and SIS soldiers; and (2) arrests and removal of Muslim women, children, and 
elderly in late July 1993 and early August 1993 by the HVO and the Military Police. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 571. 
6652 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 573. . 
6653 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 573. ' 
6654 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 165-170, 173-177, 194-197,207-210, 
216-220. 
6655 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574, referring to Ex. P04260. 
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post".6656 Further, the Trial Chamber held that insofar as Praljak had "command authority over the 

HVO armed forces throughout the period when this work was being done, and as he was informed 

of the military situation on the field,,6?57 the only inference it could reasonably draw was that 

Praljak "was aware that the work being done was often on the front line".6658 It then found that he 

did not take any measures to prevent detainees from working on the front line prior to 

17 August 1993, and thus accepted it.6659 

(i) Whether Praljak knew that detainees were being used for unlawful labour (Praljak's 

Sub-ground 43.1) 

1960. Praljak submits that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding, the cited evidence does not 

show that he had knowledge of detainees being used for unlawful labour prior to 

17 August 1993.6660 He asserts that another reasonable conclusion that can be inferred from 

Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993 is that he issued that order "as he got information that detainees 

might have been used for unlawful labour" . 6661 Praljak contends that, even though he was informed 

about the military situation in the field, this was not directly linked to the use of detainees for 

unlawful labour. 6662 Praljak further argues that the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber does not 

indicate that detainees were being used for prohibited labour as "labour of prisonets is not forbidden 

per se".6663 He submits that he "did not have any reason to suspect that war prisoners were used for 

unlawful labour", since the HVO issued orders requesting that prisoners be treated in accordance 

with the Geneva Conventions and strictly forbidding the unlawful labour of detainees.6664 

1961. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings are reasonable, including 

Praljak's acceptance of the use of detainees on the front line, and that Praljak ignores other key 

findings.6665 It contends that the Trial Chamber properly determined that the work performed by 

detainees was unlawful,6666 and linked to the military operations.6667 The Prosecution also submits 

6656 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574. 
6657 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. 
6658 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. 
6659 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. 
6660 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 471-472. Praljak asserts that there is no evidence that proves when exactly he received 
information that detainees were being used for labour. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 471. 
6661 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 474. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 473. 
6662 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 475. Praljak also argues that the issuance of the order shows his adherence to Geneva 
Convention III. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 474. 
6663 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 472, referring to Geneva Convention III, Arts. 49-50. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 
475. See also Appeal Bearing, AT~ 392-393 (22 Mar 2017). 
6664 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 475. 
6665 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 154, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 65-68, 575. 
6666 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 151-164, Vol. 3, 
Earas 1500, 1502-1506. 

667 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 155, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1503, 1505-1506. The 
Prosecution submits that the use of detainees for unlawful labour cqntinued after Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993 as 
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that the Trial Chamber's finding on Praljak's awareness of the use of detainees on the front line was 

also based on his knowledge of the situation in the field before and after 24 July 1993,6668 his role in 

the operational command,6669 and his involvement in planning and directing the operations.667o 

Thus, according to the Prosecution, neither the absence of a specific document explicitly informing 

Praljak of the use of detainees for unlawful labour prior to 17 August 1993 nor the absence of a 

direct link between the labour and military operations render the Trial Chamber's finding regarding 

Praljak's awareness unreasonable. 6671 The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber's findings are 

not undermined by Praljak's remaining arguments.6672 

1962. Praljak replies that a finding that he accepted the crimes in Prozor is insufficient for proving 

intent under JCE liability and that his "knowledge and intention to use detainees for unlawful 

labour" should have been established prior to any conclusion on the "JCE policy". 6673 

1963. Praljak essentially argues that the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber does not show 

that he knew that the detainees were being used for labour prior to 17 August 1993 and that this 

labour was unlawful. The Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber's finding on Praljak's 

knowledge of the detainees being used for labour was based on Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993 

and a report from Ante Pavlovic on the next day.6674 The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that these 

exhibits clearly support the Trial Chamber's finding that Praljak "knew that Muslim detainees were 

being used for labour in the zone of responsibility of the Prozor forward command pOSt".6675 The 

Appeals Chamber notes that in discussing these two exhibits, the Trial Chamber did not explicitly 

conclude that Praljak knew of detained Muslims being used for labour prior to 17 August 1993.6676 

1964. Further, contrary to Praljak's submission, the Trial Chamber did not rely only on these two 

exhibits to find that "he was aware that the work being done by the detainees was often on the front 

shown by Zeljko Siljeg's order dated 8 September 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 155, referring to 
EX.P04877. . 
6668 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 156, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 566, 573. 
6669 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 156, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 472. 
6670 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 156, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 570, 572-573. The 
Prosecution also submits that "Praljak's conduct had a direct impact on the commission of crimes against Prozor's 
Muslim civilian population". Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 156. 
6671 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 157. 
6672 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 157. 
6673 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 73. Praljak also replies that there is no evidence that he was informed of Siljeg's order 
which was contradictory to his instructions. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 74. 
6674 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574, referring to Exs. P04260, P04285. The Appeals Chamber notes that Ante 
Pavlovic was the commander of the Prozor forward command post at the relevant time. Further, although the Trial 
Chamber cited Exhibit P04285 to find that Pavlovic forwarded Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993, this exhibit in fact is 
a confirmation that Praljak's order was implemented. Trial Jtldgement, Vol. 4, para. 574; Ex. P04285 ("we hereby 
inform you that all prisoners have been withdrawn from the Rama Brigade's zone of responsibility within the deadline 
indicated"). 
6675 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574. 
6676 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 574. 
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line".6677 Notably, the Trial Chamber also considered that the HVO frequently used detainees from 

Prozor for work on the front line between June and September 1993,6678 Praljak was informed of the 

military situation in the field,6679 and he had command authority over the HVO.6680 The Trial 

Chamber also referred to its earlier findings on the use of detainees for forced labour in Prozor 

which included that: (1) detainees from Prozor Secondary School worked on fortifications and dug 

trenches on the front lines, or near those lines for the HVO without pay,6681 - these detainees were 

frightened, injured, routinely beaten, sexually abused, and wounded or killed by exposure to ABiH 

gunfire, and some never returned;6682 and (2) from late June to July 1993, some Muslim HVO 

members or TOI ABiH members who were detained at Prozor Fire Station worked on the front line 

trenches.6683 The Trial Chamber found that this work on the front line was "clearly linked to the 

'1' ." 6684 lll1 Itary operatIOns . 

1965. Based on these findings,6685 the Appeals Chamber first considers that nothing prevented the 

Trial Chamber from taking account of Praljak's knowledge of the military situation in the field in 

determining whether he knew that detainees were being used for labour on the front line, i. e. for 

building fortifications and digging trenches. Relevantly, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber considered that Praljak was "very present in the field",6686 and "acquainted with the 

situation in Prozor 'in detail,,,6687 which he himself confirmed by testifying that "he was very 

familiar with the military situation [in that area] [ ... ] because he had gone there several times, 

notably to the vicinity of Vakuf and Prozor".6688 Praljak's assertion that there is no direct link_ 

between the detainees being used for labour and the military situation is unpersuasive and dismissed 

as such. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Praljak's arguinent that he issued 

Praljak's Order of 17 August 1993 as soon as he became aware of detainees being used for labour, 

6677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. 
6678 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 164-177, 189-197,212-222. 
6679 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 566, 573. See also infra, para. 1965. 
6680 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 575. 
6681 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 164-165. The Appeals Chamber notes that detainees from Prozor Secondary School 
worked for the HVO doing various tasks without pay, and that some volunteered if the task was not dangerous. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 164, 170. 
6682 TriaIJudgement, Vol. 2, paras 168, 170. 
6683 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 194-195, 197. 
6684 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1503, 1505. 
6685 See supra, para. 1963. 
6686 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 489. 
6687 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 566, referring to Ex. P03516, pp. 4-5 (wherein Siljeg reported to the Main Staff on 
17 July 1993 that: (1) Praljak visited the area "for longer, and [ ... J is acquainted with the situation in detail"; and 
(2) "all reports on incidents, problems, about the situation are submitted daily" to the Department of Defence and the 
Main Staff). 
6688 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 566, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 43766, 43770, 43772-43773 (25 Aug 
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particularly as he "was directly involved in the planning and directing of the HVO military 

operations between July and mid-September 1993".6689 

1966. Concerning Praljak's arguments oli the detainees being used for "prohibited" labour, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the inference drawn by the Trial Chamber was not based only on the 

exhibits to which it expressly referred.669o Since the detainees were used for work on the front line, 

such as construction of military fortifications and digging trenches, the Trial Chamber found that 

this labour was unlawfu1.6691 Praljak simply asserts that he was not informed and had no "reason to 

suspect" that the labour was unlawful, but does not address the findings on his involvement in the 

military operations. Taking into account Praljak's role in and knowledge of events in Prozor, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded, as 

the only reasonable inference, that he knew that detainees were being used for labour on the front 

line prior to 17 August 1993, which was found to be unlawful labour in violation of Article 3 of the 

Statute. For the same reason, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's argument that he did not 

have any reason to suspect that war prisoners were being used for unlawful labour given the HVO 

orders requesting that prisoners be treated in accordance with the Geneva Conventions. Praljak's 

remaining contentions are dismissed as irrelevant and unpersuasive. 

1967. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he knew about the use of detainees on the front 

line in Prozor.6692 Therefore, Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 43.1 is dismissed. 

(ii) Whether Praljak had the required intent for crimes committed in Prozor CPraljak's 

Sub-ground 43.2) 

1968. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by convicting him for the Prozor crimes 

as it could not find that he had the requisite intent.6693 He argues that the Trial Chamber could only 

find that he knew of and accepted the crimes, which is insufficient to show his intent,6694 

1969. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly assessed Praljak's intent, 

including his shared intent which encompassed the Prozor crimes in furtherance of the CCP. 6695 

6689 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 570. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 566-569. 
6690 See Trial Judgement, paras 574-575; supra, paras 1960, 1963. 
6691 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1503-1506. . 
6692 The Appeals Chamber will address Praljak's final argument that the Trial Chamber incorrectly inferred his intent 
based on his knowledge and acceptance of the crimes in the section below. See infra, para. 1970. 
6693 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 477, 479, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 67, 573. See also Praljak's 
A~peal Brief, para. 476. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 392 (22 Mar 2017). . 
664 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 477; supra, para. 1962. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 75. Praljak contends that 
"[t]he accused must both intend the commission of the crime and intend to participate in a [common criminal purpose] 
aimed at its commission". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 478. 
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1970. The Appeals Chamber first notes that it dismisses elsewhere Praljak's challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he shared the intent with the other JCE members to carry out the 

crimes forming part of the CCP - crimes which included those committed in Prozor in the summer 

'of 1993.6696 As for Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber incorrectly inferred his intent from 

his knowledge and acceptance of the crimes, as a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber recalls 

that the requisite mens rea for a conviction under JCE I can be inferred from a person's knowledge 

of the common plan involving the commission of the crime, combined with his continuous 

participation, if this is the only reasonable inference available on the evidence.6697 Thus, the Trial 

Chamber's findings regarding Praljak's knowledge of the CCP, in combination with its finding that 

he knew of and accepted the relevant crimes committed in Prozor Municipality, led the Trial 

Chamber to conclude that the only reasonable inference it could draw from the fact that he 

participated in the planning of the military operations in, inter alia, Prozor during the summer of 

1993, and "that he continued to exercise control over the armed forces while knowing that its 

members were committing crimes in other municipalities [ ... ], is that he intended to have these 

crimes committed".6698 Recalling that the Trial Judgement must be read as a whole,6699 the Appeals 

Chamber finds that Praljak does not present any other reasonable inference that can be drawn from 

the evidence. Moreover, Praljak fails to show an error of law and his arguments are thus dismissed. 

1971. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inference, that he had the requisite intent 

for the relevant crimes committed in Prozor Municipality. Consequently, Praljak's sub-ground of 

appeal 43.2 is dismissed. 

(iii) Conclusion 

1972. Based on the foregoing, Praljak's ground of appeal 43 is dismissed. 

6695 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 158. The Prosecution asserts that it was unnecessary to find that 
Praljak was aware of each criminal incident once the shared intent related to "the types of crimes" to be committed in 
furtherance of the CCP. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 158, referring to Sainovic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 1491. 
6696 See supra, para. 1921; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 44-45, 65-68, 627. See also supra, paras 904-908. The 
Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were 
part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber also 
finds elsewhere that Praljak's convictions for murder and wilful killing in relation to two killings in Toscanica, Prozor 
Municipality, should be overturned. See supra, paras 880-882. 
6697 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652, referring to, inter alia, Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 512, 
Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, paras 202,204,697, Brdanin AppealJudgement, paras 428-429 . 

. 6698 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6699 Stallisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 376, 705; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; 
MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. 
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(c) Mostar Municipality CPraljak's Ground 44, Ground 21 in part, Ground 23 in part, and Sub­

ground 40.7 in part) 

1973. In assessing Praljak's responsibility, the Trial Chamber recalled its findings that the HVO 

military operations in Mostar Municipality resulted in, inter alia: (l) the shooting and shelling of 

East Mostar between early June 1993 and early March 1994, which killed and wounded many of its 

inhabitants;6700 (2) snipers in West Mostar opening fire at Muslims in East Mostar between 

May 1993 and February 1994;6701 (3) the destruction of and damage to mosques in East Mostar in 

1993;6702 (4) the destruction of the Old Bridge on 8 November 1993;6703 (5) an attack on the Rastani 

village, the Mostar hydro-electric plant, and the Tihomir Misic Barracks between 24 and 

26 August 1993;6704 and (6) the killing of four Muslim men and the infliction of physical and 

mental abuse on women and children in Rastani village around 24 August 1993, and, due to the 

"particularly coercive atmosphere", the Muslim women and children had no choice but to flee the 

village to reach territory under ABiH control. 6705 The Trial Chamber found that these crimes were 

committed systematically and "were not random acts or the actions of undisciplined soldiers but 

rather operations orchestrated by the HZ(R) H-B leadership".6706 

1974. As for Praljak's role in these military operations, the Trial Chamber concluded that it did 

not have evidence that would allow it to determine Praljak's "precise role in the events of 

9 May 1993 in Mostar, notably the extent to which he commanded the military operations or 

participated in them" and to support a finding on Praljak's "role in the criminal events in Mostar 

between 9 May 1993 and 24 July 1993".6707 The Trial Chamber, however, found that "Praljak 

participated in directing and planning the HVO operations,,6708 in Mostar Municipality between 

24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993.6709 The Trial Chamber concluded that, "[i]nsofar as Slobodan 

Praljak directed the HVO military operations in the Municipality of Mostar [during a part of the 

period the crimes were committed]",67l0 the only inference it could reasonably draw was that he 

knew that the crimes would be committed during the operations in Rastani and Mostar. It therefore 

found that he "intended to have buildings in East Mostar destroyed, including mosques and the Old 

Bridge, to deliberately target civilians, to have murders, wounding, physical and psychological 

6700 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 582. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 996-1018. 
6701 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 582. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1021-1194. 
6702 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 582. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1369-1377. 
6703 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 583. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1300-1318, 1345. The Appeals Chamber 
recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's findings on the Old Bridge. 
6704 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 953, Vol. 4, para. 584. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 948-952, 963. 
6705 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 584. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 968-969, 971-972. 
6706 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
6707 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 576-577. 
6708 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 581. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579-580, 585-586. 
6709 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579, 581, 625. 
6710 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
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abuse and attacks on members of international organisations committed and lastly, to have women 

and children removed". 6711 

(i) Praljak's involvement in the events in Mostar (Praljak's Ground 23, Sub-grounds 40.7 

and 44.1 all in part) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

1975. Praljak submits that he should be acquitted of all Mostar crimes committed before 

24 July 1993 and after 9 November 1993, because the Trial Chamber could not find that he was 

involved in the implementation of the CCP in Mostar before 24 July 1993, and found that he ceased 

to be a member of the JCE on 9 November 1993.6712 For the period in between these two dates, 

Praljak claims that his orders cited by the Trial Chamber were lawful and justified militarily.6713 In 

particular, he argues that the Trial Chamber: (1) "distorted" his order .dated 12 August 1993, as he 

in fact ordered that "infiltrated Muslim Armed Forces terrorist groups" be eliminated and the 

civilian population was not the target;6714 and (2) "omitted to specify", in relation to his order issued 

on 7 October 1993, that his instructions were to target "exclusively and explicitly Muslim Armed 

Forces".6715 Under his sub-ground of appeal 40.7, Praljak further argues that the Trial Chamber 

relied on his official function without establishing that his acts concerning the Mostar military 

operations constituted a significant contribution.6716 

1976. Praljak contests the Trial Chamber's finding that the military action resulting in the 

destruction of the Old Bridge was discussed in a meeting he attended on 7 November 1993.6717 

Under his ground of appeal 23, Praljak submits that it is unclear how the Trial Chamber made a link 

between the 7 November 1993 meeting and PetkoviC's order for an HVO offensive which was then 

implemented via an order by Miljenko Lasic, the. commander of the Mostar ZP.6718 Specifically, he 

argues that: (1) PetkoviC's order did not refer to the meeting; (2) while LasiC's order mentions the 

6711 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
6712 Praljak's Appeal Brief,paras 481, 483, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol.. 4, paras 576-577, 1228. See Praljak's 
Appeal Brief, para. 482, referring to Brdanill Appeal Judgement, paras 424, 427-428, Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, 
rara. 100. See also Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 81; Appeal Hearing, AT. 393 (22 Mar 2017). 

713 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 484, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 393 
(22 Mar 2017). 
6714 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 484, referring to Ex. P04125; Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 83. 
6715 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 484, referring to Ex. P05692. 
6716 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 428. 
6717 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 485, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 281-282, 286-289 (Praljak's 
Ground 23.1). . 
6718 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 282. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 281, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2, para. 1305, Ex. P06534, pp. 1-2. 
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meeting, it only refers to an unknown 7 November 1993 order;6719 and (3) the meeting's 

"conclusions" show that no concrete military actions were discussed.6720 

1977. Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber did not establish whether the shelling and sniping 

occurred during his command and whether he ordered them or knew about them.6721 He adds that 

the Trial Chamber failed to establish the shelling incidents with sufficient detail as well as the 

incidents for which it held him liable.6722 Praljak argues that he could not be held responsible for 

sniping incidents 1, 2, 3, 13, and 14, as they fell outside of the period of 24 July 1993 to 

9 November 1993.6723 He further contends that as the Trial Chamber only established the 

destruction date of one mosque which occurred byfore 24 July 1993 and failed to determine when 

the other mosques were destroyed, he cannot be held responsible.6724 

1978. The Prosecution responds that Praljak was properly convicted of crimes committed prior to 

24 July 1993 as they fonned part of the CCP and were committed during his JCE membership.672s 

Further, it submits that Praljak was not convicted of crimes committed after 9 November 1993.6726 

In relation to Praljak's orders, the Prosecution argues that they were neither lawful nor justified, and 

involved the commission of crimes designed to further the CCP.6727 According to the Prosecution, 

Praljak was appropriately held liable for all JCE I crimes committed in Mostar between May 1993 

and 9 November 1993,6728 and in particular: (1) crimes resulting from the HVO's shelling and 

sniping campaigns, to the extent they occurred during Praljak's JCE membership; and (2) the 

HVO's destruction of mosques, which the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded occurred between 

June and December 1993.6729 It adds·that the Trial Chamber was not required to establish Praljak's 

6719 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 281, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305, Exs. P06524, P06534. Praljak 
submits, with regard to PetkoviC's order, that: (1) its main objective was defence of Croatian territories in Lasva valley; 
and (2) it tasked the ZP Mostar with actions which should have been of low intensity. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 281, 
referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06534, pp. 1-2. 
6720 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 282. , 
6721 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 486, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 996-1018. Praljak also contests the 
Trial Chamber's findings regarding the shelling and sniping of Mostar by cross-referencing other sections of his appeal 
brief. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 486, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 247-254 (Praljak's Ground 20), 
256-273 (Praljak's Ground 21). 
6722 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 486, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 996-1018, Vol. 4, para. 582. 
6723 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 486, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1043-1070, 1152-1174. 
6724 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 487. 
6725 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 177, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1228, 1230, Karemera 
and Ngirul11patse Appeal Judgement, paras 109, 153. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 441-442 (22 Mar 2017). 
6726 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 177, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1228. See Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 441 (22 Mar 2017). . 
6727 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 182, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. The Prosecution 
also submits that the Trial Judgement neither distorted nor omitted details of these orders. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Praljak), para. 183. 
6728 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 178-179, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 449, 
Vol. 4, paras 41, 43-44, 49-59,628, 1230, 1231-1232, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 431. 
6729 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 179. The Prosecution further argues that Praljak is appropriately held 
liable for the destruction of the Old Bridge and that his liability for the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque in May 1993 
should be analysed under JCE III. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 179. 
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responsibility for specific .shelling incidents as he was convicted for the shelling campaign,6730 or 

that he ordered the shelling, given his shared intent for the shelling in Mostar to further the CCP.6731 

1979. The Prosecution also responds in relation to the 7 November 1993 meeting that while 

Praljak is correct that PetkoviC's order did not specifically mention the meeting, LasiC's order 

did.6732 It argues that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the highest-ranking HVO commanders 

discussed the Mostar offensive during a meeting the previous evening is not undermined by its 

explicit acknowledgement that the meeting's conclusions did not mention an attack on Mostar.6733 

1980. Further, the Prosecution argues that, given Praljak's level of control and involvement in the 

HVO's Mostar operations, it is "inconceivable" that the prolonged siege and attack in East Mostar 

could have occurred without Praljak's knowledge and approva1.6734 Praljak's control and 

responsibility over the East Mostar crimes, it submits, was confirmed by. evipence that, in a 

telephone call with Witness Galbraith, Gojko Susak said he would contact Praljak to stop the heavy 

shelling in East Mostar.6735 

1981. Praljak argues in reply that his conviction was not based on the shelling campaign, which 

cannot exist in a vacuum and must have been established in terms of the specific shelling 

incidents.6736 

b. Analysis 

i. Praljak's responsibility before 24 July and after 9 November 1993 

1982. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that it had no evidence to 

"support a finding on Slobodan Praljak's role in the criminal events in the Municipality of Mostar 

between 9 May [1993] and 24 July 1993".6737 As for Praljak's argument that he should therefore be 

acquitted of all crimes committed in Mostar Municipality before 24 July 1993, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that "[f]or crimes committed as part of a joint criminal enterprise it is sufficient to 

prove not the participation of the accused in the commission of a specific crime but the 

6730 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 179, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 996, 1000, 
1003-1004,1015-1016,1018, Vol. 4, paras 174, 176,272,936-938, Galic Appeal Judgement, paras 217-219,221-224. 
6731 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 179, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59, 65-68. 
6732 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 206. 
6733 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 206. 
6734 Appeal Hearing, AT. 443-445 (22 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 442 (22 Mar 2017). 
~735 Appeal Hearing, AT. 445 (22 Mar 2017), referring to Ex. P09506 (confidential). 
6736 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 82. Praljak argues that the Prosecution's reliance on the Galic Appeal Judgement is 
misplaced, as that case "was not linked to unspecified but to unscheduled incidents". Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 82, 
referring to Galic Appeal Judgement, paras 217-219. 
6737 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 577. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 576; supra, para. 1974. 
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responsibility of the accused in furthering the common criminal purpose".6738 Notably, "[w]hat is 

required is that [the accused] voluntarily participated in at least one aspect of the common 

purpose".6739 In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak was a member of the JCE from 

January 1993 to 9 November 1993, noting explicitly that he "contributed [to the JCE] from 

January 1993 to November 1993",6740 but made no mention of any interruption to his ICE 

membership.for the period between 9 May 1993 and 24 July 1993.6741 Accordingly, even though the 

Trial Chamber concluded that the evidence was unable to support a finding on Praljak's role in the 

criminal events in Mostar between 9 May 1993 and 24 July 1993, the Trial Chamber found that he 

was a contributing member of the JCE throughout that period. Further, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Praljak's responsibility for crimes committed in Mostar between 9 May 1993 and 

24 July 1993 also stems from the contributions of other JCE members to these crimes.6742 Thus, as 

Praljak was a member of the JCE during this time, the Trial Chamber did not err in finding Pniljak 

responsible for the crimes committed during this period. 

1983. In addition, the Trial Chamber also found that Praljak made a significant contribution to 

implementing the CCP,6743 which included his participation in directing and planning the HVO 

operations in Mostar Municipality between July and early November 1993.6744 The Appeals 

Chamber recalls its dismissal of Praljak's arguments challenging that the Mostar crimes, of which 

he was convicted,6745 were committed pursuant to the CCp.6746 Further, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses elsewhere Praljak's arguments challenging the expansion of the JCE which encompassed 

crimes in East Mostar, including the crimes before 24 July 1993.6747 Bearing in mind the Trial 

Chamber's finding that "insofar as" Praljak participated in the planning and directing of the Mostar 

military operations between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993, the only reasonable conclusion it 

6738 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 263. See Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, paras 109, 153. 
The Appeals Chamber also recalls that "contribution to a JCE 'may take the form of assistance in, or contribution to, the 
execution of the common purpose,' and [ ... ] it is not required that the accused physically committed or participated in 
the actus reus of the perpetrated crime". Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695 (internal references omitted). See 
POfovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Sainovic et ai. Appeal Jl.Jdgement, para. 987. 
673 Sainovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1510; Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 119; Tadic Appeal Judgement, 
rara.196. 

740 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. 
6741 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220, 1228, 1230. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44,65-68. 
6742 See Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1050 ("The Appeals Chamber reiterates that JCE members can incur 
liability for crimes committed in furtherance of the common plan either where the principal perpetrator of the crime is a 
JCE member", or "where the crime can be imputed to at least one JCE member and that this member - when using the 
principal perpetrators - acted in accordance with the common objective"). See also Sainovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, 
rara.1256. 

743 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 628, 1230. 
6744 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 49-59, 63, 65-68. The Trial Chamber excluded the murders, thefts, and sexual abuse 
that occurred during the eviction campaigns and in detention centres. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 70, 72, 632, 636-
638. 
6745 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630. 
6746 See supra, paras 931-934. 
6747 See supra, paras 792-814. 
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could draw was that he intended the crimes that occurred during the operations in Mostar and 

Rastani,6748 the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding him responsible for the JCE crimes committed in Mostar Municipality before 24 July 1993 

to the extent that he argues that he was not involved in the implementation of the CCP in Mostar 

before that date. His argument is dismissed. 

1984. As for Praljak's argument that he should be acquitted of all crimes after 9 November 1993, 

the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that, on 8 November 1993, Praljak "was 

relieved of his functions within the HVO Main Staff and relinquished them to Ante Roso on 

9 November 1993".6749 It subsequently found that "by giving up his functions within the HVO Main 

Staff and returning to Croatia to become an advisor to the Croatian Minister of Defence for the 

ministry's archive facilities, [Praljak] ceased being a member of the [JCE] group".6750 While this 

finding by the Trial Chamber can be interpreted to mean that Praljak was not convicted· of any 

crimes committed after 9 November 1993, the Appeals Chamber con~iders this interpretation to be 

inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's conclusion at the end of the section in the Trial Judgement 

assessing Praljak's responsibility pursuant to JCE I, namely that Praljak was held responsible "for 

all of the crimes forming part of the common criminal plan".6751 As the Trial Chamber's findings 

are thus ambiguous on whether Praljak was convicted for any crimes committed pursuant to the 

CCP after his membership in the JCE ended, the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion 

on this issue.6752 

1985. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that, under JCE liability, an accused cannot 

be held responsible for crimes committed during a time when he was not a member of the JCE.6753 

The Appeals Chamber thus finds that the Trial Chamber erred in law in holding Praljak liable for 

crimes forming part of the CCP which were committed after 9 November 1993, to the extent that it 

did SO.6754 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber will only consider the arguments presented as far as 

they relate to crimes committed in Mostar before 9 November 1993. In particular, the Appeals 

6748 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579, 581, 586. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 580, 582-585. See infra, 
raras 2004-2014. 

749 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1228. 
6750 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1228. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. 
6751 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 631. . 
6752 See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 356, referring to Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, 
paras 383-388, Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 977, Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 23, 
Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 293. 
6753 Cj. Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, fn. 25 (finding that Edouard Karemera could only be held 
reTonsible for crimes committed from the date when he joined a JCE). 
675 See infra, paras 1995,2000-2003. 
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Chamber grants Praljak's argument on his responsibility for sniping incidents 13 and 14 which 

occurred in 1994,6755 and any shelling incident which occurred after 9 November 1993.6756 

ii. Praljak's responsibility between 24 July 1993 and 9 November 1993 

1986. With regard to Praljak's challenges concerning the period between 24 July 1993 and 

9 November 1993, the Trial Chamber considered that Praljak played an important role in planning 

and directing the military operations in Mostar Municipality during that period,6757 relying on 

evidence that: (1) on 28 July 1993 he ordered the HVO brigades to prepare for combat;6758 (2) on 

6 August 1993, Zarko Tole issued an order specifying that the Main Staff would take over the 

command of the defence of Mostar;6759 (3) on 12 August 1993, Praljak mobilised all the manpower 

and materiel of the HVO to "eliminate Muslim 'terrorists' from Mostar,,;6760 (4) on 25 August 1993, 

he appointed Colonel Milan Stampar as commander of combat operations in Rastani, specifying 

that all units should subordinate to Stampar;6761 (5) on 1 September 1993, he issued an order 

organising the command structure and military operations in the Mostar sector;6762 (6) on 

24 September 1993, he sent a message to all HVO troops giving them an overview of the Mostar 

situation and congratulating them for their actions;6763 (7) on 7 October 1993, he issued an order for 

the defence of the Mostar region with the instruction to "inflict as many losses on them as 

possible,,;6764 (8) Praljak attended a meeting on 7 November 1993 at which PetkoviC's order to 

launch an offensive that led to the destruction of the Old Bridge was discussed;6765 and (9) on 

31 August 1993, Gojko Susak indicated that he would contact Praljak to ask him to stop the heavy 

shelling of East Mostar on that day. 6766 

a- Orders issued by Praljak 

1987. Praljak challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on two of these orders, arguing that it 

distorted his 12 August 1993 order and omitted details from his 7 October 1993 order. However, on 

reviewing the evidence cited, the Appeals Chamber finds there to be little difference, if any, 

6755 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1160-1163, 1171-1174. See also supra, para. 1976 (Praljak's argument on 
sniping incidents). 
675 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 996-1018. 
6757 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 581. 
6758 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, referring to Ex. P03773. 
6759 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, referring to Ex. P03983, item 5, Witness NO, T(F). 51182 (closed session) 
(22 Mar 2010). See infra, para. 2009. 
6760 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, referring to Ex. P04125. 
6761 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. 
6762 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, referring to Ex. P04719. 
6763 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P05365. 
6764 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579, quoting Ex. P05692, p. 1. 
6765 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 580, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P06482, 3D00793. 
6766 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 585, referring to Ex. P09506 (confidential), p. 1, Peter Galbraith, T(F). 6501-6502. 
(12 Sept 2006). 
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between the contents of these exhibits and how they are described by the Trial Chamber, and thus 

Praljak fails to substantiate his contention.6767 His arguments are therefore dismissed. 

1988. Further, Praljak argues that his orders were lawful, but misinterprets the Trial Chamber's 

reliance on these orders. The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak's orders, in addition to his other 

conduct, were considered by the Trial Chamber as demonstrating his participation in directing and 

planning the Mostar military operations. These operations were accompanied by crimes "committed 

systematically and/or over a period of time,,6768 pursuant to the CCP.6769 Recalling that 

"participation does not have to be in and of itself criminal, as long as the accused performs acts that 

in some way contribute to the furtherance of the common purpose of the JCE",6770 and provided that 

he shares the intent to implement the common purpose by criminal means, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that whether the orders were lawful or militarily justified is irrelevant and dismisses Praljak's 

argument. Moreover, based on Praljak's conduct considered by the Trial Chamber,6771 the Appeals 

Chamber finds that Praljak fails to substantiate his contention that the Trial Chamber relied only on 

his official function and did not establish that his acts constituted a significant contribution. His 

argument is therefore dismissed. 

b- Praljak's attendance at the 7 November 1993 meeting 

1989. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's findings that the 

destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime against humanity (Count 1) and 

unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25) and 

has therefore acquitted the Appellants of these charges insofar as they concern the Old Bridge.6772 

As such, insofar as Praljak's challenges regarding his attendance at the 7 November 1993 meeting 

are directed at impugning the Trial Chamber's findings as to his contribution to the destruction of 

the Old Bridge, they are moot. 

1990. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the Trial Chamber found this meeting was 

concerned with an offensive on the old town of Mostar and not solely the attack on the Old 

6767 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's description that the 12 August 1993 order was to "eliminate 
Muslim 'terrorists'" is a reasonable summary of the order, which was for the "uncompromisable liquidation of the 
infiltrated [Muslim Armed Forces] terrorist groups". Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579 with Ex. P04125. 
Similarly, in selectively quoting the 7 October 1993 order as to "inflict as many losses on them as possible", there is no 
indication that the Trial Chamber disregarded that this meant to target Muslim Armed Forces. Compare Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579 with Ex. P05692, p. l. 
6768 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. . 
6769 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 49-51, 54-59, 65-68, 586, 625, 627-628. 
6770 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 985; Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, paras 215, 695-696. 
6771 See supra, para. 1986. 
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Bridge.6773 It further relied on Praljak's participation in the meeting as support for its overarching 

finding that he participated in directing and planning HVO operations in Mostar between July and 

eady November 1993.6774 The Appeals Chamber will accordingly address Praljak's arguments 

regarding his attendance at the 7 November 1993 meeting as his participation therein remains 

relevant to his JCE liability, notwithstanding the Appeals Chamber's findings in relation to the Old 

Bridge. 

1991. The Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber found that on the evening of 

7 November 1993, the highest-ranking commanders of the HVO armed forces, including Praljak, 

met in Tomislavgrad and discussed an offensive that would begin the next day.6775 It found that on 

8 November 1993, Petkovic issued an order for an HVO offensive, which was then implemented 

via an order by Miljenko Lasic, the commander of the Mostar ZP.6776 

1992. The Appeals Chamber turns first to Praljak's submission that it is unclear how the Trial 

Chamber linked the 7 November 1993 meeting and PetkoviC's 8 November 1993 .order. While 

Praljak is correct that PetkoviC's order did not refer to the meeting, the Trial Chamber also 

considered LasiC's order, which implemented Petkovic's order, and which did refer to the 

7 November 1993 meeting.6777 Thus, Praljak merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's assessment 

of the evidence without demonstrating that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the 

offensive ordered by Petkovic on 8 November 1993 was discussed the evening before at a meeting 

among the highest-ranking commanders of the HVO.6778 His argument is therefore dismissed. 

1993. With regard to Praljak's corresponding argument that the meeting's "conclusions" show 

that no concrete military actions were discussed, the Appeals Chamber considers that after having 

6772 See supra, para. 426. The Appeals Chamber also reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages or devastation not justified by military necessity 
as a violation of the laws or customs of war. See supra, paras 411, 414. 
6773 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305, Vol. 4, para. 580. With regard to the shelling of the old town - as distinct from 
the Old Bridge - the Trial Chamber referred to evidence indicating that on 8 November 1993, the HVO launched 52 
projectiles at the old town. By contrast, it referred to testimony that only ten shells were fired at the Old Bridge. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1312-1314. It is therefore clear that the offensive was not limited to the attack on the Old 
Bridge. Moreover, this shelling fell within the timeframe of the Trial Chamber's finding that East Mostar was subjected 
to shelling from June 1993 to March 1994, which directly affected the popUlation there, and which was relied on in its 
legal findings on, inter alia, the commission of the crimes of unlawful attack on civilians (Count 24) and unlawful 
infliction of terror on civilians (Count 25) as violations of the laws or customs of war. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
fara. 1018, Vol. 3, paras 1684-1686, 1689, 1692. 

774 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 581. 
6775 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1304. 
6776 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1301-1302. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1315, 1343, 1345, 1366, Vol. 3, 
fara. 1581. 

777 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1301, 1311, 1315 & fns 3262-3263, 3295-3296, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06524. 
See supra, para. 1991. When noting that Item 3 of the "order of 8 November 1993" referred to the meeting, the Trial 
Chamber specifically cited to PetkoviC's order. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the statement quoted by the 
Trial Chamber was in fact derived from LasiC's order. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1304, referring to Ex. P06534, 
p. 2. Cf. Ex. P06524, p. 2. 
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noted that LasiC's order referred to the meeting, the Trial Chamber expressly noted that 

Exhibit 3D00793 shows that the subjects discussed "were general and chiefly concerned 

mobilisation, the structure of the chain of command and the general organisation of the armed 

forces".6779 The Trial Chamber was satisfied, nevertheless, that the offensive of 8 November 1993 

was also discussed at the meeting the evening before the attack. 6780 It provided no express rationale 

for this conclusion. The Trial Chamber did, however, make a number of relevant findings which 

preceded its conclusion. The chronology of the relevant Trial Chamber findings - and the evidence 

on which it relied - proceeds as follows: (1) on 7 November 1993, a meeting in which Praljak and 

the main commanders of the HVO units in Herzegovina, including Lasic, the commander of the 

Mostar ZP participated, took place in Tomislavgrad;6781 (2) a matter of hours later on 

8 November 1993, Petkovic, at the time Praljak's deputy,6782 ordered an offensive on Mostar, an 

order which was sent to Lasic;6783 and (3) also on 8 November 1993, Lasic transmitted Petkovic's 

order through the chain of command, to Sector North, Sector South, to the Mostar Defence sector, 

and to the 2nd Light Infantry Battalion, referring to an order issued by Praljak at the meeting in 

Tomislavgrad on 7 November 1993.6784 

1994. Where a trial chamber draws an inference from circumstantial evidence alone, this must be 

the only reasonable inference available from that evidence.6785 The Appeals Chamber notes the 

confluence of circumstances outlined above, including: (1) the concentration of senior HVO 

military officers at the 7 November 1993 meeting in Tomislavgrad, in particular the presence of 

Praljak and Lasic; (2) the fact that PetkoviC's order to Lasic was issued shortly after the meeting; 

and (3) the fact that Lasic's order referred to an order issued by Praljak at the meeting in 

Tomislavgrad. On this basis, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could 

conclude, as the only reasonable inference, that the offensive must have been discussed at the 

meeting, notwithstanding the fact that the offensive is not referred to in the text of 

6778 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1301, 1305; supra, para. 1991. 
6779 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305 & fn. 3272. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1304. 
6780 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305. 
6781 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1301, 1305, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 3D00793 (indicating that Lasie was present 
and that the meeting took place from 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.). The Appeals Chamber notes that Miljenko LasiC's name 
is incorrectly transcribed as "Miljenko Lame" in the English version of this exhibit. 
6782 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301, Vol. 4, para. 652. 
6783 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1300-1302, 1304, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06534 (indicating that PetkoviC's 
order was transmitted at 00:30 a.m.). 
6784 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06524. See supra, fn. 6777. 
6785 StaniIic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 375; Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, paras 1277-1278; Stakic 
Appeal Judgement, para. 219. 
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Exhibit 3D00793.6786 Praljak has accordingly failed to demonstrate an error of fact in the Trial 

Chamber's finding.6787 His argument is therefore dismissed. 

c- Praljak's responsibility for the shelling and sniping 

campaigns in East Mostar 

1995. As for the sniping in East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that Praljak 

cannot be held responsible for sniping incidents 13 and 14, which occurred in 1994, thus after his 

membership in the JCE ended.6788 The Appeals Chamber also recalls that Praljak fails to show that 

the Trial Chamber erred in finding him responsible for JCE crimes committed in Mostar 

Municipality before 24 July 1993.6789 Thus, Praljak fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber 

erred in holding him responsible for the sniping incidents 1,2, and 3.6790 

1996. In relation to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to establish specific shelling 

incidents with sufficient detail, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that East 

Mostar was subjected to "intense and uninterrupted" HVO firing and shelling between June 1993 

and March 1994.6791 It arrived at this conclusion having considered a wide range of evidence that 

the HVO shelled East Mostar "daily, intensely, and closely",6792 as well as evidence from 

Witness DW that East Mostar received on average between 20 and 100 impacts from HVO firing 

per day.6793 This shelling "affected all of East Mostar,,6794 and the Trial Chamber considered 

evidence that "there was hardly a building or a vehicle that had not been damaged by [it]".6795 The 

Trial Chamber also considered that the siege of East Mostar - including the "prolonged military 

attack comprised of intensive, continuous heavy shelling and rifle fire,,6796 amounted to a 

widespread attack.6797 Notably, in determining the factual narrative of the shelling, the Trial 

Chamber rejected evidence and arguments that the shelling was selective, minimal, and aimed at 

6786 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305. The Appeals Chamber also notes in this regard that a plain reading of the 
exhibit shows that it is in fact a numbered list of "[c]onclusions from the meeting of ZGS HVO with commanders of ZP 
and brigades", and that, as indicated in the authoritative French version of the Trial Judgement, it comprises minutes of 
the meeting, rather than a verbatim record. The Appeals Chamber further considers that it is clear that the Trial 
Chamber considered that discussion of the offensive had been omitted from these minutes. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
faras 1304-1305. 

787 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1305; supra, para. 1991. 
6788 See supra, paras 1984-1985. 
6789 See supra, para. 1982. 
6790 See supra, para. 1976. 
6791 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1018, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2,para. 996, Vol. 3, para. 1684. 
6792 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1000 (internal references omitted), and evidence cited therein. See Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 3, paras 1684, 1689. 
6793 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1000, referring to, inter alia, Witness DW, T(F). 23081 (private session) 
(3 Oct 2007), Ex. P10287 (confidential), para. 78. 
6794 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1004, and evidence cited therein. 
6795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1004, referring to Larry Forbes, T(F). 21293, 21302-21303 (16 Aug 2007), 
Ex. P05009, p. 2. 
6796 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 642. 
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legitimate military targets.6798 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber described the 

acts above as amounting to an "HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar".6799 Thus, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber clearly considered that the "uninterrupted", 

"widespread", and "daily" manifestation of the shelling of civilians in East Mostar established a 

pattern of conduct that equated to a campaign of shelling.68oo 

1997. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not err in its approach of relying on 

circumstantial evidence to make a finding on the existence of a shelling campaign.6801 Thus, Praljak 

fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber was required to establish specific shelling incidents, as 

it found that the campaign of fire and shelling clearly persisted from Iune 1993 until and beyond the 

time his membership in the ICE ended in 9 November 1993. Notably, the Trial Chamber considered 

evidence identifying shelling incidents that occurred, by the latest, in August or September 

1993,6802 when Praljak was a ICE member. Although Praljak cannot be held responsible for the 

shelling which occurred after he ceased to be a ICE member, this has no impact on his convictions 

for crimes committed prior to 9 November 1993.6803 Thus, Praljak's argument is dismissed. 

1998. Concerning Praljak's argument that it was not established that he ordered the shelling and 

sniping or that they occurred during his command, the Trial Chamber did not find that Praljak 

ordered the shelling and sniping of Mostar. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial 

Chamber was not required to find that Praljak personally contributed or ordered each ICE crime or 

every underlying act.6804 To the extent that Praljak argues that his link to the physical perpetrators 

of the shelling and sniping was not established, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "ICE members 

may be held responsible for crimes carried out by principal perpetrators who were non-ICE 

members, provided that it has been shown that the crimes can be imputed to at least one ICE 

member and that the latter - when using the principal perpetrators - acted in accordance with the 

common objective".6805 This link can be inferred from various factors, including "evidence that the 

ICE member explicitly or implicitly requested the non-ICE member to commit such a crime or 

6797 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 646. 
6798 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1002-1018. 
6799 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 174, 176,272,936,938. 
6800 Cf Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 205. 
6801 See Galic Appeal Judgement, paras 205, 217-219, 222, 224 (The Appeals Chamber in the Galic case concluded that 
the Galic trial chamber properly used evidence regarding the general situation in Sarajevo, among other factors, to 
support conclusions on the existence of a pattern of conduct, i.e. the campaign of shelling and sniping attacks against 
civilians). In considering the Galic case, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Praljak's argument that this case is 
not applicable. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber assessed evidence on shelling in specific 
locations to determine that the firing and shelling were launched in residential zones and the population was directly 
affected. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1002-1018, Vol. 3, 1684, 1689. 
6802 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1004, 1006, 1012-1013, 1016. 
6803 See supra, fn. 6752. 
6804 See supra, para. 1982. 
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instigated, ordered, encouraged, or otherwise availed himself of the non-ICE member to commit the 

crime".6806 In this case, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak himself participated in directing and 

planning the HVO military operations in Mostar Municipality during the relevant shelling and 

sniping period,6807 and that he acted in accordance with the CCP in doing SO.6808 Thus, it was found 

that shelling and sniping occurred during Praljak's command of the Mostar operations. In 

participating in directing and planning these operations, a reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded that Praljak encouraged or availed himself of the physical perpetrators of the shelling and 

sniping. 

1999. In any event, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber's findings that Stojic 

controlled the snipers6809 in West Mostar and that Petkovic ordered and contributed to planning the 

shelling of East Mostar are upheld.681o Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial 

Chamber's findings show that a link existed between the HVO and the Military Police units 

involved in the shelling and sniping and at least one of the ICE members. The Appeals Chamber 

finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber ened in holding him responsible for the 

crimes arising from the shelling and sniping which occurred during his ICE membership.6811 

d- Praljak's responsibility for the destruction of or severe 

damage to the ten mosques in East Mostar 

2000. With regard to Praljak's convictions for the destruction of or severe damage to the ten 

mosques in East Mostar in 1993,6812 the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that 

these mosques were destroyed or significantly damaged by the HVO between Iune and 

December 1993, without specifying the specific date on which each mosque was destroyed or 

significantly damaged.6813 The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that Praljak cannot be held liable 

6805 Sainovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1256. See Sainovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1520; Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 225; Martie Appeal Judgement, para. 168. 
6806 Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1050, quoting Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 226. See Sainovic et at. 
Ar;,eal Judgement, paras 1257, 1259. 
68 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 581,586. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579-580, 585, 1232. 
6808 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66-67, 586,625,627-628,631. 
6809 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 368. See supra, paras 1662-1667. 
6810 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. See infra, para. 2247-2249. 
6811 With regard to Praljak's arguments contesting the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the shelling and sniping that 
cross-reference to another section of his appeal brief, the Appeals Chamber dismisses these arguments elsewhere. See 
supra, paras 540-565. 
6812 See Trial JUdgement, Vol. 2, para. 1377, Vol. 4, paras 59, 582, 586. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the ten 
mosques concerned were: (1) Sultan Selim Javuz Mosque; (2) Hadzi Mehmed-Beg Karadoz Mosque; (3) Koski 
Mehmed-Pas~ Mosque; (4) Nesuh Aga Vucjakovic Mosque; (5) Cejvan Cehaja Mosque; (6) Hadzi Ahmed Aga Lakisic 
Mosque; (7) Roznamedzija Ibrahim Efendija Mosque; (8) Cosa Jahja Hodza Mosque; (9) Hadzi Korto or Tabacica 
Mosque; and (10) Hadzi Memija Cernica Mosque. Indictment, para. 116. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1367. See 
also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1373-1374, 1377. 
6813 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1377. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1372-1376, Vol. 3, paras 1609-1610, 1690, 
Vol. 4, para. 582. Regarding the Prosecution's contention that Praljak's liability for the destruction of Baba Besir 
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for crimes that occurred after he ceased being a member of the JCE on 9 November 1993.6814 Since 

the Trial Chamber's findings leave open the possibility that the ten mosques were damaged or 

destroyed after Praljak's membership in the JCE ended on 9 November 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion on Praljak's responsibility in 

relation to these ten mosques, which constitutes an error of law. The Appeals Chamber will 

therefore assess, on the basis of the Trial Chamber's findings and the relevant evidence relied upon 

by the Trial Chamber and identified by the Parties, whether no reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded beyond reasonable doubt that the mosques were severely damaged or destroyed while 

Praljak was still a JCE member.6815 

2001. The Appeals Chamber considers that a reas?nable trier of fact could conclude beyond 

reasonable doubt that three of the ten mosques were destroyed or severely damaged prior to 

9 November 1993.6816 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that Witness Suad Cupina said 

in his witness statement that he saw the shelling of "the mosque in Cemica, the mosque at the end 

of Cemica, and Karadoz Bey Mosque", which occurred before he left Mostar on 

29 September 1993.6817 He clarified in his testimony that the "mosque at the beginning of Cemica", 

the other mosque in Cemica, and "Karadzoz-bey mosque" were targeted by the HVO throughout 

May and June 1993,6818 and marked the locations of these mosques on a map of Mostar.6819 The 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber understood that the witness was referring to Hadzi 

Ahmed Aga Lakisic Mosque,6820 Hadzi Mernija Cemica Mosque,6821 and Hadzi Mehrned-Beg 

Karadoz Mosque.6822 Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial 

Mosque should be analysed under JCE III, the Appeals Chamber considers this issue elsewhere. See infra, paras 3111, 
3132. See also supra, paras 566-569. 
6814 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1228. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. See also supra, para. 1984. 
6815 See Stanific and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 356, referring to Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, 
paras 383-388, Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 977, Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 23, 
Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 293. 
6816 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1369-1377, and evidence cited therein. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
para. 179, referring to, inter alia, Suad Cupina, T. 4859, 4861-4864 (10 July 2006), T. 4890 (11 July 2006), 
Exs. ID00527, paras 25-26, IC00026. The Appeals Chamber notes that: (1) Sultan Selim Javuz Mosque was located 
directly on the Old Bridge and served as the Old Bridge's minaret; and (2) the Old Bridge was destroyed on 
8 November 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1374 & fn. 3456, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P08939, p. 2. However, 
as the Trial Chamber's finding that the destruction of the Old Bridge amounted to crimes under Counts 1, 20, and 25 
has been reversed, and thus that destruction did not amount to a crime. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber declines to 
consider whether the Sultan Selim Javuz Mosque was destroyed on or before 8 November 1993. 
6817 Ex. 1D00527, paras 25-26. See also Suad Cupina, T. 4861-4862 (10 July 2006). . 
6818 Suad Cupina, T. 4861-4864 (10 July 2006). 
6819 Ex. IC00026. See Suad Cupina, T. 4861-4864 (10 July 2006). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 5, pp. 72-73. 
6820 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 5, p. 73 & fn. 258, referring to Suad Cupina, T(F). 4861 (10 July 2006) (the Trial 
Chamber stated that the cited testimony concerned Hadzi Ahmed Aga Lakisic Mosque in particular). See also 
Ex. IC00026. 
6821 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 5, p. 73 & fn. 262, referring to Suad Cupina, T(F). 4862 (10 July 2006) (the Trial 
Chamber stated that the cited testimony concerned Hadzi Memija Cernica Mosque in particular). See also Ex. IC00026. 
6822 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 5, p. 73 & fn. 254, referring to Suad Cupina, T(F). 4863 (10 July 2006) (the Trial 
Chamber stated that the cited testimony concerned Hadzi Mehmed-Beg Karadoz Mosque in particular). See also 
Ex. IC00026. 
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Chamber erred in holding him responsible for the destruction of or severe damage to Hadzi 

Mehmed-Beg Karadoz Mosque, Ahmed Aga Lakisic Mosque, and Hadzi Memija Cemica 

Mosque.6823 

2002. With regard to the remaining seven mosques, the Appeals Chamber considers that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded beyond reasonable doubt that they were severely 

damaged or destroyed before 9 November 1993, thus before Praljak's membership in the JCE 

ended. The Appeals Chamber observes that the evidence the Trial Chamber relied on only speaks of 

the relevant mosques being severely damaged or destroyed in broad terms sometime in 1993.6824 

Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak cannot be held responsible for the destruction of 

or severe damage to Sultan Selim Javuz Mosque, Koski Mehmed-Pasa Mosque, Nesuh Aga 

Vucjakovic Mosque, Cejvan Cehaja Mosque, Roznamedzija Ibrahim Efendija Mosque, Cosa Jahja 

Hodza Mosque, and Hadzi Korto or TabaCica Mosque. 

iii. Conclusion 

2003. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber grants Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 44.1 in 

part to the extent it concerns sniping incidents 13 and 14 as well as the destruction of or severe 

damage to the seven relevant mosques which occurred in Mostar Municipality.6825 The remainder of 

Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 44.1, ground of appeal 23 in part, and his sub-ground of appeal 40.7 

as discussed in this section are dismissed. 

(ii) Praljak's knowledge of the crimes committed in Mostar (Praljak's Sub-grounds 44.1 

in part, 44.2) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2004. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had knowledge of crimes in 

Mostar based on his involvement in military operations.6826 With regard to the events in East 

Mostar, Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that he knew about the shelling.6827 

As for the events in Rastani, Praljak argues that there was no evidence that he was informed about 

6823 The Trial Chamber attributed the destruction of or severe damage to these mosques to Praljak under Counts 1, 21, 
and 25. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1609-1610, 1690, 1692, 1711, 1713. Vol. 4, p. 430. See also supra, 
Eara.399. 

824 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1372-1377, referring to, inter alia, Seid Smajkic, T(F). 2553-2554, 2558-2559 
(24 May 2006) (in the "summer and fall of 1993", all the buildings that belonged to the Islamic community in Mostar 
town, including all the mosques, were being targeted and destroyed such that, by 1994, there were no mosques left 
where Muslims could pray), Ratko Pejanovic, T(F). 1276, 1280-1281 (4 May 2006) (the relevant mosques were 
destroyed or damaged "in 1993"). See also Exs. P08939, IC00002, IC 00020, IC00026. 
6825 See supra, paras 1984-1985, 1995,2000-2003. . 
6826 Praljak's Appeal Brief, heading before para. 481. 
6827 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 486. 
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these events or that he had any knowledge about them, claiming to have been in Prozor and Citluk 

when they happened.6828 He contends that his act of appointing Stampar a day after the combat 

commenced in Rastani demonstrated his ignorance of the conflict in the area.6829 Moreover, he 

submits that the HVO only ordered defensive actions in Rastani as opposed to offensive ones.6830 

Praljak also contends that the Trial Chamber gave insufficient reasons for its finding that he knew 

that crimes would be corlunitted.6831 He argues that the Trial Chamber based this finding solely on 

his role as a commander without any evidence that he was informed about any crime or "that he 

actually knew what happened". 6832 

2005. Praljak also submits that the Trial Chamber incorrectly applied the knowledge standard in 

assessing whether he had intent for the crimes.6833 Specifically, he argues that as knowledge and 

intent are two separate elements of mens rea, mere knowledge of crimes is insufficient to establish 

the required intent. 6834 

2006. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was not required to find that he had 

specific knowledge of the unlawful shelling, given his shared intent that the shelling furthered the 

CCP.6835 It submits that: (1) Praljak's whereabouts are irrelevant as is the defensive nature of the 

HVO attacks in light of the crimes which accompanied them;6836 and (2) his liability is not 

dependent on him being informed of specific crimes.6837 The Prosecution also argues that Praljak 

gave Stampar control of further combat activities,6838 and that fighting continued throughout 

September and October 1993.6839 With regard to his knowledge of crimes, the Prosecution argues 

that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was properly reasoned, and that it did not rely solely on 

6828 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 488, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 588, Ex. 3D00366, Witness BJ, 
T. 5721-5724 (29 Aug 2006). 
6829 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 488, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P04508. As for the fighting that continued through 
September and October 1993 in Rastani, Praljak replies that the inexact information the Main Staff received 
demonstrated the difficulties he encountered in exercising his functions. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 83. 
6830 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 488, referring to Ex. P04476. 
6831 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 489, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, 
Eara.490. . 

832 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 489. Further, Praljak argues that as he was not in the Mostar area during the operation 
in Rastani, the Trial Chamber failed to find supplemental indicia to establish his actual knowledge. Praljak's Appeal 
Brief, para. 489, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 248. 
6833 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 490. 
6834 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 490. Praljak contends that the most that can be concluded from "mere knowledge" is 
that an accused accepted that crimes would be committed, but that this is insufficient for JCE I liability. Praljak's 
ApReal Brief, para. 490. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 428. 
68 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 179, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59, 65-68. 
6836 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 184. 
6837 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 184, referring to Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, 
Eara. 153, Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491, Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 112. 

838 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 184, referring to Ex. P04508. 
6839 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 184, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 949, 
Ex. P05692. 
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Praljak's position.684o It also submits that the Trial Chamber cOlTectly assessed Praljak's shared 

intent, which encompassed crimes in Mostar and Rastani.6841 

2007. Praljak replies that, while an accused's awareness of each individual incident is not 

required, he must still be shown to be "familiar with [the] general line of behavior" aimed at 

furthering the CCP.6842 Praljak argues that his behaviour was contrary to the HVO's policy.6843 

b. Analysis 

2008. The Appeals Chamber recalls that "the mens rea required for liability under the first 

category of joint criminal enterprise is that the accused shares the intent with the other participants 

to carry out the crimes forming part of the common purpose".6844 Praljak contends that his 

knowledge of the shelling in East Mostar and the events in Rastani should have been established, 

but the Appeals Chamber observes that it is not necessary for a participant in a ICE to know of each 

crime committed in order to be criminally liable.6845 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it "suffices 

that he shared the intent for the commission of these crimes and acted in furtherance of the common 

purpose".6846 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Praljak 

shared the intent with the other ICE members to carry out the crimes forming part of the CCP, 

which encompassed the crimes committed in Mostar and Rastani. 6847 The Appeals Chamber 

dismisses elsewhere Praljak's arguments that he did not share this intent with other ICE members to 

carry out crimes fonning part of the CCP.6848 Similarly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's 

argument il) reply that he must also be shown to be "familiar with the general line of behavior" 

aimed at furthering the CCP, particularly as this argument is not supported by any legal authority 

nor does Praljak elaborate on the meaning of that phrase.6849 Further, Praljak does not substantiate 

his argument with any reference to evidence which could call into question the Trial Chamber's 

6840 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 181. The Prosecution argues the Trial Chamber reached its conclusion 
on the basis of the important role Praljak played in planning and directing HVO military operations in Rastani and 
Mostar which is supported by the evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 181, and evidence cited 
therein. 
6841 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 180, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 44-45, 
49-59,65-68,579-581,586. 
6842 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 80. . 
6843 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 81, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 588, 590. 
6844 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 220, 228, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 707. 
6845 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491. 
6846 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491. 
6847 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 44-45, 49-59,65-68. 
6848 See supra, para. 1921. See also supra, paras 792-814. 
6849 See supra, para, 2007. 
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finding that he planned and directed the military operations that were accompanied by the 

commission of the crimes.6850 Praljak's arguments are thus dismissed. 

2009. Moreover, Praljak's contention that the facts demonstrate his lack of knowledge of the 

Rastani events is not borne out by the evidence. The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak was held 

responsible for the killings, the physical and mental abuse inflicted, and the forcible transfer 

committed by the HVO in Rastani village on 24 August 1993.6851 While he argues that the date he 

appointed Stampar as commander, 25 August 1993,6852 was a day after the events in Rastani, the 

Trial Chamber found that the HVO attack on the Rastani area, including an attack on the hydro­

electric plant, occurred between 24 and 26 August 1993.6853 Praljak's order itself stated that 

Stampar was to "control further combat activities as well as the hydro-electric dam water flOW",6854 

which would allow a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that Praljak had an awareness of the events 

on the ground at that time.6855 Indeed, indicating further the level of Praljak's involvement and 

awareness of events in Rastani, the Trial Chamber also found that on 6 August 1993, that is, prior to 

the attack on Rastani and Praljak's order regarding Stampar, Zarko Tole issued an order specifying 

that the Main Staff would take over the command of the defence of Mostar.6856 The Trial Chamber 

also noted that Tole's order was followed by Praljak's order of 12 August 1993, mobilising all the 

HVO manpower to "eliminate Muslim 'terrorists' from Mostar.,,6857 Further, with regard to 

Praljak's assertion that he was not in Rastani, the Appeals Chamber recalls that participants in a 

JCE are not required to be physically present when and where the crimes are being committed.6858 

Last, Praljak does not show that the one piece of evidence he relies on, an order to secure a defence 

line along Rastani,6859 has any impact on the Trial Chamber's findings that the Rastani operations 

resulted in a "coercive climate,,6860 and the commission of crimes.6861 Based on the above, Praljak's 

more specific arguments are dismissed. 

2010. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Praljak's general challenges against the conclusion that 

he had knowledge of the crimes in Rastani and Mostar. The Trial Chamber found that Praljak knew 

6850 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579, 581, 586, 625. 
6851 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 584, 586, 630. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 948-972. 
6852 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 488, referring to Ex. P04508. 
6853 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 948-949, 953. 
6854 Ex. P04508. 
6855 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 949 (the HVO forces took over the dam and the hydro-electric plant on 
24 August 1993 or in the night of 25 to 26 August 1993). 
6856 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. 
6857 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. 
6858 Popovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1653; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 112; Karemera and 
N~irumpatse Appeal Judgement, para. 153. 
68 9 Ex. P04476. 
6860 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 858. 
6861 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 971-972, Vol. 3, paras 858-861, 916-918. 
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that the crimes would be committed during the operations in Rastani and Mostar.6862 In arriving at 

this conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) the crimes were committed systematically 

and/or over a period of time by "operations orchestrated by the HZ(R) H-B leadership,,;6863 and 

(2) Praljak directed the Mostar military operations during a part of the period.6864 Praljak contends 

that this conclusion was reached solely based on his position without any further reasoning or 

evidence. However, Praljak ignores the relevant Trial Chamber's findings, and in particular, that he 

played an "important role" in planning and directing the HVO's military operations in Mostar 

Municipality.6865 Notably, the Trial Chamber relied on various pieces of evidence, including 

evidence showing that Praljak issued orders to organise the command structure and military 

operations in the Mostar sector and sent a message to all the HVO troops giving them an overview 

of the situation in Mostar and congratulating them for their actions.6866 The Trial Chamber also 

considered evidence that, on 31 August 1993, Gojko Susak indicated that he would contact Praljak 

to ask him to stop the heavy shelling of East Mostar on that day.6867 Additionally, there is evidence 

of Praljak attending a meeting on 7 November 1993 during which the HVO offensive on 

8 November 1993 was discussed.6868 

2011. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber found that Praljak "was 

infonned of the crimes committed by the members of the HZ(R) H-B anned forces primarily 

through HVO internal communication channels".6869 This is supported by findings regarding 

Praljak's authority over those anned forces as Commander of the Main Staff during the 

24 July 1993 to 9 November 1993 period,687o including in particular authority over communication 

within the HVO.6871 In addition, the Trial Chamber made detailed findings concerning the flow of 

infonnation to and from the Main Staff, and concluded that "the Main Staff and its Chief were kept 

routinely infonned of the situation prevailing on the ground.,,6872 In light of the above,6873 the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak fails to substantiate his assertion that the Trial Chamber only 

6862 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
6863 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
6864 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. 
6865 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579-581, 586. 
6866 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. See supra, para. 1986. 
6867 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 585, referring to Ex. P09506 (confidential), p. 1, Peter Galbraith, T(F). 6501-6502 
(12 Sept 2006). 
6868 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 580. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1304-1305; supra, paras 1989-1994 (noting 
that Praljak's attendance at the 7 November 1993 meeting remains relevant to his JCE contribution despite the reversal 
of findings concerning the Old Bridge). The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber erroneously referred to the 
date of the meeting as 8 November 1993 in paragraph 580 of Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement. 
6869 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. See supra, paras 1928-1929. 
6870 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 483-506. 
6871 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 495. 
6872 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 736-742. 
6873 See supra, paras 1986-1988. 
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relied on his position and gave insufficient reasons in arriving at its conclusion.6874 Thus, Praljak 

fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inference 

available from the evidence, that he knew that the relevant crimes would be committed in Mostar 

Municipality. 

2012. As for Praljak's final argument that the Trial Chamber incorrectly inferred his intent based 

on his knowledge that crimes would be committed, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the requisite 

mens rea for a conviction under JCE I can be inferred from a person's knowledge of the common 

plan involving the commission of the crime, combined with his continuous participation, if this is 

the only reasonable inference available on the evidence.6875 In this case, the Trial Chamber found 

that Praljak knew that the crimes in Mostar Municipality would be committed, based on the fact that 

the crimes that accompanied the HVO operations that he directed were neither random acts nor acts 

of undisciplined soldiers but, rather, were committed systematically and over a period of time. The 

Appeals Chamber notes that, on that basis, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak therefore intended 

that the relevant crimes in Mostar Municipality be committed.6876 

2013. Additionally, in its ultimate conclusion regarding Praljak's overall intent for cnmes 

charged, the Trial Chamber concluded that the only reasonable inference it could draw from the fact 

that Praljak participated in the planning of the HVO. military operations in, inter alia, Mostar during 

the summer of 1993, and "that he continued to exercise control over the anned forces while 

knowing that its members were committing crimes in other municipalities [ ... ], is that he intended 

to have these crimes committed".6877 The Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak does not present 

any other reasonable inference that can be drawn from the evidence. Thus, Praljak fails to show that 

the Trial Chamber erred in inferring, from his involvement in the military operations in Mostar 

from 24 July 1993 to 9 November. 1993 and his knowledge that crimes would be committed, that he 

intended the crimes that were committed in Mostar and Rastani and that he possessed the required 

shared intent. 6878 His argument is dismissed. 

2014. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inferences, that he knew the 

6874 The Appeals Chamber further considers that Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber required supplemental 
indicia of his knowledge is inapposite, given that the Trial Chamber outlined this requirement in the context of superior 
responsibility and not JCE liability. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 248. 
687 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 512, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, paras 202,204,697, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 428-429, Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 120. 
6876 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that no reasonable trier of fact could 
conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, para. 882. 
6877 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6878 See supra, paras 1921, 1940-1944. 
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crimes in Mostar and Rastani would be committed, and that he therefore intended them. Praljak's 

sub-grounds of appeal 44.1, in part, and 44.2 are dismissed. 

(iii) Praljak's intent for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians under 

Article 3 of the Statute (Count 25) (Ground 21 (in part)) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2015. Pra1jak submits that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that the Appellants had the 

specific intent to spread terror and that there is no evidence of such intent, and thus it erred in 

convicting him of the crime of unlawful infliction of terror through the shelling of the population of 

East Mostar.6879 In the Appeal Hearing, Pra1jak argues that the Trial Chamber found that the HVO's 

activities were directed at military objectives, and that this sufficiently excludes the crime of 

terror.6880 Pra1jak concludes that the impact of either the failure to establish the crime or provide a 

reasoned opinion is that the conviction must be invalidated.6881 

2016. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly concluded that the HVO acted 

with the specific intent to spread terror among the civilian population and that Pra1jak shared the 

intent to commit the crimes forming part of the JCE which included the crime of terror.6882 In the 

Appeal Hearing, the Prosecution concedes that the Trial Chamber made no explicit finding on 

Pra1jak's specific intent to spread terror.6883 Nonetheless, the Prosecution argues that the only 

reasonable interpretation of the Trial Chamber's findings is that Praljak possessed this specific 

intent.6884 It contends that: (1) the Trial Chamber correctly set out the elements of the crime, and 

made the appropriate factual findings that the crime was committed, including the finding that the 

HVO intended to spread terror among the civilian popu1ation;6885 and (2) "if the HVO was anyone, 

it was Slobodan Pra1jak between the 24th of July and the 9th of November, 1993", given that he 

contributed to and intended the JCE I crimes that were used to spread terror in East Mostar.6886 The 

Prosecution also responds that, if there was a failure to provide a reasoned opinion on this issue, the 

6879 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 277-279. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 377 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak argues in reply 
that the Trial Chamber's finding that he shared the intent to commit crimes under the JCE is insufficient as the required 
intent for each crime should have been established. Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 88. 
6880 Appeal Hearing, AT. 380-381 (22 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1003, 1009, 1013-1014. 
6881 . 

Appeal Hearing, AT. 381 (22 Mar 2017). 
6882 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 198. 
6883 Appeal Hearing, AT. 446 (22 Mar 2017). 
6884 Appeal Hearing, AT. 446-448 (22 Mar 2017). 
6885 Appeal Hearing, AT. 446-447 (22 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 195-197, Vol. 3, 
~aras 1689-1692. 

886 Appeal Hearing, AT. 446-448 (22 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68,586,625,630. 

850 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23045



Appeals Chamber's own examination of the evidence and underlying factual findings would lead to 

the same result that Praljak intended to spread terror.6887 

b. Analysis 

2017. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror 

requires the general intent to make the civilian population or individual civilians not taking direct 

part in hostilities the object of the acts of violence or threats thereof and the "specific intent to 

spread terror among the civilian population".6888 While spreading terror must be the primary 

purpose of the acts or threats of violence, it need not be the only one and can be inferred from the , 
" .. d d . " f h hr 6889 nature, manner, tnlling, an uratIon 0 t e acts or teats. 

2018. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in the section on Praljak's individual responsibility 

pursuant to ICE I, the Trial Chamber found that the only reasonable inference it could draw from 

Praljak's participation in planning the HVO military operations in Mostar during the summer of 

1993 was that he intended to have certain crimes committed.6890 Specifically, the Trial Chamber 

found that Praljak "intended to have buildings in East Mostar destroyed, including mosques [ ... ], to 

deliberately target civilians, to have murders, wounding, physical and psychological abuse and 

attacks on members of international organisations committed and lastly, to have women and 

children removed".6891 It further found that Praljak intended to expel the Muslim popUlation from 

the HZ(R) H-B, and that he shared this intention with other JCE members.6892 The Appeals 

Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber subsequently found Praljak responsible for committing the 

crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians in Mostar Municipality.6893 

6887 Appeal Hearing, AT. 448 (22 Mar 2017). 
6888 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; GaUc Appeal Judgement, para. 104. See supra, para. 1774. The actus 
reus of the crime of unlawful infliction of terror consists of "[a]cts or threats of violence directed against the civilian 
popUlation or individual civilians not taking direct part in hostilities causing death or serious injury to body or health 
within the civilian population". D~ Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 31. See Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 100. 
6889 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; GaUc Appeal Judgement, para. 104. See supra, para. 1774. The Appeals 
Chamber dismisses elsewhere Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that the purpose of the 
shelling of East Mostar was to spread terror and that any HVO member had the specific intent to spread terror. See 
supra, paras 546-565. In the present section, the Appeals Chamber will limit its analysis on whether the Trial Chamber 
properly found that Praljak had the required intent for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror. To the extent that 
Praljak argues that the Trial Chamber failed to make the relevant findings in respect of the other Appellants, the 
Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to develop his argument in order to demonstrate how this would impact on his 
own conviction. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 275-279. See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 255. 
6890 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. See supra, paras 1809, 1921, 1933, 1940,2012-2014. 
6891 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See supra, paras 1974, 1982, 2012-2014. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 625; supra, paras 1809, 1921, 1933, 1940, 2012-2014. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial 
Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages 
or devastation not justified by military necessity as a violation of the laws or customs of war. See supra, paras 411-414, 
infra, para. 2021. 
6892 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See supra, paras 1809, 1921, 1924, 1936-1797, 1940-1942. 
6893 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630. See supra, para. 1810 & fn. 6021. 
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2019. The Appeals Chamber finds that, in making the intent findings above and holding Praljak 

responsible for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians, the Trial Chamber considered 

that he had the required mens rea for this crime. However, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial 

Chamber's approach falls short of what is required under its obligation to give a reasoned opinion 

in writing.6894 Although the Appeals Chamber considers that the intent findings for Praljak provided 

by the Trial Chamber satisfy the general intent requirement that he intended to make the civilian 

population or individual civilians not taking direct part in hostilities the object of the acts of 

violence, they do not satisfy the specific intent requirement, namely, whether he committed the 

offence with the primary purpose of spreading terror among the civilian population.6895 In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the HVO had "the specific 

intention [ ... J to spread terror among the civilian population of East Mostar,,6896 and "committed 

acts of violence, the main aim of which was to inflict terror on the population".6897 However, no 

findings were made on whether Praljak shared this specific intent. 

2020. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber failed to provide 

a reasoned opinion, by neglecting to set out in a clear and articulate manner the factual and legal 

mens rea findings on the basis of which it convicted Praljak for the crime of unlawful infliction of 

terror.6898 The Appeals Chamber will therefore determine whether this error of law invalidates the 

Trial Chamber's decision to convict Praljak for this crime.6899 

2021. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in the portion of the Trial Judgement relating to the legal 

findings on the crime of unlawful infliction of terror, the Trial Chamber described the "appalling 

living conditions" in East Mostar.6900 It reached this conclusion, having considered, inter alia, that: 

(1) between June 1993 and March 1994, the HVO subjected the civilian population of East Mostar 

to intense, ,daily, and frequent shelling and firing which resulted in the death and injury of a large 

number of Muslim civilians;6901 (2) these attacks were indiscriminate;6902 (3) the civilian inhabitants 

were subjected to a campaign of HVO sniper fire involving the targeting of women, children, and 

6894 Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 383. See supra, para. 1778. See also Kordic and Cerkez Appeal 
Judgement, para. 385. 
6895 See supra, para. 2017. 
6896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See supra, paras 546-565. See also supra, para. 1778. 
6897 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1692. See supra, paras 546-565. See also sujJra, para. 1778. 
6898 See Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 18, referring to Hadf.ihasanovic alld Kubura Appeal Judgement, para. 13. 
See also supra, para. 1779. 
6899 See Stanific alld Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 356, referring to Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, 
paras 383-388, Nyiramasuhuko et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 977, Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 23, 
Ndindiliyimana et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 293; supra, para. 20. See also supra, para. 1779. 
6900 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See supra, para. 1780. 
6901 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546-565. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6902 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546-565. See also supra, para. 1781. 
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elderly people who were going about their daily business;6903 (4) the constant and intense shelling 

and fire - including sniper fire - had the effect of terrifying the East Mostar population;6904 

(5) between June 1993 and December 1993, the HVO deliberately destroyed ten mosques as well as 

the Old Bridge, whose destruction had a major psychological impact on the morale of the 

population and the HVO had to be aware of that impact;6905 (6) the HVO aggravated the appalling 

living conditions to which the Muslim inhabitants of East Mostar were subjected, inter alia, by 

blocking or hindering the regular provision of humanitarian aid, and by deliberately keeping the 

civilian population in the small and overcrowded enclave from June 1993 to April 1994.6906 The 

Appeals Chamber recalls its dismissal elsewhere of the challenges presented to the Trial Chamber's 

finding that the HVO committed the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on the population of East 

Mostar, with the exception of the challenges to the Old Bridge. Specifically, the Appeals Ghamber 

recalls that it has found the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the Old Bridge was 

unlawful to be erroneous.6907 Thus, the Trial Chamber's findings on the' Old Bridge will not be 

considered in determining whether Praljak had the specific iQtent to terrorise. 

2022. The Appeals Chamber considers that, to the extent that Praljak had knowledge of and 

contributed to the appalling living conditions in East Mostar caused by the HVO, the Trial 

Chamber's reasoning outlined above is relevant for the assessment of Praljak's specific intent for 

the crime of unlawful infliction of terror. Thus, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber 

found that Praljak "participated in directing and planning the HVO operations in the Municipality 

of Mostar between July 1993 and early November 1993".6908 It reached this finding, having 

considered that he "played an important role in planning and directing the military operations in the 

Municipality of Mostar" during that period.6909 Notably, the Trial Chamber relied on various pieces 

of evidence, including evidence showing that Praljak issued orders to organise the command 

structure and military operations in the Mostar sector, as well as evidence of the Main Staff taking 

6903 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para, 1689. See supra, paras 540-545. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6904 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. See supra, paras 546c565. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6905 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1690. See supra, paras 405-426. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6906 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. See supra, paras 536-539. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6907 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the Old 
Bridge constituted wanton destruction not justified by military necessity. The Appeals Chamber has also reversed the 
Trial Chamber's findings that the destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime against humanity 
(Count 1) and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25) and has 
therefore acquitted the Appellants of these charges insofar as theyconcem the Old Bridge. See supra, paras 411-414, 
426. See also supra, para. 1781. 
6908 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 581. See supra, paras 1974, 1982, 1986-1988. 
6909 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 579. See supra, paras 1986, 2010. 

853 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

23042



over command of the defence of Mostar, and of Praljak's attendance at a meeting on 

7 November 1993 at which the HVO offensive on 8 November 1993 was discussed.6910 

2023. Turning to Praljak's knowledge and intent, the Trial Chamber then concluded that, insofar 

as Praljak directed the HVO military operations in Mostar, he knew about the crimes committed in 

those operations and "intended to have buildings destroyed, including mosques [ ... J, to deliberately 

target civilians, to have murders, wounding, physical and psychological abuse and attacks on 

members of international organisations committed and lastly, to have women and children 

removed".6911 Having made this intent finding, the Trial Chamber separately analysed Praljak's 

involvement in hindering the arrival of humanitarian aid to Mostar. However, the. Trial Chamber 

then concluded that it could not find that Praljak participated in hindering the arrival of 

humanitarian aid to Mostar or that he was aware that the HVO was hindering its arriva1.6912 

However, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber nevertheless found that Praljak 

intended attacks on members of international organisations.6913 

2024. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber observes that the· Trial Chamber found that 

Praljak had knowledge of and intended nearly all the underlying acts the Trial Chamber had earlier 

considered demonstrated the HVO's specific intent to spread terror. The Appeals Chamber notes, in 

particular, that Praljak participated in planning and directing the HVO operations for a substantial 

portion of the nine-month period that the HVO SUbjected the civilian population of East Mostar to 

intense, daily, and frequent shelling and firing,6914 which it found to be indiscriminate attacks,6915 

and "had the effect of terrifying the population of East Mostar".6916 The Appeals Chamber also 

notes the Trial Chamber's findings that Praljak intended to deliberately target civilians, and have 

physical and psychological abuse committed, and that he intended the destruction of the 

mosques.6917 In light of these intent findings and the Trial Chamber's findings that the HVO had to 

be aware of the psychological impact that the destruction of these buildings would have had on the 

6910 See supra, paras 1986, 1989-1994 (noting that Praljak's attendance at the 7 November 1993 meeting remains 
relevant to his JCE contribution despite the reversal of findings concerning the Old Bridge). See also supra, para. 2010. 
6911 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 579-585; supra, paras 1982-2003, 2008-
2014. The Appeals Chamber finds elsewhere that Praljak cannot be held responsible for sniping incidents 13 and 14, as 
well as the destruction of or severe damage to seven mosques in East Mostar. See supra, paras 1984-1985, 2000-2003. 
The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that as the Trial Chamber's findings holding him responsible for the remaining 
sniping incidents, as well as the destruction of or severe damage to the other three mosques in East Mostar have been 

, ~held, the Appeals Chamber's findings have no impact on ·the Appeals Chamber's analysis in the present section. 
6 12 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 590. See supra, para. 1936. 
6913 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See supra, paras 1974,2018,2023. 
6914 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689, Vol. 4, paras 581-582, 586. See supra, paras 1974, 1982, 1986-1988,2022. 
6915 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689, Vol. 4, paras 581-582, 586. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1004-
1008; supra, paras 546-565. 
6916 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1015. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1689-1692. See also supra, paras 546-565. 
6917 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 586. See supra, paras 1974, 1982,2012-2014,2018. 
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morale of the population in view of their great symbolic, cultural, and historical val~e, 6918 the 

Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that Praljak must have 

been similarly aware. 

2025. The Appeals Chamber thus concludes in the specific circumstances of this case, and given 

Praljak's prominent position within the HVO,6919 that a reasonable trier of fact could be satisfied 

beyond reasonable doubt - and as the only reasonable inference available - that Praljak intended 

that the acts of violence be committed with the primary purpose of spreading terror among the 

civilian population. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned opinion invalidates his conviction for the crime of 

unlawful infliction of terror on civilians. Praljak's argument is therefore dismissed. 

c. Conclusion 

2026. In sum, the Appeals Chamber grants Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 44.1 in part, and finds 

that he cannot be held responsible for sniping incidents 13 and 14, as well as the destruction of or 

severe damage to the seven relevant mosques in Mostar Municipality. The impact of these findings, 

if any, will be discussed in the sentencing section below.692o The Appeals Chamber also finds, in 

relation to Praljak's ground of appeal 21 in part, that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned 

opinion in convicting him for the crime of unlawful infliction of terror on civilians but concludes, 

however, that he has failed to show how this error invalidates his conviction for the crime. The 

Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's grounds of appeal 21, 23, sub-ground of appeal 40.7 in 

relevant parts, and the remainder of Praljak's ground of appeal 44. 

(d) Vares Municipality (Praljak's Grounds 45 and 54) 

2027. With regard to Vares Municipality, the Trial Chamber found that the HVO and the Military 

Police: (1) arrested, detained, and mistreated Muslim civilians a~d ABiH members in the town of 

Vares between 23 October 1993 and 3-4 November 1993;6921 and (2) attacked the village of Stupni 

Do on 23 October 1993 which resulted in murders and destruction of property.6922 In assessing 

Praljak's involvement in the events in Vares Municipality, the Trial Chamber considered an order 

he issued on 23 October 1993 ("Praljak's Order of23 October 1993") to, inter alios, Petkovic and 

Ivica Rajic "to sort out the situation in Vares showing no mercy to anyone" with men who were "up 

6918 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1690. 
6919 See supra, paras 1808, 1861, 1870, 1942. 
6920 See infra, para. 3362. 
6921 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 339-340, 342-348, 352-399. The Trial Chamber also found that thefts and sexual 
abuse occurred during the events in Vares town. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 401-404. 
6922 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 417, 421-422, 464, 466-467. The Trial Chamber also found that thefts and sexual 
abuse occurred during the attack on Stupni Do. Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 429, 465, 467. 
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[ ... ] to the tasks".6923 The Trial Chamber, relying on Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 and an 

order he issued on 5 November 1993 concerning the defence of Vares, found that Praljak 

participated in planning and directing the HVO operations in Vares in October 1993.6924 In this 

respect, it concluded that Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 was leaked to HVO troops who 

interpreted it as allowing them to act with brutality.6925 In arriving at this latter finding, the Trial 

Chamber relied on the evidence of Witness EA. 6926 

2028. The Trial Chamber also found that, no later than 5 November 1993, Praljak was informed of 

murders and destruction of property committed in Stupni Do as he attended a meeting at that time 

during which: (1) the possible consequences of the events in Stupni Do were analysed, including 

the involvement of Rajic and his troops; and (2) Petko vic had requested that an investigation be 

launched.6927 Further, the Trial Chamber concluded that Praljak contributed to the HVO's efforts to 

conceal their responsibility for the Stupni Do crimes by signing an order dated 

8 November 1993.6928 Recalling its findings that Praljak contributed to planning and directing the 

HVO operations in Vares, was later informed of the commission of the murder and destruction of 

property, and contributed to the HVO's efforts to conceal these crimes, the Trial Chamber found 

that Praljak contributed to the murders and destruction of property in Stupni Do by facilitating these 

crimes.6929 The Trial Chamber also found that the only reasonable inference it could draw from: 

(1) Praljak's participation in planning HVO military operations in, inter alia, Vares; and (2) his 

continued exercise of control over the HVO and the Military Police while knowing of their crimes, 

i,s that he intended these crimes.6930 

(i) Alleged errors regardingthe credibility of Witness EA (Praljak's Ground 54) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2029. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to properly assess Witness EA's 

testimony and to provide a reasoned opinion for finding him credible, taking into account that he 

was an accomplice witness.6931 Specifically, Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber: (1) failed to 

assess Witness EA's evidence on Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993, to "deal with the situation in 

6923 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 591, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06028. 
6924 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 591-594, 597. See supra, para. 820. 
6925 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 318, 325, Vol. 4, para. 591. 
6926 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 326. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 325. 
6927 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 595, 597. The Trial Chamber also concluded that it did not have evidence to support 
a finding that Praljak was informed of crimes committed in Vares town such as mistreatment. See Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 598. 
6928 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 596-597. 
6929 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 597. See supra, para. 820. 
6930 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 625. 
6931 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 586-591; Praljak's Reply Brief, paras 122-123. 
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Vares without mercy towards anyone",6932 in the context of the totality of the evidence; (2) ignored 

the contradictions in Witness EA's evidence as well as his possible motives [Redacted, see Annex 

C - Confidential Annex]; and (3) wrongly relied on his testimony to draw conclusions on Praljak's 

intentions regarding UNPROFOR's access to Stupni DO.6933 Praljak concludes that, as a result, the 

Trial Chamber reached erroneous conclusions regarding his responsibility for the events in Vares 

and calls for setting aside his convictions on the charges relating to Vares under Counts 1-3, 10-13, 

15-16, and 19.6934 

2030. The Prosecution responds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

assessing and explaining its assessment of Witness EA's testimony.6935 The Prosecution submits 

that the Trial Chamber "adequately reasoned" its witness credibility assessments throug~out the 

Judgement, revealing its particularly cautious approach to evidence prone to be unreliable.6936 The 

Prosecution further contends that: (1) the Trial Chamber assessed Witness ENs testimony in light 

of the totality of the evidence; (2) Praljak fails to establish that Witness EA contradicted himself or 

had any motives to lie; and (3) the Trial Chamber carefully assessed his testimony regarding 

Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 to sort out the situation in Vares.6937 Finally, the Prosecution 

disputes that the Trial Chamber reached any unreasonable factual conclusion based on 

Witness EA's testimony.6938 

b. Analysis 

2031. The Appeals Chamber has previously held that: [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential 

Annex].6939 

2032. The Appeals Chamber turns first to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

assess Witness ENs testimony regarding Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 to deal with the 

situation in Vares without mercy towards anyone, in the context of the totality of the evidence. The 

Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak provides only one example in support of this argument, namely 

that Witness EA expressed some hesitation as to the meaning of Praljak's order.694o However, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that this evidence' on the lack of clarity of the order is not inconsistent 

6932 See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 588 & fn. 1331, referring to Ex. 3D00823, p. 8. 
6933 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 587-590, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 3D00823, p. 8. Praljak submits that the 
Trial Chamber considered that Witness EA's intentions could be attributed to Praljak. Praljak's Appeal Blief, para. 590. 
6934 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 591. 
6935 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 324-325,327. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 326. 
6936 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 325. 
69,37 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 327-328, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 318. 
6938 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 324. 
6939 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] 
6940 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 588, referring to, inter alia, Witness EA, T. 24433 (closed session) (13 Nov 2007). 
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with the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO forces interpreted it as giving pennission to act 

violently.6941 Thus, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's argument. 

2033. The Appeals Chamber turns next to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored the 

contradictions in Witness EA's evidence. Praljak provides only one alleged contradiction, which is 

that Witness EA testified in court that the content of Praljak's order leaked among the HVO 

soldiers, while in his written statement the witness only said that the order was known to the 

soldiers.6942 The Appeals Chamber sees no contradiction between these two statements, which at 

most amount to a minor discrepancy.6943 Praljak's argument is therefore dismissed. 

2034. The Appeals Chamber will now examine Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored 

Witness EA's possible motives [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex]. In its general 

assessment of viva voce witnesses, the Trial Chamber considered, inter alia, "their possible 

involvement in the events recounted, the fear of self-incrimination, the relationship of the witnesses 

to the Accused and the possibility of a motive which might, under certain circumstances, call i.nto 

question the reliability of the testimony".6944 The Trial Chamber did not explicitly or specifically 

assess Witness EA according to this standard. [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] the 

fact that it does not specifically refer to such motives or incentives does not mean that it failed to 

take them into consideration.6945 The Appeals Chamber observes that at the time of Witness EA's 

testimony in the present case, during which he was extensively cross-examined,6946 [Redacted, see 

Annex C - Confidential Annex].6947 The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber 

disregarded any possible motive or incentive of Witness EA but considers that, given that the 

witness [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex], the Trial Chamber was satisfied that it 

could nevertheless rely on the evidence of Witness EA.6948 In these circumstances, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that Praljak has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber ignored Witness 

EA's possible motives [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex]. His argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

2035. The Appeals Chamber lastly turns to Praljak's argument that the Trial Chamber wrongly 

relied on Witness EA's testimony to draw conclusions on Praljak's intentions regarding 

6941 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 326. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 325. 
6942 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 589, referring to Ex. P10329 (confidential), p. 21, para. 16, Witness EA, T.24433 
(closed session) (13 Nov 2007). 
6943 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 285 ("In general, the Chamber did not hold that minor discrepancies between the 
testimonies of the witnesses at trial and their prior statements vitiated the credibility of the witness testifying in court or 
the reliability of his statements."), referring to CelebiCi Appeal Judgement, paras 496-498. 
6944 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 284. 
6945 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] 
6946 Witness EA, T. 24302-24996 (closed session)(12-21 Nov 2007). 
6947 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] See also Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 587. 
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UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on 

various sources of evidence, including Witness EA's testimony, in reaching the conclusion that 

Pra1jak sought to prevent UNPROFOR from uncovering the consequences of the HVO operations 

in Stupni Do.6949 The evidence on which it relied reflects efforts of the HVO to prevent 

UNPROFOR from gaining access to Stupni Do.695o The Appeals Chamber recalls that "intent may 

normally be inferred from relevant facts and circumstances",6951 and considers that that is what the 

Trial Chamber did in the present case. Thus, the Appeals Chamber can see no error in the Trial 

Chamber's approach to Witness EA's testimony and consequently dismisses Pra1jak's argument.6952 

However, Pra1jak's arguments that the Trial Chamber erred in its conclusions on his knowledge and 

intent concerning the attempts to prevent UNPROFOR from accessing Stupni Do will be addressed 

be10w.6953 

2036. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pra1jak has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred by failing to properly assess Witness EA's testimony or to provide a 

reasoned opinion for finding him credible. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Pra1jak's 

ground of appeal 54. 

(ii) Whether Pra1jak planned and/or directed the Vares operations CPraljak's Sub­

ground 45,1) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2037. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that he participated in 

planning or directing the military operations in Vares in October 1993.6954 He argues that it is 

unclear which of the operations he planned or directed,6955 and that there is no evidence that he did 

so concerning the Stupni Do attack. 6956 

2038. Pra1jak also challenges the Trial Chamber's classification of Praljak's Order of 

23 October 1993 as it was not an order, was not addressed to the HVO soldiers, and was not 

6948 [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex] 
6949 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 596,623. 
6950 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621. At the relevant time, in October 1993, Praljak was the Commander of the 
Main Staff. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 459. 
6951 Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement, para. 159. 
6952 The Appeals Chamber can see no indication that the Trial Chamber considered that Witness EA's intentions could 
be attributed to Praljak. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 596, 621, 623. 
6953 See infra, paras 2055-2059. 
6954 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 502. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 393-394 (22 Mar 2017). 
6955Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 492. 
6956 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 493, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61 (finding that Praljak did not 
part in the decision to attack Stupni Do). 
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intended to be distributed.6957 He further submits that the Trial Chamber's interpretation ofPraljak's 

Order of 23 October 1993 was erroneous and was without evidentiary basis6958 as: (1) at the time 

the HVO was principally concerned with internal chaos and his "instruction" was aimed at restoring 

order in the HVO;6959 and (2) the HVO attempted to "place the situation under control" after 

receiving information that ethnic cleansing might have occurred.696o Praljak also submits that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of his and PetkoviC's concordant testimonies.6961 In this 

regard, he argues that his testimony explaining the "instruction" was consistent and not 

contradictory as found by the Trial Chamber,6962 and that PetkoviC's testimony confirmed in 

substance his evidence.6963 Praljak further asserts that criminal responsibility cannot be established 

from the HVO troops' interpretation of his intentions, parti~ularly in light of direct evidence -

testimony from Petkovic and himself - on the meaning of his conduct.6964 He adds that the Trial 

Chamber's conclusions are in contradiction to its findings that "violent and brutal acts were mostly 

committed" on 23 October 1993, before his "instruction" reached the local HVO soldiers in 

Vares.6965 In additio~,· as checkpoints existed in Vares prior to Ivica RajiC's order of 

25 October 1993, Praljak argues that checkpoints were not established pursuant to his 

"ins truc ti on" . 6966 

2039. Praljak also submits that his order dated 5 November 1993 was: (1) issued after the ABiH 

launched an attack on Vares, thus "it was logical for the [Main Staff] Commander to issue an order 

6957 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 498, referring to Ex. 3D00823, p. 8, Slobodan Praljak, T.43727 (24 Aug 2009). 
Praljak asserts that the fact that the document was leaked shows the lack of discipline within the local HVO brigade. 
Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 498. 
6958 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 494, 497, referring to Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 586-591 (challenging the Trial 
Chamber's reliance on evidence from Witness EA) (Praljak's Ground 54). See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 10l. 
6959 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 494, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P06291, P06069, 3D00808, Slobodan Praljak, 
T. 41904 (24 June 2009). 
6960 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 494, referring to Ex. P06022. 
6961 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 497, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 324. See Praljak~s Reply Brief, 
Eara. 100. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 393-394 (22 Mar 2017). 

962 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 495, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 322, Slobodan Praljak, T. 41902-41903 
(24 June 2009), T. 43727-43730 (24 Aug 2009), Exs. 3D00823, p. 8, P06291, p. 3. Praljak: asserts that "he never said 
that the words 'show no mercy to anyone' concerned three HVO soldiers responsible for problems in Stupni Do", but 
that he "testified that these words concerned three persons in isolation". Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 495. Praljak 
further asserts that during cross-examination he stated that he wrote the instruction after receiving reports of smuggling 
and that it only concerned Croats. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 495. 
6963 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 496, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49615-49616 (closed session) (17 Feb 2010), 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 323. 
6964 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 498, referring to, inter alia, Slobodan Praljak, T.41902-41903 (24 June 2009), 
T. 43727-43730 (24 Aug 2009), Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49615-49616 (closed session) (17 Feb 2010). 
6965 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 499, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 333-348. 
6966 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 500, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 592, Ex. 3D00803. 
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to put up resistance,,;6967 and (2) a regular military order completely disconnected from the Vares 

events in October 1993.6968 

2040. The Prosecution responds that Praljak repeats arguments rejected at trial concerning the 

classification of Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993, the chaotic situation, the HVO's internal 

problems, and the commission of crimes before this order was received.6969 It also argues that 

Praljak misconstrues the evidence and the Trial Chamber's findings on Praljak's Order of 

.23 October 1993 as: (1) the Trial Chamber did not make findings on the order's intended meaning 

but focussed instead on its impact, thus Praljak's and PetkoviC's evidence would have no effect;6970 

(2) his assertion that the order was not intended for HVO soldiers is undermined by the events of 

23-24 October 1993;6971 and (3) crimes were also committed after this order was received.6972 

2041. Regarding Praljak's order of 5 November 1993, the Prosecution responds that the Trial 

Chamber correctly considered this order as it was directly linked to an order from Petkovic on 

22 October 1993 for the deployment of Rajic to Vares to establish a defence line, and was closely 

connected to the HVO~s efforts as of June 1993 to move Vares's Croat population.6973 It argues that 

this order "cannot be divorced from HVO operations throughout October 1993", and that it is 

irrelevant that no criminal acts flowed from it.6974 

b. Analysis 

2042. The Appeals Chamber first dismisses Praljak's contention that it is unclear which HVO 

operations he planned and directed. In this respect, the Trial Chamber found that Praljak 

participated in planning and directing the HVO operations in Vares in October 1993.6975 Based on 

the context of the Trial Chamber's finding,6976 the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the impugned 

6967 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 501, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 507, Ex. P06440. 
6968 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 501. Praljak replies that "it would be consistent to consider that the HVO October 
o~erations cannot be divorced from [the] ABiH offensive to which they responded". Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 102. 
6 69 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 243. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 242. 
6970 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 243. 
6971 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 243. The Prosecution asserts that the following events of 23c 

24 October 1993 undermine the argument that Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 was not intended for the HVO 
soldiers: (1) Praljak's initial handwritten order was typed and distributed by packet communication to five individuals, 
including Rajic; (2) Praljak's exhortation to "show no mercy" was repeated in two further packet communications; and 
(3) Praljak's words had spread by the morning of 24 October 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 243, 
referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 318, Exs. P06028, P06026, p. 3, P06051, P098 13. See Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 460-461 (22 Mar 2017), 
6972 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 243. 
6973 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 244, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06440. 
6974 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 244. 
6975 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 594,597. 
6976 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 591 (finding that Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 was interpreted by the 
HVO present in the "Municipality of VareS" as allowing them to act with brutality), 592 (referring to the control of 
checkpoints in Vares as well as the obstruction of access for UNPROFOR to Stupni Do), 593 (referring to 
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finding relates to Vares Municipality.6977 The Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO leaders did not 

order the attack on Stupni D06978 does not stand in contradiction to Praljak's contribution to the 

planning and directing of the military operation in Vares Municipality in general. Notably, the Trial 

Chamber's findings on Praljak's specific involvement with regard to the attack on Stupni Do was 

limited to his facilitation of the crimes by contributing to efforts to conceal those crimes and to the 

planning and directing of the HVO military operation in Vares Municipality in general.6979 

Therefore, Praljak's argument on the lack of evidence of his planning or directing the Stupni Do 
, 

attack is dismissed. 

2043. With regard to Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the 

. Trial Chamber summarised this order as stating that Petkovic and Rajic, among others, were to 

"'sort out the situation in Vares showing no mercy to anyone' with men who [were] 'up [ ... ] to the 

tasks",.6980 After considering related trial arguments,6981 the Trial Chamber rejected the testimonies 

of Praljak and Petkovic - that the words "show no mercy [to] anyone" were directed at Croats and 

not Muslims - as contradictory.6982 On reviewing the testimonies and the Trial Chamber's summary 

of the same,6983 the Appeals Chamber considers that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding, these 

testimonies are compatible on the issue that Muslims were not the target of the order. 6984 Thus, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber ened in concluding that Praljak's and PetkoviC's 

testimonies on the goal of Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 were contradictory. However, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber expressly discussed the general credibility of both 

Praljak's and PetkoviC's testimonies before concluding that they were "hardly credible" when they 

"testified seeking to limit their responsibility in respect of certain allegations".6985 As the Trial 

Chamber concluded that it would not accept their testimonies on these occasions, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber would have given little or no weight to Praljak's and 

PetkoviC's testimonies, even though compatible. Moreover, Praljak failed to show an error in the 

order of 5 November 1993 for the defence of Vares), 594 (concluding that Praljak participated in planning and directing 
HVO operations in Vares). 
6977 See supra, para. 820. 
6978 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 61. 
6979 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61, 596-597. 
6980 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 318, Vol. 4, para. 591. See supra, para. 2027. Notably, Praljak's Order of 
23 October 1993 states that "[s]ort out the situation in Vares showing no mercy towards anyone" and "[f]ind people 
who are up to both the times and tasks". Ex. P06028. 
6981 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 319-321. 
6982 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 322-324. 
6983 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 322 (Praljak testified that his order referred to Croat HVO soldiers engaged in 
criminal activities, such as smuggling), 323 (PetkoviC testified that the order referred to people in command and those 
around the command who clashed with the command and not to Muslims); Slobodan Praljak, T.43727-43731 
(24 Aug 2009); Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49614 (17 Feb 2010). 
6984 See Gatete Appeal Judgement, para. 125 ("two testimonies corroborate one another when one prima facie credible 
testimony is compatible with the other prima facie credible testimony regarding the same fact or a sequence of linked 
facts"); Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 428. 
6985 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
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Trial Chamber's assessment of his credibility.6986 Thus, the Trial Chamber's erroneous finding that 

Praljak's and PetkoviC's testimonies were contradictory has no impact on the Trial Chamber's 

ultimate conclusions. 

2044. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not make any 

finding on the reason behind the issuance of the order or the goal it sought to achieve. Rather, in 

finding that he contributed to the planning and directing of the HVO operations, the Trial Chamber 

considered that Praljak issued this order and that it was interpreted by the HVO soldiers as allowing 

them to act with brutality.6987 Thus, to the extent that Praljak argues that Praljak's Order of 

23 October 1993 was not directed at Muslims, he misunderstands the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

the order and there is no merit in his contention that the Trial Chamber erroneously interpreted it. 

The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Praljak's contentions. 

2045. Turning to the Trial Chamber's use of Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 to determine his 

involvement in the Vares operations, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber classified 

this document as an order6988 after considering Praljak's trial arguments that it was in fact "a piece 

of advice,,6989 and not an order. 6990 Even if this document was not intended to be distributed to the 

HVO soldiers, it was clearly addressed to the HVO commanders in the area, thus, Praljak's 

arguments in this respect do not undermine the Trial Chamber's classification of the order or show 

an error.6991 Concerning the interpretation of the order by the HVO soldiers to act with brutality and 

Praljak's argument that their violent actions began before the order was leaked,6992 the Appeals 

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber considered that the events following the leaking of the order 

showed the impact that this order had on the Vares operations. Specifically, the Trial Chamber 

concluded that the aggressive attitude of the HVO soldiers towards Bosnian Muslims increased, and 

they considered the order as permission to act violently, from at least the time the order was leaked 

around 2:00 a.m. or 3:00 a.m. on 24 October 1993.6993 Praljak's assertion that the violent acts were 

"mostly committed" on 23 October 1993 is insufficient to call into question the Trial Chamber's 

6986 See supra, paras 2031-2036. 
6987 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 325-326, Vol. 4, paras 591, 594. See Witness EA, T. 24433 (closed session) 
(13 Nov 2007). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 642 (where the Trial Chamber referred to the "vague nature" of 
Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 in assessing his JCE III responsibility). 
6988 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 318,325-326, Vol. 4, paras 591-592. 
6989 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 320. 
6990 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 320. See Pniljak's Final Brief, para. 406 (Praljak argued at trial that he sent a 
"message to Petkovic advising him to settle down the situation in Vares" and he merely offered advice). 
6991 See Ex. P06028, p. 1 (addressed to the Deputy Commander of the HVO Main Staff (Petkovic), the Commander of 
the Ban Josip JelaCic Brigade, the Commander of Operations Group-2 (Rajic), the Vice-President of the HR H-B, and 
the Commander of the Central Bosnia Military District). 
6992 See supra, para. 2037. 
6993 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 325-326, Vol. 4, para. 591, referring to Witness EA, T(F). 24428, 24432-24434 
(closed session) (14 Nov 2007), Ex. P10330 (confidential), para. 16. 
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conclusion, particularly as the military operation in Vares town continued until 3-

4 November 1993.6994 

2046. Regarding the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Rajic ordered the Bobovac Brigade to 

control checkpoints in Vares in execution of Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993,6995 the Appeals 

Chamber notes that Praljak does not challenge the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber.6996 He 

instead argues that these checkpoints existed prior to his order, which again does not undermine the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning RajiC's order for the Bobovac Brigade to take control of the 

checkpoints. Thus, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Praljak's arguments on these issues. In light of 

the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak does not show an error in the Trial Chamber's 

approach in considering that he issued an order regarding the Vares operations and the impact that 

order had on the ensuing events, to determine whether he planned and directed the operation in 

Vares Municipality. 

2047. Regarding Praljak's order of 5 November 1993, the Trial Chamber considered that the 

purpose of this order was the organisation of the defence of Vares.6997 Praljak argues that this order 

was not linked to the Vares operations which resulted in the relevant crimes. Notably, as found by 

the Trial Chamber, the detainees in Vares were freed, escaped, or released between 2 and 

4 November 1993,6998 and all the HVO troops withdrew from Vares town on 3 November 1993.6999 

The Trial Chamber also found that Vares town was attacked by the ABiH on 2 November 1993, 

surrounded by those forces on 4 November 1993, and fell into the hands of the ABiH on 

5 November 1993.7000 Based on these events, the Appeals Chamber finds that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded that Praljak's order of 5 November 1993 related directly to the HVO 

military operations which resulted in crimes being committed against the Muslim population in 

Vares town. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber reasonably 

referred to Praljak's order of 5 November 1993 to show that he was involved in directing the 

actions of the HVO in Vares Municipality. Therefore, considering this order in conjunction with 

Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to show an 

error in the Trial Chamber's finding that he participated in planning and directing the military 

operations in Vares Municipality in October 1993. Praljak's arguments are rejected and his sub­

ground of appeal 45.1 is thus dismissed. 

6994 See supra, para. 2027. 
6995 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 592, referring to, inter alia, Witness EA, T(F). 24577-24578 (closed session) 
(14 Nov 2007), T(F). 24608-24610 (closed session) (15 Nov 2007), Ex. P06114. 
6996 Witness EA, T(F). 24608-24609 (closed session) (15 Nov 2007), Ex. P06114. The Appeals Chamber dismisses 
Praljak's challenges to the evidence of Witness EA elsewhere. See supra, paras 2031-2036. 
6997 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 593. 
6998 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 397-399. 
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(iii) Praljak's role in and knowledge of crimes committed in Stupni Do CPraljak's Sub­

ground 45.2 and 45.3) 

2048. Praljak argues that it is evident that he had no knowledge of the Stupni Do crimes before 

their commission7001 and therefore he could not have intended them.7002 Praljak contends that he 

was found to have concealed the crimes, which is insufficient as his contribution "must form a link 

in the chain of causation" and he must have intended to conceal them before their commission.7oo3 

He submits that the Trial Chamber could not find a link between his acts and the Stupni Do crimes, 

thus it failed to properly establish his contribution and mens rea.7004 

2049. The Prosecution responds that as Praljak's shared intent encompassed crimes committed in 

Stupni Do, the fact that he learned of the crimes after they were committed is irrelevant, and points 

to his efforts to conceal them.7005 It also responds that: (1) a finding that Praljak's conduct formed 

"a link in the chain of causation" with respect to each criminal act is not required;7006 and 

(2) Praljak fails to support his "novel claim" that concealing crimes can only constitute a JCE 

contribution where the accused intended to conceal them before their commission.7oo7 

2050. Turning first to Praljak's arguments concerning his intent, the Trial Chamber found that he 

was informed of some of the crimes committed in Stupni Do, namely murders and destruction of 

property, no later than 5 November 1993.7008 In its discussion on his JCE III liability for thefts and 

sexual assaults committed during the Vares operations, the Trial Chamber concluded that "the 

vague 'nature of [Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993] and [Praljak's] lack of knowledge about any 

crime committed in the town of Vares and in Stupni Do on the date of the thefts and the sexual 

abuse" did not allow it to find that Praljak "had knowledge of the atmosphere of violence in the 

6999 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 397,399. 
7000 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 397, 504, 507. 
7001 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 503-504, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 61, 595, 597. Praljak argues, in 
reply, that the Prosecution did not appeal the TrialChaI)1ber's findings on when he became aware of the crimes. 
Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 103. 
7002 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 504, referring to Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365. 
7003 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 505, referring to Milutinovic et al. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 105. 
7004 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 505. 
7005 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 245. The Prosecution also argues that the evidence shows that Praljak 
was aware of the crimes in both Vares town and Stupni Do on the evening of 23 October 1993 and asserts that, in the 
following days, the details of the crimes reached the other JCE members and the public. Prosecution's Response Brief 

. (Praljak), paras 246-248. 
7006 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 258, referring to Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, 
paras 109, 153. The Prosecution asserts that in any event Praljak facilitated the Stupni Do crimes. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Praljak), para. 258. 
7007 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 259. The Prosecution asserts that Praljak's pre-existing intention to 
conceal crimes is demonstrated by the Trial Chamber's findings. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 259, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 620, 625-626. 
7008 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 595, 597, 641. 
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town of Vares and in Stupni Do".7oo9 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber concludes that, although not 

explicitly stated by the Trial Chamber, its findings indicate that it considered that Praljak was not 

aware of the specific criminal incidents committed in Stupni Do before or at the time of their 

occurrence. 

2051. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not discuss Praljak's intent 

to commit the Stupni Do crimes before, or at the time of, their commission but rather limited its 

analysis on his responsibility to his facilitation of the crimes through his contribution to the HVO's 

efforts to conceal them as well as his involvement in planning and directing the Vares 

operations.7010 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak misinterprets the findings 

as the Trial Chamber did not find that he intended the specific incidents in Stupni Do which resulted 

in murders and destruction of property. Rather, it considered that he intended that the JCE be 

furthered through the_ commission of, inter alia, murders committed during attacks on villages and 

towns and destruction of property in the various municipalities?Oll The AppealS Chamber recalls 

that "the mens rea required for liability under the first category of joint criminal enterprise is that 

the accused shares the intent with the other participants to carry out the crimes forming part of the 

common purpose".7012 As the crimes forming part of the CCP encompassed murders committed 

during attacks and destruction of property,7013 and he shared the intent with other JCE members to 

carry out crimes forming part of the CCP,7014 Praljak fails to show an error regarding his mens rea 

as it concerns the Stupni Do crimes. 

2052. Regarding Praljak's legal arguments concerning his contribution to the crimes, the Appeals 

Chamber dismisses the assertion that Praljak's contribution "must form a link in the chain of 

causation" to the extent he argues that there must be a link between his conduct and the specific 

crimes of murder and destruction of property committed in Stupni Do. While the case-law cited in 

support by Praljak does state that "the accused's acts or omissions 'must form a link in the chain of 

causation', and the significance of his contribution is relevant for determining whether such a link 

existed",7015 this was clarified by a prior statement that "[t]his means that the Prosecution must at 

7009 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 642. 
7010 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 595-597. 
7011 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66-67,625. See Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 474 ("the Appeals Chamber recalls 
that a participant in a JCE need not know of each crime committed in order to be criminally liable"); Sainovic et al. 
Agpeal Judgement, para. 1491. 
70 2 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 220, 228, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 707. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491 (it "suffices that he shared the intent for the 
commission of these crimes and acted in furtherance of the common purpose"). 
7013 See Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 70 (excluding murders committed in the municipalities of Capljina, Mostar, 
Stolac, and Prozor from the CCP). See also supra, para. 824. 
7014 See supra, paras 1918, 1921. 
7015 Milutinovic et al. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 105, referring to Blagojevie and Jokie Trial Judgement, para. 702 
(citing Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 263). 
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least establish that the accused took action in furtherance of the criminal plan". 7016 In this respect, 

the Appeals Chamber recalls that for JCE I liability "it is sufficient for the participant to perform 

acts that in some way are directed to the furthering" of the common criminal plan or purpose.7017 

Thus, to the extent that the Trial Chamber considered that Praljak's contribution to the concealment 

of the Stupni Do crimes - he "facilitated the failure to prosecute the perpetrators" of the Stupni Do 

crimes 7018 - was directed at furthering the CCP, Praljak fails to show an error. 

2053. However, as far as the Trial Chamber concluded that Praljak facilitated the Stupni Do 

crimes after they were committed by attempting to conceal them, the Appeals Chamber finds that 

the Trial Chamber erred. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, prior to the events in 

Stupni Do, there is no discussion or finding in the Trial Judgement which speaks to the CCP 

including a plan to conceal crimes or that Praljak was previously involved in attempts to conceal 

crimes during the JCE.7019 

2054. The Appeals Chamber also considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that Praljak 

facilitated the murders and destruction of property in Stupni Do was not based only on his 

concealment of the crimes but also on his contribution to the planning and directing of the HVO 

military operations in Vares Municipality in genera1.7020 However, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Praljak did not take part in the decision to attack Stupni Do,7021 and that the evidence of his 

participation in planning and directing the Vares operations all post-dates the attack on Stupni Do. 

Therefore, in these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that a reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded that Praljak contributed to or facilitated the commission of the Stupni Do 

crimes. Nonetheless, to the extent that the Trial Chamber found that Praljak was informed of the 

murders and destruction of property in Stupni Do, continued to exercise control over the armed 

7016 Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 263. 
7017 Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 229. See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1378, 1653; Sainovic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 1445; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 695 ("It is sufficient that the accused 'perform acts that in 
some way are directed to the f!lrthering' of the JCE in the sense that he significantly contributes to the commission of 
the crimes involved in the JCE"). See also Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, paras 109 ("the Trial 
Chamber was not required to find that he personally contributed to each criminal act, but rather that he made a 
significant contribution to the common purpose and that each of the criminal acts for which he was held responsible 
formed part of that purpose"), 153. 
7018 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. 
7019 Cj. Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 372-384 (The Appeals Chamber dismissed Vlastimir DordeviC's argument 
that his role in concealing bodies could not be considered as a contribution to the joint criminal enterprise as it was done 
ex post facto. In dismissing this argument, the Appeals Chamber considered, inter alia, that: (1) there was a plan to 
conceal crimes before the crimes in question occurred; (2) there was a shared purpose of the JCE members to commit 
crimes and conceal evidence of such; (3) that the failure to investigate crimes was indicative of a plan to conceal 
killings; and (4) DordeviC's involvement in concealing crimes occurred contemporaneously with or prior to the 
commission of the crimes in question.). 
7020 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 597. See supra, para. 2047. 
7021 Trial Judgement Vol. 4, para. 61. 
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forces, and "facilitated the failure to prosecute the perpetrators",7022 Praljak's arguments are 

rejected. Thus, Praljak's sub-grounds of appea145.2 and 45.3 are dismissed. 

(iv) Praliak's participation in concealing the crimes committed in Stupni Do CPraljak's 

Sub-ground 45.4) 

2055. In concluding that Praljak contributed to the HVO's efforts to conceal their responsibility 

for the Stupni Do crimes, the Trial Chamber considered that Praljak: (1) obstructed UNPROFOR's 

attempts at accessing Stupni Do between 23 and 25 October 1993 in order to investigate the crimes; 

(2) sent a letter to the commander of UNPROFOR on 6 November 1993 explaining that the HVO 

would do its best to identify the perpetrators of the crimes in Stupni Do but that it was difficult; and 

(3) signed an order of 8 November 19937023 requesting reports on an HVO investigation into the 

events - an investigation that the Trial Chamber found was a sham based on, inter alia, 

Witness EA's evidence that the reports served the sole purpose of having the international 

community believe that the HVO was investigating the crimes in Stupni Do.7024 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2056. Praljak submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that he obstructed UNPROFOR's access to 

Stupni Do is "illogical" as at the relevant time he had no knowledge of the Stupni Do events.7025 

Praljak also argues that the Trial Chamber's reliance on Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 to 

conclude that he sought to prevent UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do is untenable.7026 He asserts 

that the Trial Chamber failed to properly assess the evidence as Exhibits P06066, P06067, and 

P06114 do not concern access to Stupni Do or UNPROFOR.7027 Praljak further submits that there is 

no evidence that the HVO's request for reports in order to initiate investigations was not genuine or 

that he had no real will to investigate.7028 Praljak avers that Rajic "might" have written his reports 

with the aim of concealing his own responsibility but that this does not mean he or the HVO sought 

7022 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 626. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 597, 621-623, 625. 
7023 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber erroneously referred to Petkovic signing the order of 
8 November 1993 in paragraph 596 of Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement, where in other parts it correctly refers to 
Praljak signing the order. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 489, Vol. 4, para. 623, referring to Ex. 4D00834. 
7024 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-484, 489, 492, Vol. 4, paras 596-597,621-623. 
7025 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 507. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 104. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 406 (closed 
session), 409 (22 Mar 2017). 
7026 Appeal Hearing, AT. 406 (closed session) (22 Mar 2017). 
7027 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 508, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 471, Vol. 4, para. 621, Witness EA, 
T. 24500-24501 (closed session) (14 Nov 2007). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 406 (closed session) (22 Mar 2017). Praljak 
asserts that the Trial Chamber accepted the Prosecution's interpretation of the evidence cited without a proper 
assessment of the same. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 508, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, fn. 1018. See Praljak's 
Reply Brief, para. 105. Praljak also argues that although the local HVO obstructed UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do, 
this cannot be attributed to him or the Main Staff as "they were not obeying [the Main Staff's] command". Praljak's 
A~peal Brief, para. 509, referring to Exs. P06144, p. 1, P06140, p. 4. 
70 8 Praljak' s Appeal Brief, para. 512. See Praljak' s Appeal Brief, paras 510-511. 
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to conceal their responsibility.7029 Praljak also contends that: (1) he was infonned of the Stupni Do 

crimes on 5 November 1993;7030 (2) he had no reason to believe that the investigations would not be 

properly conducted;7031 and (3) there is no evidence that he knew of the further conduct of the 

investigations as he "left the ICE" a few days after being infonned of the crimes in Stupni Do.7032 

Praljak concludes that there is no evidence that he concealed the Stupni Do crimes or that he had 
. . f d . 7033 any mtentIOn 0 omg so. 

2057. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable.7034 It argues 

that the evidence established that Praljak facilitated Rajic~s efforts to prevent UNPROFOR's access 

to Stupni Do,7035 and that the Trial Chamber found that Praljak knew that UNPROFOR was seeking 

access following allegations of crimes and not that he knew of the crimes at that time.7036 

Specifically, the Prosecution contends that: (1) Rajic sent a report to the Main Staff addressed to 

Praljak on 24 October 1993 asking that UNPROFOR be warned to withdraw;7037 and (2) Praljak 

directed Petkovic "to do what ever it [took]" to conceal the fact that Rajic's forces had driven away 

UNPROFOR from Vares?038 The Prosecution submits that Praljak ignores the Trial Chamber's 

detailed analysis in arguing that there is no evidence that the steps taken to investigate were not 

. genuine?039 It asserts that the Trial Chamber properly relied on Witness EA's evidence which was 

cOlToborated by other evidence.704o Regarding the investigations, the Prosecution also argues that: 

(1) Praljak's role in planning and directing the Vares operation in October 1993 and in preventing 

UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do provides context to the finding that he contributed to concealing 

7029 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 512. 
7030 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 513, referring to Ex. 4D00834. See Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 104. Praljak also 
argues that he attended the meeting on 5 November 1993 as the Commander of the Main Staff and not as a member of 
the Government. Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 513. 
7031 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 513. 
7032 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 514, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 497, 1228. 
7033 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 515. 
7034 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 249, 253. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber was entitled 
to accept a party's position, given that it was supported by the evidence. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), 
~ara: 252. 

035 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 250. The Prosecution contends that Praljak: (1) allowed Rajic to 
remain in command in Vares despite knowing of crimes; (2) signaled his approval of operations in Vares town by 
issuing Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993; and (3) sanctioned, through :larko Tole, the use of force, if necessary, by 
Rajic against UNPROFOR on 24 October 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 250, referring to, inter 
alia, Exs. P06026, P06028, P06066, P06067 (confidential). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 456-462 (22 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution argues that it is "inconceivable" that Tole, Praljak's Chief of Staff, would have given his order to use force 
against UNPROFOR (Exhibit P06066) without Praljak's approval. Appeal Hearing, AT. 454-460 (22 Mar 2017). 
7036 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 251, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621. See Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 457 (22 Mar 2017). The Prosecution asserts that, in any event, Praljak knew about the crimes from the 
evening of 23 October 1993 and that Praljak admitted that he received Exhibit P06026 in the night of 23 October 1993. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 246, 251; Appeal Hearing, AT. 457, 460 (22 Mar 2017), referring to 
Ex. P06026, Slobodan Praljak, T. 41900 (24 June 2009). 
7037 Appeal Hearing, AT. 459 (22 Mar 2017), referring to Ex. P06067. See supra, fn. 7035. 
7038 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 250, referring to Exs. P06068, P06073, p. 2, Witness EA, T. 24572 
(closed session) (14 Nov 2007); Appeal Hearing, AT. 459-460 (22 Mar 2017). 
7039 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 253. 
7040 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 254-255. 
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the Stupni Do crimes;7041 and (2) the end of Praljak's JCE membership on 9 November 1993 does 

not relieve him of responsibility for concealing crimes committed between 23 October 1993 and 

8 November 1993.7042 

2058. Praljak argues that he only learned from Exhibit P06073 - dated 25 October 1993 - that the 

UN was requesting the transfer of explosives and not that UNPROFOR was seeking access to 

Stupni Do?043 He also argues that Exhibits P06073 and P06068 do n~t mention Stupni Do or that 

UNPROFOR was seeking access to Stupni Do.7044 Praljak also argues that he "evidently approved 

the actions of Petkovic directed at rectifying the situation in relation to UNPROFOR" referring to 

Exhibit P06063, an order dated 24 October 1993 for UNPROFOR to be given unimpeded access 

and movement. 7045 

b. Analysis 

1. Alleged errors in finding that Praljak sought to prevent UNPROFOR 

from accessing Stupni Do 

2059. Concerning Praljak's contribution to the concealment of the Stupni Do crimes, the Trial 

Chamber, in the section discussing Praljak's failure to prevent or punish crimes, recalled that the 

HVO prevented UNPROFOR from entering Stupni Do between 23 and 25 October 1993 and found 

that "although Slobodan Praljak knew UNPROFOR was seeking access to Stupni Do following the 

allegations of crimes, he ordered that such access be prevented".7046 The Trial Chamber relied on 

various pieces of evidence showing that UNPROFOR was prevented from accessing Stupni Do,7047 

but only referred to Praljak's involvement by noting that "on 25 October 1993, in implementing an 

order dated 23 October 1993 sent by Slobodan Praljak [ ... ], Ivica Rajic ordered the Bobovac 

Brigade to take control of the points of entry and exit checkpoints in Vares".7048 The Trial Chamber 

7041 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 256. 
7042 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 257. The Prosecution also responds that Praljak's arguments on his 
attendance at the meeting on 5 November 1993 has no impact and that he ignores that the HVO leaders ensured that the 
investigation came to nothing. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 257. 
7043 Appeal Hearing, AT. 408 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak also argues that Exhibit P06078, an order dated 25 October 1993 
from Petkovic to Rajic asking for information on the events in Stupni Do, shows that he did not know of the Stupni Do 
events or that UNPROFOR was seeking access to Stupni Do. Appeal Hearing, AT. 409 (22 Mar 2017). 
7044 Appeal Hearing, AT. 408-409 (22 Mar 2017). 
7045 Appeal Hearing, AT. 409 (22 Mar 2017). Praljak argues that Exhibit P06063 shows that "there is no possibility 
here, either by Praljak or Petkovic, to restrict movement by UNPROFOR". Appeal Hearing, AT. 409 (22 Mar 2017). 
7046 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 470-475. . 
7047 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, fns 1013-1021, Vol. 4, fns 1216-1219. 
7048 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P061I4 (confidential), P06028. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 472. In its discussion, the Trial Chamber noted that following a report from Rajic sent on the 
evening of 24 October 1993 to the Main Staff stating that if UNPROFOR did not withdraw, his forces would intervene, 
"Zarko Tole, the head of the Main Staff, ordered [Rajic ... ] to deploy HVO anti-tank weapons around the UNPROFOR 
vehicles and warn them" that they would be destroyed if they rendered HVO operations against the ABiH inoperative. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 621, referring to Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 214.1 (referring to Ex. 
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considered: (1) Exhibit P06114 - RajiC's order to the Bobovac Brigade - which was given on the 

basis of Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993;7049 and (2) Witness EA's testimony [Redacted, see 

Annex C - Confidential Annex].7050 However, bearing in mind that the Trial Chamber only relied 

on Praljak's Order of 23 October 1993 for its impact and how it was interpreted by the HVO troops, 

and that it considered the order to be vague,7051 the Appeals Chamber finds that the evidence cited 

by the, Trial Chamber does not support a conclusion that Praljak knew that UNPROFOR was 

seeking access to Stupni Do and that he prevented such access. This evidence also does not 

reasonably support a finding that Praljak knew of allegations concerning the Stupni Do crimes 

before the meeting he attended on 5 November 1993. Thus, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 

Trial Chamber erred as no reasonable trier of fact could have arrived at the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion based on the evidence it cited. 

ii. Alleged errors in finding that Praljak intended to conceal the crimes 

in Stupni Do by signing the order of 8 November 1993 

2060. Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that in concluding that Praljak contributed to the 

HVO's efforts to conceal their responsibility for the Stupni Do crimes, the Trial Chamber primarily 

relied on the order Praljak signed on 8 November 1993.7052 Pursuant to this order, which Praljak 

signed on behalf of Petkovic,7053 Rajic submitted two reports that, according to Witness EA, had the 

sole purpose of making the international community believe that the HVO was investigating the 

Stupni Do crimes.7054 In this respect,the Appeals Chamber considers that Praljak's argument that 

Rajic may have written his reports to conceal his responsibility is speculative and unpersuasive; 

particularly as [Redacted, see Annex C - Confidential Annex].7055 With regard to Praljak's 

arguments on his knowledge of the investigations, the Appeals Chamber notes that at the time 

Praljak signed the order of'8 November 1993, he knew of the crimes committed at Stupni Do,7056 he 

sent a letter to UNPROFOR on 6 November 1993 explaining that the HVO would do its best to 

(confidential)). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 471, referring to Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 214.1 (referring to 
Exs. P06067 (confidential), P06066). However, the Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit P06067 is a report dated 
24 October 1993 from Rajic to the Main Staff and the attention of Praljak stating that UNPROFOR located in Vares 
"have deployed the armoured carriers with crews [ ... ] with the possible aim to prevent a communication between the 
[Bobovac Brigade] and the logistical support to the units in case the Army of BiH [ ... ] launch offensive combat 
operations on the Vares HVO" and that UNPROFOR should be warned to withdraw. The Appeals Chamber considers 
that no reasonable trier of fact could have inferred from this exhibit alone that UNPROFOR was seeking access to 
Stupni Do to investigate allegations of crimes. Moreover, the Trial Chamber did not cite directly to the exhibits in 
question but to the Prosecution's Pre-Trial Brief to conclude that the HVO prevented UNPROFOR from entering Stupni 
Do. Notably, the Trial Chamber did not make a finding on whether Praljak knew of Tole's order to Rajic 
(Exhibit P06066) or RajiC's report (Exhibit P06067 (confidential)). Trial, Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 471, Vol. 4, 
~ara. 621. 

049 Ex. P06114, p. 1. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 472 & fn. 1019, Vol. 4, para. 621 & fn. 1219. 
7050 Witness EA, T. 24609-24610 (closed session) (15 Nov 2007). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 472 & fn. 1019, 
Vol. 4, para. 621 & fn. 1219. 
7051 See supra, paras 2043-2045, 2050. 
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identify the perpetrators,7057 and the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic had begun the cover-up of 

the crimes.7058 

2061. However, as the Trial Chamber's findings do not explicitly speak to Praljak's knowledge 

that the investigations were a sham or intended to mislead the international community,7059 and 

bearing in mind that Praljak's JCE membership ended on 9 November 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded - as the only reasonable inference - that 

Praljak intended to conceal the crimes in Stupni Do by signing the order of 8 November 1993. 

Therefore, the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Praljak contributed to the HVO's efforts to 

conceal the crimes committed in Stupni Do. 

iii. Conclusion 

2062. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that Praljak facilitated the crimes committed in Stupni Do on 23 October 1993: (1) by 

contributing to their concealment; and (2) as he participated in planning and directing the operations 

in Vares Municipality. Thus, Praljak's sub-ground of appeal 45.4 is granted and the impact of this 

error, if any, will be discussed in the sentencing section below.706o As such, it is unnecessary to 

address Praljak's remaining arguments on this issue. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that 

Praljak has not demonstrated an error in the Trial Chamber's finding that he participated in planning 

and directing the operations in Vares Municipality in October 1993. Therefore, Praljak's 

contribution to furthering the CCP through his involvement in the operations in Vares Municipality 

. 1'" d 7061 III genera IS mamtame . 

(v) Conclusion 

2063. In light of the foregoing, Praljak's ground of appeal 45 is granted to the extent it concerns 

his contribution to the concealment and facilitation of the Stupni Do crimes; the remainder of his 

ground of appeal 45 as well as his ground of appeal 54 are dismissed. 

7052 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 596-597, 623, referring to Ex. 4D00834, Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 42211 
(30 June 2009). The Appeals Chamber notes that the order of 8 November 1993 says "[s]end me urgently a brief report 
for Stupni Do" and "[s]ubmit the names of two persons for initiating investigative procedure". Ex. 4D00834. 
7053 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 489, Vol. 4, paras 596-597,623, referring to Ex. 4D00834. 
7054 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 489, Vol. 4, paras 596-597, 623, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P06519, P06671. 
7055 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 489, Vol. 4, para. 596. See supra, fn. 6996. See also supra, paras 2031-2036. 
7056 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 595. 
7057 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 622, referring to Ex. P06481. 
7058 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480,484, Vol. 4, paras 769-777. 
7059 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-498, Vol. 4, paras 596-597. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 769-777. 
7060 See infra, para. 3362. 
7061 See supra, para. 820. 
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(e) Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison (Praljak's Ground 46) 

2064. The Trial Chamber found that from at least September 1993 Praljak "had to have known" 

that the conditions of confinement in Gabela Prison were "problematic enough to elicit a reaction 

from the international community and bring about the direct intervention of Franjo Tudman".7062 It 

further found that Praljak "was at least aware that" the conditions in Dretelj Prison were poor.7063 In 

reaching these conclusions the Trial Chamber relied on the fact that Praljak himself acknowledged, 

in an interview he gave to a Croatian newspaper in 1997, that when he joined the HVO Main Staff 

command he knew that HVO detention centres existed and that the conditions of confinement in 

those centres did not conform to international standards.7064 The Trial Chamber also relied on the 

fact that, on 19 September 1993, Praljak forwarded Boban's order of 15 September 1993, "calling 

on all components of the HZ H-B armed forces to adhere to the Geneva Conventions in HVO 

prisons and detention centres" and to allow the ICRC access to detention centres holding POWS.7065 

2065. With respect to Gabela Prison specifically, the Trial Chamber referred to Praljak's interview 

in the undated documentary "The Death of Yugoslavia" in which he, in the context of the 

discussion on detention centres generally, stated that he personally issued orders for reorganisation 

of Gabela Prison so that the detainees would receive water, food, mattresses, and would be able to 

wash.7066 The Trial Chamber also relied on evidence concerning Praljak's involvement with Gabela 

Prison, starting in early September 1993, including the access he granted to journalists to visit the 

prison, the subsequent publication of photographs of emaciated detainees from Gabela Prison which 

caused international condemnation, and Tudman's open letter to Boban regarding the application of 

international law and the Geneva Conventions in the camps.7067 The Trial Chamber noted that these 

events led to Boban's order of 15 September 1993.7068 Regarding Dretelj Prison, the Trial Chamber 

supported its findings on Praljak's responsibility for the conditions there by the fact that he stated to 

the ECMM on 24 September 1993 that he was aware that this prison was a "bad thing".7069 The 

7062 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 609. 
7063 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 614. 
7064 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 599, referring to Ex. P08765, p. 9 (wherein Praljak stated "the camps are certainly 
not something we can boast about" and that "[t]he conditions in those camps were not as prescribed by the international 
community, but I think that, apart from one, there were no killings."). 
7065 Trial Judgeme~t, VoL 4, para. 600, referring to Exs. 3D00915, pp. 3-5, P05188. 
7066 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 602, referring to Ex. P09470 (wherein Praljak also recounts that Stojic promised that, 
as far as the Heliodrom was concerned, he would do everything to "avoid any ugly things" but that despite of StojiC's 
fcromise "it was clear that there would be ugly things"), Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 44337 (3 Sept 2009). 
067 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 603-608, 611, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P09507 (confidential), Slobodan Praljak, 

T(F). 40917-40919 (28 May 2009), T(F). 44327-44333 (3 Sept 2009). 
7068 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 607-608. 
7069 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 613, referring to Ex. P05356 (confidential), p. 3. 
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Trial Chamber also relied on Praljak's testimony that in September 1993 he asked that mattresses be 

sent to pretelj Prison as he read that the detainees were sleeping on the floor. 7070 

2066. Having established Praljak's knowledge of detention conditions in Gabela Prison and 

Dretelj Prison, the Trial Chamber concluded that his actions, namely his facilitation of access to 

Gabela Prison for journalists and the fact that he forwarded Boban's order of 15 September 1993, 

did not constitute a "real effort" to remedy the poor conditions in these prisons since they continued 

to exist.7071 It also concluded that the fact that he continued to carry out his functions within the 

HVO while knowing about these bad conditions showed that he accepted these crimes.7on In that 

regard, the Trial Chamber referred to Praljak's own testimony that he did nothing to implement 

Boban's order because its implementation fell under the jurisdiction of other authorities and 

because he did not have the means to act.7073 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2067. Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he did not make any real effort 

to remedy the detention conditions.7074 Praljak argues that he took various steps to improve the 

detention conditions as he: (1) authorised access to Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison but that these 

orders were not always respected;7075 (2) ordered that mattresses be sent to Dretelj Prison;7076 

(3) ordered Gabela Prison to be reorganised in accordance with the laws of war;7077 (4) forwarded 

orders requesting that the Geneva Conventions be respected;7078 and (5) organised at least one 

conference on international humanitarian law and distributed pamphlets to the HVO.7079 

2068. Praljak further submits that the Trial Chamber did not attempt to establish whether he had a 

legal duty to act, and emphasises that "criminal responsibility may be engaged only if the omission 

constitutes a [wilful] failure to discharge such a duty,,.708o Praljak also contends that the mens rea 

attributed to him by the Trial Chamber is not sufficient for a conviction under ICE e081 He asserts 

that the Trial Chamber could not find that he had the required mens rea for the crimes in the 

detention centres as it could only conclude that he "had to have known" about the conditions in 

7070 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 613, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 40920 (28 May 2009). 
7071 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. 
7072 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. 
7073 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 606, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 44330 (3 Sept 2009). 
7074 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 517. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 394 (22 Mar 2017). 
7075 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 603, 611-612. 
7076 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516. 
7077 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516, referring to Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 602. 
7078 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 607-608. 
7079 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 498. 
7080 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 518-519, referring to GaUc Appeal Judgement, para. 175, Blaskic Appeal Judgement, 
~ara. 663, Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 334. 

081 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 520, referrin~ to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 609, 611, 614. 
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Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison and therefore accepted these crimes.7082 Praljak argues that .the 

words "poor" and "problematic" are not indicative that crimes were committed, and as the Trial 

Chamber failed to establish whether he was aware of these crimes, it failed to establish his 

intent. 7083 

2069. With regard to Praljak's claim that he tried to improve the detention conditions and 

implement the Geneva Conventions, the Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber carefully 

analysed and rejected these arguments.7084 The Prosecution further responds that Praljak possessed 

the shared intent which included the intent for the crimes committed in the detention centres, in 

furtherance of the CCp.7085 It argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Praljak 

"'accepted' the detention-related crimes" which confirms its findings regarding his shared 

intent. 7086 

2070. The Prosecution also responds that Praljak went beyond the ·scope of his Notice of Appeal 

in his argument on his omissions as contributions to the CCp.7087 It a,rgues that Praljak was properly 

convicted of JCE I crimes committed in the detention centres; including Gabela Prison and Dretelj 

Prison,7088 and that was not based only on his omissions but also on his "active" significant 

contribution to the CCp.7089 The Prosecution further argues that Praljak had control over the HVO 

members deployed at the detention centres,7090 which is demonstrated by the fact that he issued 

orders concerning Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison.7091 It asserts that "Praljak did not merely omit 

to improve conditions in the detention centres" but used his resources to maintain the detention 

centres which was essential to the system of deportation.7092 The Prosecution also contends that, 

7082 Praljak's Appeal Brief, paras 520-521, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 609, 611, 614. 
7083 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 520. See Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 521. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 411 
(22 Mar 2017). 
7084 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 267, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 602-606. The 
Prosecution maintains that Praljak made no serious effort to improve the detention conditions. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Praljak), para. 269, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 604, 606-611, 613-614. See Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 470 (22 Mar 2017). 
7085 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 270, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41, 43-45, 
48, 57, 64-68, 1219-1221. 
7086 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 270, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 609, 611, 614. See 
ApReal Hearing, AT. 462-470 (22 Mar 2017). 
70 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 263. 
7088 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 261. 
7089 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), paras 264-265, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 628, 
1232,1342. 
7090 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 266, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 15-36, 163-
192, Vol. 4, paras 397, 484, 495-496,502,506,624-626. 
7091 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 266. The Prosecution highlights that Praljak ordered that Gabela 
Prison be "properly organised", that several journalists have access to Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison, that Dretelj 
Prison be turned into a military prison for the HVO, as well as forwarded Boban's 15 September 1993 order. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 266. 
7092 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 266. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably found 
that the JCE members implemented a system for deporting the Muslim popUlation through, inter alia, detention in 
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even if the Trial Chamber had based its finding solely on Praljak's omissions, this would not 

constitute a legal error as Praljak had the duty to prevent and punish crimes of his subordinates as 

well as protect the people who were under his subordinates' contro1.7093 According to the 

Prosecution, Praljak was in a position to fulfil these duties as the Trial Chamber found that he had 

"broad authority" over the HVO, including discipline, which extended to detention centres.7094 

2071. Praljak replies that no link was established between his contribution and the events in the 

detention centres, nor did the Trial Chamber properly establish that he had any knowledge that the 

crimes committed in the detention centres were part of the CCp.7095 He further submits that the 

argument relating to "omissions" is closely connected to his 1nens rea as the Trial Chamber drew 

inferences on his intent based on these omissions?096 

(ii) Analysis 

2072. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered the same actions 

undertaken by Praljak which he now asserts are evidence of his efforts to improve the conditions in 

the detention centres 7097 but concluded that he did not make any real effort to remedy the 

conditions.7098 Notably, the Trial Chamber observed that, for Gabela Prison, the conditions 

continued to exist.7099 

2073. While Praljak contends that the Trial Chamber admitted that his orders granting access for 

journalists to detention centres "were not always respected",7100 he relies on the finding of the Trial 

Chamber concerning one such authorisation. Specifically, the Trial Chamber recounted that a 

Croatian journalist from Globus Magazine, having been authorised by Praljak to visit Gabela 

Prison, was stopped from accessing it by the guards.7101 He was eventually able to obtain access, 

conditions and the use of detainees on the front lines. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 262, referring to, 
inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 64,66,999. 
7093 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 268, referring to Blaskic Appeal Judgement, para. 663, Mrksic and 
Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 150. 
7094 Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 269, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 495-496, Mrksic and 
Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 154. The Prosecution also contends that the Main Staff was responsible for 
implementing Boban's order of 15 September 1993. Prosecution's Response Brief (Praljak), para. 268, referring to 
Ex. P05104, paras 3, 7. 
7095 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 107, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 631. See Praljak's Reply Brief, 
~ara. 110, referring to, inter alia, Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 228, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365. 

096 Praljak's Reply Brief, para. 109, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611, 614. 
7097 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 600, 602-603, 607-609, 612-613. The Trial Chamber also considered that although 
Praljak organised at least one conference on international humanitarian law and distributed pamphlets, it could not find 
that there was any real institutionalised HVO training on this subject. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 498. 
7098 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. 
7099 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 610-611. 
7100 Praljak's Appeal Brief, para. 516. 
7101 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 603. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that this was Praljak's 
second authorisation as he had earlier authorised the same access for the ZDF television crew, which was duly "v~.u,n~"u 
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after having gone back to the Main Staff and receiving an entry permit from Zarko Tole, the Chief 

of the Main Staff.7102 Thus, the fact that one of Praljak's two orders, granting access to one 

journalist was not immediately carried out does not diminish his role or capability to make more 

efforts to improve the conditions of detention, particularly given that he was the Commander of the 

Main Staff at the time and that he was, on his own admission, able to issue orders to reorganise 

Gabela Prison and provide its detainees with food, water, and mattresses.7103 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore considers that Praljak only recites the Trial Chamber's findings on his actions without 

showing how it erred in concluding that he made no real effort to improve detention conditions. 

Indeed, as recalled earlier, with respect to his failure to act, the Trial Chamber also relied on 

Praljak's own testimony that he did nothing to implement Boban's order of 15 September 1993 in 

finding that he made no real effort to improve the conditions of detention.7104 As Praljak merely 

offers his own interpretation of the evidence and his actions, his argument is dismissed. 

2074. With regard to Praljak's argument that his knowledge of the crimes committed in the 

detention centres was not properly established, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's 

conclusions that Praljak "had to have known" and that he "was at least aware" that the detention 

conditions in Gabela Prison and Dretelj Prison were problematic, bad, and pOOr.7105 Notably, 

Praljak does not contest these conclusions or that crimes were committed but argues that the 

findings do not show that he had knowledge of any crime committed or that these crimes formed 

part of the CCP. While the Trial Chamber could have been more explicit regarding the specific 

crimes in its analysis, this does not show an error7106 and the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by 

Praljak's assertion that his knowledge of crimes was not sufficiently determined. 

2075. In respect of Praljak's first argument, namely that the Trial Chamber's findings do not show 

his knowledge of crimes, the Appeals Chamber notes that, in the section of the Trial Judgement 

discussing his responsibility for the detention centres, the Trial Chamber did not explicitly list 

specific crimes of which Praljak was found to have been aware.7107 However, the Trial Chamber 

considered evidence that Praljak: (1) knew that the detention conditions "did not conform to 

international standards,,;7108 (2) stated that he issued orders for Gabela Prison to be reorganised so 

with. Indeed, it was the ZDP footage that "caused quite a scandal" and led to "other international representatives" 
reauesting access to detention centres in the HR H-B territory. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 603-604. 
710 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 603. 
7103 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 602, referring to Ex; P09470, p. 2. 
7104 See supra, para. 2066. 
7105 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 609,611,614. See supra, para. 2064. 
7106 The Appeals Chamber considers that a JCE member does not need to have knowledge or intended the specific 
incidents or crime as long as he shares the intent to commit the JCE I crimes. Cf Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 917; Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 474. 
7107 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 599-614. 
7108 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 599. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 600, 606-607, 609. See also supra, 
para. 2064 & fn. 7064. The Appeals Chamber notes that Praljak: does not challenge the Trial Chamber's reliance on 
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that "detainees would receive water, food, mattresses and be able to wash, in accordance with the 

laws of war,,;7109 (3) knew that detention conditions were "bad enough to elicit a strong reaction 

from the international community and bring about the direct intervention of Pranjo Tudman,,;7l10 

(4) was aware of Boban's order of 15 September 1993 requiring that the HVO forces respect 

international humanitarian law in the detention centres/111 and (5) stated on 24 September 1993 to 

the ECMM that he was aware that Dretelj Prison was a "bad thing".7l12 

2076. In addition, the Trial Chamber noted Praljak's own evidence that in September 1993, 

subsequent to authorising the Globus journalist's visit to Gabela Prison, he saw photographs 

published in the media of thin-looking Gabela Prison detainees who had lost a significant amount of 

weight; however, he testified that he had not considered this situation to be "very serious".7113 The 

Trial Chamber also noted that Praljak admitted during his testimony that the footage filmed by the 

ZDP crew "caused quite a scandal" such that Mate Granic had to be dispatched to BiH by Tudman 

in order to convene meetings regarding the situation.7114 Reading the Trial Judgement as a 

whole,7115 the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber - by concluding that Praljak 

knew of the bad detention conditions, including specifically: (1) the lack of food and water, as 

publicised through disturbing images in the media; (2) at least one killing, as admitted by Praljak in 

a subsequent interview; and (3) that the conditions of detention in camps in general violated 

international humanitarian law to such an extent that they eventually required an intervention of the 

international community and Tudman - found that Praljak knew of the crimes committed at Dretelj 

Prison and Gabela Prison. 

2077. Concerning Praljak's knowledge that the crimes committed in the detention centres formed 

part of the CCP, the Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber found that the detention 

centres were part of a system set up and implemented by the JCE members to further the CCP.7116 

The Trial Chamber found that the detention centres were an integral part of the entire system set up 

by the JCE members for deporting the Muslim population of the HR H-B which consisted of, inter 

1997 interview nor its finding that he knew, when he joined the HVO Main Staff, that the conditions of detention did 
not conform to international standards. The Appeals Chamber also notes that while not mentioned specifically by the 
Trial Chamber in its finding, during the same interview Praljak also acknowledged at least one killing in the detention 
centres. See supra, para. 2064 & fn. 7064. 
7109 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 602. 
7110 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 611. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 609. 
7111 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 600,607-608. 
7112 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4. para. 613, referring to Ex. P05356 (confidential), p. 3. 
7113 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 603, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 40919 (28 May 2009). 
7114 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 604, referring to Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 443327-44333 (3 Sept 2009), Peter 
Galbraith, T(F). 6537-6540 (13 Sept 2006) (testifying that it was no surprise that Praljak authorised the ZDF crew to 
enter Gabela Prison on 1 September 1993 given the enormous pressure Tudman, Granic, and Susak were receiving 
during summer of 1993 from Galbraith and other members of the international community to allow the international 
community to access the detention centres). 
7115 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Mrkfic and Sljivallcanin Appeal Judgement, para. 379. 
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alia, placement of civilians in detention centres and mistreatment and poor conditions of 

confinement.7117 The Trial Chamber found that Praljak: (1) was one of the most important members 

of the JCE;7118 (2) had "effective control" and command authority over the HVO and Military 

Police;7119 and (3) shared the intent of the CCP with the other JCE members.712o In light of these 

findings, Praljak fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he "knew that [the 

crimes committed by the HVO and the Military Police, including the crimes committed in the 

Gabela and Dretelj Prisons] were being committed against the Muslims with the sole aim of forcing 

them to leave the territory of Herceg-Bosna".7121 By simply asserting that his knowledge was not 

established, Praljak fails to substantiate his argument, which is thus dismissed. 

2078. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "the mens rea required for liability under the 

first. category of joint criminal enterprise is that the accused shares the intent with the other 

participants to c~rry out the crimes forming part of the common purpose". 7122 It also recalls that the 

requisite mens rea can be inferred from a person's knowledge of the common plan involving the 

commission of the crime, combined with his continuous participation, if this is the only reasonable 

inference available on the evidence.7123 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls that Praljak: 

(1) knew of the CCP which included the detention-related crimes;7124 (2) knew by at least 

September 1993 that crimes were being committed in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison in 

furtherance of the CCP;7125 (3) continued to carry out his functions thus accepting the crimes 

committed in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison;7126 and (4) continuously contributed to the 

implementation of the CCP from January 1993 to November 1993.7127 Thus, Praljak fails to 

demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the requisite mens rea. 

2079. Concerning Praljak's submission relating to "omissions", the Appeals Chamber takes note 

of the Prosecution's challenge to the permissibility of this submission. While the question of 

whether the Trial Chamber erred with regard to its consideration of Praljak' s failure to act in order 

to improve the detention conditions is relevant to his contribution to the crimes, the Appeals 

7116 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 64,66. See also supra, paras 817-818, 952, 958. 
7117 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 64,66. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 69-73 (setting out the crimes that did not 
fall within the CCP because they lacked a systematic or widespread nature or lacked the common intent of all the 
Agpellants). 
71 8 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
7119 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 482,506,624. See supra, paras 1853-1870. 
7120 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 627. See supi'a, para. 1921. 
7121 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 628. 
7122 Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 468, referring to Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 220, 228, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, para. 707. . 
7123 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 512, Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, paras 202, 204, 697, Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 428-429, Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 120. 
7124 See supra, paras 1918, 1940,2077. 
7125 See supra, para. 2077. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 609-611,612-614. 
7126 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. 
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Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also inferred Praljak's intent from his failure to act, among 

other factors. 7128 In his Notice of Appeal, Praljak alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in law in 

convicting him of the relevant crimes "without having established that he had [the] required intent" 

in relation to his ground of appeal 46.7129 Thus, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that Praljak 

has exceeded the scope of his Notice of Appeal. Moreover, the Prosecution will not suffer any 

prejudice if Praljak's argument is considered on its merits as it responded to this argument and the 

matter is fully litigated in the briefs.7130 

2080. The Appeals Chamber notes, with regard to Pra~jak's argument on his legal duty to act, that 

he had command authority and "effective control" over the HVO soldiers, as well as members of 

the Military Police, deployed to Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison.7131 Notably, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that "when establishing an accused's participation in a joint criminal enterprise 

through his failure to act, the existence of a legal duty to act derived from a rule of criminal law is 

not required".7132 The nature of the accused's duty is instead a question of evidence and not 

determinative of joint criminal enterpdse liability.7133 Praljak's argument to the extent it con~erns 

his contribution is dismissed. 

2081. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber concluded that as Praljak 

continued to carry out his function,s without making any real effort to remedy the detention 

conditions, he accepted the crimes committed in Dretelj Prison and Gabela Prison.7134 

Subsequently, in its findings on Praljak's responsibility under ICE I liability, the Trial Chamber 

inferred that he intended to have the crimes committed against the Muslim population on several 

bases, including his failure to make any serious efforts to stop the HVO and the Military Police 

from committing crimes.7135 Therefore, Praljak's failure to act in this regard was also considered 

when establishing his mens rea. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber was not required to de~ermine, in addition, that Praljak had the right or the obligation 

to prevent or punish crimes as he was not convicted as a superior pursuant to Article 7(3) of the 

7127 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. 
7128 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 625-627. 
7129 Praljak's Notice of Appeal, para. 265. 
7130 Cj. Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 489; Nizeyimana Appeal Judgement, paras 352-354. The Appeals 
Chamber recalls that it is unnecessary for the notice of appeal to detail the arguments that the parties intend to use in 
support of the grounds of appeal, but the purpose of listing all the grounds of appeal is to focus the mind of the 
respondent on the arguments which will be developed subsequently in the appeal brief. Popovic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 500, referring to Boskoski and Tarculovski Appeal Judgement, para. 246.' 
7131 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 482, 490, 506, 608, 624, 626. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 619-623. 
7132 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110 (emphasis added). See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 111. 
7133 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110 and references cited therein. 
7134 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 611,614. 
7135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 625-627. 
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Statute.7136 For the purposes of establishing the mens rea element of commission through 

participation in a JCE pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute, it was within the Trial Chamber's 

discretion to consider, among other factors, whether Praljak used his command authority to 

undertake measures which could have prevented or punished the commission of crimes.7137 Thus, 

the Appeals Chaml,Jer finds that Praljak fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in this respect. 

Praljak's argument to the extent it concerns his mens rea is dismissed. 

2082. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Praljak has failed to gemonstrate 

that the Trial Chamber erred in determining his responsibility for crimes committed at Dretelj 

Prison and Gabela Prison. Praljak's ground of appeal 46 is therefore dismissed. 

7. Conclusion 

2083. Based on the above sections addressing his challenges to the findings on his JCE 

contribution and mens rea, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Praljak has failed to demonstrate 

any error which has an impact on the Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) a plurality of persons, 

including Praljak, consulted with each .other to devise and implement the CCP; (2) Praljak 

continuously contributed to the JCE between January 1993 and 9 November 1993; (3) Praljak's 

contribution, which included the use of the HVO and the Military Police to commit crimes, was 

significant and furthered the CCP; (4) Praljak shared the intent to expel the Muslim popUlation from 

the territory of Herceg-Bosna with other JCE members; (5) Praljak shared the intent to carry out the 

crimes forming part of the CCP; and (6) Praljak intended to discriminate against Muslims in order 

to facilitate their eviction from the territory of Herceg-Bosna?138 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber 

upholds the majority of Praljak' s convictions under JCE I for the various crimes forming part of the 

CCP and committed prior to the end of his JCE membership on 9 November 1993. 

2084. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has: (1) found that Praljak cannot be held 

responsible for crimes occurring after 15 November 1993, including certain incidents of sniping and 

destruction of mosques in Mostar Municipality;7139 and (2) reversed the findings concerning 

Praljak's contribution to the concealment and facilitation of the crimes committed in Stupni DO.7140 

Thus, the Appeals Chamber will address the impact that these findings and reversal may have on his 

sentence, if any, in the relevant section below.7141 

7136 See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1045. See also Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, paras 1368-1369. 
7137 See Sainovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1045. 
7138 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 624-628, 1220, 1228, 1230-1232. 
7139 See supra, paras 1973, 2003, 2026. 
7140 See supra, paras 2062-2063. 
7141 See infra, para. 3362. 
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H. Alleged Errors in Relation to Milivoj PetkoviC's Participation in the JCE7142 

1. Introduction 

2085. Milivoj Petkovic was appointed Chief of the HVO Main Staff on 14April1992 and 

remained in that position until 24 July 1993, when he became deputy commander of the Main Staff 

to Slobodan Praljak.7143 He acted as Praljak's deputy until 8 November 1993 and thereafter was 

deputy to Ante Roso until 26 April 1994, when he was again appointed Chief of the HVO Main 

Staff, a position he held until August 1994.7144 The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed 

to the JCE from January 1993 to April 1994,7145 and concluded that this contribution was 

significant.7146 It concluded that Petkovic was one of the most important JCE members as he 

directed and controlled the HVO, negotiated with the ABiH authorities, and implemented the 

policies and decisions of the HVO/Government of the HZ(R) H-B in the field.7147 The Trial 

Chamber also found that Petkovic used the HVO to commit crimes that formed part of the CCP and 

the actions of HVO members and the Military Police were attributable to him?148 It made several 

findings concerning PetkoviC's contributions including, inter alia, that: (1) he had command 

authority over the HVO and that he exercised this authority; 7149 (2) he made decisions regarding 

military operations, which he had the HVO carry out;7150 (3) he forwarded the decisions of "the 

HVO government" to the HVO and had them implement these decisions;7151 (4) he participated in 

the directing, planning, and facilitating of several HVO military operations;7152 and (5) despite his 

authority over the HVO and the Military Police, he did not make serious efforts to put an end to the 

.. f' b HVO b 7153 COmmISSIOn 0 cnmes y. mem ers. 

7142 The Appeals Chamber recalls that Petkovic uses Roman numerals to number his grounds of appeal and Arabic 
numerals to number the sub-headings pertaining thereto. See supra, fn. 55. For ease of reference, the Appeals Chamber 
will follow the numbering of the sub-headings throughout this section of the Judgement. 
7143 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 651-652, 8~4. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 715-717,727-728. 
7144 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 652. 
7145 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1225. 
7146 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7147 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7148 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's finding 
that the seven killings in Dusa constituted murder and wilful killing. See 'supra, paras 441-443. Consequently, the 
Appeals Chamber has found that murder and willful killings were not part of the CCP in the period from January 1993 
until June 1993, the impact of which will be discussed elsewhere in this chapter where relevant. See supra, paras 882, 
886. 
7149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 653-679,803,814. The Trial Chamber also found that the Military Police units were 
subordinated to Petkovic. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 661-663,816. 
7150 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 814. 
7151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 814. 
7152 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7153 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815-816. 
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2086. Regarding PetkoviC's mens rea under ICE I liability, the Trial Chamber concluded that he: 

(1) intended the crimes committed in various municipalities,7154 at times inferring his intent from 

his failure to make any serious efforts to put an end to the commission of crimes by HVO 

members;7155 (2) shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from the territory of Herceg­

Bosna with other ICE members;7156 and (3) intended to discriminate against Muslims in order to 

facilitate their eviction from the territory of Herceg-Bosna.7157 

2087. The Trial Chamber thus convicted Petkovic under Article 7(1) of the Statute of committing, 

pursuant to ICE I liability, various crimes amounting to grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions, 

violations of the laws or customs of war, andlor crimes against humanity under Articles 2, 3, and 5 

of the Statute, respectively.7158 Petkovic was sentenced to a single sentence of 20 years of 

imprisonment. 7159 

2088. Petkovic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings concerning: (1) his functions and powers; 

(2) his contribution to the ICE; (3) his mens rea; and (4) his participation in the CCP.7160 Petkovic 

also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that a plurality of persons, including himself, 

shared the CCP?161 These challenges will be addressed below. 

7154 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7155 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815-817. 
7156 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 817. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7157 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7158 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 68, 820-821, Disposition, p. 431. These crimes are: persecution as a crime against 
humanity (Count 1); murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva 
Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); 
unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against 
humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 11); 
inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity 
(Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawful labour as a violation 
of the laws or customs of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and 
carried out unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); destruction or wilful 
damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); 
unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on 
civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes 
also fell within the framework of the JCE, meaning that Petkovic was also responsible for them, but did not enter 
convictions for them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or 
customs of war (Count 17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military 
necessity (Count 20). See also infra, paras 2443-2455. 
7159 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 431. 
7160 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 86-123,128-133,137-171,214-217,219-251,256-268, 270-276, 279-284, 287-346, 
348-361,363-364. 
7161 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362. 
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2. Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's powers and functions (Sub-grounds 5.1 and 5.2 both in 

part) 

2089. In assessing PetkoviC's de jure and de facto command authority over the HVO, the 

Trial Chamber concluded that, as the chief of the Main Staff, subsequently the deputy commander 

and later the deputy chief of the Main Staff, he had effective command and control over the 

HVO.7162 

2090. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber committed errors in assessing his powers and 

functions over the HVO and in drawing conclusions regarding these powers.7163 The Appeals 

Chamber will address these contentions in tum. 

(a) Alleged errors regarding Petkovic's de jure command authority over the HVO 

2091. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic held the office of "Chief of the [HVO] Main Staff' 

from 14 April 1992 until 24 July 1993, when Praljak succeeded him by being appointed 

"Commander of the Main Staff' during a reorganisation at the top levels of the Main Staff, which 

entailed a change of name in the title of the office heading that organ.7164 It found that Petkovic held 

the post of Deputy Commander to Praljak from 24 July 1993 until 8 November 1993 and, 

subsequently, Deputy Commander, and thereafter, Deputy Chief to Ante Roso until 

26 April 1994.7165 The Trial Chamber further found that the Main Staff was subordinate to the 

Supreme Commander of the HVO, Mate Boban, who had powers with respect to, inter alia, the 

appointment of commanders and the overall organisation of the HVO.7166 It also found that the 

Main Staff, which had direct authority over the four OZs, conducted military operations and 

commanded the HVO, including the KB and its ATGs.7167 The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic, 

in his roles as Chief and Deputy Commander/Chief of the Main Staff, had de jure command and 

control authority over the HVO, including its professional units.7168 

2092. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in: (1) concluding that he had de jure 

command and control authority over the HVO as Deputy Commander/Chief of the Main Staff;7169 

7162 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 653-679,803, 814. 
7163 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 140-160, 171,332. 
7164 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 715-717, Vol. 4, paras 651-652. 
7165 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 716-717, 724-727, Vol. 4, para. 652. In this regard, the Trial Chamber specified that 
on 9 December 1993, Boban "did away with the offices of Commander and Deputy Commander of the Main Staff' and, 
thereafter, Petkovic was "Deputy Chief'. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 726-727. The Appeals Chamber notes that the 
Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was once again appointed Chief of the HVO Main Staff from 26 April 1994 to 
5 August 1994. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 728, Vol. 4, para. 652. ' 
7166 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 694-695,747, 790. See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 701-708. 
7167 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 747, 791, 829. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 709. 
7168 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 755, Vol. 4, paras 655-657, 663, 679. 
7169 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 142-146. 
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(2) inferring his competences as Chief of the Main Staff on the basis of the competences of the 

Commander;7170 (3) finding that the HVO was headed by the Chief of the Main Staff and not by the 

Supreme Commander;7171 and (4) concluding that he had de jure command and control authority 

over the KB and its ATGs as Deputy Commander/Chief of the Main Staff.7172 The Appeals 

Chamber will address these submissions below. 

(i) Alleged errors regarding de iure command and control CPetkoviC's Sub­

ground 5.1.1.1) 

2093. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred when it established that "as [D jeputy 

Commander/Chief of the HVO Main Staff', he had de jure command authority over the HVO and 

that the HVO units were subordinated to his command.7173 In this regard, Petkovic argues that the 
I 

Trial Chamber failed to establish that he lost de jure command authority and a position in the direct 

chain of command when he was removed from the position of Chief and appointed to that of 

Deputy Commander.7174 Moreover, Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred when asserting 

that the Main Staff "as a kind of [ ... J collective body" controlled, commanded, or gave orders, 

implying that not only the Chief or Commander of the Main Staff had such de jure competence. 7175 

2094. The Prosecution responds that even after Praljak. assumed command of the Main Staff, 

Petkovic continued to issue orders directly to the OZs as well as negotiate on behalf of and exercise 

effective control over the HVO?176 It further submits that Petkovic fails to explain how a distinction 

between orders of the Main Staff as a "collective body" and the leading person thereof has any 

impact on the Trial Chamber's analysis.7177 

2095. When arguing that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that he lost de jure command 

authority and a position in the direct chain of command when he was removed from the position of 

Chief and appointed to Deputy Commander, Petkovic further contends that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously inferred that he "moved up" from the rank of Chief to Deputy Commander/Chief.7178 

The Appeals Chamber considers this phrase to be a mistranslation of the authoritative French text of 

7170 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 147-148. 
7171 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 149-151. 
7172 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 152-153. 
7173 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 144 (emphasis in original). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 146. 
7174 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 145. See also Petko viC' s Reply Brief, para. 27. 
7175 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 143. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 142. 
7176 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 108. 
7177 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 111. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber was reasonable 
to characterise orders issued by the Deputy or Chief/Commander of the Main Staff as being issued by the "Main Staff'. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 111. 
7178 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 184, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 748. 
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the Trial Judgement. 7179 Indeed, the French text is consistent with the Trial Chamber's finding that 

the Deputy Chief/Commander was subordinate to the Chief/Conimander.718o The Appeals Chamber 

considers, in any case, that the Trial Chamber expressly found that as Deputy, Petkovic retained 

command and control authority over the HV07181 and that in his exercise of his authority, he issued 

orders to the OZs and brigade cominanders?182 The Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's 

unsubstantiated claim that he lost de jure command authority and a position in the direct chain of 

command as he fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's finding. As to his contention that the 

Trial Chamber erred when asserting that the Main Staff as a collective body controlled, 

commanded, or gave orders, implying that not only the Chief or Commander of the Main Staff had 

such de jure competence, the Appeals Chamber notes that when examining "orders from the Main 

Staff',7183 the Trial Chamber expressly addressed and/or relied upon orders issued by Praljak or 

Petkovic in their respective roles.7184 The Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's submission as he 

has failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's approach. PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 

5.1.1.1 is dismissed. 

(ii) Alleged errors in respect of changes of competences of the Commander of the Main 

Staff (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.1.1.2) 

2096. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred when drawing conclusions on his 

competences as Chief of the Main Staff on the basis of evidence relating to the competences of the 

Commander as of August 1993 or the Chief in December 1993.7185 Specifically, Petkovic submits 

that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that the competences of the Commander were broadened in 

August 1993 but erroneously failed to logically. conclude that competences of the· 

Commander/Chief had previously been narrower.7186 

7179 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 748 ("La Chambre releve en outre que lorsque Milivoj Petkovic est passe du rang de 
chef de l'Etat-major principal a celui de commandant adjoint de l'Etat-major principal r .. J" (emphasis added». 
7180 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 713, 717, referring to, inter alia, Witness EA, T(F). 24741 (closed session) 
(19 Nov 2007) (finding that the Chief/Commander was at the head of the Main Staff and assisted by a deputy and 
considering evidence that PetkoviC's position was second to Praljak's). 
7181 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 748, 755, Vol. 4, paras 655-663. 
7182 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 755, Vol. 4, paras 664-679. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 720 & fn. 1693, 
~ara. 741. 

183 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 751. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 750, 752. 
7184 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 750-755. 
7185 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 147; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 23-24. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
148. Petkovic argues, by way of example, that the Trial Chamber's conclusion about his power to organise the HVO is 
based on orders issued by the Commander in September 1993. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 147, referring to, inter 
alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 695 & fn. 1624, para. 750. 
7186 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 23. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 147. 
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2097. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably examined the functioning of 

the Main Staff throughout the JCE period when determining PetkoviC's authority.7187 

2098. When submitting that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that the competences of the 

Commander were broadened in August 1993, Petkovic points to the Trial Chamber's findings and 

its consideration of evidence demonstrating that four specific units, which were responsible for 

providing support to the HVO, were placed under the direct command of the Main Staff pursuant to 

orders on or after August 1993?188 The Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic fails to 

demonstrate how the placement of these units under the direct command of the Main Staff after 

Praljak succeeded him as Commander impacts the Trial Chamber's finding that, as Chief of the 

Main Staff, Petkovic had command and control authority over the HVO.7189 Further, when arguing 

that the Trial Chamber erred when drawing conclusions on his competences as Chief of the Main 

Staff on the basis of evidence relating to the competences of the Commander as of August 1993 or 

the Chief in December 1993, the Appeals Chamber notes that Petkovic ignores the Trial Chamber's 

express reliance on orders he issued prior to August 1993 when finding that he had command and 

control authority over the HVO.7190 Accordingly, PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeaI5.1.1.2 is 

dismissed. 

(iii) Alleged errors regarding the role of the HVO Supreme Commander (PetkoviC's Sub­

ground 5.1.1.3) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2099. Petkovic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the HVO was 

headed by the Chief of the Main Staff rather than by the Supreme Commander.7191 In this regard, he 

contends that the Trial Chamber erred when failing to establish that: (1) the Supreme Commander, 

7187 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 108. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 528 (23 Mar 2017). 
7188 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, fn. 34, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 801, 805-806 (the Siroki 
Brijeg Artillery Regiment and an "Air Force Group"), 826-827 ("Tuta's ATG" and an ATG unit formed out of KB 
units). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 797. . 
7189 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 755. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 655, 657, 663. Moreover, Petkovic fails 
to show that when finding that he had command and control authority over the HVO, the Trial Chamber relied upon 
orders pertaining to these units specifically. Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the 
artillery units, when not under the direct command of the Main Staff, were at least indirectly under the command of the 
Main Staff by virtue of it exercising command directly over the OZs. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 805, Vol. 4, para. 
659. 
7190 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 752-755, Vol. 4, paras 657, 663. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that with 
respect to his submission, in reply, that the Trial Chamber drew conclusions on his competences as Chief on the basis of 
Roso's competences in December 1993, Petkovic does not cite to any portion of the Trial Judgement demonstrating that 
the Trial Chamber made such findings. See PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 23 and references cited therein. See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 147 and references cited therein. . 
7191 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 151. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 149. Petkovic contends that the Trial 
Chamber incorrectly interpreted his testimony when it inferred that he stated that the command of military operations 
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not the Chief of the Main Staff, led and commanded the HVO - according to the 3 July 1992 

Decree on the Anned Forces - and had disciplinary power;7192 (2) the Main Staff was organised in 

order to provide the Supreme Commander with staff and other specialised services;7193 (3) the Chief 

of the Main Staff did not have "origin power and authority", but rather exercised superior authority 

pursuant to the Decision on the Basic Principles of Organisation of the Defence Department "within 

the scope of general and specific powers vested on him by the President,,;7194 (4) the Chief of the 

Main Staff had no power to award ranks or appoint and/or relieve of duty any commander;7195 and 

(5) PetkoviC's ceasefire orders were issued on the basis of a decision, order, and/or agreement of the 

Supreme Commander or President.7196 

2100. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly characterised the role of the Main 

Staff and Petkovic, as its Chief, vis-a-vis the President and Supreme Commander.7197 It submits 

that, contrary to PetkoviC's assertion, he and the Main Staff directly controlled the HVO on the 

ground and possessed the authority to discipline troops and appoint commanders.7198 The 

Prosecution contends that these conclusions were reasonable in light of the Decision on the Basic 

Principles of Organisation of the Defence Department.7199 Lastly, it submits that the fact that Boban 

may have enjoyed other powers not shared by the Main Staff does not diminish: (1) the Main 

Staff's direct authority over operations on the ground; or (2) PetkoviC's responsibility for the crimes 

. committed.72oo 

b. Analysis 

2101. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic fails to demonstrate 

how powers exclusively held and/or shared by the Supreme Commander, some of which, as noted 

below, were expressly considered by the Trial Chamber, invalidate its finding that the Chief of the 

fell to the HVO Main Staff "alone". Petkovic's Appeal Brief, fn. 189, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 747, 
Vol. 4, para. 654, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49768-49771 (22 Feb 2010). 
7192 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 150(i) (referring to Exs. P00289, Art. 29, P00588, Art. 29 (amended version», 
150(vii); PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 26. 
7193 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(ii). 
7194 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(iii), citing Ex. P00586, section (B)(lX) (emphasis omitted). 
7195 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 150(iv)-150(v). See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 26. Petkovic argues that the 
authority to appoint and award ranks was vested in the President/Supreme Commander or commander of units. 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 150(iv)-150(v). 
7196 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(vi). 
7197 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 109 & fns 436,440, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
paras 150-151. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 527 (23 Mar 2017). It submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied 
on PetkoviC's testimony to support the finding that he had command and control authority over the HVO. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 110, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 149 & fn. 189. 
7198 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 109. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 104, 
106. 
7199 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 109. 
7200 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 109. 
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Main Staff, as a subordinate to the Supreme Commander,7201 nevertheless controlled and 

commanded the HVO.7202 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding 

that the commanding officers at each level of the HVO hierarchy had the authority to supervise, co­

ordinate, and command the units placed under their responsibility.7203 With particular regard to 

PetkoviC's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that the Supreme Commander, not 

the Chief of the Main Staff, led and commanded the, HVO, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber referred to Article 29 of the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces, which 

Petko vic relies upon as support, when determining the powers vested in the Supreme 

Commander7204 and his role in guiding the HVO in order to better underst~nd the distribution of 

powers between him and the Chief of the Main Staff. 7205 In so doing, it found, inter alia, that 

certain powers were not exclusively vested in the Supreme Commander7206 and that the OZ 

commanders remained subject to the Chief of the Main Staff.7207 As Petkovic merely disagrees with 

the Trial Chamber's conclusion without showing an error, his argument is dismissed. 

2102. Further, in support of his contention that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to establish that 

the Supreme Commander, not the Chief of the Main Staff, had qisciplinary power, Petkovic cites an 

exhibit, the content of which does not support his assertion.7208 In any event, the Trial Chamber 

found that Petkovic, as either the Chief or Deputy Commander of the Main Staff: (1) had the power 

to order investigations of the conduct of HVO members;7209 and (2) occasionally ordered the arrest 

or revoked the suspension of HVO members.72l0 Petkovic fails to show how these findings are 

inconsistent with the finding that he had command and control authority over the HVO. His 

argument is dismissed. 

2103. In support of his argument that the Trial Chamber erred when failing to establish that the 

Main Staff was organised in order to provide the Supreme Commander with staff and other 

specialised services, Petkovic alleges that the 3 July 1992 Decree on the Armed Forces 

differentiated between "command"/"command headquarters" and "staff,.7211 The Appeals Chamber 

7201 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 747, 790 . 
. 7202 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 755, Vol. 4, paras 655-657, 663, 679. For the same reason, the Appeals 
Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's contention that the Trial Chamber incorrectly interpreted his testimony when it inferred 
that he stated that the command of military operations fell to the HVO Main Staff "alone". 
7203 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 790. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 791. 
7204 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 691,695. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 690. 
7205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 704 & fn. 1651. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 690. 
7206 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 695. 

,7207 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 704. 
7208 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(vii), referring to Ex. P00425, Art. 67(1) (vesting "the commander of the 
Armed Forces" with the authority to bring offenders - only those of a certain rank - before a military disciplinary 
court). 
7209 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 664, 675-679. 
7210 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 664, 676-677. 
7211 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(ii), referring to Exs. P00289, Art. 17, P00588, Art. 17 (amended version). 
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considers that Petkovic misrepresents the exhibit, particularly its generic use of these terms,7212 and 

fails to demonstrate how his claim impacts the Trial Chamber's findings. With respect to his 

argument that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that the .Chief of the Main Staff did not have 

"origin power and authority", but rather exercised superior authority "within the scope of general 

and specific powers vested on him by the President", 7213 Petkovic merely repeats arguments made 

and rejected at trial without demonstrating error in the Trial Chamber's findings.7214 His arguments 

are therefore dismissed. 

2104. Turning to PetkoviC's submission that the Chief of the Main Staff had no appointment 

power, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber expressly acknowledged that 

appointment constituted one of the stated powers wielded directly by Boban but could not conclude, 

on this basis, that he "bypassed" the Main Staff regularly and whenever it suited him; rather, the 

Trial Chamber found that the Main Staff was the pivotal link in the chain of command.7215 Petko vic 

fails to show how the Trial Chamber erred in making this finding. Further, he does not show how a 

lack of authority to relieve of duty any commander or award ranks invalidates the Trial Chamber's 

finding that the Chief of the Main Staff maintained command and control authority over the 

HVO.7216 His arguments are therefore dismissed. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's 

argument that his ceasefire orders were issued on the basis of a decision, order, and/or agreement of 

the Supreme Commander or President as he does not point to any findings or evidence in support of 

this assertion. 

2105. PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.1.1.3 is dismissed. 

(iv) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's de jure command authority over the KB and its 

A~Gs as Chief and. Deputy Commander of the HVO Main Staff (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.1.1.4) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2106. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it inferred that he had de jure 

command and control over the KB and its ATGs.7217 In particular, he argues that by referring only 

to orders issued by Praljak and Roso when determining whether the KB and its ATGs were 

7212 See Ex. P00289, Art. 17 ("The combat readiness of the commands, staffs, units and institutions of the Armed Forces 
shall be monitored and evaluated by the Defence Department and the authorised commands and staffs of the Armed 
Forces", and "[t]he Head of the Defence Department shall designate the commands and staffs of the Armed Forces 
[oo .]".). See also Ex. P00588, Art. 17 (amended version). 
7213 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150(iii), citing Ex. P00586, section (B)(IX) (emphasis omitted). 
7214 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 745-746. 
7215 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 704, 708. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 694, 788 (noting that the power 
and authority to appoint brigade commanders belonged to Mate Boban). 
7216 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 755, Vol. 4, paras 655, 657, 663. 
7217 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 152. 
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integrated into the overall Main Staff chain of command, the Trial Chamber actually acknowledged 

that Petkovic did not issue orders to the KB and its ATGs.7218 Moreover, he submits that the Trial 

Chamber concluded that the HVO Supreme Commander did not have direct command and control 

over the KB and its ATGs on the basis that there was no written order from him proving such; 

however, despite the fact that Petkovic, as Chief, also did not issue orders to the KB and its ATGs, 

the Trial Chamber nevertheless inferred that he had de jure command and control. 7219 Petkovic 

further contends that the Trial Chamber: (1) failed to establish that, as the Deputy 

Commander/Chief of the Main Staff, he was in the direct chain of command and could have de jure 

command and control over any unit;7220 and (2) failed to evaluate evidence demonstrating that the 

Chief was not superior to commanders of the KB and/or its ATGs.7221 Lastly, Petkovic submits that 

the only reasonable conclusion that could be drawn from an order, which was issued by Roso, for 

an ATG unit to be formed out of the KB and placed under the command of the Main Staff, was that 

on 23 December 1993 the KB was not yet, but was to be placed, under the command of the Chief of 

the Main Staff.7222 

2107. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's arguments were already raised and rejected at trial 

and that he shows no error in the Trial Chamber's findings.7223 It submits that, contrary to 

PetkoviC's claims: (1) the Trial Chamber cited orders he issued both as Chief and as Deputy 

Commander concerning the KB;7224 (2) when he became Deputy Commander, he retained 

significant authority over the HVO, including the KB;7225 (3) the Trial Chamber explicitly 

considered his arguments and evidence but reached a different conclusion with respect to whether 

the Chief of the HVO Main Staff was superior to the col1ll1ianders of the KB and/or its ATGs;7226 

and (4) Roso's 23 December 1993 order reinforced the fact that the Main Staff controlled the KB 

and its ATGs.7227 

7218 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153(ii). See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 152(ii)-152(iii), referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 826-827; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 24,31. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
7219 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153(i). See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 152(i). 
7220 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153(iii). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 574 (23 Mar 2017). 
7221 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153(iv). , 
7222 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 152(iii), 153(v) (citing Ex. P07315, p. 1). 
7223 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 124, 126. Further, the Prosecution avers that insofar as Petkovic 
focuses his arguments on these isolated units, he fails to recognize the full extent of his authority over "his many other 
troops". Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 124. ' 
7224 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 126(i). See Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 125; 
Ap?,eal Hearing, AT. 545-546 (23 Mar 2017). 
72 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 126(ii). 
7226 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 126(iii), referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 153(iv). 

227 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 126(iv), referring to, inter alia, Ex. P07315. See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 125. 
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b. Analysis 

2108. With regard to PetkoviC's argument that by referring only to orders issued by Praljak and 

Roso when determining whether the KB and its ATGs were integrated into the overall chain of 

command of the Main Staff, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber actually 

acknowledged that Petkovic did not issue orders to those units. The Appeals Chamber observes that 

the Trial Chamber considered several orders and reports referring to deployments of the KB and its 

ATGs, including ones issued by Petkovic as Chief of the Main Staff.7228 Petkovic supports his 

submission by arguing that the only order from him was co-signed by Stojic as Head of the Defence 

Department because it related to units not subordinated to the Chief of the Main Staff and, in further 

support, he cites to testimony concerning whether the ATG Tuta was subordinated to the Main 

Staff.7229 The Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument as the Trial Chamber found this testimony 

to have little credibility and Petkovic alleges no error in this regard.723o In light of the orders 

concerning deployments of the KB and its ATGs that were issued by Petkovic and the Trial 

Chamber's reliance thereon, his submission - that despite the fact that he, as Chief, did not issue 

orders to the KB and its ATGs, the Trial Chamber nevertheless inferred that he had de jure 

command and control - must necessarily fail. The Appeals Chamber notes, in any case, that insofar 

as the KB and its ATGs were integrated into the overall chain of command and reported directly to 

the Main Staff,7231 Petkovic had command and control authority over them due to his position 

within the direct chain of command, regardless of whether he issued orders to them. His argument 

is therefore dismissed. 

2109. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's related contention that the Trial Chamber failed 

to establish that, as the Deputy Commander/Chief of the Main Staff, he was not in the direct chain 

of command and could not have de jure command and control over any unit, as this argument was 

dismissed above.7232 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PetkoviC's argument that the Trial 

Chamber failed to evaluate evidence demonstrating that the Chief was not superior to commanders 

of the KB and/or its ATGs as he merely refers to evidence that the Trial Chamber did in fact 

7228 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 828 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03128, P03466), 829. The Appeals Chamber also 
observes that when examining PetkoviC's exercise of his command authority, the Trial Chamber took into account an 
order concerning, inter alia, the KB and its ATGs. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 666 & fn. 1270, referring to, inter 
alia, Ex. POI787. 
7229 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 200, referring to Ex. P03128, Witness 4D-AA, T. 49237-49238 (closed session) (9 Feb 
2010). See also Petkovic's Reply Brief, fn. 56. 
7230 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 284 (finding that the testimony of, inter alios, Defence Witness 4D-AA had little 
credibility in view of the witness's relationship to the events or to one of the Accused and accordingly assigning it 
limited weight). See also infra, fn. 7233. 
7231 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
7232 See supra, para. 2095. 
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consider in arriving at the opposite conclusion.7233 Turning to Petko viC' s submission that the only 

reasonable inference that could be drawn from an order issued by Roso was that on 

23 December 1993 the KB was not yet, but was to be placed, under the command of the Chief of 

the Main Staff, he specifically argues that the order states that "an ATG unit shall be formed out of 

the units of 'Kaznjenicka bojna'. The ATG shall be under the command of the Main Staff of the 

HVO".7234 The Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic merely asserts that the Trial Chamber 

failed to interpret the evidence in a particular manner and ignores the Trial Chamber's finding that 

there were several Main Staff orders and reports concerning the deployment of the KB and its 

ATGs as early as 15 July 1993.7235 

2110. For the foregoing reasons, PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.1.1.4 is dismissed. 

(v) Conclusion 

2111. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show an error regarding the 

Trial Chamber's finding on his de jure command authority over the HVO as Chief and Deputy 

Commander of the HVO Main Staff. 

(b) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's powers within the Command of the HVO (PetkoviC's Sub­

grounds 5.1.1.6, 5.2.3.1 in part, and 5.1.1.5) 

2112. In assessing PetkoviC's powers within the command of the HVO, the Trial Chamber took 

into account the orders that he issued to the HVO units as Chief or Deputy Commander of the Main 

Staff.7236 In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic exercised "command and control 

authority and effective control" over the HVO, which included the KB and its ATGs and the Bruno 

Busic Regiment, with respect to their organisation, deployment, combat readiness, and offensive 

operations.7237 The Trial Chamber also found that Petkovic exercised command and control 

authority over the HVO by prohibiting its units from attacking international forces and 

organisations as well as by requiring that they and humanitarian convoys be allowed freedom of 

movement.7238 According to the Trial Chamber, the orders issued by Petkovic all reflected that he 

had at least de facto authority to order the HVO units to conduct themselves in accordance with the 

7233 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 201 and references cited therein. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 825 & fn. 1945. See 
also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 201, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Final Brief, fn. 991. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 
1, fn. 1943. The Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic also refers to testimony that the Trial Chamber found to have 
little credibility. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 201, referring to, inter alia, Witness 4D-AA, T. 49096-49097 (closed 
session) (8 Feb 2010). Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 284. See also supra, para. 2108. 
7234 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 153(v) (emphasis in original), citing Ex. P07315, p. 1. 
7235 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 828-829, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03466. 
7236 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 664-679. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 655-656. 
7237 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 679,803. 
7238 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. 
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international conventions and the principles of international humanitarian law.7239 Moreover, the 

Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic had the power to order investigations into the conduct of 

HV 0 members.724o 

2113. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that: (1) he had command and 

control authority and effective control over the HVO;7241 (2) he had effective control over the KB 

and its ATGs as well as the Bruno Busic Regiment;7242 and (3) he issued orders to launch offensive 

operations.7243 The Appeals Chamber will deal with these contentions in tum. 

(i) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's "command and control authority and effective 

control" over the HVO (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.1.1.6) 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2114. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in establishing that he had effective control 

over the HVO when assessing his contribution to the JCE.7244 He argues that: (1) the notion of 

"'effective control' is an impennissible import from the law of 'command responsibility",;7245 and 

(2) the Trial Chamber misapplied the concept of effective control, "understood as the material 

ability to prevent [and] punish", since that notion requires a link with the perpetrators, rather than 

with the HVO as a whole, at the time of the crimes.7246 Petkovic further submits that the Trial 

Chamber failed to find that, at the time the crimes were committed, he had the material ability to 

prevent and punish the perpetrators.7247 Moreover, he avers that the Trial Chamber ened in inferring 

that he had effective control based on the orders he issued, arguing that evidence demonstrating a de 

jure authority to issue orders or their issuance is insufficient to establish that a superior had 

effective control over a subordinate. 7248 

7239 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. 
7240 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. 
7241 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 158-160. 
7242 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 331-332,339-340. 
7243 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 154, 157. 
7244 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 158-160. Specifically, Petkovic argues that "[t]he finding about effective control is 
made to suggest that [he] could control those troops and could, for instance, prevent and punish their crimes and that he 
cu~ably failed to do so". PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 28. 
724 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(i). 
7246 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(iii). The Appeals Chamber also understands Petkovic to argue that he did not 
receive notice of this allegation as it was not part of the Indictment. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(ii) ("Such an 
allegation did not form a valid part of the Prosecution's lCE case against Petkovic.") (emphasis in original). 
7247 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(iv). Petkovic also claims that according to Judge Antonetti, he never had actual 
control over the troops. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(iv), referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 251, 439-444. 
7248 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(v). 
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2115. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that Petkovic had effective 

control over the HVO and that he used such authority to contribute to the JCE.7249 In this regard, the 

Prosecution argues that a commander's use of subordinates and his failure to punish their crimes 

reflect "well-established" means of contributing to a JCE. 725o The Prosecution also contends that the 

Trial Chamber correctly established Petkovic's control over the perpetrators of the crimes before, 

during, and after the commission of such crimes.7251 

b. Analysis 

2116. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber observes that while Petkovic limits his challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he had "command and control authority and effective control over the 

armed forces" in matters of organisation, deployment, and combat readiness of the HVO units, this 

was not the only factor considered by the Trial Chamber in assessing the extent of his powers over 

the HVO. Indeed, the Trial Chamber's analysis concerning his de facto command authority also 

took into account: (1) PetkoviC's command and control authority, which he exercised by prohibiting 

HVO units from attacking international forces and organisations and by requiring that humanitarian 

convoys be allowed freedom of movement; (2) his de facto authority to order HVO units to abide 

by international conventions and principles of international law; and (3) his power to order 

investigations into the conduct of HVO members.7252 The Appeals Chamber observes that Petkovic 

does not challenge these findings. 

2117. Turning to the merits of PetkoviC's argument, the Appeals Chamber observes that, in 

reaching the impugned conclusion, the Trial Chamber took into account vmious types of orders 

issued by Petkovic, including the following: (1) orders originating from the Main Staff concerning 

. the overall structure of the HVO;7253 (2) orders for inspections, citing as examples PetkoviC's orders 

to the South-East, North-West and Central Bosnia OZs to assess their combat readiness;7254 and 

(3) Petkovic's orders for deployment and combat readiness, which were directed to the OZs and the 

7249 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 105. 
7250 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 105, referring to Sainovic et aZ. Appeal Judgement, paras 1226-1227, 
1240, Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 355, 457. The Prosecution also contends that the Indictment provided 
Petkovic with notice that he contributed to the JCE by using the HVO. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 
105, referring to Indictment, paras 17.4(a), 17.4(n). 
7251 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 106. See also Appeal Hearing, AT.527 (23 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution also contends that PetkoviC's reference to Judge Antonetti Dissent is inapposite as Judge Antonetti actually 
recognised PetkoviC's command authority. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 106, referring to Judge 
Antonetti Dissent, pp. 251, 439-444, 453. 
7252 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. 
7253 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 665. 
7254 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 666, referring to, inter alia, Exs. POl787, P01807, P01864. 
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brigades, the professional units, and the Military Police.7255 In this specific context, the Trial 

Chamber made direct reference to PetkoviC's 15 January 1993 order to all HVO units to prepare 

fully for combat and to the North-West OZ to send between 500 and 600 men and two or three 

tanks towards the municipalities of Pr~zor and Gornji Vakuf.7256 Lastly, the Trial Chamber also 

relied on PetkoviC's orders to launch offensive operations, citing as an example his order of 

8 November 1993 to the Mostar ZP to start offensive operations in the towns of Bijelo Polje, 

Blagaj, and Mostar, shelling the latter "selectively at various intervals".7257 

2118. Based on the Trial Chamber's analysis and the specific nature of these orders, the Appeals 

Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber's reference to the term "effective control" 

constitutes "an impermissible import from the law of 'command responsibility,,,.7258 Rather, the 

specific consideration of orders concerning the HVO's organisation, deployment, combat readiness, 

and offensive operations indicates that the Trial Chamber used the term "command and control 

authority and effective control" over the HVO to refer to PetkoviC's power, through his orders, to 

direct and use the HVO members, and not to denote his material ability to prevent or punish their 

conduct within the meaning of Article 7(3) of the Statute.7259 

2119. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's consideration of 

PetkoviC's orders issued to various units of the HVO in its assessment of his link with non-JCE 

members and, ultimately, to find that their conduct could be imputed to him. In this regard, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that JCE members may be held responsible for crimes carried out by 

principal perpetrators who were non-JCE members, provided that it has been shown that the crimes 

can be imputed to at least one JCE member and that the latter - when using the principal 

perpetrators - acted in accordance with the common objective.726o The existence of this link 

between the crimes in question and a JCE member is to be assessed on a case-by-case basis.7261 

2120. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chat,nber rejects the rest of PetkoviC' s challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's reliance on the term "effective control", as these arguments rest on a 

7255 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 667 & fn. 1271, referring to Exs. P00602, P00622, 4D01553, P01087, 4D00416, 
P01135, p. 2, P01292, 4DO 1048 , P01487, P01736, 4D00874, P02040, P02209, P02526, P02599, 4D00948, P02911, 
P03019, P03082, P03128, P03384, 3D02582,.P02209, 4D00623, POlO64, P01896, 4D00923, P00377. 
7256 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 667, referring to Ex. POl135, p. 2. 
7257 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 668, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06534. 
7258 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 159(i). 
7259 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 673-678. The Appeals Chamber also 
rejects PetkoviC's argument that the Indictment did not provide him with notice about such allegation. A plain reading 
of the Indictment shows that it unambiguously pleads that Petkovic participated in the JCE by exercising de facto 
command and control over "the Herceg-BosnaIHVO armed forces". See Indictment, para. 17.4(a). Accordingly, this 
arfoument is dismissed. 
72 0 See, e.g., Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1256. 
7261 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 432; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1053; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, 
para. 165; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1256; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 226. . 
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misrepresentation of the impugned finding, namely that the Trial Chamber used this phrase to refer 

to PetkoviC's material ability to prevent and punish the conduct ofHVO members.7262 

2121. The Appeals Chamber, therefore, finds that Petkovic has failed to show any error in the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion regarding his "command and control authority and effective control" 

over the HVO and dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 5.1.1.6. 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's effective control over the KB and its ATGs as 

well as the Bruno Busic Regiment (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.3.1 in part) 

2122. In assessing PetkoviC's contribution to the ICE through the conduct of the KB and its ATGs 

as well as the Bruno Busic Regiment, the Trial Chamber recalled that, as Chief of the Main Staff 

and subsequently as Deputy Commander of the Main Staff, he had effective command and control 

over these units.7263 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2123. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion that he had 

effective command and control over the KB and its ATGs as well as the Bruno BusiC Regiment.7264 

According to Petkovic, the Trial Chamber did not refer to any evidence in support of this 

conclusion.7265 

2124. The Prosecution responds· that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic had 

effective control over the KB and its ATGs or the Bruno Busic Regiment.7266 Moreover, with 

respect to PetkoviC's contention concerning the Bruno Busic Regiment, the Prosecution refers to 

Trial Chamber's findings that, once deployed, the unit was subordinated to the respective OZ 

commander, who, in tum, received orders from the Main Staff.7267 Finally, the Prosecution contends 

that Petkovic retained authority over the HVO, including the Bruno Busic Regiment, after being 

appointed Deputy Commander.726s 

7262 Further, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in PetkoviC's reliance on the Judge Antonetti Dissent since the mere 
existence of a dissent does not render the majority's conclusion unreasonable. See, e.g., Galid Appeal Judgement, para. 
226. 
7263 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 803, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 811-814, 822-825, 829. 
7264 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 331-332, 339-340. 
7265 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 332, 339-340. With respect to the Bruno Bus.ic Regiment specifically, Petkovic 
argues that in reaching such conclusion, the Trial Chamber merely referred to its previous findings where it had not 
analysed effective control, but simply established that the Bruno Busic Regiment was under the de jure command of the 
Main Staff and that, once deployed, it was subordinated to the commander of the relevant OZ. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 339, fn. 450. 

266 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 125, 132. 
7267 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 132, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 791,814,828. 
7268 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 132, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 108. 
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b. Analysis 

2125. The Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic misrepresents the Trial Judgement when 

claiming that it failed to provide a reasoned opinion on PetkoviC's effective control over the KB and 

its ATGs as well as the Bruno Busic Regiment. In this regard, his argument appears to rest on the 

premise that the Trial Chamber addressed PetkoviC's links with the KB and its ATGs as well as the 

Bruno Busic Regiment exclusively in the specific finding he impugns.7269 By contrast, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that this sentence simply serves to recall the Trial Chamber's previous 

conclusions that: (1) the KB and its ATGs as well as the Bruno Busic Regiment were part of the 

HVO;7270 and (2) Petkovic had "command and control authority and effective control" over the 

HVO.7271 

2126. Specifically, Petkovic ignores that, earlier in its analysis of his powers, in the section of the 

Trial Judgement entitled "Milivoj PetkoviC's Powers Within the Command of the Armed Forces", 

the Trial Chamber considered evidence of his control over these units.7272 For instance, with respect 

to the KB and its ATGs, the Trial Chamber referred to two distinct orders issued by Petkovic to this 

unit, namely: (1) an inspection order dated 2 April 1993;7273 and (2) a subordination order dated 

2 July 1993.7274 As to the Bruno Busic Regiment, the Trial Chamber relied upon PetkoviC's order 

concerning combat readiness dated 6 January 1993 ("6 January 1993 Order"),7275 as well as the 

inspection order of 2 April 1993.7276 The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's 

direct reliance on such orders, which Petkovic does not challenge, shows that the Trial Chamber's 

finding that Petkovic had "command and control authority and effective control" over the HVO 

included the professional units thereof, such as the KB, its ATGs, and the Bruno Busic 

Regiment.7277 Accordingly, PetkoviC's argument is dismissed. 

7269 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 803. . 
7270 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 811-814, 822-829, Vol. 4, paras 667, 803. 
7271 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 664-679, 803. 
7272 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 664-679. 
7273 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 666, fn. 1270, referring to Ex. POI787. The Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit 
P01787 refers to the KB as the "Convicts Battalion". Ex. P01787, p. 2. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 808. 
7274 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 667, fn. 1271, referring to Ex. P03128. 
7275 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 667, fn. 1271, referring to Ex. P01064. 
7276 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 666, fn. 1270, referring to Ex. POI787. 
7277 As to PetkoviC's argument that with respect to the Bruno Busic Regiment, the Trial Chamber merely recalled its 
previous conclusion that this unit was under the de jure command of the Main Staff and that, once deployed, it was 
subordinated to the commander of the relevant OZ, the Appeals Chamber observes that this contention appears to be 
based on the fact that the impugned finding is supported only by a footnote referring to a section of Volume 1 of the 
Trial Judgement concerning the formal placement of this unit in the HVO. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 803, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 811-814. However, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the relevant analysis 
of PetkoviC's control over this unit is reflected earlier in its analysis of his powers, in the portion of the Trial Judgement 
entitled "Milivoj PetkoviC's Powers Within the Command of the Armed Forces". See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
666, fn. 1270, referring to Ex. P01787. 
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2127. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion or refer to any evidence in support of its 

conclusion that he had effective command and control over the KB and its ATGs as well as the 

Bruno Busic Regiment. The Appeals Chamber, therefore, dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of 

appeal 5.2.3.1 in part. 

(iii) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's use of the HVO in military operations to commit 

crimes (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.1.1.5) 

2128. In assessing PetkoviC's powers within the command of the HVO, the Trial Chamber found 

that Petkovic issued orders to commanders of the ZPs concerning the launching of offensive 

operations.7278 In this regard, it observed that on 8 November 1993, he ordered the Mostar ZP to 

launch' offensive operations in the towns of Bijelo Polje, Blagaj and Mostar as well as to shell 

Mostar ("8 November 1993 Order,,).7279 Moreover, the Trial Chamber referred to another order 

issued by Petkovic dated 6 November 1992 ("6 November 1992 Order") concerning the launching 

of an offensive operation in the area of Podvelezje.728o 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2129. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he used the HVO to commit 

crimes as no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he issued orders to launch offensive 

operations on the basis of the 6 November 1992 Order and the 8 November 1993 Order, 

respective1y.7281 Petkovic contends that the 6 November 1992 Orde~ "was related to joint HVO and 

ABiH comba[t] against the VRS", thus it does not support the Trial Chamber finding that he used 

the HVO to commit crimes against the Muslim population.7282 As to the 8 November 1993 Order, 

he avers that the document is not signed and that he did not issue it. 7283 According to Petkovic, the 

Trial Chamber's alleged error caused a miscarriage of justice since its conclusion that he 

significantly contributed to the JCE was based on the premise that he issued orders to launch 

offensive operations against ABiH and used the HVO to commit crimes.7284 

2130. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly concluded that Petkovic ordered 

HVO commanders to launch offensive operations and that these orders reflected his authority over 

7278 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 668. 
7279 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 668, referring to Ex. P06534. 
7280 Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 668, referring to Ex. 2D03057. 
7281 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 154, 157, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 4, paras 668, 818, Exs. 2D03057, 
P06534. See also Appeal Hearing, AT, 574-575 (23 Mar 2017). 
7282 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 155. 
7283 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 279-280. 
7284 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 157. 
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the HVO.7285 It submits that PetkoviC's challenges vis-a-vis the 6 November 1992 Order and the 

8 November 1993 Order ignore other evidence reflecting that he directed HVO attacks on a regular 

basis.7286 Moreover, the Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the 

6 November 1992 Order and 8 November 1993 Order in support of its conclusion that Petkovic had 

the power to order the HVO to launch offensive operations.7287 

b. Analysis 

2131. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber finds that, contrary to PetkoviC's arguments, 

the Trial Chamber did not rely on the 6 November 1992 Order to assess his contribution to the JCE, 

but rather to analyse his powers within the command of the HVO.7288 Specifically, the 

Trial Chamber relied on the 6 November 1992 Order in reaching its conclusion that Petkovic had 

"command and control authority and effective control" over the HVO, which he exercised in 

matters of organisation, deployment, and combat readiness.7289 This is consistent with the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the JCE, of which Petkovic was a member, was established only as of 

mid-January 1993;7290 in other words, the 6 November 1992 Order fell outside the temporal scope 

of the JCE. 

2132. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he used the HVO 

to commit crimes is supported by various findings, namely that Petkovic: (1) ordered, planned, 

facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by the HVO in numerous locations; 

and (2) failed to take any measures to prevent the commission of new crimes, thus encouraging 

such crimes.7291 Accordingly, insofar as PetkoviC's arguments concerning the 6 November 1992 

Order and the 8 November 1993 Order challenge the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he used the 

HVO to commit crimes, they do not show any error in the Trial Judgement's reasoning to that 

effect. 

2133. In any event, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the 

6 November 1992 Order and the 8 November 1993 Order. Specifically, in claiming that the 

6 November 1992 Order does not support the conclusion that Petkovic used the HVO to commit 

crimes, Petkovic fails to appreciate that the Trial Chamber relied on this evidence only to assess his 

7285 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 112. 
7286 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 112. 
7287 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 113-114. 
7288 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 668 & fn. 1274. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 655-656,664-667,669-
679. 
7289 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 679. 
7290 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 44-45,65,815, 1218-1220, 1225, 1230-1232. 
7291 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815-816. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 687-813. 
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powers over the HVO and whether he could launch offensive operations.7292 Additionally, the 

Appeals Chamber fails to see how the fact that this evidence reflects that Petko viC' s order was 

directed "to joint HVO and ABiH comba[t] against the VRS" could impact the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion in the impugned finding. As to Petkovic's challenge concerning the 8 November 1993 

Order, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did consider it as a contribution7293 

and it addresses and dismisses his arguments that he did not issue this order elsewhere in the 

Judgement.7294 Accordingly, these arguments are dismissed. 

2134. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of 

appeal 5.1.1.5. 

(c) Conclusion 

2135. For the foregoing reasons, Petkovic has failed to' demonstrate any error III the Trial 

Chamber's findings concerning his powers and functions. 

3. Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's involvement in, knowledge of, and intent with regard to 

crimes committed in the municipalities and detention centres CPetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2 in part) 

2136. The Trial Chamber analysed the evidence regarding PetkoviC's contribution to the crimes 

committed by the HVO in the municipalities of Prozor, Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, Mostar, Stolac, 

Capljina, and Vares, as well as in HVO detention centres.7295 It found that he ordered, planned, 

facilitated, encouraged, and concealed crimes 'committed by members of the HVO.7296 Additionally, 

the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was informed of the crimes committed and, despite this 

knowledge, continued to exercise effective control over the HVO until April 1994.7297 The Trial 

Chamber concluded that the only reasonable inference it could draw from the fact that Petkovic 

participated in the military operations in the municipalities of Prozor, Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, 

Mostar, Stolac, Capljina, and Vares; ordered and authorised labour by detainees from the 

Heliodrom and Vitina-Otok Camp on the front line; and continued to exercise control over the HVO 

while knowing that its members had committed and were committing crimes, was that he intended 

these crimes to be committed.7298 

7292 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 668. 
7293 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 746-747,756,815. See infra, paras 2228-2229. 
7294 See infra, para. 2242. 
7295 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 688, 691-802. 
7296 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7297 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7298 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
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2137. Petkovic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings on his responsibility for the cnmes 

committed in the aforementioned locations. 7299 

(a) Prozor Municipality (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.1 in part) 

2138. The Trial Chamber found that insofar as Petkovic directed the military operations in Prozor 

Municipality in April and June 1993 and planned the operations in July and August 1993, he 

intended to have crimes - namely, the destruction of Muslim property and detention of civilians -

committed.730o 

2139. PetkoviC submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law when it failed to give a reasoned 

opinion about his criminal responsibility for the crimes under Counts 15, 16, and 17 that it found 

were committed in Prozor Municipality until mid-July 1993.7301 In support of this contention, 

Petkovic argues that when analysing his responsibility under ICE I, the Trial Chamber did not refer 

to, inter alia, his alleged contribution to the commission of the crimes and evidence relevant 

thereto?302 Particularly, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred when it inferred that he contributed 

to the commission of destruction and detention crimes by planning certain military activities.7303 

(i) Alleged errors regarding crimes committed in April 1993 

2140. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic directed the military operations in the villages of 

Parcani, Lizoperci, and Toscanica in April 1993 and that the only inference it could reasonably 

draw was that Petkovic intended to have the crimes involved - namely, the destruction of Muslim 

property - committed.7304 In particular, it found, on the basis of Petkovic's issuance of an 

18 April 1993 order for urgent reinforcements and a consolidated report, that he directed the 

operations in Parcani.7305 The Trial Chamber found that because, inter alia, the HVO operations in 

7299 See generally PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 214-326. With respect to the municipalities of Stolac and Capljina, 
Petkovic merely submits that the Trial Chamber made numerous errors of fact and law in inferring that, on 30 June 
1993, he ordered the detention of civilians protected by Geneva Convention IV. The Appeals Chamber notes that he 
only supports this contention by referring to his sub-ground of appeal 5.2.1, which is dismissed elsewhere. See 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 283; supra, para. 382. 
7300 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691,693-695,697,699,815. 
7301 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 214, 227. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 229. The Appeals Chamber 
addresses elsewhere PetkoviC's submissions pertaining to crimes committed in May 1993 in Prozor Municipality. See 
sugra, para. 68. 
73 2 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 214, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691-699, 820. 
7303 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 228. Petkovic submits, in reply, that if the JCE, the CCP of which was "ethnic 
cleansing", could be interpreted as the criminal plan to deport/transfer the Muslim population, and he was acquitted of 
these crimes, no reasonable trial chamber could conclude that he significantly contributed to the commission of other 
crimes with the purpose tofurther the JCE. PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 45. 
7304 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 693. 
7305 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 691. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 694. 
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the three villages were conducted exactly the same way, they were part of a previously defined plan 

which involved the destruction of Muslim houses.7306 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2141. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it concluded that he directed the 

HVO operations in the villages of Parcani, Lizoperci, and Toscanica in April 1993.7307 He argues 

that the Trial Chamber: (1) inferred on the basis of one piece of evidence, his 18 April 1993 order to 

Zeljko Siljeg to launch an offensive towards Klis,7308 that he "directed the HVO attacks in 

Par[c]ani,,;7309 and (2) subsequently found, without any further evidence, that he "directed 

operations in April 1993 in the villages of Par[c] ani, Lizoperci and Toscanica".7310 Petkovic submits 

that no reasonable trier of fact could have come to such conclusion as the only reasonable inference 

because: (1) it is impossible that the 17 April 1993 attack on Parcani could have been directed by 

PetkoviC's order issued the following day; and (2) there is no evidence that the three villages were 

located "towards Klis", but rather the order mentions three other villages: Here, Kute, and SCipe.7311 

2142. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic directed 

the April 1993 HVO operations in Parcani, Lizoperci, and Toscanica.7312 It submits that PetkoviC's 

arguments that he did not contribute to these attacks are plimarily founded on misreadings of the 

Trial Judgement.7313 In this regard, the Prosecution submits that: (1) the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he directed the operations did not rest solely on his 18 April 1993 reinforcement order to 

Siljeg;7314 and (2) the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on the order to show that he controlled 
. I . d ., P 7315 ongomg, mu tl- ay operatIOns m rozor. 

b. Analysis 

2143. The Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's submission that the Trial Chamber inferred on the 

basis of one piece of evidence that he directed the HVO attacks in Parcani. In addition to the 

18 April 1993 order to Siljeg, the Trial Chamber considered that Petkovic sent a consolidated report 

7306 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 692. 
7307 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 217. 
7308 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 215, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01949. 
7309 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 215, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 691. 
7310 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 215, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 693. 
7311 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 216. 
7312 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 155. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530 (23 Mar 2017). 
7313 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 156. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 154, 
163. 
7314 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 156. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber's finding also 
rested upon several reports to and from the Main Staff as well as evidence of the fact that the attacks followed an 
obvious premeditated pattern. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pekovic), para. 156. See also Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Petkovic), para. 155. 
7315 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 156. 
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regarding the HVO's activities on 17 April 1993 in which he described the ongoing operations in 

Prozor Municipality.7316 With respect to PetkoviC's submission that it is impossible that the 

17 April 1993 attack on Parcani could have been directed by his order issued the following day, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber noted that Petkovic ordered "urgent 

reinforcements" to the troops responsible for launching the offensive.7317 PetkoviC's submission 

misrepresents the evidence. It is therefore dismissed. 

2144. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's arguments that there is no evidence that 

Parcani, Lizoperci, and Toscanica were located "towards Klis" - but rather that his 18 April 1993 

order mentions the villages of Here, Kute, and SCipe - and that the Trial Chamber found, without 

any further evidence, that he directed the operations in the three villages.7318 The Appeals Chamber 

observes that the Trial Chamber found that: (l) according to a report from Siljeg, the attacks on the 

villages occurred pursuant to a plan; and (2) the HVO operations were conducted identically in the 

three villages.7319 The Appeals Chamber considers that, despite PetkoviC's contention, the villages 

of Here, Kute, and SCipe were mentioned in a separate context in his 18 April 1993 order and thus 

have no bearing on the Trial Chamber's findings with respect to the villages of Parcani, Lizoperci, 

and Toscanica. Specifically, Exhibit P01949 reflects that Petkovic ordered the reinforcement of 

troops carrying out offensive operations towards Klis and then separately ordered an assessment of 

whether forces were available for an attack on Here, Kute, and SCipe. In light of the Trial 

Chamber's findings and its consideration of PetkoviC's orders for reinforcements of troops in 

Prozor in April 1993,7320 the Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic fails to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he directed operations in Parcani, Lizoperci, and Tosc&nica. His 

arguments are dismissed. 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding crimes committed in June 1993 

2145. The Trial Chamber found that insofar as HVO soldiers systematically destroyed Muslim 

property during the HVO attack on the village of Skrobucani in Mayor June 1993 and the village of 

Lug in late June 1993, this destruction was part of a preconceived plan.7321 It found that, between 

23 April and 22 June 1993, Petkovic ordered the reinforcement of troops in Prozor and the 

deployment of tanks, and thus participated in directing military operations in the Prozor area during 

.7316 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 691, referring to Ex'. P0l954, p. 6. 
7317 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 691, referring to Ex. P01949 (emphasis added). 
7318 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 216. 
7319 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 692 & fn. 1333 and references cited therein. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 
84, Vol. 4, paras 142, 146, 1220. 
7320 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691, 694. 
7321 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 695. 
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that period.7322 The Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic intended to have the property in these 

two villages destroyed.7323 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2146. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it inferred that crimes in the 

villages of Skrobucani and Lug were committed in June 1993 during the HVO operations and that 

he took part in directing these operations.7324 He contends that the evidence "clearly proves" - and 

that the Trial Chamber established elsewhere in the Trial Judgement - that the crimes were criminal 

acts of particular soldiers and/or individual criminal incidents with no connection to planned HVO 

military operations.7325 According to Petkovic, his orders issued between 23 April and 22 June 1993 

about the reinforcement of troops and deployment, of tanks were not related to these criminal 

incidents and cannot support the Trial Chamber's "thesis" that he took part in directing operations 

in these villages.7326 Petkovic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have come to the 

conclusion, as the only reasonable inference, that he had any connection with the crimes 

committed.7327 

2147. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings were reasonable in light of, 

inter alia, the systematic fashion in which Petkovic's forces destroyed Muslim property. in these 

villages,7328 which led the Trial Chamber to conclude that the destruction was pursuant to a plan 

that was preconceived and directed by Petkovic.7329 It submits that, throughout this period, Petkovic 

deployed tanks, ordered reinforcements and troop rotations, and otherwise controlled Prozor 

operations.733o 

b. Analysis 

2148. Despite PetkoviC's claim, the Trial Chamber did not find that the crimes were criminal acts 

of particular soldiers and/or individual criminal incidents with no connection to planned HVO 

military operations. Rather, the Trial Chamber first referred to witness testimony in finding that 

7322 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 694. 
7323 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 695. 
7324 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para, 219, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 695. 
7325 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 219, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 2, paras 96-102, 
7326 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para, 220, referring to Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 694, Exs. P02040, P02055, P02526, 
P02911. 
7327 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 221. 
7328 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para, 157. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 154; 
Af,peal Hearing, AT. 529-530 (23 Mar 2017). 
739 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 158. 
7330 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para, 158, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, VoL 4, fn. 1334 
orders cited therein. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para, 157. 
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property in Skrobucani was burned down by members of the HVO.7331 With respect to Lug, it then 

referred to an SIS report, which it found to have indicated that the perpetrators of the fires were 

"HVO soldiers and local troublemakers", to conclude that the damage was "indeed caused by HVO 

soldiers".7332 When assessing PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I with respect to crimes 

committed in Skrobucani and Lug in Mayor June 1993, the Trial Chamber found that insofar as the 

HVO soldiers systematically destroyed property belonging to Muslims, it deemed that the 

destruction was part of a preconceived plan and "not due to the actions of a few umuly soldiers".7333 

PetkoviC's submission is therefore dismissed. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses his related 

submission - that the evidence "clearly proves" that the crimes were criminal acts of particular 

soldiers and/or individual criminal incidents with no connection to planned HVO military 

operations - as he merely asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to interpret the evidence in a 
. 1 . h h· 7334 partIcu ar manner WIt out s owmg an error. 

2149. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber considers that PetkoviC's claim - that the orders he issued 

between 23 April and 22 June 1993 about the reinforcement of troops and deployment of tanks 

were not related to criminal incidents in Skrobucani and Lug in June 1993, and therefore cannot 

support the Trial Chamber's "thesis" that he took part in directing operations in these villages - are 

both speculative and irrelevant. The Trial Chamber in fact relied upon these orders to conclude that 

he continued to participate in directing the HVO military operations in the Prozor area between 23 

April and 22 June 1993.7335 When addressing the attacks in Skrobucani and Lug specifically, it 

found that the destruction in the two villages was part of a preconceived plan and that by directing 

the HVO operations in Prozor Municipality, he intended to have this property destroyed.7336 

Petkovic fails to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's approach. Thus, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses PetkoviC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it inferred that crimes in 

the villages of Skrobucani and Lug were committed in June 1993 during the HVO operations and 

that he took part in directing these operations. 

(iii) Alleged errors regarding crimes committed in July 1993 

2150. The Trial Chamber found that in July and August 1993, Petkovic ordered the organisation 

of combat operations in Prozor Municipality and planned the operations.7337 It found, moreover, 

that he was informed that members of the Kinder Vod detained Muslims without justification in 

7331 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 96-97. 
7332 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 102. 
7333 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 695. 
7334 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 96-97, 102 and references cited therein. 
7335 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 694 & fn. 1334. 
7336 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 695. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 694 & fn. 1334. 
7337 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 696. 
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July 1993'in the Prozor area.7338 It concluded, on the basis of the foregoing, that he intended to have 

the crimes committed.7339 Further, the Trial Chamber relied on Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 to 

find that Petkovic was informed that men who did not belong to any armed force were being 

detained at the Prozor Secondary School in July 1993 and that, because he continued to carry out 

his functions, Petkovic accepted these detentions.734o 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2151. Petkovic first submits that the Trial Chamber's inference about his ordering and planning of 

military operations related to the Kinder Vod's detention of Muslim civilians in Prozor 

Municipality was based on three pieces of evidence, none of which had any reference to or effect on 

the internment of Muslim minors, elderly, and sick men on 11 July 1993.7341 He argues that on the 

basis of this evidence, no reasonable trier of fact could have come to the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion, as the only reasonable inference, that he planned operations related to the detention of 

Muslim civilians by the Kinder Vod.7342 Second, Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber 

misinterpreted Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, which, it concluded, informed Petkovic that men 

who did not belong to any armed forces were detained in the Prozor Secondary School in 

July 1993.7343 

2152. The Prosecution responds that the fact that the atTests and removals across different 

locations in Prozor Municipality followed a preconceived plan and were carried out by members of 

several components of the HVO supports the finding that Petkovic planned and directed the 

operations.7344 The Prosecution further submits that PetkoviC's argument that he did not specifically 

order the Kinder Vod's 11 July 1993 crimes has no bearing on the Trial Chamber's finding that he 

intended these crimes insofar as' he continued to use the Kinder Vod.7345 Further, the Prosecution 

submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the men referred to in Siljeg's Report of 13 

7338 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 696-697. 
7339 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 697. 
7340 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 698. 
7341 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 223-224, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 1336, Exs. P03246, P03384, 
3D02582. 
7342 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 224. See also Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, para. 222. 
7343 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 225-226, referring to Ex. P03418, p. 4. 
7344 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 158. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 154, 
157,161; Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530 (23 Mar 2017). 
7345 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 161. The Prosecution submits that Petkovic was aware that HVO 
operations in Prozor were conducted in a criminal manner and specifically points to an SIS report which, it claims, 
states that on 11 July 1993 HVO soldiers, possibly from the Kinder Vod, detained Muslims and publicly paraded them 
through Prozor while beating them. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 160, referring to, inter alia, Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 125-l32, Vol. 4, para. 696. 
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July 1993 did not belong to any armed force, given that another report expressly informed the Main 

Staff that the captives were "not prisoners of war". 7346 

b. Analysis 

2153. Concerning PetkoviC's submi~sion that the Trial Chamber's inference about his ordering 

and planning of military operations related to the detention of Muslim civilians in Prozor 

Municipality by the Kinder Vod was based on three pieces of evidence, none of which had any 

reference to or effect on the internment of Muslim minors, elderly, and sick men, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber in fact relied on this evidence to generally find that he 

planned and ordered the organisation of combat operations in Prozor Municipality in July and 

August 1993.7347 It then found that the SIS issued a document, which was to be delivered to 

Petkovic, reporting on the fact that members of the Kinder Vod arrested Muslim men.7348 The Trial 

Chamber concluded that by planning the HVO operations in Prozor Municipality during this time 

period while knowing soldiers from the Kinder V od were detaining Muslims without justification, 

Petkovic intended to have these crimes committed?349 Petkovic therefore misrepresents the Trial 

Chamber's findings while failing to demonstrate any error in its approach. His argument - that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have come to the Trial Chamber's conclusion, as the only reasonable 

inference and on the basis of this evidence, that he planned operations related to the detention of 

,Muslim civilians by the Kinder Vod - is dismissed. 

2154. In arguing that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993, which, it 

concluded, informed Petkovic that men who did not belong to any armed forces were detained in 

the Prozor Secondary School in July 1993, Petkovic submits that the report contains no indication 

of the detention of civilians and/or unlawful arrests; rather, Petkovic asserts that Siljeg reported on 

the transfer of Muslims liable for military service, whom the HVO authorities considered to be non­

combat members of the ABiH.735o The Appeals Chamber observes that, when assessing PetkoviC's 

contribution to the crimes committed in Prozor Municipality, the Trial Chamber noted that Siljeg 

informed Petkovic and Stojic that he had begun removing detainees who were "for the most part 

prisoners of war but also a few civilians" from the Prozor Secondary School to Ljubuski Prison.7351 

The Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic was informed that men who did not belong. to any 

armed force were being detained at the school in July 1993 and therefore accepted these detentions 

7346 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 159, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 148. 
7347 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 696. 
7348 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 696. 
7349 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 697. 
7350 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 226. 
7351 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 698. 
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insofar as he continued to carry out his functions.7352 However, in contrast, when subsequently 

assessing PetkoviC's contribution to crimes committed in detention centres, the Trial Chamber again 

relied solely on Siljeg's Report of 13 July 1993 concerning the removal of detainees from Prozor 

Secondary School to Ljubuski Prison to conclude that he was not informed that men who did not 

belong to any armed force were held in Ljubuski Prison "[i]nsofar as the report [ ... ] mentions only 

men aged between 18 and 60".7353 The Appeals Chamber considers that Siljeg's Report of 

13 July 1993 merely refers to the relocation of Muslims "liable for military service", without any 

explicit indication that some or all of these Muslims were civilians?354 Moreover, when making 

findings of fact on the arrival, transfer, and release of detainees of the Prozor Secondary School and 

Ljubuski Prison, the Trial Chamber did not refer to evidence indicating that Petkovic was informed 

h "li b' d . d 7355 t at ClVl ans were emg etame . 

2155. The Appeals Chamber notes PetkoviC's role in planning and ordering the organisation of 

combat operations in Prozor Municipality in July 19937356 as well as his position and authority 

within the Main Staft,1357 Nevertheless, it is not satisfied that a reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded, as the only reasonable inference, that Petko vic knew that men who did not belong to any 

armed force were being detained at the Prozor Secondary School and were transferred to Ljubuski 

Prison in July 1993. Thus, the Appeals Chamber overturns the Trial Chamber's findings that 

"Petko vic was informed that men who did not belong to any armed force were being detained at the 

Prozor Secondary School in July 1993" and that "[b]ecause he continued to can'y out his functions 

within the HZ(R) H-B armed forces, the [Trial] Chamber finds that Milivoj Petkovic accepted these 

detentions".7358 However, the Appeals Chamber considers that this error has no impact on the Trial 

Chamber's findings that Petkovic planned the operations in Prozor Municipality in July and 

August 1993, while knowing that soldiers from the Kinder Vod were detaining Muslims without 

justification, or that he intended these crimes as it relied on other evidence in drawing those 

conc1usions.7359 

7352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 698. 
7353 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 799. 
7354 See Ex. P03418, p. 4. Further, PetkoviC's response to Siljeg's report and ex post facto approval of the transfer of 
Muslims also does not explicitly indicate that he was informed that some or all of these Muslims were civilians. See Ex. 
P03455, p. 2, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 149. . 
7355 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 145-156, 1813 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber observes that 
the Trial Chamber referred to an 11 July 1993 report by Luka Markesic stating that certain detainees were "not 
prisoners of war" but detained for security reasons. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 148 & fn. 357, para. 1813 & fn. 4508, 
referring to, inter alia, Ex. P03380. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that there is no explicit indication that this 
re~ort was sent to or received by Petkovic. 
73 6 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 696. 
7357 See, e.g.; Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 715-717, 727, 755, Vol. 4, paras 651-652, 655-657, 663, 679. 
7358 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 698. 
7359 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 696-697. 
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(iv) Conclusion 

2156. Considering the findings as recalled above,736o the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has 

failed to show that the Trial Chamber failed to render a reasoned opinion about his criminal 

responsibility for crimes under Counts 15, 16, and 17.7361 In light of the foregoing an~lysis, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show an error regarding the Trial Chamber's 

findings on his responsibility for crimes in Prozor Municipality. His sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2. 1, 

in part, is dismissed. 

(b) Gornji VakufMunicipality (Petkovic's Sub-ground 5.2.2.2 in part) 

2157. The Trial Chamber recalled that on 18 January 1993, the HVO, including the Bruno Busic 

Regiment, launched an attack on the town of Gornji Vakuf and the villages of Dusa, Hrasnica, 

Uzricje, and Zdrimci.7362 It found, that by deploying the Bruno Busic Regiment, by receiving and 

issuing reports on the HVO operations in the area, and by ordering a cessation of combat activities, 

Petkovic planned and facilitated the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in 

January 1993.7363 It further found that the crimes committed there were part of a preconceived plan 

of which Petkovic was aware insofar as he had participated in planning and facilitating the 

operations.7364 Moreover, it found that Petkovic did not genuinely intend to punish and put an end 

to the crimes.7365 It concluded that by planning and facilitating the military operations, while 

knowing that during the operations property belonging to Muslims was destroyed, Muslims not 

involved in combat and not members of any armed forces were killed, and the local population was 

arrested and removed, Petkovic intended to have these crimes committed.7366 

2158. Petko vic submits that his convictions for crimes committed in Gornji Vakuf Municipality 

are based on the Trial Chamber's erroneous and unreasonable inferences that he: (1) planned and 

facilitated the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993; (2) was aware that 

7360 See supra, paras 2140, 2143-2145, 2148-2150, 2153-2155. Although the Appeals Chamber found that the Trial 
Chamber erred in finding that Petkovic accepted the detentions of men who did not belong to any armed force at Prozor 
Secondary School in July 1993, it considered that that error had no impact on the Trial Chamber's findings that 
Petkovic planned the operations in Prozor Municipality in July and August 1993 while knowing that Kinder Vod 
soldiers were detaining Muslims without justification, or that he intended those crimes, since the Trial Chamber relied 
on other evidence in reaching those conclusions. See supra, para. 2155. 
7361 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 214, 227. With respect to PetkoviC's submission, in reply - that if the JCE of 
"ethnic cleansing" could be interpreted as the criminal plan to deport/transfer the Muslim population, and he was 
acquitted of these crimes, no reasonable trial chamber could conclude that he significantly contributed to the 
commission of other crimes with the purpose of furthering the JCE - the Appeals Chamber notes that he repeats 
arguments made in his sub-ground of appeal 3.2.2, which is dismissed elsewhere. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 
52-53; supra, para. 903. See also infra, fn. 7423. 
7362 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 704. 
7363 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 708. 
7364 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 708. 
7365 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7366 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 710. 
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crimes were part of a preconceived plan; and (3) did not genuinely intend to punish and put an end 

to the crimes against the Muslims, thus intending to have the crimes committed.7367 He argues that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the only reasonable inference, that, inter alia, 

he culpably and intentionally cQntributed to these crimes or the furtherance of the JCE.7368 Petkovic 

submits that the Appeals Chamber should therefore reverse his convictions and enter a not guilty 

verdict in relation to crimes ch~ged in Gomji VakufMunicipality?369 

(i) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's involvement in the HVO operations 

2159. In finding that Petkovic planned and facilitated the HVO operations in Gomji Vakuf 

Municipality in January 1993, the Trial Chamber relied on a number of pieces of evidence, 

including: (1) PetkoviC's. 6 January 1993 Order to the Bruno Busic Regiment for full combat 

readiness;737o (2) PetkoviC's 18 January 1993 letter to the HVO in Bugojno, Travnik, Vitez, and 

Novi Travnik requesting that they call on the ABiH to calm the situation in GOInji Vakuf 

Municipality;7371 and (3) PetkoviC's 18 and 19 January 1993 consolidated reports pertaining to the 

situation in Gomji Vakuf Municipality.7372 Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic 

received reports on how the HVO operations were unfolding, including:7373 (1) Zeljko Siljeg's 

21 January 1993 report stating that villages had been "cleansed" and his 29 January 1993 report 

mentioning the death of civilians in Dusa;7374 and (2) a 24 January 1993 VOS report indicating that 

Gomji Vakuf Municipality was under HVO contro1.7375 Finally, the Trial Chamber found that 

Petkovic ordered combat to cease only after the HVO had taken control of the area.7376 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2160. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring from the evidence that: (1) he 

planned and facilitated the HVO operations on 18 January 1993 in Gomji Vakuf Municipality; and 

7367 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 230. 
7368 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 235. Petkovic asserts, in reply, that since the "ethnic cleansing" of the Muslim 
popUlation was established by the Trial Chamber as the "only one, single common criminal purpose", crimes committed 
in Gornji Vakuf that were not committed with the result of "ethnic cleansing" cannot be correctly and reasonably 
considered as committed with the intent to further the JCE. PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 47. See PetkoviC's Reply 
Brief, para. 46. 
7369 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 236. 
7370 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 701. 
7371 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 703. 
7372 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 704-705. 
7373 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 708. 
7374 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 705. The Appeals Chamber notes that although in the section of the Trial Judgement 
concerning PetkoviC's JCE I responsibility, the Trial Chamber referred to the date of this report as 28 January 1993, the 
Trial Chamqer adopted the date of 29 January 1993 elsewhere in the Trial Judgement. As it is more favourable to the 
Appellants and is not disputed by the Parties, the Appeals Chamber will use the date of 29 January 1993. See supra, fn. 
3703. 
7375 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 706. 
7376 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
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· (2) the commission of these crimes was planned?377 According to Petkovic, therefore, the Trial 

Chamber erroneously concluded that he was aware of the plan containing crimes.7378 Specifically, 

Petkovic submits that: (1) the 6 January 1993 Order to the Bruno Busic Regiment could not be 

viewed as his contribution to the JCE as it predated the establishment of the JCE and because it was 

unrelated to combat in Gornji Vakuf Municipality launched on 18 January 1993;7379 (2) his 

18 January 1993 letter was also not related to the attack of the same day;7380 and (3) despite its 

acknowledgement that Petkovic did not write and/or issue consolidated reports, the Trial Chamber 

nevertheless attributed authorship of the reports of 18 and 19 January 1993 to him and thus found 

that he knew about and confirmed certain events.7381 Petkovic further takes issue with the Trial 

Chamber's assessment of Siljeg's reports of 21 and 29 January 1993 and the 24 January 1993 VOS 

report.7362 In particular, he contends that Siljeg's 21 January 1993 report did not state that villages 

were "cleansed" in the sense of ethnic cleansing, but that villages were "mo[p]ped-up in the 

military sense",7383 whereasSiljeg's 29 January 1993 report referred to civilians "'who were killed 

as a result of shelling' [ ... ], not about killing of civilians, as implied by the [Trial] Chamber".7384 As 

to the 24 January 1993 VOS report, Petkovic argues that it indicated that the town of Gomji Vakuf 

came under the HVO's control "in the sense of communication", not that the HVO captured the 

town?385 

2161. Lastly, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber erred when inferring that he ordered combat 

to cease "only after the HVO had taken control of the area", on 24 January 1993, as it "failed to 

notice" that: 7386 (1) on 19 January 1993, Boban issued the ceasefire order on the basis of which 

Petkovic agreed to a ceasefire with the ABiH and issued an order the next day;7387 and (2) Boban 

and Petkovic were informed while in Geneva between 22 and 26 January 1993 that combat in 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality did not cease, thus prompting Petkovic to issue a further ceasefire 

7377 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 231-232. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, fn. 70. 
7378 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 232. 
7379 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(i), referring to, inter alia, Ex. POlO64. 
7380 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(ii), referring to Ex. P01190. 
7381 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(iii), referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01193, P01220, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 
740. 
7382 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 231(iv)-(vi), referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01249, P01351, 3D02530. While Petkovic 
refers to the date of Siljeg's report (Exhibit P01351) as 28 January 1993, for the reasons stated elsewhere, the Appeals 
Chamber understands the date of this report to be 29 January 1993. See supra, fn. 3703. 
7383 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(iv). 
7384 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(v) (emphasis omitted). 
7385 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(vi) (emphasis omitted). 
7386 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(vii), citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7387 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 231(vii)(a)-(c), 235; Appeal Hearing, AT. 523 (23 Mar 2017). 
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order.7388 Petkovic contends that the Trial Chamber "failed to establish" that combat did not stop 

then, but only after Siljeg issued a ceasefire order on 25 January 1993.7389 

2162. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic:s arguments consist of little more than 

disagreements with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the evidence without showing an error.7390 

The Prosecution submits that although the 6 January 1993 Order to the Bruno Busic Regiment did 

not specifically mention Gornji Vakuf Municipality by name, it directed the regiment to await 

further instructions, after which they attacked the municipality.7391 The Prosecution further relies on 

Petkovic's 18 January 1993 letter to argue that, contrary to his assertion, he facilitated operations in 

Gornji Vakuf Municipality on the day of the attack.7392 Additionally, it contends that PetkoviC's 

submission concerning the 18 January 1993 report reflect a mere attempt to shift responsibility 

since such "report was sent out above PetkoviC's name and title".7393 Moreover, the Prosecution 

asserts that: (1) PetkoviC's unpersuasive and semantic challenges to Siljeg's reports are 

undeveloped and should be summarily dismissed;7394 and (2) the VOS report did not, as Petkovic 

"implausibly argues", refer to communications control.7395 

2163. Finally, the Prosecution submits that PetkoviC's argument that combat operations stopped 

after he issued a 24 January 1993 ceasefire order is consistent with the Trial Chamber's findings 

and contends that he identifies no error.7396 

b. Analysis 

2164. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the finding that the killings 

of the civilians in Dusa constituted the crimes of murder and wilful killing,7397 and as a result, has 

vacated PetkoviC's convictions for the crimes of murder and wilful killing in Gornji Vakuf 

7388 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(vii)(d) & fn. 307; Appeal Hearing, AT. 523-524 (23 Mar 2017). 
7389 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(vii)(d), referring to, inter alia, Ex. PO 1300; Appeal Hearing, AT. 524 
(23 Mar 2017). He further submits that the fact that his ceasefire orders were not respected "clearly proves" that he did 
not have effective control over the HVO units in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 232. 

390 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 166, 172. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 
164-165, 179; Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530, 544 (23 Mar 2017). 
7391 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 167. The Prosecution submits that, contrary to PetkoviC's 
contention, the Trial Chamber did not consider thi!,; "pre-JCE" order as a "contribution" to the JCE. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 167. 
7392 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 168, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01190. 
7393 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 169, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(iii). 
7394 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 173. The Prosecution contends that, in any event, the Trial Chamber 
reasonably relied on other evidence, in addition to Siljeg's reports, to show that Petkovic knew that crimes were 
committed. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 173. 
7395 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 174. 
7396 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 170. The Prosecution argues that PetkoviC's expansive authority 
over the HVO is not undermined by some soldiers' failure to follow a ceasefire. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Petkovic), para. 171, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 232. 
7397 See supra, paras 441-443. 
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Municipality in January 1993.7398 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber has found that murder and 

wilful killings were not part of the CCP in the period from January 1993 to June 1993,7399 As a 

result, the following analysis will focus only on the remaining crimes.7400 

2165. With respect to PetkoviC's submission that the 6 January 1993 Order to the Bruno Busic 

Regiment could not be viewed as his contribution to the JCE as it predates the establishment of the 

JCE, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber indeed found that the JCE was established 

"at least as early as mid-January 1993".7401 The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber 

erred to the extent that it relied on the 6 January 1993 Order when finding that Petkovic planned 

and facilitated the HVO operations in Gomji VakufMunicipality in January 1993 and considered it 

to underpin his contribution to the implementation of the JCE.7402 However, Petkovic fails to show 

how such an error impacts the Trial Chamber's finding that he planned and facilitated the HVO 

operations as the Trial Chamber also relied on other actions by Petkovic when reaching this 

conc1us~on.7403 His argument is therefore dismissed. In light of the foregoing, PetkoviC's further 

submission that the 6 January 1993 Order was unrelated to combat in Gomji Vakuf Municipality 

launched on 18 January 1993 is moot. 

2166. In support of his submission that his 18 January 1993 letter was not related to the attack of 

the same day, Petkovic argues that it was not sent to the HVO in Gomji VakufMunicipality, but to 

the HVO in municipalities allocated to Muslims by the Vance-Owen Plan.7404 However, the letter, 

as noted by the Trial Chamber, was sent to the HVO in Bugojno, Travnik, Vitez, and Novi 

Travnik,7405 which the Appeals Chamber observes were allocated to the Croats under the Vance­

Owen Plan.7406 The Trial Chamber further noted that PetkoviC's ietter requested, inter alia, that the 

HVO unit,s in those municipalities call on the ABiH to calm the situation in Gomji Vakuf.7407 In this 

7398 See supra, para. 443. 
7399 See supra, paras 882, 886. 
7400 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as moot PetkoviC's submission regarding the Trial Chamber's 
interpretation of Siljeg's 29 January 1993 report. 
7401 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44. 
7402 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 701 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01064), 708 ("[i]n light of the foregoing 
evidence, the [Trial] Chamber finds that by deploying the Bruno Busic Regiment [ ... ] Milivoj Petkovic planned and 
facilitated the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf in January 1993"), 815, 818. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 814 
& fn. 1917, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01064 - the 6 January 1993 Order - when addressing the deployment of units. 
In tbis regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's consideration of a deployment order, wbich 
constitutes a discrete and non-continuing action, as a contribution to the CCP is distinguishable from the Trial 
Chamber's consideration of other actions that pre-date the JCE and that are, by contrast, demonstrative of an Accused's 
official responsibilities. See supra, para. 1441. 
7403 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 708. 
7404 PetkoviC' s Appeal Brief, para. 231 (ii). 
7405 Ex. P01190, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 703. The Appeals Chamber notes that Petkovic conflates 
the location of the letter's recipients with the request therein that they inform the ABiH that a significant number of 
HVO forces were present "in the provinces allotted to the Muslim nation" and that these forces would not be 
withdrawn. Ex. P01190, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 703. 
7406 See Ex. P09276, p. 12, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 447. 
7407 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 703, referring to Ex. P01190. 
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regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic misrepresents the evidence. The Appeals 

Chamber therefore dismisses his argument. 

2167. Concerning PetkoviC's submission that despite its acknowledgement that he did not write 

and/or issue consolidated reports, the Trial Chamber nevertheless attributed authorship of the 

18 and 19 January 1993 reports to him and thus found that he knew about and confirmed certain 

events, Petkovic further asserts that such reports bore his name but were simply a collection of daily 

reports from the OZS?408 The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's observation that the 

Main Staff regularly received reports from the OZ and brigade commanders, from which the 

secretary of the Chief of the Main Staff produced consolidated reports that were forwarded to and 

received by the Chief of the Main Staff, who in tum "drafted daily [ ... J 'consolidated reports' or 

'collective reports",.7409 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that in suggesting that the 

Trial Chamber acknowledged that he did not write and/or issue consolidated reports, Petkovic 

misrepresents the Trial Judgement. His argument is therefore dismissed. 

2168. The Appeals Chamber turns now to PetkoviC's challenges to Siljeg's reports of 21 and 

29 January 1993, as well as the 24 January 1993 VOS Report. With respect to Siljeg's 

21 January 1993 report, the Appeals Chamber observes that PetkoviC's contention appears to rest on 

the assumption that the Trial Chamber interpreted the reference to the villages as having been 

"cleansed" as suggestive of ethnic cleansing.7410 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber quoted Siljeg's 21 January 1993 report, in which the ternl "cleansed" was used when 

reporting on the military operations in Gornji Vakuf Municipality.7411 Moreover, in reaching its 

conclusion that Petkovic was informed of the movement of the population from Gornji Vakuf, the 

Trial Chamber considered this report together with a number of other reports.7412 In that regard, in 

its analysis of the aftermath of the operations, the Trial Chamber referred to Siljeg's 30 January 

1993 report, in which he reported that the entire Muslim civilian popUlation of Gornja and Donja 

Hrasnica had left while part of the popUlation had been detained in Trnovaca.7413 The Trial 

Chamber also referred to Siljeg's 8 February 1993 report in which he described, among other 

things, the destruction in the villages of Uzricje, Zdrimci, and Dusa, and reprisals against 

individuals, carried out by the HVO.7414 It ultimately concluded, relying on all the reports before it, 

7408 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(iii). 
7409 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 740 (emphasis added). In so finding, the Trial Chamber referred to, inter alia, the 
challenged reports of 18 and 19 January 1993. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1740, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01193, 
P01220. 
7410 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(iv). 
7411 See Ex. P01249. 
7412 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 707-708, 710. 
7413 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 707. The Trial Chamber specifically found that Petkovic received Siljeg's 
30 January 1993 report. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 707. 
7414 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 707. 
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as well as other evidence, that Petkovic planned and facilitated the operations in Gornji Vakuf, that 

he was aware of the destruction, arrests, and removal of the Muslim population in Gornji Vakuf by 

HVO members, and that he therefore intended to have these crimes committed.7415 Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses Petkovic's contention regarding the 21 January 1993 report. 

2169. With respect to his submission that the Trial Chamber drew an erroneous inference from the 

24 January 1993 VOS report, Petkovic claims that the report indicated that the town of Gornji 

Vakuf came under the HVO's control "in the sense of communication", not that the HVO captured 

the town.7416 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that "because of 

communication difficulties [ ... ] and continued ABiH sniper fire", the HVO captured the heights 

overlooking the town of Gornji Vakuf, and that the town fell under its contro1.7417 The Appeals 

Chamber considers that Petkovic ignores the Trial Chamber's finding in this regard and 

misrepresents the evidence when claiming that the town only came under the HVO's control in the 

sense of communication?418 His argument is dismissed. 

2170. Regarding PetkoviC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when inferring that he 

ordered combat to cease "only after the HVO had taken control of the area", the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Petkovic ignores numerous findings of the Trial Chamber. When arguing that it 

"failed to notice" that, on 19 January 1993, Boban issued the ceasefire order on the basis of which 

Petkovic agreed to a ceasefire with the ABiH and issued an order the next day, Petkovic ignores 

that the Trial Chamber assessed attempts to arrange a ceasefire in the initial days following the 

attacks, taking into consideration these orders as well as the evidence concerning his agreement 

with the ABiH.7419 As to his submission that the Trial Chamber "failed to notice" that Boban and 

Petkovic were informed while in Geneva between 22 and 26 January 1993 that combat in Gornji 

Vakuf Municipality did not cease, thus prompting Petkovic to issue a further ceasefire order, 

Petkovic ignores that the Trial Chamber found that on 22 January 1993, the HVO decided to 

capture the heights overlooking the town of Gornji Vakuf, thus Petkovic sent Siljeg a second 

cessation order from Geneva, once the town was under HVO control on 24 January 1993.7420 

7415 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 708, 710. . 
7416 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231(vi) (emphasis omitted). 
7417 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 392 (emphasis added). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 393. 
7418 See Ex. 3D02530, p. 2 ("BH Army units were routed and demoralized"; "an offer was made for them to withdraw 
from the town with their weapons"), referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 393, Vol. 4, para. 706; Trial 
JUdgement, Vol. 2, fn. 951 (considering that a report confirmed that the town was surrounded by HVO troops, tanks and 
artillery and that the neighbouring villages were shelled). 
7419 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 390 & fns 944-945, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P01205, P01211, P012l5, 
P01238/1D008l9. See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 389-395, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
706. The Appeals Chamber notes that the HVO took control of four villages in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in the days 
following the attack. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 365 (surrender of Dusa), 369 (surrender of Hrasnica), 374, 378 
(surrender of Uzricje), 384-386 (surrender of Zdrimci). 
7420 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 392-393. 
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Moreover, Petkovic mischaracterises the Trial Judgement when contending that the Trial Chamber 

failed to establish that combat did not stop then, but only after Siljeg issued a ceasefire order on 

25 January 1993, as the Trial Chamber clearly found that Siljeg's order implemented both 

PetkoviC's 20 and 24 January 1993 orders.7421 The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses PetkoviC's 

challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he ordered combat to cease only after the HVO had 

taken control of the area.7422 

2171. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's submissions that the 

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that: (1) he planned and facilitated the HVO operations on 

18 January. 1993 in Gomji Vakuf Municipality; (2) the relevant crimes committed were part of a 

preconceived plan of which he was aware. 7423 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding the finding that Petkovic had no genuine intention to punish 

perpetrators of crimes 

2172. The Trial Chamber found that it was "effectively not until 24 January 1993" that Petkovic 

ordered HVO "extremists" to be arrested and requested that the HVO "insist" that soldiers not 

commit more crimes.7424 Moreover, it found that: (1) while having effective command and control 

over the HVO, Petkovic merely requested that Siljeg "impress" upon HVO members not to cause 

any further damage; and (2) the Bruno Busic Regiment was redeployed several times after 

January 1993 and again committed crimes.7425 On this basis, the Trial Chamber found that in 

"issuing his order on 24 January 1993", Petkovic did not genuinely intend to punish and put an end 

to crimes against Muslims.7426 The Trial Chamber concluded that by planning and facilitating the 

military operations in Gomji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993, all the while knowing that crimes 

occurred during these operations, he intended to have these crimes committed.7427 

7421 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 393-394. 
7422 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses Petkovic's 
submission that the fact that his ceasefire orders were not respected "clearly proves" that he did not have effective 
control over the HVO units in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993. 
7423 When asserting, in reply, that since the "ethnic cleansing" of the Muslim population was established by the Trial 
Chamber as the "only one, single common criminal purpose", crimes committed in Gornji Vakuf that did not result in 
"ethnic cleansing" cannot be correctly and reasonably considered as committed with the intent to further the JCE, 
Petkovic cross-references to his reply pertaining to his sub-ground of appeal 3.2. The Appeals Chamber dismisses this 
submission as it is dismissed elsewhere. See supra, para. 873. 
7424 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 706. 
7425 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7426 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7427 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 710. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

2173. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber relied on incorrect premises to infer that he did not 

genuinely intend to punish and put an end to crimes against Mus1ims.7428 He first submits that he 

issued the order underpinning the Trial Chamber's finding - that "it was effectively not until 

24 January 1993" that he ordered HVO "extremists" be arrested - not on 24 January 1993, but on 

29 January 1993, when he first received an indication that crimes were cornrnitted?429 Moreover, 

Petkovic submits that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding that this order "merely requested of 

Ze1jko Si1jeg to 'impress' upon HVO members not to cause any further damage",743o it in fact 

ordered the arrest and imprisonment of "all our extremists,,?431 Lastly, regarding the Trial 

Chamber's finding that the Bruno Busic Regiment was redeployed several times after January 1993 

although its soldiers committed crimes, Petkovic asserts that there is no evidence that he was 

informed that members of the regiment committed crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality in 

January 1993?432 

2174. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic incorrectly argues that he was not aware of his 

forces' crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality until 29 January 1993 and thereby ignores the Trial 

Chamber's finding that the crimes were planned in advance and were not acts of unruly soldiers.7433 

It submits that the Trial Chamber misstated that PetkoviC's 29 January 1993 order was issued on 

24 January 1993,7434 but that this has no effect on the Trial Judgement as it repeatedly recognised 

elsewhere that the order was issued on 29 January.7435 The Prosecution further argues that the 

sincerity of the 29 January 1993 order should be considered in light of other facially unlawful 

orders which Petkovic issued subsequent1y.7436 Finally, it asserts that the Trial Chamber reasonably 

found that Petkovic knew of the crimes committed by the Bruno Busic Regiment in Gomji Vakuf 

Municipality.7437 

7428 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 233-234. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 235. 
7429 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 233(i). See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 234(i), referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01344. 
7430 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 233, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7431 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 234(i), citing Ex. P01344; Appeal Hearing, AT. 523-524 (23 Mar 2017). 
7432 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 233 (iii) , 234(ii). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 573 (23 Mar 2017). Moreover, 
Petkovic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings that the Bruno Busic Regiment committed crimes in Gomji Vakuf 
Municipality. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 234(iii). The Appeals Chamber addresses and dismisses these submissions 
elsewhere. See supra, para. 501. 
7433 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 176. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 164-
165, 175. The Prosecution also submits that Petkovic received notice, on a number of occasions prior to 29 January 
1993, of crimes committed by the HVO. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 176. 
7434 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), fn. 695, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7435 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), fn. 695, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 706, 709. 
7436 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 176. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 177. 
7437 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 178. In this regard, the Prosecution submits, inter alia, that the 
regiment was under his direct command, he personally .deployed it to Gomji Vakuf Municipality, and he was informed 
that the HVO as a whole - including the regiment - committed crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 178. 
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b. Analysis 

2175. Concerning PetkoviC's submission that he issued the order underpinning the Trial 

Chamber's finding - that "it was effectively not until 24 January 1993" that he ordered HVO 

"extremists" be arrested - not on 24 January 1993, but on 29 January 1993,7438 the Appeals 

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber indeed referred to the incorrect date when making this 

finding and when concluding that "by issuing his order on 24 January 1993, [he] ultimately did not 

genuinely intend to punish and put an end to the crimes against the Muslims".7439 However, given 

that PetkoviC's issuance of the order five days later in fact lends support to the impugned finding, 

his argument is dismissed.7440 Relatedly, when submitting that 29 January 1993 was the date on 

which he first received an indication that crimes were committed, Petkovic does not articulate an 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings and, in any case, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber considered evidence dated as early as 18 January 1993 when inferring, as the only 

reasonable inference from the evidence~ that Petkovic was aware of crimes committed as part of a 

preconceived plan.7441 As to PetkoviC's submission that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding 

that this 29 January 1993 order "merely requested of Zeljko Siljeg to 'impress' upon HVO members 

not to cause any further damage",7442 it in .fact ordered the arrest and imprisonment of "all our 

extremists",7443 the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also repeatedly and expressly 

considered, inter alia, that he ordered that HVO extremists be arrested.7444 Moreover, the Trial 

Chamber also took into consideration the facts that Petkovic did not issue that order until 29 

January,7445 after the HVO had taken control of the area, and that he merely requested Siljeg to 

"impress" upon the remaining HVO members "not to cause any further damage".7446 In light of 

these additional considerations, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber's assessment was unreasonable. His aforementioned arguments are dismissed. 

7438 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 233(i). See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 234(i), referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01344. 
7439 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. Cf Ex. P01344, dated 29 January 1993. 
7440 The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber also referred to the order as having been issued on 29 
January 1993 multiple times when addressing PetkoviC's contribution to crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 706, .109 ("Moreover, in his order of 29 January 1993, Milivoj Petkovic, while having 
effective command and control over the HVO armed forces, merely requested of Zeljko Siljeg that he 'impress' upon 
HVO members not to cause any further damage."). 
7441 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 703-704; supra, para. 2168. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 701 (noting 
PetkoviC's 6 January 1993 Order to the Bruno Busic Regiment). 
7442 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 233, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7443 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 234(i), citing Ex. P01344. 
7444 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 706 (referring to, inter alia, Ex. P01344, the 29 January 1993 order), 709. Although 
in one of these occasions, the Trial Chamber stated that Petkovic ordered the arrest of extremists on 24 January 1993 
rather than 29 January 1993, the Appeals Chamber considers that this misstatement has no impact on the Trial 
Chamber's findings. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 
7445 See supra, fn. 7444 (recalling that this order was issued on 29 January 1993). 
7446 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. 

919 
Case No. 1T-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22976



2176. Lastly, as to PetkoviC's assertion that there is no evidence that he was informed that 

members of the Bruno Busic Regiment committed crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality in 

January 1993, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that despite PetkoviC's 

knowledge that the Bruno Busic Regiment committed crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality, this 

unit was redeployed several times after January 1993 and again committed crimes.7447 It relied on, 

inter alia, this redeployment in finding that he did not genuinely intend to punish and put an end to 

the crimes against Muslims.7448 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the Trial Chamber erred 

in concluding that Petkovic knew that the Bruno Busic Regiment, specifically, committed crimes in 

Gomji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993 without referring to any evidence in support.7449 

However, Petkovic has not shown how the impugned finding that he did not genuinely intend to 

punish and put an end to the crimes against Muslims impacts the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 

he intended to have crimes in Gomji Vakuf Municipality committed insofar as the Trial Chamber 

reached this conclusion by relying upon its finding that he planned and facilitated the military 

operations while knowing that during such operations crimes were being committed.745o His 

argument is dismissed. 

(iii) Conclusion 

2177. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show an 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his involvement in the HVO operations in Gornji 

Vakuf Municipality as well as his lack of genuine intent to punish the perpetrators of the crimes 

committed there. Accordingly, PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.2, in part, is dismissed. 

(c) Jablanica Municipality CPetkoviC's Sub-grounds 4.3.1 in part, 4.3.2.2, and 5.2.2.3) 

2178. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO's military operations in Jablanica Municipality, 

namely the 17 April 1993 attack on the villages of SoviCi and Doljani and the subsequent 

destruction of Muslim houses as well as the arrest of Muslim civilians therein, were part of a well­

organised and orchestrated plan by the HVO leadership and that the crimes committed were integral 

parts of this plan.7451 It found that Petkovic contributed to planning and directing these operations, 

thus he knew that the crimes were integral to the plan.7452 The Trial Chamber found that, following 

the attack, Petkovic obstructed the passage of certain international observers and peace-keeping 

7447 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 709, 809. 
7448 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 709. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 809-810,813. 
7449 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 700-710,809-810,813. 
7450 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 710. . 
7451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 714,718,721,723. 
7452 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 716-717. 
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convoys and orchestrated the removal of Muslims who remained in SoviCi and Doljani.7453 The 

Trial Chamber concluded that the only reasonable inference from Petkovic having, inter alia, 

planned and directed military operations in Jablanica Municipality, while he continued to exercise 

control over the HVO and knew that its members were committing crimes, was that he intended 

these crimes to be committed.7454 

2179. Petko vic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only 

reasonable inference was that he participated in the commission of crimes in the villages of SoviCi 

and Doljani in April and May 1993 or that his contribution to the crimes for which he was' found 

responsible was significant.7455 He also contends that the Trial Chamber failed to make a reasoned 

finding about his intent to commit certain crimes.7456 Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber 

committed errors of fact and law that caused a miscarriage of justice and invalidate the judgement, 

and that the Appeals Chamber should therefore reverse his convictions and acquit him of the crimes 

charged in this location.7457 

(i) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's contribution to planning and directing the HVO 

operations 

2180. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed to planning and directing the military 

operations in the town of Jablanica and 'the villages of SoviCi and Doljani in Jablanica Municipality 

in April 1993.7458 In so finding, it relied upon: (1) his issuance of a 15 April 1993 order to the 

Bruno Busic Regiment and Ludvig Pavlovic Special Purposes Unit ("PPN") to raise combat 

readiness and his 22 April 1993 ceasefire order;7459 and (2) his receipt and issuance of reports on the 

military operati~ns.746o 

7453 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 721-723. 
7454 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. In reaching this conclusion, however, the Trial Chamber specified that in light 
of the fact that Petkovic orchestrated the removal of the detainees from SoviCi School on 5 May 1993, it was unable to 
find that he accepted the poor conditions of confinement. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 724. The Appeals Chamber 
recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's finding that murder and willful killing were part of the CCP in the period 
from January 1993 until June 1993. Since the Trial Chamber found that no Jablanica killings were in fact part of the 
CCP, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the change in the scope of the CCP in the period from January 1993 
until June 1993 affects in any way the Trial Chamber's findings related to PetkoviC's responsibility in Jablanica 
Municipality. See supra, para. 895 & fn. 2854. 
7455 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 250. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 237. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
714. 
7456 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 112(iii), 127. 
7457 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 112, 127,250. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 237. 
7458 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 713, 716-717. 
7459 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 712, 715. 
7460 Trial Judgemen't, Vol. 4, para. 714. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

2181. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence that does not support its finding 

that he contributed to the planning and directing of the HVO attack on SoviCi and Doljani.7461 

Specifically, he argues that: (1) his general order of 15 April 1993 to the Bruno Busic Regiment and 

the Ludvig Pavlovic PPNto raise combat readiness did not relate to SoviCi and Doljani;7462 (2) the 

reports regularly sent to the HVO Main Staff by the OZs do not demonstrate that Petkovic 

participated in the planning and directing- of the military actions described therein; 7463 and 

(3) Petkovic did not have effective control over the HVO units in the field as proven by the fact that 

his 22 April 1993 ceasefire order repeated his 20 April1993 ceasefire order, which, he asse1ts, was 

not respected.7464 Petkovic submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have come to the Trial 

Chamber's conclusion, as the only reasonable inference, on the basis of this evidence.7465 

2182. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic incorrectly states that the findings that he planned 

and directed operations in lablanica Municipality were based soJely on two orders and his receipt of 

reports.7466 It submits that the findings were based on "a great deal more evidence" and, in any 

event, the Trial Chamber reasonably found that he was kept infonned of the progress of operations 

on the basis of, inter alia, his receipt of reports.7467 Specifically, the Prosecution contends that 

PetkoviC's 15 April 1993 order to the Bruno Busic Regiment demonstrated his contribution to the 

planning and directing of the HVO operations in lablanica Municipality insofar as the order 

immediately preceded the HVO attacks and that regiment committed crimes in Doljani several days 

later. 7468 Lastly, the Prosecution submits that, contrary to PetkoviC's claim that HVO forces failed to 

obey the order he issued on 20 April1993, the document to which Petkovic points was, in fact, a 

preliminary ceasefire agreement with the ABiH, while the actual order implementing this agreement 

was issued two days later.7469 

7461 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 239. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 238. 
7462 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 239(i), referring to Ex. P01896. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 238(i), 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 712. 
7463 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 239(ii). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 238(ii), referring to Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 714. 
7464 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 239(iii), referring to Exs. P01988, P02037. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
238(iii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 715. -
7465 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 240. 
7466 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 183. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 191. 
7467 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 183, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 714. See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530 (23 Mar 2017). 
7468 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 181. 
7469 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 184 and references cited therein. The Prosecution further submits 
that even if troops failed to immediately heed his cease-fire, "isolated incidents of disobedience do not outweigh the 
mass of evidence showing PetkoviC's extensive authority over the HVO". Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
para. 184. 
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b. Analysis 

2183. Concerning PetkoviC's argument that his general order of 15 April 1993 to the Bruno Busic 

Regiment and the Ludvig Pavlovic PPN to raise combat readiness did not relate to SoviCi and 

Doljani, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found, and the order specified, that 

it was issued with the aim of reinforcing the HVO's defence lines in the Konjic and Jablanica area; 

the Trial Chamber also stated that, in the order, Petkovic specified that he would subsequently 

determine the time of departure and the destination of the units and that follow-up orders would be 

issued by telephone.747o The Trial Chamber found that the HVO commenced shelling the town of 
\ 

Jablanica that day and the villages of SoviCi and Doljani two days later, 7471 during and after which 

Petkovic received and issued reports about the progress of operations therein.7472 The Appeals 

Chamber considers that Petko vic fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's approach or its 

reliance on this order in determining that he planned and directed the military operations in 

Jablanica Municipality, which were part of an orchestrated plan that included the crimes committed 

in SoviCi and Doljani.7473 Accordingly, his argument is dismissed. 

2184. As to PetkoviC's submission that the reports regularly sent to the HVO Main Staff by the 

OZs do not demonstrate that he participated in the planning and directing of the military actions 

described therein, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber relied on these reports in 

finding that the attacks were planned in advance and that Petkovic was kept infonned of the 

progress of operations.7474 It considered his receipt of these reports as well as his issuance of orders 

and a report when finding that he contributed to the planning and directing of the military 

operations.7475 The fact that the reports that Petkovic received do not expressly assert that he 

planned or directed the specific operations described therein does not impact this finding. His 

argument is dismissed. 

2185. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's contention that he did not have effective 

control over the HVO units in the field on the basis that his 22 April 1993 ceasefire order repeated 

the alleged order he issued on 20 April 1993, which, he asserts, was not respected. The Appeals 

Chamber observes that, contrary to PetkoviC's allegation, the 20 April 1993 document was not a 

ceasefire order but an agreement between Petkovic and Sefer Halilovic to "implement a complete 

7470 Trial Jl.Jdgement, Vol. 4, para. 712, referring to Ex. P01896. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 527. 
7471 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 713,717. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 528. 
7472 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 714. 
7473 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 716-717. 
7474 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 714. 
7475 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 712, 714 & fn. 1370, paras 716-717. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 718-
723. 
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and immediate ceasefire".7476 Thus, PetkoviC's assertion that the 22 April 1993 order repeated a 

previous ceasefire order is incorrect.7477 His argument is dismissed. 

2186. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's submission that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have corne to the Trial Chamber's conclusion, as the only reasonable 

inference, that he participated in planning and directing the HVO attack on SoviCi and Doljani on 

the basis of this evidence. 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding the destruction of Muslim houses and mosques 

2187. The Trial Chamber found that most of the fighting between the HVO and ABiH in the 

villages of SoviCi and Doljani ended by the morning of 18 April 1993?478 It found that subsequent 

to the attack, the HVO set fire to all Muslim houses and two mosques pursuant to the orders of 

"senior commanders".7479 Lastly, the Trial Chamber found that insofar as the HVO operations were 

part of a plan by the HVO leadership, the destruction was an integral part of this plan, of which 

Petkovic was aware.7480 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2188. Petkovic submits that the Tlial Chamber inferred, on the one hand, that '''insofar as he 

planned and directed the military operations"', he knew that the destruction of Muslim houses and 

two mosques in SoviCi and Doljani were an integral part of the plan.7481 He argues that it also 

found, however, that Muslim houses were set on fire '" after all or most of the principal fighting had 

ended'" - precisely, after the death of a KB commander - thus proving that these crimes were not 

part of the planned military action.7482 Petkovic further submits that although the Trial Chamber 

correctly established that Muslim houses were set on fire pursuant to· orders of "senior 

commanders", it "failed to establish" that he was one of the specific senior commanders who 

ordered this destruction, and further, there was no evidence that could reasonably connect him to 

the destruction.7483 

7476 Ex. P01988. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 239(iii) ("Petkovic and Halilovic accordingly signed the 
agreement on 20 Apri11993 to implement immediate and complete cease fire"). 
7477 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 715, referring to Ex. P02037, p. 1. 
7478 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 640. 
7479 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 641,643. 
7480 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4,para. 717. 
7481 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 241, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. See Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 
112(iii)(a). 
7482 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 242, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 638. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
~ara. 112(iii)(a) & fns 144, 327. 
483 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 241, 243, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717, Ex. P02063; 

PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 51. Petkovic contends that in the Naletilic and Martinovic case, Mladen Naletilic was 
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2189. The Prosecution responds that the fact that HVO forces continued to raze Muslim houses 

shortly after a KB commander was killed, does not prove that the destruction was not pre­

planned.7484 It further submits that to the extent that, he contends that the d~struction was a 

spontaneous act of revenge, PetkoviC's argument is undermined by the fact that the HVO destroyed 

the property pursuant to the "'order of senior commanders,,,.7485 The Prosecution contends that 

PetkoviC's link to these crimes is demonstrated by the fact that the HVO attacks on SoviCi and 

Do1jani followed the same pattern in which Muslim property was destroyed in previous operations 

that he directed.7486 

2190. Petko vic replies that no reasonable trial chamber could conclude on the basis of an alleged 

"pattern" that he was one of the senior commanders who ordered that the crimes be committed.7487 

b. Analysis 

2191. The Appeals Chamber finds that PetkoviC fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber's 

findings that most of the fighting in SoviCi and Doljani ended by the morning of 18 April1993 and 

that soldiers set fire to Muslim houses on 21 April 1993 after the death of "Cikota", a KB 

commander,7488 impacts its finding that the destruction was part of a well-organised and 

orchestrated plan of which Petkovic was aware insofar as he planned and directed the military 

operations.7489 To the extent that he suggests that the burning of Muslim property was a defensive 

response to the death of the KB commander, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 

found that the criminal events in Jablanica occuned as part of campaigns which followed a 

found to have ordered the destruction of houses in Doljani. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 328, referring to Naletilic and 
Martinovic Trial Judgement, para. 596, Prosecutor ,v. ladranko Prlic et al., Case No. IT-04-74-T, Decision on 
Prosecution Motions for Judicial Notice of Adjudicated Facts of 14 and 23 June 2006, 7 September 2006 (French 
orif inal7 September 2006), Adjudicated Fact No. 68. 
748 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 186. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 185. 
The Prosecution submits that Petkovic misquotes the Trial Judgement as "finding" that Muslim houses were set ablaze 
after the fighting ended when in fact this statement was simply a reference to the Indictment. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Petkovic), fn. 745, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 638, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, fn. 326. 
7485 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 186, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. 
7486 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 185, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 243. See 
also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 186. The Prosecution submits that Mladen N aletilic was at least one 
of the senior commanders who oI;dered Muslim buildings to be burned. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 
185, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 829. 
7487 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 51. 
7488 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 640-643, Vol. 4, para. 717. Concerning the date(s) on which the destruction took 
place, the Appeals Chamber observes that although the Trial Chamber noted that KB soldiers set fire to houses on about 
21 April 1993, it also considered that much evidence showed that HVO soldiers, including KB members, had destroyed 
Muslim houses as early as 18 April 1993 and that the houses had been burned down once the conflict ended. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 641,643, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P02063. 
7489 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 716-717. Although Petkovic makes brief mention of the destruction of two mosques, 
the Appeals Chamber observes that he does not actually challenge the inclusion of this destruction in the CCP. See 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 241-242. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the destruction 
of the mosques was not part of the CCP in April 1993 and that it was addressed in the context of JCE III responsibility. 
See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 148,718. 
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systematic course of action and "had to be the result of a preconceived HVO plan".749o It concluded, 

moreover, that the crimes formed part of a "clear pattern of conduct".7491 As Petkovic demonstrates 

no error in the Trial Chamber's approach, his argument is dismissed.7492 

2192. Additionally, in light of the Trial Chamber's findings regarding the pattern of conduct and 

its determination that the destruction in SoviCi and Doljani was part of a plan of which Petkovic was 

aware insofar as he planned and directed the military operations in Jablanica,7493 the Appeals 

Chamber dismisses his submission that the Trial Chamber "failed to establish" that he was not one 

of the senior commanders who ordered this destruction specifically, and further, there was no 

evidence that could reasonably connect him to the destructi9n.7494 As to PetkoviC's further 

assertion, in reply, that no reasonable trial chamber could conclude on the basis, of an alleged 

"pattern" tqat he was one of the senior commanders who ordered that the crimes be committed, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to show an error in the Trial Chamber's approach. His 

argument is dismissed. 

(iii) Alleged errors concerning the obstruction of passage of international observers 

2193. The Trial Chamber found that, following the HVO attack 'on SoviCi and Doljani, HVO 

soldiers 'obstructed the passage of some international observers and peace-keeping convoys.7495 It 

found that a 24 April 1993 report showed that the Main Staff issued an oral order forbidding an 

UNPROFOR convoy from passing through Jablanica.7496 The Trial Chamber concluded that insofar 

as Petkovic was Chief of the Main Staff and was personally involved in planning and directing the 

operations in Jablanica Municipality in April 1993, it could reasonably find that the order came 

from him.7497 It further concluded that as Petkovic had been informed of crimes committed in 

SoviCi and Doljani, it could reasonably find that he issued the order for the purpose of concealing 

these crimes.7498 

7490 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 146. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 717, , 
7491 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 65. See also, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 47-48, 693, 704, 710 (finding that 
HVO operations in the municipalities of Prozor and Gornji Vakuf also included the burning of Muslim houses 
following attacks). 
7492 The Appeals Chamber further notes that Petkovic makes a similar argument in his sub-ground of appeal 3,2.2.4, 
which the Appeals Chamber dismissed elsewhere. See supra, paras 998-1005, 
7493 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 717. 
7494 Insofar as Petkovic contends that Naletilic specifically was found to have ordered the destruction of houses in 
Doljani, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's findings that the KB and its ATGs, which were under 
NaletiliC's command, were deployed in the OZs pursuant to orders issued by the Main Staff and that, once deployed, 
they were placed under the commander of an OZ, See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para, 829. Moreover, the Trial Chamber 
found that the KB and its ATGs were involved in numerous crimes committed in Jablanica Municipality in April and 
May 1993, See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 718. 
7495 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
7496 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
7497 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
7498 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

2194. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it inferred that he obstructed the 

passage of certain international observers and peace-keeping convoys for the purpose of concealing 

crimes committed in SoviCi and Doljani.7499 Petkovic argues that this inference was based solely on 

a 24 April 1993 report by Siljeg's deputy, which mentioned an "oral order" from the Main Staff to 

prevent a convoy from passing through Jablanica Municipality.7500 He submits that when 

concluding that the oral order came from Petkovic himself, the Trial Chamber failed to establish 

that he was the person "from the Main Staff' who issued the oral order as: (1) he was at a meeting 

in Zagreb that day, while the Main Staff was located in Mostar; and (2) if he gave an order, as Chief 

of the Main Staff, that order would not have been referred to as "an order received from the Main 

Staff,.7501 Petkovic asserts that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the only reasonable 

inference was that he hindered access of the convoy for the purpose of concealing crimes.7502 

2195: The Prosecution responds that the variety of evidence cited by the Trial Chamber disproves 

PetkoviC's contention that the finding that he denied passage to aid convoys was based on only one 

exhibit.7503 Further, it submits that, in arguing that he could not have issued the oral order because 

he was in Zagreb at the time, Petkovic fails to acknowledge the existence of the HVO's 

communications capabilities?504 Lastly, the Prosecution submits that it was reasonable for the Trial 

Chamber to conclude that an order from Petkovic would have simply been described as a directive 

from "the Main Staff'. 7505 

b. Analysis 

2196. Regarding Petkovic's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that he could 

have been the person "from the Main Staff' who issued the oral order as he was at a meeting in 

Zagreb that day, while the Main Staff was located in Mostar, the Appeals Chamber considers that 

Petkovic ignores Trial Chamber findings on the existence of means of communication between the 

Main Staff and its Chief and OZ commanders.7506 As there is no indication in the Trial Judgement 

that this communication was disrupted or hindered, his argument is dismissed. Further, the Appeals 

Chamber finds no merit in PetkoviC's unsubstantiated assertion that if he gave an. order, as Chief of 

the Main Staff, that order would not have been referred to as "an order received from the Main 

7499 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 244,246 & fn. 329, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
7500 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 244, referring to Ex. P02066. 
7501 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 244-245 (emphasis omitted). 
7502 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 246. 
7503 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 187. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 542-543 (23 Mar 2017). 
7504 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 188; Appeal Hearing, AT. 543 (23 Mar 2017). 
7505 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 188. 
7506 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 733-735. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 736-742. 
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Staff'. The Trial Chamber was reasonable in finding that an order issued by the Chief of the Main 

Staff would be regarded as an order from the Main Stafe507 

2197. To the extent that Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber relied solely on the 24 April 1993 

report by Siljeg's deputy, which mentioned the "oral order" that had been received from the Main 

Staff, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered this report in light of 

PetkoviC's role as Chief of the Main Staff and his personal involvement in the planning and 

directing of HVO operations in Jablanica in April 1993.7508 On this basis, it concluded that the order 

hindering the access of the convoy came from Petkovic.7509 The Trial Chamber further determined 

that, insofar as Petko vic was informed of the destruction of Muslim houses and two mosques, as 

well as the detention of Muslim civilians, in SoviCi and Doljani, he hindered the convoy's access 

for the purpose of concealing those crimes.7510 Petkovic fails to demonstrate an error in the Trial 

Chamber's approach in reaching either of these conclusions. Accordingly, his argument is 

dismissed. 

2198. The Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have found that the conclusion that he obstructed the passage of certain intemational 

observers and peace-keeping convoys for the purpose of concealing crimes committed in SoviCi and 

Doljani was the only reasonable inference. 

(iv) Alleged errors regarding the detention and relocation of Muslims from SoviCi and 

Doljani 

2199. The Trial Chamber found that after the 17 April 1993 attack on Jablanica Municipality, the 

HVO detained Muslim civilians and combatants in the villages of SoviCi and Doljani.7511 It found 

that a delegation from the HVO and ABiH, including Petkovic and Halilovic, visited the SoviCi 

School on 4 May 1993, after which the two decided that detainees therein would be taken the 

following day by bus to Jablanica.7512 The Trial Chamber found that on 5 May 1993, approximately 

450 women, children, and elderly people detained at the SoviCi School and in houses in the hamlet 

of JunuzoviCi were removed by HVO soldiers in the direction of Gomji Vakuf, and not 

7507 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 750-755. See also supra, para. 2095. 
7508 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. 
7509 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. , 
7510 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 721. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 714, 717 (finding that Petkovic regularly 
received reports on the combat operations in Jablanica and that insofar as he planned and directed the military 
operations, Petko vic knew that the destructions of Muslim houses and mosques as well as the detention of Muslim 
civilians in SoviCi and Doljani were an integral part of that plan). 
7511 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. 
7512 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 605-606. 
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lablanica.7513 It found, moreover, that it did not have sufficient evidence to establish what happened 

next in their removal. 7514 The Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic orchestrated this removal. 7515 

In so finding, it relied on the visit of the delegation as well as two orders: one issued by the Main 

Staff and another by Petkovic himselt,1516 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2200. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber's "suggestion" that he orchestrated the removal of 

Muslim civilians from SoviCi and Doljani to Gomji Vakuf, and thus culpably contributed to a 

crime, is misleading and unreasonable.7517 He contends that his "sole contribution[s]" to the 

removal were: (1) his proposal that he and Halilovic go to Doljani to handle the situation of trapped 

civilians; and (2) his acceptance of HaliloviC's request for assistance in the evacuation of civilians 

living in poor conditions.7518 Petkovic argues that his decision to accept the ABiH's request to assist 

in this relocation under the umbrella of UNPROPOR could not reasonably be regarded as a culpable 

contribution to a lCE?519Purther, Petkovic submits that: (1) the Trial Chamber failed to establish 

that the civilians were transported to Gomji Vakuf, rather than lablanica, due to obstacles on the 

road; and (2) the ethnic map of lablanica Municipality remained unchanged given that these same 

civilians were then transferred back to lablanica in lune 1993, to which they agreed.752o 

2201. Petko vic also makes separate yet related and specific arguments regarding his mens rea to 

commit the crimes of forcible and unlawful transfer of civilians?521 In particular, Petkovic argues 

that the Trial Chamber failed to make a reasoned finding regarding his intent to commit these 

crimes.7522 Moreover, he submits that if he "erred in law with regard to [the] aspects of removal of 

civilians from SoviCi" that are relevant for his mens rea to commit the crimes of forcible and 

unlawful transfer, such an error, if justified, would negate the mental element required for those 

7513 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 609. 
7514 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 613. 
7515 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 608, Vol. 4, para. 723. 
7516 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 607-608. 
7517 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 248, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 723. See also PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 247. Petkovic also submits that it demonstrates the Trial Chamber's failure to consider all relevant 
evidence. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 248; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 50. 
7518 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 248 & fns 333-335 and references cited therein. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 496, 
576 (23 Mar 2017). Petkovic further asserts that his own testimony on the matter is duly corroborated by Witness Filip 
Filipovic. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 248, referring to, inter alia, Filip Filipovic, T. 47523 (1 Dec 2009). 
7519 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 247, referring to Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 54-58. 
7520 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 249; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 48-50; Appeal Hearing, AT. 496-
497 (23 Mar 2017). Petkovic further submits, in reply, that since "ethnic cleansing" was established by the Trial 
Chamber as the "'only one, single common criminal purpose"', crimes committed in Jablanica that did not result in 
ethmc cleansing cannot reasonably be considered as committed with the intent to further the JCE. PetkoviC's Reply 
Brief, para. 52, citing Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 41. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 48-50. 
7521 See generally PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 124-127. 
7522 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 124, 127. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para .. 112(iii)(b ). 
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crimes.7523 Petko vic reiterates that "everyone involved agreed" that civilians be moved to mitigate 

the risk of harm during ongoing military activities and that no one thought this to be a crime. 7524 

2202. Lastly, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to make a finding regarding 

his mens rea to commit the crimes of imprisonment and unlawful confinement.7525 

2203. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic ordered 

the HVO to dispatch buses to SoviCi to remove the Muslim population, dismissing his trial 

arguments to the contrary.7526 Further, it submits that Petkovic attempts to revisit issues on appeal 

without showing an error, given that the Trial Chamber already rejected his arguments that poor 

road conditions prevented him from transporting civilians to lablanica as he intended and that he 

was merely assisting civilians at HaliloviC's request.7527 The Prosecution submits that PetkoviC's 

arguments based on alleged humanitarian grounds and the ethnic map of lablanica Municipality 

were already raised in other grounds of appeal. 7528 

2204. According to the Prosecution, the Trial Chamber did in fact find that Petko vic intended that 

forcible displacement be committed.7529 It argues that Petkovic was aware of the illegality of his , 

order to forcibly remove Muslim civilians from SoviCi and Doljani in light of his knowledge of the 

pattern of crimes in other municipalities and the fact that he saw firsthand the dire conditions in 

SoviCi?530 The Prosecution submits that Petkovic ignores the relevant context, resulting in his 

implausible claim that his order was intended to prevent the risk of harm.7531 

b. Analysis 

2205. First, with respect to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to establish that the 

Muslim civilians were transported to Gomji Vakuf, rather than Jablanica, due to obstacles on the 

7523 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 125. According to Petkovic, such aspects of the removal of civilians that are relevant 
for his mens rea consist of his: (1) knowledge about the legality of the evacuation; (2) "opinion" about the purpose of 
transporting civilians from SoviCi; (3) contribution to the well-being of the Muslim civilians; and (4) intent to 
unlawfully transfer civilians from the two villages. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 125. . 
7524 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 126. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 19(ii). Petkovic further submits that some 
wanted to leave SoviCi voluntarily and that he "did his best to help protect them". PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
7525 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(iii)(c). 
7526 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 189, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 607, Vol. 
4, rara. 722. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 182. 
752 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 190, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 609 & fns 1383, 
1386, Vol. 4, fns 1387-1388. 
7528 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 190. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 531-532 (23 Mar 2017). 
7529 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 67, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 723, 815. 
See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 88. 
7530 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 84-86, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 676, 
705, 707-708, 710. 
7531 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 87. It further submits that, in any event, the removal of villagers 
away from a humanitarian crisis that was caused by PetkoviC's own criminal conduct could not justify his order. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 87. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), fn. 765. 
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road, the Appeals Chamber considers that he fails to demonstrate how this assertion impacts the 

Trial Chamber's finding that these persons were forcibly and unlawfully transferred insofar as, inter 

alia, the relocation ultimately deprived them of their right to enjoy a normal, social, family, and 

culturallife.7532 Concerning his related submission that the ethnic map of Jablanica Municipality 

remained unchanged given that these same civilians were then transferred back to Jablanica in 

June 1993, to which they agreed, Petkovic repeats arguments made in his sub-ground of appeal 

3.2.2.1, which are dismissed elsewhere.7533 

2206. The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber expressly considered 

PetkoviC's submissions at trial that: (1) all the circumstances surrounding the evacuation of civilians 

from the Doljani-SoviCi sector led him to believe that "this was a legal operation, in accordance 

with the wishes and well-being of the civilians, and organised by the civilians themselves and the 

ABiH commanders"; and (2) he did not issue an order requesting the release of all civilian detainees 

from Sovici.7534 The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber implicitly rejected these 

submissions insofar as it subsequently concluded that: (1) he "orchestrated" the removal of people 

detained at the SoviCi School to Gornji Vakuf;7535 and (2) by, inter alia, planning, directing and 

facilitating military operations, he intended the crimes committed by HVO members.7536 The 

Appeals Chamber further notes in this respect that the Trial Chamber subsequently found that 

Petkovic was criminally responsible, by virtue of his participation in the JCE, for unlawful transfer 

and inhumane acts (forcible transfer) under Articles 2 and 5 of the Statute, respectively, in Jablanica 

Municipality?537 In light of a review of the Trial Judgement as a whole, the. Appeals Chamber 

considers that the Trial Chamber's findings reflect that it was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that' 

Petkovic intended to commit the crimes of inhumane acts (forcible transfer) and unlawful transfer 

of civilians detained in Jablanica Municipality. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that when 

concluding that Petkovic either did not contribute to certain other crimes or did not possess the 

7532 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 850, 852, 908, 910. See also Naletili6 and Martinovi6 Appeal Judgement, para. 153, 
citing Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 218 (finding, in the context of the crime against humanity of persecution 
through forcible displacement, that "[t]he forced character of displacement and the forced uprooting of the inhabitants 
of a territory entail the criminal responsibility of the perpetrator, not the destination to which these inhabitants are 
sent"); Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1103. 
7533 Moreover, Petkovic refers to the same evidence to which he referred in his ground of appeal 3. See supra, paras 
891, 894, 896. Cf PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 247 (referring to Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 54-58), 249; 
PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 48,50 (referring to Ex. P02825, Nihad Kovac, T. 10311 (16 Nov 2006), Witness CA, T. 
10042 (13 Nov 2006)). For the same reason, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's submission, in reply, that since 
"ethnic cleansing" was established by the Trial Chamber as the "'only one, single common criminal purpose''', crimes 
committed in Jablanica that did not result in ethnic cleansing cannot reasonably be considered as committed with the 
intent to further the JCE. 
7534 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 722. 
7535 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 608, Vol. 4, paras 722-723. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 607. 
7536 Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7537 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
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requisite mens rea to commit them, the Trial Chamber did so expressly. 7538 The Appeals Chamber 

thus rejects PetkoviC's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to make a reasoned finding 

regarding his intent to commit these crimes. 

2207. Moreover, when arguing that his proposal that he and Halilovic go to Doljani and his 

decision to accept the ABiH's request to assist in this relocation were his sole contributions to the 

removal and that they could not reasonably be regarded as cUlpable contributions to a ICE, Petkovic 

repeats submissions considered and rejected at trial without demonstrating an error.7539 For the 

same reasons, the Appeals Chamber also rejects his argument - previously raised and rejected at 

trial - that if he justifiably erred with regard to the aspects of the civilians' removal that are relevant 

for his mens rea to commit forcible and unlawful transfer, such an error would negate the mental 

element required for those crimes. 

2208. Concerning his assertion that everyone involved agreed that civilians be moved to mitigate 

the risk of harm during ongoing military activities and that no one thought this to be a crime, the 

Appeals Chllmber notes that Petko vic provides no support for this assertion and, in any case, 

disregards that the Trial Chamber: (1) expressly considered the circumstances which led to the 

removal;754o and (2) found that the transfer was on no account an evacuation carried out for security 

purposes nor was it justified for compelling military reasons.7541 Petkovic merely disagrees with the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion regarding his mens rea for inhumane acts (forcible transfer) and 

unlawful transfer without showing an error.7542 

2209. Turning, lastly, to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred by making no inference 

about his mens rea to commit the crimes of imprisonment and unlawful confinement, the Appeals 

Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that insofar as Petkovic planned and directed the 

7538 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 724, 770, 787, 799. 
7539 See supra, para. 2206; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 722-723. In pointing to further evidence in support of his 
argument, he merely asserts that the Trial Chamber must have failed to consider relevant evidence, without showing 
that no reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber 
did. See Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 248, referring to Ex. P02187, Filip Filipovic, T. 47523 (1 Dec 2009), Milivoj 
Petkovic, T. 49487-49489 (16 Feb 2010), 49821-49822 (22 Feb 2010), 49909 (23 Feb 2010). The Appeals Chamber 
notes that, in any case, the Trial Chamber did expressly take into account Exhibit P02187 and considered the testimony 
of Petkovic and Filipovic generally in the context of the removal of people from the SoviCi School to Gornji Vakuf. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 605-606 & fns 1379, 1381, 1383, 1386, 1388, 1390 and references cited therein. 
7540 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 605-606,608. See also supra, para. 2199; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 722. 
7541 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 849, 907. 
7542 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 849, 907. In support of his submission that some wanted to leave SoviCi 
voluntarily and that he did his best to help protect them, Petkovic points to his own testimony. See PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 126, referring to, inter alia, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49487-49489 (16 Feb 2010). The Appeals 'Chamber notes 
that the Trial Chamber considered his testimony pertaining to the circumstances that led to the removal. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, fns 1379, 1381. Moreover, elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber explained that 
although it relied on his testimony in some instances, it considered the testimony hardly credible when Petkovic sought 
to limit his criminal responsibility. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para .. 399. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in any case, 

932 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22963



military operations, he knew that the arrests of Muslim civilians and combatants in SoviCi and 

Doljani were an integral part of a plan by the HVO leadership.7543 The Trial Chamber subsequently 

concluded that by planning and directing the military operations in Jablanica in April 1993 and 

continuing to exercise control over the HVO all the while knowing that its members committed 

crimes, he intended for these crimes to be committed.7544 Petko vic does not identify an error in the 

Trial Chamber's approach, thereby warranting dismissal of his argument. 

(v) Conclusion 

2210. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show an 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings that he: (1) participated in planning and directing the HVO 

attack on SoviCi and Doljani; (2) knew that the destruction of Muslim houses and two mosques in 

SoviCi and Doljani were .an integral part of the plan; (3) obstructed the passage of international 

observers and peace-keeping convoys for the purpose of concealing crimes committed in SoviCi and 

Doljani; and (4) orchestrated the removal of Muslim civilians from SoviCi and Doljani to Gornji 

Vakuf, thus culpably contributing to the commission of a crime. Further, Petkovic has failed to 

show that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the requisite mens rea for the crimes of 

inhumane acts (forcible transfer) and unlawful transfer of civilians, as well as imprisonment and 

unlawful confinement. Accordingly, PetkoviC's sub-grounds of appeal 4.3.1 in part, 4.3.2.2, and 

5.2.2.3 are dismissed. 

(d) Mostar Municipality CPetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.4) . 

2211. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed to crimes committed by the HVO in 

Mostar Municipality, including those crimes linked to: (1) the evictions and removal of the Muslim 

population of West Mostar from the second half of May 1993; and (2) the siege of East Mostar.7545 

2212. Petkovic raises challenges pertaining to the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his 

contribution, knowledge, and intent for these crimes.7546 The Appeals Chamber will deal with these 

challenges in turn. 

even if the Trial Chamber had accepted his testimony that some of those gathered at SoviCi School wished to leave 
voluntarily, that would not invalidate the Trial Chamber's finding that other Muslim civilians were forcibly removed. 
7543 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 717. 
7544 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7545 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 725-756,815, 818, 820. 
7546 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 251, 256-268, 270-277, 279-282. 
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(i) Alleged errors regarding the evictions and removal of the Muslim population of 

West Mostar 

2213. With respect to PetkoviC's contribution to the crimes linked to the evictions and removal of 

the Muslim population from West Mostar between May 1993 and February 1994, the Trial 

Chamber found that on 14 June 1993, the Main Staff was informed by the Military Police that the 

Vinko Skrobo ATG as well as the 4th Battalion of the 3rd HVO Brigade ("Tihomir Misic Battalion") 

transported members of the Muslim population to the east side of the river and that this constituted 

"illegal ethnic cleansing".7547 It further held that on the same day, Petkovic, Stojic, and Zarko Keza, 

head of the VOS, received the CED Report mentioning that: (1) during the eviction operations 

which had occurred on 13 June 1993, members of the Tihomir Misic Battalion as well as Vinko 

Martinovic with members of his Vinko Skrobo ATG had raped several women and had beaten 

numerous people; and (2) there were "indications" that civilians had been murdered during these 
. 7548 operatIOns. 

2214. In this context, the Trial Chamber recalled its previous findings that during the operations 

evicting Muslims from West Mostar between May 1993 and February 1994, HVO soldiers, 

including the Benko Penavic ATG in May 1993, the Tihomir Misic Battalion, and members of the 

KB in June 1993, and members of the Vinko Skrobo and Benko Penavic ATGs in September 1993 

threatened and beat the Muslims they were evicting, taking all the valuable items they had with 

them or from their apartments.7549 

2215. Based on these considerations, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was directly 

informed of the eviction operations in June 1993 carried out by his subordinates and of the 

"atmosphere of violence surrounding these operations and that, at the very least, he allowed this to 

happen insofar as the [same] units continued operating in the same atmosphere of violence in 

7547 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 732. The Appeals Chamber notes that the English translation of the Trial Judgement 
states that the Main Staff was informed by the Military Police that the Vinko Skrobo ATG and the 4th Battalion of the 
3rd HVO Brigade were "involved in transporting the Muslimsfi'oll1 the east side of the river". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 732 (emphasis added), referring to Ex. P02749, p. 2. However, the Appeals Chamber observes that the French 
original reflects the Trial Chamber's finding that the Trial Chamber considered that the Muslims were transferred to the 
east side of the river. Trial Judgement, VoL 4, para. 732 ("Le 14 juin 1993, [,Etat-major principal a ete tnforme par fa 
Police militaire dufait que l'ATG Vinko Skrobo ainsi que Ie 4e batailloll dit «Tihomir Mifi6» de la 3e brigade du HVO, 
etaient impliques dans Ie transport des Musulmans du cote est de la riviere et que cela constitutait un «nettoyage 
ethnique illega!.") (emphasis 'added), referring to Ex. P02749, p. 2. Further, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 
Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit P02749 in support of its factual finding that HVO soldiers forced the Muslims of West 
Mostar to cross the confrontation line in the direction of Donja Mahala, i.e. East Mostar. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
fn. 2033, referring to Ex. P02749. 
7548 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 732, referring to Ex. P02770. 
7549 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 733, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 782-785,811-815,853-862,911-919, 
1632-1641, 1664-1668. 
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evicting and removing the population of West Mostar until February 1994".7550 Moreover, the Trial 

Chamber found that the only reasonable inference was that, having failed to take any measures to 

stop the evictions or punish the perpetrators, while at the same time exercising his functions within 

the HVO, "Petkovic accepted the evictions and the acts of violence accompanying them".7551 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2216. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he significantly contributed to 

the commission of the evictions from West Mostar.7552 He argues that while the evidence shows 

that on 14 June 1993, he received information about the evictions of Muslims that had occurred on 

the previous day, the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that he was informed about other eviction 

"operations" from West Mostar?553 

2217. Petko vic also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he allowed the 

evictions to occur.7554 He submits that there is no evidence on the record that shows that he had any 

indication that the eviction operations would be launched on 13 June 1993, thus he was not in a 

position either to allow 'or prevent that action.7555 He also argues that the Trial Chamber concluded 

that the "same units" continued to remove the Muslim population, without providing a reasoned 

opinion with respect to his contribution to the commission of these crimes.7556 

2218. Petkovic further avers that the Trial Chamber erred when it inferred that he failed to take 

any measures to stop the evictions or punish the perpetrators.7557 In this regard, Petkovic submits 

that he could not stop the evictions of 13 June 1993 since he was not informed about them in 

advance.7558 Similarly, he contends that the Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion 

concerning his failure to prevent the evictions occurring after 13 June 1993.7559 In particular, he 

7550 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 734. The Appeals Chamber observes that the English translation does not reflect the 
original French version of the Judgement in its entirety; the Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic was directly 
informed "du climat de violence entourant ces operations et qu'il a a tout Ie moins laisserfaire, dans la mesure OU ces 
memes unites ont continue a proceder dans Ie meme climat de violence a des evictions et de placements de la population 
de Mostar-ouest jusqu' en fevrier 1994." Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 734 (original French version) (emphasis added). 
7551 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 735. 
7552 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 264. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 256-263; PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 
55-58. 
7553 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 257, referring to Ex. P02770. Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in 
inferring that Vinko Martinovic and his ATGs were subordinated to him as they were directly subordinated to the 
Supreme Commander and not to the Chief of the Main Staff. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 258, referring to PetkoviC's 
AEpeal Brief, paras 152-153 (PetkoviC's sub-ground 5.1.1.4). 
754 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 259. 
7555 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 260. Specifically, he argues that the fact that he was informed about the evictions 
only the day after cannot be considered as permission for these crimes to be committed. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
260. 
7556 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 261. 
7557 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 262-263. 
7558 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 262. 
7559 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 262. 
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submits that: (1) as Chief of the Main Staff he did not have authority to punish commanders and 

soldiers from HVO units;7560 and (2) after he was removed from the position of Chief of Main Staff 

on 24 July 1993, as Deputy Chief of the Main Staff or Deputy Commander he was not "in the direct 

chain of command".7561 

2219. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's 

findings concerning his role in the violent evictions of the Muslim population carried out in West 

Mostar from May 1993 to February 1994.7562 With respect to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he was informed about the evictions in West Mostar, the Prosecution 

. contends that Petkovic: (1) knew about these crimes as he was present in West Mostar from May 

until at least 18 July 1993;7563 and (2) was repeatedly informed about their occurrence.7564 

Moreover, the Prosecution points to findings of the Trial Chamber that, it submits, show 

that Petkovic was informed that violent evictions occurred in Mostar prior to 14 June 1993;7565 and 

argues that he subsequently received the CED Report about the violent evictions conducted by 

Vinko Martinovic and other HVO troops, and yet did nothing to stop these crimes.7566 

2220. The Prosecution further contends that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that PetkoviC's 

failure to take measures to stop the evictions or punish the perpetrators contributed to these 

crimes.7567 It submits that he had effective control over the HVO, including the KB and its ATGs, 

which he continued to exercise when he became Deputy Commander, thus he had the ability to 

intervene to stop these crimes.7568 Aocording to the Prosecution, PetkoviC's arguments fail to 

appreciate the Trial Chamber's finding that the KB, including members of the Vinko Skrobo ATG, 

was involved in the subsequent evictions in Mostar.7569 In this context, the Prosecution contends 

that the fact that Petkovic did not receive additional information about the KB' s involvement in 

further evictions does not excuse his failure to "take action in response to the [CED Report]".7570 

7560 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 263(i), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 150 (PetkoviC's Sub-Ground 
5.1.1.3). 
7561 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 263 (iii). Petkovic also reiterates that he was not the superior of Vinko Martinovic or 
his ATG, nor of the KB or other ATGs. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 263(ii). . 
7562 Prosecution's Response Brief (PetkoviC), paras 194, 196-199. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
~aras 192-193. 

563 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 196, referring to Bozo Peric, T. 47872-47873, 47882 (8 Dec 2009), 
R~mond Lane, T. 23712-23713 (15 Oct 2007). 
75 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 196, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 58, 676, 727, 732, 
734,788-789,807,828,843. 
7565 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 197, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 727, 788-789, 805, 
812-818,864-876,1429, Vol. 4, paras 56-58, 676. 
7566 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 197. 
7567 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 198. 
7568 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 198~ 
7569 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 199. 
7570 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 199. 
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b. Analysis 

2221. With respect to PetkoviC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was 

informed about other eviction "operations" besides the one that occurred on 13 June 1993, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that he misrepresents the Trial Judgement. The Trial Chamber found that he 

was directly informed "of the operations to evict Muslims from West Mostar in June 1993 by HVO 

units".7571 However, Petkovic ignores that the Trial Chamber found that, while the eviction 

operations lasted between May 1993 and February 1994,7572 the only oper~tion "in June 1993" was 

the one which took place on 13 June 1993.7573 Reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, the Appeals 

Chamber understands that the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic received information only with 

respect to the operation that occurred on 13 June 1993, rather than that he was informed of other 

eviction operations that occurred in West Mostar. Accordingly, PetkoviC's arguments are 

dismissed.7574 

2222. The Appeals Chamber also considers that PetkoviC's argument that he could not have 

contributed to the eviction operation that occurred on 13 June 1993 is again based on a 

misrepresentation of the Trial Chamber's findings. The Trial Chamber found that, being informed 

of the violent eviction operation that occurred on 13 June 1993, Petkovic allowed such operations to 

occur "insofar as the [same] units continued operating in the same atmosphere of violence in 

evicting and removing the population of West Mostar until February 1994".7575 In the view of the 

Appeals Chamber, a plain reading of the Trial Judgement clearly shows that, on the basis of his 

knowledge of the violent removal of the Muslim population on 13 June 1993 combined with his 

failure to punish the direct perpetrators thereof, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed 

to subsequent violent eviction operations. Moreover, in reaching its conclusion regarding PetkoviC's 

contribution to subsequent eviction operations, the Trial Chamber expressly recalled its previous 

factual findings and the underlying evidence that members of the KB, its ATGs, and the Tihomir 

Misic Battalion carried out these eviction operations in different stages between May 1993 and 

February 1994.7576 In particular, it noted that the Benko Penavic ATG and Vinko Skrobo ATG 

repeatedly evicted Muslims from West Mostar both in May and September 1993 and in June and 

September 1993, respectively.7577 Accordingly, Petkovic does not show any error in the Trial 

7571 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 734 (emphasis added). 
7572 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 805, 815, 818, 827-828, 864, 876,900,920,985-987. 
7573 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 860-864, 876, Vol. 3, paras 782,811,853,911. 
7574 The Appeals Chamber also notes that PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Ch~ber erred in inferring that Vinko 
Martinovic and his ATGs were subordinated to him as they were directly subordinated to the Supreme Commander, 
rather than the Chief of the Main Staff, is based entirely on a cross-reference to his sub-ground of appeal 5.1.1.4, which 
the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere. See supra, paras 2108-2110. 
7575 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 734 (emphasis added). 
7576 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 733. 
7577 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 733. 
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Chamber's reasoning and his arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to refer to any evidence or 

provide a reasoned opinion are dismissed. 

2223. Turning to PetkoviC's challenge that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he failed to stop 

the perpetrators of the eviction operations in West Mostar, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in 

his argument that he could not stop the eviction operation that occurred on 13 June 1993. ill this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed to 

the eviction operations following the one that occurred on 13 June 1993.7578 Moreover, PetkoviC's 

unsubstantiated argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion with respect 

to the evictions which occurred after 13 June 1993 is directly contradicted by the express finding 

that his failure to take any measure against the perpetrators of the removals contributed to the 

repetition of these crimes until February 1994.7579 Based on these considerations, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that in making this undeveloped assertion, Petkovic fails to articulate any error in 

the Trial Chamber's finding concerning his contribution to these subsequent operations. 

2224. As to his contentions that, as Chief of the Main Staff, and subsequently as both Deputy 

Chief of the Main Staff and Deputy Commander, he had no ability to punish the perpetrators of the 

crimes, the Appeals Chamber observes that Petkovic repeats arguments from other grounds of 

appeal, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere.758o 

2225. Accordingly, Petkovic's challenges concerning his responsibility for the eviction operations 

of Muslims from West Mostar that occurred between June 1993 and February 1994 are dismissed. 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding the siege of East Mostar 

2226. The Trial Chamber found that during the siege of East Mostar from June 1993 to 

April 1994, Petkovic contributed to a number of crimes including, inter alia, those resulting from: 

(1) the shelling of East Mostar; and (2) the blocking of access of humanitarian aid and international 
.. E M 7581 orgamsatlOns to ast ostar. 

7578 See supra, para. 2222. 
7579 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 734-735. 
7580 See supra, paras 2108-2109. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that it has dismissed Petkovic's 
argument that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that Vinko Martinovic and his ATG were subordinated to him rather 
than the Supreme Commander. See supra, paras 2108-2110. . 
7581 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 739-755. The Trial Chamber also found that Petkovic contributed to the destruction 
of Baba Besir Mosque and the arrest of Muslim men as of 30 June 1993. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 728-730, 
737-738. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
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2227. Petkovic raises challenges regarding the Trial Chamber's findings vis-a.-vis his contribution 

to these crimes.7582 The Appeals Chamber will deal with these challenges in turn. 

a. Shelling of East Mostar 

2228. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed to crimes resulting from the shelling of 

East Mostar.7583 Specifically, it relied on: (1) the fact that the HVO artillery was under the control 

of the Main Staff, including the direct subordination of the Siroki Brijeg artillery regiment t~ the 

Main Staff between 12 August and 1 December 1993,7584 and (2) orders issued by Petkovic on 

27 March 1993 and 8 November 1993, respectively.7585 With respect to the 8 November 1993 

Order, which ordered offensive operations in the towns of Bijelo Polje, Blagaj, and Mostar, as well 

as the shelling of Mostar,7586 the Trial Chamber considered and rejected PetkoviC's arguments that 

he did not sign or issue it.7587 

2229. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber unreasonably concluded that he contributed to the 

shelling of East Mostar in light of the evidence on the record.7588 In support of this contention, 

Petkovic also avers that the Trial Chamber elTed in rejecting his arguments that he did not issue the 

8 November 1993 Order.7589 The Appeals Chamber will first address PetkoviC's submissions 

concerning the 8 November 1993 Order before turning to his contentions regarding the Trial 

Chamber's conclusions on his contribution to the shelling of East Mostar. 

i. PetkoviC's issuance of the 8 November 1993 Order 

2230. In rejecting PetkoviC's claim that he did not issue the 8 November 1993 Order, the Trial 

Chamber observed that: (1). the fact that he was not present in Citluk did not prevent him from 

issuing this order from a distance; (2) the evidence on the record does not establish that Petkovic 

did not issue the order; and (3) the order was sent through the chain of command.759o 

7582 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 266-268,270-277,279-280. Petkovic also challenges his convictions for the arrest of 
Muslim men as of 30 June 1993. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 265, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 174-
213. The Appeals Chamber notes that in this context, Petkovic refers to his submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 
5.2.1, which the Appeals Chamber dismisses elsewhere in this Judgement. See supra, para. 382. 
7583 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 747,815. . 
7584 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 744, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 798-806. 
7585 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 745-746. 
7586 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 668, 746, referring to Ex. P06534. 
7587 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301. 
7588 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 268,270-271, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279. 
7589 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279. 
7590 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301. 
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a- Arguments of the Parties 

2231. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in determining that he issued the 

8 November 1993 Order.7591 Specifically, Petkovic argues that the order does not contain his 

signature or "some other proof that it was issued by [him]". 7592 

2232. Moreover, Petkovic contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he issued the 

8 November 1993 Order on the basis of "the lack of evidence that [he] did not issue the order 'from 

a distance,,,.7593 In support of his argument, Petkovic highlights that the Trial Chamber reached its 

conclusion based on the considerations that: (1) despite the fact that he was not in Citluk, where the 

order was issued, on 8 November 1993, nothing would have prevented him from issuing the order 

remotely; and (2) there was no evidence that he did not issue the order.7594 

2233. Petkovic also avers that there is no evidence that he signed the order remotely.7595 Rather, 

he points to evidence reflecting that a different order, which was issued on the same day, also bore 

PetkoviC's name despite being signed by Praljak.7596 According to Petkovic, the evidence "proves 

that [he] was not in Citluk on 8 November 1993 and that Praljak signed th[at] order".7597 

2234. Finally, Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when finding that the Old 

Bridge was shelled throughout the day of 8 November 1993 on the basis of his order, as 

implemented by the order issued by Miljenko Lasic.7598 Petkovic argues that this is impossible, as 

LasiC's order was received in the artillery battalion in Citluk as late as 5:00 p.m. that day and that it 

was received by all recipients at the same time because it was sent via "package-radio".7599 

2235. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that he issued the 

8 November 1993 Order.76oo It contends that the absence of PetkoviC's signature on the 

7591 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 270(ii), 279(i), 279(iii)-(v), 280, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
para. 1301. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 62-63. According to Petkovic, the Prosecution set forth the allegation 
that he ordered the destruction of the Old Bridge for the first time in its final brief. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
279(ii), referring to Prosecution's Final Brief, paras 825-826,831,953. 
7592 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(i). See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 62-63. 
7593 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(iii). 
7594 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(iii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 571 (23 Mar 2017). 
7595 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(v). 
7596 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(iv), referring to Ex. 4D00834, Slobodan Praljak, T. 41270 (8 June 2009). See 
also Appeal Hearing, AT. 570-571 (23 Mar 2017). 
7597 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 279(iv). 
7598 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 278(iv). 
7599 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 278(iv). 
7600 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 206-208; Appeal Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). With respect to 
Petkovic's contention that the Indictment did not provide him with notice that he ordered the destruction of the Old 
Bridge, the Prosecution responds that Petko viC' s responsibility for the destruction of the Old Bridge was described 
sufficiently in the Indictment. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 216-217, referring to Indictment, 
paras 17.4(a), (c), (d), (h), 39(c), 116, 118, 229, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1587, 1684-1692. Additionally, the 
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8 November 1993 Order reflects the fact that it was sent by packet communication.7601 In this 

regard, the Prosecution refers to the Trial Chamber's finding that documents transmitted by packet 

communication "by their very nature did not contain the sender's signature". 7602 The Prosecution 

also refers to the Trial Chamber's findings that the Main Staff previously issued an order in 

PetkoviC's name when he was not physically present and that the Chief of the Main Staff or Deputy 

Chief were easily reachable by their subordinates.7603 

2236. Moreover, the Prosecution highlights that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Petkovic 

issued the 8 November 1993 Order, was also supported by its finding that the order was passed 

down the chain of command and implemented.7604 Finally, it submits that the fact that the other 

order of 8 November 1993, which was signed by Praljak, was implemented confirms the Trial 

Chamber's finding regarding the 8 November Order.7605 

2237. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic fails to show an error and ignores relevant findings 

which show that his and LasiC's orders were implemented as of the early morning on 

8 November 1993.7606 The Prosecution further argues that Petkovic focuses on the only available 

version of LasiC's order - one that was received by the artillery battalion at 5:00 p.m. - and that his 

argument that the order was sent simultaneously to all recipients via packet communication is 

speculati ve. 7607 

b- Analysis 

2238. Regarding PetkoviC's argument that the order does not contain his signature or any other 

evidence that it was issued by him, the Appeals Chamber observes that the order bears his name but 

no signature,7608 and that, in another portion of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber explicitly 

considered that documents transmitted by packet communication, such as the 8 November 1993 

Order,7609 by their very nature did not contain the sender's signature.7610 Reading the Trial 

Prosecution contends that during the trial Petkovic was on notice of the Prosecution's intention to rely on the 
8 November 1993 Order and he did not raise any objection with respect to his ability to prepare his case. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 218. 
7601 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 207; Appeal Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). 
7602 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 207, referring to Slobodan Praljak T. 44461 (7 Sept 2009), Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 1, fn.1712; Appeal Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). 
7603 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 208, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 733-735, Vol. 2, 

f6~\)~~~~cution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 208, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). 
7605 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 208; Appeal Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). 
7606 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 209-210. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 538 (23 Mar 2017). 
7607 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 210. 
7608 Ex. P06534. 
7609 Slobodan Praljak, T. 44461 (7 Sept 2009), referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301 & fn. 3259. 
7610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 1712. 
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Judgement as a whole, the Appeals Chamber finds that PetkoviC's unsubstantiated challenge 

reflects a mere attempt to substitute his assessment of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber. 

2239. Further, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's assertion that the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that he issued the 8 November 1993 Order was based on the lack of evidence to the 

contrary. Petkovic fails to appreciate that the Trial Chamber's conclusion in this regard was also 

based on the considerations that the order was sent via packet communication, as well as through 

the chain of command.7611 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2240. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber further rejects PetkoviC's undeveloped argument that there 

is no evidence that he signed the order remotely as he simply shows disagreement with the Trial 

Chamber's assessment of evidence?612 Moreover, he fails to show how the evidence reflecting that 

an order bearing the name of Petkovic and signed by Praljak was issued the same day could disturb 

the impugned finding. 

2241. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Petko viC' s argument that it is impossible that the Old 

Bridge was shelled throughout the day of 8 November 1993 on the basis of his order, as 

implemented by the order issued by Lasic. It recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's 

findings that the destruction of the Old Bridge constituted persecution as a crime against humanity 

(Count 1) and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war 

(Count 25) and has therefore acquitted the Appellants of these charges insofar as they concern the 

Old Bridge.7613 Notwithstanding this, as PetkoviC's argument concerning the chronology of events 

could equally impugn the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he issued the 8 November 1993 Order in 

the first instance, the Appeals Chamber will address it on its merits. LasiC's order is indeed marked 

as having been received by a light artillery battalion in Citluk at 5:00 p.m. on 8 November 1993?614 

PetkoviC's argument that the order was received by all recipients at the same time is, however, 

premised on his unsupported assertion that LasiC's order was exclusively conveyed via "package­

radio". The Appeals Chamber recalls in this regard that the Trial Chamber also concluded that the 

offensive must have been discussed in a meeting on 7 November 1993; at which Lasic was 

7611 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1301, refening to, inter alia, Exs. P06534, P06524, Slobodan Praljak, T(F). 44461-
44463 (7 Sept 2009). The Appeals Chamber notes, in this regard, that at trial, PetkoviC's counsel acknowledged that the 
document was sent via packet communication. See T. 44461 (7 Sept 2009). 
7612 The Appeals Chamber recalls its conclusion above that the Trial Chamber ened in finding that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted a crime under Counts 1, 20, and 25. See supra, paras 414, 426. Accordingly, the Appeals 
Chamber dismisses Petkovic's argument that the Indictment did not plead that he was alleged to have ordered the 
destruction of the Old Bridge as moot. 
7613 See supra, para. 426. The Appeals Chamber also reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages or devastation not justified by military necessity 
as a violation of the laws or customs of war. See supra, para. 414. 
7614 Ex. P06524. 
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present.7615 On these bases, the Appeals Chamber finds that PetkoviC's argument fails to 

demonstrate an error of fact occasioning a miscarriage of justice. It is dismissed. 

2242. Accordingly, PetkoviC's challenges that the Trial Chamber erred in determining that he 

issued the 8 November 1993 Order are dismissed. Thus, Petkovic has failed to show that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he issued the 8 November 1993 Orde~. 

ii. Petkovic's planning of the shelling of East Mostar 

2243. With respect to the shelling of East Mostar, the Trial Chamber recalled that: (1) from 

June 1993 to March 1994, East Mostar was under continuous intense firing and shelling from the 

HVO which was also carried out in residential areas affecting the popUlation directly;7616 and (2) the 

Siroki Brijeg Artillery Regiment based in the South-East OZ was under the direct command of the 

Main Staff between 12 August and 1 December 1993.7617 

2244. As to PetkoviC's contribution to the shelling of East Mostar, the Trial Chamber found that 

"as of 27 March 1993", he instructed Miljenko Lasic, the Commander of the South-East OZ, that 

"for firing at the populated areas it is obligatory to seek approval of. the Main Staff' 

("27 March 1993 Order,,).7618 The Trial Chamber also found that Lasic then passed this order to the 

units under his command.7619 Similarly, the Trial Chamber detemilned that in the 8 November 1993 

Order, Petkovic directed the Mostar ZP to launch offensive operations in the towns of Bijel0 Polje, 

Blagaj, and Mostar, specifically instructing the units to "[s]hell the town of Mostar selectively at 

various intervals [ ... J" and stressing that "[t]he HVO Main Staff will take the most stringent 

measures against all levels of command that fail to fulfil this order".762o Accordingly, the Trial 

Chamber concluded that Petkovic planned the shelling during the siege of East Mostar. 7621 The 

Trial Chamber further concluded that, insofar as he ordered and contributed to planning thls 

shelling, while knowing that it would lead to murder, injuries, and the destruction of property, 

including mosques, Petkovic intended to have these crimes committed.7622 

7615 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1301-1305, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 3D00793 (indicating that Lasic was present 
and that the meeting took place from 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.). The Appeals Chamber notes that Miljenko LasiC's name 
is incorrectly transcribed as "Miljenko Lanie" in the English version of this exhibit. See supra, para. 1993 & fn. 6781. 
7616 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 743, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 994-1018. 
7617 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 744, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 798-806. 
7618 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 745, referring to Ex. P01736. 
7619 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 745, referring to Ex. P01736. 
7620 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 746, citing Ex. 1>06534. 
7621 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 747. 
7622 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
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a- Arguments of the Parties 

2245. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact by concluding that he planned the 

shelling during the siege of East Mostar and intentionally contributed "to the commission of 

murders, injuries to civilians and unlawful destruction of property".7623 Specifically, he argues that 

the 27 March 1993 Order was not issued during the siege of East Mostar.7624 Further, he reiterates 

that he did not issue the 8 November 1993 Order.7625 In the alternative, Petkovic submits that the 

8 November 1993 Order does not show that he directed the shelling before the order was issued.7626 

2246. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly conchided that Petkovic planned 

and ordered the illegal shelling of East Mostar and that PetkoviC's arguments should be 

dismissed.7627 Specifically" it highlights the Trial Chamber's findings that Petko vic had command 

over the HVOartillery and HVO military operations in Mostar during the shelling of East Mostar 

and that he exercised his authority by directing the HVO artillery as reflected in the 27 March 1993 

Order and 8 November 1993 Order.7628 

b- Analysis 

2247. With respect to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber unreasonably inferred that he 

planned the shelling during the siege of East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a Trial 

Chamber may rely on either direct or circumstantial evidence to underpin its findings?629 In tIns 

regard, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to show how the Trial Chamber unreasonably 

relied on the 27 March 1993 Order to the commander of the South-East OZ, as the mere fact that 

the order was issued prior to the commencement of the shelling does not establish that it was 

unreasonable to consider this evidence as demonstrative of Petkovic's link with the HVO artillery. 

In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, in support of its conclusion, the Trial Chamber also 

recalled its previous factual findings that the Siroki Brijeg Artillery Regiment, which was based in 

7623 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 271. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 270. Petkovic also argues that the Trial 
Chamber's finding concerning the Main Staff's control over the HVO artillery as well as the Siroki Brijeg Artillery 
Regiment was legally and factually erroneous. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 268, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 147-148. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 61. 
7624 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 270(i). 
7625 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 270(ii). 
7626 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 270(ii). 
7627 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 194, 203-204. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530, 537 
(23 Mar 2017). 
7628 Prosecution's Response Brief (PetkoviC), para. 204, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. i, paras 799-805, Vol. 2, 
~aras 703-705, Vol. 4, paras 579,659,744-747; Appeal Hearing, AT. 537-538 (23 Mar 2017). 

629 See, e.g., Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 971; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 348. With regard to 
circumstantial evidence, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber may draw inferences to establish a fact on 
which a conviction relies so long as it is the only reasonable inference that could be drawn from the evidence presented. 
Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 375; Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 1277-1278; Stakic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 219. 
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the South-East OZ, was placed under the direct command of the Main Staff between 12 August and 

1 December 1993.7630 This argument therefore fails. 

2248. With respect to the 8 November 1993 Order, as a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber 

reiterates its previous finding that Petkovic failed to show ~ny error in the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he issued such order.7631 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in Petkovic's 

argument that the Trial Chamber unreasonably relied on this evidence in order to conclude that he 

planned the shelling of East Mostar between June 1993 and March 1994. Specifically, while he 

argues that the 8 November 1993 Order cannot show that he ordered the shelling of East Mostar 

before that date, he fails to appreciate that the Trial Chamber relied on the 8 November 1993 Order 

along with other relevant evidence on the record in order to infer that he planned the shelling during 

the siege.7632 Specifically, in reaching its conclusion; the Trial Chamber also took into account that: 

(1) the Siroki Brijeg Artillery Regiment based in the South-East OZ was unger the direct command 

of the Main Staff from 12 August to 1 December 1993; and (2) Petkovic instructed the Commander 

of the South-East OZ, Miljenko Lasic, that "for firing at the populated areas it is obligatory to seek 

approval of the Main Staff,.7633 In this context, Petkovic does not explain how it was unreasonable 

for the Trial Chamber to rely on these factors as circumstantial evidence in support of its 

conclusion, thus his argument is dismissed. 

2249. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Cl}amber finds that Petko vic fails to show that it was 

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude that he planned the shelling of East Mostar between 

June 1993 and March 1994 based on circumstantial evidence. 

b. Blocking of access of humanitarian aid and international organisations to 

East Mostar 

2250. In concluding that Petkovic contributed to the continuation of harsh living conditions of the 

Muslim population in East Mostar, the Trial Chamber observed that he had the power to allow the 

passage of humanitarian convoys and international organisations to East Mostar.7634 The Trial 

Chamber also noted that, following a meeting attended by Petkovic and Stojic, a humanitarian 

convoy was organised to go to East Mostar on 21 August 1993 and that Petkovic had the 

7630 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 744, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 798-806. 
7631 See supra, para. 2242. 
7632 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 743-747 and evidence cited therein. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes 
that the Trial Chamber found that the 8 November 1993 Order resulted in the shelling of the Old Town neighborhood. 
See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1312-1313,1315. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 996 & fn. 2282 (referring 
to the 8 November 1993 Order). 
7633 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 743-745. 
7634 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 752 (referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 653-686), 755. 

945 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22950



responsibility to arrange the technical details allowing the convoy to pass unobstructed.7635 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that: (1) international organisations regularly informed 

Petkovic of the humanitarian situation in East Mostar; and (2) on 18 May 1993, during a meeting 

attended by Mate Boban, Alija Izetbegovic, Franjo Tudman, Sefer Halilovic, and Petkovic, 

Halilovic insisted on the need to resolve "the problem of humanitarian convoys passing through 

BiH".7636 Recalling that Petkovic had the power to allow humanitarian convoys to pass through and 

reach East Mostar and occasionally facilitated the access of humanitarian convoys to Mostar, the 

Trial Chamber concluded that when Petkovic failed to grant such access, "he intended to facilitate 

the hindering of the humanitarian convoys from reaching the Muslim population of East Mostar, 

thereby contributing to the continuation of the harsh living conditions of the Muslim population in 

East Mostar". 7637 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

2251. Petkovic submits that the" Trial Chamber unreasonably concluded that he "(intentionally 

and) culpably" failed to allow the access of humanitarian convoys to East Mostar.7638 With respect 

to the Trial Chamber's finding that he had the power to allow humanitarian convoys access, 

Petko vic contends that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence showing that he did not have the 

competence to approve the departure of humanitarian convoys, but merely the authority to order the 

HVO commanders to allow such convoys free passage if fighting was ongoing in the area under 

such commanders' contro1.7639 Moreover, he argues that the Trial Chamber failed to identify the 

specific incidents where he hindered the passage of humanitarian convoys, thereby failing to 

provide a reasoned opinion in this regard.764o Finally, Petkovic highlights that no evidence on the 

record shows that he did not comply with a request concerning the access of humanitarian aid or 

international organisations to East Mostar or that he denied such access where security conditions 

allowed it.7641 

2252. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic 

contributed to the blocking of humanitarian access.7642 Specifically, it contends that Petkovic 

ignores the Trial Chamber's findings that from June to December 1993, the HVO impeded the 

7635 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 753. The Trial Chamber also noted that the specific humanitarian convoy was the 
first to access East Mostar in two months. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 753, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
~aras 1224-1244. 

636 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 754. 
7637 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 755. 
7638 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 276. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 272-275. 
7639 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 273. 
7640 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 274. 
7641 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 275. 
7642 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 201. 
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delivery of humanitarian aid into East Mostar and that Petkovic had the power to approve such 

convoys, but refused to grant them access despite his knowledge of the need for them in East 

Mostar.7643 With respect to PetkoviC's contention that he lacked the authority to grant the convoys 

access, the Prosecution submits that the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber reflects that 

PetkoviC's approval was sought in advance for convoys departing for Mostar and that Petkovic 

issued orders to the HVO to regulate the passage of humanitarian aid and international 

organisations.7644 

2253. In his reply, Petkovic maintains that there is no evidence on the record that Petkovic 

blocked any humanitarian convoy to East Mostar.7645 

ii. Analysis 

2254. With respect to PetkoviC's challenge that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had 

the power to grant humanitarian convoys and international organisations access to East Mostar, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that, in support of its conclusion, the Trial Chamber referred to evidence 

that he was involved in regulating and allowing humanitarian convoys between May 1993 and 

February 1994.7646 For instance, the Trial Chamber relied on evidence reflecting that he: (1) ensured 

the security of humanitarian convoys in Mostar in May 1993;7647 (2) ordered that the Mostar 

Military District be responsible for the passage of a humanitarian convoy in the area in 

November 1993;7648 (3) received requests from international organisations in June 1993 to 

guarantee the passage of humanitarian aid blocked at one checkpoint;7649 (4) did not give a 

guarantee for the passage of humanitarian aid from BiH to Split in July 1993;7650 and (5) regulated 

access to East Mostar for personnel of international organisations.7651 The Trial Chamber further 

considered a number of PetkoviC's orders to the OZs or brigades prohibiting attacks on international 

forces or humanitarian convoys and demanding that they be allowed unobstructed access.7652 In the 

7643 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 201, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1233, 1244, Vol. 4, 
~aras 752-755, 815. 

644 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 202, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 752-753, fn. 1437, 
Exs. P02421, P03923, P02746, Witness BA, T. 7168, 7198-7199 (closed session) (25 Sept 2006). The Prosecution also 
contends that PetkoviC's contention should be summarily dismissed as he repeats an argument already raised at trial. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (PetkoV'ic), para. 202. 
7645 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 60. The Appeals Chamber also understands Petkovic to raise in his reply a new 
argument that the Indictment did not charge him for controlling, regulating, and facilitating the movement and access to 
humanitarian aid. PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 60, referring to Indictment, paras 17.1(t), 17.2(0), 17.3(i), 17.5(1). 
7646 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 752 & fn. 1437, referring to Exs. P02421, p. 1, P03923, P06825, P02746, 
PlO013, p. 1, P07915, p. 1, Witness BD, T(F). 20691 (closed session) (3 July 2007), Witness BA, T(F). 7166-7168, 
7199-7200 (closed session) (25 Sept 2006). 

,7647 Ex. P02421. See Witness BD, T. 20691 (closed session) (3 July 2007). 
7648 Ex. P06825. 
7649 Ex. P02746. See Witness BA, T. 7199-7200 (closed session) (25 Sept 2006). 
7650 Ex. P03923. See Witness BA, T. 7168 (closed session) (25 Sept 2006). 
7651 See Ex. PlO013. See also Ex. P07915. 
7652 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 669 & fns 1276-1279. 
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Appeals Chamber's view, a review of this evidence plainly shows that Petkovic had the ability to 

. control the access of humanitarian convoys and international organisations to areas under HVO 

control. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber fails to see how PetkoviC's contention that he did not 

have the authority to approve the departure of a convoy, but rather to order the HVO to allow free 

passage of humanitarian aid when fighting was ongoing contradicts the impugned finding. 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to show that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have concluded, based on this evidence, that he had the power to grant humanitarian convoys 

and international organisations access to East Mostar. 

2255. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's arguments that the Trial Chamber failed to 

provide a reasoned opinion when concluding that he contributed to the blocking of the passage of 

humanitarian convoys to East Mostar. In this regard, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber failed 

to refer to any specific incident where Petkovic actually did not grant the access of humanitarian 

convoys to Mostar. By contrast, Petkovic does not appreciate that, rather than relying on direct 

evidence concerning specific incidents, the Trial Chamber inferred his contribution based on a 

number of factors, namely that he: (1) had the power to allow humanitarian convoys into East 

Mostar;7653 (2) had the responsibility to organise the unhindered passage of the first humanitarian 

convoy in East Mostar in two months, on 21 August 1993;7654 (3) was regularly informed .by 

international organisations of the situation in East Mostar;7655 and (4) participated in a meeting with 

Boban, Izetbegovic, Tudman, and Halilovic, where the latter insisted on resolving the problem of 

the access for humanitarian aid convoys.7656 In this context, the Trial Chamber refen'ed to evidence 

demonstrating that Petkovic was directly involved in the negotiations on 20 August 1993,7657 which 

resulted in an UNPROFOR convoy bearing medical supplies being allowed to enter East Mostar on 

21 August 1993.7658 Further, in its factual findings regarding the blocking of international 

organisations and humanitarian aid from East Mostar, the Trial Chamber determined that, inter 

alios, Petkovic could take the decision whether to grant access to international organisations?659 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber was required to 

articulate in its reasoning the specific incidents concerning the obstruction of convoys: 

7653 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 752. ' , 
7654 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 753, referring to Exs. P02590, P03858, P09495, Witness DZ, T. 26598-26600 (closed 
session) (23 Jan 2008). 
7655 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 754. 
7656 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 754. 
7657 Ex. P03858, p. 14; Ex. P09495. 
7658 P03858, p. 6; Witness DZ, T 26598-26600 (23 Jan 2008); Ex. P02590. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 753, 
referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1224-1244. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1231, 1233,1239-1241. 
7659 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1231. 
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2256. Moreover, PetkoviC claims that there is no evidence that he received a request for access for 

humanitarian aid with which he did not comply.766o However, he fails to explain why it was 

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to reach its conclusion on the basis of its finding that 

humanitarian convoys were unable to enter East Mostar as well as evidence of PetkoviC's direct 

involvement in granting access on other occasions.7661 Accordingly, recalling that a trial chamber 

may rely on circumstantial evidence to underpin its findings .so long as it is the only reasonable 

inference that could be drawn from the evidence presented,7662 the Appeals Chamber finds that 

Petkovic has not shown that the Trial Chamber's reliance on the mentioned factors was 

unreasonable or that the Trial Chamber's conclusion was not the only reasonable inference it could 

make. Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2257. Therefore, PetkoviC's challenges concerning his contribution to the blocking of 

humanitarian aid to and international organisations from East Mostar fai1. 7663 

c. Conclusion 

2258. The Appeals Chamber finds that PetkoviC's challenges have failed to show any enor 

impacting the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his contribution to the crimes linked to the siege 

of East Mostar. His arguments are therefore dismissed. 

(iii) Failure to provide a reasoned opinion with respect to PetkoviC's convictions under 

Counts 2 and 3 

2259. Based on its findings concerning the crimes committed in Mostar Municipality, the Trial 

Chamber found Petkovic responsible for several crimes, including murder as a crime against 

humanity pursuant to Article 5 of the Statute, charged under Count 2,and wilful killing as a grave 

breach of the Geneva Conventions under Article 2 ·of the Statute, charged under Count 3?664 

7660 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 275. 
7661 See supra, para. 2255. 
7662 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 375; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1277-1278; Stakic 
AEpeal Judgement, para. 219. 
76 3 Moreover, insofar as Petkovic raises arguments concerning his notice, the Appeals Chamber observes that in his 
appeal brief, Petkovic did not claim any defect in the Indictment concerning the blocking of access of humanitarian aid 
and international organisations. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 272-276. Recalling that a brief in reply must be 
"limited to arguments in reply to the Respondent's Brief' and therefore that it should not contain new allegations of 
error, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's contention in this regard. See Practice Direction on Formal 
Requirements, para. 6; Prosecutor v. Miroslav BraZo, Case No. IT -95-17 -A, Decision on Prosecution's Motion to Strike 
and on Appellant's Motion for Leave to File Response to Prosecution Oral Arguments, 5 March 2007, para. 13 and 
references cited therein. 
7664 Tri.al J~dgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
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a. Arguments of the Parties 

2260. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion with respect to 

"which crimes or murder/wilful killing Petkovic was alleged to have culpably contributed to and for 

which he was found guilty". 7665 

2261. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber specified the killings for which Petkovic 

was convicted in relation to Mostar Municipality, including those resulting from the sniping 

incidents and the Rastani attack.7666 Additionally, the Prosecution submits that Petko vic was 

convicted for all ICE I crimes.7667 

2262.· Petkovic replies that he does not claim that the Trial Chamber failed to make "factual 

findings" vis-a-vis the murders in Mostar, but rather failed to "make a reasoned opinion as to which 

crimes of murder/wi[l]ful killing he was found guilty Of,.7668 Petkovic also contends that the 

Prosecution is incorrect in its assertion that he was convicted of all ICE I crimes?669 

b. Analysis 

2263. With respect to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned 

opinion concerning his convictions under Counts 2 and 3 in Mostar Municipality, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that when convicting Petkovic for murder as a crime against humanity under 

Count 2 and wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions under Count 3, the Trial 

Chamber did expressly discuss the crimes which he intended and to which he contributed.767o. 

2264. In this context, the Appeals Chamber observes that the only incidents for which Petkovic 

was convicted, pursuant to ICE I, under Counts 2 and 3 in Mostar Muncipality are: (1) the killing of 

Muslim civilians in connection with the sniping campaign between Iune 1993 and March 1994 in 

East Mostar;7671 and (2) the killing of four Muslim men by HVO soldiers in the village of Rastani 

on 24 August 1993.7672 As to the shelling campaign in East Mostar, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that rather than being considered under Counts 2 or 3,7673 such killings were instead only considered 

under Counts 24 and 25 as an unlawful attack on civilians and unlawful infliction of terror on 

7665 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 281. 
7666 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 219-220, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 963, 
1070,1163,1171,1174, Vol. 3, paras 671-673, 720-722. 
7667 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 219, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 820-821. 
7668 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 69 (emphasis omitted). 
7669 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 68, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
7670 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 749-750. 
7671 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 672-673, 721-722. 
7672 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 671, 720. 
7673 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 672-673, 721-722. 
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civilians by killing as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions under Article 3 of the Statute.7674 

The remaining incidents which the Trial Chamber found to constitute Counts 2 and 3 in Mostar 

Municipality were only considered, if at all, as JCE III crimes.7675 

2265. With respect to PetkoviC's convictions under Counts 2 and 3, pursuant to JCE I, in Mostar 

Municipality, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that he contributed to 

and intended those killings.7676 Specifically, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was informed 

that Spabat personnel and civilian buildings were targeted by HVO snipers7677 and that he knew that 

the HVO forces were "firing on East Mostar [ ... J causing deaths".7678 Additionally, the Trial 

Chamber found, as the only reasonable inference, that because Petkovic "ordered and contributed to 

planning this shelling, while knowing that it would lead to murder [ ... J Petkovic intended to have 

these crimes committed".7679 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion with respect to "which 

crimes or murder/wilful killing Petkovic was alleged to have culpably contributed to and for which 

he was found guilty", thus, his arguments are dismissed. 

(iv) Conclusions 

2266. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 

5.2.2.4 in part. 

(e) Vares Municipality (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.6 in part) 

2267. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic: (1) was directly involved in planning the HVO 

military operations in Vares Municipality and received information on the crimes committed in 

7674 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3,paras 1684, 1688-1689, 1692. 
7675 The Trial Chamber found that the following incidents constituted murder under Count 2 and wilful killing under 
Count 3: (1) the killing of ten ABiH members held prisoner by the HVO at the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering on 
the night of 10 May 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 668, 717); (2) the death of two Muslim men held at the 
Faculty of Mechanical Engineering who died as a result of severe beating during interrogations by HVO soldiers 
between 8 and 11 July 1993 (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 669, 718); and (3) the death of one of two Muslim 
civilians shot by the Military Police on 14 July 1993 in Buna (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 670, 719. While it did 
not convict Petkovic for these killings pursuant to JCE I, the Trial Chamber found that murders and wilful killings 
committed during evictions (or closely linked thereto) or as a result of mistreatment or poor conditions of confinement 
during detention - such as these killings - were not part of the CCP, and stated that it would consider them in relation 
to the Appellants' responsibility under JCE III. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 70, 72, 281, 433, 632, 822, 1008, 1213. 
See also infra, para. 3097. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber notes that with respect to the eviction of the Muslim 
popUlation of West Mostar, the Trial Chamber stated that it would consider murders committed during the 13 June 1993 
eviction operations in West Mostar only in relation to PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE III. See Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, paras 732, 736. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that no mention is made of these murders in the Trial 
Chamber's legal findings concerning murder under Count 2 or wilful killing under Count 3, or in the Trial Chamber's 
findings concerning PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE III. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 669-673, 717-722, 
Vol. 4, paras 823-825. 
7676 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 749-750. 
7677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 749. 
7678 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
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Vares town and in Stupni Do, although he was not involved in the decision to attack that village;7680 

and (2) participated in launching a fake investigation into the events in Stupni Do in order to 

deceive the international community.7681 The Trial Chamber also found that Petkovic was informed 

of: (1) the operations to arrest and detain Muslims who did not belong to any armed force in Vares 

town, and that during those arrests, HVO soldiers mistreated Muslims and stole Muslim money and 

property; and (2) the destruction of property and the death of people who did not belong to any 

d ., . S . D 7682 arme lorce III tupm o. 

2268. Based on the above, the Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic "by being aware of these 

crimes and failing to take any measures against the perpetrators, and by concealing the crimes in 

Stupni Do with his contribution to the fake investigation and to the change of Ivica RajiC's identity, 

accepted these crimes". 7683 

2269. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he: (1) contributed to the 

crimes committed in the town of Vares and Stupni Do;7684 (2) participated in launching a fake 

investigation into the crimes committed in Stupni Do;7685 and (3) was informed about the crimes?686 

The Appeals Chamber will deal with these challenges in turn. 

(i) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's contribution, and knowledge of crimes related to 

the operations in Vares Municipality 

2270. With respect to the crimes committed by the HVO in Vares Municipality, the Trial Chamber 

found that Petkovic planned the military operations and, even if he was not involved in making the 

decision to attack the village of Stupni Do, he was subsequently informed as of 23 October 1993 of 

it and of the crimes committed there by the HVO under the command of Ivica Rajic.7687 In reaching 

this conclusion, the Trial Chamber recalled that on 22 October 1993, Petko vic deployed Rajic "to 

Vares" with soldiers from the Maturice and Apostoli units as well as from the Ban Josip JelaCic 

Brigade in response to the ABiH attack on the village of Kopjari that had occurred the day 

before.7688 It also considered that in a report sent to Boban on 31 October 1993 ("31 October 1993 

7679 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
7680 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 761-767. 
7681 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 772,775-776. 
7682 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 776. 
7683 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 777. 
7684 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 287-289,293-294. 
7685 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 290-294. 
7686 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 289, referring to Ex. P06026. 
7687 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 767. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 761, 763-765. 
7688 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 764. 
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Report"), Rajic stated that all activities and operations carried out "in Vares" were consistent with 

the instructions of Tihomir Blaskic, Petkovic, and Praljak.7689 

2271. In finding that Petkovic was informed of the arrests, detentions, mistreatment, and thefts 

committed in Vares town, the Trial Chamber relied on a report sent to Petkovic from Ivica Rajic on 

23 October 1993 ("Rajic's Report"), as well as evidence from Witness EA.7690 With respect to the 

information received about the crimes committed in Stupni Do, the Trial Chamber found 

that RajiC's Report informed Petkovic about RajiC's decision to attack Stupni Do and that some 

civilians had been killed during this action?691 The Trial Chamber rejected PetkoviC's contention 

that he could not have received this report as he was in Kiseljak.7692 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2272. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he planned the operations 

in Vares Municipality, arguing that, by contrast, the evidence shows that he did not take part in the 

planning of any HVO action in this municipality.7693 In this regard, Petko vic relies on the Trial 

Chamber's finding that Rajic did not receive specific orders from him on the actions to be carried 

out in Vares, other than to establish a defence line in Vares.7694 According to Petkovic, since the 

evidence shows that Rajic acted independently with respect to the operations laLJnched in the town 

of Vares and in the village of Stupni Do, no reasonable trier of fact could have come to the 

conclusion that he significantly contributed to the cOlmnission of crimes in Vares Municipality by 

planning any HVO action.7695 

2273. Additionally, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that he was 

informed about the crimes and acts of violence through RajiC's Report.7696 Specifically, Petkovic 

takes issue with the Trial Chamber's finding that while he was in Kiseljak, the report could have 

been forwarded to him by the duty officer of the Main Staff in Mostar, arguing that no evidence 

hi I · 7697 supports t s conc USlOn. 

2274. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic planned 

the operations in Vares and was immediately informed about the crimes committed in Vares town 

7689 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765, referring to Ex. P06291, p. 4. 
7690 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 340-342, 348, Vol. 4, paras 762-763, referring to Ex. P06026, p. 3, Witness EA, 
T(F). 24422-24423 (closed session) (13 Nov 2007), 24731-24732 (closed session) (19 Nov 2007), 24963 (closed 
session) (21 Nov 2007). 
7691 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765, referring to, inter alia, Ex. P06026, p. 2. 
7692 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 761. . 
7693 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 71. 
7694 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 314-316. 
7695 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. 
7696 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 289, referring to Ex. P06026. 
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and Stupni Do on 23 October 1993?698 In support of its contention, the Prosecution points to the 

Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) on 22 October 1993, Petkovic ordered Rajic to deploy to Vares 

with approximately 200 HVO soldiers;7699 (2) subsequently, the troops under RajiC's command 

committed crimes in Stupni Do;7700 and (3) in the 31 October 1993 Report, Rajic confirmed that the 

operations in Vares Municipality were carried out in accordance with the instructions of Petkovic 

and Praljak.7701 It also contends that PetkoviC's arguments that he was not informed about the 

crimes in Stupni Do are based on contentions already raised at tria1.7702 

b. Analysis 

i. Contribution to the crimes in Vares Municipality 

2275. As to PetkoviC'.s contention that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he contributed to 

the commission of crimes in Vares Municipality by planning the military operations, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that while the Trial Chamber clearly found that Petkovic ordered Rajic and HVO 

soldiers to deploy to Vares,7703 the Trial Judgement contains a number of disci'epancies with respect 

to its conclusion concerning PetkoviC's participation in the crimes committed in Vares town and 

Stupni Do. For instance, in one part of the Trial Judgement, relying on the 31 October 1993 Report, 

the Trial Chamber found that: 

Milivoj Petkovic was directly involved in the planning of the HVO military operations in Vares in 
October 1993. Nevertheless, the [Trial] Chamber also established that Ivica Rajic informed 
Milivoj Petkovic of the attack on Stupni Do only after it had taken place and that, consequently, 
Milivoj Petkovic had not been involved in the decision-making to attack this village. However, 
Milivoj Petkovic was informed of Ivica Rajic's decision in a report that he sent himon the day of 
the attack itself, 23 October 1993.7704 

In another portion of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber concluded that: 

Milivoj Petkovic planned the operations [i]n the Municipality of VareS' and that even if he was not 
involved in making the decision to attack the village of Stupni Do, he was informed of the acts of 
violence committed by the men under the command of Ivica Ra~ic as of 23 October 1993, that is, 
of the murders of Muslims and the destructions of their property. 705 

At the end of its analysis concerning PetkoviC's contribution to the crimes committed in Vares 

Municipality, the Trial Chamber noted that: 

7697 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 289, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 341. 
7698 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 223-224. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
~ara. 222; Appeal Hearing, AT. 529-530 (23 Mar 2017). 

699 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 223, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 313. 
7700 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 223, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 411-412, 423-424, 
494. 
7701 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 223, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765. 
7702 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 224. 
7703 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 764. 
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Milivoj Petkovic planned to send Ivica Rajic and his troops to Vare.f on 22 October 1993; that he 
was infonned of the operations to arrest and detain Muslims in the town of Vares who did not 
belong to any anned force and of the fact that during the arrests, the HVO soldiers, including 
members of the Maturice special unit, insulted, threatened and beat the Muslim men who were 
arrested and stole money and other property belonging to the Muslim inhabitants of the town of 
Vares; that although he was not involved in the decision to attack the village of Stupni Do, he was 
aware of it as of 23 October 1993; that he was also informed as of 25 October 1993 of the 
destruction, the death of people who did not belong to any armed force and of the aftermath of the 
attack [ ... ].7706 

Finally, in its summary of findings concerning PetkoviC's contribution to the JCE, the Trial 

Chamber held that Petkovic "planned the military operations in the town of Yard and participated 

in the launching of a fake investigation into the events in Stupni Do and fictitious sanctions against 

Ivica Rajic".7707 

2276. In light of these discrepancies, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's findings 

are unclear with regard to the precise factual basis underpinning Petkovic's contribution to the 

crime with respect to the extent and the geographical scope of PetkoviC's "planning". The Trial 

Chamber did not clarify whether it used the term "planning" only to denote the deployment of HVO 

units to Vares Municipality or also to encompass the design of the specific operations carried out in 

the field.77os In relation to the latter possibility, the Trial Judgement is unclear as to whether the 

Trial Chamber's determination pertained to the operations in Vares town and Stupni Do, with the 

express exception of the actual decision to attack that village, or was limited only to the atTests of 

Muslim men carried out in Vares town.7709 

2277. Against this background, the Appeals Chamber observes that in the factual findings on the 

crimes in Vares Municipality, the Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic instructed Rajic "to go to 

Vares with about 210 soldiers to establish a defence line in order to defend the town of Vares 

against the advance of ABiH forces". 7710 In making this finding, the Trial Chamber noted 

Witness EA's direct evidence that Rajic did not receive any written order or instructions from 

Petkovic on the actions to be carried out and that Rajic enjoyed a considerable scope for manoeuvre 

with regard to the specific actions to be taken on the ground.7711 Recalling that a Trial Judgement 

has to be read as a whole,7712 the Appeals Chamber understands that, rather than including the 

7704 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765 (emphasis added), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 409-467. 
7705 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 767 (emphasis added). 
7706 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 776 (emphasis added). 
7707 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815 (emphasis added). 
7708 Compare Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 776 with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 765,767,815. 
7709 Compare Trial Judgement; Vol. 4, para. 765 (referring simply to "Vares") with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4,paras 767 
(referring to Vares Municipality), 815 (referring to Vares town). 
7710 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 316. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 314-315. 
7711 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 314-315, referring to Witness EA, T(F). 24385-24389 (13 Nov 2007) (closed 
session). The Appeals Chamber observes that the portion of the French transcript referred to by the Trial Chamber is 
reflected in Witness EA, T. 24385-24390 (13 Nov 2007) (closed session). 
7712 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138,202; Sainovic et aZ. Appeal Judgement, paras 306, 321. 
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arrests of Muslim men in Vares town or the attack of Stupni Do, the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

that Petkovic was directly involved in planning the HVO military operations pertained to his order 

to deploy and establish a defence line in Vares town. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

in concluding that "Petko vic was directly involved in the HVO military operations in Vares in 

October 1993", the Trial Chamber relied on the 31 October 1993 Report where Rajic stated that 

"[a]l1 activities and operation[s] which have been carried out in Vares are in keeping with 

instructions issued by [ ... ] Petkovic".7713 However, in light of the Trial Chamber's conclusion in the 

factual findings on Vares Municipality that, based on the evidence of Witness EA,7714 PetkoviC's 

order to RajiC pertained to the establishment of a defence line, the Appeals Chamber understands 

that the Trial Chamber's finding based on the 31 October 1993 Report is not irreconcilable with its 

previous conclusion in the factual findings on Vares Municipality. 

2278. Accordingly, the question before the Appeals Chamber IS whether, in light of this 

conclusion, a reasonable trier of fact could have found that Petkovic contributed to the crimes in 

Vares town and Stupni Do. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that 

PetkoviC's contribution to the JCE stemmed from his use of the HVO to commit the crimes that 

were part of the JCE.7715 The mere fact that Petkovic ordered Rajic to establish a defence line in 

Vares town,7716 however, does not support the conclusion that he used the HVO to commit the 

crimes which occurred there and in Stupni DO.7717 In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that the evidence demonstrating that Petkovic received concurrent infonnation about the 

arrests in Vares town as well as the murders and destructions in Stupni Do or that he subsequently 

launched a fake investigation cannot, by itself, show that he contributed to the commission of such 

crimes.7718 In the view of the Appeals Chamber, in the absence of any evidence showing that 

PetkoviC's conduct had an effect on the commission of these crimes, it was umeasonable for the 

Trial Chamber to find that he contributed to them. 

2279. The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in the Prosecution's argument that the Trial Chamber 

reasonably concluded that Petkovic planned the operations in Vares. Particularly, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that, in support of its submissions, the Prosecution merely points to portions of 

the Trial Judgement concerning the Trial Chamber's factual findings on the crimes in Vares 

Municipality and its analysis of PetkoviC's responsibility therefore, without providing any 

7713 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765, referring to Ex. P06291, p. 4. 
7714 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 314,316. 
7715 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7716 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 316, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7717 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
7718 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 762, 765-767, 771-777. 
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indication on how these findings could show that he used the HVO to commit the crimes in Vares 

town and Stupni Do. 

2280. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that 

Petkovic directly contributed to the crimes linked to the arrests of Muslim men in Vares town and 

the attack on the village of Stupni Do on 23 October 1993. The Appeals Chamber will analyse the 

impact of this error, if any, in the appropriate section below.7719 

ii. Knowledge of crimes committed during the operations in Vares 

Municipality 

2281.· Regarding PetkoviC's knowledge of the events and crimes committed, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber relied on, inter alia, RajiC's Report to find that he was informed of 

crimes in both Yard town and Stupni Do.772o However, even though Petkovic does not clearly 

articulate whether he is challenging the findings on his knowledge as it concerns both locations 

based on RajiC's Report, the Appeals Chamber notes that he does not contest the information 

contained in this report, but rather whether he received it,7721 

2282. The Appeals Chamber now tums to PetkoviC's challenge that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that he received RajiC's Report informing him about the development of the military 

operations in Vares Municipality as well as the crimes committed. In this regard, a review of the 

relevant portion of the Trial Judgement shows that in reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber 

expressly considered PetkoviC's argument that he could not have received RajiC's Report or the 

other report sent by Rajic on the same day, as he was in Kiseljak, while the reports were sent to the 

Main Staff in Mostar/Citluk.7722 The Trial Chamber acknowledged that Petkovic was in Kiseljak on 

that date,7723 but relied on its previous findings that the means of communication within the HVO 

"operated [ ... J sufficiently well to ensure that the chief/commander of the Main Staff or his deputy 

was informed of the prevailing situation on the ground".7724 In reaching that conclusion, the Trial 

Chamber considered a body of evidence, including from Petkovic and Prosecution Witness EA, 

indicating that: (1) the Main Staff had a Department of Communication with assistants responsible 

for conveying the information through the packet communication system; (2) between May and 

November 1993, packet communication between Kiseljak and the Main Staff worked "most of the 

time"; (3) the commanding officers of the HVO could reach the Chief of the Main Staff or his 

7719 See infra, paras 2468, 3363. 
7720 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 340-342,348,485-486, Vol. 4, paras 761-763, 765. 
7721 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 289, referring to Ex. P06026. See supra, para. 2273. 
7722 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 340-342, Vol. 4, para. 761. 
7723 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 340-341, Vol. 4, para. 761. 
7724 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 342, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 732-735. 
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deputy by telephone; and (4) the Chief of the Main Staff could be reached at any moment by the 

Main Staff even if physically absent.7725 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that RajiC's 

Report was addressed directly to Petkovic.7726 

2283. In light of the above,7727 the Trial Chamber rejected PetkoviC's argument at trial that he did 

not receive RajiC's Report as the packet communication system would not have allowed the report 

to be directed to any other destination than the one it had been sent to, i.e. Mostar.7728 In this . 
respect, Petkovic presents no new argument and only states that the Trial Chamber asserted that 

RajiC's Report "could be" forwarded to him. However, Petkovic ignores the fact that this assertion 

that the report "could be" forwarded was made by the Prosecution,7729 while the Trial Chamber 

concluded that telephone and packet communication operated "sufficiently well to ensure that the 

chief !commander of the Main Staff or his deputy was informed of the prevailing situation on the 

ground".773o Against this background, PetkoviC's contention that the evidence on the record does 

not show that a duty officer forwarded the report from Mostar to Kiseljak merely reiterates 

arguments already raised at trial without showing why the evidence assessed by the Trial Chamber 

was insufficient to support its conclusion.7731 Thus, the Appeals Cha~ber finds that Petkovic fails 

to show an error in the Trial Chamber's finding that he was informed of the arrests and detentions 

committed in Vares town.7732 

2284. For the same reasons as discussed above,7733 the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails 

to show an error in the Trial Chamber's finding that he was informed of the murders and destruction 

of property committed in Stupni Do.7734 Moreover, Petkovic ignores that the Trial Chamber also 

took into consideration that: (1) on 24 October 1993, Rajic sent a report to the Main Staff indicating 

that the HVO had full control over the village of Stupni Do;7735 (2) Petkovic testified that he was 

informed of the HVO attack on Stupni Do following a conversation with Zarko Tole on 

23 October 1993;7736 and (3) during a meeting held on 4 November 1993 with Pdic, Praljak, Boban, 

and Tud,man, Petkovic stated that on 25 October 1993, he had received a report from the HVO 

7725 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 732-734. 
7726 See Ex. P06026. 
7727 See supra, para. 2282. 
7728 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 341, Vol. 4, para. 761. 
7729 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 341, referring to Prosecution's Final Brief, para. 900. 
7730 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 342. 
773! Compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 289 with PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 425. 
7732 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 762-763. The Appeals Chamber notes that it finds elsewhere that RajiC's Report does 
not provide information that HVO soldiers insulted, threatened or beat arrested Muslim men or that they stole property 
and money from the Muslim inhabitants of Vares town. See infra, paras 2924-2925. 
7733 See supra, paras 2282-2283. 
7734 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 761, 767. 
7735 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 765, referring to Ex. P06047. 
7736 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 761, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T(F). 50577-50578 (8 Mar 2010). 
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detailing the crimes committed in Stupni Do on 23 October 1993.7737 The Trial Chamber then 

considered Petkovic was informed of the events concerning the attack on Stupni Do around the 

evening of 23 October 1993 and at least by 25 October 1993.7738 PetkoviC's arguments on his 

knowledge of crimes in Stupni Do are thus dismissed. 

(ii) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's contribution to the launch of a fake investigation 

into the crimes in Stupni Do 

2285. The Trial Chamber found that Petkovic participated in launching a fake investigation into 

the crimes committed during the attack on Stupni Do only to make the international community 

believe that the HVO was conducting an investigation.7739 Specifically, it recalled its previous 

findings that: (1) when ordering Rajic to start the investigation, Petkovic sent him a handwritten 

note, confirmed by a telephone conversation, that his order was not to be carried out as its aim was 

to deceive UNPROFOR;7740 (2) thy reports signed by Rajic on 8 and 15 November 1993 were in 

fact submitted to him to sign for the sole purpose of pretending that the HVO had carried out an 

investigation;7741 and (3) Petkovic knew that Rajic was never investigated or punished for his 

involvement in the crimes in Stupni Do and that the latter continued to exercise his functions in the 

HVO under the pseudonym of Victor Andric.7742 Based on these considerations, the Trial Chamber 

found that Petkovic, "by concealing the crimes in Stupni Do with his contribution to the fake 

investigation and to the change of RajiC's identity, accepted these crimes".7743 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2286. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he participated in a fake 

investigation into the crimes that occurred during the attack of Stupni Do and in imposing fake 

sanctions, against Rajic.7744 Petkovic argues that: (1) he could not prevent or obstruct any 

investigation of the HVO's crimes since, once the representatives of the international community 

had access to Stupni Do, UNPROFOR, UNMO, and, subsequently, the ABif;I took possession of all 

evidence related to these crimes;7745 (2) as Deputy Commander of the HVO Main Staff and, later, 

Deputy Chief, he had neither the authority nor the power to suspend, punish, or sanction HVO 

7737 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 761, referring to Ex. P06454, pp. 59-60. 
7738 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 761. 
7739 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 771-777. The Trial Chamber also found that, between 23 and 25 October 1993, the 
HVO prevented UNPROFOR from entering in Stupni Do. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 768-770. However, it did not 
find that Petkovic was involved in blocking such access. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 770. 
7740 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 772, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-492. 
7741 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 772, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-492. . 
7742 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 774, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 493-498. See also Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 773. 
7743 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 777. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 775-776. 
7744 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 290-292. 
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commanders or to independently launch an investigation into their conduct;7746 (3) the evidence on 

the record shows that an investigation was initiated by the military prosecutor and that Boban and 

the Minister of Defence were involved, thus, he had no reason to be part of this exercise;7747 (4) he 

informed Praljak about everything he knew regarding the crimes committed in Stupni Do, thus 

"fulfilling his obligation to notify his superior,,;7748 and (5) the SIS was involved in the 

investigation and he had no authority or ability to interfere in its work, nor did he have reason to do 

SO.7749 

2287. Finally, Petkovie challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the handwritten message 

received by Rajie was an authentic document emanating from him.775o In this context, Petkovie 

asserts that: (1) Witness EA, who testified that Petkovie dictated the message to Vinko Lucie, was 

not an eyewitness and during cross-examination could not say who informed Rajie about the 

handwritten message;7751 (2) the date on the document, "around 25 October 1993", was appended to 

it by Rajie in 2002 and does not have a stamp of an archive;7752 (3) the Prosecution did not call 

Vinko Lucie to testify even though "it interviewed him during the trial,,;7753 (4) during his 

testimony, he, Petkovie, denied having dictated the document;7754 (5) the Trial Chamber failed to 

provide a reasoned opinion as to why it accepted Witness EA's testimony over his evidence; 7755 and 

(6) Rajie sent three reports on the crimes committed in Stupni Do, thereby showing that the order 

for an investigation was not derogated from by the "written message".7756 

2288. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's contentions should be rejected.7757 With respect to 

the Trial Chamber's findings concerning PetkoviC's participation in the fake investigation of the 

crimes in Stupni Do, the Prosecution contends that PetkoviC's challenges have no merit, repeat 

contentions already raised at trial, and ignore the Trial Chamber's findings.7758 As to the challenges 

concerning the handwritten message received by Rajie, the Prosecution submits that Petkovie 

7745 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(ii). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 571-572 (23 Mar 2017). 
7746 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(iii). See PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 73-74. 
7747 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(iv); Appeal Hearing, AT. 572 (23 Mar 2017). Additionally, Petkovic argues that 
to the extent that his superiors declined or refused to punish Rajic, there was nothing he could do. Petko viC' s Appeal 
Brief, para. 292. 
7748 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(v). See PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 71. 
7749 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vi). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 572 (23 Mar 2017). 
7750 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-484. 
7751 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 291(vii)(a)-(b). 
7752 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 291(vii)(c)-(d). 
7753 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(e). 
7754 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(f). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 541-542 (23 Mar 2017). 
7755 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(g). 
7756 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(h). Moreover Petkovic argues that he was not aware of Tole's and BlaskiC's 
orders to block UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(i). 
7757 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 223-229. 
7758 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 228. Moreover, the Prosecution argues that PetkoviC's contention 
that he was unaware that the HVO blocked UNPROFOR's access to Stupni Do does not impact on the Trial Chamber's 
finding that he participated in a fake investigation. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 228. 
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repeats arguments already raised at trial and that the Trial Chamber reasonably assessed this piece 

of evidence. 7759 

b. Analysis 

2289. With respect to the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Petkovic participated in a fake 

investigation into the crimes that occurred during the attack on Stupni Do and in imposing fake 

sanctions against Rajic, the Appeals Chamber observes that Petkovic merely cites specific pieces of 

evidence on the record in an attempt to substitute his assessment thereof for that of the Trial 

Chamber. Petkovic fails to articulate any en'or with respect to the Trial Chamber's conclusion. 

2290. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's claim that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that the handwritten message received by Rajic was an authentic document emanating 

from Petkovic. In particular, Petkovic takes issue with the Trial Chamber's conclusion in its factual 

findings that Petkovic was the author of this message in light of the evidence of Witness EA,776o 

who testified that, after having discussed its content with Petko vic, Rajic had no doubt that the 

document originated from him.7761 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that most of 

PetkoviC's allegations of error merely repeat arguments already raised at trial without 

demonstrating that their rejection constituted an error warranting the intervention of the Appeals 

Chamber.7762 Accordingly, these contentions are dismissed. 

2291. As to PetkoviC's assertion that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion on 

why it preferred Witness EA's testimony over his evidence, the Appeals Chamber notes the 

Trial Chamber's express consideration of PetkoviC's testimony that he had never seen the 

handwritten message in light of the contrary testimony given by Witness EA.7763 Additionally, in 

another portion of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber explicitly found that PetkoviC's 

testimony was "hardly credible" specifically when he tried to limit his responsibility in respect of 

certain allegations.7764 In light of these considerations and recalling that a trial chamber is not 

required to articulate every step of its reasoning, as long as it indicated clearly the factual and legal 

7759 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 227. . 
7760 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-484. 
7761 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 483-484. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 480-482, referring to, inter alia, 
Witness EA, T(F). 24470-24473 (closed session) (13 Nov 2007). 
7762 Compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(a) with PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 491; compare PetkoviC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 291 (vii) (b) with PetkoviC's Final Brief, fn. 903; compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 291(vii)(c)-(d) with PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 495; compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(e) with 
PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 493; compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291(vii)(f) with PetkoviC's Final Brief, 
?ara.493. 

763 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 482-484. 
7764 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
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findings on the basis of which it reached the decision to either convict or acquit an individual,7765 
, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to show any error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning. 

Accordingly, this contention fails. 

2292. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber sees no merit in PetkoviC's claim that the fact that Rajic sent 

three reports about the Stupni Do investigation shows that the order for an investigation was not 

derogated from by the "written message". Petkovic merely refers to specific pieces of evidence on 

the record without showing how the failure to take into account these elements occasioned a 

miscarriage of justice. Therefore, this argument is summarily dismissed. 

2293. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's allegations of error 

concerning the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he participated in launching a fake investigation 

into the crimes committed during the attack on Stupni Do to deceive the international community. 

(iii) Conclusion 

2294. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber partially grants the relevant portion of 

PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.6 as it concerns his contribution to the crimes linked to the 

arrests of Muslim men in Vares town and the attack on the village of Stupni Do. However, the 

following Trial Chamber findings are maintained: (1) that Petkovic was infornled of the operations 

to arrest and detain Muslims in Vares town and failed to take measures against the perpetrators, and 

thus accepted the crimes; and (2) that Petkovic was informed of the murders and destruction of 

property committed in Stupni Do, failed to take· measures against the perpetrators, and concealed 

the crimes in Stupni Do by contributing to the fake investigation and to the change of Ivica RajiC's 

'd' d h . d h . 7766 1 entIty, an t us accepte t ese cnmes. 

(f) Gabela Prison (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.7.1) 

2295. The Trial Chamber found, as the only reasonable inference, that Petkovic was aware, as of 

at least September 1993, that the conditions of confin~ment in Gabela Prison between April and 

December 1993 were extremely pOOr.7767 In so finding, the Trial Chamber considered that: (1) the 

Main Staff received two reports from the Department of Defence dated 29 September and 

19 October 1993 describing the poor conditions;7768 (2) Petkovic was alerted to the conditions when 

7765 Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 137, 378, 1063; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 972, 1906; 
Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 325, 378, 392, 461, 490; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 398; Stanisic 
and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, para. 78; Hadzihasanovic and Kllbllra Appeal Judgement, para. 13. See also Kvocka 
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23 Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 105. 
7766 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 767-777. 
7767 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 779, 782. 
7768 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 778, 782. 
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he visited the villages of SoviCi and Doljani in May 1993;7769 and (3) the poor conditions became 

public know ledge as of at least September 1993.7770 The Trial Chamber found that by continui~g to 

exercise his functions within the Main Staff despite this knowledge, Petkovic accepted these 

conditions.7771 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2296. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred when it convicted him for crimes relating to 

the conditions of confinement in Gabela Prison.7772 First, he submits that no reasonable trier of fact 

could have reached the conclusion that he was aware of the conditions in Gabela Prison.7773 In this 

regard, he argues that the Triai Chamber did not: (1) establish when the poor conditions became 

public knowledge and failed to refer to evidence proving if and when he became aware of this 

fact;7774 and (2) find that the 29 September and 19 October 1993 reports were sent to or received by 

him or that there was evidence that he was informed about the conditions.7775 Second, Petkovic 

argues that since neither he nor any other member of the Main Staff had authority over Gabela 

Prison his continued exercise of his functions could not reasonably be regarded as any contribution 

to the commission of crimes therein.7776 Thus, he argues that there is no evidence that he 

contributed to the commission of these crimes.7777 Petkovic requests that the Appeals Chamber 

reverse his convictions and acquit him of these crimes.7778 

2297. The Prosecution responds that Petko viC' s piecemeal approach in arguing that he did not 

know of particular crimes is legally and factually flawed and ignores the unified system of detention 

centres staffed by his subordinates and his awareness of crimes committed in this network.7779 It 

submits that Petkovic shows no error in light of the fact that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber 

to ?onclude that he: (1) knew of extremely poor conditions in Gabela Prison by at least September 

1993 when the conditions became public knowledge; and (2) received, as Deputy Commander, the 

29 September and 19 October 1993 reports since they were sent to the Main Staff.778o Lastly, the 

7769 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 780, 782. 
7770 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 781-782. 
7771 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 782. 
7772 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 300. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
7773 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 298. 
7774 Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, para. 297. 
7775 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 296. 
7776 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 299. See PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 78. 
7777 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 295. 
7778 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 300. 
7779 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 230-231. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
paras 232-233. It argues that, regardless of whether Petkovic learned of a particular criminal incident, he was criminally 
responsible for the crimes he intended in furtherance of the CCP that could be attributed to him or another JCE member. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 231. 
7780 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 236, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 778, 781-
782. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 235. . 

963 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22932



Prosecution contends that Petkovic takes an artificially narrow view of the evidence and improperly 

minimises his role in the detention network by wrongly claiming that he lacked authority over it and 

could not address crimes committed therein.7781 

2298. In his reply, Petkovic maintains that the Trial Chamber should have correctly established 

whether he was informed about poor conditions and had competence to interfere. 7782 

(ii) Analysis 

2299. The Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber did not establish 

when the poor conditions became public knowledge and failed to refer to evidence proving if and 

when he became aware of this fact. The Trial Chamber expressly found that the conditions of 

confinement became public knowledge in September 1993.7783 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Petko vic has failed to demonstrate ~hat the Trial Chamber was umeasonable in inferring 

on the basis of, inter alia, the fact that the conditions became public knowledge, that Petkovic was 

made aware of those conditions. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes the Trial Chamber's 

consideration of Praljak's statement that the international broadcast of footage taken in Gabela 

Prison caused a scandal and led to international representatives requesting access to detention 

centres, as well as the intervention of Franjo Tudman.7784 PetkoviC's argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

2300. When submitting that the Trial Chamber did not "assert" that the 29 September and 

19 October 1993 reports were sent to or received by him or that there was evidence that he was 

informed about the conditions, Petkovic contends that the "inference" that he was aware of the 

conditions is based on the incorrect assumption that, as Deputy Commander, he was informed about 

all reports sent to the Main Staff.7785 The Appeals Chamber observes that, as noted by the Trial 

Chamber, the reports were addressed to the Main Staff and Zarko Tole, Chief of Staff of the Main 

Staff, respectively.7786 The Appeals Chamber considers that there is no indication in the Trial 

Judgement that the flow of information was interrupted, thus preventing PetkoviC's receipt of the 

7781 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 237. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 536-537 (23 March 2017). 
7782 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 76-77, 79. Specifically, he submits that, contrary to the Prosecution's position that 
regardless of whether he learned of a particular incident, he was criminally responsible for the crimes that could be 
attributed to him or another JCE member, the Trial Chamber found that the requisite element for JCE I is the intent to 
commit a specific crime, an intent that must be shared by all co-participants; he argues that it correctly considered that 
personal knowledge of the system of ill-treatment is a relevant JCE mens rea element. PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 76, 
referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 231, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 214-215. 
7783 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 781-782. . 
7784 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 781-782. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 562-563 and evidence cited therein 
(noting that events elicited a response from the UN Security Council and the General Assembly), Vol. 4, paras 607, 
609. 
7785 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 296. 
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reports.7787 In any event, as noted above, in support of its conclusion that Petkovic was informed of 

the poor conditions of confinement in Gabela Prison, the Trial Chamber also relied on the fact that 

such conditions became public knowledge in September 1993.7788 Against this background, 

Petkovic does not show that his allegation of error concerning the Trial Chamber's reliance on these 

reports could impact the impugned finding.7789 

2301. Further, Petko vic misrepresents the Trial Judgement when alleging that the Trial Chamber 

did not "assert" that there was evidence that he was informed about the conditions. The Trial 

Chamber expressly relied on the fact that the conditions became public knowledge as of at least 

September 1993, the issuance of the above-mentioned reports, and his awareness that the HVO had 

detained Muslims under poor conditions in Jablanica in April 1993.7790 He fails to show that no 

reasonable trier of fact, in light of the evidence, could have reached the conclusion that he was 

aware of the extremely poor conditions in Gabela Prison. His argument is dismissed?791 

2302. Concerning PetkoviC's submission that since neither he nor any other member of the Main 

Staff had authority over Gabela Prison, his continued exercise of his functions could not reasonably 

be regarded as any contribution to the commission of crimes therein, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Petko vic ignores a number of findings. The Trial Chamber found that Gabela Prison 

was effectively a military prison7792 and that several HVO units, as well as the Military Police, were 

involved in its operation.7793 Thus, it found that the harsh conditions were imposed by the HVO.7794 

The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamb~r found that these units were integrated into 

the Main Staff and its chain of command and that Petkovic had command and control authority and 

7786 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 778 & fn. 1487 (referring to Exs. P05485, P05948), 782. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 
1, rara. 717. 
778 See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 735-737, 742. 
7788 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 781-782. 
7789 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 717 (considering evidence explaining that at the head of the Main Staff, 
"'Slobodan Praljak: was number 1, Milivoj Petkovic number 2 and Zarko Tole number 3'''), 727, Vol. 4, para. 652 
(finding that Petkovic held the post of Deputy Commander of the Main Staff from 24 July until 8 November 1993). 
7790 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 782. 
7791 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses as moot PetkoviC's submission in reply that, contrary to the 
Prosecution's position that regardless of whether he learned of particular incidents, he was criminally responsible for 
the crimes that could be attributed to him or another JCE member, the Trial Chamber found that the requisite element 
for JCE I is the intent to commit a specific crime and it correctly considered that personal knowledge of the system of 
ill-treatment is a relevant JCE mens rea element. 
7792 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 397. See supra, para. 1744. 
7793 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 167, 173-175 (finding that HVO units, particularly the Domobrani unit and possibly 
the "Klis Battalion", guarded the prison), 184, 192. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 168-171, 180, 189-190, 
1097, 1149, 1201. 
7794 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1097-1098, 1149-1150, 1201-1202. 
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effective control over them.7795 As Petkovic shows no error in these findings or the Trial Chamber's 

reliance on the continued exercise of his functions,7796 his argument is dismissed. 

2303. In light of the foregoing, his sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.7.1 is dismissed. 

(g) Dretelj Prison (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.7.2) 

2304. The Trial Chamber determined that Petkovic was aware of the harsh conditions of detention 

at Dretelj Prison at least as of January 1994.7797 In addition, the Trial Chamber found that by 

continuing to exercise his functions as the "[DJeputy [C]hief' of the Main Staff and by failing to 

take measures against the perpetrators of crimes, Petkovic accepted the mistreatment of prisoners 

and the harsh conditions of detention.7798 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2305. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber elTed when it held him responsible for the crimes 

stemming from the conditions of confinement and mistreatment of prisoners at Dretelj Prison 

during the summer of 1993.7799 In particular, he argues that no rea~onable trier of fact could have 

found that he contributed to the commission of these crimes on the basis that he was informed about 

them in January 1994, six months after they occulTed and three months after the prison was 

closed.78oo 

2306. In response, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that 

Petkovic contributed to detention-related crimes throughout the HVO network of detention centres 

in furtherance of the JCE.780l The Prosecution also contends that, as a matter of law, and regardless 

of his knowledge of specific crimes, Petkovic remains criminally accountable for the crimes he 

intended in furtherance of the JCE and that can be attributed to him or to any JCE member.7802 

The Prosecution also argues that Petko viC' s express orders pertaining to forced labour suffice to 

7795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 842-843 (finding that the Domobrani units were integrated into the Main Staff), Vol. 
2, paras 2055-2056, Vol. 3, paras 173 (finding that the 1st Knez Domagoj Brigade was a unit within the HVO), 175 (that 
the "Klis Battalion" was part of the HVO), Vol. 4, paras 657, 661-662 (finding that Petkovic had authority over the 
Military Police), 663, 679. With respect to PetkoviC's authority over detention centres generally, see, e.g., Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1449 (rejecting PetkoviC's assertion that he did not have competence in the release of 
prisoners), 1473-1474, 1866, Vol. 4, paras 670-671 (noting that Petkovic issued orders pertaining to the treatment of 
prisoners), 791-793, 796, 801-802 (finding that Petkovic issued orders regarding the use of detainees for forced labour). 
See also supra, para. 2121. 
7796 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 782,815, 1225. 
7797 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 785. 
7798 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 783, 785. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 651-652. 
7799 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 303. 
7800 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 302, referring to TrialJudgement, Vol. 3, para. 137, Vol. 4, para. 785. 
7801 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 230, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 782-783, 785, 789, 
793, 796, 798, 801-802,980,982, 1209. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (~etkovic), paras 232~233. 
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prove Petko vic's intent. 7803 The Prosecution contends that by adopting a "piecemeal approach", 

Petkovic ignores the unified system of detention centres staffed by HVO subordinates under his 

authority.7804 The Prosecution submits that Petkovic contributed to detention-related crimes by 

using his authority as Chief or Deputy Commander of the HVO Main Staff and devoting HVO 

resources to further these crimes.780S 

2307. Petkovic replies that, contrary to the Prosecution's submission, the Trial Chamber was 

legally required to determine that the JCE members shared the intent "to commit a specific 

crime" . 7806 

(ii) Analysis 

2308. The Appeals Chamber finds that PetkoviC's challenges rest on the erroneous assumption 

that the Trial Chamber found that he directly contributed to the crimes related to the mistreatment 

of the detainees of Dretelj Prison. By contrast, a plain reading of the Trial Judgement shows that the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion regarding Dretelj Prison concerned only its detennination that Petkovic 

"accepted" the conditions to which the detainees were subjected.7807 Significantly, rather than 

finding that he contributed to the relevant crimes, the Trial Chamber relied on the ICRC protest 

letter dated 20 January 1994 sent to Marijan Biskic, Petkovic, Prlic and Vladislav Pogarcic about 

the mistreatment of detainees ("ICRC Letter"), PetkoviC's failure to take measures against the 

perpetrators, and the fact that he continued to exercise his functions as the Deputy Chief of the 

Main Staff only in order to conclude that he was aware of the harsh conditions of detention "as of at 

least January 1994" and that he accepted them.7808 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber understands 

the Trial Chamber's finding only to be illustrative of PetkoviC's mens rea with respect to the 

relevant crimes as well as the CCp.7809 In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses these 

arguments. 

2309. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's further contention that the Trial 

Chamber was legally required to determine that the JCE members shared the intent "to commit a 

7802 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 231, citing Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, paras 
109, 153. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 101. 
7803 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 231. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 234-
236 and references therein. 
7804 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 231. The Prosecution further submits that once aware of the crimes 
committed in one detention facility, Petkovic was on notice that similar crimes could be committed by the same forces 
elsewhere in the HVO network. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 231-233. 
7805 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petko vic) , para. 231. 
7806 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 76 (emphasis omitted). 
7807 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 783-785. 
7808 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 783-785. 
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specific crime".78l0 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a JCE member does not need to 

have knowledge or have intended the specific incidents as long as he shares the intent to commit the 

JCE I crimes.7811 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2310. In light of the foregoing, PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.7.2 is dismissed 

(h) The Heliodrom (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.7.3 in part) 

2311. The Trial Chamber concluded that "by having ordered and authorised the work of 

Heliodrom detainees on the front line, Milivoj Petkovic ordered and facilitated this crime".7812 In 

reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber observed that: (1) Petko vic knew that civilians were 

being held in detention at the Heliodrom as of May 1993;7813 (2) on 15 and 20 July 1993, he ordered 

all brigade commanders, the Bruno Busic Regiment, and the Ludvig Pavlovic PPN to use detainees 

to fortify the defence lines;7814 and (3) he authorised the use of detainees to perform labour on 

several occasions as of 14 October 1993.7815 

2312. The Trial Chamber also found that Petkovic' accepted the death and the injuries of the 

detainees used on the front line.7816 In this context, the Trial Chamber recalled that the detainees 

used 'to perform forced labour were regularly killed and injured, and that with the ICRC Letter, the 

ICRC informed inter alios Petkovic, on 20 January 1994, that several detainees were killed after 

being taken to' the front line while dressed in military uniforms and carrying fake wooden 

weapons.7817 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber conclud~d that by having ordered and facilitated the 

use of Heliodrom detainees on the front line "while being aware of at least one incident where the 

detainees had been used as human shields by HVO members,· Milivoj Petkovic must have been 

aware that many of them would certainly be killed or wounded while performing these 

activities".7818 

7809 These considerations are further supported by the fact that in its conclusion concerning PetkoviC's JCE I liability, 
the Trial Chamber does not make mention of PetkoviC' s involvement in the crimes which took place in Dretelj Prison. 
See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7810 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 76. 
7811 Cf Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 917; Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 474. 
7812 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 793. 
7813 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 789. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 787-788. 
7814 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 790. 
7815 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 791-792. 
7816 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 796. 
7817 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 794-795. 
7818 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 796. 
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(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2313. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing "to establish through a reasoned 

opinion that the elements of 'ordering' liability were met".7819 The Appeals Chamber understands 

Petko vic to further argue that he issued mere authorisations, rather than orders, while the detaining 

authorities had the power to decide when to use the detainees and to apply the measures to protect 

them in implementing such authorisations.782o In his view, the evidence on the record does not show 

that he ordered the commission of unlawfullabour.7821 He also submits that the Trial Chamber did 

not establish that, as a result of his orders, the detainees were used as forced labour in dangerous 

locations and that he was aware of that. 7822 In his view, the Trial Chamber failed to take into 

account that his orders were not carried out. 7823 He also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that the use of detainees for forced labour contributed to or was otherwise linked to the 

JCE, arguing that: (1) the evidence on the record does not show that this crime contributed to its 

implementation; and (2) the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion in this regard.7824 

2314. Further,'Petkovic avers that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he accepted the murders 

and the injuries of detainees used as forced labour.7825 In particular, the Appeals Chamber 

understands Petkovic to argue that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he authorised the HVO to 

use detainees as forced labour since this conclusion is based on evidence including a "report" which 

was not sent to him.7826 He also claims that the Trial Chamber unreasonably relied on the ICRC 

Letter, arguing that, as the letter pertained to the situation in August and September 1993, it "could 

not provide him retroactive knowledge of something he had not known" when the crimes were 

committed.7827 

2315. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's arguments are unsupported by the evidence, 

immaterial vis-a.-vis the Trial Chamber's conclusion, and based on a misrepresentation of the Trial 

7819 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 307. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 306, 308-309. See also PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 304, 315-316. Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him "for detention crimes 
committed by detention of 'people who were not members of any armed force"'. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 305, 
referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 174-213 (Petkovic's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.1). 
7820 Petko viC's Appeal Brief, para. 307. The Appeals Chamber also understands Petko vic to contend that he was not 
aware that the implementation of his orders involved the commission of crimes. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 307. 
7821 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 307. 
7822 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 308-309. Petkovic also raises unclear challenges that the Trial Chamber erred in 
concluding that his orders were unlawful and that he was not convicted for issuing unlawful orders but for issuing 
orders that resulted in unlawful forced labour. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 308. 
7823 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 308, referring to Exs. P03474, P03592, PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 369-370. 
7824 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 310. 
7825 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 311-315. 
7826 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 313, referring to Ex. P06133. 
7827 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 314 (emphasis in original), referring to Ex. P07636. Petkovic also highlights that the 
letter was received by the HVO authorities on 9 February 1994. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 314. 
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Judgement.7828 It also argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that by ordering and 

facilitating the use of detainees for forced labour he contributed to the JCE?829 

(ii) Analysis 

2316. The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed 

to provide a reasoned opinion with respect to "the elements of 'ordering' liability", as the Appeals 

Chamber recalls that PetkoviC's convictions were based on his contribution to the JCE, rather than 

through ordering under Article 7(1) of the Statute.7830 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses 

this contention. Moreover, PetkoviC's argument that he issued mere authorisations, rather than 

orders, while the detaining authorities were to have the responsibility to decide when and how to 

use the detainees, repeats arguments already raised at trial and shows mere disagreement with 

respect to the Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence, thus failing to articulate any error in this 

regard.7831 

2317. Likewise, in arguing that the Trial Chamber could not find that, as a result of his orders, the 

detainees were used for forced labour in dangerous locations and that he was aware of that, 

Petko vic fails to appreciate that the Trial Chamber relied on numerous pieces of evidence including 

his own orders to use prisoners and detainees to fortify the defence lines between July and October 

1993.7832 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses his argument that the Trial Chamber failed 

to consider that Petko viC' s orders were not carried out. 7833 . 

2318. As to his contention that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the use of detainees for 

forced labour contributed to the JCE, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in PetkoviC's blanket 

assertion that the evidence on the record does not show that this crime contributed to the 

implementation of the JCE. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 

concluded that the use of detainees on the front lines or as human shields was part of an "entire 

7828 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 242-247, 250-251. See also Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Petkovic), paras 237,240,248-249; Appeal Hearing, AT. 539-540 (23 Mar 2017). 
7829 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 247. 
7830 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. The Appeals Chamber also notes that in arguing that the Trial 
Chamber erred in convicting him "for detention crimes committed by detention of 'people who were not members of 
any armed force"', Petkovic refers to his submissions in his sub-ground of appeal 5.2.1, which the Appeals Chamber 
dismisses elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, para. 382. 
7831 PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 373-375. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic's unsupported claim that 
he was not aware that the implementation of these' orders led to crimes reflects a mere attempt to substitute an 
alternative conclusion for that of the Trial Chamber. 
7832 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 790-792. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PetkoviC's unclear and obscure 
challenges that: (1) the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that his orders were unlawful; and (2) he was not convicted 
for issuing unlawful orders but for issuing orders that resulted in unlawful forced labour. 
7833 The Appeals Chamber further notes that in support of his contention, Petkovic simply reiterates arguments already 
unsuccessfully raised at trial without showing that their rejection constituted an error warranting the intervention of the 
Appeals Chamber. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 308, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 369-370. 
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system for deporting the Muslim population of the HR H_B".7834 Accordingly, his argument related 

to the lack of reasoned opinion fails. 

2319. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that he accepted the murders and the injuries of detainees used for forced labour. In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in his claim that the Trial Chamber's conclusion is 

based on a "report" which was not sent to him, as Petkovic simply refers to evidence on the record 

without explaining how the Trial Chamber erred in reaching its conclusion.7835 

2320. With respect to Petkovic's arguments concerning the ICRC Letter dated 20 January 1994 

sent to, inter alios, Petkovic, about the mistreatment of detainees, the Appeals Chamber understands 

Petkovic to contend that the Trial Chamber erred in considering this evidence in determining his 

responsibility retroactively for crimes of which he was not aware at the time they were 

cOmlnitted?836 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's reliance on this 

exhibit appears to be limited to PetkoviC's convictions related to the death and the injuries of 

Heliodrom detainees who were used for forced labour.7837 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that, in its legal findings, the Trial Chamber recalled that the Heliodrom detainees working 

on the front line were killed between May 1993 and March 1994.7838 Accordingly, reading the Trial 

Judgement as a whole, the Appeals Chamber understands that in concluding that Petkovic 

"accepted" the murders and injuries of the Heliodrom detainees by, inter alia, being aware of one 

incident where they were used as human shields, the Trial Chamber was referring only to the death 

and injuries which occurred after receipt of the ICRC Letter, namely in February and March 1994, 

rather than to the specific incidents mentioned therein. Accordingly, PetkoviC's argument is 

dismissed. 

2321. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.7.3 in 

relevant part. 

(i) Vojno Detention Centre (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.7.4 in part) 

2322. The Trial Chamber found that, by the ICRC Letter of 20 January 1994 and another letter 

from the ICRC dated 24 January 1994 ("24 January 1994 Letter"), Petkovic was informed of 

7834 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 
7835 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 313, referring to Ex. P06133. 
7836 See Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, para. 314. 
7837 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820 (listing Counts 2, 3, 15, 16, and l7 in relation to the Heliodrom). See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 674, 676 (concerning Count 2), 724, 726 (concerning Count 3), 1259-1261 (concerning 
Count 15), 1354-1355 (concerning Count 16),1457-1458 (concerning Count 17). 
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prisoners from "Mostar, Vojno, or Vrdi" being mistreated and forced to work on the front line, and 

being wounded or killed by shelling or rifle fire while working on the front line?839 On this basis, 

the Trial Chamber found that in January 1994, Petkovic was aware that detainees from the Vojno 

Detention Centre were being forced to work on the front line, where some were injured or even 

killed, and held that, as he continued to exercise his functions and failed to take measures to stop 

these crimes, Petkovic accepted the unlawful use of detainees on the front line as well as the death 

d ··· l' h f 7840 an mJunes resu tmg t ere rom. 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2323. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in holding that he contributed to the crimes 

committed in the Vojno Detention Centre.7841 Petkovic argues that, in light of the Trial Chamber's 

finding that the Vojno Detention Centre was "not in operation after January 1994",7842 it was 

unreasonable to hold him responsible for failing to take measures to stop the crimes committed 

there, when the Trial Chamber also found that he was only informed of such crimes by the ICRC 

Letter, which he argues he received in February 1994.7843 Petkovic further submits that the Trial 

Chamber failed to give a reasoned opinion as to why it found him, as Deputy Commander of the 

Main Staff, competent and responsible to take such measures.7844 

2324. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Petkovic knew 

about the conditions at the Vojno Detention Centre before January 1994, even if the ICRC only 

formally informed him then?845 The Prosecution argues that PetkoviC's knowledge of crimes 

committed in other HVO detention facilities, as well as his personal observation of the appalling 

detention conditions at the SoviCi School, put him on notice vis-a.-vis crimes perpetrated at the 

Vojno Detention Centre.7846 Further, the Prosecution contends that HVO detention facilities were 

7838 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 674, 676, 724, 726, 1515. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1259-1260, 
1354-1355. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's finding that the Heliodrom 
detainees were killed in May 1993. See supra, para. 876. 
7839 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 797, referring to Exs. P07636, p. 1, P07660, p. 1. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
~ara. 1685. 

840 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 798. 
7841 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 322. 
7842 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 319, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1669. 
7843 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 319 & fn. 431. 
7844 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 320. Petkovic also contends that the Trial Chamber failed to make reasoned findings 
regarding the elements of omission liability. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 320. 
7845 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 236, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 797-798. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 230, 233, 241; Appeal Hearing, AT. 539-540 (23 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution further contends that as early as June 1993, Petkovic was informed about detention-related crimes as he 
regularly received letters from the ICRC describing various detention-related crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Petkovic), para. 233, referring to Exs. P02950, P05308, P05967. 
7846 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 232-234 and references cited therein. 
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run by HVO units subordinated to Petkovic and that his detainee-related orders demonstrate his 

authority over them.7847 

(ii) Analysis 

2325. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber analysed PetkoviC's involvement with 

detention-related crimes in each location separately.7848 With respect to PetkoviC's submission that, 

as Deputy Commander of the Main Staff, he lacked authority over detention centres and thus could 

not reasonably be considered as having contributed to the commission of crimes in Vojno Detention 

Centre in particular, Petkovic disregards numerous findings of the Trial Chamber. The Trial 

Chamber found that Vojno Detention Centre fell under the authority of the 2nd HVO Brigade?849 It 

also determined that the 2nd HVO Brigade was integrated into the chain of command emanating 

from the Main Staff, over which Petkovic had command and control authority and effective 

contro1.7850 Petkovic's contention is therefore dismissed. 

2326. With regard to PetkoviC's claim that it was unreasonable to hold him responsible for failing 

to take measures to stop the crimes in Vojno Detention Centre when the Trial Chamber also found 

that he was only informed of such crimes by the ICRC Letter dated 20 January 1994 regarding the 

mistreatment of detainees, the Appeals Chamber considers PetkoviC's contention that he only 

received such letter in February 1994 to be a mere assertion unsupported by any evidence. Further, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that in reaching the conclusion that Petkovic became aware "in January 

1994" of detainees being used to do work on the front line, the Trial Chamber also took into 

consideration PetkoviC's receipt of the 24 January 1994 Letter.7851 Moreover, the Trial Chamber 

found that the crimes committed at Vojno Detention Centre "continued until the end of January 

7847 Prosecution's Response Brief (PetkoviC), paras 234, 237, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 
1677-1686, Vol. 4, paras 661-662, 670-671, 679. The Prosecution avers that, given PetkoviC's powers and authority as 
Deputy Commander, it was his duty under international humanitarian law to prevent and punish perpetrators of crimes 
in HVO detention centres. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 238. According to the Prosecution, the Trial 
Chamber made relevant findings relating to Petko viC' s ability to act, failure to take measures, and nexus between his 
omissions and the commission of crimes. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 238. See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 232. 
7848 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 778-802. 
7849 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1682. 
7850 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 779 (Main Staff had command over HVO OZs which in turn commanded the 
brigades), 783 (20d Brigade was part of the South-East OZ), Vol. 4, paras 657, 663, 679. With respect to PetkoviC's 
authority over detention centres generally, see supra, fn. 7795. Further, in analysing and utlimately concluding that he 
had command authority and effective control over the HVO, the Trial Chamber expressly considered an authorisation 
issued by Petkovic directly to the 20d HVO Brigade. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 672,679. 
7851 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 797-798. 
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1994".7852 Petkovic thus fails to show how no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he 

was informed of the crimes committed at Vojno Detention Centre in January 1994.7853 

2327. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of 

appeal 5.2.2.7.4 in part. 

CD Ljubuski Prison and Vitina-Otok Camp (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.2.7.5) 

2328. The Trial Chamber found that on 8 August 1993, Petkovic ordered the HVO commanders of 

Posusje, Siroki Brijeg, and Grude brigades to obtain permission from the Military Police 

Administration to fortify the front line at Ljubu~ki by using "Muslim prisoners and detainees".7854 

The Trial Chamber further found that on the same day, the commander of the Posusje Brigade 

asked Coric to provide him with 100 Muslim detainees explicitly referring to PetkoviC's order and 

th~t on 10 or 11 August 1993, 100 detainees from the Vitina-Otok Camp were relocated to a school 

in Posusje Municipality, where they fell under the responsibility of the Military Police platoon of 

the Posusje Brigade.7855 The Trial Chamber therefore concluded that, on 8 August 1993, Petkovic 

ordered the use of Muslim detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp to perform forced labour on the front 

line and that COlic executed that order.7856 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2329. Petkovic first argues that the HVO differentiated between "prisoners" and "detainees"; he 

seems to assert that the former term referred to POW s, who were to be kept at the rear, while the 

latter term denoted detained HVO soldiers, who could be sent to work both on the front line and at 

the rear.7857 Petkovic contends that although his 8 August 1993 order related to both "prisoners" and 

"detainees", the commanders in charge of implementing his orders knew, or were supposed to 

know, the distinction between the two categories of persons and the rules attached to it.7858 Petko vic 

7852 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 238. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1757 (finding that "detainees from the 
Heliodrom and from Vojno [ ... J were killed between 2 September 1993 and 31 January 1994 while working in the 
Vojno area".), Vol. 4, para. 237. 
7853 As to PetkoviC's contention concerning the Trial Chamber's alleged failure to outline the elements of omission 
liability, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it is necessary for an appellant claiming an error of law on the basis of the 
lack of a reasoned opinion to identify the specific issues, factual findings, or arguments that the appellant submits the 
trial chamber omitted to address and to explain why this omission invalidates the decision. See supra, para. 19. In this 
regard, besides claiming that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion concerning the elements for 
omission under JCE doctrine, Petkovic fails to explain how this alleged error would impact his conviction under JCE I 
liability. 
7854 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 800, referring to Ex. P04020. 
7855 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1860, 1866, Vol. 4, para. 800. 
7856 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 801-802. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 908 (referring to Ex. P04030, p. 1) 
(finding that PetkoviC's 8 August 1993 order was put into effect), 977. . 
7857 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 324, referring to, inter alia, to PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 373. Petkovic also 
submits that this differentiation is reflected in other HVO documents. PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 79. 
7858 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 324. 
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submits that the Trial Chamber unreasonably held him responsible for contributing to the crimes of 

unlawful labour and persecution of prisoners at Vitina-Otok Camp as there is no evidence that 

prisoners were taken and forced to work on the front line as a result of his 8 August 1993 order. 7859 
, 

2330. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's finding was reasonable, as Petkovic 

repeatedly ordered and authorised forced labour. 7860 The Prosecution also underlines that Petko viC' s 

claim pertaining to the differentiation between "prisoners" and "detainees" is contradicted by the 

text of the order itself, which refers to both without distinction.7861 Moreover, the Prosecution 

contends that by claiming that his order required only detained HVO soldiers to be used on the front 

line and did not result in prisoners being forced to work there, Petko vic only repeats arguments 

made at trial without showing an error.7862 Lastly, the Prosecution argues that by speculating that 

his subordinates should have known the difference as to which type of forced labour "prisoners" or 

"detainees" could perform, Petkovic only attempts to rationalise the language of his 8 August 1993 

order post hoc.7863 Here too, the Prosecution contends that Petkovic merely repeats an argument 

made at trial, without showing any error by the Trial Chamber.1864 

(ii) Analysis 

2331. With regard to PetkoviC's contention that the HVO differentiated between Muslim 

"prisoners" of war and "detainees" who were HVO soldiers, the Appeals Chamber has already 

highlighted the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the HVO did not carry out an individualised risk 

assessment as required by law and found that Petkovic has not shown that conclusion to be 

erroneous.7865 His argument in this regard therefore fails. 

2332. With respect to PetkoviC's submission that his 8 August 1993 order related to both 

"prisoners" and "detainees" and that the recipient commanders knew or should have known the 

distinction between the treatment afforded regarding the two categories of persons, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that Petkovic merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the 

evidence without showing any error in this regard. This warrants dismissal. 

7859 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 325-326. 
7860 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 239, 252, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
gara. 1866. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 234; Appeal Hearing, AT. 539-540 (23 Mar 2017). 

861 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 254, referring to Ex. P04020, p. 1. The Prosecution also indicates 
that the Trial Chamber specifically found that the HVO failed to properly classify prisoners and detainees with regard to 
their status. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 254, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1509, Vol. 4, 
gara. 1134. 

862 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 253 & fn. 1047, 254 & fn. 1051. 
7863 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 254. 
7864 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 254 & fn. 1051. 
7865 See supra, paras 379, 382. 
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2333. Turning to PetkoviC's argument that there is no evidence that his order was actually carried 

out, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber expressly addressed this question and found 

that contrary to Petkovic's argument, his order of 8 August 1993 on the use of Muslim detainees to 

fortify the front line was in effect executed by Coric and concerned forced labour.7866 In that sense, 

the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic merely repeats unsuccessful arguments made at trial, 

without demonstrating that their rejection by the Trial Chamber constituted an error warranting the 

intervention of the Appeals Chamber. 7867 

2334. The Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to demonstrate any error in the Trial 

Chamber's conclusion and therefore dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground 5.2.2.7.5 of appeal. 

(k) Conclusion 

2335. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to 

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's conclusions concerning his responsibility with regard 

to the crimes committed by the HVO in the municipalities of Prozor, Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, and 

Mostar, as well as in Gabela and Dretelj Prisons, the Heliodrom, Vojno Detention Centre, Ljubuski 

Prison, and Vitina-Otok Camp. The Appeals Chamber grants PetkoviC's arguments concerning 

Vares Municipality and will assess the impact of the relevant errors, if any, in the appropriate 

section below.7868 

4. Alleged errors concerning PetkoviC's responsibility for crimes committed by the KB, its ATGs, 

and the Bruno Busic Regiment 

2336. The Trial Chamber found that, despite having been informed of the crimes committed by 

the KB, its ATGs, and the Bruno Busic Regiment, Petkovic kept deploying these units on the 

battlefield where they continued to commit crimes.7869 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber found that 

by continuing to use these units, Petkovic failed to punish or prevent the crimes committed by them 

and was therefore responsible for those crimes.7870 Further, the Trial Chamber held that by 

continuing to deploy these units to the battlefield, or, at least, by failing to take any measures to 

prevent the commission of new crimes, he encouraged the commission of subsequent crimes.7871 

7866 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 801, referring to PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 503-504, Petkovic Closing Arguments, 
. T(F). 52614-52615 (22 Feb 2011). 

7867 Compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 325 with PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 504. 
7868 See infra, paras 2468, 3363. 
7869 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 804-813. 
7870 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 808,813. 
7871 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
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2337. Petko vic raises challenges concerning the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his 

responsibility for the crimes of these units.7872 

(a) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's failure to punish or prevent the crimes of the KB and its 

ATGs CPetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.3.1 in part) 

2338. The Trial Chamber found that, despite having been informed of the crimes committed by 

the KB and its ATGs since April 1993, Petkovic kept deploying these units "on the battlefield 

where HVO military operations were taking place and that these units once again committed 

numerous crimes".7873 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber found that "by continuing to use these units, 

Milivoj Petkovic failed to punish or prevent the crimes committed against the Muslims".7874 

2339. In support ofits conclusion, the Trial Chamber observed that, after the crimes committed by 

the Vinko Skrobo and Benko Penavic ATGs in the Jablanica Municipality in April 1993, Petkovic 

discussed with Boban the possibility of taking measures against their commanders, Mladen 

Naletilic and Ivan Andabak.7875 In this context, the Trial Chamber found that not only was no 

measure taken against the members of these units, but rather, they took part in numerous military 

operations during which "many crimes were committed".7876 Specifically, the Trial Chamber noted 

that, after April 1993, members of the KB and its ATGs committed a number of crimes, specifically 

in West Mostar, where they: (1) physically abused Muslims in September 1993; (2) participated in 

operations to arrest Muslims in June 1993; and (3) removed Muslims from their homes between 

June 1993 and February 1994, while raping and mistreating them.7877 The Trial Chamber further 

observed that members of the KB and its ATGs also physically abused detainees at the Heliodrom 

while they carried out forced labour.7878 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2340. Petko vic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was responsible for the 

crimes committed by the members of the KB and its ATGs, unreasonably concluding that: (1) he 

was aware of the crimes committed by these units since January 1993; and (2) he contributed to 

their crimes by continuing to deploy them in military actions.7879 

7872 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 327-331, 333-351. 
7873 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 808. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
7874 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 808. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
7875 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 806. 
7876 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 806. 
7877 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 807. 
7878 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 807. 
7879 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 331,333-338. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 327, 329-330,351. 
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2341. As to his awareness of the crimes, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber made 

contradictory findings concerning the date that he was informed of the crimes committed by these 

units.788o He highlights that in some portions of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found that 

he received this information in April 1993,7881 while elsewhere, it found that he was already aware 

of the crimes on January 1993, albeit without referring to any evidence.7882 

2342. Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion when 

concluding that he continued deploying the KB and its ATGs on the battlefield as it failed to 

mention the specific instances when he actually did SO.7883 Petkovic further takes issue with the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the KB and its ATGs committed crimes during the evictions of the 

Muslim popUlation from West Mostar between June 1993 and February 1994 as well as at the 

Heliodrom.7884 In this regard, he argues that: (1) these crimes were not committed during military 

operations on the battlefield; and (2) no evidence supports the conclusion that he was informed 

about the criminal conduct of the members of the KB and its ATGs or that he contributed to it,7885 

2343. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Petkovic 

contributed to the crimes committed by the KB and its ATGs, as well as to the JCE, and that his 

arguments should be dismissed.7886 With respect to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber 

entered contradictory findings concerning the date he was informed about the crimes of the KB and 

its ATGs, the Prosecution avers that the Trial Chamber's single "mistaken reference" that he was 

informed in January rather than April 1993 does not amount to a miscarriage of justice.7887 

Similarly, the Prosecution submits that Petkovic fails to show the relevance of his argument that the 

crimes committed in West Mostar or at the Heliodrom by the KB and its ATGs did not take place 

on the battlefield.7888 

7880 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 334-335. Petkovic also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that all 
ATGs had disciplinary problems. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 333. In support of this contention, he stresses that the 
Trial Chamber established that out of ten ATG Units, only three of them were reported to have committed crimes 
namely, the Benko Penavic, Vinko Skrobo, and Baja Kraljevic units. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 333, referring to 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 818-819, Exs. P07009, P01531. 
7881 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 334, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 808. 
7882 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 334, n~ferring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 804. 
7883 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 336,338. 
7884 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 337. 
7885 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 337. Petkovic also argues that, since the Trial Chamber's analysis addressed only the 
crimes of the KB, its ATGs, and the Bruno Busic Regiment, "the Trial Chamber failed to give a reasoned opinion about 
PetkoviC's alleged culpable acts and/or omissions regarding crimes committed by other HVO units". PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 328. 
7886 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 127-131. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 545-546 (23 Mar 2017). 
7887 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 131. As to Petkovic's argument that the Trial Chamber erroneously 
concluded that all the ATGs had serious disciplinary problems, the Prosecution avers that Petkovic fails to identify the 
impugned finding and show how this allegation of error impacts the verdict. See Prosecution's Response Brief 
(Petkovic), para. 131. 
7888 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 131. 
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2344. Petkovic replies that the Prosecution fails to point to any evidence showing that he ordered 

the deployment of the KB and its ATGs or reflecting that he was "using" these units?889 

(ii) Analysis 

2345. With respect to Petkovic's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was 

aware of the crimes committed by the KB and its ATGs since January 1993, the Appeals Chamber 

observes that the Trial Chamber consistently found that Petkovic knew about the crimes of these 

units since April 1993.7890 Moreover, a review of this specific section of the Trial Judgement shows 

that the Trial Chamber expressly framed PetkoviC's responsibility in terms of the crimes committed 

by the KB and its ATGs after April 1993, namely between June 1993 and February 1994 in West 

Mostar and at the Heliodrom.7891 In this context, the Appeals Chamber finds that the fact that, in 

one singular instance,7892 the Trial Chamber stated that Petkovic was aware of the crimes committed 

by the KB and its ATGs in January 1993, rather than April 1993,to be a minorinconsistency which 

has no impact on his conviction.7893 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2346. As to PetkoviC's claim that the Trial Chamber did not provide a reasoned opinion when 

concluding that he continued deploying the KB and its A TGs, 7894 the Appeals Chamber notes that, 

indeed, the Trial Chamber did not explicitly refer to the specific instances when he actually 

deployed these units. However, in other portions of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber 

considered numerous examples of Petkovic having deployed the KB and its ATGs to Mostar.7895 

Specifically, it referred to PetkoviC's 2 July 1993 order to the Mostar ATG, consisting of members 

of the KB, deploying and re-subordinating it to the South-East OZ.7896 The Trial Chamber also 

relied on a number of pieces of evidence showing that the KB and its ATGs remained deployed in 

the field and, specifically, in Mostar?897 This evidence reflects PetkoviC's continued use of these 

7889 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 32. Petkovic also submits that the fact that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he 
was aware of the crimes committed by the KB and its ATGs is relevant as it formed the basis for the Trial Chamber's 
conclusion that he contributed to their crimes. Petkovic's Reply Brief, para. 33, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
~ara. 804. 

890 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 714,718-719,806,808. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 829. 
7891 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 807. 
7892 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 804. 
7893 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PetkoviC's undeveloped arguments that the Trial Chamber erroneously 
concluded that all the ATGs had serious disciplinary problems. Specifically, Petkovic fails to show how the fact that 
only three of these units were reported to have committed crimes could impact the Trial Chamber's conclusion in 
relation to his conviction. 
7894 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 336, 338. 
7895 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 828 & fn. 1948, Vol. 4, para. 667 & fn. 1271. 
7896 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 828 & fn. 1948 (referring to Ex. P03128), Vol. 4, para. 667 & fn. 1271 (referring to 
Ex. P03128). In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that the KB and its ATGs 
were under the direct command of the Chief of Main Staff and that, once deployed in the field, they were re­
subordinated to the commander of the OZ where they were deployed. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 814. 
7897 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 828, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03466, p. 2, P03260, P04401 (confidential), p. 4, 
P04498. 
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unitS.7898 Accordingly, although it would have been preferable for the Trial Chamber to include 

specific express references in this section, reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that Petkovic does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a 

reasoned opinion in this regard. 

2347. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's assertion that the crimes resulting from the 

arrests, evictions, and mistreatment of Muslims in West Mostar as well as the forced labour of the 

Heliodrom detainees were not committed during a "military operation on the battlefield".7899 In this 

regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, in arriving at the impugned finding, the Trial Chamber: 

(1) first considered that the KB and its ATGs took pari in numerous HVO military operations 

during which many crimes were committed;7900 (2) then noted its findings that these units 

committed crimes "even after April 1993" and these crimes resulted from the mistreatment, arrests, 

and evictions of Muslims in West Mostar between June 1993 and February 1994 as well as the 

forced labour of the Heliodrom detainees;7901 and (3) concluded that Petkovic continued deploying 

the KB and its ATGs "on the battlefield where HVO military operations were taking place and that 

these units once again commited numerous crimes".7902 Notably, the Trial Chamber also made 

findings elsewhere that the Heliodrom detainees were used to perfOlID forced labour on the front 

lines.7903 Thus, the Appeals Chamber concludes that the Trial Chamber considered that the relevant 

crimes were committed during military operations.7904 On this issue, Petkovic does not substantiate 

his assertion that these crimes were not committed during military operations as he presents no 

further argument nor cites any evidence.7905 Therefore, Petkovic fails to demonstrate an error by the 

Trial Chamber and his assertion is dismissed. 

2348. Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds that in arguing that no evidence supports the conclusion 

that he was informed about all the criminal conduct of the members of the KB and its ATGs in 

West Mostar or that he contributed to it, Petkovic misrepresents the Trial Judgement. In particular, 

in finding that, despite the information received, Petkovi~ used these units in the field, the Trial 

Chamber relied primarily on evidence demonstrating that Petkovic le.arned of the crimes committed 

by the members of the KB and its ATGs in Jablanica Municipality in April 1993.7906 In light of 

these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber was obliged to 

7898 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 782-785, 811-815, 853-862,911-919, 1243-1256, l335-l350; Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, paras 807-808. 
7899 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 337. See supra, para. 2342. 
7900 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 806. 
7901 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 807. 
7902 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 808. 
7903 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1596, 1598-1600, Vol. 4, paras 793,796. 
7904 See also supra, para. 1001 & fn. 3223. 
7905 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 336-338. 
7906 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 806, 808. 
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find that Petkovic was infonned of all crimes committed by the 'KB and its ATGs in order to find 

him liable for their crimes?907 Additionally, in generically claiming that no evidence on the record 

shows that he contributed to these crimes, Petkovic does not take into account that in support of its 

conclusion that he contributed to the criminal conduct of the KB and its ATGs, the Trial Chamber 

relied on his use of these units as well as his knowledge of the crimes they had committed.7908 

Therefore, the Appeals Chamber dismisses these arguments.7909 

2349. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show any 

error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning his responsibility for the crimes committed by 

the members of the KB and its ATGs and, thus, dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 5.2.3.1 in part. 

(b) Alleged errors regarding PetkoviC's deployment and use of the Bruno Busic Regiment 

CPetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.3.1 in part) 

2350. The Trial Chamber found that, although Petkovic had been receiving infonnation since 

January 1993 about the crimes committed by members of the Bruno Busic Regiment, he kept 

deploying these units in military operations where they continued to commit crimes and ordered 

them to commit crimes such as the use of detainees to fortify the defence lines.7910 Accordingly, the 

Trial Chamber found that "by continuing to use these units, while being aware of their criminal 

conduct and by personally ordering them, to use Muslim detainees on the front line, Milivoj 

Petko vic failed to punish or prevent the crimes committed against the Muslims by this 

regiment".7911 

2351. In support of its conclusion, the Trial Chamber relied on its previous findings related to the 

crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment: (1) in Gornji Vakuf 

Municipality;7912 (2) in Jablanica Municipality, including at the Fish Farm;7913 and (3) at the 

Heliodrom.7914 

7907 In any event, the Appeals Chamber observes that in another section of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber 
specifically found that, on 14 June 1993, Petkovic was informed that: (1) on the previous day, members of the HVO, 
including, Vinko Martinovic and members of Vinko Skrobo ATG, carried out operations evicting Muslims from West 
Mostar and that this amounted to "illegal ethnic cleansing"; (2) during these operations, Vinko Martinovic and members 
of Vinko Skrobo ATG raped several women and beat numerous people; and (3) there was information that civilians had 
been murdered. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 732, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P02749, P02770. 
7908 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 806-808. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
7909 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Petko viC' s contention that by addressing only the crimes of the KB, its ATGs, 
and the Bruno Busic Regiment, the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion on the crimes committed by 
other HVO units, as PetkoviC's responsibility for the latter crimes is amply addressed throughout the Trial Chamber's 
analysis of his contribution to the JCE. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691-802. 
7910 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 813. The Trial Chamber further observed that when deployed in the field, members 
of the Bruno Busic Regiment again committed crimes. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 813, 816. 
7911 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 813. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
7912 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 809. 
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2352. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding him responsible for the crimes 

committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment in these three locations.7915 The Appeals 

Chamber will deal with these contentions in tum. 

(i) Crimes committed by members of the Bruno Busic Regiment in Gomii Vakuf 

Municipality 

2353. The Trial Chamber recalled its previous findings that, in January 1993, after having 

personally ordered the Bruno Busic Regiment to deploy to Gornji Vakuf, Petkovic was informed 

that its members committed a number of crimes causing destruction as well as the arrest, detention, 

and murder of Muslims.7916 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2354. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the 6 January 1993 Order when 

concluding that he ordered the Bruno Busic Regiment to deploy to Gomji Vakuf in connection with 

the attack launched on 18 January 1993.7917 He also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to refer t9 

any evidence demonstrating that he knew about the criminal behaviour of the members of the Bruno 

Busic Regiment in Gornji Vakuf since January 1993.7918 

2355. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's arguments should be dismissed as he personally 

deployed this regiment and became aware of the crimes committed by its members.7919 Specifically, 

it highlights the Trial Chamber's finding that Petkovic deployed the Bruno Busic Regiment to 

Gornji Vakuf and was informed that its members committed crimes there. 7920 

b. Analysis 

2356. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning PetkoviC's 

responsibility in relation to the crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment is 

not based on his deployment of this regiment in Gornji Vakuf, but rather on the fact that, being 

7913 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 810, 812. This refers to the fish farm near Doljani in Jablanica Municipality ("Fish 
Farm"). 
7914 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 812. In this regard the Trial Chamber recalled that on 15 July 1993, Petkovic sent an 
order to all brigade commanders and to the Bruno Busic Regiment requesting, inter alia, to use prisoners and detainees 
to fortify the defence lines. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 811. 
7915 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 341-350. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 327, 329-330, 351. 
7916 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 809. 
7917 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 341(i). 
7918 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 341(ii)-344; Appeal Hearing, AT. 573 (23 Mar 2017). 
7919 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petko vic), paras 133-134. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 
177-178; Appeal Hearing, AT. 543-544 (23 Mar 2017). 
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aware of the crimes committed there as of January 1993, he continued to use this unit.7921 As such; 

in arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he deployed the Bruno Busic Regiment in 

Gornji Vakuf, Petkovic fails to show how this alleged error could disturb the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion concerning his responsibility in this regard. 

2357. As to PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was informed that 

the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment had committed crimes in Gornji Vakuf, the Appeals 

Chamber recalls its previous findings that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Petkovic 

knew that the Bruno Busic Regiment, specifically, committed crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality 

in January 1993.7922 

(ii) Crimes committed by members of the Bruno Busic Regiment in Jablanica 

Municipality 

2358. The Trial Chamber found that: 

[d]espite the information he had since January 1993 about their criminal conduct, Milivoj 
Petko vic again ordered the deployment of the Bruno Busic Regiment to the Municipality of 
Jablanica on 15 April 1993, following which Milivoj Petkovic was again informed about the 
destruction of Muslim houses in the villages of SoviCi and Doljani and the detention of Muslims 
on 23 Aprill993 by members of this regiment. 7923 

The Trial Chamber also noted that members of the Bruno Busic Regiment detained members of the 

ABiH, who were beaten by HVO soldiers including Mladen Naletilic on 20 April 1993, at the Fish 

Farm.7924 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2359. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding him responsible for ordering the 

deployment of the Bruno Busic Regiment in Jablanica Municipality based on the fact that he was 

aware of the crimes committed by that unit in January 1993.7925 He reiterates that the evidence on 

the record does not show that the Bruno Busic Regiment was involved in crimes in January 1993 or 

that he received any information in this respect.7926 Petko vic also argues that the Trial Chamber did 

not establish that the Bruno Busic Regiment was involved in any crime in SoviCi or Doljani.7927 

Similarly, he contends that the Trial Chamber did not find that the members of this unit were 

7920 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 134, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 741-742, Vol. 4, 
~aras 709, 809. 

921 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 809-813. 
7922 See supra, para. 2176. 
7923 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 810. 
7924 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 812. 
7925 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 345. 
7926 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 345. 
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involved in the mistreatment of the detainees at the Fish Farm or that he was informed about these 

crimes.7928 

2360. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's argument should be dismissed.7929 In particular, it. 

points to the Trial Chamber's findings and relevant evidence that: (1) in April 1993, Petkovic 

encouraged further crimes by personally deploying the Bruno Busic Regiment to Jablanica 

Municipality;:93o and (2) one week after the deployment, members of the Bruno Busic Regiment 

helped encircle a small group of ABiH detainees at the Fish Farm and did nothing as the detainees 

were severely beaten by HVO soldiers, including Naletilic.7931 The Prosecution also contends that 

the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Petkovic was responsible for the crimes committed at 

the Fish Farm and that it is immaterial whether or not he learned of these crimes.7932 

b. Analysis 

2361. With respect to PetkoviC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was 

responsible for the crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment in Jablanica 

Municipality, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that 

Petkovic knew that the specific unit had committed crimes in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 

1993.7933 Accordingly, to the extent the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic contributed to the 

crimes committed by the Bruno Busic Regiment in Jablanica Municipality based on the fact that he 

deployed this regiment there despite having been aware of the past criminal behaviour of its 

members, the Trial Chamber committed an error. The same principle applies to PetkoviC's 

contribution to the crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the Fish 

Farm on 20 April 1993, three days after the attack on SoviCi and Doljani in Jablanica 

Municipality.7934 The Appeals Chamber, thus, grants this argument, and declines to consider 

PetkoviC's remaining challenges. 

(iii) Crimes committed by members of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the Heliodrom 

7927 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 346. 
7928 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 346. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 573-574 (23 Mar 2017). 
7929 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 135, 138. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 
133; Appeal Hearing, AT. 543-544 (23 Mar 2017). 
7930 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 135, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 527, Vol. 4, para. 
712. 
7931 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 135, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 626, Vol. 3, paras 
1238, 1330, 1432, Vol. 4, para. 812, Ex. P09872 (confidential). 
7932 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 135,138. 
7933 See supra, para. 2176. . 
7934 With respect to the crimes committed at the Fish Farm, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 
found that in connection with the 17 April 1993 attack on SoviCi and Doljani HVO members were involved in a number 
of crimes. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 566-655. In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that members of the Bruno 
Busic Regiment detained ABiH soldiers, who were beaten by HVO soldiers on 20 April 1993, at the Fish Farm. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 616-627. 
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2362. The Trial Chamber found that members of the Bruno Busic Regiment administered beatings 

to detainees at the Heliodrom after January 1993.7935 It also found that on 15 July 1993, Petkovic 

sent an order to all the brigade commanders and the Bruno Busic Regiment requesting them to, 

inter alia, fortify the defence lines by using prisoners and detainees.7936 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2363. Petko vic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding him responsible for the crimes 

committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the Heliodrom, arguing that it "did not 

infer that [he] was informed about beatings and mistreatment of the detained persons at the 

Heliodrom".7937 Petkovic contends that the Trial Chamber failed to reasonably assess his order 

concerning the use of prisoners and detainees to fortify the defence lines.7938 In his view, such order 

reflects that detainees, i.e. detained members pf the HVO, were supposed to work on the defence 

line, while prisoners, namely the active reserve members of the ABiH, had to be employed in the 

rear. 7939 Moreover, Petko vic alleges that he had no reason to assume that this order would not be 

carried out "in a lawful manner", therefore, putting at risk the safety of the detainees and prisoners 

employed there.794o 

2364. The Prosecution responds that whether Petkovic was informed about the specific crimes 

committed at the Heliodrom by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment is irrelevant, as he 

encouraged these crimes by: (1) failing to take measures with respect to the crimes that the unit had 

previously committed; and (2) ordering and permitting the continued use of the Bruno Busic 

Regiment.7941 The Prosecution also contends that PetkoviC's arguments concerning the use of 

prisoners and detainees for forced labour should be dismissed arguing that: (1) he not only 

encouraged crimes, but affirmatively ordered them; 7942 and (2) these orders were illegal per se.7943 

b. Analysis 

2365. With respect to Petkovic's argument that the Trial Chamber "did not infer that [he] was 

informed about beatings and mistreatment of the detained persons at the Heliodrom", the Appeals 

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was responsible for continuing to 

7935 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 812. 
7936 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 811. 
7937 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 348. 
7938 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 349, referring to Ex. P03474. 
7939 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 349. 
7940 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 349. 
7941 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 138. 
7942 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 137, referring to Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 
241-247. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 133; Appeal Hearing, AT. 543-544 (23 Mar 2017). 
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deploy the Bruno Busic Regiment despite being aware of their past criminal behaviour.7944 

Accordingly, with respect to PetkoviC's awareness of the crimes, the question is not whether he was 

informed about the crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the 

Heliodrom, but if, at the time these crimes were committed, Petkovic was already acquainted with 

their past criminal behaviour. In this context, the Appeals Chamber recalls its finding that the Trial 

Chamber erred in holding Petkovic responsible for the crimes of the Bruno Busic Regiment based 

on the fact that he deployed this regiment to Jablanica despite having been aware of the past 

criminal behaviour of its members since January 1993.7945 However, the Appeals Chamber 

emphasises, the Trial Chamber's related finding that following his deployment of the Bruno Busic 

Regiment on 15 April 1993, "Petkovic was again informed about the destruction of Muslim houses 

in the villages of SoviCi and Doljani and the detention of Muslims on 23 April 1993 by members of 

this regiment",7946 meaning that Petkovic did, in fact, have knowledge of past criminal conduct of 

the Bruno Busic Regiment before the crimes were committed at the Heliodrom. For these reasons, 

PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber did not find that he was informed about the specific 

crimes that occurred at the Heliodrom does not show an error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning. 

2366. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's contention that the Trial Chamber 

erred in assessing his orders concerning the use of prisoners and detainees to fortify the defence 

lines. Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that, in arguing that these orders reflect 

Petko viC' s intention that detainees were supposed to work on the defence line, while prisoners had 

to be employed in the rear, Petkovic merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's interpretation of the 

evidence without showing any error in this regard. Accordingly, this contention is dismissed. 

(iv) Conclusion 

2367. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that Petkovic contributed to the commission of the crimes committed by the Bruno 

Busic Regiment in Jablanica Municipality, including at the Fish Farm, to the extent that it found 

that, having been aware of the criminal behaviour of its members since January 1993, he deployed 

this unit to Jablanica Municipality in April 1993. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber finds that 

Petkovic has failed to show an error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion with respect to his 

responsibility for the crimes committed by the members of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the 

Heliodrom. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber grants Petkovic's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.3.1 in 

7943 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 243, referred to in Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 
137. 
7944 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 812-813. 
7945 See supra, para. 2361. 
7946 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 810 (emphasis added). 
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part. The Appeals Chamber will consider the impact of this error, if any, in the appropriate section 

below. 

(c) Conclusion 

2368. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses those parts of PetkoviC' s sub­

ground of appeal 5.2.3.1 in part insofar as they concern his responsibility for the crimes of the KB 

and its ATGs, as well as the crimes of the Bruno Busic Regiment at the Heliodrom. The Appeals 

Chamber grants PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 5.2.3.1 in part concerning his responsibility for the 

Bruno Busic Regiment's crimes at the Fish Farm in Jablanica Municipality. It will consider the 

impact of this error, if any, in the appropriate section below?947 

5. General challenges regarding mens rea 

2369. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber: (1) improperly applied the mens rea standard for 

JCE I; (2) failed to consider his submissions concerning a mistake of law; and (3) failed to assess 

the mens rea requirements for certain crimes.7948 These challenges will be addressed below. 

(a) Alleged errors concerning the application of the lnens rea standard CPetkoviC's Sub­

ground 4.3.1) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2370. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in determining his mens rea by applying a 

"lower, legally erroneous and ultimately irrelevant standard". 7949 In support of this contention, he 

argues that, with respect to the crimes for which he was found responsible, the Trial Chamber relied 

on the notions of "acceptance",7950 "knowledge",7951 or "intention that a crime be committed",7952 

7947 See infra, paras 2468, 3363. 
7948 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 86-123, 128-133,137-139. 
7949 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 112. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 88. 
7950 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112 (emphasis omitted). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(i)(b), (iv)-(v), 
(vii)-(ix). Specifically, Petkovic refers to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning the crimes linked to: (1) the detention 
of men who did not belong to any armed force in Prozor (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(i)(b), referring to, inter 
alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 698); (2) the destruction of the Baba Besir Mosque (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
112(iv)(a), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 730); (3) the evictions of Muslim men in West Mostar in 
June 1993 (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(iv)(b), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 735); (4) the arrests of 
Muslim men in Vares Municipality (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(v), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
777); (5) the conditions of confinement at Gabela and Dretelj Prisons as well as the mistreatment at the latter 
(PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(vii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 782-783, 785); (6) the murders and 
injuries of detainees at the Heliodrom (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(viii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 796); and (7) the forced labour of detainees from Vojno Detention Centre and the resulting deaths and injuries 
(PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(ix), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 798). 
7951 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112 (emphasis omitted). Specifically, Petkovic refers to the Trial Chamber's findings 
concerning the crimes .committed in SoviCi and Doljani. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(iii)(a). Petkovic also 
seems to challenge the Trial Chamber's reference to the concept of "awareness". Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 112 
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which, in his view, are insufficient to show that he intended the relevant crimes.7953 Petkovic also 

claims that the Trial Chamber failed to find "through a reasoned opinion and beyond reasonable 

doubt" that he intended these crimes.7954 

2371. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly applied the legal standard of 

mens rea required for ICE I and reasonably relied on PetkoviC's "acceptance", "allowance", 

"knowledge" or "awareness of' crimes committed in specific locations in order to infer his "shared 

intent".7955 It further contends that "shared intent" may be inferred from knowledge of the crimes 

combined with continued participation in a ICE and that, in the present case, the Trial Chamber 

reasonably relied on these findings in concluding that Petkovic intended the commission of crimes 

in furtherance of the CCP.7956 Lastly, the Prosecution posits that the Trial Chamber did not find that 

PetkoviC's intent materialised after the commission of the crimes.7957 

(iv)(c),(x) referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750 (holding that Petkovic must have been aware of the situation 
of terror in Mostar). 
7952 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112 (emphasis omitted). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(i)-(ii), (iv)(d). 
Specifically, Petkovic refers to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning the crimes committed: (1) in Prozor 
Municipality (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(i), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 693, 695, 697-699); 
(2) in Gornji Vakuf (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(ii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 710); and (3) 
during the shelling of East Mostar (PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(iv)( d), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
750). 
7953 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 88, 112. Petkovicalso argues that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the notion of 
"allowance" in order to establish his mens rea for certain crimes. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112 (emphasis 
omitted). Moreover, Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber found that he ordered the arrest of "men who did not 
belong to any armed force", but failed to consider the "cognitive and volitional components of intent" with respect to 
the status of the persons who were to be arrested upon his orders. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(vi). 
7954 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 88. Petkovic further avers that the intent to commit JCE crimes must be shown to 
~recede the actual commission of the crimes. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 88. 

955 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 65, 69. See Prosecution's Response Brief, paras 66-67. See also 
Apleal Hearing, AT. 529-531 (23 Mar 2017). 
79 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 69, referring to Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 512-513, 
Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 697. 
7957 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 69. 
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(ii) Analysis 

2372. As to the mens rea standard for the first category of JCE, the Appeals Chamber recalls that 

the accused must share the intent to commit the crimes that form part of the common purpose and 

the intent to participate in a common plan aimed at their commission.7958 In this regard, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that when recalling the law applicable to the different forms of JCE, the Trial 

Chamber correctly articulated that standard, stating that "[a]s concerns JCE Form 1, the requisite 

element is the intent to commit a specific crime, an intent that must be shared by all co­

participants".7959 

2373. Turning to the Trial Chamber's application of that standard to the facts of the case, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that PetkoviC's allegation of error concerning its use of the expression 

"intention that a crime be committed" fails to show how it could be interpreted as a departure from 

the proper mens rea standard, which was correctly recalled by the Trial Chamber.796o Accordingly, 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

2374. As to the Trial Chamber's purported reliance on the notion of "acceptance", the Appeals 

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber indeed found that Petkovic "accepted" crimes committed 

by the HVO forces, namely in the context of: (1) the detention of men in Prozor Municipality; 

(2) the evictions in Mostar in June 1993; (3) crimes committed in Vares and Stupni Do; (4) the 

conditions of confinement at Dretelj Prison; (5) the conditions of confinement at Gabela Prison; 

(6) the murders and injuries of detainees at the Heliodrom; and (7) the forced labour by detainees 

from Vojno Detention Centre as well as the deaths and injuries resulting therefrom.7961 However, in 

its conclusions concerning PetkoviC's JCE I responsibility,7962 the Trial Chamber clearly recalled 

that Petkovic ordered, planned, facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes perpetrated by 

HVO members addressed in the preceding analysis and found that he "intended for these crimes to 

7958 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1369; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365; Kvocka et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 82. 
7959 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 214, referring to Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 101, Tadic Appeal Judgement, 
f,aras 196, 228. 

960 See supra, para. 2372. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that in light of the specific circumstances of 
the case, namely where Petkovic was found to have used the HVO to commit crimes within the scope of the JCE, the 
expression "intention that a crime be committed" effectively reflects the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Petkovic 
intended to commit a crime. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815, 818. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes 
that in the relevant portion of the original French version of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber stated that 
"Petkovic avait l'intention de faire C0l11171ettre ces crimes" which simply indicates that Petkovic intended the HVO to 
commit the relevant crimes. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 693,695,697,699,710,750. See also Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, paras 695 ("Petkovic avait I 'intention de faire detruire ces biens"), 699 ("Petkovic [ ... J avait I 'intention de faire 
cOl11mettre les destructions dans les villages de la l11unicipalite de Prozor"). 
7961 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 698, 1'35, 776-777, 782, 785, 789, 796,798. The Appeals Chamber also observes that 
Petkovi6 refers to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque. PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 112(iv)(a), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 730.However, the Appeals Chamber will address 
PetkoviC's submissions regarding Baba Besir Mosque below. See infra, paras 2443-2450. 
7962 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 814-821. 
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be committed".7963 Accordingly, reading the Trial Judgement as a whole, the Appeals Chamber is 

not convinced that the Trial Chamber applied a less stringent mens rea standard when evaluating 

PetkoviC's responsibility for the crimes committed in Prozor Municipality, Vares Municipality, and 

at Dretelj Prison, Gabela Prison, the Heliodrom, and Vojno Detention Centre.7964 

2375. Lastly, the" Appeals Chamber rejects Petkovic's contention that the Trial Chamber 

improperly relied on the notion of "knowledge" in determining his mens rea, as he misrepresents 

the Trial Judgement. Petkovic refers to the Trial Chamber's conclusions that the destructions and 

arrests carried out by the HVO during the 17 April 1993 attack in Jablanica Municipality were an 

integral part of a well-organised and orchestrated plan and that, insofar as he planned the attack and 

directed the military operations, Petkovic knew that these crimes were part of that attack.7965 

However, as the Appeals Chamber noted above,7966 the Trial Chamber further found that by 

planning and directing the military operations in Jablanica Municipality in April 1993 and 

continuing to exercise control over the HVO, while knowing that its members had committed and 

were committing crimes, Petkovic intended the crimes to be comrrtitted.7967 Based on this 

consideration, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show any error in the Trial 

Chamber's reasoning.7968 

2376. Finally, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's unsupported argument that the Trial 

Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion and to find beyond reasonable doubt that he intended 

the crimes he was held responsible for. 7969 By contrast, the Ttial Chamber expressly stated that 

Petkovic intended the crimes committed by members of the HVO, relying on his conttibution and 

the fact that he continued to exercise control over the HVO despite being aware of such crimes.7970 

7963 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 687-814. 
7964 The Appeals Chamber notes that although when inferring PetkoviC's intent for the crimes committed by HVO 
members, the Trial Chamber did not expressly refer to his contributions to the crimes in Gabela and Dretelj Prisons, its 
conclusion regarding his mens rea nevertheless pertained to such crimes, as it referred to "the crimes committed by the 
members of the HZ(R) H-B armed forces as described above". See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7965 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112(iii)(a). 
7966 See supra, para. 2374. 
7967 See supra, para. 2206. With respect to Petko vic's argument concerning the Trial Chamber's reference to the concept 
of "awareness", the Appeals Chamber observes that he refers to the Trial Chamber's mens rea findings concerning the 
shelling of East Mostar, where it held that Petkovic had to be aware of the situation of terror under which the Muslim 
population was living. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 112 (iv)(d), (x) referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
However, the Appeals Chamber considers that this finding, rather than showing a departure from the required legal 
standard, does not reflect the Trial Chamber's conclusion concerning PetkoviC's mens rea concerning the crime of 
terror. See infra, para. 2401. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 
7968 The Appeals Chamber also notes that in arguing that the Trial Chamber's reliance on the notion of "allowance" is 
inapposite, Petkovic fails to provide any reference to the Trial Judgement. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112. His 
argument is therefore dismissed. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's obscure assertion that the Trial 
Chamber found that he ordered the arrest of "men who did not belong to any armed force", but failed to consider the 
"cognitive and volitional components of intent" as he fails to articulate any error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning. See 
sugra, fn. 7953. 
799 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 88. 
7970 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
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Likewise, Petkovic does not provide any argument in SUppOlt of his assertion that the Trial' 

Chamber's conclusion is inconsistent with the beyond reasonable doubt standard.7971 Accordingly, 

these arguments fail. 

2377. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show 

that the Trial Chamber improperly applied the mens rea standard for JCE I or did not provide a 

reasoned opinion in this regard and dismisses his sub-ground of appeal 4.3.1. 

(b) Alleged errors concerning PetkoviC's alleged mistakes of law CPetkoviC's Sub-grounds 4.3.2.1 

and 4.3.2.3) 

2378. In concluding that Petkovic ordered the arrest of "men who did not belong to any armed 

force",7972 the Trial Chamber relied upon his 30 June 1993 Order to the South-East OZ that all 

Muslim HVO members and able-bodied Muslim men within the unit's area of responsibility should 

be "isolate[d]".7973 The Trial Chamber also found that Petko vic ordered and authorised the use of 

detainees from the Beliodrom and Vitina-Otok Camp to perform forced labour on the front line.7974 

The Trial Chamber relied on both of these findings when concluding that Petkovic intended the 

crimes committed by HVO members.7975 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2379. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on the 30 June 1993 Order and 

his forced labour orders when drawing an inference regarding his mens rea and convicting him for 

the crimes relating thereto, as it failed to consider whether he made a mistake of law with respect to 

the legality of these orders~7976 As to the 30 June 1993 Order, Petkovic asserts that the evidence on 

the record establishes that he considered it to be "legal and justified" because the HVO authorities 

did not consider either Muslim HVO members or military-aged Muslim men to be "men not 

belonging to any armed force".7977 Petkovic adds that he issued the 30 June 1993 Order pursuant to 

an order from Mate Boban and he had no reason to believe that he was acting unlawfully by 

7971 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PetkoviC's assertion that the intent to commit JCE crimes must be shown to 
~recede the actual commission of the crimes as he fails to articulate any error in the Trial Chamber's approach. 
972 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 738 (Mostar Municipality). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 757-758 (Stolac 

Municipality)", 759 (Capljina Municipality), 815. 
7973 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 737, referring to Ex. P03019. 
7974 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 793,802. 
7975 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
7976 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 114-123, 128-133. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 113. 
7977 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 116. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 518 (23 Mar 2017). Petkovic argues that at trial 
he "extensively explained" the circumstances under which he issued the 30 June 1993 Order as well as his 
understanding thereof. Petko viC's Appeal Brief, para. 116, referring to Petkovic's Final Brief, paras 241-297; Appeal 
Hearing, AT. 518 (23 Mar 2017). Moreover, he contends that he gave instructions that Muslim women and children be 
allowed to remain in their houses and that this reflects that he only ordered the isolation of men whom he considered to 
be members of the armed forces. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 117; Appeal Hearing, AT. 518 (23 Mar 2017). 
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implementing it as Boban's order was consistent with relevant domestic laws and not manifestly 

unlawfue978 

2380. Concerning the forced labour orders, Petkovic points to his own testimony at trial which, he 

asserts, demonstrates that he understood them to be lawfu1.7979 He also highlights that he had no 

information that: (1) the implementation of these orders resulted in harm or injury to any individual; 

(2) no precautions were taken to protect the workers in implementing his orders. 7980 

2381. The Prosecution responds that, in addition to being a repetition of his trial arguments, 

PetkoviC's claims that his orders were excusable due to a possible mistake of law or because he was 

following his superior's orders are both legally unsound and factually incorrect. 7981 According to 

the Prosecution, the plain language of his orders, as well as their context and his status as a 

professional soldier and former JNA officer, all contradict PetkoviC's contention that he did not 

know that such orders were illega1.7982 Finally, the Prosecution submits that neither a mistake of law 

nor a belief that he was following a lawful order from a superior would negate PetkoviC's criminal 

responsibility and that, in any case, he fails to establish either.7983 

2382. Petkovic replies that with respect to the 30 June 1993 Order "his defence was not, and is 

not, 'mistake of law' and 'following superiors' orders",.7984 According to Petkovic, in evaluating 

his mens rea, the Trial Chamber was required to consider evidence that he contends reflects a 

mistake of law and provide a reasoned opinion accordingly?985 Moreover, Petkovic clarifies that he 

did not raise a '''superior order' defence", but rather claims that Boban's order reinforced his belief 

that he was acting lawfully. 7986 

(ii) Analysis 

2383. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber observes that PetkoviC's appeal and reply 

briefs, considered collectively, are unclear regarding his contention as to the legal effect of his 

7978 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 120-121; Appeal Hearing, AT. 518-519 (23 Mar 2017). See also PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 119. 
7979 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 129. Petkovic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the forced 
labour orders were unlawful. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 129. According to Petkovic, his labour orders "were not 
such that a reasonable commander could not have regarded them - rightly or mistakenly - as lawful in the 
circumstances". PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 130. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 131. 
7980 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 131. 
7981 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 79. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 534, 539 (23 Mar 2017). 
7982 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 78-80,83,89-91. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), 
paras 81-82; Appeal Hearing, AT. 536, 539 (23 Mar 2017). The Prosecution further submits that the orders themselves 
were indeed unlawful. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 78, 91. 
7983 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 92-95. 
7984 PetkoviC's Reply Brief,para. 20. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 19. 
7985 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 20. 
7986 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 21. 
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alleged mistake of law. The Appeals Chamber interprets his submissions to advance a claim that his 

subjective belief in the legality of his orders negated his mens rea. For the purposes of the present 

ground of appeal, the Appeals Chamber does not consider it necessary to address the legal effect of 

a mistake of law,7987 because, as will be elaborated below, the evidence to which Petkovic points 

does not establish his contention. 

2384. To the extent that Petko vic argues that the Trial Chamber did not consider his submissions 

at trial, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did refer to the evidence Petkovic gave 

concerning the 30 June 1993 Order, including portions of the testimony in which he stated that he 

considered the order to have been lawfu1.7988 Further, it expressly considered and dismissed 

Petko viC' s submission - referring to some of the evidence he provides in support of this ground of 

appeal - that the detentions on 30 June 1993 were legal due to the status of the detained men.7989 

Thus, the Trial Chamber was aware of the arguments put forward by Petkovic concerning both the 

legality of detentions and his own personal view on the legality of his orders. It did not, however, 

explicitly discuss this testimony and PetkoviC's submissions regarding his alleged mistake of law 

when discussing his mens rea for the relevant crimes?990 Notwithstanding this, the 

Appeals Chamber considers, in light of the nature of the evidence presented by Petkovic in support 

of his argument, that this omission does not invalidate the Trial Chamber's decision. 

2385. In this regard, Petkovic points to a variety of evidence, including the testimony of two 

expert witnesses and their respective reports.7991 This evidence indicates, according to him, that 

"Muslim soldiers were considered by the HVO authorities like all other HVO soldiers and ABiH 

military conscripts as non-combatant ntembers of the ABiH'7992 and that Boban's order was not 

unlawful on its face.7993 However, this tyP{{ of evidence pertains to the reasonableness of the HVO's 

assessments regarding military-aged Muslim males and Muslim HVO members as a supposed 

security threat, rather than to PetkoviC's own mens rea for the relevant crime.7994 Accordingly, 

7987 Cf KaradzicHostage-Taking Decision, para. 22. 
7988 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 890, 894 & fns 2079, 2093, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T(F) 4'9574-49581 
(17 Feb 2010), T(F). 50747 (10 Mar 2010), Vol. 3, para. 609 & fn. 1218, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T(F) 49574-
49580 (17 Feb 2010). 
7989 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 591-621 & fns 1218, 1221, referring to, inter alia, Ex. 4D0173l, para. 138, Milan 
Gorjanc, T(F). 46118-46119 (27 Oct 2009), T(F). 46126, 46132 (28 Oct 2009). 
7990 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 738,758-759,793,802,815. Cf Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 722,801. 
7991 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 116 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 4D01731, paras 53-62, 4D01470), 120 (referring 
to, inter alia, Milan Gorjanc, T. 46118 (27 Oct 2009), T. 46127,46132-46133 (28 Oct 2009), Andrew Pringle, T. 24265 
(7 Nov 2007), Exs. 4D01731, para. 138, P09549, para. 78). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 518 (23 Mar 2017) (referring 
to the testimonies of Gorjanc and Pringle). 
7992 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 116 (emphasis in the original). 
7993 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 120. 
7994 See Ex. 4D01470 (containing the FRY Law on All-People's Defence); Ex. 4D01731, paras 53-62 (explaining the 
concept of "all-people's defence"), 138 (analysing the reasonableness of the HVO's perception of its Muslim members 
as a security threat and pennissible steps to mitigate such threat); Milan Gorjanc, T. 46118 (27 Oct 2009), T. 46127, 
46132-46133 (28 Oct 2009) (same); Ex. P09549, para. 78 (explaining the reasonableness of the detention of civilians 
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Petkovic fails to explain why this evidence - which indicates legal circumstances for the detention 

of military-aged Muslim males and Muslim HVO members and some of which the Trial Chamber 

considered in that context - could be probative in establishing his state of mind and therefore 

should have been expressly considered in analysing his mens rea for the relevant crime.7995 This 

argument is therefore dismissed. 

2386. Petkovic also relies on his own testimony to support his argument regarding the 

Trial Chamber's failure to consider his mistake of law when considering his mens rea.7996 As noted 

above, the Trial Chamber was cognisant of PetkoviC's testimony about his belief that the 

30 June 1993 Order was lawful. 7997 However,· the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber explained that although it found Petkovic credible on certain points, it found him 

"hardly credible on others", particularly where he sought to "limit [his] responsibility in respect of 

certain allegations".7998 The Trial Chamber stated that it had not accepted his testimony in the latter 

instances.7999 In that context, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber need not refer to 

every witness testimony or every piece of evidence on the record and that there is a presumption 

that the trial chamber evaluated all evidence presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the 

trial chamber completely disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant. 8000 Therefore, as set out 

earlier in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber simply did not accept Petko viC' s testimony as to 

his state of mind regarding his 30 June 1993 Order. As Petkovic shows no enor in this approach, 

his argument in this regard is dismissed. 

2387. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's contention concerning his state of 

mind regarding his forced labour orders, which is entirely reliant on his testimony at trial. 8001 

Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in PetkoviC's unreferenced arguments that he had 

deemed a threat to security). See also Andrew Pringle, T. 24265 (7 Nov 2007) (suggesting that an HVO commander 
would have perceived Muslim HVO members as a security threat). 
7995 The Appeals Chamber also dismisses PetkoviC's argument that he "extensively explained" the circumstances under 
which he issued the 30 June 1993 Order as well as his understanding thereof. The Appeals Chamber observes that he 
relies on a portion of his final brief which mainly concerns the objective legality of this order. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 116, referring to PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 241-297. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber sees no merit in his 
argument that he gave instructions that Muslim women and children be allowed to remain in their houses, as he fails to 
articulate any error warranting appellate intervention. Petko viC's Appeal Brief, para. 117. 
7996 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 116 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49594 (17 Feb 2010)), 120 (referring to 
Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49577, 49594-49596 (17 Feb 2010)). 
7997 See supra, para. 2383. 
7998 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
7999 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 399. 
8000 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; 
Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
8001 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 129, referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49817-49818 (22 Feb 2010), T. 50678 
(9 Mar 2010). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 128, 130-133. Although Petkovic only specifically identifies one 
forced labour order, Exhibit P04020, he seemingly impugns the conclusion drawn by the Trial Chamber on the basis of 
multiple "forced labour orders". See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 129-132. 
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no information that these orders resulted in harm and that no precautions were taken to protect the 

workers, as he fails to articulate any error warranting appellate intervention. 8002 

2388. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to point to evidence or 

factual findings which the Trial Chamber omitted to expressly address that would in turn invalidate 

its decision. The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects Petko viC' s contention that the Trial Chamber 

failed to render a reasoned opinion, 

2389. Accordingly, PetkoviC's sub-grounds of appeal 4.3.2.1 and 4.3.2.3 are dismissed. 

(c) Alleged errors concerning PetkoviC's knowledge of the international armed conflict 

(PetkoviC's Sub-ground 7.1.6) 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2390. Petkovic submits that in order to establish liability under Article 2 of the Statute, the 

Prosecution must prove beyond reasonable doubt that the accused knew of all of the factual 

circumstances rendering the conflict international. 8003 Petkovic contends that the Trial Chamber 

erred in law and fact by failing to establish his knowledge of the international nature of the conflict 

between the ABiH and the HVO beyond reasonable doubt.8oo4 According to Petkovic, despite the 

findings that he was aware of and facilitated Croatia's and the HV's participation in the HVO-ABiH 

conflict, the Trial Chamber failed to find that he was cognizant of all the facts proving the HV's 

overall control over the HVO, especially facts other than the provision of financial and logistical 

support. 8005 

2391. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Petkovic was 

aware of the international nature of the conflict as Petkovic himself facilitated Croatia's 
.. . . h fl· 8006 partICIpatIOn III t e con ICt. 

8002 To the ~xtent that Petkovic claims that his forced labour orders were in fact lawful, the Appeals Chamber notes that 
the Trial Chamber expressly rejected PetkoviC's contention regarding Exhibit P04020. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 801. In this regard, he merely repeats his unsuccessful argument without demonstrating an error. Insofar as 
Petkovic also challenges the legality of the other forced labour orders, which he failed to expressly identify, the Appeals 
Chamber dismisses this unsubstantiated assertion: Simiiarly, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's broad argument 
that his forced labour orders "were not such that a reasonable commander could not have regarded them - rightly or 
mistakenly - as lawful in the circumstances". See supra, fn. 7979. 
8003 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 430, citing Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, para. 121; PetkoviC's Reply 
Brief, para. 84. 
8004 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 430-431. 
8005 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 430-431. In his Reply Brief, Petkovic likewise maintains that the Prosecution did not 
prove that he knew of the factual circumstances that made the HVO-ABiH conflict international. See PetkoviC's Reply 
Brief, para. 84. 
8006 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 294. 
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(ii) Analysis 

2392. The Appeals Chamber recalls that for liability to be established under Article 2 of the 

Statute, "the principle of individual guilt requires that the accused's awareness of factual 

circumstances establishing the armed conflict's international character must be proven by the 

Prosecution" . 8007 The mens rea requirement may be satisfied even though the accused lacked 

knowledge of the legal significance of the factual circumstances at hand. 8oo8 As held by the Appeals 

Chamber in the Naletilic and Martinovic case, the defendant must be aware of the factual 

circumstances that qualify the conflict as international but the mens rea requirement does not 

necessitate that the accused correctly applies a particular legal label to known facts. 8oo9 All that is 

required is that the accused be aware of the factual circumstances that lead to the judicial 

characterisation of the conflict as international. 8010 

2393. In this case, the Appeals Chamber observes that, according to the Trial Chamber's findings, 

Petkovic was undoubtedly cognizant of his own role as a facilitator of the close relationship 

between the HV and the HVO and of Croatia's involvement in the Bosnian conflict.8011 A 

reasonable fact-finder could thus have concluded that Petkovic knew of the international character 

of the conflict, given that it was his own activities and those of, inter alia, the other Appellants that 

contributed to Croatia's control over the HVO and thus rendered the conflict international.8012 

Indeed, as Petkovic admits, he simultaneously and knowingly held positions in both the HV and 

HVO.8013 The Trial Chamber further found that Croatia paid the salaries of HVO officers, including 

PetkoviC's, who at the same time were serving as officers within the HV. 8014 On the basis of the 

evidence on the record, a reasonable trier of fact could indeed have concluded that Petkovic knew 

of the factual circumstances amounting to the existence of an international armed conflict. This is 

indeed what the Trial Chamber found, despite not articulating its finding explicitly, given 

PetkoviC's obvious knowledge of his own role in facilitating Croatia's involvement in the HVO­

ABiH conflict. 

2394. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's sub-ground of 

appeal 7.1.6. 

8007 Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, para. 121. 
8008 KaradzicHostage-Taking Decision, para. 22. 
8009 Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, paras 116-121. 
8010 Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, para. 118. 
8011 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 547,564. 
8012 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 547. 
8013 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 425. 
8014 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 546-548, 555. 
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(d) Alleged errors regarding Petko viC' s mens rea with respect to certain crimes (PetkoviC's Sub­

grounds 4.1 and 4.4 both in part) 

2395. The Trial Chamber convicted Petkovic for grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions 

pursuant to Article 2 of the Statute, including, inter alia: (1) wilful killing; (2) unlawful deportation 

of a civilian; (3) unlawful transfer of a civilian; (4) unlawful confinement of a civilian; (5) extensive 

destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully and wantonly; 

and (6) appropriation of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully and 

wantonly.8015 It also found him responsible for violations of the laws or customs of war pursuant to 

Article 3 of the Statute, including, inter alia: (1) unlawful labour; (2) wanton destruction of cities, 

towns or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity; (3) destruction or wilful damage 

done to institutions dedicated to religion or education; (4) unlawful attack on civilians; and 

(5) unlawful infliction of terror on civilians.8016 

2396. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion concerning the 

mens rea elements of the crime of terror as well as the crimes which include the notions of "wilful, 

unlawful, wanton" among their elements and that it erred in convicting him for these crimes. 8017 

The Appeals Chamber will deal with these contentions in turn. 

(i) Unlawful infliction of terror on civilians under Article 3 of the Statute (Count 25) 

2397. With respect to the shelling of East Mostar, the Trial Chamber convicted Petkovic for, inter 

alia, the crime of terror. 8018 In concluding that Petkovic possessed the relevant mens rea for the 

crimes resulting from the shelling of East Mostar, the Trial Chamber found that: 

Milivoj Petkovic knew that the HVO forces were shelling and firing on East Mostar, a densely­
populated urban zone, causing deaths, injuries and the destruction of property, including mosques. 
He also knew that the members of the international organisations were also affected by the HVO 
shelling. Furthermore, under these circumstances and bearing in mind the long period during 
which East Mostar was regularly the target of HVO shooting, Milivoj Petkovic must have been 
aware of the terror under which the Muslim population of East Mostar was living. Insofar as he 
ordered and contributed to planning this shelling, while knowing that it would lead to murder, 
injuries and the destruction of property, including mosques, the [Trial] Chamber infers that Milivoj 
Petko vic intended to have these crimes committed.8019 

2398. Petko vic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion with respect to 

his specific intent to spread terror among the civilian popUlation, arguing that the Trial Chamber 

8015 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 820-821, Disposition, p. 43l. 
8016 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 820-821, Disposition, p. 43l. 
8017 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 87, 90(i), 137-138. 
8018 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 743-750,820. 
8019 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
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merely stated that he "must have been aware of the terror under which [the] Muslim population of 

East Mostar was living".8020 

2399. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber provided a reasoned opinion with respect 

to PetkoviC's mens rea concerning this offence.8021 According to the Prosecution, in any event, the 

Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that Petkovic specifically intended to inflict 

terror on civilians. 8022 

2400. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea for the crime of terror consists of the intent 

to make the civilian population or individual civilians not taking direct part in hostilities the object 

of the acts of violence or threats thereof, and of the specific intent to spread terror among the 

civilian population.8023 While spreading terror must be the primary purpose of the acts or threats of 

violence, it need not be the only one and can be inferred from the "nature, manner, timing, and 

duration" of the acts or threats. 8024 

2401. Turning to the merit of PetkoviC's challenge, the Appeals Chamber observes that a plain 

reading of the Trial Judgement reveals a certain ambiguity as to the scope of the Trial Chamber's 

findings concerning PetkoviC's mens rea for this crime. In particular, the Trial Chamber concluded 

that insofar as Petkovic ordered and contributed to planning the shelling of East Mostar, he intended 

the murders, injuries, and destruction of property.8025 However, it did not specify whether the 

primary purpose underpinning his conduct was the specific intent to spread terror among the 

civilian population. The only reference to such intent appears to be reflected in the broad 

consideration that Petkovic had to be aware of the situation of terror affecting the Muslim 

population of East Mostar.8026 Nevertheless, this finding alone does not explain the Trial Chamber's 

reasoning underpinning its conclusion that Petkovic possessed the mens rea required for such 

offence. 8027 

2402. The Appeals Chamber notes that in the portion of the Trial Judgement concerning the legal 

findings on the crimes, the Trial Chamber concluded that "the HVO" had the specific intent to 

8020 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 137 (emphasis omitted), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 87, 90(i); Appeal Hearing, AT. 525 (23 Mar 2017). 
8021 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 68. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 560-562, 566 (23 Mar 2017), 
referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1691-1692, Vol. 4, para. 820. 
8022 Appeal Hearing, AT. 560-566 (23 Mar 2017), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1000, 1005-1006, 1015, 
1060,1154,1163,1199-1200, Vol. 3, paras 1689-1692, Vol. 4, paras 745-756,814-816,820. 
8023 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 104. 
8024 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 37; GaUc Appeal Judgement, para. 104. 
8025 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
8026 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 750. 
8027 The Appeals Chamber observes that in another portion of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found that 
Petkovic intended the crimes committed by the HVO between January 1993 and April 1994! yet did not specify whether 
he possessed the relevant mens rea for the crime of terror. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
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spread terror among the civilian population of East Mostar. 8028 However, in the absence of an 

express consideration of whether the primary purpose underpinning PetkoviC's conduct was to 

spread terror among the civilian popUlation, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber 

failed to provide a reasoned opinion with respect to PetkoviC's conviction for this offence. The 

Appeals Chamber will assess, on the basis of the Trial Chamber's findings as well as evidence 

referred to by the Trial Chamber and/or contained in the trial record and identified by the Parties, 

whether no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber 

did.8029 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the significance and the scope of an 

individual's material contribution to a JCE may be relevant in determining whether thatindividual 

had the,requisite mens rea.8030 In this context, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic was directly 

involved in these actions by ordering and planning the shelling of East Mostar and by hindering the 

access of humanitarian convoys to that part of the city.8031 The Appeals Chamber further observes 

that the portion of the Trial Judgement related to the legal findings on the crime of terror may be 

relevant to an assessment of PetkoviC's mens rea for that crime.8032 Specifically, the Trial Chamber 

found that: 

[T]he deliberate isolation of a population in an area as small as East Mostar for several months -
and doing so after forcibly transfening a large part of the popUlation there - and thus the 
exacerbation of their distress and difficult living conditions is part of the same plan and 
demonstrates the specific intention of the HVO to spread tenor among the civilian population of 
East Mostar.8

0
33 

In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered, inter alia, that: (1) the shelling, 

including sniper fire, terrified the population of East Mostar;8034 (2) the destruction of ten mosques, 

and the Old Bridge which had a psychological impact on the morale of the population - of which 

the HVO had to have been aware;8035 and (3) the blocking or hindering of humanitarian aid or 

international organisations' access to East Mostar "aggravated and heightened the appalling living 

conditions to which the Muslim inhabitants of East Mostar were subjected". 8036 The 

Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's findings that the destruction of the 

Old Bridge constituted any of the charged crimes in this case, and has therefore acquitted the 

Appellants of the charges under Counts 1 and 25 insofar as they concern the destruction of the Old 

8028 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. 
8029 See Stani§ic alld Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 142, referring to Kordic alld Cerkez Appeal Judgement, paras 
383-388, Nyiramasuhuko et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 977, Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 23, Ndindiliyimana 
et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 293. 
8030 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 97, 188. The Appeals Chamber considers that even though the above finding 
was not made in the context of the specific intent to commit terror, it is nevertheless applicable by analogy. 
8031 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 743-756. 
8032 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 1689-1691. 
8033 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. 
8034 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. 
8035 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1690. 
8036 TrialJudgement, Vol. 3, para. 1691. 
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Bridge.8037 Accordingly, the above Trial Chamber finding concerning PetkoviC's contribution to the 

destruction of the Old Bridge has been disregarded by the Appeals Chamber when making a 

determination on this ground of appeal. Having done so, the Appeals Chamber nevertheless 

considers that reading the Trial Judgement as a whole and especially the legal findings together 

with the Trial Chamber's conclusion regarding PetkoviC's remaining contribution to the crimes 

during the siege of East Mostar could lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that he possessed 

the required mens rea for the crime of terror. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic 

fails to show that the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned opinion resulted in an error 

invalidating the verdict and dismisses his contention. 

(ii) Crimes including the notions of "wilful, unlawful, and wanton" 

2403. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber made no findings concerning the mens rea 

requirements "for crimes which elements are wilful, unlawful, [or] wanton and therefore require 

stronger subjective graduations than 'ordinary' intent".8038 

2404. The Prosecution does not respond to this argument. 

2405. The Appeals Chamber notes that Petkovic's extremely broad argument fails to provide any 

references to either the Trial Judgement or the exact convictions he challenges.8039 In any event, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that he does not explain why the notions of wilful, unlawful, or wanton 

reflect a more stringent mens rea requirement than "ordinary" intent. Accordingly, the Appeals 

Chamber dismisses this unsubstantiated argument. 

(iii) Conclusion 

2406. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's argument 

concerning the crime of terror, as he has failed to show that the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a 

reasoned opinion invalidates its decision to that effect. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses the 

remaining challenges concerning the Trial Chamber's findings regarding PetkoviC's mens rea for 

crimes including the notions of "wilful, unlawful, and wanton". Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses the relevant parts of PetkoviC' s sub-grounds of appeal 4.1 and 4.4. 

8037 See supra, para. 426. The Appeals Chamber also reversed the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the destruction of the 
Old Bridge constituted wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages or devastation not justified by military necessity 
as a violation of the laws or customs of war. See supra, para. 414. 
8038 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 137 (emphasis omitted). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 87, 90(i). 
8039 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 137 (emphasis omitted). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 87, 90(i). 
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(e) Conclusion 

2407. For the foregoing reasons, Petkovic has failed to demonstrate any errors in the Trial 

Chamber's conclusions concerning the application of the mens rea standard for JCE I liability. The 

. Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that the Trial Chamber was required to 

expressly address allegations concerning a mistake of law or that its failure to provide a reasoned 

opinion invalidated the verdict concerning the mens rea elements of the crimes for which he was 

convicted. 

6. Alleged errors regarding the Trial Chamber's conclusions on PetkoviC's responsibility under 

JCE I CPetkoviC's Sub-grounds 4.1.2, 4.2, 5.1.2, 5.1.3, and 5.2.3.2) 

2408. In finding Petkovic responsible for the crimes within the scope of the JCE,8040 the Trial 

Chamber found that: (1) he had effective control over the HVO from 14 April 1992 to 

26 April 1994, first as Chief and later as Deputy CommanderlDeputy Chief of the Main Staff;8041 

(2) he ordered, planned, facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by the 

members of the HVO;8042 and (3) he intended these crimes to be committed.8043 In light of these 

considerations, the Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic intended the CCP, namely to expel the 

Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B and that he significantly contributed to the JCE.8044 

2409. Petkovic challenges the Trial Chamber's findings that he: (1) ordered, planned, facilitated, 

encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by the members of the HVO; (2) intended to 

expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B; and (3) significantly contributed to the JCE.8045 

(a) PetkoviC's direct contribution to the crimes committed by the HVO 

2410. The Trial Chamber concluded that Petkovic ordered, planned, facilitated, encouraged, and 

concealed the crimes committed by HVO members. 8046 It also found that, despite his power over the 

8040 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 820-821. 
8041 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 814. 
8042 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815-816. 
8043 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. 
8044 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 817-818. 
8045 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 91-111, 140, 161-171, 353-356, 358-360. Petkovic also reiterates arguments from 
previous sub-grounds of appeal, contending that the Trial Chamber: (1) erred in finding that he had effective control 
over the HVO; and (2) failed to consider that from 24 July 1993 he was relieved as Chief of the Main Staff and, as 
Deputy Commander and Deputy Chief of Main Staff, he did not have "de jure and effective control" over the HVO. 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 352, 357. The Appeals Chamber notes that these arguments have been addressed and 
dismissed elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, paras 2095, 2121 2121. Petkovic further submits that the Trial 
Chamber erred in concluding that he was aware of the international nature of the conflict between the HVO and the 
BiH. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 361, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 410-444. The Appeals Chamber 
observes that in support of his contention he entirely refers to another sub-ground of appeal which is addressed and 
dismissed elsewhere in the Judgement. See supra, para. 249. 
8046 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 815-816. 
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HVO, Petkovic did not make "serious efforts" to end their commission of crimes, but rather 

concealed the HVO authorities' responsibility from international representatives.8047 

2411. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that he ordered, planned, 

facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by HVO members by: (1) having 

effective command and control over the HVO; (2) "making decision[s] on military operations"; and 

(3) forwarding Government decisions to the HVO and implementing them.8048 According to 

Petkovic, the Trial Chamber "impermissibly equated" the rights and duties of a military commander 

with criminal conduct. 8049 

2412. Petkovic also claims that the Trial Chamber erred in making a "general assertion" that he 

ordered and planned the crimes committed by the HVO.8050 He highlights that, with the exception 

of unlawful labour under Count 18, the Trial Chamber did not make a finding that he ordered or 

planned any specific crime.8051 Finally, with respect to the Trial Chamber's finding that he did not 

make "serious efforts" to put an end to the HVO's commission of crimes, Petkovic claims that it 

"failed to explain whether it evaluated PetkoviC's efforts on the basis of his intention or results of 

his efforts".8052 In this regard, he submits that, while he does not dispute that the results of his 

efforts were not "fruitful enough", he does challenge the conclusion that he did not seriously intend 

to end the commission of these crimes. 8053 

2413. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic's arguments should be dismissed:8054 

2414. The Appeals Chamber considers that PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that he ordered, planned, facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by 

HVO members on the basis of his rights and duties as a militmy commander is based on a 

misrepresentation of the Trial Judgement. The Appeals Chamber observes that in concluding that 

Petkovic was responsible for the crimes within the scope of the JCE, the Trial Chamber first 

recalled his functions and duties at the relevant time,8055 and subsequently found that "in light of the 

foregoing" he ordered, planned, facilitated, encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by 

HVO members.8056 However, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber relied 

8047 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 816. 
8048 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 353. 
8049 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 353. 
8050 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 354-355. 
8051 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 354-355. 
8052 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 356 (emphasis omitted). 
8053 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 356. . 
8054 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 97, 107. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 540 (23 Mar 2017). 
8055 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 814. 
8056 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815. The Appeals Chamber recalls its reversal of the Trial Chamber's finding that 
murder and willful killing were part of the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993. However, for the 
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exclusively on Petkovic's duties and functions to support its conclusion that he contributed to these 

crimes. Rather, a reading of the Trial Judgement as a whole suggests that the term "in light of the 
, , 

foregoing" referred not only to the previous paragraph, but also to tl;1e conclusions drawn by the 

Trial Chamber throughout the previous sections describing PetkoviC's contribution to the HVO's 

crimes in specific locations where it expressly found that Petkovic ordered, planned, facilitated, 

encouraged, and concealed them. 8057 This consideration is further supported by the fact that, in 

reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber referred to the crimes of the HVO as described in the 

previous sections.8os8 Accordingly, this contention is dismissed. 

2415. The Appeals Chamber also finds no merit in PetkoviC's challenge that the Trial Chamber 

erred in making a "general assertion" that he ordered and planned the HVO's crimes as he fails to 

show how this alleged error would impact on the Trial Chamber's conclusion. In any event, 

contrary to PetkoviC's submission, the Appeals Chamber observes that, in addition to finding that 

he ordered unlawful labour, the Trial Chamber did in fact find that Petkovic repeatedly ordered and 

planned the other crimes committed by the HVO during the relevant period.8os9 Therefore, this 

contention fails. 

2416. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's. broad claim concerning the Trial 

Chamber's conclusion that he did not make "serious efforts" to put an end to the HVO's 

commission of crimes. Specifically, besides making a general assertion that he challenges the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he did not seriously intend to end the commission of these crimes, Petkovic 

reasons discussed in detail below, the Appeals Chamber observes that this change in the scope of the CCP has no 
impact on the challenges discussed herein, particularly in light of the fact that the Appeals Chamber has overturned 
PetkoviC's convictions for the two murders in Toscanica, Prozor Municipality. See infra, paras 2415-2416, fn. 8057. 
See also supra, para. 886. 
8057 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 692-693 (concluding that the crimes that occurred during the military operations in 
Prozor Municipality were part of the "attack plan" and that Petkovic directed such operations), 708 (finding that the 
crimes committed during the military operations in Gornji Vakuf Municipality on 18 January 1993 were part of a 
preconceived plan and that Petkovic participated in planning and facilitating the operations therein), 714-717 
(concluding that the crimes that occurred during the military operations in SoviCi and Doljani were an "integral part" of 
a well-organised and orchestrated plan which envisaged the HVO operations therein, which were planned and directed 
by Petkovic), 723 (finding that Petko vic "orchestrated" the removal to Gornji Vakuf of around 450 women, children, 
and elderly people detained at the SoviCi School and in houses in the hamlet of JunuzoviCi on 5 May 1993), 738 
(finding that, on 30 June 1993, Petkovic ordered the arrest of Muslims who did not belong to the armed forces), 747 
(finding that Petkovic ordered the shelling during the siege of East Mostar), 755 (concluding that Petkovic facilitated 
the hindering of humanitarian convoys from reaching the Muslim population of East Mostar), 756 (concluding that, on 
8 November 1993, Petkovic ordered and planned the offensive on Mostar and that as part of the offensive the Old 
Bridge was destroyed), 758 (finding that Petkovic ordered the detention of people who were not members of any armed 
force in Stolac Municipality after 30 June 1993), 759 (finding that Petkovic ordered the detention of people who were 
not members of any armed force in Capljina Municipality after 30 June 1993), 793 (finding that Petkovic ordered and 
authorised the work of the Heliodrom detainees on the front line), 802 (finding that Petkovic ordered the use of 
detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp as forced labour). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 808, 813, 816 (finding that 
Petkovic encouraged the crimes committed by the KB, its ATGs, and the Bruno Busic Regiment by continuing to 
defloy them despite receiving information about the crimes already committed by the members of these units). 
805 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 815 ("the [Trial] Chamber finds thatMilivoj Petkovic ordered, planned, facilitated, 
encouraged, and concealed the crimes committed by the members of the HZ(R) H-B armed forces as described above") 
(emphasis added). 
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does not explain nor does he substantiate how the Trial Chamber erred in reaching this finding. 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber rejects this argument. 

(b) PetkoviC's intention to expel the Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B 

2417. The Trial Chamber found that: 

[i]n view of all the evidence analysed above, the [Trial] Chamber deems that the only possible 
inference it can reasonably draw is that Milivoj Petkovic intended to expel the Muslim population 
from the HZ(R) H-B. As the [Trial] Chamber will specify below, Milivoj Petkovic shared this 
intention with other members of the JCE, notably members of the HVOIHZ(R) H B government 
and the HVO Main Staff command.806o 

2418. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber: (1) unreasonably inferred that he intended to expel 

the Muslim population since it did not convict him for their expulsion in various locations of the 

HZ(R) H-B; (2) failed to provide a reasoned opinion in support of its conclusion; and (3) failed to 

consider exculpatory evidence.8061 The Appeals Chamber will deal with these contentions in tum. 

(i) The Trial Chamber's alleged unreasonable inference 

2419. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that he intended to expel the 

Muslim population from the HZ(R) H-B since it did not convict him for the expulsion of Muslims 

from the municipalities of Prozor, Stolac, or Capljina, or from the Heliodrom, Dretelj or Gabela 

Prisons.8062 

2420. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's arguments should be dismissed.8063 

2421. As a preliminary matter, the Appeals Chamber observes that PetkoviC's argument rests on 

the erroneous assumption that he was convicted only for the crimes to which he contributed 

directly. By contrast, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber found Petkovic 

responsible not only for those crimes, but also for the crimes forming part of the JCE which were 

imputed to other members. 8064 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber 

convicted Petkovic for crimes related to the expulsion of Muslims, namely deportation under 

Count 6; unlawful deportation of a civilian under Count 7; forcible transfer as an inhumane act 

under Count 8; unlawful transfer of a civilian under Count 9, which occurred in the municipalities 

of Prozor, Ljubuski, and Capljina, in the Heliodrom, Dretelj, Gabela, and Ljubuski Prisons and in 

8059 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 692-693, 708, 716-717, 723, 738, 747, 756, 758-759, 793,802. 
8060 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 817. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43,44,67, 1217-1232. 
8061 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 91-111, 359. See also PetkoviC's Reply Brief, paras 17-18; AppealHearing, 
AT. 512-517 (23 Mar 2017). 
8062 Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 359. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 521-522 (23 Mar 2017). 
8063 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 97, fn. 1065. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 531-532, 546 
(23 Mar 2017). 
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Vitina-Otok Camp, insofar as these crimes were imputed to Pdic,8065 Praljak,8066 Stojic,8067 

Coric,8068 and Pusic,8069 in light of their respective contributions. The Appeals Chamber further 

notes that, in light of his contribution, Petkovic was also found responsible for Counts 8 and 9 in 

relation to the municipalities of Gornji Vakuf and Jablanica as well as Counts 6 through 9 with 

respect to Mostar Municipality.8070 

2422. Turning to the merit of PetkoviC's contention, the Appeals Chamber recalls that, in relation 

to the mens rea requirements for JCE I, "the accused must both intend the commission of the crime 

and intend to participate in a common plan aimed at its commission". 8071 Further, according to the 

consistent jurisprudence of the Tribunal, the requisite mens rea for a conviction under JCE I can be 

inferred from a person's knowledge of the common plan involving the commission of the crime 

combined with his continuous participation.80n Accordingly, insofar as the Trial' Chamber 

specifically found that Petkovic had knowledge of the CCP and significantly contributed to it,8073 

the Appeals Chamber fails to see how the mere fact that he was not directly involved in the 

expulsion of Muslims from the specific municipalities of Prozor, Stolac, and Capljina; the 

Heliodrom; or Dretelj or Gabela Prisons could disturb the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he 

shared the intent to CatTY out the CCP. Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

(ii) The Trial Chamber's alleged failure to render a reasoned opinion 

2423. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding "implicitly" that he shared the goal 

of the CCP, namely to ethnically cleanse Muslims from Herceg-Bosna,8074 arguing that it failed to 

8064 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 821. 
8065 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 278 (finding Pdie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to the Heliodrom; finding 
Pdie responsible for Counts 6 and 7 in relation to Dietelj Prison). 
8066 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 630 (finding Praljak responsible for Counts 8 and 9 in relation to Prozor 
Municipality). 
8067 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 431 (finding Sto)ie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to Capljina Municipality). 
8068 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1006 (finding Corie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to Ljubuski Municipality; 
finding Corie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to the Heliodrom; finding Corie responsible for Counts 6-9 in 
relation to Ljubuski Prison and Vitina-Otok Camp). 
8069 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1211 (finding Pusie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to Capljina Municipality; 
finding Pusie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to the Heliodrom; finding Pusie responsible for Counts 6-9 in 
relation to Gabela Prison; finding Pusie responsible for Counts 6-9 in relation to Ljubuski Municipality). 
8070 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 820. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already addressed and 
dismissed PetkoviC's challenges related to these convictions. See supra, paras 2177, 2210. 
8071 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652, citing Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365. See also Kvocka et al. 
Agpeal Judgement, para. 82. 
802 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1652; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 512; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, 
~aras 202, 204, 697. 

073 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 43-44,69,815-818. 
8074 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 92. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 91, 110-111. 
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provide a reasoned opinion as to the circumstances in which Petkovic learned of and came to share 

h . . 1 1 8075 suc cnmma pan. 

2424. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber provided a reasoned opinion in concluding 

that Petkovic was a member of the JCE as of mid-January 1993.8076 Specifically, it points to the 

Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) in October 1992, Petkovic met Mladic to discuss the division of 

BiH and the establishment of the Banovina; (2) since October 1992, Petkovic was aware that the 

implementation of the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE required moving the Muslim population from 

HZ(R) H-B; (3) from mid-January 1993, after Mate Boban signed the Vance-Owen Peace Plan, the 

JCE members took steps to consolidate their control over the provinces defined as Croatian under 

this plan; and (4) Petkovic, with other JCE members, used the HVO to implement the 

15 January 1993 Ultimatum.80n 

2425. The Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber found "implicitly" that 

Petkovic shared the intent to carry out the CCP. By contrast, the Appeals Chamber notes that in the 

portion of the Trial Judgement devoted to the CCP, the Trial Chamber specifically found that, by 

October 1992, Petkovic was aware that implementing the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE would 

involve the Muslim population moving outside the territory of the HZ H_B.8078 In that same section, 

the Trial Chamber concluded that, from mid-January 1993, the HVO leaders aimed to, inter alia, 

ethnically cleanse the Muslim population from the provinces allocated to the BiB Croats under the 

Vance-Owen Peace Plan, referring specifically to its previous finding that on 15 January 1993 

Petkovic issued a subordination order to the 1 sl Mostar Brigade.8079 In addition, a plain reading of 

the Trial Judgement reveals that when concluding that Petkovic shared the intent to carry out the 

CCP, the Trial Chamber recalled the evidence regarding PetkoviC's contributions to the commission 

of specific crimes within that plan,8080 and highlighted that he shared such purpose with other JCE 

members. 8081 

8075 PetkoviC's'Appeal Brief, paras 91-92. Specifically, Petkovic argues thai the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a 
reasoned opinion concerning the circumstances in which Petkovic shared the CCP "is all the more serious" since it did 
not accept the Prosecution's case in this regard and "distorted and moulded it entirely". PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 
91. 
8076 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 73. The Prosecution also contends that the Trial Chamber did not 
"distort" the Prosecution's case. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 73. 
8077 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 73, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 18,43-44,65, fn. 122. 
8078 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 43. 
8079 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 44, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 454. 
8080 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 817 ("In view of all the evidence analysed above, the [Trial] Chamber deems that the 
only possible inference it can reasonably draw is that Milivoj Petkovic intended to expel the Muslim population from 
the HZ(R) H-B."). 
8081 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 817 ("As the [Trial] Chamber will specify below, Milivoj Petkovic shared this 
intention with other members of the JCE."). See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1217-1232. 
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2426. Based on these considerations, the Appeals Chamber finds that a reading of the Trial 

Judgement as a whole reflects ample reasoning in support of the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 

Petkovic shared the intent to further the CCP. Against this background, the Appeals Chamber 

considers that Petkovic fails to show that the Trial Chamber was obliged to expressly address the 

circumstances in which he learned of and came to share such criminal. plan.8082 Accordingly, this 

argument fails. 

(iii) The Trial Chamber's alleged failure to consider exculpatory evidence 

2427. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider exculpatory evidence that is 

inconsistent with its conclusion that he shared the CCp.8083 Specifically, he points to evidence 

which, in his view, reflects that he: (1) did not share the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE;8084 (2) 

favoured peaceful negotiations over war;8085 (3) tried to protect civilians regardless of their 

ethnicity;8086 and (4) did not possess either the intent to expel Muslims from the HZ(R) H-B or the 

intent to discriminate against them. 8087 

2428. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's arguments should be dismissed as the Trial 

Chamber expressly considered and reasonably rejected exculpatory evidence referred to by 

Petko vic in support of his case.8088 

2429. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber need not refer to every witness testimony 

or every piece of evidence on the record and that there is a presumption that the trial chamber 

8082 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber fails to see why the mere fact that the Trial Chamber did not accept part of the 
Prosecution's case would impose any more stringent requirement vis-a.-vis its obligation to provide a reasoned opinion. 
See supra, fn. 8075. 
8083 Petko viC's Appeal Brief, paras 93-109. See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 11 0-111; Appeal Hearing, AT. 512-
517 (23 Mar 2017). 
8084 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 95 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49687 (18 Feb 2010), T. 49746-49747 (22 Feb 
2010), T. 50439, 50458-50459 (4 Mar 2010), Ex. P02019), 96 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49748-49749, 49751, 
49764, 49782-49783, 49790-49791, 49799-49800, 49803 (22 Feb 2010), T. 49836-49839 (23 Feb 2010)). See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 97-98; Appeal Hearing, AT. 517 (23 Mar 2017) (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49414, 
49458 (15 Feb 2010)). Moreover, Petkovic avers that this part of his testimony was not challenged by the Prosecution. 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 95, 97. 
8085 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief,para. 100, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annexes 2, 4, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49416 
(15 Feb 2010). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 513-517 (23 Mar 2017) (referring to Exs. P01322, P02002, P02091). 
8086 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 99, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 3, Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49579-49580 
(17 Feb 2010). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 108-109. 
8087 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 101 (referring to Exs. P01959, P01445, P02344, P03584, P02036, P02089, 
4DOlO78), 102 (referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 2), 105 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49337 
(11 Feb 2010)),106 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49369-49370 (11 Feb 2010), T. 49417-49418 (15 Feb 2010)), 107 
(referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 2). See also PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 103-104. Petkovic highlights 
that "the Trial Chamber's ICE theory" hinges on the "proposition" that Petkovic had "discriminatory/persecutory mens 
rea". PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 104. 
8088 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petko vic) , paras 74-77. The Prosecution also responds that, in fact, it did challenge 
PetkoviC's evidence in this regard. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 75. 
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evaluated all the evidence presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the trial chamber 

completely disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant. 8089 

2430. As to Petkovic's submission that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that he did not 

share the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE, the Appeals Chamber observes that he points exclusively to 

excerpts from his testimony at trial. 8090 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial 

Chamber expressly explained its approach to PetkoviC's testimony, namely that it did not accept it . 

when he attempted to limit his responsibility.8091 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber referred to PetkoviC's testimony when analysing the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE 

and acknowledged the same extensively when considering his responsibility under JCE 1.8092 The 

Appeals Chamber is therefore not convinced that the Trial Chamber did not take into account 

PetkoviC's testimony that he did not share the Ultimate Purpose of the JCE. Rather, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that, given its self-serving nature, the Trial Chamber found that this evidence 

did not prevent it from reaching the conclusion that he shared the CCP. 8093 

2431. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber finds no indication that the Trial Chamber disregarded 

evidence that Petko vic favoured peaceful negotiations over war. In support of this contention, 

Petkovic relies on evidence reflecting a number of orders he issued that pertained to co-operation 

with the ABiH,8094 as well as to ceasefires.8095 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial 

Chamber expressly considered his submissions at trial that he sought to negotiate and co-operate 

with ABiH authorities in analysing his responsibility under JCE I as well as in determining his 

sentence.8096 Moreover, a number of exhibits referred to by Petkovic were explicitly addressed by 

the Trial Chamber in assessing: (1) his de facto power over the HVO;8097 (2) his powers to negotiate 

8089 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; 
POfovi6 et at. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
809 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 95 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49687 (18 Feb 2010), T. 49746-49747 (22 Feb 
2010), T. 50439, 50458-50459 (4 Mar 2010), Ex. P02019), 96 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49748-49749,49751, 
49764, 49782-49783, 49790-49791, 49799-49800, 49803 (22 Feb 2010), T. 49836-49839 (23 Feb 2010)). See also 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 97-98; Appeal Hearing, AT. 517 (23 Mar 2017) (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49414, 
49458 (15 Feb 2010)). 
8091 See supra, para. 2386. 
8092 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 15,21,650-652,654,680-681, 700, 711, 718, 720, 726, 737, 761, 806. 
8093 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Petkovic's argument that his own evidence was not challenged by 
the Prosecution. Indeed, the mere fact that a specific piece of evidence is not challenged by the opposing party does not 
have an impact on its reliability. 
8094 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 2, citing Exs. 4000397, 4000901, 4000399, 4000389, 4000354, POllI5, 
P01190, 4000433, 4000019, 4001048, 4000075, P01709, P01959, P02599. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 514-517 
(23 Mar 2017) (referring to Exs. P01322, P02002, P02091). 
8095 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 4, citing Exs. P00625, P00644, P01059, P01238, P0l286, P01467, P01959, 
P02037,P02084,P11213,P02577,P03584,P05138,P08188. 
8096 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 647 (referring to PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 537(iv)-537(ix)), 1361 (referring 
to PetkoviC's Final Brief, paras 672 (ix), 672 (xii)). 
8097 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 667 (referring to Ex. 4001048), 675 (referring to Exs. 4000901, POI959), 678 
(referring to Exs. P00625, P11213), 680 (referring to Ex. P02084). 
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with ABiH and issue ceasefire orders;8098 and (3) the crimes committed by the HVO in the 

municipalities Gornji Vakuf and Jablanica.8099 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic 

fails to show that the Trial Chamber did not consider this evidence. 

2432. As to the remaining pieces of evidence relied upon by Petkovic, the Appeals Chamber 

considers them to be of a similar nature to the evidence mentioned by the Trial Chamber. 8100 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber disregarded this 

evidence, but rather considers that the Trial Chamber assessed it and concluded that it did not 

prevent the Trial Chamber from reaching its conclusion. PetkoviC's arguments in this regard are 

thus dismissed. 

2433. The Appeals Chamber now turns to PetkoviC's assertion that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider evidence showing that he tried to protect civilians regardless of their ethnicity. In 

particular, Petkovic refers mainly to evidence reflecting orders that he issued to the HVO regarding 

compliance with international humanitarian law and to enable the operations of international 

organisations. 8101 However, the Appeals Chamber observes that, in the context of its analysis 

concerning PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I, the Trial Chamber in fact referred to PetkoviC's 

submissions at trial that he used his authority to remind troops of their obligations to abide by the 

laws of war and protect civilians.8102 Indeed, the Trial Chamber mentioned specific paragraphs of 

Petko viC' s final brief that, in turn, refer to the same evidence which Petkovic claims that the Trial 

Chamber disregarded, including orders enabling the operations of international organisations. 8103 

8098 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 680 (referring to Ex. P05138), 681 (referring to Ex. P01286), 682 (referring to Exs. 
P02599, P00644, P01059, P01286, P01959, P02037, P02577, P01959, P00625), 683 (referring to Exs. P01322, P02002, 
P02084, P02091). 
8099 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 703 (referring to Ex. P01190), 715 (referring to Ex. P02037). 
8100 Exs. 4D00397 (a 20 June 1992 HVO document from Petkovic urging co-operation with the ABiH), 4D00399 (a 16 
November HVO order from Petkovic urging co-operation with the ABiH), 4D00389 (a 16 December 1992 HVO order 
from Petkovic urging co-operation with the ABiH), 4D00354 (an 11 January 1993 HVO order from Petkovic requesting 
a report on the situation in Gornji Vakuf and information regarding the deployment of ABiH units in the area), POll 15 
(a 13 January 1993 HVO order from Petkovic urging co-operation with the ABiH), 4D00433 (a 20 January 1993 HVO 
order from Petkovic urging co-operation with the ABiH), 4D00019 (a 27 January 1993 HVO order from Petkovic 
banning HVO units from carrying out offensives against the ABiH and ordering that conflicts with the ABiH be 
resolved through negotiations), P01709 (a 23 March 1993 ceasefire agreement signed by Petkovic and, for the ABiH, 
Pasalic), P01238, P01709 (a 20 January 1993 ceasefire agreement signed by Petkovic and, for the ABiH, Pasalic), 
P03584 (a 20 July 1993 decision of Alija Izetbegovic bearing a remark by Petkovic stating "make known to all units", 
requesting regular submission of reports on the conduct of ABiH units, and ordering full combat readiness of the HVO), 
P08188 (a 12 April 1994 order from Petkovic regarding the disengagement of military units in the Mostar ZP), 
4D00075 (a 9 February 1993 letter from Petkovic to Sefer HaliloviC regarding negotiations with the ABiH). 
8101 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 99, referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, Annex 3. The Appeals Chamber observes 
that Petkovic also points to excerpts of his own testimony. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 99, referring to Milivoj 
Petkovic, T. 49579-49580 (17 Feb 2010). In this regard, as stated above, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the 
Trial Chamber failed to consider PetkoviC's testimony, but rather that it did not accept this evidence. See supra, para. 
2386. 
8102 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 647, referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 537(vi), (viii), (ix). 
8103 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that paragraph 537(viii) of PetkoviC's final brief refers to its Annex 7, 
which is identical to Annex 3 of his appeal brief. See PetkoviC's Final Brief, para. 537(viii), referring to Annex 7. 
Compare Petko viC' s Appeal Brief, Annex 3 with Petko viC' s Final Brief, Annex 7. 
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Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic fails to show that the Trial Chamber did not 

take this evidence into account. 

2434. With respect to PetkoviC's intent to expel Muslims from the HZ(R) H-B and to discriminate 

against them, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber reached these conclusions 

based on numerous pieces of evidence establishing his intentional contribution to the crimes within 

the scope of the ICE.8104 The Trial Chamber also expressly considered PetkoviC's submissions at 

trial that he did not possess the relevant mens rea.8105 Against this background, the Appeals 

Chamber observes that Petkovic merely claims that the evidence he refers to is inconsistent with the 

Trial Chamber's findings concerning his mens rea, but fails to show why no reasonable trier of fact, 

based on this evidence, could have reached the same conclusion as the Trial Chamber. 8106 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

(iv) Conclusion 

2435. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he intended to expel the Muslim population from the 

HZ(R) H-B. 

(c) PetkoviC's significant contribution to the ICE 

2436. The Trial Chamber found that 

[W]ith regard to his role in implementing the common criminal purpose, the Chamber deems that 
the evidence shows beyond reasonable doubt that it was significant. By directing and controlling 
the HVO armed forces, by negotiating with the ABiH authorities and by implementing the policies 
and decisions of the government in the field, Milivoj Petkovic was one of the most important 

. members of the JCE. As a member of this JCE, he used the armed forces of the HZ(R) H-B to 
commit crimes that were part of the common criminal purpose and the actions of the members of 
the armed forces and the Military Police are attributable to him. 8107 

8104 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 817 ("In view of all the evidence analysed above, the [Trial] Chamber deems that the 
only possible inference it can reasonably draw is that Milivoj Petkovic intended to expel the Muslim popUlation from 
the HZ(R) H-B.") (emphasis added), 818 ("The Chamber deems that, by participating in the JCE, Milivoj Petkovic had 
the intention of discriminating against the Muslims in order to facilitate their eviction from these territories."). 
8105 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 647. 
8106 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that numerous pieces of evidence on which Petkovic relies were, in fact, 
expressly considered by the Trial Chamber. Compare PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 101 (referring to, inter alia, Exs. 
P01959, P01445, P02036) with Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 669 (referring to Ex. P02036), 676 (referring to Ex. 
POI445), 682 (referring to Ex. POI959). Petkovic also points to his own evidence at trial. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 
105 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49337 (11 Feb 2010)), 106 (referring to Milivoj Petkovic, T. 49369-49370 
(11 Feb 2010), T. 49417-49418 (15 Feb 2010)). As stated above, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial 
Chamber disregarded this evidence. See supra, para. 2386. 
8107 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
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2437. Petkovic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he significantly contributed to 

the JCE on the basis of his position and duties, rather than relying on his acts and omissions.8108 

Specifically, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he contributed to the JCE in 

light of his position and by participating in negotiations and ordering ceasefires as well as 

implementing Governm~nt decisions and policies.8109 He asserts that there is no evidence on. the 

record that shows that his involvement in these tasks was a contribution to the JCE. 8110 Further, 

Petkovic adds that, since he was not found responsible for crimes linked to the deportation or 

transfer of Muslims "in most municipalities and locations", the evidence on the record does not 

show that he contributed to the ethnic cleansing in such areas. 8111 

2438. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic's arguments should be dismissed.8112 It also 

contends that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Petkovic contributed to the JCE through 

his negotiations with the ABiH as well as by implementing Government decisions and policies. 8113 

2439. The Appeals Chamber considers that PetkoviC's arguments are based on a misrepresentation 

of the Trial Chamber's findings. 8114 While PetkoviC's control over the HVO and his involvement in 

negotiations with the ABiH as well as the implementation of Government policies and decisions 

were mentioned in the same portion of the analysis concerning his contribution to the JCE, a careful 

review of the Trial Judgement shows that these factors did not per se form the basis of the Trial 

Chamber's conclusion in this regard. 811S Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial 

8108 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 360. Petkovic also takes issue with the Trial Chamber's finding that he used the 
HVO to commit crimes, arguing that "[t]his inference implies that [he] actively participated in the commission of 
crimes by using armed forces and directly (dolus directus) intended to commit crimes. However, the [Trial] Chamber 
did not establish PetkoviC's dolus directus with regard to particular crimes." PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 358 
(emphasis in original), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112. 
8109 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 140, 162-165, 167-170,360. Petkovic also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in 
considering his implementation of Government policies as "an indication" of his membership in the JCE. PetkoviC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 167. Further, Petkovic asserts that he lacked adequate and timely notice of the allegation that he 
contributed to the JCE by participating in negotiations with the ABiH and implementing government policies in the 
field. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 161, 166. 
8110 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 162-163. Specifically, Petkovic contends that: (1) the Trial Chamber acknowledged 
that the negotiations were carried out in good faith; and (2) his involvement in negotiations and the cease fire orders 
were part of his lawful duties and that the Trial Chamber was required to establish that when carrying them out, he 
intended to further the JCE, which it failed to do. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 162(i), 164. Likewise, with respect to 
his role in implementing Government decisions and policies, Petkovic argues that: (1) as a military commander it was 
his duty to obey the directives of civilian superiors and that as a matter of law, this can only result in criminal 
responsibility if such orders were patently unlawful; (2) none of the policies referred to by the Trial Chamber were 
patently unlawful; and (3) none of his actions in carrying out these policies were shown to have been intended to further 
the JCE or to have contributed to it. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 167-169. 
8111 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 360. 
8112 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 97,107, fn. 1065. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 526 (23 Mar 2017). 
8113 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), paras 115-123. 
8114 With respect to PetkoviC's challenge to the Trial Chamber's finding that he used the HVO to commit crimes, the 
Appeals Chamber observes that he supports his contention by expressly referring to his sub-ground of appeal 4.3.1, 
which is dismissed elsewhere in the Judgement. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 358 (emphasis in original), referring to 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 112. See supra, para. 2210. 
8115 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds that in arguing that the Trial Chamber 
erred in considering his implementation of Government policies as "an indication" of his membership in the JCE, 

1011 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22884



Chamber based its findings regarding PetkoviC's contribution to the JCE on his use of the HVO to 

commit crimes that were part of the CCP.8116 In that sense, the Trial Chamber simply relied on 

PetkoviC's control over the HVO as well as his involvement in negotiations with the ABiH as well 

as the implementation of Government policies and decisions to attest that "Petkovic was one of the 

most important members of the JCE".8117 

2440. These considerations find further support in the fact that the impugned finding appears to 

recall the introductory portion of the section of the Trial Judge:rp.ent concerning PetkoviC's 

responsibility, which was dedicated to examining his functions and powers.8118 This section 

describes his command over the HVO, his role in representing the HVO during negotiations, and 

his power to transmit decisions from the HZ(R) H-B Government to the HVO.8119 Indeed, that 

section does not portray PetkoviC's control over the HVO, his involvement in negotiations with the 

ABiH, or his implementation of the Government's decisions in the field as forms of contribution to 

the JCE in and of themselves.8l20 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's contention 

that he was convicted merely on the basis of his powers and fu'nctions. 8121 

2441. As to PetkoviC's argument that the evidence on the record does not show that he contributed 

to the ethnic cleansing in most locations, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Trial Chamber 

found Petkovic responsible for all the crimes forming part of the JCE, including the deportation and 

forcible transfer of Muslims imputed to other JCE members by virtue of their contribution to the 

JCE.8122 In any event, contrary to PetkoviC's contention, it was not necessary for the Trial Chamber 

to find that he was directly involved in each incident of deportation or forcible transfer within the 

scope of the JCE in order to conclude that he significantly contributed to it. 8123 Accordingly, this 

contention is dismissed.8124 

Petko vic misrepresents the impugned finding as it does not reflect such conclusion. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
818. Accordingly, this contention is dismissed. 
8116 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. 
8117 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. The Appeals Chamber further notes that this finding does not refer to PetkoviC's 
power to issue ceasefire orders. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 818. Accordingly, insofar as PetkoviC's challenges 
concerning such orders pertain to this conclusion, they are dismissed. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 140,162-165. 
8118 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 650-686. 
8119 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 653-684. 
8120 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 653-686. 
8121 Based on these considerations, PetkoviC's claim that he lacked adequate and timely notice that he was alleged to 
have contributed to the JCE by participating in negotiations with the ABiH and implementing Government policies in 
the field are moot. 
8122 See supra, para. 2263. 
8123 See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1510; Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 119; Tadic Appeal 
Judgement, paras 196, 227. 
8124 The Appeals Chamber also notes that it has: (1) vacated PetkoviC's conviction for murder and willful killing in 
Gornji Vakuf Municipality; and (2) reversed the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his direct contribution to the 
crimes committed in Vares Municipality. See supra, para. 443, 2280. However, in light of the Trial Chamber's 
undisturbed findings concerning his contributions to crimes in the municipalities of Prozor, Gornji Vakuf, Jablanica, 
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(d) Conclusion 

2442. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Petkovic has failed to show any 

error in the Trial Chamber's conclusions related to his responsibility under JCE I and thus dismisses 

his sub-grounds of appeal 4.1.2, 4.2, 5.1.2, 5.1.3, and 5.2.3.2. 

7. Alleged errors regarding Petkovic's responsibility for the destruction of mosques CPetkoviC's 

Sub-ground 5.2.2.4 in part and Prosecution's Ground 1 in part) 

2443. In assessing PetkoviC's contribution to the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque in West 

Mostar, the Trial Chamber recalled its previous findings that, on or around 10 May 1993 and on the 

orders of Miljenko Lasic, the HVO destroyed Baba Besir Mosque.8125 The Trial Chamber further 

found that Petkovic, having failed to punish Lasic, accepted its destruction. 8126 

(a) Arguments of the Parties 

2444. Petkovic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when concluding that he "failed to 

punish Lasic and thus contributed to the commission of the crime".8127 Accordingly, Petkovic 

asserts that his conviction for the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque should be reversed. 8128 

2445. The Prosecution responds that Petkovic's conviction for the destruction of Baba Besir 

Mosque, pursuant to JCE I, should be "replaced" with a conviction, pursuant to JCE III, because the 

destruction of mosques did not become a JCE I crime until June 1993.8129 

2446. Petkovic replies that he agrees with the Prosecution that the Appeals Chamber must acquit 

him for the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque pursuant to JCE r.8130 

Mostar, Stolac, and Capljina, as well as Gabela Prison, Vojno Detention Centre, the Heliodrom, Ljubuski Prison and 
Vitina-Otok Camp, the Appeals Chamber finds that these errors do not affect the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 
PetkoviC's contribution to the JCE was significant. 
8125 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 729, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 791-792. See also Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 789, Vol. 3, para. 1608. 
8126 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 729-730, 820. 
8127 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 255. In this respect, Petkovic contends that there is no evidence that he was informed 
of LasiC's order to destroy Baba Besir Mosque or that he was aware of who perpetrated this crime. PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, paras 252-255, referring to Ex. P02264, Ex. P08287. In particular, Petkovic submits that because he did not know 
that Lasic ordered the mosque's destruction, there is no evidence to support the inference that he "failed to take any 
measures against the perpetrator of the crime". Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 252. 
8128 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 255. 
8129 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 195. In this context, the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber's 
finding that Petkovic intended the mosque's destruction encompasses the conclusion that Petkovic could foresee it and 
willingly took that risk. Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 195. The Appeals Chamber notes that the 
Prosecution makes similar arguments in its appeal brief, which are discussed below. See infra, paras 2452,2453-2454. 
8130 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 54. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 823-824 (28 Mar 2017). 
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(b) Analysis 

(i) Alleged errors concerning PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I for the destruction of 

the Baba Besir and Skrobucani mosques 

2447. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Petkovic 

accepted the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque, which was predicated on its findings that despite 

being informed of the mosque's destruction on the day it occurred, Petkovic failed to take any 

measures against Lasic, is part of the section concerning PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I, and, 

more specifically, his contribution to the crimes in Mostar Municipality.8131 Further, the App~als 

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber neither expressly excluded the destruction of Baba Besir 

Mosque from its determinations under JCE I,8132 nor did it mention that crime in the section 

concerning PetkoviC's JCE III liability.8133 On the basis of all of these considerations,8134 the 

Appeals Chamber considers that Petkovic was indeed held responsible for the destruction of Baba 

Besir Mosque, pursuant to JCE I liability. 

2448. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that the Trial Chamber unequivocally found that 

the crime of destruction or wilful damage to institutions dedicated to religion as a violation of the 

laws or customs of war (Count 21) was not a part of the CCP before June 1993.8135 The Appeals 

Chamber further recalls that what matters for JCE I liability is "whether the crime in question forms 

part of the common purpose",8136 whereas under JCE ill liability, an accused can be convicted of a 

crime falling outside the common criminal purpose.8137 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds 

8131 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 725, 729-730. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 688 (stating that within the 
section entitled "Milivoj PetkoviC's Responsibility Under JCE I", the Trial Chamber would analyse the extent to which 
Petkovic contributed to the crimes committed by the HVO in furtherance of the CCP). 
8132 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 710 (expressly excluding thefts in Gornji Vakuf from consideration of 
PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I), 718 (expressly excluding destruction of mosques in Jablanica from 
consideration of PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I), 736 (expressly excluding murders, sexual abuse, and thefts 
committed as of June 1993 iI,l West Mostar from consideration of PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I), 763 (expressly 
excluding thefts in Vares town from consideration of PetkoviC's responsibility under JCE I), 783 (expressly excluding 
murders in Dretelj Prison from consideration of PetkoviC' s responsibility under JCE I). 
8133 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 822-853. 
8134 In the view of the Appeals Chamber, the inclusion of the crime of destruction or wilful damage to institutions 
dedicated to religion (Count 21) under the heading "Municipality of Mostar" in paragraph 820 of Volume 4 of the Trial 
Judgement is not necessarily determinative in this instance, which concerns the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque in 
West Mostar, as the Trial Chamber also found that: (1) through the shelling of East Mostar, the HVO destroyed or 
severely damaged ten mosques; and (2) that Petkovic planned the shelling during the siege of East Mostar. Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 59 (referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1367-1377), 730, 747, 750. 
8135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 433, 1213. See also supra, para. 799. 
8136 Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 410. See also Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 418-419. 
8137 Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 411. Under JCE III, an accused can be held responsible for a crime outside the 
common criminal purpose if, under the circumstances of the case: (1) it was foreseeable to the accused that such a crime 
might be perpetrated by one or more of the persons used by him (or by any other member of the ICE) in order to carry 
out the actus reus of the crimes forming part of the common criminal purpose; and (2) the accused willingly took the 
risk that such a crime might occur by joining or continuing to participate in the enterprise. Stanish! and Zupljanin 
Appeal Judgement, paras 595, 614; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1061, 1272, 1525, 1557. See Popovic et al. 
Appeal Judgement, para. 1431; Bordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 906; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 365, 411. 
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that the Trial Chamber erred in finding Petkbvic responsible, pursuant to JCE I liability, for the 

destruction of Baba Besir Mosque, as this crime occurred on or about 10 May 1993, prior to the 

point at which the Trial Chamber found that this crime became a part of the CCP.8138 On this basis, 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses the remainder of PetkoviC' s alleged errors of fact as moot. 8139 

2449. The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber also found Petko vic 

responsible for the destruction of the Skrobucani mosque, pursuant to JCE I, contrary to its 

unequivocal finding that Count 21 did not become a part of the CCP before June 1993.8140 

Specifically, the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic intended the destruction of the Skrobucani 

mosque in Prozor Municipality, which the Trial Chamber found to have occurred in "Mayor 

June 1993".8141 In light of the error identified above,8142 the Appeals Chamber further considers that 

the Trial Chamber also erred in finding Petkovic responsible, pursuant to JCE I liability, for the 

destruction of the Skrobucani mosque.8143 

2450. Having identified these two errors, the Appeals Chamber will address the impact of these 

errors below. 

(ii) Alternative Modes of Liability 

2451. In light of the analysis above, the question now before the Appeals Chamber is whether, on 

the basis of the findings of the Trial Chamber, PetkoviC's convictions for the above-mentioned 

incidents can be affirmed under an alternative mode of liability. In this regard, the Prosecution 

submits that, given that the Trial Chamber found that Petkovic: (1) could have foreseen the 

destruction of the mosques in SoviCi and Doljani in April 1993; and (2) intended the destruction of 

the Skrobucani mosque and Baba Besir Mosque, the Appeals Chamber should revise PetkoviC's 

See also Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 228. The Appeals Chamber also recalls that, under the third category of JCE, 
an accused may incur criminal responsibility for crimes committed by non-members of the JCE "provided that it had 
been shown that the crimes could be imputed to at least one member of the JCE and that this member, when using a 
principal perpetrator, acted in accordance with the common plan". Stani§ic and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, para. 994; 
Popovic et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 1679; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 911; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, 
Earas 413, 430. 

138 To the extent that the Prosecution argues that this conviction, pursuant to JCE I liability, should be replaced by a 
conviction, pursuant to JCE III liability, these arguments will be addressed below. See infra, paras 2452-2454. 
8139 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that none of the findings of the Trial Chamber impugned by Petkovic -
namely that he: (1) was informed of the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque; (2) failed to take any measures against 
Lasic, after the destruction of the mosque occurred; and (3) thereby accepted the mosque's destruction - can be 
considered as indications that this incident was foreseeable to Petkovic and he willingly took that risk, before this 
destruction occurred, as will be analysed further below. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 729-730, referring to, inter alia, 
Ex. P02264. See infra, paras 2452-2454. 
8140 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 342, 433,695,699,820, 1213. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 431. 
See also supra, para. 799. 
8141 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 95-96, Vol. 4, paras 695, 699, 820. 
8142 See supra, para. 2448. 
8143 See Prosecution's Appeal Brief, paras 196-197 where the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in 
convicting Petkovic of these crimes, pursuant to JCE 1. 

1015 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22880



related convictions and instead hold him responsible for the latter two incidents pursuant to JCE III 

liability.8144 Petkovic responds that although the Trial Chamber erroneously convicted him pursuant 

to JCE I for these crimes, he should be acquitted as the Trial Chamber's findings "do not contain 

sufficient elements" for a conviction under JCE III liability.8145 

2452. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea requirements of JCE I and JCE III differ. 8146 

Specifically, the mens rea for JCE I requires that an accused share the intent to commit the crimes 

that form part of the common purpose and the intent to participate in a common plan aimed at their 

commis~ion.8147 By contrast, the mens rea for JCE III requires that: 

under the circumstances of the case: (i) it was foreseeable that such a crime might be perpetrated 
by one or [more of the persons used by him (or by any other member of the JCE) in order to carry 
out the actus reus of the crimes forming part of the common purpose] and (ii) the accused 
willingly took that risk (dolus eventualis). The crime must be shown to have been foreseeable to 
h d · . 1 8148 t e accuse III partlcu ar. 

2453. Concerning PetkoviC's ability to foresee the destruction of both the Baba Besir Mosque and 

the Skrobucani mosque, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that Petkovic 

could foresee the destruction of mosques in SoviCi and Doljani already in April 1993 and willingly 

took the risk that such crimes might occur. 8149 In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber noted 

that the HVO set fire to all Muslim houses and two mosques on orders from "senior commanders" 

and that Petko vic was regularly informed of the combat operations in J ablanica Municipality 

between 16 and 17 April 1993.8150 The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber 

found that Petkovic intended the destruction of Muslim property in the municipalities of Gornji 

Vakuf and Jablanica between January and May 1993.8151 In addition, concerning the Skrobucani 

mosque, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's findings that: (1) in April 1993, 

following an attack by the HVO, Muslim property was destroyed in two other villages in the Prozor 

Municipality, and that, given the similarities between the operations conducted in those villages, 

destruction of Muslim property was part of the plan;8152 (2) Petkovic directed the operations in 

8144 Prosecution's Appeal Brief, paras 196-197. 
8145 PetkoviC's Response Brief, para. 94. See also PetkoviC's Response Brief, paras 92-93. 
8146 See Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 228; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 82-86. 
8147 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 386; Popovic at al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1369; Brdanin Appeal 
Judgement, para. 365. See supra, para. 2372. 
8148 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1431, quoting Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 365. See Stanisic and 
Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 595, 614, 688, 958, 1055. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 514 (recalling 
that the possibility that a crime committed be "reasonably foreseeable to the accused"). See also infra, para. 2836. 
8149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 852. The Appeals Chamber further notes that this conviction is affirmed on appeal 
below. See infra, para. 2966. 
8150 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 850. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 851, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2. paras 565,641,643,646-650, Ex. P02063. 
8151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 704,707-708,710,716-718. See supra, para. 2191. 
8152 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 692. 
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Prozor between April and 22 June 1993, and in July and August 1993;8153 and (3) he intended that 

the Skrobucani mosque be destroyed. 8154 The Appeals Chamber notes that this finding on 

PetkoviC's intent remains undisturbed on appea1.8155 In particular, the Trial Chamber found that 

during the attack on the Skrobucani village, the HVO destroyed property belonging to Muslims and 

that "destruction was part of a preconceived plan" that included the destruction of the Skrobucani 

mosque.8156 In light of these findings of the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

only reasonable inference is that it was foreseeable to Petkovic that both the Skrobucani mosque 

and Baba Besir Mosque might be destroyed and that he willingly took that risk.8157 

2454. The Appeals Chamber finds that on the basis of the Trial Chamber's findings a reasonable 

trier of fact would be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Petko vic is responsible for destruction 

of these mosques, pursuant to JCE III. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber reverses the Trial 

Chamber's finding that Petkovic is responsible for these incidents pursuant to JCE I, and instead 

finds him responsible pursuant to JCE III. 

(c) Conclusion 

2455. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber grants PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 

5.2.2.4 in part and the Prosecution's groupd of appeal 1 in part. The Appeals Chamber alsb finds 

him responsible, under JCE III, for the crimes of destruction or wilful damage done to institutions 

dedicated to religion or education, in relation to the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque and the 

Skrobucani mosque. The Appeals Chamber will consider the impact of these findings, if any, in the 

appropriate section below. 8158, 

8. Alleged errors regarding the Trial Chamber's findings on the plurality of persons sharing the 

CCP (PetkoviC's Sub-ground 5.2.3.3) 

2456. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber concluded that a plurality of persons, 

including Petkovic, consulted each other to devise and implement the CCP.8159 In so concluding, the 

Trial Chamber found that Petkovic and other JCE members: (1) participated in the planning andlor 

conducting of military operations in Gomji Vakuf Municipality; (2) planned the attacks in the 

8153 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691-694, 696~697. 
8154 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 695, 699. 
8155 See supra, para. 2449. 
8156 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 695. 
8157 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "[kJnowledge of factors such as the nature of the conflict, the 
means by which a joint criminal enterprise is to be achieved, and how the joint criminal enterprise is implemented on 
the ground may make the possibility that such a crime might occur sufficiently substantial as to be foreseeable" to JCE 
members. Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 627. 
8158 See infra, paras 2468, 3363. 
8159 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
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municipalities of Prozor and Jablanica in April 1993 pursuant to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum; (3) 

planned the campaign of arrests and mass detentions of Muslims who did not belong to any armed 

force; and (4) planned and/or facilitated the military operations in Vares Municipality in October 

1993 arid attempted to conceal crimes committed during the attack on Stupni DO. 8160 Moreover, the 

Trial Chamber noted that: (1) Prlic, Coric, and Pusic contributed to the forced departure of detained 

Muslims to third countries;8161 and (2) Prlic, Praljak, Petkovic, and Mate Boban attended several 

presidential meetings in the presence of Franjo Tudman between September 1992 and March 

1994.8162 Additionally, the Trial Chamber noted that by performing their respective functions from 

January 1993 to April 1994, Pdic, Petkovic, and Coric continuously contributed to the JCE.8163 The 

Trial Chamber concluded that because JCE members used the members and structures of the HVO 

to commit crimes that were part of the CCP, the HVO's crimes were attributable to the JCE 

members, including Petkovic.8164 

(a) Arguments of the Parties 

2457. Petkovic submits that in finding that a plurality of persons, including himself, consulted 

with each other to devise and implement the CCP, the Trial Chamber relied on a number of 

incorrect assertions. 8165 In this regard, Petkovic argues that: (1) he did not participate in the 

planning or conducting of the military operation launched in Gornji Vakuf Municipality on 

18 January 1993;8166 (2) there is no evidence that he planned the attacks in the municipalities of 

Prozor and Jablanica;8167 (3) the HVO did not detain Muslims "who did not belong to any armed 

force,,;8168 (4) the Trial Chamber's finding tqat Ivica Rajic made decisions about military actions in 

Vares and Stupni Do "disproves the thesis" that Petkovic planned or facilitated these operations;8169 

(5) the Trial Chamber's finding that Petko vic attempted to conceal crimes is incorrect and 

unreasonable;8170 and (6) the Trial Chamber's finding that he used members of the HVO to commit 

8160 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1220. 
8161 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220-1221. 
8162 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1223. 
8163 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1225. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1230. 
8164 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
8165 PetkoviC' s Appeal Brief, para. 362. 
8166 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(i). 
8167 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(ii). Petkovic further submits that the Trial Chamber failed to give a reasoned 
opinion when it found that he planned the military actions pursuant to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. PetkoviC's Appeal 
Brief, para. 362(ii). ' 
8168 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(iii). 
8169 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(iv)(a), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 
3, paras 314-316, referred to in PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. Additionally, Petkovic: (1) challenges the finding 
that Stojic and Praljak also planned or facilitated these operations; and (2) argues that the Trial Chamber failed to give a 
reasoned opinion as to how these military actions could contribute to the JCE. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(iv). 
8170 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(v). Petkovic also challenges the finding that Praljak attempted to conceal crimes 
during the attack on Stupni Do in October 1993. PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(v). 
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crimes that were part of the CCP "implies" direct intent to commit such crimes - an inference that, 

he asserts, is not supported by evidence.8171 

2458. Further, Petkovic submits that: (1) there is no basis for the Trial Chamber's finding that he 

"was the member of the JCE group who contributed" to the forced departure of detained Muslims to 

third countries as he was neither found to have contributed to nor convicted of these deportation 

crimes;8172 (2) the evidence "clearly proves" that Petkovic attended only one presidential meeting, 

not "several,,;8173 and (3) the Trial Chamber erred in law when it "asserted that performing 

functions is per se [a] contribution" to the JCE.8174 

2459. The Prosecution responds that PetkoviC's challenge to the reasonable finding that he 

planned the attacks on the municipalities of Prozor and Jablanica pursuant to the 4 April 1993 

Ultimatum ignores relevant findings. 8175 It also submits that Petkovic incorrectly claims that he 

attended only one presidential meeting, when he in fact attended at least twO.8176 According to the 

Prosecution, the Trial Chamber's finding that the CCP was implemented by a plurality of persons, 

including Petko vic, was reasonable in light of the evidence. 8177 

2460. Petkovic replies that one of the meetings to which the Prosecution points was not a 

" 'd . 1" . 8178 presl entIa meetmg. 

(b) Analysis 

2461. The Appeals Chamber first dismisses a number of PetkoviC's submissions pertaining to the 

commission of crimes in various municipalities and his contribution thereto as he expressly relies 

upon and repeats arguments in his other grounds of appeal, which were dismissed elsewhere.8179 

8171 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(ix). 
8172 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(vi), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1221. 
8173 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(vii), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1223, Ex. P06454. 
8174 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(viii). 
8175 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 257. 
8176 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 258 & fn. 1062, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 52, 191, 
761. 
8177 Prosecution's Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 256; Appeal Hearing, AT. 529, 545 (23 Mar 2017). The Prosecution 
asserts that PetkoviC's remaining challenges repeat arguments raised elsewhere in his appeal brief. Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Petkovic), para. 259 & fn. 1065 and references cited therein. 
8178 PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 80, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 52, Ex. P02059. 
8179 See Petkovic's Appeal Brief, para. 362(i), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 231. Cf supra, para. 2171. See 
PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(ii), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 215-217, 238-240. Cf supra, paras 
2143-2144,2186. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(iii), referring to Petkovic's Appeal Brief, paras 174-213. Cf 
supra, para. 382. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(v), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 291. Cf supra, 
para. 2293. See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(ix), referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 215-221, 
231-232, 238-240, 270, 277-280. Cj. supra, paras 2144, 2149, 2171, 2186, 2242, 2249, 2258. Insofar as Petkovic 
challenges the Trial Chamber's finding with respect to Praljak's responsibility concerning the concealment of crimes 
during the attack on Stupni Do in October 1993, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed that finding elsewhere 
in the Judgement. See supra, paras 2059-2062. His argument is therefore dismissed as moot. 
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2462. The Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's submission that there is no evidence to support the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he planned the military actions in the municipalities of Prozor and 

J ab1anica pursuant to the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber considers 

that he disregards the evidence expressly relied upon by the Trial Chamber when reaching its 

conclusion that the HVO operations in these municipalities were the result of a preconceived plan to 

implement the 4 April 1993 Ultimatum,8180 and that he participated in planning and directing the 

operations in Prozor and Jablanica. 8181 For example, the Trial Chamber considered: (1) the meeting 

of HVO HZ H-B on 3 April 1993, which was attended by Pdic and Stojic, among others, where it 

was decided that if the Muslim authorities refused t<.> sign a statement on the subordination of ABiH 

to the HVO in provinces 3, 8, and 10, by 15 April 1993, the HVO would do it unilaterally and by 

mllitary means;8182 (2) the fact that on 15 April 1993 the HVO began shelling the town of Jablanica 

and on 17 April 1993 launched an attack on Jablanica valley, including the villages of SoviCi and 

Doljani, following which the Muslim houses were set on fire and population alTested;8183 (3) the 

fact that on 16 April 1993 Siljeg drew up a plan for attack on several villages in the Prozor 

Municipality and sent it to the Main Staff, which was then followed by an attack on those villages 

on 17 April 1993, during which Muslim houses were set on fire;8184 and (4) a number of documents 

leading it to the conclusion that Petkovic planned and directed the operations in Prozor and 

Jab lani ca. 8185 

2463. The Appeals Chamber also considers that when arguing that the Trial Chamber's finding 

that Rajic made decisions about military actions in Vares and Stupni Do "disproves the thesis" that 

he planned or facilitated these operations, Petkovic expressly relies upon similar arguments that the 

Appeals Chamber in fact grants elsewhere in the Judgement. 8186 However, he fails to show how this 

impacts the impugned finding that a plurality of persons, including Petkovic, consulted each other 

8180 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 138-146, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1220 & fn. 2282. See also 
supra, fn. 3762. To the extent that Petkovic argues, as a separate matter, that the Trial Chamber failed to give a 
reasoned opinion when reaching this conclusion, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this as an undeveloped assertion. 
8181 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691-697, 699, 712-716, referred to in Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1220 & fn. 
2281. 
8182 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 138. 
8183 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 143-144. 
8184 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 141. 
8185 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 691-697, 712, 714-715 and references cited therein. 
8186 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(iv)(a), referring to PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 288. Cf supra, 
paras 2275-2280. The Appeals Chamber dismisses PetkoviC's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to give a reasoned 
opinion as to how these military actions could contribute to the common criminal purpose, as he repeats submissions 
dismissed elsewhere. See supra, para. 972. 
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to devise and implement the CCP.8187 Specifically, this finding was supported by a number of other 

factors. 8188 Thus, his argument is dismissed.8189 

2464. When submitting that the Trial Chamber's finding that he used HVO members to commit 

crimes "implies" direct intent to commit such crimes, which is not supported by evidence, Petkovic 

again points to, inter alia, his submissions regarding his contribution to crimes committed in Vares 

and Stupni Do, which were granted elsewhere.8190 However, he fails to show, in this case, how an 

error with respect to the Trial Chamber's finding on his contribution to crimes committed in that 

location impacts the finding that Petkovic used HVO members and structures to commit crimes that 

were part of the CCP in light of the numerous other factors relied upon by the Trial Chamber in 

reaching that conclusion.8191 His argument is dismissed. 

2465. The Appeals Chamber also observes that in claiming that the Trial Chamber erred in finding 

that he was "the member of the JCE group who contributed to" the forced departure of detained 

Muslims to third countties, Petkovic again fails to appreciate that he was convicted for all crimes 

forming part of the JCE, rather than only for those to which he directly contributed.8192 In any 

event, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber was not required to find that Petkovic 

contributed to each incident in order to conclude that he was a member of the JCE. 8193 Accordingly, 

the Appeals Chamber rejects PetkoviC's obscure and unsubstantiated argument that the Trial 

Chamber found that he "was the member of the JCE group who contributed to" the forced 

deportation crimes. He also fails to demonstrate how his submission that the evidence "clearly 

proves" that he attended only one presidential meeting, not "several", impacts the impugned 

finding. 8194 Accordingly, his arguments are dismissed. 

8187 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1231. 
8188 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1220-1223. See supra, para. 2461 & fn. 8179 (dismissing Petkovic's challenges 
to some of these factors). 
8189 To the extent that he makes similar arguments with respect to StojiC's and Praljak's responsibility concerning the 
crimes committed in Vares and Stupni Do, the Appeals Chamber dismisses such arguments for the same reason. 
8190 See PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(ix), referring to, inter alia, PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, paras 287-289. Cf 
supra, paras 2275-2280. The Appeals Chamber notes that Petkovic also points to his submissions regarding crimes 
committed in other locations, which were dismissed elsewhere. See Petkovic Appeal Brief, para. 362(ix); supra, para. 
2461 & fn. 8179. 
8191 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 2303, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 687-819 (PetkoviC's 
responsibility under JCE I). See also supra, para. 2461 & fn. 8179 (dismissing Petkovic's challenges to some'of these 
factors). 
8192 Specifically, Petkovic was convicted for all deportation-related incidents forming part of the CCP insofar as he 
si~nificant1y contributed to the JCE. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 820-821. 
81 3 Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1510; Vasiljevic Appeal Judgement, para. 119; Tadic Appeal Judgement, 
Earas 196,227. 

194 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1222-1223, 1231. The Appeals Chamber notes, in any case, that PetkoviC's 
submission, in reply, that one of the meetings to which the Prosecution points was not a "presidential" meeting, is 
incorrect. See PetkoviC's Reply Brief, para. 80, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 52, Ex. P02059. 
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2466. The Appeals Chamber also finds that Petkovic misrepresents the Trial Judgement when he 

argues that the Trial Chamber "asserted that performing functions is per se [a] contribution" to the 

JCE. 8195 A plain reading of this portion of the Trial Judgement shows that the Trial Chamber did not 

rely on PrliC's, Petkovic's, and CoriC's functions in abstract terms, but rather on the criminal 

manner in which such functions were concretely carried out. 8196 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

dismisses PetkoviC's argument. 

2467. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Petko viC' s challenge to the finding 

that a plurality of persons, including himself, consulted with each other to devise and implement the 

CCP. His sub-ground of appeal 5.2.3.3 is therefore dismissed. 

9. Conclusion 

2468. The Appeals Chamber has granted PetkoviC's sub-grounds of appeal 5.2.2.6 and 5.2.2.7.2, 

both in part and has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he directly contributed to the 

crimes committed in Vares town and Stupni Do. The Appeals Chamber has also granted PetkoviC's 

sub-ground of appeal 5.2.2.4 and the Prosecution's ground of appeal 1 in part and found that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding Petkovic responsible, pursuant to JCE I liability, for the destruction 

of Baba Besir Mosque and the Skrobucani mosque. However, the Appeals Chamber found Petkovic 

responsible, under JCE III for the crimes of destruction or wilful damage done to institutions 

dedicated to religion or education, in relation to the destruction of Baba Besir Mosque and the 

Skrobucani mosque. The Appeals Chamber has also granted PetkoviC's sub-ground of appeal 

5.2.3.1, in part and found that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Petkovic contributed to 

the commission of the crimes committed by the Bruno Busic Regiment in Iablanica Municipality, 

including at the Fish Farm, to the extent that it found that, having been aware of the criminal 

behaviour of its members since January 1993, he deployed this unit to Jablanica Municipality in 

April 1993. However, in light of the remaining findings which have been upheld, the Appeals 

Chamber considers that Petkovic has not shown any error invalidating the verdict or resulting in a 

miscarriage of justice in relation to the Trial Chamber's conclusions concerning his contribution to, 

and mens rea for, the JCE. The effect of the Appeals Chamber's findings, including those 

8195 PetkoviC's Appeal Brief, para. 362(viii). . 
8196 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber observes that in reaching its conclusion, the Trial Chamber expressly referred 
to the sections of the Trial Judgement concerning PdiC's, PetkoviC's, and CoriC's respective contributions to the JCE. 
See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 2293, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 122-279, 687-821, 1094-1212. 
Moreover, the Appeals Chamber recalls that "the law does not foresee specific types of conduct which per se could not 
be considered a contribution to the common purpose". Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 696. See also Krajisnik 
Appeal Judgement, para. 695. 
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concerning the Trial Chamber's erroneous findings, will be discussed in the section pertaining to 

sentencing below. 8197 

8197 See infra, para. 3363. 
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I. Alleged Errors in Relation to Valentin Corie's Participation in the JeE 

1. Introduction 

2469. The Trial Chamber found that in 1991 and eady 1992, Valentin Corie held several positions 

in the HVO and Military Police, and that on 24 June 1992 at the latest, he took up the position of 

Chief of the Military Police Administration, a post he occupied until 10 November 1993, when he 

was appointed Minister of the Interior of the HR H_B.8198 The Trial Chamber found that Corie 

contributed to the JCE from January 1993 to April 1994,8199 and' that his contribution was 

significant. 8200 

2470. The Trial Chamber made several findings concerning Corie's contributions, including, 

inter alia, that: (1) from January until,lO November 1993, Corie, as Chief of the Military Police 

Administration, had command and control power over the Military Police units, including the 

power to re-subordinate them to the HVO OZS;8201 (2) he knowingly engaged Military Police units 

in the eviction operations in Gornji Vakuf Municipality in January 1993, in the municipalities of 

Stolac and Capljina in the summer of 1993, and in Mostar Municipality from 9 May until at least 

October 1993, during which the CCP crimes were committed;8202 (3) he personally participated in 

planning the operations to evict Muslims from Mostar on 9 May 1993 by organising the placing of 

Muslims in detention and holding them in detention the following days;8203 (4) in the summer of 

1993, while he had the duty to fight crime in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B, he knowingly turned a 

blind eye to the crimes committed by HVO members against Muslims in West Mostar during the 

eviction operations;8204 (5) holding a key role in the operation of the network of HVO detention 

centres until 10 November 1993, he contributed to the arrest and detention of thousands of 

Muslims, keeping them detained in harsh conditions where they were mistreated, beaten, and 

abused, using them or allowing them to be used for work on the front line, transferring them from 

one detention centre to another, and releasing them on condition that they leave the territory of the 

HZ(R) H-B together with their families. 8205 It further found that as Chief of the Military Police 

Administration and later Minister of the Interior, Corie: (1) had the power to control the freedom of 

movement of people and goods in the territory of the HZ(R) H-B, including the movement of 

humanitarian convoys, until April 1994 in particular by way of HVO checkpoints;8206 and 

8198 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 86l. 
8199 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1225-1226, 1230. 
8200 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8201 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8202 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8203 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8204 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8205 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8206 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1003. 
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(2) achieved part of the CCP by a blockade of the Muslim population of East Mostar and of 

humanitarian aid. 8207 

2471. Regarding CoriC's mens rea under JCE I liability, the Trial Chamber concluded that he: 

(1) intended that all the crimes that were part of the CCP be committed;8208 (2) shared the intent to 

expel the Muslim population from the territory of HZ(R) H-B with other JeE members;8209 and 

(3) intended to discriminate and persecute the Muslim population.8210 

2472. The Trial Chamber convicted Corie pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute, for committing, 

pursuant to JCE I liability, various crimes amounting to grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions, 

violations of the laws or customs of war, and/or crimes against humanity under Articles 2, 3, and 

5 of the Statute, respectively.8211 He was sentenced to a single sentence of 16 years of 

imprisonment. 8212 

2473. Corie challenges these and related findings of the Trial Chamber with regard to his JeE 

contribution and lnens rea.8213 These challenges will be addressed in the following sections. In this 

respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls its prior findings that the Prosecution failed to demonstrate 

that CoriC's defence was not materially impaired in relation to his role in the JeE as Minister of the 

Interior, and that it did not therefore meet its burden on appeal. 8214 The Appeals Chamber has thus 

granted CoriC's ground of appeal 11 in part and has reversed the Trial Chamber's findings on, and 

vacated his convictions in relation to, his role in the JeE as Minister of the Interior as of 

8207 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1003. 
8208 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8209 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8210 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8211 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1006, Disposition, p. 431. These crimes were: persecution as a crime against 
humanity (Count 1); murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva 
Conventions (Count 3); deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); 
unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against 
humanity (Count 10); unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 11); 
inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of 
confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity 
(Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawfullabour as a violation 
of the laws or customs of War (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and 
carried out unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); destruction or wilful 
damage done to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); 
unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on 
civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes 
also fell within the framework of the JCE, meaning Corie was also responsible for them, but did not enter convictions 
for them based on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of confinement) as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war 
(Count 17); and wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68, Disposition, p. 431. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1260-1266. 
8212 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 431. 
8213 CoriC's Appeal Brief, grounds of appeal 2, 6-7, 10-11 in part, 13-14. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 30-32. 
8214 See supra, para. 105. 
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10 November 1993.8215 As a result, it need not consider Corie's arguments in relation to his role in 

the JCE as Minister of the Interior and dismisses them as moot. 8216 

2. Preliminary issues 

2474. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has inherent discretion to determine which 

of the parties' submissions merit a reasoned opinion in writing and that it may dismiss arguments 

which are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.8217 In order for the 

Appeals Chamber to assess a party's arguments on appeal, the party is expected to present its case 

clearly, logically, and exhaustively.8218 The standard of appellate review specifies the types of 

deficiencies in submissions on appeal that will lead to summary dismissal by the 

Appeals Chamber. 8219 

2475. The Appeals Chamber observes that Corie's appeal brief deviates to an egregious extent and 

with striking regularity from the obligations of an appealing party pursuant to the standard of 

appellate review. Pre-eminent among these deficiencies is that, throughout his appeal brief, Corie 

repeats arguments that were unsuccessful at trial without any demonstration that their rejection by 

the Trial Chamber constituted an error watTanting the intervention of the Appeals Chamber. In so 

doing, Corie reproduces paragraphs and footnotes from his final brief - in many instances, 

verbatim.822o The Appeals Chamber recalls in this regard that the MrkSic and Sljvancanin 

Appeals Chamber stated that: 

This practice is unacceptable; an appeal is not an opportunity for the parties to reargue their cases 
or, "for the Appeals Chamber to reconsider the evidence and factors submitted before the Trial 
Chamber". The Appeals Chamber emphasizes that an appellant cannot hope to see his appeal 
succeed by simply repeating or referring to- arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless he can 
demonstrate that the Trial Chamber's rejection of them constituted such an error as to warrant the 
intervention of the Appeals Chamber.822 

2476. An additional deficiency that permeates his appeal brief, and which is linked to his choice 

to advance trial arguments on appeal, is that Corie regularly fails to engage with the 

Trial Judgement. In so doing, he fails to identify the findings he purports to contest. Other common 

deficiencies in his submissions that are formally recognised as such under the standard of appellate 

review include that they: (1) misrepresent the challenged factual findings; (2) fail to articulate an 

8215 S 1 ee supra, para. 05. 
8216 See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 251, 259, 277. 
8217 See supra, para. 24. 
8218 See supra, para. 24. See also Practice Direction on Formal Requirements, para. 4. 
8219 See supra, para. 25. 
8220 See infra, paras 2501, 2562, 2594., 
8221 MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para. 214 (footnotes omitted). 
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error; and (3) are undeveloped, irrelevant, or obscure.8222 These deficiencies are often found in 

combination in relation to the same submission.8223 

2477. In view of the pervasive deficiencies in the argumentation of Cork~'s appeal brief, the 

Appeals Chamber has only considered those of his submissions that are, in its view, in accordance 

with the standard of appellate review. Submissions suffering from the above or other formally 

recognised deficiencies have been dismissed by the Appeals Chamber without detailed analysis in 

sections designated "summarily dismissed submissions". 8224 

3. Alleged errors related to Corie's powers regarding the command of the Military Police, 

his knowledge of the CCP crimes committed by the Military Police units, and his powers in 

fighting crime (Corie's Grounds 2, 7, 10, 11, 13, and 14, all in part) 

(a) Corie's powers over the Military Police 

2478. The Trial Chamber found that Corie had powers of command and control over the Military 

Police units, including the power to re-subordinate these units,8225 and to organise the Military 

Polide and define the rules governing its operation, including responsibility for the recruitment and 

basic and advanced training of HVO military policemen.8226 It found that Military Police units were 

under dual command, with units being required to answer to the orders of both the HVO 

commander on the ground and, on occasion, to those of the Military Police Administration.8227 In 

particular, it found that: (1) from at least April 1992 to July 1993, Military Police units were 

subordinated to the commander of the HVO unit to which they were attached to CatTY out their 

"daily duties", but Corie retained some power of command at this time;8228 (2) from the second half 

of 1992 to roughly July 1993, the Military Police Administration exercised direct command over 

the Military Police units, but from July 1993, these powers weakened and were limited to defining 

the procedures that the Military Police were to follow and the deployment policy for that police 

force;8229 and (3) at least between July and October 1993, Corie had the power to re-subordinate the 

Military Police units, and even when re-subordination occurred, Corie did not completely lose his 

powers of command.823o The Trial Chamber also found that the Military Police Administration in 

general, and Corie in particular, were responsible for the recruitment and the basic and advanced 

8222 See infra, paras 2501, 2562, 2594. 
8223 See infra, paras 2501, 2562, 2594. 
8224 See infra, paras 2501, 2562, 2594. 
8225 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 915. 
8226 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 915. 
8227 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 945,961,971. 
8228 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 867. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 959-961. 
8229 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 962-963; Trial JUdgement, Vol. 4, para. 868. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
para. 964. 
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training of HVO military policemen, including courses on the international law of war and 

humanitarian law.8231 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2479. Corie submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its findings on the command authority of the 

Military Police Administration over the Military Police units.8232 Specifically, he first argues that 

the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that there was a dual chain of command,8233 as it: (1) did not 

adequately consider the brigade Military Police units in its analysis;8234 and (2) reached its 

conclusions on the basis of Corie's orders without considering their contents or whether they were 

actually performed, ignoring the evidence of Witness Zvonimir Skender.8235 Second, in relation to 

the Trial Chamber's findings on the reforms of the Military Police command structure in July and 

December 1993, Corie asserts that the Trial Chamber disregarded the fact that "if you claim that 

after the new changes the [Military Police] units were commanded by the [Military Police 

Administration], it means that until these changes they were not".8236 He argues that although the 

Trial Chamber "conceded" that from 28 July 1993, the Military Police Administration ceased to 

perform even "the limited administrative logistical task of sending [Military Police] units to the 

terrain", it erroneously found, on the basis of two documents (Exhibits P05478 and P04947), that he 

still maintained command over Military Police battalions, without examining whether these 

documents were delivered to the recipients or enacted. 8237 

2480. Third, Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the dual chain of 

command generated confusion among Military Police unit commanders by, inter alia, disregarding 

the evidence of Witness NO. 8238 Corie further contends that the Trial Chamber erred when 

concluding that the aim of the Military Police reforms of July and December 1993 was to clarify the 

confused command chain, contradicting its prior finding that the reforms were intended to re-focus 

the activities of the Military Police around its original mandate following the deployment of 

Military Police units from the front lines.8239 Fourth, Corie submits that the Trial Chamber cited his 

8230 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 869-871. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 966-970. 
8231 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 875-876. 
8232 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 40, 229. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 58, 144. Corie submits that the 
Trial Chamber acted "contrary to the caution contained in the jurisprudence against holding a police officer 
[responsible] for any crimes in his jurisdiction". Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 41. The Appeals Chamber notes that other 
relevant submissions have been summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2501. 
8233 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 50, 53-54, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974. 
8234 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 43, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 961. 
8235 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 45, 50, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 971, 973. 
8236 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 57. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 289. 
8237 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 58. 
8238 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 44, 50. See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 306. 
8239 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 55-56, 288-289, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 885, 974. 
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powers of recruitment and appointment, but failed to establish how these powers established a 

significant contribution to the JCE.8240 

2481. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the Military Police 

units operated under a dual chain of command, and submits that Corie simply attempts to assert his 

own view of the command chain.8241 In particular, it responds that: (1) the Trial Chamber conducted 

an explicit analysis of the command chain in respect of the brigade Military Police units;8242 and 

(2) the Trial Chamber considered Skender's testimony, and the argument that it relied on 

recommendations and orders without determining whether they were implemented is 

unsubstantiated. 8243 

2482. Further, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber concluded, on the basis of the 

totality of the evidence, that Corie retained a measure of authority over the Military Police 

throughout each reorganisation.8244 As regards Corie's challenges to the finding that the dual 

command system led to confusion, the Prosecution responds that he fails to show that it was 

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber not to rely on Witness NO. 8245 It also submits that Corie fails to 

demonstrate any contradictions in the Trial Chamber's findings as regards the conclusion that the 

reforms of the Military Police aimed to clarify the chain of command. 8246 

2483. The Prosecution finally responds that the Trial Chamber took account of Corie's powers of 

recruitment and appointment in order to establish the parameters of his authority over the Military 

Police, not to establish his contribution to the JCE.8247 

(ii) Analysis 

2484. The Appeals Chamber notes that Corie challenges, on a piecemeal basis, a number of the 

Trial Chamber's findings in the course of its analysis of the powers held by the Military Police 

Administration over the Military Police units,8248 without expressly addressing how his arguments 

undermine a finding that underpins his conviction. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber found that: (1) as Chief of the Military Police Administration, Corie had 

8240 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 59, 273. 
8241 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 45, 50; Appeal Hearing, AT. 632-633 (24 Mar 2017). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 44. 
8242 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 48; Appeal Hearing, AT. 633-635 (24 Mar 2017). 
8243 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 50-51. 
8244 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 53. 
8245 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 51. 
8246 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 52, 321. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 322. 
8247 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 40. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 634-635 (24 Mar 2017). The 
Prosecution also submits that Corie's authority to appoint Military Police officials was a clear indicator of his powers 
over the Military Police. Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 306. 
8248 See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 959-974, Vol. 4, paras 867-876. 
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command and control power over the Military Police units, including the power to re-subordinate 

them to the OZS;8249 and (2) CoriC's contribution to the ICE, and mens rea, rested upon, inter alia, 

the criminal activities of the Military Police units.825o It considers that CoriC's submissions, read 

together, amount to the argument that as Chief of the Military Police Administration, Corie did not 

exercise command and control over the Military Police units, and as such, that he himself did not 

bear responsibility for the crimes committed by the units. The Appeals Chamber will therefore 

consider the merits of his arguments to this end. 

2485. As regards CoriC's assertion that the Trial Chamber failed to adequately consider the 

brigade Military Police units in its analysis of the dual chain of command, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that in the finding pointed to by Corie, the Trial Chamber expressly considered the operation 

of the dual chain of command in relation to brigade units, finding that "the Military Police platoons 

embedded in the brigades were required to answer both to the orders of the brigade commander and 

on occasion to those of the Military Police Administration as well".8251 Further, the Trial Chamber 

considered the contents of CoriC's orders.8252 Additionally, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber did not ignore the evidence of Skender that, from an administrative perspective, the 

military policemen were subordinated to the Military Police Administration, while from an 

"operational" standpoint, they fell under HVO commanders.8253 The Trial Chamber then stated that 

while it "embrac[ed] this logic in the broadest sense", it must consider Skender's evidence "in 

perspective", given other evidence demonstrating that the Military Police Administration issued 

orders whose substance was not merely administrative.8254 The Appeals Chamber finds that Corie 

has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred and his submissions in this respect are thus 

dismissed. 

2486. As for CoriC's challenges to the finding that the Military Police Administration maintained 

powers over the Military Police battalions, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber 

"share[d] the Corie Defence's interpretation that the Military Police Administration's command 

authority over the Military Police units diminished as the conflict progressed between 1992 and 

1994".8255 It concluded that "this reduction did not, however, lead to the complete renunciation of 

8249 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8250 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1000-1004. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 919-999. 
8251 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 961. 
8252 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 970. 
8253 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 973. 
8254 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 973. 
8255 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 964. The Trial Chamber also found that from the second half of 1992 until roughly 
July 1993, the Military Police Administration exercised direct command over the Military Police units, but "gradually 
relinquished its power to exercise direct command over the Military Police units". Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 963. 
See Trial JUdgement, Vol. 1, paras 962-963. 
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its prerogatives of command over the Military Police units".8256 The Appeals Chamber notes that in 

reaching these conclusions, the Trial Chamber considered, inter alia, Exhibit P05478, an order by 

Corie of 13 August 1993 requiring that troops of the 4th Light Assault Battalion should go to Mostar 

to assist other HVO units fighting there, and Exhibit P04947 - a 11 September 1993 document 

signed by Corie reporting about a regular monthly meeting attended by commanding officers from 

the Military Police Administration and the commanders of Military Police Battalions - indicating 

that in the case of conflicting orders from ~he Department of Defence, the Main Staff, or the 

OZ Command, Military Police units were to stop carrying out the order and report to Corie 

personally.8257 The Appeals Chamber considers that Corie has failed both to substantiate his 

contention that the orders the Trial Chamber considered in reaching its conclusions were not acted 

upon or to otherwise explain why the Trial Chamber erred. These submissions are thus dismissed. 

2487. With regard to Corie's challenges to the Trial Chamber's finding that the dual command 

system led to confusion among Military Police unit commanders, the Appeals Chamber notes that, 

contrary to Corie's assertion, the Trial Chamber reached this conclusion having considered a range 

of evidence, including Witness NO's evidence.8258 However, the Trial Chamber found that it did not 

share the opinion of Witness NO that the commander of the defence in Mostar did not receive 

complaints about the "fuzzy chain of command up which the Military Police units were required to 

report, signalling thereby that no problems existed in this area". 8259 The Appeals Chamber therefore 

dismisses Corie's arguments in this respect. 

2488. Turning to Corie's challenges to the Trial Chamber's finding on the aim of the reforms of 

the Military Police, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the reasons for 

the reforms were to clarify the chain of command,8260 as the structure for oversight of the Military 

Police "was considered inefficient and non-functioning, and the prevailing system of command 

hindered the Military Police units from accomplishing their assignments in an effective 

manner".8261 The Trial Chamber also found that the reform initiated in December 1993 "would 

definitively focus the activities of the Military Police toward its original mandate".8262 The 

Appeals Chamber considers that there is no contradiction in these findings, as the clarification of 

8256 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 964. 
8257 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 869-870 & fns 1617-1618, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P05478, P04947. See also 

. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 970. 
8258 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 961, referring to Witness E, T(F). 22160 (closed session) (12 Sept 2007), 
Witness C, T(F). 22323 (closed session) (17 Sept 2007), Exs. P02886, 5D0511O (confidential). See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 961 & fn. 2401, referring to Ex. 5D05110. 
8259 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974, fn. 2452, referring to Witness NO, T(F). 51327 (closed session) (23 Mar 2010). 
The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber reached this position specifically relying on documentary 
evidence. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974, fn. 2452, referring to, Exs. 3D00796, 3D00793. 
8260 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 974. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 879. 
8261 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 879. 
8262 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 885. 
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the chain of command simply fonned part of the process of re-focusing the activities of the Military 

Police. These submissions are thus dismissed. 

2489. With respect to Corie's challenges to the Trial Chamber's findings on his powers of 

recruitment, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber analysed Corie's powers of 

recruitment as part of its assessment of his role as Chief of the Military Police Administration.8263 

However, it based its findings as to his criminal responsibility on the fact that in this role, he 

contributed to, and/or had intent in respect of, a number of specific criminal incidents,8264 and not 

on the fact that he possessed these powers per Se. Corie's argument to the contrary is dismissed. 

2490. In conclusion, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate an error in 

the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he exercised command and control authority over the Military 

Police units throughout the Indictment period. Corie's grounds of appeal 2, 7, 10, 11, 13, and 14 are 

therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(b) Corie's knowledge of the CCP crimes committed by the Military Police units 

2491. Corie submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he was informed about the 

crimes committed by the Military Police or must have known about them. 8265 He submits that the 

Trial Chamber erred in relying upon his position of authority to establish an "automatic 

presumption" that he knew of the crimes. 8266 

2492. The Prosecution responds that Corie ignores that the Trial Chamber detailed the evidentiary 

bases for its conclusions on his knowledge of crimes. 8267 

2493. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that from January 1993 until 

10 November 1993, Corie had command and control powers over the Military Police units. 8268 It 

then based its conclusion that Corie had knowledge of the crimes committed8269 on the fact that he, 

inter alia: (1) knowingly engaged Military Police units in the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf in 

January 1993 and knew or must have been aware of crimes committed as a result of the military 

8263 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 874-876. 
8264 See generally Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1000-1004. 
8265 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 61, 160. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 228; Corie's Reply Brief, paras 18-20,64. 
8266 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 61. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2501. 
8267 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 55. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 636-640 (24 Mar 2017). 
8268 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8269 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's finding that the deaths of seven civilians in 
Dusa in January 1993 constituted murder and wilful killing and consequently Corie's convictions related to those 
deaths. See supra, paras 441-443. It also recalls that it has determined that the Dusa killings were not part of the CCP 
and that murder and wilful killing were not part of the CCP in the period from January 1993 until June 1993. See supra, 
paras 866, 880-882. See also infra, para. 2592. 
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campaigns;827o (2) contributed to planning the arrest campaigns in West Mostar, thus he had direct 

knowledge of the crimes committed there;8271 (3) had knowledge of the HVO campaign of fire and 

shelling against the population of East Mostar by virtue of his deployment of Military Police units 

to assist in the war efforts in East Mostar, and .his investigation into the death of one civilian;8272 

(4) had responsibility for the security of detainees at the Heliodrom and Dretelj Prison, and had 

reason to believe that detainees were mistreated, including in some instances reports to that 

effect;8273 and (5) was regularly informed that Heliodrom detainees were being mistreated, 

wounded, or killed while working on the front line and did nothing to prevent the practice, thus 

intending that crimes were committed.8274 It is clear that the Trial Chamber based its conclusions on 

Corie's specific circumstances, and not on his position.8275 Considering that Corie has shown no 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings on his knowledge, the Appeals Chamber dismisses his 

submission that the Trial Chamber established an "automatic presumption" of knowledge on his 

part. 

2494. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Corie has failed to show that the Trial Chamber 

erred in finding that he was informed about crimes committed by the Military Police or must have 

known about them, except for murder and wilful killing in Gornji Valuf Municipality.8276 Corie's 

grounds of appeal 2 and 7 are dismissed in relevant part. 

(c) Corie's powers in fighting crime 

2495. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence as to his general law-enforcement 

activities, which demonstrates that he did not have criminal intent in respect of the CCPcrimes.8277 

In this regard, Corie specifically argues that the Trial Chamber found that poor co-ordination 

between the Military Police and the civilian police led to impunity, but failed to specify if he was 

responsible for this situation,8278 and disregarded evidence that he encouraged greater 

co-operation.8279 He also submits that the Trial Chamber disregarded Witness Zvonko Vidovie's 

testimony that the Military Police's task ended when it submitted its reports to the prosecution, and 

8270 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 921,923, 1000. 
8271 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 930-934, 1000. 
8272 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 936-938. 
8273 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 955-957,971,988,990,994, 1001. 
8274 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 966,971, 1001. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 977, 999. 
8275 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 883, 886-887, 917, 1002-1003. 
8276 See infra, para. 2593. 
8277 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 35-36; Appeal Hearing, AT. 588-590 (24 Mar 2017). The Appeals Chamber notes that 
other relevant submissions have been summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2501. 
8278 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 279. 
8279 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 35, referring to Ex. P07419; Appeal Hearing, AT. 589-590 (24 Mar 2017). 
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that the Crime Prevention Department lacked resources and was dependent on the civilian 

police. 8280 

2496. The Prosecution responds that Corie fails to demonstrate any error. 8281 It submits that the 

Trial Chamber found that there was little co-operation between the Military Police and civilian 

police to ~ombat crime,8282 and that Vidovie's testimony bolsters the Trial Chamber's finding that 

Corie had the ability to participate in fighting crimes.8283 

2497. While Corie does not specifically point to a particular finding when advancing his 

arguments, the Appeals Chamber understands him to be challenging the Trial Chamber's finding 

that the Military Police were forced to devote the major part of their forces and equipment to 

combat operations and that crime within the ranks of the HVO armed forces, including the Military 

Police, could not be effectively opposed, especially inasmuch as the civilian police forces and the 

military tribunals failed to operate in a satisfactory fashion. 8284 The Appeals Chamber considers that 

this finding should be read in context. The Trial Chamber took account of specific steps that 

confirmed that investigatory actions were within Corie's powers, including: (1) instructions to 

commanders of Military Police battalions regarding discipline in their units; (2) an arrest warrant 

for a soldier suspected of having committed theft; and (3) the order to carry out an inquiry into the 

criminal events at Ljubuski Prison.8285 It also found that Corie had specific knowledge of the violent 

behaviour of Mladen Naletilie and his men in West Mostar,8286 and ordered Vidovie not to 

investigate certain crimes in August 1993.8287 

2498. The Appeals Chamber considers that it is clear that the Trial Chamber found that Corie was 

able to take certain steps towards effective law enforcement, and failed to do so. Corie fails to 

demonstrate how the evidence he cites, which simply indicates that he was on notice of 

organisational shortcomings as well as crimes being committed,8288 shows any error in this finding. 

The Appeals Chamber also considers that Corie misrepresents the Trial Judgement when asserting 

that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to find Corie responsible for the co-ordination issues. These 

arguments are therefore dismissed. 

8280 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 307-308. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 589, 620 (24 Mar 2017). 
8281 Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), para. 31, referring to CoriC's Final Brief, para. 206. See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Coric), paras 33, 314. 
8282 Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), para. 31. 
8283 Prosecution's Response Brief (Coric), para. 342. 
8284 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 881, 930, 933, 972. 
8285 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 881. 
8286 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 930. 
8287 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 933. 
8288 See Exs. 5D04110, P07419, 2D00138, ID02577. 
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2499. Finally, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses Corie's submission that the Trial Chamber 

erred in disregarding Vidovie's testimony when reaching its conclusions as to co-operation between 

the Military Police and the civilian police. Consistently with this witness's evidence, the 

Trial Chamber found that Corie's role was limited to the investigation of crimes,8289 and that there 

were some difficulties in co-operation.829o 

2500. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate an error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings in respect of his powers in fighting crime. Corie's grounds of appeal 2, 

13, and 14 are dismissed in relevant part. 

(d) Summarily dismissed submissions 

2501. The Appeals Chamber notes that a number of Corie's submissions under various grounds of 

appeal, which challenge the Trial Chamber's findings on his powers regarding the command of the 

Military Police, fighting crime, and freedom of movement of people and goods, as well as on his 

knowledge of the CCP crimes the Military Police committed: (1) merely repeat trial arguments 

without any demonstration that their rejection by the Trial Chamber constituted an error warranting 

the intervention of the Appeals Chamber;8291 (2) fail to identify the challenged factual findings;8292 

8289 Tlial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 882. 
8290 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 972; Zvonko Vidovic, T. 51462, 51469-51470 (29 Mar 2010). 
8291 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 50, 302-303, 305, arguing that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence that the 
battalions that were assigned to the OZs were exclusively subordinated to the OZ's operative command and brigade 
commanders. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 80, 92, 103, 105, 109, 122, 248, 289; (2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 44, 
arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the dual chain of command generated confusion among Military 
Police unit commanders, by relying upon a Prosecution witness. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 43,53; (3) CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, paras 33, 59, 273, arguing that he neither had discriininatory intent nor exercised his authority to 
contribute to the JCE as evidence demonstrates that rather than discriminating against Muslims, he recruited them into 
the Military Police. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, para. 189; (4) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 33-34, 274, arguing that he 
instituted training for the Military Police to ensure that their work was in accordance with international humanitarian 
law, and education courses were held on the same topics for the battalion command and individual companies. 
Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 190-196. See also CoriC's Final Brief, paras 221-227; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 875, 
referring to CoriC's Final Brief, paras 190-195, 221-227; (5) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 51, arguing that the 
Trial Chamber adopted an erroneous interpretation of the evidence of Witness C. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, para. 83; 
(6) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 62-63, arguing that the majority of reports received by the Military Police 
Administration from the Military Police were benign in nature and indicated that Military Police units were doing a 
proper job in terms of law enforcement. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 44-45; (7) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 35-37, 
60-61, 253, 229, 278-280, 294, 305, 307-309, arguing that the Trial Chamber disregarded evidence as to his general 
law-enforcement activities, which demonstrates that he did not have criminal intent of the CCP crimes (see also CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 64). Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 103, 105, 206-212, 239, 246. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 620-621 (24 Mar 2017); (8) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 307-308, arguing that the Trial Chamber disregarded 
Zvonko VidoviC's testimony that the Military Police's task ended when it submitted its reports to the prosecution, and 
that the Crime Prevention Department lacked resources and was dependent on the civilian police. Cf CoriC's Final 
Brief, paras 159, 283; and (9) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 65, 275-276, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in finding 
that: (i) he had the power to control the freedom of movement of people and goods; and (ii) the Military Police 
Administration played an important role in the distribution of humanitarian aid even though it concluded that there was 
no evidence indicating that the administration had authority to issue permits for passage of humanitarian convoys. 
Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 199-202. 
8292 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 39, 102, 272, arguing that the Trial Chamber based its conclusions regarding his 
criminal responsibility on his de jure, as opposed to de facto, authority, as Chief of the Military Police Administration. 
See Appeal Hearing, AT. 621 (24 Mar 2017). 
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(3) misrepresent the challenged factual findings;8293 or (4) are undeveloped;8294 Consequently, these 

submissions are summarily dismissed. 

4. Alleged errors related to Corie's involvement in HVO detention centres 

(Corie's Grounds 6, 7, 10, and 14, all in part) 

2502. The Trial Chamber found that it was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that by his acts and 

omissions, Corie, as Chief of the Military Police Administration, occupied a key role in the 

operation of the network of HVO detention centres until 10 November 1993.8295 Through his acts 

and omissions related to these detention centres, the Trial Chamber found that Corie significantly 

contributed to the JCE. 8296 

(a) The Military Police Administration's and Corie's involvement in detainee labour outside 

detention centres 

2503. The Trial Chamber found that Corie used detainees or allowed them to be used for work on 

the front line8297 and in this way, among other acts and omissions, he significantly contributed to the 

JCE.8298 Corie advances a number of arguments purporting to challenge the Trial Chamber's 

findings concerning his involvement in detainee labour outside of detention centres. 

8293 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 40, 42, 52, 58, 229, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that he had 
effective control over the Military Police following re-subordination as there is "only one commander in a combat 
situation" and that the Trial Chamber reached its conclusions as to the situation following re-subordination "on the basis 
of orders and transcripts of meetings, without questioning and analyzing the factual circumstances". The 
Appeals Chaillber observes that paragraph 871 of Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement, to which Corie refers in paragraph 
52 of his appeal brief, is a concluding paragraph, preceded by findings referring to other sections of the 
Trial Judgement, in which the Trial Chamber cites a wide range of evidence. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 871, 
Vol. 4, para. 869, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 966-974. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 621-622 (24 Mar 
2017); and (2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 61, arguing that the Trial Chamber's error in concluding that he was 
informed about the crimes by the Military Police or must have known about them is "compounded by" its admission 
that it was unable to conclude that all reports on crimes against Muslims were brought to his attention. The Appeals 
Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that "parts of the reports received by the Military Police 
Administration that were 'important' or of 'special interest' were put together and sent directly to Valentin CoriC", but 
that in the absence of additional information as to what was considered an "important" part or a part of "special 
interest", it was "not in a position to find that all the reports on crimes against the Muslims sent to the Military Police 
Administration were necessarily brought to [his] attention". The Trial Chamber then concluded that, nevertheless, Corie 
was "sometimes directly informed of the activities of the Military Police units", by receiving reports for example, 
between June and October 1993, on the circumstances of the detainees in Ljubuski and Dretelj Prisons, as well as the 
Heliodrom. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 878. 
8294 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 58, arguing that it was "impermissible/illogical" for the Trial Chamber to conclude 
that the reduction in the Military Police Administration's powers of command over the Military Police units "did not 
lead to the complete renunciation of its prerogatives of command"; and (2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 50, arguing that 
the Trial Chamber adopted an erroneous interpretation of the evidence of Marijan Biskie. 
8295 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8296 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1001, 1004. 
8297 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8298 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1000-1004. 
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(i) The Military Police Administration's role in authorising Heliodrom detainee labour 

2504. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the Military Police Administration 

had the power to authorise detainee labour outside of the Heliodrom.8299 He advances two 

arguments to this end. First, Corie submits that the Trial Chamber failed to take into consideration a 

portion of VidoviC's testimony that he had the duty to conduct investigations into cases where 

detainees were wounded or killed after being taken from the Heliodrom for labour only in limited 

circumstances.830o Second, Corie submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying upon Exhibits 

P04020 and P04039, documents which he contends are contradictory and cannot be regarded as 

proof of the Military Police Administration's authority in August 1993 concerning detainee 

labour. 8301 

2505. The Prosecution responds that Corie fails to explain the relevance of VidoviC's 

testimony.8302 It also submits that his argument regarding the purported contradiction between 

Exhibits P04020 and P04039 is without merit, as the discrepancy between the two documents, 

which are copies of the same order, results from a difference in the English translations.8303 

2506. With regard to CoriC's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to take into account part of 

VidoviC's testimony in considering the role of the Military Police Administration in authorising 

detainee labour outside the Heliodrom,8304 the Appeals Chamber observes that the specific 

Trial Chamber's finding to which Corie refers relates to the Military Police Administration's 

knowledge of mistreatment of detainees and the scope of its investigative authority.8305 Corie has 

not attempted to explained how this portion of VidoviC' s testimony undermines the Trial Chamber's 

findings concerning the role of the Military Police Administration in authorising Heliodrom 

detainee labour. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

2507. With respect to the Trial Chamber's alleged error in relying upon Exhibits P04020 and 

P04039 which Corie submits contradict each other, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber found on the basis of these exhibits that Corie, as Chief of the Military Police 

8299 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 132. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 135. 
8300 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 132. See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 136. 
8301 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 133; Corie's Reply Brief, para. 35. See alsQ Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 129, 170. 
Specifically, Corie submits that the former indicates that prisoners may be used to fortify the lines upon authorisation of 
the Military Police Administration and that the latter refers to the approval of the Military Police Department. Corie's 
A~peal Brief, para. 133. 
83 2 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 128. 
8303 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 130. 
8304 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 132. 
8305 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 132, referring to Zvonko Vidovie, T. 51664-51665 (31 Mar 2010). The Trial Chamber's 
finding to which Corie refers is that "[t]he Military Police and its Administration also had the power to authorise 
detainee labour outside of the detention facilities and were informed of the injuries to the detainees during such labour 
or of their deaths". See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 132, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 909. 
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Administration, continued to have authority to authorise the use of detainees for work in 

August 1993.8306 These exhibits are two versions of the same 8 August 1993 order authored by 

Milivoj PetkoviC from the HVO Citluk IZMJForward Command Post to, among others, the 

Commander of the Posusje Brigade, indicating that detainees may be used to fortify the front line 

with the necessary approva1.8307 The Trial Chamber, pointing to a slight difference in the respective 

English translations of this (BCS original) document, noted that Exhibit P04020 indicates that 

authorisation for the use of detainees on the front line should be sought through the "Military Police 

Administration", while Exhibit P04039 indicates that such approval should be sought from the 

"Military Police Department".8308 The Appeals Chamber notes that the original BCS versions of the 

two exhibits use the term "Uprave Vojne policije", the official accepted translation of which is 

"Military Police Administration".8309 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Coric has failed 

to demonstrate a contradiction and thus dismisses this argument. 

2508. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Corie's arguments that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its findings concerning the- role of the Military Police administration in 

authorising Heliodrom detainee labour. Corie's grounds of appeal 6 and 7 are therefore dismissed in 

relevant part. 

(ii) CoriC's power to authorise Heliodrom detainee labour 

2509. Coric argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to authorise 

labour by Heliodrom detainees from September 1992 to October 1993.8310 First, he submits that the 

Trial Chamber ignored the fact that Exhibit P00514, a 22 September 1992 instmction issued by him 

concerning the Central Military Prison at Mostar, was overruled by Exhibit P01474, house rules 

8306 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 910 &fn. 2228, referring to Ex. P040201P04039. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
~ara. 908. 

307 Exs. P04020, p. 1, P04039, p. 1. The Trial Chamber, pointing to a slight difference of the respective English 
translations of this (BCS original) document, noted that Exhibit P04020 indicates that authorisation for the use of 
detainees on the front line should be sought through the "Military Police Administration", while Exhibit P04039 
indicates that such approval should be sought from the "Military Police Department". The Appeals Chamber observes 
that the only difference on its face is that Exhibit P04020 has a stamp and a few handwritten notes and Exhibit P04039 
does not, but that otherwise, their BCS originals are verbatim identical. 
8308 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, fn. 2228. The Appeals Chamber also observes that in different instances, the Trial 
Chamber cites the two exhibits together or separately: (1) in its factual findings regarding crimes committed in 
Vitina-Otok Camp, the Trial Chamber, citing solely Exhibit P04039, states that in this 8 August 1993 order, Petkovie 
authorised the use of Muslim detainees to bolster the front line on the condition that the brigades secure the approval of 
the "Military Police Administration". See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1866 & fn.4679; (2) in the context of 
Petkovie's responsibility, the Trial Chamber refers to the same order and "Military Police Administration" but only 
cites Exhibit P04020. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 800 & fn. 1516; and (3) in addressing Corie's responsibility, 
the Trial Chamber refers to the same 8 August 1993 order and "M;ilitary Police Administration" and cites Exhibits 
P04020 and P04039. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 908 & fn. 1710. 
8309 The Appeals Chamber notes that the BCS version of the Indictment refers to "Uprave Vojne policije", which is 
translated as "Military Police Administration" in the English version of the Indictment. See Indictment, paras 11, 17.5, 
in which Corie was described as Chief of the "Military Police Administration" or "Uprave Vojne policije". 
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issued on 11 February 1993 by Bruno Stojie, the Head of the Department of Defence and, therefore, 

the former was not in force at the time of incidents involving detainees used for labour. 8311 Second, 

Corie asserts that he did not "order/facilitate" Heliodrom detainee labour, arguing that: 

(1) Exhibit P00514 does not show that he authorised the labour of specific Heliodrom detainees;8312 

(2) the Trial Chamber admitted that, beginning in October 1992, there was no evidence that 

Heliodrom detainees were sent to perfOlID labour with his approval;8313 (3) the Trial Chamber erred 

in its consideration of the August 1993 instructions issued by Josip Praljak, the de facto Heliodrom 

Warden;8314 and (4) Corie was not among the individuals that the Trial Chamber found had 

authorised the labour of Heliodrom detainees between June and December 1993 and between 

December 1993 and March 1994.8315 

2510. The Prosecution responds that there is no basis for CoriC's assertion that the Trial Chamber 

misinterpreted Exhibits P00514 and P01474, as the latter overruled the former, or that the former 

relieved Corie of his responsibility for security of Heliodrom detainees. 8316 Additionally, it submits 

that Corie fails to show that the Trial Chamber was unreasonable in relying upon Exhibit P00514 in 

determining that he had authority to send Heliodrom detainees to work at the front line.8317 As to 

CoriC's arguments that he did not "order/facilitate" the use of Heliodrom detainee labour, the 

Prosecution responds that the fact that Corie may not have personally exercised his power of 

authorisation with respect to the Heliodrom detainees is not incompatible with the Trial Chamber's 

finding that he had such authority.8318 In the Prosecution's view, this is also not incompatible with 

the Trial Chamber's ultimate finding on his contribution to the JCE.8319 

2511. Concerning Corie's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in relying upon 

Exhibit P00514 because it was overruled by Exhibit P01474, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Exhibit P00514,authored by Corie and specific to the Heliodrom, states that "[POWs] and military 

prisoners may be used for work during the day as necessary".8320 Beyond this general authorisation, 

Exhibit P00514 does not identify any party specifically authorised to permit Heliodrom detainees to 

work. Exhibit P01474, house rules on detainees in general, not specifically for Heliodrom detainees, 

8310 See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 103, 129, 132 (referring to Exs. P00514, P01474), 165 (referring to 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 964). See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 136. 
8311 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 132, 165. 
8312 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 165. 
8313 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 165. See also Corie's Reply Brief, para. 35. 
8314 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 166, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1468, referring to Exs. P04367, p. 2, 
P05457, p. 3. 
8315 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 166. 
8316 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 107, 129. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 643 (24 Mar 2017). 
8317 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 126, 129. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 642, 645 (24 Mar 2017). 
8318 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 175. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 641-642 (24 Mar 2017). 
8319 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 175; Appeal Heming, AT. 642-645 (24 Mar 2017). 
8320 Ex. P00514, p. 8. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 910, Vol. 2, para. 1469. 
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was authored by Stojie, and states that POW s may be assigned to various work. 8321 The 

Trial Chamber noted that these house rules did not specify upon whose authorisation prisoners 

could be used for work. 8322 In addition, neither document indicates that the house rules overrule 

Corie's instruction. The Appeals Chamber considers that Corie has failed to demonstrate that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have reached the conclusion, on the basis of Exhibit P00514, that 

Corie had the power to authorise the sending of Heliodrom detainees to do work from 

September 1992 to October 1993.8323 His argument is therefore dismissed in this respect. 

2512. As to Corie's argument that he did not "order" Heliodrom detainee labour, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that apart from an official note by the SIS 

centre at Mostar which indicates that, on or about 27 October 1992, Corie decided that no unit could 

take prisoners from the Heliodrom to work without his signature, it had no evidence that Heliodrom 

detainees were sent to perform forced labour with Corie's approval. 8324 Corie has failed to point to a 

Trial Chamber finding that he "ordered" Heliodrom detainee labour. Accordingly, this aspect of his 

argument is dismissed. 

2513. As to his argument that he did not "facilitate" Heliodrom detainee labour, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's ultimate conclusion, as regards Corie's 

involvement in Heliodrom detainee labour as a contribution to the JCE, is that since he did nothing 

to prevent Heliodrom detainee labour despite being informed of their mistreatment on the front 

lines, he facilitated the sending of detainees for work on the front lines. 8325 CoriC's remaining 

arguments pertain to whether he authorised detainee labour and he has not attempted to demonstrate 

a link between these arguments and the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he facilitated the sending 

of detainees for work on the front lines. Accordingly, CoriC's remaining arguments are dismissed. 

2514. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses CoriC's argument that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to authorise the sending of Heliodrom 

detainees to do work from September 1992 to October 1993. CoriC's grounds of appeal 6 and 7 are 

therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

8321 Ex. P01474, p. 7. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1469 & fn. 370l. 
8322 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 370l. 
8323 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 964 & fn. 1812, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 907-910 (Heading: "Work 
Performed by Detainees"). 
8324 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1470. 
8325 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 966. 
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(iii) CoriC's involvement in the work of detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp 

2515. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was "involved in" the work of 

detainees taken out of Vitina-Otok Camp.8326 Specifically, he contends that the Trial Chamber 

erroneously based its finding on Exhibit P04030.8327 He submits that neither this exhibit nor 

Exhibit P04068 should have been given any weight by the Trial Chamber due to reliability issues 

with the latter.8328 He contends that the reliability of Exhibit P04068 is undermined by VidoviC's 
. 8329 testImony. 

2516. The Prosecution responds that Corie does not identify the finding he challenges and, in 

support of his challenge, cites to an irrelevant piece of VidoviC's testimony. 8330 It submits that 

Corie's arguments are unsubstantiated and should be dismissed.8331 

2517. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that "Corie authorised the use 

of detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp on 8 August 1993 for work on the front line".8332 The 

Appeals Chamber notes that Exhibit P04030 is an 8 August 1993 "request for work-force" from the 

Posusje Brigade to Corie8333 and that Exhibit P04068 is an 11 August 1993 report from the Posusje 

Brigade Military Police to the Brigade Commander stating that, on 10 August 1993, 100 prisoners 

from Vitina-Otok Camp were taken and "delivered by Kreso Tolj".8334 CoriC's submits that 

VidoviC's testimony that Tolj worked in Ljubuski contradicts Exhibit P04068 as VidoviC's 

testimony shows that Tolj was not affiliated with Vitina-Otok and therefore he did not have the 

power to deliver detainees held at that site as is suggested by Exhibit P04068.8335 The 

Appeals Chamber considers that Corie has not demonstrated that, even if Tolj worked in Ljubuski, 

the Trial Chamber incorrectly exercised its discretion in relying upon Exhibit P04030 in finding that 

Corie authorised the use of detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp on 8 August 1993 to work on the 

front line. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this aspect of his argument. 

2518. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that Corie authorised the use of detainees from Vitina-Otok Camp 

8326 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 103, 170. See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 134. 
8327 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 170. 
8328 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 170-171. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 134. 
8329 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 171. 
8330 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 131. 
8331 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 131. 
8332 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 977, referring to Exs. P04020/P04039, P04030, P04068. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
gara. 1866. 

333 Ex. P04030. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 977. 
8334 Ex. P04068. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 977. 
8335 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 171. 
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on 8 August 1993 for work on the front line. CoriC's grounds of appeal 6 and 7 are therefore 

dismissed in relevant part. 

(b) Corie's power regarding security of detainees in Drete1j Prison 8336 

2519. In challenging the Trial Chamber's findings on his responsibility for the security of 

detainees at Drete1j Prison,8337 Corie argues that: (1) the Trial Chamber misinterpreted 

Exhibit P03377 in light of Witness C's evidence, which indicates that the Assistant Chief of the 

Military Police Administration responsible for security, Branimir Tucak, was sent to Dretelj Prison 

twice to inspect the situation; and (2) this evidence does not show that the Military Police 

Administration had an overall authority to ensure the security of detainees there.8338 

2520. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Corie had power 

regarding security of Dretelj Prison detainees.8339 It avers that he merely attempts to substitute his 

own assessment of Exhibit P03377 for theTrial Chamber's without showing an error.8340 

2521. Although Corie does not identify a specific finding with which he takes issue, the 

Appeals Chamber understands Corie to be challenging the Trial Chamber's finding that "[he] had 

power regarding the security of the detainees in Dretelj Prison".8341 In reaching this conclusion, the 

Trial Chamber relied upon evidence which demonstrated that: (1) the Home Guards unit within the 

HVO ("Domobrani"),8342 as well as the 3rd Company of the 3rd (later the 5th
) Military Police 

Battalion, were in charge of guarding Dretelj Prison detainees; (2) between July and August 1993, 

daily reports were sent to the Military Police Administration from the relevant commanders of the 

3rd and 5th Military Police Battalion on the situation in Dretelj Prison; and (3) following an 

inspection visit to Dretelj Prison, Tucak indicated to Corie that the number of military policemen 

maintaining security there needed to be urgently increased. 8343 

2522. The Appeals Chamber considers that when arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in relying 

upon Exhibit P03377, a report on Tucak's visit,8344 on the basis of Witness C's evidence that this 

visit was of an ad hoc nature, Corie fails to demonstrate, in light of the above-mentioned findings, 

8336 The Appeals Chamber notes that Corie also challenges the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his role in security 
of detainees at the Heliodrom and Ljubuski Prison. Those arguments have been summarily dismissed. See infra, 
~ara. 2562. 

337 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 117-118, 125. 
8338 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 117. 
8339 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 111; Appeal Hearing, AT. 641 (24 Mar 2017). 
8340 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 112. 
8341 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 897. 
8342 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1983 & fn. 4873. 
8343 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4. para. 897. 
8344 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 117. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 897 & fn. 1693, referring to Exs. P03377, 
p. 1, P03794. 
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how the ad hoc nature of the visit, even if it were to be established, would undermine the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that he had power regarding security of the detainees in Dretelj Prison. 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to . demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had power regarding security of the detainees in Drete~j 

Prison.8345 Corie's ground of appeal 6 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(c) Corie's power to grant detention centre access to representatives of international organisations 

and theHVO 

2523. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to grant access to . 

detention centres to representatives of international organisations.8346 He contends that: (1) the 

Trial Chamber was not in possession of evidence proving that he had the power to grant access; and 

(2) the available evidence shows that he did not restrict access when requested.8347 

2524. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that Corie had the 

power to grant representatives of international organisations access to detention centres. 8348 

2525. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that Corie: (1) contributed to 

the arrest and detention of thousands of Muslims; (2) knowingly contributed to keeping detainees in 

harsh conditions; (3) used detainees or allowed them to be used for work on the front line; and 

(4) transferred detainees from detention centre to detention centre, releasing them on condition that 

they leave HZ(R) H-B territory.8349 While the Trial Chamber found that Corie had the power to 

grant access to the Heliodrom to representatives of international organisations,8350 it also stated that 

it could not find that Corie obstructed access to the Heliodrom.8351 The Appeals Chamber considers 

that Corie has failed to show that his power to grant access to the Heliodrom was a basis for the 

Trial Chamber's finding that he significantly contributed to the ICE. Accordingly, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument. 

2526. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corle has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power to grant access, to detention centres to 

representatives of international organisations. Corie's ground of appeal 6 is therefore dismissed in 

relevant part. 

8345 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 897. 
8346 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 103; Corie's Reply Brief, para. 35. 
8347 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
8348 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 122-125. 
8349 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8350 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 959. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1441, Vol. 4, para. 905. 
8351 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 961. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 959-960. 
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Cd) Corie's knowledge of detainees' mistreatment and poor conditions at the Heliodrom 

2527. The Trial Chamber found that Corie knowingly contributed to keeping detainees in HVO 

detention centres in harsh conditions where they were mistreated, beaten, and abused. 8352 

2528. In challenging the Trial Chamber's findings as to his knowledge of the mistreatment of 

detainees and conditions of detention inside the Heliodrom,8353 Corie submits that the 

Trial Chamber erred in relying upon Exhibit P04l86 in finding that he was informed about and 

must have been aware that detention conditions at the Heliodrom were bad.8354 He submits that it 

was sent to the Head of the Department of Defence and not to him. 8355 

2529. Corie also challenges the Trial Chamber's conclusions as to his knowledge of mistreatment 

of Heliodrom detainees working on the front line.8356 In this regard, he refers to a number of reports 

from the Heliodrom Warden, Stanko -Bozic, addressed to Corie, and contends that these reports 

should not have been relied upon because one such report, Exhibit P06552, indicates that it was sent 

to Corie after he left the Military Police Administration.8357 

2530. The Prosecution responds that in attempting to undermine the Trial Chamber's findings 

regarding his knowledge of detainee mistreatment and bad conditions of detention, Corie 

mischaracterises the Trial Chamber's findings and the evidence and fails to show that the 

Trial Chamber was unreasonable. 8358 It submits that the Trial Chamber relied upon numerous 

documents in establishing that Corie was informed of problems with security of detainees inside the 

Heliodrom.8359 Further, it submits that Exhibit P04l86 was sent to Corie.8360 

2531. Concerning Corie's arguments related to the Trial Chamber's finding on his knowledge of 

mistreatment of Heliodrom detainees working on the front line, the Prosecution responds that his 

argument that one report, Exhibit P06552, was sent after he left the Military Police Administration, 

8352 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 962. 
8353 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 161-164, 169. See also CoriC's Reply Brief, paras 35, 43. The Appeals Chamber 
notes that Corie touches upon arguments made elsewhere in his appeal brief without adding to these arguments. See 
CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 161-163. These submissions have been summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8354 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 163-164, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 962. The Appeals Chamber 
notes that Corie also challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on Exhibit P05563. This argument has been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8355 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 163. 
8356 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 167-169. 
8357 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 168. The Appeals Chamber notes that his other arguments in this regard have been 
summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. . 
8358 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), paras 170-171; Appeal Hearing, AT. 631 (24 Mar 2017). 
8359 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 171; Appeal Hearing, AT. 631 (24 Mar 2017). 
8360 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 171. 
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should be dismissed on the basis that Corie was Chief of the Military Police Administration until 

10 November 1993.8361 

2532. The Appeals Chamber understands Corie to be arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding that "he must have been aware that detention conditions at the Heliodrom were bad" on the 

basis that it should not have relied upon Exhibit P04186, 8362 as it was sent to Stojie, the Head of the 

Defence Department, and not to him. It observes that this exhibit is a 14 August 1993 report from 

Bozic notifying the recipients of the difficulty of procuring food for the, at the time, 2,100 detainees 

of the Heliodrom.8363 Corie is identified as one of the recipients of this report. 8364 Bearing this latter 

fact in mind, the Appeals Chamber considers that Corie has not demonstrated why it was 

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude, in part on the basis of this exhibit, that he was 

aware of the bad conditions of detention at the Heliodrom. This argument is thus dismissed. 

2533. Turning to CoriC's arguments regarding the Trial Chamber's conclusions as to his 

knowledge of mistreatment of Heliodrom detainees working on the front line, the Appeals Chamber 

understands Corie to be contesting the Trial Chamber's finding that "from July 1993 to at least 

October 1993, Valentin Corie was regularly infonned that the Heliodrom detainees were being 

mistreated, wounded or killed while working on the front line". 8365 As to his argument that 

Exhibit P06552, one such report by Bozic, should not have been relied upon because it would have 

been addressed to Corie after he had already left the Military Police Administration, the 

Appeals Chamber observes that this report was dated 9 November 1993.8366 It also observes that the 

Trial Chamber found that Corie remained Chief of the Military Police Administration until 

10 November 1993.8367 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber reached 

the contested finding on the basis of other reports in addition to Exhibit P06552.8368 The 

Appeals Chamber thus finds that Corie has not shown that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

reached the contested finding. 

2534. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds tbat Corie has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in its findings regarding his knowledge of the conditions of detention and 

mistreatment of detainees inside the Heliodrom or related to his knowledge of the mistreatment of 

8361 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 176. 
8362 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 962. See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 163-164. 
8363 E 
8364 E 

x. P04186, pp. 1-2. 
x. P04186, p. 2. 

8365 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 955. See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 167. 
8366 See Ex. P06552, p. 1. 
8367 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 861. 
8368 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 955 & fn. 1795, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1480-1492. 
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Heliodroin detainees working on the front line. Corie's ground of appeal 7 is therefore dismissed in 

relevant part. 

(e) Corie's role in the release of detainees 

2535. The Trial Chamber found that Corie released detainees on condition that they leave the 

territory of the HZ(R) H-B together with their families. 8369 

(i) Corie's order to release Muslims held in detention in Ljubuski Municipality 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2536. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that in August 1993, he ordered the 

release of all Muslims held in the HVO detention centres in Ljubuski Municipality and in 

possession of a letter of guarantee arid a transit visa so that they could leave BiH with their families 

for third countries via Croatia.837o First, he submits that the Trial Chamber elTed in relying upon 

August 1993 reports when reaching its conclusion that the Military Police "assigned to the 

4th Brigade" drafted numerous reports in August 1993 attesting to the release procedure.8371 He 

refers to three exhibits in support of his argument and contends that when the Trial Chamber used 

the phrasing "assigned to [the] 4th Brigade", in his view, this meant "re-subordinated/excluded from 

[the] chain of command inside [the Military Police Administration]".8372 Therefore, in Corie's view, 

it was the Brigade and not the Military Police who dealt with the letter of guarantee aspect of the 

release procedure and Corie could not issue orders to non-military police in this regard. 8373 

2537. Second, in arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously interpreted the order of August 1993 

that he allegedly gave to the Deputy Brigade Commander of the Military Police, Jure Herceg, 

concerning the release of Ljubuski Municipality detainees who were in possession of letters of 

guarantee,8374 Corie submits that the Trial Chamber misinterpreted Witness E's testimony 

concerning this order. 8375 He argues that, had it properly interpreted Witness E's testimony, the 

8369 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8370 See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 177 (referring, to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 946, 948, 971), 183, 
185. See also Corie's Reply Brief, para. 35. . 
8371 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 178 & fn. 459, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1872-1873. The 
Appeals Chamber notes that Corie erroneously refers to Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement, whereas the finding to which 
he refers is located in Volume 2 of the Trial Judgement. 
8372 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 178, referring to Exs. P04752, P04262, P00990. 
8373 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 178. 
8374 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 179. 
8375 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 179. 
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Trial Chamber would have concluded that it was not Corie but rather SIS Chief Petar Majie who 

gave an order that Muslim men be expelled in 24 hours. 8376 

2538. The Prosecution responds that CoriC's argument that the 4th Brigade Military Police was 

subordinated to the 4th Brigade does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber unreasonably relied 

upon evidence of Corie's orders, implemented by the 4th Brigade Military Police, regarding the 

process for releasing detainees and sending them to third countries.8377 It submits that none of the 

documents to which Corie refers demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred.8378 The Prosecution 

further responds that Corie fails to show how the Trial Chamber's reliance upon SIS Chief Majie's 

orders giving detainees 24 hours to leave Ljubuski Municipality is inconsistent with or otherwise 

undermines the Trial Chamber's findings regarding Corie's orders.8379 Concerning Corie's 

challenges to the evidence of Witness E, the Prosecution responds that he distorts Witness E's 

testimony, which indicates that an order from Corie was received to the extent that all detainees in 

possession of a letter of guarantee could be rele~sed. 8380 

b. Analysis 

2539. With respect to Corie's first argument that the Trial Chamber erred in relying upon certain 

August 1993 reports by the 4th Brigade Military Police, the Appeals Chamber observes that the 

Trial Chamber did not rely on the exhibits to which Corie refers when it concluded that the Military 

Police assigned to the 4th Brigade drafted numerous reports in August 1993 attesting to the release 

procedure for Muslim detainees in Ljubuski Municipality.8381 Neither do these exhibits pertain to 

such a release procedure. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber understands ,him to be challenging the 

Trial Chamber's use of Exhibits P04299 and P04443, 19 and 23 August 1993 reports from the 

4th Brigade Military Police, respectively, indicating that a certain number of prisoners who 

possessed letters of guarantee were released along with their families and left Ljubuski 

Municipality.8382 Insofar as Corie asserts that the Trial Chamber erroneously relied upon these 

reports because the Military Police were not subordinated to the Military Police Administration but 

rather to the 4th Brigade, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that "the 

Military Police Administration was competent to order the release of people held by the HVO, 

8376 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 179. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8377 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 188. 
8378 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 188. 
8379 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 187. 
8380 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 187. 
8381 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 178 & fn. 460, referring to Exs. P04752, P04262, P00990; Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
rara. 1873. 

382 Exs. P04299, P04443. 
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while observing that other HVO authorities also had the power to order the release of detainees".8383 

The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that even if Corie had shown that the Military Police, in the 

specific instances referred to in the above-mentioned reports, were acting on the orders of the HVO, 

this would not be inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's finding that the HVO as well as the 

Military Police Administration had the power to order the release of detainees. 

2540. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber considers that Corie has not demonstrated how the fact 

that the Military Police were responding to orders of the HVO in the specified instances, should that 

fact be established, would undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that he ordered the removal of 

Muslim detainees in possession of a letter of guarantee and a transit visa from Ljubuski 

Municipality to a third country. Neither do Corie's remaining submissions on this subject address 

this point.8384 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2541. As to Corie's second argument, the Appeals Chamber understands Corie to be challenging 

the Trial Chamber's finding which is based in part on Witness E's testimony, that "towards the 

middle of August 1993 [ ... ] Jure Herceg, assistant commander of Ljubuski Prison [ ... ] received an 

order from Valentin Corie, which stipulated that all persons with a letter of guarantee were to be 

released and promptly leave the territory of Ljubuski Municipality with their family".8385 It 

observes that Witness E clearly distinguished between an order given to Herceg by Corie for the 

release of detainees with letters of guarantee, and the order given to Herceg by SIS Chief Majie. 8386 

Witness E clarified that once Corie's order was acted upon, Majie's order took effect, such that 

once the detainees were released from detention, within the space of 24 hours, they had to leave 

Ljubuski Municipality.8387 On this basis, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to 

demonstrate how the Trial Chamber misinterpreted Witness E's testimony concerning the August 

1993 order. Corie's argument is dismissed in this regard. 

2542. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that in August 1993, he ordered the release of all Muslims from 

Ljubuski Municipality held in HVO detention centres and in possession of a letter of guarantee and 

a transit visa so they could leave BiH with their families for third countries via Croatia. Corie's 

ground of appeal 7 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

8383 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1445, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 912-915. 
8384 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 178 & fns 460-461. 
8385 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1870 & fn. 4691. 
8386 Witness E, T. 22091-22091 (closed session) (11 Sept 2007). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1870 & fn. 4691. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber's footnote references do not encompass T. 22902, it is clear 
that Witness E's testimony on CoriC's order continues on to this page and that it is to this portion of the testimony that 
the Trial Chamber intends to refer. 
8387 Witness E, T. 22092 (closed session) (11 Sept 2007). 
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(ii) CoriC's planning and facilitation of the forced departure of Muslims from BiH 

territory by participating in establishing the procedure for the release of Heliodrom detainees 

2543. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he planned and facilitated the 

forced departure of Muslims from the territory of BiH by participating in establishing the procedure 

for the release of detainees from the Heliodrom in July 1993.8388 Specifically, he submits that this 

finding was erroneously based on Exhibit P03411, an instruction from the Department for Criminal 

Investigations, upon which the Trial Chamber relied, concerning the release procedure for 

Heliodrom detainees which was erroneously imputed to him.8389 Corie submits that the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion was "far from based on solid evidence" and that VidoviC's testimony 

clearly demonstrates that the Department for Criminal Investigations only had administrative 

functions related to the release of prisoners. 8390 

2544. The Prosecution responds that Corie fails to show that the Trial Chamber's imputation of 

the instructions contained in Exhibit P03411 to him was unreasonable.8391 

2545. The Trial Chamber found that "[o]n 12 July 1993, Zvonko Vidovie sent to Stanko Bozie and 

Josip Praljak Valentin CoriC's instructions setting out that any release from the Heliodrom was 

henceforth to be approved by Valentin Corie or his deputy, Radoslav LavriC".8392 This finding was 

based upon Exhibit P03411, a 12 July 1993 instruction from Vidovie to the Warden and Deputy 

Warden of the Heliodrom conveying that the release of any detainee was forbidden except 

following the approval of Corie or his deputy.8393 

2546. Corie submits that the Trial Chamber's attribution of the source of this instruction to him 

through its inference that the "we" in the document referred to him was "far from based on solid 

evidence".8394 The Appeals Chamber observes that in assessing the "we", the Trial Chamber 

considered that "[g]iven the superior-subordinate relationship between Zvonko Vidovie and 

Valentin Corie, [it had] no doubt that the instructions came from Valentin Corie". 8395 The 

Appeals Chamber further observes that the portion of VidoviC's testimony to which Corie refers in 

asserting that the TriaL Chamber reached an erroneous conclusion regarding Exhibit P03411 shows 

8388 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 177 (referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 970), 181, 185. 
8389 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 182, referring to Trial Judgement Vol. 4, para. 969. 
8390 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 182. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8391 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 195. 
8392 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 968. 
8393 Ex. P03411. 
8394 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 182. 
8395 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 1822. 
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that Vidovie was asked about documents other than Exhibit P03411.8396 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds that Corie has not demonstrated that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

concluded, partly based on Exhibit P03411, that Corie participated in establishing the procedure for 

the release of detainees from the Heliodrom in July 1993.8397 Accordingly, his argument is 

dismissed in this respect. 

2547. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Corie planned and facilitated the forced departure of the 

Muslims from the territory of BiH in establishing the procedure for the release of detainees from the 

Heliodrom in July 1993.8398 Corie's ground of appeal 7 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(iii) Violation of the principle of non his in idem in relation to the findings on Corie's 

involvement in the release of detainees 

2548. Corie contends that the Trial Chamber erred in "finding him guilty twice for the same act, 

under the same fonn of responsibility" and thus contravened the principle of non his in idem. 8399 In 

this regard, Corie challenges the findings that he: (l) participated in the establishment of the 

procedure for the release of detainees from the Heliodrom in July 1993; and (2) ordered the release 

of all Muslims from Ljubuski Municipality held in the HVO detention centres with a view to their 

departure for third countries.8400 

2549. The Prosecution responds that Corie fails to explain his assertion that the Trial Chamber 

found him guilty twice for the same act in contravention of the principle of non his in idem. 8401 

2550. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's findings to which 

Corie refers do not pertain to the same "acts". The Trial Chamber found that Corie planned and 

facilitated the forced departure of Muslims from BiH territory through two means.8402 In reaching 

this conclusion, it first found that he participated in establishing the procedure for the release of 

detainees from the Heliodrom. In this respect, the Trial Chamber discussed Corie's involvement in 

July 1993 in determining who was authorised to release detainees. 8403 Second, the Trial Chamber 

found that in August 1993, Corie issued an order that resulted in the release of all Muslims from 

8396 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 182 & fn. 468, referring to Zvonko Vidovie, T. 51523-51524 (30 Mar 2010). 
8397 The Appeals Chamber observes that the contested Trial Chamber finding was also based upon its sub-finding that 
on 3 July 1993, the Heliodrom Warden informed the de facto Deputy Warden that Corie had informed him that the 
"chief' of the "Department for Criminal Investigations" Vidovie, could release detainees with the approval of the SIS. 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 968. 
8398 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 970. 
8399 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 177. 
8400 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 177, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 946-948, 969-971. 
8401 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 193. 
8402 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 971. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 968-969. 
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Ljubuski Municipality held at the Heliodrom under certain conditions.8404 The fonner finding 

pertains to Corie's role in establishing procedures and the latter finding pertains to his issuing 

orders - both relating to the release of detainees from Ljubuski Municipality who were in 

possession of the necessary paperwork to depart to third countries. 8405 

2551. Moreover, these findings are among those ultimately supporting the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that Corie, through occupying a key role in the operation of the network of HVO 

detention centres until 10 November 1993, significantly contributed to the JCE.8406 That is, the 

findings that Corie participated in establishing the procedure for the release of Heliodrom detainees 

and that he ordered the release of Muslim detainees in possession of the necessary paperwork from 

Ljubuski Municipality are findings on his participation, as an element of JCE I liability, thus not 

those on his guilt for crimes. The Appeals Chamber considers that Corie misapprehends the 

principle of non his in idem. Accordingly, his argument is dismissed. 

2552. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate that 

the Trial Chamber violated the principle of non his in idem in relation to the findings on his 

involvement in the release of detainees. Corie's ground of appeal 7 is therefore dismissed in 

relevant part. 

(f) Alleged errors concerning Corie's l1tens rea for JCE I in relation to his involvement in HVO 

detention centres 

2553. The Trial Chamber found that, "while performing his functions, Valentin Corie was 

infonned of many crimes committed by members of the HZ(R) H-B anned forces, including 

members of the Military Police, or, given his hierarchical position, must have been aware of 

them".8407 Having also found that Corie contributed to the JCE through, among other means, 

playing a key role in the operation of the network of HVO detention centres until 

10 November 1993, the Trial Chamber concluded that he intended the commission of the CCP 

crimes. 8408 

(i) Corie's mens rea stemming from errors in findings related to conditions of detention 

2554. In advancing arguments purporting to contes~ the Trial Chamber's JCE I mens rea-related 

findings, Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in its findings on his failure to intervene to 

8403 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 968. 
8404 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 969,971. 
8405 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 946-948, 968-971. 
8406 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1001. 
8407 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1002. 
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address bad conditions in detention facilities. 8409 He contends that the Trial Chamber erred as it 

ignored its finding that he was not involved in health matters, "including its own finding that [he] 

was not involved in logistics for the prisons". 8410 

2555. The Prosecution responds that Corie has not shown that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 

he shared the intent concerning detention-related crimes was unreasonable.8411 

2556. The Appeals Chamber observes that Corie refers to the Trial Chamber's statement that it 

"cannot find that the logistical aspect of conditions of confinement at the HVO detention centres 

came under Valentin CoriC's authority".8412 Corie has not advanced any arguments showing, on the 

basis of this statement, that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the Trial Chamber's 

findings concerning his intent for the commission of the CCP crimes.8413 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's finding 

concerning his mens rea in relation to the conditions of detention. CoriC's ground of appeal 10 is 

dismissed in relevant part. 

(ii) CoriC's mens rea stemming from errors in findings related to the mistreatment of 

detainees during detention 

2557. Corie contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he failed to intervene to address 

mistreatment in detention facilities. He asserts that this is inconsistent with the Trial Chamber's 

previous conclusion that it could not find that he deliberately avoided intervening to stop abuse at 

Ljubuski Prison as there was no evidence that he had been informed.8414 Further, Corie submits' that 

he cannot be said to have had the requisite intent for crimes about which he had no knowledge. 8415 

2558. The Prosecution submits that as CoriC's conviction is not based on what he learned of the 

abuse at Ljubuski Prison, his argument that the Trial Chamber reached its mens rea finding 

erroneously should be dismissed.8416 It also responds that CoriC's proposition that he cannot be 

found to have the requisite intent for crimes about which he was not aware is incorrect as a matter 

8408 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1001-1004. 
8409 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 239. 
8410 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242. See also Corie's Reply Brief, para. 35. The Appeals Chamber notes that other 
relevant submissions have been summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8411 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 264. 
8412 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 904. 
8413 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8414 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242. . . 
8415 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2562. 
8416 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 263. 
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of law, in that it suffices that a participant in a JCE shared the intent for the commission of the 

crimes of the JCE and acted in furtherance of the CCP.8417 

2559. As regards Corie's first argument that the Trial Chamber ignored its own finding that it 

could not conclude that he deliberately· avoided intervening in relation to the mistreatment of 

detainees at Ljubuski Prison, the Appeals Chamber observes that while the Trial Chamber made this 

finding,8418 Corie has not attempted to demonstrate how on the basis of this finding, no reasonable 

trier of fact could have reached the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he intended the commission of 

the CCP crimes.8419 This argument is therefore dismissed. 

2560. With regard to Corie's second argument, the Appeals Chamber finds that in submitting that 

he could not be found to have the requisite intent for crimes about which he was not aware, Corie 

misapprehends the applicable law. The Appeals Chamber has held that the attribution of criminal 

liability pursuant to JCE I is not premised on an accused's knowledge of each specific crime and 

that it suffices that the accused shared the intent for the commission of these crimes and acted in 

furtherance of the CCP. 8420 Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2561. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate an 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his mens rea in relation to the mistreatment of 

detainees at detention centres. Corie's ground of appeal 10 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(g) Summarily dismissed submissions 

2562. The Appeals Chamber notes that a number of arguments challenging the Trial Chamber's 

. findings on his involvement in the HVO detention centres and his mens rea thereof: (1) merely 

repeat trial arguments without any demonstration that their rejection by the Trial Chamber 

constituted an error warranting the intervention of the Appeals Chamber;8421 (2) merely assert that 

8417 Prosecution's Response Brief (Carie), para. 267. 
8418 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 974. 
8419 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8420 See, e.g., Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491. 
8421 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 103-105, 107-110, arguing that: (i) Exhibit P00452 shows that the Heliodrom was 
established by order of Stojie, thereby undermining the notion that it was established pursuant to Exhibit P00513, an 
order issued by Carie; and (ii) the Trial Chamber should not have placed any weight on Exhibit P00352. Cj. Carie's 
Final Brief, paras 432, 435-438, 731, 734. Carie reiterates the same reliability arguments regarding Exhibit P00352 
when contesting other Trial Chamber findings. See CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 116, 127 (referring to CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, paras 105, 112, 116), 135, 177, 181, 185; (2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 109, arguing that as of October 
1992, Ljubuski Prison was used solely as a military prison and was "managed by the relevant brigade", and therefore he 
was not involved in either its establishment or its management. Cf. CoriC's Final Brief, paras 440, 524; (3) CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, paras 108, 122, ar,$uing that the sale purpose of Ljubuski Prison was military detention. Cf. CoriC's 
Final Brief, paras 342, 524; (4) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 113, 168, arguing that the lack of a superior-subordinate 
relationship between the wardens of the Heliodrom and the Military Police Administration or Carie is demonstrated by 
the fact that reports prepared by Wardens Josip Praljak or Stanko Bozic used different registration numbers from 
used by the Military Police. Cf. CoriC's Final Brief, paras 434.504. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in challenging 
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Trial Chamber's conclusions as to his knowledge of mistreatment of Heliodrom detainees working at the front line 
(Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 167-169), Corie makes similar arguments without advancing additional submissions; 
(5) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 112, arguing that lacking any direct and credible evidence that "Corie appointed the 
warden of any detention centre", the Trial Chamber based "its conclusion" on the Praljak Log Book, as well as 
statements by Witness Iosip Praljak, whose credibility he questions. Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 433-437, 724-734; 
(6) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 131, discussing the military district court's authority to oversee and supervise prisons, 
including the appointment of wardens. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, paras 348-349; (7) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 247, 
purporting to contest Trial Chamber findings concerning his responsibility for criminal acts committed in "Prozor 
Prison". Cf. Corie's Final Brief, paras 398, 407-408, 415-417, 420, 431; (8) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 114, 304, 
arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that there was a superior-subordinate relationship between himself 
and the Warden of Ljubuski Prison based on daily reports prepared by a Prosecution witness whose credibility and 
reliability he contests. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, paras 712-723. Corie repeats his claim regarding this witness's credibility 
without any additional argumentation when he contends that the Trial Chamber erred in relying upon orders and lists of 
detainees by Ante Pdie, Commander of Ljubuski Prison (Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 183); (9) Corie's Appeal Brief, 
paras 135, 166, arguing that evidence shows that: (i) the Main Staff had the power to authorise detainee labour outside 
of the Heliodrom; and (ii) detainees were taken for labour per orders of the competent HVO military commanders upon 
authorisation of the commanders of the respective OZ to whom they were subordinated. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, para. 
476; (10) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 135, arguing that evidence indicates that the Military Police Administration did 
not play any role in taking prisoners for labour outside of the Heliodrom. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, para. 494; (11) Corie's 
Appeal Brief, para. 304, challenging the Trial Chamber's reliance upon Exhibit P03613 in relation to its findings on his 
contribution to the ICE through his 'involvement with Vitina-Otok Camp. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, para. 527; 
(12) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 123, 139-142, making submissions concerning his role in security at detention centres. 
Cf. Corie's Final Brief, paras 344, 382-383, 385-387, 389. Corie makes similar submissions in other parts of his appeal 
brief, but fails to advance a discernible ar~ument engaging with specific Trial Chamber findings. See Corie's 
Appeal Brief, paras 119-120, 122-124; (13) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 119, arguing that overwhelming evidence 
proves that the Ljubuski Warden was subordinated to the 41h Stjepan Radie Brigade. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, 
paras 529-531; (14) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 115, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Exhibit P00514. 
Cf. Corie's Final Brief, paras 463-464; (15) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 116, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in its 
findings on his involvement in security at the Heliodrom as the command over the Military Police involved in security 
and criminal investigations at this prison was through the prison warden or the HVO Command of the OZ. Cf Corie's 
Final Brief, paras 453, 457; (16) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 118, arguing that the house rules issued for Dretelj Prison 
by HVO Brigade Commander Nedjeljko Obradovie show that the 1 sl Knez Domagoj Brigade had overall authority over 
Dretelj Prison. Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras. 564, 566; (17) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 128, arguing that overwhelming 
evidence proves that visits to the Heliodrom, in general, were authorised by the relevant HVO OZ commanders. 
Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 460,466, 533, 575; (18) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 162, arguing that the Trial Chamber 
should not have relied upon reports by the Heliodrom Warden Bozie as no evidence proved that Corie received these 
reports. Cf Corie's Final Brief, para. 499. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 640-642 (24 Mar 2017). The Appeals Chamber 
notes that Corie merely repeats similar arguments and refers to arguments raised elsewhere in his appeal brief when 
ohallenging the Trial Chamber's findings on his knowledge of mistreatment of Heliodrom detainees working on the 
front line. See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 167-169; (19) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 168, arguing that the only verified 
complaints of detainee mistreatment that could have potentially reached him were acted upon promptly by a subordinate 
of his at the Military Police Administration, thereby indicating that neither he nor the Military Police Administration 
condoned detainee mistreatment. Cf Corie's Final Brief, para. 502; (20) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 164, arguing that 
the Trial Chamber should not have relied on Exhibit P05563 because there was no indication proving that Corie 
received it and it was not shown to any witness at trial. Cf Corie's Final Brief, para. 520; (21) Corie's Appeal Brief, 
para. 172, arguing that the Trial Chamber should not have relied upon Exhibit P03960 on the basis that overwhelming 
evidence proves that the Military Police Administration and Corie did not have authority over Dretelj Prison and that 
this exhibit is an example of an attempt to shift the blame onto the Military Police. Cf Corie's Final Brief, para. 592. In 
addition, Corie only makes a reference to his ground of appeal 6 as support for this proposition; (22) Corie's 
Appeal Brief, para. 130, advancing an argument concerning his involvement in the transfer of detainees. Cf Corie's 
Final Brief, para. 384; (23)Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 244-246, making submissions pertaining to the Trial Chamber's 
findings on Gabela and Dretelj Prisons and its "errors as to forced labor". Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 549, 560-561, 
581-583. In relation to the latter, Corie merely refers to his ground of appeal 6 without advancing any distinct 
arguments; (24) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 183, arguing that the Trial Chamber should not have relied upon the 
documents referring to a request allegedly submitted by him for the release of several detainees. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, 
para. 470; (25) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 174-176, 184, arguing, in relation to his role in the forced departure of 
detainees of Ljubuski, Dretelj, and Gabela Prisons as well as Vitina-Otok Camp, that the Trial Chamber erred in relying 
upon evidence, including Exhibit P03220JP03216, the authenticity of which Corie contests. Cf. Corie's Final Brief, 
paras 471,699-702,717. Corie repeats his claim regarding the authenticity of Exhibit P03220JP03216 when challenging 
the Trial Chamber's finding that Corie ordered the release of Muslims held in detention in Ljubuski Municipality. 
See Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 175, 262-267, 296-297. This argument, which is raised under his ground of appeal 12, 
has already been dismissed. See supra, paras 160-163; (26) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242, making submissions 
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the Trial Chamber must have failed to consider relevant evidence without showing that no 

reasonable trier of fact, based on the evidence, could have reached the same conclusion as the 

Trial Chamber;8422 (3) fail to identify relevant Trial Chamber findings;8423 (4) misrepresent the 

challenged factual findings or the evidence;8424 (5) fail to articulate an error;8425 (6) fail to explain 

pertaining to who was in charge of medical care and to whom reports concerning medical care were addressed. 
Cf Corie's Final Brief, para. 465; and (27) Corie's Appeal Brief, para:. 243, arguing that the Trial Chamber ignored 
evidence that civilians were evacuated to the Heliodrom for their own safety. Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 444-448. 
Corie advances the same argument when challenging the Trial Chamber finding that he intended to have Muslims 
arr~sted in May 1993. See Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 152. In so doing, he merely repeats trial arguments. Cf Corie's 
Final Brief, paras 380, 446-447. 
8422 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 104, arguing that the Trial Chamber ignored Exhibit P00292, which indicates that the 
Head of the Department of Justice and Public Administration, together with the Heads of the Departments of Defence 
and Interior, would determine where detainees were to be kept. While the Trial Chamber did not refer to 
Exhibit P00292 in its discussion of the establishment of the Heliodrom, it did refer to this exhibit in its discussion of the 
functions of the Department of Justice and Administration, and found that "the Head of the Department of Justice and 
Administration, in conjunction with the Head of the Department of Defence and the Head ~f the Department of the 
Interior, was responsible for determining the detention sites for persons captured in combat". Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, 
para. 648 & fn. 1532. Corie has not attempted to show that the contents of Exhibit P00292 are inconsistent with or 
p,reclude the Trial Chamber's finding that he ordered, in his own capacity, the establishment of the Heliodrom. 

423 (1) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 103, 138, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the authority to 
order the transfer of detainees and advancing a number of arguments to this end. Although Corie refers to paragraphs 
907-908 of Volume 1 of the Trial Judgement in this regard, he fails to identify specific factual findings in relation to 
which the Appeals Chamber could meaningfully address his arguments. Moreover, he broadly repeats trial arguments. 
Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 540-541, 544; and (2) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 243, arguing that "[a]s to Stolacl 
Ljubuski, the detention of Muslim HVO members following their assisting a ABiH attack and detention of the reserve 
members of the ABiH armed forces following the attack of the ABiH are discussed elsewhere herein". In addition, 
Corie merely refers to submissions under his ground of appeal 7 without raising any distinct arguments. 
8424 (1) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 108-109, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred by only relying upon two documents 
(Exhibits P00128 and P00956), which show that Ljubuski Prison was used solely as a military prison and was 
"managed by the brigade". The Trial Chamber's conclusion that the Military Police Administration played a key role 
"in establishing, setting up and managing" Ljubuski Prison is based not only on the two documents but also on other 
evidence. Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1791 & fn. 4458. In addition, Corie's argument that these two documents show 
that the prison "served the sole purpose of military detention" is undeveloped as neither exhibit enables this contention. 
In fact, they both tend to support the Trial Chamber's findings; (2) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 119, arguing that the 
Trial Chamber erroneously found that he "played a significant role in maintaining security" at Ljubuski Prison solely 
based on the erroneous finding that its warden was subordinated to him. The Appeals Chamber understands Corie to be 
challenging the Trial Chamber's finding that "from the establishment of Ljubuski Prison in June 1992 until 
10 November 1993, the security of the detainees at that prison was ultimately the responsibility of Valentin Corie" 
(Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 899). In this regard, the Trial Chamber did not reach this finding solely based on its 
prior finding thaUhe Warden of Ljubuski Prison was subordinated to Corie. It also relied upon its finding that "at least 
between May and August 1993, the warden of Ljubuski Prison drew up daily reports for, among others, the Military 
Police Administration, on the activities of the Military Police platoon at Ljubuski Prison". Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 899, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1797. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1791-1796, 
1798-1799; (3) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 117, arguing that evidence demonstrates that it was the DOl11obrani unit 
rather than the Military Police Administration who were in charge of security at Dretelj Prison. Corie misrepresents the 
evidence in that it indicates that both Military Police and the Domobrani unit were deployed at Dretelj Prison for 
security purposes. See Witness C, T. 22369 (closed session) (17 Sept 2007); (4) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 162, 
arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in only relying upon Exhibit P03209, a report about an incident of mistreatment at 
the Heliodrom. The Appeals Chamber observes that when concluding that Corie had reason to believe that some 
Heliodrom detainees were being mistreated, the Trial Chamber relied upon several pieces of evidence in addition to 
Exhibit P03209. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 955-957, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P00285, p. 99, P03942, p. 2, 
P05008, p. 1, Josip Praljak, T(F). 14732-14735 (27 Feb 2007); (5) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 172-173, arguing that: 
(i) the Trial Chamber should not have relied upon Exhibit P03794, a report by the Assistant Chief of the Military Police 
Administration responsible for security, Branimir Tucak, about a visit to Dretelj Prison, as it only refers to positive 
feedback on the conditions of detention there, and (ii) evidence indicated that the visit described in this report was of an 
ad hoc nature. Corie misrepresents the contents of the report. While it mentions that rooms were aired out every two 
hours and that prisoners were given fixed quantities of food and water, it also indicates "several incidents of scabies and 
lice" and that it "was necessary to disinfect the rooms as soon as possible". See Ex. P03794. In addition, the evidence 
which Corie refers to inadequately supports his argument, as it merely identifies the title of the Military 
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how the alleged errors have an effect on the conclusions of the Trial Charnber;8426 (7) ignore other 

relevant findings;8427 (8) are undeveloped;8428 (9) are irrelevant;8429 or (10) are unsubstantiated.843o 

Consequently, these submissions are summarily dismissed. 

Administration official who visited Dretelj Prison as the Assistant Chief of the Military Police Administration 
responsible for the security there. See Witness C, T. 22405 (closed session) (18 Sept 2007); (6) Corie's Appeal Brief, 
para. 179, arguing that the Trial Chamber erroneously interpreted an order of August 1993 that he allegedly issued to 
the Deputy Brigade Commander of the Military Police, Jure Herceg, about the release of Ljubuski Municipality 
detainees who were in possession of letters of guarantee, for the Trial Chamber only relied on Witness E's testimony 
pertaining to this order. Contrary to Corie's contention, the finding which he challenges (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
para. 1870 & fn. 4691) is not only based upon Witness E's testimony but also upon, inter alia, reports from August 
1993 from the Commander of the 4th Brigade Military Police. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1870 & fn.4691, 
referring to, inter alia, Exs. P10175, P04263, P04404, P10190; and (7) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242, arguing that the 
Trial Chamber's finding that he did not have access to reports on conditions of detention demonstrates that he lacked 
the requisite mens rea. The paragraphs of the Trial Judgement to which Corie refers contain no such finding. See 
Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242 & fn. 628, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 962,985. 
8425 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 112, arguing that the Trial Chamber possessed evidence proving that Mile Pusie, the 
first Warden of the Heliodrom, was appointed by the Head of the Defence Department, Bruno Stojie. 
8426 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 121, arguing that the Trial Chamber failed to identify the documents upon which it 
based its conclusion that the regulations in effect at Ljubuski Prison point to the authority of the Military Police and the 
Military Police Administration over internal security. While the Trial Chamber did not identify which regulations it 
referred to (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 901), Corie fails to explain the impact of this omission on the Trial 
Chamber's findings concerning his involvement in security at Ljubuski Prison. 
8427 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 242, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in its findings on his failure to intervene to 
address mistreatment in detention facilities, despite previously concluding that he had no reason to believe that 
detainees were being mistreated at the Heliodrom. The Trial Chamber found that it received no evidence confirming 
that he was informed of incidents of mistreatment of Heliodrom detainees by the Military Police and the HVO between 
May 1993 and mid-April 1994. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 955. However, in ultimately concluding that as of 
July 1993, Corie had reason to know that some detainees were being mistreated (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
para. 957), the Trial Chamber took into account its previous findings that he had reason to believe that detainees were 
being mistreated, and that at least in July, August, and September 1993, Corie was informed about problems with 
detainee security by the Heliodrom Warden, Stanko Bozic. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 955. 
8428 (1) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 106-107, arguing that no plan existed for the detention of a large number of 
detainees at the Heliodrom and that it was established to serve as a.military detention centre. In addition, Corie repeats 
submissions advanced at trial. Cf Corie's Final Brief, paras 340, 439-442; (2) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 304, arguing 
that he was erroneously found guilty for offences by a unit of the Military Police brigade at Vitina-Otok Camp; 
(3) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 115, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in relying upon Exhibit P00514, 22 September 
1992 instructions issued by Corie for the operation of the Heliodrom, on the basis that the Trial Chamber failed to 
properly weigh Exhibit P01474, 11 February 1993 house rules for detention centres for detainees, issued by Stojie. 
Corie implies that the latter provide a stronger basis for a conclusion on who had ultimate responsibility over security of 
Heliodrom detainees as compared to the former, but the Appeals Chamber finds this argument to be undeveloped. Corie 
has neither attempted to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber failed to properly weigh Exhibit P0l474 nor how it 
provides a stronger basis than Exhibit P00514 for conclusions concerning who had authority over security at the 
Heliodrom; (4) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 137, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that "the [Military 
Police] and [Military Police Administration] were responsible for a prisoner exchange at least during the period from 
April 1992 to April in 1993". In support, he merely states that there was no mistreatment in prisons for which he has 
been found responsible during the April 1992-April 1993 period; (5) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 178, arguing that the 
Trial Chamber erroneously found that the Muslims from Ljubuski Municipality held in HVO detention centres had, 
under SIS Chief Petar Majie's orders, 24 hours to leave the territory with their families. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, 
para. 1872. Corie submits that the SIS was "beyond the control of the [Military Police Administration]", but he fails to 
develop his assertion any further; and (6) Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 239-240, challenging the Trial Chamber's JCE I 
mens rea-related findings on the basis that it contradicted or ignored its own previous findings on his involvement in 
HVO detention centres. Corie has not engaged with the Trial Judgement in such a way as to either identify a 
contradiction or demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the Trial Chamber's ultimate mens rea 
finding on the basis of its findings on his involvement with HVO detention centres. 
8429 (1) Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 108, arguing that the Trial Chamber chose not to rely upon the only document which 
the Prosecution tendered in support of its proposition that Corie was involved in the establishment of Ljubuski Prison. 
The Appeals Chamber understands him to be challenging the Trial Chamber's finding that "[t]he Military Police 
Administration, under Valentin Corie's direction, also set up Ljubuski Prison sometime in June 1992". Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. 894. This finding is supported by a reference to an earlier finding (see Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 894, 
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5. Alleged errors related to Corie's involvement in crimes in municipalities 

(Corie's Grounds 2, 7, 10, 11, 13, and 14, all in part) 

(a) Mostar Municipality 

(i) Corie's involvement in the HVO military operations in East Mostar 

2563. The Trial Chamber concluded that Corie assisted in the HVO campaign of fire and shelling 

against East Mostar in particular by: (1) re-subordinating Military Police units, including light 

assault battalions, to the command of the Main Staff and/or the commanders of the OZs between' 

July and at least October 1993; (2) sending part of the 4th Light Assault Battalion to Mostar on 

13 August 1993; and (3) subordinating 100 military policemen to the Mostar Town Defence 

Commander on 5 October 1993.8431 It also found that in view of Corie's participation in the war 

effort and the long duration and systematic nature of the military operations, he must have been 

aware of the HVO campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar.8432 The Trial Chamber further 

found that given the systematic nature of the HVO sniper campaign against East Mostar civilians 

between May 1993 and February 1994, and by personally participating in the investigation into the 

death of Francisco Aguilar Fernandez, a Spanish lieutenant and a Spabat member, Corie must have 

been aware of the HVO snipers in West Mostar who were targeting East Mostar.8433 Bearing in 

mind these findings, the Trial Chamber was satisfied that Corie had knowledge of the HVO 

campaign of fire and shelling against East Mostar, and the crimes committed during that 

campaign.8434 The Trial Chamber also found that inasmuch as Corie lent his support to the 

campaigns, he intended to facilitate the crimes directly linked to the HVO military operations in 

East Mostar, namely murders and destruction of property, including mosques, resulting from the 
I 

shelling. 8435 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2564. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he intended to facilitate the crimes 

linked to the HVO campaigns in East Mostar, and that it disregarded evidence when concluding that 

referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1789-1799), which is in turn supported by ample witness and documentary 
evidence. Bearing in mind the evidentiary basis of the Trial Chamber's finding concerning CoriC's role in the 
establishment of Ljubuski Prison, the Appeals Chamber considers that CoriC's argument is irrelevant; and (2) CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 180, arguing that it erroneously relied upon Exhibit P04620. Corie has not attempted to demonstrate 
how the Trial Chamber's reliance upon Exhibit P04620 has any bearing on its finding that he ordered the removal of 
Muslim detainees from Ljubuski Municipality. 
8430 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 242, arguing that knowledge of conditions of detention cannot be attributed to him as 
anyone intending such a result would not complain of lack of resources to prevent it. 
8431 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 936. 
8432 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. 
8433 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. 
8434 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. 
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he must have been aware of these campaigns.8436 He submits that the Military Police Light Assault 

Battalions were re-subordinated before these· crimes were committed, and that following 

re-subordination, he was unaware of the daily tasks of the Military Police units.8437 He further 

argues that although the Trial Chamber found that Corie was aware that the death of Fernandez was 

caused by the HVO, it did not establish beyond reasonable doubt that Fernandez was killed by the 

HVO, contrary to the principle of in dubio pro reo.8438 

2565. In response, the Prosecution submits that Corie's argument concerning the Military Police 

re-subordination misrepresents the Trial Judgement as he did not subordinate the Military Police 

Light Assault Battalions before crimes were committed in East Mostar, but issued re-subordination 

orders in August 1993.8439 It also submits that Corie's submissions as regards the death of 

Fernandez misrepresent the findings and evidence, and the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded, on 

the basis of the evidence as a whole, that an HVO sniper deliberately fired at and killed 

Fernandez.844o 

b. Analysis 

2566. As regards Corie's argument that he did not exercise powers over the re-subordinated 

Military Police Light Assault Battalions, the Appeals Chamber notes that the finding that Corie 

assisted the East Mostar campaign was based not on his knowledge of their daily operations, but on 

the fact that he re-subordinated these units. 8441 The Trial Chamber found that on 28 July 1993, 

Corie ordered that the Military Police Light Assault Battalions be re-subordinated to the 

commander of the Main Staff and/or the OZ commanders.8442 It further found that on that date, even 

the 1st Light Assault Battalion "passed under the effective command of Sloboadan Praljak and/or 

the OZ commanders".8443 However, the Trial Chamber also considered, pursuant to two further 

orders which Corie issued on 7 and 13 August 1993, ordering that specific units of the Military 

Police Light Assault Battalions were to go to Mostar, that Corie "did not lose his authority over the 

8435 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 945. 
8436 CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 154-156; Appeal Hearing, AT. 597 (24 Mar 2017). 
8437 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 156; Appeal Hearing, AT. 597-598 (24 Mar 2017). 
8438 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1275. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 30. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily dismissed. See infra, 

r4~ap;~;e;ution'S Response Brief (Corie), para. 165. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 164. The 
Prosecution also avers that CoriC's ~ssertion that he was not aware of the daily activities of the re-subordinated units is 
irrelevant as the Trial Chamber's findings were not premised upon information received directly from these units. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 165. 
8440 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 167. 
8441 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 936. 
8442 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 968. 
8443 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 968. 
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light assault battalions entirely".8444 The Appeals Chamber also recalls that it has summarily 

dismissed Corie's other arguments as regards the effect of re-subordination on the control the 

Military Police Administration exercised over the units.8445 To the extent that Corie's arguments 

amount to a challenge to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning his continued exercise of control 

over the Military Police units in East Mostar following re-subordination, these arguments are 

dismissed. 

2567. Turning to Corie's arguments regarding the Trial Chamber's findings on the death of 

Fernandez, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that in the evening of 

11 June 1993, Fernandez was in an armoured vehicle escorting a medical convoy from West Mostar 

to East· Mostar when he was killed by a single bullet. 8446 The Trial Chamber found that several 

investigations were launched in co-operation with the HVO, specifically with Stojic, at the time of 

the events.8447 In this regard, it noted: (1) the investigations conducted by UNPROFOR and the 

United Nations Civilian Police ("UNCIVPOL") showing that the shots came from an elevated 

location in West Mostar, probably the roof of the building known as the "Glass Bank", also known 

as the Blue Bank, at Marsal Tito Street in West Mostar ("Glass Bank"), the highest building in 

Mostar, where HVO snipers were located,8448 but concluded that there was no material proof to 

support this hypothesis;8449 (2) the evidence showing that shots fired came from the west of the 

town, and that bullet cartridges found on the roof of the Glass Bank on 13 June 1993 were identical 

to the bullet found in Fernandez's body;8450 (3) the fact that on 14 June 1993, Stojic sent a letter to 

the Spanish Minister of Defence stating that an HVO investigation had concluded that Fernandez 

was killed by the ABiH, and that the ,HVO subsequently concluded that ABiH forces were 

responsible;8451 (4) the evidence of Larry Forbes, a policeman involved in the UNCIVPOL 

investigation, who stated that the HVO report was inaccurate;8452 and (5) that it was not persuaded 

by the Petkovic Defence's argument that the shot was accidentally fired by the HVO, given that 

there was no evidence that there was an exchange of fire between the HVO and the ABiH at that 

juncture.8453 Overall, the Trial Chamber concluded that "[iJn the absence of supporting evidence 

8444 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para, 970, 
8445 See supra, para, 2501. 
8446 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para, 1273. 
8447 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1272. 
8448 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1274. 
8449 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1275. 
8450 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1276. 
8451 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1277. 
8452 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1277. 
8453 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1279. 
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other than from the HVO that the shots came from the ABiH", it was satisfied that the shot came 

from West Mostar, the zone held by the HVO, and specifically from the Glass Bank building.8454 

2568. The Appeals Chamber considers that in pointing to this overall finding, Corie misrepresents 

the Trial Chamber's findings in relation to his criminal responsibility. It observes that the 

Trial Chamber concluded that given the systematic nature of the HVO sniper campaign against 

East Mostar civilians between May 1993 and February 1994, and his personal participation in the 

investigation into the death of Fernandez, Corie must have been aware of the HVO snipers in 

West Mostar who were targeting East Mostar. 8455 The Trial Chamber did not specifically conclude 

that Corie was aware that Fernandez was killed by the HVO. In any event, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that Corie has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber erred in its approach in finding that the 

shot that killed Fernandez had come from West Mostar, the zone held by the HVO. In this regard, 

the Appeals Chamber takes particular note of the fact that the Trial Chamber balanced consistent 

evidence suggesting that the bullet came from HVO territory, which explains why it was unsatisfied 

by HVO evidence regarding the alternative inference that the bullet was part of an ABiH attack. 

Corie's argument is thus dismissed. 

2569. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its findings on Corie's involvement in the HVO military operations in 

East Mostar. Corie's ground of appeal 7 is thus dismissed in relevant patio 

(ii) Corie's responsibility for a killing incident in Buna (south of Mostar) 

2570. The Trial Chamber found that Corie knowingly engaged the Military Police in eviction 

operations, inter alia, in Mostar, from 9 May until at least October 1993, during which CCP crimes 

were committed.8456 Additionally, it found that the only inference that it could reasonably draw 

from the fact that Corie personally participated in planning the operations to evict Muslims from 

Mostar - including through placing Muslims in detention and through knowingly turning a blind 

eye to the crimes perpetrated against Muslims by HVO members in the summer of 1993 while he 

had a duty to fight crime in the HZ(R) H-B - was that he intended to have these crimes 

committed.8457 Among the crimes for which Corie was found responsible were murder, wilful 

killing, inhumane acts, inhuman treatment, and cruel treatment in relation to a 14 July 1993 incident 

8454 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1278. 
8455 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 938. 
8456 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8457 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
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in Buna (south of Mostar) in which the Military Police detained two Muslims and later shot them 

with the intention of killing them, and indeed killed one.8458 

2571. Corie contests, as a preliminary matter, the basis upon which the Trial Chamber concluded 

that the Military Police were responsible for the Buna killing,8459 namely, that the Trial Chamber 

did not take into account that Witness CY indicated that he had never before seen the particular 

Military Police involved in this incident. 8460 Corie also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in 

finding him responsible for the Buna killing in that there was no evidence that he or any superior 

officer of the Military Police knew or could have known what happened. 8461 

2572. Concerning Corie's preliminary challenge, the Prosecution responds that the fact that 

Witness CY did not recognise the specific perpetrators is irrelevant because he did identify the 

perpetrators as being members of the Military Police.8462 It also contends that the incident was 

"foreseeable" to Code in the execution of the CCP, that his connection to this cdme arises out of his 

membership in the ICE, and that whether he later learned about the crime is beside the point. 8463 

2573. Corie replies that, contrary to the Prosecution's submission, in order to impute a crime to an 

accused, "it has to be a natural and foreseeable consequence, and it cannot have these charactedstics 

if it did not happen before". 8464 

2574. The Appeals Chamber considers immaterial the fact that Witness CY did not specifically 

identify the specific members of the Military Police involved in the Buna killing for the purposes of 

the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the perpetrators of this incident were members of the Military 

Police. Code's argument is dismissed in this regard. 

2575. Regarding Code's argument that the Tdal Chamber erred in finding Corie responsible for 

the Buna killing due to lack of evidence that he knew about this incident, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that a participant in a joint cdminal enterpdse would not need to know of each crime 

committed in order to be criminally liable and that it suffices that he or she shared the intent for the 

commission of these crimes and acted in furtherance of the CCP.8465 Corie's. cdminal responsibi,lity 

therefore does not hinge on whether or not he knew about a specific incident. In this case, the 

8458 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 670, 719, 1247-1248, 1341-1342, 1444-1445, Vol. 4, para. 1006. See 
Trial Jud~ement, Vol. 2, paras 940-944, Vol. 4, paras 1000-1004. 
8459 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 309-310. 
8460 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 310, referring to Witness CY, T. 13056 (29 Jan 2007). 
8461 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 310. The Appeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been summarily 
dismissed. See infra, para. 2594. 
8462 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 344. 
8463 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 345. 
8464 CoriC's Reyly Brief, para. 71. 
8465 See, e.g., Sainovi6 et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 1491. 
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Trial Chamber inferred from the evidence that in the summer of 1993, while Corie had the duty to 

fight crime, he knowingly turned a blind eye to the crimes perpetrated by HVO members in West 

Mostar during the eviction operations and did so with the awareness that their conduct would result 

in criminal acts.8466 Based on this, the Trial Chamber concluded that he intended the commission of 

these crimes, including the Buna killing.8467 Corie's argument that there is no evidence that he knew 

about the Buna killing simply ignores the Trial Chamber's reasoning. Accordingly, this argument is 

dismissed. 

2576. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in holding him criminally responsible for the Buna killing. Corie's ground of 

appeal 14 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(iii) Corie's involvement in isolating the population of East Mostar and blocking 

humanitarian aid 

2577. The Trial Chamber found that Corie participated in blocking the Muslim population in 

East Mostar and the delivery of humanitarian aid there in the summer of 1993, thereby depriving its 

inhabitants of basic necessities, thus knowingly contributing to the siege of that part of the town of 

Mostar and to the creation of unbearable living conditions for the population of East Mostar. 8468 

a. Corie's participation in the blockade of the Muslim popUlation of East Mostar 

and impediment of the delivery of humanitarian aid 

2578. Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he participated in blockading the 

Muslim population in East Mostar and in blocking the delivery of humanitarian aid there. 8469 Corie 

submits that these findings were not based on facts and evidence. 8470 

2579. In response, the Prosecution submits that Corie fails to show that the Trial Chamber was 

unreasonable in concluding that he participated in the JCE on the basis of the blockade of the 

Muslim popUlation of East Mostar and impediment of the delivery of humanitarian aid to 

East Mostar. 8471 

2580. The Appeals Chamber considers that when arguing that the Trial Chamber's findings with 

regard to the blockade and checkpoints in Mostar are not based on facts and evidence, Corie 

8466 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 934, 945. 
8467 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. 
8468 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 944-945. 
8469 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 65, 157. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 151, 235. 
8470 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 286. 
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disregards the Trial Chamber's consideration of evidence, inter alia, that: (1) on 1 June 1993, Corie 

knew about the humanitarian situation of the Muslim population in East Mostar, in particular the 

deteriorating sanitary conditions and the difficulties in getting food;8472 (2) on 10 June 1993, he 

ordered that the transport and distribution of humanitarian aid in the territory of the HZ H-B be 

banned without a certificate of ODPR;8473 (3) on 13 August 1993, following a Main Staff order, 

Corie ordered the commander of the 5th Military Police Battalion to prohibit access to the town of 

Mostar other than for HVO members, including foreign journalists and television crews, until 

otherwise ordered;8474 and (4) on 26 August 1993, pursuant to a joint order by the Department of 

Defence and the Main Staff, Corie issued an order to the commanders of the 5 th and 6th Military 

Police Battalions to allow foreign journalists and personnel of humanitarian organisations to move 

freely around the territory of the HZ H-B only if they had a special permit that could be signed by, 

among others, Stojie, Praljak, or Petkovie.8475 The Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to 

show an error and dismisses this argument. 

2581. In conclusion, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he participated in the blockade of the Muslim population of 

East Mostar and impeded the delivery of humanitarian aid to East Mostar in the summer of 1993, 

which deprived the population of basic necessities. CoriC's grounds of appeal 2, 7, 10, and 13 are 

dismissed in relevant part. 

b. CoriC's involvement in crime-fighting in Mostar 

2582. The Trial Chamber found that in the summer of 1993, when he had the duty to fight crime, 

Corie knowingly turned a blind eye to the crimes committed by HVO members against Muslims' in 

West Mostar during the eviction operations, and did so with awareness that their conduct would 

result in criminal acts, which continued to be carried out with impunity until September 1993, thus 

intending to have those crimes committed.8476 It also took account of Corie's argument that the 

crime-fighting operation known as Operation "Spider" commenced with an order issued by Corie in 

August 1993 to collect information about the crimes committed by the soldiers of the Vinko Skrobo 

8471 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 168, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 939-944. See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), para. 169. 
8472 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 940, referring to Ex. P02601. 
8473 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 941, referring to Ex. P02706. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, fn. 1658. 
8474 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 942, referring to Ex. P04174. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1234. 
8475 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 943, referring to Ex. P04529, p. 1. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 635, 
referring to Ex. P04529. In addition, Corie merely seeks to offer his own interpretation of the evidence and has not 
shown that the Trial Chamber's findings as to his involvement in East Mostar were unreasonable. See CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, para. 158, fns 392-397, referring to Exs. P04529, P00708, P02801, P00581, P01238, P01300, P01487, 
P01876, 5D02009, P02527, P03835, 3D00967, 4D00399, P04792, P00602, P01l53, P02249, P03300, 5D04392, 
P03327 (confidential), P04527, P06332 (confidential), 2D01365, Slobodan Praljak, T. 40766 (26 May 2009), T. 42745 
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and Benko Penavie ATGs in Mostar. 8477 However, it found that Operation "Spider" was launched 

only on 21 June 1994, with an order by Prlie to prosecute all persons, including HVO members, 

suspected of having committed criminal acts during or after the conflict, to initiate criminal 

investigations and proceedings against them, and to restore public order, which brought together 

key figures of the judicial system.8478 

2583. Corie submits that the Trial Chamber erred when concluding that he had intent based on his 

knowledge of crimes in Mostar, and contributed to a climate of impunity there. 8479 Specifically, he 

submits that powers over the KB units were not alleged in the Indictment, and it was accordingly 

inappropriate for the Trial Chamber to draw inferences based upon their activities.848o 

2584. The Prosecution responds that Corie was convicted because of his failure to investigate the 

crimes committed by KB units, not on the basis that he controlled the units. 8481 

2585. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that crimes were committed 

in West Mostar around mid-June 1993 by KB members under Mladen NaletiliC's command.8482 The 

Trial Chamber also found that it would not consider the Prosecution's submission that Corie had 

authority over these units, as the Indictment did not allege such a power of command.8483 Thus, 

contrary to Corie's submission, the Trial Chamber did not base its findings as to his criminal 

responsibility in relation to crimes committed by the KB members in Mostar on the fact that he had 

authOlity or control over the KB units, but on the fact that in summer 1993, when he had the duty to 

fight crime, he knowingly turned a blind eye to the crimes perpetrated by HVO members against 

Muslims in West Mostar during the eviction operations, thus he contributed to creating a climate of 

impunity which undoubtedly favoured and encouraged the commission of other crimes.8484 As 

Corie mischaracterises the basis for his conviction, this argument is dismissed. 

(8 July 2009), T. 44020 (27 Aug 2009), Witness DV, T. 22907-22908 (1 Oct 2007), Grant Finlayson, T. 18021 
(7 May 2007), Witness BC, T. 18538 (closed session) (16 May 2007). 
8476 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1000. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8477 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 931-932. 
8478 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 932. The Appeals Chamber notes that according to the Trial Chamber, "the key 
figures of the judicial system" included Corie as Minister of the Interior. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 932. In this 
regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed the Trial Chamber's findings on his role in the JCE as Miniser 
of the Interior. See supra, para. 105. 
8479 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 153. See also CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 151, 230. 
8480 See CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 231. The ARpeals Chamber notes that other relevant submissions have been 
summarily dismissed. See infra, para. 2594. 
8481 Prosecution's Response Brief (Corie), fn. 942. 
8482 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 929-930. 
8483 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 914. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 913. 
8484 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 933, 1000. 
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2586. The Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to demonstrate an error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings in respect of his involvement in crime-fighting in Mostar. Corie's grounds 

of appeal 7 and 10 are dismissed in relevant part. 

(b) Gomji Vakuf Municipality 

2587. The Trial Chamber considered that the evidence showed that Corie facilitated the HVO 

operations in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993, by sending Military Police units to take part in 

them. 8485 It then found that inasmuch as Corie himself referred to this participation in his reports, he 

knew about the course of the HVO operations in Gomji Vakuf in January 1993 and must have been 

aware of the CCP crimes resulting from this campaign.8486 The· Trial Chamber inferred that by 

having facilitated the operations in Gomji Vakuf, Corie intended to have these crimes 

committed.8487 Accordingly, it concluded that Corie knowingly engaged Military Police units in the 

eviction operations in Gomji Vakuf in January i 993.8488 

2588. Corie challenges the above-mentioned Trial Chamber findings, arguing that the 

Trial Chamber erroneously found him responsible under JCE I based on "scant" evidence as it 

failed to explain the conclusion that "facilitating legitimate military operations automatically 

equates to knowledge of and shared intent for mur,ders, and other crimes". 8489 He also challenges 

the Trial Chamber's reliance on the two reports, Exhibits P0l635 and P03090, which he sent 

following the combat in Gomji Vakuf in concluding that as he referred in these reports to the 

Military Police's participation in the Gomji Vakuf operations, he must have been aware of the 

crimes resulting from the campaign.849o According to him, the two reports do not mention crimes or 

attacks on civilians, but merely the presence of Military Police units in Uzricje, the number of killed 

and injured military policemen in Gomji Vakuf, as well as fighting with the ABiH.8491 

2589. The Prosecution responds that Corie fails to show that the Trial Chamber's findings on his 

contribution to the JCE in relation to Gomji Vakuf are unreasonable and ignores the 

Trial Chamber's analysis of the criminal aspects of the Gomji Vakuf operations. 8492 The 

Prosecution argues that: (1) Corie's argument that the two reports demonstrate the legitimacy of the 

operations is misleading; (2) the fact that combat caused some deaths in the HVO does not 

8485 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 921, 
8486 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 921, See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 923, 
8487 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 923. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 922, . 
8488 ' . Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para, 1000. 
8489 Carie's Appeal Brief, paras 147, 150. See also Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 144-145, 150; Appeal Hearing, AT, 590 
(24 Mar 2017). 
8490 Corie's Appeal Brief, paras 146, 149. 
8491 Corie's Appeal Brief, para. 149. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 588 (24 Mar 2017). The Appeals Chamber notes that 
other relevant submissions have been summarily dismissed. See injf'a, para. 2594. 
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undennine the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the operations entailed crimes targeting the Muslim 

civilian population, which continued even after the end of the fighting;8493 and (3) the fact that 

Corie did not report any crimes committed by Military Police units does not negate the evidence 

upon which the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the crimes formed part of the "preconceived 

plan" for the operations. 8494 

2590. With respect to CoriC's assertion that the Trial Chamber found him responsible for the 

crimes in Gornji Vakuf under JCE I based on "scant" evidence as it failed to explain how it came to 

the conclusion that "facilitating legitimate military operations automatically equates to knowledge 

of and shared intent for murders, and other crimes",8495· the Appeals Chamber observes that in terms 

of his participation, the Trial Chamber found that: (1) Stojie ordered the HVO Main Staff and the 

Military Police Administration, led by Corie, to carry out the 15 January 1993 Ultimatum the same 

day;8496 (2) on 5 January 1993, Corie reported to Stojie that the 1st Active Battalion, which was 

under Corie's direct command, and 2nd Military Police Battalion units, were sent as reinforcements 

to Gornji Vakuf;8497 (3) CoriC's two reports - one dated 9 March 1993 and the other in July 1993 -

indicated that between 11 and 22 January 1993, the units participated in combat missions in Gornji 

Vakuf Municipality and, in particular, in the capture of several villages, including Uzricje, 

on 18 January 1993;8498 and (4) the Military Police were present in the attack on Uzricje. 8499 In 

relation to his knowledge, the Trial Chamber found that on the basis of his participation in, and 

knowledge of, the course of the Gornji Vakuf operations, he knew that the resulting crimes formed 

part of the military operations.850o Based on these findings, the Trial Chamber inferred his intent for 

these crimes.8501 The Appeals Chamber recalls that 111ens rea for participation in a joint criminal 

enterprise may be inferred from knowledge combined with continuing participation in the JCE.8502 

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to show that no reasonable trier of 

fact could have concluded his responsibility for the crimes in Gornji Vakuf pursuant to JCE 1. This 

argument is thus dismissed. 

8492 Prosecution's Response Brief (Carie), para. 146. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Carie), paras 141-145. 
8493 Prosecution's Response Brief (Carie), para. 147, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 396-468, 
Vol. 4, paras 45,923, 1000. 
8494 Prosecution's Response Brief (Carie), para. 147, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 922. 
8495 The Appeals Chamber notes that his argument on "legitimate" military operarions has been summarily dismissed. 
See infra, fn. 8508. 
8496 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 919. 
8497 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 920, referring to Exs. POl053, P01635, p. 1, P03090, p. 6. See also Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 2, para. 322. 
8498 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 920, referring to Exs. P01635, p. 1, P03090, pp. 6-7. 
8499 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 920. 
8500 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 920-921, 923, 
8501 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 923. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1004. 
8502 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 697; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, paras 512-513. 
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2591. As regards Corie's challenges to the Trial Chamber's reliance on his two reports, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that the fact that they make no reference to Military Police involvement 

in crimes or attacks on unarmed civilians does not cast doubt on the Trial Chamber's findings 

concerning his contribution to the CCP and the requisite intent. This argument is therefore 

dismissed. 

2592. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has overturned the Trial Chamber's finding that the 

deaths of seven civilians in Dusa constituted murder and wilful killing, and consequently Corie's 

convictions related to those deaths.8503 It also recalls that it has determined that: (1) the Dusa 

killings were not part of the CCP;8504 and (2) murder and wilful killing were not part of the CCP in 

the period from January 1993 until June 1993.8505 However, these conclusions have no impact on 

the Trial Chamber's findings on Corie's JCE I responsibility for the remaining crimes in 

Gornji Vakuf. 

2593. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Corie has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber ened in finding that he facilitated the HVO operations in Gornji Vakuf in 

January 1993 and intended to have the crimes, except for murder and willful killing, committed 

during these operations. Corie's ground of appeal 7 is therefore dismissed in relevant part. 

(c) Summarily dismissed submissions 

2594. The Appeals Chamber notes that a number of Corie's arguments, challenging the 

Trial Chamber's findings on his involvement in crimes in the municipalities of Mostar and 

Gomji Vakuf: (1) merely repeat trial arguments without any demonstration that their rejection by 

the Trial Chamber constituted an enor wananting the intervention of the Appeals Chamber;8506 

8503 See supra, paras 441-443. 
8504 > See supra, para. 866. 
8505 See supra, paras 880-882. 
8506 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 65, 157-158, 286, arguing, inter alia; that: (i) he could only issue implementing 
orders in light of decisions reached "at a higher authority", and neither the Military Police Administration nor he, but 
the "higher military structure, or political authorities, mostly local", could issue orders concerning checkpoints; (ii) OZ 
Commander Miljenko Lasic held the effective means to control the movement of people and the authority to directly 
command the Military Police for its deployment; (iii) Exhibit P01868 (a plan for intensified control over Mostar issued 
on 14 April 1993) shows that Coric was not "a key figure for checkpoints" in Mostar as he was excluded from the 
formulation of the plan, and was neither included as a recipient of nor listed among those with authority to implement 
the plan; and (iv) Coric took all measures to ensure that the Military Police's work at checkpoints was done properly. 
Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 303-304, 310, 313-314, 316-317, 322, 326-328, 642-643. The Appeals Chamber also 
notes that Coric repeats the same arguments elsewhere in his appeal brief that checkpoints were operated under the 
orders of military commanders rather than the Military Police Administration and that as Chief of the Military Police 
Administration, he exercised limited authority over checkpoints. See CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 158. See supra, 
para. 2501; (2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 310, arguing that the Trial Chamber did not take into account a Prosecution 
witness's testimony that the witness did not report the 14 July 1993 Buna Killing until 1996. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, 
para. 652; (3) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 235-238, challenging the Trial Chamber's findings on his authority to control 
freedom of movement and the operation of checkpoints. Cf CoriC's Final Brief, paras 333-335, 642; (4) CoriC's 
Appeal Brief, paras 38, 234, asserting that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of an order issued by Coric in 
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(2) do not contradict the Trial Chamber's findings;8507 (3) misrepresent the challenged factual 

findings; 8508 (4) seek to substitute his interpretation of the' evidence for that of the Trial Chamber 

without showing an error;8509 (5) are irrelevant;8510 (6) are obscure;8511 or (7) are undeveloped.8512 

Consequently, these submissions are summarily dismissed. 

6. Conclusion 

2595. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses all challenges to the 

Trial Chamber's findings related to Corie's contribution to, and his mens rea for, the JCE. 

August 1993, by: (i) discounting the order when concluding that Operation "Spider" occurred only in June 1994; 
(ii) mischaracterising VidoviC's testimony; and (iii) ignoring evidence that it took time to get manpower and resQurces 
in place for the operation to commence, as well as the impact of the deployment of troops to the front lines. Cf CoriC's 
Final Brief, para. 286. In addition, the Trial Chamber referred to Corie's trial arguments regarding the interpretation of 
VidoviC's testimony in this respect. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 931-932 & fn. 1748, referring to CoriC's 
Final Brief, para. 286, Corie Closing Arguments, T.52676-52677 (22 Feb 2011); and (5) CoriC's Appeal Brief, 
paras 153, 232-233, 294, arguing that the Trial Chamber ignored the "bulk of evidence" as to the implementation of 
Operation "Spider", pointing to a number of exhibits, which allegedly demonstrate his pursuit of criminal 
investigations/procedures against HVO membets in Mostar. Other than repeating his submissions on the evidence 
which are copied from his trial brief nearly verbatim (see CoriC's Final Brief, paras 185, 217, 242, 249, 500, 644, 
646-647), Corie fails to demonstrate how the remaining evidence such as Mostar military court registers shows an error 
in the relevant findings. 
8507 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, arguing that victims of the sniping incidents were all on the Muslim side of Mostar . 

. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 1188, 1194, Vol. 3, paras 672, 721, 1711. 
8508 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 147-148, 300, arguing that the Trial Chamber: (i) concluded that Corie facilitated 
"legitimate military operations" in Gornji Vakuf; (ii) erroneously concluded that HVO military operations "by default 
involv[ed] crimes" and failed to consider the fighting between the ABiH and the HVO in this context; and 
(iii) "overstated" his contribution to the operations, as the evidence does not show that he was involved in planning 
these operations, but instead that he was not in BiH during the relevant time. Corie misrepresents the relevant findings 
on his JCE I responsibility for the crimes in Gornji Vakuf. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, par'as 345, 348, 352, 359-364, 
371,377,382,385,390,392-394,414, Vol. 4, paras 919-923, 1001. 
8509 CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 148, arguing that on 5 January 1993, upon his superior's instruction he deployed 
Military Police units in Gornji Vakuf for security reasons and his report sent to Stojie on 5 January 1993 (Ex. POI053) 
does not mention that Military Police members were involved in crimes, although Military Police units were part of the 
HVO armed forces in combat in Uzricje and Zdrimci villages. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 322, Vol. 4, para. 920, 
referring to Exs. P01053, P01635, P03090. . 
85lO CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, arguing that: (1) the Trial Chamber did not find that the re-subordinated Military 
Police committed crimes, but that they were in Mostar where crimes were committed on all sides; and (2) although the 
Trial Chamber found that Corie was aware of snipers in the HVO, snipers are not illegal weapons. The 
Appeals Chamber additionally notes that insofar as Corie argues that crimes were committed on all sides, the 
Trial Chamber made findings that crimes were committed by HVO forces as part of the East Mostar siege. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1378, Vol. 4, para. 937. The evidence highlighted by Corie showing that international 
organisations sometimes came under attack from the ABiH was expressly considered by the Trial Chamber and does 
not affect the findings that the CCP crimes were committed by the HVO. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1262. 
8Sll CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 156, arguing that the fact that victims of the sniping incidents were all on the Muslim 
side of Mostar meant that they were "unreachable to [the Military Police]/Corie"). 
8512 (1) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 151, making general submissions purporting to challenge findings regarding his 
contribution to the JCE through his involvement in the arrest campaign of Muslims in West Mostar in May 1993 and 
their subsequent detention, as well as findings on his involvement in the siege in East Mostar in the summer of 1993; 
(2) CoriC's Appeal Brief, paras 151, 157, arguing that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he knowingly contributed 
to the creation of unbearable living conditions for the popUlation of East Mostar (see also CoriC's Appeal Brief, 
paras 235, 237); (3) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 236, arguing that his actions in East Mostar that the Trial Chamber 
relied upon "cannot reasonably give rise to an inference of [his] criminal intent [ ... ] but rather demonstrate ordinary and 
normal efforts in legitimate activities"; and (4) CoriC's Appeal Brief, para. 306, arguing that the Trial Chamber 
disregarded Witness NO's evidence and reached findings contrary to this evidence with regard to Gornji Vakuf. The 
Appeals Chamber also notes that Corie argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he knowingly engaged 
Military Police in the eviction operations in Stolac and Capljina in the summer of 1993. CoriC's Appeal Brief, 
para. 144. He fails to provide any support for this assertion. 
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, J. Alleged Errors In Relation to Berislav PusiC's Participation in the JeE 

1. Introduction 

2596. Berislav Pusic held various positions within the HVO military police between February and 

July 1993, including the position of "control officer" within the Department of Criminal 

Investigations of the Military Police Administration from at least February until 3 July 1993.8513 He 

was subsequently appointed Head of the Exchange Service and President of the Detention 

, Commission on 5 July and 6 August 1993, respectively.8514 The Trial Chamber found that the 

Exchange Service was tasked with: (1) creating a database of prisoners and other persons relating to 

prisoner exchanges; (2) establishing relationships with "other parties" on the topic of prisoner 

exchange; and (3) preparing methods for exchange' and co-operation with the international 

organisations and other authorities of the HZ H-B whose responsibilities involved the exchange of 

prisoners. 8515 The Trial Chamber found that the Detention Commission was responsible for: 

(1) resolving problems related to the detention centres and prisons in which "prisoners of war" were 

being held; (2) establishing a list of all the detainees; and (3) addressing issues relating to prisoner 

release and exchange.8516 The Trial Chamber found that Pusic had various powers to act on behalf 

of the HVO in these areas and certain others, as discussed below, particularly in relation to the 

operation of the network of HVO detention centres.8517 It further found that he shared - with the 

other members of the JCE - the intent to expel the Muslim popUlation from the HZ(R) H_B 8518 and 

the intent for crimes associated with that expulsion,8519 and that he significantly contributed to the 

CCP to that end.8520 

2597. The Trial Chamber convicted Pusic pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Statute of committing, 

through participation in a JCE, the crimes charged in Counts 1 to 3, 6 to 13, 15, 16, 18, 19, 21, 24, 

and 25 of the Indictment. 8521 He was sentenced to a single sentence of ten years of 

imprisonment. 8522 

8513 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1028-1029, 1060. In addition to his functions within the Department of Criminal 
Investigations, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic represented the Military Police Administration or the HVO in 
negotiations for the exchange of detainees or bodies and that, as of October 1992 before the Exchange Service was 
created on 5 July 1993, he took part in organising several exchanges. 
8514 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1030-1031, 1202. 
8515 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 659. 
8516 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 622. The Trial Chamber noted, however, that no evidence was adduced showing that 
the Commission carried out its assigned duties. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 625. 
8517 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1033-1093, 1202-1207. 
8518 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1208. 
8519 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1203-1206. 
8520 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8521 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 431. These crimes were: persecution as a crime against humanity (Count 1); 
murder as a crime against humanity (Count 2); wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 3); 
deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva 
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2598. With regard to PusiC's participation in the ICE, the Trial Chamber found, in light of his 

contribution and interaction with other ICE members, that Pusk joined the ICE only as of 

April 1993 and that he remained in it until April 1994.8523 Pusic's grounds of appeal 1 and 6 

challenge the Trial Chamber's findings on his powers to act on behalf of the HVO and his 

contribution, between April 1993 and April 1994,8524 to crimes committed pursuant to the ICE in 

the network of HVO detention centres and in the municipalities of lablanica, Prozor, Capljina, and 

Mostar.8525 Ground of appeal 5 challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that he possessed the 

requisite mens rea for ICE liability.8526 Under his ground of appeal 4, Pusic argues that the Trial 

Chamber erroneously concluded that he was a member of the ICE as it made an "over-inclusive 

application of ICE theory" in this case.8527 The Appeals Chamber will address each of' these 

challenges, commencing with its analysis in relation to grounds of appeal 1 and 6. 

2. Powers and contribution to the ICE (PusiC's Grounds 1 and 6) 

(a) Overview of the arguments of the Parties 

2599. Under ground of appeal 1, Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in its 

assessment of his powers within the HVO.8528 Specifically, he submits that the Trial Chamber's 

findings on his participation in the ICE are predicated on these errors, and that its elTors therefore 

occasioned a miscarriage of justice warranting a reversal of his conviction.8529 He argues that no 

Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity (Count 8); unlawful transfer of a 
civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9); imprisonment as a crime against humanity (Count 10); 
unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 11); inhumane acts (conditions 
of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); inhuman treatment (conditions of confinement) as a grave 
breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); inhumane acts as a crime against humanity (Count 15); inhuman 
treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); unlawful labour as a violation of the laws or 
customs of war (Count 18); extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out 
unlawfully and wantonly, as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 19); destruction or wilful damage done 
to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 21); unlawful attack 
on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 24); and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a 
violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 25). The Trial Chamber found that the following crimes also fell within 
the framework of the JCE, meaning Pusic was also responsible for them, but did not enter convictions for them based 
on the principles relating to cumulative convictions: cruel treatment (conditions of confinement) as a violation of the 
laws or customs of war (Count 14); cruel treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 17); and wanton 
destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity as a violation of the laws or 
customs of war (Count 20). See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 68, Disposition, p. 431. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
raras 1260-1266. 

522 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, Disposition, p. 431. 
8523 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1229. 
8524 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. 
8525 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 10-64, 141-227. 
8526 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 112-140. 
8527 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 110. 
8528 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 10, 64. 
8529 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 10-11. 
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reasonable trial chamber could have made the finding that he had any "significant" or "substantial" 

powers over any aspect of HVO operations and personne1.8530 

2600. Under ground of appeal 6, Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact when 

concluding that his acts, whether viewed individually or cumulatively, amounted to a significant 

contribution to the JCE.8531 He further argues that the factors cited by the Trial Chamber as 

evidence of his participation were not linked to a CCP and that they instead reflect an erroneous 

premise that he had "effective control" over the perpetrators of crimes, a finding which he argues no 

reasonable trial chamber could have reached.8532 In addition, he submits that the Trial Chamber did 

not consider the "normal criteria" for omission liability or whether a duty to prevent or punish 

existed between him and the physical perpetrators.8533 On this basis, he submits that his conviction 

should be quashed. 8534 

2601. Also under ground of appeal 6, but relying on ground of appeal 1, Pusic argues with regard 

to his participation in the operation of the network of HVO detention centres that, considering the 

Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding his power and level of influence, he could not have 

made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to: (1) the 

implementation of a decision of Mate Boban, issued on 10 December 1993, ordering the closure of 

detention facilities on HR H-B territory by 17 December 1993 at the latest ("10 December 1993 

Decision,,);8535 (2) the registration and classification of detainees and the establishment of a 

database on them;8536 (3) the HVO's overall detention and release policy;8537 (4) the transfer of 

detainees between detention centres;8538 (5) detention conditions in HVO facilities;8539 (6) his 

failure to denounce or report crimes and conditions of detention;854o (7) forced labour 

assignments;8541 (8) the release of detainees;8542 and (9) international negotiations, including on 

8530 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 11. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 697-698 (27 Mar 2017). 
8531 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 141. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 697-699 (27 Mar 2017). 
8532 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 142. 
8533 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
8534 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 142. 
8535 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 173 (submitting that he played a minor administrative role in its implementation), 
195(f)-(g). See Ex. P07096. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 694 (27 Mar 2017). 
8536 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 177, 179, 212-213 (in relation to Gabela Prison), 217 (in relation to Ljubuski Prison). 
8537 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 178 (submitting that he had no hand in shaping the general contours of HVO detention 
and release policy). See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 195(e), 201. 
8538 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 184, 208-209 (in relation to Dretelj Prison), 215 (in relation to Gabela Prison), 219 (in 
relation to Ljubuski Prison). See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 180(f). 
8539 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 181, 186, 215 (in relation to Gabela Prison). See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, 
Earas 180(a)-(d). 

540 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 180(g), 186,210 (in relation to Dretelj Prison). See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 167 
(in relation to crimes in Mostar Municipality). See also infra, paras 2745,2752. 
8541 Pusi<~'s Appeal Brief, para. 189. . 
8542 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 199-200 (in relation to prisoner releases from July to 10 December 1993). Specifically, 
Pusic states that he did not have the power to release detainees without prior approval from his superiors. See also 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 195(a)-(c). 
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prisoner exchange.8543 Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law when concluding 

that he made a significant contribution to any crimes committed in the Heliodrom or in Dretelj, 

Gabela, or Ljubuski Prisons pursuant to the ICE.8544 Pusic further argues that even taking the 

evidence relied upon by the Trial Chamber in respect of these issues "at its highest", his conduct did 

not meet the threshold for participation in a ICE. 8545 

2602. With regard to PusiC's ground of appeal 1, the Prosecution responds that Pusic fails to show 

any legal or factual errors in relation to the Trial Chamber's findings on his powers and 

functions. 8546 It submits that the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic held progressively increasing 

powers over HVO detainees between April 1993 and April 1994 is based on a broad range of 

evidence.8547 The Prosecution further submits that Pusic misunderstands the Trial Chamber's 

analysis and the legal standards it applied to assess his responsibility. 8548 

2603. With regard to PusiC's ground of appeal 6, the Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber 

properly found that Pusic made a significant contribution to the CCP8549 and that a number of his 

arguments should be summarily dismissed.8550 It further argues that Pusic takes a piecemeal 

approach in challenging the Trial Chamber's findings which misunderstands those findings and the 

governing law, on the basis of which the Trial Chamber concluded that together, his contributions 

to the ICE were significant.8551 The Prosecution avers that PusiC's factual challenges in relation to 

his contribution to crimes in various locations reveal his misunderstanding of the Trial Chamber's 

findings. 8552 It submits that contrary to PusiC's submissions, the Trial Chamber did not find, and did 

not need to find, that his contribution to crimes committed in each location amounted to a 

8543 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 203. Pusic specifies that he did not have the unilateral power to represent the HVO in 
international negotiations on prisoner exchange. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 195(h)-(i). 
8544 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 180(e), 188, 192, 195(j), 205, 211, 216. 
8545 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 178-179 (in the context of the Trial Chamber's finding that he accepted the unlawful 
detention of Muslims based on his powers to collate lists of those detained by the HVO), 186-187 (in the context of 
conditions of confinement and failure to denounce crimes), 190 (in the context of forced labour assignments), 194 (in 
the context of allegations that he obstructed efforts by representatives of the international community to visit detention 
centres), 201 (in the context of release and exchange of detainees), 204 (in the context of international negotiations, 
including on prisoner exchange). 
8546 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 8, 9, 55. 
8547 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 8. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 701-703 (27 Mar 2017). 
8548 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 9. 
8549 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 140-142, 144, 176. See Appeal Hearing, AT. 701-703, 725 
(27 Mar 2017). 
8550 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 177-178, 189 (in relation to Pusk's argument with regard to failure to 
denounce crimes, arguing that the paragraphs of the Trial Judgement challenged by Pusic in fact relate to attempts to 
conceal HVO crimes), 192 (in relation to PusiC's argument with regard to his role in granting or blocking access to the 
Heliodrom to international organisations, arguing that the Trial Chamber did not find that he prevented access to the 
Heliodrom), 196 (in relation to PusiC's claim that his interactions with other JCE members are exaggerated, arguing that 
Pusic fails to connect this argument to exchange negotiations or substantiate his argument with accurate references to 
the Trial JUdgement), 200 (in relation to PusiC's argument with regard to failure to denounce crimes, arguing that Pusic 
fails to set forth an argument or identify any challenged factual findings). 
8551 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 143, 152. 
8552 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 152. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 140. 
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significant contribution.8553 The Prosecution further responds that the Trial Chamber properly 

found, on the basis of a wide range of factual findings, that Pusic contributed to the CCP through 

the exercise of his powers, or his failure to exercise them, in relation to: (1) the implementation of 

the 10 December 1993 Decision;8554 (2) the registration and classification of detainees;8555 (3) the 

transfer of detainees between detention centres;8556 (4) detention conditions in HVO prison 

faci1itie~;8557 (5) forced labour assignments;8558 and (6) the release and exchange of detainees, 

including international negotiations thereon. 8559 The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber 

properly found that Pusic contributed to crimes committed at the Heliodrom856o and at Drete1j,8561 

Gabela,8562 and Ljubuski Prisons.8563 

(b) Preliminary issues 

2604. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber relied upon its findings 

on PusiC's powers primarily for the purposes of providing the necessary context within which it 

evaluated his contribution to the JCE.8564 While the Trial Chamber made a number of findings on 

PusiC's involvement in a wide variety of crimes, it ultimately held: 

With regard to his contribution to implementing the common criminal purpose, the Chamber holds 
that the evidence shows beyond reasonable doubt that it was significant. By virtue of his functions 
within the network of HVO detention centres, Berislav Pusic methodically organised the release of 
Muslims imprisoned by the HVO by ensuring their departure to ABiH-held territories or to third 
countries. By regularly informing the HVO government leadership about the progress of the 
implementation of Mate Boban's [10 December 1993 Decision], Berislav Pusic constituted the 
link between the workings of the network of HVO detention centres and the most important 
members of the JCE. 8565 . 

The Appeals Chamber notes that some of the findings impugned by Pusic in grounds 1 and 6 of his 

appeal, including, for example, findings as to his involvement in forced labour, spreading false 

8553 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 152. 
8554 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 179, paras 176, 179 (referring to the Prosecution's 
response to ground of appeal 1). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 702, 708,711-712,714-720 (27 Mar 2017). 
855 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 182, paras 176, 182, (referring to the Prosecution's 
resfonse to ground of appeal 1). 
855 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 187, paras 176, 187 (referring to the Prosecution's 
re~onse to ground of appeal 1), 188. 
855 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 185, paras 10, 176, 185 (referring to the Prosecution's 
response to ground of appeal 1). 
855 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 190, paras 10, 176, 190 (referring to the Prosecution's 
resfonse to ground of appeal 1). See Appeal Hearing, AT. 703, 711-714 (27 Mar 2017). 
855 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), heading before para. 193, paras 10, 193 (in relation. to the Heliodrom), 
heading before para. 194, para. 194 (referring to the Prosecution's response to ground of appeal 1), heading before para. 
195, para. 195 (referring to the Prosecution's response to ground of appeal 1). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 701-703, 
711-712 (27 Mar 2017). 
8560 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 180-181. 
8561 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 197-199 (referring to the Prosecution's response to ground' of appeal 1). 
8562 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 201-202 (referring to the Prosecution's response to ground of appeal 1). 
8563 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 204-205. 
8564 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1040-1041, 1093-1094, 1202. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, 
paras 1023, 1036. 
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infonnation, and in crimes committed in the municipalities (as distinct from the network of 

detention centres), do not strictly fall within the two categories of contribution outlined by the 

Trial Chamber, above. Notwithstanding this and recalling that a trial judgement must be read as a 

whole,8566 the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic made a 

significant contribution to the JCE was premised not solely on these two stated factors, but instead 

on the totality of its findings under the heading "Berislav PusiC's Responsibility under JCE 1".8567 

The Appeals Chamber will accordingly assess all of PusiC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's 

findings in these grounds of appeal on this basis. 

2605. The Appeals Chamber also notes PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in law and 

fact when concluding that his acts, whether viewed individually or cumulatively, amounted to a 

significant contribution to the JCE. His arguments with regard to whether individual acts could 

constitute a significant contribution are addressed together with his legal arguments in relation to 

. 'f' 'b' b I 8568 slgm lcant contn utI on, e ow. 

2606. With regard to PusiC's submission that the Trial Chamber did not consider the "nonnal 

criteria" for omission liability, the Appeals Chamber first considers that this argument is best 

interpreted as alleging an error of law on the basis of a lack of reasoned opinion.8569 The 

Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber referred on numerous occasions to PusiC's 

failure to take action in relation to certain crimes.857o While these findings are generally framed in 

tenns of PusiC's mens rea, the Appeals Chamber recalls that omissions may fonn part of an 

accused's contribution to a JCE,8571 and notes that the Trial Chamber clearly considered Pusic's 

omissions in the context of his participation in the commission of crimes. 8572 

2607. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that it is necessary for an appellant claiming an 

error of law on the basis of the lack of a reasoned opinion to identify the specific issues, factual 

findings, or arguments that the appellant submits the trial chamber omitted to address and to explain 

8565 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8566 See Stanisi6 and Zupijanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 202, 376, 705, 1107, 1115, 1148, 1155, 1162, 1181; 
POfovi6 et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Sainovi6 et at. Appeal Judgement,paras 306, 321. 
856 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1094-1212. See, in particular, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1124-1125. See also 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1379-1380. The Appeals Chamber notes that this section of the Trial Judgement must be 
read together with, in particular, the sections titled "Functions of Berislav Pusic" and "Powers of Berislav Pusic". Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1027-1093. 
8568 See infra, para. 2769. 
8569 The Appeals Chamber notes in this regard that Pusic essentially argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider 
whether a duty to prevent or punish existed between him and the physical perpetrators of this crime, submitting that this 
link is too tenuous for JC~E liability to be incurred in this case. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 154. 
8570 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1143, 1145, 1176, 1203, 1207. 
8571 Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 187. 
8572 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1202-1203, 1207, 1379-1380. 
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why this omission invalidates the decision. 8573 Pusic refers only to whether a duty to prevent or 

punish existed between him and the physical perpetrators; that is, he refers only to the duties 

imposed by the doctrine of superior responsibility.8574 The Appeals Chamber recalls that when 

establishing an accused's participation in a joint criminal enterprise through his failure to act, the 

existence of a legal duty to act deriving from a rule of criminal law is not ~equired.8575 The nature of 

the accused's duty is instead a question of evidence and not determinative of joint criminal 

enterprise liability.8576 In the instant case, the Trial Chamber did in fact refer to PusiC's 

responsibilities in his various capacities: as an officer within the Military Police Administration,8577 

as Head of the Exchange Service,8578 and as President of the Detention Commission.8579 The 

Appeals Chamber accordingly considers that Pusic has failed to demonstrate an oversight by the 

Trial Chamber which could invalidate its decision. His argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

consider the "normal criteria" for omission liability is therefore dismissed. 

2608. The Appeals Chamber will proceed by: (1) assessing PusiC's challenges to the 

Trial,Chamber's findings as to his involvement, encompassing both his powers and contributions, in 

the HVO network of detention centres and in prisoner exchanges; (2) assessing PusiC's challenges 

to the Trial Chamber's findings as to his contribution to crimes in the municipalities; (3) assessing 

PusiC's challenges to the Trial Chamber's findings as to his spreading of false infOlmation in 

relation to HVO crimes; (4) addressing PusiC's submissions on the legal standard for detemrining 

what amounts to a "significant contribution"; and (5) applying this standard to PusiC's conduct in 

light of the outcome of his previous challenges in order to determine whether the Trial Chamber 

erred in finding that he made a significant contribution to the JCE. 

8573 See supra, para. 19. 
8574 See also infra, para. 2618. . 
8575 Stanish: and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110. 
8576 Stanish: and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 110 and references cited therein. The Appeals Chamber notes that 
insofar as PusiC's argument could be interpreted as an error of law by way of application of the wrong legal standard, it 
is premised on the misunderstanding that the duty in question must be that imposed by the doctrine of superior 
res,P0nsibility. 
857 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1029, 1081, 1204. 
8578 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1061-1063, 1081, 1196, 1203. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 658-661. 
8579 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1031, 1039, 1207. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 622. 
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(c) The network of HVO detention centres 

(i) Overall decision-making powers 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2609. Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber made contradictory findings with regard to his 

decision-making authority.858o He specifies that in one section of the Trial Judgement, concerning 

his role in negotiations with the ABiH and international actors, it found that he depended on his 

superiors and therefore had "non-autonomous" decision-making powers, while in another section, 

dealing with his control over detention centres, it held that he had autonomous decision-making 

powers. 8581 Pusic claims that the Trial Chamber distinguished between these categories, with the 

former referred to as "significant" powers and the latter referred to as "substantial" powers.8582 He 

describes this distinction as artificial and as a way for the Trial Chamber to avoid linking the 

evidence of international community witnesses to that of Witness Marijan Biskic on the question of 

PusiC's involvement in the "internal, rather than external communication operations of the 

HVO".8583 Pusic submits that by not addressing this "conundrum" with regard to his powers to 

make decisions, the Trial Chamber drew conclusions that are inconsistent with, or directly 

contradict, other findings. 8584 Further to this argument, Pusic contrasts the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he was a "mid-low ranking HVO official" who acted as the link between HVO detention 

centres and the HVO leadership because of his substantial powers in relation to those centres with 

its other findings that: (1) he was only in occasional direct contact with HVO leaders; (2) most of 

his communication with those leaders was through his written reports; and (3) there is little 

reference to directives, orders, or commands from the HVO leaders to Pusic, as could be expected if 

he were an important and influential HVO official. 8585 

2610. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not need to find that Pusic had 

policy-making or decision-making powers as the level of authority of an accused is not, in and of 

itself, determinative of whether he made a significant contribution to a JCE.8586 It further argues that 

there is no legal relevance to the distinction between "significant" and "substantial" powers 

highlighted by Pusic as: (1) the authoritative French version of the Trial Judgement consistently 

refers to his powers as "important"; and (2) the Trial Chamber was not required to find that his 

8580 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 22, 24. 
8581 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 22-24. . 
8582 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 24; Appeal Hearing, AT. 684, 698, 735-736 (27 Mar 2017). See also PusiC's Appeal 
Brief, paras lO(d)-(e). 
8583 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 24. 
8584 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 27 . 

. 8585 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 27(a). See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 62. 
8586 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 16. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 710-711 (27 Mar 2017). 
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powers were "significant" or "substantial" to conclude that he significantly contributed to the 

JCE.8587 The Prosecution submits that this was not necessary because the Trial Chamber concluded 

that Pusic was the link between the detention centres and the most important members of the JCE, a 

finding that was not dependent on his possessing substantial powers.8588 The Prosecution avers that 

Pusic fulfilled this role by regularly informing the HVO leaders about the implementation of the 

10 December 1993 Decision.8589 

b. Analysis 

2611. With regard to PusiC's submission that the Trial Chamber drew an artificial distinction 

between "significant" 'and "substantial" powers, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic relies upon 

paragraphs which, in the authoritative French original of the Trial Judgement, consistently refer to 

his powers and role as "important". 8590 The varying use of the words "significant" and "substantial" 

in the English translation of the Trial Judgement is of no legal import. PusiC's argument in this 

regard is accordingly dismissed. His contention that this distinction was a way for the 

Trial Chamber to avoid linking the evidence of international community witnesses to that of Biskic 

is therefore moot. Insofar as this argument may be parsed on its own terms, that is, insofar as Pusic 

argues that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to link these testimonies so as to arrive at his 

preferred conclusion that his authority over internal operations of the HVO was of the same 

"non-autonomous" nature as his involvement in the HVO's external communications, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied upon a broad range of evidence in arriving at 

its conclusions as to his powers in different areas. 8591 Pusic simply seeks to substitute his own 

evaluation of the evidence for that of the Trial Chamber, without showing that the Trial Chamber 

erred. In any case, there is no legal requirement that an individual possess "autonomous" 

decision-making powers in order to make a significant contribution to a JCE, and it is not clear 

from PusiC's argument how an error in this regard could have occasioned a miscarriage of justice. 

This argument is dismissed. 

2612. As to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber made generally contradictory findings on his 

decision-making authority, the Appeals Chamber considers that there is nothing inherently 

contradictory in the findings that he held differing levels of authority in different areas. The 

8587 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 17, 41. 
8588 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 18. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 702-703, 711-712, 718 
(27 Mar 2017). 
8589 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 18. 
8590 Trial Judgement (F), Vol. 4, paras 1056, 1202-1203. 
8591 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1044-1046, 1049-1050, 1052, 1054, 1056, 1059-1063, 1065-1067, 1070-1081, 1084-
1093 and references cited therein. 
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Trial Chamber's statement that Pusic was in occasional direct contact with HVO leaders8592 does 

not undermine its subsequent finding that he acted as the link between the workings of the network 

of HVO detention centres and the most important members of the JCE. 8593 This characterisation of 

PusiC's role is clearly supported by the Trial Chamber's finding that there was regular interaction 

between Pusic and certain HVO leaders, including Jadranko Prlic, Perica Jukic, and Valentin Coric, 

as well as interaction from time to time with other HVO and Croatian leaders, including Biskic and 

Mate Granic. 8594 The fact that this contact was mostly conducted in writing is irrelevant; the format 

of the communication between Pusic and the most important members of the JCE cannot show that 

no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the impugned finding. 8595 

2613. With regard to PusiC's argument that there is little reference to directives, orders, or 

commands from the HVO leaders to Pusic, as he submits could be expected if he were an important 

and influential HVO official, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber made its findings 

on his interactions with the HVO leadership on the basis of a wide array of evidence, including his 

appointments, the tasks assigned to him, his contact with members of the HVO leadership, and his 

interaction with representatives of international organisations.8596 PusiC's counter-factual assertion 

is speculative in nature and ignores the Trial Chamber's relevant factual findings. It is dismissed on 

that basis. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his overall decision-making powers. 

(ii) Identification of subordinates 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2614. Pusic argues that in a "leadership case" such as this one, it was essential for the 

Trial Chamber to identify: (1) his subordinates; (2) his relationship with the HVO command 

structure vis-a-vis these subordinates; and (3) whether he had "effective control" over these 

subordinates' activities.8597 He adds that the Trial Chamber failed to identify his subordinates in 

relation to all three positions he held during the period covered by the Indictment: employee of the 

Military Police, Head of the Exchange Service, and President of the Detention Commission.8598 He 

submits that the Trial Chamber was unable to explain his position within the HVO chain of 

8592 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1086. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1087, 1089. 
8593 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8594 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1093. 
8595 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1089. ' 
8596 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1084-1093 and references cited therein. 
8597 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 17-18. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 16. 
8598 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 18. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 740-741 (27 Mar 2017). 
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command as a result of this failure. 8599 Pusic further argues that he cannot be linked by way of a 

superior-subordinate relationship to the direct perpetrators of the relevant crimes through any of 

these positions, in particular considering that there is no clear evidence that the first two positions 

entailed any de jure powers over issues such as prisoner releases, conditions of detention, forced 

labour, or exchange negotiations.86oo According to Pusic, while the Detention Commission had 

some de jure authority over such issues, it was in fact entirely ineffective. 8601 

2615. Pusic therefore submits that the Trial Chamber failed to establish his relationship with "the 

key personnel who occasioned the crimes that he has been convicted of' in the essential areas 

where he was found to have exercised "substantial" or "significant" powers, including his 

relationships with: (1) prison wardens and their staff; (2) military personnel who took prisoners on 

forced labour assignments; (3) military personnel manning checkpoints and controlling the 

movement of humanitarian aid and people; and (4) military personnel who committed crimes.8602 

He argues that the failure to identify his subordinates or his exact place in the HVO hierarchy raises 

the question of how he could have exercised substantial or significant powers over any aspect of the 

HVO.8603 

2616. The Prosecution responds that it was not necessary for the Trial Chamber to find that Pusic 

had superior authority over the direct perpetrators of crimes and that Pusic conflates the legal 

requirements for responsibility under Articles 7(1) and 7(3) of the Statute.8604 It adds that none of 

PusiC's contributions to the JCE rely on his position within the HVO chain of command or his 

effective control over physical perpetrators.8605 According to the Prosecution, Pusic's furtherance of 

the JCE is established through his use of powers over HVO detainees. 8606 It adds that he had 

sufficient power and influence over the members and structures of the HVO to make a significant 

contribution to the implementation of the JCE.8607 

2617. Pusic submits in reply that he does not conflate elements of accountability under the 

doctrine of superior responsibility with JCE liability and argues that the failure to identify his 

8599 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 20. Pusic adds that the Exchange Service was answerable to "the HVO of the HZ(R) 
. HB", a fact which in his view "does not explain" how he had authority to issue orders to staff at the Heliodrom or to 

military personnel in Mostar. 
8600 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 685-686, 691 (27 Mar 2017). 
8601 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 19. 
8602 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 20-21. 
8603 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 25-26. 
8604 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 9, 14, 28; Appeal Hearing, AT. 710 (27 Mar 2017). See also 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 148 (arguing that lCE members need not have "effective control" over 
direct perpetrators involved in the commission of crimes and that the Trial Chamber neither made nor was required to 
make findings on his effective control). 
8605 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 14-15. 
8606 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 15. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 710. 
8607 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 15. 
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subordinates shows that he was unable to exercise any of the powers attributed to him by the 

Trial Chamber. 8608 

b. Analysis 

2618. The Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber did not engage in an explicit 

process of identifying any subordinates to Pusic in relation to his various positions during the 

relevant period. It considers, however, that the Trial Chamber was not required to do so. PusiC's 

argument inappositely refers to "effective control" over the activities of subordinates, a requirement 

for liability under Article 7(3) of the Statute, not under Article 7(1).8609 

2619. With regard to his argument in reply that the failure to identify his subordinates shows that 

he was unable to exercise the powers attributed to him by the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber 

first considers that possession of de facto powers is not necessarily dependent on having formally 

identified subordinates within a hierarchical structure. In this instance, for example, the 

Trial Chamber found that Pusic was appointed as Head of the Exchange Service by the HVO in a 

decision signed by Pdic, and President of the Detention Commission by Stojic in his capacity as 

Head of the Department of Defence.8610 It further found that the Detention Commission came under 

the authority of the Department of Defence, while the Exchange Service was answerable to the 

HVO of the HZ H_B. 8611 Pusic fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied 

on, inter alia, these mandates from the HVO leadership to determine that he had specified powers, 

regardless of whether those powers were exercised through formal superior-subordinate 

relationships. The Trial Chamber's approach finds further support in its reliance on a broad range of 

evidence in arriving at its conclusions as to his powers in different areas. 8612 Its findings also make 

reference to "orders" issued by Pusic on numerous occasions,8613 which substantiate its conclusions 

as to his powers in various areas. PusiC's argument is falsely premised and ignores these relevant 

factual findings, and is accordingly dismissed. 8614 

8608 PusiC's Reply Brief, paras 7, 10. 
8609 Kvocka et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 104. 
8610 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 622, 658, Vol. 4, paras 1030-1031. 
8611 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 622,665. 
8612 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1044-1046, 1049-1050, 1052, 1054, 1056, 1059-1063, 1065-1067, 1070-1081, 1084-
1093 and references cited therein. 
8613 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1056, 1088, 1109-1110, 1130, 1147, 1151, 1156-1157, 1163, 1178-.1179, 1182. 
8614 So too is his argument, as the Appeals Chamber understands it, that the Trial Chamber contradicted itself by finding 
on the one hand that the Exchange Service was answerable to the "HVO of the HZ(R) HB" and on the other hand that 
Pusic had the authority to issue orders to staff at the Heliodrom or to military personnel in Mostar. The Appeals 
Chamber can see no irreconcilable contradiction between the finding that the Exchange Service was ultimately 
answerable to the "HVO of the HZ(R) HB" and a finding that Pusic had authority to issue orders to staff at the 
Heliodrom or to military personnel in Mostar. 
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2620. Finally, PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber therefore failed to establish his 

relationship with "the key personnel who occasioned the crimes he has been convicted of' is also 

dismissed as it is wholly contingent on his prior argument with regard to the Trial Chamber's 

supposed failure to identify his subordinates. In any case, the Appeals Chamber recalls that close 

co-operation between a principal perpetrator and a JCE member is but one of various factors from 

which a trial chamber may infer that a crime formed part of the common purpose and is thus 

imputable to JCE members.8615 

(iii) Testimony of Witness Marijan Biskic 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2621. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber failed to address "the clear and obvious glaring 

contradiction" between the testimony of Witness Marijan Biskic, the HVO Assistant Minister for 

Security in the Department of Defence, and its own conclusions regarding PusiC's powers, thereby 

erring in law by failing to "provide sufficient reasons" for those conclusions.8616 He further argues 

that when it made its findings regarding his powers, the Trial Chamber erred in fact by disregarding 

eXCUlpatory evidence from Biskic.8617 Specifically, Pusic contends that BiskiC's evidence 

concerning Pusic, including his report on the work of the Military Police, SIS, and the operation and 

management of HVO detention centres, confirmed that Pusic had no powers over any aspect of 

HVO activity.8618 According to Pusic, Biskic could not have been better placed to reach this 

conclusion as he occupied a far more influential position within the HVO than Pusic did and was 

one of the superiors Pusic had to approach when making any requests. 8619 He adds that if he 

"really" had decision-making powers, he would not have been issuing proposals and suggestions, 

but orders. 8620 

2622. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber appropriately considered the testimony of 

Biskic and that his evidence does not undermine the findings on PusiC's powers.8621 It adds that the 

Trial Chamber explicitly cited BiskiC's evidence when it discussed PusiC's role in implementing the 

10 December 1993 Decision, and that in instances where it did not explicitly cite this evidence it 

8615 See Sainovic et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 1257; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 410. 
8616 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 13-15, referring to, inter alia, Marijan Biskic, T. 15326 (8 Mar 2007). See also PusiC's 
Reply Brief, para. 4, where Pusic argues that BiskiC' s evidence on his influence in January 1994 is "completely at odds" 
with the Trial Chamber's findings on his powers. Pusic further submits that the Trial Chamber failed to explain why 
BiskiC's evidence concerning his powers was unreliable, and that the single reference to his evidence made by the Trial 
Chamber in fact shows PusiC's limited powers. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 13. 
8617 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 12, 14. 
8618 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 12. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 741 (27 Mar 2017). 
8619 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 13; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 5. 
8620 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 4. See also PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 10. 
8621 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 11. See also Appeal Heming, AT. 714 (27 Mar 2017). 
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was either unrelated to the relevant findings or merely corroborated other evidence on which the 

Trial Chamber relied. 8622 The Prosecution argues that the fact that the Trial Chamber did not refer to 

some of BiskiC's evidence does not mean that it disregarded it, as a trial chamber is presumed to 

have evaluated all evidence unless it is shown that it completely disregarded evidence clearly 

relevant to the findings. 8623 It further argues that BiskiC's evidence is limited to PusiC's role in the 

dismantling of HVO detention centres, and that Biskic had only limited knowledge of PusiC's 

activities prior to 8 November 1993, when Biskic arrived to BiH.8624 The Prosecution further 

submits that Pusic misrepresents BiskiC's statement that Pusic could not issue orders to Biskic or 

anyone else, as this statement was made in a specific context which supports the Trial Chamber's 

finding that Pusic had the ability to propose detainee transfers from the Heliodrom.8625 

2623. Pusic replies that the Prosecution "distorts the true significance" of Biskic's evidence and 

stresses thatit concerned PusiC's general authority.8626 He argues that the Prosecution fails to place 

Biskic's testimony in the proper context and challenges on this basis the Trial Chamber's finding 

that he was a "key player" in the closing of HVO detention centres.8627 In addition, Pusic submits 

that the fact that Biskic learned of Pusic only around the time of the 10 December 1993 Decision, 

when he had already acquainted himself with the operation of the HVO detention centres since 

November 1993, shows that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding PusiC's increasing powers in 

this period are inconsistent with BiskiC's evidence.8628 

b. Analysis 

2624. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in law by virtue of its failure 

to address "the clear and obvious glaring contradiction" between Biskic's testimony and its 

conclusions regarding PusiC's powers, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did 

not refer to the portion of BiskiC's testimony upon which Pusic relies in his appeaL The 

Appeals Chamber recalls that a trial chamber need not refer to every witness testimony or every 

piece of evidence on the record and that there is a presumption that the trial chamber evaluated all 

evidence presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the trial chamber completely 

8622 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 12. 
8623 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 12, referring to Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 19, Kvocka et al. 
AEpeal Judgement, para. 23. 
864 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 13. 
8625 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 13. 
8626 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 3, referring to Marijan Biskic, T. 15326 (8 Mar 2007). . 
8627 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 4. Pusic also refers to the fact that the Trial Chamber could find no evidence that his 
proposal to Biskic to transfer detainees from the Heliodrom to Gabela Prison was acted on. PusiC's Reply Brief, paras 
3-4. 
8628 PusiC's Reply Brief, paras 5-6. 
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disregarded evidence which is clearly relevant. 8629 In the instant case, the Appeals Chamber 

considers BiskiC's testimony to be clearly relevant to PusiC's powers. However, a trial chamber's 

failure to explicitly refer to specific evidence on the record will often not amount to an error of law, 

especially when there is significant contrary evidence on the record. 8630 

2625. In the testimony in question, Counsel for Pusic put it to Biskic that Pusic could only issue 

him a proposal and not an order, to which Biskic responded: "He could not issue an order to me or 

to anybody else, I believe.,,8631 This statement, which was not elaborated upon, followed an 

explanation by Biskic for his declining a proposal by Pusic to transfer detainees from the Heliodrom 

to Gabela Prison, in line with a policy that detainees should either continue to be held at the 

Heliodrom or, if they were to be transferred, be transferred to Ljubuski Prison.8632 Having examined 

the relevant transcripts, it is unclear to the Appeals Chamber whether BiskiC's statement was 

limited to the specific context within which the exchange took place or whether it was intended as a 

general statement on PusiC's authority, although the declarative terms in which the statement was 

made tend to support the latter interpretation. It is clear, however, that BiskiC's knowledge of 

PusiC's role was limited by the fact that his first contact with him was subsequent to the 

10 December 1993 Decision.8633 As such, PusiC's contention that Biskic could not have been better 

placed to reach a conclusion as to his powers is plainly inaccurate, notwithstanding his position or 

his reporting activities. The Appeals Chamber further notes the abundance of other evidence upon 

which the Trial Chamber relied in reaching its conclusions as to PusiC's powers and which Pusic 

again ignores,8634 including numerous instances of Pusic issuing or co-signing orders.8635 In light of 

this, the Appeals Chamber considers that while the evidence was clearly relevant, it is not 

convinced that even PusiC's favoured interpretation of Biskic's statement could demonstrate an 

error of law invalidating the Trial Judgement as it pertains to PusiC's powers, including the findings 

regarding his increasing powers in the period referred to in his reply. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore dismisses these arguments. 

2626. The Appeals Chamber considers speculative PusiC's argument that if he "really" had 

decision-making powers, he would not have been issuing proposals and suggestions but orders. As 

8629 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 23-24. See also Tolimir Appeal Judgement, paras 53, 161, 299; Popovic et 
al. Appeal Judgement, paras 925, 1017. 
8630 Stanisic and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, para. 537; Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Perisic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 95. 
8631 Marijan Biskic, T. 15326 (8 Mar 2007). 
8632 Marijan BiSkic, T(F). 15326 (8 Mar 2007). The English version of the transcript erroneously omits the reference to 
~ubuski Prison. Marijan Biskic, T. 15326 (8 Mar 2007). 
833 Marijan Biskic, T. 15317-15318 (8 Mar 2007). 
8634 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1044-1046, 1049-1050, 1052, 1054, 1056, 1059-1063, 1065-1067, 1070-1081, 1084-
1093 and references cited therein. 
8635 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1109, 1130, 1147, 1151, 1156-1157, 1163, 1178-1179, 1182 and references cited 
therein. 
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such, it constitutes an attempt to substitute his interpretation of the evidence for that of the 

Trial Chamber, without having shown an error in the Trial Chamber's assessment. In any event, as 

the Appeals Chamber has already noted,the Trial Chamber referred to Pusic issuing or co-signing 

orders on numerous occasions.8636 This argument is dismissed. 

2627. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error by the Trial Chamber in its consideration of the testimony of Marijan Biskic. 

(iv) Role as an HVO representative before the international community, including in 

relation to prisoner exchange and release 

2628. The Trial Chamber found, with regard to the extent to which Pusic had the authority to act 

directly on behalf of the HVO, that the evidence indicated that he depended on his superiors, whom 

he consulted and reported to when making a decision.8637 It then noted, however, that several items 

of evidence related to prisoner exchange and release indicated that he had significant and even 

decision-making powers of representation within the HVO in contacts with the international 

community.8638 On that basis, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic had the authority to represent the 

HVO before the international community on matters related to the exchange and release of Muslim 

detainees held in HVO prisons.8639 It further found that he was occasionally given responsibility for 

dealing with issues other than exchange and release of detainees, such as humanitarian evacuations, 

and did so in the presence of the international community.864o In these cases it considered that Pusic 

had "broad authority" as an HVO representative before the international community, but not 

" d .. ki " 8641 autonomous eClSlOn-ma ng powers. 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2629. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it found that he had "significant" 

powers to represent the HVO in any capacity.8642 He adds that most of the meetings he attended 

were low-level direct negotiations with "the BiH" where he was part of a larger HVO delegation 

8636 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1109, 1130, 1147, 1151, 1156-1157, 1163, 1178-1179, 1182 and references cited 
therein. 
8637 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1079. 
8638 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1080. 
8639 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. This authority was de facto prior to 5 July 1993, and de jure subsequent to that 
date and his appointment to the post of Head of the Exchange Service. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8640 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8641 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8642 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 63. 
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with HVO leaders attending higher-level gatherings.8643 He stresses that the Trial Chamber found 

that it had little information about his involvement in the higher-level meetings.8644 

2630. Pusic contends that the Trial Chamber's findings on his dealings with the international 

community are also impermissibly vague.8645 Pusic submits that in light of the Trial Chamber's 

findings that he did not have any autonomous decision-making powers in this respect, it is logical to 

conclude that he only acted as a messenger or spokesperson for the HVO leadership.8646 Moreover, 

he argues that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his lack of autonomous powers in· his 

dealings with the representatives of the international community cannot be reconciled with its 

conclusions concerning his role in blocking humanitarian aid in Mostar.8647 In this regard, Pusic 

argues that whenever he made pronouncements which suggested that he had decision-making 

powers, he was overstating his influence.8648 Similarly, Pusic argues that when he signed or 

approved agreements in the presence of international representatives "it is fair to infer that this did 

not reflect the exercise of any autonomous powers on his part". 8649 

2631. Pusic argues that his interaction with the HVO leadership concerning the progress of 

exchange initiatives was largely one-sided and took the form of sending reports in writing, with 

little evidence of response. 8650 With regard to the finding that Pusic had occasional or regular 

contact with the HVO leadership,Pusic refers to a statement by expert Witness 

William Tomljanovich indicating that he attended only one HVO HZ-HE session.8651 He contends 

that the significance of this conduct has been exaggerated and that it does not meet the threshold for 

participation in a JCE as it did not have a significant impact on its execution.8652 Moreover, he 

submits, there is no suggestion in the Trial Chamber's findings that an officer of his rank could 

have influenced the HVO policy on exchanges of prisoners, or that he played any role in shaping 

the 10 December 1993 Decision.8653 

2632. Pusic also argues that the Trial Chamber applied an incorrect standard of proof when it 

concluded that "on occasions he may have had a 'decision-making power of representation' or 

8643 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 17. 
8644 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 17. 
8645 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 27(b), referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8646 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44. On this issue, he also notes a Trial Chamber finding that "before making any 
Eronouncements" he would have to consult with and report to HVO leaders. 

647 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 27(c); PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 18. 
8648 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 45. 
8649 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 45. 
8650 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 202. 
8651 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 9, referring to William Tomljanovich, T. 6402-6403 (11 Sept 2006). 
8652 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 202. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 195( d). Specifically, Pusic submits that the fact 
that his actions in relation to exchanges of prisoners required prior approval from the HVO leadership indicates that his 
role was limited. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 48. 
8653 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 48. 
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significant power of representation and was thus a key player" in prisoner exchange 

negotiations.8654 He adds that these conclusions are impennissibly vague and imprecise.8655 He 

further argues that due to this inconsistency and ambiguity, the Trial Chamber erred in failing to 

provide a properly reasoned decision. 8656 

2633. The Prosecution submits in response that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that between 

October 1992 and April 1994, Pusie had the authority to choose which detainees would be 

exchanged, and to propose, negotiate, and organise the exchanges.8657 It further submits that his role 

in this field was a key one as he was a representative of the HVO before the international 

community and in interactions with representatives of BiH and Croatia.8658 According to the 

Prosecution, the Trial Chamber's findings in this respect are based on ample evidence which shows 

that: (1) Pusie exercised de facto powers related to prisoner exchanges as early as October 1992 as a 

member of the Military Police, and by 1 April 1993, he was the Military Police officer responsible 

for co-operation with the "other side" with regard to prisoner exchanges; (2) from 22 April 1993, 

Pusie was charged by Corie to participate on behalf of the Military Police in the exchange of all 

detainees in Mostar; (3) in May 1993, Pusie "actively participated" as an HVO representative on 

prisoner exchanges in the negotiations with the ABiH, under the auspices of the international 

community; (4) as of May 1993, representatives of international organisations directly addressed 

Pusie on matters related to prisoner exchanges; (5) following his appointment as the Head of the 

Exchange Service, Pusie held de jure powers over the exchanges and played a role in them until 

21 April 1994; and (6) he advocated the release of all detainees to ABiH-held territOlies or third 

countries and signed an agreement with his RBiH counterpart on releasing all detainees on the basis 

of an "all-for-all" exchange principle.8659 

2634. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber found that Pusie had decision-making 

powers as an HVO representative before the international community on matters related to the 

exchange and release of prisoners, but that he lacked autonomous decision-making powers 

concerning humanitarian evacuations.866o Nonetheless, it contends that Pusie hindered humanitarian 

evacuations from Mostar by occasionally making his approvals of evacuation requests contingent 

on the evacuation of an equivalent number of Croats from a besieged enclave.8661 The Prosecution 

submits that the finding regarding his lack of autonomous decision-making powers does not have a 

8654 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 46. 
8655 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 46. 
8656 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 47. 
8657 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 40. 
8658 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 40. 
8659 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 40. 
8660 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 41. 
8661 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 42. 
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bearing on the finding that he hindered evacuations.8662 It adds that PusiC's submissions in this 

regard that the Trial Chamber's findings are impermissibly vague should be summarily dismissed as 

he overlooks detailed findings. 8663 

2635. Pusic replies that the Prosecution's arguments concerning the period prior to April 1993 

should be disregarded as the Trial Chamber found that he only joined the JCE as of that month. 8664 

b. Analysis 

2636. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it found that he 

had "significant" powers to represent the HVO in any capacity on the basis that most of the 

meetings he attended were low-level direct negotiations with "the BiH", the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber in fact found that he participated in "high-level international meetings 

notably between August and November 1993".8665 These meetings took place in the presence of 

HVO leaders, including Prlic, representatives of the Croatian government, including the Minister of 

Foreign Affairs Mate Granic, and representatives of the international community.8666 While it did 

note that it had little information about the nature of his involvement and his degree of contribution 

during these meetings, the Trial Chamber nevertheless found that he was the HVO representative in 

charge of raising the matter of prisoner exchanges and releases. 8667 It also found that during one 

such meeting, on 20 September 1993, he expressed his disagreement with any unilateral action by 

the HVO regarding the release of detainees, stipulating instead that the closure of Dretelj Prison 

should be followed by the release of Croatian detainees, notably in Konjic and Zenica.8668 PusiC's 

argument that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it found that he had "significant" powers to 

represent the HVO in any capacity on the basis that most of the meetings he attended were low­

level direct negotiations with "the BiH" misrepresents and ignores these relevant Trial Chamber 

findings and is accordingly dismissed. 

2637. The Trial Chamber did not, as Pusic suggests, categorically find that he did not have 

autonomous decision-making powers in respect of his dealings with the international community. 

While it acknowledged in general terms that the evidence indicated that he depended on his 

8662 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 42. 
8663 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 43. 
8664 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 16. 
8665 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1073. 
8666 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1073. 
8667 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1073. 
8668 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1073. 
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superiors, whom he consulted and reported to when making a decision,8669 it noted several items of 

evidence related to prisoner exchange and release which indicated that he had decision-making 

powers in representing the HVO in its contacts with the international community.867o It referred 

specifically to: (1) a SpaBat report indicating that he had approved an agreement on prisoner 

exchanges; (2) a letter to Granic informing him of the HVO's refusal to grant an ICRC request to 

release 750 detainees from Gabela Prison in exchange for 350 Croats from Konjic; (3) his own 

statement that the Exchange Service had "all the powers to make decisions" in the context of 

negotiations with his ABiH counterparts; and (4) his signature on behalf of the HVO of an 

agreement on the release of detainees from the Heliodrom on 17 March 1994, following 

negotiations held under the auspices of international organisations.8671 The Trial Chamber relied on ' 

this evidence in finding that Pusic had the authority to represent the HVO before the international 

community on matters related to prisoner exchange and release. 8672 It then noted that he had, on 

occasion, responsibility for dealing with other issues, including humanitarian evacuations, but that 

he did not have autonomous decision-making powers in this regard, instead characterising him as 

having "broad authority" in those areas. 8673 

2638. PusiC's argument that it was logical to conclude that he only acted as a messenger or 

spokesperson is contradicted by these findings. Specifically with regard to his statement that the 

Exchange Service had "all the powers to make decisions", the Appeals Chamber considers that 

PusiC's argument that he was overstating his influence is merely an alternative interpretation of the 

evidence to that of the Trial Chamber. The same applies to his claim that when he signed or 

approved agreements in the presence of international representatives, "it is fair to infer that this did 

not reflect the exercise of any autonomous powers on his part". Even in those areas other than 

prisoner exchange and release where the Trial Chamber found that Pusic did not have autonomous 

decision-making powers, his argument that he was therefore only a messenger or spokesperson 

elides all intermediate degrees of powers and contribution, something which was clearly 

contemplated by the Trial Chamber when it referred to his "broad authority". 8674 These arguments 

are dismissed, as is the related argument that he could not have made a significant contribution to 

the lCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to international negotiations, including on prisoner 

8669 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1079. The Trial Chamber did not find that before making "any pronouncements" he 
would have to consult with and report to HVO leaders, nor did it find that his actions in relation to exchanges of 
Erisoners required prior approval from HVO leadership, See PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 44, 48. 

670 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1080. 
8671 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1080. 
8672 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8673 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081. 
8674 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1081 (noting that he was given responsibility for dealing with issues other than the 
exchange and release of detainees, such as humanitarian evacuations, and did so in the presence of representatives of 
the international community). 
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exchange, due to the Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding his power and level of 

influence. 8675 

2639. With regard to PusiC's argument that his interaction with the HVO leadership concerning 

the progress of exchange initiatives was largely one-sided and took the form of sending reports in 

writing, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already dismissed this as irrelevant above.8676 

PusiC's contention that there was little evidence of response to these reports and that 

Tomljanovich's testimony indicates that he attended only one HVO HZ-HB session do not 

undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that he constituted the link between the workings of the 

network of HVO detention centres and the most important members of the JCE,8677 the finding 

which the Appeals Chamber understands PusiC's argument as seeking to impugn.8678 

2640. The Appeals Chamber notes Pusic's argument that the Trial Chamber's findings on his lack 

of autonomous powers in dealings with the representatives of the international community cannot 

be reconciled with its conclusions concerning his role in blocking humanitarian aid in Mostar. It 

considers, however, that there is no immediately apparent contradiction between these findings and 

notes that Pusic does not explain what he suggests this contradiction is. This argument is 

accordingly dismissed as an undeveloped assertion. 

2641. Pusic accurately states that the Trial Chamber did not find that he played any role in shaping 

the 10 December 1993 Decision. It found rather that he organised and actively participated in 

implementing this decision, thereby playing a role in the removal of Muslim detainees to 

ABiH-held territories or third countries.8679 With regard to his contention that there is no suggestion 

that the Trial Chamber found that he influenced the HVO policy on exchanges of prisoners, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber primarily relied upon his role as a "key player" in 

exchange negotiations and the movement of people and as "the link between the workings of the 

network of HVO detention centres and the most important members of the JCE" to assess his 

responsibility under JCE 1. 8680 As such, the question of how much influence he had over the broad 

contours of HVO policy was not of determinative significance in assessing his liability. PusiC's 

arguments fail to articulate an error by the Trial Chamber and are dismissed on that basis. So too is 

his argument that he could not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his 

8675 See supra, para. 2601. 
8676 See supra, para. 2612. 
8677 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8678 See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 27(a); PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 9. 
8679 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1127-1133. 
8680 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1202, 1209. 
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conduct in relation to the HVO's overall detention and release policy due to the Trial Chamber's 

erroneous findings regarding his power and level of influence. 8681 

2642. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber's findings 

on his role as an HVO representative, including before international actors, are impermissibly vague 

and imprecise appears to take issue solely with the phrasing of certain findings by the 

Trial Chamber, rather than the process by which it evaluated the evidence. Pusic does not indicate 

what ambiguity arises from the sections of the Trial Judgement to which he refers,8682 nor does he 

substantiate his claim that the Trial Chamber applied an incorrect standard of proof. In light of the 

fact that the Appeals Chamber has already upheld the impugned findings underpinning the 

Trial Chamber's overall conclusions as to PusiC's authority to act on behalf of the HVO,8683 the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument and his subsequent argument that the Trial Chamber 

therefore erred in failing to provide a properly reasoned decision as mere assertions. 

2643. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role as an HVO representative before the 

international community, including in relation to prisoner exchange and release. 

(v) Role as President of the Detention Commission 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2644. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in attaching any weight to its finding that 

he had certain de jure or de facto powers arising from his appointment as the President of the 

Detention Commission on 6 August 1993.8684 He further submits that this position was one of the 

most important factors cited by the Trial Chamber as a reason for his conviction,8685 despite its 

findings that there was no evidence that the Detention Commission had ever met or accomplished 

8681 See supra, para. 2601. 
8682 Pusic cites specifically to a paragraph of the Trial Judgement in which the Trial Chamber found that his "significant 
power to represent the HVO [ ... ] made him a key player in exchange negotiations and the movement of people". 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 89, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. This finding is part of the Trial 
Chamber's conclusion and overall assessment of PusiC' s responsibility in light of the more specific findings made in the 
previous sections of the Trial Judgement. The Appeals Chamber nevertheless considers it clear from context that Pusic 
is also referring to the sections of the Trial Judgement concerning his powers to represent the HVO before the 
international community, specifically the paragraphs which address his authority to "act directly on behalf of the HVO". 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1079-1081. 
8683 See supra, paras 2636-2641. 
8684 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 28, 30. Pusic argues that from the evidence related to the work of the Detention 
Commission that the Trial Chamber examined, it erroneously found that, as President, Pusic: (1) had the role of 
compiling a list of all HVO detainees and categorising them; (2) had the power to organise the registration and 
classification of HVO detainees; (3) regulated and had a key role in the release of detainees; (4) took part in the 
functioning and security of detention centres and prisons; and (5) set the procedure for the release of detainees. 
According to Pusic, the Trial Chamber further erred in failing to specify whether these findings stem from his de jure or 
de facto powers. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 686-687 (27 Mar 2017). 
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any tasks and that its effectiveness was limited.8686 Pusic also notes that in his communications with 

. the HVO leadership there is almost no reference to the Detention Commission and that he is often 

referred to as the Head of the Exchange Service.8687 He claims that, in light of these findings, the 

Trial Chamber mistakenly placed far too much emphasis on a document labelled a "decision" dated 

12 August 1993, which was ·never implemented, and a plan he prepared in response to the 

10 December 1993 Decision.8688 According to Pusic, the Trial Chamber erred by relying even 

partially on evidence relating to the role of the Detention Commission to substantiate its finding that 

he had sufficient power and influence to make a contribution to the JCE.8689 

2645. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably relied on evidence concerning 

the Detention Commission to determine Pusic's powers as its President.869o It recalls an order issued 

by Stojic on 6 August 1993 which enumerated PusiC's powers as President of the Detention 

Commission.8691 The Prosecution adds that the Trial Chamber explicitly rejected PusiC's argument 

that the Detention Commission existed on paper only by finding that the evidence confirmed that 

Pusic acted on issues concerning HVO detention centres and thus used the powers he was granted 

as the Commission's President.8692 The Prosecution makes further reference to PusiC's decision of 

12 August 1993 in which he ordered improvements in security and management of prisoners, 

organised the work of the Detention Commission, and regulated the procedures for detainee 

registration, classification, and release (the latter of which required his approval). 8693 The 

Prosecution further argues that the Trial Chamber's findings are not undermined by the fact that in 

PusiC's correspondence with the HVO leadership there was almost no reference to the Detention 

Commission and that he was referred to as the Head of the Exchange Service, as he acted in dual 

capacity at this time, and as none of the findings are based solely on evidence related to the 

Detention Commission.8694 

8685 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 28, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. 
8686 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 29-31. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 686-687 (27 Mar 2017). 
8687 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 29. 
8688 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 34, referring to Ex. P04141; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 11. Pusic claims that the Trial 
Chamber should have treated the decision of 12 August 1993 with "extreme caution" in light of the fact that his 
subordinates could not be identified, that his position in the HVO chain of command was opaque, and that other senior 
HVO figures, including Marijan Biskic, believed that Pusic did not have the powers to issue orders. 
8689 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 10. 
8690 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 20. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber was not legally 
required to clarify whether Pusic's powers within the HVO were de jure or de facto, but that it nevertheless explicitly 
confirmed that, as President of the Detention Commission, he possessed and exercised powers related to the detention 
centres. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 23. 
8691 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 20, referring to Ex. P03995. 
8692 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 21. 
8693 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 22, referring to Ex. P04141. 
8694 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 24. 
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b. Analysis 

2646. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber stated that it was not aware of any 

evidence showing that the Detention Commission accomplished the tasks assigned to it. 8695 The 

Trial Chamber then noted that it did, however, have several items of evidence which demonstrated 

that PusiG had acted on issues concerning HVO detention centres and which show that he had and 

exercised the powers conferred on him by virtue of his position as President of the Detention 

Commission, specifically in relation to: (1) registration and classification of detainees; (2) release of 

detainees; (3) access to detention centres; (4) forced labour; and (5) treatment of detainees.8696 In 

other words, the Trial Chamber relied on PusiG' sposition primarily as contextual information 

before engaging in more specific analysis of each of the enumerated areas of authority. In each of 

these areas, the Trial Chamber relied partially on PusiG's position as President of the Detention 

Commission in detennining his powers, but also, crucially, on other evidence relating to his 

individual actions.8697 PusiG's arguments fail to show that no reasonable trier of fact could have 

taken this approach to the evidence, notwithstanding references in his correspondence with the 

HVO leadership to his role as Head of the Exchange Service rather than as President of the 

Detention Commission. Lastly, the Appeals Chamber considers PusiG's argument that the 

Trial Chamber mistakenly placed far too much emphasis on a "decision" dated 12 August 1993 and 

a plan he prepared in response to the 10 December 1993 Decision to be a mere assertion that the 

Trial Chamber failed to interpret evidence in a particular manner. It is dismissed as such.8698 In 

view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that PusiG has failed to demonstrate any error in the 

Trial Chamber's reliance on his role as President of the Detention Commission. 

(vi) Registration and classification of detainees 

2647. When considering PusiG's role in the registration and classification of detainees, the 

Trial Chamber recalled that the Exchange Service, headed by him, was tasked with setting up a 

database of detainees and other persons, and that the Detention Commission, of which PusiG was 

President, had the role of compiling a list of all HVO detainees and sorting them into categories. 8699 

It noted a decision by PusiG issued on 12 August 1993 and his regular receipt of lists of Muslims 

detained at various HVO detention centres, some of which mentioned categories of detainees, 

8695 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1039. 
8696 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1040-1041. 
8697 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1044-1046 (registration and classification of detainees), 1049 (release of detainees), 
1052 (access to detention centres), 1054 (forced labour), 1056, 1143, 1170 (treatment of detainees) and references cited 
therein. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was under no obligation to specify whether his powers 
were de jure or de facto. PusiC's argument in this regard is dismissed. 
8698 PusiC's related argument that the Trial Chamber should have treated the decision of 12 August 1993 with "extreme 
caution" is contingent on arguments which the Appeals Chamber has already dismissed. See supra, paras 2618, 2625. 
8699 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1045. 
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including "detainees of war", "civilians", "women", and "persons born before 1933".8700 On this 

basis, it found that he had the power and responsibility to organise the registration and classification 

of detainees and that he exercised that power between August 1993 and April 1994.
8701 It further 

found that he exercised that power only when it proved useful to the HVO's plans, notably when 

closing down the detention centres or undertaking prisoner exchanges. 8702 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2648. Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the power and 

responsibility to register and classify detainees.8703 He submits that his positions in the Military 

Police and in the Exchange Service contained no such authority, even though the latter position did 

include an obligation to maintain a database of those held in custody. 8704 

2649. According to Pusic, the evidence merely shows that he made "intermittently successful" 

efforts to compile lists of detainees at various detention facilities. 8705 When compiling these lists, 

however, Pusic stresses that he did not visit the detention facilities but that the information was sent 

to him by the relevant HVO officials, who were not his subordinates.8706 Pusic states that accurate 

records distinguishing civilians from ABiH personnel were never kept. 8707 He adds that the lists he 

received were incomplete and that the Trial Chamber was correct to conclude that the HVO never 

fully completed the task of classifying and separating the detainees according to their status.8708 

2650. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law when concluding that he made a 

significant contribution to the lCE by virtue of any responsibility or power he held to register and 

classify detainees and establish a database on them.8709 Specifically, Pusic argues that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding on that basis that he accepted the unlawful detention of Muslim 

civilians and thus contributed to the lCE. 8710 He further argues that the Trial Chamber's conclusion 

that his "culpable omission", that is, his acceptance of those unlawful detentions, constituted a 

8700 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1045-1046. 
8701 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1046, 1203. 
8702 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203. 
8703 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 32, 35. 
8704 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 33. 
8705 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 32, 35. . 
8706 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 35, 177, 179; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 12. 
8707 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 178. 
8708 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 35, 177; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 12. 
8709 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 174-175, 177, 179,212-213 (in relation to Gabela Prison), 217 (in relation to Ljubuski 
Prison). 
8710 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 176, 179. 
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significant contribution to the JCE was an error of law as this omission did not contribute to the 

"single criminal purpose" of ethnic cleansing. 8711 

2651. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pusic had the power 

and responsibility to organise the registration and classification of HVO detainees and that he 

exercised that power between August 1993 and April 1994.8712 It further submits that this finding 

was based on the evidence that: (1) as Head of the Exchange Service, Pusic was in charge of 

centralising the data on the number of detainees in each HVO detention centre; (2) the Exchange 

Service was in charge of setting up a database of detainees relevant for exchanges; (3) the Detention 

Commission was tasked with compiling a list of all detainees and categorising them; (4) as 

President of the Detention Commission, Pusic regulated the procedures for registration and 

classification of detainees; (5) Pusic regularly compiled or received lists of detainees at various 

detention centres, some of which indicated the status of detainees; and (6) Pusic implemented the 

10 December 1993 Decision.8713 

2652. The Prosecution avers that Pusic furthered the CCP by failing to register and classify 

detainees. or by doing so inconsistently, thereby permitting the HVO to maintain the detention of 

Muslim civilians in service of exchanges or releases intended to advance the goal of ethnic 

cleansing.8714 Moreover, the Prosecution contends that as a result of his inconsistent registration of 

detainees, Pusic was aware that the HVO held Civilians at the Heliodrom and at Gabela and 

Ljubuski Prisons, and that he contributed to the crimes of imprisonment and unlawful confinement 

by taking no measures or inadequate measures to ameliorate this problem.8715 The Prosecution 

argues that as an agent of the detaining power - specifically as Head of the Exchange Service and 

President of the Detention Commission - Pusic was required by the Geneva Conventions to release 

detainees whom he knew not to pose a security risk or who had not been provided procedural 

guarantees to classify them in such a manner.8716 It submits that Pusic cannot absolve his 

responsibility by claiming that records were never kept as this record-keeping was in fact his duty 

as an agent of the HZ(R) H_B. 8717 He further contributed to the displacement crimes, according to 

8711 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 178. 
8712 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 25-26; Appeal Hearing, AT. 721 (27 Mar 2017). 
8713 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 26. 
8714 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 180 (in relation to the Heliodrom), 184,201-202 (in relation ~o Gabela 
Prison), 204 (in relation to Ljubuski Prison). 
8715 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 184,202,204. 
8716 Prosecution's Response Bri~f (Pusic), para. 183, referring to Blaskic Appeal Judgement, fn. 1385, Celebici Appeal 
Judgement, paras 327,378-379, Articles 42 and 43 of Geneva Convention IV. 
8717 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 183. 
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the Prosecution, through his receipt or compilation of detainee lists for the purpose of releasing 

detainees to ABiH-held territories or third countries.8718 

b. Analysis 

2653. With regard to Pusic's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the 

power and responsibility to register and classify detainees, the Appeals Chamber notes that in 

making this finding, the Trial Chamber relied on: (1) PusiC's mandate as Head of the Exchange 

Service to establish a database of detainees; and (2) PusiC's mandate as President of the Detention 

Commission to compile a list of all detainees and sort them into categories.8719 It noted his practical 

implementation of these mandates by: (1) referring to his decision of 12 August 1993, which 

requested that the release of detainees from Dretelj and Gabela Prisons be suspended until the 

detainees had been correctly registered and classified; and (2) noting in general terms his receipt or 

compilation of categorised lists of Muslims detained at various HVO detention centres between 

August 1993 and April 1994.8720 It then further noted his role in registration and classification of 

detainees by specific reference to evidence indicating his involvement in the process at numerous 

detention centres, namely the Heliodrom,8721 Dretelj Prison,8722 Gabela Prison,8723 and Ljubuski 

Prison.8724 Pusic ignores this voluminous evidence upon which the Trial Chamber relied in reaching 

its conclusion that he had the power and responsibility to register and classify detainees. With 

regard to his argument that the HVO officials from whom he received the lists were not his 

subordinates, the Appeals Chamber recalls its previous finding that possession of de facto powers is 

not necessarily dependent on having formally identified subordinates within a hierarchical 

structure.8725 PusiC's arguments that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the· power and 

responsibility to register and classify detainees and that the HVO officials from whom he received 

the lists were not his subordinates are accordingly dismissed, as is the related argument that he 

could not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to 

registration and classification of detainees due to the Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding 

his power and level of influence. 8726 

8718 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 184,202,204. 
8719 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1045. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 659 and references cited therein, Vol. 4, 
para. 1128 (noting that the transcript of a meeting held on 11 December 1993 showed that Pusic was in charge of 
centralising the data concerning the number of detainees in each HVO detention centre). 
8720 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1045-1046 and references cited therein. 
8721 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1134-1135 and references cited therein. 
8722 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1168 and references cited therein. 
8723 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1171-1172 and references cited therein. 
8724 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, para. 1181 and references cited therein. 
8725 See supra, para. 2618. 
8726 See supra, para. 2601. 

1095 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22800



2654. The Trial Chamber found that the authorities did not classify and separate the detainees by 

their status at Gabela Prison8727 or do so correctly at the Heliodrom.8728 PusiC's contentions that his 

efforts were only "intermittently successful", that accurate records distinguishing civilians from 

ABiHpersonnel were never kept, that the lists were incomplete, and that he did not personally visit 

the detention facilities are therefore irrelevant insofar as they do not contradict the Trial Chamber's 

findings, including its finding that registration and classification of detainees was his responsibility. 

2655. The Trial Chamber concluded that Pusic accepted that Muslims who were not part of any 

armed force were being held by the HVO due to the conjunction of his knowledge of their detention 

and his continued exercise of his functions within the HVO.8729 PusiC's argument that this "culpable 

omission" did not contribute to a "single criminal purpose" of ethnic cleansing is unsubstantiated 

and ignores the Trial Chamber's finding that he registered or classified detainees only when it . 

proved useful to the HVO's plans, notably when closing the detention centres or undertaking 

exchanges.873o This argument is dismissed. 

2656. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role in the registration and classification of detainees. 

(vii) Access to detention centres 

2657. In its findings on PusiC's powers in respect of access to detention centres, the Trial Chamber 

recalled that the Exchange Service, headed by Pusic, was tasked with co-operating with 

interna~ional organisations on all matters regarding the exchange of detainees. 8731 It noted that, 

using his powers as President of the Detention Commission, Pusic took part in the functioning and 

security of the HVO detention centres.8732 It further noted that as of May 1993, he had the power to 

authorise or prevent visits to the detention centres and that he authorised numerous visits to the 

Heliodrom by members of international organisations and by family members of detainees until 

February 1994.8733 It concluded that he had control over access to the HVO detention centres and, 

between May 1993 and January 1994, used this power to prevent or authorise visits to them.8734 

When discussing individual detention centres, it noted that the evidence did not enable it to 

8727 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1171. 
8728 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1134. 
8729 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1136 (in relation to the Heliodrom), 1173 (in relation to Gabela Prison). 
8730 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1127 (noting a work plan for the 
Exchange Service where Pusic stated that the only interest his Service had in the detainees was to use them for 
exchanges). 
8731 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1052. 
8732 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1052. 
8733 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1052 and references cited therein. 
8734 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1052. 
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determine that he had denied international organisations access to the Heliodrom.8735 It did, 

however, find that he had called Zeljko Siljeg so that he would not grant authorisation to the ICRC 

to visit a "prison" and Muslim villages in Prozor Municipality. 8736 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2658. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had "unilateral powers" to 

grant access to detention centres.8737 He argues that this was not a reasonable inference as no 

evidence was presented at trial aboutthe internal HZ(R) H-B procedures regarding this matter, and 

as other evidence suggests that he only had limited authority in this area.8738 Pusic adds that his 

argument is supported by the contradictory finding that, at times, when Pusic was uncertain as to 

the procedure to be followed to obtain permission for visits to be carried out by the ICRC to certain 

detention facilities, he sought information from more senior HVO officials.8739 In his view, the only 

reasonable inference is that he was "merely obtaining the necessary permissions and paperwork 

from the HVO hierarchy to authorise visits for external representatives rather than exercising any 

unilateral powers". 8740 

2659. Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law in concluding that he made a significant 

contribution to the JCE by allowing or preventing members of the international community to visit 

and inspect HVO detention centres.8741 He claims that the Ttial Chamber found that, in general, he 

co-operated with international organisations in obtaining permission for them to visit detention 

centres, including by approving visits to the Heliodrom on a small number of occasions from 

May 1993 to January 1994.8742 He further claims that the Trial Chamber found that there was no 

evidence that he denied international organisations access to the Heliodrom or hid detainees from 

them. 8743 

2660. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was correct to find that as of May 1993 

until January or February 1994, Pusic had the authority to grant or prevent access to HVO detention 

centres.8744 The Prosecution refers to evidence relied upon by the Trial Chamber which, it submits, 

shows that: (1) as of May 1993, Pusic exercised this power, in particular with regard to the 

Heliodrom; (2) by virtue of his positions as Head of the Exchange Service and President of the 

8735 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1155. 
8736 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1097. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1098. 
8737 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 36. 
8738 Pusi<~' s Appeal Brief, para: 36. 
8739 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 36. 
8740 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 37. 
8741 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 192-194. 
8742 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 193 
8743 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 193. 
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Detention Commission, Pusic was vested with control over access to HVO detention centres and 

dealings with international organisations regarding prisoner exchange; (3) Stanko Bozic confirmed 

that Pusic was among those approving visits to the Heliodrom in October 1993; and (4) he 

prevented an ICRC visit to a prison in Prozor in August 1993 and granted an ICRC visit to the 

Heliodrom in January 1994.8745 The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber never 

referred to his power to grant access as "unilateral" and argues that its finding on this issue is not 

undermined by the fact that on one occasion Pusic consulted Marijan Biskic and Radoslav Lavric 

on the procedure of granting access to the ICRC to visit HVO detention centres, considering instead 

that this confinns that it was Pusic who was granting access. 8746 

b. Analysis 

2661. Concerning PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in law in concluding that he 

made a significant contribution to the JCE by allowing or preventing members of the international 

community to visit and inspect HVO detention centres, the Appeals Chamber notes that the only 

occasion on which Pusic was found by the Trial Chamber to have hindered access to detention 

centres by international organisations was in Prozor Municipality in August 1993.8747 The 

Appeals Chamber dismisses PusiC's specific argument in this regard below, which does not depend 

on the Trial Chamber's findings as to his powers in relation to access to detention centres. 8748 The 

Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that he authorised numerous visits to detainees 

in the Heliodrom, both by family members of detainees and members of international 

organisations,8749 but further notes that the Trial Chamber does not appear to have considered this 

conduct to have contributed to the implementation of the CCP.8750 PusiC's arguments are directed at 

a Trial Chamber finding on which his conviction does not rely, and his arguments are dismissed on 

that basis. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role in access to detention centres. 

8744 Prosecution's Response Blief (Pusic), paras 29, 180, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1052, 1152-1155. 
8745 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 29 and references cited therein. . 
8746 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 31, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1154 (finding that Pusic 
consulted them on 23 December 1993). 
8747 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1097. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1155 (stating that the evidence did not 
allow for a finding that Pusic denied international organisations access to the Heliodrom or that he hid detainees from 
the int(trnational community). 
8748 Cf infra, para. 2726 (upholding the Trial Chamber finding that Pusic called Zeljko Siljeg before a scheduled visit 
by the ICRC to the "prison" in Prozor Municipality and to some Muslim villages so that he would not grant 
authorisation, arguing that the ICRC had not been effective in doing the same for Croatian detainees in Konjic, 
Bugojno, and other regions); Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1097-1098. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the 
Trial Chamber did not rely on this incident when determining that Pusic had control over access to HVO detention 
centres. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1052. 
8749 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1052, 1153-1154. 
8750 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1155, 1202-1209. 
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(viii) Release of detainees 

2662. The Trial Chamber found that as of May 1993, Pusic had the power to release detainees and, 

as President of the Detention Commission, the role of regulating the release of detainees. 8751 It 

considered that the evidence demonstrated that up until' December 1993, Pusic approved and 

organised the release of numerous detainees.8752 It found that this power increased in 

December 1993, when Pusic actively participated in implementing Mate Boban's Decision of 

10 January 1993 ordering the closure of all HVO detention facilities. 8753 It referred in this regard to 

evidence that he regularly informed the HVO leadership of progress in implementing this decision, 

noting that one report stated that the Exchange Service was "fully in charge" of dismantling the 

network of detention centres.8754 The Trial Chamber further found that Pusic organised and actively 

participated in the closure of HVO detention centres and the removal of Muslim detainees to 

ABiH-held territories or third countries.8755, As noted above, the Trial Chamber expressly relied on 

PusiC's implementation of the Decision of 10 January 1993 in determining that he made a 

significant contribution to the JCE.8756 

2663. Separately, in its findings on PusiC's role in the rounding up of Muslims in West Mostar and 

their placement in detention in May 1993, the Trial Chamber found that he ordered that some of 

these people be released and others not be released. 8757 It accordingly found that he was informed of 

and took part in the mass arrest of Muslims in West Mostar between 9 and 11 May 1993.8758 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2664. According to Pusic, the Trial Chamber erred in fact in finding that he had substantial powers 

to order the release of prisoners.8759 He submits that Tomljanovich described PusiC's role in the 

process of prisoner releases as "bureaucratic processing" and that the Trial Chamber itself 

recognised his role to be that of a facilitator with some limited scope to determine who was released 

once a decision had been taken at a higher level. 8760 He further submits that his role was so limited 

in this respect that it would not justify the imputation of individual criminal liability.8761 Pusic 

8751 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1049. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. The Trial Chamber also noted, 
however, that he was not the only person with the power to authorise the release of HVO detainees. Trial Judgement, 
Vol. 4, para. '1050. 
8752 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1049. 
8753 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1050, 1126-1127, 1203-1204, 1209. 
8754 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1131. 
8755 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1130, 1132-1133. 
8756 See supra, para. 2604; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8757 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1109. 
8758 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1110. 
8759 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 38, 41, 43. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 741-742 (27 Mar 2017). 
8760 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 38, referring to William Tomljanovich, T. 6384-6385 (11 Sept 2006). 
8761 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 43. 
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stresses that the Trial Chamber did not find that he had played any role in the formulation of the 

HVO policy that conditioned the release of detainees on the guarantee that they would leave "for 

, outside territory". 8762 He argues that another reasonable inference that the Trial Chamber could 

have drawn is that he was merely implementing the decisions of the HVO leadership. 8763 

2665. Pusic emphasises that the Trial Chamber found that he was not the only HVO official who 

could order the release of HVO detainees and, moreover, that he had to obtain a certificate from the 

Department of Criminal Investigations and SIS stating that it did not object to any release that he 

would, approve. 8764 Pusic further argues that even if he may have had some discretion in the 

selection of prisoners to be released, the evidence indicates that he was simply issuing discharge 

papers based on orders from above that dictated the conditional release policy.8765 In his view, this 

is consistent with the Trial Chamber's finding regarding his interaction with representatives of the 

international community in relation to which, he submits, it held that Pusic was simply 

implementing orders from higher political levels. 8766 

2666. Pusic argues that the evidence indicates that he was simply implementing the 

10 December 1993 Decision based on orders from above that dictated the conditional release 

policy.8767 He adds that the Trial Chamber held that, as of that date, and in view of his efforts to 

implement this decision, PusiC's powers increased, despite the fact that it also found that there was 

no evidence that he continued to authorise prisoner releases. 8768 

2667. In relation to the May 1993 releases from the Heliodrom, Pusic argues that the 

Trial Chamber erred in law in finding that his conduct met the threshold for participation in the JCE 

on the basis that the orders attributed to him mandated the unconditional release of all detainees.8769 

Pusic avers that the Trial Chamber could not have reached a decision on this point beyond a 

reasonable doubt because it conceded that it did not how the motive behind the releases. 877o He 

claims that the official note said to have been written by him stated that the authorities should 

8762 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 39. 
8763 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 39. 
8764 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 40; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 13. 
8765 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 38, 41. 
8766 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 41. 
8767 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 42. Pusic also argues in reply that BiskiC's evidence contradicts the Trial Chamber's 
finding that he played a key role in the dismantling of the detention centres. PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 14. 
8768 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 42, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, "para. 1450". See infra, fn. 8795. See also 
A~peal Hearing, AT. 687 (27 Mar 2017). 
87 9 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 196. 
8770 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 197. 
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"release those people, let them go home, back to their homes", an indication that he was in fact 

trying to secure the release of unlawfully detained civilians. 8771 

2668. The Prosecution argues in response that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that from 

May 1993 until April 1994, by virtue of his various functions, Pusic had substantial powers 

regarding the release of HVO detainees. 8772 According to the Prosecution, this conclusion was 

based on lists and orders for release made by Pusic and .his key role in the release of Heliodrom 

detainees between 10 and 15 May 1993.8773 Moreover, the Prosecution submits that, on 12 August 

1993, as the President of tbe Detention Commission, Pusic set out the procedure for release of 

detainees which, inter alios, required his approval. 8774 It adds that this procedure was subsequently 

followed and Pusic also released many detainees without any involvement by the SIS or the 

D f C · . I In . . 8775 epartment 0 nmma vestIgatlOns. 

2669. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pusic played a key 

role in the implementation of the 10 December 1993 Decision to close all HVO detention 

centres.8776 It refers to the Trial Chamber's findings and to evidence that Pusic, through his 

participation in the working group tasked with implementing this decision, insisted on ensuring that 

detainees were released to third countries and regularly informed HVO leaders of progress in this 

regard. 8777 

2670. The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber found that following the 

10 December .1993 Decision, PusiC's powers regarding detainee release increased.8778 According to 

the Prosecution, considering his role in the implementation of the 10 December 1993 Decision, the 

fact that his powers in this regard increased after that date is not undermined by the absence of 

8771 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 198, referring to Ex. P02260. 
8772 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 32; Appeal Hearing, AT. 715-720 (27 Mar 2017). 
8773 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 33. 
8774 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 34; Appeal Hearing, AT. 715 (27 Mar 2017). 
8775 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 34. 
8776 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 179; Appeal Hearing, AT. 714-720 (27 Mar 2017). 
8777 Prosecution's Response Brief (PusiC), para. 179. 
8778 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 35. The Prosecution further notes in this regard that the Trial Chamber 
held that immediately after the 10 December 1993 Decision was taken, Pusic tabled a plan to the HR-HB Government 
which included procedures for the release of detainees. It adds that the Trial Chamber found that Pusic insisted that all 
detainees should be expelled to ABiH-held territories or to third countries. Subsequently, it goes on, the Trial Chamber 
found that Pusic was involved in the releases, informed the HVO leadership about them, and also kept a number of 
people detained for future prisoner exchanges. The Prosecution points to the report of 31 December 1993 written by 
Pusic, relied on by the Trial Chamber, in which he emphasised that the Exchange Service was fully in charge of 
dismantling the detention centres and that 3,000 persons had been released by that date. It also notes the agreement 
Pusic signed with his RBiH counterpart on 10 February 1994, referred to by the Trial Chamber, pursuant to which all 
detainees were released. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 35, referring to Exs. P07411, 6D00499. 
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evidence on whether he continued to approve individual requests for release from the Heliodrom as 

d b P V" 8779 suggeste y USlC. 

2671. The Prosecution argues that Pusic misrepresents Tomljanovich's evidence as the witness's 

use of the term "bureaucratic processing" referred to the role of the Military Police, the SIS, and the 

crime prevention service in processing detainees for forced labour assignments rather than to 

PusiC's role in the release of detainees. 878o The Prosecution also contends that Pusic re-argues his 

trial submissions by minimising his role in releases to that of a "facilitator" whose powers of release 

were dictated by the decisions and orders of the HVO leadership, when in fact they clearly went 

beyond thiS. 8781 It argues in this respect that even though Pusic may not have been involved in 

setting out the policy regarding prisoner releases, he participated in shaping it by insisting that the 

detainees be released only to ABiH-held territories or to third countries. 8782 

2672. In relation to the May 1993 releases from the Heliodrom, the Prosecution avers that whether 

or not the releases themselves advanced the CCP, they show the extent of PusiC's involvement and 

power in relation to release of detainees. 8783 It refers in this regard to the fact that several hundred· 

Muslims remained detained at the Heliodrom after the releases, a fact it considers consistent with 

the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic contributed to the CCP by releasing but also by keeping 

detainees, including to use them for negotiating leverage.8784 

b. Analysis 

2673. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in finding that he had 

substantial powers to order the release of prisoners, the Appeals Chamber first notes that the 

statement by Tomljanovich relied upon by Pusic in fact refers to the general role of the Military 

Police, the SIS, and the "criminal service".8785 At no stage in the cited passage does Tomljanovich 

refer directly to Pusic.8786 Further, it is clear from Tomljanovich's testimony that he was unclear as 

to what exactly the "bureaucratic processing" in question entailed.8787 PusiC's reliance on it is 

therefore misplaced. The statement by the Trial Chamber which Pusic claims to be a recognition 

that his role was that of a "facilitator" is in fact a recapitulation of previous findings which indicate 

8779 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 38. 
8780 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 36. 
8781 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 36-37. 
8782 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 37. 
8783 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 194. 
8784 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 194. 
8785 William Tomljanovich, T. 6384-6385 (11 Sept 2006). 
8786 William Tomljanovich, T. 6384-6385 (11 Sept 2006). 
8787 William Tomljanovich, T. 6385 (11 Sept 2006). 
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that he played a key role in enabling detainees to leave HR-HB territory,8788 which the Trial 

Chamber explicitly considered to be indicative of his significant contribution to the JCE.8789 His 

arguments misrepresent the Trial Chamber's factual findings and the evidence relied upon and are 

dismissed on that basis. 

2674. Pusic advances a number of connected arguments that he did not play any role in the 

formulation of HVO policy, that he was merely implementing the decisions of the HVO leadership, 

and that he was simply issuing discharge papers based on orders from above, as he claims is 

indicated by his having to obtain a certificate from the Department of Criminal Investigations and 

the SIS stating that they did not object to any release that he would approve. 8790 The 

Appeals Chamber recalls that the question of how much influence he had over the broad contours of 

HVO policy was not of determinative significance in assessing his liability.8791 In this particular 

instance, the Appeals Chamber further notes the Trial Chamber's finding that he participated as the 

Head of the Exchange Service in meetings of the working group tasked with implementing the 

10 December 1993 Decision, at which he stressed that Muslim detainees be sent to third 

countries.8792 The Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's findings as to his 

membership in this working group and his conduct therein suggest that it considered him to have a 

degree of influence over HVO policy on detainee releases. His view that this role is consistent with 

the Trial Chamber's findings regarding his interaction with representatives of the international 

community8793 is irrelevant. These connected arguments are therefore dismissed on the basis of his 

failure to articulate an error. The Appeals Chamber further dismisses PusiC's argument that he could 

not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to the 

implementation of the 10 December 1993 Decision due to the Trial Chamber's purportedly 

erroneous findings regarding his power and level of influence. 8794 

2675. The Appeals Chamber turns next to PusiC's reference to the Trial Chamber finding that 

there was no evidence that he continued to authorise prisoner releases after 10 December 1993. The 

Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that it had no evidence that Pusic continued to 

authorise prisoner releases after the 10 December 1993 Decision made in· Volume 2 of the 

Trial Judgement, wherein the Trial Chamber made factual findings pertaining to the underpinning 

8788 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1166. 
8789 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
8790 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 38-41. 
8791 See supra, para. 2641. 
8792 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1128. 
8793 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 41. 
8794 See supra, para. 2601. With regard to PusiC's,reference in relation to BiskiC's testimony, the Appeals Chamber 
recalls that it has addressed and dismissed this above. See supra, para. 2625. 
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crimes.8795 In Volume 4 of the Trial Judgement, however, the Trial Chamber identifies a number of 

releases to ABiH-held territories and third countries subsequent to that date in which Pusic played 

an active role. 8796 Despite the apparent contradiction, the Appeals Chamber considers that the 

Trial Chamber's factual findings on this issue were pronounced in Volume 4 of the Trial 

Judgement. It is in that section that the Trial Chamber focused on individual criminal liability, 

engaging in a more detailed analysis of the roles of the Accused, including by reference to ample 

documentary evidence,8797 and by making specific findings in relation to PusiC's role in the 

implementation of the 10 December 1993 Decision.8798 As such, PusiC's submission that the 

Trial Chamber found that there was no evidence that he continued to authorise prisoner releases 

after 10 December 1993 is founded on a misreading of the Trial Judgement and does not 

demonstrate an error of fact occasioning a miscarriage of justice. 

2676. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses PusiC's argument that he could 

not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to the 

release of detainees due to the Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding his power and level of 

influence.8799 

2677. Finally, with regard to the May 1993 releases from the Heliodrom, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber relied on these events primarily in its assessment of PusiC's 

participation in the arrest campaigns in Mostar in May 1993.8800 PusiC's arguments in this respect 

are dismissed below.8801 In relation to PusiC's argument that these releases could not have 

contributed to the expulsions of Muslims from HVO-held territory on the basis that the orders 

attributed to him mandated the unconditional release of all detainees,8802 the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber did not make any findings as to the final destination of the detainees 

released by Pusic in Mostar in May 1993.8803 As such, the Trial Chamber does not appear to have 

considered this conduct to have formed part of PusiC's contribution to the expulsions, that is, the 

specific crimes of deportation and forcible transfer as part of the CCP. 

2678. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate 

any error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role in the release of detainees. 

8795 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1451. The paragraph to which Pusic refers does not exist. See supra, fn. 8768; 
PusiC's Appeal Brief, fn. 80. 

,8796 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1160, 1162-1165. 
8797 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1160, 1162-1165 and references cited therein. 
8798 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1050, 1126-1133. 
8799 See supra, para. 2601. 
8800 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1109-1112. 
8801 See infra, para. 2738. 
8802 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 196. 
8803 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1109, 1156. 
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(ix) Forced labour 

2679. The Trial Chamber found that Pusic had the power to use detainees to perform labour on the 

basis of: (1) his role as President of the Detention Commission; and (2) its prior finding that 

between June and December 1993, Pusic was among those who had the power to authorise the 

sending of Heliodrom detainees to perform labour.8804 The Trial Chamber elsewhere found that 

Pusic "authorised" or "verbally ordered" Heliodrom detainees to be sent for forced labour on at 

least 30 occasions between 17 Februar~ and 24 July 1993, and that two documents in evidence 

mention that detainees were sent to perform forced labour on the basis of a "general order" from 

Pusic on 20 and 22 July 1993.8805 The Trial Chamber relied for this finding on, inter alia, Military 

Police Administration logbooks of approvals for sending detainees to perform labour, taken 

together with testimony from Witness Josip Praljak, Deputy Warden at the Heliodrom, that Pusic 

never issued him a written order authorising the use of forced labour and that for the most part his 

orders and authorisations were issued over the telephone. 8806 The Trial Chamber noted that the 

HVO authorities, as early as August and November 1993, and the ICRC, in August 1993 and 

January 1994, informed Pusic that detainees at the Heliodrom were being requisitioned to work on 

the front line.8807 It concluded that between May 1993 and January 1994, he authorised and ordered 

Heliodrom detainees to perfolTIllabour on the front line. 8808 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2680. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when it found that he had any powers . , 

over the use of detainees for forced labour. 8809 He contends that none of the posts he held at the 

relevant time were vested with de jure powers in this area.8810 He argues that the Trial Chamber 

erred in relying on the evidence of Josip Praljak to find that he had de facto powers in this 

respect. 8811 According to Pusic, it was "illogical" to conclude that he had such powers when he had 

no direct authority over the commanding officers and soldiers who escorted the detainees on forced 

labour assignments. 8812 Pusic argues that the hierarchical relationship between him and the 

8804 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1054. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. 
8805 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1472 & fn. 3711, Vol. 4, para. 1147, referring to Exs. P03583, P03633. 
8806 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1147 & fn. 2142, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P08043, P01765, Josip Praljak, 
T. 14750 (27 Feb 2007), T(F). 14978-14979 (1 Mar 2007). 
8807 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1148. 
8808 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1151. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1203-1204; infra, paras 2791-2792. 
8809 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 49. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 687-690, 697 (27 Mar 2017). 
8810 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 49. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 686 (27 Mar 2017). 
8811 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 50. 
8812 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 50. Pusic also argues in reply that the Trial Chamber's finding that he approved or 
authorised forced labour assignments is flawed as none of his subordinates could be identified. PusiC's Reply Brief, 
para. 19. 
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Heliodrom wardens Stanko Bozic and Josip Praljak was unclear. 8813 This, he submits, casts doubt as 

to whether there was a link between him and the crimes.8814 

2681. Specifically with regard to Josip Praljak's credibility, Pusic points out that the 

Trial Chamber found him not to be credible in his claim that he had no knowledge of abuse of 

detainees under his watch at the Heliodrom.8815 He submits that the Trial Chamber should have 

applied the same scepticism to Praljak's evidence on PusiC's role in the approval of forced labour 

assignments, as it was obvious that Praljak used him as a scapegoat in order to escape liability for 

his own responsibility for those assignments.8816 As to the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic failed 

to take steps to stop or prevent the use of detainees for forced labour, Pusic submits that he had no 

powers to do so and that this is corroborated by a report he sent to Marijan Biskic on 

29 January 1994 in which he documented abuses at Vojno in what he characterises as an attempt to 

persuade the HVO leadership to rectify the situation.8817 

2682. Moreover, Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber ignored exculpatory evidence from Biskic, 

who explained that any request for forced labour would be sent from the HVO Main Staff to the 

Heliodrom warden. 8818 This evidence is important, Pusic suggests, as Biskic did not mention Pusic 

with regard to the relevant procedure for the approval of forced labour, and also as no other witness 

corroborated Josip Praljak's evidence on this issue, including two further witnesses who testified 

about forced labour. 8819 

2683. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law in concluding that he made a 

significant contribution to the ICE by approving the use of detainees for forced labour assignments 

in HVO detention centres.8820 Pusic argues that as opposed to orders signed by him, the only 

evidence of his approvals of forced labour assignments relied on by the Prosecution are the notes 

made in the Praljak Log Book8821 on the basis of conversations, mainly via telephone, between 

Josip Praljak and Pusic, in which Praljak requested the approva1. 8822 Pusic contends that approval 

for forced labour assignments is criminal only if it can be shown that forced labour would not have 

8813 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 51. He also submits that while there is some evidence that he had contact with Josip 
Praljak in his capacity as a Military Police control officer prior to 5 July 1993, Praljak did not explain how PusiC's 
responsibilities expanded to include the approval of forced labour assignments after his appointment as the Head of the 
Exchange Service. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 51. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 685-686 (27 Mar 2017). 
8814 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 52. 
8815 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 55; Appeal Hearing, AT. 684-685 (27 Mar 2017). 
8816 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 55. 
8817 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 56. 
8818 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 53; Appeal Hearing, AT. 689 (27 Mar 2017). 
8819 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 53-54. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 50. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 687-690 (27 
Mar 2017). 
8820 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 188. 
8821 Exhibit P00352, a log book by Josip Praljak, the de facto warden (21 September to 10 December 1993) and then the 
co-warden (10 December 1993 to 1 July 1994) of the Heliodrom detention facility. 
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taken place without such approval; in this instance there is doubt as to whether this was the case and 

his conduct therefore did not contribute to the CCP.8823 Pusic also submits that the Trial Chamber 

found that he issued forced labour approvals from January 1993 and erred by failing to clarify that it 

did not hold him liable for any crimes that occurred before April 1993, when he joined the JCE. 8824 

2684. According to the Prosecution, the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that between at least 

June and December 1993, Pusic was among those who had the authority to approve the use of 

detainees at the Heliodrom for forced labour and that he often made use of this power.8825 The 

Prosecution argues that in reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber relied on evidence such as 

logbooks, reports, and requests which show that Pusic authorised the use of Heliodrom detainees 

for labour on at least 30 occasions between 17 February and 24 July 1993, upon requests received 

from the Military Police and the HVO. 8826 The Prosecution further refers to the testimony of 

Josip Praljak, who stated that Pusic frequently issued him the required authorisations to use 

detainees to perform labour over the telephone. 8827 

2685. The Prosecution submits that in challenging the testimony of Josip Praljak, Pusic ignores 

ample corroborative documentary evidence.8828 As to PusiC's arguments concerning BiskiC's 

evidence, the Prosecution argues that it neither contradicts Praljak's testimony nor does it 

undermine the Trial Chamber's findings on PusiC's powers and actions related to forced labour. 8829 

Moreover, it adds, BiskiC's testimony concerned a different period from the one when Pusic 

authorised or approved the use of detainees from the Heliodrom.883o With regard to the fact that on 

29 January 1994, Pusic informed Biskic of the abuses of detainees from the Heliodrom during a 

labour assignment, the Prosecution submits that this actually shows PusiC's ability to raise issues 

related to detention centres to HVO officials.8831 

2686. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding PusiC's powers over the 

use of Heliodrom detainees for forced labour are not undermined by the fact that Pusic was not a 

superior with effective control over the personnel who took the prisoners to forced labour 

assignments.8832 PusiC's role was to approve the requests for forced labour, and not order the direct 

8822 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 51. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 687-690, 737-739 (27 Mar 2017). 
8823 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 52, 190. 
8824 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 191. 
8825 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 44, 46; Appeal Hearing, AT. 712 (27 Mar 2017). 
8826 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 45; Appeal Hearing, AT. 713-714 (27 Mar 2017). 
8827 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 45. 
8828 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 48; Appeal Hearing, AT. 713 (27 Mar 2017). 
8829 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 48; Appeal Hearing, AT. 714 (27 Mar 2017). 
8830 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 48; Appeal Hearing, AT. 714 (27 Mar 2017). 
8831 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 49. 
8832 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 47. 
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perpetrators to take out the detainees.8833 The Prosecution further argues that for criminal 

responsibility to be established pursuant to JCE, it is not necessary to find that the crimes would not 

have occurred but for an accused's contribution.8834 

2687. The Prosecution argues that Pusic frequently approved the use of Heliodrom detainees for 

forced labour, including on the front line, thereby contributing to unlawful labour, murder, and 

wilful killing.8835 It adds that the Trial Chamber did clarify that Pusic was not held liable for any 

forced labour approvals issued before April 1993 . 8836 

b. Analysis 

2688. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Pusic possessed powers over 

the use of detainees for forced labour on the basis of his position as President of the Detention 

Commission and by reference to a wealth of documentary evidence that he was among those who 

had the power to authorise the sending of Heliodrom detainees to perform forced labour. 8837 PusiC's 

argument that he had no de jure power to order forced labour, already considered at trial, 8838' is of 

no relevance in light of this finding that he possessed the relevant de facto power. This argument is 

accordingly dismissed. The Appeals Chamber further considers the following arguments to be mere 

variations of his previously dismissed arguments in relation to the Trial Chamber's supposed failure 

to identify his subordinates: (1) it was "illogical" to conclude that he had such powers when he had 

no direct authOlity over the commanding officers and soldiers who escorted the detainees on forced 

labour assignments; and (2) the hierarchical relationship between him and the Heliodrom wardens 

was unclear. 8839 They are dismissed on the same basis. 

2689. Turning to Pusic's challenges to the evidence of Josip Praljak, the Appeals Chamber first 

recalls that a trial chamber can reasonably accept certain parts of a witness's testimony and reject 

others.884o The Trial Chamber did not therefore err per se by failing to apply the same scepticism to 

Praljak's evidence on PusiC's role in the approval of forced labour assignments to that which it 

applied to his claim that he had no knowledge of abuse of detainees under his watch at the 

Heliodrom.8841 

8833 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 47. 
8834 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 47. 
8835 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 180, 190. 
8836 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 191. 
8837 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1472 & fn. 3711, Vol. 4, para. 1054. 
8838 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1053-1054. ' 
8839 See supra, para. 2618. 
8840 Popovic et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 132 & fn. 373. 
8841 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1589. 
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2690. With regard to PusiC's argument that it was obvious that Praljak used him as a scapeg~at in 

order to escape liability for his own responsibility for those assigmnents, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that a trial chamber has the discretion to rely upon evidence of accomplice witnesses. 

However, when weighing the probative value of such evidence, the trial chamber is bound to 

carefully consider the totality of the circumstances in which it was tendered. In particular, 

consideration should be given to circumstances showing that accomplice witnesses may have 

motives or incentives to implicate the accused person before the Tribunal or to lie. 8842 The 

Appeals Chamber also recalls that evidence of witnesses who might have motives or incentives to 

implicate the accused is not per se unreliable, especially where such a witness may be thoroughly 

cross-examined; therefore, reliance upon this evidence does not, as such, constitute an error of 

law.8843 A trial chamber must, however, explain the reasons for accepting the evidence of such a 

witness. 8844 In the instant case, the Trial Chamber acknowledged PusiC's calling into question of 

Praljak's testimony on Pusic's role in the HVO detention centres.8845 Despite this, it failed to 

provide reasons for accepting his evidence, instead providing reasons only on the occasions where it 

rejected his evidence.8846 Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber referred 

to copious documentary evidence corroborating Praljak's testimony on PusiC's role in the approval 

of force,d labour assignments.8847 In light of this, the Appeals Chamber cannot conclude that the 

Trial Chamber's error in failing to provide reasons for accepting Josip Praljak's evidence on this 

occasion invalidated its decision, PusiC's argument with regard to Praljak's credibility is therefore 

d ' . d 8848 ISIlllsse . 

2691. PusiC's argument that the only evidence of his approvals of forced labour assignments are 

the notes made in the Praljak Log Book on the basis of conversations between Josip Praljak and 

himself ignores relevant Trial Chamber findings. Specifically, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber referred to Pusic issuing "orders" relating to forced labour on numerous occasions, 

8842 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 134 and references cited therein. 
8843 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 134 and references cited therein. 
8844 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 134 and references cited therein. 
8845 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1038. 
8846 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, fn. 3845, para. 1589. 
8847 Specifically, the Trial Chamber held that: "on at least 30 occasions between 17 February and 24 July 1993, Berislav 
Pusic 'authorised' or 'verbally ordered' that detainees be sent to perform labour, including labour on the front line. 
Detainees were also sent to perform labour on the front line pursuant to a 'general order' issued by Berislav Pusic on 20 
and 22 July 1993. The eVidence shows that Berislav Pusic gave these authorisations or orders further to requests from 
the Military Police - including the 1st and the 5th Battalions - and from the HVO armed forces -, most often, the 2nd 
Battalion of the 2nd Brigade and the Benko Penavic ATG." Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1147 (internal references 
omitted). 
8848 PusiC's submission that Praljak did not explain how PusiC's responsibilities expanded to include the approval of 
forced labour on appointment as Head of the Exchange Service appears to imply that for Praljak's testimony to be 
considered probative, it would have to explicitly address PusiC's evolving mandate. This is not the case. This argument 
is accordingly dismissed as unsubstantiated. 
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including on the basis of documents other than the P~aljak Log Book.8849 PusiC's argument also fails 

to articulate an error as his challenges to the credibility and probative value of Praljak's evidence 

have already been dismissed,8850 with the consequence that it was within the Trial Chamber's 

discretion to rely on Praljak's testimony as to the notes he made in the Praljak Log Book. It is 

accordingly dismissed. 

2692. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber ignored. exculpatory evidence from 

Biskic, the Appeals Chamber notes that the testimony in question refers to an order from Petkovic 

in October 1993 which stipulated that requests for detainees to perfonn labour required approval by 

the Main Staff,8851 not, as Pusic argues, that any request for forced labour would be sent from the 

HVO Main Staff to the Heliodrom warden.8852 The Appeals Chamber considers that Pusic does not 

demonstrate why a requirement of approval from the Main Staff would preclude his involvement in 

the process or its impact on the Trial Chamber's finding. The Appeals Chamber further notes that 

the documentary evidence relied upon by the Trial Chamber in finding that Pusic authorised forced 

labour is dated prior to PetkoviC's order. 8853 Moreover, BiSkic explicitly caveated his testimony on 

the procedure for the approval of forced labour by stating that he was "guessing", before further 

noting that he did not see the documents which made the request. 8854 As such, his testimony cannot 

possibly demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the relevant conclusion. 

Further, the mere fact that Biskic and the two other witnesses to whom Pusic refers omitted to 

mention his role in relation to forced labour does not directly contradict the Trial Chamber's 

findings; nor can it cast sufficient doubt to establish that no reasonable trier of fact could have made 

such findings. These arguments are accordingly dismissed. 

2693. PusiC's claim that he documented abuses at Vojno in an attempt to persuade the HVO 

leadership to rectify the situation is not established by the evidence in question. He states in the 

report to which he refers that "Mario Mihalj [ ... ] is abusing his position, abusing prisoners, killing 

them".8855 While this supports the contention that Pusic made efforts to alert the HVO leadership to 

the behaviour of Mario Mihalj described in the report, this report falls short of demonstrating that 

Pusic was thereby attempting to persuade the HVO leadership to rectify the situation.8856 The 

8849 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1472 & fn. 3711, Vol. 4, para. 1147 & fn. 2142 and references cited therein. 
8850 See supra, para. 2690. 
8851 Marijan Biskic, T. 15245 (7 Mar 2007). 
8852 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 53. 
8853 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1472 & fn. 3711 and references cited therein; Marijan Biskic, T. 15245 (7 Mar 
2007). 
8854 Marijan Biskic, T. 15245 (7 Mar 2007). 
8855 Ex. P07722. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1737, Vol. 4, para. 1186. 
8856 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the Trial Chamber did not consider that the murders at Vojno were part 
of the CCP and instead analysed PusiC's responsibility for them under JCE III, ultimately determining that he could not 
reasonably have foreseen them. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1187, 1215. 
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Appeals Chamber further considers that the report does not demonstrate that he had no powers to 

take steps to stop or prevent the use of detainees for forced labour. PusiC's argument is accordingly 

dismissed. 

2694. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses PusiC's argument that he could 

not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by virtue of his conduct in relation to forced 

labour assignments due to the Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding his power and level of 

influence. 8857 

2695. PusiC's argument that approval for forced labour assignments is criminal only if it can be 

shown that forced labour would not have taken place without such approval misstates the applicable 

law: the accused's participation in a JCE need not be a sine qua non, without which the crimes 

could not or would not have been committed. 8858 

2696. Finally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found Pusic responsible, 

through his participation in a JCE, "for all of the crimes constituting the [CCP]".8859 The CCP 

included crimes related to forced labour. 886o It further found that Pusic joined the JCE as of April 

1993 and remained a member until April 1994.8861 As such, the Appeals Chamber considers it clear 

that Pusic was found guilty of crimes committed as part of the CCP during that period of time, 

including crimes related to forced labour. 8862 Pusic fails to explain why further clarification in 

relation to the scope of his participation in the JCE was necessary. The Appeals Chamber 

accordingly dismisses Pusic's argument that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to clarify that it did 

not hold him liable for any crimes that occurred before April 1993, when he joined the JCE. 

2697. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role in the use of detainees for forced labour. 

(x) Conditions of detention, mistreatment, and transfer of detainees 

2698. The Trial Chamber found that Pusic had the power to transfer detainees on the basis of, 

"among others", an order of 13 December 1993 issued by Pusic calling for the transfer of 17 

detainees from Gabela Prison to Ljubuski Prison ("13 December 1993 Order") with a view to their 

departure to a third country, and a memo dated 6 January 1994 signed by Pusic proposing that 

8857 See supra, para. 2601. 
8858 Kvocka et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 98. See also Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Krajisnik Appeal 
Judgement, paras 215,695; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 430. 
8859 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1212. 
8860 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 66, 68. 
8861 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1229. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 25. 
8862 See also supra, para. 886; infra, paras 2791-2792. 
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detainees be transferred from the Heliodrom to Gabela Prison due to overcrowding at the former 

facility ("6 January 1994 Memo,,).8863 It also relied on PusiC's position as Head of the Exchange 

Service and President of the Detention Commission, noting that he had the power to send detainees 

to work and to release them.8864 It consequently found that he had a role and significant powers in 

the detention centres, notably the power to transfer detainees from one detention centre to another 

to resolve problems related to conditions of confinement and mistreatment of detainees.8865 

2699. With regard to individual detention centres, the Trial Chamber cited a number of pieces of 

evidence that Pusic was aware of conditions of confinement and mistreatment of detainees at the 

Heliodrom,8866 but found that he failed to take any measures to improve these conditions or remedy 

the mistreatment despite it being within his power to do SO.8867 Referring to conditions of 

confinement, the Trial Chamber specifically recalled his power to transfer detainees as a potential 

measure which he failed to take.8868 It found that he was aware of poor conditions of confinement at 

Dretelj, Gabela, and Ljubuski Prisons, in particular the problem of overcrowding, but that he failed 

to take any or adequate measures to remedy them in relation to the latter two facilities. 8869 Finally, 

the Trial Chamber found that, at least in January 1994, Pusic knew that detainees at Vojno 

Detention Centre were being forced to work on the front line and were being mistreated. 8870 

2700. In its overarching findings as to PusiC's responsibility pursuant to JCE I, the Trial Chamber 

noted that Pusic was aware of harsh conditions of detention at the Heliodrom and in Dretelj, 

Gabela, and Ljubuski Prisons, and of mistreatment of detainees at the Heliodrom and at Vojno 

Detention Centre.8871 It found that he never took the necessary measures to improve these 

conditions or put a stop to the mistreatment by moving detainees to other detention centres or 

notifying the relevant authorities.8872 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2701. Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had "substantial" or 

"significant" powers over the conditions in HVO detention facilities, as there is no evidence that he 

had either de jure or de facto hierarchical powers over the personnel at such facilities. 8873 According 

8863 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4,para. 1056. 
8864 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1056. 
8865 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1056. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1202. 
8866 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1137-1144 and references cited therein. 
8867 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1143, 1145. 
8868 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1143. 
8869 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1170, 1176, 1182. 
8870 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1187. 
8871 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203. 
8872 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203. 
8873 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 57-59. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 697 (27 Mar 2017). 
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to Pus ie, any influence he may have had in the transfer of prisoners between facilities does not 

justify the finding that he had those powers.8874 The transfer of detainees from one facility to 

another was undertaken "in accordance with broader dictates of HVO policy" over which he had no 

say.8875 He submits that "the suggestion" that by moving prisoners he could alleviate detention 

conditions is unsustainable, as any transfer depended on approval from higher authorities, as 

reflected by the 6 January 1994 Memo.8876 

2702. Pusie subillits that the Trial Chamber erred in its conclusion that his role in designating 

Gabela and Ljubuski Prisons as transit centres prior to the sending abroad of detainees amounted to 

a significant contribution to the JCE.8877 He contends that not every act that facilitates a broadly 

defined objective, namely ethnic cleansing, must necessarily constitute a significant contribution, 

and that if this were to be the case, criminal liability could potentially arise from every act carried 

out in office by a civil servant. 8878 

2703. Pusie argues that his participation in the working group despatched on 19 July 1993 to 

identify new sites to take detainees from overcrowded detention centres was as a junior member, 

that he did not report back to the HVO cabinet, and that the visit of the working group had no 

impact on the implementation of the JCE objective.8879 He further argues that it is unclear from the 

evidence that his proposals of 12 August 1993 to suspend releases were ever adopted and that this 

conduct also does not meet the threshold for participation in a JCE.8880 With regard to the 

information rec.eived by Pusie at a meeting with a representative of the IeRC on 

20 September 1993 concerning prisoners exhibiting signs of malnutrition at Dretelj Prison, Pusie 

reiterates that he did not have the power to transfer detainees unilaterally.8881 He adds that in any 

event, his receipt of this information and failure to act did not contribute to the JCE given his 

limited powers.8882 Finally, he contends that his visits to Ljubuski Prison on at least two occasions 

between April and September 1993 do not meet the threshold for participation in a JCE as they did 

not constitute a significant contribution to or impact at all on the implementation of the CCP.8883 

2704. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pusie had 

significant powers in relation to HVO detention centres and had the capacity to solve problems 

8874 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 60. 
8875 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 60. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 692, 696 (27 Mar 2017). 
8876 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 61; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 21. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 692-693 (27 Mar 2017). 
8877 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 182-183, 185. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 694-695 (27 Mar 2017). 
8878 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 183. 
8879 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 170,206,214; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 22. 
8880 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 207, 212. 
8881 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 184, 208, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1169. See also Appeal Hearing, 
AT. 694 (27 Mar 2017). 
8882 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 209. 
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regarding the treatment of detainees and the conditions of their confinement. 8884 It further submits 

that Pusic had the power to transfer detainees between detention centres, as shown by a number of 

examples, but that Pusic generally failed to use this power in order to alleviate the conditions of 

detention.8885 On the other hand, the Prosecution argues that Pusic did use this instrument to 

manage issues, such as overcrowding within the detention system, but also failed to "follow through 

with prisoner transfers when necessary" and thereby contributed to the CCP.8886 It adds that 

nonetheless, throughout the conflict, Pusic was involved in transferring detainees between facilities, 

and argues that this was a process which often served as an integral step in removing Muslims from 

HZ(R) H-B territory that was directly connected to ethnic cleansing.8887 · The Prosecution also 

submits that besides transferring detainees, Pusic could have notified the relevant authorities 

regarding the conditions of detention and mistreatment of detainees.8888 

2705. The Prosecution submits that by virtue of his position as President of the Detention 

Commission, Pusic had powers which allowed him to resolve problems related to the functioning of 

all detention centres.8889 It further notes his prior participation in a working group tasked with 

inspecting detention sites in Capljina and proposing measures to improve conditions in those 

sites.889o The Prosecution argues that Pusic had the power to interact with HVO and Croatian 

officials and leaders in relation to detention conditions and notes. that the Trial Chamber found that 

he was approached, in the same way as high-ranking HVO officials, by HVO members and 

representatives of international organisations on a number of matters, including detention 

conditions and access to detention centres for those international organisations.8891 According to the 

Prosecution, Pusic, as an agent of the detaining power, had a duty under the Geneva Conventions to 

protect POWs and other protected persons in detention, including civilians, and that this included 

duties to treat prisoners humanely and protect them from death or serious dangers to their health. 8892 

2706. With regard to PusiC's participation in the working group dispatched on 19 July 1993, the 

Prosecution argues that his visits to HVO detention centres were one factor considered by the 

Trial Chamber in establishing Pusic' s knowledge of the conditions in the detention centres and not a 

contribution per se, and that it was in fact his facilitation of the HVO prison system and his failure 

8883 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 218. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 696 (27 Mar 2017). 
8884 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 50; Appeal Hearing, AT. 721-723 (27 Mar 2017). 
8885 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 51. 
8886 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 188. 
8887 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 187. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 202,204. 
8888 Appeal Hearing, AT. 722-723 (27 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 724-725,727-728 (27 Mar 2017). 
8889 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 52. 
8890 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 52. 
8891 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 53. 
8892 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 186, referring to MrkSic and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, paras 70, 
150-151, Blaskic Appeal Judgement, fn. 1385, Common Article 3, Article 13 of Geneva Convention III, Article 27 of 
Geneva Convention IV. 
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to take steps to improve conditions and end crimes in detention centres which represented a 

contribution to crimes.8893 The Prosecution also refers in this regard to a September 1993 meeting 

with a representative of the ICRC who informed Pusic of malnutrition among detainees at Dretelj 

Prison. 8894 

2707. the Prosecution also contends that Pusic was convicted for imprisonment and unlawful 

confinement at Dretelj Prison based on his membership of the JCE and his shared intent rather than 

by virtue of any direct participation in crimes committed there. It considers that his argument in 

relation to his proposal of 12 August 1993 to suspend releases is therefore moot with regard to 

Dretelj Prison.8895 

b. Analysis 

2708. With regard to the 6 January 1994 Memo,8896 which Pusic claims demonstrates that any 

transfer depended on approval from higher authorities, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic's 

proposal that detainees be transferred from the Heliodrom to Gabela Prison appears to have been, as 

noted above, overruled by Marijan Biskic.8897 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the 

Trial Chamber, when finding that he possessed the power to transfer detainees, also referred to the 

13 December 1993 Order calling for the transfer of 17 detainees from Gabela Prison to Ljubuski 

Prison and his positions as Head of the Exchange Service and President of the Detention 

Commission, notably his power to send detainees to work and to release them.8898 PusiC's argument 

that there is no evidence that he had either de jure or de facto hierarchical powers over the 

personnel at HVO detention facilities ignores these relevant factual findings and is accordingly 

dismissed,8899 as is his argument that any influence he may have had in the transfer of prisoners 

between facilities does not justify the finding that he had those powers. By extension and on the 

same basis, so too is his argument that he could not have made a significant contribution to the JCE 

by virtue of his conduct in relation to the transfer of detainees between detention centres due to the 

Trial Chamber's erroneous findings regarding his power and level of influence.890o 

8893 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 197 (in relation to Dretelj Prison), 203 (in relation to Gabela Prison), 
205 (in relation to Ljubuski Prison). 
8894 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 197. 
8895 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 199 & fn. 816. 
8896 See supra, para. 2698. 
8897 See supra, para. 2625. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 1519, Vol. 4, para. 1142. 
8898 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1056. 
8899 Insofar as PusiC's argument refers specifically to hierarchical considerations, the Appeals Chamber considers it to 
be a reiteration of his argument that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to identify his subordinates, which it has already 
dismissed. See supra, para. 2618. 
8900 See supra, para. 2601. 
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2709. With regard to Pusic~' s argument that the transfer of detainees was undertaken "in 

accordance with broader dictates of HVO policy" over which he had no say, the Appeals Chamber 

recalls that the question of how much influence he had over the broad contours of HVO policy was 

not of determinative significance in assessing his liability and accordingly dismisses it also.8901 

2710. Turning to PusiC's argument that "the suggestion" that by moving prisoners he could 

alleviate detention conditions is unsustainable, the Appeals Chamber recalls that while it was within 

the Trial Chamber's discretion to find that Pusic had powers to transfer detainees, his proposal that 

detainees be transferred from the Heliodrom to Gabela Prison due to overcrowding was in fact 

overruled by Biskic.8902 This raises significant doubt as to whether Pusic had sufficient powers to 

engage in prisoner transfers on such a scale as to reduce the problem of overcrowding in HVO 

detention facilities. The Trial Chamber did not engage in any analysis of whether overcrowding 

could have been resolved or ameliorated by transfers, despite finding that the Heliodrom,8903 Dretelj 

Prison,8904 Gabela Prison,8905 and'Ljubuski Prison8906 all suffered from overcrowding. It is therefore 

unclear whether the Trial Chamber considered the possibility that overcrowding was the result of a 

limited overall holding capacity in the HVO detention centres, which would imply that transfers 

alone could not resolve or ameliorate the issue. 

2711. The Trial Chamber also found, however, that Pusic could have notified the relevant 

authorities regarding the conditions of detention.8907 The Appeals Chamber considers, however, that 

this would in fact imply that Pusic did not have the power to resolve problems related to conditions 

of confinement and was reliant on others in that regard. In any event, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that the Trial Chamber merely mentioned this option as one of the actions Pusic could have 

undertaken in its concluding remarks on PusiC's responsibility without providing an explanation as 

to how PusiC's notification of "the relevant authorities" would have led to an improvement of the 

detention conditions.8908 

2712. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds, even allowing for the Trial Chamber's consideration 

of PusiC's positions as Head of the Exchange Service and President of the Detention Commission, 

that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that he had the power to resolve problems related 

to conditions of confinement. This finding is reversed. In light of the fact that the Trial Chamber's 

8901 See supra, para, 2641. 
8902 S 'al J ee supra, para, 2625. See also Tn udgement, Vol. 2, para, 1519, Vol. 4, para, 1142. 
8903 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1142-1143. 
8904 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1167, 1170. 
8905 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1174-1176. 
8906 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, para. 1182. 
8907 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203; Appeal Hearing, AT. 722-723 (27 Mar 2017). See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 
724-725,727-728 (27 Mar 2017). 
8908 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1203. 
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finding that Pusic had the power to resolve problems related to mistreatment of detainees was 

underpinned by the same factors,8909 the Appeals Chamber reverses this finding also. Accordingly, 

the Appeals Chamber overturns the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic contributed to the JCE by 

virtue of his failure to take measures to improve conditions of detention or to put a stop to 

mistreatment. 

2713. With regard to PusiC's participation in the working group dispatched on 19 July 1993 to 

identify new sites to take detainees from overcrowded detention centres, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the Trial Chamber found that the working group in question proposed identifying new 

detention sites in order to end the overcrowding problems at Dretelj Prison.8910 There is no 

indication that the Trial Chamber considered this to have formed part of PusiC's contribution to the 

crimes relating to conditions of confinement which formed part of the CCP. The arguments of the 

Parties on this issue are therefore moot.8911 Neither does the Trial Chamber appear to have 

considered PusiC's mere receipt of information from an ICRC representative that detainees at 

Dretelj Prison were exhibiting signs of malnutrition8912 to have constituted a contribution. 

2714. Finally, with regard to PusiC's argument that it is unclear from the evidence that his 

proposals of 12 August 1993 to suspend releases from Dretelj and Gabela Prisons in order to 

register and classify detainees were ever adopted, the Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Trial Chamber did not find that this decision was implemented, instead refelTing only to its issuance 

before noting that it was unable to establish whether the registration and classification took 

place.89l3 Pusic articulates no error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on this evidence. His argument 

is accordingly dismissed. 

2715. In summary, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Pusic 

had the power to take measures to resolve problems related to conditions of confinement and 

mistreatment of detainees and that he contributed to the JCE by failing to exercise such powers. 

What effect, if any, this finding has on his overall responsibility is discussed below. 8914 The 

remainder of Pusic' s challenges under this heading are dismissed. 

8909 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1056, 1202-1203. The Appeals Chamber notes in this regard that the 
Trial Chamber did not explain - nor is it apparent - how transferring detainees from one centre to another could stop or 
Erevent mistreatment. . 

910 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1167. 
8911 Cf infra, paras 2731-2733 (overturnin~ the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic, through his participation in the 
working group, denied the expUlsions from Capljina Municipality). 
8912 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1169. 
8913 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1168. 
8914 See infra, paras 2772-2773. 
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Cd) Jablanica Municipality 

2716. The Trial Chamber found that on 17 April 1993, the HVO attacked the villages of SoviCi 

and Doljani in Jablanica Municipality and that, following the fighting, the HVO and the MUP 

arrested TOI ABiH soldiers and Muslim men of military age, as well as a number of women, 

children, and elderly people.8915 Subsequent to the attack, negotiations between the HVO and the 

ABiH culminated in the creation of a joint delegation, of which Pusic was a member, tasked to go 

to SoviCi and Doljani to "evaluate the situation". 8916 According to the Trial Chamber, following the 

visit by the joint delegation and in light of the conditions of confinement in the SoviCi School, an 

agreement was reached between Milivoj Petkovic and Sefer Halilovic on 4 May 1993 to evacuate 

the population of SoviCi and Doljani, including the detainees at the SoviCi School, to Jablanica on 

the next day.8917 The Trial Chamber also found that it was the HVO Main Staff that "issued the 

order complying with the decisions" taken subsequent to the visit. 8918 The Trial Chamber found that 

the Muslim inhabitants of SoviCi and Doljani were ultimately moved in the direction of Gomji 

Vakuf by HVO soldiers on 5 May 1993.8919 In light of his participation in the joint delegation, the 

Trial Chamber concluded that Pusic was informed of the removal on 5 May 1993 of the population 

of the villages· of SoviCi and Doljani and that therefore "Pusic facilitated the removal of the 

population of SoviCi and Doljani towards ABiH-held territory, even if the final destination of the 

Muslims changed". 8920 

Ci) Arguments of the Parties 

2717. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law by finding that he significantly 

contributed to any crimes committed in Jablanica Municipality as part of the JCE. 8921 Similarly, 

Pusic contends that his visit to Jablanica on 4 May 1993, and the fact that he remained in his HVO 

post thereafter, cannot be seen as a contribution to any crimes committed there. 8922 He submits that 

the Trial Chamber erred by drawing unwarranted inferences based on his visit to the villages of 

SoviCi and Doljani on 4 May 1993 in concluding that: (1) he facilitated "the evacuation" of the 

residents of those villages on 5 May 1993; and (2) he accepted the crimes committed in the area 

8915 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 538, 550, Vol. 4, para. 1100. 
8916 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1100-1101. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 605-607. 
8917 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1103. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 606. 
8918 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, para. 607. 
8919 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1103 .. 
8920 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1103-1104. The Trial Chamber further found that as a result of his visit on 
4 May 1993, Pusic was aware of the HVO attack on SoviCi and Doljaci, observed significant destruction in the villages, 
was fully informed of the arrests and detention of the population of these villages, and was aware of the harsh detention 
conditions inside the SoviCi School. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1102. 
8921 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152. 
8922 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 152. 
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between 17 April and 4 May 1993.8923 Pusic adds that apart from his participation in the joint 

delegation,8924 no other evidence is presented to link him directly to the decision to evacuate the 

villagers, the crimes that followed, or the HVO attack on 17 April 1993.8925 He concludes that his 

conduct could not possibly have furthered or "facilitated" the CCp.8926 

2718. The Prosecution submits in response that the Trial Chamber applied the correct law and 

reached a reasonable conclusion when it found that Pusic contributed to crimes committed in SoviCi 

and Doljani.8927 Further, the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that 

through his participation in negotiations as part of the joint delegation, Pusic "facilitated the 

removal of the ,population of SoviCi and Doljani".8928 It argues that this finding should be 

considered in light of the Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic had the primary responsibility for 

prisoner exchanges as of April 1993 and the fact that he continued to take actions to ensure that 

SoviCi and Doljani remained free of Muslims months after his initial visit on 4 May 1993.8929 

2719. The Prosecution argues that PusiC's discriminatory intent and contribution to persecution is 

demonstrated by the Trial Chamber's findings that Pusic was aware of the wholesale destruction of 

Muslim houses in SoviCi and Doljani, while Croat houses were left unharmed, and that Muslim 

civilians were being detained in terrible conditions, and that despite this knowledge, Pusic 

continued to facilitate the removal of the Muslim population towards ABiH-held tenitory.8930 It 

further argues that PusiC's discriminatory intent to ensure that SoviCi and Doljani remained free of 

Muslims was further evidenced by his July 1993 order requiring Muslims from Buna who had 

anived in Sovici and Doljani and were held at the SoviCi School to be taken to a checkpoint and 

released to walk to Jablanica.8931 

8923 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 153. 
8924 See supra, para. 2716. 
8925 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 153-154. The Appeals Chamber notes that in the section of PusiC's Appeal Brief 
concerning Jablanica, Pusic has made the argument that his failure to remedy or act on crimes, of which he became 
aware more than two weeks after they had taken place, does not in itself meet the threshold for contribution to the JCE. 
In this respect he further argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the normal criteria for omission liability and 
failed to consider whether a duty to prevent or punish existed between the Accused and the physical perpetrators of the 
crimes, and that no such duty arose in this case. The Appeals Chamber notes that it has dismissed this argument above. 
See supra, paras 2606-2607. 
8926 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 155. 
8927 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 157. 
8928 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 159. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 702 (27 Mar 2017). 
8929 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 159. The Prosecution submits that in July 1993,Pusic issued orders to 
ensure that "persons released from detention at SoviCi School were transported across to the line of separation", and as 
late as December 1993, he was responsible for ordering continued detention of persons arrested in SoviCi so that they 
could be used in exchanges to further the goal of populating that municipality with Croats. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Pusic), para. 159. In this respect, it further submits that by virtue of his functions in the network of detention 
facilities and as a "key player" in exchange negotiations and the movement of people, Pusic contributed to the crimes in 
SoviCi and Doljani. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 158. 
8930 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 160. See also Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 16l. 
8931 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 160. 
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(ii) Analysis 

2720. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber drew unwarranted inferences based 

on his visit to SoviCi and Doljani, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber failed to 

specify or elaborate on how PusiC's participation in the joint delegation during the visit to SoviCi 

and Doljani amounted to facilitation of the removal of people from those villages. For example, the 

Trial Chamber failed to explain what authority, if any, Pusic had within the delegation, particularly 

in light of the fact that the delegation was headed by the military commanders of the HVO and 

ABiH, Petkovic and Halilovic, respectively.8932 It also failed to make findings as to how Pusic 

specifically facilitated the removal of the people from SoviCi and Doljani, considering that it found 

that the removal was agreed by Petkovic and Halilovic on 4 May 1993 and that it was the HVO 

Main Staff which issued the order complying with the decisions taken subsequent to the visit of the 

joint delegation. 8933 

272l. With regard to the Prosecution's argument that Pusic continued to take actions to ensure that 

SoviCi and Doljani remained free of Muslims by issuing orders related to detainees from SoviCi in 

July and December 1993,8934 the Appeals Chamber first observes that the Trial Chamber did not 

rely on the orders cited by the Prosecution when it made the finding that Pusic facilitated the 

removal. 8935 It finds in any event that the Prosecution has failed to elaborate how those documents 

show that Pusic facilitated the removal of people on 5 May 1993. 

2722. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that no reasonable trier of fact could 

have concluded that Pusic facilitated the removal of the population from SoviCi and Doljani on 

5 May 1993. What effect, if any, this finding will have on his overall responsibility 'is discussed 

below.8936 

8932 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 11 00-1103. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls that prior to and at the 
time of the visit, Pusic held several functions within the HVO. See supra, para. 2596 & fn. 8513. However, it is not 
clear in which capacity Pusic took part in the joint delegation that visited SoviCi and Doljani on 4 May 1993. In the 
section of the Trial Judgement dealing with his functions in general, the Trial Chamber referred to the visit as an 
example of an instance where Pusic represented "the Military Police Administration or the HVO in negotiations for the 
exchange of detainees or bodies". In the section of the Trial Judgement addressing this visit, in particular, it considered 
Pusic to have taken part as an HVO representative and the "President of the Exchange Commission", a post which 
appears not to have existed at the time of the visit of the joint delegation to Jablanica. The Trial Chamber also noted, 
however, that the HVO component of the joint delegation consisted of two teams and that Pusic was a member of a 
team headed by Dr. Bagaric, which was in charge of dealing with the injured, the sick, and the dead. See Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1029-1030. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, paras 656-658,660-661, Vol. 4, fn. 2064. 
8933 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 606-607, Vol. 4, para. 1103. 
8934 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 159, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1163, Exs. P03652, 
P03665. 
8935 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1100-1104 and references cited therein. 
8936 See infra, paras 2772-2773. 

1120 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22775



(e) Prozor Municipality 

2723. The Trial Chamber found that the HVO conducted large-scale eviction operations in the 

summer of 1993 in Prozor Municipality, following which HVO forces detained villagers who did 

not belong to any armed force at the Prozor Secondary School, the Vnis Building, the Tech School, 

in the villages of Lapsunj and Duge, and in the Pod grade neighbourhood. 8937 It further found that on 

18 August 1993, Zeljko Siljeg, the commander of the North-West OZ, reported to the HVO Main 

Staff that: 

Berislav Pusic called him before a scheduled visit by the ICRC to the "prison" and to some 
Muslim villages in Prozor so that he would not grant authorisation to the ICRC to visit the prison 
and the villages, arguing that the ICRC had not been effective in doing the same for Croatian 
detainees in Konjic, Bugojno and other regions.8938 

Based on this report, the Trial Chamber concluded that Pusic had a "very harsh attitude towards the 

ICRC and did not hesitate to hinder their work if he was not· satisfied".8939 The Trial Chamber 

further noted that Pusic's attitude strongly influenced Siljeg as he passed along PusiC's instructions 

to the local authorities in Prozor that the ICRC planned to contact.8940 The Trial Chamber concluded 

that as Pusic was aware of detentions of Muslims in "a prison" and in villages in Prozor 

Municipality in August 1993, it had no doubt that he knew that Muslims who did not belong to any 

armed force were detained there and found that "[b]y continuing to exercise his functions within the 

HVO despite this knowledge", Pusic accepted such detentions.8941 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2724. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law by finding that he significantly 

contributed to any crimes committed in Prozor Municipality as part of the JCE by obstructing a visit 

by international community representatives to the area in August 1993 and by continuing in his post 

in the HVO thereafter. 8942 He argues that, even taking the evidence cited by the Trial Chamber "at 

its highest", he could not have made a significant contribution to the JCE by obstructing the visit, or 

by remaining in his post thereafter despite his knowledge of crimes being committed in prozOr.8943 

He maintains that this "is all the more so given that [his] knowledge is based on an episode that 

took place on 18 August 1993 some time after the crimes in question occurred".8944 

8937 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1097. 
8938 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1097, referring to Ex. P04292, p. 3. 
8939 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1098. 
8940 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1098. 
8941 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1099. 
8942 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 149. 
8943 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 149-151. 
8944 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150. 
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2725. The Prosecution responds that Pusic did not merely "accept" the detention of Muslim 

civilians but in fact took positive action by blocking ICRC access to detention centres and villages 

in the area, while continuing to facilitate the HVO detention network by remaining in his HVO 

positions despite his knowledge of the crimes.8945 It also argues that Pusic was aware of the illegal 

detention of Muslims in Prozor before 18 August 1993.8946 The Prosecution submits that, by that 

. date, the detention of Muslim civilians in Prozor was ongoing as part of "large-scale eviction 

operations" that began in the spring and continued into the summer of 1993.8947 It adds that due to 

his service in various HVO detention- and prisoner exchange-related positions, Pusic received 

communications about detainees who had been arrested in Prozor, some of whom were civilians. 8948 

It concludes that the Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic made a contribution to the crimes of 

persecution, imprisonment, and unlawful confinement of civilians in Prozor. 8949 

(ii) Analysis 

2726. Pusic does not substantiate why his obstruction of-a visit by the ICRC to a prison and 

villages in Prozor in August 1993 could not constitute a contribution to the JCE. The 

Appeals Chamber thus dismisses this argument as an undeveloped assertion. With regard to his 

argument that his knowledge of crimes in Prozor was based on an episode that took place on 

18 August 1993, some time after "the crimes in question" occurred, the Appeals Chamber first 

notes that he does not specify to which of the crimes found by the Trial Chamber to have occurred 

in Prozor Municipality he refers. 895o In any event, the Trial Chamber found that he knew that 

Muslims who did not belong to any armed force were detained in these various locations in Prozor, 

a finding which is not challenged by PUSiC.8951 In other words, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic 

was aware of ongoing unlawful detention when he obstructed the ICRC visit to the prison and 

villages in question. His argument fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber could have erred by 

considering this to be a contribution to the JCE and is accordingly dismissed. 

(f) Capljina Municipality 

2727. The Trial Chamber found that between July and September 1993, Bosnian Muslim women, 

children, and elderly people were expelled by the HVO and the MUP from a number of locations in 

8945 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 154-155. 
8946 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 155. 
8947 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 155. 
8948 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 155. 
8949 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 156. 
8950 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 150. 
8951 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1099. 
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Capljina Municipality and forcibly transferred to ABiH-held territory.8952 In addition, it also found 

that between 30 June and mid-July 1993, Muslim men from Capljina Municipality were detained by 

the HVO in Dretelj and Gabela Prisons and at the Heliodrom.8953 

2728. The Trial Chamber further found that Pusic was a member of a working group tasked by the 

HVO HZ H-B during a session on 19 July 1993 with visiting Capljina Municipality to inspect the 

detention sites and propose measures to improve the conditions inside these sites.8954 The 

Trial Chamber further found that the working group established, among other things, that the media 

reports about the alleged "expulsion" of Muslims from the Municipality of Capljina were false. 8955 

Taking into account that it found that the removal of Muslim civilians in Capljina Municipality to 

ABiH-held territories was ongoing during Pusic's visit to the municipality between 19 and 20 July 

1993, the Trial Chamber concluded that: 

[T]he only inference it can reasonably draw is that Berislav Pusic was informed of the expulsions, 
denied them in the report of the working group in which he participated and that, by retaining his 
position within the HVO, he accepted those crimes.8956 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2729. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber elTed in fact and law when it found that he 

significantly contributed to the crimes committed in Capljina Municipality by visiting the area 

between 19 and 20 July 1993 as part of an "HVO delegation" and by subsequently continuing in his 

post with the HVO.8957 He argues that by taking part in a working group that was tasked with 

identifying new sites to house detainees from the overcrowded Dretelj Prison on 19 July 1993, he 

could not be considered to have made a significant contribution to the JCE.8958 He submits that he 

was a junior member of this delegation and was not one of the members who reported back to the 

HVO cabinet.8959 He adds that the visit had no impact on the implementation of the JCE.896o Pusic 

submits that his "acceptance" of crimes committed in Capljina, as found by the Trial Chamber, 

would not have amounted to a significant contribution to the JCE even if the relevant evidence cited 

by the Trial Chamber was taken "at its highest".8961 

8952 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 943-944. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 2097, 2104 (DomanoviCi), 2115 
(Bivolje Brdo), 2131 (PoCitelj), 2152 (VisiCi), 2161 (Capljina town), 2191, Vol. 4, para. 1123 & fn. 2109. 
8953 Trial Judgement, Vol. 2, paras 2082-2083. The persons arrested and held in these locations included Muslim 
members of the HVO and ABiH, as well as Muslim men who did not belong to any armed force. 
8954 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1123, 1167, 1174, referring to, inter alia, Exs. P03560, pp. 4-5, P03573. 
8955 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1123. 
8956 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1123. 
8957 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 169. 
8958 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 170, 206. 
8959 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 170, 206. 
8960 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 170, 206. 
8961 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 171. 
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2730. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic contributed to 

crimes committed in Capljina Municipality.8962 It argues that he not only accepted the expUlsions of 

Muslims from Capljina but that he contributed to them by falsely denying them in a report and by 

continuing to hold his HVO post thereafter. 8963 It further submits that as part of the delegation 

tasked with inspecting detention sites in Capljina Municipality in July 1993, Pusic visited Dretelj 

and Gabela Prisons which held Muslim men who were arrested during evictions from Capljina at 

that time.8964 It adds that Pusic was informed of the removal of Muslims from Capljina in July 1993, 

yet he denied it in an "official report to the Government". 8965 According to the Prosecution, the 

expUlsions from Capljina continued after that official report to the Government and, as a result, the 

Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic made a contribution to persecution and displacement 

crimes there. 8966 

(ii) Analysis 

2731. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber's findings regarding PusiC's role in 

expUlsions from Capljina Municipality are based on his visit to the municipality as a member of the 

working group on 19 or 20 July 1993, which subsequently resulted in the denial of expulsions in the 

report of the working group.8967 

2732. As to PusiC's argument that he played no role in the reporting of the working group, the 

Appeals Chamber first notes that the only reference to the report of the working group is found in 

the minutes of the meeting of the HVO HZ H-B held on 20 July 1993.8968 However, according to 

the minutes, only one member of the working group, Zoran Buntic, was present at this meeting.8969 

In the absence of any evidence showing PusiC's presence at the meeting, the Appeals Chamber 

finds that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that Pusic reported to the HVO HZ H-B. 

Finally, with respect to the denial of expulsions itself, the Appeals Chamber notes that the report of 

8962 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 173. 
8963 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 173. . 
8964 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 174. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 702 (27 Mar 2017). 
8965 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 174, referring to Ex. P03573. 
8966 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 174. 
8967 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1123. 
8968 Ex. P03573, pp. 1-2. 
8969 Ex. P03573, p. 1. The Appeals Chamber notes that the minutes list all of the attendees of this meeting, including 
Jadranko Pdic and Bruno Stojic. In a different section of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic was 
also present at this meeting. However, the Trial Chamber provided no support for this finding which is clearly 
contradicted by the minutes of the meeting. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1174. 
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the working group, as recorded in the minutes, only disputed that all Muslims were expelled from 

Capljina Municipality and not necessarily that no expulsions had taken place. 8970 

2733. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in 

concluding that by virtue of his visit to Capljina Municipality on 19 or 20 July 1993 as a member of 

the working group, Pusic denied the expulsions from Capljina Municipality. The effect, if any, of 

this on his overall responsibility, also bearing in mind that the finding that he was informed of the 

expulsions in Capljina Municipality and accepted those by retaining his position within the HVO 

. d' b d . d' db 1 8971 remams un IStur e ,l~ Iscusse e ow. 

(g) Mostar Municipality 

(i) PusiC's role in the arrest, detention, and displacement of Muslims from West Mostar 

2734. The Tlial Chamber found that Pusic was informed of the mass arrest of Muslims in 

West Mostar between 9 and 11 May 1993 and of their detention at the Mostar Police Station and the 

Heliodrom.8972 Based on his orders to release or keep the Muslims in detention, the Trial Chamber 

was satisfied that Pusic was not only aware of these arrests and detentions, but also that he took part 

in the arrest campaigns in West Mostar in May 1993.8973 It further found that Pusic took part in the 

operation to remove the Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar in late May 1993 as well as in 

the system encouraging the permanent removal of Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar as of 

late May 1993.8974 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2735. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law when it concluded that he made a 

significant contribution to the JCE by participating in the expUlsion of Muslims from West Mostar 

to East Mostar from May 1993 onwards.8975 Turning to more specific incidents, Pusic argues that 

his role in the "unconditional" release of Muslim civilians arrested on 11 May 1993 could not have 

advanced the CCP.8976 With regard to the "permanent removal of Muslims", Pusic submits that the 

removal of at least 300 Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar, witnessed by Witness Klaus 

Johann Nissen on 26 May 1993, was part of a pre-arranged transfer of civilians which was agreed 

8970 Ex. P03573, pp. 1-2. The working group ascertained that "the reports in some media concerning the alleged 
expUlsion of all Muslims from Capljina municipality were not true" as it found that there were approximately 2,000 
Muslims from eastern Herzegovina at various locations in the municipality. 
8971 See infra, paras 2772-2773. 
8972 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1110. 
8973 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1110. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1106-1109. 
8974 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1112, 1116. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1111, 1113-1115. 
8975 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156. 
8976 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 157, 196-198. 
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between the HVO and ABiH.8977 Pusic further submits that the statements he made on 16 June 1993 

to ECMM representatives, and comments he made in the presence of Witness BC on 16 September 

1993, had no impact on the measures adopted by the HVO in furtherance of the JCE.8978 According 

to Pusic, none of his conduct in relation to these events meets the required threshold for 

.. . . th JCE 8979 partIcIpatIOn In e . 

2736. The Prosecution responds that Pusic directly participated in the expulsion of Muslims from 

West Mostar. 8980 It submits that on the night of 25-26 May 1993, Nissen, an ECMM monitor, saw 

Pusic supervising the loading of Muslim women, children, and elderly people onto buses for 

removal from West Mostar to East Mostar. 8981 The Prosecution argues that this conduct, together 

with PusiC's attempts to conceal evictions from the ECMM, constitute his contribution to the JCE 

with respect to the arrest campaigns.8982 It further argues that Pusic merely repeats the arguments he 

made at trial, that the incident observed by Nissen was a "pre-arranged transfer of civilians agreed 

by the HVO and ABiH", without demonstrating how the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of 

this event. 8983 

2737. With regard to PusiC's 16 June 1993 statement denying evictions in Mostar, the Prosecution 

argues that such a statement assisted in concealing HVO crimes, impeding the operation of 

international organisations, and allowed crimes to continue.8984 It submits that the Trial Chamber 

reasonably found that PusiC participated in the "system encouraging the permanent removal of 

Muslims from West Mostar to East Mostar" on the basis of his overall contribution to "this 

system".8985 It further agues that, in this context, the Trial Chamber was entitled to also consider 

PusiC's false denials to international organisations.8986 According to the Prosecution, the 

Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic made a contribution to the displacement crimes in 

Mostar.8987 

8977 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 158. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1111-1112. 
8978 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 159-160, 162, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1113. He adds that it is not 
clear who within the HVO was encouraged by his remarks and what constituted the "system encouraging the permanent 
removal of Muslims". PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
8979 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 157-159. 
8980 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 165. 
8981 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 165. 
8982 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 165. 
8983 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 166. Moreover, the Prosecution adds, it is irrelevant whether there was 
an agreement between the HVO and ABiH as the Trial Chamber held that transfers of civilians are unlawful unless 
there is consent from those being transferred, regardless of any agreement between political or military leaders. 
Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 166. 
8984 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 167. 
8985 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 168, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1116. 
8986 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 168. 
8987 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 168-169. 
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b. Analysis 

2738. With regard to Pusie's argument that his role in the "unconditional" release of Muslim 

civilians arrested on 11 May 1993 could not have advanced the CCP, the Appeals Chamber notes 

that the Trial Chamber's findings concerning the releases were part of its broader finding that Pusic 

took part in the arrest campaigns in West Mostar in May 1993. His ordering of the release of 

Muslims arrested on 11 May 1993 is thus only one component of his participation in the arrests. His 

role in the arrests also included, for example, the facts that on 11 May 1993, the Mostar MUP sent a 

letter to Pusic requesting him to "take charge" of 19 civilians detained at the Mostar Police Station, 

and that, on one occasion, Pusic ordered that certain people not be released.8988 In light of these 

additional factors, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has not explained how his argument would 

affect the overall finding that he took part in the arrest campaigns in West Mostar in May 1993. 

This argument is therefore dismissed. 8989 

2739. Turning to the finding that Pusic participated in the removal of at least 300 Muslims from 

West Mostar on 26 May 1993, which the Trial Chamber reached relying on Nissen's evidence,899o 

the Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic does not challenge the Trial Chamber's finding or Nissen's 

account, but merely repeats his argument made at trial that the transfer in question was pre-arranged 

and agreed upon between the HVO and ABiH without providing any support for this contention. 8991 

2740. With regard to PusiC's statement on 16 June 1993 wherein he, according to the 

Trial Chamber, denied evictions brought to his and Corie's attention by ECMM representatives, and 

his statement on 16 September 1993 that the only suitable solution was to "send all the Muslims 

from West Herzegovina to East Mostar where they come from",8992 the Appeals Chamber notes that 

Pusic does not challenge. the finding that he made these statements. By merely arguing that these 

statements had no impact on the measures adopted by the HVO in furtherance of the JCE, Pusic 

fails to show why the Trial Chamber erred in concluding, on the basis of these statements, that he 

.took part in the system encouraging the permanent removal of Muslims from West Mostar to 

East Mostar as of late May 1993.8993 

8988 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1108-1109. 
8989 See also supra, para. 2677. 
8990 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1111-1112, referring to Klaus Johann Nissen, T(F). 20405-20407, 20429-20430 (25 
June 2007). 
8991 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 158; PusiC's Final Brief, para. 138. 
8992 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1115. 
8993 Pusic's related argument that it is not clear who was encouraged by his remarks is also dismissed as it is not 
directed at a specific Trial Chamber finding. The Appeals Chamber further notes PusiC's argument that it is not clear 
what constituted the "system encouraging the permanent removal of Muslims", but considers it to be purely semantic 
and dismisses it accordingly. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 160. 
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2741. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Pusic has failed to show any discernible error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding his role in the arrest, detention, and displacement of Muslims 

from West Mostar. 

(ii) PusiC's role in siege-related crimes 

2742. The Trial Chamber found that Pusic knew about the difficulties international organisations 

were having in gaining access to East Mostar, and about the extremely harsh living conditions of 

the population, particularly the shortage of water and electricity. 8994 It found that he "hindered and 

even paralysed the handling of humanitarian evacuation requests in East Mostar" and therefore 

considered that he participated in worsening the living conditions in East Mostar by obstructing 

humanitarian evacuations.8995 

a. Arguments of the Parties 

2743. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law when it concluded that he made a 

significant contribution to the ICE by blocking or obstructing access for international organisations 

and humanitarian evacuations in Mostar in May 1993.8996 As to the worsening of the living 

conditions in East Mostar specifically, Pusic argues that even by taking the evidence cited by the 

Trial Chamber "at its highest", namely the statements made by him on 16 September 1993, other 

statements by him recorded in an ECMM report of 28 November 1993, and a report he wrote on 

24 February 1994, the threshold required for participation in a ICE has not been met.8997 He argues 

that no link can be established between these statements and his conduct having any influence on 

any HVO official or any impact on the execution of the CCP.8998 

2744. Pusic submits that on the basis of the Trial Chamber's erroneous finding that he participated 

in worsening the living conditions in Mostar - combined with his knowledge of crimes committed 

during the siege of Mostar, and the fact that he continued to perform his HVO duties - the 

Trial Chamber erroneously found that he accepted the following crimes in Mostar: (1) destruction 

of property, including religious buildings; (2) murders of civilians; and (3) imposition of extremely 

harsh living conditions on the population of East Mostar. 8999 In this respect, Pusic reiterates his 

argument from ground of appeal 1 that he did not have unilateral power to obstruct humanitarian 

evacuations and he therefore could not have made a significant contribution to the ICE.9000 

8994 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
8995 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
8996 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 156. 
8997 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 162-163, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1121. 
8998 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 162. See also Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 161. 
8999 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 164. 
9000 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 165, referring to PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44. 
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However, he argues that his acceptance of these crimes, even if the material relied on by the 

Trial Chamber were to be accepted at its highest, would not amount to a significant contribution to 

the implementation of the JCE.9001 Pusic also argues that the absence of any links between the 

physical perpetrators and "the Accused" is so tenuous that the JCE liability for any crimes in 

Mostar is "wholly inappropriate,,.9002 

2745. Finally, Pusic makes a general argument that the Trial Chamber's finding that he failed to 

denounce or report crimes in Mostar, or any omissions in this regard, would not have impacted on 

the execution of the JCE, since he was not a high-level HVO official, and did not have sufficient 

authority to influence others or influence events.9003 

2746. The Prosecution responds that Pusic participated in the siege of Mostar by "paralysing the 

handling of humanitarian evacuation requests" and by deliberately holding the. civilian population 

in a small and overcrowded enclave, thereby contributing to the harsh living conditions.9oo4 It 

further argues that he advocated restrictive one-for-one exchanges, rather than an all-for-all 

principle which would have released far more Muslims than Croats, and that he used Muslims as a 

"form of currency".9005 The Prosecution submits that Pusic ignores the fact that on the basis of his 

authority to represent the HVO in international negotiations, the Trial Chamber considered his 

statements to international organisations as evidence that he hindered or paralysed humanitarian 

evacuations.9oo6 It further submits that Pusic thereby contributed to the crimes of inhumane acts, 

inhuman treatment, cruel treatment, unlawful attacks, terror, murders, and wilful killings.9007 

Further, it avers that by worsening the living conditions and effectively trapping the population, he 

facilitated the conditions that allowed the murders in Mostar to occur and that the Trial Chamber 

reasonably found that he actively contributed to those murders.9oo8 Similarly, the Prosecution 

submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pusic contributed to property destruction in 

Mostar by perpetuating the conditions that facilitated the siege.9oo9 

2747. With regard to PusiC's general argument related to the Trial Chamber's finding that he 

failed to denounce or report crimes in Mostar, the Prosecution responds that it should be dismissed 

9001 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 166. 
9002 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 168. 
9003 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 167. 
9004 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 170. 
9005 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 170. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 707-708 (27 Mar 2017). 
9006 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 171. 
9007 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 171-172. 
9008 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 171. 
9009 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 172. 
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as the Trial Chamber did not find that Pusic had contributed to the crimes in Mostar in this manner 

and as he thus fails to identify which factual finding he is challenging.901o 

b. Analysis 

2748. With regard to the events concerning the siege of Mostar, PusiC's arguments are a mix of 

the challenges he makes in relation to his powers under ground of appeal 1 and his contention that 

his statements and actions with regard to the siege do not meet the required threshold for JCE 

participation. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber will first address PusiC's argument that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he contributed to the worsening of the living conditions in 

East Mostar.9011 This finding was based on the conclusion that Pusic obstructed humanitarian 

evacuation requests in East Mostar while being aware of the extremely harsh living conditions in 

East Mostar caused by the siege.9012 Pusic does not, however, substantiate his claim that the 

Trial Chamber erred in reaching this conclusion. 

2749. With regard to PusiC's argument that he did not have a unilateral power to obstruct 

humanitarian evacuations, the Dial Chamber found that even if he was not the only person with this 

power, he was authorised to issue permits for the humanitarian evacuation of people from East 

Mostar, in accordance with the HVO exchange policy that one Muslim would be exchanged for one 

Croat.9013 It summarised his position in tlns regard as one of "broad authority" as an HVO 

representative before the international community, contrasting this with his de jure and de facto 

roles in relation to the exchange and release of Muslim detainees held in HVO prisons.9014 As such, 

insofar as Pusic presents ~m argument that he did not have a "unilateral" power to obstruct 

humanitarian evacuations, he does not contradict the findings of the Trial Chamber and accordingly 

fails to articulate an error. This argument is accordingly dismissed. Beyond this, Pusic merely refers 

to his argument raised under another sub-ground of appeal concerning his role as a representative of 

the HVO in negotiations on the exchange of prisoners, which has been dismissed above.9015 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Pusic has failed to substantiate the argument about his power 

to obstruct humanitarian evacuations and dismisses it on this basis. 

2750. Moreover, Pusic has failed to show how the Trial Chamber erred in its evaluation of his 

statements and the report he refers to on which the Trial Chamber relied to conclude that he 

9010 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 163. 
9011 See PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 163-164. 
9012 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9013 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1065. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1066-1067, 1076-1077. 
9014 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 108l. 
9015 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 165, referring to PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 44. See supra, para. 2641 (noting that the 
question of how much influence Pusic had over the broad contours of HVO policy was not of determinative 
significance in assessing his liability). 
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participated in the worsening of living conditions in East Mostar.9016 In fact, Pusic ignores the 

Trial Chamber's findings and merely asserts that, even taken "at its highest", this evidence does not 

meet the threshold requirement for participation in a JCE without substantiating this assertion. His 

argument is thus dismissed. 

2751. Turning to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred when it found that he accepted the 

murders of civilians, destruction of property (including religious buildings), and imposition of 

extremely harsh living conditions, the Appeals Chamber considers that it is more appropriate to deal 

with this argument under Pusk's ground of appeal 5 related to his challenges to the findings on his 

mens rea.9017 

2752. As to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that his failure to report the 

crimes committed in Mostar or to denounce them impacted the execution of the JCE,9018 the 

Appeals Chamber notes that in its findings on Pusic's contribution to crimes committed in Mostar, 

the Trial Chamber made no reference to a failure on his part to report or denounce crimes.9019 

PusiC's argument misrepresents the findings and is accordingly dismissed. Similarly, Pusic's 

argument that the absence of a link between him and the physical perpetrators renders his liability 

for JCE crimes in Mostar inappropriate ignores applicable law in relation to JCE liability.902o 

2753. The Appeals Chamber thus finds that Pusic has failed to show any discernible error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings regarding his role in the siege crimes in Mostar. 

(h) False information 

2754. The Trial Chamber found that between June 1993 and March 1994, Pusic denied 

information reported to him by representatives of international organisations which he knew to be 

9016 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1121-1122. For example, the Trial Chamber noted that during a meeting with' 
Witness BC on 16 September 1993, Pusic treated the Muslims as a "form of currency" and claimed that the Muslims 
held in HVO areas were valuable for use in exchanges for Croats detained by Muslim forces in Central Bosnia. See 
Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1121, referring to Witness BC, T(F). 25205 (28 Nov 2007) (closed session), Ex. P09848 
(confidential), paras 1, 3. In this context, the Trial Chamber also considered an ECMM report of 28 November 1993 
and a report written by Pusic on 24 February 1994. See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1121, referring to Amor Masovic, 
T(F). 25023-25024 (26 Nov 2007), Exs. P06929 (confidential), P07942, P0748 1. 
9017 See infra, paras 2774-2826. 
9018 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 167. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 180, 186,210; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 
1207. 
9019 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1105-1122. 
9020 See infra, para. 2830. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic made a similar argument in relation to 
Jablanica and Capljina Municipalities. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 154, 172. Since the Appeals Chamber has 
reversed the findings that Pusic contributed to the JCE by: (1) facilitating the removal of the popUlation from SoviCi and 
Doljani on 5 May 1993; and (2) denying the expUlsions of the women, children, and elderly people from Capljina 
Municipality, the Appeals Chamber did not consider these arguments in those sections as they were rendered moot. See 
supra, paras 2722, 2733. 
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accurate, and knowingly provided them with vague or inaccurate information.9021 This, it found, 

amounted to an attempt to conceal the responsibility of the HVO for crimes committed in detention 

centres and during the removal of Muslims.9022 

, 
2755. Specifically, the Trial Chamber, having recalled its finding that ten of 12 ABiH soldiers 

who disappeared following their capture during the fall of the Vranica building complex located in 

West Mostar ("Vranica Building") died on the night of 10-11 May 1993 following beatings by 

HVO soldiers, found that Pusic gave contradictory information as to their fate. 9023 It also found that 

he sought to evade questions regarding the conditions of confinement at the Heliodrom when 

questioned by ECMM representatives,9024 and sought to conceal the poor conditions of confinement 

at Gabela Prison when responding to an inquiry from the ICRC about the fate of 98 detainees 

there. 9025 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2756. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact andlaw when concluding that he made a 

significant contribution to the JCE by giving and spreading false information about crimes 

committed by the HVO and by trivialising crimes committed by the HVO.9026 Specifically, he 

argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to link this conduct to the aims of the JCE.9027 

He cites by way of example his statements concerning the ABiH soldiers said to have been missing 

after the assault on the Vranica Building in Mostar in May 1993, asserting that these statements 

cannot be said to amount to participation in a JCE or to reflect intent to further a JCE.9028 Pusic 

claims that the examples of his conduct cited by the Trial Chamber fall below the minimum 

threshold requirement for participation in a JCE, and that his statements were often viewed with 

scepticism by representatives of the international community.9029 With regard to the Heliodrom, 

Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that his statements in June 1993 amounted to 

participation in the JCE, arguing that the Trial Chamber itself acknowledged that it could not 

establish if Pusic knew about the poor conditions at the Heliodrom at the time those statements 

were made.9030 He further considers that representatives of the international community would not 

have accepted his assertions and that these international organisations had their own information on 

9021 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1201, 1207. 
9022 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1201, 1207. 
9023 TrialJudgement, Vol. 4, paras 1191-1192. 
9024 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1193. 
9025 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1196. 
9026 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 220. 
9027 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 221. 
9028 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 221. 
9029 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 222. 
9030 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 223. 
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detention conditions in the Heliodrom based on their visits, which he often facilitated. 9031 In that 

respect, he argues that there is no evidence that his statements were relied on by any individual, and 

on the basis of his limited status and influence within the HVO, that his conduct did not contribute 

in any way to the CCp.9032 In relation to his reply to an ICRC request concerning 98 detainees at 

Gabela Prison, Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber assumed he had a level of power in relation to 

detention conditions which he did not in fact possess, and that he therefore could not have made a 

significant contribution to the JCE.9033 Finally, he asserts even taken "at its highest", the evidence 

cited does not meet the required threshold for participation in a JCE.9034 

2757. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic contributed to 

the CCP by attempting to conceal HVO responsibility for and involvement in crimes related to the 

arrest, detention, and removal of the Muslim population.9035 Specifically, it argues that his actions 

furthered the CCP by creating conditions which made it easier for those crimes, including detention 

and displacement crimes, to continue.9036 The Prosecution refers to contradictory statements by 

Pusic in relation to the ABiH soldiers said to have been missing after the assault on the Vranica 

Building in May 1993 as an example of his obstructive behaviour.9037 The Prosecution also refers to 

PusiC?s statements to the ECMM in June 1993 in response to questions regarding conditions at the 

Heliodrom, and notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered that even if he may not have 

been aware of conditions at the time, he demonstrated little co-operation and sought to evade 

questions.9038 The Prosecution further refers to a Trial Chamber finding that Pusic "was aware of 

[the] problems regarding conditions of confinement at the Heliodrom during the entire time that the 

detention centre functioned".9039 With regard to PusiC's argument that his statements were not relied 

upon, the Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber did not find that he fully concealed crimes 

committed by HVO members, but rather sought to evade, minimise, or deny them.904o Finally, with 

regard to Pusic's reply to an ICRC request concerning the fate of 98 detainees at Gabela Prison, the 

Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that Pusic possessed powers over 

9031 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 224. 
9032 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 224. 
9033 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 225. 
9034 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 226. 
9035 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 206, 211. 
9036 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 206-207. Specifically, the Prosecution refers to Pusic: (1) using his role 
as a HVO representative or contact point to evade questions, provide vague, contradictory, or inaccurate information, 
and falsely deny crimes to members of the international community, the press, and ABiH representatives; and (2) taking 
or rroposing measures to hide crimes at detention centres. 
903 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 207. 
9038 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 207-208. 
9039 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 208, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1143. 
9040 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 209. 
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detention conditions and the registration and classification of detainees, and that it was therefore 

reasonable to conclude that he withheld the requested information.9041 

(ii) Analysis 

2758. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to link his 

giving and spreading of false information to the aims of the JCE, the Appeals Chamber first 

considers that this is a question of fact, not law. It notes that the Trial Chamber found that he sought 

to evade troublesome questions and gave vague or even false information to relevant interlocutors 

in an attempt to "deny or minimise the crimes committed by HVO members".9042 The 

Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this finding to 

illustrate the link between PusiC's conduct and the aims of the JCE, that is, his intent to give or 

spread false information in order to. further the CCP. His argument, including his undeveloped 

reference to the soldiers missing after the assault on the Vranica Building in Mostar in 1993, fails to 

substantiate an error in this finding and is accordingly dismissed. 

2759. The Trial Chamber found that representatives of international organisations testified about 

PusiC's tendency to avoid co-operating fully and openly with them.9043 PusiC's contention that his 

statements were often viewed with scepticism by representatives of the international community is 

consistent with this. However, he has failed to articulate any error in how the Trial Chamber relied 

upon this finding other than a general assertion that this conduct could not meet the threshold for 

participation in a JCE, an argument which the Appeals Chamber addresses below.9044 PusiC's 

related arguments that representatives of the international community would not have accepted his 

assertions and in any case had thdr own information, and that there is no evidence that his conduct 

was relied on by any individual in light of his supposedly limited status and influence within the 

HVO, also suffer from the same defect: that is, Pusic fails to articulate any error in how the 

Trial Chamber interpreted the testimony of representatives of international organisations about his 

tendency to avoid co-operating fully and openly with them. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses these arguments. 

2760. PusiC's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that his statements in June 1993 

regarding conditions of confinement at the Heliodrom amounted to participation in the JCE 

misrepresents the Trial Chamber's factual findings. The Trial Chamber stated that it was unable to 

establish that he knew about the problems regarding conditions of confinement at the Heliodrom at 

9041 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 210. 
9042 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1207. 
9043 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1201. 
9044 See infra, para. 2769. 
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the relevant time but found that the peremptory manner in which he responded to the ECMM 

representatives constituted an attempt to evade their questions.9045 In other words, the 

Trial Chamber's finding was not dependent on his actual knowledge of conditions of confinement 

in the Heliodrom; rather, it was dependent on the manner in which he responded to a query from a 

representative of the international community regarding those conditions. This submission is 

therefore dismissed. 

2761. The Appeals Chamber notes that PusiC's argument that his limited status and influence 

within the HVO meant that his conduct did not contribute in any way to the CCP is unaccompanied 

by references to the Trial Judgement or the evidence, or cross-references to his other arguments. In 

light of this deficiency, this argument is dismissed as an undeveloped assertion.9046 

2762. Finally, in relation to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber assumed he had a level of 

power in relation to detention conditions which he did not possess when considering his reply to an 

ICRC request concerning 98 detainees at Gabela Prison, the Appeals Chamber notes that the request 

did not relate to detention conditions per se, but instead to the fate of the detainees.9047 The 

Trial Chamber relied on PusiC's powers in relation to the registration and classification of detainees 

and the release andlor exchange of detainees to find that his answer was intended to conceal the 

poor conditions at Gabela Prison,9048 not, as Pusic suggests, on his powers in relation to conditions 

of confinement. His argument misrepresents the findings of the Trial Chamber and is dismissed. 

2763. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

error in the Trial Chamber's findings as to his role in spreading false information about HVO 

crimes. 

(i) Significant contribution 

2764. The Appeals Chamber recalls, as outlined above, that the Trial Chamber held that Pusic 

made a significant contribution to the CCP on the basis of two stated factors: (1) his role in 

organising the release of Muslim detainees to ABiH-held territories or to third countries; and (2) his 

role as the link between the workings of the network of HVO detention centres and the most 

important members of the JCE. It has further considered, however, that the Trial Chamber's finding 

that Pusic made a significant contribution to the JCE was premised not solely on these two stated 

9045 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1193. 
9046 See also supra, para. 2641 (noting that the question of how much influence Pusic had over the broad contours of 
HVO policy was not of determinative significance in assessing his liability). 
9047 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1196. 
9048 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1196. 
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factors, but instead on the totality of its findings under the relevant headings in the 

Trial Judgement.9049 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2765. Pusic submits that in its jurisprudence, the Appeals Chamber has failed to define precisely 

the requirement'for participation in a JCE.9050 He contends that it is arguable, on the basis of unclear 

case-law, that participation in a JCE requires a contribution which is more "significant and 

substantial" than that of an aider and abettor.9051 On this basis, he claims that the Trial Chamber 

erred by setting the bar too low, including by finding that his conduct significantly contributed to 

the JCE when he claims there is no evidence that it had any real impact on the execution of the 

CCp.9052 He submits that the Appeals Chamber should consider carefully the significance of his acts 

to determine if they were "directly related to the breadth of the purpose of the alleged JCE".9053 He 

argues that where a JCE has been "extremely broadly defined", as he considers to be the case here, 

it may be more difficult to prove that a specific act is directly related to that purpose, in this 

instance ethnic cleansing.9054 Lastly, he contends that in the context of this large-scale case where 

he has not been deemed to be either a direct perpetrator or a high-level official, the Trial Chamber 

erred in holding de l11.inimis or insignificant conduct which was tenuously related to a broadly 

defined common purpose to constitute a significant contribution.9055 

2766. The Prosecution responds that Pusk's legal challenges are based on a misunderstanding of 

the legal requirements of a "significant contribution".9056 Specifically, it contends that PusiC's 

proposed test that a contribution must be "directly related to the breadth of the purpose of the [ ... J 

JCE" is not supported by the law of the Tribunal and that there is no requirement that a JCE 

member's contribution directly impacts all aspects of the common criminal purpose.9057 The 

Prosecution further argues that JCE contributions are 1)ot limited to conduct that would fulfil the 

requirements of other modes of liability under Article 7(1) and that PusiC's attempts to import these 

standards should be dismissed.9058 Specifically with regard to Pusk's comparison between JCE and 

aiding and abetting, the Prosecution contends that the actus reus for JCE liability, that is, a 

9049 See supra, para. 2604. 
9050 Pusie's Appeal Brief, paras 143(a)-(f). 
9051 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 143(d). In particular, Pusie argues that the relevant jurisprudence provides little 
guidance in determining how the participation requirement should be assessed, except that the conduct of the accused 
should contribute in a significant way to the implementation of the CCP. Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 144. 
9052 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 144. 
9053 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 145. 
9054 Pusie's Appeal Brief, para. 145. 
9055 PUsie's Appeal Brief, para. 146. See also Appeal Hearing, AT. 686 (27 Mar 2017). 
9056 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusie), paras 140, 143, 145. 
9057 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusie), para. 146. 
9058 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusie), para. 147. 
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"significant contribution", is accompanied by a heightened mens rea requirement of shared intent, 

which means that the relevant standard is not inconsistent with the Appeals Chamber's statement 

that "aiding and abetting generally involves a lesser degree of individual criminal responsibility 

than co-perpetration in a joint criminal enterprise" .9059 The Prosecution further submits that an 

accused need not be a high-level official or a direct perpetrator to make a significant contribution to 

the common criminal purpose.9
0

60 Finally, it interprets the law as stating that an accused who is 

"replaceable" or who plays a co-ordinating or monitoring role can significantly contribute to a 

JCE's common criminal purpose.9
0

61 

2767. Pusic disputes in reply that his challenges are based on a misunderstanding of the 

requirements of a "significant contribution", and asserts that the factors which he cites are instead 

presented as considerations relevant in determining the sufficiency of contribution to the JCE.9062 

(ii) Analysis 

2768. In relation to PusiC's argument that the Appeals Chamber has failed to precisely define the 

requirements for participation in a JCE, the Appeals Chamber recalls that participation in a JCE 

does not have to be necessary or substantial, but may take the form of at least a significant 

contribution to the execution of the common purpose.9
0

63 PusiC's contention that it is arguable that 

participation in a JCE requires a higher degree of contribution than that of an aider and abettor is 

inaccurate; the Appeals Chamber has previously clarified that the threshold for finding a 

"significant contribution" to a JCE is lower than the "substantial contribution" required to enter a 

conviction for aiding and abetting.9064 Beyond this, the Appeals Chamber considers it futile to 

attempt to define the threshold for participation in a JCE in abstracto; the assessment of an 

9059 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 150 (emphasis in original), referring to Kvocka et a1. 
APcpeal Judgement, para. 92. 
900 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 149. 
9061 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 149. 
9062 PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 27. 
9063 Popovic et aZ. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 430. See also' Tadic 
A~peal Judgement, para. 199. 
90 Gotovina alld Markac Appeal Judgement, para. 149. See also Popovic et a1. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378; Brdanin 
Appeal Judgement, para. 430; Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 199. With regard to PusiC's argument that the relevant 
jurisprudence provides little guidance in determining how the participation requirement should be assessed, the Appeals 
Chamber notes that trial chambers have considered the size of the criminal enterprise, the seriousness and scope of the 
crimes committed, the function(s) performed by the accused, the accused's position, physical perpetration of a crime or 
underlying offence by an accused, the amount of time spent participating after acquiring knowledge of the criminality 
of the system, efforts made to prevent criminal activity or to impede the efficient functioning of the system, and the 
efficiency, zealousness, or gratuitous cruelty exhibited by the accused in performing his/her function. Tolimir Trial 
Judgement, para. 893; Milutinovic et aZ. Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 105. The Appeals Chamber considers that the 

. references to "the system" in the Tolimir Trial Judgement are better understood as references to the common criminal 
plan, as that case did not rely on the systemic form of JCE. Tolimir Trial Judgement, para. 888. This argument is 
accordingly dismissed. 
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accused's contribution to a ICE is a question of fact to be detennined on a case-by-case basis.9065 

This argument is accordingly dismissed. 

2769. With regard to PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in holding de minimis or 

insignificant conduct to constitute a significant contribution, the Appeals Chamber observes that on 

numerous occasions,9066 he refers to individual examples of his conduct which he claims did not 

meet the threshold for participation in a ICE or did not constitute a significant contribution. These 

arguments artificially isolate the relevant findings. The question of whether an individual made a 

significant contribution to a common criminal purpose may be answered on the basis of a holistic 

examination of his or her conduct, which can acquire cumulative significance.9067 As such, where 

Pusic asserts that individual acts or omissions imputed to him did not meet the threshold for 

participation in a ICE, he misunderstands the significant contribution requirement. This includes his 

arguments that: (1) in relation to the designation of Gabela and Ljubuski Prisons as transit centres 

prior to the sending abroad of detainees, not every act that facilitates a broadly defined objective, 

namely ethnic cleansing, must necessarily constitute a significant contribution, and that if this were 

to be the case, criminal liability could potentially arise from every act carried out in office by a civil 

servant;9068 and (2) in relation to the release of detainees, that his role was so limited that it would 

not justify the imputation of individual criminal liability .9069 These arguments are dismissed. 

2770. In relation to PusiC's argument that in cases where the ICE was "extremely broadly 

defined", the Appeals Chamber should consider whether the acts of an accused are "directly related 

to the breadth of the purpose of the alleged ICE",9070 the Appeals Chamber notes that there is no 

such requirement in the applicable law. Accordingly, this argument is dismissed. 

2771. PusiC's remaining challenges under this heading dispute the Trial Chamber's finding that his 

contribution to the ICE was indeed significant. This is a fact-based detennination which the 

Appeals Chamber will now consider with reference to the overall impact of PusiC' s challenges. 

(j) hnpact of the Trial Chamber's errors with regard to PusiC's powers and contribution to the ICE 

2772. The Appeals Chamber has overturned Trial Chamber findings that Pusic contributed to the 

ICE by: (1) failing to take measures to resolve problems related to conditions of confinement and 

9065 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 696. 
9066 See supra, paras 2600, 2631, 2650, 2659, 2667, 2683, 2703, 2717, 2724, 2729, 2735, 2743, 2745, 2756. 
9067 See, e.g., Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 1582, 1591, 1642 (affirming a trial chamber finding that 
Radivoje Miletic, cumulatively, made a significant contribution to the JCE to forcibly remove the Bosnian Muslim 
~orulations from Srebrenica and Zepa). 

06 See supra, para. 2702. 
9069 See supra, para. 2664. 
9070 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 145. 
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mistreatment of detainees;9071 (2) facilitating the removal of the population from SoviCi and Doljani 

on 5 May 1993;9072 and (3) denying the expulsions of the women, children, and elderly people from 

Capljina Municipality.9073 While these findings were undoubtedly of some import to the Trial 

Chamber's overall finding as to Pusi6' s contribution, the Appeals Chamber notes that it has upheld 

the majority ofthe Trial Chamber's findings impugned by Pusi6 in his grounds of appeal 1 and 6, 

including in particular those findings in relation to: (l)his role in organising the release of Muslims 

detainees to ABiH-held territories or to third countries; and (2) his role as the link between the 

workings of the network of HVO detention centres and the mostimportant members .of the JCE.9074 

As explained above, these findings formed the bedrock for the Trial Chamber's overarching finding 

that his contribution was significant.9075 In addition, the Appeals Chamber notes the scope of the 

crimes to which Pusi6 contributed, his positions within the HVO as a military police officer and as 

Head of the Exchange Service and President of the Detention Commission, the duration of his 

participation in the JCE, and the absence of meaningful efforts on his part to prevent criminal 

activity. In light of all these factors, the Appeals Chamber cannot conclude that no reasonable trier 

of fact could haye reached the Trial Chamber's conclusion on the basis of the remaining findings 

that PusiC's contribution to the JCE was significant.9076 

2773. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds thatPusi6 has not demonstrated any error in 

the Trial Chamber's finding that his contribution to the CCP was significant. His grounds of appeal 

1 and 6 are accordingly dismissed in relevant part. 

3. Mens rea (PusiC's Ground 5) 

(a) Pusi6's general challenges regarding mens rea 

2774. The Trial Chamber found, on the basis of its findings with regard to his participation in the 

JCE and the evidence on which it relied, that the only inference it could reasonably draw was that 

Pusi6 intended to expel the Muslim population from the meR) H-B and that he shared this intent 

with other members of the JCE.9077 The Trial Chamber also found that in carrying out their de jure 

9071 See supra, para. 2712. 
9072 See supra, para. 2722; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1103-1104. 
9073 See supra, para. 2733; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1123. 
9074 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
9075 See supra, para. 2604; Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
9076 The Appeals Chamber will, however, remain cognisant of the impact of the errors it has identified in the 
Trial Judgement in its assessment of PusiC's sentence. See infra, para. 3365. 
9077 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1208. . 
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and de facto powers, Pusic and the other members of the lCE used the members and structures of 

the HVO to commit the crimes forming part of the CCp.9078 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2775. Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and law by finding that the only reasonable 

inference from the evidence was that he shared the intent to commit the criminal objective of the 

lCE, that is, to permanently remove the Muslim population from BiH, and that his conviction must 

therefore be reversed.9079 In this regard, he submits that "intent" should be interpreted to mean that 

a perpetrator has the desire to bring about a particular result from his conduct in the volitional 

sense.9080 

2776. Pusic contends that the Trial Chamber engaged in impermissible double-counting by 

concluding that he shared the intent for the lCE crimes on the basis of the same conduct it relied on 

to find that he significantly contributed to the lCE.9081 He describes this approach as circular 

reasoning, and argues that the Trial Chamber's mens rea conclusions are impermissibly vague and 

unspecific, and rely on a generalised and wide-ranging review of all its findings to support its 

conclusion, thereby giving rise to a failure to provide a reasoned opinion.9082 

2777. Pusic submits that in order to establish mens rea based on inferences drawn from an 

accused's conduct where he is said not to have planned the lCE crimes but instead to have 

facilitated their implementation, there must be a link between his conduct and the perpetration of 

the crime.9083 He states that there is a paucity of evidence to link him to a lCE crime or their 

physical perpetrators and that any finding that he shared the intent for the lCE is therefore 

problematic.9084 In the instances where these links are weak, Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber 

applied the lCE principle in an "over-inclusive" manner and that it found him liable for lCE crimes 

based on his complicity with other accused persons rather than on the basis of his own conduct, 

thereby finding him "guilty by association".9085 

2778. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that as of 

April 1993, Pusic shared the intent to expel the Muslim population from HZ(R) H-B, and intended 

9078 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. 
9079 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 112, 140. Pusic cites a statement by Antonio Cassese on the Karemera and Ngirumpatse 
Appeal Judgement that "it is difficult to imagine shared intent in the type of vast JCE imagined by the [ ... J Appeals 
Chamber" in that case, and submits that the present case is of a similar scale. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 119-120; 
PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 24. 
9080 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 114. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 113, 115-117. 
9081 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 118. 
9082 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 118. 
9083 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 121. 
9084 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 121; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 24. 
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that this expulsion be accomplished through the wide range of crimes forming part of the CCp.9086 

In doing so, the Prosecution submits, the Trial Chamber properly inferred Pusi6's intent from a 

holistic consideration of the evidence.9087 In this regard, it stresses PusiC's increasing responsibility 

over activities including the administration of the HVO prison network, detainee exchange and 

transfer as a means of removing Muslims from HZ(R) H-B territory, representational functions on 

behalf of the HVO in negotiatiqns and interactions with the ABiH and the international community, 

and the use of detainees for forced labour.9088 This increased responsibility, the Prosecution 

contends, required an understanding of the HVO's strategic interests, which encompassed the 

CCp.9089 It also entailed knowledge and acceptance of illegal detention, poor conditions, and 
. . HVO' 9090 lll1streatment III pnsons. 

2779. The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber correctly applied the law when 

taking PusiC's contribution into account in order to infer his shared intent.9091 Regarding PusiC's 

argument that intent entails the desire to bring about a particular result, the Prosecution argues that 

personal satisfaction, enthusiasm, or personal initiative of an accused contributing to a ICE are not 

required to find the existence of a shared intent.9092 

(ii) Analysis 

2780. The Appeals Chamber has previously held that in practice, the significance of an accused's 

contribution to a ICE will be relevant to demonstrating that the accused, shared the intent to pursue 

the common purpose.9
0

93 PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber engaged in impermissible 

double-counting by relying on the same conduct to find that he significantly contributed to the ICE 
, 

and that he possessed the requisite mens rea is accordingly dismissed. His argument that the 

Trial Chamber's mens rea conclusions are impermissibly vague and unspecific, and rely on a 

9085 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 121. 
9086 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 95-96, 101, 103, 107-109. The Prosecution also submits that Pusic does 
not challenge the Trial Chamber's findings on his shared intent with regard to Counts 10 (imprisonment as a crime 
against humanity), 11 (unlawful confinement of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions), and 18 
(unlawful labour as a violation of the laws or customs of war). Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 109. See also 
Ag~ealHearing, AT. 725-732 (27 Mar 2017). 
90 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 95-96, 101, 103. 
9088 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 95. 
9089 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 95. 
9090 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 95. 
9091 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 103, 106. With regard to PusiC's reliance on Antonio Cassese's 
commentary on the Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement, the Prosecution submits that unlike in that case, 
which concerned the shared intent between physical perpetrators and the accused, in the present case the physical 
perpetrators were not necessarily members of the JCE. It argues that the JCE members in this case instead used the 
machinery and structures of the HVO and the perpetrators within those structures to commit the crimes, and that it was 
therefore not necessary to prove shared intent between the accused and the physical perpetrators. In addition, the 
Prosecution submits that JCE liability is not limited to small cases. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 
104-105. 
9092 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 102. 
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generalised and wide-ranging review of all its findings to support its conclusion, thereby giving rise 

to a failure to provide a reasoned opinion, fails to identify the specific issues, factual findings, or 

arguments that the Trial Chamber omitted to address or to explain why this omission invalidates the 

decision. This argument is also dismissed. 

2781. PusiC's argument that there must be a link between his conduct and the perpetration of the 

crime to establish his mens rea is incorrect in law. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the requisite 

intent for a conviction under JCE liability can be inferred from circumstantial evidence, such as a 

person's knowledge of the cornmon criminal purpose or the crime(s) it involves, combined with his 

or her continuing participation in the crimes or in the implementation of the cornmon criminal 

purpose.9
0

94 His connected arguments that the Trial Chamber applied the JCE mode of liability in 

an "over-inclusive" manner and found him "guilty by association" evince the same 

misunderstanding and are on their own terms so general as to fail to articulate any error. 9095 They 

are dismissed. 

2782. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any 

~rror in the Trial Chamber's overall approach to determining his mens rea. 

(b) Counts 2 (Murder) and 3 (Wilful killing) 

2783. The Trial Chamber found that the members of the JCE, including Pusic, lent support and 

co-ordination to field operations for the purpose of the crimes forming part of the CCP and that they 

implemented a system for deporting the Muslim popUlation by means of, among other crimes, 

murder and destruction of property during attacks, as well as murders related to the nearly 

systematic use of detainees on the front lines for labour or as human shields.9096 It found that 

between May 1993 and March 1994, the HVO sent Muslim men held at the Heliodrom to the front 

line in Mostar Municipality to perform labour such as repairing fortifications and shelters, and 

9093 Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 97. 
9094 Stanish! and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, para. 81; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1369; Dordevic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 512. 
9095 PusiC's comparison between the present case and the Karemera and Ngirumpatse Appeal Judgement is also 
inapposite, as, by extension, is his reliance on Antonio Cassese's commentary. His argument relates to the difficulty of 
proving shared intent in a JCE with many members, including physical perpetrators. In the present case, however, the 
Trial Chamber found that the members of the JCE used the machinery and structures of the HVO and the personnel 
within those structures to commit crimes. Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1232. The Appeals Chamber has previously 
found that in a case where the physical perpetrators are not JCE members, a trial chamber may still find an individual 
responsible under JCE liability where the crime can be imputed to at least one member of the JCE, and that member -
when using a principal perpetrator - acted in accordance with the common plan. See Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, 
para. 1256; Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 225; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 410, 413. As such, there was no 
requirement to establish shared intent on behalf of the physical perpetrators so long as these requirements were met. 
PusiC's argument fails to articulate an error that could invalidate the Trial Judgement and is accordingly dismissed. 
9096 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 66. 
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collecting the bodies of soldiers.9097 The Trial Chamber noted that several dozen detainees who 

were exposed to the fighting were killed or wounded by firing both by the HVO and the ABiH.9098 

It. further found that on at least 30 occasions between 17 February and 24 July 1993, Pusic 

authorised or verbally ordered that detainees be sent to perform labour, including labour on the 

front line.9099 With regard to Heliodrom detainees specifically, the Trial Chamber also found that 

between May 1993 and January 1994, Pusic issued orders requiring the detainees to perform work 

on the front line.910o The Trial Chamber further found that having ordered and authorised the use of 

detainees to work on the front line, in the knowledge that some of them had been wounded or killed. 

as a result, he intended to have these crimes committed.9101 

2784. With regard to Mostar, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic knew that East Mostar was being 

subjected to continuous shooting and shelling as part of the siege between June 1993 and 

April 1994 and that this was causing deaths among the population.9102 It further found that he knew 

about the extremely harsh conditions in which the population in that part of town was living, 

particularly the shortage of water and electricity, and that he hindered and even paralysed the 

handling of humanitarian evacuation requests in East Mostar.9103 It concluded that by obstructing 

humanitarian evacuations, Pusic took part in worsening the living conditions in East Mostar.9104 

Based on its findings that Pusic was aware of the siege of East Mostar, the shelling, and the 

difficulties related to the siege of East Mostar, and continued to perform his functions within the 

HVO, the Trial Chamber concluded that the only inference it could reasonably draw was that he 

accepted and intended, inter alia, the murders of people who did not belong to any armed force. 9105 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2785. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the requisite intent for. 

Counts 2 (murder as a crime against humanity) and 3 (wilful killing as a grave breach of the Geneva 

Conventions) in relation to Mostar and the Heliodrom.9106 In this regard, he also adopts the 

reasoning of the Judge Antonetti Dissent, according to which "it is obvious" that he lacked the 

required intent for these crimes.9107 

9097 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1146. 
9098 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1146. 
9099 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1147. 
9100 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1151. 
9101 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1151. 
9102 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9103 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9104 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9105 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1122, 1206. 
9106 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 122. 
9107 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 130, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
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2786. With regard to the Heliodrom, Pusic submits that the Prosecution failed to prove that he had 

notice that inmates sent on work assignments at the front line were killed in the period between 

17 February and 24 July 1993, when, according to Pusic, the Trial Chamber found that he made the 

approvals.9108 Pusic argues that even taken "at its highest", evidence that he was informed of forced 

labour assignments and subsequent killings does not demonstrate that he intended to commit those 

crimes.9109 He argues that the Trial Chamber could not have inferred that he intended the murder of 

detainees used for forced labour on the basis of inferences drawn from conduct relied on to prove 

the crime of forced labour.9110 Pusic also argues that the Trial Chamber erred by conflating the lnens 

rea requirements for JCE I and JCE III by basing its findings on what it considered to be the 

reasonably foreseeable consequences of his conduct.9111 

2787. In relation to Mostar, Pusic argues that the factors relied upon by the Trial Chamber, 

namely: (1) evidence of statements unconnected to the crimes made by him; (2) his conduct in 

blocking humanitarian aid; and (3) his knowledge of the crimes committed, are not capable of 

establishing that he intended that civilians in Mostar be killed in HVO operations with which he had' 

no connection.9112 

2788. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly inferred his intent for murder and 

wilful killing, both in relation to forced labour and the siege of Mostar.9113 With regard to the 

former, the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber did not infer PusiC's intent for the killing of 

detainees sent to work on the front lines merely based on his authorisation and approval of forced 

labour.9114 Rather, it adds" the Trial Chamber relied on the fact that Pusic continued to send 

detainees to work on the front line despite knowing the dangerous nature of the work that the 

detainees performed and that some of them had been killed or wounded during that work.9115 It adds 

that the evidence shows that Pusic was on notice of detainee deaths at least as early as 

5 March 1993 and was repeatedly informed that detainees sent to front line assignments had been 

wounded and taken to hospital for treatment.9116 

2789. As to killings during attacks on East Mostar, the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber 

reasonably inferred PusiC's intent from his awareness of the living conditions in East Mostar due to 

9108 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 126. 
9109 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 125. 
9110 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 125. 
9111 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 124-125. 
9112 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 123. Pusic also reiterates his argument that the Trial Chamber conflated the mens rea 
re3uirements for lCE I and lCE III in relation to Counts 24 and 25. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 124. 
911 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 110-112. 
9114 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 112. 
9115 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 112-113. 
9116 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 113. 
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the siege and his contribution to siege-related crimes by hindering humanitarian evacuations.9117 It 

argues that Pusic had first-hand knowledge of events on the ground based on the fact that his office 

was located in West Mostar and that he was "at the scene" every day of the siege.9118 In addition, 

the Prosecution submits that, despite this knowledge, Pusic continued to exercise his functions and, 

moreover, paralysed humanitarian evacuations and worsened living conditions in "an area subjected 

to shelling and sniper fire".9119 

2790. The Prosecution submits that PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber conflated the 

mens rea requirements of JCE I and JCE ill with regard to murders and wilful killings is merely an 

undeveloped assertion which therefore warrants summary dismissa1.9120 

(ii) Analysis 

2791. The Appeals Chamber first turns to PusiC's argument that it was not proven that he was on 

notice that detainees sent to perform forced labour were murdered or wilfully killed, in particular 

during the period of 17 February to 24 July 1993, which Pusic submits was the period during which 

the Trial Chamber found he made the approvals. The relevant Trial Chamber finding states that he 

authorised and ordered Heliodrom detainees to perform labour on the front line between May 1993 

and January 1994.9121 The earliest-dated document expressly relied upon by the Trial Chamber to 

establish that Pusic authorised or ordered detainees to be sent to perform labour on the front line 

was, however, issued on 24 June 1993.9122 This undoubtedly reflects a certain ambiguity in the 

Trial Chamber's findings. 

2792. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that it has found above that no reasonable trier of 

fact could conclude that murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP in the period between 

January and June 1993, but that this error has no impact on the Trial Chamber's conclusion that 

murder and wilful killing were part of the CCP as of June 1993.9123 The Appeals Chamber also 

considered in this regard that the finding that Pusic intended murder and wilful killing as of May 

1993 is irrelevant to the incorporation of murder and wilful killing in the CCP, as it alone cannot 

suffice to show that these crimes were intended by all JCE members, and were thus part of the CCP 

9117 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 111. 
9118 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 111, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1120. 
9119 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 111, referTing to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9120 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 114. 
9121 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1151. 
9122 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1147 & fn. 2143, referring to Ex. P02921. See also Josip Praljak:, T. 14749, 14753-
14755 (27 Feb 2007). Josip Praljak: testified that "Ricinoj Street", the location referred to in Exhibit P02921, was the 
"separation line in the conflict". 
9123 See supra, paras 882, 886. 
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prior to June 1993.9124 The Trial Chamber's finding that PusiC possessed the mens rea for murder 

and wilful killing as of May 1993 is therefore irrelevant to his JCE liability. The question of 

whether the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact occasioning a miscarriage of justice instead 

turns on whether a reasonable trier of fact could have found that Pusic possessed the mens rea for 

murder and wilful killing as of June 1993. 

2793. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea of murder requires that there was an act or 

omission, with the intention to kill or to inflict grievous bodily harm, in the reasonable ~owledge 

that it might lead to death.9125 The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that a reasonable trier of fact could 

cpnc1ude that Pusic met this standard as of June 1993, notably on the basis of Exhibit P02921, 

which indicates that he sent detainees to the front line to perform forced labour on 24 June 1993.9126 

The question of whether he was specifically on notice that deaths had arisen from that labour is 

therefore moot. PusiC's argument that it was not proven that he was on notice that detainees sent to 

perform forced labour were murdered or wilfully killed fails to demonstrate an error which could 

invalidate the Trial Judgement and is accordingly dismissed. By extension, his submission that the 

evidence does not demonstrate that he intended to commit those crimes is also dismissed. Lastly, 

PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber conflated the mens rea requirements of JCE I and JCE III 

is dismissed as an undeveloped assertion.9127 The Appeals Chamber accordingly concludes that 

Pusic has failed to show an error in respect of the Trial Chamber findings with regard to the 

Heliodrom that he intended murder and wilful killing by virtue of his role in forced labour 

assignments. 

2794. As noted above, the Trial Chamber found PusiC's mens rea for the murders in Mostar on the 

basis of his knowledge that East Mostar was subjected to continuous shooting and shelling, his 

awareness of the extremely harsh living conditions for the population that was living in that part of 

town, his participation in the worsening of those living conditions, and his continued exercise of his 

functions within the HVO.9128 The Appeals Chamber observes that Pusic fails to identify any 

"statements unconnected to these crimes" on which the Trial Chamber allegedly relied when it 

made its findings. 9129 As to the Trial Chamber's reliance on his conduct with respect to the siege of 

East Mostar and his knowledge of, inter alia, murders committed there, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that Pusic fails to articulate an error by the Trial Chamber in relying on these factors to infer his 

intent. In addition to his failure to develop his argument in this respect, Pusic ignores the relevant 

9124 See supra, fn. 2SlO. 
9125 D. Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. lOS. 
9126 See supra, fn. 9122. 
9127 PusiC's reiteration of this argument in relation to Counts 24-25 is also dismissed. 
9128 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1122, 1206. 
9129 See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 123. 
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Appeals Chamber jurisprudence, recalled above,9130 which sets out that the requisite intent for a 

conviction under JCE liability can be inferred from circumstantial evidence, such as a person's 

knowledge of the common criminal purpose or the crime(s) it involves, combined with his or her 

continuing participation in the crimes or in the implementation of the common criminal purpose.9131 

2795. Insofar as Pusic relies on the Judge Antonetti Dissent in respect of Counts 2 and 3, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the passage in question merely states without elaboration that "it is 

obvious" that he lacked the intent for the commission of the crimes in question.9132 In the absence 

of any substantive argument, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the mere existence of a dissent does 

not render the majority's conclusion unreasonable,9133 and therefore dismisses this argument. 

2796. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to show a discernible error in 

the Trial Chamber's finding that the only inference it could reasonably draw is that Pusic intended 

the crimes under Counts 2 and 3. 

(c) Counts 24 (Unlawful attack on civilians) and 25 (Unlawful infliction of terror on civilians) 

2797. The Trial Chamber found that between June 1993 and March 1994, the HVO subjected the 

civilian population of East Mostar to intense, daily, and frequent indiscriminate shelling and firing 

which resulted in the death and injury of a large number of Muslim civilians.9134 It further found 

that the HVO's specific intent to spread terror among the civilian population of East Mostar was 

demonstrated through the HVO's deliberate isolation of the population of East Mostar in a small 

and overcrowded enclave for several months and through aggravating its living conditions.9135 With 

regard to Pusic specifically, the Trial Chamber found that he knew that East Mostar was being 

subjected to continuous shooting and shelling as part of a siege between June 1993 and April 1994 

and that he knew that this was causing destruction, including the destruction of buildings dedicated 

to religion, and deaths among the population in that part of the town.9136 It further found that Pusic 

knew about the extremely harsh living conditions in East Mostar and that he participated in 

worsening them by obstructing humanitarian evacuations.9137 The Trial Chamber concluded that 

9130 See supra, para. 278l. 
9131 Stanisic and Simatovic Appeal Judgement, para. 81; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1369; Dordevic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 512. 
9132 Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
9133 Galic Appeal Judgement, paras 226-227. 
9134 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 1689. 
9135 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 169l. 
9136 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9137 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
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Pusic accepted the destruction of property in East Mostar, including buildings dedicated to religion, 

and murders, and that he intended the siege-related crimes.9138 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2798. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the requisite intent for 

Counts 24 (unlawful attack on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war) and 

25 (unlawful infliction of terror on civilians as a violation of the laws or customs of war) in relation 

to Mostar.9139 Pusic argues that the factors relied upon by the Trial Chamber, namely: (1) evidence 

of statements unconnected to the crimes made by him; (2) his conduct in blocking humanitarian aid; 

and (3) his knowledge of the crimes committed, are not capable of establishing that he intended that 

civilians in Mostar be attacked or terrorised in HVO operations with which he had no 

connection.9140 Pusic again adopts the reasoning of the Judge Antonetti Dissent, according to which, 

"it is obvious" that he lacked the required intent for these crimes.9141 

2799. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly inferred his intent for unlawful 

attacks and unlawful infliction of terror on civilians.9142 It argues that PusiC's challenge in relation 

to these crimes adopts the reasoning of the Judge Antonetti Dissent without any argument being 

made and thus warrants summary dismissa1.9143 The Prosecution nonetheless adds that Pusic was 

aware of the horrific environment caused by the siege in Mostar, including poor living conditions, 

continuous shooting and shelling, and murders, and that Pusic not only continued to perform his 

functions in the HVO but in fact contributed to worsening conditions by hindering humanitarian 

evacuations and by representing the HVO in negotiations.9144 

(ii) Analysis 

2800. Similarly to his arguments in relation to his mens rea for murder and wilful killing in 

East Mostar, Pusic fails to identify the "statements unconnected to these crimes" the Trial Chamber 

allegedly relied on when it made its findings that he had the intent for the siege-related crimes.9145 

This argument is accordingly dismissed. As to the Trial Chamber's reliance on his conduct with 

respect to the siege of East Mostar and his knowledge of crimes committed there, the 

9138 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1122, 1206. 
9139 Pusic's Appeal Brief, para. 122. 
9140 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 123. 
9141 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 130, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
9142 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 115. 
9143 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 115. 
9144 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 115. 
9145 See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 123. 
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Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic again fails to articulate an error by the Trial Chamber in relying 

on these factors to infer his intent and dismisses his argument. 9146 

2801. Insofar as Pusic relies on the Judge Antonetti Dissent in respect of Counts 24, and 25, the 

Appeals Chamber dismisses this argument for the same reasons as set out above.9147 

2802. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Pusic has failed to show a discernible error in the 

Trial Chamber's finding that the only inference it could reasonably draw is that Pusic intended the 

crimes under Counts 24 and 25 in relation to Mostar. 

(d) Counts 19-21 (Destruction of property) 

2803. The Trial Chamber found that PusiC was aware of and accepted the destruction of property 

in the villages of SoviCi and Doljani in April 1993.9148 It also found that he knew of and accepted 

the destruction of property in East Mostar, including buildings dedicated t6 religion.9149 It 

concluded that as Pusic, knowing of the destruction, continued to perform his functions within the 

HVO, the only reasonable inference it could draw was that Pusic intended these crimes.9150 The 

Trial Chamber made no findings as to PusiC's individual involvement in or intent for property 

destruction crimes in Prozor Municipality.9151 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2804. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber elTed in finding that he had the requisite intent for 

Counts 19 (extensive destruction of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out 

unlaWfully and wantonly as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions) and 20 (wanton destruction 

of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity as a violation of the 

laws or customs of war) in relation to Prozor Municipality, and Counts 20 and 21 (destruction or 

wilful damage to institutions dedicated to religion or education as a violation of the laws or customs 

of war) in Mostar.9152 With regard to Mostar, Pusic adopts his submissions in relation to Counts 2, 

3, 24, and 25.9153 In relation to Prozor, he submits that his mere knowledge of events in that 

municipality and continuation in his HVO role is not enough to establish intent.9154 He adds that the 

Trial Chamber erred by failing to show that he had the required mens rea before or at the time the 

9146 See supra, para. 2794. 
9147 See supra, para. 2795. 
9148 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1102, 11 04, 1205. 
9149 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1122. 
9150 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1122, 1205-1206. 
9151 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1097-1099. 
9152 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 127-129 
9153 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 128. See supra, para. 2787. 
9154 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 129. 
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crimes took place, instead finding that he knew about the crimes on the basis of an episode that took 

place on 18 August 1993, some time after the crimes occurred.9155 

2805. The Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber properly inferred that Pusic shared the intent 

for extensive destruction, wanton destruction, and from June 1993, damage to religious 

institutions.9156 The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber did so based on PusiC's knowledge 

of destruction in SoviCi and Doljani, including two mosques, his "acceptance of property 

destruction crimes in Prozor", his acceptance of siege-related destruction in Mostar, and his 

continued exercise of functions within the HVO.9157 It argues that Pusic fails to show how the 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that he shared the intent for property destruction crimes based on his 

acceptance of siege-related destruction in Mostar and his ongoing contribution to siege conditions 

was unreasonable.9158 

(ii) Analysis 

2806. Pusic's challenges in relation to the crimes under Counts 19-21 are made with reference to 

the municipalities of Prozor and Mostar. With regard to the latter, Pusic adopts his arguments in 

respect of Counts 2, 3, 24, and 25, which have already been dismissed.9159 In relation to PusiC's 

challenge concerning Prozor Municipality, the Appeals Chamber observes that the section of the 

Trial Judgement to which he refers contains no findings regarding destruction in Prozor 

Municipality or any discussion of his personal involvement in destruction crimes in Prozor.9160 

Pusic was held responsible and convicted for these crimes because they formed part of the CCP to 

which he significantly contributed.9161 His arguments on this point are therefore confused and not 

directed at a specific Trial Chamber finding and are accordingly dismissed.9162 Insofar as Pusic 

relies on the Judge Antonetti Dissent in respect of Counts 19 and 21, the Appeals Chamber 

9155 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 129-130, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1097-1099. Pusic also reiterates his 
argument that the Trial Chamber erred by conflating the mens rea requirements for JCE I and JCE III by basing its 
findings on what it considered to be the reasonably foreseeable consequences of his conduct. Pusic further adopts the 
conclusion of the Judge Antonetti Dissent according to which "it is obvious" that he lacked the required intent for 
crimes under Counts 19 and 21. See PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 130, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
9156 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 116, 119. 
9157 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 116-118. The Prosecution argues that PusiC's claim that he only learned 
about "these crimes" in August 1993 is irrelevant and nonsensical since the 18 August 1993 report relates to an ICRC 
visit to a detention centre in Prozor. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 117 & fn. 454, referring to Trial 
Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1097, 1099. It also reiterates its argument that PusiC's suggestion that the Trial Chamber 
conflated the mens rea requirements of JCE I and JCE III is an undeveloped assertion which warrants summary 
dismissal. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 117. 
9158 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 118-119. 
9159 See supra, paras 2796, 2802. 
9160 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 129, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1097-1099. See also Prosecution's 
Response Brief (Pusic), fn. 444. 
9161 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1209, 1212, Disposition, p. 431. 
9162 PusiC's argument that the Trial Chamber conflated JCE I and JCE III in relation to its findings on Counts 19-21 has 
already been dismissed. See supra, para. 2793 & fn. 9127. 
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dismisses this argument for the same reasons as set out above.9163 In light of the foregoing, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's 

findings as to his mens rea for the relevant property destruction crimes. 

(e) Counts 12-17 (Inhumane acts, inhuman treatment, and cruel treatment )9164 

2807. The Trial Chamber found that in light of: (1) Pusic's continued exercise of functions within 

the HVO; (2) his participation in and facilitation of the system of detention of Muslims and their 

use for forced labour; (3) his tolerance of the deplorable conditions of confinement and' 

mistreatment; (4) his acceptance of the death of detainees sent to work on the front line; and (5) his 

organisation and facilitation of the system by which HVO detainees were released or exchanged to 

ABiH-held territories and third counties, the only inference it could reasonably draw was that Pusic 

intended to have the crimes of inhumane acts, inhuman treatment, and cruel treatment 

committed.9165 In relation to Mostar, the Trial Chamber found that Pusic participated in worsening 

the living conditions in East Mostar by obstructing humanitarian evacuations and concluded that the 

only reasonable inference it could draw was that Pusic accepted the crimes committed and the harsh 

living conditions imposed on the population of East Mostar due to the siege.9166 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2808. Pusic submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the mens rea for 

Counts 12_17.9167 With regard to relevant crimes being committed during the siege of Mostar, PusiC 

adopts his submissions in relation to Counts 2, 3, 24, and 25.9168 He further submits that the 

evidence of his conduct considered by the Trial Chamber does not show that he intended that 

Muslim detainees in HVO facilities be mistreated.9169 Specifically, he argues that the Trial Chamber 

erred by inferring his intent on the basis of: (1) his knowledge of mistreatment garnered from 

reports sent to him; and (2) an erroneous assessment of his powers.9170 

2809. The Prosecution submits, with regard to the siege of Mostar and the HVO detention centres, 

that the Trial Chamber properly inferred that Pusic shared the intent for inhumane acts, inhuman 

9163 See supra, para. 2795. 
9164 The crimes concerned are: inhumane acts (conditions of confinement) as a crime against humanity (Count 12); 
inhuman treatment (conditions of confinement) as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 13); cruel 
treatment (conditions of confinement) as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 14); inhumane acts as a crime 
against humanity (Count 15); inhuman treatment as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 16); and cruel 
treatment as a violation of the laws or customs of war (Count 17). 
9165 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1204. 
9166 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1122, 1206. 
9167 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 131. 
9168 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 132. See supra, para. 2787. 
9169 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 131-133, referring to PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 57. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, 
paras 121-125; PusiC's Reply Brief, para. 26. 
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treatment, and cruel treatment, including in relation to conditions of confinement.9171 With regard to 

Mostar, the Prosecution submits that PusiC's challenge should be summarily dismissed as he fails to 

make an argument and only refers to unspecified sUbmissions.9172 In any event, it argues that Pusic 

fails to show how the Trial Chamber's conclusion on his intent for these crimes in Mostar was 

unreasonable, submitting that it was properly based on: (1) his knowledge of the situation; (2) his 

continued performance of functions in the HVO; and. (3) his participation in worsening the living 

conditions during the siege.9173 

2810. The Prosecution further submits that PusiC's arguments in relation to his shared intent for 

mistreatment of detainees in the HVO detention centres also fai1. 9174 According to the Prosecution, 

a wide range of examples of PusiC's conduct show his knowledge of mistreatment.9175 On the basis 

of these examples and in light of his lack of action to address mistreatment or poor conditions in the 

detention facilities while in positions of authority over them, the Prosecution submits that the 

Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that he possessed the requisite intent.9176 Moreover, it submits 

that Pusic actively furthered these crimes as he authorised and approved the use of detainees to 

work on the front line knowing that they were being mistreated, wounded, or killed.9177 The 

Prosecution also argues that PusiC's assertion that the assessment of his powers was wholly 

erroneous should be summarily dismissed as an undeveloped argument.9178 

(ii) Analysis 

2811. With regard to the crimes under Counts 12-17 committed in the context of the siege of 

Mostar, Pusic adopts his arguments in respect of Counts 2, 3, 24, and 25, which have already been 

dismissed above.9179 As to his remaining arguments, the Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic fails to 

identify the factual findings he seeks to challenge. His argument that the Trial Chamber's 

assessment of his powers was "wholly erroneous" is entirely unsupported except by 

cross-referencing arguments already dismissed by the Appeals Chamber.9180 His argument that the 

Trial Chamber erred by inferring intent on the basis of his knowledge of mistreatment garnered 

from reports sent to him is an undeveloped assertion and ignores the jurisprudence of the Tribunal 

9170 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 133. 
9171 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 120, 125. 
9172 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 121. 
9173 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 121. 
9174 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 122. 
9175 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 122. 
9176 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 122 . 

. 9177 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 123. 
9178 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 124. The Prosecution also refers to its arguments in response to PusiC's 
~ound of appeal 1. See supra, paras 2704-2707. 

179 See supra, paras 2796, 2802. 
9180 See supra, para. 2708. 
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according to which intent can be inferred on the basis of knowledge and continued participation of 

the accused in the JCE.9181 These arguments are dismissed. Pusic has accordingly failed to show 

that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that he shared the intent for crimes in relation 

to inhumane acts, inhuman treatment, and cruel treatment. 

(f) Counts 6-9 (Displacement crimes)9182 

2812. The Trial Chamber found that in light of PusiC's role in organising and facilitating the 

system by which HVO detainees were released or exchanged in order for them to be sent to 

ABiH-held territories and third countries, he intended to have the displacement crim~s forming part 

of the CCP committed.9183 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2813. In challenging his convictions for displacement crimes, Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber 

erred by failing to consider the alternative reasonable inference that his actions were motivated by a 

need to "protect the civilian population and to offer them another more peaceful living environment 

by allowing them to take up residence in Croatia or a third country".9184 He argues that this was a 

permissible. measure pursuant to Article 49 of Geneva Convention IV, which states that a 

belligerent has the possibility of moving a civilian population where the security of the population 

or imperative military reasons so demand.9185 Pusic adopts the reasoning of the Judge Antonetti 

Dissent that in this case the military justification for release or deportation could include the threat 

posed by imprisoned HVO soldiers who could have rejoined the ABiH.9186 

2814. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic shared the intent 

for displacement crimes as it based this conclusion on its findings that Pusic: (1) facilitated 

removals from SoviCi and Doljani toward ABiH-held territory; (2) took part in removals from 

West Mostar to East Mostar; (3) denied expUlsions from Capljina; (4) approved the release of 

detainees on the condition that they leave HZ(R) H-B territory; and (5) played a "key role" in 

organising the closure of HVO detention centres and ensuring released prisoners left for third 

countries.9187 It argues that PusiC's conduct in relation to specific examples of expUlsions of 

Muslims from HZ(R) H-B territory shows that his suggested alternative inference that deportations 

9181 See supra, para. 2781. 
9182 The crimes concerned are: deportation as a crime against humanity (Count 6); unlawful deportation of a civilian as a 
grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 7); inhumane acts (forcible transfer) as a crime against humanity 
(Count 8); and unlawful transfer of a civilian as a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions (Count 9). 
9183 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1204-1205, 1208-1209. 
9184 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 134, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 395-396. 
9185 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 134. . 
9186 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 135, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, pp. 338-339. 
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and transfers had humanitarian motives is unreasonab1e.9188 It adds that the Trial Chamber explicitly 

considered the relevance of Article 49 of Geneva Convention IV and noted that, in limited 

circumstances, humanitarian removal is permissible for protection but explained that this exception 

is not applicable if an accused's unlawful activity caused the crisis prompting the remova1s.9189 

2815. As to PusiC's proposed alternative inference, drawn from the Judge Antonetti Dissent, the 

Prosecution submits that the argument that released HVO prisoners could have rejoined the ABiH is 

only applicable to a very small number of the displaced persons.9190 

(ii) Analysis 

2816. With regard to Pusic's argument that Article 49 of Geneva Convention IV allows for the 

possibility of moving a population where the security of the population or imperative military 

reasons so demand, the Appeals Chamber first observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly 

considered this provision and noted that neither total nor partial evacuation is prohibited "if the 

security of the population or imperative military reasons so demand".9191 It correctly held, however, 

that this exception does not apply if the humanitarian crisis that gave rise to the removal of the 

population is the result of the accused's unlawful activity.9192 Reading the Trial Judgement as a 

whole, it is abundantly clear that the Trial Chamber did not consider the exception embodied, 

inter alia, in Article 49 of Geneva Convention IV to apply in this context, based on its findings that 

the ethnic cleansing of the Muslim population was the core element of the CCP, accomplished by 

way of the crimes which fell within the framework of the CCP, including the displacement crimes 

per se.9193 Further, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber systematically assessed 

whether alleged displacement crimes were evacuations carried out for security purposes, or whether 

9187 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 126-127. 
9188 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. p7. 
9189 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 128. 
9190 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 129. The Prosecution also argues that the Trial Chamber excluded 
members of the ABiH and Muslim HVO members in determining PusiC's liability for unlawful deportation of a civilian 
and unlawful transfer of a civilian as grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions and that, therefore, Pusic has no 
conviction to challenge with respect to these crimes. It submits that members of the ABiH and Muslim HVO members 
were correctly included in the victim group for deportation and forcible transfer as crimes against humanity because 
these victims were expelled together with large numbers of Muslim civilians on the basis of their ethnicity, and without 
any distinction as to their military status. The crimes against them therefore formed part of the widespread and 
systematic attack against the civilian population. In addition, the Prosecution notes that even if these individuals could 
not have been classified as "civilians" at the time of the crimes, ABiH detainees and detained Muslim HVO members 
were no longer participating in hostilities and were therefore hoI'S de combat. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), 
~ara. 130. 

191 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 52. 
9192 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 53, referring to Stakic Appeal Judgement, para. 287. 
9193 See, e.g., Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 41,65-66,68. 

1154 
Case No. IT-04-74-A 29 November 2017 

22741



they were justified for compelling military reasons.9194 Rather than identifying an error in the 

Trial Chamber's analysis, Pusic merely seeks to substitute his own evaluation of the evidence for 

that of the Trial Chamber. His argument is thus dismissed. 

2817. The Appeals Chamber recalls that motive must be distinguished from intent9195 the former 

of which is not an element of any crime.9196 As such, PusiC's argument that his actions were 

motivated by a desire to protect the civilian population and offer them a more peaceful living 

environment elsewhere is moot. Insofar as his argument can also be interpreted to mean that he 

believed at the relevant time that his actions were justified by virtue of humanitarian considerations, 

the Trial Chamber clearly found that he intended displacement crimes as part of the CCP,9197 and he 

refers to no evidence or findings which could establish an alternative reasonable inference that he 

was in fact acting without the requisite intent. With regard to the argument, adopted from the Judge 

Antonetti Dissent, that a military justification for release or deportation could include the threat 

posed by imprisoned soldiers who could have rejoined the ABiH, the Appeals Chamber observes 

that the Trial Chamber found that Pusic was aware that people who did not belong to any armed 

force were among those held by the HVO at the Heliodrom,9198 Gabela Prison,9199 and Ljubuski 

Prison.9200 Specifically with regard to Gabela Prison, the Trial Chamber noted that during a meeting 

on 11 December 1993 on how to implement the 10 December 1993 Decision, Pusic stated that of 

the 1,256 people held there, only five detainees were members of the ABiH.9201 In light of this, 

Pusic has not demonstrated how his participation in the displacement crimes could have had a 

military justification of a threat posed by imprisoned soldiers who could have rejoined the 

ABiH.9202 Pusic has therefore failed to show that the Trial Chamber acted unreasonably in finding 

that he shared the intent for displacement crimes. 

9194 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, paras 783, 787, 791, 794, 796, 798,801,805,808,813,817,821,824,826,828,831,835, 
838,841,845-847,849,854,859,864,868,872,875,878, 882, 884, 887, 890, 895,900,902,904,907,913,921, 925, 
928,931,934,939,941,944,947. 
9195 Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1027; Lima} et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 109; Kvocka et ai. 
Affeal Judgement, paras 367, 416. . 
91 Lima} et at. Appeal Judgement, para. 109; Tadic Appeal Judgement, paras 268-269; Kanyarukiga 
Afpeal Judgement, para. 262. 
91 See Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1104, 1111-1116, 1123, 1126-1133, 1158-1167, 1178-1180, 1183-1184, 
1198-1199, 1201, 1204-1205, 1208-1209. 
9198 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1135-1136. 
9199 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1172-1173. 
9200 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1181 
9201 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1172. 
9202 In light of PusiC's knowledge of the presence of civilians in these detention centres, the Appeals Chamber does not 
consider it necessary to further analyse the question of military justification for the displacement of detainees who were 
in fact imprisoned soldiers as it is clear that no error of the Trial Chamber in this regard could have occasioned a 
miscarriage of justice. 
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(g) Count 1 (Persecution) 

2818. The Trial Chamber found that Pusic knew that crimes forming part of the CCP were being 

committed against Bosnian Muslims for the sole purpose of forcing them to leave the territory of 

the HZ(R) H-B, and that by participating in the JCE, Pusic intended to discriminate against 

Muslims for the purpose of facilitating their eviction from that territory.9203 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 

2819. With regard to Count 1 (persecution on political, racial, and religious grounds as a crime 

against humanity), Pusic argues that the Trial Chamber failed to make a specific and explicit 

finding of special discriminatory intent, thereby erring in law.9204 He also adopts the position of the 

Judge Antonetti Dissent that he did not possess the required special intent on the basis that "he was 

responsible only for taking care of Muslims", which means he acted without discriminatory 

intent. 9205 

2820. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber explicitly and properly found that Pusic 

possessed the discriminatory intent required for persecution.9206 It refers to the Trial Chamber 

finding that by participating in the JCE, Pusic intended to discriminate against Muslims for the 

purpose of facilitating their eviction and submits that Pusic fails to show that this finding was 

unreasonable.9207 It also argues that PusiC's assertion based on the Judge Antonetti Dissent that he 

acted without discriminatory intent because he was "responsible only for taking care of Muslims" is 

unsupported and "cannot stand,,.9208 

(ii) Analysis 

2821. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the crime of persecution requires a finding of 

discriminatory intent.9209 The Trial Chamber considered that Pusic knew that the crimes comprising 

9203 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 
9204 PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 136-137. 
9205 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 138, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
9206 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 101, 132-133. The Prosecution specifies that the evidence demonstrates 
that Pusic: (1) was aware of attacks on and destruction of Muslim villages and the accompanying removal of Muslims 
to ABiH-held territory, yet continued serving in his HVO role; (2) knew of the mass arrests and detention of Muslims in 
the HVO detention facilities that he actively facilitated; (3) accepted poor conditions of confinement and mistreatment 
of detainees in that system and approved the use of Muslim detainees for forced labour; (4) played a key role in 
organising the closure of detention centres, insisting as part of that process that Muslim detainees be sent abroad; and 
(5) hindered humanitarian evacuation of Muslims from Mostar which contributed to dire living conditions for Muslim 
inhabitants. 
9207 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 132-133, referring to Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. See also 
sugra, para. 2719. 
928 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 134, referring to Judge Antonetti Dissent, p. 489. 
9209 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 522; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 711; Dordevic Appeal Judgement, 
para. 470. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 214. The mens rea for persecution requires an intent to discriminate 
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the JCE were being committed against Muslims "for the sole purpose of forcing them to leave the 

territory of Herceg-Bosna" and explicitly found on that basis that PusiC's participation in the JCE 

demonstrated that he "intended to discri~nate against [ ... ] Muslims".92I0 PusiC's argument that the 

Trial Chamber failed to make a specific and explicit finding of discriminatory intent, thereby erring 

in law, is accordingly dismissed. The Appeals Chamber further considers that PusiC's argument, 

adopted from the Judge Antonetti Dissent, that "he was responsible only for taking care of 

Muslims", is irrelevant; the relevant question is whether Pusic possessed the requisite 

discriminatory intent. Pusic articulates no error in any of the Trial Chamber's findings to this effect. 

This argument is also dismissed. Pusic has therefore failed to show that it was unreasonable for the 

Trial Chamber to find that he shared the intent for the crime of persecution. 

(h) Knowledge of international armed conflict 

2822. The Trial Chamber found, with regard to PusiC's knowledge of the circumstances that 

enabled it to determine that there was an international armed conflict, that he had several direct 

contacts with Mate Granic, the Minister of Foreign Affairs and Deputy Prime Minister of Croatia, 

during negotiations on humanitarian aid and release of detainees, and therefore knew that the 

Croatian authorities were involved in the system of detention and deportation of Bosnian Muslims 

in the HZ(R) H_B.9211 It also found that he knew that soldiers belonging to the HV were present on 

HZ(R) H-B territory during the conflict.9212 

2823. Pusic maintains that the Trial Chamber en"ed in fact when it found that the armed conflict in 

BiH was of an international character and consequently en"ed in finding that Pusic must have known 

about the international armed conflict that existed in BiH at the time.9213 He submits that the factors 

cited by the Trial Chamber, that is: (1) his contact with Granic in the course of negotiations 

concerning release of detainees and humanitarian aid arrangements; and (2) his knowledge of the 

presence of HV troops in the area, cannot show that he knew the Croatian government had overall 

control over the HVO.92I4 

2824. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that Pusic was aware of 

the factual circumstances that allowed the Trial Chamber to conclude that the conflict was 

international in nature and that Pusic therefore had the requisite mens rea for Article 2 crimes.9215 

on political, racial, or religious grounds. Dordevic Appeal Judgement, para. 470; Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, 
~ara. 111; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 109-110. 
210 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. 

9211 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1210. 
92l2Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1210, referring to Ex. P08431, p. 2. 
9213 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 139. See also PusiC's Appeal Brief, paras 228-235; supra, paras 275,289. 
9214 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 139 .. 
9215 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 101, 135, 138. 
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The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber based its conclusion on the nature of the conflict on 

the direct involvement of armed troops from Croatia in BiH alongside the HVO and on Croatia's 

overall control of the HVO.9216 With regard to PusiC's knowledge of these circumstances, it notes, 

in addition to the factors explicitly relied upon by the Trial Chamber, the testimony of a 

representative of an international organisation that the Croatian government had influence on Pusic 

and that often the only way to resolve difficult issues with him was by way of intervention from 

Zagreb, frequently via Granic.9217 

2825. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has upheld the Trial Chamber's finding that the armed 

conflict in BiH was of an international character.9218 The Appeals Chamber recalls further that as to 

PusiC's knowledge, what is required is that he was aware of the factual circumstances establishing 

the armed conflict's international character.9219 The Trial Chamber found that the armed conflict 

was international in character "due both to the direct involvement of the HV in the conflict pitting 

the HVO and the ABiH against one another and to the overall control wielded by the HV and by 

Croatia over the HVO".9220 It found that Pusic knew the conflict was of an international character 

on the basis of: (1) his contacts with Granic and his concomitant knowledge that the Croatian 

authorities were involved in the system of detention and deportation of Bosnian Muslims in the 

HZ(R) H-B; and (2) his knowledge of the fact that HV soldiers were present on HZ(R) H-B 

territory.9221 The Appeals Chamber notes that Pusic does not dispute his contact with Granic in the 

course of negotiations concerning the release of detainees and humanitarian aid arrangements, or 

his knowledge of the presence of HV troops in the area. The Appeals Chamber further notes the 

evidence cited by the Prosecution that representatives of an international organisation would seek 

intervention from Granic in order to secure transit papers from Pusic's office,9222 which was relied 

upon by the Trial Chamber to establish, inter alia, that Pusic demonstrated little Willingness to 

co-operate with representatives of international organisations.9223 In addition, it notes the 

Trial Chamber's finding that Pusic participated in "high-level international meetings notably 

between August and November 1993", which took place in the presence of senior HVO and 

Croatian leaders, including Prlic and Granic, as well as representatives of the international 

community.9224 Recalling that a trial judgement must be read as a whole,9225 PusiC's argument fails 

9216 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 136-137. 
9217 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 136-137, referring to Witness Be, T. 18405 (14 May 2007) (closed 
session), T. 18545 (16 May 2007) (closed session). 
9218 See supra, paras 275, 289. 
9219 Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, paras 116, 121. 
9220 Trial Judgement, Vol. 3, para. 568. 
9221 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1210. 
9222 Witness BC, T. 18405 (14 May 2007) (closed s~ssion), T. 18545 (16 May 2007) (closed session). 
9223 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1079 & fn. 2028, para. 1121 & fn. 2102, para. 1200 & fn. 2271. 
9224 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1073. 
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to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could, on the basis of this range of findings and 

evidence, have reached the conclusion that he knew the conflict was of an international character. It 

is dismissed. 

(i) Conclusion 

2826. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he shared the mens rea for the crimes which were part of the 

JCE. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber dismisses PusiC's ground of appealS. 

4. Alleged errors in concluding that Pusic was a member of the JCE (PusiC's Ground 4) 

2827. The Trial Chamber found that: (1) Pusic "intended to expel the Muslim population from the 

HZ(R) H_B,,;9226 (2) he "shared this intention with other members of the JCE,,;9227 and (3) his 

contribution to implementing the CCP was "significant".9228 

(a) Arguments of the Parties 

2828. Pusic asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was a JCE member by applying 

an "over-inclusive application of [the] JCE theory".9229 Specifically, Pusic argues that his 

convictions for crimes in Prozor, Capljina, and Jablanica, and for crimes of violence and property 

destruction in Mostar, were in etTOr because "he had no link with the physical perpetrators and 

played no role in planning these crimes".923o Thus, he argues that his relationship with the physical 

perpetrators of these crimes is "too tenuous" to justify his JCE membership.9231 

2829. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that Pusic was a JCE 

member.9232 It also submits that Pusic was correctly convicted of the crimes specified because: 

9225 See Stanish! and Zupljanin Appeal Judgement, paras 138, 202, 376, 705, 1107, 1115, 1148, 1155, 1162, 1181; 
P0f,0vic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 2006; Sainovic et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 306, 321. 
922 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1208. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1203-1207. 
9227 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1208. See also Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, paras 1217-1232 . 

. 9228 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 1209. . 
9229 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 110, referring to Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 418, Declaration of Judge Van Den 
Wyngaert, pp. 164-165. Pusic also makes reference to alleged errors in the Trial Chamber's finding that he shared the 
requisite intent to prove his membership in the JCE. PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 111, referring to Pusk's ground of 
aE~eal5. 
93 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 110 (internal references omitted). 
9231 PusiC's Appeal Brief, para. 110. 
9232 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 97. The Prosecution also argues that Pusic made a significant 
contribution to the JCE and shared its common criminal purpose. Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 93-96. 
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(1) the crimes formed part of the CCP; (2) Pusic shared the intent for the crimes; and (3) the crimes 

were committed by physical perpetrators being used by JCE members.9233 

(b) Analysis 

2830. The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that by making the findings summarised above,9234 the 

Trial Chamber made the requisite findings in order to conclude that Pusic was a member of the 

JCE.9235 In order to impute liability to Pusic for crimes committed by other persons, such as those in 

Prozor, Capljina, Jablanica, and Mostar, it was not necessary for the Trial Chamber to establish that 

there was an understanding, an agreement, or a direct link between Pusic and the physical 

perpetrators who committed the crimes in question,9236 or that Pusic was involved in planning these 

crimes.9237 Rather, the Trial Chamber was required to establish that these crimes could be imputed 

to at least one member of the JCE, and that this member - when using the principal perpetrator -

acted in accordance with the common plan.9238 The Trial Chamber correctly enunciated this 

requirement in its summary of the applicable law,9239 and with regard to crimes .in Mostar, for 

example, found that Prlic endorsed the arrests and detentions as of 9 May 1993 and in the following 

days.924o In any event, Pusic does not argue that the Trial Chamber erroneously established a link 

between a JCE member and the physical perpetrators of the crimes in Prozor, Capljina, Jablanica, or 

Mostar. 

2831. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Pusic has not demonstrated that 

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was a JCE member by employing an "over-inclusive 

application of [the] JCE theory". PusiC's ground of appeal 4 is thus dismissed. 

5. Conclusion (PusiC's Grounds 1,4-6) 

2832. The Appeals Chamber has dismissed PusiC's grounds of appeal 4 and 5. As to grounds of 

appeal 1 and 6, the Appeals Chamber has reversed certain Trial Chamber findings as to PusiC's 

9233 Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), paras 99-100. The Prosecution responds that PusiC's liability does not depend 
on a direct link between him and the physical perpetrators or on his planning of the crimes. Prosecution's Response 
Brief (Pusic), para. 97. See Prosecution's Response Brief (Pusic), para. 98. 
9234 See supra, para. 2827. 
9235 See Brdanin Appeal Judgement, para. 430. 
9236 See Brdanin Appeal Judgement, paras 418-419. 
9237 See Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1378 ("The Appeals Chamber recalls that participation in a JCE need 
not involve the commission of a specific crime, and does not have to be necessary or substantial, but may take the form 
of at least a significant contribution to the execution of the common purpose. What is important is that the contribution 
furthers the execution of the common purpose." (internal references omitted». 
9238 Tolimir Appeal Judgement, para. 432; Popovic et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1065; Brdanin Appeal Judgement, 
~aras 413,430. See also supra, paras 2618, 2752. 

239 Trial Judgement, Vol. 1, para. 212. 
9240 Trial Judgement, Vol. 4, para. 272. 
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contribution, as outlined above.9241 The remainder of his challenges under these grounds of appeal 

have been dismissed. The effect on sentencing, if any, of the Appeals Chamber's findings, 

including as a result of reversals, is discussed below.9242 

9241 See supra, para. 2772. See also supra, para. 2773. 
9242 See infra, para. 3365. 
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